

# The strategic use of public procurement for innovation in the digital economy

**Final Report** 

This study was carried out for the European Commission by PwC EU Services EESV



#### Internal identification

Contract number: 30-CE-0859764/00-44 SMART number: 2016 / 0040

#### **EUROPEAN COMMISSION**

Directorate-General for Communications Networks, Content and Technology Directorate F — Digital Transformation Unit F.3 — Digital innovation and Blockchain

Contact: CNECT-F3@ec.europa.eu

European Commission B-1049 Brussels

## THE STRATEGIC USE OF PUBLIC PROCUREMENT FOR INNOVATION IN THE DIGITAL ECONOMY SMART 2016/0040

**FINAL REPORT** 

#### EUROPE DIRECT is a service to help you find answers to your questions about the European Union

Freephone number (\*): 00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11

(\*) The information given is free, as are most calls (though some operators, phone boxes or hotels may charge you)

#### LEGAL NOTICE

This document has been prepared for the European Commission however it reflects the views only of the authors, and the European Commission is not liable for any consequence stemming from the reuse of this publication. The Commission does not guarantee the accuracy of the data included in this study. More information on the European Union is available on the Internet (http://www.europa.eu).

PDF

ISBN 978-92-76-30833-1

doi: 10.2759/936544

KK-02-21-251-EN-N

#### Manuscript completed in January 2021

#### 1st edition

The European Commission is not liable for any consequence stemming from the reuse of this publication. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2021

© European Union, 2021



The reuse policy of European Commission documents is implemented by the Commission Decision 2011/833/EU of 12 December 2011 on the reuse of Commission documents (OJ L 330, 14.12.2011, p. 39). Except otherwise noted, the reuse of this document is authorised under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International (CC-BY 4.0) licence (<u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u>). This means that reuse is allowed provided appropriate credit is given and any changes are indicated.

For any use or reproduction of elements that are not owned by the European Union, permission may need to be sought directly from the respective rightholders.

## **Table of Contents**

EXEC	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 1				
1 I	NTRODUCTION 1				
2 N INN(	IETHODOLOGY FOR BENCHMARKING NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORKS FOR DVATION PROCUREMENT2				
2.1	OBJECTIVES AND OUTPUTS				
2.2	DATA COLLECTION APPROACH				
2.3	ANALYSIS AND BENCHMARKING APPROACH				
2.4	OVERVIEW OF THE POLICY INDICATORS				
2.5	INNOVATION PROCUREMENT POLICY INDEX				
2.6	Performance clustering				
2.7	INDICATOR 1 – OFFICIAL DEFINITION				
2.8	INDICATOR 2 – HORIZONTAL POLICIES 11				
2.9	INDICATOR 3 – ICT POLICY				
2.10	D INDICATOR 4 – SECTORAL POLICIES				
2.11	INDICATOR 5 – ACTION PLAN15				
2.12	2 INDICATOR 6 – SPENDING TARGET				
2.13	3 INDICATOR 7 – MONITORING SYSTEM 17				
2.14	INDICATOR 8 – INCENTIVES				
2.15	5 INDICATOR 9 – CAPACITY BUILDING AND ASSISTANCE MEASURES				
2.16	INDICATOR 10 – INNOVATION FRIENDLY PUBLIC PROCUREMENT MARKET 20				

## 3BENCHMARKING OF INNOVATION PROCUREMENT POLICY FRAMEWORKS: KEY<br/>FINDINGS3.1OVERALL RANKING AND KEY FIGURES243.2KEY CONSIDERATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS27

#### 

		•
4.1	INDICATOR 1 – OFFICIAL DEFINITION	30
4.2	INDICATOR 2 – HORIZONTAL POLICIES	35
4.3	INDICATOR 3 – ICT POLICY	40
4.4	INDICATOR 4 – SECTORAL POLICIES	45
4.5	INDICATOR 5 – ACTION PLAN	- 54
4.6	INDICATOR 6 – SPENDING TARGET	59
4.7	INDICATOR 7 – MONITORING SYSTEM	62
4.8	INDICATOR 8 – INCENTIVES	67
4.9	INDICATOR 9 – CAPACITY BUILDING AND ASSISTANCE MEASURES	.72
4.10	INDICATOR 10 – INNOVATION FRIENDLY PUBLIC PROCUREMENT MARKET	.84

5 INV	MI VES	ETHODOLOGICAL APPROACH FOR BENCHMARKING THE AMOUNT OF STMENTS ACROSS EUROPE	' PPI 94
5	.1	OBJECTIVES AND OUTPUTS	94
5	.2	SOURCES AND CHARACTERISTICS OF DATA	96

5.3	Adopted strategies for identification of published PPIs and training of the N	MACHINE
E 4	DEFINITIONS	100
5.5	ESTIMATION OF MISSING CONTRACT VALUES	191
5.5	THE 2 COMPONENTS OF PPI INVESTMENT	126
5.7	ESTIMATION OF TOTAL PUBLIC PROCUREMENT	125
5.8	LIMITATIONS	
9.0		+0
6 B	BENCHMARKING OF PPI INVESTMENTS: KEY FINDINGS	144
6.1	PPI INVESTMENTS: RANKING AND CONCLUSIONS	144
6.2	ICT-BASED PPI INVESTMENTS: RANKING AND CONCLUSIONS	149
7 B COM	BENCHMARKING OF PPI INVESTMENTS: ANALYSIS OF RESIMONALITIES AND DISPARITIES ACROSS COUNTRIES	SULTS.
7.1	PPI INVESTMENTS BROKEN DOWN BY COMPONENT	154
7.2	PPI INVESTMENTS IN THE CLASSICAL AND UTILITIES SECTOR: COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS	159
8 M	METHODOLOGY RELATED GUIDELINES FOR DECISION-MAKERS	184
8.1	Systematic benchmarking of national policy frameworks for innovation procu	JREMENT
	184	
8.2	SYSTEMATIC BENCHMARKING OF NATIONAL INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INN	OVATIVE
0.0	SOLUTIONS	188
8.3	INCORPORATE THE COLLECTED INFORMATION IN OTHER EU SCOREBOARDS	194
9 A	ANNEXES	200
9.1	ANNEX I – COUNTRY PROFILES	200
	AUSTRIA	201
	BELGIUM	
	Bulgaria	232
	Cyprus	243
	CROATIA	254
	CZECH REPUBLIC	265
	DENMARK	277
	ESTONIA	290
	FINLAND	
	FRANCE	
	GERMANY	335
	GREECE	349
	HUNGARY	
	IRELAND	372
	LATVIA	
		410
	LUXEMBOURG	424
	MALIA	430
		447
	I OKI UGAL	····· 4/3
	NOMANA	

	SLOVENIA	
	SLOVAKIA	
	SPAIN	
	Sweden	
	SWITZERLAND	
	NETHERLANDS	559
	UNITED KINGDOM	
9.2	ANNEX II – PPI CASE EXAMPLES PER COUNTRY	
9.3	ANNEX III – SURVEY USED FOR THE POLICY FRAMEWORK BENCHMARKING	648
9.4	ANNEX IV – TABLES FOR THE MACHINE-PROCESSABLE DEFINITION OF PPI	
9.5	ANNEX V – LIST OF ICT SUB-SECTORS CPV CODES	
9.6	Annex $\mathrm{VI}-\mathrm{Methodology}$ for the calculation of total public procurement	
9.7	ANNEX VII – MULTIPLYING FACTORS FOR THE ESTIMATION OF MISSING VALUES	
9.8	ANNEX VIII – LIST OF TERMINOLOGY SOURCES	

## Abstract - EN

The strategic use of innovation procurement can help tackle operational, societal and global challenges that the public sector faces around Europe. Innovation procurement is of strategic importance for economic recovery, being a tool to modernise the public sector and simultaneously speed up the timeto-market for businesses to bring innovations to the market. However, its potential is not fully exploited yet in Europe. In particular, underinvestment in innovation procurement of ICT-based solutions is holding back economic growth in Europe. One particular obstacle that policy makers in Europe face to mainstream innovation procurement, is the lack of comparable data about the current situation and the strengths and weaknesses across different countries in Europe. Therefore, this study developed an approach for systematic measuring and monitoring the progress on innovation procurement and on innovation procurement of ICT-based solutions that has been made so far in 30 countries around Europe: the 27 EU Member States, the UK, Norway and Switzerland. This benchmarking is the first ever exercise to evaluate in a comparable way the maturity of the national policy frameworks for innovation procurement and the amount of public procurement of innovative solutions - including the part invested in ICT - that is taking place across all domains of public sector activity in each of those countries. The aim of the exercise is that this information helps European countries and the European Commission strengthen the public demand for innovative solutions across the whole of Europe. The study is divided in two parts: the first part maps the progress on implementing a comprehensive mix of policy measures to mainstream innovation procurement, the second part estimates the amount of investment in public procurement of innovative solutions that took place in 2018 in the analysed countries. The key output of this benchmarking is a set of 30 country profiles (available in Annex I) providing information on national policy frameworks and investments in innovation procurement in each country and an in-depth comparative analysis of results presenting the main differences and commonalities between countries and clusters of countries.

## Executive summary

## Introduction to the study

Since 2008, the European Council and the Parliament have been requesting both the European Commission and EU Member States to step up their efforts on innovation procurement to enhance European competitiveness.<sup>1</sup> As reported in a number of studies, **European countries are not fulfilling their potential to foster innovation through public procurement**. The barriers encountered to mainstream innovation procurement were analysed in 2015 by the European Research Area and Innovation Committee (ERAC), which recommended to develop a systematic measurement framework for innovation procurement in order to track the progress made in this field across Europe.

This study was implemented to fill this gap, by developing a methodology that enables to **benchmark national policy frameworks for innovation procurement and national investments in public procurement of innovative solutions across 30 countries (EU 27, UK, Norway and Switzerland) in 2018**. It includes an analysis of investments across different domains of public sector activity (health, transport etc.) and strategic expenditure categories, in particular ICT, that fuel public sector modernisation.

While the benchmarking of policy frameworks covered all forms of innovation procurement – both R&D procurements and public procurements of innovative solutions - the analysis of investment levels in this study focused only on quantifying the amount of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI). A separate analysis by the European Commission estimated the amount of R&D procurement that took place in 2018. The results of these two analyses are combined in a separate EC report that provides a **full picture on the amount of innovation procurement that takes place across Europe**<sup>2</sup>.

#### Benchmarking of national policy frameworks - Key findings



#### Figure 1. Ranking - Benchmarking of national innovation procurement policy frameworks

Source: Author's elaboration

The **benchmarking of national policy frameworks for innovation procurement is based on a compound indicator** composed by a set of 10 multidimensional indicators. The indicators assess to what extent policy measures implemented in different countries build a comprehensive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See in particular: COMP Council Conclusions (30 May 2008, 26 May 2010, 21 February 2014, 27 May 2016), EU Council

Conclusions (4 February 2011, 26 April 2012 and 25 October 2013) and EP resolution on PCP (3 Feb 2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> ' Benchmarking of R&D procurement and total innovation procurement investments in countries around Europe', DG CNECT, https://ec.europa.eu/newsroom/dae/document.cfm?doc\_id=69920

innovation procurement policy framework that can mainstream innovation procurement across the country. This ranges from the existence of clear official definitions and legal framework for innovation procurement, the innovation friendliness of the country's procurement market, the extent to which innovation procurement is embedded as strategic priority in horizontal, sectorial and ICT policies, up to the development of action plans, spending targets, incentive mechanisms, monitoring and capacity building measures on innovation procurement. All indicators are multi-dimensional, meaning that they are composed of a set of sub-indicators. Evidence was collected in each country, allowing to analyse the strengths and weaknesses of all countries and compare them according to a common methodology. Figure 1 shows the result of the benchmarking of national policy frameworks across Europe. **Overall, innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe are working at just above one fourth of their full potential (26,6%)**. A large number of countries still lack several pillars of a comprehensive policy framework and score below 20% of their full potential. Even strong and good performers still have significant room for improvement to develop a policy framework operating at its full capacity.

**Finland is the only strong performer**, scoring consistently above European average on different policy measures. The strong points are that Finland has paired strong political commitment with country-wide coordinated practical implementation of actions to foster innovation procurement. In particular, it has adopted the most ambitious Action Plan with the clearest commitments to mainstream innovation procurement in the country. This enabled to roll out a comprehensive policy framework that has activated most elements of a structured innovation policy framework. However, also for Finland, full capacity is not reached yet. Some policy measures (e.g. to encourage R&D procurement) are not fully developed while others are not fully scaled up yet. Thus, the country still exploits only two-thirds of its full potential. Innovation procurement could be embedded more strategically also in a number of sectoral strategies and the monitoring system could be further structured and reinforced.

Finland is followed by a group of **good** performers (Austria, Netherlands, Belgium, Sweden, Estonia, Norway, Spain, UK) in which the innovation procurement policy framework is operating between one third and half of its full potential. These countries are characterised by a policy framework that usually covers many of the policy measures taken into consideration by the indicators of the study, but typically still not at large capacity. General areas for improvement in this group of countries include the adoption of an ambitious spending target and the development of structured monitoring systems. The cluster of moderate performers France, Italy, (Germany, Slovenia, Lithuania) have only activated one guarter to one third of the measures to create a comprehensive innovation procurement policy framework. Countries included in this cluster have rolled out some of innovation procurement policy measures (e.g. in ICT), but tend to lack a comprehensive framework to mainstream innovation procurement widely.





Source: Author's elaboration

The rest of the countries score below the European average. **Modest performers** (Greece, Slovakia, Cyprus and Malta) include countries where the innovation procurement policy framework is operating between one fifth and one quarter of the full potential. In these countries the policy framework is fragmented and is typically missing crucial factors such as clear political ambition and coordinated implementation (e.g. lack of national competence centre). As a result, under multiple indicators, the

policy framework does not provide the necessary policy impetus or practical support to procurers to direct more investments to innovation procurement. **Low performers** (mostly Central-Eastern European countries, with some relevant exceptions) are countries in which the innovation procurement policy framework is operating at very low level, between one twentieth and one fifth of its potential. These countries have a very fragmented policy framework for innovation procurement that is still missing even basic pillars (such as capacity building) with ample areas for improvement under multiple indicators.



Figure 3. European average performance per indicator of the policy framework benchmarking

Source: Author's elaboration

From the analysis of the European average scores per indicator – illustrated in Figure 3 –**the most underdeveloped areas of national policy frameworks for innovation procurement** and the **key areas for improvement** emerge.

- The main factor hampering Europe to make a leap forward is the lack of **political commitment** on innovation procurement across Europe. The majority of countries have not yet set up an action plan for innovation procurement (8%), spending targets (11%), systems to measure progress (13%) and have still not embedded innovation procurement as a strategic priority in several of the sectoral policies in which the public sector is active (e.g. public transport, health, etc.) (14%).
- In that context it is particularly insufficient that only less than half of the countries' ICT policies fully endorse the strategic importance of innovation procurement. The investment benchmarking shows that ICT based solutions are a major driver of public procurement of innovative solutions across all domains of public sector activity (38% of PPI investments across Europe are driven by ICT-based solutions). As ICTs have a crucial impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth, it is particularly important to embed innovation procurement as strategic priority in all ICT policies in all EU countries in order to enable Europe to capitalise on the potential of ICTs to boost economic recovery at full speed.
- In parallel, **coordinated practical implementation and support instruments** should also be reinforced across Europe, as it would help public procurers to direct more investments to innovation procurements. So far, only some countries have deployed incentives (21%) and capacity building measures aimed at supporting public procurers at all levels to implement innovation procurement are still insufficient (24%).

Overall, while there is large margin for improvement at both political and implementation level and on all indicators, **at national level** the most urgent effort is needed in terms of political commitment to increase investments in innovation procurement ambitiously and to create a more favourable environment for innovation procurement. In particular, the widespread lack of action plans with ambitious targets as well as weak anchoring of innovation procurement across all sectorial and ICT policies in which procurement has a large effect on economic growth seem to be the areas that most urgently require action by policymakers.

At European level, more ambitious coordinated action should focus therefore on encouraging more political commitment to support the mainstreaming of innovation procurement across Europe and remove identified EU-wide barriers. These include: the lack of an EU wide action plan for innovation procurement and EU wide targets for public procurement of innovative solutions and for R&D procurement; lack of innovation procurement being endorsed as strategic priority in all sectorial EU and ICT policies; lack of a transparency and competition on the EU public procurement market as well as innovation friendly procurement policies (e.g. need to ensure wide-scale implementation of the new EU wide IPR policy that encourages Member States to leave IPR ownership with suppliers in public procurement<sup>3</sup>, lack of EU wide policy to reduce the VAT rate for R&D procurement to zero %). Continued regular EU wide benchmarking of national innovation procurement policies and innovation procurement expenditure across Europe is important to track progress and develop coordinated and effective EU actions. The EU should also increase its financial support to innovation procurement through the Recovery and Resilience Facility (RRF) and the programs under the new MFF (Multi-Annual Financial Framework for 2021-2027), in particular to encourage buyers groups from different countries to undertake together pre-commercial procurements and public procurements of innovative solutions. The EU should increase year by year the budget for innovation procurement support under the Horizon Europe program in order to achieve by the end of the program a clear ambition level, ensuring that by 2027, for example 5% of R&I funding across all pillars of Horizon Europe is allocated through innovation procurement actions.

There is evidence that **increased EU wide action can have a major impact**. The study findings show that **innovation procurement occurs more in areas where there is a stronger EU policy** (action plans, targets etc.) that encourage innovation in public procurement (e.g. green procurement policy that has action plans, targets and encourages eco-innovation). Thus, rolling out an EU wide innovation procurement action plan and targets across all areas of public sector activity could have major impact on the total amount of innovative solutions purchased by public procurers. This can give a major boost to EU economic recovery, resilience and EU competitiveness on a global scale.

#### Benchmarking of national PPI investments - Key findings

In 2018 the **total amount of PPI investment in the 30 analysed countries reached €255 billion excluding defence and €288 billion including defence**. This includes all procurements of innovative solutions carried out by public procurers in the classical<sup>4</sup>, utilities<sup>5</sup> and defence sector<sup>6</sup>.

**The defence sector shows a clearly higher investment intensity in innovative solutions** (PPI equals 29% of public procurement) than the classical (PPI equals 10% of public procurement) and the utilities sector (PPI equals 7% of public procurement). The classical sector is the most risk averse in explicitly requesting the delivery of innovative solutions but is more open than the utilities sector to receive unexpected innovative offers from suppliers.

In absolute values, the three largest European economies – Germany, United Kingdom and France – cumulatively account for over half of the total amount of PPI investment across Europe. However, when the amount of PPI investment is compared with the total volume of public procurement in every country (PPI expenditure as a percentage of total public procurement expenditure) it clearly emerges which countries around Europe are leading on modernising their public sector and creating economic growth from public procurement of innovative solutions:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> COM/2020/760, The new EU IPR action plan to support economic recovery and resilience, adopted on 25/11/2020. More info here: https://ec.europa.eu/digital-single-market/en/news/eu-recommends-member-states-leave-ipr-ownership-publicprocurements-contractors

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Directive 2014/24/EU on public procurement by public authorities

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Directive 2014/25/EU on procurement by utilities entities operating in the water, energy, transport and postal services sectors <sup>6</sup> As defined in Directives 2014/24/EU and Directive 2009/81/EC on defence and security





A healthy economy needs approximately 17% of its public procurement expenditure to be devoted to PPI investments in order to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards.<sup>7</sup> In 2018, **the 30 countries around Europe devoted only 9,3% of their total public procurement expenditure (10% when including defence) to the purchase of innovative solutions, which is only just above half of the ambition level.** The analysis shows that national innovation procurement targets in several countries were not ambitious enough, as their actual PPI expenditure already exceeded the target. More than half of the countries did not even reach 50% of the ambition level while those countries that achieved this level, show nonetheless significant room for improvement. As a result, a considerable increase of PPI investments is still needed across Europe to reach the level of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions of a healthy economy.

The geographical distribution of small versus large countries across clusters is quite heterogeneous. There is however a **link between the overall innovation performance of a country and its performance on PPI investment**. More innovative countries (North-West of Europe) generally invest also more in PPI than less innovative countries (South-East of Europe).

Only four countries (Finland, Norway, the Netherlands and Switzerland) are **strong performers**. The overall share of PPI investment out of total procurement in these countries is well above the European average and they are on the good path for reaching the ambition level (they are over 65%). Leading countries buy a higher share of innovative solutions that are of a transformative nature (i.e. new to the market or significantly improved solutions), show a higher adoption of innovations across all domains of public sector activity and are less risk averse than the European average in explicitly requesting the delivery of innovations while remaining also open to unsolicited innovative proposals presented by contractors. However, still a 50% increase in PPI investments is needed to reach full speed public sector modernisation and economic growth.

<sup>7</sup> See Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on the Bell innovation curve for conservative sectors

The cluster of **good performers** (Austria, Belgium, Denmark, France, Ireland, Sweden and the UK) reaches between 55% and 65% of the ambition level. Circling around the European average, these countries underinvest in PPI by a factor 2. Despite showing some progress, significant additional efforts are still needed to tackle underinvestment in some domains of public sector activity and at subnational level.

Moderate and modest performers

invest in PPI with lower intensity than the European average and thus well below the ambition level. These countries underinvest in PPI by a factor ranging between 2 and 3. These two clusters usually report lower levels of transformative innovations, low investment readiness of several domains of public sector activity and of sub-national level procurers.

Low and bottom performers are a mix of countries from Southern, Eastern and Central Europe that underinvest in PPI by a factor ranging between 3 and 8. They typically perform below average on all factors that influence PPI investment intensity. Figure 5. Geographical distribution - Benchmarking of national investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)



Source: Author's elaboration

Overall, a number of factors help explaining the underinvestment in public procurement of innovative solutions across Europe as a whole. The key conclusions are the following:

- In Europe, on average 84% of the PPI is spent on purchasing **transformative innovations**, however only one quarter of all adopted innovative solutions are new to the market. Leading countries tend to invest more in transformative innovations, especially in innovations that are new to the market compared to lagging countries. Conversely, countries lagging behind still rely to a large extent on the adoption of **incremental innovations**, such as existing solutions used in a new way or sector and innovative combinations of existing solutions. To achieve more profound public sector modernisation and economic growth, these countries should increase their investments in the purchase of transformative innovations.
- Across Europe, **PPI investments are concentrated in a few domains of public sector activity**: general public services (35%), healthcare (21%), public transport (10%) and public order, safety and security (8%). Investments in transport focused mainly on 'greening' mobility services. Evidence shows that domains of public sector activity that are under higher level of competition from the private market (e.g. transport and health) or under a higher pressure to innovate (security) or where there are clear political ambitions to innovate (e.g. green), show higher levels of PPI expenditure. Still PPI investments in healthcare seem to be still below its weight in public spending. Other sectors of public sector activity generally lack incentives to modernise their public services with innovative solutions. Policy makers should increase political goals and incentives for procurers across all areas to innovate (e.g. by setting targets and quality/efficiency improvement KPIs for buyers).
- There is a general risk aversion across Europe to **explicitly request innovative solutions in procurements**. Only in a limited percentage of cases (29%) innovative solutions were explicitly requested by public procurers, whereas in more than two out of three cases the purchase of innovation was the result of an unsolicited proposal by the suppliers. Leading

countries in each cluster show less risk aversion in explicitly requesting innovations. Other countries therefore need to step up their ambitions to drive innovation from the demand side.

- The **publication rate of PPI business opportunities towards suppliers** at European level is low (22%). The majority of PPI investments is purchased via procurements with only very limited or no form of publication. By not publishing PPI calls for tenders widely, **public procurers are missing out on a great potential of innovative solutions that could speed up public sector modernisation**, both from national suppliers and suppliers from other European countries that are not duly informed about these business opportunities. The majority of leading countries in each cluster shows above average PPI publication rates. Policy makers should take specific measures to increase the transparency and publication rate of PPI procurements.
- Across Europe, the share of PPI investments carried out by sub-national procurers (i.e. regional and local) is considerable (53%) and usually implemented through traditional procedures. However, the share of PPI investments by sub-national procurers is lower compared to their weight in overall public procurement spending, suggesting a lack of awareness and a **lower investment readiness at sub-national levels of public sector activity**. Policy makers should take more action to professionalise key sub-national level procurers on the procurement of innovative solutions and stimulate the formation of buyer groups with larger, more experienced procurers from which smaller buyers can learn.

Underinvestment in public procurement of innovative solutions should therefore be tackled through the definition of clear political ambitions, reforms and investment plans such as the definition of action plans and spending targets in a way that considers the above conclusions from this study.

#### Benchmarking national investments in PPI of ICT solutions - Key findings

ICTs are responsible for 60% of productivity growth in leading economies globally and for 40% of productivity growth on average across Europe. ICT investment levels are directly correlated with the level efficiency and effectiveness of the public sector. Europe's sluggish economic growth compared to other world economies has been directly linked to lower adoption of ICTs, including in the public sector. Therefore, the study also measured national investments on public procurement of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investments) across the 30 countries (EU 27, UK, Norway and Switzerland).

#### In 2018, the **total amount of public procurement devoted to the purchase of innovative ICTbased solutions across the 30 countries reached €96 bn (i.e. 38% of PPI investment) excluding defence and €115,2 bn (i.e. 40% of PPI investment) including defence**.

**The defence sector shows a clearly higher investment intensity in ICT-based innovations** (ICT-based PPI equals 58,3% of PPI procurement and 16,6% of public procurement) than the classical (ICT-based PPI equals 41,6% of PPI procurement and 4% of public procurement) and the utilities sectors (ICT-based PPI equals 14,5 of PPI procurement and 1% of public procurement).

In absolute values, the three largest European economies – Germany, United Kingdom and France – cumulatively account for over half of the total amount of ICT-based PPI investment across Europe. However, when the amount of ICT-based PPI investment is compared with the total volume of public procurement in every country (ICT-based PPI expenditure as a percentage of total public procurement expenditure) it clearly emerges which countries around Europe are leading on capitalising on the transformative power of ICTs to speed up public sector modernisation and economic growth.





Source: Author's elaboration

A healthy economy needs approximately 10% of its public procurement expenditure to be devoted to ICT-based PPI investments in order to reach full speed public sector modernisation, economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>8</sup> In 2018, the 30 analysed countries devoted only **3,5% of their total expenditure on public procurement to purchase ICT-based innovative solutions, which is almost three times lower than the ambition level (the percentage increases to 4% when including the defence sector).** 

The analysis shows a lack of ambition in several countries concerning the adoption of innovative ICTs, with 90% of the countries not reaching the 50% of the ambition level, while those countries that achieved this level, still show room for improvement. A considerable increase of PPI investments is still needed across Europe to reach the level of 10% of public procurement going to ICT-based innovations that would enable a full-speed public sector modernisation, which is key on the road to economic recovery.

The geographical distribution of small versus large countries across clusters is quite heterogeneous. In addition to an overall North-West Europe versus South-East Europe division between leading and lagging countries, there is a **link between the performance of a country on ICT-based PPI investment and the impact of ICT on economic growth in its economy**. Countries that are leaders in terms of contribution of ICTs to total factor productivity / economic growth are also leading on the adoption of innovative ICTs in the public sector. Given the weight of public procurement in the EU economy (19% of GDP), this is in line with what was expected.

The overall underinvestment in ICT-based PPI investment is also highlighted by the fact that only three countries are included under the cluster of strong performers (that reach 65% of the ambition level), and no countries fall in the cluster of good performers (that are between 55%-65% of the ambition level).

The **strong performers** (Finland, Ireland, Sweden) invest well above European average in the adoption of ICT-based innovations and are well positioned to benefit from the effects of ICT to speed up their public sector modernisation and to reach the ambition level. Leading countries buy a higher share of ICT-based innovations that are of a transformative nature and in particular a higher share of new to the market ICTs, show a higher adoption of ICT innovations across all domains of public sector activity, are less risk averse than the European average in explicitly requesting the delivery of ICT-based innovations while remaining also open to unsolicited innovative proposals presented by contractors. However, still a 15% to 50% increase in PPI investments is needed to reach full speed public sector modernisation and economic growth.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Source: ICTs generate over 60% of total factor productivity in leading economies that fully capitalise on the adoption of ICTs to generate economic growth, based EU KLEMS and JRC PREDICT

Strong performers are followed by a small group of **moderate performers** (Norway and the UK) that underinvests with a factor 2 in ICT innovations.

The **modest performers** (Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Estonia, Malta and Switzerland) underinvest with a factor between 3 to 2.

The group of **low performers** (France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Netherlands and Spain) underinvests with a factor between 4 and 3.

The largest group of countries (13) fall under the cluster of bottom performers. where underinvestment reaches a factor between 10 to 4. In all these countries, ICT-based PPI investment is seriously below the 10% ambition level. In addition, investments in all modest, low and bottom performers are below the European average share (3,5%).As result, a modernisation of public sector requires a significant increase of investments in the purchase of innovative ICT-based solutions.



Source: Author's elaboration

Overall, a number of factors help explaining the underinvestment in public procurement of innovative ICT-based solutions across Europe. Key conclusions are the following:

- Across Europe, less is invested on **transformative ICT-based innovations** (79%) than on innovations in general (84%). This suggests that Europe needs to step up its game in the early adoption of transformative ICTs. Strong performers tend to invest more in transformative innovations and in particular also more in **new-to-the market ICTs**, while countries that are lagging behind still rely more on incremental innovations. To achieve more profound public sector modernisation and economic growth, these countries should increase their investments in the purchase of transformative ICT innovations.
- Across Europe, public procurers were most keen on buying Core ICT innovations<sup>9</sup> (54%). The ICT Plus sub-sector received also a significant share of ICT-based PPI investments (44%) while investments in innovations from the Content & Media sub-sector were small (1%). In general, investments across all sub-sectors should be increased.
- Across Europe, **ICT-based PPI investments are concentrated in a few domains of public sector activity.** The share of investments in ICT-based innovations made by procurers in healthcare sector is higher for ICT-based innovations (30%) than for innovations in general, but still below its weight in total public expenditure. The public order, safety and security domain invests a 11% higher share in ICT-based innovations (19%) than in innovations in general (8%). The share of ICT-based investments made by procurers in general public services in ICT-based innovations (16%) is 19% lower than the share invested in innovations in general

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are: (i) Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes; (ii) Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software; (iii) ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

(35%). Policy makers should increase political goals and incentives for procurers across all areas to innovate (e.g. by setting targets and quality/efficiency improvement KPIs for buyers).

- Across Europe, the implementation of ICT-based PPI investments is even more concentrated at national level (69%) than for PPI investments in general (53%). The share of ICT-based PPI investments by sub-national procurers is significantly lower than their weight in overall public procurement spending, suggesting a lack of awareness and a **lower investment readiness at sub-national levels of public sector activity**. This difference could also be partly explained by a lack of awareness and engagement of sub-national public procurers on ICT-based PPI procurement. Therefore, similar as for the overall PPI investments, policy makers should take more action to professionalise key sub-national level procurers on the procurement of innovative ICTs and stimulate the formation of buyer groups with larger, more experienced procurers from which smaller buyers can learn.
- On average, countries that have embedded public procurement of innovative solutions more **prominently in national strategies and action / investment plans for digital** reach also higher investment levels in procuring ICT-based innovations. Policy makers should therefore ensure that innovation procurement is embedded across all strategies and action plans for all ICT-sub sectors (e.g. national plans for digital in general and national plans for broadband connectivity, AI, big data, blockchain, robotics, advanced computing, cybersecurity, creative content etc).

Similar as for the overall PPI investments, underinvestment in ICT-based PPI should be tackled through the definition of clear political ambitions, reforms and investment plans, taking into account the above conclusions from this study.

#### Conclusions and recommendations

The chart below compares each country's ranking in the policy framework benchmarking of the study with its ranking in the PPI investment benchmarking (1<sup>st</sup> place in the ranking = 30 points; 2<sup>nd</sup> place in the ranking = 29 points, etc.). It is possible to note a **positive relationship between the comprehensiveness of the national policy frameworks for innovation procurement and the share of PPI investment out of public procurement expenditure in the different countries.** Countries with the most advanced innovation procurement policy frameworks are also the forerunners in terms of PPI expenditure, while, on the other hand, countries with scarcely comprehensive policy frameworks tend to have a limited PPI expenditure.



Figure 8. Relationship between policy framework ranking and PPI investment ranking

Source: Author's elaboration

This evidence suggests that, in order to increase the amount of PPI investment, countries should consider improving the comprehensiveness of innovation procurement policy frameworks. The study has analysed for each country the underlying factors that explain its performance and the points for improvement, both for the benchmarking of the country's policy framework and the benchmarking of the country's PPI and ICT-based investments.<sup>10</sup> **Some points for improvement are country specific** and depend on the level of maturity of the national policy framework. At the same time, recurring factors that all countries could work on and that can deliver a significant impact have also been identified. These **recurring points for improvement for all countries that can achieve quick impact** should be regarded as potential *quick wins* that can deliver a big impact for all countries.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See dedicated country profiles available on the study webpage.

#### The following box presents a **list of possible quick wins for national level policy makers**.

#### **Recommendations for national level policy makers**

Policy makers should foresee concrete reforms and investments for innovation procurement in the country's recovery plan that can receive EU funding under the Recovery and Resilience Fund (RRF). This can include several types of action, for instance:

- Identify / launch flagship innovation procurement investment projects that are key to the digital-green twin economic recovery.
- Create (or reinforce) national action plans for innovation procurement with ambitious targets for PPI and R&D procurement and commitment from key procurers (appoint a responsible person for launching / implementing flagship projects within key procurers).
- Make innovation procurement a strategic priority in all domains of public sector activity and in national ICT investment plans and strategies in the country (agree quality, efficiency improvement KPIs / targets with key procurers in each sector that require the modernisation of public services with innovative solutions, with particular attention to increase investment in ICT based solutions).
- Assist procurers in achieving these objectives by reinforcing capacity building measures for procurers (e.g. create a national competence centre for innovation procurement, capacity building measures in regional digital innovation hubs, make available model procurement documents for PCP procurements that reinforce EU strategic autonomy and resilience).
- Setup / reinforce national programs that provide financial support for procurers to start more innovation procurements, in particular R&D/PCP procurements (key to create first mover advantage / strategic autonomy, but has the highest risk for buyers).
- Unlock innovation in public procurement, by mainstreaming a national policy that allocates IPR ownership to contractors in public procurement (see new EU IPR action plan COM/2020/760 and EC guidance C(2018)3051).
- Reduce the national VAT rate for R&D procurements to 0% (see EC recommendation on this in C(2018)3051).

In this context, Europe could play an important role in coordinating and promoting actions to support the mainstreaming of innovation procurement through **the development of dedicated EU-wide innovation procurement action plan with ambitious targets**.

#### <u>Recommendations to continue EU-wide benchmarking version 2.0</u>

The regular benchmarking of both innovation procurement policy frameworks and expenditure levels across Europe would lay the necessary groundwork to develop coordinated and effective EU actions.

The present study was a first attempt to systematically collect and measure innovation procurement progress in a comparable way across Europe. In this regard, the box below presents the most relevant recommendations included in the study to ensure systematic and reliable monitoring in the future.

Recommendations for the benchmarking of innovation procurement policy frameworks

- **Capacity building**. In order to facilitate data collection activities, the following actions could be implemented:
  - (i) develop a network of national contact points for data collection (potentially also at regional level or within competence centres);
  - (ii) organise capacity-building workshops and trainings for public procurers aimed at building a common understanding of innovation procurement;
  - (iii) strengthen knowledge of indicators and sub-indicators, to improve innovation procurement assessment and the identification of specific areas for improvement.
- **Set-up of an IT tool to streamline data collection**. The use of a dedicated IT tool would allow to centralise data collection efforts, possibly through the adoption of a smart crowdsourcing approach, where qualitative and quantitative information is uploaded directly on the website/platform by selected contributors.
- **Timing of data collection and analysis**. Definition of a regular timeline for data gathering and analysis would help setting up a cyclical replication of the exercise, allowing to monitor developments over time.

#### **Recommendations for the benchmarking of PPI expenditure**

- **Creation of a robust database for below threshold procurements**. While calls for tenders above EU-threshold for all 30 countries are already published in the TED portal, the creation of one single database for below EU-thresholds calls for competition for all the analysed countries would seriously improve data robustness, including:
  - (i) mapping of providers of calls for tenders (building upon the study mapping);
  - (ii) gaining direct access to national e-procurement study portals;
  - (iii) exploiting synergies with similar projects, such as the Opentender Portal of the DIGIWHIST project.
- Wide-scale implementation of an innovation flagging system. The adoption of a flagging system, pre-labelling innovative calls for tender would make PPI identification considerably easier. Member States should also on their own national procurement portals for below threshold procurements follow the EC' plans to make available on TED:
  - (i) a box in standard forms for public procurement notices where procurers can put an *'innovation flag'*;
  - (ii) an *innovation checklist* to standardise the understanding of the definition of innovation;
  - (iii) a specific prior information notice for preliminary market consultations.
- Timing of data collection and analysis. Adopt a clear timeline to pace the annual update of results.

#### Recommendation to integrate benchmarking results into EU scoreboards

Finally, it is recommended to integrate the results of the policy and investment benchmarking exercises into other EU scoreboards, as presented in the following box.

#### Recommendations for the integration of results into existing scoreboards

- **Integration in the EU innovation and R&D scoreboards**. Countries ranking high in the innovation procurement benchmarking also score high on their overall innovation performance. This evidence shows the impact of public procurement on innovation at national level. Hence, it is recommended to incorporate the benchmarking results in other European scoreboards focusing on R&I, such as the EU innovation and ERA scoreboards.
- **Integration in ICT scoreboards**. Study results confirm the role of ICT as a key driver for innovation procurement and public sector modernisation. Ambitious plans for innovation procurement in the ICT sector have a positive impact on PPI investments. To track progress of ICT-based PPI investments, it is recommended to integrate this indicator in the Digital Economy and Society Index (DESI) indicator 5 on "Digital public services".
- **Other scoreboards**. Further integration should be considered with the following scoreboards:
  - (i) EU Public Sector Innovation Scoreboard;
  - (ii) EU Single Market Scoreboard (section on public procurement);
  - (iii) EU Economic Semester Scoreboard (section on European competitiveness);
  - (iv) Other sectorial scoreboards

## 1 Introduction

This study used a mixed-method approach:

**National policy frameworks for innovation procurement** across the 30 countries (EU 27, UK, Norway and Switzerland) were benchmarked based on inputs from two surveys with targeted stakeholders, desk research activities and interviews national experts. The assessment was based on the scores reached by each country for 10 indicators (*Definitions, Horizontal policies, ICT policy, Sectoral policies, Action plan, Spending target, Monitoring system, Incentives, Capacity-building and assistance measures and Innovation procurement-friendly procurement market), resulting in one compound indicator which allows to establish a ranking. The report analyses also key disparities, commonalities and trends in the innovation policy frameworks across Europe arising from the data gathered from the 30 different countries.* 

**National investments in public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)** across the 30 countries (EU 27, UK, Norway and Switzerland) were detected using a search engine based on Artificial Intelligence and human verification of the results obtained by the AI tool. **National investments in public procurements of innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI investments)** were filtered out using CPV codes that are assigned to three categories of ICTs: ICT goods and services, ICT plus and content and media. For the defence sector, data were estimated using a mix of interviews and desk research activities. The report analyses also key disparities, commonalities and trends in the investment levels across Europe arising from the data gathered from the 30 different countries analysed. This covers in particular a comparison across countries, across different domains of public sector activity, across different types of purchases (supplies, services, works), and across procurements that are covered or not by EU public procurement Directives. National level information for the above three different benchmarking exercises is also available in 30 **country profiles** (See Annex I). The study includes also **a collection of PPI case examples** (see Annex II), one for each country. This report is divided in three main parts:

- The first part focuses on the comparison of national policy frameworks on innovation procurement. Chapter 2 presents the methodology adopted to benchmark progress on mainstreaming innovation procurement in a comparable way across different countries. Chapter 3 presents and discusses the key findings, while Chapter 4 is devoted to a more detailed indicator by indicator analysis of commonalities and disparities across countries.
- The second part estimates the national investments in public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), and the portion dedicated to ICT-based solutions. Consistently with the structure of the previous part, the initial chapter (i.e. Chapter 5) illustrates the methodology adopted, presenting the data sources used and the approach adopted to overcome the different challenges emerged during the study. This is followed by Chapter 6, which provides an overview of the main findings, and Chapter 7, which offers a detailed comparative analysis of the main disparities and commonalities across Europe.
- The third part which consists of the final Chapter 8 provides guidelines and recommendations for decision-makers to improve the collection of country-level data in order to implement the three benchmarking exercises in a regular, systematic way in the future and to integrate the results into the relevant European statistics and scoreboards.

This study developed for the first time a European wide benchmarking of innovation procurement policy frameworks and investment levels. Throughout the implementation of the various phases of the study, a number of limitations have been encountered and consequently addressed, especially in connection with the second part on quantifying the amount of PPI investments. For this reason, the study findings should be considered as reasonable estimations, and should be treated with caution, with due consideration of the methodological assumptions adopted. Indeed, in a view to shed light on the issues encountered and the corresponding approaches to overcome them, the chapters devoted to the methodology also includes dedicated sections on its limitations.

## 2 Methodology for benchmarking national policy frameworks for innovation procurement

## 2.1 Objectives and outputs

The objective of benchmarking national policy frameworks for innovation procurement is to map the progress made in the 27 EU Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the UK on the implementation of policy measures to mainstream innovation procurement across all sectors of public interest. In order to conduct this analysis, the Study team has developed a methodological approach based on a set of indicators that enable an **evidence-based comparison of the innovation procurement policy frameworks of all 30 countries.** The methodological approach was developed together with the European Commission and in consultation with innovation procurement experts from the countries involved. The key findings of this benchmarking exercise, and the commonalities, disparities, trends of different indicators are available in Chapters 3 and 4.

## **2.2 Data collection approach**

The following methods were adopted to collect information for the different indicators:

- A first survey, addressed to the key national experts on innovation procurement, to collect preliminary pieces of information on all indicators. The full survey questionnaire is provided in Annex III.
- **Follow-up interviews** aimed at checking and validating the survey replies and gather further insights to be added in the country profiles.
- **Desk research** allowed to gather additional materials to fill information gaps and develop the good practice case examples.<sup>11</sup>
- **A second survey** of national experts, aimed at collecting feedback on the country profiles (see Annex I) and additional evidence on PPI good practice case examples (see Annex II).

The combination of all this information formed the base for scoring and ranking the countries performance on the different indicators. The use of different data collection methods was considered to be particularly beneficial, as it allowed to **triangulate data** and address the methodological challenges emerged during the study. The key obstacles faced by the Study team consisted of missing, partial and incomplete replies, significant delays in the completion of the surveys and difficulties in identifying the right contact point to whom to address the requests, especially in those countries where there is no dedicated policy framework for innovation procurement yet. These challenges were mitigated through a long process of **stakeholder engagement**. National contact points have been regularly contacted through follow-up interviews to collect missing information and to check its accuracy. The information collected through this approach has been used to inform the 30 country profiles (see Annex I).

## 2.3 Analysis and benchmarking approach

The approach for benchmarking countries policy frameworks for innovation procurement was based on an **integrated analysis** and a **compound indicator**. This was inspired by the approach used by EU scoreboards like the DESI, the EDPR, the Innovation scoreboard or the start-up nation scoreboard.<sup>12</sup>

A set of **ten indicators** was developed to cover all the relevant aspects of a mature and structured policy framework for innovation procurement. The current state of the innovation procurement policy framework in each country was then mapped according to this common approach, which allows to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> As far as Switzerland is concerned, all information was collected solely through desk research. It was not provided or validated by Swiss institutions, which chose not to participate in the study, citing previous involvements in similar initiatives at international rather than European level.

<sup>12</sup> http://www.lisboncouncil.net/publication/publication/132-the-2016-startup-nation-scoreboard.html

**analyse in detail strengths and weaknesses** of all countries and to **compare them according to common criteria**. The output of the analysis allows to distinguish different maturity levels in the development of the national innovation procurement policy frameworks across countries.

## 2.4 Overview of the policy indicators

In order to track progress of each country, ten multi-dimensional indicators were developed. The following table provides an overview of all indicators with their respective sub-indicators. A detailed explanation and breakdown of each indicator and sub-indicator is presented from Sections 2.7 to 2.16.

	Indicators	Sub-indicators				
1	Definitions	Innovation procurement				
		R&D procurement				
		PCP				
		PPI				
2	Horizontal policies	R&D policy				
		Innovation policy				
		Public procurement policy				
		Competition policy				
		Economic and financial policy				
		Entrepreneurship policy				
		Regional/urban policy				
3	ICT policy	-				
4	Sectoral policies	Healthcare and social services				
		Public transport				
		General public services				
		Construction sector				
		Energy sector				
		Environment sector				
		Water sector				
		Public order, safety, security and defence				
		Postal sector				
		Education, recreation, culture and religion				
5	Action plan	Coverage				
		Commitment to concrete actions				
		Dedicated resources				
		Definition of results				
		Clear timeline				
		Commitment of procurers				
		Definition of actors				
		Decision-making structure				
		Measures to pool demand				
6	Spending target	Presence				

#### Table 1. Overview of policy indicators and sub-indicators

	Indicators	Sub-indicators					
		Coverage					
		For all types of innovation procurement					
		Separated targets					
		Commitment					
7	Monitoring system	Measurement					
		Evaluation					
8	Incentives	Financial incentives					
		Personal incentives					
9 Capacity-building and		Central website					
	assistance measures	Good practices					
		Trainings and workshops					
		Handbooks and guidelines					
		Assistance to procurers					
		Template tender document					
		Coordination/pre-approval					
		Networking					
		One-stop-shop/competence centre					
10	Innovation procurement-	Specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement					
	friendly procurement market	Openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market					

Source: Author's elaboration

ſ

#### **Innovation procurement policy index** 2.5

For each country, the score of the various indicators is calculated as the unweighted mathematical average of the score for all their sub-indicators. After that, the overall score is calculated as the **unweighted mathematical average of all ten indicators**. The equation to calculate the overall indicator is the following:

 $Index \ score = \frac{Ind1 + Ind2 + Ind3 + Ind4 + Ind5 + Ind6 + Ind7 + Ind8 + Ind9 + Ind10}{Index \ score}$ 

10

where "Ind x" is the total score for indicator x.

Therefore, the overall score summarises the results achieved by each country for all the dimensions taken into account in the benchmarking and allows to rank their respective performances. The higher the score, the higher the performance of the country.

Since it is an unweighted average, similar scores in different countries may point to similarly comprehensive innovation procurement policy frameworks, but this could be the result of a completely different mix of policy approaches. When looking at innovation procurement policy index it is therefore important to also observe results at a more granular level.

#### **Performance clustering** 2.6

The overall ranking is used to cluster countries into 5 groups according to the comprehensiveness of their innovation procurement policy framework.

In order to better understand the different scores achieved by countries, and compare their performance, the Study team has calculated a so-called s-score. The s-score is relative to the score of other countries — not compared to an absolute standard — and shown in the metric of **standard** deviations. Standard deviation is used to explain how measurements for a group are spread out from the average. The higher the standard deviation number, the more the numbers of the distribution are spread out.

A positive s-score indicates a value higher than the average of other European countries. For example, if a country has an S-score for an indicator of +1.2, the country is 1.2 points of standard deviation above the European average for that indicator.

Following this standardisation procedure, we obtain a distribution of **s-score** for each country:

 $s-score = \frac{(country \ x \ index \ score)}{(country \ x \ index \ score)} - (European \ avg. \ index \ score)$ 

(Standard Deviation)

The standard deviation is calculated as follows:

$$Standard \ deviation = \sqrt{\frac{\sum (country \ x \ index \ score - European \ avg. \ index \ score)^2}{Number \ of \ Countries}}$$

The values obtained have been used to cluster the countries into 5 groups, which correspond to different degrees of comprehensiveness of the innovation procurement policy framework. A description of the groups is provided in the following table.

s-score	Cluster	Description
x<-0,5	Low performers	The policy framework for innovation procurement in the country is at an embryonic or even still conceptual stage. There is an acute lack of encouragement of innovation procurement in the country.
-0,5 ≤ x < 0	Modest performers	The policy framework in the country is at an early development stage. It only modestly encourages the use of innovation procurement across the country.
0≤ x <0,5	Moderate performers	There is a structured policy framework for innovation procurement in the country but only a few dimensions of the policy framework are well-developed. There is relatively good but still only partial encouragement for innovation procurement across the country.
2 > x ≥ 0,5	Good performers	There is a mature and structured policy framework with several well- developed dimensions that encourage in a rather consistent way the use of innovation procurement across the country.
X ≥ 2	Strong performers	There is a mature and structured policy framework, in which most dimensions are well developed and interconnected, so that the policy framework encourages in a holistic way the use of innovation procurement across the country.

#### **Table 2. Performance clusters**

Source: Author's elaboration

The overall scores of the countries clustered into the 5 performance groups according to their s-score is then listed and graphically represented. An example is shown in the figure below.



#### Figure 1. Overall ranking and clustering mock example

Source: Author's elaboration

The following sections illustrate, for each indicator:

- What it tracks and how it is conceived from a methodological point of view;
- The sub-indicators (and, in certain cases, their sub-sub-indicators) it consists of, and how their scores are calculated.

## 2.7 Indicator 1 – Official definition

A common understanding of what is meant by innovation procurement is an essential prerequisite to encourage the use of innovation procurement across a country. Therefore, this indicator reflects to what extent there is a clear official definition for Innovation Procurement, R&D procurement, Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) and Public Procurement of Innovative solution (PPI) in the country. In addition, the indicator takes into account the level of clarity, completeness and compliance of the national definitions with the EC definition.

## 2.7.1 Indicator 1: Methodology

This section describes the steps undertaken to construct this multidimensional indicator. Indicator 1 is composed of **four sub-indicators**:

- I. Innovation procurement
- II. R&D procurement
- III. Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP)
- IV. Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI)

Each sub-indicator receives a score based on three assessment criteria: (i) existence of an official definition, (ii) coverage, and (iii) coherence with the EU official definition.

#### I. Innovation procurement

The total score for this sub-indicator is calculated as a result of a three-step approach.

#### STEP 1: Existence of official definition

The first step requires determining whether there is an official national definition for innovation procurement. This involves determining whether **the national legislation provides an official legal basis and/or full definition** for innovation procurement or whether the definition of innovation procurement is found **only in other official national documents outside of national legislation**. With regard to national legislation, only legal acts, such as laws, decrees, resolutions etc, are considered. Additional national official guidance (e.g. circulars, guidance documents) are not considered as national legislation, but can still provide an official, generally accepted - although not legally binding - definition.

If **no legal basis** is available, the country automatically scores **o%**. Thus, allocating scores above **o%** in this step requires an understanding of what type of definitions have been introduced in the national legislation and in other official national documents (e.g. circulars, guidance documents). Some countries only provide a **definition of "innovation" in the context of public procurement** as defined in the EU public procurement directives (legal basis to implement innovation procurement), while other countries also include a **specific definition for "innovation procurement"**. Countries included in the latter case receive a higher score compared to countries having included only the definition of innovation. Countries having included a definition **in national legislation** receive a higher score than countries having a definition **only in national guidance material**.

#### STEP 2: Coverage

This step takes into account the **coverage**: i.e. Is the definition applied in the whole country or not (e.g. only in a certain region)? Is it applicable to all types of public procurers or not (e.g. only to procurers covered by one of the public procurement directives)? Is it applicable to all types of public procurement procedures or not (e.g. some countries do not define innovation in the general definitions section that enables procurers to call for innovation under any procurement procedure but only define this under the innovation partnership procedure)? Countries with a definition that applies in the whole country (e.g. only in a certain region). Countries with a definition that applies to all types of public procurers receive a higher score than countries with a definition that applies to all types of procurers. Countries with a definition that applies to all types of procurers. Countries with a definition that applies to all types of procurers.

#### STEP 3: Compliance with EU official definition

Finally, the score takes into account the compliance with the definitions provided by the EU (i.e. is the national definition **in line with the EU definition**?). This includes the definitions in the EU public procurement Directives (definition of innovation) and in the EU guidance on innovation procurement<sup>13</sup> (definition of innovation procurement). Countries with an official definition that is in line with the EU definition receive a higher score than countries with an official definition that is not in line with the EU definition. The table below presents the EU definitions of innovation and innovation procurement:

#### Table 3. Definition of innovation procurement

#### **Innovation procurement**

Innovation procurement is a public procurement in which a public procurer buys 'innovation'. As defined by the 2014 EU public procurement directives, 'innovation' means the implementation of a new or significantly improved product, service or process, including but not limited to production, building or construction processes, a new marketing method, or a new organisational method in business practices, workplace organisation or external relations.

Innovation covers thus both the research and development and the commercialisation / deployment of innovative solutions (products, services or works). Innovation procurement covers thus both R&D procurements, public procurements of innovative solutions and public procurements that purchase a combination of both R&D and the resulting innovative solutions.

*Indeed, according to the C(2018)3051 Commission guidance "Innovation procurement" refers to any procurement that has one or both of the following aspects:* 

- buying the process of innovation research and development services with (partial) outcomes;
- buying the outcomes of innovation created by others.

In the first instance, the public buyer buys the research and development services of products, services or processes, which do not exist yet. The public buyer describes its need, prompting businesses and researchers to develop innovative products, services or processes to meet the need.

In the second instance, the public buyer, instead of buying off-the-shelf, acts as an early adopter and buys a product, service or process that is new to the market and contains substantially novel characteristics. Early adopters refer to the first 20% customers on the market that are buying a new or significantly improved product, service or process. This includes procurements of products, services or processes that have already been demonstrated on a small scale and may be nearly or already in small quantity on the market, but that have not been widely adopted by the market yet. This also includes existing solutions that are to be utilised in a new and innovative way.

#### II. R&D procurement

The total score for this sub-indicator is calculated as a result of a three-step approach.

#### STEP 1: Existence of official definition

The first step requires determining whether there is an official national definition for R&D procurement. This involves determining whether **the national legislation provides an official legal basis and/or full definition** for R&D procurement or whether the definition of R&D procurement is found **only in other official national documents outside of national legislation**. With regard to national legislation, only legal acts, such as laws, decrees, resolutions etc, are considered. Additional national official guidance (e.g. circulars, guidance documents) are not considered as national legislation, but can still provide an official, generally accepted - although not legally binding - definition.

If **no legal basis** is available, the country automatically scores **o%**. Thus, allocating scores above **o%** in this step requires an understanding of what type of definitions have been introduced in the national legislation and in other official national documents (e.g. circulars, guidance documents). Some countries only provide a **reference to the CPV codes for "R&D"** as defined in the EU public procurement directives (legal basis to implement R&D procurement), while other countries also include a **specific definition for "R&D" in the context of public procurement**. Countries included in the latter case receive a higher score compared to countries having included only the CPV codes. Countries having included a definition **in national legislation** receive a higher score than countries having a definition **only in national guidance material**.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> C(2018) 3051 final, Commission Notice: Guidance on innovation procurement https://ec.europa.eu/docsroom/documents/29261

#### STEP 2: Coverage

This step takes into account the **coverage**: i.e. Is the definition applied in the whole country or not (e.g. only in a certain region)? Is it applicable to all types of public procurers or not (e.g. only to procurers covered by one of the public procurement directives)? Countries with a definition that applies in the whole country receive a higher score than countries with a definition that does not apply in the whole country (e.g. only in a certain region). Countries with a definition that applies to all types of public procurers receive a higher score than countries with a definition that applies to all types of public procurers receive a higher score than countries with a definition that applies to only certain types of procurers.

#### STEP 3: Compliance with EU official definition

Finally, the score takes into account the compliance with the R&D definition provided by the European Union (i.e. is the national definition **in line with the EU definition**?). R&D is defined in the EU public procurement directives as covering fundamental research, industrial research and experimental development in line with the EU R&D&I State aid rules which defines each of those three R&D categories in more detail. Countries with an official definition that is in line with the EU definition. The table below presents the EU definition of R&D procurement:

#### Table 4. Definition of R&D procurement

#### **R&D procurement**

An R&D procurement is a public procurement of Research and Development (R&D). According to the EU public procurement directives, research and development covers fundamental research, applied research and experimental development. Experimental development may according to the WTO Government Procurement Agreement continue up to original development of a first product or service and this may include limited production or supply in order to incorporate the results of field testing and to demonstrate that the product or service is suitable for production or supply in quantity to acceptable quality standards. However, it does not extend to quantity production or supply to establish commercial viability or to recover research and development costs.

#### III. Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP)

The total score for this sub-indicator is calculated as a result of a three-step approach.

#### STEP 1: Existence of official definition

The first step requires determining whether there is an official national definition for PCP procurement. This involves determining whether the national legislation **provides an official legal basis and/or full definition** for PCP or whether the definition of PCP is found **only in other official national documents outside of national legislation**. With regard to national legislation, only legal acts, such as laws, decrees, resolutions etc, are considered. Additional national official guidance (e.g. circulars, guidance documents) are not considered as national legislation, but can still provide an official, generally accepted - although not legally binding - definition.

If no legal basis is available, the country automatically scores 0%. Thus, allocating scores above 0% in this step requires an understanding of what type of definitions have been introduced in the national legislation and in other official national documents (e.g. circulars, guidance documents). Some countries only provide the legal basis to implement PCP (exemption from public procurement legislation for R&D services where the procurer does not reserve all the benefits of the R&D for himself) as defined in the EU public procurement directives, while other countries also include a specific definition for PCP. Countries included in the latter case receive a higher score compared to countries having included only the legal basis/R&D exemption. Countries having included a definition in national legislation receive a higher score than countries having a definition only in national guidance material.

#### STEP 2: Coverage

This step takes into account the **coverage**: i.e. Is the definition applied in the whole country or not (e.g. only in a certain region)? Is it applicable to all types of public procurers or not (e.g. only to procurers covered by one of the public procurement directives)? Countries with a definition that applies in the whole country receive a higher score than countries with a definition that does not apply in the whole country (e.g. only in a certain region). Countries with a definition that applies to all types of public

procurers receive a higher score than countries with a definition that applies to only certain types of procurers.

#### STEP 3: Compliance with EU official definition

Finally, the score takes also take into account the **compliance with the PCP definition** provided by the European Union (i.e. is the national definition in line with the EU definition?). PCP was originally defined in the PCP communication and since 2014 also in the EU R&D&I State aid rules. Countries with an official definition that is in line with the EU definition receive a higher score than countries with an official definition that is not in line with the EU definition. The table below presents the EU definition of pre-commercial procurement:

#### Table 5. Definition of PCP

#### PCP

Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) is a specific approach to implement a public procurement of R&D services that follows three principles defined in the European Commission's PCP communication (COM/799/2007) and the associated staff working document (SEC/2007/1668). The three principles are: competitive development in phases, sharing of IPR risks and benefits (IPR ownership is allocated to the contractors and the procurer obtains usage and licensing rights) at market conditions and separating the PCP from the subsequent purchase of commercial volumes of solutions. PCPs are exempted from the EU public procurement directives and WTO GPA.

The 2014 R&D&I State aid framework defines PCP as the public procurement of research and development services where the contracting authority or contracting entity does not reserve all the results and benefits of the contract exclusively for itself for use in the conduct of its own affairs, but shares them with the providers under market conditions. The contract, the object of which falls within one or several categories of research and development defined in this framework (i.e. fundamental research, industrial research and experimental development), must be of limited duration and may include the development of prototypes or limited volumes of first products or services in the form of a test series. The purchase of commercial volumes of products or services must not be an object of the same contract;

#### **IV.** Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI)

The total score for this sub-indicator is calculated as a result of a three-step approach.

#### STEP 1: Existence of official definition

The first step requires determining whether there is an official national definition for PPI. This involves determining whether the national legislation **provides an official** legal basis **and/or full definition** for PPI or whether the definition of PPI is found **only in other official national documents outside of national legislation**. Under national legislation is only considered legal acts such as laws, decrees, resolutions etc. Additional national official guidance (e.g. circulars, guidance documents) are not considered legislation but can still provide an official, generally accepted - although not legally binding - definition.

If no legal basis is available, the country automatically scores 0%. Allocating above 0% scores in this step thus requires an understanding of what type of definitions have been introduced in the national legislation and in other official national documents (e.g. circulars, guidance documents). Some countries only provide the legal basis to implement PPI (allowing procurers to award contracts and monitor contract performance not only based on price but also based on quality criteria that include innovative characteristics of a solution) as defined in the EU public procurement directives, while other countries also include a specific definition for PPI. Countries included in the latter case receive a higher score compared to countries having included only the legal basis. Countries having included a definition in national legislation receive a higher score than countries having a definition only in national guidance material.

#### STEP 2: Coverage

This step takes into account the **coverage**: i.e. Is the definition applied in the whole country or not (e.g. only in a certain region)? Is it applicable to all types of public procurers or not (e.g. only to procurers covered by one of the public procurement directives)? Countries with a definition that applies in the whole country receive a higher score than countries with a definition that does not apply in the whole country (e.g. only in a certain region). Countries with a definition that applies to all types of public

procurers receive a higher score than countries with a definition that applies to only certain types of procurers.

#### STEP 3: Compliance with EU official definition

Finally, the score takes into account the **compliance with the PPI definition provided by the European Union** (i.e. is the national definition in line with the EU definition?). Countries with an official definition that is in line with the EU definition receive a higher score than countries with an official definition that is not in line with the EU definition. The table below presents the EU definition of procurement of innovative solutions:

#### Table 6. Definition of PPI

#### PPI

Public procurement of innovative solutions happens when existing public procurement procedures (e.g. open, negotiated, competitive dialogue) are used to buy innovative solutions which are not yet available on large scale commercial basis (new to the market). In public procurements of innovative solutions, the public procurer is an early adopter of innovative solutions. Early adopters are typically referred to as the first 20% of customers on the market that buy an innovative solution (i.e. a new or significantly improved product, service or process). This includes procurements of products, services or processes that have already been demonstrated on a small scale and may be nearly or already in small quantity on the market, but that have not been widely adopted by the market yet. This also includes existing solutions that are to be utilised in a new and innovative way. Early adopters can trigger wider deployment of innovative solutions, because their purchase signals to mass markets that there is a sufficient level of customer acceptance for the solutions.

The table below provides an overview of the possible **scores** for each of the four sub-indicators (official definition for innovation procurement, R&D, PCP and PPI) depending on whether there is only a legal basis for the definition in the country, or also an official definition in guidance documents or in the legislation, and whether the available definition applies across the whole country and is in line with the EU definition or not.

Sub-indicators	0%	15%	25%	35%	45%	50%	55%	70%	80%	85%	90%	100%
Legal basis	N	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Definition in guidance documents	N	N	N	N	Y	Y	Y	Y	/	/	/	/
Definition in legislation	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Y	Y	Y	Y
Full coverage	N	N	Y	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Y	N	Y
Compliant with EU definition	N	N	N	Y	N	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	N	Y	Y

Table 7. Possible scores for each sub-indicator of indicator 1

Notes: Y = "Yes"; N="No" Source: Author's elaboration

The overall score of the indicator is calculated as the average of the score of each of the four subindicators (definition for innovation procurement, R&D procurement, PCP, PPI). Hence, the core equation of the "Official Definition Indicator" takes the following form:

$$Ind1 \ score = \frac{subInd \ 1 + subInd \ 2 + subInd \ 3 + subInd \ 4}{4}$$

where *subInd x* indicates the score of the sub-indicator x.

## 2.8 Indicator 2 – Horizontal policies

Innovation procurement does not happen in isolation but at the intersection with other policies and thus it flourishes more when it is actively supported by those policies. This indicator therefore reflects for each country to which extent innovation procurement has been incorporated as a strategic tool or objective with strategic importance in seven horizontal policy areas that define the surrounding ecosystem for innovation procurement.

## 2.8.1 Indicator 2: Methodology

Indicator 2 is composed by **seven sub-indicators** that take into account the extent to which the strategic importance of innovation procurement is endorsed by specific horizontal policy areas in the country:

- I. Public procurement policy: Does the public procurement policy explicitly recognise the strategic importance of innovation procurement to improve the quality and efficiency of public services, and actively encourage public procurers to implement R&D procurements (including PCP) and public procurement of innovative solutions?
- II. Entrepreneurship policy: Does the entrepreneurship policy explicitly recognise the strategic importance of innovation procurement to create business opportunities for entrepreneurs and boost the scaling-up of small companies, and does it actively support entrepreneurs that target public sector customers (e.g. provide training to entrepreneurs/start-ups/SMEs on how to successfully apply for innovation procurements, encourage financial investors to invest in entrepreneurs/start-ups/SMEs involved in innovation procurements)?
- III. Economic and financial policy: Does the economic and or financial policy explicitly recognise the strategic importance of innovation procurement for economic growth and optimising financial sustainability of public services (to reinforce industrial competitiveness, public sector efficiency, job creation), and actively encourage innovation procurement (e.g. in economic reforms, in export / trade strategy, in tax incentive strategy, in financial policy with financial structures for public procurers that facilitate innovation procurement (e.g. enabling multi-annual financial planning of procurement budgets, cross-departmental financing and distributing the returns on investment of innovation procurements, crowdfunding for innovation procurement budgets etc.)?
- IV. Competition policy: Is there a specific strategy for innovation procurement defined in the competition policy to ensure a transparent, non-discriminatory level playing field for all economic operators on the market?
- V. Regional/urban policy: Does the regional/urban policy recognise the strategic importance of innovation procurement for regional/urban development, and does it foresee strategic measures to increase the use of R&D procurement (including PCP) and public procurement of innovative solutions?
- VI. R&D policy: Is there a R&D policy that embeds with strategic importance in addition to the classical supply side R&D policy also a demand side R&D policy, which actively encourages public procurement of R&D, including PCP?
- VII. Innovation policy: Is public procurement of innovative solutions (i.e. the public sector acting as early adopter for innovative solutions) embedded as a goal of strategic importance in the innovation policy?

The scoring system is based on the extent to which each horizontal policy explicitly recognises the strategic importance of innovation procurement in the achievement of the overall policy objectives.

If innovation procurement is not recognised as important in the horizontal policy's strategy or action plan, the country automatically scores 0%. Allocating more than 0% requires that the horizontal policy's strategy or action plan explicitly endorses innovation procurement. If innovation procurement is only included in a horizontal policy's strategy or action plan which is not applicable countrywide, the country scores 50%. Conversely, if it is recognised in a horizontal policy's strategy or action plan that is applicable in the whole country, the country scores 100%.

If one country includes two or more policy areas under the same strategy, the score is provided to both sub-indicators. For example, if one country includes innovation and R&D under the same strategy, the score is provided to both policy areas. The table below provides an overview of the possible scores for the "horizontal enabling policy" sub-indicators

#### Table 8. Possible scores for each sub-indicator of indicator 2

Sub-indicators	No	Yes, but not applicable countrywide	Yes, applicable countrywide
Public procurement policy	0%	50%	100%
Entrepreneurship policy	0%	50%	100%
Economic and Financial policy	0%	50%	100%
Competition policy	0%	50%	100%
Regional / Urban policy	0%	50%	100%
R&D policy	0%	50%	100%
Innovation policy	0%	50%	100%

Source: Author's elaboration

The overall score of the indicator is calculated as the average score of each horizontal policies subindicator. Hence, the core equation of the "Horizontal Policies Indicator" takes the following form:

 $Ind2 \ score = \frac{subInd \ 1 + subInd \ 2 + subInd \ 3 + subInd \ 4 + subInd \ 5 + subInd \ 6 + subInd \ 7$ 

where *subInd x* indicates the score of the sub-indicator x.

## 2.9 Indicator 3 – ICT policy

As ICTs are catalysers for innovation and public sector modernisation, embedding innovation procurement as a strategic tool or objective in the digital/ICT policy in the country can be a particularly effective approach towards a widely-spread adoption of innovation procurement. Therefore this indicator reflects to which extent national ICT policies foster the use of innovation procurement.

## 2.9.1 Indicator 3: Methodology

This indicator takes into account the extent to which innovation is embedded as a strategic priority in the ICT policy in the country. The indicator does not have sub-indicators.

The score for the indicator depends on whether the:

- I. ICT policy in the country does not recognise innovation procurement among its strategic tools and priorities.
- II. ICT policy in the country partially or indirectly endorses innovation procurement among its strategic tools or objectives.
- III. ICT policy in the country fully and directly endorses innovation procurement among its strategic tools or objectives.

The table below shows the scores assigned to these three different situations:

Table 9. Possible scores for indicator 3

Indicator 3 possible scores	No	Yes, but only partially endorsed	Yes, fully endorsed
ICT policy	0%	50%	100%

Source: Author's elaboration

## 2.10 Indicator 4 – Sectoral policies

Public procurers in a specific sector (e.g. public transport) are more encouraged to undertake innovation procurement when innovation procurement is embedded as a strategic objective in the national policy frameworks and action plans that set the priorities for their specific sector (e.g. national strategy/action plan on transport/mobility).

Therefore this indicator reflects to what extent innovation procurement is embedded as a strategic priority in sectoral policy frameworks and action plan across the 10 sectors of public sector activity that are identified in the EU public procurement directives.<sup>14</sup>

## 2.10.1 Indicator 4: Methodology

Indicator 4 is composed of **ten sub-indicators** which cover the sectors identified by the EU public procurement directives:

- I. Healthcare and social services sector
- II. Public transport sector
- III. General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs sector
- IV. Construction sector
- V. Energy sector
- VI. Environment sector
- VII. Water sector
- VIII. Postal sector
  - IX. Public order, safety, security and defense sector
  - X. Education, recreation, culture and religion sector

If innovation procurement is not recognised as strategic in the sectoral strategy or action plan, the country automatically scores o%. Conversely, if innovation procurement is recognised as strategic, the country receives a score which depends on two other variables: (i) the country coverage and (ii) whether it is for all types of innovation procurement. Countries where innovation procurement is recognised as strategic countrywide receive a higher score compared to those where this is not the case (e.g. only in one region). Similarly, countries considering as strategic all types of innovation procurement (i.e. both R&D procurement and public procurement of innovative solutions) score higher compared to countries encouraging only one type of innovation procurement. This results in the following possible scores:

- The sectoral policy endorses the strategic importance of innovation procurement but not across the whole country (e.g. only at regional level) and only for some innovation procurement types. In this case the score allocated to the sub-indicator of that sectoral policy is 25%.
- The sectoral policy endorses the strategic importance of innovation procurement across the whole country at national level but not for all types of innovation procurement. In this case the score allocated to the sub-indicator of that sectoral policy is 50%.
- The sectoral policy endorses the strategic importance of innovation procurement but not across whole country (e.g. at regional level) and for all types of innovation procurement. In this case the score allocated to this sub-indicator of that sectoral policy is 75%.
- The sectoral policy endorses the strategic importance of innovation procurement at national level and for all types of innovation procurement. In this case the score allocated to this sub-indicator of that sectoral policy is 100%.

If one country includes two or more sector policies under the same strategy or action plan, the score is given to both sub-indicators for all sectoral policies included. This case might happen in small countries which tend to implement umbrella strategies covering different sectors. The table below provides the details of possible scores for each sub-indicator:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The following 10 sectors are defined in the EU public procurement directives: (I) healthcare and social services; (II) public transport (such as railway, urban railway, tramway, trolleybus, bus services, airport and port related activities); (III) general public services, public administration (covering e-government), economic and financial affairs; (IV) construction, housing and community amenities; (V) energy (covering exploration, extraction, production, transport and distribution of energy such as electricity, gas, heat, oil, coal and other solid fuels); (VI) environment; (VII) water; (VIII) postal services; (IX) public order, safety, security and defence; (X) education, recreation, culture and religion

#### Table 10. Possible scores for each sub-indicator of indicator 4

Indicator 4 - Sub-indicators possible scores	0%	25%	50%	75%	100%
Recognised in the sector strategy/action plan	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y
Coverage – recognised at national level	N	N	N	Y	Y
For all types of innovation procurement	N	N	Y	N	Y

Notes: Y = "Yes"; N="No"

Source: Author's elaboration

The total score of the "sectoral policies" sub-indicator is than calculated as the average of the scores of each sub-indicator. Hence, the equation to calculate the score of the indicator takes the following form:

 $=\frac{subInd\ 1 + subInd\ 2 + subInd\ 3 + subInd\ 4 + subInd\ 5 + subInd\ 6 + subInd\ 7 + subInd\ 8 + sunInd\ 9 + subInd\ 10}{10}$ 

where *subInd x* indicates the score of the sub-indicator x for sectoral policy x.

## 2.11 Indicator 5 – Action plan

This indicator assesses to what extent policy ambitions for innovation procurement have been operationalised by each country through a dedicated action plan for innovation procurement. A dedicated action plan mobilises resources to implement specific measures that are not covered by other horizontal enabling policies (see indicator 2) or sectoral policies (see indicator 3 and 4) and to coordinate measures covered by different policies so that innovation procurement is implemented in a coordinated way across the country.

## 2.11.1 Indicator 5: Methodology

The list of **sub-indicators** used for indicator 5 is presented below:

- I. Is there a specific action plan for innovation procurement? If yes,
- II. Does the action plan commit to concrete actions to be implemented?
- III. Does the action plan define which specific resources (material and budgets) will be used to implement each action?
- IV. Does the action plan clearly define expected results (possibly broken down in final results and intermediate milestones) for each action?
- V. Does the action plan define a clear timeline for implementation of the different actions?
- VI. Does the action plan define concrete actors to implement each action?
- VII. Have the relevant key procurement organisations in the country committed and been mobilised to implement the action plan?
- VIII. Does the action plan define clear, lightweight decision-making structures for innovation procurements that require approval from procurers and/or policy makers from different levels of government (local, regional, national) and/or different sectors (e.g. health, energy, environment)?
- IX. Does the action plan define concrete measures to pool demand among public (and possibly also private) procurers in the country (e.g. by creating fast/lightweight mechanisms for approving ad-hoc joint innovation procurements, by mandating specific entities such as associations of cities, central purchasing bodies to carry out regularly joint innovation procurements on behalf of a group)?

The score of each sub-indicator depends on three variables, namely (i) whether it is for all types of innovation procurement (ii) the coverage of the country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some regions/cities) and (iii) whether it is used to mainstream innovation procurement at large scale. If the country has not developed an action plan to support and develop innovation procurement, the country automatically scores o%. The same score is given to countries that have not developed a dedicated action plan for innovation procurement into other sectoral or horizontal action plans. Conversely, if a dedicated action plan has been developed, a score is given depending the three variables above. The table below illustrates the scores that each sub-indicator can achieve.
Table 11.	Possible	scores for	each s	sub-indi	icator o	f indicator 5
		000100101			encor o	- manual of o

Indicator 5: sub-indicators' possible scores	Scores
Action plan covers only a subset of the different types of innovation procurement, is not applicable across the whole country and is not implemented for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale.	25%
Action plan is for all types of innovation procurement but is not applicable across the whole country and is not yet implemented for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale.	50%
Action plan is for all types of innovation procurement, is applied across the whole country but is not yet implemented for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale.	75%
Action plan is for all types of innovation procurement, is applied across the whole country and is implemented for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale.	100%

The total score on the indicator "dedicated action plan" is calculated as the average of the scores of each sub-indicator. Hence, the equation to calculate the score of the indicator takes the following form:

subInd 1 + subInd 2 + subInd 3 + subInd 4 + subInd 5 + subInd 6 + subInd 7 + subInd 8 + sunInd 9 Ind5 =

where *subInd x* indicates the score of the sub-indicator x.

# 2.12 Indicator 6 – Spending target

In the field of R&D and innovation, setting spending targets is a widely used approach to encourage investments (e.g. the 3% Lisbon target for R&D expenditure in Europe). Over the past few years, several countries around Europe have set a specific spending target for innovation procurement as a percentage of the annual country public procurement expenditure that should go to innovation procurements. To arrive at an equally innovation friendly public sector as in other regions of the world, there should be 2,5% of R&D procurements and 15-20% of PPI. This indicator reflects to what extent each country has defined and set a specific quantitative spending targets for innovation procurement.

## 2.12.1 Indicator 6: Methodology

Indicator 6 is composed of a set of **five sub-indicators**:

- Presence of a target definition: Has a spending target for innovation procurement been set in I. the country (as percentage of total public procurement spending)?
- II. Coverage: Is this spending target applicable in the whole country?
- Applicability to all types of innovation procurement: Is the spending target applicable to all III. types of innovation procurement (both R&D incl. PCP, and PPI)?
- IV. Separated target: Is there a separate target for R&D procurement and for public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) respectively?
- V. Commitment of key procurers: Is the spending target backed by operational commitments from key procurers to invest in innovation procurements?

A country without a specific spending target automatically scores 0%. Having a spending target leads to a score, which depends on the extent to which the target is developed. The table below provides an overview of the possible scores for each sub-indicator:

Sub-ind	licators for indicator 6 / possible scores	0%	10%	20%
I.	Presence of spending target	N	/	Y
II.	Country coverage: national level	/	Y - Regional	Y - National
III.	For all types of innovation procurement	N	/	Y
IV.	Separated target	N	/	Y
V.	Commitment of key procurers	N	/	Y

### Table 12. Possible scores for each sub-indicator of indicator 6

Notes: Y="Yes"; N="No"

Source: Author's elaboration

The total score on the indicator "dedicated action plan" is calculated as the sum of the scores of each of the 5 sub-indicators. Hence, the equation to calculate the score of the indicator takes the following form:  $Ind6 \ score = subInd1 + subInd2 + subInd3 + subInd4 + subInd5$ 

## **2.13 Indicator** 7 – Monitoring System

Without evidence about the progress on innovation procurement made so far, policy makers cannot make informed decisions for the future on how to design policy actions to catch up in areas that are lagging behind. The lack of a systematic monitoring of progress on innovation procurement across Europe tends to limit policy makers to set more ambitious targets for innovation procurement spending. Therefore, a number of countries around Europe are setting up a national monitoring systems for innovation procurement.

### 2.13.1 Indicator 7: Methodology

This indicator is composed of **two sub-indicators**. The first sub-indicator "Expenditure measurement" reflects to which extent the country has developed an approach for measuring the amount of total public procurement expenditure that is spent on innovation procurements. Similarly, the second sub-indicator "Impact evaluation" reflects to which extent each country has developed an approach for evaluating the impacts of completed innovation procurements.

If the country does not have a measurement nor an evaluation system, it automatically scores 0%. For each sub-indicator, if the country has a measurement or evaluation system, the country scores at least 25%. Additional 25% scores are obtained depending on the three additional factors presented in the table below that reflect to which extent the measurement or evaluation system is developed: (1) whether the system is applicable to all types of innovation procurement, (2) whether it is implemented across the whole country and (3) whether it is based on a structured approach (meaning an approach that is regularly and systematically applied according to a sound methodology, not a one-off pilot exercise). The table below provides an overview of the possible scores for this indicator.

Sub-indicators for Indicator 7	Scores
Existence of a system	25%
Applicable for all types of innovation procurement	25%
Implemented widely across the country	25%
Based on a structured approach	25%
Total	100%

Table 13. Possible scores for each sub-indicator of indicator 7

Source: Author's elaboration

The score of the indicator "monitoring system" is based on the average of sub–indicator I (measurement system) and II (impact evaluation system). Hence, the total score is based on the following calculation:



where *subInd x* indicates the score of sub-indicator x.

## 2.14 Indicator 8 – Incentives

Risk aversion of public procurers is a major barrier for innovation procurement. Some countries in Europe have therefore created financial or other types of demand-side incentives to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements. This indicator tracks progress on this incentive structure across different countries.

## 2.14.1 Indicator 8: Methodology

The indicator entitled "incentives" is composed by **two sub-indicators**:

- I. Financial incentives that reduce the financial risk for procurers to undertake more innovation procurements (e.g. via grants, loans, tax incentives, crowd funding etc.)
- II. Personal incentives that provide extra personal motivation to the procurer itself to undertake more innovation procurements (e.g. KPIs/targets to improve the quality and/or efficiency of public services that need to be reached by procurers, career promotion opportunities or bonuses, prizes/awards for best practices etc.)

The scoring system of sub-indicator I "financial incentives" is as follows. A country without financial incentives for innovation procurement scores automatically 0%. If the country provides financial incentives to public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements, it scores at least 14,28%. Additional 14,28% scores are obtained depending on six additional factors that reflect to which extent the financial incentives are developed: (1) whether there are only national financial incentives (top-up funding) available for cases that can receive financial support from EU programs, (2) or whether there are also national financial incentives available for cases that cannot receive financial support from EU programs, (3) whether dedicated ESIF funds have been mobilised for innovation procurement, (4) whether the above type financial incentives are available for all types of innovation procurement, (5) whether they are available across the whole country and (6) whether they are designed to foster large scale implementation of innovation procurement.

The table below provides an overview of the possible scores for the sub-indicator I "financial incentives".

Sub-indicator "financial incentives" composition	Scores
Existence of financial incentives	14,28%
Availability of national financial incentives for cases that can get financial support from the EU (top-up funding on top of EU funding) <sup>15</sup>	14,28%
Availability of national financial incentives for cases that cannot get financial support from the EU	14,28%
Dedicated ESI funds mobilised for innovation procurement	14,28%
Directed to all types of innovation procurement	14,28%
Applicable countrywide	14,28%
Designed to foster large scale implementation of innovation procurement	14,28%
Total	100%

 Table 14. Possible scores for the first sub-indicator of indicator 8

Source: Author's elaboration

The sub-indicator II "personal incentives" is calculated based on the:

- Existence of personal incentives yes or no
- Coverage: applicable countrywide yes or no

The table below provides an overview of the possible scores for sub-indicator II:

#### Table 15. Possible scores for second sub-indicator of indicator 8

Sub-indicator "personal incentives" possible scores	0%	50%	100%
Existence	N	Y	Y
Coverage – applicable country wide	Ν	Ν	Y

Note: Y = Yes, N = No Source: Author's elaboration

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> EU financial incentives for innovation procurement include for example H2020 or ESIF co-financing, EIB loans to procurers, RRF funding etc.

The total score on the Indicator 8 "incentives" is calculated as the average of the total scores of the subindicator I "financial incentives" and the sub-indicator II "personal incentives". The corresponding calculation takes the following form:

 $Ind8 \ score = \frac{subInd \ I + subInd \ II}{2}$ 

where *subInd x* indicates the score of the sub-indicator x.

# 2.15 Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures

Lack of know-how and experience among public procurers is also a significant barrier to innovation procurement. Several countries around Europe have therefore set up measures to build up the know-how of public procurers on innovation procurement and/or to provide tailored case-by-case assistance to public procurers to implement specific innovation procurement projects. To make these measures easily accessible to public procurers in a one-stop-shop, these activities are typically coordinated by a competence centre on innovation procurement. This indicator measures to what extent different capacity building activities and assistance measures for innovation procurement have been implemented in each country.

### 2.15.1 Indicator 9: Methodology

The indicator is composed by 9 sub-indicators, each reflecting different capacity-building activities:

- I. Central website: a central website in the country that explains why the country encourages public procurers to undertake innovation procurement and that gives an overview of existing and upcoming policy initiatives to mainstream innovation procurement
- II. Good practices: publication by the country of good practices / case examples on innovation procurement
- III. Trainings and workshops: organisation by the country of trainings and workshops for public procurers on innovation procurement
- IV. Handbook or guidelines: publication by the country of an official handbook or guidelines on how to implement innovation procurement
- V. Assistance to public procurers: case specific implementation assistance offered by the country to public procurers to prepare and implement innovation procurements. This includes practical and legal assistance as well as assistance to public procurers to obtain hierarchical approval and financial support for implementing innovation procurements
- VI. Template tender documents: publication by the country of template tender documents for public procurers for implementing innovation procurements
- VII. Coordination of procurements: availability of government pre-approval or coordination for the implementation of innovation procurements in the country
- VIII. Networking activities between procurers: networking activities organised by the country to facilitate experience sharing and networking between procurers in other cities/regions, sectors, countries (e.g. online via a forum, or via physical meetings)
  - IX. One-stop-shop for public procurers: existence of one single officially appointed entity in the country (typically a national competence centre on innovation procurement) through which public procurers can access all the above type capacity building and/or assistance measures.

The scoring for each sub-indicator is based on the level of development of the specific capacity building activity. If the activity is not implemented in the country, the country scores 0% on the sub-indicator. If the activity is implemented in the country, its score depends on the following additional five factors:

- If the activity interconnects to EU initiatives supporting innovation procurement
- If the activity is offered free of charge
- If it covers all aspects of information procurement
- If it is applicable to all public procurers in the country
- If it promotes innovation procurement at a large scale

The total score of each sub-indicator depends on how many of the six factors shown in the table below are incorporated in the specific capacity building activity. For each factor that is incorporated an additional 16.66% score is given. For example, if the capacity building activity incorporates all six factors, the total score is 6 times 16,66% or 100%.

The table below provides an overview of the possible scores for each sub-indicator.

Indicator 9: sub-indicators' composition	Score
Existence of the activity	16,66%
The activity interconnects to EU initiatives supporting innovation procurement	16,66%
The activity is offered free of charge	16,66%
The activity covers all aspects of innovation procurement	16,66%
The activity is applicable to all public procurers in the country	16,66%
The activity promotes innovation procurement at a large scale	16,66%
Total	100%

#### Table 16. Possible scores for each sub-indicator of indicator 9

Source: Author's elaboration

The overall score of the indicator is calculated as the average score of each sub-indicator. Hence, the core equation of the "capacity building and assistance measure" indicator takes the following form:

 $Ind9 \ score = \frac{subInd \ 1 + subInd \ 2 + subInd \ 3 + subInd \ 4 + subInd \ 5 + subInd \ 6 + subInd \ 7 + subInd \ 8 + subInd \ 9}{9}$ 

where *subInd x* indicates the score of the sub-indicator x.

## 2.16 Indicator 10 – Innovation friendly public procurement market

This indicator reflects to what extent the national public procurement market in each country is innovation friendly and is therefore conducive to encourage the wide scale implementation of Innovation Procurement.

### 2.16.1 Indicator 10: Methodology

Indicator 10 is composed by **two multi-dimensional sub-indicators**:

- I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement
- II. The openness of the national procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market.

**Sub-indicator I** reflects to which extent the following specific techniques are used that foster innovation in public procurement:

- a. The use of an IPR regime that leaves IPR ownership by default to the suppliers
- b. The frequency of the use of value for money instead of lowest price award criteria
- c. The frequency of allowing the submission of variant offers
- d. The frequency of the use of preliminary market consultations

The score for sub-indicator I is calculated as the unweighted average of the scores for the four sub-subindicators "a. IPR regime", "b. value for money", "c. use of variants" and "d. open market consultations".

The EC<sup>16</sup> recommends Member States that, in public procurements, as a default rule supplier keep the ownership of their IPR and procurers retain the required usage and licensing related rights needed to fulfil their public tasks, unless in exceptional duly justified cases (where there are overriding public interests not to do so). This is because evidence shows that leaving IPR ownership with suppliers fosters innovation, company growth and reduces the costs of government contracts. Therefore, sub-indicator (a) indicates to which extent each country has implemented such a default IPR regime.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Commission notice C2018(3051) "Guidance on innovation procurement", https://ec.europa.eu/docsroom/documents/29261

The sub-sub-indicator "<u>a. default IPR regime</u>" reflects whether in the country the IPR ownership is normally left to the suppliers (contractors/subcontractors) in public procurement or not (it focuses on leaving IPR ownership, not at all IPR related rights, with suppliers). The possible scores for (a) are:

- If the default regime defined for public procurement in the country is to leave IPR ownership with the public procurer, the score is 0%;
- If no default regime is defined for IPR allocation in public procurement in the country and the responsibility is entirely left to the procurer to decide whether to leave IPR ownership to the contractor or not, the score is 25%;
- If the default regime defined for public procurement in the country is to leave IPR ownership with the contractors, but this is only recommended through guideline documents, the score is 50%;
- If the default regime defined for public procurement in the country is to leave IPR ownership with the contractors, and this is the approach used in the general terms and conditions for government contracts, the score is 75%;
- If the default regime defined for public procurement in the country is to leave IPR ownership with the contractors, and this is the approach defined in public procurement law, the score is 100%.

The score for the sub-sub-indicator "<u>b. the frequency of the use of value for money instead of lowest price award criteria</u>" is calculated using the "Indicator 5: Award criteria" of the EU Single Market Scoreboard published by the European Commission<sup>17</sup>. The EU Single Market Scoreboard indicator measures the proportion of procedures, which were awarded only on the basis of lowest price. As a result, the score for "b. frequency of use of value for money award criteria" is calculated as follows:

 $\label{eq:Frequency} Frequency of use of value for money \\ = 100\% - proportion of procedures awarded only on the basis of lowest price$ 

Another sub-sub-indicator used to determine to what extent specific techniques are used to foster innovation in public procurement is "<u>c. frequency of allowing the submission of variant offers</u>". It is based on the assumption that in countries where bidders are allowed to propose variants to meet public procurers' needs, the likelihood of proposing – and consequently purchasing – innovative solutions increases. This sub-sub-indicator takes into account the proportion of calls for tenders (CfTs) allowing for variants out of the total number of CfTs.<sup>18</sup> As this information is not available for all countries for procurements that are not published in the TED database, the sub-sub indicator score is calculated only for procurements that are published in the TED database, as follows:

# $Frequency of allowing the submission of variants = \frac{Number of CfTs in TED allowing variants}{Total \# of CfTs in TED}$

Finally, the fourth sub-sub-indicator contributing to the score of sub-indicator I consists of "<u>d.</u> <u>frequency of the use of preliminary market consultations</u>". The underlying assumption is that procurement procedures that envisage a preliminary market consultation are more likely to result in the purchase of an innovative solution. This is due to the fact that public procurers usually resort to preliminary market consultations when they have a specific need to address, but do not know a predefined solution. For this reason, public procurers are willing to interact with the market.

This sub-sub-indicator is calculated as the proportion of prior information notices (and periodic indicative notices in the field of utilities)<sup>19</sup> that envisage an open preliminary market consultation, out of the total number of prior information notices and periodic indicative notices. Since prior information notices are not available for all countries for procurements that are not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> http://ec.europa.eu/internal\_market/scoreboard/performance\_per\_policy\_area/public\_procurement/index\_en.htm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> The calculation of the sub-sub indicator was based on the database of 2018 contract notices available through the EU Open Data Portal, and took into consideration all notices with ID\_TYPE equal to 1 (Prior information notice), 2 (Contract notice), 4 (Periodic indicative notice utilities), 5 (Contract notice utilities), 7 (Qualification system utilities), 16 (Prior information notice defence and security), 17 (Contract notice defence security, 21 (Social and other specific services – public contracts), 22 (Social and other specific services – utilities), 24 (Concession notice).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The calculation of the sub-sub-indicator was based on the database of 2018 contract notices available through the EU Open Data Portal, and took into consideration all notices with ID\_TYPE equal to 1 (Prior information notice), 4 (Periodic indicative notice utilities), 16 (Prior information notice defence and security).

published in the TED database, the sub-sub indicator score is calculated only for procurements that are published in the TED database, as follows:

Frequency of preliminary market consultations =

Number of prior information notice and periodic indicative notices in TED envisaging a preliminary market consultation Total number of prior information notices and periodic indicative notices in TED

To determine whether a prior information notice or a periodic indicative notice announced a preliminary market consultation, the Study team carried out a keyword search within all available textual variables of the following expressions that are usually used to refer to a preliminary market consultation:<sup>20</sup>

- Preliminary market consultation
- Open market consultation
- Market dialogue/event/workshop/meeting/roundtable
- Industry/contractors'/suppliers'/information day
- Meet the buyers/procurers/clients/customers

In order to ensure a complete coverage of all different expressions to refer to preliminary market consultations, in addition to the entire strings (e.g. "preliminary" AND "market" AND "consultation"), also parts of the strings were searched (e.g. "preliminary" OR "market" OR "consultation") and manually checked.

**Sub-indicator II**, i.e. the openness of the national procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market, reflects to which extent all potential providers of innovative solutions (including new, non-established providers from other countries across the EU single market) are able to find interesting procurement opportunities in the respective country (level of transparency of public procurements in the country on the EU single market) and are able to compete for those opportunities (level of competition in public procurements in the country on the EU single market) and are able to single market):

- a. The level of competition on the EU single market
- b. The level of transparency on the EU single market

Sub-sub-indicator "a. level of competition" takes into account the following two indicators:

1. Proportion of contracts awarded where there was more than one bidder

2. Proportion of procurement procedures that are negotiated with a company with a call for bids The EU Single Market Scoreboard provides information on the proportion of contracts published on TED where there was just a single bidder (Indicator 1 "Single bidder") and on the proportion of procurement procedures that were, according to the contract award notice on TED, negotiated with a company without a call for bids (Indicator 2 "No calls for bids). These two indicators are used to estimate (1) and (2). The total score for "a. level of competition" is calculated as the unweighted average of (1) and (2).

Similarly, sub-sub-indicator "b. level of transparency" takes into account the following aspects:

- 1. Publication rate, i.e. the value of procurement advertised on TED as a proportion of GDP
- 2. No missing calls for bids information, i.e. the percentage of calls for bids with a clear name of the call and clear information about the call conditions on TED
- 3. No missing registration numbers of the buyer, i.e. percentage of cases where the registration number of the buyer is included in the call notices on TED

The scores for these three factors are calculated using the indicators "Publication rate", "Missing calls for bids" information and "Missing buyer registration numbers" provided by the EU Single Market Scoreboard. Hence, the total score for "b. level of transparency" is calculated as the unweighted average of the scores for (1) to (3).

The **score for sub-indicator II** is calculated as the unweighted average of the scores for the two sub-indicators "a. level of competition" and "b. level of transparency".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Whenever available, official translations from the EU Public Procurement Directives were retrieved (e.g. Article 40 of Directive 2014/24/EU for "Preliminary market consultation". The data fields that were searched included: "Title", "Short description", "Description of the procurement", "Additional information" (section II), and "Additional information" (section IV),.

Overall, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is calculated as the unweighted average of the total scores for the two sub-indicators I and II, namely:

$$Ind \ 10 = \frac{subInd \ I + subInd \ II}{2}$$

#### Box - Methodological note: calculation in case of missing values.

When the latest values from the EU Single Market Scoreboard were not available, the most recent values were retrieved. In case of values missing not only for the latest year, but also for the entire time series, the score of the sub-indicator was considered as "not available". As for indicators consisting of multiple sub-indicators – in case some of them were not available – the missing values were replaced by the European average for the purpose of calculating the indicator average.

# 3 Benchmarking of innovation procurement policy frameworks: key findings

# 3.1 Overall ranking and key figures

The following graph presents the ranking of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study in terms of the comprehensiveness of their innovation procurement policy framework. The score of each country is assigned on the basis of the 10 indicators presented in the above methodology, which are compounded into one total score.



### Figure 2. Ranking and clustering of countries based on policy frameworks

Strong performers Good performers Moderate performers Modest performers Low performers Source: Author's elaboration

All countries are clustered into 5 groups according to their standard deviation (s-score) from the European average. This indicates their **degree of advancement on rolling out an innovation procurement policy framework in their country**. The table below lists the total scores of the countries clustered into the 5 groups.

,	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•	2
Country	Total score	S-score	Cluster
Finland	66,6%	2,8	Strong performer
Austria	51,2%	1,7	Good performer
Netherlands	45,5%	1,3	Good performer
Belgium	42,4%	1,1	Good performer
Sweden	40,9%	1,0	Good performer
Estonia	40,5%	1,0	Good performer
Norway	38,1%	0,8	Good performer
Spain	36,8%	0,7	Good performer

Table 17. Total scores, s-scores and clusters of countries based on policy frameworks

Country	Total score	S-score	Cluster
UK	35,4%	0,6	Good performer
Germany	33,5%	0,5	Moderate performer
France	32,9%	0,4	Moderate performer
Italy	32,5%	0,4	Moderate performer
Slovenia	27,8%	0,1	Moderate performer
Lithuania	27,6%	0,1	Moderate performer
Greece	26,5%	0,0	Modest performer
Slovakia	23,0%	-0,3	Modest performer
Cyprus	20,4%	-0,4	Modest performer
Malta	20,4%	-0,4	Modest performer
Denmark	18,6%	-0,6	Low performer
Ireland	18,2%	-0,6	Low performer
Poland	17,4%	-0,6	Low performer
Latvia	16,1%	-0,7	Low performer
Hungary	13,7%	-0,9	Low performer
Czech Republic	13,0%	-0,9	Low performer
Romania	12,9%	-1,0	Low performer
Luxembourg	11,7%	-1,0	Low performer
Bulgaria	10,5%	-1,1	Low performer
Croatia	9,3%	-1,2	Low performer
Portugal	8,8%	-1,2	Low performer
Switzerland*	5,3%	-1,5	Low performer
European average	26,6%	0,0	-

\*The total score for Switzerland was calculated taking into account all the indicators except for Innovation friendly public procurement market. This is due to the lack of data from the EU Single Market Scoreboard. Source: Author's elaboration

The **European average** of the 30 countries considered (EU27, Norway, Switzerland and the UK) is **26,6%**, highlighting that **innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe are working at just above one fourth of their potential power**. More than one third of the countries (12) do not reach a 20% overall score. In addition, even strong and good performers appear to have significant room for improvement in order to develop a policy framework operating at full capacity. Therefore, strengthening the investments in rolling out a more comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement across Europe can significantly increase the positive impact that innovation procurement can bring to the European economy.

**Finland ranks 1**<sup>st</sup> **and is the only strong performer**, scoring consistently above European average (66,6%). It has adopted a comprehensive set of policies measures and actions that has activated all the elements of a structured innovation policy framework. In particular, Finland was one of the few countries implementing an Action Plan to encourage the use of innovation procurement in the country and envisaging a national spending target for innovation procurement. Finland is thus characterised by having paired political commitment (Indicators from 1 to 7) with the practical implementation of tools to foster innovation procurement (Indicators from 8 to 10). At the same time, there is still room for improvement under various indicators – such as for instance Indicator 4 on Sectorial policies or Indicator 7 on the Measuring system – which could be further structured and reinforced.

Finland is followed by a group of **good performers**, mostly consisting of countries from the higher latitudes of Europe, in which the innovation procurement policy framework is operating between 35,4%

and 51,2% of its full potential, with an s-score between 0,5 and 2 points above the European average (Austria, Netherlands, Belgium, Sweden, Estonia, Norway, Spain, UK). These countries are characterised by an innovation procurement policy framework that usually covers most of the indicators taken into consideration by the study, but typically not yet at full capacity and still lacking structured implementation of some key indicators (e.g. Indicator 6 on Spending targets or Indicator 7 on the Monitoring system).

After them, **moderate performers** consist of a group of 5 countries – including most notably the three biggest economies of the EU: Germany France and Italy – in which the innovation procurement policy framework is operating between 27,6% and 33,5% of its full potential. In terms of s-score, moderate performers are between 0 and 0,5 points above the European average. These countries can count on a relatively consolidated political commitment towards innovation procurement, as they tend to score above average on the first policy-related indicators (i.e. Indicator 1 on Definitions, Indicator 2 on Horizontal policies, Indicator 3 on ICT policy). On the other hand, however, their performance tends to be lacklustre in those indicators that denote a more mature and advanced political commitment (e.g. Indicator 4 on Sectorial policies, Indicator 5 on the Action plan, Indicator 7 on the Monitoring system).

Below the European average are the **modestly performing countries** (Greece, Slovakia, Cyprus and Malta) in which the innovation procurement policy framework is operating between 20,4% and 26,5% of its full potential (with an s-score below 0 and above -0,5 points), and the **low performers** (mostly Eastern European countries, with a few notable exceptions such as Denmark, Ireland, Luxembourg, Portugal and Switzerland<sup>21</sup>) in which the innovation procurement policy framework is operating between 5,3% and 18,6% of its full potential (with an s-score of -0,5 below the European average). These countries usually have a fragmented policy framework for innovation procurement, characterised by low political commitment coupled with a scarce development of tools to mainstream innovation procurement. For this reason, significant efforts are required to address ample areas for improvement under multiple indicators.

In terms of geographical distribution of performance clusters of countries, as presented in the following figure, it emerges that generally speaking North-Western countries tend to fall within well-performing clusters, together with others such as Austria and Spain. To the contrary, South-Eastern countries tend to fall within the groups of modest or low performers. Finally, as mentioned above, the three biggest economies of the EU – namely France, Germany and Italy – are part of the moderate performers, together with Slovenia and Lithuania.



Source: Author's elaboration

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> It should be noted, however that the Swiss final score is only limitedly comparable with other countries, due to the fact that not all sub-indicators were available and that contributions by national counterparts to the study were extremely limited. As a result, while frequently reported as a one of the most innovative countries in the world, in the present policy benchmarking it did not go above the bottom run.

## **3.2 Key considerations and conclusions**

### 3.2.1 Areas for improvement and EU action

From the analysis of the European average scores per indicator – as shown in the following figure – it emerges that the **most underdeveloped elements of national policy frameworks** for innovation procurement across Europe are the those covered by Indicators from 4 to 9. In particular, the majority of countries:

- have not yet set up an action plan for innovation procurement (indicator 5, with an average score of 8%);
- have not yet envisaged innovation procurement spending targets (indicator 6, with an average score of 11%);
- have not yet set up a monitoring system for innovation procurement (indicator 7, with an average score of 13%);
- have not yet included innovation procurement as a strategic priority in several of the sectoral policies in which the public sector is active (e.g. public transport, health, etc.) (indicator 4, with an average score of 14%);
- do not provide sufficient incentives (indicator 8, with an average score of 21%) and capacity building measures (indicator 9, with an average score of 24%) to motivate public procurers to implement innovation procurement.

In addition, it also appears that in several countries innovation procurement has not been fully embedded as strategic priority in their ICT policies (indicator 3, with an average score of 47%). This is **another key area for improvement** as ICT is recognised as the major driver behind the efficiency of the public sector and economic growth in general in Europe.



Figure 4. European average performance per indicator of the policy framework benchmarking

In order to improve national policy frameworks on innovation procurement, a more ambitious EU action is needed, both in terms of encouraging stronger political commitment (Indicators 1 to 7) and also in terms of catalysing the development of support instruments to help public procurers conduct innovation procurements (Indicators 8 to 10). In particular, the following indicators emerge as those where the EU is expected to have a greater potential to drive Member States and other European countries to strengthen their policy frameworks:

Source: Author's elaboration

### • Political commitment

- Indicator 1 (Definitions): the EU has set official definitions of innovation procurement, R&D procurement, pre-commercial procurement (PCP) and public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), and it can play a major role to drive European countries to correctly adopt definitions and correct any deviations from them;
- Indicator 4 (Sectorial policies): by embedding innovation procurement as strategic priority within EU sectorial policies/strategies and pieces of legislation, the EU can have a significant impact on encouraging countries to do the same within their own national sectorial policies/legislations;
- Indicators 5 and 6 (Action plan and Spending target): in addition to encouraging the use of innovation procurement, EU sectorial policies and action plans (e.g. in energy, environmental, health etc.) could also include actions and spending targets for innovation procurement in those sectors. For instance, the EU green public procurement policy includes an action plan and dedicated targets to encourage eco-innovation. Defining action plans and spending targets across all EU sectorial policies even though non-binding for Member States would undoubtedly provide guidance and a common direction;
- Indicator 7 (Monitoring system): by setting up a systematic regular benchmarking of innovation procurement policy frameworks and investment levels across Europe, the EU can inspire European countries to structure their own systems for the measurement of innovation procurement and evaluation of its impacts;
- Instruments
  - Indicator 10 (innovation-friendly public procurement market): by ensuring wide implementation of the new EU policy to leave IPR ownership with suppliers by default, countries could encourage innovation procurement and fuel economic recovery.

## 3.2.2 Key considerations from case examples of PPI

Although the comprehensiveness of the innovation procurement policy frameworks varies widely across the 30 countries taken into consideration, the study has identified public procurements of innovative solutions in each country. As fully presented in the following Chapter 5, 6 and 7, a total of 12.844 calls for tenders requesting innovative solutions were identified in 2018, with an average of 428 per country. Annex II of this report with the **"PPI Case examples"** presents 30 different calls for tenders that requested innovative solutions, one for each country. Although these examples did not all take place in 2018 – since many of them were collected from earlier years so to have a clearer understanding of their long-term impacts – they further highlight that European public procurers are purchasing innovative solutions even in those countries with policy frameworks in their infancy. The following table lists the case examples collected. Annex II includes a more detailed analysis of each PPI case example, describing the background context, the need that the public procurer sought to address, the procurement procedure followed, and the key results and impacts produced.

Country	Case example	Country	Case example
Austria	Wastewater recycling system for the Austrian Mint	Latvia	Steam Explosion Pilot Plant of the Institute of Wood Chemistry
Belgium	Application of Artificial Intelligence to job-matching system in the Flemish Public Employment Service	Lithuania	Construction of a combined heat and power plant
Bulgaria	Specialized vehicle, surveillance drone and personal protective equipment for forest fire fighting	Luxembourg	SATMED – a worldwide e-health platform

### Table 18. List of PPI case examples, per country

Country	Case example	Country	Case example
Croatia	Lighting solution for the Municipality of Župa Dubrovnik	Malta	Catering Services to Inpatients at Mater Dei Hospital
Cyprus	Creation of the Department of Lands and Surveys Web Portal	Netherlands	Procuring textiles made from recycled fibres
Czech Republic	Virtual autopsy table	Norway	Chatbot with artificial intelligence
Denmark	Intelligent Street Lighting	Poland	Delivery of ultrasound machines for the Provincial Specialist Healthcare Team in Wrocław
Estonia	X-Road project	Portugal	Unmanned aerial systems and ancillary equipment
Finland	Purchase of lightweight, full electric buses in Helsinki	Romania	Implementation of a Big Data platform and information analysis capabilities
France	HAPPI Project	Slovakia	Deep renovation and modernization of an apartment building on Pavla Horova Street 17-19 in Bratislava (part of the <i>EU-GUGLE Project</i> )
Germany	Magnetic-card system	Slovenia	Upgrade of the Ljubljana Regional Waste Management Centre
Greece	Smart Policing Systems	Spain	Treatment of patients with automated implantable cardioverter defibrillator (AICD)
Hungary	Helicopter Crew Tactical Training Simulator	Sweden	Disposable bio-based aprons for Skåne's healthcare sector
Ireland	Procurement of solar powered, compacting litter bins	Switzerland	Recycled concrete and asphalt for building and road construction
Italy	Servizio Luce 4 (Lighting Services 4 <sup>th</sup> ) - National framework contract for sustainable and innovative lighting	UK	Innovative lighting procurement for London's Underground network

Based on a qualitative analysis of both the 30 PPI examples and the entire study database, it emerges that innovative solutions are often purchased through traditional procurement procedures – rather than more complex ones (e.g. competitive dialogue, innovation partnership, etc.) – sometimes combined with simple techniques that tend to encourage innovation, such as the adoption of value for money award criteria.

The analysis of the 30 PPI examples also showed that the majority of calls for tenders were launched by public procurers at national level (16), such as for instance ministries and national utilities entities. However, a significant number of PPIs also took place at regional (7) and local (7) levels. The degree of engagement in PPI procurement across different levels of public activity is taken into consideration in greater detail in the following Part 2 on the benchmarking of the amount of PPI investments across Europe, which further highlights the importance of the regional and local levels of public sector activity to foster innovation, even with calls for competition falling below the EU-thresholds.

In addition, it also emerges that the majority of case examples awarded the PPI contract to national contractors (22), while in seven cases the PPI contract was awarded to a non-national contractor or to a consortium of both national and non-national contractors.<sup>22</sup> This proportion of cross-border contract awards is significantly higher than in public procurement in general across Europe. This suggests that innovation procurement encourages cross-border competition and dissemination of innovations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> The cases of award to non-national contractors also include the case example of Portugal, with the winning contractor being based in the USA, a non-European country. The total does not add up to 30 because at the time of writing the Romanian PPI had not been awarded yet.

# 4 Benchmarking of innovation procurement policy frameworks: analysis of results per indicator. Commonalities and disparities between countries

This section presents the results of the benchmarking (ranking of country scores per indicator) and a summary of the evidence collected to justify these scores (for more detailed evidence by country, see country profiles in Annex I **by each indicator**. This section also presents an analysis of commonalities, disparities and trends per indicator.

# 4.1 Indicator 1 – Official definition

The table shows the results obtained by each country on the "official definition" indicator. The total score is calculated as the average of 4 sub-indicators, namely "official definition for innovation procurement", "official definition for R&D procurement", "official definition for PCP", "official definition for PPI".

Country	Innovation procurement	R&D	РСР	РРІ	Total
Austria	50%	90%	50%	50%	60,0%
Belgium	55%	70%	55%	55%	58,8%
Bulgaria	35%	100%	35%	35%	51,3%
Croatia	35%	35%	35%	35%	35,0%
Cyprus	35%	90%	35%	35%	48,8%
Czech Republic	35%	35%	35%	35%	35,0%
Denmark	35%	90%	50%	70%	61,3%
Estonia	70%	70%	70%	70%	70,0%
Finland	50%	90%	35%	50%	56,3%
France	0%	100%	45%	45%	47,5%
Germany	0%	90%	35%	70%	48,8%
Greece	35%	90%	100%	70%	73,8%
Hungary	35%	35%	35%	35%	35,0%
Ireland	35%	35%	35%	35%	35,0%
Italy	35%	90%	100%	35%	65,0%
Latvia	0%	90%	35%	35%	40,0%
Lithuania	80%	35%	100%	15%	57,5%
Luxembourg	35%	90%	70%	35%	57,5%
Malta	35%	35%	35%	35%	35,0%
Netherlands	50%	90%	50%	35%	56,3%
Norway	50%	90%	50%	35%	56,3%
Poland	0%.	35%	35%	35%	26,3%

### Table 19. Indicator 1: scores

Country	Innovation procurement	R&D	РСР	РРІ	Total
Portugal	0%	90%	35%	35%	40,0%
Romania	35%	90%	35%	35%	48,8%
Slovakia	35%	100%	35%	35%	51,3%
Slovenia	35%	90%	35%	35%	48,8%
Spain	0%	90%	50%	50%	47,5%
Sweden	0%	90%	70%	50%	52,5%
Switzerland	0%	80%	35%	35%	37,5%
UK	35%	90%	50%	35%	52,5%
European average	32%	77%	49%	42%	49,6%

The European average for indicator "official definition" is 49,6%. The best performing countries are Greece, Estonia, Italy, Denmark, and Austria, which have recorded an overall score of 60% or above. The ranking is provided in the figure below.



### Figure 5. Indicator "Official Definition" overall ranking

Source: Author's elaboration

The table and figure show that the national official definitions for R&D procurement are the clearest and most accurately spelled out, and the closest in line with the official EU definition (reaching an average score of 77% across Europe). PCP and PPI are also defined relatively clearly and accurately, but not always in line with the EU definition, reporting average scores of 49% and 42% respectively. All the countries analysed have at least reported a legal basis for the development of R&D procurement, PCP and PPI, meaning that they are ready to develop an R&D procurement, PCP and PPI strategy.

To the contrary, national official definitions for innovation procurement are the least clear and accurate, with an average score of 32% across Europe. Only one country has a definition for innovation procurement in its national legal framework and 8 countries do not have any form of official definition for innovation in the context of public procurement. Moreover, 11 countries have a definition that is not in line with the EU definition. This may be largely due to a commonly observed misinterpretation that innovation procurement encompasses only the innovation partnership procedure. In order to

encourage more procurers to undertake innovation procurements, it is important that this is clarified in the future.

For each of the 4 definitions of indicator 1, the analysis distinguishes 4 categories of countries:

- Countries where the definition has been included in national legislation
- Countries where the definition is included in "non-legal documents", e.g. policy documents or guidelines for public procurers
- Countries where the definition is not included in national legislation or official guidance documents, but national legislation provides a "legal basis" for implementing the type of innovation procurement analysed
- Countries which have not foreseen an official definition and do not provide a legal basis for implementing the analysed type of procurement.

For each of the 4 categories of countries, the table indicates whether the definition reaches full coverage (definition is applicable to all types of public procurers across the whole country) or not (e.g. only in a certain region, or only for a specific type of public procurers) and whether the definition is in line with the EU definition.

The following paragraphs provide a detailed breakdown of the evidence collected per sub-indicator.

## 4.1.1 Official definition for Innovation Procurement

The table below illustrates to which extent an official definition for innovation procurement has been introduced in each country.

	Definition in legislation	Definition in non-legal document (guidelines)	Only legal basis No definition	None of the previous (legal basis not transposed)
Full coverage and in line with EU definition		EE (1)	BG, CY, CZ, DK, EL, HR, HU, IE, IT, LU, MT, RO, SI, SK, UK (15)	
No full coverage but in line with EU definition		BE (1)		
Full coverage but not fully in line with EU definition		AT, FI, NL, NO (4)		
No full coverage and not in line with EU definition	LT(1)			
None of the previous				CH, DE, ES, FR, LV, PL, PT, SE (8)

#### Table 20. Level of introduction of official definition for innovation procurement in each country

Source: Author's elaboration

One country has introduced a legal definition of innovation procurement in the national legislation (LT). However, this definition is only partially in line with the EU definition.

In 6 countries (AT, BE, EE, FI, NL, NO) a definition of innovation procurement is available in official guidance documents:

- In Estonia the definition in guidance documents is applicable to all procurers across the whole country and is in line with the EU definition.
- In Belgium, there are guidelines that provide a definition which is in line with the EU definition, but they are only applicable to Flemish procurers.
- In 4 countries (AT, FI, NL, NO), the definition in the guidance is applicable countrywide but is not in line with the EU definition. For example, the guidance note published by the Norwegian Agency for Public Management and e-Government (Difi) includes procurements that use new

innovative approaches in the procurement process itself but do not necessarily result in the procurement of any type of innovation.

In 15 countries (BG, CY, CZ, DK, EL, HR, HU, IT, IE, LU, MT, RO, SI, SK, UK) there is no official definition of innovation procurement in legislation or guidance documents but there is a definition of innovation in the context of public procurement in the national legislation in line with the EU definition, providing a legal basis for the development of innovation procurement in the country.

Finally, in 8 countries (CH, DE, ES, FR, LV, PL, PT, SE) there are no definitions for innovation procurement and for innovation, neither in national legislation nor in national guidance documents. In addition, the definition of innovation in the context of public procurement from the EU public procurement directives has not been transposed in national public procurement legislation.

## 4.1.2 Official definition for R&D procurement

The table below illustrates to which extent an official definition of R&D procurement has been introduced in each country.

	Definition in legislation	Definition in non-legal document (guidelines)	Only legal basis No definition	None of the previous (legal basis not transposed)
Full coverage and in line with EU definition	BG, FR, SK (3)	BE, EE (2)	CZ, HR, HU, IE, LT, MT, PL (7)	
No full coverage but in line with EU definition	AT, CY, DE, DK, EL, ES, FI, IT, LV, LU, NL, NO, PT, RO, SE, SI, UK (17)			
Full coverage but not fully in line with EU definition				
No full coverage and not in line with EU definition	CH (1)			
None of the previous				

Table 21. Level of introduction of official definition for R&D procurement in each country

Source: Author's elaboration

Over two thirds of the countries (21) have included a definition of R&D in the context of procurement in national legislation:

- 3 countries (BG, FR and SK) included the definition of R&D in the context of public procurement in national public procurement legislation. The definition is applicable to all types of public procurers in a way that is in line with the EU definition.
- In 17 countries (AT, CY, DE, DK, EL, ES, FI, IT, LV, LU, NL, NO, PT, RO, SI, SE, UK) the definition of R&D in the context of public procurement is available only in the national public procurement legislation for the defence sector. Despite being coherent with the EU legislation, in these countries the definition is only available within one sector.
- In Switzerland, there is a definition of R&D in the context of public procurement in national legislation that is applicable only to the federal government. However, it is not in line with the EU definition and not applicable to all types of public procurers.

2 countries (BE and EE) have not provided a definition of R&D procurement in national legislation but have foreseen one in official guidelines.

7 countries (CZ, HR, HU, IE, LT, MT, PL) do not have a definition of R&D procurement in national legislation nor in non-legal documents. However, they have identified in national procurement legislation what is considered R&D in the context of public procurement via CPV codes which are

applicable to all public procurers in the country and in line with the EU definition of the R&D CPV codes. These CPV codes provide a legal basis for developing R&D procurement in the country. There are no countries where the definition or the legal basis for R&D procurement have not been transposed, i.e. the category "nothing" is empty.

# 4.1.3 Official definition for Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP)

The table below illustrates to which extent an official definition for PCP has been introduced in different countries.

	Definition in legislation	Definition in non-legal document (guidelines)	Only legal basis No definition	None of the previous (legal basis not transposed)
Full coverage and in line with EU definition	EL, IT, LT (3)	EE, LU, SE (3)	BG, CH, CY, CZ, DE, FI, HR, HU, IE, LV, MT, PL, PT, RO, SK, SI (16)	
No full coverage but in line with EU definition		BE (1)		
Full coverage but not fully in line with EU definition		AT, DK, NL, NO, ES, UK (6)		
No full coverage and not in line with EU definition		FR (1)		
None of the previous				

1 ADIE 22. LEVELOI HITTOOUCHOILOI OFOTICIALUEHIITTOILIOF EUE HITEACH COUTTEN
--

Source: Author's elaboration

A first group of 11 countries (AT, BE, DK, EE, ES, FR, LU, NL, NO, SE, UK) have included a definition of PCP in non-legal official documents:

- 3 countries (EE, LU, SE) define PCP in guidance documents which provide a countrywide applicable definition in line with the EU definition.
- In Belgium, the guidance document defined PCP only for the Flanders region.
- In 6 countries (AT, DK, NL, NO, ES, UK) guidance documents are applicable across the country but the definition is not coherent with the EU definition.
- In France the definition of PCP is not applicable to all procurers in the country (only to those in the national innovation procurement road mapping exercise) and not in line with the EU definition. According to this definition, PCP cannot include the sale of resulting innovative product. However, it includes the sale of the resulting innovate solutions (the limited set of products or services resulting from the R&D), but does not include commercial volumes of the innovative solution (as this would require the suppliers to undertake quantity production which cannot be part of R&D).

The second group of countries (BG, CH, CY, CZ, DE, FI, HR, HU, IE, LV, MT, PL, PT, RO, SK, SI) do not have an official definition for PCP, neither in national legislation nor in official guidance documents, but provide the legal basis to implement PCP (R&D services exemption in their national public procurement law), which is applicable to all public procurers in the country and in line with the EU procurement directives provisions.

Finally, a limited number of countries (EL, IT, LT) have introduced the definition of PCP in national legislation which is applicable in the whole country and is in line with the EU definition.

There are no countries where the definition or the legal basis for PCP procurement have not been transposed, i.e. the category "nothing" is empty.

# 4.1.4 Official definition for Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI)

The table below illustrates to which extent an official definition for PPI has been introduced in each country.

	Definition in legislation	Definition in non-legal document (guidelines)	Only legal basis No definition	None of the previous (legal basis not transposed)
Full coverage and in line with EU definition		DE, DK, EE, EL (4)	BG, CH, CY, CZ, HR, HU, IE, IT, LU, LV, MT, NL, NO, PL, PT, RO, SI, SK, LT, UK (20)	
No full coverage but in line with EU definition		BE (1)		
Full coverage but not fully in line with EU definition		AT, ES, FI, SE (4)		
No full coverage and not in line with EU definition		FR (1)		
None of the previous				

Table 23. Level of introduction of official definition for PPI in each country

With regard to this sub-indicator, the analysed countries can be divided in two groups. The first group includes 10 countries (AT, BE, DE, DK, EE, ES, FI, FR, SE, EL), which have defined PPI in non-legal documents:

- 4 countries (DE, DK, EE, EL) have introduced a definition of PPI fully in line with the EU definition and applicable to all public procurers.
- In Belgium, the definition of PPI is in line with the EU definition but only applicable to the Flanders region.
- 4 countries (AT, ES, FI, SE) have a PPI definition in non-legislative documents applicable to all public procurers but not in line with the EU definition. For instance, in Spain, the PPI definition included in the guidelines published by the Ministry of Economy only covers products that still need to be developed while existing products not widely commercialised are not covered (PPI is confused with innovation partnerships).
- France provides a PPI definition in national guidance, but it is not applicable to all public procurers (i.e. only to the procurers included in the national innovation procurement road mapping exercise) and it is linked only to solutions that have been released to the market since less than 2 years (no link to the 20% early adopters on the market is done).

The second and bigger group includes the remaining 20 countries (BG, CH, CY, CZ, HR, HU, IE, IT, LT, LU, LV, MT, NL, NO, PL, PT, RO, SI, SK, UK). They have not introduced a definition of PPI neither in national legislation nor in official guidance documents. However, in these countries the legislation still provides a legal basis for procurers to implement PPI, in particular by allowing contract award and performance monitoring based on innovative solution characteristics. No country has included a definition of PPI in its national legal framework. There are no countries where the definition or the legal basis for PPI have not been transposed, i.e. the category "nothing" is empty.

# 4.2 Indicator 2 – Horizontal policies

This indicator reflects the extent to which innovation procurement has been incorporated as a strategic tool or objective in 7 horizontal policy areas. The table below provides the score of Indicator 2 for each country. The total score is calculated as the average result of 7 sub-indicators, namely "R&D policy",

Source: Author's elaboration

"innovation policy", "public procurement policy", "competition policy", "economic and financial policy", "entrepreneurship policy", "regional/urban policy".

Country	R&D policy	Innovation policy	Public procurement	Competition policy	Economic & financial policy	Entrepreneurship policy	Regional/urban policy	Total
Austria	100%	100%	100%	0%	0%	0%	50%	50,0%
Belgium	50%	50%	0%	0%	50%	0%	50%	28,6%
Bulgaria	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%	14,3%
Croatia	0%	0%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	14,3%
Cyprus	0%	0%	100%	0%	0%	100%	0%	28,6%
Czech Republic	100%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%	42,9%
Denmark	0%	100%	100%	0%	0%	0%	50%	35,7%
Estonia	100%	100%	100%	0%	100%	100%	100%	85,7%
Finland	100%	100%	100%	0%	100%	0%	100%	71,4%
France	0%	50%	100%	0%	50%	0%	50%	35,7%
Germany	100%	100%	100%	0%	0%	0%	50%	50,0%
Greece	100%	100%	100%	0%	0%	0%	100%	57,1%
Hungary	100%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%	42,9%
Ireland	0%	100%	100%	0%	0%	100%	0%	42,9%
Italy	50%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	50%	14,3%
Latvia	0%	100%	0%	0%	0%	100%	0%	28,6%
Lithuania	100%	100%	0%	0%	100%	0%	100%	57,1%
Luxembourg	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0,0%
Malta	100%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	28,6%
Netherlands	100%	100%	100%	0%	0%	100%	0%	57,1%
Norway	100%	0%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	28,6%
Poland	100%	100%	100%	0%	100%	0%	100%	71,4%
Portugal	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%	14,3%
Romania	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%	14,3%
Slovakia	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%	14,3%
Slovenia	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%	28,6%
Spain	100%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%	42,9%
Sweden	100%	100%	100%	0%	0%	100%	0%	57,1%
Switzerland	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0,0%
UK	0%	0%	100%	0%	0%	100%	100%	42,9%
European average	53,3%	56,7%	50%	0%	16,7%	23,3%	56,7%	36,7%

Table 24. Indicator 2: scores

Source: Author's elaboration

The best performing country is Estonia (where innovation procurement is recognised in all horizontal policies except for competition policy), whereas Luxembourg and Switzerland are at the bottom of the ranking because innovation procurement is not recognised in any horizontal policy. A number of countries that use ESIF funds to a large extent (Bulgaria, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia) recognise innovation procurement only in their ESIF supported regional/urban policy. However, these countries do not have any other national horizontal policy or strategy for supporting innovation procurement at

national level in areas that are not supported by ESIF funds. The European average of this indicator is 36,7%. 16 countries score below the European average.

In terms of horizontal policy support to innovation procurement, across all countries and among all the horizontal policies observed, "Regional/Urban policy" and "R&D and Innovation policy" are the policy fields that score the highest on endorsing and promoting the strategic importance of innovation procurement. This is mainly due to the fact that innovation procurement is inextricably tied with R&D&I activities. They are followed by "public procurement policies". Endorsement of innovation procurement in "entrepreneurship, economic / financial policy" (as a mechanism for enabling structural reforms and public sector modernisation) and in "competition policy" are still points to be improved across all countries.



### Figure 6. Indicator "Horizontal policies" overall ranking

Source: Author's elaboration

The next paragraphs provide a detailed breakdown of each horizontal policy considered.

## 4.2.1 Public Procurement Policy

### Table 25. Level of recognition of public procurement policy in each country

	Applicable to all procurers country wide	Not applicable to all procurers country wide	No recognition
Public Procurement Policy	AT, CY, DE, DK, EE, EL, FI, FR, HR, IE, NL, NO, SE, UK, PL (15)		BE, BG, CH, CZ, ES, HU, IT, LT, LU, LV, MT, PT, RO, SI, SK (15)

Source: Author's elaboration

15 countries (AT, CY, DE, DK, EE, EL, FI, FR, HR, IE, NL, NO, SE, UK, PL) recognise the strategic importance of innovation procurement in modernising public services in their public procurement policy that is applicable to all procurers in the country:

• In some countries innovation procurement is well structured in the national public procurement strategy and concrete actions are foreseen to realise it. For example in Denmark, the national strategy on public procurement clearly describes the tools to be used to develop innovation procurement and the actions implemented to support the different forms of innovation procurement, e.g. PCP, PPI. Similarly, Greece foresees actions to promote and

disseminate innovation procurement in the country, including sectorial studies and awareness raising activities.

- In other countries, such as Austria and the Netherlands, innovation is anchored in the public procurement policy. However, innovation is encouraged via dedicated national action plans rather than via public procurement legislation, where innovation is a secondary objective.
- In Cyprus, the promotion of innovation in public procurement is mentioned as one of the objectives set out in the public procurement strategy.

In 15 countries (BE, BG, CH, CZ, ES, HU, IT, LT, LU, LV, MT, PT, RO, SI, SK) public procurement policy have not explicitly recognised the strategic importance of innovation procurement yet.

## 4.2.2 Entrepreneurship policy

Table 26. Level of recognition of entrepreneurship policy in each country

	Country wide	Not country wide	No recognition
Entrepreneurship policy	CY, EE, IE, NL, LV, SE, UK (7)		AT, BE, BG, CH, CZ, DE, DK, EL, ES, FI, FR, HR, HU, IT, LT, LU, MT, NO, PL, PT, RO, SI, SK (23)

Source: Author's elaboration

7 countries (CY, EE, IE, NL, LV, SE, UK) recognise the importance of innovation procurement in creating business opportunities for entrepreneurs and boosting the scaling up of small companies in their entrepreneurship policy that is applicable across the whole country:

- In Cyprus, Ireland and the Netherlands, the use of innovation procurement in this policy area is focused on the creation of more competitive enterprises in the country. The Netherlands explicitly targets SMEs and start-ups, whereas in Ireland innovation procurement is used as a tool to foster the participation of SMEs to public tender procedures.
- In Estonia, innovation procurement is embedded in a strategy addressing different sectors including entrepreneurship. The "Estonian Entrepreneurship Growth Strategy 2014-2020" covers a variety of sectors with the aim to create a market for innovative solutions through the use of innovation procurement.

In the remaining 23 countries (AT, BE, BG, CH, CZ, DE, DK, EL, ES, FI, FR, HR, HU, IT, LT, LU, MT, NO, PL, PT, RO, SI, SK) entrepreneurship policy does not recognise the strategic importance of innovation procurement for entrepreneurs and small company growth.

## 4.2.3 Economic and financial policy

Table 27. Level of recognition of economic and financial policy in each country

	Country wide	Not country wide	No recognition
Economic and financial policies	EE, FI, LT, PL (4)	BE, FR (2)	AT, BG, CH, CY, CZ, DE, DK, EL, ES, HR, HU, IE, IT, LU, LV, MT, NL, NO, PT, RO, SE, SI, SK UK (24)

Source: Author's elaboration

Only 6 countries (BE, EE, FI, FR, LT, PL) recognise the strategic importance of innovation procurement for economic growth and for optimising financial sustainability of public services in their economic and financial policy:

• In 4 countries (EE, FI, LT, PL) innovation procurement is included as a strategic tool within economic and/or financial strategies that support the overall growth and competitiveness of the whole country. To achieve this objective, these strategies are usually interconnected with

sectoral strategies. For example, in Poland the "Strategy for Responsible Development 2020" has a horizontal impact across several policy sectors, including transport, environment, energy and ICT. In Finland, innovation procurement is often used to channel investments and procurement budgets towards the development of new services and products and urban regions.

• In France and Belgium the strategic role of innovation procurement for economic and financial policy is also recognised, but not in a way that is applicable to all procurement areas in the country. In France, it applies only to public procurers that are involved in the national innovation procurement road mapping exercise: a number of national central public bodies, i.e. the State (e.g. the Ministries), its "operators" (*établissements publics*) and hospitals. In Belgium it applies only to the region of Flanders.

The vast majority of the EU countries (24) have not recognised the strategic importance of innovation procurement in their economic and financial policies yet.

## 4.2.4 Competition Policy

### Table 28. Level of recognition of competition policy in each country

	Country wide	Not country wide	No recognition
Competition policy			AT, BE, BG, CY, CH, CZ, DE, DK, EE, EL, ES, FI, FR, HR, HU, IT, IE, LV, LT, LU, MT, NL, NO, PL, PT, RO, SI, SE, SK, UK (30)

Source: Author's elaboration

No country has so far included provisions on innovation procurement in its competition policy to ensure a transparent, non-discriminatory level playing field for all economic operators on its procurement market.

## 4.2.5 Regional/urban policy

### Table 29. Level of recognition of regional/urban policy in each country

	Country wide	Not country wide	No recognition
Regional/Urban policy	BG, CZ, EE, EL, ES, FI, HU, LT, PL, PT, RO, SI, SK, UK (14)	AT, BE, DE, DK, FR, IT, (6)	CY, CH, HR, IE, LV, LU, MT, NL, NO, SE (10)

Source: Author's elaboration

In 14 countries (BG, CZ, EE, EL, ES, FI, HU, LT, PL, PT, RO, SI, SK, UK) the strategic importance of innovation procurement for regional/urban development is recognised in the national regional and urban policy framework for the whole country. In these national strategies, in most cases the regional actions in the innovation procurement field are foreseen in the context of the ESIF smart specialisation strategies that are implemented by regional authorities.

6 countries (AT, BE, DE, DK, FR, IT) do not recognise the strategic importance of innovation procurement for regional/urban development for the whole country, but only in certain regions:

- In Italy, several Italian Regions explicitly indicate PCP and PPI in their 2014-2020 Operational Plans. The sectors where they are applied have been identified by each Region in accordance with the smart specialisation strategy documents (S3).
- In Austria even without a national strategic framework for regional and urban policies, there are regions that have developed their own policy dedicated to innovation procurement. In particular, the Vienna's RTI strategy "Innovative Vienna 2020" recognises innovation procurement among its instruments to foster the innovative development of the region.

• Germany has a strategic framework for regional and urban policies, but innovation procurement is included as a specific objective. However, innovation procurement is envisaged at regional level in the context of Green Public Procurement, e.g. North-Rhine Westphalia.

In 10 countries (CY, CH, HR, IE, LV, LU, MT, NL, NO, SE) there is no recognition of the strategic importance of innovation procurement in regional/urban policies at national or regional level.

## 4.2.6 R&D&I policy

### Table 30. Level of recognition of R&D&I policy in each country

	Country wide	Not country wide	No recognition
R&D policy	AT, CZ, DE, EE, EL, ES, FI, HU, LT, MT, NL, NO, PL, SE, SI (15)	BE, IT (2)	BG, CH, CY DK, FR, HR, IE, LU, LV, PT, RO, SK, UK (13)
Innovation policy	AT, CZ, DE, DK, EE, EL, ES, FI, HU, IE, LV, LT, MT, NL, PL, SE (16)	BE, FR (2)	BG, CH, CY, HR, IT, LU, NO, PT, RO, SI, SK, UK (12)

Source: Author's elaboration

R&D and innovation policies have been grouped together because most countries develop a combined R&D and innovation strategy. In a limited number of countries (DK, FR, IE, IT, LV, NO, SI) only one of these two horizontal policies recognises the strategic importance of innovation procurement.

- In 15 countries (AT, CZ, DE, EE, EL, ES, FI, HU, LT, MT, NL, NO, PL, SE, SI) innovation procurement is included as a strategic tool within a horizontal R&D strategy at national level.
- In 16 countries (AT, CZ, DE, DK, EE, EL, ES, FI, HU, IE, LV, MT, NL, NO, PL, SE) innovation procurement is included as a strategic tool within a horizontal innovation strategy at national level.
- In France, Belgium and Italy, the strategic relevance of innovation procurement is recognised in R&D or innovation policies not applicable to all entities in the country. In the Italian case the National Research Plan (2015-2020), focusing on R&D, foresees among its objectives the promotion of public demand for innovative solutions. Under this framework the competent Ministry has put in place a "Pre-Commercial Procurement Program" only for the former "cohesion objective regions". In Belgium, only the R&D&I policy of the region of Flanders recognises the strategic importance of innovation procurement.

In 9 countries (BG, CH, CY, HR, LU, PT, RO, SK, UK) both the R&D policy and the innovation policy do not recognise the strategic importance of innovation procurement.

# 4.3 Indicator 3 – ICT policy

As ICTs are catalysers for innovation and public sector modernisation, embedding innovation procurement as a strategic tool or objective in the digital/ICT policy of the country can be a particularly effective approach towards a widely-spread adoption of innovation procurement. Whilst improving the quality and efficiency of public services with innovative ICT solutions, innovation procurement can also foster company growth in the ICT sector itself. Therefore this indicator reflects to which extent innovation is embedded as a strategic priority in the ICT policy.

The table below provides an overview of the overall scores (0%, 50% of 100%) obtained by different countries for this indicator.

	Direct and full recognition (100%)	Indirect or Partial recognition (50%)	No recognition (0%)
ICT policy	CY, EE, EL, ES, FI, IT, MT, NO, SE, SI (10)	AT, BE, DE, FR, LV, NL, SK, UK (8)	BG, CH, CZ, DK, HR, HU, IE, LT, LU, PL, PT, RO (12)

### Table 31. Indicator 3: scores

Source: Author's elaboration

The majority (two thirds) of the countries do not recognise or recognise only partially/indirectly the role of innovation procurement as a strategic tool in ICT policies. This highlights the room for improvement to anchor innovation procurement more strategically in national ICT policies across Europe. As ICTs are key catalysers for economic growth and public sector modernisation, it is important that countries invest time and effort in this. Indeed, most of the countries that are lagging behind on anchoring innovation procurement into their national ICT policy tend to be those that are lagging behind on innovation procurement / public sector modernisation in general. The average score for this indicator is 47%.



Source: Author's elaboration

Overall, 18 countries include innovation procurement as part of their national digital/ICT policies.

- In 10 countries (CY, EE, EL, ES, FI, IT, MT, NO, SI, SE) the use of innovation procurement is directly linked to a specific objective identified in the national digital/ICT strategy.
- In 8 countries (AT, BE, DE, FR, LV, NL, SK, UK) there is an indirect or partial reference in the national digital/ICT strategy to the strategic importance of innovation procurement.

In the remaining 12 countries (BG, CH, CZ, DK, HR, HU, IE, LT, LU, PL, PT, RO) the national digital/ICT strategy does not recognise the strategic importance of innovation procurement. The table below presents the evidence collected for the first 18 countries.

Table 32. Indicator 3: country evidence

Country	Evidence
Countries w	here innovation procurement is directly linked to a specific national digital/ICT strategy objective
Cyprus	The <b>Digital Cyprus Strategy</b> <sup>23</sup> foresees under the Objective Entrepreneurship, Measure entrepreneurship a concrete action on Pre-Commercial Procurement. In particular it foresees a new funding Programme to support Pre-Commercial Procurements in the ICT sector launched by public organisations where innovative companies or research organisations could participate.
Estonia	In the area of ICT, the " <b>Digital Agenda 2020 for Estonia</b> " lists innovation procurement among the fundamental principles for the development of Estonian information society through "the public sector's active role in the uptake and procurement of innovative solutions and shaping the overall conditions for development". In particular, it states that "Public sector will be a smart customer, ensuring that in public procurements as much

<sup>23</sup> http://www.mcw.gov.cy/mcw/dec/digital\_cyprus/ict.nsf/3700071379D1C658C2257A6F00376A80/\$file/Main%20 document%20digital%20strategy.pdf

Country	Evidence
	freedom as possible is left for offering innovative solutions, thereby contributing to the development of the ICT sector". <sup>24</sup>
Finland	The <b>Handi program</b> , the "Digitalisation of state procurement" program by the Ministry of Finance in Finland, has as one of the goals to enable more innovations in the field of public procurement. The program contains for example an obligation for the state contracting authorities to publish the procurement plans well in time before the actual procurement notice to allow the economic operators more time to innovate.
	<b>"Digital Finland Framework</b> " (2018) refers to public procurement (only in a picture though, not in the text) as a demand-side tool able to support the strategic priority of investing in innovative digital technologies. Emphasis on using the demand-driven mode is put especially in the area of digital platforms for deploying and further developing new enabling technologies and applications, including those based on artificial intelligence IoT, 5G and cyber security. <i>"Digital platforms are an outstanding means to deploy and further develop new enabling technologies and applications, including those based on artificial intelligence IoT, 5G and cyber security. Platforms should primarily be developed industry-lead, but there are many domains and purposes where public sector driven or mixed public-private mode is most appropriate. (public procurement is then shown in a picture as a possible resource that can be used)"</i>
Greece	Actions to develop a framework for innovation procurement and PCP in the digital policy area are also envisaged in the <b>National Digital Strategy 2016-2021</b> . The strategy, prepared by <b>General Secretariat for Digital Policy</b> of the Ministry of Digital Policy, Telecommunications and Information, reports in in its Proiority 4.1 a "Support for research and development Research and Technological Development (ETA) includes among its objectives: " <i>a framework for the procurement of innovative services and pre-commercial</i> <i>procurement (Priority 4.1)</i> ". <sup>25</sup>
Italy	In the ICT field, the document " <b>Strategy for digital growth 2014-2020<sup>26</sup></b> " identifies as "a priority objective: the use of PCP and PPI in order to stimulate the demand for innovative goods and services based on digital technologies in compliance with the European Digital Agenda" and sets a KPI target to increase by 40% the value spent on innovation procurements. The <b>three-year plan for IT in the Public Administration 2017-2020<sup>27</sup></b> encourages all public administrations that are responsible for IT purchases to encourage innovation in public procurement "by specifying the problem to be solved instead of the solution to be procured, by considering to organise preliminary market consultations with industry before procuring and by using appropriate innovation procurement procedures".
Malta	The Digital Malta strategy <sup>28</sup> has set an explicit objective (nr 30) to encourage ICT innovation in public procurement: "Government will use its position as a major procurer to stimulate demand for innovative ICT. It will encourage collaboration between local players and, as an early adopter, it will act as a showcase for locally-produced technology. Innovative policies will improve procurement cycles and deliver better value".
Norway	Under ICT policy, <b>Norwegian digital agenda</b> considers innovation procurement among its strategic tools. <sup>29</sup> "A conservative estimate of ICT procurements in the public sector in Norway in 2014 is put at NOK 16.6 billion. It is important to secure the best possible returns on these investments. Creating more professionalised digitisation projects in the public sector is a key element to this end. Such professionalisation will also help stimulate innovation within industry Action under Part III ICT policy for value creation and inclusion: The Government will strengthen innovation and business development inside welfare technology through the use of open standards and wider use of innovative procurements".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> https://www.mkm.ee/sites/default/files/digital agenda 2020 estonia engf.pdf
<sup>25</sup> http://www.opengov.gr/digitalandbrief/wp-content/uploads/downloads/2016/11/digital strategy.pdf
<sup>26</sup> https://www.agid.gov.it/it/agenzia/strategia-quadro-normativo/crescita-digitale-banda-ultra-larga

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> https://www.agdc.gov.it/it/agunza/strategia/quadro hormativo/cresenta digitate banda untu larga
 <sup>27</sup> https://pianotriennale-ict.italia.it/assets/pdf/Piano Triennale per l informatica nella Pubblica Amministrazione.pdf
 <sup>28</sup> https://digitalmalta.org.mt/en/Pages/Strategy/Digital-Government.aspx
 <sup>29</sup> https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/07b212c03fee4d0a94234b101c5b8ef0/en-gb/pdfs/digital\_agenda\_for\_norway\_in\_brief.pdf

Country	Evidence
Slovenia	In the ICT field, the <b>Agenda Digital Slovenia 2020</b> - <b>The strategy for the development of the information society by 2020</b> defines innovation procurement as a strategic priority to achieve its objectives. <sup>30</sup> In the strategy, pre-commercial public procurement for the development of innovative solutions is encouraged through the use of open public and research data, open platforms and cloud computing for faster transfer of solutions to the market. " <i>By means of PCP in cloud computing, the future internet and big data, and by financial incentives to RDI projects for making open standardised platforms and development of new technologies, products and services, Slovenia will encourage the private sector to develop innovative products and services and make a prompt transition of results of data technologies to the market". €4 M is foreseen (from ESIF) for supporting PCP projects in ICT.</i>
Spain	The Spanish <b>Digital Agenda</b> , managed by the <b>Ministry of Energy</b> , <b>Tourism and Digital agenda</b> , confers to innovation procurement a role to boost the development of the ICT sector. "Goal 5: Boost R&D&I in Information and Communications Technologies. It is a basic principle that public investment in R&D&I in ICT would lead to a greater amount of investment by the private sector. This is why the proposal here is to use public procurement and public - private collaboration strategically" The national Spanish plan for encouraging the development of natural language processing,
	machine translation and conversational systems in Spanish official and co-official languages, the <b>Plan de Impulso a la Tecnologia del lenguaje</b> , also refers to innovation procurement "with the aim to bring Spanish industry to the innovation frontier to make it competitive on a global scale, while taking advantage of these innovative capabilities to substantially improve public service. For this we must (using innovation procurement) overcome the paradox by which the supplier does not invest in innovative products, which previously require an investment in R & D, for lack of clear demand, and the buyer does not demand innovative products because there is no available offer, adequate and economical for the pending challenges."
Sweden	In the field of ICT, the <b>Digital Strategy for sustainable digital transformation in</b> <b>Sweden</b> <sup>31</sup> refers to innovation procurement as one of the tools that public authorities should use to drive the sustainable digital transformation of the country. " <i>Public procurement should be used to a greater extent as a proactive tool for promoting the development, use and implementation of digitally driven innovations. Innovation procurement and innovation partnerships are important tools as well as the conscious use of open source solutions, standards and test beds. Even project competitions can be an important tool for stimulating increased development of digitally driven innovations".</i>
Countries	with an indirect or partial reference to the strategic importance of innovation procurement in the national digital/ICT strategy
Austria	In the field of ICT, not the overall country's Digital Roadmap strategy <sup>32</sup> but two parts of it, namely the <b>Internetoffensive Österreich</b> <sup>33</sup> and the <b>creative industries strategy (Kreativwirtschafts-strategie)</b> <sup>34</sup> , recognise the importance of public procurement as a strategic tool to foster the competitiveness of national industries, especially also for SMEs and Start Ups. "The Commitment of the public sector to the nationwide implementation of "innovation oriented public procurement" can contribute to the spread of innovative business models and the creation of new startups".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> http://www.mju.gov.si/fileadmin/mju.gov.si/pageuploads/DID/Informacijska\_druzba/pdf/DSI\_2020\_3-2016\_pic1.pdf <sup>31</sup> https://www.regeringen.se/49adea/contentassets/5429e024be6847fc907b786ab954228f/digitaliseringsstrategin\_slutlig

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> https://www.itegeringen.se/49auea/contentassets/5429c024beo04/1090/b/50ab954220f/digitaliseringsstrategin\_state 20for%20Austria.pdf

Country	Evidence
Belgium	At national/federal level, the <b>2015-2020 Digital Belgium strategy</b> <sup>35</sup> does not specifically encourage innovation procurement but recognises it indirectly through the importance of procuring new technologies to improve government efficiency. Under priority 3 "digital government", action 4 "operational efficiency" of the strategy states that "government management will be encouraged to carefully follow up ICT government contracts and to create efficiencies by further digitizing services and processes. The government will also utilise new technologies, such as social media and big data, and shall do so with a clear objective: providing better services at lower cost".
France	The <b>2015 French national digital strategy "Digital Republic in Action"</b> <sup>36</sup> has an action " <i>Action publique 2020: pour une transformation du service public</i> ", but this action does not mention innovation procurement, or the role of government to boost digital innovation/deployment of innovative solutions through public procurement.
	Only one part of the French ICT policy, on cybersecurity, recognises the role of innovation procurement. The " <b>French national digital security strategy</b> " <sup>37</sup> , indeed, states that "By supporting investment, innovation and exports, also via public procurement, the State will develop a favourable environment for French companies in the digital sector offering secure products and services".
Germany	In the area of ICT, the <b>Digital Agenda 2014-2017</b> <sup>38</sup> identified 7 main areas where action is needed to achieve its overall objectives. One of these areas is public administration, where there is an indirect recognition of innovation procurement because giving public procurement a more innovative focus is seen as a key principle to implement the digital transformation of the sector, in particular "to reduce the reliance of government IT on closed global IT and cloud computing ecosystems and to support innovative companies and boost competition in the IT sector".
	The <b>Digital Strategy 2025</b> (adopted in 2016) does not refer to innovation procurement.
Latvia	The Information Society development guidelines 2014-2020, which is the Latvian strategy for digitisation <sup>39</sup> , does not specifically mention innovation procurement foresees some activities that indirectly recognise the importance of innovation procurement: it sets as objectives "to involve experts in public administration who know how to convert needs into clearly defined functional demands" and "to support the purchase of SME research services in order to increase demand for innovative solutions and the innovation performance of innovative companies".
Netherlands	The <b>2016</b> Dutch digital agenda for the Netherlands does not explicitly mention innovation procurement but recognises its importance indirectly by recognising the key role of the public sector to drive forward digitisation through its role as buyer for innovative solutions. " <i>Given the broad impact of digitisation, the role of the government extends further than the simple reinforcement of preconditions and safeguarding public interests. The government is also an actor in this transition, for example, as a buyer of innovative ICT products and services and as a digital service provider for citizens and businesses." A broad analysis across different sectors aims to implement innovative solutions through public procurement across all top sectors where the government is a key customer.</i>
	In addition, the ministry of interior, responsible for digitalisation, designed a specific <b>action plan for innovation &amp; innovation procurement in the field of ICT.</b> This action plan ( <i>innovatiepact</i> ) is based on a report of a committee of the ministries of interior affairs and economic affairs on future digitalisation <sup>40</sup> . The national government will spend €200 M on realising a digital infrastructure per year <sup>41</sup> . According to the RIO Report 2015, a multiple sector action agenda has been set also in the field of nano-technology and bio-based economy.
Slovakia	Slovakia's <b>digital growth and Next Generate Access infrastructure strategic</b> <b>document 2014-2020</b> <sup>42</sup> does not explicitly mention innovation procurement but

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> <u>http://digitalbelgium.be/en/5-priorities/digital-government/</u>

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> http://www.gouvernement.fr/la-republique-numerique-en-actes
 <sup>36</sup> http://www.gouvernement.fr/la-republique-numerique-en-actes
 <sup>37</sup> https://www.enisa.europa.eu/topics/national-cyber-security-strategies/ncss-map/France\_Cyber\_Security\_Strategy.pdf
 <sup>38</sup> http://www.bmwi.de/EN/Topics/Technology/digital-agenda.html
 <sup>39</sup> http://www.varam.gov.lv/in\_site/tools/download.php?file=files/text/Darb\_jomas/elietas//Information\_Society
 Development\_Guidelines\_2014\_2020.docx
 <sup>40</sup> https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/documenten/rapporten/2017/04/18/rapport-van-de-studiegroep-informatiesamenleving-en-overheid-maak-waar
 <sup>41</sup> https://www.digicommissaris.nl/image/2016/12/22/digiprogramma\_2017-989810276.pdf
 <sup>42</sup> http://www.informatizacia.sk/ext\_dok-strategicky\_dokument\_2014\_2020\_en/16622c

Country	Evidence
	recognises its importance indirectly by identifying that "increasing the openness of ICT public procurements towards technology innovation and approaches is desirable, which would lead to simpler and less expensive solution variants than originally planned. The modalities of electronic public procurement will be updated in order to easily implement demand-driven projects in public administration in the form of innovative solutions and to encourage effective participation of small and medium-sized businesses in such areas as open data, mobile applications for eGovernment services, green information and telecommunication technologies and applications for social networks".
UK	In the field of ICT, the UK Government's <b>Digital strategy</b> <sup>43</sup> does not explicitly mention innovation procurement but recognises its importance indirectly by stating that the government "will use public procurement more effectively to encourage better pre-market engagement, shaping specifications to take advantage where appropriate of the market's latest offerings and innovations, will make available a forward looking pipeline of digital work, updated quarterly to enable businesses to invest in capability and resources appropriately; and will encourage suppliers who are new to government (in particular SMEs) to undertake bidder training to lower the effective barrier to entry to the procurement market".

#### **Indicator 4 – Sectoral policies 4.4**

This indicator reflects to what extent innovation procurement is endorsed as a strategic priority in a policy framework or action plan in each of the 10 sectors of public sector activity identified in the EU public procurement directives.44

The indicator "sectoral policies" is a multi-dimensional indicator with 10 sub-indicators corresponding to the 10 areas of public sector activity. The table below provides the overall scores obtained by each country per sub-indicator.

Country	Healthcare and social services	Public transport	General public services	Construction sector	Energy sector	<b>Environment</b> sector	Water sector	Public order, safety, security and defence sector	Postal sector	Education, recreation, culture and religion	Total
Austria	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	60%
Belgium	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	10%
Bulgaria	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Croatia	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Cyprus	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Czech Republic	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Denmark	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	10%
Estonia	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Finland	100%	100%	0%	100%	100%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	50%
France	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	0%	0%	50%	0%	50%	35%
Germany	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Greece	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%

#### Table 33. Indicator 4: scores

 <sup>43</sup> <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/government-digital-strategy/government-digital-strategy</u>
 <sup>44</sup> The following 10 sectors are defined in the EU public procurement directives: (I) healthcare and social services; (II) public transport (such as railway, urban railway, tramway, trolleybus, bus services, airport and port related activities); (III) general public services, public administration (covering e-government), economic and financial affairs; (IV) construction, housing and community amenities; (V) energy (covering exploration, extraction, production, transport and distribution of energy such as electricity, gas, heat, oil, coal and other solid fuels); (VI) environment; (VII) water; (VIII) postal services; (IX) public order, safety, security and defence; (X) education, recreation, culture and religion.

Country	Healthcare and social services	Public transport	General public services	Construction sector	Energy sector	Environment sector	Water sector	Public order, safety, security and defence sector	Postal sector	Education, recreation, culture and religion	Total
Hungary	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Ireland	100%	0%	100%	100%	0%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	40%
Italy	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Latvia	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Lithuania	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Luxembourg	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Malta	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	10%
Netherlands	0%	0%	0%	100%	0%	100%	100%	100%	0%	0%	40%
Norway	100%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%	0%	100%	40%
Poland	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Portugal	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Romania	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Slovakia	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	10%
Slovenia	0%	0%	0%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	10%
Spain	100%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	20%
Sweden	0%	100%	0%	0%	100%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	30%
Switzerland	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%	0%	10%
UK	100%	100%	0%	100%	0%	100%	0%	100%	0%	0%	50%
European average	21,7%	21,7%	8,3%	21,7%	11,7%	33,3%	3,3%	11,7%	3,3%	5,0%	14,2%

The best performers in this field are Austria (60% score, meaning innovation procurement is recognised in 6 out of 10 areas of public sector activity) and the UK and Finland (50% score), followed by Ireland, the Netherlands and Norway (with 40% score). The European average of this indicator is 14,2%. This rather low European average is due to the fact that 15 out of 30 countries have not incorporated innovation procurement in the strategy for any area of public sector activity yet. No country has incorporated innovation procurement in national strategies for all 10 areas of public sector activity yet.

Considering separately each sub-indicator, innovation procurement is most frequently embedded as a strategic priority in policy frameworks and action plans of the environmental sector (in approx. 33% of countries), followed by the health and social services, public transport and construction sectors (in approx. 22% of countries). Sectors where innovation procurement is usually not embedded as a strategic priority in policy frameworks include the energy and the security and defence sectors (in approx. 12% of countries), general public services (in approx. 8% of countries), education/cultural sector (in approx. 5% of countries) and finally in water, and postal sectors (in approx. 3% of countries).





## 4.4.1 Healthcare and social services

Table 34. Level of availability of innovation procurement in each country in the healthcare and<br/>social services sector

	Applicable countrywide	Not applicable countrywide	Not available
For all types of innovation procurement	AT, ES, FI, IE, NO, UK (6)	FR (1)	
Not for all types of innovation procurement			
Not available			BE, BG, CH, CY, CZ, DE, DK, EE, EL, HR, HU, IT, LT, LU, LV, MT, NL, PL, PT, RO, SE, SI, SK (23)

Source: Author's elaboration

7 countries encourage the use of innovation procurement in the health and social care sector:

- 6 countries (AT, ES, FI, IE, NO, UK) have included innovation procurement as strategic priority in national policy frameworks and action plans applicable to the whole country and for all types of innovation procurements.
- France implements actions that are not applicable countrywide. The country has developed a roadmap to adapt the work programme of the public sector according to the spending target of the National Pact for Growth, Competitiveness and Employment. The roadmap is not addressed to all public procurers in the country, but only to those affected by the National Pact (i.e. the State e.g. Ministries, the central authorities *établissements publics*, and the hospitals). Conversely, non-hospital type health or social care procurers at regional and local level are not concerned.

In 23 countries (BE, BG, CH, CY, CZ, DE, DK, EE, EL, HR, HU, IT, LT, LU, LV, MT, NL, PL, PT, RO, SE, SI, SK) the national strategies for health care and social services do not recognise the strategic importance of innovation procurement for modernising public health and social services.

## 4.4.2 Public transport

Table 35. Level of availability of innovation procurement in each country in the public transport sector

	Applicable countrywide	Not applicable countrywide	Not available
For all types of innovation procurement	AT, ES, FI, NO, SE, UK (6)	FR (1)	
Not for all types of innovation procurement			
Not available			BE, BG, CH, CY, CZ, DE, DK, EE, EL, HR, HU, IE, IT, LT, LU, LV, MT, NL, PL, PT, RO, SI, SK, (23)

Source: Author's elaboration

7 countries encourage the use of innovation procurement in the public transport sector:

- Innovation procurement is embedded as strategic priority in the whole country and for all types of innovation procurement in 6 countries (AT, ES, FI, NO, SE, UK). One of the most structured strategies in this field the Austrian *Strategy for clean energy in transport* which concedes a pioneering role to the public sector and to innovation procurement in the reconstruction and modernisation of the transport system. In Sweden, sectoral policies are built on continuous consensus of stakeholder groups that work and collaborate in ad-hoc forums. In this context, the group that deals with transportation of the future has recognised innovation procurement as one of the key priorities for the development and modernisation of the public transport sector in the country.
- In one country (FR) the roadmap in the context of transport sector is not addressed to all public procurers in the country, but only to those which are affected by the spending target of the National Pact for Growth, Competitiveness and Employment (i.e. the State e.g. Ministries, the central authorities *établissements publics*, and the hospitals). Conversely, regional and local procurers are not concerned.

In 23 countries (BE, BG, CY, CH, CZ, DE, DK, EE, EL, HR, HU, IE, IT, LV, LT, LU, MT, NL, PL, PT, RO, SK, SI) the national strategies for the public transport sector do not recognise the strategic importance of innovation procurement for modernising the transport sector.

## 4.4.3 General public services

 Table 36. Level of availability of innovation procurement in each country in the general public

 services sector

	Applicable countrywide	Not applicable countrywide	Not available
For all types of innovation procurement	AT, IE (2)	FR (1)	
Not for all types of innovation procurement			
Not available			BE, BG, CH, CY, CZ, DE, DK, EE, EL, ES, FI, HR, HU, IT, LT, LU, LV, MT, NL, NO, PL, PT, RO, SE, SI, SK, UK (27)

Source: Author's elaboration

Overall, in this sector the use of innovation procurement is envisaged in 3 countries.

• 2 countries (AT and IE) have included innovation procurement as strategic priority in policy frameworks and action plans applicable in the whole country and to all public procurers. For example, in Ireland, the Government Public Service Reform Programme includes innovation

procurement as the most important instrument to reach 2 objectives: maximising value for money and delivering sustainable public services for taxpayers.

• In France, the roadmap published in the context of this sector is not addressed to all public procurers in the country, but only to those which are affected by the spending target of the National Pact for Growth, Competitiveness and Employment (i.e. the State - e.g. Ministries, the central authorities - établissements publics, and the hospitals). Conversely, regional and local procurers are not concerned.

In 27 countries (BE, BG, CH, CY, CZ, DE, DK, EE, EL, ES, FI, HR, HU, IT, LT, LU, LV, MT, NL, NO, PL, PT, RO, SE, SI, SK, UK) the national strategies do not recognise the strategic importance of innovation procurement.

### 4.4.4 Construction sector

Table 37. Level of availability of innovation procurement in each country in the construction sector

	Applicable countrywide	Not applicable countrywide	Not available
For all types of innovation procurement	AT, FI, IE, NL, SI, UK (6)	FR (1)	
Not for all types of innovation procurement			
Not available			BE, BG, CH, CY, CZ, DE, DK, EE, EL, ES, HR, HU, IT, LT, LU, LV, MT, NO, PL, PT, RO, SE, SK (23)

Source: Author's elaboration

Innovation procurement is embedded as strategic priority in the construction sector in 7 countries (AT, FI, FR, IE, NL, SI, UK):

- 3 countries (IE, NL, UK) have a more systematic and detailed approach to support public procurers to undertake more innovation procurement in the sector. The Irish "Capital Works Management Framework" and the "Construction agenda" adopted by Dutch Ministries of infrastructure and housing represent a sector specific framework for public procurer in the construction sector. In UK the Government Construction strategy embeds innovation procurement as a strategic tool to be used by the public sector to drive changes in the sector. In these 3 countries innovation procurement is applicable countrywide and to all types of innovation procurement.
- In Austria the support to innovation procurement is embedded in national guidelines entitled Austrian federal Guidelines for Building culture and stimulus Program.
- In the Finnish Government Programme 2015-2019 innovation procurement is applicable to all public sector procurers and to all types of innovation procurements.
- The Slovenian Smart Specialisation Strategy (S4) sets specific objectives in the field of "Smart buildings and homes, including wood chain" to be achieved also through the smart use of PCPs and PPIs.
- In France, the roadmap published in the context of this sector is not addressed to all public procurers in the country, but only to those which are affected by the spending target of the National Pact for Growth, Competitiveness and Employment (i.e. the State e.g. Ministries, the central authorities *établissements publics*, and the hospitals). Conversely, regional and local procurers are not concerned.

In 23 countries (BE, BG, CH CY, CZ, DE, DK, EE, EL, ES, HR, HU, IT, LT, LU, LV, MT, NO, PL, PT, RO, SE, SK) the national strategy for the construction sector does not recognise the strategic importance of innovation procurement yet.

### 4.4.5 Energy sector

Table 38. Level of availability of innovation procurement in each country in the energy sector

	Applicable countrywide	Not applicable countrywide	Not available
For all types of innovation procurement	AT, FI, SE (3)	FR (1)	
Not for all types of innovation procurement			
Not available			BE, BG, CH, CY, CZ, DE, DK, EE, EL, ES, HR, HU, IE, IT, LT, LU, LV, MT, NL, NO, PL, PT, RO, SI, SK, UK (26)

Source: Author's elaboration

4 countries included innovation procurement as strategic priority in policy frameworks and action plans in the energy sector.

- In three countries (AT, FI, SE), innovation procurement is recognised in the energy sector in a way that is applicable to all public procurers and for all types of innovation procurement.
- In France, the roadmap published in the context of the energy sector is not applicable countrywide as it is not addressed to all public procurers in the country, but only to those affected by the spending target of the National Pact for Growth, Competitiveness and Employment (namely, the State e.g. Ministries, the central authorities établissements publics, and the hospitals). Regional and local procurers are not concerned.

26 countries (BE, BG, CH, CY, CZ, DE, DK, EE, EL, ES, HR, HU, IE, IT, LT, LU, LV, MT, NL, NO, PL, PT, RO, SI, SK, UK) do not specifically recognise the strategic importance of innovation procurement for the energy sector. Some of those countries have an action plan or strategic framework in the energy sector which only foresees the use of Green Public Procurement or Sustainable Procurement. However, there are no clear references to innovation procurement, PCP and PPI.

## 4.4.6 Environmental Sector

Table 39. Level of availability of innovation procurement in each country in the environmental

sector			
	Applicable countrywide	Not applicable countrywide	Not available
For all types of innovation procurement	AT, BE, DK, FI, IE, MT, NL, SE, SK, UK (10)		
Not for all types of innovation procurement			
Not available			BG, CH, CY, CZ, DE, EE, EL, ES, FR, HR, HU, IT, LT, LU, LV, NO, PL, PT, RO, SI (20)

Source: Author's elaboration

In 10 countries (AT, BE, DK, FI, IE, MT, NL, SE, SK, UK) innovation procurement is recognised as a strategic tool available for all public procurers and applicable for all types of innovation procurement.

Also in this case the actions and objectives are embedded in a specific environmental sector strategy or in high level horizontal policies. The support to innovation procurement is often facilitated by the existence of Green Public Procurement frameworks, which are directly or indirectly linked to innovation procurement practices (e.g. BE, DK, MT, SK). In 20 countries (BG, CH, CY, CZ, DE, EE, EL, ES, FR, HR, HU, IT, LT, LU, LV, NO, PL, PT, RO, SI) the energy policy does not explicitly recognise the strategic importance of innovation procurement to modernise public service provisioning.

## 4.4.7 Water Sector

Table 40. Level of availability of innovation procurement in each country in the water sector

	Applicable countrywide	Not applicable countrywide	Not available
For all types of innovation procurement	NL (1)		
Not for all types of innovation procurement			
Not available			AT, BE, BG, CH, CY, CZ, DE, DK, EE, EL, FI, HR, HU, IE, IT, LT, LU, LV, MT, NO, PL, PT, RO, SE, SK, SI, UK (29)

Source: Author's elaboration

The Netherlands is the only country which has embedded innovation procurement in its water policy. In particular, the Union of Dutch Waterboards has positioned innovation procurement clearly as an objective in their procurement strategy since 2014.<sup>45</sup> Innovation procurement by water sector procurers is also explicitly encouraged in the Ministry of infrastructure and environment's High Water Protection Programme. In the remaining 29 countries (AT, BE, BG, CH, CY, CZ, DE, DK, EE, EL, FI, HR, HU, IE, IT, LT, LU, LV, MT, NO, PL, PT, RO, SE, SK, SI, UK) have not included innovation procurement as strategic priority in policy frameworks and action plans of the water sector.

## 4.4.8 Public order, safety, security and defence sector

Table 41. Level of availability of innovation procurement in each country in the Public order,safety, security and defence sector

	Applicable countrywide	Not applicable countrywide	Not available
For all types of innovation procurement	NL, NO, UK (3)	FR (1)	
Not for all types of innovation procurement			
Not available			AT, BE, BG, CH, CY, CZ, DK, FI, DE, EE, EL, ES, HR, HU, IE, IT, LT, LU, LV, MT, PL, PT, RO, SK, SE, SI (26)

Source: Author's elaboration

4 countries (FR, NL, NO and UK) have included innovation procurement as strategic priority in policy frameworks and action plans of the public order, safety, security and defence sector.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> https://www.uvw.nl/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/De-waterschapsmarkt-van-de-toekomst-visiedocument.pdf
- In 3 countries (NL, NO, UK) innovation procurement is endorsed by national policy frameworks that are applicable country wide and for all types of innovation procurement. In the Netherlands, the Ministry of justice and security has adopted in 2018 its step-by-step plan for innovation procurement<sup>46</sup> while the Ministry of defence has adopted a strategy both for PCP and PPI.<sup>47</sup> In the UK, the National Security Strategy and Strategic Defence and Security Review 2015<sup>48</sup> committed to increase the budget to support the procurement of innovative solutions to the challenges facing the Armed Forces. In Norway, the Strategy for the Norwegian Armed Forces states that the public sector will explicitly focus on innovative SMEs in their procurement procedures in the coming years.
- In France, the innovation procurement roadmap published in the context of this sector is not applicable countrywide as it is not addressed to all public procurers in the country, but only to those affected by the spending target of the National Pact for Growth, Competitiveness and Employment (namely, the State e.g. Ministries, the central authorities établissements publics, and the hospitals). Regional and local procurers are not concerned.

26 countries (AT, BE, BG, CH, CY, CZ, DK, FI, DE, EE, EL, ES, HR, HU, IE, IT, LT, LU, LV, MT, PL, PT, RO, SE, SI, SK) have not included innovation procurement as strategic priority in policy frameworks and action plans of the public order, safety, security and defence sector.

## 4.4.9 Postal Sector

Table 42. Level of availability of innovation procurement in each country in the postal sector

	Applicable countrywide	Not applicable countrywide	Not applicable
For all types of innovation procurement	CH (1)		
Not for all types of innovation procurement			
Not applicable			AT, BE, BG, CY, CZ, DE, DK, EE, ES, EL, FI, FR, HR, HU, IE, IT, LT, LU, LV, MT, NL, NO, PL, PT, RO, SK, SI, SE, UK (29)

Source: Author's elaboration

Only Switzerland has included innovation procurement a strategic priority in its policy framework of the postal sector. In particular, the procurement strategy 2017-2020 of the Swiss Post<sup>49</sup> aims at making the organisation a "discoverer of innovations". It encourages the evaluation of potential suppliers according to a wide range of criteria which include quality, price, product/performance, risks, potential for innovation and performance, ecological aspects and opportunities for electronic communication.

The remaining 29 countries (AT, BE, BG, CY, CZ, DE, DK, EE, ES, EL, FI, FR, HR, HU, IE, IT, LV, LT, LU, MT, NL, NO, PL, PT, RO, SE, SI, SK, UK) have not included innovation procurement as strategic priority in policy framework of the postal sector.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> <u>https://www.pianoo.nl/document/15181/stappenplan-innovatiegericht-inkopen-ministerie-van-veiligheid-justitie</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> https://www.defensie.nl/onderwerpen/innovatie/front and https://www.defensie.nl/onderwerpen/innovatie

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/555607/2015\_Strategic\_Defence\_and\_Security\_Review.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Swiss Post, a public Company owned by the Swiss Confederation, is the national postal service of the country.

## 4.4.10 Education, recreation, culture and religion

 Table 43. Level of availability of innovation procurement in each country in the Education, recreation, culture and religion sector

	Applicable countrywide	Not applicable countrywide	Not applicable
For all types of innovation procurement	NO (1)	FR (1)	
Not for all types of innovation procurement			
Not applicable			AT, BE, BG, CH, CY, CZ, DE, DK, EE, ES, EL, FI, HR, HU, IE, IT, LT, LU, LV, MT, NL, PL, PT, RO, SE, SI, SK, UK (28)

Source: Author's elaboration

Overall, only 2 countries (FR and NO) have included innovation procurement as strategic priority in policy frameworks and action plans in this sector.

- In Norway the "Long-term Plan for Research in Higher Education" recognises the role of innovation procurement as a tool to increase demand of innovation in the sector. The plan is applicable in the whole country.
- In France, the innovation procurement roadmap published in the education sector is only addressed to public procurers included in the spending target of the National Pact for Growth, Competitiveness and Employment (i.e. the State e.g. Ministries, the central authorities *établissements* publics, and the hospitals). Regional and local procurers are therefore not concerned.

In 28 countries (AT, BE, BG, CH, CY, CZ, DE, DK, EE, ES, EL, FI, HR, HU, IE, IT, LT, LU, LV, MT, NL, PL, PT, RO, SE, SI, SK, UK) innovation procurement is not included as strategic priority in policy frameworks or action plans in the education, cultural, recreation or religion sector.

## 4.5 Indicator 5 – Action plan

This indicator reflects to what extent each country has developed a dedicated action plan that foresees specific measures that are not covered by other horizontal policies (see indicator 2) or sectoral policies (see indicators 3 and 4) to encourage innovation procurement in a coordinated way across the country.

The table below provides the overall scores reached by each country that has adopted an action plan. The overall score is calculated as the average result of 9 sub-indicators shown in the columns of the table below.

Table 44. Indicator 5: scores											
Country	Coverage	Concrete actions	Resources	Def. of results	Timeline	Commitment of key procurers	Definition of actors	Definition of decision- making structures	Measures to pool demand	Total	
Austria	100%	100%	50%	50%	0%	50%	100%	50%	75%	64%	
Belgium	50%	50%	25%	50%	50%	50%	50%	25%	50%	44%	
Finland	100%	100%	50%	75%	75%	50%	100%	100%	75%	81%	
Netherlands	100%	100%	0%	50%	0%	50%	100%	0%	0%	44%	
All other 26 countries	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	
European average	12%	12%	4%	8%	4%	7%	12%	6%	7%	8%	

Source: Author's elaboration



#### Figure 9. Indicator "Action plan" overall ranking

Source: Author's elaboration

Only in 4 countries (AT, BE, FI, NL), governments have adopted a dedicated action plan for innovation procurement. The most comprehensive, well-structured and up-to-date action plan has been developed in Finland. More information on each of these 4 countries' action plans is provided in Section 4.5.1.

It is worth stressing that 5 countries (DK, EE, EL, FR, SE) have not adopted a stand-alone action plan for innovation procurement for their country but have included specific objectives and concrete measures on innovation procurement in wider national strategies or programmes, often with a dedicated budget and with a clear commitment of key actors. More information on each of these 5 countries action plans is provided in Section 4.5.2.

The European average for the indicator "Action plan" is 8%. This is mainly due to the fact that in the majority of the countries (21 countries: BG, CY, CH, CZ, DE, ES, HR, HU, IE, IT, LV, LT, LU, MT, PL, PT, RO, SK, SI, UK, NO) there is no dedicated action plan for innovation procurement, nor a set of coordinated policy objectives and concrete measures for innovation procurement in other global national strategies to mainstream innovation procurement across the whole country. Despite the fact that there may be individual sectoral or horizontal policy initiatives in those countries, they are not part of an overall umbrella strategy to foster innovation procurement more widely across the whole country.

## 4.5.1 Countries with dedicated innovation procurement action plan

The following table elaborates on the dedicated innovation procurement action plans in AT, BE, FI, and NL.

Country	Action plan – evidence
Austria	The Action Plan on Public Procurement Promoting Innovation (PPPI) was adopted in 2012 by the Austrian Federal Government as a follow up of the "Austrian Strategy for Research, Technology and Innovation" (2011). It aims at making PPPI an element of demand side innovation policy, complementing supply side measures, and increasing the share of public procurement volume used for innovation. The action plan covers all types of innovation procurement, is applicable across the country and to all public procurers in all sectors and administrative levels and aims at mainstreaming innovation at a large scale.
	The action plan identifies concrete actions (e.g. the management of a PPPI platform) and defined a clear timeline to implement these actions in the time period 2012-2013. However the timeline in the action plan is not up-to-date anymore (there are no actions defined with target completion date beyond 2013). Therefore the score for sub-indicator timeline is 0%. The defined actions and activities are linked to a set of specific objectives which translate the overall strategic objectives and the mission of the action plan. The specific objectives include (i) raising awareness on innovation through public procurement; (ii) fostering dialogue between demand and supply; (iii) qualifying decision makers and procurers for PPPI; (iv) introducing and fostering new approaches for PPPI; (v) establishing a monitoring and benchmarking system; (vi) integrating PPPI actions in sectorial strategies and in different administrative levels.
	The action plan is financed by the Ministry for Digital and Economic Affairs (BMDW) and the Ministry for Transport, Innovation and Technology (BMVIT). Actions, objectives and dedicated resources are implemented for all types of innovation procurement, but not for all key actors in the country (committed resources to achieve the objectives are clear for the competence centre but not for other ministries and key procurers in the country, the expected results from other actors besides the competence centre are defined less clearly) and do not enable to achieve mainstreaming of innovation procurement at a large scale.
	In terms of governance, the action plan defines actors to achieve different objectives. For example, the key procurement organisation involved in the implementation of the action plan is the PPPI Service Centre. <sup>50</sup> Its services cover three main objectives: raising awareness for PPPI, matching public procurers and potential suppliers of innovative solutions, and increasing the overall share of procurement budgets used for PPPI.
	The Service Centre operates under the roof of the Austrian Federal Procurement Agency and on behalf of the two ministries responsible for the implementation of the action plan (i.e. the BMWD and the BMVIT). While covering all types of innovation procurement widely across the

#### Table 45. Innovation procurement action plans in AT, BE, FI, and NL.

<sup>50</sup> http://www.ioeb.at/

Country	Action plan – evidence
	country, the activities implemented by the Service Centre have not reached yet the stage of being able to mainstream innovation at large scale. As suggested in the evaluation of the PPPI action plan "the necessary political backing exists, it is expressed in several strategic documents but has not reached a sufficient level". <sup>51</sup> It is recognised that a number of "preparatory actions" took place on how to implement PPI in different public sector organisations (including ministries), but they have not been defined in a strategic plan yet. Consequently, a systematic dedication of procurement budgets for the purpose of PPPI activities is only observable in the context of PPPI "pilot projects".
	With regard to decision-making structures, again the interaction between the competence centre and its funding ministries BMWD and BMVIT are clear but the action plan does not define a clear decision-making structure with other ministries and key procurers to ensure implementation of the objectives. The PPPI Service Centre participates in regular joint meetings with the two ministries including meetings of the so-called PPI steering group that includes representatives of the higher levels of the ministerial hierarchy. Amongst others, during these meetings the plans of the Service Centre activities for the coming year are discussed and defined. The evaluation of the PPI Action Plan implementation raised some concerns related to the governance structure, including the absence of a clear distribution of tasks and roles among ministries (based on non-binding agreements) and the challenges faced by actively managing the Action Plan especially with regard to other ministries.
	Finally, through the involvement of the national central purchasing body BBG the action plan defines concrete measures to pool demand among public and private procurers across the whole country and for all types of innovation procurement, however not at a scale to scale up innovation procurement widely yet.
	At national level there is no dedicated action plan for innovation procurement, while there is one at regional level, in the Flemish region. The total score for most of the sub-indicators is 50%, as the action plan does not cover the whole country. The score for definition of results and definition of resources is 25% because these aspects are clear for the Flemish government and the PIO programme but are not clearly defined for other key actors/public procurers in the Flemish region covered by the action plan.
	Flanders has an action plan <sup>52</sup> for innovation procurement and innovative procurement that aims to promote innovation in public procurements of all public procurers in all sectors across the region. In this context innovation procurement covers all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI).
Belgium	The Flemish government has adopted the Innovative Public Procurement Program (PIO) <sup>53</sup> to promote innovation procurement in the Flemish region. The first round of PIO has been running from 2009 to 2015, the second from 2016 to 2019. Thanks to this program, all Flemish government and public sector organisations that fall under the Belgian Public Procurement Act can contact PIO for information, advice, guidance and co-financing for innovative purchasing projects. PIO has well-defined action plan with expected results, clear timeline and budget ( $\mathfrak{C5}$ M per year from the Flemish government).
	PIO is supported by the Flemish Ministry of Economy, Science and Innovation, which is also its manager.
	PIO has a number of strategic goals:
	<ol> <li>To establish a knowledge centre on innovation procurement;</li> <li>To reach 3% of the Flemish Government's budget for public procurement for innovation procurement;</li> <li>To draft a portfolio of projects and good practices as examples in order to raise awareness about innovation procurement;</li> <li>To stimulate public organisations to participate in EU opportunities of innovation procurement (such as Horizon2020).</li> </ol>
	In Flanders, there are also some examples of action plans at local level, like the Municipality of Ghent, which has its own innovation procurement strategy since 2014 <sup>54</sup> .

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> https://repository.fteval.at/331/1/I%C3%96B-Evaluierung\_Kurzfassung%20EN\_barrierefrei.pdf
 <sup>52</sup> http://www.innovatieveoverheidsopdrachten.be/over-pio/plan-van-aanpak
 <sup>53</sup> http://www.innovatieveoverheidsopdrachten.be/gids-voor-innovatieve-overheidsopdrachten
 <sup>54</sup> http://www.ecoprocura.eu/fileadmin/editor\_files/images/Ghent\_sustainable\_procurement\_strategy\_and\_innovation

charter.pdf

Country	Action plan – evidence
	In December 2017 Finland has adopted a dedicated Action Plan on innovation procurement, which is was initiated by the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment. The overall purpose of the action plan is to promote a more strategic approach to innovation procurement at the Government level and enhance management and preparation of procurements in administrative branches. The action plan covers all types of innovation procurement, is applicable across the country and to all public procurers in all sectors and administrative levels and aims at mainstreaming innovation at a large scale.
	The action plan defines concrete actions. The Action Plan contains 14 different measures divided in four main categories: management, information sharing, skills development, and concrete tools (e.g. risk management tools). The action plan also defines concrete responsible actors for each action to be implemented. For each of the 14 measures, tasks are divided among the responsible actors which range from the competence centre KEINO to all ministries in the central government, the central purchasing body HANSEL, the funding entities Sitra and Business Finland, the training entity HAUS etc.
	The action plan defines for each action concrete expected results. For example, according to the Action Plan, innovation procurement should be included in the performance management (KPIs) of each public sector organisation to ensure a systematic approach. Furthermore, public organisations should assign a person in charge of achieving the objectives on innovation procurements (so called "change agents") and provide training activities tailored to innovation procurement.
	The action plan defines a clear timeline to implement all the objectives in two phases.
	The specific objectives of the Action Plan are:
Finland	<ul> <li>Promoting a more strategic approach to innovation procurement;</li> <li>Promoting a better management and preparation of procurements in administrative branches;</li> <li>Creating a systematic development process for cooperation across central government sectors and administrative branches;</li> <li>Support to the Government objective to raise the share of innovation procurement of all public procurement to 5% (cf. Indicator "Target").</li> </ul>
	The second phase of the plan consisted in defining supporting activities for each administrative branch. Support and coaching, tailored to the needs of each administrative branch, were provided to promote the implementation of the measures. The second phase is in the form of coaching meetings for each administrative branch. These meetings continued until January 2019. As the timeline does not cover long term actions to sustain wide scale implementation yet, the score for the sub-indicator timeline is therefore 75%. Finally, dedicated resources have been allocated by the ministry of economics for the activities in the action plan to be implemented by the national Finnish competence centre on innovation procurement KEINO. However it is not clear which resources are exactly committed by the other key actors listed in the action plan to achieve their objectives in the action plan.
	The fact that innovation procurement is now addressed in the whole country is also proved by the existence of local initiatives. For example, the cities of Turku and Tampere have their own actions to promote innovation procurement.
	Finally, through the involvement of the national central purchasing body Hansel and the creation of purchasing groups the action plan defines concrete measures to pool demand among public and private procurers across the whole country and for all types of innovation procurement, however this is not implemented yet at a scale to mainstream innovation procurement widely yet.

Country	Action plan – evidence
Netherlands	The Netherlands has a national Action Plan for innovation procurement since 2013 <sup>55</sup> . The action plan commits to concrete actions and objectives. This includes setting up new innovation procurement projects, increasing the use of innovation procurement instruments, activating also local and regional authorities, water and health procurers to use more innovation procurement, developing financial incentives and a monitoring system to report back on innovation procurement implementation progress to the Dutch parliament. The development of the action plan is supported by the formal engagement of some key public procurers to the action plan (national government, regional and local authorities, water and health care procurers, other public procurers e.g. energy utilities are not involved) but only one procurer (Rijkswaterstaat) formally committed to achieve the 2,5% target. The key actor for the implementation of the Action Plan is PIANO0 <sup>56</sup> , the Competence Centre for Public Procurement, including innovation procurement. In this context, PIANO0 sets once a year an agenda which plans detailed objectives and initiatives.

Source: Author's elaboration

Overall, the action plans of the 4 countries include most of the elements analysed in this study. The most comprehensive action plan has been developed in Finland. The paragraphs below provide the most relevant evidence collected under this indicator.

- All the action plans analysed have clearly defined the **coverage** and specified **concrete actions**. Actions are usually defined as a result of the definition of operative goals. For example, in Austria the Action Plan on Public Procurement Promoting Innovation (PPPI) envisages awareness raising activities, established ways to introduce new approaches to PPPI and the integration of PPPI in sectoral strategies and at different administrative levels. In Finland, the Action Plan contains 14 different measures divided in 4 main categories: management, information sharing, skills development and concrete tools (e.g. risk management tools). In the Netherlands, the Action plan for innovation procurement includes activities to develop projects focused on innovation procurement, activities to enhance the usage of innovation procurement instruments at general and sector level, e.g. water and health.
- 3 countries have allocated dedicated **resources** to the action plan (AT, BE, FI). However, the budget allocated in all 3 countries while allowing to develop pilot projects and organise a number of activities is not sufficient to mainstream innovation procurement on a large scale.
- In addition, Belgium and Finland defined a specific **timeline** for the implementation of the activities. Also Austria had defined a clear timeline to in the time period 2012-2013. However, the timeline in the action plan is not up-to-date anymore (there are no actions defined with target completion date beyond 2013).
- **Commitment of key procurers** was identified in all 4 countries.
- In terms of governance, in AT, BE and FI the action plan includes a **definition of both actors and decision-making structures**, while in NL only a definition of actors is provided.

<sup>56</sup> https://www.pianoo.nl/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> <u>https://www.pianoo.nl/document/14291/plan-van-aanpak-programma-inkoop-innovatie-urgent</u>

## 4.5.2 Countries with innovation procurement actions in wider strategies

5 countries (DK, EE, EL, FR, SE) do not have a stand-alone action plan but have included policy objectives and concrete measures to foster innovation procurement in wider national strategies or programmes, often with a dedicated budget and with a clear commitment of key actors. Even if no score is attributed to these countries, the evidence is reported below for completeness:

- **Denmark.** Within its "Strategy for intelligent public procurement" (2013), the Danish government has defined 7 guiding principles for public procurement that request procurers to implement a list of actions to support innovation procurement practices.
- Estonia. set up a specific measure under the Estonian Entrepreneurship and Growth strategy 2014-2020 called "State as a smart customer" that is funded by the EU Regional Development Fund (€20 M per year). It defines objectives to foster innovation procurement in Estonia through a set of actions and a clear timeline. It is managed by Enterprise Estonia (EAS) under the supervision of the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Communications. Implemented activities under this measure include training, guidelines, the development of a monitoring system and the provisioning of financial incentives for innovation procurements to public procurers.
- **Greece.** The Action Plan for national Procurement Strategy (2017) identifies a list of actions to promote innovation procurement in the country, including (i) conducting a special study to promote innovation in the sectors of health, energy, environment and transport, (ii) building knowledge for the public sector and for economic operators regarding the new legislative framework for promoting innovation procurement and (iii) developing support actions and promoting clusters in the relevant field.
- **France**. As explained in Indicator 2, the National Pact for Growth, Competitiveness and Employment (2012) and the following Prime Minister Circular 5681/SG (2013) required each national central authority that is subject to the 2% innovation procurement target to produce a sectoral roadmap for innovation procurement. These roadmaps set a number of initiatives to foster innovation procurement but do not constitute a stand-alone Action Plan in the field.
- **Sweden.** The National Public Procurement Strategy dedicated specific actions and objectives to innovation procurement. Innovation procurement is one of the seven objectives identified in the Strategy which also encourages the use of functional specifications in procurement procedures to foster innovative practices and ideas. The Strategy is implemented by the Swedish national competence centre for innovation procurement, the National Agency for Public Procurement that, together with other Ministries and national Agencies, provides assistance to public procurers and defines innovation procurement-related activities according to their own objectives and needs.

## 4.6 Indicator 6 – Spending target

To achieve an equally innovation friendly public sector as in other regions of the world, there should be 2,5% of R&D procurements and 15-20% of PPIs in Europe (as a percentage of total amount of public procurement). This indicator reflects the progress on target setting for innovation procurement across Europe.

The table below provides the overall scores of Indicator "Spending Target" for each country that has fixed a spending target for innovation procurement. The score has been calculated taking into account information collected on the following 5 sub-indicators: presence (is there a spending target in the country), coverage (is the target applicable to all procurers in the whole country), for all types of innovation procurement (as opposed to only for certain types of innovation procurement), separate target (is there a separate target for R&D procurement as well or only for the whole innovation procurement), commitment of procurers (are there official commitments from all procurers covered by the target or only some of them contribute to reach this target).

Table 46. Indicator 6: scores											
Country	Presence	Coverage	For all types of innovatio n p.	Commitm ent of procurers	Total						
Belgium	20%	10%	20%	0%	10%	60%					
Finland	20%	10%	20%	0%	20%	70%					
France	20%	10%	20%	0%	0%	50%					
Italy	20%	10%	20%	0%	0%	50%					
Lithuania	20%	10%	20%	0%	0%	50%					
Netherlands	20%	0%	20%	0%	10%	50%					
All other 24 countries	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%					
European average	4,0%	1,7%	4,0%	0%	1,3%	11,0%					

Source: Author's elaboration

The chart below shows the overall ranking of the "Spending target" indicator. Based on the evidence collected, Finland ranks first, followed by Belgium. The European average for this indicator is 11%. This is due to the fact that 24 out of 30 countries do not have a specific spending target, even though some of them the possibility of introducing it has been discussed. In 2 countries the government has set the objective to set a target – namely Estonia (3%) and Austria (2%) – but this target has not been officially adopted and implemented yet. In 2011, Spain set up a spending target: the 3% of the General State Administration budget should have been spent on innovation. However, as a result of the economic crisis, since 2013 the target has not been actively implemented.



#### Figure 10. Indicator "Spending target" overall ranking

The following paragraphs provide more details on the scope of the targets in these 6 countries (BE, FI, FR, IT, LT, NL).

All the countries that have a spending target have also fixed a specific target for innovation procurement that is applicable to all types of innovation procurement. However, none of these spending targets differentiates between the different kinds of innovation procurement. In addition, the targets are not applicable to all types of public procurers. Even though the targets in all 6 countries are formally non-compulsory, there are some countries (BE, FI, NL) in which formal commitment has been obtained from key procurers to reach the target. In Belgium and Netherlands formal commitments were obtained from some procurers, whereas in Finland from all procurers covered by the scope of the target.

The table below provides an overview of the key characteristics of the targets in the 6 countries.

Source: Author's elaboration

	Table 4	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	inaning tur gets	2	
Country	Target	Country wide applicable	Applicable to all types of innovation procurement	Commitment from key procurers	Separate target
Belgium	3% of the total public procurement budget of the Flemish Government (there are also some spending target set at local level, e.g. Ghent city)	No, at regional level (only in Flanders)	Yes	Partially (some key procurers have committed others not)	No
Finland	5% of total central government's public procurement spending	No, only for national level procurers	Yes	Yes (all procurers covered by the target)	No
France	2% of the total public procurement spending of the State (national ministries) and hospitals	No, only for national level procurers	Yes	No	No
Italy	3% of the total Lombardy region public procurement spending	No, only for the Lombardy Region	Yes	No	No
Lithuania	5% of total central government's public procurement spending	No, only for national level procurers	Yes	No	No
Netherlands	2,5 % of total central government's public procurement spending	No, only for some procurers that signed up to the action plan	Yes	Yes (only some procurers)	No

 Table 47. Features of spending targets

Source: Author's elaboration

The highest targets have been fixed in **Lithuania and Finland** (5%), but unfortunately, they apply only to central government authorities and not to local or regional or utility type procurers. In Finland, the target has been backed by a structured innovation procurement policy, which has foreseen practical support and monitoring activities, as well as the development of tools to facilitate the implementation of innovation procurement, but unfortunately only at the central government level. The spending target has also been embedded in a number of central government strategic projects with the aim to create an innovation procurement market and support the strategic use of innovation procurement in the whole economy. Despite not being formally obliged, advanced municipalities (e.g. Tampere) and ministries (e.g. Finnish Ministry of Transport) have set their own innovation procurement target.

In the **Netherlands**, the central government set a spending target for innovation procurement at 2,5% of total public procurement spending of the central government.<sup>57</sup> The target only applies to central government authorities, not to local and regional authorities. It comprises all types of innovation procurement (R&D procurement, PCP, PPI). As the target has a non-compulsory nature, only some public procurers (e.g. *Rijkswaterstaat*) have really embraced the commitment to reach the 2,5% target. In **France**, the National Pact for Growth, Competitiveness and Employment<sup>58</sup> set a spending target for innovation procurement in 2012, to be achieved by 2020. However in this case, the spending target is only for innovation procurement awarded to innovative SMEs and MSBs (Small and Medium Enterprises and Mid-Size Businesses).<sup>59</sup> In addition, the target has been set only for the central public authorities (the State and its operators) and hospitals, whereas local/regional authorities are excluded. In addition, there is no formal commitment from key procurers to achieve the 2% objective.

In **Belgium**, 3% of the total public procurement budget of the Flemish Government should go to innovation procurement. The target is applicable to all types of innovation procurement, but it is not country wide (only in the Flemish region). The target been backed by a structured innovation procurement policy, which has foreseen practical support and monitoring activities, as well as the development of tools to facilitate the implementation of innovation procurement. There are key procurers at local level (e.g. Digipolis which procures ICT for Ghent and Antwerp city) that have taken

58 https://www.economie.gouv.fr/files/PR-competitiveness.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Brief aan de Tweede Kamer, Naar de top; het bedrijfslevenbeleid in actie(s), 13/09/2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> SMEs: The category of micro, small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) is made up of enterprises which employ fewer than 250 persons and which have an annual turnover not exceeding  $C_{50}$  mn, and/or an annual balance sheet total not exceeding  $C_{43}$  mn; MSBs: they have between 250 and 4.999 employees and an annual turnover <  $C_{1.5}$  bn. "Innovative" SMEs are defined in article L. 214-30 of the Monetary and Financial Code (available at <u>http://www.acheteurs-publics.com/marches-publics-encyclopedie/pme-innovantes</u>).

the commitment for themselves to even exceed the target and adopted a 10% target for innovation procurement spending.

In **Italy**, the Lombardy Region has decided to allocate at least the 3% of the resources annually spent for the purchase of goods and services from the region's public bodies on innovation public procurement. In addition, the Strategy for digital growth 2014-2020 includes a KPI entitled "volume growth for procurement of innovations", which defines specific targets devoted to innovation procurement. This target does not apply to all public procurement, but only to PPI and to a subset of eprocurement.

## 4.7 Indicator 7 – Monitoring system

This indicator reflects the progress of different countries on setting up a monitoring system to measure innovation procurement expenditure in the country and to evaluate the impacts of completed innovation procurements.

The following table provides an overview of the different expenditure measurement and impact evaluation systems in place. The breakdown in sub-indicators shows if an expenditure measurement and/or an impact evaluation system is in place (presence), if it is applied to all types of innovation procurement (PCP, PPI and R&D), and widely across the whole country. In addition the last column "structured approach" indicates if the measuring and/or evaluation activity is carried out on a regular basis.

		Mea	surement s	system		Evaluation system					Total -
Country	Presence	For all types of innovation procurement	Widely across the whole country	Structured approach	Measurement system	Presence	For all types of innovation procurement	Widely across the whole country	Structured approach	Evaluation system	system
Austria	25%	25%	25%	25%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	50%
Belgium	25%	25%	25%	25%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	50%
Bulgaria	0%	0%	о%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Croatia	0%	0%	о%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Cyprus	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	о%	0%	0%	0%
Czech Republic	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	о%	0%	0%	0%
Denmark	25%	0%	0%	0%	25%	0%	0%	о%	0%	0%	13%
Estonia	25%	25%	25%	25%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	50%
Finland	25%	0%	25%	0%	50%	25%	0%	25%	0%	50%	50%
France	25%	25%	0%	0%	50%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	25%
Germany	25%	25%	0%	25%	75%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	38%
Greece	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Hungary	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	о%	0%	0%	0%
Ireland	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Italy	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Latvia	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Lithuania	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Luxembourg	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Malta	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Netherlands	25%	25%	0%	0%	50%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	25%
Norway	25%	0%	0%	0%	25%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	13%
Poland	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%

 Table 48. Indicator 7 scores

Country		Меа	surements	system			Total - Monitoring				
	Presence	For all types of innovation procurement	Widely across the whole country	Structured approach	Measurement system	Presence	For all types of innovation procurement	Widely across the whole country	Structured approach	Evaluation system	system
Portugal	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	о%	0%	0%	0%
Romania	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	о%	0%	0%	0%
Slovakia	25%	25%	25%	25%	100%	0%	0%	о%	0%	0%	50%
Slovenia	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	о%	0%	0%	0%
Spain	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Sweden	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Switzerland	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
UK	25%	0%	0%	0%	25%	25%	0%	0%	0%	25%	25%
European average	-	-	-	-	23%	-	-	-	-	3%	13%

Note: Yes = 25%, No = 0% Source: Author's elaboration

The overall ranking of the indicator "Monitoring system" is illustrated in the graph below. As so far, no country has both a comprehensive measurement and impact evaluation system, no country achieves the maximum score (100%). The countries reporting the highest result are Austria, Belgium, Estonia, Finland and Slovakia. Among these countries, only Finland has started developing both expenditure measuring and impact evaluation activities for all types of innovation procurement across the country.

The European average for this indicator is 13%, which results from the averages for the sub-indicators "measurement system" (23%) and "impact evaluation system" (3%). These scores are affected by the fact that 18 out of 30 countries observed have not set up any form of expenditure measurement or impact evaluation for innovation procurement in their country. In addition, the 12 countries that have started developing some sort of measuring systems have not fully developed them yet (expenditure measurement is often still carried out in a non-systematic way and impact evaluation is still widely missing). As different countries want to know how they perform compared to others, several countries are in fact waiting for an EU wide monitoring system to be setup before investing substantially in national monitoring.

The next paragraphs provide an analysis of the different systems put in place at national level.



#### Figure 11. Indicator "Monitoring system" overall ranking

Source: Author's elaboration

# 4.7.1 Expenditure measurement and impact evaluation systems

11 countries (AT, BE, DE, DK, EE, FI, FR, NL, NO, SK, UK) have developed an approach for measuring the amount of public procurement expenditure spent on innovation procurement.

Among these, 5 countries (AT, BE, DE, EE, SK) have developed a structured measurement system:

• Since 2013, **Austria** has been developing a comprehensive innovation procurement monitoring system. The Action Plan on Public Procurement Promoting Innovation PPPI provides the context for the monitoring and measurement activities, which consists of 4 dimensions, i.e. "reporting", "assessing", "measuring", and "learning".<sup>60</sup> All these dimensions provide a general overview on the activities carried out by all the actors involved in the system. The "measuring" activity consists of two pilot surveys which regularly monitor innovation procurement at organisational and at project level. This monitoring system is applicable countrywide and for all types of innovation procurement.

<sup>60</sup> https://www.ait.ac.at/fileadmin/mc/innovation\_systems/projekte/IOEB/201709\_PPPI\_Policy\_Note\_\_Monitoring\_\_ Measurement.pdf

- In **Belgium**, under the PIO program, a measurement system has been set up and is applied in the Belgian e-Procurement platform and the regional contract management system (e-Delta). It consists of an indicator and aims at highlighting innovative tenders from the "normal" procurements. The measuring activity is expected to be carried out on a regular basis across the whole country and for all types of innovation procurement. The first round of measuring innovation procurement spending has recently started, and first statistics are expected in 2019.
- In 2017, **Slovakia** has introduced a system to flag green, social and/or innovation procurements in the form used by procurers to publish their tenders. This measurement system, is applicable countrywide and for all types of innovation procurement. However, it does not allow to distinguish between the different kinds of innovation procurement (it only identifies the innovative object of the tender). This system has not produced statistical results yet.
- In **Germany**, the new regulation for statistical data (§98 and §99 of the German Act against Restraints of Competition Gesetzgegen Wettbewerbsbeschränkungen GWB) requires procurers to provide specific types of information for all procurement activities. For procurement under the EU threshold, volume, kind of procedure and product group is required. With regard to procurements above the EU threshold, the indication of different categories such as innovation and environment are also required. In the country there have been also other measurement exercises. For instance, the *Bundeswehrhochschule München in* 2016 carried out a pilot measurement of public procurement in the country. The results of this study estimated that, of an overall €350 bn of public procurement expenditure, €40/50 bn, i.e. 11/14% of the overall budget, was spent on innovation procurements.<sup>61</sup>
- A good practice for the collection of data is also the structured system for measuring innovation procurement expenditures put in place in **Estonia**. The country has an effective monitoring system which enables public procurers to directly flag potentially innovative tenders on the e-Procurement system, through a survey. This survey is expected to collect on an annual basis data on the amount of innovation procurement carried out in the country.

Despite not having a structured approach to measure innovation procurement in the country, the other 6 countries (DK, FI, FR, NL, NO, UK) have carried out monitoring activities on pilot projects or through single policy initiatives:

- In **Denmark**, the Council for Public-Private Cooperation (ROPS) reports that only 12% of surveyed public buyers have carried out innovation procurement.<sup>62</sup>
- **Finland** does not have a structured system to measure or evaluate the impacts of completed innovation procurement. However, monitoring activities for a subset of innovation procurements have been carried out only in parts of the country. In addition, the Competence Centre for Sustainable and Innovative Public Procurement (KEINO) has the responsibility to monitor innovation procurement, both in terms of its effectiveness and its efficiency. In the coming years it is expected to develop a management-oriented monitoring and evaluation system as well as monitoring and evaluation tools. These include the creation of follow-up indicators, indicators for achieving national targets and to assess and evaluate the effectiveness and efficiency of the innovation procurement processes.
- In **France** there are no structured monitoring and evaluating systems for innovation procurement across the whole country. However, two indicators have been created to evaluate the innovation procurement policy of the State and monitor the achievements of the objectives set by the National Pact for Growth Competitiveness and Employment. The first assesses the number of innovative enterprises benefiting from public procurement contracts, focusing on SMEs. The second requires public procurers to identify when public procurement is innovative.
- The **Netherlands**, after having conceived a method for measuring innovation procurement expenditure, which was applied between 2010-2013 to all types of innovation procurements, is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> https://rio.jrc.ec.europa.eu/en/file/11255/download?token=h7oOt2OW

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> <u>http://ec.europa.eu/regional\_policy/sources/policy/how/improving-investment/public-procurement/study/country\_profile/dk.pdf</u>

putting in place a new voluntary measurement initiative based on a tool in which public procurers can fill in, on voluntary basis, a number of questions to report to what extent completed public procurements were innovation procurements. However, the measurement system is not structurally implemented yet and is limited also to national authorities.

- **Norway** does not regularly measure innovation procurement expenditure but has only conducted some pilot initiatives.
- In the **UK** regular evaluation and monitoring assessments are carried out only for the activities implemented within the SBRI Programme. In 2014, an analysis of SBRI was conducted by Manchester Institute of Innovation Research (MIOIR) with the European Research Council and OMB Research.<sup>63</sup> Afterwards, recommendations from an independent evaluation on increasing the impact of the program was published in 2017.<sup>64</sup>

In the remaining 19 countries there is no measurement system to monitor expenditure of innovation procurement. In these countries measuring activities are carried out in the context of ESIF funding or are expected to be implemented in the future:

- Countries financing innovation procurements only via ESIF funding (e.g. **Spain**) typically do not have a structural monitoring system for all innovation procurements in the country. They usually only monitor innovation procurement spending in ESIF as this is required by the EC.
- **In Sweden,** an annual evaluation of impacts of selected innovation procurements is being developed. Similarly, Lithuania and Portugal are in the process of developing a monitoring system for innovation procurement.

Interesting evidence collected on the implementation of monitoring and evaluation exercise concerns the methods used. In particular, various instruments are used for such a purpose, including surveys, external independent reviews, combined interim and ex-post evaluations, or one-off project-related evaluations, among others. The main approaches to conduct evaluations of innovation-related procurement initiatives seem to be surveys and qualitative methods (i.e. case studies, interviews with beneficiaries). This fact represents one of the most important limits of the evaluations and monitoring exercises, i.e. the lack of quantitative data and the need for further quantitative approaches. No country (except for Finland and the UK, as described above) has put in place a structural system to

No country (except for Finland and the UK, as described above) has put in place a structural system to evaluate the impacts of completed innovation procurements.

## **4.8 Indicator 8 – Incentives**

This indicator reflects the progress of using financial or personal **demand-side incentives** to encourage public buyers to undertake more innovation procurements across different countries. It is calculated as the average of two sub-indicators, namely "financial incentives" and "personal incentives".

The first sub-indicator shows the presence of dedicated financial incentives in the country (availability of these type of incentives in the country), whether the incentives are available for all types of innovation procurement (as opposed to only for certain types of innovation procurement), applicable country wide (whether they are available to all procurers/procurements in the whole country as opposed to available only certain types of procurers), whether there are incentives for large scale implementation across the whole country (as opposed to only pilots), whether national top-up funding is provided for procurement cases that are eligible for EU co-financing ("national top-up funding available for EU co-financed procurements"), whether national financial incentives are provided for procurement cases that are not eligible for EU co-financing ("national for non-EU co-financed procurements") and whether dedicated ESIF funding has been allocated for innovation procurements.

Please note that EU (co-)financing can include all types of EU (co-)financing (e.g. ESIF, Horizon 2020, EIB). The personal incentive sub-indicator shows the availability of personal incentives for public procurers in the country and whether the incentives are available for all types of procurers in the country (as opposed to only for certain types of procurers). The overall scores of the "Incentives" indicator is provided in the table below

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-evaluation-of-the-small-business-research-initiative</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/leveraging-public-procurement-to-grow-the-innovation-economy-an-independent-review-of-the-small-business-research-initiative-sbri (2017)</u>

				Financial in		Personal incentives						
Country	Financial Incentives (Presence)	For all types of innovation procurement	Applicable to all procurers country wide	Large scale implementation	Nat. top-up funding available for EU cfP	Nat. funding available for non-EU cfP	Dedicated ESIF Funds for innovation procurement	Financial Incentives	Personal incentives (Presence)	Applicable to all procurers countrywide	Personal Incentives	Total - Incentives
Austria	14,28%	0%	14,28%	0%	0%	14,28%	0%	43%	50%	50%	100%	71,4%
Belgium	14,28%	14,28%	0%	0%	14,28%	14,28%	0%	57%	0%	0%	0%	28,6%
Bulgaria	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Croatia	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Cyprus	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Czech Rep.	14,28%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	14,28%	29%	0%	0%	0%	14,3%
Denmark	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Estonia	14,28%	14,28%	14,28%	0%	0%	14,28%	14,28%	57%	0%	0%	0%	28,6%
Finland	14,28%	14,28%	14,28%	14,28%	14,28%	14,28%	0%	86%	50%	0%	50%	67,8%
France	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Germany	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	50%	50%	100%	50,0%
Greece	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Hungary	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Ireland	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Italy	14,28%	14,28%	0%	0%	0%	0%	14,28%	43%	50%	0%	50%	46,4%
Latvia	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Lithuania	14,28%	0%	14,28%	0%	0%	0%	14,28%	43%	0%	0%	0%	21,4%
Luxembourg	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Malta	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Netherlands	14,28%	14,28%	0%	0%	0%	14,28%	0%	43%	0%	0%	0%	21,4%
Norway	14,28%	0%	14,28%	0%	0%	14,28%	0%	43%	0%	0%	0%	21,4%
Poland	14,28%	14,28%	0%	0%	0%	0%	14,28%	43%	0%	0%	0%	21,4%
Portugal	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Romania	14,28%	14,28%	14,28%	0%	0%	14,28%	14,28%	71%	0%	0%	0%	35,7%
Slovakia	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Slovenia	14,28%	14,28%	0%	0%	0%	0%	14,28%	43%	0%	0%	0%	21,4%
Spain	14,28%	14,28%	0%	14,28%	0%	0%	14,28%	57%	50%	50%	100%	78,6%
Sweden	14,28%	14,28%	14,28%	14,28%	14,28%	14,28%	0%	86%	50%	50%	0%	42,8%
Switzerland	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
UK	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	50%	50%	100%	50,0%
European Avg.	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	24,8%	-	-	16,7%	20,7%

#### Table 49. Indicator 8: scores

*Source: Author's elaboration. Legend: cfP* = *co-financed projects* 

Only 16 countries (AT, BE, CZ, DE, EE, ES, FI, IT, LT, NL, NO, PL, RO, SI, SE, UK) have dedicated incentives for innovation procurement. In this field the best performers are Spain, Austria and Finland, which are also the only countries that have adopted both types of demand-side incentives considered at a country wide scale: financial incentives for procurers to reduce the financial risk of innovation procurement and personal incentives for procurers to encourage more innovation procurement.<sup>65</sup> The European average for the indicator "Incentives" is 20,7%. This value is mainly due to two reasons. Firstly, 14 countries (BG, CH, CY, DK, FR, EL, HR, HU, IE, LV, LU, MT, PT, SK) have not setup any form of incentive (financial or personal) to encourage public procurers to carry out more innovation procurements. Secondly, in the majority of the countries that have setup incentives, financial incentives are not budgeted to mainstream innovation procurement widely and personal incentives are underused. The ranking for the 16 countries that have incentives in place is presented below.



#### Figure 12. Indicator "Incentives" overall ranking

Source: Author's elaboration

## 4.8.1 Financial incentives

14 countries (AT, BE, CZ, EE, ES, FI, IT, LT, NL, NO, PL, RO, SI, SE) have set up a financial incentive system to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurement. The highest score is achieved by Finland, followed by Sweden and Romania.

- In **Finland**, the innovation funding agency Business Finland provides grants to public procurers through the Innovative Public Procurement financing instrument. All public procurers are eligible recipients of funding. The grant covers 40-50% of total costs in the preparation stage of a procurement. It may cover development, piloting and adoption of new products and services. The public procurer should use the grant to source additional expertise, build collaboration, undertake market consultation and carry out pilots or R&D work in order to strengthen cooperation with potential providers and end users and preparation of innovative public procurements. The Finnish financial incentives are available both for cases that can obtain co-financing from EU programmes (as top-up financing for Horizon 2020 and ESIF co-financed innovation procurements) and cases that cannot obtain EU co-financing.
- **Sweden** has set up financial incentives, in the form of grants, to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements. These incentives are for all types of innovation procurement and applicable to all Swedish public procurers in all sectors and at all levels (local,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Italy has also adopted both types of demand-side incentives, however they are not applicable countrywide.

regional and national). The Swedish financial incentives are available both for cases that can obtain co-financing from EU programmes (as top-up financing for Horizon 2020 and ESIF co-financed innovation procurements) and cases that cannot obtain EU co-financing. Today, a Swedish VINNOVA programme called "Innovation procurement" is specifically designed to finance strategic investments and applications. The amount invested in innovation procurement has varied during the years, but it has accounted on average to approximately  $\varepsilon_1$  M per year. Sweden has not pre-allocated dedicated ESIF budgets for innovation procurements but if a city or region decides to implement an innovation procurement via its ESIF budget, the VINNOVA funding can in principle top-up this ESIF funding.

• **Romania** has set up financial incentives, in the form of grants, to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements. These incentives are available for all types of innovation procurement. Romania has foreseen both national program funds and ESIF funds (grants) for innovation procurements, but the budgets foreseen are not designed to incentivise large scale implementation of innovation procurement. Romania does not provide additional national top-up funding for EU (Horizon 2020/ESIF) co-financed innovation procurements.

A second group of countries (BE, EE, ES) set up financial incentive schemes that score 57%.

- In **Belgium**, at national level there are no incentives to encourage public procurers to start more innovation procurements, while there are some at regional level. In particular, the Flemish PIO programme offers co-financing to any type of public procurer in Flanders for PCPs and other types of innovation procurements. However the budget of the programme is not large enough to mainstream innovation procurement widely. The PIO co-financing is available both for projects that are not eligible for EU funding and for projects that are eligible for EU funding (procurers that already receive EU funds for their innovation procurement are still eligible for Flemish funding, i.e. the PIO funding can top up the EU funding). Belgium and Flanders have not pre-allocated dedicated ESIF budgets for innovation procurements but if a city/region decides to implement an innovation procurement via its ESIF budget, the Flemish funding can in principle top-up this ESIF funding.
- Estonia has not allocated any national funds for financial incentives to encourage public procurers to undertake innovation procurements that are not eligible for EU co-financing. However, it has dedicated a limited amount of ESIF funds (€20 M) for supporting a few pilot innovation procurements in specific sectors. Also Enterprise Estonia (EAS) does not provide additional national top-up funding for EU (Horizon 2020/ESIF) co-financed innovation procurements.
- The **Spanish** financial incentives scheme is not open to all types of public procurers and procurements in the country. It is only available to projects eligible for co-financing from the Spanish ESIF programme which focuses on specific sectors (health and security) (as indicated in the smart specialisation priorities of Spain) but not for projects that are eligible for Horizon 2020 funding. In the health domain Spain has been able to stimulate large scale implementation of innovation procurement through ad-hoc programmes: for example, the Programme FID SALUD in INNOCOMPRA-FID 2014-2020 aims to systematically improve public health services portfolio through annual calls for innovation procurement. The programme is coordinated by the Health, Social Security and Equality Ministry and involved all regional health services. So far, more than 40 proposals have been independently assessed by ISCIII (Health Institute Carlos III) and 15 of them have been approved, mobilising approximately €62 M just in 2015.

A third group of countries (AT, IT, LT, NL, NO, PL SI) achieve an overall score of 43%. Some countries (IT, NL) have not implemented countrywide financial incentive schemes while others (AT, LT, NO) implemented schemes only for certain types of innovation procurement. The financial schemes implemented in these countries are presented below:

• In **Austria**, financial and practical support by the Ministries and the PPPI Service Centre is provided for certain sectors. The funds available are based on national funding, however, they are not designed to foster large scale implementation of innovation procurement. In addition,

financial incentives are not available for all types of innovation procurement and projects already receiving EU funds are not eligible (both for Horizon 2020 and ESIF).

- In **Italy** financial incentives for procurers do not exist at national level. National ministries implement PCP/PPI pilot actions for the 4 convergence objective regions. These actions, implemented within wider funding programmes dedicated to the convergence regions, do not provide financial incentives to regional authorities to implement innovation procurements. In Italy, financial initiatives are offered to public procurers only by some regions, e.g. in Lombardy and Sardinia. Both regions have set up calls for interest to select innovation needs and innovation procurement actions to be implemented by public procurers under the Operational Regional Program ERDF 2014-2020.
- Lithuania has allocated through the Agency for innovation and Technology (MITA) a limited amount of ESIF funds to support a few PCP procurements.
- In the **Netherlands** there is no national or regional financial incentives programme for innovation procurement. However, financial incentives are available in the sectoral High-Water Protection programme. These incentives are not conceived for combination with EU co-financing, are only available for public procurers in the high-water field and are not designed to incentivise large scale implementation of innovation procurement.
- In **Norway**, financial incentives to support pilot innovation procurements are envisaged in the context of the National Programme for Supplier Development.
- In **Poland** there are no specific separate financial support schemes for public procurers to incentivise the launch of innovation procurements. However, operational programmes under ESIF have dedicated funding for innovation procurements projects. Thus, financial incentives are allocated only in certain sectors and not designed to mainstream innovation procurement widely across the country.
- In **Slovenia** there are financial incentives co-financed by ESIF funds that are mainly used to support pilot projects, i.e. they are not able to mainstream innovation procurement across the country. There are no national funds available for undertaking innovation procurements that are not eligible for EU co-financing. Slovenia does not provide additional national top-up funding for EU (Horizon 2020/ESIF) co-financed innovation procurements.
- In the **Czech Republic** financial support is provided by the Pre-commercial Public Procurement Programme, i.e. an EU-funded ESIF programme within the Operational Programme Enterprise and Innovation for Competitiveness (2014-2020). It allows to provide grants to public procurers that provide co-financing for pilot PCP projects. However, there are no additional national funds that top-up the EU funding to cover the part of the PCP procurement costs that are not co-financed by ESIF. The city of Prague is the only authority that has been using these ESIF funded incentives.

### 4.8.2 Personal incentives

5 countries (AT, ES, FI, IT, UK) set up personal incentive schemes to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurement.

This kind of non-financial support can take different forms.

- In Austria, Spain and Germany personal incentives are prizes aimed at rewarding top performances among public procurers in the procurement of innovative products and the design of innovative procurement processes.
- In Italy, a personal incentive scheme is reported in Lombardy, where there are bonuses for public servants related to achieving the 3% regional target for innovation procurement, which is also included in the career objectives.
- In the UK and Finland, non-personal incentives take the form of KPIs agreed between the government/ministries and procurers in the country, which set cost reduction and quality

improvement levels/targets for public procurements that are implemented by public procurers at all levels (e.g. CO<sub>2</sub> reduction). These KPIs seriously drive forward innovation procurement in the UK and Finland. In Finland the use of KPIs is however mainly applied at the national level, not so much at local and regional level.

# 4.9 Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures

Lack of know-how and experience on innovation procurement is also a significant barrier to innovation procurement. Several countries around Europe have therefore set up measures to build up the know-how of public procurers on innovation procurement and/or to provide tailored case-by-case assistance to public procurers to implement specific innovation procurement projects. To make these measures easily accessible to public procurers in a one-stop-shop, these activities are typically coordinated by a national competence centre on innovation procurement. This indicator tracks progress on the capacity building and assistance measures implemented for innovation procurement across different countries. The table below provides the overall scores of different countries for the Indicator "Capacity building and assistance measures". The score is based on the 9 sub-indicators listed in the columns of the table.

Although 20 countries (AT, BE, DE, DK, EE, ES, FI, FR, HU, IE, IT, LT, LU, NL, NO, PL, SE, SI, SK, UK) foresee regular dedicated capacity building and assistance measures for innovation procurement, these activities are usually only partially developed: in many countries there is still a clear lack of basic capacity building measures, such as a central website on innovation procurement and a one-stop shop / national competence centre for innovation procurement. Available training and assistance initiatives (trainings, networking between procurers, lists of good practice cases, handbooks) are typically not designed and resourced to mainstream innovation procurement at large scale. The number of countries that provide advanced types of assistance is still very low: case specific full-scale practical implementation and legal assistance, template tender documents and coordination support for innovation procurements are scarce.

		~ .	Trainings		Assistance to	Template			One-	Total score
Country	Central website	Good practices	and workshops	Handbook or guidelines	public procurers	tender documents	Coordination	Networking	stop- shop	Capacity Building
Austria	83%	83%	100%	67%	83%	0%	0%	83%	83%	65%
Belgium	50%	67%	67%	0%	67%	0%	0%	67%	50%	41%
Bulgaria	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Croatia	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Cyprus	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Czech Republic	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Denmark	0%	67%	0%	50%	0%	50%	0%	0%	0%	19%
Estonia	0%	50%	67%	83%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	22%
Finland	83%	67%	67%	100%	67%	0%	0%	100%	83%	63%
France	0%	0%	83%	100%	50%	0%	0%	50%	0%	31%
Germany	83%	83%	67%	83%	83%	0%	0%	67%	83%	61%
Greece	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Hungary	0%	0%	17%	33%	0%	0%	0%	50%	0%	11%
Ireland	0%	0%	0%	50%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	6%
Italy	0%	0%	0%	67%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	7%
Latvia	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Lithuania	50%	0%	83%	83%	50%	0%	67%	0%	83%	46%
Luxembourg	0%	0%	0%	83%	0%	0%	0%	67%	0%	17%
Malta	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Netherlands	83%	50%	67%	83%	67%	0%	0%	83%	83%	57%
Norway	83%	67%	67%	67%	67%	50%	50%	67%	67%	65%
Poland	0%	0%	67%	83%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	17%
Portugal	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Romania	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Slovakia	0%	0%	50%	50%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	11%
Slovenia	0%	0%	50%	67%	67%	0%	0%	67%	0%	28%

Country	Central website	Good practices	Trainings and workshops	Handbook or guidelines	Assistance to public procurers	Template tender documents	Coordination	Networking	One- stop- shop	Total score Capacity Building
Spain	67%	0%	0%	83%	0%	0%	0%	67%	67%	31%
Sweden	83%	100%	100%	100%	67%	0%	83%	100%	100%	81%
Switzerland	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
UK	0%	50%	83%	67%	33%	50%	0%	33%	0%	35%
European average	22,2%	22,8%	34,5%	46,6%	23,3%	5,0%	6,7%	30,0%	23,3%	23,8%

Source: Author's elaboration

The average score for this Indicator is 23,8%. In this field, the top performers on this indicator are Sweden (81%), Austria (65%), Norway (65%), Finland (63%), Germany (61%) and the Netherlands (57%).



Figure 13. Indicator "Capacity building and assistance measures" overall ranking

The table below provides an overview of the capacity-building activities and assistance measures implemented in each country.

Activity	Countries
Central website	AT, BE, DE, ES, FI, LT, NL, NO, SE (9)
Good practices	AT, BE, DE, DK, EE, FI, NL, NO, SE, UK (10)
Trainings and workshops	AT, BE, DE, EE, FI, FR, HU, LT, NL, NO, PL, SE, SI, SK, UK (15)
Handbooks and guidelines <sup>66</sup>	AT, DE, DK, EE, ES, FI, FR, HU, IE, IT, LT, LU, NL, NO, PL, SK, SI, SE, UK (19)
Assistance to public procurers	AT, BE, DE, FI, FR, LT, NL, NO, SI, SE, UK (11)
Template tender documents	DK, NO, UK (3)
Coordination / pre-approval	LT, NO, SE (3)
Networking of procurers	AT, BE, DE, ES, FI, FR, HU, LU, NL, NO, SE, SI, UK (13)
One-stop-shop/competence centre	AT, BE, DE, ES, FI, LT, NL, NO, SE (9)

#### Table 51. Capacity-building activities and assistance measures implemented in each country

Source: Author's elaboration

19 countries developed **handbooks and guidelines** on innovation procurement for public procurers, which clearly appears to be the most accessible capacity building measure. 15 countries also provide **trainings and workshops** on innovation procurement. Other common capacity-building activities implemented include **networking** activities between public procurers (in 13 countries) and

Source: Author's elaboration

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> In Latvia, the Ministry of Finance introduced national guidelines on the innovation partnership procedure (published in the second half of 2018).

**assistance activities to prepare and implement innovation procurements** (in 11 countries). Conversely, only a very limited **tender template documents** for innovation procurements for public procurers and **coordination activities** to pre-approve and/or coordinate innovation procurements across the country are offered (in 3 countries in both cases). Surprisingly, a central website for innovation procurement is only available in 9 countries and an operational one-stop-shop/competence centre for procurers is also only available in 9 countries, although 5 other countries have been in the process of setting it up (EE, EL, IE, IT, PT).

## 4.9.1 Central website

9 countries (AT, BE, DE, ES, FI, LT, NL, NO, SE) offer countrywide free of charge information on **innovation procurement on a central website**, with 8 of those covering all aspects of innovation procurement (AT, BE, DE, ES, FI, NL, NO, SE), and 5 providing information about initiatives in support of innovation procurement at EU level (AT, BE, DE, ES, SE). In 5 of the 9 countries the information provided also takes into consideration how to mainstream innovation procurement at a large scale (AT, FI, NL, NO, SE). An overview of the evidence collected is provided in the table below. The European average value for this sub-indicator "central website" is 22,2%.

	AT	BE	DE	ES	FI	LT	NL	NO	SE
Central website explains why the policy framework encourages public procurers and gives an overview of policy initiatives to mainstream innovation procurement	$\checkmark$								
The site provides national and EU level references/initiatives that support innovation procurement			$\checkmark$						
Information is offered free of charge by the site	$\checkmark$								
Information on the site covers all types of innovation procurement (i.e. covering R&D procurement, including PCP, and PPI)	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Information on the site is applicable to all public procurers in the country	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$						
Information on the site addresses how to mainstream innovation procurement at a large scale	$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Total score	83%	50%	83%	67%	83%	50%	83%	83%	83%

Table 52. Evidence	s and score o	n central	website in	each country

Source: Author's elaboration

Interesting examples of country level activities are:

- The **Austrian** PPPI website and online platform centralises key information on the legal framework, the political context (action plan), case examples, financial incentives and available assistance for procurers on innovation procurement. However, information about key European initiatives on innovation procurement that Austrian procurers can benefit from is not up-to-date or missing. On the online platform innovation procurement stakeholders (public procurers, research institutions, enterprises, citizens, etc.) are free to interact, thus ensuring a greater match between the public needs and the market supply. In other words, the platform is designed to on the one hand allow procurers to specify a challenge, and on the other allow suppliers to present their innovative solutions.
- In **Belgium**, there is a website in the region of the Flanders. The website mainly provides information on what the PIO programme is doing in the Flanders. Information about European initiatives in support of innovation procurement that Flemish procurers can benefit from is missing.
- In **Lithuania**, the Ministry of Economy provides information especially on PCPs on its website, so not all aspects of innovation procurement are covered. Information focuses also on the ESIF funding opportunities for procurers. Information about the wider policy support for innovation

procurement, and on how Lithuanian procurers can benefit from key European initiatives on innovation procurement is still missing.

• In the **Netherlands** the Competence Centre for Public Procurement PIANOo also has a wellstructured central website, which shares information about national policy initiatives, trainings/seminars and case examples on innovation procurement. There is a lack of information about available assistance and financial incentives for procurers (as there are no national initiatives on this and European funded ones are not visibly promoted).

## 4.9.2 Good practices

In terms of dissemination and exchange of good practices, 10 countries (AT, BE, DE, DK, EE, FI, NL, NO, SE, UK) publish good practice examples on a national website. Despite that, only one country (SE) has obtained a full 100% score as it covers all 6 below aspects related to how good practice examples are made available to procurers. In most countries only national case examples are promoted and examples from other countries (including European funded good practice examples) are missing. The European average for the "Good practices" sub-indicator is 22,8%.

	AT	BE	DE	DK	EE	FI	NL	NO	SE	UK
Publication of good practice examples	$\checkmark$									
Publication includes besides national also international / EU funded good practice examples		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$						$\checkmark$	
Publication of good practice examples is offered free of charge	$\checkmark$									
Publication of good practice examples covers all types of innovation procurement	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
Good practice examples provided are applicable to all public procurers in the country	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$							
Good practice examples are included that demonstrate how to mainstream innovation procurement at large scale	$\checkmark$					$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	
Total score	83%	67%	83%	67%	50%	67%	50%	67%	100%	50%

Table 53.Evidences and	score on goo	d practices in	each country

Source: Author's elaboration

Interesting examples regarding country activities in the dissemination of good practices are presented below:

- In **Belgium**, there is only a website which provides case examples in the region of the Flanders and in particular cases funded by the new PIO programme (it lacks references to Belgian cases that were not funded by the PIO programme and case examples from other countries). Both for Belgium and the **Netherlands**, apart from one case in which a local procurer was involved, there are also no EU funded case examples listed.
- **Finland** started publishing case examples recently. However, it lacks examples of innovation procurements that procure R&D such as PCPs.
- **Sweden** regularly publishes new national case examples. The examples present through indepth analysis and interviews how the procurement was prepared, implemented, what the challenges were, and which results were achieved for both procurers and companies. The examples cover all types of procurements (including PCP and PPI) with both references to national and EU funded cases.

In the **UK** the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS) has published a series of good practices examples of Forward Commitment Procurements that clearly illustrate the benefits to procurers. Despite that, there is a lack of PCP good practice examples and references to examples from other countries including EU funded case examples.

### 4.9.3 Trainings and workshops

15 countries (AT, BE, DE, EE, FI, FR, HU, LT, NL, NO, PL, SE, SI, SK, UK) have been implementing dedicated training and workshop activities to increase the know-how of public procurers on innovation procurement practices in a systematic, regular way. Out of these, however, only Austria and Sweden obtained a full 100% score. The European average for the "trainings and workshops" sub-indicator is 34,5%, which is mainly due to the fact that in 15 countries there are no such trainings/workshops yet. However, some of these countries (e.g. BG, CY, HR, LV, PT) address innovation procurement in the context of wider trainings on public procurement, although not in a systematic way.

	АТ	BE	DE	EE	FI	FR	HU	LT	NL	NO	PL	SE	SI	SK	UK
Trainings/workshops are offered by the government	$\checkmark$														
Trainings/workshops offered cover not only national aspects but also the EU and international framework	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$
Trainings/workshops are offered free of charge	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$							
Trainings/workshops cover all types and aspects of innovation procurement	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$									
Trainings/workshops are available/applicable to all public procurers in the country	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$
Training/workshops address how to implement innovation procurement at large scale	$\checkmark$											$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$
Total score	100%	67%	67%	50%	67%	83%	17%	83%	67%	67%	67%	100%	50%	50%	83%

Table 54. Evidences and score on trainings and workshop in each country

Source: Author's elaboration

The notable examples of Austria and Sweden, the only countries to reach a full score under this subindicator, are described in the following paragraphs:

- In **Austria**, the national competence centre on innovation procurement (PPPI Services Elle), in cooperation with the Federal Academy of Public Administration, carries out training activities that deliver a **certification of achieved innovation procurement competence** at basic and advanced levels.
- In **Sweden**, the national agency for public procurement organises a wide range of regular indepth **trainings and workshops** on different aspects related to innovation procurement. Networks and associations of other Swedish procurers with similar needs are also invited to participate in the trainings and workshops.

## 4.9.4 Handbook and guidelines

Handbooks and guidelines on innovation procurement have been published in 19 countries (AT, DE, DK, EE, ES, FI, FR, HU, IE, IT, LU, LT, NL, NO, PL, SE, SI, SK, UK). In 3 countries (FI, FR, SE), these guidelines are covering all types and aspects of innovation procurement, highlighting also the EU and international framework for innovation procurement, are offered free of charge, are addressed and

applicable to all public procurers in the country and conceived to mainstream innovation procurement at large scale, thus reporting a full score. The European average value for this sub-indicator is 46,6%.

	AT	DE	DK	EE	ES	Η	FR	НU	IE	H	ΓΩ	LT	NL	NO	PL	SE	SI	SK	UK
Official handbook or guideline is available	$\checkmark$																		
Handbook/guidelines gives also guidance about relevant EU/international framework for innovation procurement		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			V	V	V			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$
Handbook/guidelines is offered free of charge	$\checkmark$																		
Handbook/guidelines covers all aspects and types of innovation procurement	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			
Handbook/guidelines is available and applicable to all public procurers in the country	V	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	V	V	V	$\checkmark$						
Handbook/guidelines addresses how to implement innovation procurement at large scale					$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$						$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$			
Total score	67%	83 %	50%	83%	83%	100%	100%	33%	50%	67%	83%	83%	83%	67%	83%	100%	67%	50%	67%

Table 55. Evidences and score on handbook and guidelines in each country

Source: Author's elaboration

Examples of guidelines are:

- In **Sweden**, the National Authority for Public Procurement published guidelines on innovation procurement. The guidelines refer to the Swedish strategy for innovation procurement, the legal framework, the definitions, provide examples and implementation advice on creating purchasing groups to achieve critical mass levels. Vinnova published a similar guide specifically for PCPs.
- There are also countries that published guidelines that address specific areas. For instance, **Italy** published a guide only for PCP. In **Slovenia**, the Ministry of Public Administration, in cooperation with relevant public and private stakeholders, prepared guidelines on innovative public procurement in the field of construction, engineering services and ICT.

#### 4.9.5 Assistance to public procurers

11 countries (AT, BE, DE, FI, FR, LT, NL, NO, SE, SI, UK) provide dedicated technical and legal assistance to public procurers in a regular, structured manner to prepare and implement innovation procurement. The strongest performers in terms of assistance for procurers are Austria, Germany and Finland, each scoring 83%, considerably above the European average (23,3%). The absence in 19 countries of any form of assistance, aimed at public procurers, influenced this result.

	AT	BE	DE	FI	FR	LT	NL	NO	SE	SI	UK
Government offers case specific assistance	$\checkmark$										
Assistance is also provided to obtain EU financing		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$				
Assistance is offered free of charge	$\checkmark$										
Assistance is available for all types and aspects of innovation procurement	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	
Assistance is available/applicable to all public procurers in the country	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
Assistance is available to mainstream innovation procurements at large scale across the country	$\checkmark$								$\checkmark$		
Total score	83%	67%	83%	67%	50%	50%	67%	67%	67%	67%	33%

#### Table 56. Evidences and score on assistance to public procurers in each country

Source: Author's elaboration

An example of assistance is: in **Austria**, where the PPPI Service Centre provides assistance to public procurers both on a general basis (e.g. clarifications on the legal framework, or suggestions and advice on the tools that can be used) and on a case-by-case basis (tailor-made workshops, individual support in setting up specific innovation procurement projects/project development, providing support via the PPPI online). There is no limitation in terms of days of assistance provided.

## 4.9.6 Template tender documents

Only 3 countries (DK, NO, UK) provide template tender documents for innovation procurement to public procurers. However, all 3 countries obtained only a 50% score on the "template tender documents" sub-indicator, as outlined in the following table. Unsurprisingly, the European average was particularly low, at only 5%.

	DK	NO	UK
Government offers template tender document to undertake innovation procurement	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Tender template documents also refer to the relevant EU and international frameworks			$\checkmark$
Templates are offered free of charge	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Templates are available for all types of innovation procurement			
Templates are applicable to all public procurers in the country	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
Templates address how to implement public procurement at large scale			
Total score	50%	50%	50%
Source: Author's elaboration			

Table 57. Evidences and score on template tender documents in each country

Evidence regarding template tender documents includes:

- In **Denmark**, the Market Development Fund of the Danish Business Authority has published templates for PCPs.
- In **Norway**, the Difi provides within the "National Programme for Supplier Development" detailed instructions and templates to perform innovation procurement (including PCPs). Instructions include the use of practical examples from the over 150 innovation procurements procedures implemented in the country.
- In **the UK**, the Crown commercial services provides template tender documents that encourage innovation in public procurement. In the framework of the SBRI, Innovate UK provides also templates of standard contracts for these type of R&D procurements to public procurers.

## 4.9.7 Coordination of innovation procurements

This sub-indicator reflects on whether the government or another public institution (e.g. innovation procurement competence centre, Public Procurement Office) pre-approves innovation procurement procedures and/or coordinates the implementation of innovation procurements in the country. Only 3 countries (LT, NO, SE) offer either pre-approval, or coordination or both types of support to public procurers. As a consequence, the European average value for the sub-indicator "innovation procurements" is a mere 6,7%.

	LT	NO	SE
Government (itself or through an officially appointed entity e.g. competence centre) pre-approves and/or coordinates the implementation of innovation procurements nationally/ regionally	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Government pre-approves and/or coordinates the implementation of innovation procurements implemented with EU financing	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$
Pre-approval and/or coordination is offered free of charge to procurers	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Pre-approval and/or coordination is applicable to all types of innovation procurement			$\checkmark$
Pre-approval and/or coordination is applicable to all public procurers in the country	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Pre-approval and/or coordination for innovation procurements is implemented at large scale			
Total score	67%	50%	83%

Table 58. Evidences and score on coordination of innovation procurements in each country

Source: Author's elaboration

For instance:

- In **Lithuania**, the national competence centre for innovation procurement MITA pre-approves the procurement (approval of the compliance of the tender documents with the national Lithuanian regulation on PCP) and coordinates the implementation of innovation procurements under the national programme. So far, this is happening only at small scale and not for all types of innovation procurements (only PCPs).
- In **Norway**, the national supplier development programme, supported by Difi, coordinates the creation of buyers' groups of small procurers (typically local authorities) and the preparation of joint procurements to create enough market pull for suppliers to bring innovative solutions to the market. The national suppliers development programme coordinates the identification and specification of joint needs and helps those buyers groups organise open market consultations, promotes the calls for tenders based on template tender documents for PCPs and other types of innovation procurements provided by Difi. However, so far this is happening only on a small scale.
- In **Sweden**, the national procurement agency coordinates the creation of buyers' groups of small local authorities, helps them implement open market consultations and implement joint procurements. The national energy agency also coordinates joint procurements between groups of small local public procurers to create market pull. The agency collects needs of the local authorities, defines tender specifications, helps those procurers to organise preliminary market consultations, tests and certifies resulting solutions against achieved energy efficiency levels/labels and issues framework contracts from which local authorities can buy. However this type of coordination is not done yet in other sectors.

### 4.9.8 Networking between procurers

13 countries (AT, BE, DE, ES, FI, FR, HU, LU, NL, NO, SE, SI, UK) have put in place networking activities for public procurers – such as events, platforms or meetings – to facilitate experience sharing on innovation procurement between procurers. Only 5 countries (BE, FI, NL, NO, SE) organise networking activities with the involvement not only of national but also foreign procurers, thus giving a European or international dimension to the networking. The European average value for the sub-indicator "networking between procurers" is 30%.

	AT	BE	DE	ES	FI	FR	HU	LU	NL	NO	SE	SI	UK
Government facilitates experience sharing and networking between procurers in other cities/regions, sectors, countries	V	$\checkmark$	V	$\checkmark$	V	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	V	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Connection with relevant EU / international networking initiatives		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		
Networking is offered free of charge to procurers	$\checkmark$												
Networking covers all types of innovation procurement	$\checkmark$												
Networking is available to all public procurers in the country	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
Networking is addressing how to implement innovation procurements at large scale	V			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$						$\checkmark$		
Total score	83%	67%	67%	67%	100%	50%	50%	67%	83%	67%	100%	67%	33%

Table 59, Evidences and	l score on networking between	procurers in each country
		proceeding in output of the starting

Source: Author's elaboration

Networking activities are usually organised by the competence centres on innovation procurement, as in Austria, Belgium, Finland, Germany, the Netherlands, Spain and Sweden, usually in the form of events, conferences and seminars.

There are also countries and regions that established more structured ways of networking procurers across borders. For example:

- At national level, Austria, Finland, Sweden network individual procurers with national purchasing bodies to explore opportunities to achieve large scale multiplier effects with innovation procurements.
- In 2011 the Nordic Ministers of Industry launched together a so-called "Nordic lighthouse initiative" in the healthcare domain to strengthen collaboration between Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway and Sweden on innovation procurement. Nordic innovation and the national competence centres on innovation procurement in those countries organise from time to time meetings with procurers from different Nordic countries to discuss potential coordinated procurement possibilities.
- In Germany, KOINNO organises networking between national procurers. Under the impulse of ZENIT (the part of the Germany competence centre that works on the international dimension) the region North Rhine-Westphalia signed a cooperation agreement with the Netherlands and the Flemish region in Belgium to network public procurers of their different countries to stimulate cross-border innovation procurements. As this does not concern all procurers in Germany, the score does not exceed 67%.

#### 4.9.9 One-stop-shop and competence centres

9 countries (AT, BE, DE, ES, FI, LT, NL, NO, SE) have a one-stop-shop where public procurers can access all capacity building and assistance measures for innovation procurement. Typically, this one-

stop-shop is provided by the national competence centre on innovation procurement (AT, DE, ES, FI, NL, SE, LT). In Belgium, the one-stop-shop exists for the moment only in the Flanders (however the national competence centre on innovation procurement is under construction). Based on the various criteria presented below for this sub-indicator, Sweden achieves a full 100% score, while the European average accounts for 23,3%.

Table 60. Evidences and score on one-stop-shop and competence centres in each country									
	AT	BE	DE	ES	FI	LT	NL	NO	SE
Government offers a one-stop-shop for public procurers to the above type capacity building and/or assistance measures	$\checkmark$								
The one-stop-shop is connected not only to the relevant national but also the relevant EU / international initiatives	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$
The one-stop-shop is offered free of charge to public procurers	$\checkmark$								
The one-stop-shop covers all types and aspects of innovation procurement	$\checkmark$								
The one-stop-shop is available/applicable to all public procurers in the country	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
The one-stop-shop offers support to mainstream innovation procurement at large scale across the whole country					$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$
Total score	83%	50%	83%	67%	83%	83%	83%	67%	100%
Source: Author's elaboration									

Examples of one-stop-shops are:

- The PPPI Service Centre in Austria has created a working group on innovation procurement with a national network of competence centres and entities which have different thematic or sectoral focuses (the Austrian Research Promotion Agency - FFG - as general competence centre for PCPs; the Austria Wirtschaftsservice – AWS – as general competence centre for PPIs; the Austrian Association for Transport & Infrastructure - GVS - as sectoral competence centre for Mobility; the Federal Real Estate - Bundesimmobilierngesellschaft - BIG - as sectoral competence centre in Building Construction, and the Austrian Energy Agency, as sectoral competence centre for Energy).
- Finland has recently set up a national Competence Centre for Sustainable and Innovative Public Procurement (KEINO), which has started its operations in April 2018. KEINO is a network-based consortium, whose founding members responsible for the operation and codevelopment are Motiva Ltd, the Association of Finnish Local and Regional Authorities, VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland Ltd, The Finnish Funding Agency for Innovation -Business Finland, the Finnish Environment Institute SYKE, Hansel Ltd, KL-Kuntahankinnat Ltd and the Finnish Innovation Fund Sitra. The Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment has granted funding for the centre's founding and operations for three years, for an estimated total of €6 mn.
- In **Spain**, a structure of inter-connected centres is acting as a competence centre for innovation procurement: the structure is led by MINECO, with a specialised Deputy Directorate General for fostering innovation and supported by two national specialised nodes, namely: (i) Node for health: the Ministry for Health, Social Security and Equality; (ii) Node for dual technologies: the INTA - National Institute for Aerospace Technologies, depending from the Ministry of Defence. The network provides assistance to all public procurers at national level. At local level, MEIC also supports capacity building for municipalities through the network INNPULSO. In addition, Health Ministry has a specialised network for attending IP proposals from the 18 regional health services.

Some of the above competence centres participate also in the EU-funded project "Procure2Innovate -European network of competence centres for innovation procurement" that started in January 2018 to set a collaboration and interchange of best practices. The project is carried out between a group of 5 countries that are reinforcing existing national competence centres (AT, DE, ES, NL, SE) and 5 countries that are creating a national competence centre (EE, EL, IE, IT, PT). In July 2018, MITA was appointed by Lithuania as the national competence centre for innovation procurement and MITA has in the meantime also joined Procure2Innovate. KEINO did as well.

# 4.10 Indicator 10 – Innovation friendly public procurement market

This indicator reflects to what extent the public procurement market of each country encourages the implementation of innovation procurement on a wide scale and results from the combination of two sub-indicators: (I) the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement and (II) the openness of the national procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market.

The score for each sub-indicator relied on the EU Single Market Scoreboard indicators.<sup>67</sup> The most recent 2017 data was used whenever available, otherwise data from 2016 or earlier was used.

The following table presents the scores for the two sub-indicators and the aggregate scores for the indicator "Innovation friendly public procurement market". Based on the evidence collected so far. Belgium, Ireland and France – all 3 with scores above 70% - are the strongest overall performers, while the European average for the indicator does not exceed 52%.

Country	Total Sub-Indicator I (Use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement)	(Openness of the national procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market)	Aggregate Indicator 10
Austria	24%	60%	42%
Belgium	46%	60%	53%
Bulgaria	12%	68%	40%
Croatia	15%	72%	43%
Cyprus	8%	46%	27%
Czech Republic	13%	63%	38%
Denmark	23%	73%	48%
Estonia	19%	78%	49%
Finland	39%	73%	56%
France	45%	64%	55%
Germany	17%	58%	38%
Greece	12%	57%	34%
Hungary	25%	71%	48%
Ireland	39%	78%	59%
Italy	28%	56%	42%
Latvia	13%	71%	42%
Lithuania	9%	78%	44%
Luxembourg	23%	62%	43%
Malta	13%	48%	31%
Netherlands	33%	74%	53%
Norway	34%	81%	57%
Poland	20%	56%	38%
Portugal	15%	51%	33%
Romania	8%	52%	30%
Slovakia	9%	77%	43%
Slovenia	22%	61%	42%

#### Table 61. Indicator 10: scores

67 http://ec.europa.eu/internal\_market/scoreboard/performance\_per\_policy\_area/public\_procurement/index\_en.htm

Country	Total Sub-Indicator I (Use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement)	Total Sub- Indicator II (Openness of the national procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market)	Aggregate Indicator 10
Spain	31%	65%	48%
Sweden	14%	76%	45%
Switzerland*	36%	n/a	n/a
UK	49%	48%	48%
European average	23%	65%	44%

\* EU Single Market Scoreboard data not available for Switzerland.

Source: Author's elaboration

#### The ranking is presented in the graph below.



Source: Author's elaboration

# 4.10.1 Sub-indicator I - Use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement

The European average for sub-indicator I is 44%. This relatively low average is mainly due to the limited use of preliminary market consultations and the modest acceptance of variant offers by public procurers.

The top performing countries on sub-indicator I are the UK, Belgium, and France, which score above 40%, approximately two times higher than the European average (23%).

Country	a. IPR default regime	b. Value for money award criteria	c. Variants	d. Preliminary market consultation	Total sub- indicator I
Austria	25%	67%	4%	2%	24%
Belgium	100%	71%	6%	8%	46%
Bulgaria	25%	21%	0%	0%	12%
Croatia	25%	20%	0%	14%	15%
Cyprus	25%	7%	1%	0%	8%
Czech Republic	25%	23%	0%	5%	13%

#### Table 62. Indicator 1 - sub-indicator I: scores

Denmark	25%	47%	2%	20%	23%
Estonia	50%	24%	2%	0%	19%
Finland	75%	46%	3%	34%	39%
France	75%	84%	19%	3%	45%
Germany	25%	33%	8%	3%	17%
Greece	25%	14%	0%	7%	12%
Hungary	50%	49%	0%	0%	25%
Ireland	50%	83%	8%	16%	39%
Italy	25%	61%	8%	19%	28%
Latvia	25%	27%	0%	0%	13%
Lithuania	25%	10%	0%	3%	9%
Luxembourg	50%	31%	4%	6%	23%
Malta	25%	7%	1%	20%	13%
Netherlands	0%	83%	1%	48%	33%
Norway	25%	78%	2%	29%	34%
Poland	25%	54%	0%	0%	20%
Portugal	25%	35%	1%	1%	15%
Romania	25%	7%	0%	0%	8%
Slovakia	25%	8%	1%	4%	9%
Slovenia	50%	38%	1%	0%	22%
Spain	50%	70%	2%	0%	31%
Sweden	25%	26%	1%	6%	14%
Switzerland	75%	n/a	29%	0%	36%
UK	75%	88%	11%	21%	49%
European average	38%	42%	4%	9%	23%

\* EU Single Market Scoreboard data not available for Switzerland. Source: Author's elaboration

#### a. Use of an IPR regime that leaves IPR ownership by default to the suppliers

11 countries (BE, CH, EE, ES, FI, FR, HU, IE, LU, SI, UK) are promoting a default IPR allocation regime that aims to balance the need to obtain the best value for money for the public procurer, while promoting innovation. This is achieved by leaving IPR ownership rights to suppliers and at the same time granting usage rights to public procurers.

The European average for sub-indicator "IPR default regime" is 38%. This score is mainly due to the fact that 19 countries have not adopted such a default IPR allocation regime yet: they typically have not defined any IPR default allocation regime in public procurement and are silent about the issue of IPR allocation in general. As a result, European countries are still quite far from the situation in Europe's other major trading partners (US, Canada, Australia, Japan, Russia etc.), which already have such a default IPR regime in their public procurement legislation (which would correspond to a score of 100%). Regarding the allocation of IPRs in the public procurement framework, the different countries can be clustered in a number of groups.

#### Table 63 .Country clusters according to IPR regimes

Features of the IPR regime	Country allocation and score
IPR default regime that leaves IPR ownership with suppliers and usage rights with public procurers in public procurement law	BE (100% score), ES (50% score)
IPR default regime that leaves IPR ownership with suppliers and usage rights with public procurers in general terms and conditions for government contracts	CH, FI, FR, UK (75%)
IPR default regime that leaves IPR ownership with suppliers and usage rights with public procurers in official guidelines	EE, HU, IE, LU, SI (50%)

No IPR default regime in public procurement law, guidelines of general terms and conditions for government contracts	AT, CY, CZ, DE, DK, EL, HR, IT, LT, LV, MT, NO, PL, PT, RO, SE, SK (25%)
IPR default regime that keeps all IPR rights with the public procurer	NL (0%)
Source: Author's elaboration	

In total, 11 countries define in their national public procurement system a default IPR regime that allocates ownership rights to the contractors and usage rights to the public procurer:

- 2 countries (BE, ES) define it **in their national public procurement law**. The default IPR allocation regime applies automatically unless otherwise specified in the tender documents / contract. In Belgium, the law assigns both the default rights for the procurer (usage rights) and for the suppliers (ownership rights). In Spain, there is only a default regime for the rights for the procurer (usage rights), thus scoring only half the score (50%) on this sub-indicator. As large procurers have announced to switch to an approach that leaves IPR ownership with suppliers, a discussion has started about updating also the general terms and conditions.
- 4 countries (CH, FI, FR, UK) define it **in general terms and conditions for government contracts**. This default IPR allocation regime applies automatically when the general terms and conditions for government contracts are referred to in the tender documents / contract.
- 5 countries (EE, HU, IE, LU, SI) define this **in national guidelines for public procurement or innovation procurement specifically**. The guidelines recommend public procurers in those countries to apply this type of IPR allocation regime in their tender documents / contract.

In the Netherlands, the public procurement law does not define a default IPR allocation regime, but the general terms and conditions for central government contracts define that all IPR rights remain with the public procurer unless otherwise specified in the tender documents.

In the remaining 18 countries, the national public procurement system (the public procurement law, guidelines and general terms and conditions for government contracts) does not define a default IPR allocation regime. In most of those countries, the public procurement system is silent about the issue of IPR allocation in public procurement. The responsibility to allocate IPRs in public procurements in a way that stimulates innovation and is compliant with applicable IPR/copyright law is left with the public procurer himself. As many public procurers are not well-informed and skilled in IPR issues, this approach is however prone to errors and disputes between public procurers and suppliers.

An interesting good practice example is in **Belgium**, where national legislation on public procurement defines that by default IPR ownership remains with the suppliers in public procurements and the public procurer obtains usage rights, except in exceptional duly justified cases where the public procurer may deviate from this default regime. The exceptional cases are defined in the law as those cases where the supplier should not be allowed to commercialise the results of the public procurement (e.g. because of confidentiality reasons, for instance if the public procurement concerned an internal HR evaluation) or the supplier would not be able to commercialise the results of the public procurement in any case (e.g. because the public procurement concerned the development of a logo/emblem that is characteristic/unique for the public procurer). To promote the default IPR allocation regime, the Belgian government has also issued guidelines that explain how to implement it in practice.

#### b. Use of value for money instead of lowest price award criteria

As reported in the table above, the European average for the use of value for money as award criterion in public procurements published on TED is 42%. This is below the "sufficient" level of 80% as defined in the EU Single Market Scoreboard. The best performing countries are UK (88%), France (84%), Ireland (83%) and Netherlands (83%). These are also the only countries that perform above the sufficient level. All other countries still have to make efforts to increase the use of value for money award criteria instead of awarding public procurement contracts based on lowest price considerations only.
An interesting good practice example is the UK: the Crown Commercial Service published in May 2016 a "Model Service Contract Guide".<sup>68</sup> A chapter of this guide is dedicated to ensure value for money during the public procurement process, providing a "pricing mechanism toolkit" aimed at guaranteeing that maximum value is extracted from public procurements under the contractual arrangements. Similarly, in France, the Practical Guide to Innovative Public Procurement,<sup>69</sup> drafted by the Ministry of Economics and Finance and the Ministry of Economic Regeneration in 2014, recommends the use of tender award criteria for procurements where innovative solutions are expected. It recommends to use lowest price awarding only for recurrent purchases of standard non-innovative products.

#### c. Frequency of allowing the submission of variant offers

The European average in terms of frequency of allowing the submission of variant offers is 4%. 21 countries score below the European average. This result is particularly low and shows the very limited use made of allowing variant offers across Europe.

- The best performing countries are Switzerland (29%), France (19%) and UK (11%). These are the only countries where more than 10% of the call for tenders allowed submission of variant offers.
- In 18 countries (DE, IE, IT, BE, LU, AT, FI, DK, EE, NO, ES, CY, MT, NL, PT. SK, SI, SE) less than 10% of the call for tenders allowed the submission of variant offers.
- In 9 countries (BG, HR, CZ, EL, HU, LV, LT, PL. RO) there was not a single call for tenders allowed the submission of variant offers.

Country	Number of CfTs* published in TED	Number of CfTs* published in TED allowing the use of variant offers	Share of CfTs* published in TED allowing the use of variant offers
Austria	2970	114	4%
Belgium	5036	290	6%
Bulgaria	5096	2	0%
Croatia	1964	0	0%
Cyprus	375	2	1%
Czech Republic	7197	20	0%
Denmark	2643	40	2%
Estonia	1320	24	2%
Finland	4282	110	3%
France	33367	6389	19%
Germany	40334	3255	8%
Greece	2687	8	0%
Hungary	2643	8	0%
Ireland	1441	116	8%
Italy	9879	833	8%
Latvia	1057	0	0%
Lithuania	3324	5	0%
Luxembourg	561	23	4%
Malta	784	7	1%
Netherlands	5537	57	1%
Norway	4492	111	2%
Poland	23999	29	0%

#### Table 64. Frequency of allowing the submission of variant offers in each country

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/677891/MSC\_

Guidance V1.0.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> https://www.economie.gouv.fr/files/files/directions\_services/daj/marches\_publics/conseil\_acheteurs/guides/guidepratique-achat-public-innovant.pdf

Country	Number of CfTs* published in TED	Number of CfTs* published in TED allowing the use of variant offers	Share of CfTs* published in TED allowing the use of variant offers
Portugal	2536	29	1%
Romania	5145	3	0%
Slovakia	1703	9	1%
Slovenia	1528	15	1%
Spain	12437	256	2%
Sweden	8451	48	1%
Switzerland	4242	1229	29%
UK	10296	1118	11%
European average	6911	472	4%

\*CfTs: Calls for Tender Source: Author's elaboration

#### d. Use of preliminary market consultations

As for the previous sub-sub-indicator, the use and the transparent EU wide publication of a preliminary market consultation is a technique that is still rarely used across Europe. On average across Europe only on 9% of the prior information notices and periodic information notices (PINs) published in TED concerned the announcement of a preliminary market consultation.

- The best performing countries are the Netherlands (48%), Finland (34%), Norway (29%) and the UK (21%)
- 21 countries score below the European average (AT, BE, BG, CH, CY, CZ, DE, EE, EL, ES, FR, HU, LT, LU, LV, PL, PT, RO, SE, SI, SK)
- In 7 countries (BG, CH, CY, EE, HU, LV, SI) there was not a single PIN that concerned a preliminary market consultation

This confirms that the use and the transparent EU wide publication of preliminary market consultation to identify innovative solutions that could be delivered by the market is still very limited in a wide number of countries.

Country	Number of PINs published in TED	Number of PINs published in TED envisaging a preliminary market consultation	Share of PINs published in TED envisaging a market consultation
Austria	314	6	1,9%
Belgium	132	11	8,3%
Bulgaria	240	0	0,0%
Switzerland	0	0	0,0%
Cyprus	6	0	0,0%
Czech Republic	515	25	4,9%
Germany	2490	66	2,7%
Denmark	351	69	19,7%
Estonia	31	0	0,0%
Greece	57	4	7,0%
Spain	1510	7	0,5%
Finland	600	204	34,0%
France	404	12	3,0%
Croatia	7	1	14,3%
Hungary	25	0	0,0%

#### Table 65. Number of PIN in each country

Country	Number of PINs published in TED	Number of PINs published in TED envisaging a preliminary market consultation	Share of PINs published in TED envisaging a market consultation
Ireland	154	25	16,2%
Italy	565	107	18,9%
Lithuania	39	1	2,6%
Luxembourg	33	2	6,1%
Latvia	27	0	0,0%
Malta	10	2	20,0%
Netherlands	1036	494	47,7%
Norway	660	193	29,2%
Poland	626	1	0,2%
Portugal	173	1	0,6%
Romania	412	2	0,5%
Sweden	305	19	6,2%
Slovenia	7	0	0,0%
Slovakia	117	5	4,3%
UK	2854	589	20,6%
European average	457	62	9,0%

Source: Author's elaboration

# 4.10.2 Sub-indicator II - Openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

The European average for sub-indicator II is 65%. This is below the 79,4% "sufficient" level calculated based on the sufficient levels of all the relative sub-indicators as defined in the EU Single Market Scoreboard. The top performing country, which is also the only one exceeding the sufficient level, is Norway (81%), closely followed by Estonia, Ireland and Lithuania (78%).

Country	Level of transparency	Level of competition	<b>Total Sub-Indicator II</b>					
Austria	30%	91%	60%					
Belgium	30%	90%	60%					
Bulgaria	66%	71%	68%					
Croatia	69%	75%	72%					
Cyprus	27%	64%	46%					
Czech Republic	55%	72%	63%					
Denmark	56%	91%	73%					
Estonia	69%	87%	78%					
Finland	53%	94%	73%					
France	37%	91%	64%					
Germany	27%	89%	58%					
Greece	32%	83%	57%					
Hungary	63%	79%	71%					
Ireland	62%	95%	78%					
Italy	31%	82%	56%					
Latvia	61%	82%	71%					

Table 66. Indicator 10 - sub-indicator II: scores

Country	Level of transparency	Level of competition	Total Sub-Indicator II
Lithuania	68%	88%	78%
Luxembourg	32%	93%	62%
Malta	3%	93%	48%
Netherlands	58%	89%	74%
Norway	66%	95%	81%
Poland	39%	73%	56%
Portugal	14%	89%	51%
Romania	34%	70%	52%
Slovakia	65%	88%	77%
Slovenia	53%	70%	61%
Spain	46%	85%	65%
Sweden	58%	95%	76%
Switzerland	n/a	n/a	n/a
UK	14%	83%	48%
European average	45%	84%	65%

\* EU Single Market Scoreboard data not available for Switzerland. Source: Author's elaboration

#### Level of competition

The European average in terms of level of competition is 84%. For each country, the criterion was calculated as an average of two different sub-criteria: (i) the percentage of EU tendered procurements with more than one bidder, and (ii) the percentage of EU tendered procurements in which a call for bids was used.

The best performing countries for the sub-indicator "percentage of EU tendered procurements with more than one bidder" are Norway (90%), Sweden (89%) and Finland (89%). However, none of these countries reaches the 90% "satisfactory" level set in the EU Single Market Scoreboard. Regarding the second sub-indicator (i.e. percentage of EU tendered procurements in which a call for bids was used), the best performing countries are Sweden (100%), Luxembourg (100%), Malta (100%) and Ireland (100%). For this sub-indicator, 16 countries (SE, LU, MT, IE, AT, BE, DK, FI, FR, DE, GR, LT, PL, PT, SK, UK) reach the 95% "satisfactory" level.

The best performing countries on the total sub-indicator "level of competition" are Norway, Ireland, Finland, Sweden, Luxembourg and Malta, which are also the only ones above the "satisfactory level" of the EU Single Market Scoreboard.

Country	More than one bidder made an offer	Call for bids was used	Total sub-indicator Competition
Austria	83%	98%	91%
Belgium	81%	98%	90%
Bulgaria	68%	74%	71%
Croatia	56%	94%	75%
Cyprus	58%	70%	64%
Czech Republic	53%	90%	72%
Denmark	86%	95%	91%
Estonia	80%	94%	87%
Finland	89%	98%	94%
France	85%	97%	91%

#### Table 67. Total sub-indicator "level of competition": scores

Country	More than one bidder made an offer	Call for bids was used	Total sub-indicator Competition
Germany	81%	97%	89%
Greece	66%	99%	83%
Hungary	65%	92%	79%
Ireland	89%	100%	95%
Italy	70%	93%	82%
Latvia	73%	91%	82%
Lithuania	79%	97%	88%
Luxembourg	86%	100%	93%
Malta	85%	100%	93%
Netherlands	84%	94%	89%
Norway	90%	100%	95%
Poland	51%	95%	73%
Portugal	78%	99%	89%
Romania	57%	83%	70%
Slovakia	81%	95%	88%
Slovenia	63%	76%	70%
Spain	77%	92%	85%
Sweden	89%	100%	95%
Switzerland	n/a	n/a	n/a
UK	68%	97%	83%
European average	75%	93%	84%

\* EU Single Market Scoreboard data not available for Switzerland.

Source: Author's elaboration

#### Level of transparency

The European average for the sub-indicator "level of transparency" is 45%. For each country, the score was determined by taking into consideration 3 different sub-criteria: (i) the publication rate, namely the value of procurement advertised on TED as a proportion of the national GDP, (ii) the "no missing calls for bids", namely the share of contract awards that have no missing information, and (iii) the "no missing buyer registration numbers", meaning the proportion of procedures where the registration number of the buyer was included.

The low European average score is mainly due to the fact that the "publication rate" in many countries is low. In this respect, the best performing countries are Latvia (9,8%) and Estonia (8,7%). Also Denmark, Poland, Slovakia, Romania and Bulgaria score above the 5% "satisfactory" level set for this indicator in the EU Single Market Scoreboard.

The best performing countries on sub-criterion "no missing call for bids information" are Estonia (99%), Lithuania (98%), Croatia (99%) and Ireland (98%). These countries are the only ones achieving the "satisfactory" 97% level set in the EU Single Market Scoreboard.

Finally, concerning the sub-indicator "no missing buyer registration numbers", the strongest performers are Estonia (100%), Croatia (100%) and Lithuania (100%). Also Norway, Bulgaria, Greece, Hungary and Slovakia are above the 97% "satisfactory" level.

As a result, the best performers on the overall sub-indicator "level of transparency on the EU single market" are Estonia (69%), Croatia (69%), Lithuania (68%), Norway (66%) and Bulgaria (66%), which are the only countries reaching on average the "satisfactory" level calculated by combining all 3 criteria.

	No missing call for No missing Total sub-indicator						
Country	Publication rate	bids information	registration numbers buyer	Transparency			
Austria	2,2%	84%	3%	30%			
Belgium	3,4%	74%	12%	30%			
Bulgaria	6,4%	92%	99%	66%			
Croatia	6,8%	99%	100%	69%			
Cyprus	1,7%	80%	0%	27%			
Czech Republic	3,8%	66%	96%	55%			
Denmark	6,7%	91%	69%	56%			
Estonia	8,7%	99%	100%	69%			
Finland	4,2%	96%	60%	53%			
France	3%	83%	25%	37%			
Germany	1,2%	78%	3%	27%			
Greece	1,8%	85%	99%	32%			
Hungary	4,4%	87%	99%	63%			
Ireland	2%	98%	85%	62%			
Italy	2,5%	87%	3%	31%			
Latvia	9,8%	95%	78%	61%			
Lithuania	4,5%	98%	100%	68%			
Luxembourg	1,5%	93%	0%	32%			
Malta	4,8%	5%	0%	3%			
Netherlands	2,4%	81%	92%	58%			
Norway	4%*	94%	99%	66%			
Poland	6,4%	92%	18%	39%			
Portugal	1,4%	33%	9%	14%			
Romania	5,7%	5%	0%	34%			
Slovakia	5,6%	91%	99%	65%			
Slovenia	4,3%	81%	73%	53%			
Spain	1,6%	81%	55%	46%			
Sweden	4,9%	93%	77%	58%			
Switzerland	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a			
UK	4,9%	34%	2%	14%			
European average	4%	84%	48%	45%			

\* Due to lack of data from the EU single market scoreboard, for Norway the average value for the publication rate sub-indicator is used.

Source: Author's elaboration

An interesting example of maximising transparency in public procurement is Greece, where the National System of e-Public Procurement-ESHDHS was updated in 2017. In addition to the tenders already available in the past, today the new portal also integrates all the tenders published in the Central e-Registry of Public Procurement (KHDMHS). On this national portal (ESHDHS) it is compulsory to publish all public procurements above &60.000. This includes not only the publication of prior information notices, contract notices and contract award notices but also the publication of all procurement stages (including contracts and payment orders). This measure has significantly helped companies identify interesting public procurement opportunities and enhanced the level of transparency.

# 5 Methodological approach for benchmarking the amount of PPI investments across Europe

This chapter describes the methodological approach adopted to estimate the amount of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) in each country, and the share of those PPI investments that are dedicated to the adoption of ICT-based solutions. The chapter consists of the following sections:

- Section 5.1, presenting the objectives of the benchmarking of PPI investments and outlining the key outputs produced;
- Section 5.2, illustrating the sources of data used for the identification of PPIs and their characteristics;
- Section 5.3, describing the process of identification of PPIs through the machine learning tool;
- Section 5.4, providing the definitions adopted by the study, and clarifying how these definitions impacted on the identification of PPIs and the calculation of the different breakdowns;
- Section 5.5, showing the methodology developed to estimate missing values from calls for tenders;
- Section 5.6, presenting the assumptions and extrapolations carried out to calculate PPI;
- Section 5.7, explaining how the total amount of public procurement was estimated;
- Section 5.8, explaining main limitations.

# **5.1 Objectives and outputs**

A key objective of the study is to measure the **amount of public procurement spent on innovative solutions (PPI)** in 30 countries around Europe (27 Member States, UK, Norway and Switzerland). Each of the country profiles accompanying this report (see annex I) includes a stand-alone section that details the following amounts and breakdowns:

- The amount of PPI investment, its share out of total public procurement and its breakdown
  - Between transformative and incremental innovations;
  - Across different domains of public sector activity;<sup>70</sup>
  - Between explicit and implicit PPI;
  - Between published and unpublished PPI;
  - Across different levels of public sector activity (local, regional, national).
- The **amount of PPI investment dedicated to ICT-based solutions**, its share out of the total amount of total public procurement and its breakdown

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> The country datasets also include an analysis of key PPI projects and key PPI procurers in each sector, which is however not published in the country profiles for confidentiality reasons.

- o Between transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations;
- Across different ICT sub-sectors;
- Across different domains of public sector activity;
- Across different levels of public sector activity (local, regional, national).

Since no comparable data were available at national level, the Study team developed an approach that enables to measure the amount of PPI expenditure in a comparable way across all 30 analysed countries. In a view to benchmark the performance of the different countries, the Study team developed a ranking system. Differently from the ranking adopted in the benchmarking of policy frameworks on innovation procurement (see Section 2.6 above), the ranking system for the benchmarking of PPI investments did not rely on the calculation of an S-score. To the contrary, countries were ranked and grouped into clusters based on their levels of attainment of so-called "ambition levels", as detailed in the following table.

#### Table 69. Ambition levels

Ambition indicator	Ambition level	Description
PPI investments out of total public procurement investments	17%	A healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI procurement – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards*.
ICT-based PPI investments out of total public procurement investments	10%	For a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT- based solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds (~60%) of total PPI or 10% of total public procurement (60% of 17% PPI ambition level) should be devoted to innovative ICT-based solutions.**

\* Source: Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on the Bell innovation curve

\*\* Source: ICTs generate over 60% of total factor productivity in leading economies that fully capitalise on the adoption of ICTs to generate economic growth, based EU KLEMS and JRC PREDICT

The values obtained have been used to cluster the countries into **6 groups**, which correspond to different performance levels of PPI investment (or ICT-based PPI investments). A description of the groups is provided in the following table.

#### Table 70. Performance clusters

Level of attainment	Cluster	Description
x < 25% of ambition	Bottom performers	PPI (or ICT-based PPI) investment is very limited and it represents a very minor share of public procurement that is sporadic if not absent from large parts of public sector activity.
25% < x < 35% of ambition	Low performers	PPI (or ICT-based PPI) investment is at a very early development stage, with a limited diffusion across the country.
35% < x < 45% of ambition	Modest performers	PPI (or ICT-based PPI) investment represents a discrete part of public procurement. Countries in this cluster are just above the ambition level.
45% < x < 55% of ambition	Moderate performers	PPI (or ICT-based PPI) investment is structured and reasonably developed. While considerable room for improvement remains, these countries are almost halfway of reaching the ambition levels.
55% < x < 65% of ambition	Good performers	PPI (or ICT-based PPI) investment is performed regularly. While significant room for improvement remains, these countries are at a level that is just above halfway the ambition level.
65% < x of ambition	Strong performers	PPI (or ICT-based PPI) investment accounts for a significant share of total public procurement in the country. While there is still room for improvement, these countries are within reasonable distance of reaching the ambition level.

Source: Author's elaboration

# 5.2 Sources and characteristics of data

The study aims to identify PPI procurements both above the EU thresholds and below the EU threshold. Above EU threshold procurements are published in the EU TED Portal. As regulated in the EU public procurement directives and presented in the following table,<sup>71</sup> EU thresholds (excluding VAT) vary depending on the type of contracting authority/entity and the type of contract.

#### Table 71. EU thresholds

	Works,		Services		
	subsidised works and concessions		Social and specific services that are listed in Annex to the directive	Subsidised services linked to a works contract	All other services and design contests
Central government authorities as per Directive 2014/24/EU	€5,548,000	€144,000	€750,000	€221,000	€144,000
Central government authorities as per Directive 2014/24/EU	€5,548,000	€144,000 €221,000	€750,000	€221,000	€144,000
Sub-central contracting authorities as per Directive 2014/24/EU	€5,548,000	€221,000	€750,000	€221,000	
All contracting authorities and contracting entities that are operating utilities services as per Directive 2014/25/EU	€5,548,000	€443,000	€1,000,000	€443,00	00
All contracting authorities and contracting entities as per Directive 2009/81/EC on defence and security	€5,548,000	€443,000		€443,000	
All contracting authorities and contracting entities awarding concession contracts as per Directive 2014/23/EU			€5,548,000		

Source: Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2017/2365 of 18 December 2017 amending Directive 2014/24/EU in respect of the application thresholds for the procedures for the award of contracts. All EU thresholds for public procurement directives are also available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/growth/single-market/public-procurement/rules-implementation/thresholds\_en</u>

For below EU thresholds procurements, each country has its own national procurement rules, including one or more thresholds. Above the national thresholds public procurers are required to publish calls for tenders nationally (typically on a national procurement portal and/or in a national official journal/gazette). Conversely, below the national thresholds public procurers are typically not required to publish a call for tenders and may follow simpler procedures such as direct awards.

The table below illustrates the different national thresholds below which there is no obligation for public procurers to publish calls for tender nationally. The coverage of data sources used for this study below such thresholds can be assumed to be very limited.

 $<sup>^{71}</sup>$  Directives 2014/24/EU (for the classical sector, which covers public authorities) and 2014/25/EU (for public procurers in the water, energy, transport and postal services sector), Directive 2009/81/EC (for defence and security contracts not covered by the previous directives) and Directive 2014/23/EU (for concessions).

#### Table 72. National thresholds

Country	National thresholds
AT	Contracts worth less than €100.000 are allowed to be awarded with a direct award procedure without prior notification and may for this reason not be published in the central electronic portal. <sup>72</sup>
BE	Prior publication of a contract notice is not mandatory for contracts with a value up to €144.000 (€221.000 for research and development services, placement services and transport support services and €443.000 in the utilities sector). According to Belgian public procurement experts, smaller public procurers – rather than including a link to the entire contract notice documents – tend to solely provide their email address, only to provide the full documentation to those companies that request it.
BG	Bulgaria's national procurement law has various levels of sub-thresholds below the EU thresholds. Direct awarding is allowed for contracts worth less than €30.600 for works, €10.200 for goods and services and €33.600 for design contests. Any procedures can be used for contracts worth more than €134.900 for works and €33.600 for goods, services and design contests, with a possibility of simplifications for contracts below €1.347.000 for works, €129.700 for goods, services and design contests and €391.160 for telecommunications services. <sup>73</sup>
СН	For goods and services below €200.000 and for works below €8 M, simplified procedures are allowed. In addition, below €133.000 (for works and services) and €45.000 (for goods) public procurers may also directly award contracts. <sup>74</sup>
СҮ	According to national rules, all procurements above €2.000 are bound to be published in the central electronic portal, and other forms of publication – such as the national gazette – cannot substitute it. <sup>75</sup>
CZ	While public procurements below EU-thresholds tend to be subject to the same publication requirements as procurements above EU-thresholds, below €75.000 the so-called 'small contracts' are exempted from standard procurement regulation. <sup>76</sup>
DE	Below EU-thresholds, the standard national procurement rules do not apply. To the contrary, federal and local rules are observed, resulting in a variety of different publication requirements.
DK	A 500.000 DKR (approximately €70.000) threshold applies for goods and services, below which publication is not mandatory.
EE	Below the national threshold ( $\mathfrak{C}_{30.000}$ for services/goods, $\mathfrak{C}_{60.000}$ for works) there is no obligation for the public procurer to publish notices in the central electronic portal. There may be procurements below the threshold (published voluntarily).
EL	For contracts below €20.000 public procurers may proceed to direct award. From €20.001 to €60.000 brief informal tendering procurers can be used, which do not require publication in a central electronic portal. <sup>77</sup>
ES	So-called minor contracts – worth below €15.000 for goods and services and below €40.000 for works – are allowed to be awarded directly, without prior publication. <sup>78</sup>
FI	Below the national threshold (€60.000 for services/goods, €150.000 for works, €500.000 for concessions) there is no obligation for the public procurer to publish tenders in the central electronic portal. Certain cities (e.g. Helsinki) collect all tenders of all sizes.
FR	Below the national threshold ( $\bigcirc$ 90.000) there is no obligation for the public procurer to publish notices in the central electronic portal. Although some may do it all the same – be it for from force of habit or intentionally to reach a wider audience of tenderers – experts estimate only a very minor share of notices below $\bigcirc$ 90.000 to be published. As in Belgium, it is also noted that many public procurers do not usually publish a link to the full procurement documentation.
HR	Procurements for goods and services below HRK 200.000 (approximately €27.000) and for works below HRK 500.000 (approx. €67.000) are not mandated to be put up for tender according to standard procedures. <sup>79</sup>
HU	In Hungary, a variety of national thresholds apply, below which standard procurement rules do not apply and data and statistics are not available. For procurements operating in all sectors excluding water, energy, transport and postal services, the thresholds are HUF 15 million for goods and services (approx. €48.000), and HUF 25 million for works (approx. €80.000). <sup>80</sup>
IE	Below the national threshold (€25.000 for goods and services, and €50.000 for works and concessions) public procurers are not required to advertise tenders in the central electronic portal. While they are nonetheless encouraged to do so if the anticipated response would not be disproportionate, it is allowed to send specifications via fax or email directly to suppliers or service providers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> European University Association (2018), A comparative analysis of public procurement frameworks and practices in universities in Portugal and selected EU member states. Hereinafter: EUA (2018).

<sup>73</sup> Adapted from Study on administrative capacity in the EU - Bulgaria Country profile, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/regional policy/sources/policy/how/improving-investment/public-

procurement/study/country\_profile/bg.pdf 74 Based on Federal Act on Public Procurement of 16 December 1994 and the corresponding Ordinance on Public Procurement. 75 Cyprus Procurement Monitoring Report - In view of the Member States' reporting process under the Directives 2014/23/EU, 2014/24/EU and 2014/25/EU. Available at: https://bit.ly/2VMbBrs

<sup>76</sup> Public Procurement Act and its amendments (Act No. 137/2006 Coll.) and the Concession Act (Act No. 139/2006 Coll.). 77 Law 4412/2016 on Public works, supplies and services contracts.

<sup>78</sup> EUA (2018).

<sup>79</sup> Croatia Procurement Monitoring Report - In view of the Member States' reporting process under the Directives 2014/23/EU, 2014/24/EU and 2014/25/EU. Available at: <u>https://bit.ly/2VMbBrs</u> <sup>80</sup> Hungary Procurement Monitoring Report - In view of the Member States' reporting process under the Directives

<sup>2014/23/</sup>EU, 2014/24/EU and 2014/25/EU. Available at: https://bit.ly/2VMbBrs

Country	National thresholds
IT	Depending on the type of procurement (goods/services/works) and on the value, a variety of procedures (direct purchasing, negotiated procedure, request of quotations, etc.) are envisaged, each with specific publication requirements, both in the public procurers' websites and in the national anti-corruption authority's portal.
LT	Below €10.000 there is no obligation for the public procurer to publish tenders in the central electronic portal. For tenders above €10.000 but below €58.000 (for good and services) or €145.000 (for works) limited information is available (see granularity table).
LU	All tenders below the EU threshold are included in the central electronic portal.
LV	Latvia has two levels of national thresholds below the EU thresholds. First, direct procurement is allowed for small value contracts of less than €4.000 for goods and services and €14.000 for works. Second, simplified procedures can be used for contracts between €4.000 and €42.000 for goods and services and €14.000 and €170.000 for works. Above this second level, the same reporting procedures and rules apply as above the EU thresholds, except for shorter time limits.
MT	A €5.000 national threshold applies, below which no data is available. Between €5.000 and the EU thresholds, public procurers have the obligation to publish tenders in the central electronic portal.
NL	Publication of notices below EU thresholds are orientated by the non-binding principle of proportionality, as described by the Dutch Public Procurement Expertise Centre in one of its publications. The proportionality principles aim at tailoring each procurement procedures to the size of the contract and to the needs of the public procurer, de facto leaving the decision on whether to publish the contract notice onto the public procure itself.
NO	The national thresholds – below which publication of tenders is not compulsory - were increased in 2017 to NOK 1.1 million (€116.500) for procurements in general, and to NOK 6.3 million (€667.500) for health and social services contracts. Difi (Agency for Public Management and eGovernment) estimated 80% of tenders to be below the NOK 1.1 million threshold.
PL	Reportedly, in procurement proceedings below the EU thresholds, non-competitive procedures of direct-award contract are used in approximately 15% of the times. Moreover, standard procurement rules do not apply to contracts below $\&$ 30.000. <sup>81</sup>
РТ	For works below €30.000 and goods and services below €20.000 direct ward is allowed. In addition, under specific conditions that make prior consultation impossible – such as specific urgent scenarios – direct award may also be adopted irrespective of contract value. <sup>82</sup>
RO	Below €10.000 for goods and services and below €100.000 for works, public procurers are not mandated to publish notices in the central electronic portal. <sup>83</sup>
SE	Below the EU thresholds public procurers may use a simplified or a selection procedure, which allows to negotiate directly with tenderers, with no mandatory publication. For this reason, tender data below EU thresholds are estimated to be scarce.
SI	Public procurements below €20.000 (for goods, services and design contests), and below €40.000 (for works) are exempted from standard reporting rules. A number of pieces of information – such as an indication of the subject-matter and the estimated value – are nonetheless required to be reported in a national procurement portal, if they are above €10.000. <sup>84</sup>
SK	So-called low value contracts are not required to comply with reporting requirements and no data are collected ant central level. Low value contracts are below the €15.000 threshold for goods, services and works commonly available on the market with the exception of food. For good, services and works that are not commonly available on the market – and for goods of food – a variety of other thresholds apply, ranging from €40.000 to €200.000.
UK	In the UK there is no specific law or regulation covering below the threshold procurement other than European principles and certain requirements for local authorities.

Source: Author's elaboration

All countries apply national thresholds below which publication of calls for tenders is not compulsory. Such tenders are typically not published in national or European level tender databases. As mentioned above, below such national thresholds the study's coverage is very limited. In certain countries such threshold is significantly low (e.g. Cyprus, Latvia Malta with a  $\pounds$ 2.000 respectively  $\pounds$ 4.000 and  $\pounds$ 5.000 national threshold), allowing to consider it highly unlikely that any PPIs are left out. In other countries, however, the threshold is set at a considerably higher level (e.g. Belgium with a  $\pounds$ 144.000 national threshold), meaning that it is more likely that some PPIs has not been captured by the study. The coverage of procurements under such national thresholds is very limited in this study.

The following sections provide a detailed overview of the information collected, including in particular:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> Act of 29 January 2004, Public Procurement Law. For statistics on the use of different procurement procedures, see: <u>https://www.lexology.com/gtdt/tool/workareas/report/public-procurement/chapter/poland</u> <sup>82</sup> EUA (2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Romania Procurement Monitoring Report - In view of the Member States' reporting process under the Directives 2014/23/EU, 2014/24/EU and 2014/25/EU. Available at: <u>https://bit.ly/2VMbBrs</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Slovenia Procurement Monitoring Report - In view of the Member States' reporting process under the Directives 2014/23/EU, 2014/24/EU and 2014/25/EU. Available at: <u>https://bit.ly/2VMbBrs</u>

- The different **data sources** for above and below-thresholds procurements, in all countries falling within the scope of the study (section 5.2.1).
- The different types of calls for tenders analysed by the study (section 5.2.2)
- For each data source, the **coverage of the metadata** included, namely the variables that are provided as a separate data field (section 5.2.3)
- For each data source, the degree of **availability of the metadata** (section 5.2.4)
- The **format** of the data collected (section 5.2.5)

## 5.2.1 Data Sources

For all countries falling within the scope of the study, **calls for tender above the EU thresholds** were retrieved from the **EU TED portal**.

Since there is no obligation to publish calls for tenders below EU-thresholds in the TED portal, a variety of **national data sources** were used to collect **calls for tenders below EU-thresholds**. The private data provider Tender Service Group allowed to cover below-thresholds notices for 15 countries (Austria, Bulgaria, Croatia, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Switzerland). For the remaining 15 countries (Belgium, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Netherlands, Norway, Sweden, UK) a national data source was identified<sup>85</sup>.

The table below illustrates the data provider selected in each country to collect calls for tenders for below EU-thresholds procurements.

Country	Public/private	Data provider, name of database
AT	Private	Tender Service Group
BE	Public	Service public fédéral – Stratégie et Appui, e-Procurement Platform
BG	Private	Tender Service Group
СН	Private	Tender Service Group
СҮ	Private	Tender Service Group
CZ	Private	Tender Service Group
DE	Private	Tender Service Group
DK	Private	UdbudsVagten, Udbud og opgaver
EE	Public	Public procurement and state aid department, Riigihangete register
EL	Private	Tender Service Group
ES	Private	Tender Service Group
FI	Private	Credita, Julkisethankinnat
FR	Public	DILA, Bullettin officiel des annonces des marchés publics (BOAMP)

Table 73. Public and private data sources for below thresholds calls for tenders

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> In these 15 countries, public data sources were usually used. However, in certain cases – such as in those countries where notices are published in multiple decentralised e-procurement portals – private data providers appeared to be a more cost-effective solution, as they aggregate data in one single directory. For instance, this was the case in the United Kingdom, where on the one hand four different public portals are in use (Contract Finder for England, Sell2Wales for Wales, eSourcing NI for Northern Ireland, and Public Contracts for Scotland), while a single private data provider allowed to access all calls for tenders in one place. In addition, where notices in public portals lacked important metadata or were not accessible in an easy to use way or format (see section 5.2.3), private data providers were used when they offered more useful information in an easier way/format.

#### The Strategic Use of Public Procurement for Innovation in the Digital Economy - SMART 2016/0040

Country	Public/private	Data provider, name of database					
HR	Private	Tender Service Group					
HU	Private	Tender Service Group					
IE	Private	Proactis Holdings Plc, Tenderdirect					
IT	Public	NAC, Sistema Informativo Monitoraggio Gare (SIMOG)					
LT	Public	blic Procurement Office, Open VPN data					
LU	Public	Department of Public Works, Portail des marchés publics					
LV	Public	Procurement Monitoring Bureau, Open Public Administration Data Service					
МТ	Public	Department of Contracts, e-PPS database					
NL	Public	PIANOo, TenderNed					
NO	Public	Difi, Doffin					
PL	Private	Tender Service Group					
РТ	Private	Tender Service Group					
RO	Private	Tender Service Group					
SE	Private	Visma, Opic					
SI	Private	Tender Service Group					
SK	Private	Tender Service Group					
UK	Private	Proactis Holdings Plc., Tenderdirect					

Source: Author's elaboration

# 5.2.2 Types of calls for tenders used for the study

For procurements above the EU-thresholds, calls for tender were retrieved from the TED database. The table below presents the types of notices taken into account by the study, for estimating both the amount of published explicit PPI investment and the total amount of published public procurement.<sup>86</sup>

#### Table 74. Type of notices used for the Study

Classical Directive 2014/24/EU	Utilities Directive 2014/25/EU	Defence and security Directive 2009/81/EC	Concessions Directive 2014/23/EU
1 Prior Information Notice (when used as call for competition)	4 Periodic Indicative Notice (when used as call for competition)	16 Prior Information Notice 17 Contract Notice	23 Call for Competition / Contract Notice for social and other specific services
2 Contract Notice 12 Design Contest Notice 21 Call for Competition / Contract Notice for social and other specific services	5 Contract Notice 7 Qualification System Notice 12 Design Contest Notice 22 Call for Competition / Contract Notice for social and other specific services		24 Concession Notice

Source: Author's elaboration based on SIMAP

For procurements below the EU-thresholds, all the available types of notices were retrieved (different names are used by different providers).

## 5.2.3 Coverage of metadata

The choice of the selected databases was also linked to the availability of metadata. Overall, the variables collected for the purpose of this study are listed in the table below. The key variables are the ones

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> Due to the fact that notices 12, 15, 23, and 24 do not allow to distinguish the sector (classical, utilities or defence), they were not used for the calculation of TED-published procurement in the classical, utilities and defence sectors.

identified as essential to estimate the total amount of PPI investment and the portion of it that is dedicated to ICT based solutions, whereas those labelled as secondary variables are required to calculate the various breakdowns of these total amounts.

	#	Metadata	Metadata description					
	1	Tender title	Title of the public procurement					
ata	2	Tender description	Description of the public procurer's request					
etada	3	Estimated value	For contract notices, a preliminary estimate of the contract value					
y me	4	Currency	Currency of the estimated value					
Ke	5	CPV codes	Common Procurement Vocabulary codes					
	6	Link to documents	Link to the full tender documentation					
	7	Activity	Field of activity of the public procurer <sup>87</sup>					
	8	Tender ID	Code to univocally identify each tender					
ata	9	Country ISO	Two-digit country code to univocally identify each country					
etad	10	Name of procurer	Name of the entity responsible for the procurement					
y me	11	Type of procurer	Classification of the entity responsible for the procurement <sup>88</sup>					
ndaı	12	Type of contract	Services / Goods / Works					
Seco	13	Award criteria	Adopted principles for the adjudication of the tender					
	14	Publication date	Date of publication of the notice					
	15	ID type	The legal basis under which the notice was published, which can be used as a proxy for the sector of activity (classical, utilities, defence)					

#### Table 75. Coverage of metadata

Source: Author's elaboration

With regard to the EU TED portal, all relevant variables are available. The picture is more complex for national data sources that were used to collect **calls for tender below EU-thresholds**, because the coverage is significantly more heterogeneous and fragmented. As far as Tender Service is concerned, it was possible to retrieve a very similar set of metadata, with only minor discrepancies. More specifically, all 6 key variables and 4 out of 9 secondary metadata are available. The other data sources that were used present relevant differences across countries. In certain countries the selected sources offer a nearly complete coverage of metadata (e.g. the Stratégie et Appui e-Procurement Platform in Belgium and the Riigihangete register in Estonia), in other countries the identified data sources are not able to cover even key variables, such as contract values and links to tender documents (e.g. the SIMOG in Italy and the e-PPS database in Malta). An overview of the metadata coverage is provided in the table below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> Closed field in TED, with 21 different sectors. See the following section on definitions for a detailed analysis of the 21 sectors and how they fit into the 10 sectors of public procurement of the EU directives.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Closed field in TED, with the following 8 different types of authority: Ministry or any other national or federal authority;
 <sup>89</sup> Regional or local authority; Utilities entity; European Institution/ Agency or International Organisation; Body governed by public law; National or federal Agency/ Office; Regional or local Agency/ Office; Other.

			Above thresholds							Bel	ow th	resh	olds						
	#	Metadata	TED (all)	Tender Service (1 <sup>st</sup> 15)	e-Proc Platform (BE)	Udbud og opgaver (DK)	Riigihangete register (EE)	Julkisethankinnat (FI)	BOAMP (FR)	Tenderdirect (IE)	(II) SIMOG (II)	<b>Open PA Data Service (LV)</b>	Open VPN data (LT)	Portail marchés publics (LU)	e-PPS database (MT)	TenderNed (NL)	Doffin (NO)	Opic (SE)	Tenderdirect (UK)
	1	Title	$\oslash$	$\oslash$	$\oslash$	$\oslash$	$\oslash$	$\oslash$	$\oslash$	$\oslash$	$\oslash$	$\oslash$	$\oslash$	$\oslash$	$\oslash$	$\oslash$	$\oslash$	$\oslash$	$\oslash$
ata	2	Description	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\oslash$	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$
tad	3	Value	$\odot$	$\oslash$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$		$\odot$	$\odot$	$\oslash$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$
y me	4	Currency	$\odot$	$\oslash$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$		$\odot$	$\odot$	$\oslash$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$
Ke	5	CPV	$\odot$	$\oslash$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\oslash$	$\oslash$	$\oslash$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$
	6	Link	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$		$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\oslash$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$
	7	Activity domain	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\oslash$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$
	8	ID	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$
lata	9	ISO	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\oslash$	$\odot$
netao	10	Procurer name	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\otimes$
u n	11	Procurer type	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\otimes$
onda	12	Contract type	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\odot$
Sect	13	Award criteria	$\oslash$	$\otimes$	$\oslash$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\oslash$	$\oslash$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\odot$
	14	Pub. date	$\oslash$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\oslash$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$\oslash$	$\oslash$	$\oslash$	$\odot$	$\oslash$	$\otimes$	$\odot$
	15	ID type	$\odot$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	$\otimes$

#### Table 76. Coverage of metadata in calls for tenders

Legend:  $\bigcirc$  = covered;  $\bigcirc$  = not covered;  $\bigcirc$  = embedded in Description variable. Source: Author's elaboration

# 5.2.4 Availability of metadata

The fact that a data source covers a certain piece of metadata does not always translate in a full availability of such metadata. In other words, a data source may be able to provide a dataset with a separate field for a certain piece of information, but such field may happen to be empty or misreported. This is mainly due to the fact that calls for tenders are filled in in the first place by public procurers themselves, who may omit or misreport certain details. Some data providers also use a different terminology for certain metadata fields than the terminology used in the TED. For instance, the e-Procurement Platform in Belgium maps the activity domain of the public procurer according to a classification which is slightly different from the one used in the TED (see section 5.4.3).

The following table presents the differences in the availability of metadata that the study observed in the datasets that were provided by the different data sources, in each country.

		Title	Descripti on	Value	Currency	CPV	Link	Activity	ISO	ID	Procurer name	Procurer type	Contract type	Award criteria	Pub. date
AT	TED	100%	100%	11%	11%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%
AI	TS	100%	100%	3%	3%	97%	37%		100%	100%	100%				100%
DE	TED	100%	100%	28%	28%	99%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%
BE	Nat.	100%	100%	12%	12%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	74%	100%
DC	TED	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%
ЪG	TS	100%	100%	90%	90%	100%	4%		100%	100%	99%				100%
сц	TED	100%	100%	0%	0%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%
Сп	TS	100%	100%	1%	1%	99%	0%		100%	100%	99%				100%
CV	TED	100%	100%	92%	92%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%
CI	TS	100%	100%	78%	78%	100%	43%		100%	100%	100%				100%
07	TED	100%	100%	91%	91%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%
CZ	TS	100%	100%	29%	29%	100%	44%		100%	100%	100%				100%
DE	TED	100%	100%	19%	19%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%
DE	TS	100%	100%	0%	0%	52%	27%		100%	100%	99%				100%
DK	TED	100%	100%	60%	60%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%
	Nat.	100%	100%	12%	12%	98%	60%	69%	100%	98%	98%	85%	98%	98%	98%
EE	TED	100%	100%	40%	40%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%
EE	Nat.	100%	97%	83%	83%	100%		100%	100%	100%	100%	79%	100%	100%	100%
EI	TED	100%	100%	94%	94%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%
EL	TS	100%	100%	44%	44%	100%	42%		100%	100%	100%				100%
FC	TED	100%	100%	93%	93%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	98%	100%	100%
ES	TS	100%	100%	59%	59%	74%	34%		100%	100%	99%				100%
FI	TED	100%	100%	41%	41%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%
1.1	Nat.	100%	98%	2%	2%	100%	59%		100%	100%	100%		100%		100%
FD	TED	100%	100%	31%	31%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%
гĸ	Nat.	100%	99%	8%	8%	79%	24%		100%	100%	100%		100%		100%
пр	TED	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%
шк	TS	100%	100%	67%	67%	72%	47%		100%	100%	100%				100%
UII	TED	100%	100%	15%	15%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	98%	100%	100%
110	TS	100%	97%	4%	4%	98%	30%		100%	100%	98%				100%
IF	TED	100%	100%	82%	82%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%
IL	Nat.	100%	100%			42%	100%		100%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%	100%
IT	TED	100%	100%	86%	86%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	98%	100%	100%
11	Nat.	100%		100%	100%	100%		100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%		100%
LT	TED	100%	100%	21%	21%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%

Table 77. Percentage of available metadata

		Title	Descripti on	Value	Currency	CPV	Link	Activity	ISO	ID	Procurer name	Procurer type	Contract type	Award criteria	Pub. date
	Nat.	100%	50%	15%	14%	100%	100%	18%	100%	100%	100%	42%	93%	6%	99%
TTT	TED	100%	100%	23%	23%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	98%	100%	100%
LU	Nat.	100%	100%			72%	100%		100%	100%	100%		100%		100%
IV	TED	100%	100%	31%	31%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%
LV	Nat.	100%		7%	7%	100%			100%	100%	100%		100%	71%	100%
МТ	TED	100%	100%	9%	9%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	98%	100%	100%
1/1 1	Nat.	100%		80%	80%	100%			100%	100%			100%	100%	100%
NI	TED	100%	100%	20%	20%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	98%	100%	100%
INL	Nat.	100%	100%	16%	16%	100%		91%	100%	100%	100%	94%	100%	62%	100%
NO	TED	100%	100%	52%	52%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%
	Nat.	99%	89%	26%	25%	0%	0%		0%	0%	100%				100%
דע	TED	100%	100%	27%	27%	100%	100%	98%	100%	100%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%
гL	TS	100%	100%	9%	9%	92%	41%		100%	100%	100%				100%
DT	TED	100%	100%	81%	81%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%
r I	TS	100%	100%	68%	68%	90%	0%		100%	100%	99%				100%
PO	TED	100%	100%	66%	66%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%
KU	TS	100%	100%	53%	53%	100%	48%		100%	100%	100%				100%
<b>SE</b>	TED	100%	100%	21%	21%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%
SE	Nat.	100%	100%	8%	8%	100%	100%	0%	100%	100%	100%	0%	0%	100%	100%
CT.	TED	100%	100%	20%	20%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%
51	TS	100%	100%	0%	0%	100%	50%		100%	100%	100%				100%
CV.	TED	100%	100%	99%	99%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%
SK	TS	100%	96%	44%	44%	98%	25%		100%	100%	100%				100%
IIV	TED	100%	100%	67%	67%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%	100%	100%	99%	100%	100%
UK	Nat.	100%	100%			48%	100%		100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%

Legend: TS = Tender Service; Nat. = country-specific national source; Grey = not covered by the data source. Source: Author's elaboration Significant metadata gaps emerged in particular for two variables, namely procurement values and links to tender documentation. With regard to the latter, the issue of availability appeared to be of particular complexity. Even if links were provided, they frequently happened to be expired or to redirect to generic procurement portals, rather than to specific procurement documentation. As a result, the actual number of directly accessible procurement documents was significantly lower than the number of links available.

In the context of this study, missing metadata of identified PPIs were filled in manually. This was carried out, first and foremost, by retrieving the full notice and the complete documentation. If this did not bear results, missing fields were added by the Study team. For instance, if the type of procurement (good/services/works) was missing, the Study team would review the description and determine the type of procurement autonomously. Missing values were estimated with a dedicated methodology, presented in the following sections. All metadata from national data sources had to be harmonised with TED, meaning that they had to be adapted in order to match the type of values that could be included in each field.

# 5.2.5 Available data formats

Given the high number of calls for tenders and the even higher number of metadata to be assessed for each call for tenders, the format of data was essential to allow for the automatic grabbing and incorporation of metadata in the machine learning tool (see following section for a detailed description of the functioning of the machine learning tool that was used for the study).<sup>89</sup>

The following table provides an overview of the various formats used by different sources.

Country	Public/ private	Data source, name of database	Format
All countries	Public	TED	CSV, as published online
AT, BG, CH, CY, CZ, DE, EL, ES HR, HU, PL, PT, RO, SI, SK	Private	Tender Service Group	CSV, following the technical specifications requested
BE	Public	Service public fédéral – Stratégie et Appui, e-Procurement Platform	CSV and XLS, partially following the technical specifications requested
DK	Private	UdbudsVagten, Udbud og opgaver	CSV, following the technical specifications requested
EE	Public	Public procurement and state aid department, Riigihangete register	CSV, partially following the technical specifications requested
FI	Private	Credita, Julkisethankinnat	XML, as internally available
FR	Public	DILA, Bullettin officiel des annonces des marchés publics (BOAMP)	XML, as published online
IE	Private	Proactis, Tenderdirect	CSV and XLS, following the technical specifications requested
IT	Public	ANAC, Sistema Informativo Monitoraggio Gare (SIMOG)	CSV and XLS, as available upon request to the relevant authority
LV	Public	Procurement Monitoring Bureau, Open Public Administration Data Service	CSV, partially matching the technical specifications requested
LT	Public	Public Procurement Office, Open VPN data	CSV, following the technical specifications requested
LU	Public	Department of Public Works, Portail des marchés publics	XML, as published online
MT	Public	Department of Contracts, e-PPS database	CSV and XLS, as available upon request to the relevant authority
NL	Public	PIANOo, TenderNed	XLS, as published online
NO	Public	Difi, Doffin	CSV, as available upon request to the relevant authority

#### Table 78. Data formats

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> The Study team enquired with the various data providers about the available data formats of their respective databases. In particular, a list of technical specifications – describing the machine learning tool's preferred format – was prepared and shared to verify if the data providers would be able to both offer the required data and to provide it in a suitable format. As expected, the situation was once again somewhat diverse across countries, especially as far as public sources are concerned.

Country	Public/ private	Data source, name of database	Format
SE	Private	Visma, Opic	CSV, following the technical specifications requested
UK	Private	Proactis, Tenderdirect	CSV and XLS, following the technical specifications requested

Source: Author's elaboration

To sum up the above table:

TED – which covers all countries for above thresholds procurement – provides data in CSV format, and the same format is also available from Tender Service, which covers 15 countries for below thresholds procurement

As far as the other 15 countries are concerned, in 11 cases it was possible to receive data in CSV format as well, whereas in 4 cases (FI, FR, LU, NO) XML was the only available format, and additional efforts were required to convert the datasets into CSV

# 5.3 Adopted strategies for identification of published PPIs and training of the machine learning tool

Once the datasets for all 30 countries had been collected, the study identified those public procurements that concern the purchase of innovative solutions. Such identification of PPIs required to inspect and analyse a significant amount of unstructured information, such as project descriptions, contract values, a multitude of identification codes, and many other variables. Due to the high number of calls for tenders to be analysed, the study made use of an Artificial Intelligence based machine learning tool from Hewlett Packard Enterprise (HPE) called Intelligent Data Operating Layer (IDOL). IDOL is a search engine based on pattern matching and probabilistic modelling, which treats words as abstract symbols of meaning, deriving understanding through the context in which these symbols occur. Once the information had been centrally stored in the system, the IDOL tool was trained to identify PPIs. Three different training methods were implemented, namely:

- Known PPI case examples;
- PPI tender documents obtained via email and automated retrieval;
- Clustering-based identification of new PPIs from 2018 calls for tenders.

After various attempts and adjustments, the first two methods alone turned out not to be effective enough on their own. Adding the third method was needed to obtain a sufficiently large set of PPI case examples to successfully train IDOL.

This section is divided in three paragraphs providing information on:

- the first two methods used to train IDOL, which did not deliver a sufficiently large set of PPI case examples to train IDOL (section 5.3.1);
- the clustering-based training, which identified from the country data sets enough PPI case examples to train IDOL and was therefore used for all the countries (section 5.3.2);
- relevant language related aspects linked to the training (section 5.3.3)

## 5.3.1 Previous trainings

This section outlines the methods initially used to train IDOL. The aim is to provide a very short overview of the methods that were used, highlighting the obstacles that did not allow to identify enough PPI case examples to train IDOL effectively.

#### Case examples

The Study team started by manually identifying a number of PPI case examples from a range of sources (e.g. innovation procurement platforms and guidance documents, innovation procurement awards,

national innovation procurement competence centre websites, etc.). Desk research on the 2018 dataset of calls for tenders also revealed additional PPI case examples. The case examples and desk research enabled the Study team to identify a list of 230 keywords (see Annex IV) that are commonly used to characterise PPIs (e.g. innovative, prototype, new, improved, cutting edge artificial intelligence, blockchain, autonomous vehicle, biosensor, wave power, carbon capture etc.). This list could then be used to directly instruct IDOL on how to recognise new PPIs.

A few examples of the PPIs identified through desk research are provided in the table below.

#### Table 79. Examples of PPIs used in the 'case examples' training

Country	Title	Short description
Bulgaria	Specialised supply for forest fire fighting	The subject of the contract was the supply of a specialised vehicle, a surveillance drone and personal protective equipment for forest fire fighting for the needs of the municipal volunteer emergency response unit in the Municipality of Kula.
Denmark	Multichannel electrophysiological recording system for in vivo rodents	Aarhus University has been investing in a multichannel electrophysiological recording system for in vivo rodents for the Department of BioMedicine, with the aim to monitor brain activity of nerve cells. The system is composed by the data acquisition system hardware, input board, data acquisition software and head stage.

Source: Author's elaboration

However, the set of manually identified PPIs was too small and the training did not allow IDOL to identify innovative tenders as effectively as expected. As a result, this approach did not identify sufficient public procurements of innovative solutions to train IDOL.

#### Email training

Another strategy implemented to identify more PPIs to train the IDOL tool was based on the development of an emailing system. The Study team incorporated in the EU TED platform a software component that contacted automatically via email all the procurers publishing a tender on TED. The email included a short survey asking whether the published tender was innovative, potentially innovative or not innovative. The aim was to identify a list of innovative tenders and use them to train IDOL.

Despite the large amount of emails sent to public procurers, the overall response rate was extremely low and did not allow to build a representative sample. Emails were blocked by anti-spam services or simply disregarded by recipients. For instance, in Spain – between January and May 2018 – only 33 surveys were completed, representing only 1.5% of the emails sent. Out of the 33 replies, only 4 tenders were flagged as potentially innovative, and none as innovative.

Due to concerns on data protection and little constructive response received from public procurers, it was agreed with the European Commission to abandon the sending of e-mails at the end of May 2018, when the new General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) came into force.

# 5.3.2 Clustering-based training

Due to the previous approaches not being effective in collecting a large enough reference set of PPI examples to train IDOL, the Study team devised a third approach exploiting automatic text mining techniques to identify a larger initial number of PPIs, which were then used to train the machine learning tool.

Text Mining (TM) - also known as Text Data Mining (TDM) or Knowledge Discovery in Text (KDT) - is a discipline devoted to the development of linguistic, statistical and machine learning techniques for extracting knowledge and deriving information from text documents. In more detail, the Text Mining techniques identify the themes a text deals with, in order to facilitate the process of developing a logical map of the knowledge embedded in unstructured information, and extract from it new information. In other words, (semi)automatically techniques such identify chunks of text in documents that are representative of a given domain of knowledge. After that, analytical algorithms are executed on the chunks of text to distinguish what is said (substance) from how it is said (form) in order to find convergences of meaning between words and concepts, highlighting connections between information within one or more texts.

#### **Box - Definition of concept**

A concept is defined as a bag-of-words, a typical model used in natural language processing and information retrieval to simplify the representation of text. In this model, a text (such as a sentence or a document) is represented as the bag (multiset) of its words, disregarding punctuation, grammar and word order but keeping the number of times words appear in it (i.e. multiplicity). The bag-of-words model is commonly used in methods of document classification where the relative (frequency of) occurrence of each word is used as a feature for training a classifier. In a way, a concept can be considered as a group of words that frequently co-occur together in the same proportion.

For instance, the "biosensor" concept – meaning a device for the detection of a certain chemical substance – consists not only of the word "biosensor", but also of a series of other phrases that are commonly associated with it, such as "physicochemical detector", "transducer", "enzyme", etc.

Within Text Mining techniques, clustering algorithms are specifically used for exploratory data mining and pattern recognition. They allow to collect documents dealing with the same "concept" (a detailed explanation of the notion of "concept" is provided in the box). Thus, clustering algorithms grouped documents by maximizing, as much as possible, cluster *compactness* (i.e. a measure of how close the concepts represented in the documents are) and, cluster distinctness (i.e. a measure of how distinct concepts in different clusters are). A more detailed explanation of clustering is provided in the box below. In the context of this study, clustering algorithms allowed to identify clusters of innovative tenders, reduce the human effort needed to manually inspect tenders-related documentation and identify an adequate "training set" for the machine learning tool. A training set consists of a subset of tenders that the tool use as prototype in order to "learn" what has to be understood as innovative. An "adequate" training set collects examples of text dealing with each innovation topic of interest. Hence it has to be well balanced, meaning that the innovation topic it deals with is represented by a fair number of documents (or chunks of them), ensuring that the most common ways to describe innovation are included. By using unsupervised clustering to derive a training set, it was possible to limit the human inspection activity to the analysis of the only document that best represented each cluster. If such a document dealt with an innovation topic of interest, all the documents included in the cluster were tagged and included in the training set. Therefore, instead of manually inspecting each document dealing with tenders, a clustering-based approach allows to limit the inspection to the number of automatically identified clusters (typically 10 to 100 times less than the documents number).

The process for PPI Identification can be summarised as follows:

- Application of clustering techniques on public procurement descriptions with the aim to identify a training set of PPIs. As further clarified in the box below, the definition of clusters on innovative themes was made through desk research of public data sources;
- Use of the training set of PPIs to train the machine learning tool to "learn" what a PPI is;
- Execution of the machine learning algorithm to recognise through automatic classification new further potential PPI tenders from an entirely new document set loaded on the system from new data sources.

#### **Box - Clustering**

Clustering can be defined as the grouping of objects so that members in a certain group are more similar – according to certain criteria – to each other rather than to those in other groups.

For the purposes of the study, a k-means clustering algorithm is used to group chunks of text included in the tender descriptions. The extraction and weighting of chunks of text is based on automatic Natural Language Processing and Semantics techniques. The clustering algorithm tries to optimise cluster compactness (i.e. a measure of how close the concepts represented in the documents are) and cluster distinctness (i.e. a measure of how distinct concepts in different clusters are).

It therefore produces as output a set of clusters each of them collecting chunks of documents (potentially) dealing with the same topic and their relevant bag-of-words. Chunks in each cluster are automatically scored by a measure of their membership to their relevant cluster. The most representative chunks of text of each cluster are referred to as centroids.

The possibility for sector experts to review only the centroids of each cluster allow to dramatically decrease the effort required to expand the training set and to identify innovative topics that humans may not have thought of, increasing the maintainability and adaptability of the training set over time. The figure below illustrates clusters dealing with different topics, also including a confused cluster that is discarded as machine's rationale for clustering it is unclear to humans.



The following table provides an example of innovative cluster, with various chunks of text grouped together as they deal with a similar topic.

TENDER ID	TENDER DESCRIPTION
30490620_ES20180911	Servicio para la <b>redacción del Plan</b> de <b>Movilidad Urbana Sostenibl</b> e de Alcalà de Xivert- Alcossebre
30885075_ES20180925	Prestación del servicio de redacción del proyecto de ejecución de la obra de espacio público de uso lúdico deportivo marítim, incluido en la estrategia de <b>desarrollo urbano sostenible e</b> <b>integrado</b> (EDUSI)
30865277_ES20180923	Plan de Movilidad Urbana Sostenible (PMUS) para Los Llanos de Aridane
30865093_ES20180925	Servicio consistente en la asistencia técnica y realización del <b>Plan de Movilidad Urbana</b> <b>Sostenible</b> de Playa Honda (T.M. de San Bartolomé). Cofinanciado por el Fondo Europeo de <b>Desarrollo</b> Regional en el Marco del Programa Operativo de Crecimiento Sostenible 2014-2020.
30865103_ES20180925	Asistencia técnica necesaria para la Unidad de Gestión y Áreas Ejecutoras de la Estrategia de <b>Desarrollo</b> Urbano Sostenible Integradeo (EDUSI) de Roquetas de Mar

To measure the performance of IDOL after the clustering-based training, the Study team selected a sample of 9.079 public procurements (the Spanish procurements gathered from TED and Tender Service between 10 and 25 September 2018 were used as a test sample), analysed them individually and for each procurement indicated manually whether or not they were innovative, identifying a total of 237 PPIs. Subsequently, for each element of the test sample, the results of the IDOL classification (after the clustering-based training) were compared with the manual tagging. The clustering-based approach allowed to identify 203 PPIs correctly and 49 procurements incorrectly (15 false positives and 34 false negatives), with 89% of accuracy. The approach was therefore considered as successful and suitable to train IDOL.

# 5.3.3 Language aspects of the training

Each country expresses innovative concepts differently, both in terms of language used and in terms of how innovative concepts are commonly called and referred to. For this reason, the training of the machine learning tool had to be customised in each country. In addition, in certain countries calls for tender are published in more than one language.

In this framework, language aspects of the training had to be considered for each country. In most countries, multiple trainings had to be implemented to ensure the tool's ability to identify innovative concepts regardless of the language used to express them. The following table presents for each country the various languages in which the training was carried out. Since certain innovative concepts are usually expressed in English even in countries that are not English-speaking (e.g. blockchain or cloud), the training in each country also included several concepts in English.

Country	Languages of training			
Austria	German, English			
Belgium	French, German, Dutch, English			
Bulgaria	Bulgarian, English			
Croatia	Croatian, English			
Cyprus	Greek, English			
Czech Republic	Czech, English			
Denmark	Danish, English			
Estonia	Estonian, English			
Finland	Finnish, English			
France	French, English			
Germany	German, English			
Greece	Greek, English			
Hungary	Hungarian, English			
Ireland	English			
Italy	Italian, English			
Latvia	Latvian, English			
Lithuania	Lithuanian, English			
Luxembourg	French, German, English			
Malta	English, Maltese			
Netherlands	Dutch, English			
Norway	Norwegian, English			
Poland	Polish, English			
Portugal	Portuguese, English			
Romania	Romanian, English			
Slovakia	Slovak, English			
Slovenia	Slovenian, English			
Spain	Spanish, Catalan, English			
Sweden	Swedish, English			
Switzerland	German, French, Italian, English			
United Kingdom	English			

#### Table 80. Examples of languages used for the training

Source: Author's elaboration

As mentioned above, the training relied on a clustering approach, which was repeated in each country, thus allowing to create clusters of calls for tenders descriptions in each country, which were then

manually tagged to create the full country training set (for a detailed description of how the training set is expanded through the so-called machine-processable definition, please refer to the section 5.4).

The country by country training was coordinated by the Study team, with the support of internal native language speakers, so to ensure the creation of comparable training sets in every country.

# 5.4 Definitions

In order to determine the boundaries of the study, a number of definitions were developed.

First, due to the fact that public tenders do not usually include any indicator allowing to easily determine whether they purchase innovative solutions or not, it was necessary to develop a **definition of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is suitable to use in the machine learning based study methodology**. The definition of PPI is developed in Section 5.4.1.

In addition, the study requires to identify the amount of PPI investments in ICT based solutions and break this down also across different ICT subsectors (ICT, content and media, etc.). In this respect, the study makes use of the OECD **definition of ICT based solutions and the definition of the ICT subsectors**. The definitions and the approach used are described in Section 5.4.2.

Finally, the study requires to break down the amount of PPI expenditure across different domains of public sector activity (health, public transport etc.). The study requires the areas of public sector activity to cover at least the 10 areas defined in the EU public procurement directives and to be consistent with the COFOG breakdowns of areas of public sector functions. The definition of the **domains of public sector activity** are provided in Section 5.4.3.

# 5.4.1 Definition of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)

**Innovation** is defined in the **2014 EU public procurement directives**<sup>90</sup> as "the implementation of a new or significantly improved product, service or process, including but not limited to production, building or construction processes, a new marketing method, or a new organisational method in business practices, workplace organisation or external relations inter alia with the purpose of helping to solve societal challenges or to support the Europe 2020 strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth".

The **European Commission's guidance on innovation procurement** provides additional information on the definition of **innovation procurement**: "Innovation procurement occurs in any procurement that has one or both of the following aspects (i) buying the process of innovation – research and development services – with (partial) outcomes; or (ii) buying the outcomes of innovation already created by others, which are nearly or already in small scale on the market".<sup>91</sup>

- In the first instance (i), the public buyer buys the research and/or development of solutions that do not exist yet. The public buyer describes its need, prompting businesses and researchers to develop innovative solutions to meet its need.
- In the second instance (ii), the public buyer acts as an early adopter<sup>92</sup> and buys a product, service or process that is new to the market and contains substantially novel characteristics.

This definition includes both product innovation (i.e. introduction of a new good/service, also including works such as building and construction works), process innovation (i.e. implementation of new or significantly improved production or delivery method), marketing innovation (i.e. a new method to introduce an innovation into the market) and organisational innovation (i.e. an innovation in workplace organisation, business practices or external relations).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Directives 2014/23/EU on the award of concession contracts, 2014/24/EU on public procurement, and 2014/25/EU on procurement by entities operating in the water, energy, transport and postal services sectors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> European Commission (2018), Guidance on Innovation Procurement, C(2018) 3051 final.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> Being an early adopter refers to the first 20% of customers on the market that are buying a new or significantly improved product, service or process.

**This aim of study is to quantify innovation procurement in general, but only PPI.** According to the **European Commission's guidance on innovation procurement PPI** occurs when a public procurer "acts as an early adopter for a product, service or process that is new to the market and contains substantially novel characteristics. Early adopters refer to the first 20% of customers on the market that are buying a new or significantly improved product, service or process".

Thus, PPI includes procurements of products, services or processes that have been already demonstrated on a small scale and may be nearly or already in small quantity on the market, but that have not been widely adopted by the market yet. It also includes existing solutions that are to be utilised in a new and innovative way. Conversely, PPI does not include procurements that require only research and development.<sup>93</sup>

#### For the study PPIs can include the purchase of any the following four types of innovation:

- Totally new products, services, processes, organisational or marketing methods
- Significant improvement of an existing product, service, process, organisational method or marketing method
- Combination of existing products, services, processes, organisational or marketing methods that results in significant improvements
- New use of existing products, services, processes, organisational or marketing methods that results in significant improvements (e.g. use of an existing solution in an innovative way in another sector, in a new application field etc.)

The first two types of innovation are referred to also as **transformative innovations**, while the last two types of innovation are also referred to as **incremental innovations**. Additional details are provided in the box at the end of this section.

It is not currently possible to quantify PPIs using the standard tender classification systems, because PPIs are not defined in national and international tender databases, nor are they univocally associated with certain CPV codes. While previous studies in this field relied on the use of keyword-based approaches to identify PPIs, the present study makes use of an innovative machine-learning approach. In order to teach the machine what a PPI is, it was necessary to **operationalise the above definition of PPI in way that is suitable for machine learning**. For the purpose of this study, the PPI definition was broken down in two parts:

- a **machine-processable definition** which was used as "training set" for IDOL to learn what a PPI is, enabling to make an initial selection and identify a list of "potential PPIs"; and
- a **narrative definition**, which was used by humans to fine-tune the list of potential PPIs identified by IDOL and derive a final list of "confirmed PPIs".

The figure below presents the process of identification of PPIs, showing where each of the two definitions have been used. In particular, it highlights how the machine-processable definition serves the purpose of enhancing the training set of PPIs to train IDOL. Moreover, it indicates that the narrative definition came into play after IDOL's identification of PPIs, in order to carry out a human-made expost validation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> In this study, PPIs shall include the purchase and/or deployment of a solution (or at least a partial solution) that is innovative, meaning that tenders requesting only R&D shall not be considered as PPIs. R&D procurements that include the purchase of a (partial) solution (e.g. the purchase of a prototype or first series of tested end-products) are counted in this study as PPIs because they result in the purchase/deployment/uptake of an innovative solution.



#### Figure 15. The process for the identification of PPIs

Source: Author's elaboration

The following paragraphs describe the machine-processable and the narrative definitions and explain in detail how they were developed and fine-tuned.

#### The machine-processable definition

The machine-processable definition is used to expand the training set for IDOL. It serves the purpose of translating the definition of PPI into a group of concepts (for the definition of concept, see the box in Section 5.3.2) that a machine learning tool would be able to understand and learn from. For example, when desk research identified the word biosensor to be a word that is commonly used to characterise PPIs, the concept biosensor was created in IDOL that consists not only of the keyword "biosensor", but also of a series of synonyms, other related words and phrases that machine learning tools can recognise as being commonly associated with a biosensor, such as "physicochemical detector", "transducer", "enzyme", etc. The last column of Annex IV shows the list of keywords for which concepts were created. This machine-processable definition is based on a number of vertical and horizontal concepts used to identify an initial list of procurements that are expected to be innovative, as explained below.

**Vertical innovation concepts** consist of innovative goods, services and processes that are characteristic to a certain domain of public activity (health, public transport etc.) that are still in the stage of early adoption of their innovation life cycle (meaning that they have not been adopted yet by more than 20% of the customers on the market). For instance, a biosensor is an innovative device in the healthcare and social services sector that is still in the early adoption stage. Known innovative technology concepts that may be applied in more than one domain of public sector activity – such as for instance the blockchain technology – were also included in the vertical innovation concepts innovations. **Horizontal innovation concepts** consist of innovation-related activities or outcomes that are typically requested in PPIs by public procurers that are not specific to a particular domain of public sector activity or a particular innovative technology and are therefore not limited to a specific field.<sup>94</sup> The mapping of horizontal activities also introduced in the methodology the notion of differentiating between certain activities that are likely to be linked to a PPI. For instance:

- the "prototyping" and "prototype" was considered as an activity or outcome that may be linked to a PPI, since a prototype clearly points to a solution that is not yet available at a large scale on the market. For this reason, a procurement requesting the purchase of a prototype of a good or service was retained by the machine-learning tool.
- the activity of "event organisation" was considered as an activity that is unlikely to be linked to a PPI, because the organisation of events does not require to come up with an innovative solution to an existing need, even in case the topic of the event is closely related to innovation. As a result, a procurement that requests purely an "event organisation", without other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> The activities that are most frequently requested by public procurers were mapped through a top-down review of a sample of approximately 2,000 notices from Spain and 500 notices from the UK. The analysed sample included both below- and above-threshold notices from Tender Service and TED, in order to account for any potential differences in the activities requested at different price levels.

innovation related vertical or horizontal concepts appearing in the tender description, was discarded by the machine-learning tool.

Vertical and horizontal concepts were developed by combining a bottom-up approach performed by the machine learning tool, and a top-down approach carried out by thematic experts. The combination of the two allowed to ensure a more systematic coverage. In the case of vertical concepts, for instance, innovative concepts were identified for each of the 10 domains of public sector activity defined in the public procurement directives and in each of the 21 sub-domains as classified in TED (for more information on the definition of the (sub) domains of public sector activity, see section 5.4.3).95 The table below illustrates how the list of concepts has been developed.

Step	Top-down or bottom- up	Machine- or human- made
Step 1: Clustering and tagging		
The machine learning tool analysed a big sample of tender specifications, grouping them into clusters of chunks of text that dealt with similar topics (for a definition of clustering, see box above). Thematic experts reviewed the most representative chunks of text (i.e. centroids) of each cluster manually tagging them as innovative or non-innovative concepts. By tagging a centroid as innovative, the whole cluster was used in the training set. <sup>96</sup>	Bottom-up	Machine- made
Step 2: Gap filling		
In order to ensure a comprehensive coverage of innovative concepts, a thorough desk-based review of a variety of sources on sectorial innovations was conducted. <sup>97</sup> This allowed for instance to identify a list of innovative concepts for all 10 sectors of public procurement (as defined in the EU procurement directives) and in all the 21 TED sectors. Finally, the complete lists of innovative concepts were shared and discussed with subject matter experts of the PwC and European Commission networks, who validated the lists developed and filled potential gaps.	Top-down	O Human-made

#### Table 81. The two-step process to develop the list of concepts to train IDOL

Source: Author's elaboration

As a final step, the machine-processable definition was iteratively tested, potentially adding or removing a limited number of concepts to strike the best possible balance between precision and recall.

Importantly, the machine-processable definition did not aim at comprehensively map all innovative solutions that may be purchased by a public procurer. To the contrary, it constituted the basis for the construction of the training set of IDOL, allowing it to learn how to classify tenders in PPIs and non-PPIs. In other words, the machine processable definition provided IDOL with a sizeable volume of examples of innovative concepts, allowing it to discover tenders that deal with innovative concepts.

- European Commission (2018), Horizon 2020 Work Programme 2018-2020 on Nanotechnologies, Advanced Materials, Biotechnology and Advanced Manufacturing and Processing;
- European Commission (2018), Horizon 2020 List of Key Enabling Technologies (KETs);
- Institute of Educational Technology (2017), Innovating Pedagogy Report;
- International Congress Innovation and Technology XXI: Strategies and Policies Towards the XXI Century;

OECD (2013), Innovative Learning Environments;

<sup>95</sup> With the addition of a residual 'other' category, which includes other innovative concepts that did not fall within any of the previous sectors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> For this reason, it is inappropriate to use the term "keywords". Each word included in this definition includes a number of concepts which are included in the cluster. This technique has been extensively used in machine learning.

<sup>97</sup> Consulted sources include multiple publications of leading market intelligence providers (e.g. Gartner, Technavio, Allied Analytics, Forrester, and Gigaom). In addition, various publicly available reports and publications were also reviewed, including for instance the following: - ENISA (2018), Looking into the crystal ball – A report on emerging technologies and security challenges;

European Commission (2018), Guidance on Innovation Procurement;

Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) (2016, 2017, 2018), Technology Review;

Peters, R.W. (2014), Basic environmental technology: Water supply, waste management, and pollution control;

Procurement Innovation Platform (undated), Guidance for public authorities on Public Procurement of Innovation; WIK Consult (2016), Technology and change in postal services.

In addition, the lists developed under each sector were further expanded based on the list of innovative metadata, keywords and tags collected from the Horizon 2020 Work Programmes 2018-2020.

An overview of how vertical and horizontal concepts are developed through both bottom-up and topdown approaches is provided in the following figure.

#### Figure 16. Methodologies for the development of the machine processable definition



#### Source: Author's elaboration

The final version of the machine-processable definition includes a total of **585 vertical concepts and 103 horizontal concepts**. Annex IV lists the 585 vertical keywords and the 103 horizontal keywords for which concepts (bags of words) were created in IDOL.

#### The narrative definition

#### Box - Terminology

In order to provide the clustering tool with the required terminology of the different innovative fields, a common technique in the literature for the automatic extraction of vocabulary was applied, known as **word embedding**. For each vertical innovation concept, a google web-search query was performed, allowing to retrieve a number of webpages, in a way similar to how a human would carry out a search on a given topic. Importantly, the quality of the information presented in each webpage is not considered to be relevant, since webpages were retrieved for the mere purpose of collecting the widest possible set of terms. The full list of webpages consulted to derive the terminology is presented in Annex VIII.

After the preliminary selection of potential PPIs made by the machine learning tool, **the Study team reviewed through human verification each potential PPI, determining on a case-by-case basis whether it could be actually considered as a PPI**. This review of the potential PPIs was based on the narrative definition, which was developed by further operationalising the definition provided at the beginning of this section 5.4.1 into a number of practical criteria and instructions to validate or discard potential PPIs in order to determine a list of confirmed PPIs.

An overview of the criteria used to discard or validate a PPI is provided in the figure below:

- **Definition of PPI**. The first column consists of the two key elements of the definition of PPI, namely it verifies if the purchase concerns an (i) early adopter type procurement, and if the purchase bought an (ii) innovative solution (good, service or process).
- **Types of innovation**. The second column, operationalises further whether it concerns the procurement of an innovative solution, by verifying the above mentioned four types of innovation: (i) new solution, (ii) significantly improved solution, (iii) new use of an existing solution, (iv) new combinations of existing solutions.
- **Criteria to confirm or discard potential PPIs**. The third column further defines the criteria used for the validation (or, to the contrary, for the elimination) of a potential PPI. A

number of these were conceived for a rapid preliminary validation as they concern certain features that are easy to check.

• **Operational instructions**. The fourth column aims at operationalising the previous criteria, by providing step-by-step instructions on what to do to verify each criterion. For instance, to verify whether a certain procurement explicitly requires an innovative solution, the procurement's description is reviewed, looking for terms such as 'innovative', 'state of the art' and/or other similar expressions.



Figure 17. Development of criteria starting from definition of PPI

Note: The search query was performed through PwC's internal search engine of leading market research sources, which include Gartner, Technavio, Allied Analytics, Forrester, and Gigaom.

Source: Author's elaboration

The practical criteria used and their operational instructions were then organised in a series of sequential steps, in order to create a user-friendly tool that allowed to analyse potential PPIs. The tool is presented in the figure below. Once the decision has been made to confirm or discard a potential PPI, a code is assigned to the procurement, which refers to the rationale for confirming or discarding the potential PPI. Numeric codes (1, 2, 3 and 4) refer to the criteria used to confirm a certain PPI. For instance – as shown in the figure below – if a certain procurement requires a new solution and is for this reason considered as a PPI, it was coded with a '1'. Similarly, letter-codes (A, B, C, and D) were used to refer to the criteria to discard a potential PPI. For example, if a procurement is present two times in the database by mistake, the duplicate was discarded and marked with an 'A'.



#### Figure 18. Tool of sequential steps for the identification of PPI

Source: Author's elaboration

The human verification / review of potential PPIs based on the narrative definition also includes a number of further refinements. These include:

- The manual check of procurements with a CPV related to R&D (73000000-2 to 73100000-3, 73300000-5, 73420000-2 or 73430000-5). These are not discarded automatically because procurers that buy R&D together with large scale deployment of solutions may also indicate these CPV codes in their call for tenders. These CPV codes are only discarded if the procurement covers only the purchase of R&D without purchasing the resulting solution.
- The removal of PPIs in the defence sector (i.e. published under Directive 2009/81/EC) to avoid the risk of double-counting of the amount of defence PPI procurement, which is estimated through a different approach that does not use the analysis of calls for tenders (see section 5.6.3).

#### Box – Transformative and incremental innovation

Innovative solutions purchased by public procurers can be distinguished based on their degree of innovativeness. On the one hand, transformative innovation consists of innovations that will have a significant transformation as impact. On the other hand, incremental innovation includes less ground-breaking innovations with a comparatively more limited impact.

The coding system of the tool for the analysis of all potential PPIs allowed the Study team to distinguish between transformative and incremental PPI. In particular:

- Transformative innovation includes: Calls for tenders requesting solutions that are new to the market (code '1') or significantly improved (code '2')
- Incremental innovation includes: Calls for tenders requesting existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector as well as innovative combinations of existing solutions (codes '3' and '4')

Further sections in this report that create the EU wide benchmarking of PPI expenditure – as well as the country profiles in Annex I – assess the breakdown between transformative and incremental innovation in each country, both out of the overall PPI expenditure and also out of the PPI expenditure that adopts ICT-based solutions.

# 5.4.2 Definition of ICT-based solutions

After the identification of the list of PPIs in each country, all the missing CPV codes were manually filled in for each PPI procurement. This gap-filling effort allowed to use CPV codes to filter out PPIs that purchased ICT-based solutions.

Building upon the definitions of the ICT sector by the OECD<sup>98</sup> and expanding a previous classification made by a study carried out on behalf of the European Commission,<sup>99</sup> a list of 1.791 CPV codes was created, including all the CPV codes of ICT products and services.

The ICT-based CPV codes were divided into three different ICT sub-sectors, namely:

- **Core ICT**, includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes, namely ICT goods and services that are intended to fulfil or enable information processing and communication by electronic means, including transmission and display (1.143 CPV codes)
- **Content and media**, includes printed and audio-visual hardware and software, including printed and audio-visual messages published in communication media, with value in their information, educational, or entertainment content (156 CPV codes)
- **ICT plus** (also written in short form as "ICT+"), includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary IT and telecommunication purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets, which includes various products with embedded ICT (492 CPV codes)

The whole list of CPV codes included in the 3 ICT sub-sectors is provided in Annex V. In order to pinpoint those PPIs that purchase ICT-based solutions, the following procedure was followed:

- First, the Study team identified those PPIs that include one or more of the above ICT CPV codes from the list of ICT-based CPV codes in the published into call for tenders. All the PPIs that purchase ICT-based solutions were classified over the three sub-sectors using the main ICT CPV code that was published in the call for tenders, in order to allow the Study team to distinguish between Core ICT sector PPIs, Content and Media sector PPIs and ICT Plus PPIs.
- This first CPV-code based step enabled to filter out automatically the lion share of all call for tenders that concerned ICT-based solutions. However, when procurers publish their call for tenders, they often tick only the main CPV code that indicates the field in which they intend to use the ICT solution (construction, health), without an additional CPV code for the ICT aspects of the procurement<sup>100</sup>. Therefore, an additional manual check was carried out across the other

<sup>99</sup> Quantifying public procurement of R&D of ICT solutions in Europe. Final report (SMART 2011/0036). European Commission, Directorate General of Communications Networks, Content & Technology, 2014.

<sup>98</sup> See http://www.oecd.org/sti/ieconomy/oecdguidetomeasuringtheinformationsociety2011.htm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> This is the case especially when the purchase does not concern 'only' ICT good or services (e.g. the purchase of construction and ICT equipment) or where ICTs are embedded inside other solutions (e.g. a digital learning system).

calls for tenders that were not identified as ICT related tenders by procurers through the ICT CPV codes. This manual check revealed that across Europe there were 30% extra ICT-based PPI investments (PPI investments that purchased ICT-based solutions) that were not identified by procurers as ICT-based procurements by ticking ICT sector CPV codes in their call for tenders.

# 5.4.3 Definition of the different domains of public sector activity

The study also determined the distribution of PPI and ICT-based PPI investments across the different public sector domains in which public procurers are active. Therefore, each tender was classified to a specific public sector domain according to the main area of activity of the public buyer.

The focus of the analysis to identify the public sector domain was not on the CPV code or on the type of product or service provided, but on the "mission" and the areas of responsibilities of the public procurers launching the tender. For example, if a hospital published a tender procedure to purchase innovative sustainable bags, this PPI is classified under the public sector domain "healthcare and social services" and not under "environment".

PPI and ICT-based PPI investments were broken down across the 10 domains of public sector activity that are defined in the EU public procurement directives in a way that is consistent with the areas of public sector activity defined in EUROSTAT COFOG and other relevant (e.g. OECD) breakdowns of areas of public sector functions.<sup>101</sup> For the analysis of call for tenders, the 10 public sector domains defined in the TED database are used as a starting point. The TED database includes a variable that classifies the "main activity" of each public procurer. This field is divided in 21 different variables.

The figure below shows the link between the 21 variables included in TED under the "main activity" field, the 10 sectors included in the EU public procurement directives and the 9 sectors used by COFOG.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> Consistency with EUROSTAT COFOG is important to enable the study later to correctly compare the amount of identified PPI and ICT-based investments in the classical, utilities and defence sector with the total amount of public procurement in those sectors identified by EUROSTAT.

TED		EU Directives		COFOG
Social Protection		Hoalthears and Social Sorrigos	K	Health
Health		Treatment and bookar bervices		Transport (in Economic
Railway Services		Public Transport	K	Affairs)
Airport-related activities		<b>F</b>	l.	General public services;
Port-related activities / waterways		General public services, public admin.	<	Economic Affairs (excl. Transport, Construction,
Urban transport (metro, tram, etc.)		and economic and mancial affairs		fuel and energy,
General public services	/ 7	Construction, housing and	K	fishing and hunting)
Economic and financial affairs		community amenities		Construction (in Economic
Housing and community amenities		Energy	R	Affairs); Housing and
Electricity				Eucl and operay (in
Extraction of gas and oil	/ / 1	Environment	K	Economic Affairs)
Coal and other solid fuels				Environmental protection:
Gas and heat	/ _	Water	R	Agriculture, forestry,
Environment		Public order, safety, security and		Economic Affairs)
Water		defense	$\nearrow$	Waste water management
Public order and safety		Education, recreation, culture		(in env. protection); water
Defence		and religion	$\nearrow$	community amenities)
Recreation, culture and religion		Doctol Comico		Public order and safety;
Education		rostal Service		Defense
Postal Services		Other		Education; Recreation,
Other		Other	J	culture and religion

#### Figure 19. Correspondence between different classifications of public sector activity

Source: Author's elaboration

In procurement notices that are published in TED, public procurers indicate themselves their domain of public sector activity through the metadata field "Activity domain". If the metadata field "Activity domain" was not available in the datasets (e.g. in the national non-TED datasets), the values for the "Activity domain" were filled in manually for each notice by the Study team based on the name of the public procurer (e.g. a school was mapped to the "Education, recreation, culture and religion domain"). In case of uncertainty, a web-search was conducted to determine the main area of activity of the public procurer.

# **5.5 Estimation of missing contract values**

As the Study aims to quantify the amount of PPI expenditure in each country in 2018, it had to identify the contract values of all the identified PPIs of 2018. However, sometimes public procurers don't include the contract value in their contract notices or make a mistake and include an incorrect nonsensical value. In addition, some national e-procurement portals do not publish any contract value. The Study team therefore had to devise an approach to estimate missing contract values, both for countries where only a few contract values were missing and countries where lots of all contract values were missing. Challenges linked to missing or misreported contract values have already been reported in previous publications from DG GROW. A review of the methodologies adopted in previous studies is provided in the box below.

#### Box - Methodologies to calculate missing procurement values in Europe

The challenges related to data gaps and misreported values are well known among the research community. As a result, the real annual value of procurement cannot be directly recovered from the information collected in the databases. A number of different methods have been developed to compute the estimated value of procurement, usually focusing on the information published in the OJ/TED.

DG GROW's current methodology consists of computing for a certain year for each country separately the average value of contract award notices (both classical and utilities) between €4.500 and €100 mn. For smaller countries with a limited number of contract award notices, the average is calculated over a greater number of years. The average value of the contract award notices is then multiplied by the number of contract notices published during the given year with a value below €100 mn. Finally, the value of contract award notices above €100 mn is manually checked and added to the total. The methodology distinguishes between works, goods and services.

In 2014 the Economic and Statistical Working Group from DG GROW proposed an update of the methodology.<sup>102</sup>. Based on the assumption that the estimated value of a tender is a natural proxy of the total final value of a contract, it is possible to estimate how close the estimated and the final values are on average, for contract award notices where both values are known. For each contract notice value is therefore possible to impute the final value. The methodology can also control for different types of procedures (open, restricted, ...), contracts (works, supplies, services), public procurers (national, regional, local, ...), and CPV divisions or codes. A number of robustness checks – such as the manual verification of jumps in historical series or sensitivity analysis on the different assumptions of the model – are also envisaged.

Another study carried out by T33 et al. in 2014 aimed at quantifying the amount of public procurement of R&D of ICT solutions in Europe. The study adopted a multiple imputation method to assign a probable value to all contracts with missing values. This method created several versions of a relevant dataset, replacing missing values with a set of plausible values. The plausible values were drawn from a distribution specifically modelled using "appropriate information" to address the choice towards likely values and preserve the relations among variables in the imputed data.<sup>103</sup>

The analysed methods present shortcomings and pitfalls. The most relevant are summarised below:

- The large variability of data is a clear shortcoming of the mentioned methodologies. For example, considering the first DG GROW methodology the great variability of the contract award notices used (notices between €4,500 and €100 million) is expected to clearly affect the estimate of the total public tender value. Similarly, the T33 et al. (2014) study highlights that the estimation procedure is affected by the share of missing values. The larger the share of missing values, the larger the variability of the estimates.
- The imputation method relies more on tender-specific factors to predict the expected value of each contract. However, the different quality of the data available both across countries and between above and below EU-threshold is expected to have a relevant impact. In addition, this approach has been proposed to calculate the total amount of public procurement of tenders included in one single database (i.e. the TED) which is supposed to provide standardised data.
- Overall, the methodology developed by DG GROW has been used to analyse only public procurements above the EU-threshold using the TED database. Despite the use of a single database, clear limits related to the quality of data are reported. The T33 et al. study covered all public procurements, both above and below EU-thresholds tenders, for 27 countries. In this respect, the scope appears to be more in line with the present study. However, the T33 et al. study based its methodology on the use of CPV codes, which would not be suitable when dealing with innovation procurement since innovative solutions are transversal across sectors and CPV codes.

This Study estimated missing contract values based on a different approach, in order to overcome some of the above hurdles encountered by previous studies and to adapt the approach to the specificities of this Study (which covers also below-threshold datasets, but only covers one year 2018).

The Study team estimated missing contract values of contract notices based on values that were published in the same year 2018 (not across multiple years) in other contract notices (not using contract award notices) using a "cluster approach" that spans across all the 30 countries (missing contract values

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> A presentation is available at <u>http://data.europa.eu/euodp/repository/ec/dg-grow/mapps/20140429\_ESWG\_Varela-Irimia.pdf</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> T33 et al (2014) Quantifying public procurement of R&D of ICT solutions in Europe

are not just estimated based on contract notices for similar solutions in the same country, but across all 30 countries). Clusters were created based on two variables, namely:

- country;
- contract size (above or below EU-thresholds) (to estimate missing values of European wide published larger size procurements based on other European wide published similar size procurements, and to estimate missing values of national published smaller size procurements based on other national published similar size procurements);
- 4-digit CPV code (to estimate missing values based on other procurements that bought similar types of solutions).

For each cluster, the median value of all contract notices in that cluster was calculated, without taking outliers into consideration. Outliers consist of the following:

- For clusters of above EU-thresholds procurements, outliers are calls for tenders with a value above €100 million and below the EU-threshold of €5,5 million (for works) or below the EU-threshold €144.000 (for goods and services)
- For clusters of below EU-thresholds procurements, outliers are calls for tenders with a value above the EU-threshold of €5,5 million (for works) or above the EU-threshold of €144.000 (for goods and services), and below €4.500.

In order to create large enough clusters (to increase the reliability of the estimates) and in order to be able to estimate also the contract values in countries with no or very limited information, the clusters were created by using the contract notices from all the 30 analysed countries.<sup>104</sup>

Once the clusters were created, prices were adjusted using the Purchasing Power Parity (PPP), a rate that allows to compare prices between different countries by taking into consideration the different costs of living between them. The PPP approach requires a number of specific assumptions, including:

- The Purchasing Power Parity rate is calculated by the OECD and Eurostat based on a basket of final consumptions goods. Therefore, it is assumed that the differences in price levels of final consumption goods are the same as for publicly procured goods, services and works.
- Certain goods such as trains usually have the same price across different countries. This is due to the fact that there are only a limited number of producers, rather than different producers in each country (each sourcing intermediate goods for the production process from its own country). However, this methodology assumes that all publicly procured goods and services are produced in the country, in line with the country's price levels. For instance, while a train would be sold at the same price in both Germany and Bulgaria, the study assumed that the train is more expensive in Germany and cheaper in Bulgaria, since Germany has a higher cost of living. In reality, it is likely that the train's manufacturing company sells the train at the same price in the two countries.

Additional details of the adopted methodology are reported below.

# 5.5.1 Steps to estimate contract notices' missing values

This section explains in detail the steps implemented to estimate missing contract values.

The first step requires to bring together all calls for tenders published in all the 30 countries, broken down by country, contract size (i.e. below/above EU-thresholds), and CPV code. Once the dataset is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> Clusters were initially created in each country, however, as a result of missing data, two main challenges emerged. First, the insufficient number of observations did not allow for the creation of big enough clusters: in certain countries only few observations per cluster were reported. In addition, clusters could be created only taking into account only the 3-digit CPV code, which would have significantly reduced the degree of accuracy of the estimation.
complete, clusters are created based on 4-digit CPV codes. In order to estimate missing values in a certain cluster in a certain country, the values from the other countries had to be adjusted based on the above-mentioned Purchasing Power Parity (PPP). In order to be able to compare the price levels of different countries, a benchmark country is necessary. The OECD and Eurostat publish every year the Purchasing Power Parity (PPP) rates for all countries against the US dollar.<sup>105</sup> PPPs are defined as the rates of currency conversion that equalise the purchasing power of different currencies, taking the differences in price levels between countries into account. The basket of goods and services priced is a sample of all those that are part of final expenditures: final consumption of households and government, fixed capital formation, and net exports. This indicator is measured in terms of national currency per US dollar. In other words, the PPP indicates the amount of national currency that is required to purchase a certain basket of goods that would cost \$1 in the US.

By dividing the PPP of a certain country (expressed in national currency per US dollar) by its exchange rate (expressed in national currency per US dollar),<sup>106</sup> it is possible to obtain the cost of the basket of goods (which would cost \$1 in the US) in the country in US dollars. In other words, this operation allows to remove from the PPP the effect of the exchange rate, comparing only the differences in price levels across countries. Therefore, the cost of a basket of goods in one country expressed in US dollars is calculated as follows:

Cost (in US\$) of a basket of goods that would cost \$1 in the US =  $PPP\left(\frac{nat}{USD}\right) \div EXCH\left(\frac{nat}{USD}\right)$ 

The table below presents – for each country analysed by the study – the results of the above-mentioned calculation.

Country	Currency	PPP (national currency per US dollar)	Exchange rate (national currency per US dollar)	Cost (in US\$) of a basket of goods that would cost \$1 in the US
AT	EUR	0,79	0,85	0,93
BE	EUR	0,78	0,85	0,92
BG	BGN	0,70	1,66	0,42
СН	CHF	1,19	0,98	1,22
СҮ	EUR	0,63	0,85	0,74
CZ	CZK	12,62	21,73	0,58
DE	EUR	0,76	0,85	0,90
DK	DKK	6,96	6,31	1,10
EE	EUR	0,55	0,85	0,65
EL	EUR	0,58	0,85	0,69
ES	EUR	0,65	0,85	0,76
FI	EUR	0,88	0,85	1,04
FR	EUR	0,77	0,85	0,91
HR	HRK	3,39	6,28	0,54
HU	HUF	140,41	270,21	0,52
IE	EUR	0,80	0,85	0,95
IT	EUR	0,70	0,85	0,82
LT	EUR	0,46	0,85	0,54
LU	EUR	0,87	0,85	1,03
LV	EUR	0,50	0,85	0,59
MT	EUR	0,60	0,85	0,71
NL	EUR	0,80	0,85	0,94
NO	NOK	10,14	8,13	1,25
PL	PLN	1,78	3,61	0,49

Table 82. Cost	(in US\$)	of a basket	of goods that w	ould cost \$1 in	the US in each country
		UT a Dasher	or coous that w	ould cost of m	the commence country

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> Available at: <u>https://data.oecd.org/conversion/purchasing-power-parities-ppp.htm#indicator-chart</u> <sup>106</sup> Annual exchange rates are also published by the OECD and Eurostat, available at: <u>https://data.oecd.org/conversion/orchange rates htm#indicator.ohart</u>

https://data.oecd.org/conversion/exchange-rates.htm#indicator-chart

Country	Currency	PPP (national currency per US dollar)	Exchange rate (national currency per US dollar)	Cost (in US\$) of a basket of goods that would cost \$1 in the US
РТ	EUR	0,59	0,85	0,70
RO	RON	1,72	3,94	0,44
SE	SEK	8,92	8,69	1,03
SI	EUR	0,58	0,85	0,69
SK	EUR	0,49	0,85	0,58
UK	GBP	0,70	0,75	0,93

Source: Author's calculation based on OECD/Eurostat data.

After calculating the cost in US\$ of a basket of goods that would cost 1US\$ in the United States, it is possible to calculate its cost in Euro by multiplying it by the exchange rate of Euro per US dollar. This allows to obtain a PPP expressed in Euro per US dollar even in those countries around Europe that have a currency different from the Euro.

 $PPP\left(\frac{EUR}{USD}\right) = Cost in US$ of a basket of goods that would cost $1 in the US} \times EXCH\left(\frac{EUR}{USD}\right)$ 

The table below presents - for each country- the above-mentioned calculation.

#### Table 83. PPP in each of the 30 countries around Europe

Country	Currency	Cost (in US\$) of a basket of goods that would cost \$1 in the US	Exchange rate (EUR per US dollar)	PPP (EUR per US dollar)
AT	EUR	0,93		0,79
BE	EUR	0,92		0,78
BG	BGN	0,42		0,36
СН	CHF	1,22		1,03
СҮ	EUR	0,74		0,63
CZ	CZK	0,58		0,49
DE	EUR	0,90		0,76
DK	DKK	1,10		0,93
EE	EUR	0,65		0,55
EL	EUR	0,69		0,58
ES	EUR	0,76		0,65
FI	EUR	1,04		0,88
FR	EUR	0,91	- 0-	0,77
HR	HRK	0,54	0,85	0,46
HU	HUF	0,52		0,44
IE	EUR	0,95		0,80
IT	EUR	0,82		0,70
LT	EUR	0,54		0,46
LU	EUR	1,03		0,87
LV	EUR	0,59		0,50
MT	EUR	0,71		0,60
NL	EUR	0,94		0,80
NO	NOK	1,25		1,06
PL	PLN	0,49		0,42
РТ	EUR	0,70		0,59
RO	RON	0,44		0,37

Country	Currency	Cost (in US\$) of a basket of goods that would cost \$1 in the US	Exchange rate (EUR per US dollar)	PPP (EUR per US dollar)
SE	SEK	1,03		0,87
SI	EUR	0,69		0,58
SK	EUR	0,58		0,49
UK	GBP	0,93		0,79

Source: Author's calculation based on OECD/Eurostat data.

The PPP (expressed in Euro per US\$) indicates the cost (in Euro) in each country of a basket of goods that would cost \$1 in the United States.

By comparing PPPs across different countries, it is possible to determine the difference of price levels. For instance, the same basket of goods would cost EUR 1,06 in Norway and EUR 0,42 in Poland, highlighting that in Norway the cost of living is more than double. By dividing the PPP in Norway (1,06) by the PPP in Poland (0,42), we see than Norwegian prices are 2,5 times higher than Polish prices. In other words, we can estimate that a product costing EUR 1 in Poland would cost EUR 2,5 in Norway. In other words, by dividing the PPP in a given country A by the PPP in another country B, it is possible to obtain a multiplying factor to be applied to price values in country B, which allows to adjust them for the different price levels in the two countries. If the multiplying factor is >1, it means that country A has a lower level of prices. For more information on the multiplying factors, see Annex VII.

#### multiplying factor for using values in country B to estimate values in country A = PPP (country A) ÷ PPP (country B)

For instance, if we want to estimate missing contract values in Austria (country A), the multiplying factor for using contract values from Bulgaria (country B) for this estimation could be calculated as:

$$PPP(Austria) \div PPP(Bulgaria) = 0,79 \div 0,36 = 2,2$$

As a result, a certain Bulgarian contract notice with value x would have to be multiplied by a 2,2 factor to be used for the estimation of the value of an Austrian contract notice. This is sensible because the cost of living in Austria is higher, and a same basket of goods would be more expensive in Austria (regardless of the currency used).

Missing contract values can be estimated by using **available contract values from the country itself and from all other countries (adjusted through the multiplying factor)**. The value is estimated taking into account all the calls for tenders with the same 4-digit CPV code. It consists of the median of all available values of all calls for tenders in its cluster adjusted through the multiplying factor.

As the study works with separate datasets for above EU-threshold procurements (TED) and below EU-threshold procurements (national datasets), two separate estimations of missing contract values were carried out for contract notices above and below EU-thresholds.

# 5.6 The 3 components of PPI investment

In order to measure the total amount of PPI investment and its different breakdowns, the Study team developed a methodological approach that considers three different components according to the different public procurement directives:

- Component A consists of **classical sector PPI**, which is performed by public procurers as defined by Directive 2014/24/EU (section 5.6.1);
- Component B consists of **utilities sector PPI**, performed by public procurers as defined in Directive 2014/25/EU (section 5.6.2);
- Component C consists of **defence sector PPI**, which is performed by public procurers as defined in Directive 2009/81/EC (section 5.6.3);



Figure 20. The three different components of PPI

#### The overall estimation of PPI investment consists of the sum of these three components.

Source: Author's elaboration

As shown in the above figure, PPI investment in the classical and utilities sectors is estimated by estimating the value of their 3 sub-components, while PPI investment in the defence sector is estimated through a different methodology as it is not possible in the defence sector to distinguish between different sub-components.<sup>107</sup> The three sub-components of the amount of PPI investment in the classical and utilities sectors are:

- **Explicit published PPI**, which consists of the amount of published public procurement in which public procurers explicitly request innovative solutions. It is identified through the analysis of the contract values in published calls for tenders (and tender documents where available) that explicitly request innovative solutions.
- **Explicit unpublished PPI**, namely the amount of unpublished public procurement in which public procurers explicitly request innovative solutions. This amount cannot be found in published calls for tenders due to the fact that this share of public procurement is not published. It is estimated based on the amount of explicit published PPI through a number of assumptions and extrapolations.
- **Implicit PPI**, which measures the amount of public procurement in which a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the procurer does eventually buy an innovative solution because the winning supplier proposed an innovative solution on its own initiative in its offer for the procurement. It is estimated on the basis of a reference country that measured the amount of implicit PPI investment (Austria) and based on a number of indicators that reflect the extent to which different countries make use of specific procurement techniques that tend to encourage suppliers to spontaneously propose innovative solutions (e.g. the use of value for money award criteria, the possibility of submitting variant offers, etc.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> This is due to the fact that only very little defence procurement data is published (due to exemptions, derogations or simple non-compliance with publication rules) and virtually all data collected is bound by confidentiality agreements. Conversely, in the classical and utilities sectors, where a significant part of the procurements are published (in European and national databases), the part of PPI investment that is published has been estimated by analysing calls for tenders and tender documents (whenever tender documents were available) and the part of PPI investment that was not published was estimated via extrapolation.

#### Box - The breakdowns between the different sub-components of PPI

In the following Chapters 6 and 7 that present the findings of the benchmarking of PPI investments across all 30 countries – as well as in the country profile reports in Annex I – the breakdowns between the different subcomponents of PPI are presented and analysed for each country. In particular, the study analyses:

- The **breakdown between published and unpublished explicit PPI**, so to assess the publication rate of PPI investments in each country. In general terms, when public procurers publish calls for tenders widely, a greater level of healthy competition can be expected, both from national suppliers and from suppliers from other European countries. To the contrary, if public procurers apply limited tendering or do not publish calls for tenders at all (direct awards) they risk missing out on potential innovations that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from national suppliers and from suppliers from other European countries that are not informed about these business opportunities.
- The **breakdown between total explicit and implicit PPI**, allowing to assess whether procurers have a proactive or a reactive attitude towards buying innovative solutions. In those countries with a high amount of explicit PPI investment and low amount of implicit PPI investment, it may be assumed that public procurers are proactively asking themselves for innovative solutions in their calls for tenders and are not particularly open to suppliers who propose innovative solutions in response to calls for tenders that did not specifically request for innovation. On the other hand, in countries with high amount of implicit PPI investment and a low amount of explicit PPI investment, it may be concluded that public procurers are quite risk-averse in explicitly requesting themselves for innovative solutions when drafting their calls for tenders, but are rather open to accept unsolicited innovative proposals from suppliers in calls for tenders that did not specifically request for innovation.

# 5.6.1 PPI in the Classical Sector (component A)

As mentioned above, the total amount classical sector PPI is further divided in three sub-components:

- Explicit published PPI in the classical sector (A1)
- Explicit unpublished PPI in the classical sector (A2)
- Implicit PPI in the classical sector (A3)

The next sections present in detail how the calculations are carried out to estimate the three subcomponents A1, A2 and then A3 and how they finally added up together to calculate A.

# 5.6.1.1 Explicit published PPI (A1)

In order to estimate the explicit published PPI expenditure in the classical sector, the study takes into consideration all contract notices that were published by procurers in the classical sector in 2018. Conversely, it does not consider contract award notices and public procurement opportunities that occurred in previous years and were awarded during 2018.

After the collection of contract notices – as presented in Section 5.2 above – the machine learning tool was used for the identification of potential PPIs in the classical sector, which were then manually verified by the Study team (for more details on the identification of PPIs, please refer to Sections 5.3 and 5.4 above). Once the final list of confirmed PPIs in the classical sector has been created, the amount of explicit published PPI in the classical sector was calculated by summing up all the values, including estimated values as detailed in Section 5.5 above.

## 5.6.1.2 Explicit unpublished classical sector PPI (A2)

Only a portion of calls for tenders are published. Therefore, it is important to estimate the amount of explicit classical sector PPI that is not published (i.e. the portion that is not published in the TED or any other databases collected in the framework of this study). This sub-component is estimated based on the assumption that the share of published explicit PPI out of the volume of published procurement is the same as the share of the total amount of explicit PPI (published + unpublished) out of the total amount of procurement in the classical sector, as illustrated in the following figure:



Total explicit PPI	Published explicit PPI
Total procurement	Published procurement

Taking into consideration that the study estimated published explicit PPI and published procurement from two different sources (the TED and an additional non-TED dataset), the formula can be rewritten as follows.

```
\frac{Total \ explicit \ PPI}{Total \ procurement} = \frac{Explicit \ PPI \ published \ in \ TED + \ Explicit \ PPI \ published \ in \ non-TED \ dataset}{TED - published \ procurement + non-TED - published \ procurement}
```

Considering that each source includes calls for tender in both the classical and the utilities sectors, even greater detail can be added to the formula:



For the sake of simplicity, the same formula can be rewritten with the following letters:

 $\frac{a+b}{c+d} = \frac{e+f+g+h}{i+j+k+l}$ 

In each country, all the variables are known,<sup>108</sup> with the exception of a and b. The variables k and l are not known individually, however their sum is known as it is the sum of non-TED published calls for tenders in the classical and utilities sectors. The equation can be rewritten as follows:

(I) 
$$a + b = \frac{(e+f+g+h)(c+d)}{i+j+k+l}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> As detailed in the following section 5.7, figures on total procurement are retrieved from Eurostat, while figures on TEDpublished procurement rely on the same methodology for the estimation of missing values, applied to the entire TED dataset.

In addition, it is possible to calculate the ratio between a and b:

$$\frac{a}{b} = \frac{c(e+g)(j+l)}{d(f+h)(i+k)} = ratio$$

Assuming that the size of l and k is very small compared to the size of other variables, they can be removed and simplify the equation as follows. This simplification introduces a certain degree of error in the estimates, which is however considered to be reasonable as l and k are considerably smaller size amounts in the equation.

(II) 
$$\frac{a}{b} = \frac{c(e+g)(j)}{d(f+h)(i)} = ratio$$

Combining (I) and (II), and knowing the value of a+b (total explicit PPI in the classical and utilities sector), the variable *a* (total explicit PPI in the classical sector) can thus be calculated as follows:

$$a = \left(1 - \frac{1}{1 + ratio}\right) * (a + b)$$

Finally, explicit unpublished PPI in the classical sector can be calculated with a simple difference that subtracts the total published explicit PPI from the total explicit PPI:

A2 = a - A1

### 5.6.1.3 Implicit classical sector PPI (A3)

Once the total amount of explicit PPI has been calculated from its two components (A1 and A2), the component of implicit explicit PPI (A3) can be estimated. Implicit classical sector PPI also contributes to the total amount of PPI expenditure as it covers all those procurements in which a procurer did not explicitly request an innovative solution in its calls for tenders, but the winning supplier proposed an innovative solution on its own initiative in its offer.<sup>109</sup>

Public procurers can use a number of techniques in public procurement that encourage suppliers to propose innovative solutions in its offer even when the procurer does not explicitly ask for an innovation in its tender documents. The use of these techniques has been assessed in the chapter on the benchmarking of innovation procurement policy frameworks (Chapter 4), in particular under Indicator 10 - sub-indicator I. This indicator assesses the following techniques:

- The use of value for money award criteria;
- The use of open market consultations to consult the market before procuring;
- The adoption of a default IPR regime that leaves IPR ownership with suppliers;
- Allowing the submission of variant offers.

By not awarding contracts only based on lowest price but by taking into account also the quality of the proposed solutions, the award procedure rewards suppliers that propose innovative solutions that can deliver a higher quality than existing solutions. Consulting the market before procuring enables innovative companies to be better informed and prepared to make offers, thus increasing the chances that innovative offers successfully win contracts. Leaving IPR ownership with suppliers in public procurements makes the procurement commercially more attractive for suppliers with innovative solutions and enables them to offer better value for money offers, which increases their chances to win

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> As explained in chapter 8.2, it would be possible to estimate the amount of implicit PPI by conducting a survey among companies across all 30 countries and all 10 domains of public sector activity. The survey should ask them to estimate the percentage of their yearly sales of innovative solutions to the public sector that included an innovation proposed by the company rather than requested by the customer (and where the public sector customer was among the first 20% of customers on the market for this innovation). However, this is not within the scope of this study. Therefore, this study estimates the component of implicit PPI using the approach described in this section.

contracts. Allowing companies to submit variant offers, allows them to submit alternative – and thus possibly also innovative – approaches to meet the procurers' needs.

As a result, when a country X uses these techniques in twice as many procurements compared to country Y, it can be assumed that there are twice as many chances for companies in country X to propose/sell innovations in country X compared to in country Y. This can be assumed to be case for both PPIs in the classical and the utilities sectors. An innovation procurement monitoring exercise conducted in Austria<sup>110</sup> found that the amount of innovation procurement that is explicitly requested by Austrian procurers is approximately equivalent to the amount of innovation procurement that is not explicitly requested. Assuming that the Austrian implicit PPI is the result of the above techniques (value for money award criterion, open market consultations, IPR regime, and variants) and that the amount of implicit PPI is directly proportional to the use of these techniques, the amount of implicit PPI in a certain country X can be calculated as follows:

$$\frac{T(AT)}{T(x)} = \frac{\frac{I(AT)}{V(AT)}}{\frac{I(x)}{V(x)}}$$

Where:

- T(AT): use of techniques to foster innovation in procurement in Austria, i.e. score on subindicator I of indicator 10 in Austria
- T(x): use of techniques to foster innovation in procurement in country x, i.e. score on subindicator I of indicator 10 in country x
- I(AT): value of implicit classical sector PPI in Austria
- V(AT): value of total amount of public procurement in the classical sector in Austria
- I(x): value of implicit classical sector PPI in country x
- V(x): value of total amount of public procurement in the classical sector in country x

Taking into consideration that in Austria the amount of explicit classical sector PPI (hereafter E(AT)) is approximately equivalent to the amount of implicit classical sector PPI, namely  $I(AT) = \frac{2.5}{2.2}E(AT)$ ,<sup>111</sup> the formula can be rewritten as:

$$\frac{T(AT)}{T(x)} = \frac{\frac{E(AT)\frac{2,5}{2,2}}{V(AT)}}{\frac{I(x)}{V(x)}}$$

Rearranging the formula to isolate the unknown variable I(x), the formula can be rewritten as follows:

$$I(x) = \frac{T(x) * V(x) * E(AT) * 2,5}{T(AT) * V(AT) * 2,2}$$

As a result, in each country the amount of implicit classical sector PPI can be estimated based on the score on Indicator 10 - sub-indicator I (for Austria and the country under consideration), the total value

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> Bundesministerin für Verkehr, Innovation und Technologie (2012), Leitkonzept für eine innovationsfördernde öffentliche Beschaffung (IÖB) in Österreich.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> The ratio between explicit classical sector PPI and implicit PPI in Austria was based on Bundesministerin für Verkehr, Innovation und Technologie (2012), Leitkonzept für eine innovationsfördernde öffentliche Beschaffung (IÖB) in Österreich. In particular, according to the study, the total amount of explicit PPI (across all sectors) was 2,2% of public procurement expenditure and the total amount of implicit PPI (across all sectors) was 2,5% of public procurement expenditure.

of public procurement (for Austria and the country under consideration) and the amount of explicit classical sector PPI (only for Austria).

# 5.6.2 PPI in the Utilities Sector (component B)

As for the classical sector, the methodology adopted to estimate the total amount of PPI expenditure in the utilities sector (component B) consists of three sub-components:

- Explicit published PPI in the utilities sector (B1)
- Explicit unpublished PPI in the utilities sector (B2)
- Implicit PPI (B3)

## 5.6.2.1 Explicit published PPI in the utilities sector (B1)

The utilities sector is covered by separate public procurement rules with several derogations and exemptions. For instance, specific utilities markets in certain countries can award contracts directly without a call for tenders. As a result of the lighter public procurement regime, in the utilities sector a smaller number of procurements are published in TED and in non-TED databases compared to the classical sector, making it necessary to consider the estimates for component B1 with caution.

The methodology adopted in the classical sector to estimate the explicit amount of PPI is replicated for the utilities sector. Thus, for the estimation of sub-component B1 the study takes into consideration all contract notices for all procurements that were published by procurers in the utilities sector in 2018.

After the collection of contract notices – as presented in Section 5.2 above – the machine learning tool is used for the identification of potential PPIs, which are then manually verified by the Study team (for more details on the identification of PPIs, please refer to Sections 5.3 and 5.4). Once the final list of confirmed PPIs in the utilities sector has been created, the amount of explicit published PPI in the utilities sector is calculated by summing up all the values, including estimated values as detailed in Section 5.5.

### 5.6.2.2 Explicit unpublished PPI in the utilities sector (B2)

As detailed in the above Section 5.6.1.2, the extrapolation of the total amount of published explicit PPI was carried out for both the classical and utilities sectors together. Replicating the formula for its calculation, the total amount of explicit PPI in the utilities sector is estimated as follows:

$$b = \left(\frac{1}{1 + ratio}\right) * (a + b)$$

It is possible to calculate the amount of unpublished explicit PPI in the utilities sector by subtracting the amount of published explicit PPI in the utilities sector from the amount of explicit PPI in the utilities sector.

### B2 = b - B1

### 5.6.2.3 Implicit PPI in the utilities sector (B3)

Finally, replicating the formula for the calculation of implicit PPI in the classical sector presented above, the amount of implicit PPI in the utilities sector is estimated as follows.

$$I utilities(x) = \frac{T(x) * V(x) * E utilities(A) * 2,5}{T(AT) * V(AT) * 2,2}$$

# 5.6.3 PPI in the Defence Sector (component C)

The third component consists of PPI in the defence sector. This component is measured separately because the EU directives regulating public procurement in the defence sector allow for several exemptions and derogations from standard procurement. Member States tend to make systematic and extensive use of such exemptions and derogations, leading to a scarcely harmonised legislative framework of defence contracts awarded based on national rather than EU rules.<sup>112</sup> For instance, as far as the 2011-2015 period is concerned, it was estimated that TED included contract award notices covering only 7.4% of public expenditure in the defence sector. For this reason, the study's machine learning methodology – which is based on the analysis of published calls for tenders – could not be sufficient for the identification of PPIs in the defence sector. Thus, it was important to fill this gap by using another methodology to estimate the total amount of money spent on public procurement of innovative solutions in the defence sector.

In order to tackle the lack of publicly available data, the study's methodology used three methods of primary and secondary data collection:

- an interview programme with the national authorities responsible for public procurement in the defence sector;
- a review of available national literature, such as reports on defence procurement and yearly budgets of the ministries of defence;
- in countries where all the above-mentioned sources were insufficient to make direct estimates of PPI, a like-for-like approach was adopted, by clustering countries according to a number of criteria and making informed estimates.

The following paragraphs explain the methodological approach used to estimate the amount of PPI in the defence sector.

### 5.6.3.1 Interview programme with national defence authorities

Telephone interviews carried out with relevant national defence authorities served the purpose of:

- Validating the total amount of public procurement spent in the defence sector;
- Collecting estimates on the share of public procurement devoted to purchase PPI in the defence sector;
- Collecting estimates on the share of PPI specifically devoted to ICT-based solutions in the defence sector;
- Retrieving references to available sources that provide further insights in the breakdown of public procurement in the defence sector.

The first piece of information allows to triangulate the data on total procurement in the defence sector collected from Eurostat, while the second and the third were used to estimate the amount of PPI spent in the defence sector at national level and its share that is spent on ICT-based solutions. The box below outlines how the questionnaire was developed, piloted and fine-tuned.

### **Box - Development of the Questionnaire**

The preliminary version of the questionnaire included a total of 12 questions, aimed at estimating total procurement, innovation procurement, PPI procurement and PPI procurement of ICT-based solutions. The questionnaire also included an introductory section to present the background and objectives of the study, and various sub-sections providing the definitions of the key concepts used. The questionnaire was submitted to the European Commission, which suggested limiting the questionnaire to only two essential questions on the amount of PPI expenditure and the amount of ICT-based PPI expenditure, with the aim of increasing the respondents' willingness to participate. As a result, the questionnaire was significantly streamlined. In its final

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> SWD(2016) 407 final (hereinafter also referred to as "Evaluation of Directive 2009/81/EC".

version, it includes the following four questions, consisting of those proposed by the Commission, and two additional questions to delve further into the context:

- 1. Could you please estimate the amount of public procurement in the defence sector in the country? (\*)
- 2. Could you please estimate out of the amount of public procurement in the defence sector in the country the share that was devoted to purchase innovative solutions (PPI)?
- 3. Could you please estimate out of the amount of PPI the share that was devoted specifically to Information and Communications Technology (ICT) solutions?
- 4. Could you please provide the references (title, link, etc.) to any publicly available studies on the amount and breakdown of public procurement in the defence sector in the country? (\*) (\*) questions added to the 2 essential questions suggested by the European Commission

The final version of the questionnaire was the result of a series of adjustments based on the feedback collected from the Spanish Ministry of Defence, which agreed to participate in the piloting of the questionnaire, filling in four different versions of the questionnaire and participating in a conference call to discuss the results.

An important finding of the questionnaire pilot was that the respondent was completely unaware of the distinction made in the preliminary version of the questionnaire between defence procurements falling within the scope of EU directives and defence procurements that are exempted from them. The pilot therefore confirmed the need to stick to simple questions, rather than asking more complex estimates on the amount of procurement falling outside or inside the various procurement directives.

In addition to the four questions, the questionnaire also includes a streamlined background section, from which legislative requirements were removed for the sake of simplicity, and a clearer section on definitions, providing examples of PPIs and of PPIs of ICT-based solutions in the defence sector.

## 5.6.3.2 Review of national defence literature

The interview programme allowed to collect first-hand estimates in a number of countries. Given the particularly sensitive nature of the defence sector and that various national defence authorities do not distinguish between procurements of innovative and non-innovative solutions in their internal repositories, in certain countries it was not possible to retrieve any figures, resulting in a heterogeneous collection of data.

For this reason, whenever possible, the figures and estimates collected via the interview programme were triangulated and complemented with available literature and reports on defence procurement, such as yearly budgets and press releases by ministries of defence and other relevant authorities (e.g. the Observatoire Economique de la Défense in France, which is responsible for performing statistical analyses in the defence and armaments sector).

Indeed, most countries publish yearly reports that provide insights in how defence budgets – and defence procurement in particular – are divided into some expenditure categories. In certain cases, it was possible to identify items of expenditure that could be considered as relatively close proxies of PPI expenditure.

## 5.6.3.3 Like-for-like approach to fill data gaps

In those countries where the previous methods did not allow to formulate robust estimates, a like-forlike approach was adopted. As a preliminary step, the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study were clustered into 2 groups, based on the share of public procurement in the defence sector out of the total amount of public procurement. The 2 groups had the following characteristics:

- **Group 1 big defence spenders**. This cluster includes countries that devote over 4% of public procurement to the defence sector, such as Scandinavian and Baltic countries, or Member States that traditionally set aside sizeable amounts of the public purse for defence (i.e. UK and France).<sup>113</sup>
- **Group 2 limited defence spenders.** This cluster includes countries spending less than 4% of public procurement in the defence sector, such as for instance Italy and the Netherlands, which have a comparable amount of public procurement with UK and France, but spend less than half than the UK and France in terms of defence public procurement. This group also includes Eastern European Member States, and other countries that are traditionally small defence buyers, such as Belgium and Ireland.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> It is noted that Germany, despite having a share of procurement in the defence sector out of total public procurement below 4% was nonetheless classified with big defence spenders.

In countries where the interviews and reviews of defence literature did not identify the value of PPI procurement in the defence sector, missing values for the amount of PPI expenditure in defence (and for the amount of ICT-based PPI expenditure in defence) were estimated by multiplying the country's total public procurement expenditure in the defence sector by the cluster's average share of PPI expenditure out of total procurement in the defence sector. At the same time, the amount of ICT-based PPI expenditure in the defence sector was estimated by multiplying the country's total PPI expenditure in the defence sector was estimated by multiplying the country's total PPI expenditure in the defence sector was estimated by multiplying the country's total PPI expenditure in the defence sector. The table below presents the share of PPI out of total procurement in the defence sector.

Table 84. Estimation of the average share of PPI and ICT-based PPI expenditure out of total procurement in clusters of countries that are big versus limited defence spenders (2018)

Cluster number	Countries	Cluster's average share of PPI out of total procurement in the defence sector	Cluster's average share of ICT-based PPI out of total PPI in the defence sector
1 – Big defence spenders	Cyprus, Denmark, Estonia, France, Germany, Latvia, Lithuania, Norway, Poland, Sweden, Switzerland, UK	30%	58%
2 – Limited defence spenders	Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Croatia, Czech Republic, Finland, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, Malta, Netherlands, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain.	15%	58%

Source: Author's elaboration

# 5.7 Estimation of total public procurement

In order to estimate the share of PPI expenditure out of the overall amount of public procurement in each country and its different breakdowns, it was necessary to calculate the total amount of public procurement and the total amount of published procurement for both TED and non-TED procurements in each country.

The first part of this section (5.7.1) presents how the total amount of public procurement in 2018 was estimated in each country. More specifically, the breakdown between the classical, utilities and defence sectors is presented.

The second part of this section (5.7.2) focuses on how the TED-published and the non-TED-published procurement in 2018 was estimated in each country. In this case, the breakdown between the classical, utilities and defence sectors was possible only for TED-published procurement, since the great majority of non-TED data source do not provide the relevant information to allow a sector classification.

# 5.7.1 Total amount of public procurement

This section presents the methodology adopted to estimate the total amount of public procurement and its breakdown between the classical, utilities and defence sectors (for more info, see Annex VI). In accordance with the official methodology used by DG GROW, the total expenditure of the general government sector is considered as a proxy of public procurement, based on the assumption that all public expenditures were previously procured. All calculations are based on the data reported by Member States to Eurostat in accordance with the European System of National and Regional Accounts (ESA 2010) accounting standards.

### 5.7.1.1 Classical sector

According to the report "Public Procurement Indicators 2015" published by DG GROW in 2016, public procurement expenditure for each country for the government sector (excluding utilities but including defence) is derived from Eurostat.<sup>114</sup>

In particular, the total expenditure of the general government<sup>115</sup> is calculated as the sum of three aggregates:

- P2 Intermediate consumption
- P51G Gross fixed capital formation
- D632PAY social transfers in kind, purchased market production, payable

Public expenditure on utilities is not included by default in the Eurostat figures. Public expenditure in the defence sector has been removed manually to derive the estimates of the classical sector (which does not cover defence and utilities procurers).

The sum of the three aggregates – removing defence expenditure - is provided in the table below.

Country	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
Austria	41.136	42.587	43.402	44.928	46.541	48.271	49.793
Belgium	55.737	55.618	58.367	58.864	60.423	62.238	65.757
Bulgaria	4.360	4.815	5.353	6.042	4.508	4.753	5.397
Croatia	5.816	6.012	6.133	6.054	6.294	6.220	6.895
Cyprus	1.274	1.093	953	1.036	1.079	1.137	1.921
Czech Republic	21.576	20.807	21.079	23.429	21.516	23.023	26.949
Denmark	35.576	35.413	36.864	36.857	38.042	37.794	38.686
Estonia	2.397	2.395	2.443	2.580	2.532	3.037	3.167
Finland	33.090	34.626	35.214	35.160	37.016	38.060	40.080
France	299.478	304.890	304.539	300.997	302.797	311.252	317.534
Germany	393.598	413.409	432.239	449.749	476.763	494.359	512.587
Greece	18.666	18.267	17.565	18.213	18.378	19.629	17.027
Hungary	12.942	13.966	15.636	17.809	14.024	17.075	19.290
Ireland	17.002	16.660	18.105	19.107	20.271	21.209	23.722
Italy	171.438	171.062	169.105	171.374	172.356	174.867	178.272
Latvia	2.585	2.605	2.654	2.824	2.465	2.820	3.259
Lithuania	3.478	3.406	3.487	3.695	3.441	3.664	3.833
Luxembourg	5.541	5.635	5.950	6.271	6.389	6.866	7.078
Malta	740	721	843	1.013	935	1.041	1.263
Netherlands	134.357	133.805	135.316	135.627	136.694	139.728	145.122
Norway	44.930	46.855	47.079	46.312	47.382	49.276	50.713
Poland	46.190	44.032	48.089	49.216	42.983	48.684	56.888
Portugal	16.668	16.099	16.100	16.925	16.347	17.180	17.986
Romania	15.479	15.896	16.651	18.732	16.433	15.273	16.968
Slovakia	9.860	10.135	11.048	13.591	11.255	11.565	12.383
Slovenia	4.702	4.821	5.140	5.222	4.683	4.840	5.337
Spain	111.333	103.467	103.354	110.121	104.963	108.636	114.382

Table 85. Estimates of public procurement in the classical sector (€ million)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> Total expenditure on works, goods and services of the general government excluding utilities (gov\_10a\_main).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> In the European system of accounts (ESA2010), paragraph 2.111 the general government sector (S.13) is defined as consisting "of institutional units which are non-market producers whose output is intended for individual and collective consumption, and are financed by compulsory payments made by units belonging to other sectors, and institutional units principally engaged in the redistribution of national income and wealth."

Country	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
Sweden	65.999	68.272	67.805	69.126	72.919	74.278	73.838
Switzerland	42.617	42.955	45.012	52.393	52.207	52.244	51.734
United Kingdom	259.917	257.132	286.117	322.218	291.009	275.950	281.908
Total	1.878.480	1.897.455	1.961.640	2.045.484	2.032.644	2.074.967	2.149.769

Source: Eurostat table Government revenue, expenditure and main aggregates [gov\_10a\_main] and Eurostat table General government expenditure by function (COFOG) [gov\_10a\_exp] for the removal of expenditure in the defence sector.

### 5.7.1.2 Utilities sector

The total expenditure on utilities is calculated separately because it is not published by Eurostat or by the DG GROW anymore since 2012, as reported in the Public Procurement Indicators of 2012.<sup>116</sup> As shown in the following table, the total expenditure of the general government on utilities – consisting of the expenditure made by utility companies – was calculated for this study, based on a similar method used in the past by DG GROW, as the sum of three aggregates of the "naio\_10\_cp16" table:

- B Mining and quarrying
- E36 Water collection, treatment and supply
- D Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply

The table includes data up to 2018. For countries where 2018 figures were not available, the latest available figures were retrieved. For those countries with no data available (i.e. Malta and Switzerland), figures have been extrapolated from those countries with the closest amount of public procurement in the classical and defence sectors (i.e. Cyprus and Poland respectively).

Country	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Used for the study
Austria	18.548	18.149	24.762	24.427	21.860	-	-	21.860
Belgium	9.232	9.692	8.607	8.194	8.751	-	-	8.751
Bulgaria	3.850	3.780	2.993	-	-	-	-	2.993
Croatia	-	-	-	3.867	-	-	-	3.867
Cyprus	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	641*
Czech Republic	13.960	13.251	10.584	10.787	10.534	11.614	12.096	12.096
Denmark	5.864	6.100	4.852	4.224	4.444	-	-	4.444
Estonia	1.143	1.169	1.131	993	954	-	-	954
Finland	6.370	6.256	6.306	6.234	-	-	-	6.234
France	88.860	87.829	79.585	77.458	77.989	-	-	77.989
Germany	94.301	92.907	89.286	92.059	95.661	-	-	95.661
Greece	4.419	4.374	4.105	3.882	3.650	-	-	3.650
Hungary	4.073	3.750	3.252	3.221	3.081	-	-	3.081
Ireland	3.168	3.800	3.023	3.993	4.579	-	-	4.579
Italy	73.551	75.846	72.994	72.330	68.955	-	-	68.955
Latvia	2.234	2.125	1.862	1.527	1.352	-	-	1.352
Lithuania	1.286	1.415	1.378	1.318	1.225	-	-	1.225
Luxembourg	1.067	1.108	989	958	795	795	1.077	1.077
Malta	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	641

#### Table 86. Estimates of public procurement in the utilities sector (€ million)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> DG GROW, Public Procurement Indicators 2012, "[...] the total expenditure by utilities is no longer included due to the questionable reliability of the available figures", page 3. Annex IV elaborates on the methodology to estimate the total amount of public procurement, and presents in detail the methodology to estimate public expenditure in the utilities sector. It then compares, for each country, the results against GDP data.

Country	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Used for the study
Netherlands	15.613	15.373	15.420	16.873	14.738	-	-	14.738
Norway	21.935	22.983	22.779	19.527	17.262	-	-	17.262
Poland	22.610	21.449	20.154	21.991	18.268	-	-	18.268
Portugal	12.306	12.160	11.402	11.405	11.661	12.949	-	12.949
Romania	13.690	12.685	11.769	11.568	10.227		-	10.227
Slovakia	10.129	9.934	7.983	8.568	8.185	-	-	8.185
Slovenia	1.560	1.571	1.488	1.414	1.336	1.434	-	1.434
Spain	64.924	69.932	72.150	63.875	41.297	-	-	41.297
Sweden	9.652	9.842	8.641	9.033	-	-	-	9.033
Switzerland	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	18.268*
United Kingdom	136.032	136.501	142.719	152.912	133.669	132.919	-	132.919
Total	640.376	643.981	630.212	632.638	560.472	159.712	13.173	604.631

(\*)For Malta and Switzerland, data have been extrapolated from Cyprus and Poland respectively. Source: Eurostat table Use table at purchasers' prices [naio\_10\_cp16]

### 5.7.1.3 Defence sector

The total public procurement expenditure in the defence sector was estimated following the DG GROW methodology adopted in the evaluation of Directive 2009/81/EC on public procurement in the field of defence and security for the estimation of total procurement in the defence sector.<sup>117</sup> In this study, the military defence procurement expenditure by general government of EU-27 and EEA countries was estimated based on Eurostat data.<sup>118</sup> The data are presented in the table below.

Country	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
Austria	620	696	663	610	727	734	739
Belgium	772	819	824	818	691	746	741
Bulgaria	113	130	223	252	170	157	208
Croatia	245	228	213	249	217	201	209
Cyprus	102	47	39	35	46	129	107
Czech Republic	626	572	407	816	470	514	704
Denmark	2.013	1.888	1.668	1.640	1.784	2.039	2.094
Estonia	219	225	225	249	363	333	365
Finland	1.715	1.809	1.718	1.899	1.658	1.811	1.592
France	16.678	16.581	15.772	18.487	20.843	20.711	20.851
Germany	18.098	17.352	16.016	17.078	18.320	19.968	22.266
Greece	1.251	929	1.653	1.470	757	1.613	816
Hungary	357	339	290	395	445	798	760
Ireland	127	134	214	228	243	194	294
Italy	5.623	4.831	4.815	5.132	6.766	6.743	6.011
Latvia	78	84	102	119	211	264	354
Lithuania	100	98	114	190	249	326	386
Luxembourg	65	51	44	36	85	68	150

#### Table 87. Estimates of public procurement in the defence sector (€ million)

<sup>117</sup> https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52016SC0407&from=EN

<sup>118</sup> Estimates based on COFOG classification for defence (GF02) by general government (aggregates: gross fixed capital formation, intermediate consumption, and social transfers in kind – purchased market production), table gov\_10a\_exp, as in the Evaluation of Directive 2009/81/EC and in line with DG GROW's methodology to estimate total public procurement. Estimates are for the total (not only military) defence procurement covering 5 parts: military defence procurement, civil defence procurement, foreign military aid procurement, R&D defence procurement and defence n.e.c procurement (see SWD(2016) 407 final). The figures in Table 20 of this study are thus those for military defence procurement in table 2 of the SWD + the 4 additional parts above.

Country	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
Malta	14	11	24	36	17	24	14
Netherlands	2.946	3.146	3.087	3.335	3.652	4.080	4.459
Norway	3.081	3.122	3.116	3.173	3.172	3.801	4.068
Poland	2.341	2.941	2.381	3.018	2.825	3.673	3.646
Portugal	538	480	491	521	300	433	502
Romania	210	180	361	524	759	751	577
Slovakia	227	225	306	233	271	385	423
Slovenia	112	82	74	70	99	111	144
Spain	3.270	3.493	2.759	3.975	4.440	4.007	3.942
Sweden	3.843	4.059	3.441	3.055	3.426	3.458	3.514
Switzerland	2.645	2.719	2.595	2.964	3.096	3.189	3.087
United Kingdom	33.766	31.906	34.390	36.927	31.623	30.012	30.459
Total	101.796	99.175	98.024	107.531	107.722	111.270	113.480

Source: Eurostat, gov\_10a\_exp.

The figures on public procurement were triangulated and cross-checked against available relevant literature, such as the already quoted "*Evaluation of Directive 2009/81/EC on public procurement in the fields of defence and security*" or the study on "*The impact of the defence package Directives on European defence*".<sup>119</sup>

### 5.7.1.4 Total amount of public procurement

The total amount of public procurement in each country for 2018 was therefore calculated as the simple sum of the latest available figure on the total amount of public procurement of each component (classical, utilities and defence). The results are presented in the following table.

Country	2018 (latest available figures)
Austria	72.391
Belgium	75.249
Bulgaria	8.598
Croatia	10.971
Cyprus	2.669
Czech Republic	39.750
Denmark	45.223
Estonia	4.487
Finland	47.906
France	416.374
Germany	630.514
Greece	21.493
Hungary	23.131
Ireland	28.595
Italy	253.238
Latvia	4.965
Lithuania	5.444
Luxembourg	8.305
Malta	1.918
Netherlands	164.319

Table 88. Estimates of total amount of public procurement, including defence (€ million)

<sup>119</sup> European Parliament, Policy Department, Directorate-General for External Policies, The impact of the 'defence package' Directives on European defence, 2015.

Country	2018 (latest available figures)
Norway	72.043
Poland	78.802
Portugal	31.438
Romania	27.772
Slovakia	20.990
Slovenia	6.915
Spain	159.621
Sweden	86.386
Switzerland	73.088
United Kingdom	445.285
Total	2.867.879

Source: Eurostat table Government revenue, expenditure and main aggregates [gov\_10a\_main], Eurostat table General government expenditure by function (COFOG) [gov\_10a\_exp], Eurostat table Use table at purchasers' prices [naio\_10\_cp16]. (\*) For Malta and Switzerland, data were extrapolated from Cyprus and Poland respectively.

# 5.7.2 Estimation of TED-published and non-TED-published public procurement

As detailed in the previous section, figures on the overall volume of public procurement in the classical, defence and utilities sectors can be retrieved from Eurostat. In addition to this, the Study team estimated the amount of public procurement that is published in the TED dataset and in the various non-TED datasets collected within the framework of the study.

### **Estimating TED-published public procurement**

The total amount of TED-published public procurement was estimated as follows<sup>120</sup>: for each country, the contract values of all calls for tender<sup>121</sup> published in TED were added up (including estimated values, in accordance with the methodology presented in Section 5.5 above), thus calculating the volume of TED-published public procurement in the classical, utilities and defence sectors. In addition, the following manual adjustments were carried out in all countries:

- Manual verification of all contract notices above €100 million, thus allowing to correct largesize misreported values;
- Manual adjustment of all framework contracts values, taking into consideration only the value corresponding to the first four years;
- Manual adjustment of all contract notices below €100 million based on the non-award rate, namely the ratio between non-awarded contracts and the total number of contract award notices in 2018;<sup>122</sup>
- Manual adjustment of all contract notices below €100 million based on the assumption that the value of CNs is on average higher than the value of CANs.

In the context of this study, the TED dataset was used as a proxy of above EU-thresholds published procurement. Since the TED contains both above and below EU-thresholds calls for tender, all calls for

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> The methodology was inspired by the methodology adopted by DG GROW to estimate the total amount of public procurement published in TED (available in DG GROW – 2019 – Public Procurement Indicators 2017). However, it was not replicated since the complexities of the approach did not allow to make the methodology replicable across different years.
 <sup>121</sup> For the classical sector, the following standard procurement forms were used: 1, 2, 21. For the utilities sector, the following standard procurement forms were used: 1, 2, 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> The information on whether a procurement procedure was discontinued is available only in TED standard forms 2.0.9.

tender below €144,000 were removed from the TED dataset.<sup>123</sup> As a result, the study obtained the following estimates for the total amounts of public procurement published in TED in the classical and utilities sectors.

Country	TED-published procurement in the classical sector	TED-published procurement in the utilities sector
Austria	3.985	581
Belgium	7.971	1.730
Bulgaria	3.114	2.351
Croatia	2.459	1.210
Cyprus	364	323
Czech Republic	8.790	2.326
Denmark	11.158	3.129
Estonia	729	140
Finland	8.282	997
France	56.388	6.728
Germany	26.253	3.045
Greece	3.610	1.542
Hungary	1.576	308
Ireland	6.981	968
Italy	63.170	12.802
Latvia	1.189	248
Lithuania	2.683	539
Luxembourg	639	64
Malta	327	40
Netherlands	12.074	1.121
Norway	12.076	3.734
Poland	11.700	4.677
Portugal	2.429	539
Romania	10.053	2.946
Slovakia	4.834	583
Slovenia	852	215
Spain	34.657	4.936
Sweden	11.357	1.167
Switzerland	10.445	1.565
United Kingdom	195.254	18.660
Total	515.399	79.215

# Table 89. Estimates of TED-published public procurement in the classical and utilities sectors (€ million)

Note: TED-published procurement in the defence sector was not used in the study Source: Author's elaboration

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> While in TED it is possible to distinguish between different types of contract (supplies, services, works), this information is not available in the non-TED datasets. Therefore, in order to use the same approach to estimate the total amount of public procurement and avoid double counting, it was decided to eliminate all below EU-threshold calls for competition regardless of their type of contract.

### Estimating non-TED-published public procurement

A similar approach was adopted for the estimation of non-TED published procurement : in each country, the values of all calls for tender were added up (including estimated values, in accordance with the methodology presented in Section 5.5 above). Differently from TED-published procurement, no distinction was made between different sectors.

In the context of this study, the non-TED datasets have been used as a proxy of below EU-thresholds published procurement. Thus, all calls for tender above €5,5 mn were removed from non-TED datasets (above this threshold a call for tender is certainly above EU-thresholds).<sup>124</sup>

### Table 90. Estimates of non-TED-published public procurement (€ million)

Country	non-TED-published procurement (€ million)
Austria	693
Belgium	1.857
Bulgaria	5.158*
Croatia	5.913*
Cyprus	326
Czech Republic	8.281
Denmark	166
Estonia	291
Finland	1.762
France	31.402
Germany	12.507
Greece	9.083*
Hungary	470
Ireland	1.408
Italy	51.705
Latvia	142
Lithuania	2.201*
Luxembourg	53
Malta	83
Netherlands	232
Norway	4.649
Poland	25.048
Portugal	2.095
Romania	7.184
Slovakia	2.942
Slovenia	1.035
Spain	14.728
Sweden	2.075
Switzerland	1.587
United Kingdom	5.010
Total	200.089

(\*) Note: For these countries, the estimate of non-TED-published procurement was not used for the extrapolations of unpublished explicit PPI, as it was assumed that all below EU-threshold calls for tenders were already published in the TED database.

Source: Author's elaboration

124 See note 134.

# 5.8 Limitations

The results of the study presented throughout the present report rely on a number of assumptions and need to be taken into consideration with caution and with a clear understanding of the limitations of data and of the subsequent analysis. The following limitations emerged as particularly relevant:

- **Coverage of data**. The coverage of metadata varies strongly across different countries and across different data sources. While TED provides all the 15 variables required for the study, other sources may lack up to 7 variables. In order to address the issue, a number of metadata had to be manually filled in after reviewing the procurement description and documentation. This was especially the case for the type of public procurer and the domain of public sector activity.
- **Availability of data.** In addition to coverage issues, published notices are often missing a significant number of data points. In particular, contract values appear to be frequently unavailable. As in the previous case, a substantial amount of gap-filling manual work turned out to be necessary and, as far as contract values are concerned, a dedicated methodology to estimate missing values was developed.
- **Availability of tender documentation.** Another key variable for the study that turned out to be frequently unavailable are links to the full tender documentation. The current mode of publication and collection of calls for tenders does not always allow for a straightforward access to tender documents. For this reason, in the framework of the study the machine learning tool used for the identification of PPIs only analysed tender documents when directly downloadable and accessible.
- **Homogeneity of data**. Although the use of variables allows for the standardisation of information, a certain degree of data heterogeneity remains. This is mainly due to the fact that public procurers when filling in the details of their respective notices may have different data input practices. For instance when stating the value of a contract certain countries may use commas or dots as thousands separators, while others may not use thousands separators at all. Moreover in addition to Norway and Switzerland 9 other countries use a currency different than the Euro, further increasing the differences in contract values data (and the PPP approach was needed to attempt to mitigate this issue). Data quality issues may also result from mere clerical mistakes, such as typos, repeated words, and content inserted in the wrong place.
- **Definitions**. The lack of a commonly accepted EU wide definition of PPI that is understood and applied in the same way in all the different countries is a key challenge of the study. PPIs are defined differently across countries and relevant data are not systematically collected by public procurers. As a result, the training of the machine learning tool was particularly complex, and the development of the machine processable definition required a considerable amount of interactions with the Commission. It was only after the consultation of a variety of sources and various thematic experts that the machine processable definition was considered to be sufficiently comprehensive, as presented in Annex IV.
- **National thresholds**. Below EU-thresholds, each country applies different national thresholds, with a variety of procurement procedures and the corresponding publication requirements for public procurers. As a result, the available procurement datasets that were retrieved and collated in the framework of the study do not offer the same degree of coverage of calls for tenders. In certain countries with stricter procurement rules that mandate the publication of notices, it was possible to retrieve a high number of procurements. To the contrary, in other countries with more relaxed rules that allow for the use of more direct procurement procedures, the number of collected notices was more modest. While the study adopted multiple measures to cross-check PPI estimates, these should be taken into consideration with caution.

# 6 Benchmarking of PPI investments: key findings

# 6.1 PPI investments: ranking and conclusions

# 6.1.1 PPI investments: ranking

In 2018, the total amount of PPI investments across Europe (EU 27, Norway, Switzerland and the UK) reaches €255 bn.<sup>125</sup> The average amount of PPI investments across the 30 countries corresponds to 9,3% of the total amount of public procurement. The following chart presents the ranking of the 30 countries in terms of their share of PPI investments out of the total amount of public procurement in the country.

Figure 22. Ranking and clustering of countries based on their share of PPI investments in the classical and utilities sectors out of total public procurement in the classical and utilities sectors



(%)

Source: Author's elaboration

**Countries are clustered into different groups** based on their performance. As detailed in Chapter 5, clusters were created based on how close countries are to reaching the level of ambition identified in section 5.1 (table 69), namely that 17% of the total amount of public procurement in each country should consist of PPI.<sup>126</sup> The higher the share of PPI investments out total public procurement in a given country, the closer that country is to the ambition level and therefore the higher its performance and its position in the benchmarking. Countries with the highest performance are assigned to the 'strong performers' cluster. To the contrary, countries with the lowest degrees of performance are assigned to the 'bottom performers' cluster. Between these two clusters, countries with intermediate degrees of attainment are clustered as 'low', 'modest', 'moderate' or 'good performers'.

The table below presents the absolute amount of PPI investments and its relative share out of total public procurement for each country. In addition, the last two columns show the degree of attainment of the ambition level, also indicating the corresponding cluster.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> This figure does not include PPI investments in the defence sector, which is provided separately in section 7.1.3 and in aggregate for methodological and confidentiality reasons.

<sup>126</sup> Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve.

Country	PPI, in € mn (not incl. defence)	PPI, as share out of public procurement (not incl. defence)	Degree of attainment of ambition level	Cluster
Finland	5.811,5	12,5%	73,8%	Strong performer
Norway	8.193,5	12,1%	70,9%	Strong performer
Netherlands	18.609,8	11,6%	68,5%	Strong performer
Switzerland	8.021,8	11,5%	67,4%	Strong performer
United Kingdom	46.591,5	11,2%	66,1%	Good performer
France	43.586,5	11,0%	64,8%	Good performer
Sweden	8.497,7	10,3%	60,3%	Good performer
Denmark	4.390,8	10,2%	59,9%	Good performer
Belgium	7.520,8	10,1%	59,4%	Good performer
Austria	7.129,9	10,0%	58,5%	Good performer
Ireland	2.801,7	9,9%	58,2%	Good performer
Malta	170,6	9,0%	52,7%	Moderate performer
Estonia	344,1	8,3%	49,1%	Moderate performer
Italy	20.186,4	8,2%	48,0%	Moderate performer
Spain	12.616,7	8,1%	47,7%	Moderate performer
Germany	47.941,7	7,9%	46,4%	Moderate performer
Greece	1.539,7	7,4%	43,8%	Modest performer
Hungary	1.532,6	6,9%	40,3%	Modest performer
Luxembourg	540,7	6,6%	39,0%	Modest performer
Slovenia	383,8	5,7%	33,3%	Low performer
Lithuania	270,1	5,3%	31,4%	Low performer
Croatia	545,0	5,1%	29,8%	Low performer
Latvia	221,1	4,8%	28,2%	Low performer
Poland	3.489,2	4,6%	27,3%	Low performer
Cyprus	109,5	4,3%	25,1%	Low performer
Portugal	1.204,2	3,9%	22,9%	Bottom performer
Slovakia	750,1	3,6%	21,5%	Bottom performer
Bulgaria	304,7	3,6%	21,4%	Bottom performer
Czech Republic	1.415,6	3,6%	21,3%	Bottom performer
Romania	511,7	1,9%	11,1%	Bottom performer
European weighted average	255.233,1	9,3%	54,5%	Moderate performer

#### Table 91. PPI investments in the classical and utilities sectors

Source: Author's elaboration

**Europe as a whole is a moderate performer on PPI investments (counting all 30 countries).** The weighted average of **the share of public procurement devoted to the adoption of innovative solutions in 2018 across Europe is 9,3%**, which is **just above half of the ambition level, the level that a healthy economy needs for full speed public sector modernisation.** In other words, **Europe is using only half of the potential power of public procurement of innovative solutions to boost economic growth**. Indeed, the majority of countries (18) have not yet reached 50% of the ambition level, and 5 countries are still below 25% of it. Also well-performing countries still have significant room for improvement, since even the strongest

performer does not reach three quarters of the level of ambition yet. For this reason, all European public procurers need to step up their efforts in carrying out public procurements of innovative solutions, so to fully support public sector modernisation and competitiveness.

Finland, Norway, the Netherland and Switzerland are **strong performers**, with a degree of attainment of the ambition level of more than 65%. The overall share of PPI in these countries is well above the European average and they are definitely on the good path for reaching the ambition level. **Finland ranks 1<sup>st</sup> with a share of PPI of 12,5%**, closely followed by **Norway** (12,1%), the **Netherlands** (11,6%) **and Switzerland** (11,5%). At the same time, this group of countries still needs to increase investments in PPI to fully capitalise the positive effects of innovation in the public sector.

They are followed by a group of **good performers** (Austria, Belgium, Denmark, France, Ireland, Sweden and the UK) characterised by a degree of attainment of the ambition above 55%. These countries report a share of PPI above the European weighted average of 9,3%, ranging from 9,9% in Ireland to 11,2% in UK. Despite showing encouraging progress on the path of reaching a satisfactory proportion of PPI out of total public procurement, additional efforts are still needed to reach the ambition level.

The share of PPI in the remaining countries is below the European weighted average. In these countries, a relevant increase of investments in PPI is needed in the following years. The group of **moderate performers** – identified by a degree of attainment of the ambition level comprised between 45% and 55% – includes countries where the share PPI is slightly below the European weighted average (Germany, Estonia, Italy, Malta and Spain). This group of countries still needs to step up considerably its investments in the adoption of innovative solutions.

**Modest performers**, namely Greece, Hungary and Luxembourg, present a degree of attainment ranging between 35% and 45% of the ambition level. This group is followed by the **low performers** cluster, which comprises Slovenia, Lithuania, Croatia, Latvia, Poland and Cyprus, characterised by a degree of attainment of the ambition comprised between 25% and 35%. These countries, where the proportion of PPI out of total procurement ranges between 4,3% and 5,7%, need to considerably increase investments devoted to innovation procurement to enable full-speed modernisation of the public sector. With the exception of Latvia, the experienced delay is reflected in the type of innovative solutions purchased: compared to the European average, low performers still rely on a large extent on the adoption of incremental innovations, such as existing solutions used in a new way or sector and innovative combinations of existing solutions.

The last group consists of countries with a degree attainment of the ambition level below 25% and are for this reason labelled as **bottom performers** (Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia). With less than 4% of their public procurement devoted to investments in innovative solutions, these countries are significantly below the European weighted average and the ambition level, showing a considerable delay in their ability to support innovative processes the public sector.

In terms of **geographical distribution**, some interesting patterns emerge. Countries presenting the highest percentage of PPI investments out of total procurement are usually Northern European countries, while Central European countries tend to be included in the group of moderate performers. Eastern European countries fall usually in the group of modest and low performers. Indeed, some relevant exception occur. For example, Estonia falls under the group of strong performers while Portugal and Ireland are low performers. An overview of the geographical distribution of the percentage of PPI in the classical and utilities sectors is presented in the figure below.





Source: Author's elaboration

The geographical distribution also shows that size of a country's economy is not what matters most in the performance on procuring innovatively. In order to treat small and large countries equally fairly, the benchmarking is based on relative numbers (PPI investments as a share out of total public procurement investments). Indeed, in absolute terms, the four largest countries (Germany, the UK, France and Italy) are also the largest investors in PPI investment. They represent together 62% of the total PPI investment across Europe. However, looking at the relative numbers shows that these countries are not the leading investors on innovation procurement in Europe. For example, the largest European country Germany spends a significantly smaller percentage of its purchasing power on the adoption of innovative solutions to modernise its public services (7,9%) than some of the smaller countries such as Finland and Norway (12,5% and 12,1% respectively).

# 6.1.2 PPI investments: conclusions

The proportion of public procurement that is devoted to the purchase of innovative solutions is influenced by a number of factors. To provide some insights on how different countries could improve their performance in terms of PPI investment in the future, these factors were further analysed both at national level (for more info, see the country profiles in Annex I) and at European level.

• The **type of innovative solutions purchased**: On average, 84% of investments on innovative solutions across Europe are transformative innovations. Transformative solutions correspond either to solutions that are new to the market or significantly improved solutions. Conversely, 16% of PPI falls under the category of incremental innovations, which are already existing solutions used or combined in a new way or in a new sector. According to the evidence collected in this study, leading countries tend to invest more on transformative innovations compared to countries lagging behind. In addition, leading countries tend to invest a larger share in innovative solutions that are new to the market.

- The level of **investment readiness of the different domains of public sector activity**: Overall across Europe, the largest share of investments in innovative solutions comes from public procurers that operate in the following two sectors: general public services (35%) and healthcare (21%). Public transport is another domain of public sector activity in which public procurers are responsible for a large share of the total amount of PPI investment across Europe (approximately 10%). The rest of PPI investments is spread across the remaining domains of public sector activity (never reaching an average share higher than 8%). PPI investments in green solutions are prominent across different domains of public sector activity (green mobility, higher energy efficiency, carbon reduction, circular waste treatment, cleaner water etc.): this shows the important impact that political support (in this case to 'green' the public sector) can have on PPI investments. The analysis also highlighted significant differences in terms of average contract values across public sector domains, as well as in terms of number of calls for tenders. These differences are most probably related to both the number of procurers potentially operating in each domain and on the level of public sector activity at which these procurers operate. For instance, procurers in the 'education, recreation and culture' domain carry out a very high number of calls for tenders. However, calls for tenders in this domain report the lowest average contract value, most probably due to the fact that procurers in this domain are usually small size ones, e.g. local schools. To the contrary the 'postal services' domain presents the highest average contract value despite having the lowest share of PPI investment and despite being the sector with the lowest number of calls for tenders. This is potentially linked to the fact that the majority of postal service-related procurers are mediumto-big scale procurers operating at regional or national level.
- **Risk aversion in requesting innovations and openness to accept offers with unsolicited innovative solutions**: The breakdown between explicit and implicit PPI investments provides insights on the procurers' attitude towards innovations. The low proportion (29%) of explicit PPI investments (the purchase of innovative solutions explicitly requested by public procurers in calls for tenders) indicates that public procurers across Europe are generally risk-averse in requesting innovations; they don't straightforwardly set out themselves to purchase innovations. Conversely, the high proportion (71%) of implicit PPI investments (the purchase of innovative solutions proposed by the supplier in response to a call for tenders in which the procurer did not directly request them) may indicate that public procurers across Europe are generally more cautious, however open to accept offers with unsolicited innovative proposals.
- Level of publication of innovation procurement opportunities to suppliers: Only a limited share of PPI investments across Europe (22%) was published in the datasets collected in the framework of the study. Considering that 16 different data sources were used, it emerges that the majority of PPI investments is purchased through procurements with only very limited or no form of publication (direct awards). By not publishing PPI calls for tenders widely, European public procurers are missing out on a great potential of innovative solutions that could speed up public sector modernisation, since both national and cross-border suppliers with innovative solutions are not duly informed about these business opportunities.
- The **investment readiness of different levels of public sector activity:** Overall across Europe, significant shares of PPI investments are carried out by regional and local procurers, highlighting that innovation is taking place to a considerable extent at sub-national level, and that most of the time it is implemented through traditional procedures. It should also be noted that the share of PPI investments published by regional and local authorities is lower compared to their weight in overall public procurement spending. This may indicate a lack of awareness and/or engagement of sub-national buyers on PPI procurement. While there is no strong pattern related to the performance clusters, a slight tendency of strong performing countries to perform most of their PPI investments at regional level has been observed.
- The type of contract used: Across Europe, PPI investments are mostly carried out using services and supplies contracts, and to a smaller extent using works contracts (20%). Despite that, supplies and works PPI contracts have not reached the same critical mass yet as supplies and works contracts in non-innovative procurements. Overall, leading countries seem to be

implementing significantly more PPI investments using services contracts than countries lagging behind.

# 6.2 ICT-based PPI investments: ranking and conclusions

# 6.2.1 ICT-based PPI investments: ranking

ICT is a key driver for the adoption of innovative solutions in the public sector. Therefore, adequate investments in procuring innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI investments) is expected to have positive effects on the ability of the countries to modernise the public sector and boost economic growth and competitiveness. In this regard, the analysis of ICT-based innovative solutions allows to better understand the most relevant patterns of one of the key drivers of innovation across Europe. In 2018, **the total amount of innovative solutions devoted to the purchase of ICT-based solutions across Europe accounted for €96 bn**. This represents approximately **38% of the total amount of PPI investment** and **3,5% of the total amount of public procurement in Europe**. The following table presents the ranking of the 30 countries analysed in terms of their share of ICT-based PPI investments out of the total amount of public procurement in the country. Alike for the benchmarking of PPI investments, also here only the classical and utilities sectors are shown in the graph.





Source: Author's elaboration

Also for ICT-based PPI investments, the 30 **countries were clustered into 6 groups**, taking into account their distance from the level of ambition identified in section 5.1 (table 69). Countries with the highest degrees of attainment of the ambition level are classified as 'strong performers' cluster, while countries with the lowest degrees of attainment fall within the 'bottom performers' cluster.

For each country, the table below presents: (i) the absolute amount of ICT-based PPI investment, (ii) the relative share of ICT-based PPI procurement out of total public procurement, (iii) the relative share of ICT-based PPI investment out of total PPI investment, (iv) the degree of attainment of the ambition level and the corresponding the cluster.

Country	ICT-based PPI, in € mn (not incl. defence)	ICT-based PPI, as share out of public procurement (not incl. defence)	ICT-based PPI, as share out of PPI (not incl. defence)	Degree of attainment of ambition level	Cluster
Finland	4.005,6	8,6%	68,9%	86,5%	Strong performer
Ireland	1.933,9	6,8%	42,0%	68,3%	Strong performer
Sweden	5.593,2	6,7%	21,7%	67,5%	Strong performer
United Kingdom	22.435,5	5,4%	38,3%	54,1%	Moderate performer
Norway	3.437,5	5,1%	48,2%	50,6%	Moderate performer
Switzerland	3.071,7	4,4%	24,9%	43,9%	Modest performer
Belgium	3.237,5	4,3%	65,8%	43,5%	Modest performer
Malta	79,1	4,2%	38,3%	41,5%	Modest performer
Denmark	1.681,1	3,9%	43,0%	39,0%	Modest
Estonia	157,1	3,8%	36,7%	38,1%	Modest
Austria	2.614,4	3,6%	69,0%	36,5%	Modest
Germany	20.451,3	3,4%	46,4%	33,6%	Low performer
Greece	591,0	2,9%	45,6%	28,6%	Low performer
Hungary	632,4	2,8%	20,0%	28,3%	Low performer
France	10.861,8	2,7%	33,0%	27,5%	Low performer
Spain	4.168,0	2,7%	42,7%	26,8%	Low performer
Netherlands	4.046,1	2,5%	38,4%	25,3%	Low performer
Luxembourg	201,0	2,5%	41,3%	24,6%	Bottom performer
Lithuania	92,3	1,8%	37,2%	18,2%	Bottom performer
Cyprus	43,2	1,7%	26,1%	16,9%	Bottom performer
Latvia	77,4	1,7%	34,2%	16,8%	Bottom performer
Italy	4.027,4	1,6%	19,2%	16,3%	Bottom performer
Poland	1.222,5	1,6%	35,0%	16,3%	Bottom performer
Slovakia	329,6	1,6%	35,0%	16,0%	Bottom performer
Czech Republic	620,6	1,6%	39,4%	15,9%	Bottom performer
Slovenia	100,2	1,5%	34,4%	14,8%	Bottom
Portugal	413,9	1,3%	43,9%	13,4%	Bottom
Bulgaria	85,8	1,0%	28,1%	10,2%	Bottom
Croatia	104,5	1,0%	43,8%	9,7%	Bottom
Romania	177,4	0,7%	34,7%	6,5%	Bottom
European weighted average	96.493,0	3,5%	39,2%	35%	Modest

### Table 92. Amount of ICT-based PPI investment in the classical and utilities sectors

Source: Author's elaboration

**Europe as a whole is a low performer on ICT-based PPI investments (counting all 30 countries)**. The weighted average of **the share of public procurement that is devoted to the adoption of ICT-based innovations in 2018 across Europe is only 3,5%**, which is roughly one third of the ambition level of 10% that a healthy economy needs to reach full speed public sector

modernisation. This **factor 3 underinvestment in the adoption of ICT-based solutions** is holding back Europe from fully capitalising on the transformative power of ICTs to fuel public sector modernisation, economic growth and competitiveness. For this reason, all European public procurers should step up their efforts in carrying out public procurements of ICT-based innovations, so to fully support public sector modernisation and competitiveness.

The underinvestment in the adoption of ICT-based innovations is also highlighted by the fact that only three countries are in the cluster of strong performers, and there are no countries in the cluster of good performers. The only country that is in the group of strong performers in the benchmarking of both overall PPI investments and ICT-based PPI investments is Finland.

Finland, Ireland and Sweden fall in the cluster of **strong performers**, with a share of ICT-based PPI investment that is well above the European weighted average. Although their share of procurement of ICT-based innovations out of total public procurement is below the ambition level of 10%, all three countries are well positioned. To reach the ambition level and capitalise on the positive effects of ICT to speed up their public sector modernisation, they will have to dedicate some extra effort over the coming years.

The rest of the countries are distributed among a small group of **moderate performers** (Norway and the UK), two sizeable groups of **modest performers** (Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Estonia, Malta and Switzerland) and **low performers** (France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Netherlands and Spain) and a large group of **bottom performers** (13 countries). These countries all have a share of ICT-based PPI investment that is well below the 10% ambition level. In two thirds of the countries - all modest, low and bottom performers - the share of ICT-based PPI investment is below the European average share (3,5%). As a result, across most countries a considerable increase in purchasing innovative ICT-based solutions is needed to beef up public sector modernisation.

In terms of **geographical distribution**, most of the Western and Central European economies – which in terms of overall PPI investment were classified as good or moderate performers – have joined Eastern and Southern countries in the lower clusters, when it comes to ICT-based PPI investments. This can be seen as an indicator of a generally weak performance across Europe in relation to the degree of attainment of the ambition level for ICT-based PPI investments, compared to the level of attainment in terms of the ambition level for the overall PPI investments. This suggests that **greater efforts are needed in the public sector across Europe when it comes to the adoption of ICT-based innovations compared to the adoption of innovations in general**. To the contrary, countries from the Northern part of Europe tend to confirm their good performance in overall PPI investments also in terms of ICT-based PPI investments, representing the majority of countries in the cluster of strong performers. Still, there is still significant room for improvement also across these countries.

# Figure 25. Geographical distribution according to the share of ICT-based PPI investments out of total public procurement in the classical and utilities sectors



Source: Author's elaboration

The geographical distribution also shows that size of the country's economy is not what matters most in the performance on procuring innovatively. In order to treat small and large countries equally fairly, the benchmarking is based on relative numbers (ICT-based PPI investments as a share of total public procurement investments). In absolute numbers, contrary to what was found for the overall PPI investments – where the four countries with the largest total procurement power (Germany, the UK, France and Italy) were also the largest investors in PPI investment – this is not the case for ICT-based PPI investments. Although Germany has a larger total public procurement spending than the UK, it spends less on ICT-based innovations. Although France has a total public procurement spending that is only 10% smaller than that of Germany or the UK, it spends only half the amount that Germany or the UK spend on ICT-based innovations. Italy, with a total procurement power of 40% of that of the UK or Germany, spends less than one fifth on ICT-based innovations and roughly the same amount of Finland, which has a considerably lower procurement power. Relative to the size of its purchasing power, Finland is investing a significantly larger share of its total public procurement budget in the adoption of ICT-based innovations, thereby fuelling public sector modernisation faster.

# 6.2.2 ICT-based PPI investments: conclusions

Different factor may influence the proportion of public procurement that is devoted in a country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations. To provide some insights on how different countries could improve their performance in terms of ICT-based PPI investment in the future, different factors were further analysed for reach country individually (for more info, see the country profiles in Annex I) and for Europe as a whole.

• The **type of innovative solutions purchased:** Across Europe, ICT-based PPI investments consisted mostly of transformative innovations (79% of transformative innovations versus 21% of incremental innovations). The proportion that is invested in transformative ICT-based innovations is lower in comparison with that for overall PPI investments (84% of

transformative innovation versus 16% of incremental innovation). This suggests that Europe needs to step up its game in particular in the early adoption of transformative ICTs. Indeed, those countries that are already close to the ambition level for ICT-based PPI investment, i.e., the strong performers, already purchase the highest shares of transformative innovations.

- Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors: Across Europe, public procurers were most keen on buying innovations from the Core ICT subsector. The Core ICT sector accounts for the greatest share of ICT-based PPI investments (54%). Indeed, it accounts for the highest portion of ICT-based PPI investments in 23 out of the 30 countries analysed. Next, the ICT Plus sub-sector accounts for a significant share of ICT-based PPI investments (44%). To the contrary, the Content & Media sub-sector accounted for only 1% of ICT-based PPI investments, with many countries where investments in this sector are close to zero.
- The level of **investment readiness of different domains of public sector activity**: The highest share of investments in ICT-based innovation was made by public procurers that are active in the healthcare sector (30%, which is 9% higher than the share of overall PPI investment in the same sector but still below its weight in total public expenditure). The share of investments made by procurer in general public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs in ICT-based innovations (16%) is 19% lower than the share invested in innovations in general (35%). On the other hand, public procurers active in public order, safety and security invest a 11% higher share in ICT-based innovations (19%) than in innovations in general (8%). In the other domains of public sector activity, including public transport, ICT-based PPI investments are in line with overall PPI investments.
- The **investment readiness of different levels of public sector activity:** Across Europe ICT-based PPI investments are made by national authorities in the majority of cases (69%). This clearly differs from the distribution of overall PPI investments, where more than half of the investment occurs at sub-national level. It also diverges from total public procurement spending, where the share of investments of regional and local authorities is considerably higher. The reason behind this skewed distribution may be due to the lack of awareness and engagement of sub-national public procurers on ICT-based PPI procurement.
- The type of contract used: Across Europe, alike for PPI investments, ICT-based PPI investments are mostly carried out using services and supplies contracts, and to a smaller extent using works contracts (8%). ICT-based PPI contracts have a smaller average contract size than PPI contracts in general. In particular, for ICT-based PPI contracts, supplies and works have not reached the same critical mass yet as supplies and works contracts in non-innovative procurements. Leading countries seem to be implementing significantly more ICT-based PPI investments using services contracts than lagging countries.

# 7 Benchmarking of PPI investments: analysis of results. Commonalities and disparities across countries

This chapter illustrates the key findings in terms of commonalities and disparities that can be derived from the comparison of PPI expenditure in the 30 analysed countries. The figures are based on the calls for tender published in the TED database and in the national databases analysed by this study. Although the results of the study are based on a large-scale data collection effort, they should be

Although the results of the study are based on a large-scale data collection effort, they should be interpreted with a solid understanding of the methodological assumptions made. While a number of mitigating measures and cross-checks were carried out to address data quality and data variability when combining different datasets (see Chapter 5), estimates are still subject to a degree of variability and cross-country comparisons are to be assessed with particular caution.

As usual with similar studies involving multiple estimates and extrapolations, the reliability of the figures provided can be considered to be rather high when considering aggregate values, and progressively lower when looking at more and more detailed breakdowns.

# 7.1 PPI investments broken down by component

# 7.1.1 PPI investments in the classical sector (component A)

As explained in section 5.6.1 of the study methodology, the total amount of PPI investment made by public procurers in the classical sector is estimated by adding up three different sub-components of PPI investment: published explicit PPI investments (component A1), unpublished explicit PPI investments (component A2) and implicit PPI investments (component A3).

Overall, in 2018 the **total amount of PPI investment made by public procurers across Europe that are active in the classical sector is €210,4 billion**, including €51,7 billion (24,6%) of explicit PPI procurement and €158,7 billion (75,4%) of implicit PPI procurement. Public procurers in the classical sector seem to be particularly risk averse to launching calls for tenders that explicitly request innovative solutions, but quite open also to accept offers with innovative solutions proposed by suppliers even if they didn't explicitly ask for an innovation.

The highest share of public procurement in the classical sector devoted to innovative solutions was found in the United Kingdom (13,1%), Switzerland (12,8%) and the Netherlands (12,1%). The lowest share of public procurement in the classical sector devoted to innovative solutions occurred in Lithuania (4,1%) and Romania (2,1%).

The following table provides the absolute amount of PPI investments in the classical sector and the relative share out of public procurement in the classical sector for all the analysed countries, with indication of the volumes of each sub-component.

PPI in the classical sector by component				Total amount of	% of PPI out of
Country	Explicit published PPI in the classical sector (A1)	Explicit unpublished PPI in the classical sector (A2)	Implicit PPI in the classical sector (A3)	classical sector (in € mn)	public procurement in the classical sector
Austria	228,7	2.522	3.125,9	5.876,6	11,8%
Belgium	132,0	751	6.181,3	7.064,4	10,7%
Bulgaria	82,1	48	125,9	256,4	4,8%
Croatia	63,3	116	230,5	409,5	5,9%
Cyprus	22,2	57	25,0	104,1	5,4%
Czech Republic	214,7	193	774,4	1.182,4	4,4%
Denmark	638,3	1.304	2.293,5	4.235,9	10,9%
Estonia	36,3	68	108,4	212,8	6,7%
Finland	185,5	470	3.399,1	4.054,9	10,1%
France	1.411,8	3.627	32.635,0	37.673,7	11,9%
Germany	1.408,2	16.977	20.825,6	39.211,0	7,6%
Greece	222,6	762	400,7	1.385,2	8,1%
Hungary	45,1	387	1.006,1	1.438,3	7,5%
Ireland	79,6	144	2.286,7	2.510,1	10,6%
Italy	1.553,9	792	13.316,3	15.662,1	8,8%
Latvia	27,9	36	90,8	155,2	4,8%
Lithuania	72,5	19	65,0	156,4	4,1%
Luxembourg	14,7	130	325,2	470,3	6,6%
Malta	27,6	68	36,1	131,8	10,4%
Netherlands	251,4	2.715	14.584,6	17.551,4	12,1%
Norway	140,1	289	4.613,9	5.043,3	9,9%
Poland	130,6	115	2.769,6	3.015,0	5,3%
Portugal	51,4	207	634,7	893,2	5,0%
Romania	125,8	8	221,0	355,1	2,1%
Slovakia	180,0	168	211,0	559,2	4,5%
Slovenia	34,5	76	236,3	347,1	6,5%
Spain	717,1	604	7.992,2	9.312,9	8,1%
Sweden	952,9	4.361	2.384,5	7.698,0	10,4%
Switzerland	155,8	470	5.982,3	6.607,8	12,8%
United Kingdom	3.573,3	1.419	31.851,2	36.843,2	13,1%
Total	12.780,0	38.904,7	158.732,8	210.417,6	9,8%

# Table 93. Amount of PPI investment in the classical sector, broken down by sub-components A1, A2 and A3, in million €

Source: Author's elaboration

# 7.1.2 PPI investments in the utilities sector (component B)

As explained in section 5.6.2 of the study methodology, the total amount of PPI investments made by public procurers in the utilities sector is estimated by adding up three different sub-components of PPI

investment: published explicit PPI investments (component B1), unpublished explicit PPI investments (component B2) and implicit PPI investments (component B3)<sup>127</sup>.

Overall, the **total amount of PPI investment by public procurers across Europe that are active in the utilities sector is €44,8 billion** in 2018, including €23,3 billion (52%) of explicit PPI procurement and €22,6 billion (48%) of implicit PPI procurement. Public procurers in the utilities sector appear to be much less risk averse than procurers in the classical sector in launching calls for tenders that explicitly request innovative solutions, but also less open also to accept offers with innovative solutions proposed by suppliers even if they didn't explicitly ask for an innovation.

The highest share of public procurement in the utilities sector devoted to innovative solutions is found in Finland (28,2%), Norway (18,2%) and Estonia (13,8%). Conversely, the lowest share of public procurement in the utilities sector devoted to innovative solutions occurred in Bulgaria (1,6%), Romania (1,5%) and Cyprus (0,8%).

The following table presents the absolute amount of PPI investment in the utilities sector and the relative share out of public procurement in the utilities sector for all the analysed countries, with indication of the volumes of each sub-component.

	PPI in the	utilities sector by c	Total amount of PPI in the	% of PPI out of	
Country	Explicit published PPI in the utilities sector (B1)	Explicit unpublished PPI in the utilities sector (B2)	Implicit PPI in the utilities sector (B3)	utilities sector	public procurement in the utilities sector
Austria	16.2	570.4	666.6	1,253.2	5.7%
Belgium	13.9	43.0	399.6	456.4	5.2%
Bulgaria	12.4	2.1	33.9	48.3	1.6%
Croatia	22.5	50.1	62.8	135.5	3.5%
Cyprus	1.0	0.4	4.1	5.5	0.8%
Czech Republic	20.0	44.4	168.8	233.2	1.9%
Denmark	21.7	5.3	128.0	154.9	3.5%
Estonia	25.5	89.9	15.9	131.3	13.8%
Finland	328.4	1,171.3	256.8	1,756.6	28.2%
France	274.8	1,744.4	3,893.6	5,912.8	7.6%
Germany	325.7	6,517.1	1,887.9	8,730.7	9.1%
Greece	50.8	62.0	41.7	154.5	4.2%
Hungary	2.1	14.1	78.1	94.2	3.1%
Ireland	19.8	57.4	214.4	291.6	6.4%
Italy	701.9	1,320.4	2,502.0	4,524.3	6.6%
Latvia	10.4	37.2	18.3	65.9	4.9%
Lithuania	51.7	51.9	10.1	113.7	9.3%
Luxembourg	3.1	43.3	24.0	70.4	6.5%
Malta	2.1	27.8	8.9	38.8	6.0%
Netherlands	26.3	312.7	719.5	1,058.4	7.2%
Norway	707.6	1,679.6	762.9	3,150.1	18.2%
Poland	27.9	14.2	432.0	474.2	2.6%
Portugal	5.5	83.6	222.0	311.0	2.4%

#### Table 94. Amount of PPI investment in the utilities sector, broken down by sub-components B1, B2, B3, in million €

 $^{127}$  The figures provided in this section should be regarded with caution. Due to the unreliability of the Eurostat data in the utilities sector, since 2012 DG GROW has stopped including utilities figures in its publications on public procurement indicators at national level.

	PPI in the	utilities sector by c	Total amount	% of PPI out of		
Country	Explicit published PPI in the utilities sector (B1)	Explicit unpublished PPI in the utilities sector (B2)	Implicit PPI in the utilities sector (B3)	utilities sector	public procurement in the utilities sector	
Romania	41.9	50.0	64.7	156.6	1.5%	
Slovakia	11.6	111.6	67.7	190.9	2.3%	
Slovenia	1.7	4.1	30.9	36.7	2.6%	
Spain	407.4	1,494.7	1,401.7	3,303.8	8.0%	
Sweden	99.1	558.9	141.7	799.7	8.9%	
Switzerland	41.0	346.9	1,026.1	1,414.0	7.7%	
United Kingdom	356.0	2,097.4	7,295.0	9,748.3	7.3%	
Total	3,629.9	18,606.1	22,579.6	44,815.5	7.4%	

Source: Author's elaboration

# 7.1.3 PPI investment in the defence sector (component C)

In order to estimate the total amount of PPI investment in the defence sector, the Study team adopted a different methodology with the aim of addressing the renowned lack of published data on procurement spending in this sector (see section 5.6.3). Given the confidential nature of the information collected by the Study team in relation to defence procurement, this section presents only aggregate figures and estimates that were deemed suitable for publication. All other tables and charts in other sections of this report do not include data on defence procurement, which is purposely kept separate.

The study estimates from the data collected from the 30 countries that **the defence sector in Europe invested €32,9 bn in PPI procurement** in 2018.<sup>128</sup> This is **just above 10% of the total amount of PPI investments in Europe**. However, **out of the total amount of public procurement in the defence sector (€113,5 bn), 29% consists of PPI procurement (€32,9 bn)**, which is significantly higher than in the classical sector (where 10% of total public procurement is PPI) and in the utilities sector (where 7% of total procurement is PPI). This highlights the strong affiliation with innovation of the defence sector. Historically, it has indeed always been important to constantly innovate defence systems, since outdated equipment tends to be of little to no use in this sector.

This finding was also confirmed by various interviews conducted with the ministries of defence in countries with large and middle size defence budgets. Conversely, countries with limited defence budgets prefer to wait for other countries to invest in innovative defence solutions and then purchase only those that have been well-tested and proven to be highly reliable.

	Public procurement (in € bn)	PPI (in € bn)	Share of PPI out of public procurement
Classical sector	2.149,8	210,4	10%
Utilities sector	604,6	44,8	7%
Defence sector	113,5	32,9	29%
Total all 3 sectors	2867,9	288,1	10%

Table 95. Amount and share of PPI investment in the classical, utilities and defence sectors (in € bn and as % of public procurement in the same sector

Source: Author's elaboration

When including the defence sector in the overall picture, some changes are experienced in the ranking of countries' overall performance on PPI procurement. Despite that, the changes in the ranking are limited compared to the ranking based on the classical and utilities sectors only (presented and discussed in detail in Chapter 5).

In particular, when including defence PPI spending, 9 out of 30 countries maintain their initial position in the ranking (Austria, Belgium, Denmark, France, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Latvia, Romania). 10 countries loose or gain just one position (Switzerland, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Estonia, Germany,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> This figure should be considered with caution and of indicative nature. As highlighted in the methodology, the estimating of this figure has requested several assumptions.

Luxembourg, Malta, Norway, Portugal, United Kingdom), and 6 lose or gain 2 positions (Bulgaria, Finland, Italy, Lithuania, Slovakia, Slovenia). Finally, the remaining 5 countries are those with the greatest changes in the ranking, losing or gaining up to 5 positions (Spain, Croatia, the Netherlands, Poland, Sweden). The revised ranking is presented in the following table.

excluding and including defence						
Country	Ranking based on share of PPI (classical and utilities) out of public procurement (classical and utilities)	Ranking based on share of PPI (classical, utilities and defence) out of public procurement (classical, utilities and defence)	Rank difference			
Austria	10	10	0			
Belgium	9	9	0			
Bulgaria	28	26	2			
Croatia	22	25	-3			
Cyprus	25	24	1			
Czech Republic	29	28	1			
Denmark	8	8	0			
Estonia	13	14	-1			
Finland	1	3	-2			
France	6	6	0			
Germany	16	15	1			
Greece	17	17	0			
Hungary	18	18	0			
Ireland	11	11	0			
Italy	14	16	-2			
Latvia	23	23	0			
Lithuania	21	19	2			
Luxembourg	19	20	-1			
Malta	12	13	-1			
Netherlands	3	7	-4			
Norway	2	1	1			
Poland	24	21	3			
Portugal	26	27	-1			
Romania	30	30	0			
Slovakia	27	29	-2			
Slovenia	20	22	-2			
Spain	15	12	3			
Sweden	7	2	5			
Switzerland	4	5	-1			
United Kingdom	5	4	1			

Table 96. Rankings of countries based on their shares of PPI investment excluding and including defence

Source: Author's elaboration

The study estimates from the data collected from the 30 countries that **the defence sector in Europe invested**  $\pounds$ **19,2 bn in ICT-based PPI procurement** in 2018.<sup>129</sup> This represents **58,3% of the total amount of PPI investments in the defence sector in Europe** ( $\pounds$ **32,9 bn**) and **16,9% of the total amount of public procurement in the defence sector** ( $\pounds$ **113,5 bn**). Both are significantly higher than in the classical sector (where 10% of total public procurement is PPI and 41,6% of PPI is ICT-based PPI) and in the utilities sector (where 7% of total procurement is PPI and 14,5% of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> This figure should be considered with caution and of indicative nature. As highlighted in the methodology, the estimating of this figures has requested several assumptions.

PPI is ICT-based PPI). Across the classical and utilities sector, PPI represents 38% of public procurement. This highlights the strong affiliation of the defence sector with ICT innovations.

sectors (in € bn and as % of public procurement in the same sector)				
	Public procurement (in € bn)	ICT-based PPI (in € bn)	Share of ICT-based PPI out of PPI	Share of ICT-based PPI out of procurement
Classical sector	2.149,8	87,6	41,6%	4%
Utilities sector	604,6	6,5	14,5%	1%
Defence sector	113,5	19,2	58,3%	16,9%
Total 3 sectors	2867,9	115,2	40%	4%

Table 97. Amount and share of ICT-based PPI investment in the classical, utilities and defence

Source: Author's elaboration

The above table shows that the defence sector performs much better than the utilities and classical sector in terms of reaching the ambition levels defined in section 5.1. The share of ICT-based PPI out of total PPI in defence is very close to the 60% ambition level. The share of ICT-based PPI out of total procurement in defence even surpasses the 10% ambition level.

### **PPI investments in the classical and utilities** 7.2 sector: comparative analysis

This section provides a comparative assessment of a number of key breakdowns of the total amount of PPI investment in the classical and utilities sectors across the 30 counties. Because of the confidentiality of defence data, these breakdowns do not include PPI investments made by procurers in the defence sector. These breakdowns can also be found for each country individually and in greater detail in their country profile report (see Annex I).

# 7.2.1 PPI investments

### 7.2.1.1 Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

Innovative solutions can vary in terms of their degree of innovativeness. Certain innovations are significantly improved solutions or completely solutions new-to-the-market. These innovations are referred to as "transformative innovations" thanks to their significant and game-changing impact on the market. Other innovations are comparatively less ground-breaking – such as for instance when existing solutions are used or combined in a new way or in a new sector - and are for this reason referred to as "incremental innovations".

As presented in the following charts and tables, innovative solutions purchased by public procurers across all 30 countries consisted predominantly of transformative innovations (84%), and to a lesser extent of incremental innovations (16%). Most transformative innovations bring significant improvements compared to existing solutions (57%) but are not new to the market. Investments in new to the market innovations represent only one third of the investments in transformative innovations, and roughly one quarter of the total investments in innovations (27%).

When it comes to individual countries' performances, a strong variance across countries can be observed, ranging from Luxembourg - where the entire amount of PPI investment consists of
transformative innovations – to Sweden, where nearly three quarters of PPI investments were incremental innovations.





Source: Author's elaboration

### The following table also presents the figures for each country.

Table 98. Adoption of	f transformative versu	s incrementa	l innovations	(as % of p	ublished e	xplicit

Country	Transformative PPI	Incremental PPI
Austria	% (out of total PPI)	% (out of total PPI)
Rusula	5//0	43/0
Beigium	84%	10%
Bulgaria	39%	61%
Croatia	86%	14%
Cyprus	29%	71%
Czech Republic	49%	51%
Denmark	96%	4%
Estonia	95%	5%
Finland	90%	10%
France	83%	17%
Germany	85%	15%
Greece	55%	45%
Hungary	54%	46%
Ireland	89%	11%
Italy	94%	6%
Latvia	96%	4%
Lithuania	89%	11%
Luxembourg	100%	0%
Malta	49%	51%
Netherlands	91%	9%
Norway	97%	3%

Country	Transformative PPI % (out of total PPI)	Incremental PPI % (out of total PPI)
Poland	59%	41%
Portugal	76%	24%
Romania	74%	26%
Slovakia	57%	43%
Slovenia	44%	56%
Spain	92%	8%
Sweden	27%	73%
Switzerland	87%	13%
United Kingdom	96%	4%
European average	84%	16%

There is a link between the performance of countries and their investments in transformative PPI:

- Strong performers (Switzerland, Finland, the Netherlands, Norway) have a high (above 90%) or at least medium (above 50% and below 90%) share of transformative PPI investments.
- Among the bottom performers (Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia), none has a high share of transformative PPI investments.
- Among the other performance clusters, the "good" and "moderate" performance clusters tend to have a higher density of countries with a high or medium share of transformative PPI investments, while the "modest" and "low" performance clusters appear to have relatively few countries with a high share of transformative PPI investments.

	High share of transformative PPI (i.e. countries with share equal or above of 90%)	Medium share transformative PPI (i.e. countries with share above 50% and below 90%)	Low share of transformative PPI at local level (i.e. countries with share below 50%)
Strong performers	NL, NO	FI, CH	-
Good performers	DK, UK	FR, BE, IE, AT	SE
Moderate performers	EE, IT, ES	DE	МТ
Modest performers	LU	EL, HU	-
Low performers	LV	HR, LT, PL	SI, CY
Bottom performers	-	RO, PT, SK	CZ, BG

#### Table 99. Analysis of performance clusters and transformative innovations' adoption rate

Source: Author's elaboration

In conclusion, the key findings that emerge from the analysis of this breakdown are that:

- On average, European countries devote the majority of their PPI investments to purchase transformative innovations, such as solutions that are new to the market or significantly improved. Indeed, on average 84% of PPI entails the purchase of transformative innovations;
- Countries in the higher performance clusters namely those with higher shares of PPI investment out of total procurement also tend to be those that invest the most on transformative innovations. On the other hand, countries in the lower performance clusters appear to invest less in transformative innovations and rely more on incremental innovations.

### 7.2.1.2 Investment readiness across domains of public sector activity

In 2018, the majority of PPI investments across Europe came from public procurers that were active in the "General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs" domain (35% of the total PPI investments), which includes all national, regional and local public authorities. Although all countries have a sizeable share of PPI investment in this sector, there are significant variations between countries in the contribution that this domain of public sector activity brings to the total amount of PPI investments: its contribution ranges from 7% of total PPI investments in Finland up to 87% of total PPI investments in Norway. The average PPI contract value is this domain of public sector activity is  $\pounds$ 1,5 mn, which is surprisingly small compared to other domains like healthcare and social services that proportionally have even smaller size procurers.

Public procurers in the "**Healthcare and social services**" domain accounted also for a very significant share of the total amount of innovative solutions procured across Europe (21%). Even in this very fragmented sector with primarily small procurers (e.g. hospitals), relevant calls for tenders in this domain were identified across all 30 countries. The average PPI contract value in this domain of public sector activity of €2,1 mn.

Thirdly, public procurers in the "**Transport**" domain accounted for 10% of PPI investments across Europe, and even in this case there was at least one case of PPI in each country. The average PPI contract value in this domain of public sector activity is  $\pounds 2,2$  mn.

The relative weight of the other domains never goes above 8%. The lowest share of PPI investments was found in the "**Postal services**" domain, which accounts for only 1% of the overall published explicit PPI investments. This domain is characterised by the highest average PPI contract value ( $\in$ 8,7 mn), pointing to the fact that the few PPI procurements conducted in this domain were particularly sizeable. To the contrary, the "**Education, recreation, culture and religion**" domain features the lowest average PPI contract value ( $\in$ 0,4 mn), with many small-scale PPI procurements performed by small public procurers, such as local schools.

Country	General pub. services*	Transport	Health*	Energy	Environ ment	Construct ion*	Educatio n*	Water	Public order*	Postal services	Other
Austria	35%	4%	19%	4%	5%	2%	2%	1%	1%	1%	26%
Belgium	17%	12%	44%	8%	6%	4%	5%	2%	1%	1%	о%
Bulgaria	50%	2%	10%	9%	4%	10%	9%	2%	3%	0%	1%
Croatia	41%	3%	20%	22%	3%	3%	4%	2%	0%	0%	2%
Cyprus	11%	3%	55%	2%	0%	13%	8%	о%	0%	0%	9%
Czech Republic	16%	7%	28%	8%	6%	10%	19%	0%	5%	0%	2%
Denmark	14%	1%	54%	3%	3%	0%	12%	о%	12%	0%	0%
Estonia	21%	31%	6%	6%	1%	3%	18%	11%	1%	0%	1%
Finland	7%	65%	6%	1%	7%	5%	7%	о%	1%	0%	0%
France	62%	2%	3%	15%	2%	4%	3%	1%	4%	0%	5%
Germany	14%	10%	18%	7%	9%	17%	9%	1%	2%	0%	13%
Greece	48%	22%	2%	8%	3%	0%	7%	4%	3%	0%	2%
Hungary	18%	5%	21%	2%	7%	4%	28%	3%	0%	0%	13%
Ireland	21%	5%	35%	13%	3%	2%	13%	5%	1%	1%	1%
Italy	48%	3%	12%	10%	3%	2%	2%	8%	2%	10%	1%
Latvia	36%	1%	11%	26%	2%	0%	22%	о%	2%	0%	о%
Lithuania	34%	24%	9%	24%	2%	0%	4%	о%	2%	0%	1%
Luxembourg	33%	10%	3%	13%	0%	17%	14%	о%	0%	0%	10%
Malta	32%	6%	24%	о%	5%	0%	25%	5%	4%	0%	о%
Netherlands	66%	4%	3%	8%	1%	4%	5%	5%	3%	0%	0%
Norway	87%	3%	4%	0%	0%	0%	4%	о%	2%	0%	о%
Poland	20%	4%	4%	12%	7%	13%	10%	22%	3%	0%	5%
Portugal	16%	6%	13%	9%	7%	0%	19%	16%	5%	0%	9%
Romania	45%	11%	9%	11%	7%	2%	7%	3%	3%	0%	2%
Slovakia	18%	3%	5%	5%	8%	37%	6%	2%	3%	0%	13%
Slovenia	48%	4%	6%	4%	19%	1%	15%	0%	1%	0%	1%

# Table 100. PPI investment readiness across domains of public sector activity (as % of published explicit PPI investments)

Country	General pub. services*	Transport	Health*	Energy	Environ ment	Construct ion*	Educatio n*	Water	Public order*	Postal services	Other
Spain	36%	36%	21%	0%	2%	1%	2%	0%	0%	0%	1%
Sweden	30%	8%	1%	2%	1%	1%	3%	0%	52%	0%	1%
Switzerland	17%	20%	9%	8%	2%	23%	12%	2%	7%	1%	0%
United Kingdom	25%	5%	46%	1%	0%	1%	4%	6%	12%	0%	1%
European average	35%	10%	21%	6%	3%	4%	5%	4%	8%	1%	3%

Note: General pub. services\* includes: general public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs; Health\* includes: healthcare and social services; Construction\* includes: construction, housing and community amenities; Education\* includes: education, recreation, culture and religion; Public order\* includes: public order, safety and security. Other\* includes to a large extent research organisations

Source: Author's elaboration

Table 101. Average PPI contract values across domains of public sector activity (in € mn)

	General pub. services*	Transport	Health*	Energy	Environ ment	Construc tion*	Educatio n*	Water	Public order*	Postal services	Other
European average	1,5	2,2	2,1	0,9	0,6	0,7	0,4	1,5	5,7	8,7	0,9

When comparing the performance of countries according to their cluster, findings are in line with aggregate results. In all clusters there are at least two countries where the "General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs" domain contributed the greatest share of PPI investments. Similarly, also the "Healthcare and social services" domain is a top contributor to the total amount of PPI investments in multiple countries (7 in total, of which 4 only in the group of good performers). As shown in the following table, there were also 9 countries where a different domain delivered the highest share of PPI investments, such as "Transport" in Finland, Estonia and Spain, or "Education, recreation, culture and religion" in Hungary and Portugal. However, these cases appear to be rather isolated. As a result, no clear link between the performance cluster and the top domain of public sector activity is reported.

# Table 102. Analysis of performance clusters and distribution of PPI investments across domains of public sector activity

	Domains of public sector activity with highest PPI investment readiness (Top contributing domains to total PPI investment)									
	General pub. services*	Health*	Transport	Education*	Water	Construction	Public order*			
Strong performers	NL, NO		FI			СН				
Good performers	AT, FR	BE, DK, IE, UK					SE			
Moderate performers	IT, MT	DE	EE, ES							
Modest performers	EL, LU			HU						
Low performers	HR, LT, LV, SI	СҮ			PL					
Bottom performers	BG, RO	CZ		РТ		SK				

Note: General pub. services\* includes: general public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs; Health\* includes: healthcare and social services; Construction\* includes: construction, housing and community amenities; Education\* includes: education, recreation, culture and religion; Public order\* includes: public order, safety and security Source: Author's elaboration

# 7.2.1.3 Risk aversion in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposals

Interesting insights also emerge when PPI investments are broken down into explicit PPI investments (consisting of the purchase of innovative solutions explicitly requested by public procurers in their calls for tenders) and implicit PPI investments (namely the purchase of innovative solutions proposed by the supplier in response to a call for tenders in which the procurer did not directly request them). Indeed, this breakdown allows to shed light on the procurers' attitude towards innovative solutions.

In a country where the relative share of explicit PPI investments is particularly high and the share of implicit PPI investments is particularly low compared to the European average, this may indicate that:

- public procurers tend to be less risk averse than the European average in taking the initiative to ask specifically for innovative solutions in their calls for tenders,
- public procurers tend to be less open than the European average to accept offers from suppliers who propose innovative solutions in response to a call for tender that did not ask for innovation.

In a different country where the share of implicit PPI investments is particularly high and the share of explicit PPI investments is particularly low compared to the European average, this may indicate that:

- public procurers are more risk-averse than the European average in explicitly asking for innovative solutions when drafting their calls for tenders
- public procurers are more open than the European average to accept offers from suppliers who propose innovative solutions in procurements that do not ask for innovation.

On average, across Europe the amount of implicit PPI investment is significantly higher than the amount of explicit PPI investment (71% and 29% respectively), underlining that European procurers are to some extent cautious in directly requesting innovative solutions in their calls for tenders. On the other hand, they appear to be relatively open to accept offers with innovative solutions to address a procurement need even when the procurer itself did not specifically ask for innovation.

The following chart presents the breakdown between explicit and implicit PPI investment across countries.



Source: Author's elaboration

In over two thirds of the countries, even in several strong and good performing countries, implicit PPI investment exceeds its explicit counterpart. The general risk aversion of public procurers to explicitly request innovative solutions shows that Europe is still underutilising the potential of actively driving

innovation from the demand side. This aspect, which is often regarded as one of Europe's main weaknesses in mainstreaming innovation procurement, is confirmed by the study findings.

At the same time, a high variance can be observed across countries. For instance, Malta, Cyprus, Lithuania, Greece and Sweden are characterised by over 70% of explicit PPI investment. On the opposite side of the spectrum, Switzerland, Belgium, Ireland and Poland have a very limited share of explicit PPI investment, which is below or just above 10% of the total.

# Table 103. Breakdown of PPI investments between explicit and implicit PPI investments(as % of total PPI investments)

Country	Explicit PPI investments	Implicit PPI investments
Austria	47%	53%
Belgium	12%	88%
Bulgaria	48%	52%
Croatia	46%	54%
Cyprus	73%	27%
Czech Republic	33%	67%
Denmark	45%	55%
Estonia	64%	36%
Finland	37%	63%
France	16%	84%
Germany	53%	47%
Greece	71%	29%
Hungary	29%	71%
Ireland	11%	89%
Italy	22%	78%
Latvia	51%	49%
Lithuania	72%	28%
Luxembourg	35%	65%
Malta	74%	26%
Netherlands	18%	82%
Norway	34%	66%
Poland	8%	92%
Portugal	29%	71%
Romania	44%	56%
Slovakia	63%	37%
Slovenia	30%	70%
Spain	26%	74%
Sweden	70%	30%
Switzerland	13%	87%
United Kingdom	16%	84%
European average	29%	71%

Source: Author's elaboration

When comparing the breakdown between explicit and implicit PPI investments with performance clusters, no universal pattern emerges. Some very well performing countries perform below average on explicit PPI investments. There is however a positive relationship between the share of explicit PPI investment and the ranking of the country on PPI investment in its cluster: the majority of the best performing countries in each cluster show typically an above European average amount of explicit PPI investments. Although leading countries generally perform better, reducing the risk aversion of public procurers to actively drive public demand for innovative solutions is still a point that all countries need to work on.

	Above European average explicit PPI investments	Below European average explicit PPI investments					
Strong performers	FI, NO	CH, NL					
Good performers	SE, AT, DK	BE, FR, IE, UK					
Moderate performers	DE, EE, MT	IT, ES					
Modest performers	EL, LU	HU					
Low performers	CY, LT, LV, HR, SI	PL					
Bottom performers	SK, BG, CZ, RO	РТ					

### Table 104. Analysis of performance clusters and breakdown of PPI investments between explicit and implicit investments

Source: Author's elaboration

### 7.2.1.4 Publication rate of PPI investments towards potential suppliers

A further breakdown of PPI investments can be made between:

- Published PPI investments, for which a call for tenders was published EU wide or nationally (in one of the databases collected by the study) <sup>130</sup>
- Unpublished PPI investments, for which no call for tenders was published, not EU wide nor in national databases (limited tendering or direct awards)

Overall, 78% of explicit PPI investments across Europe were unpublished, while only the remaining 22% was published EU wide or nationally. By not publishing the vast majority of calls for tenders for innovative solutions, **European countries are missing out on potential innovations that could speed up public sector modernisation from suppliers that are not informed about the vast majority of PPI business opportunities across Europe.** 

The lack of publication of PPI investment opportunities towards potential suppliers is manifest both at European and at national level. On average, across Europe both the portion of PPI investments that is published at European level in the TED database (18%) and the portion of PPI investments that is published at national level (5%) are low. **European countries are thus missing out on potential innovations both from national and other European suppliers** that are unaware about the vast majority of PPI business opportunities across Europe.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> For a more detailed explanation of the data sources used and on the extrapolation methods, please refer to Chapter 5.



Figure 28. Breakdown of PPI investments between published and unpublished investments (as % of explicit PPI investment)

In four countries – Germany, Austria, the Netherland and Luxembourg – the share of unpublished PPI investment exceeds 90% of the total. In two thirds of the countries the share of unpublished PPI is between 50% and 90%. There are only 6 countries (Romania, Bulgaria, Lithuania, Poland, the UK and Italy) where the share of published PPI investments exceeds the share of unpublished PPI investments. The publication rate of both PPI investments in the European database (TED) and in national databases is in generally low, although there are large differences between countries.

	Publis	hed explicit PPI inve	estments	Unpublished explicit PPI investments
Country	TED	non-TED	Total	Not published in TED or in national databases
Austria	6%	1%	7%	93%
Belgium	11%	4%	16%	84%
Bulgaria	33%	32%	65%	35%
Croatia	5%	29%	34%	66%
Cyprus	22%	7%	29%	71%
Czech Republic	22%	28%	50%	50%
Denmark	33%	1%	34%	66%
Estonia	22%	6%	28%	72%
Finland	23%	1%	24%	76%
France	10%	14%	24%	76%
Germany	7%	<1%	7%	93%
Greece	17%	8%	25%	75%
Hungary	9%	2%	11%	89%
Ireland	27%	4%	33%	67%
Italy	30%	22%	52%	48%
Latvia	33%	1%	34%	66%

# Table 105. Breakdown of PPI investments between published and unpublished investments (in % of explicit PPI)

	Publis	hed explicit PPI inve	estments	Unpublished explicit PPI investments
Country	TED	non-TED	Total	Not published in TED or in national databases
Lithuania	62%	4%	64%	36%
Luxembourg	9%	0%	9%	91%
Malta	22%	2%	24%	76%
Netherlands	8%	0%	8%	92%
Norway	28%	4%	30%	70%
Poland	23%	32%	55%	45%
Portugal	10%	6%	16%	84%
Romania	60%	14%	74%	26%
Slovakia	13%	28%	41%	59%
Slovenia	20%	11%	31%	69%
Spain	26%	9%	35%	65%
Sweden	17%	1%	18%	82%
Switzerland	17%	2%	19%	81%
United Kingdom	52%	1%	53%	47%
European average	18%	5%	22%	78%

Logically, countries that have stricter overall publication obligations for all public procurements also have the highest share of published PPI investments (e.g. Romania with 74%, Bulgaria with 65%, Lithuania with 64% and Poland with 55% of published PPI investments).

Table 106. Analysis of performance clusters and breakdown of PPI between explicit and implicit

	Above European average published PPI investments	Below European average published PPI investments	
Strong performers	FI, NO	CH, NL	
Good performers	UK, FR, DK, IE	SE, AT, BE	
Moderate performers	MT, EE, IT	DE, ES	
Modest performers	EL	HU, LU	
Low performers	SI, LT, HR, CY, LV, PL	_	
Bottom performers	SK, BG, RO, CZ, SK	РТ	

Source: Author's elaboration

### 7.2.1.5 Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

PPI investments were broken down according to three categories / levels of public buyers that carried out the investments, namely: national, regional and local procurers. National PPI investments are those performed by national ministries, national agencies or other national level institutions, while investments performed by public procurers at sub-national level can be distinguished between regional and local level PPI investments.

The following chart and table highlight that, on average, the highest share – and nearly half – of European PPI investments was performed by national level procurers (47%), while the remaining share was nearly equally performed by regional level procurers (24%) and local procurers (29%). Although this might indicate a lack of awareness or know-how about PPI procurement at sub-national level, it must be noted that significant differences emerge among the analysed countries. While some of them confirm this pattern, e.g. Malta – where 95% of PPI investment is performed at national level – others completely diverge from it, e.g. Norway – where regional level procurers are responsible for the vast majority of PPI investment (83%).



Figure 29. Distribution of PPI investment across levels of public sector activity (as % of published explicit PPI)

The following table lists the data presented in the chart above. In all countries, all existing levels of public sector activity are actively making PPI investments, albeit with varying magnitude.

Country	National	Regional	Local
Country	%	%	%
Austria	50%	23%	27%
Belgium	29%	32%	39%
Bulgaria	40%	14%	45%
Croatia	47%	10%	42%
Cyprus	80%	15%	5%
Czech Republic	58%	26%	16%
Denmark	88%	10%	3%
Estonia	51%	45%	5%
Finland	14%	70%	15%
France	27%	18%	55%
Germany	40%	32%	28%
Greece	45%	20%	35%
Hungary	58%	11%	30%
Ireland	63%	9%	28%
Italy	26%	27%	47%
Latvia	36%	29%	35%
Lithuania	87%	6%	7%
Luxembourg	77%	0%	23%
Malta	95%	2%	2%
Netherlands	18%	21%	62%
Norway	12%	83%	5%
Poland	38%	7%	56%

# Table 107. Distribution of PPI investments across levels of public sector activity (as % of published explicit PPI investment)

Country	National	Regional	Local
Country	%	%	%
Portugal	54%	16%	30%
Romania	49%	8%	44%
Slovakia	77%	7%	17%
Slovenia	32%	5%	63%
Spain	43%	35%	22%
Sweden	80%	9%	12%
Switzerland	54%	35%	12%
United Kingdom	67%	7%	25%
European average	47%	24%	29%

The analysis shows no clear relationship between the overall amount of PPI investment and the investment readiness of different levels of public sector activity. However, when taking into account performance clusters it emerges that:

- In most of the analysed countries (21), the highest share of PPI investment is conducted at national level. These countries are well-distributed across all clusters.
- While the largest share of European PPI investment consists of innovative solutions purchased by national-level authorities, countries belonging to the 'strong performers' cluster generally go against the trend: Finland and Norway have their greatest share of published explicit PPI investment at regional level, and the Netherlands at local level. In strong performing countries, the awareness and know-how about PPI procurement may be already better spread also to subnational procurers.
- Countries reporting the greatest share of PPI investment at local level are also spread across different performance clusters, ranging from strong (Netherlands) to bottom performers (Bulgaria).
- The cluster of modest performers composed of Greece, Luxembourg and Hungary is the only one in which all countries have the same pattern in terms of prevalent level of public sector activity (national).
- In general terms, most countries present a non-marginal share of PPI investment performed at local level, however without any cluster-specific correlation.

	(as % of publishe	explicit PPT investment)	
	Countries with the greatest share of published explicit PPI at national level	Countries with the greatest share of published explicit PPI at regional level	Countries with the greatest share of published explicit PPI at local level
Strong performers	СН	FI, NO	NL
Good performers	DK, SE, UK, IE, AT		BE, FR
Moderate performers	EE, ES, DE, MT		IT
Modest performers	LU, HU, EL		
Low performers	LT, CY, HR, LV		PL, SI
Bottom performers	SK, CZ, PT, RO		BG

### Table 108. Cluster-based analysis of PPI investment across levels of public sector activity (as % of published explicit PPI investment)

Source: Author's elaboration

### 7.2.1.6 Distribution of PPI investments across contract types

In order to better understand if a specific contract type is more used for innovative contracts, PPI investments were broken down according to the three contract types: goods, services and works.



Source: Author's elaboration

In terms of value, the largest portion of total PPI investment across Europe is implemented as services contracts (51%), followed by supplies contracts (31%) and works contracts (18%). In terms of number of contracts, the largest number of PPI contracts across Europe is implemented as supplies contracts (53%), followed by services contracts (30%) and works contracts (19%).

The reason for this difference is that the average PPI contract value differs considerably across the contract types: the average PPI services contracts value ( $\leq 2,6$  mn) is nearly three times the average PPI supplies contracts value ( $\leq 0,9$  mn) and over 60% percent larger than average PPI works contracts value ( $\leq 1,6$  mn). Remarkably, whereas works contracts in public procurement are typically more than twice as large as services contracts and more than three times the size of supplies contracts, this is not the same for PPI contracts. PPI purchases in works and supplies contracts are smaller compared to contracts in public procurement in general. Conversely, PPI purchases in services contracts are on average 35% larger compared to services contracts in public procurement contracts in general. This may indicate that innovative services are more costly than regular services.

The portion of PPI investment across Europe that is implemented as works contracts is 12% lower than the typical portion of works contracts in public procurement in general. At the same time, the portion of PPI investments implemented as supplies and services contracts is higher compared to public procurement in general (approximately 6% higher for both types of contracts). As a result, compared to public procurement contracts in general, PPI procurements therefore seem to be implemented on average less as works contracts and more as supplies and services contracts.

Large variations across countries are reported, as shown in the figure above and the table below. Some countries implemented the majority of PPI procurements as services contracts (e.g. Norway), while other countries implemented PPI mainly as supplies contracts (e.g. Czech Republic). When comparing clusters' performance with the contract types used for PPI investments, the strong performing countries (except Switzerland) implement a larger portion of PPI investments through services contracts than low performing countries.

	Wo	rks	Supp	lies	Serv	ices
Country	% of investment value	% of call for tenders	% of investment value	% of call for tenders	% of investment value	% of calls for tenders
Austria	26%	44%	41%	38%	32%	30%
Belgium	12%	26%	34%	44%	55%	27%
Bulgaria	43%	27%	42%	46%	14%	18%
Croatia	19%	21%	54%	60%	28%	26%
Cyprus	5%	12%	83%	62%	12%	13%
Czech Republic	10%	6%	75%	80%	16%	32%
Denmark	54%	6%	25%	61%	21%	26%
Estonia	46%	4%	42%	71%	13%	45%
Finland	4%	12%	10%	43%	86%	30%
France	35%	19%	35%	51%	30%	21%
Germany	39%	26%	24%	52%	37%	18%
Greece	9%	11%	52%	71%	39%	7%
Hungary	27%	17%	68%	76%	5%	53%
Ireland	27%	10%	30%	37%	42%	27%
Italy	12%	26%	63%	47%	25%	15%
Latvia	55%	5%	44%	80%	2%	27%
Lithuania	23%	7%	31%	66%	46%	26%
Luxembourg	46%	35%	32%	39%	22%	13%
Malta	11%	6%	64%	81%	25%	47%
Netherlands	11%	6%	19%	47%	70%	33%
Norway	2%	6%	5%	61%	93%	18%
Poland	51%	28%	41%	55%	7%	24%
Portugal	17%	10%	58%	66%	24%	27%
Romania	12%	10%	60%	63%	29%	21%
Slovakia	6%	9%	78%	70%	17%	31%
Slovenia	27%	14%	62%	55%	11%	47%
Spain	36%	8%	34%	45%	30%	18%
Sweden	6%	13%	20%	69%	75%	35%
Switzerland	33%	17%	38%	48%	30%	51%
United Kingdom	4%	6%	17%	43%	79%	29%
European average	18%	17%	31%	54%	51%	30%

#### Table 109. Distribution of PPI investments across contract types (as % of published explicit PPI investment, as % of nr of calls for tenders)

Source: Author's elaboration

### 7.2.2 ICT-based PPI investments

# 7.2.2.1 Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

As presented in the following charts and tables, ICT-based innovations acquired by public procurers across Europe consist predominantly of transformative innovations (77%) and to a lesser extent of incremental innovations (23%). Compared to the overall PPI investment figures, public procurers are more risk-averse when buying ICT-based solutions compared to innovative solutions in general: the share of transformative ICT solutions (77%) out of total amount of ICT-based solutions purchased is significantly smaller than the share of transformative solutions in general (84%) out of the total amount of innovative solutions that are purchased.

Many countries (27) invest more in transformative than in incremental ICT-based innovations: only Sweden, Greece and Cyprus report a greater or equal share of incremental ICT-based innovation. Overall, the mix of transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations that are adopted in all the countries mirrors the mix experienced for the overall adoption of innovative solutions. For example, Luxembourg shows a predominant share of transformative ICT-based PPI investment while Sweden presents the highest proportion of incremental ICT-based PPI investment.

However, compared to the total amount of PPI investment some differences occur. In 14 countries the share of ICT-based PPI investment spent on transformative ICT innovations is lower than the share of transformative PPI investment in general. In 8 countries (Croatia, France, Greece, Lithuania, Netherlands, Norway, Romania and Sweden), the share of ICT-based PPI investment that was spent on transformative ICT innovations is even 10 percentage points lower compared to the share of general PPI investment that was spent on transformative innovations. Public procurers around Europe therefore need to step up investments in the adoption of transformative ICTs to boost public sector modernisation.



Figure 31. Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations (as % of published explicit ICT-based PPI investments)

Source: Author's elaboration

The following table presents the shares of transformative and incremental ICT-based PPI investment for each country. As for the general PPI, the greatest amount of transformative innovative solutions takes place in the largest European economies.

# Table 110. Comparison between ICT-based PPI investment and overall PPI investment in the adoption of transformative innovations

Country	Transformative ICT-based PPI	Transformative PPI	
Country	% (out of total ICT-based PPI investment)	% (out of total PPI investment)	
Austria	74%	57%	
Belgium	82%	84%	
Bulgaria	73%	39%	
Croatia	69%	86%	
Cyprus	50%	29%	
Czech Republic	56%	49%	
Denmark	97%	96%	

G	Transformative ICT-based PPI	Transformative PPI
Country	% (out of total ICT-based PPI investment)	% (out of total PPI investment)
Estonia	93%	95%
Finland	93%	90%
France	65%	83%
Germany	88%	85%
Greece	41%	55%
Hungary	55%	54%
Ireland	93%	89%
Italy	94%	94%
Latvia	90%	96%
Lithuania	78%	89%
Luxembourg	100%	100%
Malta	58%	49%
Netherlands	80%	91%
Norway	82%	97%
Poland	80%	59%
Portugal	74%	76%
Romania	58%	74%
Slovakia	86%	57%
Slovenia	70%	44%
Spain	89%	92%
Sweden	10%	27%
Switzerland	82%	87%
United Kingdom	97%	96%
European average	77%	84%

When comparing the performance of countries according to their cluster with their shares of transformative ICT-based PPI investment, it can be observed that high shares of transformative ICT-based investment occur in countries falling in the clusters of best performing countries, the strong and moderate clusters. Conversely, modest, low and bottom performing countries typically invest less in transformative ICT-based innovations and still rely more on incremental ICT-based innovations.

Table 111.	. Comparison of clusters and the adoption of transformative ICT-based innovations in
	Europe (as % of published explicit ICT-based PPI investment)

	High share of transformative ICT-based PPI investment (i.e. countries with share equal or above of 90%)	Medium share transformative ICT-based PPI investment (i.e. countries with share above 50% and below 90%)	Low share of transformative ICT-based PPI investment (i.e. countries with share below 50%)
Strong performers	FI, IE	-	SE
Good performers			
Moderate performers	NO, UK	-	-
Modest performers	DK, EE	AT, BE, CH, MT	-
Low performers	-	DE, ES, FR, HU, NL	EL
Bottom performers	IT, LV	BG, CY, CZ, HR, LT, LU, PT, RO, PL, SI, SK	-

Source: Author's elaboration

In conclusion, the main findings can be summarised as follows:

- On average across Europe, a smaller share of ICT-based PPI investments goes to the adoption of transformative innovations compared to overall PPI investments (7% different). Europe needs to boost investment of transformative ICT based innovations to speed up public sector modernisation and economic growth.
- In terms of clusters, leading countries tend to invest more in transformative ICT-based solutions more than countries that are lagging behind. This pattern is in line with the evidence collected on general PPI investments.

### 7.2.2.2 Distribution of PPI investment across different ICT-subsectors

ICT-based PPI investments have been broken down according to the ICT sub-sectors from which they bought ICT solutions: Core ICT-based PPI, Content & Media and ICT Plus.

As a reminder the three ICT sub-sectors are:

- Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes
- Content and Media: includes printed and audio-visual hardware and software
- ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

As shown in the following graph across Europe, most of the innovative ICT-based investments were used for the adoption of Core ICT type solutions (54%), followed by ICT-Plus solutions (44%) and by Content & Media solutions (1%). This not surprising, as the Content & Media sector is also significantly smaller than the other two sectors in Europe. The first two sectors are popular among public procurers across Europe: the Core ICT-sector accounts for the highest proportion of ICT-based PPI investments in 23 out of 30 countries, while ICT Plus accounts for the highest proportion of ICT-based innovative solutions in 7 countries and is well-represented in the others.



Figure 32. Adoption of ICT-based innovations from different ICT sub-sectors (as % of published explicit ICT-based PPI)

Taking into account the average value of a single call for tenders, ICT Plus solutions are those with the largest average contract value (C1,3 mn), while Content and Media solutions have the lowest average contract value (C0,4 mn). The following table presents more in detail the information included in the chart, indicating the share of investment in each ICT sub-sector for each country.

Country	Core ICT	Content and media	ICT Plus
Country	% (out of total ICT-based PPI)	% (out of total ICT-based PPI)	% (out of total ICT-based PPI)
Austria	31%	2%	66%
Belgium	78%	4%	19%
Bulgaria	79%	2%	19%
Croatia	61%	0%	39%
Cyprus	67%	0%	33%
Czech Republic	39%	2%	59%
Denmark	68%	0%	32%
Estonia	69%	5%	26%
Finland	20%	1%	79%
France	85%	2%	14%
Germany	33%	1%	66%
Greece	85%	1%	14%
Hungary	40%	3%	57%
Ireland	55%	1%	43%
Italy	51%	1%	48%
Latvia	30%	0%	70%
Lithuania	63%	1%	36%
Luxembourg	64%	3%	34%
Malta	80%	0%	20%
Netherlands	79%	3%	17%
Norway	66%	15%	19%
Poland	57%	2%	41%
Portugal	65%	2%	33%
Romania	52%	2%	46%
Slovakia	89%	0%	11%
Slovenia	70%	6%	24%
Spain	72%	0%	27%
Sweden	12%	1%	87%
Switzerland	54%	0%	46%
United Kingdom	69%	1%	29%
Total	54%	1%	44%

Table 112. Adoption of ICT-base	ed innovations from	different ICT sectors
(as % of published exp	licit ICT-based PPI	investment)

Source: Author's elaboration

Overall, no relevant pattern emerges by comparing the performance cluster of each country with the innovative solutions that is adopted from the three subsectors. However, two out of three strong performing countries allocate most of their ICT-based PPI investments to ICT Plus solutions, investing highly in ancillary ICTs used for measuring and detection purposes, like sensors and smart meters. As expected, none of the analysed countries allocate the highest share of their ICT-based PPI investments to Content & Media solutions.

different ICT-subsectors in Europe (as % of published explicit ICT-based PPI investment)			
	Countries with the greatest share of published ICT-based PPI in Core ICT	Countries with the greatest share of published ICT-based PPI in Content & Media	Countries with the greatest share of published ICT-based PPI in ICT Plus
Strong performers	IE	-	FI, SE
Good performers			
Moderate performers	NO, UK	-	-
Modest performers	DK, EE, BE, CH, MT	-	AT
Low performers	EL, ES, FR, NL	-	DE, HU,
Bottom performers	BG, CY, HR, IT, LT, LU, PT, RO, PL, SI, SK	-	CZ, LV

Table 113. Comparison of the cluster performance with the adoption of innovations from	
different ICT-subsectors in Europe (as % of published explicit ICT-based PPI investment)	

The conclusions from ICT-subsector breakdown can be summarised as follows:

- The highest proportion of investment in ICT-based innovative solutions across Europe goes to solutions from the Core ICT subsector, followed by ICT Plus type solutions. In all the analysed countries, the lowest investments and calls for tenders focusing on adopting innovative solutions from the Content & Media sub-sector.
- ICT Plus contracts appear to have the highest average contract value, while Content and Media contracts the lowest.
- In all clusters, most countries allocate the highest share of innovative solutions to Core ICT solutions. Strong performers are an exception, with two out of three countries investing most of their ICT-based PPI investments in ICT Plus solutions.

### 7.2.2.3 Investment readiness across domains of public sector activity

The following tables illustrate how the share of investments in innovative ICT-based solutions is distributed across different domains of public sector activity. Overall, across Europe all sectors purchased innovative ICT based solutions. The highest share of ICT-based PPI investments comes from public procurers that are active in the '**Healthcare and social services**' domain (30%), followed by the domains of '**Public order, safety and security**' (19%) and '**General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs**' (16%). Public procurers in the 'Health and social services' and 'public order, safety and security' domains invest relatively more in ICT-based innovations (30% and 19% respectively) than in innovations in general (21% and 8% respectively). However public procurers in 'general public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs' invest relatively less in ICT-based innovations (16%) than in innovations in general (35%). Other domains with a relevant share of ICT-based PPI investment are '**Public Transport**' and '**Education, recreation, culture and religion**', the first perfectly aligned to its corresponding share out of overall PPI investment (10%), the latter increasing its share of investment in ICT-based innovations (9% compared to 4%).

The average size of the calls for tender varies considerably across domains of public sector activity. Some sectors launched a large number of small size tenders, while other sectors purchased innovative solutions through a small number of larger tenders. For example, the highest number of calls for tender was launched by public procurers in the "General public services" domain. However, the **average contract value** in this domain ( $\bigcirc 0,7$  mn) is three times smaller than the average contract value in the domain of "Healthcare and social services" ( $\bigcirc 2,2$  mn). This confirms a relatively similar pattern to the one observed in the analysis of overall PPI investments.

Another commonality between ICT-based PPI investments and overall PPI investments is the marginal shares of investment in innovative solutions that come from public procurers in the domains of '**Water**' and '**Postal services**'. Together with the construction sector, water and postal services invest even less in ICT-based innovations than in innovations in general. Both appear to be domains with limited purchasing of innovative solutions through calls for tender. Finally, strong differences emerge at country level, as presented in the following tables.

	Conoral pub					ICI Dascull	1 mvestmen				
Country	Services*	Transport	Health	Energy	Environment	Construction*	Education*	Water	Public order*	Postal services	Other
Austria	38%	3%	47%	4%	0%	0%	4%	0%	1%	0%	3%
Belgium	27%	12%	32%	7%	6%	3%	10%	1%	1%	1%	0%
Bulgaria	17%	3%	19%	2%	11%	21%	20%	1%	5%	0%	2%
Croatia	15%	10%	47%	11%	3%	7%	4%	1%	1%	0%	1%
Cyprus	11%	0%	9%	3%	0%	33%	20%	0%	0%	0%	23%
Czech Republic	17%	10%	17%	2%	5%	9%	36%	0%	3%	0%	2%
Denmark	35%	0%	9%	5%	2%	1%	22%	0%	25%	0%	0%
Estonia	17%	15%	15%	7%	1%	5%	34%	0%	2%	0%	3%
Finland	6%	78%	6%	1%	4%	1%	3%	0%	1%	0%	0%
France	15%	2%	9%	34%	2%	1%	9%	0%	9%	0%	18%
Germany	20%	1%	40%	1%	10%	1%	9%	1%	5%	0%	12%
Greece	46%	13%	2%	2%	1%	0%	16%	8%	8%	0%	4%
Hungary	14%	1%	24%	0%	5%	0%	47%	1%	0%	0%	7%
Ireland	23%	5%	40%	9%	2%	0%	14%	4%	0%	1%	1%
Italy	17%	3%	27%	31%	2%	1%	5%	5%	6%	0%	3%
Latvia	2%	3%	25%	0%	6%	0%	59%	0%	5%	0%	0%
Lithuania	29%	29%	8%	14%	4%	0%	10%	0%	6%	0%	1%
Luxembourg	30%	0%	8%	11%	0%	14%	20%	0%	0%	0%	17%
Malta	41%	0%	1%	0%	6%	0%	46%	1%	4%	0%	0%
Netherlands	23%	11%	7%	16%	5%	4%	17%	9%	8%	0%	1%
Norway	26%	11%	26%	0%	1%	0%	31%	0%	4%	0%	0%
Poland*	17%	4%	8%	8%	9%	15%	24%	1%	5%	0%	8%
Portugal	24%	12%	14%	1%	8%	0%	25%	0%	6%	0%	10%
Romania	21%	15%	15%	20%	3%	4%	15%	2%	3%	0%	2%
Slovakia	34%	0%	4%	14%	4%	17%	9%	0%	3%	0%	15%
Slovenia	26%	1%	16%	8%	6%	1%	37%	0%	2%	0%	3%
Spain	47%	23%	21%	0%	1%	0%	4%	0%	1%	1%	2%
Sweden	11%	3%	1%	1%	0%	0%	4%	0%	79%	0%	0%
Switzerland	19%	16%	12%	15%	0%	8%	24%	0%	5%	1%	0%
United Kingdom	4%	5%	57%	1%	0%	1%	5%	3%	24%	0%	0%
European average	16%	10%	30%	6%	3%	2%	9%	2%	19%	0%	4%

Table 114. Distribution of ICT-based PPI investment across domains of public sector activity (as % of published explicit ICT-based PPI investment)

General pub. Services\* - includes: general public services, public admin. and economic and financial affairs; Construction\* - includes: construction, housing and community amenities; Education\* - includes: education, recreation, culture and religion; Public order\* - includes: public order, safety and security Source: Author's elaboration

### 7.2.2.4 Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

In this section, ICT-based PPI investment is analysed according to the level of public sector activity where it occurs (national, regional and local).

In contrast with what emerged from the analysis of overall PPI investment, on average across Europe, the largest share of investment in ICT-based innovations is implemented by procurers that operate at national level (69%), while procurers at regional and local level perform a significantly lower share of ICT-based PPI investment (21% and 10% respectively).

Significant differences occur at national level as shown in the chart below.

Figure 33. Distribution of ICT-based PPI across levels of public sector activity (as % of published explicit ICT-based PPI)



Source: Author's elaboration

The table below details the contents of the chart just described, indicating the share of ICT-based PPI investment that was implemented by each level of public sector activity in every country.

Across Europe as a whole, ICT-based PPI investment takes place even more at national level than PPI investment in general. In 27 out of 30 countries **the majority of ICT-based PPI investment was performed at national level** and in 24 of them national level PPI investment accounts for 50% or more of the total amount of ICT-based PPI investment. The same is valid for only 15 out of 30 countries, when overall PPI investment is considered. In three countries, Belgium, Spain and Finland, most of the ICT-based PPI investment is performed at regional level; among these only in Finland this share is more than 50% (80% of regional level ICT PPI investment).

Looking at the individual countries it can be noted that, compared to total PPI investment, some of them show significant differences in their internal distribution investments across levels of public sector activity, when it comes to ICT-based innovative solutions. For example, Norway, which was the country with the highest share of overall PPI investment at regional level (83% regional and 12% national), drastically changes this internal distribution in favour of national-level contracts for ICT-based PPI investments (74% national and 5% regional). Similarly, in the Netherlands the distribution of PPI investment changes in favour of national-level contracts when only ICT-based PPI investment is considered (46% national and 12% local level) compared to the analysis of overall PPI investment (18% national and 62% local level). In addition, in Latvia the sizeable share of overall PPI investment that occurred at local level (35%) becomes close to zero when ICT-based PPI investment is considered. All of this might suggest a tendency by national-level procurers to assume more easily the function of "early adopters" in the field of ICT, especially if compared to regional and local procurers. It may also suggest

an even greater lack of know-how and/or risk aversion towards early adoption of innovative ICTs at sub-national level. The investment readiness of sub-national level is smaller than at national level.

In line with the analysis of overall PPI investment, also when it comes to ICT-based PPI investment public procurers at all levels of public sector activity are actively buying innovative ICTs, albeit with different degree of investment intensity. This indicates that, at all levels, a portion of resources spent for innovative solutions is used to deploy ICTs.

# Table 115. Distribution or ICT-based PPI investments across levels of public sector activity (in % of published explicit ICT- based PPI investment)

	National	Regional	Local		
Country	% (out of total ICT-based PPI)	% (out of total ICT-based PPI)	% (out of total ICT-based PPI)		
Austria	50%	17%	33%		
Belgium	42%	44%	14%		
Bulgaria	69%	11%	20%		
Croatia	51%	13%	36%		
Cyprus	72%	18%	10%		
Czech Republic	64%	30%	6%		
Denmark	87%	11%	2%		
Estonia	74%	16%	10%		
Finland	13%	80%	7%		
France	75%	16%	9%		
Germany	53%	40%	7%		
Greece	45%	13%	42%		
Hungary	77%	11%	12%		
Ireland	60%	7%	33%		
Italy	40%	29%	32%		
Latvia	79%	21%	0%		
Lithuania	81%	4%	15%		
Luxembourg	88%	0%	12%		
Malta	96%	2%	2%		
Netherlands	46%	43%	12%		
Norway	74%	5%	22%		
Poland*	52%	7%	40%		
Portugal	70%	21%	9%		
Romania	65%	15%	21%		
Slovakia	82%	2%	16%		
Slovenia	81%	9%	10%		
Spain	36%	48%	15%		
Sweden	97%	2%	1%		
Switzerland	51%	45%	4%		
United Kingdom	91%	4%	4%		
Total	69%	21%	10%		

Source: Author's elaboration

There is no relation between countries in different clusters and their shares of national-based ICT-based PPI investment, suggesting that the overall ICT-based PPI investment performance of countries (clusters) is not related to the prevalent level of public sector activity that does most of the purchasing.

at the national level (as % of published explicit PP1 investments)							
	High share of PPI investment at national level (i.e. countries with share above 75%)	Medium share of PPI investment at national level (i.e. countries with share between 50% and 75%)	Modest share of PPI investment at national level (i.e. countries with share between 25% and 50%)	Low share of PPI investment at national level (i.e. countries with share below 25%)			
Strong performers	SE	IE	-	FI			
Good performers							
Moderate performers	UK	NO	-	-			
Modest performers	DK, MT	AT, CH, EE	BE	-			
Low performers	HU	DE, FR	EL, ES, NL	-			
Bottom performers	LT, LU, SI, SK, LV	CY, CZ, HR, PT, BG, RO, PL	IT	-			

# Table 116. Comparison between clusters and the share of ICT-based PPI investments performed

Source: Author's elaborations.

The main conclusions of the analysis of the distribution of PPI investments across the three considered levels of public sector activity are:

- In almost all countries ICT-based PPI investments are performed at all three levels of public sector activity.
- Compared to the overall PPI investments, ICT-based innovative solutions are purchased more . predominantly at national level. This evidence occurs in most countries. ICT-based innovations are purchased to a small extent only at local level.
- The average contract value at local level is considerably lower than at the national and regional levels, where the average contract value of ICT-based PPIs is very similar to each other.

### 7.2.2.5 Distribution of ICT-based PPI investments across contract types

In order to better understand if a specific contract type is more used for adopting ICT-based innovation, ICT-based PPI investments were broken down according to the three contract types: goods, services and works.





Source: Author's elaboration

In terms of value, the largest portion of total ICT-based PPI investment across Europe is implemented as services contracts (66%), followed by supplies contracts (29%) and works contracts (5%). In terms of number of contracts, the largest number of PPI contracts across Europe are implemented as supplies contracts (61%), followed by services contracts (31%) and works contracts (8%). The reason for this difference is that the average ICT-based PPI contract value differs significantly across the contract types: ICT-based PPI services contracts are on average considerably larger ( $\mathfrak{C}_{3,2}$  mn) compared to both ICT-based PPI supplies and works contracts (presenting an average contract value of  $\mathfrak{C}_{0,7}$  mn and  $\mathfrak{C}_{1,1}$  mn respectively).

When comparing ICT-based PPI average contract values with PPI average contract values, different trends emerge based on the type of contract under analysis. In particular, ICT-based PPI services contracts are on average nearly one fourth larger than PPI services contracts ( $\mathfrak{C}_{3,2}$  mn versus  $\mathfrak{C}_{2,6}$  mn average contract value). To the contrary, ICT-based PPI supplies contracts are on average one quarter smaller than PPI supplies contracts ( $\mathfrak{C}_{0,7}$  mn versus  $\mathfrak{C}_{0,9}$  mn average contract value). This might be due to cost savings generated by ICTs, when choosing for a digital over a non-digital solutions. It could also point to lack of critical mass in ICT-based PPI supplies contracts. Similarly, ICT-based PPI works contract value). Compared to the average size of public procurement contracts in general, the picture is similar to the general PPI. ICT-based PPI works and supplies contracts are smaller compared to public procurement contracts in general, while services contracts are 35% larger. This may indicate that innovative services are more costly than regular services.

In line to what has been registered in terms of overall PPI, also for ICT-based PPI there are relevant variations occurring across countries. As shown in the previous figure and also in the table below, some countries implemented the majority of ICT-based PPI as services contracts (e.g. Norway, Finland and UK), while others implemented most of ICT-based PPI as supplies contracts (e.g. Latvia, Croatia and Austria). When comparing clusters' performance with the contract types used for ICT-based PPI investments, it emerges that strong performing countries (except Switzerland) implement a larger portion of ICT-based PPI investments through services contracts.

	Wo	rks	Supp	lies	Services		
Country	% of investment value	% of call for tenders	% of investment value	% of call for tenders	% of investment value	% of calls for tenders	
Austria	1%	3%	89%	65%	10%	32%	
Belgium	0%	1%	47%	56%	53%	43%	
Bulgaria	6%	3%	72%	73%	22%	24%	
Croatia	0%	0%	93%	89%	7%	11%	
Cyprus	10%	17%	63%	44%	27%	39%	
Czech Republic	5%	3%	84%	87%	11%	10%	
Denmark	0%	1%	52%	68%	48%	31%	
Estonia	7%	2%	76%	79%	18%	20%	
Finland	0%	1%	9%	49%	90%	51%	
France	3%	5%	50%	55%	47%	41%	
Germany	23%	12%	37%	68%	40%	20%	
Greece	5%	12%	84%	73%	12%	15%	
Hungary	3%	5%	88%	84%	10%	11%	
Ireland	25%	1%	26%	39%	49%	60%	
Italy	12%	21%	45%	55%	43%	24%	
Latvia	0%	0%	97%	87%	3%	13%	
Lithuania	5%	3%	54%	66%	41%	31%	
Luxembourg	11%	18%	48%	36%	41%	45%	
Malta	2%	3%	58%	78%	39%	19%	
Netherlands	0%	0%	39%	38%	61%	62%	
Norway	0%	1%	4%	63%	96%	36%	
Poland	15%	22%	74%	62%	11%	16%	

# Table 117. Distribution of ICT-based PPI investments across contract types (as % of published explicit ICT-based PPI investment, as % of nr of calls for tenders)

Country	Wo	rks	Supp	lies	Services		
	% of investment value	% of call for tenders	% of investment value	% of call for tenders	% of investment value	% of calls for tenders	
Portugal	3%	4%	67%	68%	30%	28%	
Romania	4%	1%	54%	86%	42%	13%	
Slovakia	4%	3%	72%	67%	24%	31%	
Slovenia	8%	10%	69%	70%	23%	20%	
Spain	17%	4%	27%	34%	56%	61%	
Sweden	0%	2%	18%	79%	82%	19%	
Switzerland	4%	6%	59%	55%	37%	39%	
United Kingdom	0%	1%	10%	50%	89%	49%	
European average	5%	8%	29%	61%	66%	31%	

# 8 Methodology related guidelines for decision-makers

This chapter outlines a set of guidelines to enable decision-makers to continue regular monitoring of the progress of national policy frameworks and investments on innovation procurement in the future. These guidelines are aimed at the development of an approach to collect data on public procurement of innovative solutions at EU+ level, designed to be:

- 1. Harmonised and systematically applicable;
- 2. Expertise-based, as it builds upon the feedback from consultations with stakeholders;
- 3. Evidence-based, as it relies upon data collected through a dedicated methodology.

The guidelines are built on the *learning-by-doing* experience that the Study team acquired during the study, taking into account all the shortcomings and difficulties that emerged during the data collection and analysis processes. Such caveats, presented in Section 5.8 above, include the coverage and availability of data (including in particular the availability of tender documentation), the homogeneity of data, the difficulties in implementing EU wide a clear-cut and unambiguous definition of PPI, and the different national thresholds for publication of public procurement calls for tenders. This chapter is structured into three different sections:

- Section 8.1, which provides operational recommendations to decision-makers on how to benchmark in a way that enables to compare different countries across Europe the progress in rolling out comprehensive national policy frameworks that foster innovation procurement;
- Section 8.2, which includes guidelines for the quantification and benchmarking of national investments in public procurement of innovative solutions and the part of that which is procuring ICT-based solutions, allowing to make cross-country comparisons;
- Section 8.3, which focuses on the possible integration of the policy and investment benchmarking results into existing EU scoreboards and benchmarking exercises, including the Digital Economy and Society Index (DESI) and the European Digital Progress Report (EDPR).

# 8.1 Systematic benchmarking of national policy frameworks for innovation procurement

This section expands the methodology for benchmarking national policy frameworks for innovation procurement, presented in detail in Chapter 2 above.

Specifically, the section presents recommendations for an effective and efficient implementation of the methodology, addressing the issues concerning (i) how to gather, clean and align data, (ii) how to address and overcome possible data quality problems, and finally (iii) the possible initiatives to improve the current methodology (i.e. capacity building workshops and the adoption of an IT tool for data collection and validation activities).

# 8.1.1 Collect the data on a regular annual basis, calibrate data from different countries and apply the scoring

Considerable effort and time were dedicated to develop the methodology and set up for the first time a consistent data collection approach for benchmarking policy measures on innovation procurement across the different countries. It is therefore recommended to apply the same methodology in the future, taking into account the (sub-)indicators and the scoring system detailed in Chapter 2.

As most of the work was done manually, it would be good to automate some of the steps to speed up the process when moving to regular repetition of the benchmarking exercise. For this reason, the following recommendations are proposed with the aim of streamlining the process for data gathering, cleaning and calibration.

# For data gathering, cleaning and aligning, it is essential to maintain a two-steps approach: Make use of an online survey for the collection of information, and collect not only responses to questions but also the evidences to justify the response:

- EU survey turned out to be an appropriate tool for conducting the survey, as it offers all the necessary functionalities to conduct the survey, while also allowing to upload background documentation. At the same time, it is available free of charge and easily accessible to all EU officials;
- Building upon the study's experience which required two qualitative surveys / questionnaires to collect all data it is suggested to adopt a modular structure in the questionnaire to streamline the process. Indeed, a modular structure would allow respondents to complete only specific parts in order to reduce fatigue. For instance, by including 10 different sections one per indicator a respondent who is not particularly expert in one indicator (e.g. on the country's spending targets) could easily skip that relevant section, focusing on providing information for the other indicators. Similarly, a respondent could be allowed to skip a certain section in case no changes have taken place since the previous survey by ticking a box ("the situation in the country on (sub-)indicator x has not changed since the last survey");
- Based on the study experience, it is essential to ask respondents to provide the necessary evidence that justifies the status of each indicator (national weblinks or documents where more information about the status in the country on the indicator can be found). On several occasions, the Study team found that (when verifying this evidence) the respondent had answered the questions differently from other respondents. In order to collect the correct information per country and to calibrate the scoring for each (sub-)indicator across the different countries in a fair way, it turned out to be crucial to collect and verify the additional evidence / justification provided by the respondents.

### 2) Follow-up the survey with in-depth interviews

- The study found that follow-up interviews were important to clarify unclear or incomplete responses and for collecting missing and/or additional evidences to justify the responses and the scoring for each (sub-)indicator;
- $\circ~$  In this context, it is also recommended that the survey asks respondents for their consent to be re-contacted at a later stage in order to carry out such follow-up interviews.

# To identify and engage the most suitable survey respondents, the following actions are recommended:

#### 1) Collect information from multiple sources per country

• The information needed for the survey is distributed across different entities in each country. As each entity may have only partial or even different views on different questions in the survey, there is a need to consult multiple sources in each country in order to be able to collect all the information and calibrate the scorings based on a representative and reliable set of evidence. The list of respondents for this study included national ministries (and regional ministries, for countries with regional innovation procurement policies) of different types (ministries responsible for public procurement, for innovation and for the horizontal and vertical sectors), national competence centres on innovation procurement (where available) and, if information was still incomplete, also some individual experts (thematic and innovation procurement experts). Given the fragmentation of competencies in the field, maintaining this approach in each country is needed to ensure completeness and reliability of the survey.

#### 2) Reuse the same sources for future surveys

• Future surveys may be addressed to the same list of respondents that was built up throughout this study. This solution would increase efficiency, considering that these

contacts have already been established, and that their willingness to contribute to the study has already been ascertained. It would also allow simplified data collection for the future, as these respondents may reply simply that the status of a certain indicator has not changed since the previous survey. At the same time, in certain countries competencies and responsibilities on innovation procurement are shifting across different public institutions, which means that the validity of the list of respondents for the survey should be verified (and where needed updated) every time in order to collect all the available and most up-to-date evidence in the field of innovation procurement.

#### 3) Establish a list of dedicated national respondents for future surveys

• As it makes sense to reuse previous sources for future surveys, it is also advisable to create a more structured approach, by establishing a dedicated group of national contact points that are appointed to regularly provide information for the survey on the status of all the national policy measures on innovation procurement in their country. This solution would ensure to have qualified official counterparts to provide data, ensuring greater systematism in the data collection process. The national contact points could be the national statistics offices: they would then be responsible (in collaboration with the EC) for maintaining a valid list of national respondents for the survey. Alternatively, the EC could also maintain itself a valid list of national respondents for the survey (as was done by the Study team).

As regards the timing of the different steps of the benchmarking, the study recommends ensuring a close alignment with the timing of other EU scoreboards. First of all, since the study reused indicators from the EU Internal Market Scoreboard, it is considered essential to ensure that the latest results of the EU Internal Market Scoreboard are included as soon as they become available.

Moreover, it is also necessary to align the benchmarking with the timing of other indexes and scoreboards that may reuse results from this study, such as the DESI/EDPR, the European Innovation Scoreboard and other sectorial scoreboards (e.g. EU energy union scoreboard). As other EU scoreboards are published every year and base their indicators on data from several consecutive past years, this means that the innovation procurement policy benchmarking should also be repeated every year. To update the innovation procurement policy benchmarking on an annual basis, the definition of a clear timeline for data collection, validation and incorporation in the country profiles is recommended.

In this respect, a possible **timeline** is presented below<sup>131</sup>:

- Phase 1 (January-April): the first four months of the year could be used to update the evidence available in the country profiles. This time should be used to gather new evidence from respondents and experts at national level.
- Phase 2 (May-August): during these four months, activities should focus on the validation of the data collected and retrieved in Phase 1.
- Phase 3 (September-October): once validated, the new evidence will be incorporated in the country profiles, presented in an annual EU innovation procurement benchmarking and included in other relevant official yearly EU statistics, scoreboards and benchmarking exercises (additional information on how to incorporate the findings of this study in these exercises is provided in Chapter 8.3).
- Phase 4 (November-December): publication of the new evidence in the EU innovation procurement benchmarking and in other relevant EU statistics, scoreboards and benchmarking exercises.

All the activities envisaged could be carried out by an internal team in the EC and supported by national statistics offices and/or an external contractor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> The timeline should be verified with other relevant Commission departments that are responsible for other EU scoreboards

### 8.1.2 Address and overcome possible data quality problems

As presented in Chapter 2, certain indicators are retrieved from already existing EU indexes and rankings, in particular from the EU internal market scoreboard. Future initiatives will therefore need to periodically verify such indexes and rankings in order to ensure the retrieval of the latest available data.

At the same time, other indicators and sub-indicators were built upon figures that are directly collected in the framework of the study. In this respect, two recommendations are considered to be of particular importance.

- First of all, the survey shall include for each indicator a section where respondents are asked to upload **additional and supporting materials**, such as official documents, national guidance papers, reports, case studies, weblinks, etc. Such additional documentation is often only available in the local language and for this reason may be difficult to retrieve for non-native speakers who may be unaware of where exactly to look for. Therefore, collecting such additional documentation directly from survey respondents significantly reduces the required time to verify and complement information, when necessary.
- Secondly, the possibility of conducting a second survey after the publication of the draft results from the previous one (at least to the respondents) should also be taken into consideration. This would allow stakeholders, as done also in the framework of the present study, to **flag any inaccuracies and suggest possible amendments**.

Despite all the strategies and devices to limit respondents' fatigue, the effort required from stakeholders to provide their contributions remains significant. For this reason, in order to encourage participation, potential respondents should be informed of the advantages of taking part in the survey, such as the possibility of being cited as contributors or receiving reports information.

### 8.1.3 Suggestions to improve the current methodology

### 8.1.3.1 Organisation of capacity building workshops

In order to build the capacity at country level to collect and provide the relevant data for the periodical monitoring and benchmarking, it is suggested to **organise capacity building workshops with national, regional and local authorities.** The workshops – which may be organized autonomously by the European Commission or with the support of an external consultant – would allow to train national interested parties on the characteristics of the indicators, the required steps to monitor them and how to build a national system to monitor innovation procurement.

In this respect, the study's mapping of national institutional counterparts may serve as a basis for the preparation of a list of potential participants in such workshops.

### 8.1.3.2 Set-up of an IT tool to collect information

In order to streamline the complex process of gathering, cleaning and aligning data, a dedicated IT tool could be created for the purpose of centralising the collection of information e.g. a web portal allowing national public procurement experts and officials to fill in requested information through ad-hoc surveys. Such surveys could be structured by presenting the results of the study, asking respondents to validate or amend them. This would reduce respondents' effort, while allowing for higher accuracy and constant updating of information.

For instance, the qualitative indicator 1 focuses on the definitions of innovation procurement, R&D procurement, PCP and PPI in national legislation. In this respect, the survey could provide – for each country – the four different definitions, asking respondents to confirm if they are still applicable, or if to the contrary they have been replaced. In the latter case, follow-up questions would allow to gather information on the new definitions and the pieces of legislation defining them.

Such IT tools could be either developed and deployed as a stand-alone web portal, or included into already existing EC portals/websites where this data collection exercise can be easily centralised, such as the Digital Single Market website.

The proposed solution is a so-called smart crowdsourcing approach, enabling experts to provide directly the information on a web platform. This solution has already been successfully implemented by the European Commission, for example, in the Regional Innovation Scoreboard, the eGovernment action plan evaluation, the Open Science Monitor, the Co-VAL Dashboard, and the Startup Manifesto Policy Tracker, with constant high quality of information and increased sustainability<sup>132</sup>.

The tool may be based on the following elements:

- a central website where information on the policy progress can be directly updated and is immediately published;
- an intelligently created crowdsourcing approach, where quantitative and qualitative information is uploaded directly on the website by a limited set of appointed experts;
- a checklist-based approach aimed at policy monitoring. Each policy objective is translated into a number of concrete measures with "Yes" or "No" answers, backed up by supporting evidence;
- an interactive visualisation of the policy progress through a traffic light system. For instance, indicators above a certain threshold (e.g. the European average) would be coloured in green, indicators with average values would be coloured in yellow, while indicators below the average would be coloured in red;
- real time country profiles summarising all the main information and providing data for download (downloadable country profiles and country datasets in machine readable format, such as CSV).

The use of a checklist approach would be preferable, as it ensures a good quality and comparable policy analysis. The use of such approach would require adapting the questionnaire accordingly. Indeed, all the answers provided have to be evidence-based, i.e. accompanied by a reference to an official document. Finally, an editorial process ensures that a central team revises the experts' input to ensure consistency of calibration and scoring in the benchmarking.

In terms of benefits, this approach usually allows to increase the quality of data at a reduced cost. By enabling experts to directly provide data, this mechanism allows to collect and update evidence with limited effort.

This tool could be used during the above-mentioned Phase 1 (Update of the evidence available in the country profiles). The following phases, namely validation (Phase 2) and incorporation in the country profiles and other EU scoreboards (Phase 3) and publication of the benchmarking (Phase 4), could be implemented by an EC internal team supported by an external contractor. In addition, the platform could envisage visualisation systems to easily compare data.

# 8.2 Systematic benchmarking of national investments on public procurement of innovative solutions

This section elaborates on the methodological approach presented in Chapter 5 to estimate the total amount of PPI investments, the total amount of ICT-based PPI investments and the total amount of public procurement. It provides operational recommendations to implement the methodology developed throughout the study in a regular way in the future, paying attention to ensure the robustness of data collection and the comparability of information retrieved from different data sources.

Moreover, the challenges faced by the Study team on the ground during the data collection process are taken into consideration, highlighting the key issues to be prevented and addressed for a successful and streamlined procedure.

Finally, the section provides a number of suggestions to complement and improve the study's methodology.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> See <u>http://egovap-evaluation.eu/, https://ec.europa.eu/info/research-and-innovation/strategy/goals-research-and-innovation-policy/open-science/open-science-monitor\_en, http://www.co-val.eu/dashboard/, http://www.europeandigitalforum.eu/startup-manifest-policy-tracker/dashboard</u>

# 8.2.1 Collect the data on a regular annual basis, calibrate data from different countries and apply the scoring

The study retrieved data on public procurement expenditure above EU thresholds entirely from TED, which provides a standardised dataset of procurement notices from all the 27 Member States, UK, Norway and Switzerland. Through the EU Open Data Portal, the TED dataset can be freely downloaded in convenient CSV format, and. based on the study's experience, results for a given year are made available during the first half of the following year. However, textual variables such as titles and descriptions of procurements – which are particularly relevant for a semantic machine learning approach – are not provided through the EU Open Data Portal, as the size of the dataset would become too big and unmanageable. For this reason, it is suggested to make arrangement with the unit within DG GROW responsible for the management of the TED database in order to obtain a copy of the dataset with all available variables.

As far as procurements below EU thresholds are concerned, no standardised dataset covering all the 30 countries is currently available. Therefore, building upon the results of this study, it is suggested to conduct extensive desk research to map all available (public and private) sources of tender data in all countries. A substantial amount of time for the interactions with national data providers shall be envisaged, ensuring that a minimum set of variables is provided in accordance with pre-defined technical standards (e.g. data format, order of columns, decimal separator, etc.). Indeed, the construction of the dataset for below EU thresholds procurements turned out to be one of the most challenging tasks of the study and may for this reason be managed as a standalone project in the future, so to better address its complexities.

For a number of countries, the study interacted with the national policy officers responsible for the management of national e-procurement portals. Following-up on these contacts, the possibility of being granted direct access to the e-procurement portals repositories would allow to facilitate the collection of data. Such approach was tested in France, which provides procurement data through a beta Application Programming Interface (API) to its national gazette (Bulletin officiel des annonces de marchés publics).<sup>133</sup> Such a real-time access to public procurement would allow to access a greater amount of tender documentation in comparison with an ex-post collection, due to the fact that public procurers sometimes make tender documentation available only for a limited time (i.e. while they are open to receive offers). At the same time, due to the renowned issues related to the automation of access to tender documentation (such as generic links to the public procurers' portals, links redirecting to generic administrative documents, and other issues as detailed in Chapter 5), it is not possible to exactly quantify the impact of a real-time approach to access procurement documentation.

For the purposes of further increasing the volume and improving the quality of data collected, it is also proposed to explore the possibility of exploiting synergies with similar projects in the field, such as the Opentender Portal of the DIGIWHIST project, which, throughout the implementation of the present study, included only a limited number of calls for tenders but is constantly improving.

For a single country, multiple datasets from different data sources could be potentially combined, taking the necessary precautions to avoid duplication of data. Indeed, the study highlighted that certain data sources – while insufficient when considered alone due to the lack of certain key variables – provided a wealth of additional information to be exploited, if appropriately combined and aligned with other data sources. For instance, in Finland the Ministry of Finance provides a public database (Hilma) that includes the most relevant key variables requested for the study. However, this database does not include any description of the procurement or relevant link to tender documentation. As a result, it was not possible to identify potential PPIs using a machine learning tool. For this reason, the dataset was combined with the database from a private data provider (Credita), which includes information on the tender description. The combined use of both databases allowed to fill this gap and cover all the variables needed to carry out the analysis.

In conclusion, the construction of the dataset of public procurements – with particular reference to those below EU thresholds – is to be regarded as a snowball process, to be developed and improved over time.

<sup>133</sup> https://echanges.dila.gouv.fr/OPENDATA/BOAMP/

Given that a real-time data collection would still not be carried out in the majority of countries as far as below EU-thresholds procurements are concerned, a possible timeline for the ex post collection of quantitative data and the replication of the study's methodology for the analysis is presented below, with the aim of estimating PPI expenditure for a hypothetical year x:

- Phase 1 (July-December of year x): the second half of the year x could be used to map all the available data sources for public procurements below EU thresholds, assessing the coverage and availability of data, the different formats and as far a private data sources are concerned the cost of the service.
- Phase 2 (January June of year x+1): after the mapping and selection of data sources, the first 6 months of the year x+1 could be devoted to putting together the dataset, and carrying out the necessary data cleaning procedures.
- Phase 3 (July of year x+1): once the dataset is ready and assuming a machine learning tool for the identification of PPIs is used as in the present study the month could be used to run the machine to prepare a preliminary list of potential PPIs.
- Phase 4 (August October of year x+1): building upon such list, the following three months would serve the purpose of manually checking and validating potential PPIs, so to finalise the confirmed list of PPIs in each country.
- Phase 5 (November of year x+1): this phase would have to be devoted to implement the analytical methodology, including calculations, extrapolations and estimations.
- Phase 6 (December of year x+1): finally, the new evidence will be incorporated in the innovation procurement expenditure country profile reports, presented in an annual report and included in relevant EU official yearly innovation statistics, scoreboards and benchmarking exercises (additional information on how to incorporate the findings of this study in these exercises is provided in Section 8.3).

All the activities envisaged could be carried out by an internal team in DG CNECT and supported by an external contractor. The following table provides scores to the different sources of data used in the framework of the study for the collection of data for public procurements below EU-thresholds, according to the following criteria:

- Country coverage, namely the different countries covered by the data source;
- Contribution to cover below-EU thresholds procurements, which was based on the number of calls for tenders provided;
- The availability of contract prices, defined in terms of calls for tenders for which the value field is available (for an exact quantification of the coverage and availability of all metadata fields, please refer to Chapter 5 above);
- The availability of other key variables such as procurement descriptions and links to the full documentation (for an exact quantification of the coverage and availability of all metadata fields, please refer to Chapter 5 above)
- The price of the data;
- The willingness to contribute, determined on the basis of the interactions that took place with the Study team to agree on the delivery and the format of the data.

Such information may serve as a basis for evaluation of the suitability of the sources for future data provision to the European Commission.

Data provider, name of database	Public/ private	Country coverage	Contribution to cover below EU- thresholds	Availability of contract prices	Availability of other key meta data	Price	Willingness to contribute
Tender Service Group	Private	AT, BG, HR, CY, CZ, DE, EL, HU, PL, PT, RO, SK, SI, ES, CH	Varies greatly from country to country	Varies greatly from country to country	Medium	Low	High
Service public fédéral – Stratégie et Appui, e- Procurement Platform	Public	BE	High	Low	High	Free	Low
UdbudsVagten, Udbud og opgaver	Private	DK	Low	Low	High	High	High
Public procurement and state aid department, Riigihangete register	Public	EE	Medium	High	Medium	Free	Medium
Credita, Julkisethankinnat	Private	FI	Low	Low	Medium	Low	Medium
DILA, Bullettin officiel des annonces des marchés publics (BOAMP)	Public	FR	High	Low	Medium	Free	Low
Proactis Holdings Plc, Tenderdirect	Private	IE, UK	Medium	Low	Medium	Medium	Medium
ANAC, Sistema Informativo Monitoraggio Gare (SIMOG)	Public	IT	High	High	Low	Free	Medium
Public Procurement Office, Open VPN data	Public	LT	Medium	Low	Medium	Free	Medium
Department of Public Works, Portail des marchés publics	Public	LU	Low	Low	Medium	Free	Low
Procurement Monitoring Bureau, Open Public Administration Data Service	Public	LV	Low	Low	Low	Free	High
Department of Contracts, e-PPS database	Public	МТ	Medium	High	Low	Free	High
PIANOo, TenderNed	Public	NL	Low	Low	Medium	Free	Low
Difi, Doffin	Public	NO	Medium	Low	Low	Free	Medium
Visma, Opic	Private	SE	Low	Low	High	High	High

#### Table 118. Public and private data sources for below thresholds notices

Source: Author's elaboration

### 8.2.2 Address and overcome possible data quality problems

The current methodology for the estimation of PPI investments and ICT-based PPI investments necessarily relies on incomplete datasets, as not all procurements are published and accessible. In order to strengthen the robustness of estimates, an increasing amount of data have to be collected in the

future, including in particular procurements below EU thresholds. At the same time, a number of areas for improvement in how estimates are made can be envisaged. These include in particular:

- For the TED dataset and certain datasets of below EU thresholds procurements, more reliable estimation of missing contract values could be obtained if it were possible to automatically retrieve the missing value of a certain call for tenders from the corresponding contract award notice, through the use of a dedicated code that allows starting from a contract award notice to track back the original Call for tenders. It is to be noted, however, that such approach would not be applicable for all Calls for tenders that have not been awarded yet. From the moment the benchmarking is applied to several years, the contract values in the contract award notices instead of the values in the contract notices could be used;
- The accuracy of the approach to estimate missing contract values based on other tenders of a similar type (clusters) could be improved through the use of historical series, with the aim to increase the number of observations within each cluster of contract notices, and consequently increase the number of CPV-digits of each cluster for which missing contract values are estimated, making cluster values more accurate. While historical series are already available for TED, they would have to be built up over the years for below EU thresholds procurements;

From a more operational point of view, it is highlighted that contractual agreements with private data providers shall envisage payments only after one or two months from receipt of data extractions, so to allow to spot any inaccuracies and request updated extractions. In addition, substantial amount of time to manually clean the data, including in particular the manual retrieval of Calls for tenders' CPV codes, which are essential for the clustering of procurements and the subsequent estimation of missing values, shall be taken into account. In a view to reduce the substantial amount of manual work required to clean data and fill in gaps, additional efforts will have to be devoted to interacting with national data providers so to ensure that information is provided homogeneously.

The lack of data and its heterogeneity is considered to be particularly challenging in the defence and utilities sectors, which in accordance with the EU Public Procurement Directives have less stringent obligations to publish Calls for tenders. Since the current methodology for the classical and utilities sector relies significantly on extrapolations based on the limited information available in TED, efforts to improve the collection of published procurement data at national level should be made also in these sectors. For collection of the defence sector data it would help to work with a dedicated network of contact points in national defence ministries. In the defence sector, contacts with relevant national representatives should be launched as soon as possible, based on the study's database of contact points and dedicated questionnaire, so to allow for the sometimes-lengthy procedures of national ministries for the authorisation of information disclosure.

The study methodology to identify the investments in public procurement of ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI) used first known CPV codes for the ICT sector and its sub-sectors to filter out automatically the lion share of all call for tenders that concern ICT-based solutions. However, especially when the purchase does not concern 'only' ICT good or services (e.g. the purchase of construction and ICT equipment) or where ICTs are embedded inside other solutions (e.g. a digital learning system), procurers often tick only the main CPV code (construction, health) without an additional CPV code for the ICT aspects of the procurement. Therefore, the Study team learned that it was important to implement also an additional manual check across the other calls for tenders that were not identified as ICT related tenders through the CPV codes.<sup>134</sup>.

### 8.2.3 Suggestions to improve the current methodology

### 8.2.3.1 Supply-side data collection methodology

The current methodology for the classical and utilities sector is based on the analysis of demand-side data (Calls for tenders and tender documents). The great advantage is that allows to analyse detailed breakdowns of what type of innovative solutions are being procured by which type of procurers etc. However, a clear limit emerges from this methodology: only a percentage of all procurements is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> The manual check carried out during th study revealed that there were approximately 30% extra ICT-based PPI investments compared to filtering out only the PPI tenders with an ICT sector CPV code. Therefore, it would be important in the future to continue this manual cross-checking

published and only a fraction of these calls for tenders include all the data parameters needed for the study. Thus, in several cases significant extrapolation is needed to estimate the total amount of PPI investment and the total amount of ICT based PPI investment in Europe. This issue could be addressed by complementing the demand-side methodology with a supply-side methodology to cross-check the data on the total amount of PPI and ICT based PPI investment.

The supply-side methodology can be implemented by collecting information on the amount of sales of innovative solutions by suppliers across Europe to the public sector, including a breakdown between sales of explicitly requested innovative solutions and sales of innovative solutions autonomously proposed by the supplier. From the sales reported by suppliers in the ICT sector, the total amount of ICT based PPI investment (and its split into explicit and implicit ICT based PPI investment) could be estimated. From the sales reported by suppliers in thematic sectors (e.g. health, energy, security etc.), the total amount of PPI investment in each of those thematic sectors could be estimated.

As the EU innovation scoreboard already contains an indicator that collects information on the amount of sales of innovative solutions by European suppliers across all EU countries, this indicator could be further developed and broken down to collect the missing information for estimating the amount of explicit and implicit PPI investment from the supply side. It could also differentiate between the sales of ICT based and non-ICT based solutions. As there is very little cross-border procurement in Europe (1,6%) the information collected from suppliers in each country could estimate both the total national PPI investment and when adding up the data for all countries the total PPI investment in Europe.

In order to retrieve such information, a survey of a representative sample of European companies that have public sector customers could be carried out. This would require that enough suppliers in each country are surveyed in all 10 thematic sectors of public sector activity used by the demand-side methodology (i.e. the 10 sectors of public sector activity of the EU public procurement directives) and that enough suppliers of ICT based solutions in each country are surveyed across those 10 thematic sectors.

### 8.2.3.2 EU wide survey of public procurers

In addition to a supply-side survey, a European-wide survey to a representative set of public procurers across all sectors of public sector activity could be implemented in order to collect information on their individual PPI investments. This approach is considered to be particularly relevant for the defence and utilities sectors, which are characterised by a more limited rate of publication of calls for tenders than the classical sector.

### 8.2.3.3 Flag system to be incorporated in the TED portal

As highlighted in Chapter 5, the study applied a machine learning tool to automatically identify PPIs. However, due to the fact that the definition of an innovative solution is multi-faceted and that the descriptions of what is being procured in contract notices and tender documents vary greatly in terms of quality and length, this approach entails a number of limitations. For this reason, the study's experience suggests the creation of a mandatory flag system that requires public procurers themselves to indicate whether the notice they are publishing concerns the procurement of an innovative solution or not. In particular, the flag system could be used in all types of notices in the three following cases:

- 1) **Prior information notice** (and periodic indicative notice): here, the flag would help identify those procurements that are potentially innovative because the procurer is consulting the market on innovation aspects when preparing its tender documents.
- 2) **Contract notice** (and design contest notice, qualification system notice and the notice for public contracts for social and other specific services and the notice for public service contract for public passenger transport by rail and by road): here, the flag would help identify both those procurements in which the procurer is specifically requesting innovation to be delivered (innovation required in the description of what is to be procured) and those procurements in which the procurer is open to receive offers with innovative solutions even without explicitly requesting them (use of specific techniques in call for tenders to encourage innovation in the procurement).
- 3) **Contract award notice** (and result of design contest notice): here, the flag would help identify procurements in which procurers have finally really purchased an innovative solution. A comparison with the potential PPIs identified via contract notices would give an indication

also on the amount of PPIs where the suppliers delivered innovative solutions on their own initiative in a regular procurement that was not designed to specifically request innovation or to be particularly open to innovation.

The flag system requires a dedicated development within the tendering portal (in TED and also in national tendering portals). In order to make it to distinguish TED notices for market consultations from other prior information notices and to distinguish TED notices that concern innovation procurements from those that do not deal with innovation, the European Commission has announced in its e-Forms policy guidance framework that it will make available in the coming years a dedicate TED notice for preliminary market consultations and that it will include an identifier / flag in all the above TED notices<sup>135</sup>. This flag will enable public buyers to indicate if a notice concerns an innovation procurement. The way it is foreseen in the e-Forms policy guidance framework, is that the flag is however still an 'optional' field in the notices, meaning that it is not mandatory for procures to fill it in.

In order for the flag system to become a useful and reliable way of identifying calls for tenders that concern the purchase of innovative solutions, it requires that in the future all European countries accept this "flag" to become a mandatory element to be filled in in all notices and it requires also that public procurers understand what innovative solution means in order to correctly flag PPI procurements. In this context it would be useful to provide on all the national and European procurement portals an "innovation checklist", aiming to explain to procurers, standardise and simplify the identification of public procurements of innovative solutions. In this respect, a possible good practice to be investigated is the Estonian approach, consisting of a real-time assessment that enables to directly "identify and flag" on the e-Procurement portal the potentially innovative procurements.

Since a large number of notices (e.g. below EU thresholds) are not published on TED and not published on national public portals, the methodology shall consider the flag system not as the only source of information to quantify the amount of PPI investments but as an 'add-on' input that can complement a broader and more comprehensive methodology (an additional way to cross-check and improve the reliability of the methodology).

# 8.3 Incorporate the collected information in other EU scoreboards

This final section presents a series of recommendations on how to integrate the information from the benchmarking of national policy frameworks and investments on innovation procurement into existing European scoreboard and indexes.

### 8.3.1 Including ICT related information in the DESI and EDPR

The European Digital Economy and Society Index (DESI) is a composite index that includes a number of indicators – updated every year – that assess quantitatively the digital performance of EU Member States. The quantitative evidence from DESI is combined with the European Digital Progress Report (EDPR) that provides country-specific qualitative policy insights in a set of country profiles.

The DESI and the EDPR are structured around five key sections, each with its own methodologies for data collection and analysis:

- 1) Connectivity
- 2) Human Capital
- 3) Use of the Internet and Privacy
- 4) Digitisation of Enterprises
- 5) Digital Public Services

Additional thematic sections have been developed and published recently, such as the Women in Digital Scoreboard, the R&D in ICT or the International DESI (I-DESI) to compare EU Member States with other countries.

In line with this trend, the results of the benchmarking of national policy frameworks and investments on innovation procurement could directly complement the DESI and the EDPR, either by creating a new Section 6 or by adding a new indicator inside Section 5 devoted to innovation procurement of ICT

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{135}{01aa75ed71a1} E-forms policy guidance framework: \\ \underline{https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/73a78487-cc8b-11ea-adf7-01aa75ed71a1}$ 

based solutions (this section could also be called more broadly "digital transformation / modernisation of public services"). More specifically, the DESI could include the quantitative evidence on the amount of ICT based PPI investments made in each country, in particular:

- The **total amount of public procurement of innovative ICT-based solutions** that was spent in each country in that year, and the **distance from reaching the ambition level** that is needed to achieve full speed digital transformation / modernisation of the public sector;
- The breakdown of this **total amount of public procurement of ICT-based solutions across the 10 sectors of public sector activity** (general public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs; health and social services; public transport; construction and housing; energy; environment; water; postal services; public order, safety, security and defence; education, recreation, culture and religion).

This would enable the DESI to quantitatively monitor the progress across different countries in using ICT-based solutions to modernise public services, both in the whole public sector in that country and more specifically in each of the 10 domains of public sector activity.

The EDPR country profiles could include the following qualitative evidence on the benchmarking of national policy frameworks for innovation procurement in each country:

- 1) The **score for indicator 3 (ICT policies)** from the benchmarking of national innovation procurement policy frameworks for each country in that year;
- 2) **The total score of the country** from the benchmarking of national innovation procurement policy frameworks in each country.

The first point would enable the EDPR to qualitatively monitor the progress of different countries in setting innovation procurement as a strategic priority in their national ICT policies and in defining national strategies for procuring/deploying specific innovative ICTs in the public sector (e.g. AI, blockchain etc.). The second point would enable the EDPR to qualitatively monitor the progress of different countries in deploying a mix of policy measures that are needed to strengthen the enabling framework for ICT procurers to procure and deploy more innovative ICT solutions (such as an action plan, spending target, incentives, monitoring and capacity building measures, an innovation friendly procurement market with clear definitions and regulatory framework for innovation procurement etc.).

# 8.3.2 Including innovation procurement expenditure information in the European Innovation Scoreboard

The European Innovation Scoreboard is an annual comparative assessment of how EU Member States and selected third countries perform in research and innovation. It is built upon a composite index, consisting of the average performance across the following 27 indicators.

Types of indicators	<b>Dimensions of indicators</b>	Indicators		
		1.1.1 New doctorate graduates		
	Human resources	1.1.2 Population aged 25-34 with tertiary education		
		1.1.3 Lifelong learning		
Framework		1.2.1 International scientific co-publications		
conditions	Attractive research systems	1.2.2 Top 10% most cited publications		
		1.2.3 Foreign doctorate students		
	Innovation-friendly	1.3.1 Broadband penetration		
	environment	1.3.2 Opportunity-driven entrepreneurship		
	Finance and support	2.1.1 R&D expenditure in the public sector		
Turneturente	Finance and support	2.1.2 Venture capital expenditures		
investments	Firm invoctmente	2.2.1 R&D expenditure in the business sector		
	r'ii iii iiivestiiielits	2.2.2 Non-R&D innovation expenditures		

#### Table 119. Measurement framework of the European Innovation Scoreboard
Types of indicators	Dimensions of indicators	Indicators
		2.2.3 Enterprises providing training to develop or upgrade ICT skills of their personnel
	Innovators	3.1.1 SMEs with product or process innovations
		3.1.2 SMEs with marketing or organisational Innovations
		3.1.3 SMEs innovating in-house
	Linkages	3.2.1 Innovative SMEs collaborating with others
Innovation activities		3.2.2 Public-private co-publications
		3.2.3 Private co-funding of public R&D
	Intellectual assets	3.3.1 PCT patent applications
		3.3.2 Trademark applications
		3.3.3 Design applications
	Employment impacts	4.1.1 Employment in knowledge-intensive activities
Impacts		4.1.2 Employment fast-growing enterprises of innovative sectors
	Sales impacts	4.2.1 Medium and high-tech product exports
		4.2.2 Knowledge-intensive services exports
		4.2.3 Sales of new-to-market and new-to-firm product innovations

Source: Author's elaboration based on European Innovation Scoreboard Methodology Report

A continued benchmarking of innovation procurement expenditure could directly contribute to the creation of a new indicator, to further enrich dimension "Investments – Finance and support" and the dimension entitled "Impacts – Sales impacts".

The first, i.e. "Investments – finance and support", analyses inputs/investments at the start of the innovation chain, in the R&D phase. For this reason, it is informed by two indicators which measure public and private aspects as further detailed in the table below.

# Table 120. Current indicators under the "Investments – Finance and support" dimension of the European Innovation Scoreboard

Indicator	2.1.1 R&D expenditure in the public sector (percentage of GDP)
Numerator	All R&D expenditures in the government sector (GOVERD) and the higher education sector (HERD)
Denominator	Gross Domestic Product
Interpretation	R&D expenditure represents one of the major drivers of economic growth in a knowledge-based economy. As such, trends in the R&D expenditure indicator provide key indications of the future competitiveness and wealth of the EU. Research and development spending is essential for making the transition to a knowledge-based economy as well as for improving production technologies and stimulating growth.
Data source	Eurostat
Indicator	2.1.2 Venture capital expenditures (percentage of GDP)
Indicator Numerator	<ul> <li>2.1.2 Venture capital expenditures (percentage of GDP)</li> <li>Venture capital expenditures is defined as private equity being raised for investment in companies. Management buyouts, management buy-ins, and venture purchase of quoted shares are excluded. Venture capital includes early-stage (seed + start-up) and expansion and replacement capital.</li> </ul>
IndicatorNumeratorDenominator	<ul> <li>2.1.2 Venture capital expenditures (percentage of GDP)</li> <li>Venture capital expenditures is defined as private equity being raised for investment in companies. Management buyouts, management buy-ins, and venture purchase of quoted shares are excluded. Venture capital includes early-stage (seed + start-up) and expansion and replacement capital.</li> <li>Gross Domestic Product</li> </ul>
IndicatorNumeratorDenominatorInterpretation	<ul> <li>2.1.2 Venture capital expenditures (percentage of GDP)</li> <li>Venture capital expenditures is defined as private equity being raised for investment in companies. Management buyouts, management buy-ins, and venture purchase of quoted shares are excluded. Venture capital includes early-stage (seed + start-up) and expansion and replacement capital.</li> <li>Gross Domestic Product</li> <li>The amount of venture capital is a proxy for the relative dynamism of new business creation. In particular for enterprises using or developing new (risky) technologies, venture capital is often the only available means of financing their (expanding) business.</li> </ul>

Source: Author's elaboration based on European Innovation Scoreboard Methodology Report

In the public sector, indicator 2.1.1 (i.e. R&D expenditure in the public sector) captures only R&D expenditures in the public sector that are implemented through subsidies/grants allocated by R&D programs of R&D ministries/agencies. It is therefore suggested to create an additional indicator that looks also at R&D expenditures implemented through public procurements allocated by public buyers

across all domains of public sector activity (e.g. by public buyers in health, transport, energy etc.). This additional indicator (i.e. indicator 2.1.3) could have the following features:

 Table 121. Suggested additional indicator to be included under the "Investments – Finance and support" dimension of the European Innovation Scoreboard

Indicator	2.1.3 Public procurement of R&D expenditure in the public sector (as a percentage of total public procurement)
Numerator	Amount of public procurement of R&D expenditure in the public sector
Denominator	Gross Domestic Product or Amount of public procurement expenditure in the public sector
Interpretation	R&D procurement expenditure is a key driver of economic growth as it drives forward public sector modernisation and simultaneously opens up from the public demand side new areas for companies to gain competitive advantage. It reflects the contribution that public sector in all its domains of activity (e.g. health, transport, energy etc) makes through public procurement to encourage the research and development of innovative solutions.
Data source	Can be derived from the same public procurement datasets collected by the study methodology and public procurement data from Eurostat

Source: Author's elaboration

The second dimension, i.e. "Impacts - Sales Impacts", measures the economic impact of companies' innovation activities. It includes three indicators, namely (i) exports of medium and high-tech products, (ii) exports of knowledge-intensive services, and (ii) sales due to innovation activities. The recommendation of the Study team is to break down the last indicator into:

- "Sales to the public sector due to innovation activities" and
- "Sales to the private sector due to innovation activities".

This additional breakdown would enable to track to what extent companies' efforts to invest in innovation activities are having an impact not only on increasing their sales to private sector customers but also to public sector customers. The data for this new indicator could be collected through the supply-side approach explained in section 8.2.3.1 and the data concerning sales to public sector customers should be cross-checked with the amount of PPI investment estimated by the study methodology. More details of the suggested additional indicator are presented in the table below.

# Table 122. Suggested additional indicator to be included under the "Impact– Sales" dimension of the European Innovation Scoreboard

Indicator	4.2.3 Sales of new-to-market and new-to-firm innovations
Numerator	Total amount of sales of new-to-market and new-to-firm innovations, split into: 1) Amount of sales of new-to-market and new-to-firm innovations to public sector customers 2) Amount of sales of new-to-market and new-to-firm innovations to private sector customers
Denominator	Total amount of sales, split into: 1) Amount of sales to public sector customers 2) amount of sales to private sector customers
Interpretation	Sales of innovative solutions determines companies' growth potential and competitiveness, they also determine the speed of adoption of innovative solutions on the market. The breakdown enables to track to what extent companies' efforts to invest in innovation activities are having an impact not only on increasing their sales to private sector customers but also to public sector customers.
Data source	Amount of R&D procurement expenditure that can be derived from the same public procurement datasets collected by the study methodology and public procurement data from Eurostat

Source: Author's elaboration

The criteria envisaged by the European Innovation Scoreboard to determine whether a new indicator may be incorporated into the scoreboard are presented in the following table.

### Table 123. Criteria for the selection of additional indicators for the European Innovation

Area	Criterion		
Relevance for policy-making	Rapidly changing innovation megatrends, practices, and framework conditions		
	Analytical soundness		
Quality	Reliability		
Quanty	Transparency		
	Comparability across countries		

Comparability over time
Timeliness

Source: Daniel W. Bloemers, European Commission, GROW-F1, Workshop "The Strategic Use of Innovation Procurement", 7 September 2017

The methodology of the present study can be considered to produce data that fulfil all the abovementioned criteria, with the exception of the criterion "comparability over time". However, this last criterion will be eventually met in the future, should the methodology be replicated over several years, resulting in the construction of a time series of comparable results.

#### Including information on PPI expenditure in other 8.3.3 scoreboards

The results of the investment benchmarking could also be included in other scoreboards and reports, such as the following:

- EU Public sector Innovation Scoreboard<sup>136</sup>
- ERA progress report<sup>137</sup> (this should track national R&D procurement investments) •
- EU single market scoreboard (in particular the public procurement scoreboard part of it) •
- EU Economic semester scoreboard (in particular the European competitiveness report) •

In addition to the aggregate figures on PPI expenditure, the study has also estimated PPI in the 10 different domains of public sector activity. This sectorial breakdown could thus contribute to various EU scoreboards with a sectorial focus, as presented in the following table:

Scoreboard	Link	Additional notes	
EU health policy indicators	https://ec.europa.eu/health/indic ators/policy_en	Under "other health indicators" a "modernisation of public healthcare systems / innovation procurement in health' indicator could be added.	
EU Transport Scoreboard	https://ec.europa.eu/transport/fa cts-fundings/scoreboard_en	Indicator "energy union and innovation" has a sub- indicator "private expenditure/investment in R&D in transport", but no "public investment in R&D/innovation in transport sector". This could be added.	
Energy Union Progress tracker	https://ec.europa.eu/energy/en/n ews/track-energy-unions- progress-new-webtool https://ec.europa.eu/energy/en/d ata-analysis/energy-union- indicators	It has an indicator "research, innovation and competitiveness" and a sub-indicator "research and innovation" where "public R&D funding" is a sub-sub- indicator. R&D procurement and PPI is missing and could be added.	
Environmental implementation review	https://ec.europa.eu/environment /eir/index_en.htm	Possibility of adding a GPP indicator	
GPP monitoring framework	http://ec.europa.eu/environment/ eir/index_en.htm	Still under construction	
Strategic environmental assessment framework	http://ec.europa.eu/environment/ eia/sea-legalcontext.htm	Some subareas under environment have their own scoreboards	
EU eco-innovation scoreboard	https://ec.europa.eu/environment /ecoap/scoreboard_en	The first indicator is "gov environmental and energy R&D appropriations and outlays", to which "government R&D/innovation procurements" could be added.	
EU justice scoreboard	http://ec.europa.eu/justice/effecti ve- justice/files/justice_scoreboard_2 016_en.pdf	There is an indicator "efficiency of justice system" where modernisation of justice system with more efficient innovative systems could be added (there is already ICT use as sub-indicator, but not innovation procurement in general)	
EU education/culture scoreboard	http://ec.europa.eu/education/pol icy/strategic-framework en http://ec.europa.eu/education/pol icy/multilingualism/evidence- based-policy en	This contains an objective "increasing the quality and efficiency of education and training" and an objective "enhancing creativity and innovation", to be potentially complemented.	
EU construction/housing scoreboard	https://ec.europa.eu/growth/secto rs/construction/observatory_en	Contains indicators on innovation, so PPI could be included in the construction domain of public sector activity.	

Table 124. EU sectorial scoreboards

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/growth/industry/innovation/policy/public-sector\_en</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/research/era/eraprogress\_en.htm

Scoreboard	Link	Additional notes
	https://ec.europa.eu/growth/secto rs/construction/competitiveness en	
Postal Statistics	https://ec.europa.eu/growth/secto rs/postal-services/statistics_en	Contains data on postal services such as postal traffic.

Source: Author's elaboration

Finally, a summary of lessons learned, and recommendations is provided in the following table.

#### Table 125. Summary of lessons learned and recommendations

Category	Description			
Measuring progress on policy measures that foster innovation procurement				
Data collection and calibration	For data gathering, cleaning and aligning, it is recommended to make use of an online survey with collection of tangible evidence and complemented by in-depth interviews.			
	To identify and engage the most suitable survey respondents, it is recommended to collect information from multiple sources per country and to establish a list of dedicated national respondents.			
	As regards the timing of the different steps of the benchmarking, it is recommended to align it with the timing of other EU scoreboards.			
Address and overcome data quality problems	The survey should include the collection of supporting evidence such as links and attachments, and the possibility of a second survey should be taken into account.			
Set-up of an IT tool to collect information	Develop an ad hoc IT tool (e.g. web portal) for the centralisation of the data collection based on smart crowdsourcing approach, enabling experts to provide directly the information on a web platform. Solutions to be used as inspiration include the Regional Innovation Scoreboard, the eGovernment action plan evaluation, the Open Science Monitor, the Co-VAL Dashboard, and the Startup manifesto tracker.			
Collecting quantitative	data on the volume of public procurement of innovative solutions			
	Make arrangement with the unit within DG GROW responsible for the management of the TED database in order to be granted access to all available variables.			
Data collection and calibration	Conduct extensive desk research to map all available (public and private) sources of tender data in all countries, devoting a substantial amount of time for the interactions with national data providers, ensuring that a minimum set of variables is provided in accordance with pre-defined technical standards.			
	Try to gain direct access to the national e-procurement portals repositories in order to facilitate the collection of data.			
	For each country combine multiple datasets from different data sources.			
	Carry out an evaluation of the suitability of the sources for future data provision. Consider the possibility of retrieving the missing value of a certain calls for tenders from the corresponding contract award notice, through the use of a dedicated code that allows to track back the original call for tenders, together with the use of historical data			
Address and overcome data quality problems	Consider the possibility of replacing the currently used Purchasing Power Parity with other rates calculated on baskets of publicly procured supplies, services and works (rather than consumer goods).			
	Devote time and effort to the manual retrieval of the CPV codes of calls for tenders.			
Cugaatiana ta immuowa	Consider the possibility to use a supply-side methodology, to be implemented by collecting information on the amount of sales of innovative solutions by suppliers across Europe to the public sector.			
the current methodology	Consider carrying out a European-wide survey to a representative set of public procurers across all sectors of public sector activity.			
	Create a flagging system requiring public procurers to indicate whether the notice they are publishing requests an innovative solution or not.			
Incorporate the collected information in other EU scoreboards				
Expand existing indexes such as DESI and EDPR	The study could directly complement the DESI and the EDPR, either by creating a new section or by adding a new indicator devoted to innovation procurement of ICT based solutions.			
Include PPI expenditure information in the European Innovation Scoreboard	The findings of the study on PPI expenditure could directly contribute to the creation of a new indicator, to further enrich dimension "Investments – Finance and support" and the "Impact - Sales" dimension in the European Innovation Scoreboard.			
Include PPI expenditure information in other scoreboards	In addition to the aggregate figures on PPI expenditure, the study has also estimated PPI expenditure in the 10 different domains of public sector activity. This sectorial breakdown could thus contribute to various EU scoreboards with a sectorial focus.			
Source: Author's elaboratio	n			

# 9 Annexes

## 9.1 Annex I – Country Profiles

This Annex contains 30 country profiles. Each country profile provides in-depth information about the position, strengths and weaknesses of that country in the three benchmarkings developed by the study:

- The benchmarking of national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe
- The benchmarking of PPI investments across Europe
- The benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments across Europe

There are 30 country profiles in this Annex:

- Country Profile for Austria
- Country Profile for Belgium
- Country Profile for Bulgaria
- Country Profile for Cyprus
- Country Profile for Croatia
- Country Profile for Czech Republic
- Country Profile for Denmark
- Country Profile for Estonia
- Country Profile for Finland
- Country Profile for France
- Country Profile for Germany
- Country Profile for Greece
- Country Profile for Hungary
- Country Profile for Ireland
- Country Profile for Italy
- Country Profile for Latvia
- Country Profile for Lithuania
- Country Profile for Luxembourg
- Country Profile for Malta
- Country Profile for Norway
- Country Profile for Poland
- Country Profile for Portugal
- Country Profile for Romania
- Country Profile for Slovenia
- Country Profile for Slovakia
- Country Profile for Spain
- Country Profile for Sweden
- Country Profile for Switzerland
- Country Profile for The Netherlands
- Country Profile for the United Kingdom

# Austria



#### . NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### Governance and legal framework

In Austria, the EU Directives 2014/23/EU, 2014/24/EU and 2014/25/EU have been transposed into national legislation<sup>138</sup> in August 2018. The Austrian public procurement regulation on defence and security<sup>139</sup> transposed the EU Directive 2009/81/EC.

Although public procurement is carried out at all different levels of government, an important share of purchases of the federal government is centralized by the Federal Procurement Agency (BBG). In the country there are more than 5600 contracting authorities.

Innovation procurement in Austria is supported and implemented by the **Austrian Action Plan on Public Procurement Promoting Innovation (PPPI)**, adopted in 2012 by the Austrian Federal Government. The Action Plan is linked to the "Austrian Strategy for Research, Technology and Innovation".

The key actors are the Ministry for Digital and Economic Affairs (**BMDW**) and the Ministry for Transport, Innovation and Technology (**BMVIT**), supported by the Austrian Federal Procurement Agency (**BBG**) and the Austrian Institute of Technology (**AIT**). The two Ministries are responsible for the political commitment, the strategic governance, and they finance the initiatives of the Action Plan, as well as the **PPPI Service Centre**. The PPPI Service Centre, established in 2013 within the BBG, acts as point of single contact for PPPI issues in Austria, initiates and conducts innovation procurement pilot projects, offers services like general advice, case-by-case assistance, further education and training and manages a PPPI online platform. The **AIT** supports the other key actors providing scientific support and carrying out several monitoring activities.

The **PPPI Service Centre** is complemented and supported by a network of competence centres and contact points which have different thematic or sectorial focuses (e.g. the Austrian Research Promotion Agency – FFG – as general competence centre for PCPs; the Austria Wirtschaftsservice – AWS – as general competence centre for PPIs; the Austrian Association for Transport & Infrastructure – GSV – as sectorial competence centre for Mobility; the Federal Real Estate – Bundesimmobiliengesellschaft – BIG – as sectorial competence centre in Building Construction, and the Austrian Energy Agency, as sectorial competence centre for Energy).

#### **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In the benchmarking of the national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Austria is at the 2<sup>nd</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 52.3%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Austria is among the good performer countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. Having implemented 52.3% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is however still a significant reinforcement of the policy framework needed in Austria to reach its full 100% potential.



Strengths: Austria has one of the most detailed and welldefined action plans for innovation procurement. The country has well-structured monitoring and incentives schemes.

Weaknesses: Underinvestment in concrete measures to ensure implementation of the politically proposed spending target, capacity building and financial incentives not yet fully mainstreamed, measurement system to be further refined and implemented on regular basis, innovation procurement not yet recognised/implemented strategically in several sectors, not yet exploiting the full potential support of other horizontal policies. Lack of IPR policy in public procurement that encourages innovation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> https://www.ris.bka.gv.at/eli/bgbl/I/2018/65/20180820

<sup>139</sup> https://www.ris.bka.gv.at/GeltendeFassung.wxe?Abfrage=Bundesnormen&Gesetzesnummer=20007693



#### **Overview per indicator** Indicator 1 – Official definition Total score 60% European Average 50% PPI PCP **R&D** procurement Innovation procurement 0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

In the Austrian public procurement legal framework, there is a clear official definition for innovation and R&D procurement, while innovation procurement, Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) and Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI) are defined in guidance documents. These definitions are partly in line with the European definitions and are applicable countrywide. The total score of the indicator "Official definition" is therefore 60%.

In national legislation there is no definition of **innovation procurement**, however the federal procurement law (Bundesvergabegesetz 2018) embeds the definition of "Innovation" in §2, which is applicable to all public procurers in the country and in line with the EU definition.<sup>140</sup> A definition of innovation procurement is available in the Austrian Action Plan on Public Procurement Promoting Innovation (PPPI).<sup>141</sup> According to the plan, the definition of PPPI encompasses four levels:

- 1. Procurement of new research and/or development of goods and services for the requirements of the procuring organisation *development initiator*;
- 2. First up-take (procurement of goods and services of which the public institution knows it is the first organisation having bought this good; the public institution serves as a reference) *first buyer*;
- 3. Diffusion (procurement that fosters further market penetration of innovative goods and services that are already available on the market (the procurer refers to already existing references) but the procurement was not a regular case yet in the organisation (early adopter) *diffusion accelerator*.
- 4. The use of new innovative approaches in the procurement process itself (e.g. improving the procurement process through e-procurement, reducing the time to payment for companies etc.)

This definition is applicable to all public procurers in the country but is not completely in line with the EU definition, as level 4 is not included in the EU definition. Without level 4 the remaining definition remains also only partly in line with the EU definition because the boundary of where level 3/diffusion stops considers early adoption at the level of the procuring organisation, not at the level of the supply of the solution on the market as a whole (even the last procurer on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup> <u>https://www.parlament.gv.at/PAKT/VHG/XXVI/I/I\_00069/index.shtml</u>

<sup>141</sup> https://www.ioeb.at/fileadmin/ioeb/Dokumente/IOEB allgemein/IOEB - 1 - IOEB-Leitkonzept.pdf

the market that buys a solution which are already regularly sold to all other customers on the market is still considered PPPI). As a result, the total score of this sub-indicator is 50%.

There is a full sentence definition of **R&D** in the national public procurement legislation for the defence sector<sup>139</sup>. Article § 3 Z. 18 of the Austrian federal public procurement law for defence and security defines research and development as *"all activities that involve basic research, applied research and experimental development. Experimental development may include the production of technological demonstration systems, which are devices for demonstrating the performance of a new concept or technology in a relevant or representative environment." This definition is line with the EU definition of R&D in the EU. Article § 9 (1) 15 of the Austrian federal public procurement law for defence and security excludes from the scope of the regulation R&D services, except when the results of the R&D services are the sole property of the client for its use in the performance of its own activities and the services are fully remunerated by the client. There is no full sentence definition for the notion of Research and Development in the Austrian Public Procurement legislation for the classical and utilities sectors<sup>138</sup>. Article 9(1) 12 only identifies R&D by referring to CPV codes for fundamental research, applied research and industrial development. Thus, the total score for this sub-indicator is 90%.* 

No definitions of PCP and PPI exist in the national legal framework. However, the legal basis for the implementation of both type of innovation procurements are available in the federal public procurement law. The legal basis for the implementation of PCP is provided in article § 9 (1) 12 while § 20 para. 7 provides the legal basis for implementing PPI. In addition, the definitions of PCP and PPI exist in the Austrian action plan for PPPI. According to the action plan there are two types of instruments for innovation-promoting public procurement (PPPI). On the one hand, there is the precommercial procurement of research and development services by the public sector (pre-commercial procurement, PCP) and, on the other hand, the commercial procurement of innovation as part of the usual procurement of goods and services by the public procurement (public procurement of innovative solutions, PPI). PCP refers to the pre-market research and development phase before the market introduction of a final product. Several companies apply similar to an ideas competition and develop new solutions tailored to the buyer. Pre-commercial procurement is excluded from the scope of the Federal Procurement Act (R&D exemption). In contrast, PPI refers to goods and services that already marketable or close to the market. It can do so by means of the possibilities provided by the Federal Procurement Law such as "functional specifications" (as opposed to "constructive tender specifications"), "negotiated procedures" or "competitive dialogue"". The Austrian PCP definition is applicable to all public procurers in the country, but not completely in line with the EU definition. It does not recognise that the purchase of a limited volume of prototypes or final end-solutions can also be part of a PCP (as long as the total value of the "supplies" in the contract remains below 50%). Therefore, the score of this sub-indicator is 50%. Similarly, the definition of PPI is applicable to all public procurers in the country but is only partly in line with the EU definition. Therefore, the total score for both sub-indicators is 50%.



Innovation procurement is included in four horizontal policies. The total score of this sub-indicator is 50%.

**The Government Programme 2017-2022 "Together. For our Austria**"<sup>142</sup> puts as objective that "the State should play a model role in innovation promoting public procurement, using it as a strategic tool to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of public services by acting as a reference market for the adoption and diffusion of new technologies". To expand innovation procurement at federal level, the government programme sets a target of 2% of the procurement volume of the so-called central contracting authority, as defined in the national procurement law (incl. all Federal Ministries, the Federal Procurement Agency (BBG), AIT Austrian Institute of Technology, the Austrian Federal Computing Centre (BRZ); not to be confused with "Central Purchasing Body").

In the field of R&D and innovation policy, the **Strategy for research**, **technology and innovation of the Austrian Federal Government**<sup>143</sup> recognizes the pivotal role of innovation procurement in increasing "the demand for innovative products and knowledge-intensive services". The Strategy requires a "strategic bundle of measures that go beyond a narrowly defined technological, supply-side innovation policy: it includes demand-side measures, such as public procurement and a competition policy that stimulates innovation". The strategy also fixes the objective of "[...] *enhance domestic value creation by encouraging research intensive industries and knowledge intensive services. In the process,* 

<sup>142</sup> https://www.oevp.at/download/Regierungsprogramm.pdf

<sup>143</sup> https://era.gv.at/directory/158

we want to stimulate innovations through a strong emphasis on demand-side instruments in public procurement, regulation and standardization".<sup>144</sup>

In the field of **public procurement policy**, innovation has been a secondary procurement objective in the Austrian federal public procurement law since 2013 and remains to be so under the "Bundesvergabegesetz 2018" (see § 20 (7) and § 193 (7)) and the R&D services exemption that forms the legal basis to implement PCPs in Austria also remains.<sup>145</sup>Innovation procurement is not a specific objective of the country's regional policy, but at regional and urban level, it is worth mentioning that Vienna's RTI strategy "**Innovative Vienna 2020**<sup>146</sup>" *recognizes innovation procurement among the instruments to be used to foster the innovative development of the city.* 

Indicator 3 – ICT policies				
Total score	50%	European Average	47%	

In the field of ICT, not the overall country's Digital Roadmap strategy but two parts of it, namely the *Internetoffensive Österreich* and the creative industries strategy (*Kreativwirtschafts-strategie*), recognize the importance of public procurement as a strategic tool to foster the competitiveness of national industries, especially also for SMEs and Start Ups. "The Commitment of the public sector to the nationwide implementation of "innovation oriented public procurement" can contribute to the spread of innovative business models and the creation of new startups." Therefore, the overall score of this indicator is 50%.



Innovation procurement is treated as strategic priority in the following sectors: environmental, energy, construction, general public services, transport and healthcare and social services. Hence, the total score for this indicator is 60%.

**The climate and energy strategy, Mission 2030**,<sup>147</sup> and **The energy research and innovation strategy**<sup>148</sup> both recognize that innovation procurement needs to be used more as the demand-side instrument to foster the market introduction of innovations in the sectors of Energy, Mobility and Transport and Environment. Specific measures are encouraged in e-mobility (e.g. e-fleet, e-logistics and e-mobility infrastructure on road and rail) and energy (energy efficient buildings, new energy and traffic systems of the future).

**The Strategy for clean energy in transport** (*Strategierahmen saubere Energie im Verkehr*)<sup>149</sup> concedes a pioneering role to the public sector and to innovation procurement in the reconstruction and modernization of the transport system. The strategy foresees several measures and objectives, as for example switching to low-emission vehicles for federal ministries and other institutions and considering the introduction of the Austrian compulsory analysis of the Total Cost of Ownership (TCO) on procurement of public vehicles fleets to compensate for the disadvantage of alternatively powered vehicles with exclusive consideration of the purchase costs.<sup>150</sup>

In the Health sector, **The life sciences strategy**<sup>151</sup> sees innovation procurement as one of the most important tools to modernize the delivery of public service. Specific pilot procurement projects are encouraged with the aim of introducing new and highly efficient medical devices.<sup>152</sup>

<sup>144</sup> Ibid. Pag. 27

<sup>145</sup> https://www.parlament.gv.at/PAKT/VHG/XXVI/I/I\_00069/index.shtml

<sup>146</sup> https://www.wien.gv.at/english/research/pdf/innovative-vienna-2020.pdf

<sup>147</sup> https://mission2030.info/

<sup>148</sup> https://nachhaltigwirtschaften.at/resources/e2050 pdf/E-Forschung Kurzfassung englisch v2.pdf

<sup>149</sup> https://www.bmvit.gv.at/verkehr/elektromobilitaet/downloads/strategierahmen.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> See pg. 31 in <u>https://www.bmvit.gv.at/verkehr/elektromobilitaet/downloads/strategierahmen.pdf</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> http://www.lifescienceaustria.at/en/life-science-in-austria/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> Life Science Strategy, available at: <u>https://www.bmdw.gv.at/Innovation/Publikationen/Documents/Life Science Strategie</u> barrierefrei.pdf

Finally, in the construction sector, **The Austrian federal Guidelines for Building culture and stimulus Programme** (2017) views Public Procurement Promoting Innovation as an instrument for ensuring the quality and innovativeness of selected projects and designers.<sup>153</sup>



The **Action Plan on Public Procurement Promoting Innovation (PPPI)** was adopted in 2012 by the Austrian Federal Government as a follow up of the "Austrian Strategy for Research, Technology and Innovation" (2011). It aims at making PPPI an element of demand side innovation policy, complementing supply side measures, and increasing the share of public procurement volume used for innovation. The action plan covers all types of innovation procurement, is applicable across the country and to all public procurers in all sectors and administrative levels and aims at mainstreaming innovation at a large scale. Therefore, the score of the sub-indicator "coverage" is 100%.

The action plan identifies **concrete actions** (e.g. the management of a PPPI platform) and defined a **clear timeline** to implement these actions in the time period 2012-2013. However, the timeline in the action plan is not up-to-date any more (there are no actions defined with target completion date beyond 2013). Therefore, the score for sub-indicator timeline is 0%. The defined actions and activities are linked to a set of specific objectives which translate the overall strategic objectives and the mission of the action plan. The specific objectives include (i) raising awareness on innovation through public procurement; (ii) fostering dialogue between demand and supply; (iii) qualifying decision makers and procurers for PPPI; (iv) introducing and fostering new approaches for PPPI; (v) establishing a monitoring and benchmarking system; (vi) integrating PPPI actions in sectorial strategies and in different administrative levels. The score for sub-indicator "concrete actions" is therefore 100%.

The action plan is **financed** by the Ministry for Digital and Economic Affairs (BMDW) and the Ministry for Transport, Innovation and Technology (BMVIT). Actions, objectives and dedicated resources are implemented for all types of innovation procurement, but not for all key actors in the country (committed resources to achieve the objectives are clear for the competence center but not for other ministries and key procurers in the country, the expected results from other actors besides the competence center are defined less clearly) and do not enable to achieve mainstreaming of innovation procurement at a large scale. Therefore, the score of the sub-indicators "dedicated resources" and "definition of results" is 50%.

In terms of governance, the action plan **defines actors** to achieve different objectives. For example, the key procurement organisation involved in the implementation of the action plan is the PPPI Service Centre.<sup>154</sup> Its services cover three main objectives: raising awareness for PPPI, matching public procurers and potential suppliers of innovative solutions, and increasing the overall share of procurement budgets used for PPPI. Therefore, the score of this sub-indicator is 100%.

The Service Centre operates under the roof of the Austrian Federal Procurement Agency and on behalf of the two ministries responsible for the implementation of the action plan (i.e. the BMDW and the BMVIT). While covering all types of innovation procurement widely across the country, the activities implemented by the Service Centre have not reached yet the stage of being able to mainstream innovation at large scale. As suggested in the evaluation of the PPPI action plan "the necessary political backing exists, it is expressed in several strategic documents but has not reached a sufficient level".<sup>155</sup> It is recognised that a number of "preparatory actions" took place on how to implement PPI in different public sector organisations (including ministries), but they have not been defined in a strategic plan yet. Consequently, a systematic dedication of procurement budgets for the purpose of PPPI activities is currently only observable in the context of PPPI "pilot projects". Hence, the score of the sub-indicator "**commitment of key procurers**" is 50% as there is no commitment from procurers across all levels and sectors and therefore no widespread mainstreaming either.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup> The Austrian Federal Guidelines for Building Culture and Stimulus Programme Adopted by the Austrian Council of Ministers on August 22nd, 2017. Available at: <u>https://www.kunstkultur.bka.gv.at/documents/340047/394470/Baukultur\_Leitlinien\_EN.pdf/\_ea8781a5d550-45a5-8685-2a6c761cddf7</u> (in English) <sup>154</sup> <u>http://www.ioeb.at/</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup> https://repository.fteval.at/331/1/I%C3%96B-Evaluierung Kurzfassung%20EN barrierefrei.pdf

With regard to **decision-making structures**, again the interaction between the competence centre and its funding ministries BMDW and BMVIT are clear but the action plan does not define a clear decision-making structure with other ministries and key procurers to ensure implementation of the objectives. The PPPI Service Centre participates in regular joint meetings with the two ministries including meetings of the so-called PPPI steering group that includes representatives of the higher levels of the ministerial hierarchy. Amongst others, during these meetings the plans of the Service Centre activities for the coming year are discussed and defined. The evaluation of the PPI Action Plan implementation raised some concerns related to the governance structure, including the absence of a clear distribution of tasks and roles among ministries (currently based on non-binding agreements) and the challenges faced by actively managing the Action Plan especially with regard to other ministries. Therefore, the overall score of the sub-indicator "definition of decision-making structures" is 50%.

Finally, through the involvement of the national central purchasing body BBG the action plan defines concrete **measures to pool demand** among public and private procurers across the whole country and for all types of innovation procurement, however not at a scale to scale up innovation procurement widely yet. Therefore, the score of this sub-indicator "measures to pool demand" is 75%.

Based on the evidence collected, the total score for the indicator action plan is 64%.

Indicator 6 – Spending target				
Total score	0%	European Average	11%	

In Austria there are no specific spending targets for innovation procurement. The introduction of mandatory targets and sanctions to incentivise procurers to use innovation procurement has been discussed at the political level in Austria. However, rather than a "command & control" approach, the "empowerment" approach is nowadays the guiding principle to promote innovation procurement in the country. This includes a set of basic services, such as capacity building, awareness raising and financial incentives.

The coalition agreement (Government programme 2017-2022<sup>142</sup>) expressed the ambition to expand public procurement promoting innovation (PPPI) at the federal level to 2% of the public procurement expenditure of central/national government contracting authorities. Although this coalition agreement did not officially adopt a quantitative 2% target yet, it set out the ambition and willingness to do so (but not a mandatory target) during the 2017-2022 government period.



Austria has developed a structured system to measure the amount of innovation procurement spending. The total score for the sub-indicator "measurement" is 100%.

Since 2013, Austria has been developing a comprehensive innovation procurement monitoring system. The "Action Plan on Public Procurement Promoting Innovation PPPI" provides the context for the monitoring and measurement activities, which consists of four dimensions, i.e. **'reporting', 'assessing', 'measuring', and 'learning'**<sup>156</sup>. All these dimensions provide a general overview on the activity carried out by all the actors involved in the system.

In particular, the **'Measuring' activity** is based on the development and testing of a PPPI metric and it currently consists of two pilot surveys. The first one indicates the share of innovation procurement as part of the total procurement volume on the organizational level of public authorities. It was conducted by Statistics Austria in 2014/2015 by sending questionnaires to public authorities. The second survey aims at the identification of innovation procurement at the project level, including the indication of the share of innovation as part of the total project volume as well. The start of its execution it was scheduled for December 2017 by integrating respective questions in e-tendering portals.

The design of the metric follows the notion that public authorities can promote innovation in various ways, according to the 'role' or 'function' of the public authority in the innovation cycle:

- 1) Development initiator: Goods or services which have been newly developed for your organization (including R&D services, excluding standard analyses)
- 2) First buyer: Goods or services of which you know that you are the first buyer (supplier or somebody else was development initiator; your organization may provide a reference case for others)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> https://www.ait.ac.at/fileadmin/mc/innovation\_systems/projekte/IOEB/201709\_PPPI\_Policy\_Note\_Monitoring\_Measurement\_.pdf and http://www.statistik.at/web\_de/frageboegen/oeffentliche\_einrichtungen/innovations\_foerdernde\_beschaffung/index.html

Diffusion accelerator: Goods or services which are new on the market and new for your organization (your 3) organization may learn from already existing reference case/s)

On the basis of a response rate of more than two thirds in the government sector (68%) Statistics Austria estimates the share of innovation procurement of the total procurement volume as being between 2.3% and 3.3%.

A comprehensive evaluation of the implementation of the Action Plan on Public Procurement Promoting Innovation in Austria has been finalized in May 2018.157 This is a qualitative evaluation of the policy. An evaluation of the impact of innovation procurements completed in the country is ongoing, results are expected in autumn 2019. Therefore, according to what is investigated in this sub-indicator, evaluation system scores o%.



Austria has set up **financial incentives** to encourage public procurers country-wide to undertake more innovation procurements.<sup>158</sup> In Austria, financial support by the Ministries and financial/practical support by the PPPI Service Centre is provided for several sectors, depending on concrete needs of public procurers in the respective fields.

In particular, there are grants for procurers that co-finance the cost of coordination activities to prepare and manage the procurement and/or the procurement cost, financial support for PCP and innovation partnership procurements (€2 million across all sectors in 2018), and other financial incentives via the "PPPI project competition" that is implemented by the **PPPI Service Centre.** 

The "PPPI project competition" awards financial vouchers to public procurers for PPPI support such as technology consulting, legal advice or project management support. The budget for 2017 was €100.000 and the total funding allocated between 2014 and 2017 accounted for approximately €280.000 for projects. The total procurement volume was €18 million. The vouchers are available for all types of innovation procurements and are also applicable countrywide.

Both types of funds are based on national funding (they are not dependent on any EU funding). However, they are not designed to foster large scale implementation of innovation procurement and not all the financial incentives are open to all types of sectors and types of innovate procurement (in particular the ministry grants). As a result, the score of this subindicator is 43%.

In terms of **personal incentives** for innovation procurement, Austria awards a yearly prize to the winner of the PPPI project competition<sup>159</sup>. In addition, the "Österreichische Verwaltungspreis 2019" (Austrian public sector award) will include a PPPI category<sup>160</sup>. The score for the sub-indicator personal incentives is therefore 100%.

The total score of this indicator is 71%.

multator y – Capacity bunding and assistance measures									
Total score		65%		European Average		24%			
	Existence	Connection with relevant international/ EU initiatives	Free of charge	Covering all aspects and types of innovation procurement	Available and applicable to all public procurers in the country	Mainstreaming Innovation procurement at a large scale	Sub- total score		
Central website	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	83%		
Good practices	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	83%		
Trainings/workshops	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	100%		
Handbooks/guidelines	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		67%		
Assistance to public procurers	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	83%		

<sup>157</sup> https://repository.fteval.at/331/1/I&C3%96B-Evaluierung\_Kurzfassung%20EN\_barrierefrei.pdf

<sup>158</sup> https://rio.jrc.ec.europa.eu/en/file/11727/download?token=Pv6uIx8J

<sup>159</sup> https://www.eu2018.at/calendar-events/political-events/BMNT-2018-11-26-VA3-ECOVATION-2018.html

<sup>160</sup> https://www.oeffentlicherdienst.gv.at/verwaltungsinnovation/wettbewerbe/oesterreichischer verwaltungspreis/Verwaltungspreis/ <u>2019.html</u>

Template tender documents							0%
Coordination/pre- approval							0%
Networking of procurers	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	83%
One-stop-shop /competence centre	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		83%

Austria carries out seven out of the nine above measures to build up public procurers' know-how on innovation procurement.

The key actor carrying out capacity building activities is the **PPPI Service Centre (IÖB Servicestelle)**, the organization appointed to operate as **national competence center/one-stop-shop** the **central website** on innovation procurement in the country<sup>161</sup>, widen the network and provide financial assistance, counselling, cooperation opportunities, networking opportunities, awareness events, trainings and seminars.<sup>162</sup>

The PPPI Service Centre is complemented and supported by a **network of competence centres and entities which have different thematic or sectorial focuses** (the Austrian Research Promotion Agency – FFG – as general competence centre for PCPs; the Austria Wirtschaftsservice – AWS – as general competence centre for PPIs; the Austrian Association for Transport & Infrastructure – GSV – as sectorial competence centre for Mobility; the Federal Real Estate – Bundesimmobilierngesellschaft – BIG – as sectorial competence centre in Building Construction, and the Austrian Energy Agency, as sectorial competence centre for Energy).

An important tool for capacity building is the **PPPI online platform**<sup>163</sup>, where innovation procurement stakeholders (public authorities and procurers, research institutions, enterprises, citizens, etc) can interact increasing the likelihood of a match between public needs of innovation and the market supply. The platform is designed to allow procurers to specify a challenge, and suppliers to present their innovative solutions.

The PPPI Service center also **networks** individual procurers with the **national purchasing body BBG** to explore opportunities to achieve large scale multiplier effects with innovation procurements. As there is no systematic networking organised to enable Austrian procurers, apart from the PPI Service Centre, to network with procurers from other countries, the score for the sub-indicator networking is 83%.

The PPPI Service Centre prepares bi-annual reports with good practice examples.<sup>164</sup>

There are several Austrian **guidelines** on innovation procurement, such as the "Procure Inno guideline" (2007) and the Austrian "PPPI guidelines"<sup>165</sup>.

In cooperation with the Federal Academy of Public Administration the PPPI Service Centre carries out **training activities** that deliver a certification of achieving PPPI competence at different levels (basic, advanced)<sup>166</sup>, <sup>167</sup>.

Finally, support by the PPPI Service Centre is provided both on a more general basis (legal framework, providing information and advice on tools that can be used) and as **case-by-case assistance** (tailor-made workshops, support in setting up innovation procurement projects/project development, providing support via the PPPI online platform - e.g. challenges). There is no limitation in terms of days of assistance provided.

The PPPI Service Centre, as the **Austrian national competence center for innovation procurement**, participates in the EU-funded project "*Procure2Innovate - European network of competence centres for innovation procurement*" to reinforce its activities on innovation procurement support and exchange experiences with competence centers in other EU countries.

There are no national template tender documents for innovation procurement. There is no national pre-approval of innovation procurements. There is also no coordination of innovation procurements to foster cooperation between national procurers on implementing innovation procurements together. References to recent EU initiatives (e.g. European assistance for innovation procurement, European initiative to benchmark national policy frameworks for innovation procurement across Europe, recent EU funded projects e.g. Horizon 2020 funded PCP and PPI projects) are missing. Resources dedicated to the PPPI competence center are not yet at the level for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale. On the basis of the evidence collected, the total score for this indicator is 65%.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> <u>http://www.ioeb.at</u>

<sup>162</sup> http://www.ioeb.at/projektdatenbank/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> <u>http://www.innovationspartnerschaft.at/</u>

<sup>164</sup> http://www.ioeb.at/de/projektdatenbank/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> https://www.ioeb.at/fileadmin/ioeb/Dokumente/FINAL\_IO\_\_B\_Leitfaden\_200x250mm\_24-10.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> <u>https://ppe.bbg.gv.at/</u> (English) and other training at <u>http://www.ioeb.at/leistungen/training-und-weiterbildung/</u> (in German)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> https://www.ioeb.at/leistungen/fuer-oeffentliche-auftraggeber/trainings-weiterbildung/





This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market in Austria encourages the implementation of innovation procurement. It is composed of two sub-indicators that reflect:

- I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in the country
- II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regard to sub-indicator I, Austria shows the following evidence:

- **IPR default regime**: The score for this sub-indicator is 25%, which is below the European average of 38%, a. because there is no default scenario for the distribution of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers in Austria. The Austrian law, general terms and conditions for government contracts and guidelines on public procurement do not define how allocation of IPRs is best dealt with in procurement contracts. It is left to the individual responsibility of each Austrian procurer to specify clearly the IPR allocation for the procurement in its tender documents so that it stimulates innovation and is compliant with applicable IPR/copyright law. The Austrian public procurement law foresees that public procurers can require in the tender specifications a transfer of IPR rights between (sub)contractors and the procurer. However according to the Austrian copyright act<sup>168</sup>, copyrights (moral right) cannot be transferred by the creator to another party, even when the creator is commissioned by the procurer (as contractor) or employed (e.g. by a subcontractor) to work on the procurement contract. If the procurer wants to use copyrights created by (sub)contractors in his procurement he must require in the tender specifications a license to the economic rights (e.g. usage, licensing, publication, modification, reproduction rights) at equitable payment. Copyright protects also scientific work (product designs, product specifications, tests etc.), computer programs and databases. It is worth noting that the Austrian action plan on IPPP mentions that, there is a lack of know-how in Austria on how to implement the possibility to leave IPR ownership right with the suppliers in public procurement contracts while keeping usage and licensing rights for the public procurer. It mentions also that this lack of know-how is hindering this option from being used and EU guidance on this topic is welcome.
- b. <u>Use of value for money award criteria</u>: Based on the EU single market scoreboard, 67% of the procedures were not awarded on the basis of the lowest price only.<sup>169</sup> This is moderately above the European average of 42% but still not reaching the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard.
- c. <u>Use of variants</u>: Austria has allowed the use of variants in 4% of the procedures. This percentage in line with the European average.
- d. **Preliminary Market Consultations:** Austria has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 2% of the procedures. In this case, the percentage is significantly below the European average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 24% which is slightly above the European average of 23%. This is mainly due to the below average performance both on IPR default regime and in the limited use of Preliminary Market Consultation.

For the sub-indicator II, Austria shows the following evidence (based on the EU Single Market Scoreboard):

- e. **Level of competition**: The level of competition of the national public procurement market is 91%, which is above the European average 84% and just approaching the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This positive performance is driven mainly by the high portion of procurement procedures where a call for bid was used (98%).
- f. **Level of transparency**: The level of transparency of the public procurement market accounts for 30%, which is below the European average 45% and below the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.

<sup>168</sup> http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/text.jsp?file\_id=124839#JD\_AT091EN\_A40b

<sup>169</sup> http://ec.europa.eu/internal market/scoreboard/performance per policy area/public procurement/index en.htm

This performance is mainly driven by the high amount (97%) of missing buyer registration numbers in published tenders, which is crucial to understand who is buying.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 60% which is below the European average of 65% and below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly driven by the low level of transparency.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 42% which is close to the European average of 44%. The score is explained firstly by the fact that the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country is slightly above European average but below the satisfactory level and the openness of the Austrian public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is below the European average and below the satisfactory level. Indeed, Austria has not yet adopted a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation and the use of value for money criteria is still not mainstreamed in public procurements. In addition, although the national public procurement market shows an above average level of competition, there is a clear lack of transparency.

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Austrian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of all Austrian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 10,0% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e. € 7,1 bn), **Austria ranks 10<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>170</sup> across Europe. Austria falls within the group of **good performers**, slightly above the European average of 9,3%.<sup>171</sup> However, **a significant increase of investments in PPI is still needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Austrian public sector.<sup>172</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Austria still remains in the 10<sup>th</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>173</sup> explaining Austria's good performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments that is spent on **transformative innovations** in Austria (57%) is considerably below the European average (84%). This may be due to the fact that the share of PPI investments that is devoted to the adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' is still low (23%). The largest portion of PPI investments (34%) is devoted to 'significantly improved' solutions. The share of **incremental innovations** (43%), which includes the purchase of 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' as well as 'innovative combinations of existing solutions' is significantly above the European average (16%). As the share of PPI investments going to 'new to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI– is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found here on the EU webpages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve). <sup>173</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

the market 'solutions is much higher in leading countries, further effort to improve this point may be important for improving the position of the Austria in the future.

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is therefore an important factor explaining why Austria is not yet at the level of PPI investments that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Every domain of public sector activity**<sup>174</sup> **in Austria purchased innovation solutions**. The shares of PPI investments by different public sector domains out of total PPI investments in the country are **mostly in line with the European averages**. Austrian investments do not deviate more than 3 percentage points (pp) from the European average in 8 out of 11 sectors. At the same time, the share of PPI investments by Austrian procurers in the **'Other'** domain is significantly above the European average (+23 pp). Conversely, PPI investments made by procurers in the **'Public transport'** and **'Public order, safety and security'** domains are the farthest below the European average (-6 pp and -7 pp respectively).

Domain of public sector activity	Austria	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	35%	35%	-1
Public transport	4%	10%	-6
Healthcare and social services	19%	21%	-2
Energy	4%	6%	-2
Environment	5%	3%	+2
Construction, housing and community amenities	2%	4%	-2
Education, recreation, culture and religion	2%	5%	-3
Water	1%	4%	-3
Public order, safety and security	1%	8%	-7
Postal services	1%	1%	0
Other	26%	3%	+23
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

#### **Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposals** Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is consistently higher in Austria (47%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Austrian procurers may be less risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is lower in Austria (53%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Austrian procurers tend to be less open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Austrian PPI investments for which call for tenders are published, is small (7%) and significantly below the European average (22%). Both the portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (6%) and the portion that is **published at national level** (1%) are below European average (respectively 18% and 5%). The portion of PPI investments for which no call for tender is published in TED or nationally is huge (93%)

By not publishing call for tenders for PPI investments widely, **Austria is missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Austrian and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Austrian PPI business opportunities.

### **Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity** PPI investments by level of public sector activity



Half of total PPI investment in Austria is carried out by **large-scale entities at national level** (50%), such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is slightly above the European average (47%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for lower share of PPI investments (23%), yet close to the European average (24%). **Procurers at local level** account for almost one third of PPI investments (27%), slightly below the European average (29%). This may indicate a lack of awareness and/or engagement of subnational buyers on PPI procurement.

# Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The Austrian public sector shows a **modest level of performance** in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment). With  $\bigcirc$  0,1 bn or 3,6% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Austria ranks 11<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, slightly above the European average (3,5%). Conversely, in terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-solutions (36,7%), Austria performs below European average (38%). Thus, **a significant increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions is still needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Austria to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>175</sup>



The main factors<sup>176</sup> explaining Austria's modest performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** adopted in Austria (74%) is slightly below the European average (79%). This may derive from the fact that only a marginal portion of ICT-based PPI investments were spent on the adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (5%). The lion share (70%) went to 'significantly improved solutions'. The share of ICT-based PPI investments that was spent on **incremental ICT-based innovations**<sup>177</sup> (26%) is slightly above the European average. However, given that the total ICT-based PPI investment level is still modest, Austria needs to step up efforts on both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations. As the share spent on 'new to the market' solutions is much higher in leading countries, further efforts to improve in particular this point may be important for improving the position of Austria in the future.

ICT-based PPI investments by type of innovation



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI– or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI
 <sup>177</sup> See definitions above.

#### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



Austria invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the **'ICT Plus' sub-sector**<sup>178</sup> (66%), significantly above the European average (44%).

Austria invested to a lesser extent in adopting innovations from the **'Core ICT' sub-sector** (31%), below the European average (54%).

Investments in adopting innovations from the **'Content & Media' sub-sector** were marginal (3%) but slightly above the European average (1%).

#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Most domains of public sector activity** in **Austria purchased innovative ICT-based solutions**, with the exception of '**Construction, housing and community amenities**', '**Water**' and '**Postal services**' with zero ICT-based PPI investments. In particular, the highest share of ICT-based PPI investments was made by procurers that operate in the domain of '**Healthcare and social services**' (47% against a 30% European average) followed by procurers in the '**General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs**' domain (38% which is significantly above the European average of 16%).

#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>·</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

<sup>·</sup> Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 50% of ICT-based PPI investments, which is below the European average (69%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for the lowest share of the ICT-based PPI investments at sub-national level (17%), which is below the European average (21%). To the contrary, **local procurers** account for more than one third of ICT-based PPI investments (33%), which is considerably above the European average (10%).

# Belgium



#### 1. NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### Governance and legal framework

In Belgium, public procurement is regulated by the national Public Procurement Act<sup>179</sup>, which came into force first 17 June 2016 (with some later additions). It regulates the public procurement procedures for all types of public procurers and transposes into national legislation all the EU public procurement Directives 2014/24/EU, 2014/25/EU, 2014/23/EU and 2009/81/EC.

Belgium is a federal state with decentralised authority, including over procurement, shared among the central government and the three regions: Wallonia, Flanders, and the Brussels-Capital Region. Public procurement is regulated at the federal level by a procurement law, and each region has a certain level of flexibility for interpreting and implementing the legislation.

Belgian federal system disperses procurement authority across approximately 5,000 contracting authorities spread among the three regions, the provinces, the municipalities, and other public entities.

The key institutions in the federal public procurement system are the **Federal Public Service Chancellery of the Prime Minister**, the **Central Procurement Body for the Federal Services**, and the **Purchasing Advice and Policy Unit (ABA-CPA)**. The Federal Public Service Chancellery of the Prime Minister is responsible for the preparation, coordination, and monitoring of public procurement legislation, as well as the development of e-procurement. In particular, the Chancellery acts as a secretariat of the Commission for Public Procurement which is a specialised advisory body composed of representatives from the federal authority, federated entities, public corporations, supervision bodies, and representatives of businesses and trade unions.

The Central Procurement Body for the Federal Services (CMS-FOR) negotiates contracts on behalf of the federal state. It is composed of 11 sector specific units specialising in insurance, fuel, hygiene, IT, furniture, office supplies, telecommunication, drinks and snacks, cars, and light commercial vehicles. The ABA-CPA gives support to the federal staff and accompanies them through the contracting process by providing advice to purchasing departments.<sup>180</sup> Finally, the **Federal Public Service Policy and Support (BOSA)** pools the support services in several areas, including public procurement, and manages the Public Procurement portal.<sup>181</sup>

With regards to innovation procurement, there is no dedicated policy, action plan or initiatives yet at **national level**, although there are signals that the federal level is preparing itself to create a national competence centre on innovation procurement.

At the regional level, the largest region in Belgium, the Flemish region, has an advanced policy and legal framework for innovation procurement. Its Government adopted a structured and comprehensive program - **Programme for Innovation Procurement (PIO)** - to finance innovation procurement, support local authorities and rise competences. The Walloon region has identified the importance of innovation procurement but has not setup dedicated activities yet. The Brussels region has also started to experiment with its first innovation procurements since 2018.

At the local level, the cities of Ghent and Antwerp are the most active and have set a target to spend 10% of their ICT public procurement budget on innovation procurement.

### Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)

In the benchmarking of national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Belgium is at the 4<sup>th</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 42,4%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Belgium is among the good performer countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. Having implemented 42,4% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is however still a significant reinforcement of the policy framework needed in Belgium to reach its full 100% potential.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> http://www.publicprocurement.be/sites/default/files/documents/2013 06 17 loi recours wet verhaal vers 2018.pdf

<sup>180</sup> http://ec.europa.eu/regional\_policy/sources/policy/how/improving-investment/public-procurement/study/country\_profile/be.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> http://www.publicprocurement.be/fr



<u>Strengths</u>: The Flemish region has a structured innovation procurement policy which can be a good practice example for developing it also in other Belgian regions and at federal level. The federal/national level clearly anchored a default IPR regime into public procurement law that promotes innovation.

Weaknesses: At federal level and in other Belgian regions than Flanders, innovation procurement policy is at a very early stage, with no active support to procurers to increase the use of innovation procurement (lack of national competence centre, action plan / spending target, capacitybuilding activities, etc.).



#### **Overview per indicator** Indicator 1 – Official definition Total score 59% European Average 50% PPI PCP R&D procurement Innovation procurement 0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

In the Belgian public procurement legislation, there are clear official definitions for innovation but not for innovation procurement, R&D, Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) and Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI). The Belgian Public Procurement Act identifies research and development by listing the CPV codes that correspond to R&D, but there is no full sentence definition for R&D or for the R&D categories that match these CPV codes. Regarding PCP, the Belgian

Public Procurement Act provides a clear legal basis for implementing PCP (although without giving an explicit definition for PCP). The definitions of Innovation procurement, R&D, PCP and PPI are also provided by the Flemish action plan for innovation procurement. These definitions are compliant with the EU official definitions, but they are only applicable at regional level. Therefore, the total score of this the indicator is 59%.

Art 2(32) of the Belgian Public Procurement Act has literally transposed the **definition of Innovation** from the EU public procurement directive as "the implementation of a new or significantly improved product, service or process, including but not limited to production, building or construction processes, a new marketing method, or a new organisational method in business practices, workplace organisation or external relations inter alia with the purpose of helping to solve societal challenges or to support the Europe 2020 strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth". This definition is applicable to all types of public procurers across the whole country. Hence, the score for this sub-indicator is 55%.

Although there is no full sentence definition for the notion of **Research and Development** in the Belgian Public Procurement Act, Article 32 of the Act identifies R&D as activities that have the CPV codes for fundamental research, applies research and industrial development. This article also transposes the exclusion for R&D services, which forms the **legal basis for implementing PCP** in Belgium. Art 32 defines that the Act is only applicable to public service contracts for "research and development services which are covered by CPV codes 73000000-2 to 73120000-9, 73300000-5, 73420000-2 and 73430000-5 provided that both of the following conditions are fulfilled: (a) the benefits accrue exclusively to the contracting authority for its use in the conduct of its own affairs, and (b) the service provided is wholly remunerated by the contracting authority." Art 108(4) of the Belgian Public Procurement Act defines that the exclusion for public procurements of R&D services that do not meet those two conditions simultaneously applies to all types of public procurers in Belgium, thereby providing a clear legal basis for all types of public procurers in Belgium to implement precommercial procurement. R&D procurement is also defined in the Flemish PIO guidance in line with EU definition.

The definitions of all types of innovation procurement are presented in the Flemish action plan for innovation procurement published on the website of PIO, the **Innovative Public Procurement Program of the Flemish Region**.<sup>182</sup>

In particular, **PPI is defined** as follows: "In public procurement for innovation, the contracting authority purchases innovative solutions. We speak of innovative solutions when the products or services have already (fully or partially) developed but are not yet widely distributed (<20% market share). A government contract for innovation can follow a pre-commercial purchase process. The purchase of the innovative solution developed in the R&D phase is then proceeded. However, the purchase of the developed innovative solution involves a separate, new procedure. It is also possible that the supplier of the innovative solution in the PPI is not the entrepreneur who was involved in the PCP project. A validation phase can be linked to a government contract for innovation." Hence, the score for this sub-indicator is 55%.

While it **defines PCP** as: "*PCP* stands for '*Pre-Commercial Procurement'*. *Pre-commercial purchases concern the purchase of research and development services (R & D services). The R & D services to be purchased are applicationoriented. This could involve devising concrete innovative solutions and feasibility studies, the development and testing of prototypes and possibly the development of a limited series of products or services for testing purposes. Excluded are commercial activities such as volume production, customization and routine improvements to existing products or services. Typically, the purchasing government and the executive company (s) share both the costs and the results (the intellectual property) of the R & D. Unless otherwise stipulated, the company receives the intellectual property, while the purchasing authority obtains usage and / or license rights. Provided that the purchase process guarantees maximum competition, transparency, fairness and pricing to market conditions, the purchase of R & D falls outside the Public Procurement Act.*" Therefore, the score for this sub-indicator is 55%.



At national level, no horizontal policy recognises the role of innovation procurement. However, innovation procurement is recognised as a strategic tool in four horizontal policies at regional level. Therefore, the total score of this indicator is 29%.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> <u>http://www.innovatieveoverheidsopdrachten.be/gids-voor-innovatieve-overheidsopdrachten; http://www.innovatieveoverheidsopdrachten.be/begrippenkader</u>

Th e **Coalition Agreement 2014-2019 of the Government of Flanders**<sup>183</sup> gives a significant boost in this regard. Under innovation and R&D policy, for instance, the Flemish STI policy (Science, Technology and Innovation) lists innovation procurement among its strategic objectives.<sup>184</sup>

The Brussels-Capital region integrated in its 2012 "**Regional Plan for Innovation**"<sup>185</sup> the objective of developing innovation procurement schemes by 2013-2014 and other short-term and longer-term measures to be undertaken. Longer-term measures (2014-2020) connected to innovation procurement include: sensibilisation of Brussels public procurers to integrate innovation into their procurements; development of a new permanent instrument for supporting innovation procurement; informing Brussels procurers/enterprises about the specificities of innovation procurement; creating cooperation between innovation procurement projects at Belgian and European level.

In addition, the **"Walloon and Brussels joint Strategy for Research 2011-2015**"<sup>186</sup> indicates that public procurement will support the demand for R&D services. The health, transport and energy sectors and alignment with initiatives at European level are identified as particularly important. There is however no concrete innovation procurement action plan yet in Wallonia.

Indicator 3 – ICT policies					
Total score	50%	European Average	47%		

The **2015-2020 Digital Belgium strategy**<sup>187</sup> does not specifically encourage innovation procurement but recognises it indirectly through the importance of procuring new technologies to improve government efficiency. Under priority 3 "digital government", action 4 "operational efficiency" of the strategy states that "government management will be encouraged to carefully follow up ICT government contracts and to create efficiencies by further digitizing services and processes. The government will also utilise new technologies, such as social media and big data, and shall do so with a clear objective: providing better services at lower cost."



At national level, only the environmental strategy embeds innovation procurement. The score of this indicator is 10%. From 2009 onwards the federal government's **action plan for Green Public Procurement**<sup>188</sup> and later circulars regarding the action plan encourage public procurers to consider in their purchasing decision not only solutions that are innovative in terms of green aspects but also solutions that are innovative in terms of non-green aspects (innovative solutions are referred to as solutions that don't exist yet and still need to be developed)<sup>189</sup>. As the federal government has set a target of 50% in green procurement, this could also boost green innovation procurements.

```
184 https://www.ewi-vlaanderen.be/sites/default/files/bestanden/sti_in_flanders_2017_chapter_1.pdf
```

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> http://financeflanders.be/sites/default/files/atoms/files/coalition\_agreement\_2014-2019.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> <u>http://www.innovativebrussels.irisnet.be/fr/accueil/plan-regional/mise-a-jour-du-plan-regional-pour-l-innovation-1</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> http://www.recherchescientifique.be/index.php?id=1236

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> http://digitalbelgium.be/en/5-priorities/digital-government/

<sup>188</sup> https://gidsvoorduurzameaankopen.be/sites/default/files/file/20090307 Plan D Overheidsopdrachten FINAL NL.pdf

<sup>189</sup> http://www.publicprocurement.be/sites/default/files/documents/2014 05 16 circ cl soc dd omzend soc cl do.pdf

Indicator 5	– Action plan			
Total score	44%	Europea	n Average	8%
	Measures to pool demand Definition of decision-making structures Definitions of actors Commitment of Key procurers Clear timeline Definitions of results Dedicated resources Commit to concrete actions Coverage	% 20%	40% 60%	80% 100%

At national level there is no dedicated action plan for innovation procurement, while there is one at regional level, in the Flemish region. The total score for most of the sub-indicators is 50%, as the action plan does not cover the whole country. The score for definition of results and definition of resources is 25% because these aspects are clear for the Flemish government and the PIO programme but are not clearly defined for other key actors/public procurers in the Flemish region covered by the action plan. Therefore, the total score for the indicator is 44%.

Flanders has an action plan<sup>190</sup> for innovation procurement and innovative procurement that aims to promote innovation in public procurements of all public procurers in all sectors across the region. In this context innovation procurement covers all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI).

The Flemish government has adopted the **Innovative Public Procurement Program (PIO)**<sup>191</sup> to promote innovation procurement in the Flemish region. The first round of PIO has been running from 2009 to 2015, the second from 2016 to 2019. Thanks to this program, all Flemish government and public sector organizations that fall under the Belgian Public Procurement Act can contact PIO for information, advice, guidance and co-financing for innovative purchasing projects. PIO has well-defined action plan with expected results, clear timeline and budget (5 Million per year from the Flemish government).

PIO is supported by the Flemish Ministry of Economy, Science and Innovation, which is also its manager.

PIO has a number of strategic goals:

- 1) To establish a knowledge centre on innovation procurement;
- 2) To reach 3% of the Flemish Government's budget for public procurement for innovation procurement;
- 3) To draft a portfolio of projects and good practices as examples in order to raise awareness about innovation procurement;
- 4) To stimulate public organisations to participate in EU opportunities of innovation procurement (such as Horizon2020).

In Flanders, there are also some examples of action plans at local level, like the Municipality of Ghent, which has its own innovation procurement strategy since 2014<sup>192</sup>.

Indicator 6 – Spending target						
Total score	60%	European Average	11%			

At the national level there is no spending target for innovation procurement. Below the national level, only the Flemish region and the cities of Ghent and Antwerp have set a spending target for innovation procurement. The target is set for all types of innovation procurement (including R&D procurement, PCP, and PPI). Thus, the score for this indicator is 60%.

The Government of Flanders region has set a spending target to devote **3% of the total public procurement budget of the Flemish Government** to innovation. The target includes not only innovation procurements but also innovative procurements (where the only innovation is in the procurement/contracting procedure, not in what is actually being procured). This objective is backed by operational commitments from the Flemish ministries to invest in innovation procurement and by commitments from some key procurers (e.g. Digipolis which procures ICT for city of Ghent and Antwerp) but unfortunately there are no formal commitments of "all" the purchasing authorities in their policy domains. Each of the 13 policy domains of the Flemish government has a target to reach the 3%, but each policy domain can divide this via agreements over all public procurers depending from its policy domain (not only over the relevant ministry but also agencies and advisory boards depending from the policy domain). Via these agreements, each public procurer reports back every year to the ministry in its policy domain about the actual amounts spent that count towards the target.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> <u>http://www.innovatieveoverheidsopdrachten.be/over-pio/plan-van-aanpak</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup> <u>http://www.innovatieveoverheidsopdrachten.be/gids-voor-innovatieve-overheidsopdrachten</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>192</sup> http://www.ecoprocura.eu/fileadmin/editor\_files/images/Ghent\_sustainable\_procurement\_strategy\_and\_innovation\_charter.pdf

At local level, the city of Ghent and Antwerp have also set a spending target - at 10% of the budget for ICT – to procure innovative products and services (including R&D and consultancy) or to use innovative procurement methods<sup>193</sup>.



At the national level a structured measurement system for tracking innovation procurement spending is being conceived, but there is no evaluation strategy to evaluate the impacts achieved by completed innovation procurements. Hence the score is 50% for this indicator.

Under the PIO program, a measurement system has been set up, to be applied in the Belgian **e-Procurement platform** and the regional contract management system (**e-Delta**) through an indicator. The aim is flagging out the innovative tenders from the "normal" procurements. The first round of measuring innovation procurement spending has recently started, and first statistics are expected in 2019.

On the state of play of the Belgian innovation procurement policy framework, a qualitative analysis was conducted in 2017: "Barometer Innovative Public Procurement in Belgium" (De Coninck, Viaene, Leysen, Van der Auwera)<sup>194</sup>.



At national level there are no incentives to encourage public procurers to start more innovation procurements, while there are some at regional level. The 29% score for this indicator results from the fact that the available incentives are not available/applicable to all procurers in the country and therefore not enabling large scale mainstreaming of innovation procurement across the country. There is also no mobilisation of available ESIF funds in Belgium for innovation procurement.

The Flemish region has set up financial incentives to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements. The score of this indicator reflects the fact that financial incentives don't cover all procurers in the country and personal incentives for public procurers are not foreseen.

The Flemish financial support for innovation procurement is backed by the Flemish legislative framework for co-financing R&D in the context of public procurement<sup>195</sup>. The PIO programme (the Programme for Innovation Procurement of the Flemish government) takes on part of the costs for the organization of market consultations, the hiring of external expertise, the purchase of research and development services, or the implementation of validation or test phases of the solutions to be purchased. PIO has 5 Million EUR budget annually, and finances:

- 1) up to 30,000 euros for the deployment of external expertise, implementation of market consultations, organization of user surveys, etc.;
- 2) up to 1,000,000 euros for the co-financing of the R&D procured in pre-commercial procurement projects;
- 3) up to 50,000 euros for the costs involved in setting up a validation or testing phase, prior to the purchase of an innovative solution. No co-financing for the purchase of the innovative solution itself.

Funds are directed to public procurers.

#### 193 <u>Ibid.</u> 194

https://www.vlerick.com/~/media/corporate-marketing/our-

expertise/pdf/20170927BarometerInnovativePublicProcurementpdf.pdf <sup>195</sup> http://www.innovatieveoverheidsopdrachten.be/en/about-pip/regulatory-framework-co-financing-research-and-development-<u>services</u>

Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures								
Total score	tal score 41%			European Average 24%				
	Existence	Connection with relevant international/ EU initiatives	Free of charge	Covering all aspects and types of innovation procurement	Available and applicable to al public procurers the country	l in	Mainstreaming Innovation procurement at a large scale	Sub- total score
Central website	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				50%
Good practices	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				67%
Trainings/workshops	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				67%
Handbooks/guidelines								0%
Assistance to public procurers	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				67%
Template tender documents								0%
Coordination / Pre- approval								0%
Networking of procurers	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				67%
One-stop-shop / competence centre	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				50%

At national level there are currently only very limited amount of capacity building measures. The BOSA<sup>196</sup> informs procurers about innovation procurement as part the general information measures on the public procurement, and it promotes networking between procurers via meetings and events. The BOSA is currently contemplating setting up more dedicated capacity building measures for innovation procurement.

The Flemish region foresees seven out of the nine measures generally adopted to build up the know-how of public procurers on innovation procurement. The Flemish **PIO programme** (see Dimension 4) acts as the **one-stop-shop** / competence centre for Flanders that offers almost all kind of capacity building measures, such as information sharing, advice, guidance and assistance during the entire purchase process. The one-stop-shop is not in a systematic way interconnected with competence centres on innovation procurement in other countries and its services are limited to Flanders and not scaled up to mainstream innovation procurement widely across the whole country. This explains the score for sub-indicator one-stop-shop is 50%.

In the **PIO website**, the central website in Flanders dedicated to innovation procurement, furthermore, a **Guide for innovation procurement**<sup>197</sup> is announced (still under preparation) and some **tender procedures tips**<sup>198</sup> for public procurers and **good practices examples**<sup>199</sup> are provided. Apart from references to the new 2014 public procurement directives, information on other key EU initiatives on innovation procurement are missing on the website. The score for sub-indicator central website is also 50%.

PIO organises also **trainings**, mainly for public procurers in the Flemish government<sup>200</sup>. **Networking of procurers** is also typically limited to Flemish procurers. Under the impulse of ZENIT, the region North Rhine-Westphalia signed a cooperation agreement with the Netherlands and the Flemish region (Belgium) to network public procurers of their different countries to stimulate cross-border innovation procurements. As this does not concern all procurers in Belgium, the score on the sub-indicators training and networking is for both 67%.

There are no national template tender documents for innovation procurement. There is no national pre-approval of innovation procurements. There is also no central coordination of innovation procurements to foster cooperation between national procurers on implementing innovation procurements together. References / interconnection to recent EU initiatives (e.g. eafip, procure2innovative European network of competence centres, study SMART 2016/0040 that is benchmarking national policy frameworks for innovation procurement across Europe, EU guidance on innovation procurement, EU funding opportunities for innovation procurements (e.g. H2020, ESIF, EIB) and recent EU funded projects (e.g. Horizon 2020 funded projects) however often still missing. All measures performed by PIO do not receive a 100% score because they are offered at regional level, and not at central government level, therefore they are not applicable to all procurers in the country. Resources dedicated to capacity building are not yet at the level for mainstreaming innovation

<sup>198</sup> http://www.innovatieveoverheidsopdrachten.be/gids-voor-innovatieve-overheidsopdrachten/innovatievriendelijke-aanbestedings procedures

- <sup>199</sup> <u>http://www.innovatieveoverheidsopdrachten.be/lopende-projecten</u>
- <sup>200</sup> Links to different trainings organised.

http://www.innovatieveoverheidsopdrachten.be/evenementen/infosessie-innovatieve-overheidsopdrachten-tweede-oproephttps://www.ewi-vlaanderen.be/evenementen/infosessie-innovatieve-overheidsopdrachten

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup> <u>https://bosa.belgium.be/fr</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> http://www.innovatieveoverheidsopdrachten.be/gids-voor-innovatieve-overheidsopdrachten

http://www.innovatieveoverheidsopdrachten.be/evenementen/infosessie-derde-pio-oproep

procurement at large scale and the creation of a national Belgian competence centre is being comtemplated but not implemented yet.

On the basis of the evidence collected, the total score for this indicator is 41%.



This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of innovation procurement. The indicator is composed of a number of sub-indicators that show evidence on:

I. the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement;

II. the openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market.

With regard to sub-indicator I, Belgium shows the following evidence:

a. IPR default regime: The score for this sub-indicator is 100% because the Belgian public procurement legislation clearly defines a default regime for the allocation of IPRs that stimulates innovation while enabling the public procurer to use the results of the procurement in the execution of its public tasks: contractors retain the IPR developed by them, notwithstanding that they grant the necessary licenses to the public procurer to use the results and if required to ensure licensing of the results to third parties.<sup>201</sup> The Belgian law also clearly recommends procurers to only deviate from the default IPR regime in limited justified cases: when the contractor is not allowed to reuse the results (e.g. a sensitive/confidential study such as an internal evaluation) or when the contractor is not able to reuse the results (e.g. a unique communication campaign such as a design of a logo made specifically for the procurer). Deviation from the default regime is in any case only possible within the boundaries of applicable IPR/copyright law. The Belgian public procurement law foresees that public procurers can require in the tender specifications the transfer of IPR rights to the procurer. However according to the Belgian copyright  $act^{202}$ , copyrights (moral rights) cannot be transferred to another party (the procurer), even when the creator is commissioned by the procurer (as contractor) or employed (e.g. by a subcontractor) to work on the procurement contract. If the procurer wants to use the copyright protected work, he must require in the tender specifications the transfer, assignment or a license of the economic rights (e.g. usage, licensing, publication, modification, reproduction rights) at equitable payment. Copyright protects also scientific work (product designs, product specifications, tests etc.), computer programs and databases.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>201</sup> Art 53 §1 of the Belgian Public Procurement Act has transposed the provisions from the following EU public procurement directives: "The technical specifications can determine whether the transfer of intellectual property rights will be required". This provision refers to transfer of IPR rights to the public procurer. However, according to the Royal Decree of 14 January 2013 that lays down the general implementing rules for public contracts and concessions for public works, the principle applies that the public procurer does not automatically acquire ownership of the intellectual rights that are created, used or developed. To balance in an optimal way the price to be paid for the contract, the rights for the public procurers to use the results of the contract and the rights of companies to commercialize the results, the Royal Decree defines that the default scenario is that the contractors retain the IPR developed during the execution of public procurement contracts, notwithstanding that they grant the necessary licenses to the public procurer to enable it to use the results. This usage can include (to be defined in the tender specifications) internal use, reproduction, adaptation, translation, publication to the public etc. Only in case the public procurement procured R&D related to the object of the tender, the tender specifications can determine that a financial compensation is to be paid by the contractor to the public procurer in case the contractor exploits the results of the contract. The Royal Decree only allocates IPR by default to the public procurer for drawings, distinctive emblems and domain names created during a public procurement contract. In principle, a public procurer can deviate from this default IPR allocation scenario by requiring in the tender specifications that the intellectual property rights resulting from the contract are transferred to himself instead of to the contractor (as described in Art 53 §1 of the Belgian Public Procurement Act), but the procurer is recommended to do so only in specific cases where this is justified. This is because such a transfer is by definition never necessary as a usage license is sufficient for the procurer. A transfer of IPR to the public procurer can be justified for example when the result of a procurement is not reusable by the contractor but only by the procurer, for example a sensitive/confidential study (e.g. an internal evaluation) or a unique communication campaign for the public procurer (e.g. the design of a logo).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>202</sup> <u>http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/text.jsp?file\_id=125150</u>

- b. **Use of value for money award criteria**: According to the Single Market Scoreboard 71% of the procedures were awarded using not only the lowest price criteria. This is moderately well the European average of 42% but still below the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard.
- c. **Use of variants**: Belgium has allowed the use of variants in the 6% of the procedures. This is percentage is above the European average of 4%.
- d. **Preliminary Market Consultations:** Belgium has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 8% of the cases, which is almost in line with the European average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 46% which is well above the European average of 23%. This is mainly due to the above average performance on IPR default regime but improvement that still needs be made to obtain a satisfactory level of wide scale use of value for money award criteria.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Belgium shows the following evidence (according to the Single Market Scoreboard):

- e. **Level of competition**: The level of competition on the public procurement market accounts for 90%, which above the European average 84% and just approaching the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This positive performance is mainly due to the high percentage of procurement procedures where a call for bids was used (98%).
- f. **Level of Transparency**: The level of transparency of the public procurement market is only 30% which is below the European average 45% and the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This performance is mainly affected by the below average percentage of tenders that does not miss call for bids information (74%) and the high amount of call for bids with missing buyer registration numbers (88%) which makes it hard for potential bidders to understand who is buying what.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 60% which is below the European average 65% in and below the satisfactory level 79% set in the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly due to the low level of transparency which tempers the contribution of the good level of competition to the total result.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 53% which is the one of the highest among the 30 countries analysed. The score is explained firstly by the fact that the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country is above European average and reaching the satisfactory level, but the openness of the Belgian public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is below the European average and below the satisfactory level. Indeed, Belgium is leader in adopting an innovation friendly IPR default regime and value for money criteria are becoming more widely used in public procurements. However, although the national public procurement market shows a good level of competition, there is a clear lack of transparency.

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### Investment benchmarking (2018)

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Belgian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Belgian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, except when explicitly mentioned, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 10,1% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e.  $\bigcirc$  7,5 bn), **Belgium ranks 9<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>203</sup> across Europe. Belgium falls within the group of **good performers**, slightly above the European average of 9,3%.<sup>204</sup> Despite this, **a significant increase of investments in PPI is still needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Belgian public sector.<sup>205</sup> When taking into account the amount of PPI in the defence sector, Belgium still remains in the 9<sup>th</sup> position.



The **main factors**<sup>206</sup> explaining Belgium's good performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Belgium (84%) is in line with the European average (84%). This may be due to the fact that the largest portion of PPI investments is devoted to 'significantly improved' solutions (49%) followed by innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (35%). The share of PPI procurement invested in transformative innovations is also considerably higher compared to the share invested

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found here on the EU webpages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

 $<sup>^{205}</sup>$  It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve). <sup>206</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

in **incremental innovations** (16%), which consist of 'existing solutions being used in a new way or in a new sector' or 'innovative combinations of existing solutions'.

Despite that, Belgium' total amount of PPI investments is not yet at the level of that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This may be due to **underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs**, which have a high impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Nearly all domains of public sector activity**<sup>207</sup> **in Belgium purchased innovative solutions**, except in the category '**Other**'. The shares of PPI investments by different public sector domains out of total PPI investments in the country are **mostly in line with the European averages**. The difference between the investments made by Belgian procurers does not shift by more or less than 3 percentage points (pp) from the European average in 8 out of 11 sectors. At the same time, it emerges that PPI by Belgian procurers in the **'Healthcare and social services'** and **'General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs'** domains significantly deviate from the European average (+23 pp and -18 pp respectively). Also, PPI made by procurers in the **'Public order, safety and security sector'** are below the European average (-8 pp).

#### European Difference Domain of public sector activity Belgium average (in pp) General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs -18 17% 35% Public transport 12% 10% +2Healthcare and social services 44% 21% +238% 6% Energy +2Environment 6% 3% +3 Construction, housing and community amenities 4% 4% 0 Education, recreation, culture and religion 5% 5% 0 Water 2% 4% -2 Public order, safety and security 1% 8% -7 Postal services 1% 1% 0 Other 0% 3% -3 **Total PPI investments** 100% 100%

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

#### **Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposals** Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is significantly lower in Belgium (12%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Belgian procurers may be more risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is higher in Belgium (88%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Belgian procurers tend to be more open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Belgian PPI investments for which call for tenders are published is modest (15%) and significantly below to the European average (22%). Both public procurement **published at European level** in the TED database (11%) and **published at national level** (4%) are below the European average (respectively 18% and 5%). Hence, the share of PPI that is not published in TED or at national level is very large (85%).

By not publishing call for tenders for PPI investments widely, **Belgium is missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Belgian and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Belgian PPI business opportunities.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

PPI investments by level of public sector activity



Less than one third of the total PPI investments in Belgium is carried out by **large-scale entities at national level** (29%), such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is below the European average (47%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for a similar share of PPI investments (32%), but this time well above the European average (24%). **Procurers at local level** account for the highest fraction of PPI investments (39%), above the European average (29%).

# Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The Belgian public sector shows a **modest level of performance** in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment). With & 2,8 bn or 4,3% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Belgium ranks** 7<sup>th</sup> in the ICT-based PPI investment ranking, above the European average (3,5%). Also in terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions (43%), Belgium performs slightly above the European average (38%). However, **a significant increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions is still needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Belgium to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>208</sup>



The main factors<sup>209</sup> explaining Belgium's modest performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** in Belgium (82%) is slightly above the European average (79%). This may derive from the fact that the largest share of ICT-based PPI (70%) represents the adoption of 'significantly improved solutions' followed by innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (20%). The share spent on **incremental ICT-based innovations<sup>210</sup>** (18%) is slightly below the European average (21%). As the total ICT-based-PPI investment level in the country is still modest, a significant increase in the adoption of transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations is still needed.

ICT-based PPI investments by type of innovation



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI– or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>210</sup> See definitions above.

#### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

ICT-based PPI investment by ICT sub-sector



#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Nearly all the domains of public sector activity in Belgium purchased innovative ICT based solutions** except for the '**Other**' category with zero ICT-based PPI procurement. In particular, the highest share of ICT-based PPI is made by procurers that operate in the domain of '**Healthcare and social services**' (32% against a 30% European average) followed by procurers in the '**General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs**' domain (27% which is significantly above the European average of 16%).



#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup> For the purpose of this study, the three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>·</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

<sup>·</sup> Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 42% of ICT-based PPI, quite below the European average (69%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for the highest share of the ICT-based PPI at sub-national level (44%), more than double the European average (21%). To the contrary, **local procurers** account for only a modest fraction of ICT-based PPI (14%), which is still above the European average (10%).
# Bulgaria



### . NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

**Governance and Legal Framework** 

In Bulgaria, public procurement is regulated by the Public Procurement Act. The Act was introduced into national legislation in 2016 and came into force as of 15 April 2016. It regulates the procedures for all type of public procurement contracts and transposes into national legislation the EU Directives 2014/24/EU, 2014/25/EU and 2009/81/EC. The Directive 2014/23/EU was implemented by the Concession Act, which entered into force in January 2018.

The key institutions in the national public procurement system are the **Ministry of Finance**, which is responsible for the implementation of the public procurement policy, and the **Public Procurement Agency**, the body through which the Ministry acts in this field. The Agency, thus, implements the State policy in the field of public procurement, developing strategic and operational documents, drafting legislation, disseminating good practices and offering methodological support, doing external ex-ante control on public procurement and monitoring specific procedures, coordinating standardization process and publication of approved standard documents, administering the Public Procurement Register, monitoring the award of public procurement contracts and cooperating with other bodies at national and EU level.<sup>212</sup>

The Agency ensures the efficiency of the system and its compliance with the principles of transparency, free and fair competition and equal opportunities. The Agency's structure and operational rules are defined in its statutes.<sup>213</sup> Finally, the Public Financial Inspection Agency (PFIA), within the Ministry of Finance, is the supervisory body in the field of public procurement.

The **Public Financial Inspection Agency and the National Audit Office** perform external ex-post control over the implementation of the procurement legislation including the implementation of public contracts and framework agreements. With regard to innovation procurement, Bulgaria does not have dedicated schemes or initiatives for PPI, PCP or R&D procurement, while public procurement of innovative solutions is used to a limited extent (i.e. some tenders including criteria that can indirectly trigger innovation such as life-cycle analysis). The Ministry of Environment and Water (MOEW) has indirectly addressed the issue of public procurement of innovative solutions in the context of wider European funded projects.

#### **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In the benchmarking of national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Bulgaria is at the 27<sup>th</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 10,5%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Bulgaria is among the group of low performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. The country's performance is below European average on 9 of the 10 indicators. Having implemented only 10,5% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is clearly still a very strong reinforcement of the policy framework for innovation procurement needed in Bulgaria to reach its full 100% potential.



<u>Strengths:</u> The implementation of the EU public procurement Directives provides a basis to start building up a policy framework in the area of innovation procurement.

Weaknesses: A structured innovation procurement policy in Bulgaria is still not developed, thus important elements to foster its development are still missing (e.g. introduction of innovation procurement as a strategic priority in horizontal and sectorial policies, national competence centre, dedicated action plan, spending target, monitoring system for innovation procurement etc.). Lack of IPR policy in public procurement that encourages innovation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup> http://pubdocs.worldbank.org/en/296421525762408268/EN-Bulgaria-Veselina-Atanasova.pdf
<sup>213</sup> http://www.aop.bg/fckedit2/user/File/en/Normativna%20baza/uspr.pdf





The Bulgarian public procurement law provides an official definition of innovation and of R&D. These definitions are compliant with the EU official definitions and applicable to all types of public procurers in the country. Conversely, there are no official definitions of innovation procurement, Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) and Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI) in national legislation nor in official national guidance documents. Bulgarian public procurement law provides a clear legal basis for implementing Pre-Commercial Procurement (although without giving an explicit definition for PCP). Therefore, the total score of this indicator is 51%.

Even though there is no specific definition of innovation procurement in Bulgaria, the **definition of innovation** in the context of public procurement is included in §2, p. 18 of the Supplementary provisions section of the Public Procurement Act ("PPA"). The Act defines innovation as "the implementation of a new or significantly enhanced product, service or process, including but not limited to processes of production, construction or construction, a new method of placing on the market or a new method of organization in business practice, organization of workplace or external relations among others to help address social challenges or to support the Europe 2020 strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth". This definition is in line with the EU definition, and it is country-wide applicable.<sup>214</sup> Hence, the total score for this sub-indicator is 35%.

**Research and Development** is also defined in §2, p. 24 of the Supplementary provisions of the PPA as "activities which cover fundamental research, applied research and experimental development; experimental development may include the realization of technological demonstrators, i.e. devices demonstrating the performance of a new concept of a new technology in a relevant or representative environment". This definition is also in line with the EU definition, and it is country-wide applicable to all types of public procurers. Hence, the total score for this sub-indicator is 100%.

Even though there is no definition of **PCP** in the PPA, 13 (1)(15), p. 29 has transposed the exclusion which forms the legal basis for implementing PCP: *"The Bulgarian PPA shall not apply to pubic procurements for research and development services where one of the following conditions is not fulfilled: (a) the benefits accrue exclusively to the contracting entity for its use in the conduct of its own affairs (b) the service provided is wholly remunerated by the contracting entity".* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>214</sup> http://www.aop.bg/fckedit2/user/File/en/Normativna%20baza/PPAct\_16032018.pdf

Although there is no specific definition of pre-commercial procurement in Bulgarian public procurement law, through the above provisions for R&D services the law provides the legal basis for all types of procurers in Bulgaria to implement PCP procurements. The total score for this sub-indicator is 35%.

The Bulgarian legislative framework does not provide an official definition of **PPI**. However, in the PPA, § 47(1) forms the legal basis for implementing the PPI at national level. According to this article "*contracting entities may include in the requirements for the performance of the procurement special conditions relating to economic or social aspects of the performance, innovations, environmental management, or to employment.*" This legal basis is applicable countrywide and to all public procurers. Therefore, the total score for this sub-indicator is 35%.

Indicator 2	- Horizontal policies					
Total score	14%		European Ave	rage	36	%
	Regional/urban policy Entrepreneurship policy Economic and financial policy Competition policy Public procurement Innovation policy R&D policy	% 20%	6 40%	60%	80%	100%

In Bulgaria, innovation procurement is explicitly recognised as a tool of strategic importance in the regional and urban policy, and Public Procurement. Therefore the total score of the indicator "Horizontal policy" is 14%.

In particular, the **Innovative Strategy for smart specialization for the period 2014-2020**<sup>215</sup>, recognizes the role of innovation procurment to modernize the public sector. The document focuses especially in the sectors of waste, water, and energy (cf. Indicator sectorial policies). The S3 strategy is implemented mainly by Bulgarian regions. Therfore, the total score of the indicator Regional and urban policy is 100%.

Under the framework of the **National Strategy for Development of the Public Procurement Sector 2014-2020**<sup>216</sup>, Bulgaria has transposed the European procurement legislation into the national public procurement act, and is now committed to set up a strong public procurement system focused on value for money, where innovation procurement can have a crucial role in the future. However, innovation procurement is not yet recognized as a pivotal element of the public procurement policy of the Country.

Indicator 3 – ICT policies					
Total score	0%	European Average	47%		

Innovation procurement is not mentioned as a tool to stimulate innovation in the ICT sector.

Indicator 4 – Sectorial policies						
Total score	0%	European Average	14%			

In Bulgaria, innovation procurement is not embedded as strategic priority in any sectoral policy.

Indicator 5 – Action plan						
Total score	0%	European Average	8%			

Bulgaria does not have a stand-alone action Plan for innovation procurement.

Indicator 6 – Spending target					
Total score	0%	European Average	11%		

In Bulgaria there is no specific spending target for innovation procurement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup> https://www.mi.government.bg/files/useruploads/files/innovations/ris3 26 10 2015 bg.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>216</sup> https://rio.jrc.ec.europa.eu/en/file/7352/download?token=OGh7UDQM

Indicator 7 – Monitoring system					
Total score	0%	European Average	13%		

Bulgaria does not have structured measurement and evaluation systems of innovation procurement, while it has developed monitoring mechanisms for Green procurement.

Indicator 8 – Incentives					
Total score	0%	European Average	22%		

In Bulgaria there are no financial or other types of incentives specifically designed to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements.

Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures					
Total score	0%	European Average	24%		

On the basis of the evidence collected, the total score of this indicator is 0%. Bulgaria is still lacking a structured approach to capacity building on innovation procurement across the country. There is information dissemination on some innovation related aspects in public procurement, but is only provided within wider training sessions and workshops on public procurement. There are no dedicated trainings on innovation procurement. The activities current usually provide an understanding of what is meant with innovation procurement, present different techniques and procedures potentially available under the new legal framework. It is worth mentioning that a possible evolution might also be facilitated by the above-mentioned Innovative Strategy for smart specialization for the period 2014-2020<sup>217</sup>, as it foresees the creation of a Smart Growth Board with coordinating functions in the implementation of the strategy, including in the area of public procurement.

The participation in EU funded projects in this area is also expected to have a positive impact in the future. For example, the Public Procurement Agency is currently developing, in the context of a project funded under the Swiss-Bulgarian Cooperation Programme, a handbook on GPP. The handbook however does not provide dedicated detailed guidance on the implementation of innovation procurement.<sup>218</sup>



This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market in Bulgaria encourages the implementation of innovation procurement. It is composed of two sub-indicators that reflect

- I. the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement;
- II. the openness of the national Bulgarian public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market.

With regards to sub-indicator I, Bulgaria shows the following evidence:

a. **IPR default regime:** The score for this sub-indicator is 25%, which is below the European average of 38%, because there is no default scenario for the distribution of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers in Bulgaria. Bulgarian law, general terms and conditions for government contracts and guidelines on public procurement do not define how IPR allocation is best dealt with in procurement contracts. It is left to the individual responsibility

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup> https://www.mi.government.bg/files/useruploads/files/innovations/ris3\_26\_10\_2015\_bg.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup> http://swiss-contribution.bg/en/projects/green-procurements/methodological-support-for-the-development-of-green-public-

procurement-in-bulgaria and http://www.aop.bg/fckedit2/user/File/bg/novini/NOVINA-20.2.2019-1.pdf

of each Bulgarian procurer to specify clearly the IPR allocation for the procurement in its tender documents so that it stimulates innovation and is compliant with applicable IPR/copyright law. The Bulgarian public procurement law foresees that procurers can require in the tender specifications the transfer of IPR rights to the procurer. However as copyright (moral rights) cannot be fully transferred by the creator to another person under the Bulgarian Copyright act<sup>219</sup>, the act defines as default scenario that in public procurements (commissioned work) copyright belongs to the creator of the work (copyright shall be owned by the creator) and that the procurer only keeps the right to use copyrighted work for the purposes for which it was commissioned (e.g. for usage, licensing, publication, modification, reproduction). Copyright protects also scientific work (product designs, product specifications, tests etc.), computer programs and databases.

- b. <u>Value for Money</u>: According to the EU single market scoreboard, only 20% of the public procurement procedure have been awarded using criteria different from the lowest price. This is seriously below the European average and below the satisfactory level 80% set in the EU single market scoreboard. The country shows an over-reliance of lowest price criteria in procurement procedures.
- c. <u>Use of variants</u>: Bulgaria has allowed the use of variants in procurement procedures only in 0,04% of the cases. This percentage is below the European average.
- d. <u>Preliminary Market Consultations</u>: Bulgaria has not used Preliminary Market Consultations in any procurement procedure in 2018.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 12% which is significantly below the 23% European average. This is mainly due to the below average performance on IPR default regime, the underutilisation of value for money award criteria, the absence of Preliminary Market Consultation and a close-to-zero use of variants in procedures.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Bulgaria shows the following evidence (according to the EU single market scoreboard):

- e. <u>Level of competition</u>: The level of competition of the national public procurement market accounts for 71% which is below the European average 84% and below the 92% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This performance is due to both below average performance on the amount of call for tenders that received more than one bid (68%) and the percentage of contracts awarded to companies with a call for bids (74%).
- f. <u>Level of Transparency</u>: The level of transparency of the public procurement market accounts for 66% which is above the European average 45% and reaches the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. The level of information provided by the public authorities on the procurement procedure is above the European average on all the sub-indicators: percentage of tender with no missing call for bids information (99%) and availability of buyer registration numbers (99%) and publication rate (6%).

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 68% which is above the 65% European average but still below the 79% satisfactory level derived from the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly due to the below average performance on competition, although the level of transparency is above European average and satisfactory.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 40% which is below the European average. The score is explained by the fact that the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country is below European average, while the openness of the Bulgarian public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is satisfactory. Indeed, Bulgaria has not yet adopted a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation and the use of value for money criteria is still significantly below European average. The level of competition lies below European average even though transparency is above European average. Moreover, the total score is affected by the fact that no procedure has included a Preliminary Market Consultation and in almost all the procedures analysed in 2018 the use of variants has not been allowed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>219</sup> <u>http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/text.jsp?file\_id=237956#LinkTarget\_1424</u>

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### Investment benchmarking (2018)

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Bulgarian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Bulgarian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, except when explicitly mentioned, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 3,6% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e. € 0,3 bn), **Bulgaria ranks 28<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>220</sup> across Europe. Bulgaria falls within the group of **bottom performers**, below the European average of 9,3%.<sup>221</sup> Therefore, **a considerable increase of investments in PPI is needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Bulgarian public sector.<sup>222</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Bulgaria moves up to the 26<sup>th</sup> position.



The **main factors**<sup>223</sup> explaining Bulgaria's bottom-level performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments that was spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Bulgaria (39%) is considerably below the European average (84%). The share of PPI investments devoted both to the adoption of 'significantly improved' solutions (26%) and to the adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (13%) are still very low. PPI investments in Bulgaria depend much more (61%) than in other European countries (16%) on **incremental innovations**. This includes the purchase of existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found here on the EU webpages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>221</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve). <sup>223</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

sector as well as innovative combinations of existing solutions. As the total amount of investments in innovative solutions in Bulgaria is low, the country still needs to step up considerably its investments in the adoption of both transformative and incremental innovations.

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is therefore an important factor explaining why Bulgaria is not yet at the level of PPI investments that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

Despite the low level of overall investment in public procurement of innovative solutions in the country, **all domains of public sector activity purchased innovative solutions**<sup>224</sup> **in Bulgaria purchased some innovative solutions**. However, the shares of PPI investment made by several public sector domains out of total PPI investment in the country is **not aligned with the European average**. The highest divergences are in the '**Healthcare and social services**' and '**General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs**' domains: the former in negative (-11 pp), the latter in positive (+15 pp) compared to the European average.

Domain of public sector activity	Bulgaria	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	50%	35%	+15
Public transport	2%	10%	-8
Healthcare and social services	10%	21%	-11
Energy	9%	6%	+3
Environment	4%	3%	+1
Construction, housing and community amenities	10%	4%	+6
Education, recreation, culture and religion	9%	5%	+4
Water	2%	4%	-2
Public order, safety and security	3%	8%	-5
Postal services	0%	1%	-1
Other	1%	3%	-2
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>224</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

# Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is consistently higher in Bulgaria (48%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Bulgarian procurers may be less risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is lower in Bulgaria (52%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Bulgarian procurers tend to be less open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Bulgarian PPI investments for which call for tenders are published is considerably higher (65%) than the European average (22%). Both the portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (33%) and **published at national level** (32%) are above European average (respectively 18% and 5%). The share of PPI that are not published in TED or at national level still accounts for more than one third (35%).

By publishing the largest part of PPI call for tenders, Bulgaria is **expanding the opportunities to purchase potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Bulgarian and other European innovative suppliers.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

PPI investments by level of public sector activity



A considerable share of the total PPI investments in Bulgaria is carried out by **large-scale entities at national level** (40%), such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. However, this is below the European average (47%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for the smallest amount of share of PPI investments (14%), below the European average (24%). **Procurers at local level** account for the highest fraction of PPI investments (46%), largely above the European average (29%).

# Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The Bulgarian public sector shows a **bottom level of performance** in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI). With  $\in$  0,03 bn or 1% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Bulgaria ranks 28**<sup>th</sup> in the ICT-based PPI investment benchmarking, considerably below the European average (3,5%). Also in terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions (28%), Bulgaria performs significantly below the European average (38%). As a result, **a considerable increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions is still needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Bulgaria to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>225</sup>



The main factors<sup>226</sup> explaining Bulgaria's bottom-line performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is invested in the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** (73%) is below the European average (79%). This may derive from the fact that the share of ICT-based investments spent on the adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' is still low (24%). A considerable share (48%) goes to the adoption of 'significantly improved solutions'. PPI investments in Romania depend much more than in other European countries (16%) on **incremental innovations** (27%). This includes the purchase of existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector as well as innovative combinations of existing solutions. As the total amount of investments in innovative solutions in Bulgaria is very limited, the country still needs to step up considerably its investments in the adoption of both transformative and incremental innovations.

ICT-based PPI by type of innovation (as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI)



 $<sup>^{225}</sup>$  It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI – or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>226</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI

#### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

#### ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



Bulgaria invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the so-called '**Core ICT**' **sub-sector**<sup>227</sup> (79%), well above the European average (54%).

Bulgaria invested to a lesser extent in the adoption of innovations from the '**ICT Plus' sub-sector** (19%), which is significantly below the European average (44%).

Investments in adopting innovations from the **'Content & Media' sub-sector** were marginal (2%) but in line with the European average (1%).

#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

Despite the low overall level of ICT-based PPI investment in the country, **nearly all the domains of public sector activity purchased some innovation ICT-based solutions**, with the exception of the '**Postal services**' category with zero ICT-based PPI. In particular, the highest share of ICT-based PPI investments is made by procurers that operate in the domain of '**Construction, housing and community amenities**' (21% against a 2% European average) followed by procurers in the '**Education, recreation, culture and religion' domain** (20% which is significantly above the European average of 9%).

#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>227</sup> For the purpose of this study, the three ICT sub-sectors are:

Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

<sup>·</sup> Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 69% of ICT-based PPI investments, in line with the European average (69%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for the lowest share of the ICT-based PPI investments at sub-national level (11%), which is below the European average (21%). To the contrary, **local procurers account** for a higher fraction of ICT-based PPI investments (20%), which doubles the European average (10%).

# Cyprus



## NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

### **Governance and legal framework**

The field of public procurement in Cyprus is regulated by the **Law for the adjustment of procurement procedures and related subjects** (N. 73(I)/2016)<sup>228</sup> and the Law on procurement by entities operating in the water, energy, transport and postal services sectors (N.140(I)/2016)<sup>229</sup> transposing the Directives 2014/24 and 2014/25/EU respectively. Law 173 (I)/2011<sup>230</sup> regulates the procedures for the award of **public contracts** in the defence and security sectors transposing the EU **Directive** 2009/81/EU.

The public procurement system has a decentralized approach since contracting authorities/entities are responsible for their own tenders, even though the Competent Authority for Public Procurement and review body are centralized at the State level.

Cyprus has a decentralised public procurement system with a single administrative body at the State level and around 700 contracting authorities/entities at the State and local levels.

**The Public Procurement Directorate (PPD)** of the Treasury of the Republic of Cyprus is the single Competent Authority for Public Procurement responsible for all matters regarding public procurement in Cyprus. It is responsible for drafting public procurement legislation and ensuring its proper implementation. It is also entitled to carry out checks upon contracting authorities/entities to ensure compliance with procurement law. Additionally, it is competent for policy-making in the field of public procurement, and it provides assistance to contracting authorities for proper implementation of the procurement rules through guidance and training.

### Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)

In the benchmarking of national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Cyprus is at the 17<sup>th</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 20,4%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Cyprus is among the group of modest performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. Having implemented only 20,4% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement implemented, there is still a very strong reinforcement of the policy framework for innovation procurement needed in Cyprus for it to reach its full 100% potential.



**Strengths:** In Cyprus there is a first awareness to the topic of innovation procurement, mostly through the commitment of some horizontal policies and of the digital strategy. This can be a good ground for building a future innovation procurement policy.

Weaknesses: Innovation procurement policy framework is at an early stage, and most important elements to foster its development are still missing (e.g. structured policy framework, national competence centre, capacity building activities, action plan, spending target, monitoring system, etc.). Lack of IPR policy in public procurement that encourages innovation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>228</sup> http://www.treasury.gov.cy/treasury/treasurynew.nsf/All/<u>35C9186BC3AD4E21C2257FB000228197?OpenDocument</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>229</sup> http://www.treasury.gov.cy/treasury/treasurynew.nsf/All/7F902C49A4A09C11C225809C00326E68?OpenDocument

<sup>230</sup> http://www.treasury.gov.cy/treasury/treasurynew.nsf/All/3FACD5ED6A088329C2257F08004A4ED5/\$file/N\_173(I)\_2011.pdf





In Cyprus, there is an official definition for R&D procurement, while the legal framework only provides a legal basis for "innovation procurement", "Pre-Commercial Procurement" (PCP) and "Public Procurement of Innovative solutions" (PPI). Therefore the total score of this indicator is 49%.

There is no definition of "innovation procurement" in Cyprus. However, the Law for the adjustment of procurement procedures and related subjects of 2016 defines **innovation** in its introductory provisions (Chapter 1, Article 2.1) as "the realisation of a new or significantly improved product, service or process, including but not limited to production, building or construction processes, new marketing methods or new organizational methods to business practices, workplace organization or external relations , inter alia, to contribute to addressing societal challenges or supporting the Europe 2020 Strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth". This definition is applicable countrywide and coherent with the EU definition, therefore the score for this sub-indicator is 35%.

A definition of R&D is only provided in the Law 173 (I)/2011 that transposes the Defence and security Directive 2009/81/EU. Part I (Introductory provisions) provides a definition of **Research and development** "*as all the activities involved basic research, applied research and experimental development, where the latter may include the implementation of technological demonstration projects, that is to say devices that will demonstrate the performance of a new method or technology to relevant or representative environment*". This definition is only applicable in the defence sector (i.e. not countrywide) and is in line with the EU definition, therefore the total score of this sub-indicator is 90%.

The Law for the adjustment of procurement procedures and related subjects of 2016 identifies in Chapter 3, article n. 18 (Special cases section) R&D as "activities that have the CPV codes for fundamental research, applied research and industrial development". This article also transposes the exclusion for R&D services, which forms the legal basis for implementing in **PCP**, namely: "the law only applies to R&D services procurements following the cumulative conditions of "(a) products belong exclusively to the contracting authority for its own use at pursuing its activity; and (b) the

*service is wholly remunerated by the contracting authority*". Therefore, no definition exist, but there is a legal basis which is applicable to all public procurers in the country, resulting in a total score for this indicator of 35%.

A **PPI** definition is not available in the legal framework, and neither present in any policy document or guideline. However, the *Law for the adjustment of procurement procedures and related subjects* (2016) provides the legal basis to implement PPI (allowing procurers to award contracts and monitor contract performance not only based on price but also based on innovation criteria). In particular, article 76 (2) states that "*contracting authorities may take into account the need to safeguard it quality, continuity, accessibility, affordability, accessibility availability and completeness of services, the specific needs of the various categories of users, including disadvantaged and vulnerable groups, involvement and empowerment of users and innovation*". Therefore, no definition exist, but there is a legal basis which is applicable to all public procurers in the country, resulting in a total score for this indicator of 35%.



Public procurement and entrepreneurship policies are the areas in which is currently present a reference to innovation procurement. As a result, the total score of this Indicator is 29%.

The Public Procurement Directorate of the Treasury of the Republic of Cyprus in line with its role which involves the formulation of a public procurement policy and the provision of guidance to Contracting Authorities and Contracting Entities, published a Public Procurement Best Practice Guide. This Guide is structured around 7 chapters one of which refers to the strategy on **public procurement**. In this chapter promotion of innovation is included as one of the objectives of public procurement.<sup>231</sup>

The **Policy Statement on the reinforcement of the Entrepreneurial Ecosystem** in Cyprus (2017) includes one concrete activity on Innovation Procurement. In particular activity 3.1.2 of the axis on Entrepreneurial Innovation refers to the promotion of Innovation Partnerships as they are defined in the EU Directive 2014/24. The establishment of the regulatory framework on Innovation Partnerships and training programs to raise awareness on the benefits and the way this procedure works are described as concrete activities in the framework of the above mentioned action.<sup>232</sup>. The first progress report that was published in January 2017 mentions that these activities have already been completed.<sup>233</sup>

Indicator 3 – ICT policies					
Total score	100%	European Average	47%		

The **Digital Cyprus Strategy**<sup>234</sup> foresees under the Objective *Entrepreneurship, Measure entrepreneurship* (goal 5, action 17.4) a concrete action on Pre-Commercial Procurement. In particular it foresees a new funding Programme to support Pre-Commercial Procurements in the ICT sector launched by public organizations where innovative companies or research organizations could participate.

Indicator 4 – Sectorial policies					
Total score	0%	European Average	14%		

In Cyprus no sectorial policy explicitly recognises the role of innovation procurement within its strategy.

55aa3532f9b3b9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup> http://www.publicprocurementguides.treasury.gov.cy/OHS-EN/HTML/index.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>232</sup> https://issuu.com/presidency-reform-cyprus/docs/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup> <u>https://issuu.com/presidency-reform-cyprus/docs/2016 progress report</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> http://www.mcw.gov.cy/mcw/dec/digital\_cyprus/ict.nsf/3700071379D1C658C2257A6F00376A80/\$file/Main%20document%20 digital%20strategy.pdf

Indicator 5 – Action plan					
Total score	0%	European Average	8%		

Cyprus has not a dedicated/stand-alone Action Plan for innovation procurement.

Indicator 6 – Spending target				
Total score	0%	European Average	11%	

In Cyprus there is no specific spending target for innovation procurement

Indicator 7 – Monitoring system				
Total score	0%	European Average	13%	

The Country does not have structured monitoring and evaluating systems of innovation procurement.

Indicator 8 – Incentives					
Total score	0%	European Average	22%		

In Cyprus there are no financial or other types of incentives to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements

Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures			
Total score	0%	European Average	24%

Cyprus has not put in place systematic targeted measures to improve procurers' know-how and increase the adoption of innovation procurement. The score on this indicator is therefore o%.

**The Public Procurement Directorate (PPD)** of the Treasury of the Republic is the single Competent Authority for Public Procurement responsible for all matters regarding public procurement in Cyprus. Among its responsibilities, it is competent for policy-making in the field of public procurement, and it provides assistance to contracting authorities for proper implementation of the procurement rules through guidance and continuous training. However, training and assistance measures are not specifically tailored for innovation procurement.

Cyprus is still lacking a structure approach to capacity building on innovation procurement across the country. Apart from some limited awareness raising sessions that are not specifically tailored for innovation procurement, no dedicated capacity building measures for innovation procurement have been implemented in a systematic, regular way.



This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market in Cyprus encourages the implementation of innovation procurement. The indicator is composed of two sub-indicators that show evidence on:

the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in Cyprus

I.

II. the openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regard to indicator I, Cyprus shows the following evidence:

- a. **IPR default regime**: The score for this sub-indicator is 25%, which is below the 38% European average, because there is no predefined default scenario on distribution of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers in Cyprus. The Cypriot law, general terms and conditions and guidelines on public procurement do not define how IPR allocation is best dealt with in public procurement contracts. It is left to the individual responsibility of each Cypriot procurer to specify clearly the IPR allocation for the procurement in its tender documents so that it stimulates innovation and is compliant with applicable IPR/copyright law. Cypriot public procurement law foresees that public procurers can require in the tender specifications the transfer of IPR rights between the contractor and the procurer. However, according to Cypriot copyright law 59/1976<sup>235</sup>, copyright (moral rights including the right to remuneration) belongs in an inalienable way to the creator. Only economic rights can be transferred, assigned or licensed by the creator to another person/entity. If the procurer wants to use copyrighted material produced by (sub)contractors he must require in the tender specifications, reproduction rights) at equitable payment. Copyright protects also scientific work (product designs, product specifications, tests etc.), computer programs and databases.
- b. **Use of value for money award criteria**: According to the Single Market Scoreboard, only 7% of the procedures were awarded based on value for money award criteria (93% of public procurements still awarded based on lowest price only). This 7% score is significantly below the 42% European average and far below the 80% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. Cyprus is among the Member States that is underperforming the most on the use of value for money award criteria.
- c. <u>Use of variants</u>: Cyprus has allowed the use of variants in less than 1% of the procedures (0,5%). This percentage is well below the European average.
- **d.** <u>Preliminary Market Consultation</u>: Cyprus has not used Preliminary Market Consultations in procurement procedures in 2018.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 8%, which is significantly below the 23% European average.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Cyprus shows the following evidence (according to the Single Market Scoreboard):

- e. <u>Level of competition</u>: The level of competition of the national public procurement market is 64%, which is below the European average 84% and below the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This result is mainly driven by the below-average performance on all sub-indicators: proportion of procurements with more than one bidder (58%) and without a call for bids (70%).
- f. **Level of Transparency**: The level of transparency of the public procurement market is 27%, which is below the European average 45% and the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This result is mainly driven by the below-average performance on all sub-indicators: low publication rate (2%), proportion of procurements that lack information about the call for bids (20%) and miss buyer registration numbers (100%) making it very difficult for companies to find out which buyer wants to buy what.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 46% which is below the 65% European average and below the 79% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is due to low level of transparency and competition.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 27% which is significantly below the European average. From the 30 countries analysed, Cyprus has the lowest score for this indicator. This score is explained firstly by the fact that both the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country and the openness of the Cypriot procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market are significantly below the European average. Indeed, the country has not yet adopted a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation, value for money criteria are seriously underused in public procurements and both the level of competition and transparency is significantly below the European average and satisfactory level of the EU single market scoreboard. Secondly, use of variants has been rarely allowed and Preliminary Market Consultations have not been held.

<sup>235</sup> http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/details.jsp?id=920

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Cypriot investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Cypriot investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 4,3% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e. Columbra 0,1 bn), **Cyprus ranks 25<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>236</sup> across Europe. Cyprus falls within the group of **low performers**, consistently below the European average of 9,3%.<sup>237</sup> **A considerable increase of investments in PPI is still needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Cypriot public sector.<sup>238</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Cyprus moves up to the 24<sup>th</sup> position.



The **main factors**<sup>239</sup> explaining Cyprus's low performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Cyprus (29%) is very much below the European average (84%). This is due to the fact that the share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of 'new to the market' solutions' is still extremely low (1%) and the share spent on adopting 'significantly improved' solutions is also still low (28%). Cypriot PPI investments still rely to a much larger extent (71%) than on average across Europe (16%) on the adoption of **incremental innovations**, which includes the purchase of 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' as well as 'innovative combinations of existing solutions'. As the total amount

 $<sup>^{236}</sup>$  Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found here on the EU webpages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

 $<sup>^{238}</sup>$  It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve).  $^{239}$  The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

of investments in innovative solutions in Cyprus is low, the country still needs to step up considerably its investments in the adoption of both transformative and incremental innovations.

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is therefore an important factor explaining why Cyprus is not yet at the level of PPI investment that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Several domains of public sector activity**<sup>240</sup> **in Cyprus did not purchase innovative solutions**: this is the case in the domains of **'Water'**, **'Public order, safety and security' and 'Postal Services'**. In several domains of public sector activity, the amount of PPI investment is **not aligned with the European average**. All investments made by Cypriot procurers deviate more than 3 percentage points (pp) from the European average. The share of PPI investments made by procurers in '**Healthcare and social services'** (55%) is significantly above the European average (21%), while the share of PPI investments made by procurers in '**General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs**' (11%) is significantly below the European average. The share of investments from procurers in the '**Environment**' domain was very small (0,1%)

Domain of public sector activity	Cyprus	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	11%	35%	-24
Public transport	3%	10%	-7
Healthcare and social services	55%	21%	+34
Energy	2%	6%	-4
Environment	0% (0,1%)	3%	-3
Construction, housing and community amenities	13%	4%	+9
Education, recreation, culture and religion	8%	5%	+3
Water	0%	4%	-4
Public order, safety and security	0%	8%	-8
Postal services	0%	1%	-1
Other	9%	3%	+6
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>240</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

## Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal

Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is considerably higher in Cyprus (73%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Cypriot procurers may be less risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is much lower in Cyprus (27%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Cypriot procurers may tend to be less open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Cypriot PPI investments for which no call for tenders published is very large (71%) even through the share that is published (29%) is slightly above the European average (22%). Both the portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (22%) and the portion that is **published at national level** (7%) are slightly above the European average (respectively 18% and 5%).

By not publishing call for tenders for PPI investments widely, **Cyprus is missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Cypriot and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Cypriot PPI business opportunities.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

PPI investments by level of public sector activity



The vast majority (80%) of the total PPI investments in Cyprus are carried out by **large-scale entities at national level**, such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is almost double the European average (47%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for a low share of PPI investments (15%). The share of PPI investments that is carried by **procurers at local level** is even more marginal (5%). Both are well below the European average (respectively 24% and 29%).

## Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The Cypriot public sector shows a **low level of performance** in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment). With just  $\notin$  9 mn or 1,7% of total public procurement invested in the adoption of innovative ICT-based solutions, **Cyprus ranks 20<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, well below the European average (3,5%). In terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions (39%), Cyprus is in line with the European average (38%). A **considerable increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions is still needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Cyprus to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>241</sup>



The main factors<sup>242</sup> explaining Cyprus's low performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** (50%) in Cyprus is considerably below the European average (79%). This may derive from the fact that the adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' is still very low (1% of ICT-based PPI investments). ICT-based PPI investments in Cyprus depend to a considerably larger extent (50%) than on average across Europe (21%) on the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations**<sup>243</sup>. As the total amount of investment in innovative ICT-based solutions in Cyprus is low, the country still needs to step up considerably its investments in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.

#### ICT-based PPI by type of innovation



 $<sup>^{241}</sup>$  It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI – or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI
 <sup>243</sup> See definitions above

#### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



**Several domains of public sector activity in Cyprus did not purchase innovative ICT-based solutions:** this is the case for **'Public Transport', 'Water', 'Public order, safety and security'** and **'Postal services'**. The highest share of ICT-based PPI investments is made by procurers that operate in the domain of **'Construction, housing and community amenities'** (33% against a 2% European average). Investments by procurers in the **'Healthcare and social services'** domain are the farthest below the European average (9% against a 30% European average).





<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>•</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

<sup>·</sup> Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 72% of ICT-based PPI, slightly above the European average (69%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for the highest share of the ICT-based PPI at sub-national level (18%), which is slightly below the European level (21%). **Local procurers** account for only a modest fraction of ICT-based PPI (10%), which however equals the European average (10%).

# Croatia



#### . NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### **Governance and Legal Framework**

The field of public procurement in Croatia is regulated by the Public Procurement Act (Zakon o javnoj nabavi NN 120 16)<sup>245</sup>, which was published in December 2016 and came into force at the beginning of 2017. The Act describes the procedures for all categories of contracts and transposes in the national legal framework the three EU Directives on Public Procurement, namely 2014/23/EU, 2014/24/EU and 2014/25/EU. The Croatian regulation on defence and security purposes<sup>246</sup> transposes the EU public procurement directive 2009/81/EC.

In Croatia, 15% of public procurement takes place at national level, 14% at regional and national level, while 54% is procured by bodies governed by public law and 17% by other types of public procurers. The key institution in creating the national public procurement system is the **Directorate for the Public Procurement Policy** (DPPP) within the **Ministry of Economy, Entrepreneurship and Crafts** (MoEEC). It is in charge of the development, coordination and improvement of the public procurement system, harmonising the Croatian legal framework with EU legislation, as well as addressing any identified irregularities. The Ministry also issues opinions, instructions, and provisions of legal assistance linked to the PPA.

In terms of implementation of public procurement policies and laws, the **Central State Office for Central Public Procurement** (CPO) acts as central purchasing body for all national ministries and carries out (some) monitoring and analysis activities. Its aim is to achieve savings by implementing a systematic approach to public procurement.

In the country there are a number of initiatives to improve public services that indirectly or sporadically foster the innovation procurement ecosystem. In particular, it is worth mentioning the Interreg project "*PPI2Innovate*" Interreg EU<sup>247</sup> that is aimed at building capacities of public procurers at regional and local level to encourage Public Procurement of Innovative Solutions. The key actor in the field of innovation is the **Croatian Agency for SMEs, Innovations and Investments (HAMAG-BICRO)**<sup>248</sup> which is fostering innovation in general and it is taking a leading role in the field of innovation procurement. The agency will also develop an action plan for the establishment and functioning of a competence centre and it is currently active in building the know-how of innovation procurement with workshops and trainings.

#### **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In the benchmarking of national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Croatia ranked 28**<sup>th</sup>, with a **total score of 9,3%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Croatia is among the group of low performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. The country's performance is below European average on all indicators. Having implemented only 9,3% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is clearly still a very strong reinforcement of the policy framework for innovation procurement needed in Croatia to reach its full 100% potential.



Strengths: Croatia has transposed the new EU public procurement directives and thus has the basic legal basis to start building up a policy framework for innovation procurement.

<u>Weaknesses</u>: Innovation procurement in Croatia is at an early stage, and the most important elements to foster its development are still missing (e.g. strategic anchorage of innovation procurement in several horizontal and most sectorial policies, national competence centre, dedicated capacity building, action plan, spending target, monitoring system for innovation procurement, etc.). Lack of IPR policy in public procurement that encourages innovation.

<sup>245</sup> https://narodne-novine.nn.hr/clanci/sluzbeni/2016 12 120 2607.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>246</sup> <u>http://www.javnanabava.hr/</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup> https://www.interreg-central.eu/Content.Node/PPI2Innovate.html

<sup>248</sup> http://www.investcroatia.hr/about-us/



**Overview per indicator** Indicator 1 – Official definition Total score 35% European Average 50% PPI PCP **R&D** procurement Innovation procurement 0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

The Croatian public procurement law for public authorities and utilities provides an official definition of innovation but no definition of innovation procurement or Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI). In addition, the public procurement legislation for all types of public procurers identifies research and development by listing the CPV codes that correspond to R&D - without giving a full sentence definition for R&D or for the R&D categories that match these CPV codes - and provides also a clear legal basis for implementing Pre-Commercial Procurement, without giving an explicit definition for PCP. The total score of this indicator is therefore 35%.

**Innovation** is defined in article (3)(9) in the Public Procurement Act (Zakon o javnoj nabavi NN 120 16) as "the implementation of a new or significantly enhanced product, service or process, including but not limited to processes of production, construction or construction, a new method of placing on the market or a new method of organization in business practice, organization of workplace or external relations among others to help address social challenges or to support the Europe 2020 strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth". This definition is in line with the EU definition, and it is countrywide applicable. Thus, the total score for this sub-indicator is 35%.

The CPV codes that compose **R&D** are indicated both in the public procurement law for public authorities and utilities and the regulation for defence/security procurers, but there is no fully written out definition of R&D or of the R&D categories that match the CPV codes. Therefore, the total score for both sub-indicators is 35%.

Although there is no full sentence defining research and development in the Croatian Public Procurement Act, Article 30(1) (17) in the Public Procurement Act identifies R&D as activities that have the CPV codes for fundamental research, applies research and industrial development. This article also transposes the exclusion for R&D services, which forms the legal basis for implementing **PCP** in Croatia: "*This Act shall not apply to public contracts for: services of research and development covered by the CPVs 7300000-2 to 73120000-9, 73300000-5, 73420000-2 and 73430000-5 if the benefit of them is not solely the contracting authority for their use in the performance of its own affairs and does not fully remunerate the provision of these services.*" The legal basis is applicable to all public procurers in the country. Similarly, the Croatian regulation on public procurement for defence and security purposes uses the same CPV codes to delineate the scope of R&D

as in the main Public Procurement Act and foresees the negotiated procedure without publication for the procurement of R&D services. Although there is no specific definition of PCP in Croatian public procurement law, through the above provisions for R&D services the law provides the legal basis for all types of procurers in Croatia to implement PCP procurements. Therefore, the total score for this sub-indicator is 35%.

In national legislation or official guidance documents there is no definition, but the legislation allows procurers to implement **PPI** (awarding and monitoring performance based on innovative solution characteristics). In particular, Article 218 of the Public procurement act states that "1) A public contracting authority may impose special terms relating to the performance of a contract, provided that they are related to a procurement object within the meaning of Article 285, paragraph 2 of this Act and are listed in the call for tenders or procurement documentation. (2) The conditions in paragraph 1 of this Article may include economic, environmental, social or innovation-related or employment-related features." These legal provisions are applicable to all public procurers in the country and in line with the provisions of the EU public procurement directives. Therefore, the total score of the sub-indicator PPI is 35%.



Croatia has only recently started recognising the strategic importance of innovation procurement. So far, therefore, innovation procurement is mentioned only in the Public Procurement Policy. Therefore, the total score of the indicator is 14%. The growing importance of innovation procurement in the country is reflected by the participation to HAMAG-BICRO in the

Fine growing importance of innovation procurement in the country is reflected by the participation to HAMAG-BICRO in the EU funded transnational *Interreg project* entitled *PPI2Innovate Interreg CE – Building Capacities to Encourage Public Procurement of Innovative Solutions in Central Europe*. As part of the project the Croatian Agency will take a leading role of "national administrator" in the field of innovation procurement and has committed to develop an action plan for the establishment of a specific Competence Centre in the field of innovation procurement.

Indicator 3 – ICT policies				
Total score	0%	European Average	47%	

The **e-Croatia 2020 strategy**<sup>249</sup> has an overall vision "*Public administration which serves citizens, business and scientific entities by using contemporary ICT technologies and innovative solutions, and as the basis of the transformation of the Republic of Croatia into a knowledge-based society." and puts as objective "<i>Opening up space for ICT-based innovations in public administration through the cooperation of public administration, scientific and business entities*" but does not mention innovation procurement or the role of public procurement in this context as tool to stimulate such innovation.

Indicator 4 – Sectorial policies				
Total score	0%	European Average	14%	
1				

In the Croatian procurement system innovation procurement is still at its early stages. As a result, no sectoral policy recognises innovation procurement as a priority in any sectoral action plan or strategic framework.

Indicator 5 – Action plan				
Total score	0%	European Average	8%	
Croatia does not have a stand-alone Action Plan for innovation procurement.				

Indicator 6 – Spending target				
Total score	0%	European Average	11%	

In Croatia there is no specific spending target for innovation procurement.

249 https://uprava.gov.hr/UserDocsImages//Istaknute%20teme/e-Hrvatska//e-Croatia%202020%20Strategy%20-final.pdf

Indicator 7 – Monitoring system				
Total score	0%	European Average	13%	
Croatia does not have structured monitoring and evaluating systems of innovation procurement.				

Indicator 8 – Incentives				
Total score	0%	European Average	22%	

In Croatia there are no financial or other types of incentives specifically designed to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements.

Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures				
Total score	0%	European Average	24%	

Croatia still lacks a structured framework for capacity building on innovation procurement across the country. There are no structured, regular capacity building measures dedicated to innovation procurement in the country. Only some sessions in the context of wider trainings and workshops on public procurement are in place in Croatia, therefore, the total score of this indicator is 0%.

In the framework of the *PPI2Innovate* project, the HAMAG-BICRO Agency is conducting awareness raising activities on innovation procurement practices to contracting authorities. In particular, the agency has developed three training modules for public buyers (cities, counties, ministries, funds, entrepreneurial infrastructure institutions, hospitals etc.) which have a focus on the different innovation procurement techniques and procedures available under the new legal framework.<sup>250</sup>

The participation to this EU funded project is expected to strengthen capacity building and assistance measures on innovation procurement. As part of this process, the development of a competence centre for innovation procurement and the publication of public procurement guides for innovative solutions in the field of Health, ICT and Energy - SMARTHealth, SMART ICT, SMARTEnergy - is expected to have a positive impact.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>250</sup> <u>https://www.interreg-central.eu/Content.Node/PPI2Innovate.html</u>

This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of innovation procurement. The indicator is composed of a number of two sub-indicators that show evidence on:

- I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in Croatia
- II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regards to sub-indicator I, Croatia shows the following evidence:

- a. **IPR default regime**: The score for this sub-indicator is 25%, which is below the European average of 38%, because there is no predefined default scenario on distribution of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers in Croatia. Croatian law, general terms and conditions for government contracts and guidelines on public procurement do not define how allocation of IPRs is best dealt with in procurement contracts. It is left to the individual responsibility of each Croatian procurer to specify clearly the IPR allocation for the procurement in its tender documents so that it stimulates innovation and is compliant with applicable IPR/copyright law. The Croatian public procurement law foresees that procurers can require in the tender specifications the transfer of IPR rights to the procurer. However, according to Croatian copyright law<sup>251</sup> each person that has contributed to the creation of a commissioned work shall retain copyright in his own contribution. Thus, if a procurer wants to obtain specific economic rights (e.g. usage, licensing, publication, modification, reproduction rights) on commissioned works, he needs to require in the tender specifications the licensing, assignment or transfer of those economic rights that he needs. Copyright protects also scientific work (product designs, product specifications, tests etc.), computer programs and databases. For computer programs and databases, the Croatian copyright act includes an exception which provides that the procurer shall have in any case economic rights.
- b. **Use of value for money award criteria**: According to the EU single market scoreboard, only 20% of the public procurements have been awarded using criteria different from the lowest price. The country shows an over-reliance of lowest price criteria in procurement procedures. This is significantly below the European average of 42% and below the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard.
- c. <u>Use of variants</u>: Croatia has not allowed the use of variants in 2018 procurement procedures
- d. <u>Preliminary Market Consultation</u>: Croatia has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 14% of the procedures. This percentage is significantly above the European average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 15% which is significantly below the European average of 23%. This is mainly due to the below average performance on both IPR default regime and the scarce use of value for money award criteria. Although Preliminary Market Consultations have been held in a significant percentage of procedures, the use of variants has never been allowed in 2018.

With regards to sub-indicator II Croatia shows the following evidence:

- e. <u>Level of competition</u>: The level of competition of the national public procurement market accounts for 75%, which below the European average 84% and below the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This result is mainly driven by the scarce percentage of contracts awarded with more than one bidder (56%) because the percentage of contracts awarded to companies with a call for bids (94%) is above average and reaching the 92% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.
- f. <u>Level of Transparency</u>: The level of transparency of the national public procurement market is 69%, which is above the 45% European average and reaching the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This result is due to the above average values for all sub-indicators: publication rate (7%), percentage of call for tenders without missing call for bids information (99%) and without missing buyer registration number (100%).

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 72%, which is above the European average of 65% but still below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly due to a below average level of competition.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 43% which is below the 44% European average. This score is explained firstly by the fact that the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country is significantly below European average and the openness of the Croatian public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is slightly above the European average, although also below the satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. Indeed, the country has not yet adopted a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation and value for money criteria are significantly underused in public procurements. Secondly, use of variants has been allowed in no procedure in 2018. In addition, although the national public procurement market shows a satisfactory level of transparency, the level of competition is below average.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup> <u>http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/details.jsp?id=10056</u>

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### Investment benchmarking (2018)

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Croatian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Croatian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 5,1% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e. Co,5 bn), **Croatia ranks 22<sup>nd</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>252</sup> across Europe. Croatia falls within the group of **low performers**, significantly below the European average of 9,3%.<sup>253</sup> **A large increase of investments in PPI is still needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Croatian public sector.<sup>254</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Croatia drops down to the 25<sup>th</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>255</sup> explaining Croatia's low performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** (86%) is in line with the European average (84%). This consists in the adoption of 'significantly improved' solutions (57% of PPI) as well as innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (29% of PPI). The share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of **incremental innovations** (14%), which includes 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' as well as 'innovative combinations of existing solutions' is close to the European average (16%). However, as the total amount of investments in innovative solutions in Croatia is low, the country is still lagging behind considerably in the adoption of both transformative and incremental innovations.

 $<sup>^{252}</sup>$  Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found here on the EU webpages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>253</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

 $<sup>^{254}</sup>$  It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve).  $^{255}$  The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is therefore an important factor explaining why Croatia is not yet at the level of PPI investment that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Nearly all domains of public sector activity**<sup>256</sup> **in Hungary purchased innovative solutions**, except '**Postal Services**' with zero PPI investment. The shares of PPI investments by different public sector domains out of total PPI investments in the country are **mostly in line with the European averages** (in 7 out of 11 sectors). PPI investments made by Croatian procurers operating in the '**Energy**' domain are well above the European average (+16 pp). However, PPI investments made by Croatian procurers operating in the '**Energy**' domain are well above the European average (+16 pp). However, PPI investments made by Croatian procurers operating in the '**General public services**, **public administration and economic and financial affairs**' and '**Public order**, **safety and security**' domains are significantly below the European average (respectively -7 pp and -8 pp).

Domain of public sector activity	Croatia	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	41%	35%	+6
Public transport	3%	10%	-7
Healthcare and social services	20%	21%	-1
Energy	22%	6%	+16
Environment	3%	3%	0
Construction, housing and community amenities	3%	4%	-1
Education, recreation, culture and religion	4%	5%	-1
Water	2%	4%	-2
Public order, safety and security	0% (0,2%)	8%	-8
Postal services	0%	1%	-1
Other	2%	3%	-1
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>256</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

### Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is slightly higher in Croatia (33%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Croatian procurers may be less risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is lower in Croatia (67%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Croatian procurers may tend to be less open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Croatian PPI investments for which calls for tenders are published is higher (34%), the European average (22%). The portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (5%) is really low, also compared to the European average (18%). The portion that is **published only at national level** (29%) is well above the European average (5%). However, the share of PPI investments for which no call for tenders are published in TED or at national level is still large (66%).

By not publishing PPI call for tenders widely, **Croatia is missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Croatian and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Croatian PPI business opportunities.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

PPI investments by level of public sector activity



More than half of the total PPI investments in Croatia is carried out by **large-scale entities at national level** (48%), such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is in line with the European average (47%).

**Procurers at local level** account for the highest share of PPI investments at sub-national level (42%), almost doubling the European average (24%). **Procurers at regional level** account for a marginal share of PPI (10%), below the European average (29%).

# Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The Croatian public sector shows a **bottom level of performance** in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI). With  $\in$  0,02 bn or 1% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Croatia ranks 29<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of ICT-based investments, considerably below the European average (3,5). Also in terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions (19%), Croatia performs significantly below the European average (19%). **A large increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions is needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement or 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Croatia to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>257</sup>



The main factors<sup>258</sup> explaining Croatia's bottom performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations**<sup>259</sup> in Croatia (69%) is still significantly below the European average (79%). It consists of adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (43% of PPI) and 'significantly improved' solutions (26% of PPI). The share of **incremental ICT-based innovations** adopted in Croatia (31%) is higher than the European average (21%). However, as the total amount of investments in ICT-based innovative solutions in Croatia is very low, the country is still lagging behind considerably in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.

#### ICT-based PPI investments by type of innovation



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>257</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI – or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>258</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>259</sup> See definitions above

#### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



Croatia invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the '**Core ICT' sub-sector'**<sup>260</sup> (61%), above the European average (55%).

Croatia invested to a lesser extent in innovations from the so-called '**ICT Plus' sub-sector** (39%), below the European average (45%).

Croatia did not invest in the adoption of innovations from the '**Content and Media' sub-sector**.

#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

Despite the low level of overall ICT-based PPI investment in the country, **nearly all domains of public sector activity in Croatia purchased some ICT-based innovative solutions**, except from the '**Postal services**' domain with zero ICT-based PPI investments. In particular, the highest share of ICT-based PPI investments is made by Croatian procurers that operate in the domain of '**Healthcare and social services**' (47% against a 30% European average). At the same time, ICT-based investments made by Croatian procurers in '**Public order, safety and security**' are significantly below the European average (1% against a 19% European average).

#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>260</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>·</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 51% of ICT-based PPI investments, below the European average (69%).

**Procurers at local level** account for the highest share of the ICT-based PPI investments at sub-national level (36%), and considerably above the European average (10%). To the contrary, **regional procurers** account for only a modest fraction of ICT-based PPI investments (13%), which is below the European average (21%).

# **Czech Republic**



#### . NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### **Governance and legal framework**

In the Czech Republic, public procurement is primarily regulated by the Public Procurement Act (PPA),<sup>261</sup> i.e. Act. No. 134/2016 Coll., which transposed all the EU public procurement directives 2014/24/EU, 2014/23/EU, 2014/25/EU and 2009/81/EC.

Responsibilities are decentralised, with contracting authorities processing their own procurement at all levels of government without central coordination. Also, while there is no central purchasing body at national level, there is a move to increase aggregation of procurement demand through joint purchasing, e.g. at the Ministry level. 25% of public procurement takes place at national level, 25% at regional/local level, 24% by bodies governed by public law and 26% by other types of public procurers.

The Czech Republic has a much-decentralised public procurement system, with no central coordination. Contracting authorities at all levels (i.e. central government, self-governing regions and municipalities) are in charge of their own public procurement processes. However, there are measures and regulations facilitating contracting authorities to group for joint purchasing.

The most important institution in creating the public procurement system is the **Ministry for Regional Development (MoRD)**. It is in charge of promoting legislative changes and implementing public procurement regulations. In addition, the Ministry provides support and guidance to contracting authorities. Finally, it is responsible for the Information System on Public Procurement.

An important actor in the field of innovation procurement is the **Technology Agency of the Czech Republic (TACR)**<sup>262</sup>, a <u>government agency</u>, founded in 2009 to enhance and encourage cooperation between research organizations supported by the state and the business sector. The Agency acts as the agency for the implementation of the support for RDI, preparing and implementing research programs and R&D procurement.

#### **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In the benchmarking of national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Czech Republic is at the 24<sup>th</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 13,6%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Czech Republic is among the group of low performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. The country's performance is below European average on 9 out of 10 indicators. Having implemented only 13,6% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement implemented, there is a strong reinforcement of the policy framework for innovation procurement needed in Czech Republic to reach its full 100% potential.



<u>Strengths</u>: Several horizontal policies foresee innovation procurement among their strategic objectives or policy tools.

Weaknesses: Absence of a structured innovation procurement policy, a dedicated action plan, target and monitoring system, incentives and a national competence centre to implement capacity building activities. Lack of IPR policy in public procurement that encourages innovation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>261</sup> Zákon č. 134/2016 Sb., o zadávání veřejných zakázek. Available at: <u>https://www.zakonyprolidi.cz/cs/2016-134</u>

<sup>262 &</sup>lt;u>https://www.tacr.cz/index.php/en/about-tacr.html</u>



The Czech public procurement legal framework provides an official definition of innovation that is compliant with the EU official definition and applicable to all types of public procurers in the country, but not for innovation procurement. The PPA Act identifies research and development by listing the CPV codes that correspond to R&D, but there is no full sentence definition for R&D or for the R&D categories that match these CPV codes. The PPA Act provides a clear legal basis for implementing PCP and PPI (although without giving an explicit definition for Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) or Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI) in national legislation nor in official national guidance documents.). The total score of the indicator "Official definition" is 35%.

The PPA Act (Section Definition) defines **innovation** as "the implementation of a new or significantly enhanced product, service or process, including but not limited to processes of production, construction or construction, a new method of placing on the market or a new method of organization in business practice, organization of workplace or external relations among others to help address social challenges or to support the Europe 2020 strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth". The total score of this sub-indicator is 35%.

Although there is no full sentence defining R&D, the Annex 1 of the PPA Act identifies **Research and Development** as activities that have the CPV codes for fundamental research, applied research and experimental development. The total score for this sub-indicator is 35%. Section 29(r) and also transposes the exclusion for R&D services, which forms the legal basis for implementing **pre-commercial procurement** in Czech Republic: "*The contracting authority is not obliged to award a public contract (meaning to follow the PPA Act)... for a public service contract involving research and development services if: the prize for carrying out research and development is paid exclusively by the Contracting Authority and the result of such research and development is used exclusively by the contracting authority for its activities.*" The total score for this sub-indicator is 35%.

Article 37(1)(d) of the PPA Act provides the necessary **legal basis for implementing Public Procurements of Innovative Solutions** in Czech Republic, as it allows the public procurer to use innovation as part of the award and performance criteria in any type of public procurement procedure for buying innovative products or services: "*The conditions of participation in the award procedure may be specified by the contracting authority as (d) specific conditions for the performance of a public contract, in particular in the field of the environmental impact of the subject-matter of*  the public contract, the social consequences arising from the subject of a public contract, economic area or innovation." Also in this case the total score of this sub-indicator is 35%.

However, even without official definitions embedded in the legal framework, the Country has extensively used the innovation procurement instruments and procedures by referring to the EU definitions. For example, in the Technology Agency of the Czech Republic (TACR) in its financing programme (such as BETA II) use the European Commission's definition of PCP and R&D procurement.



The R&D and innovation policy and regional/urban policy are the only areas that recognise the strategic importance of innovation procurement. Therefore the total score of this indicator is 43%.

In the field of R&D and innovation policy, The **National Research**, **Development and Innovation Policy of the Czech Republic 2016–2020**<sup>263</sup> recognises the crucial role of the state in the creation of demand for innovative solutions and it gives an important role to public procurement (especially R&D procurement and PCP) for enhancing innovation. It encourages the development of adequate framework conditions to this end. Concerning this policy, an important actor is the **Technology Agency of the Czech Republic (TA CR)**<sup>264</sup>, an organizational unit of the state with its own budget allocation, which acts as the agency for the implementation of the support for RDI, preparing and implementing research programs, RDI tenders.

In addition, the **National Research and Innovation Strategy for Smart Specialisation** also recognises the role public Pre-commercial Procurement as strategic type of activities that can contribute to achieve the specific objective of strengthening the R&D capacities of the companies in Czech Republic.<sup>265</sup>. The strategy is implemented by regional and local authorities which have their own RIS3 strategy. For example, the Regional Innovation strategy of the Prague has among its objectives the acceleration of innovations and development of new solutions through the strategic use of public procurement.<sup>266</sup>

Indicator 3 – ICT policies				
Total score	0%	European Average	47%	
The <b>Digital Czech Republic V2.0 strategy</b> <sup>267</sup> identifies that "measures aimed at supporting the construction of communication infrastructure need to be complemented by broader initiatives to support demand, to motivate customers to use <i>ICT</i> services and incorporate them in day-to-day life". The strategy also identifies public administrations as demand side actors but does not make the link with stimulating innovation procurement to reach the above objective.				
Indicator 4 – Sectorial policies				
Total score	0%	European Average	14%	
In the Czech Republic, no sectorial policy explicitly recognises the role of innovation procurement within its strategy.				
Indicator 5 – Action plan				
Total score	0%	European Average	8%	
The Czech Republic does not have a dedicated/stand-alone Action Plan for innovation procurement.				

#### Indicator 6 – Spending target

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup> http://www.vyzkum.cz/FrontClanek.aspx?idsekce=782691

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup> <u>https://www.tacr.cz/index.php/en/about-tacr.html</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>265</sup><u>https://www.vyzkum.cz/FrontClanek.aspx?idsekce=753765</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup> https://ec.europa.eu/growth/tools-databases/regional-innovation-monitor/policy-document/strategic-plan-prague

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup> https://www.mpo.cz/assets/dokumenty/50381/57162/612104/priloha001.pdf
	The Strateg	gic Use of Public Procurement	for Innovation in the Digital Eco	onomy - SMART 2016/0040
Total score		0%	European Average	110/
TOTOL SCORE		0.70	EIIFODEUII ADEFUUE	11.70

In the Czech Republic there is no specific spending target to dedicate a specific percentage of the country's total public procurement expenditure to innovation procurement.

Indicator 7 – Monitoring system					
Total score	0%	European Average	13%		

The Czech Republic does not have a comprehensive and structured system for measuring innovation procurement expenditure across the whole country or for evaluating the impacts of completed innovation procurement across the country. Only in the context of the Beta II programme there is a monitoring/evaluation system for that specific programme.



In the Czech Republic there is **financial support** provided to public procurers by the **Czech Pre-commercial Public Procurement Programme**, i.e. a programme funded from the European Structural and Investments Funds under the Operational Programme "Enterprise and Innovation for Competitiveness (2014-2020)". It provide grants to public procurers to procure the development of innovative solutions to address societal challenges that cannot be resolved using the existing solutions. The Pre-commercial Public Procurement Programme is part of Specific Objective 1.1, which has a specific budget of CZK 30.5 billion.

Innovation procurement is also indirectly supported by the **BETA II programme** (approved by the Czech Government Resolution No. 278 on the 30th of March 2016) aimed at supporting applied research and innovation to meet the needs of government authorities. The programme, launched by the TACR, assigned competitively public procurement in RDI for the needs of public administration bodies, the recipients of which may (or not) be research performers in the public sector. The research had to contribute to the fulfilment of at least one of the specific objectives of the programme or specific objectives set by the relevant governmental body.<sup>268</sup>

The financial incentives in Czech Republic are not designed to incentivize large scale implementation of innovation procurement and are they not directed to all types of innovation procurement (only PCP and R&D). In addition, the Country does not incentivize innovation procurement with national funds, but only with European structural and investments funds. Therefore the total score of the sub-indicator "financial incentives" is 29%.

Whereas, due to the lack of personal incentives the total score of the indicator "incentives" is 14%.

Indicator 9 – Capacity	ouilding and assistance i	neasures	
Total score	0%	European Average	24%

The Czech Republic does not put in place targeted capacity building and assistance measures to enhance the adoption of innovation procurement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>268</sup> <u>https://www.tacr.cz/index.php/en/programmes/beta-programme.html</u>





This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market in Czech Republic encourages the implementation of innovation procurement. It is composed of two sub-indicators that reflect:

- I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in the country
- II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regard to sub-indicator I, the Czech Republic shows the following evidence:

- **IPR default regime**: The total score of this sub-indicator is 25%, which is below the 38% European average, a. because there is no predefined default scenario on distribution of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers in the Czech Republic. The Czech Republic law, general terms and conditions for government contracts and guidelines on public procurement do not define how IPR allocation is dealt with in procurement contracts. It is left to the individual responsibility of each Czech procurer to specify clearly the IPR allocation for the procurement in its tender documents so that it stimulates innovation and is compliant with applicable IPR/copyright law. The Czech public procurement law foresees that procurers can require in the tender specifications the transfer of IPR rights to the procurer. However, the Czech copyright act<sup>269</sup> assigns copyright to the creator and determines that the copyright (moral right) cannot be transferred by the creator to another party, even when he is commissioned by the procurer (the contractor) or employed by a contractor (e.g. as a subcontractor) to work on the procurement contract. As the economic rights are also not transferrable under Czech law, if the procurer wants to use the commissioned work, he cannot require a transfer of those rights, but he can only require in the tender specifications to obtain a non-exclusive license to the economic rights (e.g. for usage, licensing, publication, modification, reproduction rights) at equitable payment. Copyright protects also scientific work (product designs, product specifications, tests etc.), computer programs and databases. For computer programs and databases produced on order there is an exception in the Czech copyright act which provides that the procurer shall have in any case economic rights.
- b. **Use of value for money award criteria**: Based on the EU single market scoreboard, only 23% of the public procurement procedure have been awarded using criteria different from the lowest price. This is below the European average (42%) and below the satisfactory level for this indicator set by the EU single market scoreboard (80%). The country shows an over-reliance of lowest price criteria in procurement procedures.
- c. <u>Use of variants</u>: Czech Republic has allowed the use of variants in less than 1% of the procedures (0,28%). This percentage is well below the European average.
- d. **Preliminary Market Consultations:** Czech Republic has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 4,85% of the procedures. This percentage is significantly below the European average of 8,97%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 13,28%, which is significantly below the European average of 23,23%. This is due to the below average performances in all the four evidences analysed in the sub-indicator I.

With regard to the sub-indicator II, the Czech Republic shows the following evidence (based on the EU single market scoreboard):

- e. <u>Level of competition</u>: The level of competition of the national public procurement market is 72% which is below the European average 84% and the 92,5% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This result is both driven by the below average percentage of procurements with more than one bidder (53%) and implemented with a call for bid (90%).
- f. **Level of Transparency**: The level of transparency of the national public procurement market is 55% which is above the European average 45% but below the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This result is due to the below European average publication rate (3,8%) and below European average percentage of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>269</sup> http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/text.jsp?file\_id=137175

procurements without missing call for bids information (66%) although the percentage of procurements that include buyer registration numbers is above average and satisfactory (96%).

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 63%, which is below the European average of 65% and below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is due to below average competition and unsatisfactory level of transparency.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 38% which is below the 44% European average This score is explained firstly by the fact that both the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country is and the openness of the Czech public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market are below the European average. Indeed, the country has not yet adopted a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation, value for money criteria are still significantly underutilized in public procurements. Secondly, the country has shown a significantly below-average openness to the use of variants and Preliminary Market Consultation in the procurement procedures. In addition, although the national public procurement market shows an above average level of transparency and the level of competition as well as transparency are below European average.

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Czech investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Czech investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 3,6% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e.  $\pounds$  1,4 bn), **Czech Republic ranks 29<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>270</sup> across Europe. Czech Republic falls within the group of **bottom level performers**, significantly below the European average of 9,3%.<sup>271</sup> A considerable increase of investments in PPI is still needed to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Czech public sector.<sup>272</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Czech Republic moves up to the 28<sup>th</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>273</sup> explaining Czech Republic's bottom level performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Czech Republic (49%) is significantly below the European average (84%). Both the adoption of 'significantly improved' solutions and the adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' are low (respectively 29% and 20% of PPI). PPI investments in Czech republic rely to a much larger extent (51%) than on average across Europe (16%) on the adoption of **incremental innovations**, which includes the purchase of 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>270</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found here on the EU webpages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>271</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

 $<sup>^{272}</sup>$  It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve). <sup>273</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

sector' as well as 'innovative combinations of existing solutions'. Given Czech Republic's bottom level performance for what regards the total amount of investments in innovative solutions, the country still needs to step up considerably its investments in the adoption of both transformative and incremental innovations.

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is therefore an important factor explaining why Czech Republic is not yet at the level of PPI investments that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

Despite the overall all low level of PPI investment in the country, **every domain of public sector activity**<sup>274</sup> **in Czech Republic purchased some innovation solutions**. The shares of PPI investments by different public sector domains out of total PPI investments in the country are mostly **in line with the European averages**. Czech investments do not deviate more than 3 percentage points (pp) from the European average in 5 out of 11 sectors. At the same time, the share of PPI investments by Czech procurers in the 'General public services, public **administration and economic and financial affairs**' is significantly below (-19 pp) the European average. Conversely, the share of PPI investments by procurers in '**Education, recreation, culture and religion**' (+13 pp) and '**Healthcare and social services**' (+6 pp) is well above the European average.

Domain of public sector activity	Czech Republic	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	16%	35%	-19
Public transport	7%	10%	-3
Healthcare and social services	27%	21%	+6
Energy	7%	6%	+1
Environment	6%	3%	+3
Construction, housing and community amenities	10%	4%	+6
Education, recreation, culture and religion	18%	5%	+13
Water	0,1%	4%	-4
Public order, safety and security	8%	8%	0
Postal services	0% (0,1%)	1%	-1
Other	2%	3%	-1
Total PPI Investments	100%	100%	-

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>274</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

# **Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal** Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI Investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is slightly higher in Czech Republic (33%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Czech procurers may be less risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is slightly lower in Czech Republic (67%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Czech procurers may be less open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Czech PPI investments for which call for tenders is published is relatively high (50%) compared to the European average (22%). Both the portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (22%) and the portion that is **published at national level** (28%) are above European average (respectively 18% and 5%). Nonetheless for half of the Czech PPI investments (50%) no call for tender is published in TED or national level. This is still a large share.

By not publishing calls for tenders for PPI investments more widely, **Czech Republic is missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Czech and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Czech PPI business opportunities.

# Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

PPI investments by level of public sector activity



More than half of the total PPI in Czech Republic is carried out by **large-scale entities at national level** (58%), such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is above the European average (47%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for the highest share of PPI at sub-national level (26%), slightly above the European average (24%). **Procurers at local level** account for the smallest fraction of PPI (16%), below the European average (29%).

# Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence



The **main factors**<sup>276</sup> explaining Czech Republic's bottom performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** in Czech Republic (56%) is below the European average (79%). This may be due to the fact that the adoption of 'significantly improved solutions' and innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' is still low (28% of ICT-based PPI each). The adoption of innovative ICT- solutions in Czech Republic relies still to a significantly larger extent (44%) than on average across Europe (21%) on the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations**<sup>277</sup>. Given the low total amount of ICT-based PPI investments in Czech Republic, the country still needs to step up considerably its investments in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.





<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>275</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI– or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>276</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>277</sup> See definitions above.

#### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors





Czech Republic invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the '**ICT Plus' sub-sector**<sup>278</sup> (59%), significantly above the European average (44%).

Czech Republic invested to a lesser extent in the adoption of innovations from the so-called '**Core ICT' sub-sector** (39%), significantly below the European average (54%).

Czech investments in adopting innovations from the **'Content & Media' sub-sector** were marginal (2%), but slightly above the European average (1%).

#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

Despite the low overall level of ICT-based PPI investments in the country, **every domain of public sector activity in Czech Republic purchased some innovative ICT-based solutions**. The shares of ICT-based PPI investments by different public sector domains out of total ICT-based PPI investments in the country are **mostly in line with the European averages**. The highest share of total ICT-based PPI investments is made by procurers in '**Education**, **recreation, culture and religion**' (36% against 9% European average) followed by procurers in '**General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs**' (17% against 16% European average) and '**Healthcare and social services**' (17%, which is significantly below the European average of 30%).





<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>278</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>·</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 64% of ICT-based PPIs, below the European average (69%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for the highest share of the ICT-based PPI at sub-national level (30%), and above the European average (21%). To the contrary, **local procurers** account for only a modest fraction of ICT-based PPI (6%), which is below the European average (10%).

# Denmark



#### . NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### **Governance and legal framework**

In Denmark, the Public Procurement Act (Act No. 1564 of 15 December 2015) regulates the public procurement procedures in Denmark and transposes the EU Directive 2014/24/EU into national legislation. During the same period, the Directives 2014/25/EU and 2014/23/EU were transposed in the national legal framework by the *Consolidation Act* on processes of procurement in the water, energy, transport and postal services No. 1624 of December 2015 and *Consolidation Act on the awarding of concession contracts* No. 1625 of December 2015, respectively. Finally, the EU Directive 2009/81/EU was enshrined into national legislation by the *Consolidation Act on contracting entities'* awarding of certain construction, supply and service contracts in the defence and security area, Nr 892 (August 2011).

In Denmark, public procurement is conducted primarily at the local level, whereas the central government and the regions have a lower share of procurement.<sup>279</sup>

Concerning public procurement governance, the main actors are the **Danish Competition and Consumer Authority**, which is responsible for supervision, guidance and support, and the **Agency for Modernization of Public Services**, within the Ministry of Finance, which is in charge of procurement policy and of the aggregation of procurement needs for government bodies. It is responsible for procurement policy law, policy, monitoring, and compliance, and it also acts as a central purchasing body, managing joint procurement on behalf of the government. Another key actor is **SKI**, a publicly-owned company which acts, together with the Agency for Modernization, as central purchasing body and aims at becoming the leading research centre for public tenders and procurement in the country.<sup>280</sup>

In the field of innovation procurement, the key actor is the **Danish Business Authority**, which manages the Market Development  $Fund^{28_1}$ . The fund has provided grants to public procurers to prepare and implement PCP or PPI, but it stopped this activity in 2015.

With the help of the Market Development Fund, there are cities and regions which became frontrunners in the innovation procurement practices. For example, Copenhagen and Tarnby city are doing a PCP on how to better manage high quantities of rain water in urban areas. Also a group of regional healthcare authorities from the Central and Northern Jutland, South Denmark, Zealand and Capital regions is doing two PCPs to reduce the spread of infections in hospital bathroom wards and for automation of sterilisation centres in their hospitals. A group of Danish water utilities is doing a PCP to optimise the use of resources in wastewater treatment.

#### **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In the benchmarking of national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Denmark is at the 19<sup>th</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 18,6%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Denmark is among the group of low performer countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. Having implemented only 18,6% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is a strong reinforcement of the policy framework for innovation needed in Denmark to reach its full 100% potential.



Strengths: The "Strategy for intelligent public procurement" and the "Innovation strategy 2012- 2020" represent a solid framework under which a series of innovation procurement initiatives have found their basis

Weaknesses: Absence of a structural approach to mainstream innovation procurement, which shows in the lack of national competence centre for capacity building, centralised monitoring system, action plan and spending target for innovation procurement. It moreover lacks support from key sectors of public interest to innovation procurement. Lack of IPR policy in public procurement that encourages innovation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>279</sup> http://ec.europa.eu/regional\_policy/sources/policy/how/improving-investment/public-procurement/study/country\_profile/dk.pdf
<sup>280</sup> https://www.ski.dk/Viden/Sider/Facts-about-SKI.aspx

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>281</sup> https://markedsmodningsfonden.dk/praekommercielle-indkoeb-pcp-0





In Danish public procurement legislation there is no official definition for innovation procurement, but there are definitions for innovation and R&D, which are in line with the EU definition. However the R&D definition is only applicable to defence sector procurers. An official definition of Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) and Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI) is not available in national legislation but in national guidance documents. Whereas the PPI definition is in line with the EU definition, the PCP one is not completely. Therefore the total score of this indicator is 61%.

Although there is no definition of **innovation procurement**, innovation is defined in the Public Procurement Act § 17 as the "*introduction of new or significantly improved supplies, services or processes including production or works activities, a new marketing method or a new organizational method in the fields of business practice, workplace organization or external relations*". This definition is applicable countrywide and coherent with the EU definition, therefore the score for this sub-indicator is 35%.

A definition of R&D is only provided in the Consolidation Act on contracting entities' awarding of certain construction, supply and service contracts in the defense and security area, Nr. 892 (August 2011) that transposes the Defence and security Directive 2009/81/EU. The Annex I, by reporting the directive, refers provides a definition of **Research and Development** "as all the activities involved basic research, applied research and experimental development, where the latter may include the implementation of technological demonstration projects, that is to say devices that will demonstrate the performance of a new method or technology to relevant or representative environment[...]". This definition is only applicable in the defence sector (i.e. not countrywide) and is in line with the EU definition, therefore the total score of this sub-indicator is 90%.

*The* Act No. 1564 of 15 December 2015 identifies in the Part 2, Section 22 R&D as the activities that have the CPV codes for fundamental research, applied research and industrial development. This article also transposes the exclusion for R&D services, which forms the legal basis for implementing in **PCP**, namely: *"the law only applies to R&D services procurements following the cumulative conditions of "(a) benefits belong exclusively to the contracting authority for its own use at pursuing its activity; and (b) the service is wholly remunerated by the contracting authority". In addition, the Guidance published under the framework of the Market Development Funds provides a definition of PCP which is* 

applicable to all public procurers in the country but is not completely in line with the EU definition (it does not recognise that the purchase of non-commercial volumes of solutions can be part of the PCP). Therefore, the total score of the sub-indicator PCP is 50%.

A **PPI** definition is not available in the legal framework. However, the Act No. 1564 of 15 December 2015 provides the legal basis to implement PPI (allowing procurers to award contracts and monitor contract performance not only based on price but also based on innovation criteria). In particular, article 162 3.1 states that "*When the award criteria best price-quality ratio is used, cf. (1) (3), the tender shall be based on sub-criteria such as qualitative, environmental and social aspects. The sub-criteria may include 1) quality, including technical value, aesthetic and functional characteristics, availability, design for all users, social, environmental and innovation characteristics [...]". In addition the Guidance published by the Danish market development fund provides a definition of PPI which is applicable to all procurers in the country and in line with the EU definition. Therefore, total score for this sub-indicator is 70%.* 



In Denmark, innovation procurement is included as a strategic priority in three horizontal policies, namely Public Procurement, Innovation, and Regional and Urban policy. Therefore the total score of the indicator is 36%.

**The strategy for intelligent procurement**<sup>282</sup>, approved by the Danish Government in October 2013, recognises innovation procurement as an important instrument to modernise the public sector. "*It is the government's goal that public demand is used to a higher degree to promote innovation and to support welfare technology and green change. There is also a great potential in using public demand to foster innovation and sustainability… With the Intelligent Public Procurement Strategy, the Government sets out the objective "Innovation and quality development" for public procurement: based on innovation and market demand, including through the development of new solutions that support growth and job creation. Intelligent public procurement must thus ensure efficiency, innovation and quality development as well as sustainability."* 

The strategy describes a variety of innovation friendly procurement tools, e.g. pre-commercial procurement and institutionalised partnerships for innovation, to consider the use of functional requirements to make room for innovative offers, and foresees a number of actions aimed at supporting its development: financial support to pre-commercial procurement initiatives, providing guidance on how to use functional requirements in public procurement and providing examples of innovation in public procurement. These actions have stopped once the first pilots, guidance and examples were launched by 2015. The new 2016 government coalition did not foresee the continuation of specific measures to foster innovation procurement.

The **National Innovation Strategy 2012-2020<sup>283</sup>** contains a number of initiatives directly focussing on innovationoriented public procurement: "*Restructuring the business innovation fund into the Market development fund. By using more tenders with functional requirements or pre-commercial procurement the Market Maturation fund could as an example, support the public sector to encourage the development of innovative business solutions via its procurement process.*" It shall be mentioned that innovation procurement is currently not considered a strategic priority and that more recent innovation strategies (2016) do not mention innovation procurement anymore.

At **regional level**, ESIF funds are used to finance initiatives at regional and rural level under the Market development funds. There are cities and regions which are frontrunners in the innovation procurement practices. For example, Copenhagen and Tarnby city started a PCP on how to better manage high quantities of rain water in urban areas. However, there is no central strategy on regional development which includes innovation procurement among its strategic objectives and/or tools. Therefore, the score of this sub-indicator is 50%.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>282</sup> <u>https://www.regeringen.dk/tidligere-publikationer/strategi-for-intelligent-offentligt-indkoeb/</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup> <u>https://www.ufm.dk/en/publications/2012/files-2012/innovation-strategy.pdf</u>

Indicator 3 – ICT polic	ies		
Total score	0%	European Average	47%

The **2018 strategy for Denmark's digital growth**<sup>284</sup> and the **2015 Danish growth plan for digitization**<sup>285</sup> mention the need for improving the quality and making more efficient government services but they do not mention innovation procurement or public procurement and do not identify lack of public sector demand for innovative solutions as an issue.

Indicator 4	– Sectorial	policies						
Total score		10%		Europea	ın Avera	ge	14%	ó
	Education,recr Public order, s He	eation, culture and religion Postal sector afety, security and defence Water sector Environment sector Energy sector Construction sector General public services Public transport althcare and social services						
			0%	20%	40%	60%	80%	100%

In Denmark, innovation procurement is not explicitly recognized as a strategic objective or tool in any national sectorial policy framework or action plan. However, green public procurement policies encourage buying innovative solutions. As a result, the overall score of this indicator is 10%.

The notion of buying new innovative green solutions has been encouraged in the Green Public Procurement Policies introduced in Denmark since 1990s. Today, the Ministry of Environment implements three initiatives promoting green purchasing which may impact the development of innovation procurement in the environmental sector in the country (**Danish eco-innovation program**)<sup>286</sup> These initiatives are:

- The Forum on Sustainable Procurement (a national network which is a knowledge sharing forum where procurers from both public and private organizations)
- The Partnership for Green Public Procurement (a collaboration between frontrunner municipalities, regions and other public organizations)
- The Responsible Procurer (a webpage where procurers can find green criteria ready to copy paste into tender documents )

Indicator 5 – Action plan					
Total score	0%	European Average	8%		

Denmark does not have a dedicated action plan on innovation procurement. However, the Danish government's **"Strategy for intelligent public procurement**" (2013)<sup>287</sup> defines seven guiding principles for public procurement that identify a series of actions to support innovation procurement practices. In addition the strategy also foresees dedicated resources for innovation procurement.

The guiding principles are:

- 1) Make sure that public procurers have sufficient competences and strategic focus to gain from centralization, synergies and economies of scale.
- 2) Use dialogue to gain knowledge of the market and user needs and to be sure to support market competition in both the short and the long run.
- 3) Choose the tendering form that is best suited to the specific situation and that reduce total costs of ownership
- 4) Always consider using functional requirements to support innovation and development of more efficient solutions
- 5) Always consider using total costs of ownership to use more efficient resources
- 6) Support green growth by using energy and environmental requirements

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> http://em.dk/english/news/2018/01-30-new-strategy-to-make-denmark-the-new-digital-frontrunner

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>285</sup> <u>http://em.dk/aftaler-og-udspil/15-02-26-aftale-om-vaekstplan-for-digitalisering</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>286</sup> <u>http://eng.ecoinnovation.dk/the-danish-eco-innovation-program/publicprivate-partnerships/</u>

<sup>287</sup> http://naturstyrelsen.dk/media/nst/10636202/strategi for intelligent offentligt indk b2.pdf

7) Prioritise implementing and monitoring contracts to make sure that potential gains of intelligent procurement are realised.

The strategy provides financial support to pre-commercial procurement initiatives in the framework of the Market development Fund (see indicator "Incentives").

Given that the above-mentioned strategy is not fully dedicated to innovation procurement, and some of the actions under the strategy are not actively funded any more (Market development fund support for innovation procurement) the score if this indicator is 0%.

Indicator 6 – Spending	g target		
Total score	0%	European Average	11%

In Denmark there is no spending target for innovation procurement.



A study<sup>288</sup> to measure the amount of innovation project in the country was carried out by the Public-Private Cooperation Council (ROPS), a body set up by the Danish Government in April 2013. According to this study, innovation projects were still limited with only 12% of the public buyers having carried out innovation procurement. Five barriers to innovative public procurements were identified:

- 1) Legislation
- 2) Diverging interests between public and private sector
- 3) Lack of knowledge sharing
- 4) Unclear responsibilities for coordinating initiatives at national level
- 5) Risk aversion of public procurers.

In addition, the initiatives launched and financed under the Market development Fund are regularly monitored by the **Danish Business Authority** under the provision of ESIF rules.

Thus, pilot studies to measure innovation procurement have been carried out in the country, as well as monitoring activities under the framework of ESI Funds. However, Denmark does not have a structured system in place to measure and evaluate regularly measure all types of innovation procurement widely across country. There is also no structured country wide system yet for **evaluating the impacts of completed innovation procurements**. Therefore, the total score for this indicator is 13%.

Indicator 8 – Incentives					
Total score	0%	European Average	22%		

The main financing instrument is the Market Development Fund, which uses ESIF fund 2014-2020 to co-finance innovation procurement projects aimed at facilitating job creation and increasing growth among Danish companies. It aims at reducing barriers faced by Danish companies and create growth and employment opportunities in the country. In this context, a key initiative implemented to reduce demand-side market barriers is the initiative implemented to promote innovative procurement in the public sector. This initiative piloted 4 PCPs and 1 innovation partnership. Since 2015 there is no more budget in the Market development fund allocated to supporting innovation procurements.

Based on the evidence collected, it can be said that Denmark has in the past set up financial incentives, in the form of ESIF funded grants, to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements. However the financial incentives are not available any more, not directed to all types of innovation procurement, nor designed to incentivize large scale implementation of innovation procurement. Also, the country does not have incentives financed from national funds without EU support. Therefore the total score for the sub-indicator financial incentives is 0%.

Due to the fact that the country does not have a personal incentives, the total score for the indicator "incentives" is 0%.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>288</sup> <u>http://ec.europa.eu/regional\_policy/sources/policy/how/improving-investment/public-procurement/study/country\_profile/dk.pdf</u>

Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures					
Total score	19%	European Average	24%		

	Existence	Connection with relevant international/ EU initiatives	Free of charge	Covering all types and aspects of innovation procurement	Available and applicable to all public procurers in the country	Mainstreaming Innovation procurement at a large scale	Sub- total score
Central website							0%
Good practices	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		67%
Trainings/workshops							0%
Handbooks/guidelines	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		50%
Assistance to public procurers							0%
Template tender documents	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		50%
Coordination / pre- approval							0%
Networking							0%
One-stop-shop/ competence centre							0%

In Denmark there is no structured system that aims at increasing the capacity and know-how of public procurers. in the past there have been some interesting initiatives under the "Strategy for intelligent public procurement" but there is a lack of political commitment and resources to continue and reinforce these efforts into a structured and coherent support to contracting authorities.

The market development fund developed a **guide on pre-commercial procurement** as well as **templates for the PCP call for tender and contract documents**<sup>289</sup>. The fund also published **good practice case examples** of innovation procurements on their website, however only of a few national pilot cases<sup>290</sup>.

However, the mandate of the ROPS and the budget for supporting innovation procurement from the market development fund expired in 2015 and today there are no other capacity building and assistance measures in place in the field of innovation procurement. References to and interconnection with recent EU initiatives on innovation procurement are missing. There is currently a lack of resources for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale in the country. The total score of the indicator is 19%.



This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of Innovation procurement. It is composed by two sub-indicators that reflect:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>289</sup> https://markedsmodningsfonden.dk/pcp-paradigme-og-vejledninger

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>290</sup> <u>https://markedsmodningsfonden.dk/cases-innovative-offentlige-indkoeb</u> (PPI cases);

https://markedsmodningsfonden.dk/praekommercielle-indkoeb-pcp-0 (PCP cases)

- I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in Denmark
- II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regards to sub-indicator I, Denmark shows the following evidence:

- IPR default regime: The score for this sub-indicator is 25%, which is below the 38% European average, because there is no predefined default scenario on distribution of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers in Denmark. The Danish law, general terms and conditions for government contract and guidelines on public procurement does not define how IPR allocation is best dealt with in procurement contracts. It is left to the individual responsibility of each Danish procurer to specify clearly the IPR allocation for the procurement in its tender documents so that it stimulates innovation and is compliant with applicable IPR/copyright law. The public procurement law foresees that public procurers can require in the tender specifications transfer of IPR rights to the procurer. However, the Danish copyright act<sup>291</sup> assigns copyright to the creator and determines that a copyright (moral rights) can only be waived to a limited extent by the creator (to a procurer) when the use of the work in question (by the procurer) is limited in nature and extent. If the procurer wants to use the commissioned work he must require in the tender specifications the transfer, assignment or a license of the economic rights (e.g. usage, licensing, publication, modification, reproduction rights) at equitable payment. Copyright protects also scientific work (product designs, product specifications, tests etc.), computer programs and databases. With regards to PCP, the guidelines and model contracts for PCPs supported by the Danish Market Development Fund define that IPR ownership remains with the contractor and the procurer obtains usage and licensing related rights
- b. **Use of value for money award criteria**: According to the EU single market scoreboard, 47% of the procedures were awarded on criteria different from of the lowest price.<sup>292</sup> This is moderately above the European average of 42% but still not reaching the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard.
- c. **Use of variants**: Denmark has allowed the use of variants in the 2% of the procedures. This percentage is below the European average.
- d. **Preliminary Market Consultation:** Denmark has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 20% of the procedures. This percentage is significantly above the European average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 23% which is in line with the European average of 23%. This is mainly due to the above average performance on used value for money award criteria and on preliminary Market Consultations.

With regard to second sub-indicator II, Denmark shows the following evidence (based on the Single Market Scoreboard):

- e. **Level of competition**: The level of competition of the national public procurement market is 91%, which is above the European average 84% and just approaching the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. Both sub-indicators are above the European average however the positive performance is mainly driven by the low portion of procurement procedure where no call for bids was used (5%). The number of procurements with less than one bidder (86%) is above European average (75%) but still below the satisfactory level set (90%) by the EU single market scoreboard.
- f. **Level of transparency**: The level of transparency of the national public procurement market is 56% which is above the European average 45% but still below the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. All the sub-indicators are above the European average: the publication rate (7%), the percentage of procurements without missing call for bids information (91%) and without missing buyer registration numbers (69%). However, the last two indicators are still below the satisfactory level set by the EU single market, which makes it hard for companies to understand which buyer wants to buy what.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 73% which is above the European average of 65%.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 48% which is above the European average. This score is explained firstly by the fact that, the overall openness of the Danish public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is above the European average. Although the country has not yet adopted a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation, the use of value for money criteria and the use of preliminary Market Consultation are largely above the European average. However, although the national public procurement market shows an above average level of competition and transparency but the level of transparency is lower than the satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>291</sup> http://www.wipo.int/edocs/lexdocs/laws/en/dk/dk091en.pdf 292 Single Market Scoreboard

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Danish investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Danish investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 10,2% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e. € 4,4 bn), **Denmark ranks 8**<sup>th</sup> in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>293</sup> across Europe. Denmark falls within the group of **good performers**, above the European average of 9,3%.<sup>294</sup> However, **a significant increase of investments in PPI** is still needed to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Danish public sector.<sup>295</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Denmark still remains in the 8<sup>th</sup> position.



The **main factors**<sup>296</sup> explaining Denmark's good performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Denmark (96%) is well above the European average (84%), thanks to a significant share of PPI investments that adopted innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (69%) and, to a lesser extent, 'significantly improved' solutions (27%). The share of PPI investments that was spent on the adoption of **incremental innovations** (4%), which includes the purchase of existing solutions that are 'used in a new way or in a new sector' as well as 'innovative combinations of existing solutions', is significantly smaller than the European average (16%).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>293</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found here on the EU webpages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>294</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

 $<sup>^{295}</sup>$  It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve).  $^{296}$  The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Further investment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** could be an important factor that would allow Denmark to achieve a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Nearly very domain of public sector activity**<sup>297</sup> **in Denmark purchased innovation solutions**, except procurers from the domains of '**Water**' and '**Postal services**' where PPI investment is zero. The shares of PPI investments by different public sector domains out of total PPI investments in the country are **mostly in line with the European averages**. Danish investments do not deviate more than 3 percentage points (pp) from the European average in 5 out of 11 sectors. At the same time, the share of PPI investments by Danish procurers in '**Healthcare and social services**' (+33 pp), '**Education, recreation, culture and religion**' (+7 pp) and '**Public order, safety and security**' (+6 pp) are significantly above the European average. Conversely, PPI investments by procurers in '**General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs**' are significantly below (-21 pp) the European average. The shares of investments from the '**Other**' domain was very small.

Domain of public sector activity	Denmark	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	14%	35%	-21
Transport	1%	10%	-9
Healthcare and social services	54%	21%	+33
Energy	3%	6%	-3
Environment	3%	3%	0
Construction, housing and community amenities	0% (0,4%)	4%	-4
Education, recreation, culture and religion	12%	5%	+7
Water	0%	4%	-4
Public order, safety and security	14%	8%	+6
Postal services	0%	1%	-1
Other	0% (0,2%)	3%	-3
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>297</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

### Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is consistently higher in Denmark (45%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Danish procurers may be less risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is lower in Denmark (55%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Danish procurers may tend to be less open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Danish PPI call for tenders that is published is modest (33%), but above the European average (22%). Almost the totality is **published at European level** in the TED database (33%), which is above the European average. The portion that is **published at national level** (<1%) is marginal and below the European average (5%).

By not publishing PPI call for tenders widely, **Denmark** is missing out on potential innovative solutions that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Danish and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Danish PPI business opportunities.

### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

PPI investments by level of public sector activity



The lion's share of the total PPI investments in Denmark is carried out by **large-scale entities at national level** (88%), such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is starkly above the European average (47%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for a small amount of share of PPI (10%), below the European average (24%). **Procurers at local level** account for a marginal fraction of PPI (2%) and below the European average (29%). This may indicate a lack of awareness and engagement of subnational procurers in innovation procurement.

# Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The Danish public sector shows a **modest level of performance** in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI invesment). With  $\in$  0,3 bn or 3,9% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Denmark ranks 9<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, slightly above the European average (3,5%). In terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions Denmark (slightly over 38%) performs in line with the European average (38%). **A significant increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions** is thus needed to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Denmark to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>298</sup>



The main factors<sup>299</sup> explaining Denmark's modest performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations**<sup>300</sup> in Denmark (97%) is much higher than the European average (79%). This may derive from the fact that almost all purchases represent the adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (51%) or 'significantly improved' solutions (46%). The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations** (3%) is marginal and considerably below the European average (21%). As the total amount of investments in ICT-based innovative solutions in Denmark is modest, the country still needs to step up significantly its investments in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.





<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>298</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI – or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>299</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>300</sup> See definition above

#### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



Denmark invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the so-called '**Core ICT' sub-sector**<sup>301</sup> (68%), above the European average (54%).

Denmark invested to a lesser extent in the adoption of innovations from the '**ICT Plus'** sub-sector (32%), below the European average (44%).

Danish investments in adopting innovations from the **'Content & Media' sub-sector** were marginal (<1%), but in line with the European average (1%).

#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

Most domains of public sector activity in Denmark purchased innovative ICT-based solutions, except the 'Water', 'Postal Services' and 'Other' categories. In particular, the highest share of ICT-based PPI investments is made by procurers that operate in the domain of 'General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs' (34% against a 16% European average) followed by procurers in 'Public order, safety and security' (27% which is clearly above the European average of 19%). ICT-based PPI investments the 'Education, recreation, culture and religion' are also above European average (22% against 9% European average).

#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity



#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

<sup>301</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

- · Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes
- · Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software
- ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

#### ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 87% of ICT-based PPI, quite above the European average (69%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for the highest share of the ICT-based PPI at sub-national level (11%), yet below the European average (21%). **Local procurers** account for only a modest fraction of ICT-based PPI (2%), which is below the European average (10%). This may indicate a lack of awareness and engagement of sub-national procurers in innovation procurement of ICT-based solutions.

# Estonia



# . NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

### Governance and legal framework

In Estonia the field of public procurement is regulated by the Public Procurement Act (PPA)<sup>302</sup>, which transposed the EU procurement Directives (2014/23/EU, 2014/24/EU, 2015/25/EU) and the Directive on Defence Procurement (2009/81/EC). The PPA is supplemented with several regulations of the Government of Estonia.

Estonia has a highly centralised government system. The majority of the budget for public procurement is indeed spent by the central government, which is for the bulk of procurement. Estonia is frequently cited for its early and effective adoption of e-procurement.

A key actor in the field of innovation procurement is the **Ministry of Economic Affairs and Communications**, which is the responsible institution for public procurement policy (drafting the law, providing supervision and consulting) and which introduced innovation procurement objectives within the **'Public sector as smart customer'** policy in its wider entrepreneurship and innovation strategy (Estonian Entrepreneurship Growth Strategy 2014-2020").<sup>303</sup>

The Ministry is assisted by **Enterprise Estonia (EAS)**<sup>304</sup>, a public organisation promoting business and regional policy, that is in charge of a number of capacity-building activities in the field of innovation procurement and manages a financial support scheme<sup>305</sup>, set up in 2016, that co-finances Estonian public procurers to prepare and manage innovation procurements.

Estonia has three pivotal strategies "Estonia 2020", "Sustainable Estonia 21" and the already mentioned "Estonian Entrepreneurship Growth Strategy 2014-2020" which recognise the role of the State as a smart customer for innovation. Several national (sectorial or horizontal) development plans contributes either directly or indirectly to this objective, such as the Rural Development Plan managed by the Ministry of Agriculture, the Tourism Development Plan Ministry of Economic Affairs and Communication), Lifelong Learning Strategy run by the Ministry of Education and Research.

# Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)

In the benchmarking of national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Estonia is at the 6<sup>th</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 40,5%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Estonia is among the group of good performer countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. Having implemented 40,5% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is however still a significant reinforcement of the policy framework needed in Estonia to reach its full 100% potential.



Strengths: Estonia has started developing dedicated policy measures to foster innovation procurement, however still only at small scale. National guidelines promote an approach to IPR allocation that fosters innovation in public procurement

<u>Weaknesses</u>: Absence of an action plan covering all procurements in the country and a spending target for innovation procurement, measurement system is being setup but still lacks an impact evaluation dimension, no dedicated structured approach yet for capacity building

<sup>304</sup> <u>https://www.eas.ee/eas/?lang=en</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>302</sup> https://www.riigiteataja.ee/en/eli/505092017003/consolide

<sup>303</sup> https://www.mkm.ee/en/objectives-activities/economic-development/entrepreneurship-and-innovation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>305</sup> <u>https://www.eas.ee/teenus/innovatsiooni-edendavate-hangete-toetamine/</u>



#### **Overview per indicator** Indicator 1 – Official definition Total score 70% European Average 50% PPI PCP **R&D** procurement Innovation procurement 0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

The Estonian legal framework provides clear official definitions for innovation but not for innovation procurement, R&D, Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) and Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI). The Estonian public procurement act identifies research and development by listing the CPV codes that correspond to R&D, but there is no full sentence definition for R&D or for the R&D categories that match these CPV codes. Regarding PCP the Estonian Public Procurement Act provides a clear legal basis for implementing PCP (although without giving an explicit definition for PCP). The national guidance on innovation procurement published by EAS includes definitions for innovation procurement, PCP and PPI and R&D procurement, which are compliant with EU official definitions and applicable to all types of public procurers in the country. As a result, the total score for this indicator is 70 %.

The **innovation procurement** definition in the 2016 Guidance on innovation procurement published by Enterprise Estonia (EAS) applies to all public procurers in the country and is in line with the official EU definition. It builds on the **innovation** definition from the EU public procurement directives that was transposed into Estonian public procurement law: "*innovation means the implementation of a new or significantly improved product, service or process, including production, building or construction processes, a new marketing method, or a new organisational method in business practices, workplace organisation or external relations*". As a result, the total score for this sub-indicator is 70%.

The definition of **R&D** procurement in the Guidance on innovation procurement is in line with EU official definition and is applicable country wide. In addition, article 11 number 19 of the Public Procurement Act identifies R&D as activities that have the CPV codes for fundamental research, applies research and industrial development. The total score for the sub-indicator R&D is 70%.

Article 11 also transposes the exclusion for R&D services, which forms the legal basis for the implementation of **PCP** in the country. The public procurement act does not apply to public service contracts in R&D "unless the benefits accrue exclusively to the contracting authority or entity for its use in the conduct of its own affairs and the service provided is wholly remunerated by the contracting authority". The Guidance on innovation procurement also provides a

definition of PCP which is applicable to all public procurers and is in line with the EU official definition. Therefore, the total score for this sub-indicator is 70%.

The Estonian legislative framework does not provide a legal definition for **PPI**. Article 85 number 8 of the Public Procurement Act provides a legal basis for the implementation of PPI by enabling procurers to include "innovative characteristics" as one of the additional qualitative criteria that could be used to award contracts. In addition, the national "Guidance on innovation procurement" also provides a definition of PPI which is in line with the EU definition and applicable country wide. Therefore, the total score of this sub-indicator is 70%.



In Estonia, six horizontal policies recognise the strategic importance of innovation procurement, namely: entrepreneurship policy, regional and urban policy, economic and financial policy, public procurement policy, innovation and R&D policies. Therefore, the total score of this indicator is 86%.

The "**Estonian Entrepreneurship Growth Strategy 2014-2020**"<sup>306</sup> is an umbrella strategy, set out by the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Communications, which covers and connects a range of horizontal and sectorial strategies covered by the ministry including economic policy, entrepreneurship policy, rural development and R&D&I policy. One of the activities on which the Strategy is based is the "development of demand-side policies": in order to create a market for innovative products and services, Estonia aims at increasing the state's capacity and readiness to act as a client for innovative solutions (i.e. through innovation procurements), ensuring to be an active innovative solution projects. By doing so, it means to stimulate innovation activities, enhancing both the emergence of start-up companies as well as partnerships with foreign enterprises.

The **Estonian R&D&I strategy 2014-2020 "Knowledge-based Estonia"**<sup>307</sup> sets as objective to "Increase the role of the public sector as the leader of innovation in enterprises under the growth areas of smart specialisation, i.e. in commissioning and initiating RD and innovation. The innovations include innovative procurements".

The "**National Reform Programme Estonia 2020**"<sup>308</sup>, which aims at increasing the productivity and employment in the country, identifies public procurement as one of the instruments to boost innovation and sustainability and it states that "*if necessary, public procurement regulations should be transformed into an engine of development in fields important to the state (innovation, sustainability, design, creative industries and space technologies as well as the added value of local resources*)". Therefore, public procurement is embedded within the strategy.

In the field of regional policy, the **Estonian operational programme for the structural funds 2014-2020**<sup>309</sup> includes innovation procurement as strategic objective: "The role of the state as the contracting authority for innovative solutions will be increased to create a market for innovative products and services. The state will be an active innovation partner for enterprises, contracting for innovative solutions, incl. encouraging the procurement of innovative solutions and the implementation of demonstration projects."

Indicator 3 – ICT policies			
Total score	100%	European Average	47%

In the area of ICT, the "**Digital Agenda 2020 for Estonia**" lists innovation procurement among the fundamental principles for the development of Estonian information society through "*the public sector's active role in the uptake and procurement of innovative solutions and shaping the overall conditions for development*". In particular, it states that "*Public sector will be a smart customer, ensuring that in public procurements as much freedom as possible is left for offering innovative solutions, thereby contributing to the development of the ICT sector*". <sup>310</sup>

<sup>306</sup> https://www.mkm.ee/en/objectives-activities/economic-development-and-entrepreneurship/innovation

<sup>307</sup> https://www.hm.ee/sites/default/files/estonian\_rdi\_strategy\_2014-2020.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>308</sup> https://riigikantselei.ee/en/supporting-government/national-reform-programme-estonia-2020

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>309</sup> https://www.struktuurifondid.ee/eng/legislation/operational-programme-2014-2020

<sup>310</sup> https://www.mkm.ee/sites/default/files/digital agenda 2020 estonia engf.pdf

Indicator 4 – Sectorial policies						
Total score	0%	European Average	14%			

In Estonia there are no dedicated sectorial policies for innovation procurement

Indicator 5 – Action plan					
Total score	0%	European Average	8%		

Estonia does not have a dedicated action plan for innovation procurement to all public procurers in all sectors and levels of government across the country. Therefore, the total score of the indicator is 0%.

Under the ESIF funding coordinated by EAS, Estonia has however developed a specific measure for fostering innovation procurement in Estonia under the Estonian Entrepreneurship and Growth strategy 2014-2020. This measure - "**State as a smart customer**" - allocates specific resources (20 million euro from the European Regional Development Fund per year), defines objectives to be achieved through a set of actions and a clear timeline. It is managed by assigning the task to **Enterprise Estonia (EAS)** under the supervision of **the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Communications.**<sup>311</sup>

Implemented activities under this measure include different forms of training, seminars and conferences, and the provision of guides and other reference materials. The measure provides both demand-side instruments to help eliminating systematic market failures and support to public sector contractors (grants - cf. Indicator Incentives). However, the budget dedicated to innovation procurement is limited to the funding of projects in specific sectors but does not seem sufficient to develop a holistic strategy to mainstream innovation procurement widely across the country. The lack of strategic vision is confirmed by the lack of specific commitments of key procurers and the lack of measures to boost public demand and scale up innovation procurement widely across the country.

Indicator 6 – Spending target				
Total score	0%	European Average	11%	

In Estonia there is no spending target for innovation procurement. The "Estonia 2020" Strategy, however, outlines a number of proposals to enhance innovation, including increasing the share of all public procurements that incorporate innovation to 3% by 2020<sup>312</sup>. This recommendation has not been followed by any concrete commitment.



Estonia has an effective and well-structured measurement system while it lacks an evaluation strategy able to measure the impacts of innovation procurements. Therefore, the total score of the indicator is 50%.

In Estonia an ex-post **survey-based mechanism** to monitor and measure innovation procurement was put in place **in 2015**<sup>313</sup> by Ministry of Economic Affairs and Communications.

The survey was carried out in three stages:

- 1) Analysis of policies and experiences of other countries;
- 2) Empirical analysis in the public procurement register;
- 3) E-questionnaire on potential innovation procurements.

The following definition of **innovation procurement** was used in the context of the measurement survey. The definition is included in a report published in 2017 entitled "*Innovation procurements – monitoring and proportion in all procurements in Estonia in 2015*". This definition established 4 levels of innovation procurement:

- 1) Ordering research and development activities (R&D) (from R&D services to prototypes);
- 2) Procurement creating innovation (a new solution in the public and private sector);
- 3) Procurement promoting the distribution of innovation (new for the contracting authority or most market participants);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>311</sup> https://www.mkm.ee/en/objectives-activities/economic-development-and-entrepreneurship/innovation#state-as-a-smartcustomer10

<sup>312</sup> https://riigikantselei.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/organisatsioon/failid/eesti 2020 vahearuanne.pdf

<sup>313</sup> https://www.mkm.ee/sites/default/files/inno 26 eng.pdf

- 4) Procurement impacting the extent and direction of innovation (innovations of process, organization etc. arising from the procurement in the organization of the contracting authority or the tenderer).
- The questionnaire was carried out on the e-Procurement register through four yes/no questions for procurers:
  - Did you acquire research and development activity in the scope of this procurement?
  - Was the object of the procurement novel for the contracting authority as well as for the whole market in general?
  - Was the solution procured in the scope of this procurement novel for the contracting authority?

• Did the procured solution make the work processes at the facilities of the contracting authority more effective? The system filtered out regular procurements from innovative procurements and it also marked procurements that are "potentially innovative". 76 procurements turned out to be innovative procurements, 90% of which were various procurements in the field of IT. In total 0,7 - 1,2% of procurements carried out in 2015 were found out to be innovative.

**A new measurement round has started in September 2017**. It is based on a similar methodological approach, i.e. on a questionnaire submitted to public procurers when they publish the Contract Notice. The difference comparing to the measurement of 2015 is that this is a **real-time** assessment, not ex-post, which enables to directly "flag" out on the e-Procurement system the potentially innovative tenders from the "regular" ones.



Estonia has set up **financial incentives** to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements, but there are no national funds to this aim, only EU funds, and only a limited set of pilot projects are supported which does not enable to reach wide scale implementation. Therefore, the total score of the sub-indicator "financial incentives" is 57%.

In 2015 the Estonian **Ministry of Economic Affairs and Communications** strategically introduced the innovation procurement ('the public sector as a smart customer') into its wider Entrepreneurship Growth Strategy<sup>314</sup>. It assigned to **Enterprise Estonia** (EAS) the task to setup and manage a  $\in$  **20 mn** scheme - co-financed by ESIF – to support Estonian public procurers to undertake innovation procurements. The objective of this measure was to incite contracting authorities to change their procurement practices to support innovation<sup>315</sup>. The  $\in$  20 mn support scheme was split in two large segments of activities:

- 1) Around 2 Million euro devoted to general awareness raising, knowledge sharing, workshops, consultations etc.
- 2) The remaining 18 Million euro provides co-financing for Estonian public procurers. Innovation procurements which meet the criteria receive financial support to a maximum of 50% of the project cost and a maximum of  $\pounds$ 500,000. All stages of the procurement are supported, from the identification of the need until the conclusion of the contract (procurement preparation and organization, like legal and sector-specific consultancy, and procurement process management and contract execution, purchase of procurement proceeds, including research and development).

In 2016 Enterprise Estonia opened the first calls for Estonian public procurers and 3 contracting authorities passed it successfully (Tartu City Government in cooperation with Harku Rural Municipality Government, the Ministry of Social Affairs and the Road Administration)<sup>316</sup>. The second and the third rounds were concluded in 2017.

The overall score of this indicator (29%) reflects the fact that the Estonian procurement system does not foresee **personal incentives** for public procurers.

315 https://www.eas.ee/teenus/innovatsiooni-edendavate-hangete-toetamine/

<sup>314</sup> https://www.mkm.ee/en/objectives-activities/economic-development/entrepreneurship-and-innovation

<sup>316</sup> https://www.mkm.ee/sites/default/files/inno 26 eng.pdf

Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures							
Total score	225	%		European A	lverage 24	%	
	Existenc e	Connection with relevant international /EU initiatives	Free of charge	Covering all types and aspects of innovation procurement	Available and applicable to all public procurers in the country	Mainstreaming Innovation procurement at a large scale	Sub- total score
Central website							0%
Good practices	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		50%
Trainings/workshops	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		67%
Handbooks/guideline s	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		83%
Assistance to public procurers							0%
Template tender documents							0%
Coordination / pre- approval							0%
Networking of procurers							0%
One-stop-shop / competence centre							0%

Estonia foresees four out of the nine measures generally adopted to build up the know-how of public procurers on innovation procurement.

The Estonian Government does not coordinate the implementation of innovation procurements or pre-approve innovation procurement procedures in Estonia. It coordinates the allocation of ESIF funds to innovation procurements at small scale in a few sectors (e.g. pilot projects). The score for sub-indicator coordination/pre-approval is 0%.

Enterprise Estonia (EAS) is the organization appointed to provide **financial assistance**, **counselling**, **cooperation opportunities and training** for entrepreneurs, research institutions, and the public and non-profit sectors. However, its role is not specifically tailored for innovation procurement, and a structured strategy aimed at providing **assistance** to all types of public procurers in the country, not only those benefiting from ESIF funding, in the implementation of specific innovation procurement projects is still lacking. This is reflected in score 0% for assistance.

Target groups, such as researcher, enterprise organizations and contracting authorities, are regularly informed of the importance of innovation procurement. **Training and workshops** cover the different stages of innovation procurement, such as establishing the problem to be resolved, market analysis, legal procedures of the procurement, results of and lessons from successful innovation procurements previously conducted. The score of this sub-indicator is 67% because these trainings do not provide information of the relevant EU/WTO framework for innovation procurement at large scale, but only for some pilot actions.

Other awareness activities are also addressed at top managers of public institutions, e.g. the Conference on Innovation Procurement hosted in Tallinn in October 2017.<sup>317</sup> For the best result, the awareness activities and financial measures are conceived to correspond to each other in time, in order to enable the novel ideas and knowledge/skills to be formed into a successful procurement project with the help of the support.

EAS developed also **national guidelines** on innovation procurement<sup>318</sup>. They cover all types of innovation procurement, explain the link with the relevant EU legal framework, are available free of charge, applicable to all types of public procurers in the country but don't provide any specific guidance on how to mainstream innovation procurement and the impacts this can achieve widely. The score of this sub-indicator is thus 83%

The Government publishes **good practices examples** of innovation procurement. Publications of good practice examples (e.g. in the above guidance document) are provided free of charge to public procurers. However, they don't cover all types of innovation procurement (no R&D / PCP procurement examples), they don't mention the relevant EU programs that funded some of the case examples and they are not demonstrating yet how to mainstream innovation procurement at large scale. The score of this sub-indicator is therefore 50%.

**EAS** is participating in the EU funded Procure2Innovate project (European network of national competence centres on innovation procurement) with the aim to expand EAS role beyond managing the current ESIF funded innovation procurement projects to become the **national competence centre for innovation procurement**. However, as this is currently still under construction, the score for one-stop-shop / competence centre is still o%.

On the basis of the evidence collected, the total score of this indicator is 22%. Only four out of the nine measures investigated are in place: there is currently no national competence centre and central website. Assistance to public procurers, networking and coordination activities to foster cooperation between national procurers on implementing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>317</sup> <u>http://eafip.eu/events/conference\_on\_innovation\_procurement/</u>

<sup>318</sup> https://www.rahandusministeerium.ee/sites/default/files/Riigihangete\_poliitika/juhised/eas\_innohangete\_juhend.pdf

innovation procurements together and template documents for innovation procurement are not offered. In addition, references to recent EU initiatives (e.g. Eafip, procure2innovative network of competence centres, study SMART 2016/0040 that is benchmarking national policy frameworks for innovation procurement across Europe, EU guidance on innovation procurement, EU funding opportunities for innovation procurements (e.g. H2020, ESIF, EIB) and recent EU funded projects (e.g. Horizon 2020 funded projects) are missing. Resources dedicated to the EAS' capacity building activities are not yet at the level for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale across the country.



This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of Innovation procurement. It is composed by two sub-indicators reflecting:

I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in Estonia

II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regard to sub-indicator I, Estonia presents the following evidence:

- IPR default regime: The score for this sub-indicator is 50% because the Estonian public procurement law a. does not address the issue of IPR allocation or transfer and the general terms and conditions for all government contracts do not define a default IPR regime either, but the Estonian guide on innovation procurement issued by EAS highlights that public procurers must decide before the launch of the procurement procedure about what is their IPR strategy and that they should only buy the rights they really need (which are typically usage rights) because the procurers' requirements on IPR rights will affect the price paid for the public procurement. The guide also reminds public procurers that public procurers should ensure that the allocation of IPR between public procurers and suppliers is compliant with the Estonian copyright rules. Indeed, the Estonian Copyright act<sup>319</sup> defines as default scenario that both the moral and economic rights of copyrights belong to the creator (also in public procurements) and that a copyright (moral rights) cannot be transferred by the creator (supplier) to another person (procurer). If a public procurer wants to obtain economic rights (e.g. usage, licensing, publication, modification, reproduction) on copyrighted material he must require in his tender documents the transfer, assignment or a license to the economic rights at equitable payment. Copyright protects also scientific work (product designs, product specifications, tests etc.), computer programs and databases. In respect of this IPR/copyright and software/database legislation, the Estonian guide<sup>320</sup> and model contracts<sup>321</sup> for ICT procurements foresee leaving IPR ownership with the contractor and allocating a license (to use, reproduce, alter, distribute and sublicense) to the public procurer.
- b. **Use of value for money award criteria**: According to the EU single market scoreboard, only 24% of the procedures were not awarded on the basis of the lowest price only. This is significantly below the European average of 42% and far below the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard. Estonia is among the EU countries that is lagging behind the most on the use of value for money award criteria.
- c. **Use of variants**: Estonia has allowed the use of variants in the 2% of the procedures. This percentage is well below the European average.
- **d. Preliminary Market Consultation:** Estonia has not used Preliminary Market Consultations in procurement procedures in 2018.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 19%, which is below the European average of 23%. This is mainly due to the significant underutilization of value for money award criteria and the absence of any Preliminary Market Consultation procedure. There is some promotion in guidelines to procurers for using an IPR default regime that fosters

<sup>319</sup> http://www.wipo.int/edocs/lexdocs/laws/en/ee/ee184en.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>320</sup> https://itpraktikud.eesti.ee/dokuwiki/lib/exe/fetch.php?media=itari:toogrupid:erasektor:avalik:ikt\_sektori\_tarkvaraarenduslepingute\_ettepanekud.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>321</sup> https://itpraktikud.eesti.ee/dokuwiki/doku.php?id=itari:toogrupid:erasektor:start#olelusringi\_juhendmaterjal

innovation in public procurement, but this is not anchored yet into legislation and general terms and conditions for government contracts.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Estonia shows the following evidence (based on the EU Single Market Scoreboard):

- e. **Level of competition**: The level of competition of the national public procurement market is 87% which is slightly above the European average 84% but still below the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This performance is driven by the above average percentage of procurements with more than one bidder (80%) and above average amount of procurements conducted with a call for bids (94%).
- f. **Level of transparency**: The level of transparency of the national public procurement market is 69%, which is above the European average 45% and in line with the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. Estonia has, after Lithuania, the highest number of procurements without missing call for bid information (99%) and without missing buyer registration numbers (100%).

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 78% which is above the European average of 65% and around the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 49%, which is slightly above the European average (44%). This performance is mainly explained by the fact that the Estonian procurement market is open to innovations from across the EU single market reaching an above-average level of transparency. Although there has been no use of Preliminary market Consultations, use of variants is low and the consideration of value for money criteria is below European average, the high above-average score in IRP default regime significantly improve the overall performance.

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Estonian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Estonian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 8,3% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e.  $\\CO} O,3 bn$ ), **Estonia ranks 13<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>322</sup> across Europe. Estonia falls within the group of **moderate performers**, slightly below the European average of 9,3%.<sup>323</sup> **A significant increase of investments in PPI is still needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Estonian public sector.<sup>324</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Estonia drops to the 14<sup>th</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>325</sup> explaining Estonia's moderate performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Estonia (95%) is high and well above the EU average (84%). This may be due to the fact that the largest portion of PPI investments is devoted to the adoption of 'significantly improved' solutions (56% of PPI) and innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (39% of PPI). In comparison, only a marginal share of PPI investments is spent on the adoption of **incremental innovations** (5%), which includes the purchase of 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' as well as 'innovative combinations of existing solutions'. However, as the total amount of investments in innovative

 $<sup>^{322}</sup>$  Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found here on the EU webpages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>323</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

 $<sup>^{324}</sup>$  It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve).  $^{325}$  The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

solutions in Estonia is moderate and below European average, the country still needs to step up significantly its investments in the adoption of both transformative and incremental innovations.

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is therefore an important factor explaining why Estonia is not yet at the level of PPI investments that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



Investments readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Nearly all domains of public sector activity**<sup>326</sup> **in Estonia purchased innovation solutions**, except for the domain of '**Postal Services**'. The shares of PPI investments by different public sector domains out of total PPI investments in the country are **generally below European average** (in 6 out of 11 sectors). In particular, PPI investments by procurers in '**Healthcare and social services**' (-14 pp), '**General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs**' (-15 pp) and '**Public order, safety and security**' (-7 pp) are significantly below EU average. At the same time, PPI investments in '**Public Transport**' (+21 pp) and '**Education, recreation, culture and religion**' (+13 pp) and '**Water**' are remarkably higher than the European average.

#### European Difference Domain of public sector activity Estonia average (in pp) General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs 21% 35% -14 Public transport 31% 10% +21Healthcare and social services 6% 21% -15 6% 6% 0 Energy Environment 1% 3% -2 Construction, housing and community amenities 3% 4% -1 Education, recreation, culture and religion 18% 5% +13 Water 11% 4% +7 8% Public order, safety and security 1% -7 Postal services 0% 1% -1 Other 1% 3% -2 **Total PPI investments** 100% 100%

PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>326</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

# Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is consistently higher in Estonia (64%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Estonian procurers may be less risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is consistently lower in Estonia (36%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Estonian procurers may tend to be less open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

#### Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Estonian PPI call for tenders that is published is modest, but slightly higher (28%) than the European average (22%). Both the portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (22%) and the portion that is **published at national level** (6%) are slightly higher than the European average (respectively 18% and 5%). But the share of PPI that are not published remains very large (72%).

By not publishing PPI widely, **Estonia is missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Estonian and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Estonian PPI business opportunities.

# Investment readiness levels of public sector activity

PPI investments by level of public sector activity



Half of the total PPI investments in Estonia is carried out by **large-scale entities at national level** (51%), such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is above the European average (47%).

**Procurers at regional level** cover the largest part of the remaining share of PPI investments (44%), almost double the European average (24%). **Procurers at local level** account for a residual fraction of PPI (5%), considerably below the European average (29%).

# Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The Estonian public sector shows a **modest level of performance** in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment). With  $\in$  0,03 bn or 3,8% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Estonia ranks 10<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, slightly above the European average (3,5%). In terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions (46%), Estonia performs more clearly above the European average (38%). A **significant increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions is still needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Estonia to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>327</sup>



The main factors<sup>328</sup> explaining Estonia's modest performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Estonia (93%) is well above the European average (79%). This may be due to the fact that the largest portion of PPI investments is devoted to the adoption of 'significantly improved' solutions (62%) and innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (31%). The share of **incremental innovations**<sup>329</sup> (7%) is significantly smaller than the European average (21%). However, as the total amount of investments in ICT-based innovative solutions in Estonia is modest, the country still needs to step up significantly its investments in the adoption of both transformative and incremental innovations.

#### ICT-based PPI investments by type of innovation



 $<sup>^{327}</sup>$  It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI – or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>328</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>329</sup> See definitions above

#### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

#### ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



Estonia invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the '**Core ICT' sub-sector**<sup>330</sup> (69%), above the European average (54%)

Estonia invested to a lesser extent in the adoption of innovations from the '**ICT Plus' sub-sector** (26%), significantly below the European average (44%).

Estonian investments in adopting innovations from the **'Content & Media' sub-sector** were marginal (5%), but above the European average (1%).

#### Investments readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Nearly all domains of public sector activity in Estonia purchased innovation ICT-based solutions**, except the '**Water**' and '**Postal Services**' domains where investment in ICT-based PPI was zero. The highest share of ICT-based PPI is made by procurers that operate in the domain of '**Education, recreation, culture and religion**' (34% against a 9% European average) followed by procurers in the '**Public Transport**' domain (15%) and '**Construction, housing and community amenities**' (5%) which are 4% above the European average.



#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>330</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>·</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

<sup>·</sup> Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for the largest share of ICT-based PPI (74%), quite above the European average (69%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for the 16% of the ICT-based PPI, below the European average (21%). **Local procurers** account for a similar fraction of ICT-based PPI (14%), which is still above the European average (10%).
# Finland



## 1. NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

## Governance and legal framework

In Finland the EU Procurement Directives (2014/23/EU, 2014/24/EU, 2014/25/EU) and the EU Defence Procurement Directive (2009/81/EC) have been transposed in the national legal framework by three acts, namely (i) the Act on Public Procurement and Concession Contracts (1397/2016), (ii) the Act on Procurement and Concession Contracts of Entities Operating in the Water and Energy Supply, Transport and Postal Services Sector (1398/2016) and (iii) the Public Defence and Security Procurement Act (1531/2011).

Finland is characterised by a harmonised and decentralised public procurement system. Competences in terms of public procurement are split between two Ministries. The **Ministry of Finance** is responsible for guiding central government procurement through the government procurement strategy, deciding on centralised joint purchasing, developing procurement procedures and maintaining responsibility for the general terms and conditions of procurement. Conversely, **Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment** (MEAE) is responsible for the preparation of national procurement legislation and amendments, advising economic operators and contracting authorities on how the law should be interpreted and through its responsibility, the Finnish innovation policy also for encouraging innovation procurement in the country. As part of this responsibility, the MEAE works with the Association of **Finnish Local and Regional Authorities** (FLRA) to operate the **Public Procurement Advisory Unit** (PPAU), an online and telephone help desk for contracting authorities.

Oversight of public procurement is carried out by the **Finnish Competition and Consumer Authority** (FCCA), which supervises compliance with legislation regarding public procurement, and the **Finnish National Audit Office** (NAO), which controls public procurement procedures in terms of budget, accounting, and financial operations, and reports its findings to the Parliament. The **Market Court** (MC) acts as a specific review body on public procurement in the first instance while **Hansel Oy**, a publicly owned stock company, acts as a central purchasing body and is designed to increase the Government's savings by entering into framework agreements for procurement.

The **Finnish Government programme 2015-2019** gave a strong boost to the development of innovation procurement policy, which is now embedded in the strategic priorities of several policies. Moreover, the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment launched an **Action Plan on innovation procurement** in 2017. In spring 2017 the Government decided to establish a competence centre of excellence on sustainable and innovation procurement, which has been operational since April 2018: the network based **Competence Centre for Sustainable and Innovative Public Procurement** (**KEINO**) is today the main operative body in the support of procurers in the implementation of innovation procurement policy.<sup>331</sup>

**Business Finland** (previously called Innovation Funding Agency Tekes)<sup>332</sup> has a financing instrument for innovative public procurement since 2009, and between 2013 and 2016 ran a Smart Procurement programme.<sup>333</sup> Other actors in the field are **VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland Ltd**<sup>334</sup>, a technology and research organisation which has developed a method to monitor and measure volume, trend and impact of innovation procurement, **SYKE**, the Finnish Environment Institute, which is involved in measurement activities, and **HAUS - the Finnish Institute of Public Management Ltd**, which is engaged in some capacity building activities such as *ad hoc* training for public procurers.

## Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)

In the benchmarking of national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Finland is at the 1<sup>st</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 66,6%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Finland is among the strong performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. It scores on all ten indicators above the European average. Having implemented 66,6% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is however still a reinforcement of the policy framework needed in Finland to reach its full 100% potential.

<sup>334</sup> <u>http://www.vttresearch.com/</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>331</sup> https://www.hankintakeino.fi/en and http://valtioneuvosto.fi/en/artikkeli/-/asset\_publisher/1410877/osaamiskeskusvauhdittamaan-kestavia-ja-innovatiivisia-julkisia-hankintoja
<sup>332</sup> https://www.businessfinland.fi/en/for\_finnich\_sustamors/home/

<sup>332</sup> https://www.businessfinland.fi/en/for-finnish-customers/home/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>333</sup> The programme aimed at creating smart demand and speeding up market creation by bringing innovative supply and demand together. It included services such as financing, awareness raising, networking, sharing best practices. Between 2009 and 2016 it financed more than 70 projects for a total of 11 million euro.



Strengths: Finland has recently put in place a structured innovation procurement policy, action plan and target for national government with clear allocation of roles and objectives to scale up innovation procurement. A default IPR allocation regime that fosters innovation is anchored in the general terms and conditions for government contracts.

Weaknesses: Absence of a target that applies to all procurers in the country, lack of strategic recognition of the strategic importance of innovation procurement still by some sectors of public interest, structural monitoring system is still being setup, capacity building and assistance measures and use of value for money award criteria still to be further mainstreamed.



The Finnish legal framework provides an official legal definition for R&D procurement but only applicable to the defence sector. "Innovation procurement", Pre-commercial procurement (PCP) and "Public Procurement of Innovative solutions" (PPI) are defined in the report "*Public procurement of innovation – definition, opportunities and measurement*" published by the Prime Minister's Office in December 2017. Therefore, the total score of this indicator is 56%.

The Act on Public Procurement and Concession Contracts (1397/2016) introduces the definition of "**innovation**" in the section 4(1) p.20 "the implementation of a new or significantly improved product, service or process, including production, building or construction processes, a new marketing method, or a new organisational method in business practices, workplace organisation or external". This definition is in line with the EU public procurement directives' definition.

In addition, the Prime Minister's Office report from December 2017, defines **innovation procurement** as "*the acquisition of a new or significantly improved product or service that improves public service productivity, quality, sustainability and/or effectiveness.* This definition is not fully in line with the EU official definition (as it does not cover purchases by all first 20% early adopters), but is applicable to all public procurers in the Country. The total score for this sub-indicator is 50%.

The Law on Public Defence and security procurement (29.12.2011/1531) provides a definition of **Research and Development**. In particular, the Chapter 1, sect. 3 (16), defines R&D as: "*all activities consisting of basic research, applied research and experimental development, which may also include equipment for the introduction of a new concept or a new technology in a relevant or typical environment*". This definition is fully in line with the EU official definition but is applicable only to defence and security procurement. Therefore, the total score for this indicator 90%.

The Finnish Act on Public Procurement and Concession Contracts identifies in Section 9(1) p. 13, R&D as "activities that have the CPV codes for fundamental research, applied research and industrial development". This article also transposes the exclusion for R&D services, which forms the legal basis for implementing in **PCP**, namely: "the law only applies to R&D services procurements following the cumulative conditions of "(a) products belong exclusively to the contracting authority for its own use at pursuing its activity; and (b) the service is wholly remunerated by the contracting authority". Therefore, even without PCP definition, there is a legal basis which is applicable to all public procurers in the country, resulting in a total score for this indicator of 35%.

Although there is no official definition for **Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI)** in Finland, the *Public procurement and concession contract act.* 1397/2016 provides the legal basis for its implementation (Section 108, p. 2) which states: "In addition to the provisions of subsection 1, the contracting entity in a procurement of social and health services shall consider factors related to the quality, continuity, accessibility, affordability, availability and comprehensiveness of the services, to the special needs of various user groups, to user participation and increased empowerment, and to innovation". A non-legal definition is also provided by the Prime Minister's Office report from December 2017 which defines PPI as the "Purchase of a new product or new solution that was not previously on the market". This definition is applicable to all public procurers in the Country but is not in line with the EU official definition (as it does not cover purchases by all first 20% early adopters). Therefore, the total score of this sub-indicator is 50%.



In Finland, innovation procurement is included in several horizontal policies, namely regional, economic, public procurement, innovation and R&D, for a total score of 71% for this indicator.

The introduction of innovation procurement in horizontal policies' strategies is mainly due to the **Finnish Government Programme 2015-2019**<sup>335</sup> ("*Finland, a land of solutions – Strategic programme of Prime Minister Juha Sipilä's Government, 29 May 2015*"). By setting a spending target for innovation procurement (cfr. Indicator "Target"), the Programme dramatically increased attention in the field of innovation procurement, leading to the adoption of a specific Action plan and the foundation of the KEINO competence centre (cf. Indicators "Action plan" and "Capacity building and assistance measures"). As a consequence, specific policy programmes recognise today the role of innovation procurement: the national public procurement policy defined by the ministry of economic affairs and employment supports the implementation of the national 5% innovation procurement target (e.g. it has foreseen a default regime to leave IPR ownership with suppliers in public procurements in the national Finnish public procurement guidelines)<sup>336</sup>, the national

<sup>335</sup> http://valtioneuvosto.fi/en/implementation-of-the-government-programme

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>336</sup> <u>https://tem.fi/en/innovation-policy</u>

economic and financial policy foresees specific budgets for implementing actions to promote innovation procurement<sup>337</sup>, the national R&D and innovation strategy already encourages innovation procurement since 2008<sup>338</sup>.

Under the regional policy, the deployment of innovation public procurement is one of the key actions to be executed within the "National Priorities for Regional Development 2016-2019". 339 In addition, innovation procurement is often used in the context of the so-called "growth agreements" between the State and major cities. Growth agreements define key actions for long-standing development of cities and urban regions. In this context, innovation procurement is often used as a method to channel investments and procurement budget of cities to support the development of new services and products and create reference areas for companies.340

## Indicator 3 – ICT policies

#### 47% Total score 100% European Average

The Handi program, the "Digitalisation of state procurement" program by the Ministry of Finance in Finland, has as one of the goals to enable more innovations in the field of public procurement<sup>341</sup>. The program contains for example an obligation for the state contracting authorities to publish the procurement plans well in time before the actual procurement notice to allow the economic operators more time to innovate.

"Digital Finland Framework" (2018) indirectly refers to public procurement as a demand-side tool able to support the strategic priority of investing in innovative digital technologies.<sup>342</sup> Emphasis on using a demand-driven mode is put especially in the area of digital platforms for deploying and further developing new enabling technologies and applications. including those based on artificial intelligence IoT, 5G and cyber security. "Digital platforms are an outstanding means to deploy and further develop new enabling technologies and applications, including those based on artificial intelligence IoT, 5G and cyber security. Platforms should primarily be developed industry-lead, but there are many domains and purposes where public sector driven or mixed public-private mode is most appropriate" (public procurement is then shown in a picture as a possible resource that can be used). There is however no direct reference to specific actions on innovation procurement that are planned in the digital sector. Because of this indirect reference to innovation procurement, the total score for this indicator is 50%.



### Indicator 4 – Sectorial policies

Finland includes innovation procurement in five sectorial policies. The total score of this indicator is 50%.

In Finland, innovation procurement is among the strategic objectives set out in the Government Programme 2015-2019 (cf. Indicator "Horizontal policies"). This clear political commitment has boosted the spread of innovation procurement in horizontal and sectorial policies. Evidence, for instance, is available in the following sectors:

Under the healthcare policy, the "Health Sector Growth Strategy for R&D - Roadmap 2016-2018" encourages the introduction of innovative solutions when renewing health technology and pharmaceutical regulation as well as in the strategies of health sector institutions (Action n. 8). Furthermore, it explicitly supports innovation procurement.343

<sup>341</sup> <u>https://www.handi.fi/?lang=en</u>

343 http://tem.fi/en/health-sector

<sup>337</sup> https://vm.fi/en/article/-/asset\_publisher/xx

<sup>388</sup> http://ec.europa.eu/invest-in-research/pdf/download en/finland national innovation strategy.pdf

<sup>339</sup> https://tem.fi/documents/1410877/2817500/NATIONAL%20PRIORITIES%200F%20REGIONAL%20DEVELOPMENT%202016

<sup>2019/56</sup>d577b2-af13-47d0-8bcc-a1dd563d3f97

<sup>34</sup>º http://tem.fi/en/practical-measures-for-promoting-innovative-public-procurement

<sup>342</sup> https://www.businessfinland.fi/contentassets/47485067fefa4d838f7bc81d8ac90cd4/digital-finland-framework-report-feb-2018.pdf

- The Intelligent Transport Strategy<sup>344</sup>, provides the introduction of a pre-commercial procurement (PCP) in order to link together the needs of society and the innovation potential of businesses. It will be possible to use PCPs to promote the use of new solutions and to solve development needs in society by exploiting the innovation potential of businesses and simultaneously creating an incentive system to encourage commercialization.
- The government strategy to promote cleantech also endorses innovation procurement. Already in 2013. the Finnish Government passed a resolution on the promotion of cleantech solutions (sustainable solutions in environment and energy) through public sector procurement<sup>345</sup>. This strategy includes targets for governments organisations to purchase electricity from renewable sources, targets to purchase vehicles with low emission rates, targets for the construction sector, energy use and transport and waste management to use lower amounts of materials and new products and solutions that generate less harmful environmental impacts.



In December 2017 Finland has adopted a **dedicated Action Plan on innovation procurement**, which is was initiated by the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment.<sup>346</sup> The overall purpose of the action plan is to promote a more strategic approach to innovation procurement at the Government level and enhance management and preparation of procurements in administrative branches. The action plan covers all types of innovation procurement, is applicable across the country and to all public procurers in all sectors and administrative levels and aims at mainstreaming innovation at a large scale. Therefore, the score of the sub-indicator "coverage" is 100%.

The action plan defines **concrete actions**. The Action Plan contains 14 different measures divided in four main categories: management, information sharing, skills development, and concrete tools (e.g. risk management tools). The action plan also defines concrete responsible actors for each action to be implemented. For each of the 14 measures, tasks are divided among the responsible actors which range from the competence centre KEINO to all ministries in the central government, the central purchasing body HANSEL, the funding entities Sitra and Business Finland, the training entity HAUS etc. The score for sub-indicators "definition of concrete actors" and "definition of actors" is therefore 100%.

The action plan defines for each action concrete **expected results**. For example, according to the Action Plan, innovation procurement should be included in the performance management (KPIs) of each public sector organisation to ensure a systematic approach. Furthermore, public organisations should assign a person in charge of achieving the objectives on innovation procurements (so called "change agents") and provide training activities tailored to innovation procurement. As these expected results are not implemented yet to achieve wide scale impact across all procurers in the whole country, the score for sub-indicator "expected results" is 75%.

The action plan defines a **clear timeline** to implement all the objectives in two phases.

The specific objectives of the Action Plan are:

- Promoting a more strategic approach to innovation procurement;
- Promoting a better management and preparation of procurements in administrative branches;
- Creating a systematic development process for cooperation across central government sectors and administrative branches;
- Support to the Government objective to raise the share of innovation procurement of all public procurement to 5%

(cf. Indicator "Target")<sup>347</sup>. The second phase of the plan consists of defining supporting activities for each administrative branch. Support and coaching, tailored to the needs of each administrative branch, will be provided to promote the implementation of the measures. The second phase is already underway in the form of coaching meetings for each administrative branch. These

345 http://www.ym.fi/download/noname/%7B11E6CBCF-402F-4338-848A-A6F7676D0ADD%7D/58318

<sup>344</sup> https://julkaisut.valtioneuvosto.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/77970/Intelligence in Transport and Wisdom in Mobility Finlands Second Generation Intelligent Strategy for Transport.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

<sup>346</sup> https://tem.fi/documents/1410877/2132296/IJH+Toimenpidesuunnitelma.pdf/3fe413eb-ofd5-4dc3-9797-74ce98694503 (in Finnish). https://tem.fi/en/article/-/asset\_publisher/innovatiivisten-julkisten-hankintojen-toimenpideohjelma-on-valmistunut (in English)

<sup>347</sup> http://valtioneuvosto.fi/documents/10184/1427398/Ratkaisujen+Suomi\_EN\_YHDISTETTY\_netti.pdf/8d2e1a66-e24a-4073-8303ee3127fbfcac

meetings continued until January 2019. As the timeline does not cover long term actions to sustain wide scale implementation yet, the score for the sub-indicator timeline is therefore 75%. Finally, dedicated **resources** have been allocated by the ministry of economics for the activities in the action plan to be implemented by the national Finnish competence centre on innovation procurement KEINO however several of these activities are still in the start-up phase and mainly targeted at central government procurers. It is not clear which resources are exactly committed by the other key actors listed in the action plan to achieve their objectives in the action plan. Therefore, the score for the sub-indicator "resources" is 50%.

The fact that innovation procurement is now addressed more strategically at the central government level has also led to local initiatives. For example, the cities of Turku and Tampere have their own actions to promote innovation procurement.<sup>348</sup> As the action plan is still in the process of obtaining similar commitment from other procurers across all levels and sectors, the score for the sub-indicator "**commitment of key procurers**" is currently 50%.

Finally, through the involvement of the national central purchasing body Hansel and the creation of purchasing groups the action plan defines concrete **measures to pool demand** among public and private procurers across the whole country and for all types of innovation procurement, however this is not implemented yet at a scale to mainstream innovation procurement widely yet. Therefore, the score of this sub-indicator is 75%. As a result, the total score for this indicator is 81%.

Indicator 6 – Spending	target		
Total score	70%	European Average	11%

The **Finnish Government programme 2015-2019**<sup>349</sup> ("*Finland, a land of solutions – Strategic programme of Prime Minister Juha Sipilä's Government, 29 May 2015*") includes a numerical target for innovation procurement (where innovation procurement comprises only the purchase of solutions that were not on the market before), set at **5%** of total public procurement at national level. The Action Plan for innovation procurement (cf. Indicator "Action Plan") has been formalised as a direct consequence of this government objective.

The target applies to all central government ministries, institutions and agencies across all policy sectors. It is also embedded in the national government strategic projects for key growth opportunity sectors. However, as the vast majority of public procurement in Finland takes place at sub-national level, it is a pity that the target is not applicable to regional or local authorities or to the utility sector. It does not oblige local governments (i.e. municipalities) in any formal manner. However, it is encouraging that some of the most advanced municipalities have set their own targets for innovation procurement (particularly largest cities, e.g. Tampere). In addition, the Finnish Ministry of Transport committed to a 10% innovation procurement spending target, which is higher than the national target.

The national target has been backed by a structured innovation procurement policy, which has foreseen practical support and monitoring activities, as well as the development of tools to facilitate the implementation of innovation procurement. The spending target has also been embedded in a number of government strategic projects with the aim to create an innovation procurement market and support the strategic use of innovation procurement in the whole economy. Unfortunately, these efforts are focused mainly on national level procurements that are covered by the target.

Finland does not have separate targets for innovation procurement, PPI, PCP and R&D procurement. Therefore, the total score of this indicator is 70%.



Finland does not have a structured system to measure or evaluate the impacts of completed innovation procurement. The country has conducted monitoring activities but only for a subset of innovation procurements and not widely across the whole country (e.g. only for certain sectors or certain levels of government, only for some regions, only for specific PPI programmes indicator etc.). Therefore, score of this 50%. total is The Competence Centre for Sustainable and Innovative Public Procurement (KEINO) has the responsibility to monitor innovation procurement, both in terms of its effectiveness and its efficiency.<sup>350</sup> In the coming years it is expected to develop a management-oriented monitoring and evaluation system as well as monitoring and evaluation tools. These

<sup>349</sup> <u>http://valtioneuvosto.fi/en/implementation-of-the-government-programme</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>348</sup> https://turkubusinessregion.com/en/services/growth-and-development/growth-from-municipal-customers/; http://projects.smart tampere.fi/procurement; https://yritystampere.fi/en/open/experiments-and-innovative-procurement

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>350</sup> http://www.hankintakeino.fi/palvelumme/hankintojen-vaikuttavuus. KEINO is expected to set up the monitoring and evaluation system in 2018.

include the creation of follow-up indicators, indicators for achieving national targets and to assess and evaluate the effectiveness and efficiency of the innovation procurement processes.

So far, monitoring activities have been carried out by the **VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland Ltd**<sup>351</sup>, a technology and research organisation which works, among others, for public clients. For the **Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment**, the VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland Ltd together with **Syke** initiated a project, under the PMO's TEAS funding programme, aiming at improving knowledge base and at developing tools for monitoring innovation procurement. In particular, they have been worked at the definition of PPI for purposes of monitoring, of estimating the potential of sectors and of defining the methodology to monitor and measure volume, trend and impact of innovation procurement.<sup>352</sup>



Today, the main actor financing innovation procurement is **Business Finland**<sup>353</sup> (previously called Innovaatiorahoituskeskus Tekes), a publicly funded organization for financing research, development and innovation at national level, which grants funding for 40-50% of the project's total costs<sup>354</sup>. Business Finland finances all kinds of innovation procurement (PCPs, PPIs, R&D procurement).

The **Tekes Smart Procurement Programme**<sup>355</sup>, run between 2013 and 2016, financed more than 70 innovation procurement projects on a number of horizontal themes such as digitalisation, energy efficiency, transport, security, health and environment, for a total of €11 million. The programme encouraged public buyers to use procurements to solve societal problems, renew public services and improve market access for new products and services. The new funding now provided via Business Finland is designed to mainstream innovation procurement further.

The incentives schemes are financed with national funds and do not rely on European structural and investments funds. Therefore, the total score for this sub-indicator **financial incentives** is 86%

Finally, **personal incentives** to public procurers are also used. Non-personal incentives take the form of KPIs agreed between the central government/ministries and procurers in the country, which set cost reduction and quality improvement levels/targets for public procurements that are implemented by authorities at the national level or depending from the national level (e.g. CO<sub>2</sub> reduction). These KPIs seriously drive forward innovation procurement in the country, however they are mostly used at the national and not systematically at the local and regional level. The total score of the sub-indicator personal incentives is 50%. Therefore, the total score for the indicator incentives is 68%.

~ ′

#### Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures

< a.

Total score	63%	þ	European Aberage 24%				
	Existence	Connection with relevant international /EU initiatives	Free of charge	Covering all types and aspects of innovation procurement	Available and applicable to all public procurers in the country	Mainstreaming Innovation procurement at a large scale	Sub- total score
Central website	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	83%
Good practices	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	67%
Trainings/workshops	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		67%
Handbooks/guidelines	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	100%
Assistance to public procurers	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		67%
Template tender documents							0%

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>351</sup> <u>http://www.vttresearch.com/</u>

m . 1

<sup>352</sup> http://tem.fi/en/practical-measures-for-promoting-innovative-public-procurement

<sup>353</sup> https://www.businessfinland.fi/en/for-finnish-customers/home/

<sup>354</sup> https://www.businessfinland.fi/en/for-finnish-customers/services/funding/public-services/innovative-public-procurements/

<sup>355</sup> https://www.oecd.org/governance/ethics/Vilen-Finland-Forum-Procurement-Innovation-2016.pdf

Coordination/pre- approval							0%
Networking of procurers	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	100%
One-stop-shop/ competence centre	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	83%

Finland has recently launched a wide range of initiatives to promote innovation procurement in the Country. Many of these activities are directly promoted in the Action Plan.

First of all, it has funded the national **Competence Centre for Sustainable and Innovative Public Procurement (KEINO)**<sup>356</sup>, which started its operation in April 2018. KEINO is a network-based consortium, whose founding members, responsible for the operation and co-development, are Motiva Ltd, the Association of Finnish Local and Regional Authorities, VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland Ltd, The Finnish Funding Agency for Innovation – Business Finland, the Finnish Environment Institute SYKE, Hansel Ltd, KL-Kuntahankinnat Ltd and the Finnish Innovation Fund Sitra. The **Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment** will grant funding for the centre's founding and operations for three years (€6 million).

With the objective of promoting innovation procurement and enhancing procurers' know-how on green and innovation procurement, the responsibilities of the centre of excellence are<sup>357</sup>:

- Increasing the number of innovation and sustainable procurements in Finland;
- **Increase market dialogue** and facilitate better processes for the preparation and planning of public procurements: how to incorporate performance and effectiveness targets in procurements and how to create at the same time an efficient procurement process;
- Making public procurement recognised and actively used as a strategic management tool, through the **support to procurement units in drafting strategic goals and roadmaps**;
- Create and disseminate new, scalable and light-weight operating models;
- **Develop peer support practices and education models** together with municipalities and expert organisations and supporting their dissemination among contracting entities;
- Create and develop **national networks** of procurers and innovation procurement key stakeholders, to help the contracting entities share their knowledge, learn from each other and profit by market opportunities;
- Drafting market-inspiring **guidelines and models** for effective innovation procurement;
- Promoting **educational and collaborative research** and incorporating a sustainability and innovation perspective into procurement **teaching**.

In support of **regional knowledge networks**, KEINO is currently developing a pool of "**change agents**" (*muutosagenttien*).<sup>358</sup> Change agents are local advisors for sustainable and innovation procurement. These act as KEINO local contact points and bring KEINO closer to local procurers. The role of these change agents is:

- Advising and sparring the contracting entities in their area in accordance with KEINO's activities;
- Share information with KEINO about the region's situation and local needs;
- Help the various procurement units and experts networking;
- Activate procurement units in network operations and subscriber groups.
- KEINO's goal is to appoint 18 change agents around Finland. They will be supported by the centre's resources.

KEINO is involved in a number of **international cooperation activities** aiming at allowing Finnish contracting entities and experts to make active use of European innovation public procurement funding and to become sought after partners, besides **boosting Finland's image** as an internationally renowned innovation- and experiment-friendly operating environment. In particular, it **disseminates best international practices** for the use of contracting entities, builds up **international networks** for the benefit of contracting entities, writes interesting stories that can be used as company reference in international communication, seeks out Finnish contracting entities and nominates them to international procurement or similar competitions, **assists procurement experts** in applying for an exchange abroad, **represents Finland in international networks** such as the EU Urban Agenda.

KEINO operates also the country's **central website** on innovation procurement356. In order to promote innovation procurement, and innovation in general, KEINO also organises "**Buyer Groups**", networking events where procurers and potential suppliers in some particularly fast-moving areas can meet and accelerate the market innovation activities. Through this measure, KEINO promotes the introduction of new procurement models and the development of know-how among procurers, facilitates cooperation and exchange of information between contracting entities and businesses, and accelerates the development and use of new enabling technologies in the country.

KEINO **networks** individual procurers at national level to create purchasing networks and cooperates with the national purchasing body Hansel to explore opportunities to achieve large scale multiplier effects with innovation procurements. In 2011 the Nordic Ministers of Industry launched together a <u>Nordic lighthouse initiative in the healthcare domain</u> to strengthen collaboration between Norway, Finland, Sweden, Denmark and Iceland on innovation procurement. Nordic innovation and the national competence centres on innovation procurement in those countries organise from time to time meetings with procurers from different Nordic countries to discuss potential coordinated procurement possibilities. Therefore, the score for sub-indicator networking is 100%.

358 http://www.hankintakeino.fi/palvelumme/muutosagentit

<sup>356</sup> http://www.procurementcompetence.fi/; https://tem.fi/documents/1410877/2937056/KEINO+-

<sup>+</sup>Towards+sustainable+and+innovative+public+procurement

<sup>357</sup> https://tem.fi/en/article/-/asset\_publisher/innovatiivisten-julkisten-hankintojen-toimenpideohjelma-on-valmistunut

In addition to the competence centre's actions, it shall be mentioned that also other three organisations are engaged in capacity building activities:

- **Business Finland**, besides financing innovation procurement (cf. Indicator "Incentives"), is engaged in awareness raising, networking, market consultations, training and sharing of best practices;
- HAUS the Finnish Institute of Public Management Ltd trains civil servants and improves their skills, and it also participates in different ways in developing state administration organisations. HAUS is a Finnish state-owned company which reports to the Ministry of Finance and it offers specific training sessions on innovation procurement to public procurers.<sup>359</sup>
- Sitra, the Finnish Innovation Funds, published as early as in 2006 together with the Ministry of finance and the Ministry of trade and industry a guide for public organisations and enterprises about innovation procurement<sup>360</sup> and is still active in financing procurers and in supporting the development of this policy.

Finally, it is worth noting the publication of the Ministry of Employment and Economy Enterprise and innovation Department (2015) "*Inspiring Innovation - Meeting the necessity for renewal*"<sup>361</sup> which deals specifically with innovation procurement policy advances in the country and presents best practices examples.

All capacity-building measures taken into consideration are put in place in the country, with the exception of the provision of template tender documents and pre-approval / coordination activities for the implementation of innovation procurements. However, several capacity building measures coordinated by KEINO, such as trainings and assistance, are still in the early phase of being rolled out. The list of good practice examples on the KEINO website is not covering all types of procurement (e.g. examples of R&D and PCP procurements are missing). References / interconnection of national capacity building activities to recent EU initiatives (e.g. Eafip, procure2innovative network of competence centres, study SMART 2016/0040 that is benchmarking national policy frameworks for innovation procurement across Europe, EU guidance on innovation procurement, EU funding opportunities for innovation procurements (e.g. H2020, ESIF, EIB) and recent EU funded projects (e.g. Horizon 2020 funded projects) is often still missing. On the basis of the evidence collected above, the total score for this indicator is 63%.



This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of Innovation procurement. It is composed by two sub-indicators measuring:

I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in Finland

II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regards to sub-indicator I, Finland shows the following evidence:

a. **IPR default regime**: The score for this sub-indicator is 75% because the Finnish public procurement law does not address the issue of IPR allocation or transfer but the general terms for the Finnish government's service and product type public procurement contracts ("JYSE2014 services<sup>362</sup>" and "JYSE2014 supplies<sup>363</sup>") define as default scenario that the public procurer obtains only usage rights while all other IPR rights are left with the contractor. This approach was adopted in line with the Finnish copyright act<sup>364</sup> that assigns copyright to the creator and determines that the moral rights can only be waived to a limited extent by the creator when the use of the work in question is limited in nature and extent. If the procurer wants to use the commissioned work, he must require in

275e98d95bod/Inspiring+Innovation.pdf

<sup>359</sup> https://www.haus.fi/HAUS-International/About

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>360</sup> News release: <u>https://www.sitra.fi/en/news/innovation-and-creativity-spur-public-sector-productivity/</u>; Report available at <u>https://media.sitra.fi/2017/02/27173648/Raportti64-2.pdf</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>361</sup> https://tem.fi/documents/1410877/2132258/Inspiring+Innovation/678be0a8-d2d2-4abb-8123-

 $<sup>^{362} \</sup>underline{\text{https://vm.fi/documents/10623/307565/JYSE+2014+services/920004d3-fbfd-4e82-b4ce-fccdf6e9dbc5}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>363</sup> <u>https://vm.fi/documents/10623/307565/JYSE+2014+supplies/0acd6bfd-1384-48f6-8e46-6c9c2ba172e3</u> <sup>364</sup> http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/text.jsp?file\_id=208099

the tender specifications the transfer, assignment or a license of the economic rights (e.g. usage, licensing, publication, modification, reproduction rights) at equitable payment. Copyright protects also scientific work (product designs, product specifications, tests etc.), computer programs and databases. The act foresees that whoever has legally acquired a computer program may make such copies of the program and make such alterations to the program as are necessary for the use of the program for the intended purpose. This shall also apply to the correction of errors.

- b. **Use of value for money award criteria**: According to the EU single market scoreboard, 46% of the procedures were awarded on the basis of criteria different from the lowest price. This is moderately above the European average of 42% but still not reaching the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard.
- c. **Use of variants**: Finland has allowed the use of variants in 3% of the procedures. This percentage is below the European average.
- d. **Preliminary Market Consultation:** Finland has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 34% of the procedures. This percentage is largely above the European average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 39% which is above the European average of 23%. This is due to a good, above-EU-average performance in all the components of sub-indicator I, with the exception of the use of variants, which is below the European average.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Finland shows the following evidence (based on the Single Market Scoreboard):

- e. **Level of competition**: The level of competition of the national public procurement market is 94% which is above the European average 84% and reaching the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This positive performance is both driven by the high amount of procurement procedure with more than one bidder (89%) and the high amount of procurements conducted with a call for bid (98%).
- f. **Level of transparency**: The level of transparency of the public procurement market is 53% which is above the European average 45% but still below the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. The publication rate in Finland is on the European average (4%) but below the satisfactory 5% level. Above average are both the sub-indicators procedures without missing call for bid information (96%) and without missing buyer registration number (60%), however the latter one is significantly below the satisfactory level of 97%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 73% which is above the European average of 65% but still below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly driven by the high level of competition but the still below satisfactory level of transparency.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 56%, which is significantly above the 44% European average. This score is explained firstly by the fact that, in all the sub-components of sub-indicator I, with the exception of the *use of variants*, are above the European average. Even though the openness of the Finnish public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is above the European average, the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country is below European average and both are still below the satisfactory level. Indeed, the country has adopted a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation but value for money criteria are still significantly underused in public procurements. In addition, although the national public procurement market shows an above average level of competition, the level of transparency is although above the European average still below satisfactory level.

## 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Finnish investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of all Finnish investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 12,5% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e. € 5,8 bn), **Finland ranks in the first place** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>365</sup> across Europe. **Finland leads the group of strong performers**, well above the European average of 9,3%.<sup>366</sup> Despite resulting as the best performer in the benchmarking analysis, **Finland still needs a relatively modest increase of investments in PPI** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Finnish public sector.<sup>367</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Finland drops to the 3<sup>rd</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>368</sup> explaining Finland's strong performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

## Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Finland (90%) is well above the European average (84%). This may be explained by the high adoption of 'innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (72% of PPI). The share of 'significantly improved' solutions' is also considerable (17% of PPI). The portion of transformative innovations is also significantly higher than the share of **incremental innovations** (10%), which includes the purchase of 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' as well as 'innovative combinations of existing solutions'.

 $<sup>^{365}</sup>$  Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found here on the EU webpages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>366</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

 $<sup>^{367}</sup>$  It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve).  $^{368}$  The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **An appropriate, strong level of investment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is therefore an important factor explaining Finland's strong performance. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



### Investments readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Nearly every domain of public sector activity**<sup>369</sup> **in Finland purchased innovation solutions**, except in '**Postal Services**' with zero PPI investments. The shares of PPI investments by different public sector domains out of total PPI investments in the country are **mostly in line with the European averages**. At the same time, PPI investments by Finnish procurers operating in the '**Public Transport**' domain are 6 times higher than the average at the European level (64% compared to 10% European average). However, PPI investments in '**Healthcare and social services**' (-15 pp) and '**General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs**' **domains** (-28 pp) are far below the European average. Also, PPI investments made by procurers in '**Public order**, **safety and security', 'Water', and 'Energy'** are below the European average (respectively -6 pp, -4 pp and -5 pp). The share of PPI investments contributed by procurers in the '**Water**' and '**Other**' domain was small.

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

Domain of public sector activity	Finland	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	7%	35%	-28
Public transport	64%	10%	+54
Healthcare and social services	6%	21%	-15
Energy	1%	6%	-5
Environment	7%	3%	+4
Construction, housing and community amenities	5%	4%	+1
Education, recreation, culture and religion	7%	5%	+2
Water	0% (0,4%)	4%	-4
Public order, safety and security	2%	8%	-6
Postal services	0%	1%	-1
Other	0% (0,4%)	3%	-3
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>369</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

## Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is high in Finland (37%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Finnish procurers may be less risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is lower in Finland (63%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Finnish procurers may tend to be less open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Finnish PPI investments for which calls for tenders are published is 24%, in line with the European average (22%). The portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (23%) is slightly above the European average, while the portion that is **published at national level** (1%) is below the European average (respectively 18% and 5%). The share of PPI investments for which no calls for tenders published in TED or at national level is however very large (76%).

By not publishing PPI call for tenders widely, **Finland is** still missing out on potential innovative solutions that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Finnish and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Finnish PPI business opportunities.

## Investment readiness levels of public sector activity

#### PPI investments by level of public sector activity



The largest share of PPI investments is carried out by **procurers at the regional level** (71%), which is three times higher than the European average (24%).

**Procurers at the national and local level** account for a share of investments (respectively 14% and 15% of PPI), which is well below the European average (respectively 47% and 29% of PPI).

## Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The Finnish public sector shows a **strong level of performance** in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment). With  $\in$  0,4 bn or 8,6% of public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Finland ranks 1**<sup>st</sup> in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, considerably above the European average (3,5%). In terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions (69%), Finland not only performs better than the European average (38%), but it even outperforms already the ambition level (60%). Consequently, Finland is very close to reach the ambition of investing 10% of public procurement in ICT-based innovations and only **needs a relatively modest increase in ICT-based PPI investment** in order to enable Finland to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>370</sup>



The **main factors**<sup>371</sup> explaining Finland's strong performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on **incremental ICT-based innovations**<sup>372</sup> is small (7%) and well below the European average (21%). That is because the share of ICT-based PPI investments spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** in Finland (93%) is considerably above the European average (79%). This due to the fact that the lion share of ICT-based PPI investments (70%) focuses on the adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (82%) and the second largest share focuses on 'significantly improved solutions' (11%).

#### ICT-based PPI investments by type of innovation



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>370</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI – or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>371</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>372</sup> See definitions above.

## Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



Finland invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the so-called **'ICT Plus' sub-sector**<sup>373</sup> (79%), which is above the European average (45%)

Finland invested to a lesser extent in the adoption of innovations from the **'Core ICT' sub-sector** (20%), significantly below the European average (54%).

The share of Finnish investments in adopting innovations from the **'Content & Media' sub-sector** was marginal (1%), in line with the European average (1%).

## Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

Nearly every domain of public sector activity in Finland purchased innovative ICT-based solutions, except the 'Water' and 'Postal Services' domain where ICT-based PPI investments were zero. Procurers in the 'Public Transport' domain (77%) were responsible for the lion share of procurements of innovative ICT-based solutions. In this category, Finland show the highest deviation from the European average (+66 pp). Also procurers in the 'Environment' domain, made above-European average investments in ICT-based innovations (+2 pp). At the same time, in a number of other domains the investments in the adoption of innovative ICTs were significantly below the European average: 'Healthcare and social services' (-24 pp), 'General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs' (-10 pp) and 'Public order, safety and security' (-18 pp).

### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>373</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>·</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

## Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 13% of ICT-based PPI investments, quite below the European average (69%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for the highest share of the ICT-based PPI investments at sub-national level (80%), almost four times the European average (21%). To the contrary, **local procurers** account for only a modest fraction of ICT-based PPI investments (7%), which is below the European average (10%).

## France



## 1. NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### Governance and legal framework

The French innovation procurement legal framework is composed by i) the Order no 2015-899 of 23 July 2015<sup>374</sup> on public procurement and ii) the following Order no 2016-360 of 25 Mars 2016<sup>375</sup>, which transposed the EU procurement Directives (2014/24/EU, 2014/23/EU, 2014/25/EU). The EU Directive on defence and security procurement (2009/81/EC) was transposed by the Decree no. 2011-1104 (14 September 2011)<sup>376</sup>.

The French public procurement system is characterised by the high number of contracting and oversight institutions involved due to the country's size and its semi-decentralised political structure. France stands out as having the highest number of procurement procedures per year within the EU. The majority of these contracts are public works carried out at the local and regional levels.

The main actors developing the innovation procurement policy at central level are the **Ministries of Economy and Enterprise**<sup>377</sup>, which led the development of the public procurement legal framework, and the **Directorate of Public Procurement**<sup>378</sup> (**DAE** – by the Minister of Finance and Public Accounts), which defines and implements public procurement policy under the authority of the **Prime Minister**. The DAE acts in accordance with the **Directorate General for Enterprise**<sup>379</sup> (**DGE**, under the authority of the Minister for the Economy and Finance Affairs) and the **Directorate of Legal Affairs of the Ministries of Economics and Finance**<sup>380</sup> (**DAJ**, the main state institute for the public procurement law in France).

Concerning the implementation of the procurement policy, at government central level the key actors are the **Secretaries General of the ministries**, which are responsible for the organization of the purchases and the good implementation of the procurement policy within their ministry. The **Union of Public Purchasing Groups** (UGAP - a state industrial and commercial public institution under the supervision of the Minister responsible for the Budget and the Minister of Education), acts as central purchasing body for central authorities and hospitals.

At regional level, the **prefects** are in charge of the implementation of public procurement policy and they manage the procurement of the State in the regions. The prefects act through **Regional procuring platforms** (**PFRA**, within the Regional Secretariats for Regional Affairs). In addition, there is a responsible contact point in charge of raising procurers' know-how in the field and supporting sourcing activities within the **Regional Directorates of Enterprises, Competition, Consumer Affairs, Labour and Employment** (**DIRECCTE**), which have an operational link to the DAE and the DGE.

A key input to the French innovation procurement ecosystem was given by the **National Pact for Growth**, **Competitiveness and Employment (2012)** which set a spending target for innovation procurement awarded to innovative SMEs and MSBs (Small and Medium Enterprises and Mid-Size Businesses) at 2% of the procurement budget of national State level contracting authorities to be achieved by 2020. The Prime Minister's Circular 5681/SG (2013)<sup>381</sup> introduces a description of the scope and ambition level for innovation procurements by national State level contracting authorities that are addressed by the national innovation procurement target and road mapping exercise.

## **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In the benchmarking of national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **France is at the 11<sup>th</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 32,9%**. From the 30 countries analysed, France is among the group of moderate performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. Having implemented 32,9% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is however still a significant reinforcement of the policy framework needed in France to reach its full 100% potential.

380 https://www.economie.gouv.fr/daj

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>374</sup> <u>https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichTexte.do?cidTexte=JORFTEXT000030920376</u>

<sup>375</sup> https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichTexte.do?cidTexte=JORFTEXT000032205952&categorieLien=cid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>376</sup> https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichTexte.do?cidTexte=JORFTEXT000024560092&categorieLien=cid

<sup>377</sup> https://www.entreprises.gouv.fr/politique-et-enjeux/achats-innovants

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>378</sup> The DAE has substituted the SAE – Service of State Procurement – since 2016. <u>https://www.economie.gouv.fr/dae/presentation</u> <sup>379</sup> <u>https://www.entreprises.gouv.fr/dge/introducing-the-dge?language=en-gb</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>381</sup> https://www.economie.gouv.fr/files/files/directions\_services/dae/doc/ciculairePM\_25092013\_soutien\_innovation\_par\_achat\_ public.pdf



Strengths: France is promoting innovation procurement and has set a well-defined spending target for innovation procurement, however only for procurers that are national authorities and only for purchasing from SMEs and MSBs. An IPR default regime that promotes innovation is anchored in the general terms and conditions for government contracts.

Weaknesses: Absence of a target that applies to all procurers in the country, absence of a specific action plan and measurement system for innovation procurement, lack of structured capacity building/national competence centre and financial or other incentives for procurers to undertake more innovation procurements.



**Overview per indicator** Indicator 1 – Official definition 50% Total score 48% European Average PPI PCP R&D procurement Innovation procurement 0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

In the French public procurement law - both the public authorities, utilities and defence/security procurers - there is a clear official definition of R&D procurement and a clear legal basis for implementing PCP procurements (although without explicit definition for PCP). French public procurement law has not transposed the definition of innovation from the EU public procurement directives, so Innovation and Innovation Procurement are not defined in French public

procurement law. A definition of innovation procurement has only been provided for the national State level contracting authorities affected by the national innovation procurement target and road mapping exercise by the **Prime Minister's Circular 5681/SG** of 25 September 2013. Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) and Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI) are defined in the **Practical Guide to Innovative Public Procurement** issued by DAJ<sup>382</sup>. As the Circular and the Guide are not part of the French public procurement law they don't count as official legal definition. The total score for the indicator "official legal definition" is therefore 48%.

French public procurement law has not transposed the **definition of innovation** from the EU public procurement directives. The only reference to innovation in French public procurement law is found in the innovation partnership procedure. This situation has created confusion among French public procurers, many of which are assimilating innovation procurement only with the innovation partnership procedure.

A brief description of scope and ambition level for **innovation procurement** was introduced only for the State's national contracting authorities that are addressed by the national level innovation procurement target and road mapping exercise by the Prime Minister's Circular 5681/SG of 25 September 2013, titled "Support to innovation through public procurement". According to the Circular, "Innovation procurement covers the purchase of products that do not exist, but could probably be developed in a reasonable time. As part of the preparation of the roadmaps<sup>383</sup>, the ministries and public institutions will target purchases of products not yet marketed and for which the buyer has helped finalize the definition in order to provide a response to an unmet need or a new and improved response to an existing need. R&D procurements aimed at promoting the emergence of a solution that did not exist on the market are also taken into account. Purchases of products already marketed by a company do not fall within the scope of the innovative procurement. However, they may be included if the product has been marketed for less than two years and if the product provides a response to an unmet need or a new and improved response to an existing need." This definition is partly in line with the EU definition of innovation procurement. The definition of innovation used in the Circular is more restrictive than the definition of innovation in the EU public procurement directives as it is limited only to procurements of products (not services, works), only to product innovation (not for organisational, service, process or marketing innovation), only to procurements that require both development and deployment of new products (suggesting only innovation partnership type procurements are eligible). Therefore, the total score of the indicator innovation procurement is 0%, because there is no definition of innovation or innovation procurement in a legal document. Other guidance documents provide definitions that are not applicable to all procurers in the country (only national level public procurers participating in the road mapping exercise) and not completely in line with the EU definition.

The **Practical Guide to Innovative Public Procurement** (Annex I) acknowledges that there is no unique legally binding definition for innovation or innovation procurement in French public procurement law. The guide mentions different definitions: the definition introduced by the 2014 EU public procurement directives and the definition used in the context of the national target and road mapping exercise.

The guide provides also a definition and practical explanation of PPI and PCP. The definition is the following: "Innovation procurement is composed by two big families: 1) commercial procurements that purchase already existing products (public procurement of innovation or PPI); 2) pre-commercial procurement of R&D or precommercial procurement (PCP), which consist of financing the development of a concept or prototype with or without the sale of the resulting innovative product. [...] innovative purchases are purchases of products not yet marketed and for which the buyer has helped to finalize the definition to provide an answer to an uncovered need or a new and improved response to an existing need. R&D purchases aimed at promoting the emergence of solutions that did not exist on the market are also taken into account. Purchases of products already marketed by a company do not fall within the scope of the innovative procurement. However, they may be included if the product has been marketed for less than two years and if the product provides a response to an unmet need or a new and improved response to an existing need". These definitions are, again, only partly in line with the EU definition: PCPs can include the sale of supplies (including the innovative solution resulting from the R&D) as long as the amount of supplies cover less than 50% of the PCP contract. PPI also includes solutions that are already marketed by companies (even if longer than 2 years) as long as these solutions are still not widely adopted yet (as long as the buyer would still qualify as an early adopter, meaning typically among the 20% first buyers on the market to adopt the solution). The PCP and PPI definitions elaborated in the Practical Guide are only partially in line with the EU definitions and are not applicable countrywide (only national level public procurers participating in the road mapping exercise) therefore the total score of both PCP and PPI sub-indicators is 45%.

French public procurement law, Ordonnance no 2015-899 of 23 July 2015 article 14(3) defines **Research and Development** as "all activities related to basic research, applied research and experimental development, including the production of technological demonstrators and with the exception of the production and qualification of preproduction prototypes, tooling and industrial engineering, industrial design and manufacturing. Technology demonstrators are devices designed to demonstrate the performance of a new concept or technology in a relevant or representative environment". This definition of R&D is in line with the provisions in the EU public procurement directives. Therefore, the total score of this sub-indicator is 100%.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>382</sup> https://www.economie.gouv.fr/files/files/directions\_services/daj/marches\_publics/conseil\_acheteurs/guides/guide-pratiqueachat-public-innovant.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>383</sup> The Circular (2013) required the Ministries and the state operators to draft strategic roadmaps for innovation procurement.



In France, innovation procurement has been recognised within different horizontal policies, namely public procurement policy (both at central and local level), innovation policy, economic policy and regional policy.

The Ministries of Economy and Enterprise leads the development of the public procurement legal framework, giving a first input to innovation procurement. Thus, innovation procurement's role is recognised within the Public Procurement policy (both at central and local level), with the central role of the Directorate for Public Procurement (DAE). The **strategic orientations 2016-2019 for public procurement policy**<sup>384</sup> contain as third objective: "Even if public procurements by the State and public entities and organisations must be conducted on the basis of the most economically advantageous conditions, they also must (3) contribute to the diffusion of innovation." The score of this sub-indicator is 100% as innovation procurement is set as a priority at national level for the whole country.

Under Regional policy, a **network of Innovation procurement officers has been created in several regions** in order to raise awareness of public stakeholders and SMEs on innovation procurement issues. Some regions, specifically, organise events so that administrations and start-ups can meet and find market opportunities for innovative solutions<sup>385</sup>. The score of this sub-indicator is 50% as innovation procurement is not addressed in regional policy at central level but from the single regions, having therefore a more limited reach.

Under Economic policy, a key input to the French innovation procurement ecosystem was given by the "**National Pact for Growth, Competitiveness and Employment**" (2012)<sup>386</sup> which is interconnected with and also supports Government's other thematic strategies, such as the "National Energy Research Strategy for the Energy Transition", the "National Healthcare Strategy" or the "National Sustainable Development Strategy". Furthermore, it will take into account forward-looking discussions such as those initiated by the "Commission Innovation 2030"<sup>387</sup>. This sub-indicator scores 50%, as the section of the National Pact referring to innovation procurement does not target contracting authorities in the whole country but only those at central level (cf. Indicator "Spending Target").

On the basis of the evidence collected above, the total score for this indicator is 36%.

## Indicator 3 – ICT policy

· · · ·			
Total score	50%	European Average	47%

The **2015 French national digital strategy "Digital Republic in Action"**<sup>388</sup> has an action "*Action publique 2020: pour une transformation du service public*", but this action does not mention innovation procurement, or the role of government to boost digital innovation/deployment of innovative solutions through public procurement. Only one part of the French ICT policy, on cybersecurity, recognises the role of innovation procurement.

The "**French national digital security strategy**"<sup>389</sup>, indeed, states that "*By supporting investment, innovation and exports, also via public procurement, the State will develop a favourable environment for French companies in the digital sector offering secure products and services*". Because of this partial recognition of innovation procurement in French ICT policy the score on this indicator is 50%.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>384</sup> <u>https://www.economie.gouv.fr/dae/orientations-strategiques-2016-2019</u>

<sup>385</sup> https://www.meetup.com/fr-FR/MEETUP-DES-ACHATS-PUBLICS/? cookie-check=9xMM 7-hwOK

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>386</sup> https://www.economie.gouv.fr/files/PR-competitiveness.pdf

<sup>387</sup> https://www.france-science.org/IMG/pdf/france-europe-2020 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>a strategic agenda for research technology transfer and innovation.pdf; https://www.entreprises.gouv.fr/innovation-2030</u> <u>388 http://www.gouvernement.fr/la-republique-numerique-en-actes</u>

<sup>389</sup> https://www.enisa.europa.eu/topics/national-cyber-security-strategies/ncss-map/France Cyber Security Strategy.pdf



In France innovation procurement's role is recognised and promoted in several sectors and it is used to enhance innovation or achieve specific innovation goals.

The National Pact for Growth, Competitiveness and Employment (2012) and the following Prime Minister Circular 5681/SG (2013) required each national central authority that is subject to the 2% innovation procurement target to produce a sectorial roadmap for innovation procurement. Published on the website of the Service of State Procurement (SAE, now DAE - Directorate of Public Procurement)<sup>390</sup>, these roadmaps are intended to help companies, and especially SMEs and MSBs, to anticipate public purchases and adapt their work programme accordingly. **33 roadmaps** were published by the Ministries and by the "*établissements publics*" (including by the UGAP), each of them planning some innovation procurement initiatives<sup>391</sup>. In each Ministry, a responsible person for innovation procurement is appointed. He or she is in charge of the promotion of innovation procurement with concrete actions, such as organising events to meet start-ups with procurers or doing sourcing activities to bring innovative solutions to specific markets. In addition, the companies in which the French State holds shares signed a charter to promote innovative and exemplary purchasing from SMEs and MSBs.

In conclusion, the roadmaps of innovation procurement have been designed in the sectors of **education**, **defence**, **environment**, **energy**, **construction**, **general public services**, **transports and healthcare** and they try to promote innovation procurement and to orient the market towards innovation also through innovation procurement. The score does not reach 100% because they are applicable only to the procurers which are affected by the spending target of the National Pact for Growth, Competitiveness and Employment. In addition, beside the publication of these roadmaps, there is no structured innovation procurement policy aiming at mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale.

Indicator 5 – Action plan				
Total score	0%	European Average	8%	

France does not have an Action Plan for innovation procurement. The sectorial roadmaps that were created following the Prime Minister Circular set several initiatives to foster innovation procurement, but do not constitute a structured Action Plan to mainstream innovation procurement across all procurers in the country. The score in this field is 0%.

Indicator 6 – Spending	target				
Total score	50%	European Average	11%		
In 2012 the National Pact for Growth, Competitiveness and Employment <sup>392</sup> set a spending target for					

In 2012 the National Pact for Growth, Competitiveness and Employment<sup>392</sup> set a spending target for innovation procurement, to be achieved by 2020. The spending target is for innovation procurements awarded to innovative SMEs and MSBs (Small and Medium Enterprises and Mid-Size Businesses)<sup>393</sup>, including those developing socially innovative processes, products and services, to achieve 2% of the annual volume purchase of the central public authorities (the State and its operators – "les établissement publics") and hospitals.

Given the fragmentation of the procurement system of the country, this target has been set only for the central public authorities (the State and its operators) and hospitals, which together account for €50 billion per year: local/regional

https://www.economie.gouv.fr/files/files/directions\_services/dae/doc/plaquette\_innovation\_MINDEF2.pdf 392 https://www.economie.gouv.fr/files/PR-competitiveness.pdf

<sup>390</sup> https://www.economie.gouv.fr/dae/feuilles-route-des-ministeres-et-des-etablissements-publics

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>391</sup> The defence roadmap that contributes to the 2% target concerns only non-weapon purchases.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>393</sup> SMEs: The category of micro, small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) is made up of enterprises which employ fewer than 250 persons and which have an annual turnover not exceeding 50 million euro, and/or an annual balance sheet total not exceeding 43 million euro; MSBs: they have between 250 and 4.999 employees and an annual turnover < 1.5 billion EUR. "Innovative" SMEs are defined in article L. 214-30 of the Monetary and Financial Code (available at <u>http://www.acheteurs-publics.com/marches-publics-encyclopedie/pme-innovantes</u>).

authorities are excluded. Also defence procurement concerning weapon-related purchases by the Defence Ministry is excluded. This target approximately represents up to €1.4 billion in additional public funding of innovation. In addition, the public procurers in question do not have a specific mandate or commitment to achieve the 2% objective although some of them (e.g. UGAP - Union of Public Purchasing Groups) have already achieved more.

Summing up, the spending target is not backed by operational commitments from key procurers, is not applicable to all public procurers in the country and there are no separate targets for R&D, PCP and PPI. Therefore, the total score of the indicator is 50%.



In France there are no structured measurement and evaluating systems for innovation procurement across the whole country, but the Directorate for Public Procurement (DAE) and the Directorate General for Enterprise (DGE) are actively working to develop an effective system to measure the amount of innovation procurement at central level.

In particular, in order to evaluate the innovation procurement policy of the State services and monitor the achievement of the objectives of the National Pact for Growth, Competitiveness and Employment (see Indicator "Spending Target"), **two indicators** have been created:

- The DAE has put in place an indicator based on the ministries' census of their procurement through the software "Impact". The aim is to measure earnings in the context of renewal of purchases through an annual declaratory evaluation. To date, the census has been partial, due to its declarative nature. Some procurers have difficulty in assessing whether the supply or service acquired is a real innovation and, in case of doubt, they refrain from declaring it as an innovative purchase. A deepening work is therefore undertaken with the ministries to improve the quality of the reported data.
- The DGE has put in place another indicator, based on contracts awarded to French innovative SMEs and MSBs. The innovative nature of an enterprise and not of the procurement itself is defined by the fact that it benefits from the research tax credit (CIR), from the innovation tax credit (CII) or from the innovative start-up plan (JEI). The first results obtained with this methodology are encouraging (2% of innovation procurement made with innovative SMEs in 2016), but they need to be consolidated, widening gradually the scope of the evaluation, which currently covers about 85% of non-defence procurements of the ministries, and by developing a more sectoral approach.

Based on this evidence, the total score of the sub-indicator "measurement system" is 50%, as these methods are not conceived to monitor the totality of procurement in the country, but only central government level procurement and thus not for all types of innovation procurement and all types of procurers across the whole country yet.

Because of the absence of a system to evaluate the impact of completed innovation procurements, the overall score for the indicator "Monitoring system" is 50%.

Indicator 8 – Incentives					
Total score	0%	European Average	22%		

In France there are no financial or personal incentives to encourage public procurers across the whole country at all levels to undertake more innovation procurements. The French approach is based on the fact that it is mandatory for central government entities to implement innovation procurement roadmaps and on the national target to direct 2% of public procurement spending to innovation procurement.

Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures							
Total score	31%			European A	European Average 24%		
	Existence	Connection with relevant international/ EU initiatives	Free of charge	Covering all types and aspects of innovation procurement	Available and applicable to all public procurers in the country	Mainstreaming Innovation procurement at a large scale	Sub- total score
Central website							0%
Good practices							0%
Trainings/workshops	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		83%
Handbooks/guidelines	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	100%

Assistance to public procurers	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			50%
Template tender documents						0%
Coordination / pre- approval						0%
Networking of public procurers	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		50%
One-stop-shop/ competence centre						0%

France carries out some capacity building and assistance activities to promote innovation procurement, including seminars, trainings, networking activities and provisioning of dedicated guidelines.

Political commitment for capacity building comes from the **Prime Minister** level. Political responsibility for several capacity building activities reside within the **Ministry of Economy and Finance** including three of its departments: the **Directorate of Public Procurement**<sup>394</sup> (**DAE**), the **Directorate General for Enterprise**<sup>395</sup> (**DGE**) and the **Directorate of Legal Affairs of the Ministries of Economics and Finance**<sup>396</sup> (**DAJ**).

The DAE, in particular, develops and supports a number of tools to promote innovation procurement, such as:

- The **Innovation Procurement Platform for the State and public institutions**<sup>397</sup>, managed by the DAE together with the association "**Pacte PME**", a forum to match public procurers needing innovative solutions and the potential supply of innovative companies;
- **Annual seminars** ("Understanding innovation to procure it better" "comprendre l'innovation pour mieux *l'acheter*") to inform and train public procurers on all aspects of innovation procurement.<sup>398</sup> All aspects of innovation procurement are covered in these events.

In addition to this, the **Practical Guide to Innovative Public Procurement**<sup>399</sup>, drafted by the Ministry of Economics and Finance and the Ministry of Economic Regeneration and published by the Directorate of Legal Affairs in 2014, offers some detailed guidelines for public procurers and other stakeholders.

The **Union of Public Purchasing Groups**<sup>400</sup> (**UGAP** - a state industrial and commercial public institution under the supervision of the Minister responsible for the Budget and the Minister of Education) acts as the central purchasing body for central authorities and hospitals, and in doing so, **offers its legal, technical and economic expertise to public authorities** in order to enhance innovation procurement. The work carried out by UGAP's innovation division since its beginning of 2014 (detection, qualification, purchase and deployment) has enabled UGAP to reach an innovation procurement amount of € 100 million in 2017, i.e. 3% of its procurement budget, therefore beyond the target set by the National Pact for Growth and Competitiveness for 2020.<sup>401</sup> UGAP's services target only part of the contracting authorities of the country.

A network of Innovation procurement officers has been created in each Region in order to raise awareness of public stakeholders and SMEs on innovation procurement issues. Also a social network ("Respae") has been created for all purchasers of the State: pooling good practices and feedback, and sharing sourcing companies.<sup>402</sup>

**Networking** and **assistance** activities between procurers are not implemented to reach large scale implementation across the whole country. Three is no structured assistance for PCPs or networking of French procurers at the international level with procurers from other countries. The score on sub-indicators networking and assistance is 50%.

An example of collaboration between innovation procurement actors of central and local level is the platform **SOLAINN** (Online Solution for Innovation Procurement – *Solution Online vers les Achats Innovants*), a web sourcing platform which facilitates the visibility and readability of innovative technological offerings (products or services) developed by start-ups, SMEs and mid-marketers of digital solutions. It targets public contractors, innovation departments, investors and any player seeking innovative skills or solutions.<sup>403</sup>

On the basis of the evidence collected above, the total score for this indicator is 31%. There is still a lack of essential capacity building measures to mainstream innovation procurement widely across the country. For example, there is no central website, one-stop-shop/competence centre, list of good practice cases. Template tender documents and assistance to procurers is also not provided for all types of innovation procurement and the connection to EU level initiatives on innovation procurement is often also missing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>394</sup> The DAE has substituted the SAE – Service of State Procurement – since 2016. <u>https://www.economie.gouv.fr/dae/presentation</u> <sup>395</sup> <u>https://www.entreprises.gouv.fr/dge/introducing-the-dge?language=en-gb</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>396</sup> https://www.economie.gouv.fr/daj

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>397</sup> <u>http://www.achatspublics-innovation.fr/</u>. Flyer available at:

https://www.economie.gouv.fr/files/files/directions\_services/dae/doc/flyer\_achats\_innovants\_2017\_web.pdf

<sup>398</sup> https://www.economie.gouv.fr/dae/regards-dexperts-interviews-realisees-en-novembre-2016;

http://www11.minefi.gouv.fr/catalogue-igpde/2018/co/7815.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>399</sup> https://www.economie.gouv.fr/files/files/directions\_services/daj/marches\_publics/conseil\_acheteurs/guides/guide-pratiqueachat-public-innovant.pdf

<sup>400</sup> https://www.ugap.fr/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>401</sup> https://www.ugap.fr/achat-public-responsable/soutien-aux-politiques-publiques/contribuer-a-linnovation 4458045.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>402</sup> https://rio.jrc.ec.europa.eu/en/policy-support-facility/mle-innovation-related-public-procurement, Tematic report C

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>403</sup> SOLAINN is managed by the Pôle Systematic Paris-Region and co-financed by the Ile-de-France region, the Direccte, the FEDER and Systematic - <u>https://www.solainn.com/apropos</u>





This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of Innovation procurement. The indicator is measures via two sub-indicators that show evidence of:

- I. the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in France
- II. the openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regard to sub-indicator I, France shows the following evidence:

- IPR default regime: The score for this sub-indicator is 75%, well above the 38% European average, because a. the French law on public procurement does not define how allocation of IPRs is dealt with in procurement contracts but the French national general terms and conditions for government contracts (CCAG)<sup>404</sup> define as default scenario (Option A) that the procurer obtains only usage rights and all other IPR rights are left with suppliers. Option B provides that, if specifically mentioned in the procurement contract, all IP rights are exclusively assigned to the procurer. Option B is used only in the CCAG guidelines for procurements of "standard" products/services that are not software related ("standard" meaning when no IPR will be created during the procurement). Option A is used in the CCAG guidelines for all other procurements, i.e. procurements that involve some form of intellectual services and/or software. Furthermore, according to the Practical Guide to Innovative Public Procurement, in the case of PCP, the only possible option is A, allowing a further exploitation of the IPRs by the provider.<sup>405</sup> The policy to go for Option A as default scenario was adopted specifically<sup>406</sup> to ensure that IPR allocation in public procurements does not violate French copyright law (the Intellectual property Code)<sup>407</sup>. The latter determines that copyrights belong in an inalienable way to the creator. The existence or conclusion of a contract for hire or of service by the creator of a work of the mind (e.g. a public procurement contract) shall in no way derogate from the enjoyment of this right enjoyed by the creator. Only the economic rights can be assigned or licensed by the creator to another person/entity, on condition that the assignment is limited in scope, duration, place and destination. If the procurer wants to use the copyright owned by the creator, he must require in the tender specifications the assignment or a license of the economic rights (e.g. usage, licensing, publication, modification, reproduction rights) at equitable payment. Copyright law protects also scientific work, software and database rights.
- b. **Use of value for money award criteria**: According to the Single Market Scoreboard, 84% of public procurement procedures were not awarded on the basis of lowest price only. This is well above the European average of 42% and reaching the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard. Indeed, France is the leading Member States in the widespread use of value for money award criteria.
- c. **Use of variants**: France has allowed the use of variants in the 19% of the procedures. This percentage is largely above the European average of 4%.
- d. **Preliminary Market Consultation:** France has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 3% of the procedures. This percentage is significantly below the European average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 45% which is well above the European average of 23%. This is due to both active promotion of a default IPR regime that promotes innovation and wide scale use of value for money award criteria.

<sup>404</sup> https://www.collectivites-locale.gouv.fr/cahiers-des-clauses-administratives-generales-ccag-0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>405</sup> https://www.economie.gouv.fr/files/files/directions\_services/daj/marches\_publics/conseil\_acheteurs/guides/guide-pratiqueachat-public-innovant.pdf and

https://www.economie.gouv.fr/files/files/directions\_services/apie/propriete\_intellectuelle/publications/Marches\_publics\_droits\_PI\_ CCAG-TIC.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>406</sup> http://marches-publics.legibase.fr/actualites/focus/propriete-intellectuelle-ce-quil-faut-savoir-78624

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>407</sup> http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/text.jsp?file\_id=435178

With regard to sub-indicator II, France shows the following evidence:

- e. **Level of competition**: The level of competition of the national public procurement market is 91% which is above the European average 84% but just below the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is due to the fact that proportion of tenders awarded without call for bids is low (3%) but the proportion of procurements where there was more than one bidder (85%) is, although above European average, still below the 90% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.
- f. **Level of Transparency**: The level of transparency of the national public procurement market is 37% which is below the European average 45% and the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is because all sub-indicators are below European average: publication rate in TED (3%), percentage of procurements without missing call for bids information (83%) and without missing buyer registration number (25%).

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 64% which is below the European average of 65% and below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is due to the fact that while the level of competition is just above European average the level of transparency is more below average.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 54% which is above the 44% European average. This score is explained by high percentage in IPR regime, in the use of value for money award criteria and in the use of variants, which are largely above the European average. The use specific techniques to foster innovation in the country is above European average but the openness of the French procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is below the European average. Indeed, the country has a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation and value for money criteria are widely used in public procurements. However, although the national public procurement market shows a slightly above average level of competition, the level of transparency is below the European average.

## 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

## **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all French investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of French investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 11,0% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e.  $\notin$  43,6 bn), **France ranks 6<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>408</sup> across Europe. France falls within the group of **good performers**, above the European average of 9,3%.<sup>409</sup> **A significant increase of investments in PPI is nonetheless needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the French public sector.<sup>410</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector France still remains in the 6<sup>th</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>411</sup> explaining France's good performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

## Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in France (83%) is in line with the European average (84%): France adopted mainly innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (61% of PPI) and, to a lesser extent, 'significantly improved' solutions (22% of PPI). The share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of **incremental innovations** (17%) - which includes the purchase of 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' as well as 'innovative combinations of existing solutions' – is in line with the European average (16%). Despite its overall good level of performance, France still needs to step up its efforts both on the adoption of transformative and incremental innovations in order to become a strong performer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>408</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found <u>here on the EU webpages</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>409</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>410</sup> It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve). <sup>411</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is therefore an important factor explaining why France is not yet at the level of PPI investment that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



## Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Every domain of public sector activity**<sup>412</sup> **in France purchased innovation solutions**. The shares of PPI investments by different public sector domains out of total PPI investments in the country are **mostly in line with the European averages** (in 6 out of 11 domains). However, PPI investments by French procurers operating in the **'Healthcare and social services'**, **'Public transport'** and **'Public order, safety and security'** domains are significantly below the European averages (respectively -18pp, -8pp and -4 pp). At the same time, PPI investments by French procurers in the **'General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs'** and **'Energy'** domains is significantly higher than European average (respectively +27 pp and +9 pp).

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

Domain of public sector activity	France	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	62%	35%	+27
Public transport	2%	10%	-8
Healthcare and social services	3%	21%	-18
Energy	15%	6%	+9
Environment	2%	3%	-1
Construction, housing and community amenities	4%	4%	0
Education, recreation, culture and religion	3%	5%	-2
Water	1%	4%	-3
Public order, safety and security	4%	8%	-4
Postal services	0,1%	1%	-1
Other	5%	3%	+2
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>412</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

## Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal





The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is significantly lower in France (16%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that French procurers may be more risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is higher in France (84%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that French procurers may tend to be more open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of French PPI investments for which call for tenders are published (24%) is low but in line with the European average (22%). The portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (10%) is below the European average (18%) while the portion that is **published at national level** (14%) is above the European average (5%). The share of PPI investments for which no call for tenders are published in TED or at national level is nevertheless overall very large (76%).

By not publishing PPI call for tenders widely, **France is missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, especially from other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the French PPI business opportunities.

### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

PPI investments by level of public sector activity



Less than one third of the total PPI investments in France are carried out by **large-scale entities at national level** (27%), such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is considerably below the European average (47%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for a share of PPI investments (18%) which is below the European average (24%). **Procurers at local level** account for the highest fraction of PPI investments (55%), well above the European average (29%).

# Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The French public sector shows a **low level of performance** in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment). With  $\bigcirc$  0,4 bn or 2,7% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **France ranks 15<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, well below the European average (3,5%). Also in terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is spent on ICT based solutions (25%), France performs below the European average (38%). **A considerable increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions is still needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable France to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>413</sup>



The main factors<sup>414</sup> explaining France's low performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** in France (65%) is below the European average (79%). This may derive from the fact that despite the significant adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (49% of ICT-based PPI), the adoption of 'significantly improved solutions' is still low (17% of ICT-based PPI). The share of purchases of ICT-based solutions that is spent on the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations**<sup>415</sup> (35%) is above the European average (21%). However, given the lower performance on the total amount of investments in ICT-based innovative solutions, France still needs to step up considerably its efforts on the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.

## ICT-based PPI by type of innovation



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>413</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI – or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>414</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>415</sup> See definitions above.

## Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

#### ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



## Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**All domains of public sector activity in France purchased ICT-based innovative solutions**. In particular, the highest share of ICT-based PPI investments is made by procurers that operate in the domain of '**Energy**' (33% against a 6% European average). At the same time, the adoption of innovation ICT-based solutions by French procurers in the '**Healthcare and social services**' and '**Public order, safety and security**' domains were significantly below the European average (respectively -21 pp and -9 pp).



#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>416</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>•</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

## Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 75% of ICT-based PPI investments, quite above the European average (69%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for the highest share of the ICT-based PPI investments at sub-national level (16%), which is below the European average (21%). **Local procurers** account for a modest fraction of ICT-based PPI investments (9%), which is in line with the European average (10%).

## Germany

## . NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### **Governance and legal framework**

Public procurement in Germany is regulated by a complex **regulatory framework** that comprises delegated acts, such as ordinances and rules by non-governmental bodies, and allows for a substantial level of autonomy to the German federal states. The main pieces of legislations in the field of public procurement are the German Act against Restraints of Competition (*Gesetz gegen Wettbewerbsbeschränkungen – GWB*), which provides general principles of public procurement law and regulates public procurement in the Country and the Procurement Regulation for Public Works (*Vergabe- und Vertragsordnung fur Bauleistungen – VOB/A-EU*) which regulates public contract awards in the area of public supplies and services. Other relevant regulations are the German Regulation on the award of public contracts by entities operating in the transport, water and energy supply as well as the transport sectors (*Sektorenverordnung SektVO*), the German Public Ordinance for Contracts in the fields of Defence and Security (*Vergabeverordnung Verteidigung und Sicherheit - VSVgV*), which transposed the Directive 2009/81/EC, and the German Regulation on the award of concession contracts (*Konzessionen Konzessionsvergabeverordnung - KonzVgV*).<sup>447</sup> These laws transposed the EU Directives on Public Procurement (i.e. 2014/23/EU, 2014/24/EU and 2014/25/EU) in 2016.

The **procurement system is highly decentralised** due to Germany's administrative structure. Public procurement activities are distributed among three different governmental levels (federal, regional and local level). Public procurement is mainly awarded at local level. Approximately 58% of all procurement activity is done at the municipal/local level, 30% at regional/federal states level (Länder), and only 12% is performed at federal level.<sup>418</sup>

The main institution responsible for public procurement policy is the **Federal Ministry of Economy and Energy** (**BMWi**), which decides on the principles of public procurement and drafts primary legislation. In the area of public works procurement, the **Federal Ministry for the Environment**, **Nature Conservation**, **Building and Nuclear Safety (BMUB)** is the institution in charge, whereas the **Federal States Committee** on public procurement ensures regular exchanges among Federal States on the latest aspects of procurement policy and practices, including procurement in the context of EU Funds.

Other key actors in German procurement system are the **Public Procurement Committees**, a forum for stakeholders from federal state and local administrations, public-private organisations, and the private sector. They contribute to the drafting of procurement rules taking into account private and public sector needs. The **German Committee for Supplies and Services Tendering and Contract Regulations (DVAL)** works on procurement rules for supplies and services, while the **German Committee for Construction Tendering and Contract Regulations (DVA)** contributes to procurement rules for public works.

Germany has four central purchasing bodies at the federal level, which are thematically specialised. The **Central Purchasing Body of the Ministry of the Interior** procures for all federal agencies, manages the main eprocurement platform and carries out other supportive functions. The **Federal Institute for Materials Research and Testing** concludes framework agreements for specific technical product groups. The **Federal Office for Equipment, IT Technology, and Use of the German Armed Forces** is responsible for procurement for the German military. Finally, the **Federal Financial Directorate Southwest (BFD Südwest)** procures for the tax administration. There are central purchasing bodies at regional level as well.

Concerning the implementation of innovation procurement policy, the key actor at national level is the **Competence Centre for Innovative Procurement (KOINNO)**, which aims at being an information pool of knowledge and experience in public procurement. KOINNO is in charge of a number of activities, including awareness raising, individual consultancy and international networking, and it offers specific consultancy services to public institutions at all levels on innovative management and on innovative products. KOINNO is managed by the non-profit **Association for Supply Chain Management, Procurement and Logistics (BME)** on behalf of the **Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy (BMWi)**, and it has an annual budget of around €1.5 million.

Finally, another active actor on innovation procurement implementation is **ZENIT GmbH**, a Public Private Partnership owned by the State of North Rhine-Westphalia, a consortium of banks and an association comprising some 180 enterprises. ZENIT is particularly active in promoting and supporting innovation procurement regionally, as it implements part of the KOINNO competence centre mandate. In addition, since January 2017 ZENIT GmbH manages the EU Contact Point for innovation procurement throughout Germany, offering consulting services for proposers in Pre-Commercial Procurement and Public Procurement of Innovative Solutions as well as networking calls under HORIZON 2020 and other EU funding programmes.<sup>419</sup>

Unlike the State of North Rhine-Westphalia, in other German regions there is little or no structured policy support framework for innovation procurement.

<sup>418</sup> Estimation of the "Bundeswehrhochschule München" in 2016.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>417</sup> These rules only apply to procurement contracts with values above a specific threshold. For further information, see <a href="https://gettingthedealthrough.com/area/33/jurisdiction/11/public-procurement-2017-germany/">https://gettingthedealthrough.com/area/33/jurisdiction/11/public-procurement-2017-germany/</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>419</sup> <u>https://stars-pcp.eu/zenit-gmbh</u>

## **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In the benchmarking of national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Germany is at the 11<sup>th</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 33,5%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Germany is among the group of moderate performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. Having implemented 33,5% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is however still a significant reinforcement of the policy framework needed in Germany to reach its full 100% potential.



Strengths: Germany has recognised the strategic importance of innovation procurement in the national policy frameworks for public procurement, innovation and R&D, but in most regions and local authorities this is not the case yet. Germany has a good set of capacity building and assistance measures, however still at limited scale.

<u>Weaknesses:</u> Absence of a dedicated action plan, target and monitoring system, limited financial incentives for procurers to engage in more innovation procurements, lack of strategic support for innovation procurement in horizontal and sectorial policies, wider/less focused definition of innovation procurement. Lack of IPR policy in public procurement that encourages innovation.

#### **Overall ranking**





German public procurement law does not provide an official definition of innovation nor of innovation procurement. The definition of innovation procurement in national guidance documents is not in line with the EU definition. German public procurement law provides a definition of R&D in line with the EU definition but only applicable to procurers in the defence sector. For non-defence procurers, German public procurement law identifies R&D via the CPV codes and provides a clear legal basis for implementing PCP and PPI (although without explicit definitions for PCP and PPI). Despite of the lack of clear definitions there is a legal basis for the development of innovation procurement, Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) and Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI). Therefore, the total score of the indicator is 49%.

Despite having transposed the EU directive 2014/24/EU, the regulatory framework governing the German public procurement system does not provide a definition for **innovation procurement** nor for **innovation**. As the German public procurement law does not provide any legal definition, the total score for this sub-indicator is 0%. The guide on innovation procurement published by the BMWi and KOINNO defines innovation as "*the implementation of a new or significantly improved product (good or service), or process, a new marketing method in business practices, workplace organisation or external relations.*<sup>420</sup> The innovation procurement definition however includes two components: demand of innovative products and services resulting from the procurement process and the innovative and efficient design of procurement processes and the organisation of the public procurement procedure (so called innovative procurement which implements process improvements such as e-procurement but does not procure any innovation). This definition is applicable countrywide but not coherent with the EU definition (which does not include the second component).

The definition of **R&D procurement** is only provided under art. 4(3) of the German Public Ordinance for Contracts in the fields of Defence and Security. It defines R&D as "*all activities, including basic research, applied research and experimental development which includes activities based on existing knowledge obtained from research and practical experience, in view of the production of new materials, products or devises, commissioning acts of new processes, systems and services or improving considerably those that already exist.*" Experimental development includes devices that allow you to demonstrate the performance of a new concept or technology in a suitable or representative environment. This definition is only applicable in the defence sector (i.e. not countrywide) and is in line with the EU definition. For non-defence procurers, there is no full-sentence definition of R&D, but the law identifies R&D via the CPV codes for fundamental research, applied research and industrial development in line with the EU public procurement directives definitions of those CPV codes. Therefore, the total score of this sub-indicator is 90%.

With regard to **PCP**, the law transposed the exemption for R&D services unless (a) the results are the exclusive property of the client for his use in the performance of his own activities; and (b) the service is completely remunerated by the client. Therefore, while no definition of PCP exists, the legal framework provides the legal basis for implementing PCP for all types of public procurers in the country. The total score of this sub-indicator is 35%.

Again, the German legislation does not provide a definition of **PPI**. However, the Act Against Restraints on Competition (GWB) introduced innovation-related criteria within the procurement decision making process in 2009 and also established that public procurers could include innovation-award criteria in addition to social and environmental aspects in the service specifications.<sup>421</sup> Further steps in the introduction of innovation procurement into national legislation were carried out within the reform of public procurement law as part of a bureaucracy reduction initiative. The legislation officially established innovation as part of the procurement decision making process, allowing public procurers to include it in their service specification (art. 97(3) of the German Act Against Restraints of Competition). The legal basis is applicable to all public procurers in the country and is coherent with the EU definition. The BMWI / KOINNO national guidance document also defines PPI in line with the EU definition. Therefore, the score for this sub-indicator is 70%.

#### 420 https://www.bmwi.de/Redaktion/DE/Publikationen/Wirtschaft/koinno-innovative-oeffentlichebeschaffung.pdf? blob=publicationFile&v=16

421 http://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/gwb/ 97.html



In Germany innovation procurement is embedded in three policies, namely Regional policy, public procurement and R&D&I policy. The total score of this indicator is 50%.

Innovation procurement was anchored in **public procurement policy** through the introduction of innovation related criteria in the German Act Against Restraints of Competition.

In the area of **Regional Policy**, Innovation procurement is not a specific objective of the country's regional policy, but at regional level, it is worth mentioning that in North-Rhine Westphalia region the use of innovation procurement is envisaged in the context of Green Public Procurement.<sup>422</sup> Also, ZENIT GmbH won in 2015 the tender of the regional government of North Rhine-Westphalia of the project named "Brückenbildung". The aim of the project was to create synergies between the Structural Funds in North Rhine-Westphalia and the H2020 programme. This is a first and unique project in the EU, which tries to create synergies. This project can determine the identification of potential followup PPI actions to be financed.423

In the area of **R&D&I**, innovation procurement is the most important demand-side policy measure to achieve the objectives identified in the High-Tech-Strategy Germany. It includes as a measure to bring more ideas into the market, which is one of the five pillars defined in the Strategy.424

#### Indicator 3 – ICT policies Total score 50% European Average 47%

In the area of ICT, Germany's Digital Agenda 2014-2017<sup>425</sup> identified 7 main areas where action is needed to achieve its overall objectives. One of these areas is public administration, where giving public procurement a more innovative focus is seen as a key principle to implement the digital transformation of the sector, in particular "to reduce the reliance of government IT on closed global IT and cloud computing ecosystems and to support innovative companies and boost competition in the IT sector". Germany's Digital Strategy 2025 (adopted in 2016) does not refer specifically to innovation procurement either. Because of only indirect references to innovation procurement, the score for this indicator is 50%.

Indicator 4 – Sectorial	policies		
Total score	0%	European Average	14%

Action plans and policy framework of sectorial policies in Germany do not explicitly recognize innovation procurement as a strategic priority. Therefore the total score for this indicator is 0%.

As specified above, indirect links to programmes and projects implemented in the context of the ESIF fund, are likely to have an indirect impact to sectoral policies. The use of PCP and PPI tools within this programme is expected to play a role. An example are the measures implemented to increase energy efficiency in public buildings, where the use of innovative procurement procedures had a positive effect on regional economic structures and markets.<sup>426</sup>

Indicator 5 – Action plan					
Total score	0%	European Average	8%		

Germany does not have a stand-alone Action Plan for innovation procurement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>422</sup> E.g. <u>http://www.newtrade-nrw.de/fileadmin/files/downloads/Lageanalyse.pdf</u>

<sup>423</sup> https://stars-pcp.eu/zenit-gmbhh 424 https://www.bmbf.de/pub\_hts/HTS\_Broschure\_Web.pdf

<sup>425</sup> http://www.bmwi.de/EN/Topics/Technology/digital-agenda.html

<sup>426</sup> http://www.eubuero.de/media/content/Synergien/Ergebnisbericht PCPPPI Workshop BF.pdf

Indicator 6 – Spending target					
Total score	0%	European Average	11%		

In Germany there is no specific spending target for innovation procurement.



Germany does not have a structured monitoring system yet to measure the expenditure on innovation procurement and evaluate the impacts of completed innovation procurements, because of the high level of fragmentation of public procurement activities in the country, which obstacles an effective centralized monitoring system.

However, in the last years some improvement has been made which may foster measuring activities in the field of innovation procurement. Specifically, the *Bundeswehrhochschule München* carried out in 2016 **a pilot measurement** of public procurement in the country.<sup>427</sup> The results of this exercise estimated that, of an overall  $\varepsilon_{350}$  billion of public procurement,  $\varepsilon_{40}/_{50}$  billion, i.e. 11/14% of the overall budget, was spent on innovation procurements.

In addition, the **new regulation for statistical data** (§98 and §99 of the German Act against Restraints of Competition – Gesetzgegen Wettbewerbsbeschränkungen – GWB) requires information of all procurement activities. For procurement under the EU threshold, volume, kind of procedure and product group is required. For procurements above the EU threshold, the indication of different categories such as innovation and environment are required as well. The presence of such a pilot measurement and the adoption of a mandatory country wide indicator for innovation procurement justifies a 75% score in the "measuring" sub-indicator.

As a consequence, an electronic system for the collection of relevant data is being developed by the service company INIT in cooperation with the Federal Statistics Office, aiming to calculate the total spending of public procurement at country level (including the municipal and state procurement). In addition, this initiative aims to categorise the spending into a number of clusters, including innovation procurement, to provide progress indicators. First results of this initiative are expected in 2020.

Due to the absence of system to evaluate the impacts of completed innovation procurements, the overall score of the indicator "monitoring system" is 38%.



Regarding **personal incentives**, the Association for Supply Chain Management, Procurement and Logistics (BME) and the Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy (BMWi) are jointly holding, through KOINNO, an **"Innovation prize once a year"** ("*Innovation schafft Vorsprung*").

The aim is to award top performances among public-sector contracting authorities in the procurement of innovative products and the design of innovative procurement processes. Those eligible to apply for the prize are administrative authorities at national, state and local level and also public companies and institutions. Manuscripts on either innovative procurement processes or procuring innovations are accepted. In recognition of the specific challenges involved in driving innovation in public institutions, the winners of the competition will each receive a voucher for consulting services worth € 10,000 (€ 10,000 for the category "Procurement of Innovation" and € 10,000 for the category "Innovative Procurement Processes").<sup>428</sup>

Due to the absence of **financial incentives**, the total score of the indicator "incentives" is 50%.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>427</sup> <u>https://rio.jrc.ec.europa.eu/en/file/11255/download?token=h7oOt2OW</u>

<sup>428</sup> https://www.koinno-bmwi.de/en/koinno/innovation-prize/
Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures							
Total score	61%			European Au	verage	24%	
	Existence	Connection with relevant international/ EU initiatives	Free of charge	Covering all aspects and types of innovation procurement	Available and applicable to al public procurers the country	Mainstreaming I Innovation procurement at a large scale	Sub- total score
Central website	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		83%
Good practices	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		83%
Trainings/workshops	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		67%
Handbooks/guidelines	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		83%
Assistance to public procurers	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		83%
Template tender documents							0%
Coordination / pre- approval							0%
Networking of public procurers	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		67%
One-stop-shop/ competence centre	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		83%

Germany carries out several measures to develop skills and competences on innovation procurement, especially through the **Competence Centre for Innovative Procurement** (**KOINNO**). One of the main goals of the Centre is to act as "one-stop-shop" providing of knowledge and experience in public procurement. Specifically, KOINNO carries out the following activities:

- **Central website** in Germany for innovation procurement related information
- **Consultancy services** to public institutions at all levels on innovative management and on innovative products (in-house trainings and individual consultations for procurers);
- Events organisation (regional conferences, trade fairs, innovation venues, strategic dialogues);
- Networking activities, both at national/local level and internationally;
- Free of charge **assistance to procurers**, offering legal, technical and economic assistance in the innovation procurement process and supporting public clients in setting up or restructuring their purchasing departments to become more efficient, innovative and strategic;
- Information and awareness raising through training, seminars and e-learning sessions, dissemination of good practice examples<sup>429</sup>, publication of guides and toolbox<sup>430</sup>, information on subsidies;
- Prize for innovation procurement (cf. Indicator "Incentives").

The German procurement system is highly decentralised. Therefore, there are also capacity building initiatives at local and regional levels. Two good examples can be the action of ZENIT GmbH in North Rhine-Westphalia<sup>431</sup> and initiative "Cost reduction and professionalization through inter-municipal allocation center in the district of  $Gro\beta$ -Gerau" (2013)<sup>432</sup>:

- **ZENIT GmbH** has been active as a competence centre for public procurement of innovation in **North Rhine-Westphalia** (NRW) since 2012. It assists the Ministry of NRW to integrate PCP and PPI into the innovation and research strategy of the Land NRW and gives in-depth consulting services to public procurers. Furthermore, ZENIT GmbH offers support in cross-border innovation procurements between German procurers and procurers from other EU countries.
- The **Kreis Groß-Gerau** (district of small communities and cities around the city of Gerau) has implemented a central procurement body for ten member communities and the district itself. The introduction of public procurement enabled substantial annual savings in a six-figure range. This was achieved thanks to the knowhow of dedicated procurement personnel. The model aims at increasing the uptake of green and innovative procurement, which otherwise would not be possible for small communities on their own.

<sup>431</sup> <u>https://stars-pcp.eu/zenit-gmbh</u>

<sup>429</sup> https://www.koinno-bmwi.de/informationen/praxisbeispiele/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>430</sup> KOINNO has published a Guide on "Innovative Public Procurement", outlining challenges, actors and framework conditions of innovation procurement, and a number of guides and fact-sheets on different relevant topics, such as the Guideline "Strategic Supplier Management", the "Toolbox" on innovation procurement, and others. All publications are available free of charge in KOINNO's website at <u>https://www.koinno-bmwi.de/en/information/publications/</u>

<sup>432</sup>https://www.koinno-bmwi.de/fileadmin/user\_upload/praxisbeispiele/KOINNO-

Praxisbeispiel innovativer Prozess Interkommunales Vergabezentrum Gross Gerau.pdf

KOINNO organises **networking** between national procurers. Under the impulse of ZENIT, the region North Rhine-Westphalia also signed a cooperation agreement with the Netherlands and the Flemish region (Belgium) to network public procurers of their different countries to stimulate cross-border innovation procurements. As this does not concern all procurers in Germany, the score on the sub-indicator networking remains 67%.

On the basis of the evidence collected, Germany scores 61% in this Indicator. In fact, all activities investigated are put in place, with the exception of the provision of template tender documents and the coordination/pre-approval of the implementation of innovation procurements. The interconnection with relevant EU level initiatives is for some measures also still lacking or not fully exploited yet. It is worth noting that the score reflects the fact that the capacity-building activities performed are not designed and/or resourced to mainstream innovation procurement at large scale in the country across all areas of public sector activity.

#### Indicator 10 – Innovation friendly public procurement market

Total score38%European Average44%I - Specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurementII - Openness of national public procurement market to



This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of Innovation procurement. The indicator is composed of two sub-indicators that show evidence on

I. the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in Germany

40% 60% 80% 100%

II. the openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market.

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

With regard to sub-indicator I, Germany shows the following evidence:

0%

20%

- a. **IPR default regime:** The score for this sub-indicator is 25%, which is below the 38% European average, because there is no default scenario for the distribution of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers in Germany. The German law, general terms and conditions for government contracts and guidelines on public procurement do not define how IPRs are best dealt with in procurement contracts. It is left to the individual responsibility of each German procurer to specify clearly the IPR allocation for the procurement in its tender documents so that it stimulates innovation and is compliant with IPR/copyright law. The German copyright act<sup>433</sup> assigns untransferable copyright (moral rights) to the creator. If the procurer wants to use the copyright created by (sub)contractors in his procurement he should require in the tender specifications the transfer, assignment, or license of the economic rights (e.g. usage, licensing, publication, modification, reproduction rights) at equitable payment. Copyright law protects also scientific work, software and database rights.
- **b.** <u>Use of value for money award criteria</u>: According to the Single Market Scoreboard, 33% of the procedures were awarded on criteria that are not based on lowest price only. This is below the European average of 42% and below the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard.
- c. <u>Use of variants</u>: Germany has allowed the use of variants in 8% of the procedures. This percentage is far above the European average of 4%.
- d. <u>Preliminary Market Consultation</u>: Germany has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 3% of the procedures. The percentage for this sub-indicator is significantly below the European average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 17% which is below the European average of 23%. This is mainly due to the below average performance on adopting a default IPR regime that fosters innovation, on the use of value for money award criteria and on the use of preliminary Market Consultation.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Germany shows the following evidence:

e. **Level of competition**: The level of competition is 89% which is above the European average 84% but still below the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. Both sub-indicators score above European average: proportion of procurements with more than one bidder is 81% (which is however still below the satisfactory 90% level set by the EU single market scoreboard), whereas the proportion of procurements for which a call for bids was used reaches a satisfactory level of 97%.

<sup>433 &</sup>lt;u>http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/text.jsp?file\_id=474263</u>

f. **Level of Transparency**: The level of transparency is 27% which is below the European average 45% and below the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. All three sub-indicators score below the European average: TED publication rate (1%), percentage of procurements without missing call for bids information (78%) and without missing buyer registration numbers (3%). This makes it hard for suppliers across the EU internal market to find out which public procurer on the German market wants to buy what.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 58% which is below the European average of 65% and below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly due to the scarce transparency of the national public procurement system.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 38% which is below the 44% European average. This score is explained firstly by the fact that both the use of specific techniques to foster innovation and the openness of the German procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is below the European average. Indeed, the country has not yet adopted a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation and value for money criteria are still significantly underused in public procurements. Secondly, the country has shown a below-average use of Preliminary Market Consultation. In addition, although the level of competition is reaching the satisfactory level, transparency is scarce and below the European average.

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of German investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of German investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 7,9% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e. € 47,9 bn), **Germany ranks 16<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>434</sup> across Europe. Germany falls within the group of **moderate performers**, slightly above the European average of 9,3%.<sup>435</sup> **A significant increase of investments in PPI is still needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the German public sector.<sup>436</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Germany moves up to the 15<sup>th</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>437</sup> explaining Germany's moderate performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Germany (85%) is in line with the European average (84%). Large portions of PPI investments are devoted to the adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (53% of PPI) and significantly improved' solutions (32% of PPI). The share of **incremental innovations** (15%), which includes the purchase of 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' as well as 'innovative combinations of existing solutions' is also in line with the European average (16%).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>434</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found <u>here on the EU webpages</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>435</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

 $<sup>^{436}</sup>$  It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve).  $^{437}$  The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

As the share of PPI investments that is spent on transformative innovations is much larger in leading countries, this may be a cornerstone element for Germany to improve its performance on innovation procurement.

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is therefore an important factor explaining why Germany is not yet at the level of PPI investment that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



Investments readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Nearly every domain of public sector activity**<sup>438</sup> **in Germany purchased innovation solutions**, except '**Postal Services**'. The shares of PPI investments by different public sector domains out of total PPI investments in the country are **mostly not in line with the European averages**. German investments deviate by more than 3 percentage point (pp) from the European average in 6 out of 11 sectors. The share of PPI investments by German procurers in the 'General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs' is significantly below (-21 pp) the European average. The share of PPI investments by procurers in 'Construction, housing and community amenities' (+12 pp) and in the 'Other' domain (+12 pp) are significantly above the European average.

Domain of public sector activity	Germany	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	14%	35%	-21
Public transport	10%	10%	0
Healthcare and social services	18%	21%	-3
Energy	7%	6%	+1
Environment	9%	3%	+6
Construction, housing and community amenities	16%	4%	+12
Education, recreation, culture and religion	9%	5%	+4
Water	1%	4%	-3
Public order, safety and security	3%	8%	-5
Postal services	0%	1%	-1
Other	15%	3%	+12
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>438</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

#### **Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal** Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is consistently higher in Germany (53%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that German procurers may be less risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is significantly lower in Germany (47%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that German procurers may tend to be less open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of German PPI investments for which call for tenders are published is very low (7%), and considerably below the European average (22%). Both the portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (7%) and the portion that is **published at national level** (<1%) are below European average (respectively 18% and 5%). The share of PPI investments for which no call for tenders is published in TED or at national level is huge (93%).

By not publishing calls for tenders for PPI procurements widely, **Germany is missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from German and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the German PPI business opportunities.





More than one third of the total PPI in Germany is carried out by **large-scale entities at national level** (40%), such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is not far from the European average (47%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for around onethird of the share of PPI (32%), above the European average (24%). **Procurers at local level** account for the smallest fraction of PPI (28%), slightly below above the European average (29%).

## Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The German public sector shows a **low level of performance** in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment). With  $\bigcirc$  0,7 bn or 3,4% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Germany ranks 12<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, below the European average (3,5%). In terms of the share of public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions (43%). Germany performs slightly above the European average (38%). A **considerable increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions is thus needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Germany to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>439</sup>



The main factors<sup>440</sup> explaining Germany's low performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** in Germany (88%) is above the European average (79%). More than half of ICT-based PPI investments is spent on the adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (55%) and a significant share also on 'significantly improved solutions' (33%). The share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations**<sup>441</sup> (12%) is below the European average. As the total amount of investments in ICT-based innovations in Germany is below European average, the country still needs to step up considerably its investments in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations to move from low to strong performer.





<sup>439</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI – or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>440</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>441</sup> See definitions above.

#### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



Germany invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the '**ICT Plus' sub-sector**<sup>442</sup> (66%), above European average (44%).

Germany invested to a lesser extent in the adoption of innovations from the so-called '**Core ICT**' **sub-sector** (33%), which is below the European average (55%).

German investments in adopting innovations from the **'Content & Media' sub-sector** were marginal (1%), which is in line with the European average (2%).

#### Investments readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Nearly every domain of public sector activity in Germany purchased innovation ICT-based solutions**, except in the 'Postal Services' domain with zero ICT-based PPI. The highest share of ICT-based PPI is made by procurers that operate in the domain of '**Healthcare and social services**' (40% against a 30% European average) followed by procurers in the '**General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs**' domain (20% which is above the European average of 16%).



#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>442</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>·</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

<sup>·</sup> Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 53% of ICT-based PPI, quite below the European average (69%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for the highest share of the ICT-based PPI at sub-national level (40%), more than double the European average (21%). To the contrary, **local procurers** account for only a modest fraction of ICT-based PPI (7%), which is still above the European average (10%).

## Greece



#### . NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### Governance and legal framework

The field of innovation procurement in Greece is regulated by the Law no. 4412/2016 on "public works, supplies, and service contracts" entered into force on 1 August 2016 (transposing the Directives 2014/24 and 2014/25/EU) and by the Law 4413/2016 on "award and execution of concessions" in transposition of Directive 2014/23/EU.

Public Procurement in the fields of Defence and Security are governed by law 3978/2011, which transposed the Directive 2009/81/EC.

In Greece the main actors in the field of public procurement are:

- The **Government Council for Economic Policy** approves, monitors and evaluates the Action Plan for National Procurement Strategy and any possible revisions;
- The National Central Purchasing Bodies;
- The **General Directorate of Public Procurements** (within the Ministry of Economy and Development) owns and coordinates the national e-procurement system and is responsible for public supplies and services, including a specific focus on green and innovation procurement;
- the **General Secretariat of Infrastructure** (within the Ministry of Infrastructure and Transport), responsible for works procurement and public services contracts relating to public works;
- National Central Authority for Procurements in Health "EKAPI", responsible for procurements in the health sector;
- The **Hellenic Single Public Procurement Authority (SPPA)**, established by the Government in 2011, which is responsible for the development and promotion of the national strategy in the field of public procurements, provision of policy advice to the legislature, provision of guidance to awarding authorities on the application of procurement law and regulation, and authorisation of the use of special procedures, such as negotiated procedure without publication notice. The SPPA also plays a supervisory role by monitoring and evaluating awarding authorities' decisions.

Innovation procurement is enabled and promoted by a number of policy documents and programmes such as the Greek National Strategy for R&D&I and the Greek Smart Specialization Strategy. Law 4310/2014 on "**Research**, **Technological Development**, **Innovation and other provisions**", introduces definition of Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP). However, the Greek innovation procurement framework is still at an early stage. The commitment to set up a competence centre within the General directorate of public procurement can be considered as a first crucial step to mainstream innovation procurement at national level.

#### **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In the benchmarking of national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Greece is at the 15<sup>th</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 26,5%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Greece is among the group of modest performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. Having implemented 26,5% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is however still a strong reinforcement of the policy framework needed in Greece to reach its full 100% potential.



**<u>Strength</u>:** In the Greek procurement legal framework there is a definition of PCP that is in line with the EU definition. The commitment to set up a competence centre within the General directorate of public procurement can be considered as a first crucial step to mainstream innovation procurement at national level.

Weaknesses: Innovation procurement in Greece is at an early development stage, and most important elements to foster its development are still missing (e.g. capacity building and assistance, action plan, monitoring system, spending target, financial and other incentives for public procurers, etc.). Lack of IPR policy in public procurement that encourages innovation.





In Greece, there is an official definition for R&D, PCP and PPI, while the legal framework only provides a legal basis for "innovation procurement". Therefore, the total score of this indicator is 74%.

Law 4412/2016 introduces the definition of **innovation** as "the realisation of a new or significantly improved product, service or process, including but not limited to production, building or construction processes, new marketing methods or new organizational methods to business practices, workplace organization or external relations, inter alia, to contribute to addressing societal challenges or supporting the Europe 2020 Strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth". This definition is applicable countrywide and coherent with the EU definition, therefore the score for this sub-indicator is 35%.

Although there is no definition of **R&D**, *Law 4413/2016* provides a reference to the CPV codes in the *article 24*. In addition, a definition of R&D is provided in the Defence Procurement Law (Greece Defence law 3978/2011). Article 73.3 provides a definition of Research and development that is coherent with the EU definition. This definition is only applicable in the defence sector (i.e. not countrywide applicable) but is coherent with the EU definition, therefore the total score for this sub-indicator is 90%.

Law 4310/2014, article 2, paragraph 41 defines **PCP** as "buying research services in case the contracting authority or entity does not assume all risks, the results and use benefits in the conduct of its activities, but shares them with the providers under market conditions. The object of the contract falls within one or more categories of research and development defined in the present context. The contract is of limited duration. With the exception of prototype or a limited set of first test/validation data, the purchase of goods or services, which are developed within the framework of a pre-commercial procurement, should not be subject of the same contract". This definition is fully in line with EU definition and applicable country wide, therefore the total score of this sub-indicator is 100%.

A **PPI** definition is not available in the legal framework. However, the 4413/2016 provides the legal basis to implement PPI. In particular, article 86 p.2(a) allows procurers to award contracts and monitor contract performance based also on innovation criteria). On 10/9/2018 the Hellenic Single Public Procurement Authority (SPPA) published a technical guidance document that provides definitions of PCP and PPI as well as description of their procedural framework<sup>443</sup>.

<sup>443</sup> https://diavgeia.gov.gr/doc/7%CE%9D%CE%A10%CE%9F%CE%9E%CE%A4%CE%92-%CE%9C%CE%A1%CE%A8?inline=true

This technical guidance document contains also some case examples of PCPs and PPIs implemented in Europe as well as a comparative analysis between PCP/PPI and innovation partnerships. As a result, the total score of the sub-indicator is 70%.



In Greece innovation procurement is embedded in the regional policy, public procurement policy, innovation policy and R&D policy. Hence the total score for this indicator is 57%.

Under **public procurement** policy, the evidence is provided by the Action Plan for National Procurement Strategy, adopted by the Government Council for Economic Policy in 2017, which foresees specific actions to promote innovation procurement: conducting a special study to promote innovation in the sectors of health, energy, environment and transport; informing / building knowledge for the Public Sector and for economic operators regarding the new legislative framework for promoting innovation procurement; developing support actions and promoting clusters in the relevant field etc. (Actions 33, 34 and 68 of the Action plan). <sup>444</sup>

In 2015, PCP was also added under the objectives of the Greek National Strategy for **R&D&I**. PCP was included under the article 4 of the Law 4386/2016 that amended Law 4310/2014. In particular, Article 4 of the Law 4310/2014 on Research, Technological Development, Innovation and other provisions states that "the National Strategy on Research, Technological Development, Innovation aims at the development of [...] every mean for funding Research, Technological Development, Innovation (such as [...] pre-commercial public procurement [...])".

Specific PCP references are also foreseen under the **regional policy** in Thematic Objectives 2 (ICT) and 3 (Competitiveness) of the Greek Smart specialization strategy (RIS3) 2014-2020.<sup>445</sup> The strategy is implemented by the Greek regions and local authorities which have their own smart specialization strategies. The RIS3 foresees the implementation of an action on Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) with an estimated budget of 40 million euros. According to the description, this action might address the development of applications in sectors such as culture (museums), education and tourism<sup>446</sup>. So far, however, there is no progress as regards its actual realisation.

#### **Indicator 3 – ICT policies**

Total score	100%	European Average	47%
-------------	------	------------------	-----

Actions to develop a framework for innovation procurement and PCP in the digital policy area are also envisaged in the **National Digital Strategy 2016-2021.** The strategy, prepared by **General Secretariat for Digital Policy** of the Ministry of Digital Policy, Telecommunications and Information, reports in in its Priority 4.1 a "Support for research and development Research and Technological Development (ETA) includes among its objectives: "*a framework for the procurement of innovative services and pre-commercial procurement (Priority 4.1)*".<sup>447</sup>

Indicator 4 – Sectorial policies						
Total score	0%	European Average	14%			

In Greece no sectorial policy explicitly recognises the role of innovation procurement within its strategy.

445 http://www.gsrt.gr/Financing/Files/ProPeFiles19/RIS3V.5\_21.7.2015.pdf

<sup>444</sup> http://www.opengov.gr/aads/wp-content/uploads/downloads/2016/02/02 STRATEGY partB.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>446</sup>Operational Program for Competitiveness, Entrepreneurship and Innovation, available at: <u>https://www.espa.gr/elibrary/Antagonistikotita\_2014GR16M2OP001\_1\_3\_el.pdf</u>

<sup>447</sup> http://www.opengov.gr/digitalandbrief/wp-content/uploads/downloads/2016/11/digital\_strategy.pdf

Indicator 5 – Action pl	an		
Total score	0%	European Average	8%

Greece does not have a stand-alone Action Plan for innovation procurement. However, as explained in Indicator "Horizontal policies", the Government Council for Economic Policy adopted in 2017 the **Action Plan for National Procurement Strategy** which includes three actions towards promoting innovation procurement in the public sector.

Indicator 6 – Spending target						
Total score	0%	European Average	11%			

In Greece there is no specific spending target for innovation procurement.

Indicator 7 – Monitoring system						
Total score	0%	European Average	13%			

Greece does not have structured monitoring and evaluating systems of innovation procurement.

Indicator 8 – Incentives						
Total score	0%	European Average	22%			

In Greece there are no financial or other types of incentives to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements.

Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures						
Total score	0%	European Average	24%			
~ . ~						

So far, Greece has not developed yet targeted capacity building and assistance measures to enhance the adoption of innovation procurement but an evolution in this sense is likely to occur in the near future. There are, indeed, sporadic initiatives on innovation procurement to increase awareness of innovation procurement among local public procurers. For example the Region of Central Macedonia in Greece in collaboration with DG CNECT and S3 Platform organized an event in 2014 in Thessaloniki on Innovation Procurement in the Regional Policy.<sup>448</sup> Furthermore, in October 2016, the General Directorate of Public Procurements (Ministry of Economy and Development) co-organised with DG CNECT the second major Eafip in Athens and in 2017 participated in the CSA action called "Mutual Learning Exercise on Innovation Procurement". At present there is a formal commitment by the Minister of Economy and Development to set up a competence centre for innovation procurement in the General Directorate of Public Procure21nnovate. The General Directorate is a national CPB for procurements of goods and services in Greece and belongs to the General Secretariat of Commerce and Consumer Protection.



448<u>https://ec.europa.eu/digital-single-market/news/digital-innovation-regional-growth-innovation-procurement-29-april-2014-thessaloniki-greece</u>

This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of Innovation procurement. The indicator is composed of two sub-indicators that show evidence on:

- I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement Greece
- II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regard to sub-indicator I, Greece shows the following evidence:

- **IPR default regime**: The score for this sub-indicator is 25%, which is below the 38% European average, a. because in Greece there is no default regime for the distribution of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers. The Greek law, general terms and conditions for government contracts and guidelines on public procurement do not define how allocation of IPRs is best dealt with in procurement contracts. It is left to the individual responsibility of each Greek procurer to specify clearly the IPR allocation for the procurement in its tender documents so that it stimulates innovation and is compliant with applicable IPR/copyright law. The Greek public procurement law foresees that procurers can require in the tender specifications the transfer of IPR rights to the procurer. The Greek copyright law<sup>449</sup> 2121/1993 however determines that copyright (moral rights) belong in an inalienable way to the creator. Only the economic rights can be transferred, assigned or licensed by the creator to another person/entity. If the procurer wants to use copyright produced by the contractor during his procurement, he must require in the tender specifications the transfer, assignment or a license of the economic rights (e.g. usage, licensing, publication, modification, reproduction rights) at equitable payment. Copyright law protects also scientific creations, software and database rights. Templates for public procurements in Greece refer (in the preamble) to the above-mentioned Copyright law 2121/1993.450
- b. **Use of value for money award criteria**: According to the Single Market Scoreboard, only 14% of the procedures were not awarded on the basis of lowest price only. This is significantly below the European average of 42% and below the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard. Greece is among the Member States with the highest underutilization of value for money award criteria.
- c. <u>Use of variants</u>: Greece has allowed the use of variants in less than 1% of the procedures (0,3%). This percentage is well below the European average.
- d. <u>Preliminary Market Consultation</u>: Greece has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 7% of the procedures. This percentage is below the European average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 12% which is significantly below the European average of 23%. This is mainly due to the below average performance on adopting an IPR default regime that fosters innovation and underutilization of value for money award criteria.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Greece shows the following evidence (based on the EU single market scoreboard):

- e. <u>Level of competition</u>: The level of competition of the national public procurement market is 83% which is just below the European average 84% and below the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly because the proportion of procurements were there was more than one bidder is below European average (66%). The proportion of the procurements were a call for bids was used (99%) is above European average and reaching the satisfactory level defined by the EU single market scoreboard
- f. **Level of Transparency**: The level of transparency of the public procurement market is 32% which is below the European average 45% and the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This result is mainly affected by the very low TED publication rate (2%). The proportion of procurements without missing call for bids information (85%) and without missing buyer registration numbers (99%) are above average although the first is still below the 97% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 57% which is below the European average of 65% and below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard. Both the level of competition and transparency are below the European average and the satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 34% which is below the 44% European average and below the satisfactory level for the total of the EU single market indicators. This score is explained firstly by the fact that both the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country and the openness of the Greek procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is below the European average. Indeed, the country has not yet adopted a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation and value for money criteria are still seriously underused in public procurements. In addition, both the level of competition and transparency are below the European average.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>449</sup> <u>https://www.opi.gr/index.php/en/library/law-2121-1993</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>450</sup> <u>http://www.eaadhsy.gr/index.php/m-foreis/m-protypa</u>

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Greek investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Greek investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 7,4% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e. 20,7 bn), **Greece ranks 17<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>451</sup> across Europe. Greece falls within the group of **modest performers**, below the European average of 9,3%.<sup>452</sup> **A significant increase of investments in PPI is still needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Greek public sector.<sup>453</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Greece still remains in the 17<sup>th</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>454</sup> explaining Greece's modest performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Greece (55%) is well below the European average (84%). This may be due to the fact that the adoption of breakthrough innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' is still very limited (4% of PPI), despite the fact that the largest portion of PPI investments is devoted to 'significantly improved' solutions (51% of PPI). Greece still relies to a significantly larger extent (45%) than in Europe on average (16%) on the adoption of **incremental innovations**, which includes the purchase of 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' as well as 'innovative combinations of existing solutions'. As the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>451</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found here on the EU webpages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>452</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>453</sup> It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve).
<sup>454</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

total amount of investments in innovative solutions in Greece is modest and below European average, the country still needs to step up considerable its efforts in the adoption of both transformative and incremental innovations.

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is therefore an important factor explaining why Greece is not yet at the level of PPI investment that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Every domain of public sector activity**<sup>455</sup> **in Greece purchased innovation solutions**. The shares of PPI investments by different public sector domains out of total PPI investments in the country are **mostly in line with the European averages**. The highest divergences from the European average emerge in the 'Healthcare and social services' domain (-19 pp). On the other hand, PPI investments made by procurers in 'General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs' and 'Public transport' are significantly higher than the European average (+12 pp and +13 pp respectively).

Domain of public sector activity	Greece	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	48%	35%	+13
Public transport	22%	10%	+12
Healthcare and social services	2%	21%	-19
Energy	8%	6%	+2
Environment	3%	3%	+1
Construction, housing and community amenities	0%	4%	-4
Education, recreation, culture and religion	7%	5%	+2
Water	4%	4%	0
Public order, safety and security	3%	8%	-5
Postal services	0%	1%	-1
Other	2%	3%	-1
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>455</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

#### Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is consistently higher in Greece (71%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Greek procurers may be less risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is significantly lower in Greece (29%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Greek procurers may tend to be less open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Greek PPI call for tenders that is published is modest (25%), even if higher than the European average (22%). Both the portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (17%) and the portion that is **published at national level** (8%) are below European average (respectively 18% and 5%). The share of PPI that are not published in TED or at national level is very large (75%).

By not publishing PPI call for tenders widely, **Greece is missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Greek and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Greek PPI business opportunities.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

PPI investments by level of public sector activity



Almost half of the total PPI in Greece is carried out by **large-scale entities at national level** (45%), such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is slightly below the European average (47%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for a smaller amount of share of PPI (20%) and below the European average (24%). **Procurers at local level** account for the highest fraction of PPI at sub-national level (35%) and above the European average (29%).

### Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The Greek public sector shows a **low level of performance** in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment). With  $\bigcirc$  0,1 bn or 2,9% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Greece ranks 13<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, below the European average (3,5%). In terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions Greece performs in line with the European average (38%). A significant increase of investments in **buying innovative ICT-based solutions is still needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Greece to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>456</sup>



The main factors<sup>457</sup> explaining Greece's low performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations (41%)** is considerably below the European average (79%). This may derive from the fact that the adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' is very limited. Greece still relies to a significantly larger extent (59%) than in Europe on average (21%) on the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations**<sup>458</sup>.

#### ICT-based PPI investments by type of innovation



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>456</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI – or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>457</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>458</sup> See definitions above

#### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

#### ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



Greece invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the so-called '**Core ICT' sub-sector**<sup>459</sup> (85%), well above the European average (55%).

Greece invested to a considerably lesser extent in the adoption of innovations from the '**ICT Plus' sub-sector** (14%), considerably below the European average (44%).

Greek investments in adopting innovations from the **'Content & Media' sub-sector** were marginal (1%), but in line with the European average (1%).

#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Nearly very domain of public sector activity in Greece purchased ICT-based innovation solutions**, except for the '**Postal Services**' sector with zero ICT-based PPI investment. In particular, the highest share of ICT-based PPI is made by procurers that operate in the domain of '**General public services**, **public administration and economic and financial affairs**' (46% against a 16% European average) followed by procurers in the '**Education**, **recreation**, **culture and religion**' domain (16% which is significantly above the European average of 9%).



#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>459</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>•</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 45% of ICT-based PPI investments, below the European average (69%).

**Procurers at local level** account for the highest share of the ICT-based PPI investments at sub-national level (42%), significantly higher the European average (10%). To the contrary, **regional procurers** account for only a modest fraction of ICT-based PPI investments (13%), which is below the European average (21%).

## Hungary



#### NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### **Governance and legal framework**

The field of public procurement in Hungary is regulated by the Public Procurement Act (PPA - Act CXLIII of 2015), which defines national rules on public procurement procedures and concessions and implements the three EU procurement Directives (2014/23/EU, 2014/24/EU and 2014/25/EU).460 The Directive 2009/81/EC on defence procurement was implemented by the Order of the Minister of Defence 19/2016. (IX.14.).<sup>461</sup>

The two key actors in the public procurement system are the **Prime Minister Office** (PMO) and the autonomous Public Procurement Authority (KH). The PMO is responsible for drafting legislation, providing support and guidance to contracting authorities and acting as an internal supervisory body, conducting regulatory control of procurement procedures and monitoring compliance with the PPA. The KH is responsible for monitoring the application of the law, issuing guidance and formulating opinions on draft legislations. It also collects and publishes operational and statistical information through annual reports and bulletins. In addition, it holds the central register of award procedures.

A key player in the area of innovation procurement is the National Research, Development and Innovation Office (NKFI Hivatal).<sup>462</sup> Its aim is "to create a stable institutional framework for the governmental coordination of national research, development and innovation ecosystem, provide predictable funding and implements an efficient and transparent use of available resources", and it is developing a focus on innovation procurement as well.

In the Észak-Alföld region, an important actor in the field of innovation procurement is the INNOVA Észak-Alföld Regional Development and Innovation Agency<sup>463</sup>, which aims at becoming the sole innovation centre in the region operating in a networking model and achieving acknowledgement at national and international level.

#### **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In the benchmarking of national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, Hungary is at the 23<sup>rd</sup> position of the overall ranking with a total score of 13,7%. From the 30 countries analysed, Hungary is among the group of low performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. The country scores below European average on 8 of the 10 indicators. Having implemented only 13,7% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is a strong reinforcement of the policy framework for innovation procurement needed in Hungary to reach its full 100% potential.



Strengths: Hungary has the legal basis to start building up a policy framework for innovation procurement. National guidelines promote an approach to IPR allocation that fosters innovation in public procurement

Weaknesses: Absence of a dedicated action plan, target and measurement system for innovation procurement, lack of national competence centre / low level of capacity building, lack of financial incentives for procurers to engage in more innovation procurement

<sup>460</sup> http://www.kozbeszerzes.hu/torveny/act-cxliii-of-2015-on-public-procurement/ and

http://www.kozbeszerzes.hu/cikkek/hungarian-public-procurement-rules <sup>461</sup> <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/NIM/?uri=CELEX:32009L0081</u>

<sup>462</sup> https://nkfih.gov.hu/english

<sup>463</sup> http://www.innoregio.eu/en/about-us



In the Hungarian public procurement legal framework does not provide an official definition but provides nevertheless the legal basis for all types of public procurers in the country to implement innovation procurement, R&D procurement, Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) and Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI). Therefore, the total score of this indicator is 35%.

In national legislation or official guidance documents there is no definition of innovation procurement, but in national legislation there is a definition of innovation in the context of public procurement. **Innovation** is defined in Article 3 point 12. of the Act CXLIII of 2015 on Public Procurement (PPA)<sup>464</sup> as "the implementation of a new or significantly improved product, service or process, including but not limited to production, building or construction processes, a new marketing method, or a new organisational method in business practices, workplace organisation or external relations, in particular with the purpose of improving the efficiency of a given activity and having a favourable impact on the society and environment". The definition is in line with the EU definition and applicable to all public procurers in the country. Therefore, the total score of this sub-indicator is 35%.

Although there is no full sentence defining **R&D** in the context of public procurement in national legislation or official guidance documents, article 9 (8) letter L of the Hungarian PPA, identifies R&D as activities that have the CPV codes for *fundamental research, applied research and industrial development*, which are applicable to all public procurers in the country and in line with the EU definition of the R&D CPV codes. This article provides a legal basis to implement R&D procurement in the country. Therefore, the total score of this sub-indicator is 35%.

No definition of PCP exists in national legislation nor in official guidance documents. However, article 9 of the PPA also transposes the exclusion for R&D services, which forms the legal basis for implementing in **PCP**, namely: "*the law only applies to R&D services procurements following the cumulative conditions of*"(*a*) *products belong exclusively to the contracting authority for its own use at pursuing its activity; and (b) the service is wholly remunerated by the contracting authority*". Therefore, no definition of PCP exists, but there is a legal basis which is applicable to all public

<sup>464</sup> http://www.kozbeszerzes.hu/torveny/act-cxliii-of-2015-on-public-procurement/

procurers in the country and in line with the EU procurement directives provisions, resulting in a total score for this indicator of 35%.

In national legislation or official guidance documents there is no definition for PPI, but the legislation provides the legal basis to implement PPI by enabling contract award and monitoring performance not only based on price but also based on innovative solution characteristics. In particular Article 132 of the Public Procurement Act states that "the contracting authority may set special conditions for the performance of the contract, in particular, conditions related to social and environmental considerations as well as incentives for innovation. Reference to such contract terms shall be made in the notice launching the procedure and detailed conditions thereof may be included in the procurement documents". These legal provisions are applicable to all public procurers in the country and in line with the provisions of the EU public procurement directives. The total score of the sub-indicator is 35%.



Three out of seven horizontal policies are currently enabling innovation procurement in Hungary. Specifically, innovation procurement is included in the Regional Policy and the R&D&I strategy frameworks. Both promote the use of PCPs, PPIs and innovation procurement to modernize the Hungarian economy and push public driven research. Therefore, the total score fir this indicator is 43%.

In the area of **R&D&I**, the **national strategy 2013-2020** "**Investment into the Future**" <sup>465</sup> states that "a *further goal is that more and more national medium sized enterprises shall be able to participate in governmental and local council public procurements with an innovative content, taking into account the significant innovation content of procurements" and sets as objective the promotion of public sector innovation (namely in the healthcare, environmental, energy, educational, transport/logistics sectors*). The strategy foresees support for innovation procurement instruments, including pre-commercial procurement (PCP), and specifies that resources from several funds, such as the Research and Technology Innovation Fund (KTIA) and the European Regional Development Funds, should be allocated on innovation procurement measures.

With regard to **Regional Policy**, the **National Smart Specialisation Strategy (S3)**<sup>466</sup> includes innovation procurement as a demand-side instrument. PCP pilot projects under the S3 are envisaged in the near future.

Indicator 3 – ICT policies							
Total score	0%	European Average	47%				
	·						

**Hungary's National Info-communication strategy 2014-2020**<sup>467</sup> identifies demand as key driver for the role out of innovative ICT and for creating opportunities for innovative ICT companies to invest. It also identifies as an issue that national ICT enterprises take very little part in Hungarian and international public procurements. However, it then identifies as only action to encourage and support ICT companies, in particular innovative SMEs, to participate more in public procurements. It does not make the link to foresee also an action to encourage Hungarian public procures to undertake more innovation procurements themselves to trigger this process from the demand side. Therefore, innovation procurement is not recognized in the ICT policy and the score of this indicator is 0%.

Indicator 4 – Sectoral policies						
Total score	0%	European Average	14%			

**The National Research and Development Strategy** can be considered a comprehensive national development policy to which several sectoral policies are connected. As already explained, the Strategy gives particular relevance to innovation procurement as a demand-side instrument to drive and support the development of new and innovative solutions. The Resolution No. 1414/2013 with which the Government has adopted the National Research Development

<sup>465</sup> https://nkfih.gov.hu/download.php?docID=25559

<sup>466</sup> http://nkfih.gov.hu/policy-and-strategy/national-strategies

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>467</sup> <u>http://www.kormany.hu/download/5/ff/70000/NIS\_EN\_clear.pdf</u>

and Innovation Strategy, has among its priorities "*Boost innovation in the health, environment, energy, education, traffic/logistics sector (P1)*". To reach this objective, the Strategy foresees among its instrument *the application of innovation procurement tools in the sectors*. There is no further evidence on the inclusion of innovation procurement within the strategies or action plans of these sectoral policies. The total score of this indicator is 0%.

Indicator 5 – Action plan					
Total score	0%	European Average	8%		

Hungary does not have a dedicated Action Plan for innovation procurement.

Indicator 6 – Spending target					
Total score	0%	European Average	11%		

In Hungary there is no specific spending target for innovation procurement.

Indicator 7 – Monitoring system					
Total score	0%	European Average	13%		

Hungary does not have a system in place to measure innovation procurement expenditure and evaluate the impacts of completed innovation procurements. However, an evaluation assessment is being put in place in the course of the PCP pilot programme under the National Smart Specialization Strategy.

Indicator 8 – Incentives				
Total score	0%	European Average	22%	

In Hungary there are no **financial incentives** to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements, and there is no specific instrument financed with ESIF funds focusing on innovation procurement either.

However, there is a form of **personal incentives** in Hungary. The Public Procurement Authority has launched its programme entitled "2018 - The Year of Sustainable Procurement". In the framework of the programme, the Authority established the **Public Procurement Prize for the most innovative public procurement procedure**. The price will be given to procurers of the three subject-matter categories: public works, supplies and services. The deadline for application is the end of October 2018. For the purpose of this study, the prize does not get a score because it is focused on the procedure rather than on the content of the tender.

Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures							
Total score	11%	, D		European A	verage 24	%	
	Existence	Connection with relevant international /EU initiatives	Free of charge	Covering all types and aspects of innovation procurement	Available and applicable to all public procurers in the country	Mainstreaming Innovation procurement at a large scale	Sub- total score
Central website							0%
Good practices							0%
Trainings/ workshops	$\checkmark$						17%
Handbooks/ guidelines	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$				33%
Assistance to public procurers							0%
Template tender documents							0%
Coordination / pre- approval							0%
Networking of public procurers	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			50%
One-stop-shop/ competence centre							0%

On the basis of the evidence collected, the total score for this indicator is 6%. Hungary is still lacking a structure approach to capacity building on innovation procurement across the country. Apart from some limited awareness raising on case law updates and links to EU websites at networking events for procurers that are not specifically tailored for innovation procurement, no dedicated capacity building measures for innovation procurement have been implemented in a systematic, regular way.

The key actor in this field is the **Public Procurement Authority (KH)**<sup>468</sup>, which is responsible for the promotion of innovation procurement practices. The PPA disseminates **good practices** from other EU countries, publishes practical tools on the implementation of innovation procurement and shares relevant information available on the web and on its mobile application. The mobile application "Daily Public Procurement" (*Napi Közbeszerzés* in Hungarian) offers a customised free news channel for the users, providing daily updated public procurement content concerning the latest and most important information on procurement, including innovation procurement. The application grants useful tips for both contracting authorities and suppliers.<sup>469</sup> Good practices are free of charge, and are available to all public procurers in the country but focus mainly on current issues in public procurement law. There is a lack of practical case examples demonstrating how innovation procurements were practically implemented in Hungary and what benefits they achieved. Therefore, the total score for this sub-indicator is 0%.

The KH developed a **guideline**<sup>470</sup>. However the guideline does not provide a comprehensive guidance on innovation procurement, it touches only upon innovation partnerships (which is often too complex for smaller procurers/smaller procurement projects) and does not refer to all aspects of the EU legal basis for implementing those correctly (competition / State aid considerations are missing).

The employees of the PPA Authority participate in several Hungarian and international platforms dealing with sustainability and innovation, both as participants and as speakers. During its regular free-of-charge **conferences and workshops**, the Authority offers information on the law amendments also in the field of innovation aspects in public procurement (apart from an annual conference on innovation procurement<sup>471</sup> there are however no dedicated trainings on implementation aspects of innovation procurements), on the opportunities for contracting authorities in the area, provides the link to EU relevant web pages and documents, and to EU good practice examples.<sup>472</sup> Besides this single awareness raising conference on innovation procurement there are no dedicated regular trainings on innovation procurement implementation (including non-legal implementation) aspects, the total score for the sub-indicator **training/workshops** is 17%.

These conference and workshops are also the key **networking** opportunities offered to procurers in Hungary. In the Észak-Alföld region, an important body in the field of innovation procurement is the INNOVA Észak-Alföld Regional Development and Innovation Agency<sup>473</sup>, which aims at becoming the sole innovation centre in the region operating in a networking model and achieving acknowledgement at national and international level. INNOVA has already gained experience in project planning and implementation in different type of EU projects (FP6, FP7 and Interreg IVC) from coordination to partnering, including PCP related projects such as RAPIDE, Smart@fire, and IMAILE. However, apart from these individual EU funded projects there is no systematic networking of Hungarian procurers at international level with procurers from other countries. The score for sub-indicator networking is 50%.

# Indicator 10 – Innovation friendly public procurement market Total score 48% European Average 44% I - Specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement II – Openness of national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>468</sup> <u>http://www.kozbeszerzes.hu/cikkek/innovativ-kozbeszerzes</u>

- <sup>469</sup> The application is available at <u>http://www.kozbeszerzes.hu/#napi-kozbeszerzes</u> and can be downloaded from Google Play and iOS.
  <sup>470</sup> <u>http://www.kozbeszerzes.hu/cikkek/kozbeszerzesi-hatosag-kereteben-mukodo-tanacs-utmutatoja-az-innovacios-partnerseg-alkalmazasanak-egyes-kerdeseirol</u>
- 471 http://www.kozbeszerzes.hu/cikkek/kozeppontban-az-innovacio-konferencia
- 472 http://www.kozbeszerzes.hu/data/filer\_public/6a/ef/6aefb6a1-6d04-4232-a334-
- 1a21df08d577/kozbeszerzesi beszamolo en 2017.pdf
- 473 http://www.innoregio.eu/en/about-us

This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of Innovation procurement. It is composed by two sub-indicators reflecting:

- I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in Hungary
- II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regard to sub-indicator I, Hungary shows the following evidence:

- a. **IPR default regime**: The score for this sub-indicator is 50% because the Hungarian law and general terms and conditions for government contracts on public procurement do not define how to best allocate IPRs allocation in order to stimulate innovation, but guidance on the Hungarian public procurement authority's webpage<sup>474</sup> states that public procurers need to consider up front which IPR strategy to use and advocates that normally sharing of information or obtaining licenses to use suppliers' IPR is sufficient and transfer of suppliers' IPR to the public procurer is not needed. This approach is in line with the Hungarian copyright act<sup>475</sup> which determines that copyright (moral rights) belong in an inalienable way to the creator. Only the economic rights can be transferred, assigned or licensed by the creator to another person/entity. If the procurer wants to use copyright produced by (sub)contractors in his procurement he must require in the tender specifications the transfer, assignment or a license of the economic rights (e.g. usage, licensing, publication, modification, reproduction rights) at equitable payment. Copyright law protects also scientific creations, software and database rights.
- b. **Use of value for money award criteria**: According to the EU single market scoreboard, only 49% of the public procurement procedures were not awarded on the basis of the lowest price only. This is moderately above the European average of 42% but still not reaching the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard. The country still shows an over-reliance of lowest price criteria in procurement procedures.
- c. <u>Use of variants</u>: Hungary has allowed the use of variants in less than 1% of the procedures (0,3%). This percentage is well below the European average.
- **d.** <u>Preliminary Market Consultation</u>: Hungary has not used Preliminary Market Consultations in procurement procedures in 2018.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 25% which is slightly above the European average of 23% However, despite the above European average level, there is an underutilization of value for money award criteria. Also, there is some promotion in guidelines to procurers for using an IPR default regime that fosters innovation in public procurement, but this is not anchored yet into legislation and general terms and conditions for government contracts.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Hungary shows the following evidence (based on the single market scoreboard):

- e. **Level of competition**: The level of competition is 79% which is below the European average 84% and below the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. The result is mainly driven by the below average performance on both amount of procurements with more than one bidder (65%) and amount of procurements for which a call for bids was used (92%).
- f. **Level of Transparency**: The level of transparency is 63% which is above the European average 45% and but still below the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. The result is due to above average performance on all sub-indicators: TED publication rate (4%), amount of procurements without missing call for bids information (87%) and without buyer registration number (99%). The first two are however below the satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 71% which is above the European average of 65% but still below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score the indicator is 48% which is slightly above the 44% European average. This score is explained firstly by the fact that both the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country and the openness of the Hungarian procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is slightly above the European average. Indeed, the country is doing some effort to promote a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation but value for money award criteria are still significantly underused in public procurements. In addition, although the national public procurement market shows an above European average level of transparency, the level of competition is below European average.

<sup>474 &</sup>lt;u>http://www.kozbeszerzes.hu/data/filer\_public/8c/aa/8caa271a-cdf5-4227-b3d7-bfa85525eda7/ppi-platform-guide-hun-final-lowres.pdf</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>475</sup> http://www.hipo.gov.hu/en/English/jogforras/hungarian\_copyright\_act.pdf

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Hungarian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Hungarian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 6,9% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e. € 1,5 bn), **Hungary ranks 18<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>476</sup> across Europe. Hungary falls within the group of **modest performers**, slightly below the European average of 9,3%.<sup>477</sup> **A considerable increase of investments in PPI is still needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Hungarian public sector.<sup>478</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Hungary still remains in the 18<sup>th</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>479</sup> explaining Hungary's modest performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Hungary (54%) is still well below the European average (84%). This may be due to the fact that the adoption of 'significantly improved' solutions (33% of PPI) and innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (21% of PPI) is modest. Hungary still relies to a significantly larger extent (46%) than in Europe on average (16%) on the adoption of **incremental innovations**, which includes the purchase of 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' as well as 'innovative combinations of existing solutions'. As the total amount of investments in innovative solutions in Hungary is modest and below European average, the country still needs to step up considerable its efforts in the adoption of both transformative and incremental innovations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>476</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found here on the EU webpages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>477</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>478</sup> It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve). <sup>479</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is therefore an important factor explaining why Hungary is not yet at the level of PPI investment that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Nearly every domain of public sector activity**<sup>480</sup> **in Hungary purchased innovation solutions**, except for the '**Postal services**' domain with zero PPI investment. The shares of PPI investments by different public sector domains out of total PPI investments in the country are **mostly below the European averages** (in just 3 out of 11 sectors they are above the European averages). PPI investments made by Hungarian procurers operating in the '**Education, recreation, culture and religion**' domain is significantly higher than the European average (27% against a 5% European average) while in the '**General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs**' and '**Public order, safety and security**' domains, adoption of innovative solutions is significantly lower than European average (respectively -18 pp and -8 pp).

Domain of public sector activity	Hungary	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	17%	35%	-18
Public transport	5%	10%	-5
Healthcare and social services	20%	21%	0
Energy	2%	6%	-4
Environment	6%	3%	3
Construction, housing and community amenities	4%	4%	0
Education, recreation, culture and religion	27%	5%	22
Water	3%	4%	-1
Public order, safety and security	0%	8%	-8
Postal services	0%	1%	-1
Other	13%	3%	10
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>480</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

#### Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) in Hungary (29) equals the European average. This indicates that Hungarian procurers may still be equally risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions as in many other European countries.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) equals the European average (71%). This indicates that Hungarian procurers may tend to be rather open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Hungarian PPI investments for which call for tenders are published is low (11%), and well below the European average (22%). Both the portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (9%) and the portion that is **published only at national level** (2%) are below European average (respectively 18% and 5%). The share of PPI investments for which no call for tenders is published in TED or at national level is very large (89%).

By not publishing PPI call for tenders widely, **Hungary is missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Hungarian and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Hungarian PPI business opportunities.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

PPI investments by level of public sector activity



The largest share of the total PPI investments in Hungary is carried out by **large-scale entities at national level** (58%), such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is considerably above the European average (47%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for a modest amount of share of PPI investments (12%), well below the European average (24%). **Procurers at local level** account for the highest fraction of PPI investments a subnational level (30%), slightly above the European average (29%).

## Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The Hungarian public sector shows a **low level of performance** in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment). With  $\in$  0,02 bn or 2,8% of total public procurement invested in ICT-based PPI, **Hungary ranks 14**<sup>th</sup> in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, below the European average (3,5%). In terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions (41%), Hungary performs slightly above the European average (38%). A significant increase of investments in **buying innovative ICT-based solutions is still needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Hungary to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>481</sup>



The **main factors**<sup>482</sup> explaining Hungary's low performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations**<sup>483</sup> in Hungary (55%) is below the European average (79%). This may derive from the fact that the adoption of 'significantly improved solutions' (34%) and the adoption of ICT-based innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (21% of ICT-based PPI) is low. Compared to the European average (21%) Hungary depends more on the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations** (45%). However, as the total amount of investments in innovative ICT-based solutions in Hungary is low, the country still needs to step up considerable its efforts in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.

#### ICT-based PPI investments by type of innovation



 $<sup>^{481}</sup>$  It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI – or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>482</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>483</sup> See definitions above.

#### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors





Hungary invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the so-called '**ICT Plus' sub-sector**<sup>484</sup> (57%), above the European average (45%)

Hungary invested to a lesser extent in the adoption of innovations from the '**Core ICT' sub-sector** (40%), below the European average (55%).

The share of investments in adopting innovations from the **'Content & Media' sub-sector** was small (3%), but above the European average (1%).

#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Most of the domains of public sector activity in Hungary purchased innovative ICT-based solutions**, except from the '**Postal services**' sector with zero ICT-based PPI. In particular, the highest share of ICT-based PPI investments is made by procurers that operate in the '**Education, recreation, culture and religion**' domain (47% against a 9% European average), At the same time, the shares of ICT-based PPI investment made by procurers in the '**Public order, safety and security**' and '**Public transport**' domain are significantly below the European average (respectively -19 pp and -10 pp).





<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>484</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>·</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

<sup>·</sup> Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 77% of ICT-based PPI investments, quite above the European average (69%).

**Procurers at local level** account for the highest share of the ICT-based PPI investments at sub-national level (12%), in line with the European average (10%). To the contrary, **regional procurers** account for 11% of ICT-based PPI investments, which is below the European average (21%).

## Ireland

## ź

#### 1. NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### Governance and legal framework

The EU Procurement Directives 2014/24/EU, 2014/25/EU and Directive 2014/23/EU were transposed into Irish Law by the regulations No. 284/2016; S.I. No. 286/2016 (the "2016 Utilities Regulations") and S.I. No. 203/2017 (the "2017 Concessions Regulations"). In addition, the EU Directive on Defence Procurement 2009/81/EC was transposed into national legislation by the regulation SI. NO. 62/2012.

Overall, the amount of money spent on public procurement in Ireland is low compared to most of the other European Member States.

The **Office of Government Procurement** (OGP)<sup>485</sup> of the Department of Public Expenditure and Reform (DPER) plays the primary role in the Irish procurement system. OGP is in charge of the formulation of public procurement policy, dissemination of best practices, guidance and management of the government e-procurement strategy. The OGP was established in 2014 with the aim to save public money through the introduction of professionalised procurement practices in the field of public service and the centralisation of government procurement. Before the introduction of the OGP, public procurement was fragmented across several departments, implementing different procurement processes and not allowing to fully leverage economies of scale.

In addition, Ireland established central purchasing bodies in sectors identified as particularly relevant in the area of public procurement. **Central purchasing bodies** were created in the following sectors: health, defence, education and local government.

#### **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In the benchmarking of national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Ireland is at the 20<sup>th</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 18,2%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Ireland is among the group of low performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. The country's performance is below European average on 7 out of 10 indicators. Having implemented only 18,2% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is a strong reinforcement of the policy framework for innovation needed in Ireland to reach its full 100% potential.



Strengths: Several sectoral and horizontal policies foresee innovation procurement as a strategic tool to modernise public services and create growth and jobs for companies. National guidelines promote an approach to IPR allocation that fosters innovation in public procurement

Weaknesses: Absence of structured capacity building measures, a dedicated action plan, spending target, and incentives for innovation procurement as well as a monitoring system

<sup>485</sup> https://ogp.gov.ie/





In Ireland, the legal framework only provides an official definition for innovation in the context of public procurement. The Irish public procurement regulations provide the legal basis for all types of public procurers across the country to implement Innovation procurement, R&D procurement, Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) and Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI), although without there being an official definition for those terms in national legislation or official guidance documents. Therefore, the total score of this sub-indicator is 35%.

Innovation procurement is not defined in national legislation or official guidance documents. However, article 2(1) (Chapter 1, Scope and Definitions) of the Regulation n.284/2016, defines **innovation** in the context of public procurement as "the implementation of a new or significantly improved product, service or process, including production, building or construction processes, a new marketing method or a new organizational method in business practices, workplace organization or external relations, amongst other things, with the purpose of helping to solve societal challenges or to support the Europe 2020 strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth". This definition is applicable countrywide and is in line with the EU definition. Therefore, the total score of the sub-indicator is 35%.

The legislative framework does not provide a definition of R&D procurement. However, the public procurement Regulation n.284/2016 identifies **R&D** via the CPV codes.<sup>486</sup> In particular, article 14 (Chapter 1, Scope and Definitions) identifies R&D as all the activities that have the CPV codes for fundamental research, applied research and industrial development. This is applicable countrywide and in line with the EU definition for the CPV codes for R&D. Therefore, the total score for the sub-indicator R&D is 35%.

The same article also transposes the exemption for R&D services, which forms the legal basis for implementing **PCP**, namely: "the law only applies to R&D services procurements following the cumulative conditions of "(a) products belong exclusively to the contracting authority for its own use at pursuing its activity; and (b) the service is wholly remunerated by the contracting authority". Therefore, even if no official definition for PCP exist in Ireland, the legal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>486</sup> http://www.irishstatutebook.ie/eli/2016/si/284/made/en/pdf

basis is available to implement PCP in line with EU definition and applicable to all public procurers in the country, resulting in a total score for this sub-indicator of 35%.

Although national legislation or official guidance documents do not provide an official definition for **PPI**, article 70 of the public procurement Regulation 284/2016 enables public procurers to implement PPI by allowing procurers to award contracts not only based on price but also on innovation criteria: "*A contracting authority may lay down special conditions relating to the performance of a contract* [...] (2) *The conditions referred to in paragraph* (1) *may include economic, innovation related, environmental, social or employment related considerations*." This provision is applicable countrywide and in line with the provisions in the EU public procurement directives. Therefore, the total score of the sub-indicator PPI is 35%.



Overall, three horizontal policies in Ireland recognise innovation procurement as an issue of strategic importance. Therefore, the total score for this indicator is 43%.

In the area of entrepreneurship policy, innovation procurement is identified as a key tool to facilitate the access of SMEs to the public sector market. In April 2014, Department of Public Expenditure & Reform's implemented a number of initiatives to assist SMEs in Public Procurement. In particular, point 4.1 of the **Circular Initiatives to assist SMEs in Public Procurement (10/14)** states that "the Government recognises that creative ideas for new and innovative solutions and products often come from SMEs. Buyers should, where possible and appropriate, encourage new and innovative solutions. Alternatively, or in addition, requirements may, for example, be set out in terms of a deliverable which allows tenderers to provide creative and innovative solutions. This output-oriented approach may enable buyers to concentrate on the functional requirements of a product they would like to have but leaves tenderers the freedom to develop new, innovative goods or services which might better correspond to the actual need of the buyer". <sup>487</sup> The purpose is therefore to foster the participation of SMEs to public tender procedures and facilitate the spread of innovative solutions in public contracts.

In the field of R&D&I policy, the **strategy Innovation 2020** states that "Public procurement can be used to stimulate the take-up of new technologies". In particular, action 4.1 "Use public service innovation to deliver better outcomes for users of public services" foresee the use of public procurement to "realise the full potential of public service innovation to provide better and more efficient public services" (timeline 2014-2020).<sup>488</sup> In addition, the Small Business Innovation Research (SBIR) address challenges faced by the public sectors to connect with businesses to procure research and development on innovative solutions.<sup>489</sup>

Indicator 3 – ICT policies					
Total score	0%	European Average	47%		

The **Public Service ICT Strategy**, '**Delivering better outcomes and efficiency through innovation and excellence in ICT**' sets out how Ireland can operate in a more efficient, shared and integrated manner across all of Government while delivering new and innovative digital services to citizens and businesses. The Strategy provides a 5-year horizon for delivering better outcomes and efficiency through innovation and excellence in ICT. However, even though it focuses on increasing efficiency in the procurement processes as well as the use of value for money, Innovation procurement is not defined as a tool to reach these goals. Therefore, the score of this indicator is 0%.

<sup>487</sup> http://etenders.gov.ie/Media/Default/SiteContent/LegislationGuides/Circular 10 - 14 0.pdf

<sup>488</sup> https://dbei.gov.ie/en/Publications/Publication-files/Innovation-2020.pdf

<sup>489</sup> https://www.enterprise-ireland.com/en/about-us/services/procurement/sbir-ireland-/



Overall, in Ireland innovation procurement is embedded in four sectoral policies. It is explicitly recognised as a tool in the following sectors: environment, energy, construction, general public services, healthcare and social services. Therefore, the total score for this indicator is 40%.

In the area of environment, the **Irish Green Public Procurement Action Plan "Green Tenders"**<sup>490</sup> sets out a range of measures to drive innovation and thus provide industry with real incentives for developing green products and services – particularly where public purchases represent a large share of the market, such as in construction, health services and public transport. The national green public procurement objectives include "enhance competitiveness and encourage innovation".

Ireland has also a specific framework for public procurement in the **construction sector**: the **Capital Works Management Framework**.<sup>491</sup> It is used by contracting authorities for construction projects and related consultancy services. The framework provides a systematic and detailed approach to support, among others planning (both preparatory and detailed), capital budgeting, design and construction cost, enhanced control and cost effectiveness of public work projects. The guidance document in the capital works management framework recommend procurers to use output-based specifications to encourage supply-wide innovation in construction procurements.

In the area of general public services, in the **Government's Public Service Reform Programme**<sup>492</sup>, identifies as key objective maximising value for money and delivering sustainable public services for the taxpayers. The reform plan does not specifically cite innovation procurement but refers to the objective for the OGC to facilitate the access of innovative SMEs to the public procurement with the introduction of increased centralized purchasing. The ambition is that "The Public Service will focus on delivering greater efficiency and effectiveness in how it uses limited resources. In addition to increased operational efficiency, the Public Service will be more innovative and strategic in how it designs and delivers public services".

In the **health sector**, innovation procurement is envisaged to support the effectiveness of R&D. The **Health Research Board's Strategic Plan 2016–2020**<sup>493</sup> identifies innovation procurement as a tool to enhance the effectiveness of the health system, thanks to its ability to foster new products, processes and solutions.

Indicator 5 – Action plan				
Total score	0%	European Average	8%	
Despite several herizontal and sectoral policies recognize in paration presumment as an important tool to achieve their				

Despite several horizontal and sectoral policies recognise innovation procurement as an important tool to achieve their strategic objectives, Ireland has not developed yet a specific action plan for innovation procurement, defining roles and activities to be implemented in the area of innovation procurement.

Indicator 6 – Spending target					
Total score	0%	European Average	11%		

As a result of the absence of an action plan, in Ireland no specific spending targets have been set for innovation procurement.

<sup>491</sup> http://constructionprocurement.gov.ie/capital-works-management-framework/

<sup>490 &</sup>lt;u>https://www.etenders.gov.ie/Media/Default/SiteContent/LegislationGuides/13.%20Green%20Tenders%20-%20An%20Action%20Plan%20on%20Green%20Public%20Procurement.pdf</u>

<sup>492</sup> https://www.reformplan.per.gov.ie/2014/downloads/files/Reform%20Plan%202014.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>493</sup> http://www.hrb.ie/uploads/media/HRB Strategy consultation document.pdf
Indicator 7 – Monitoring	system		
Total score	0%	European Average	13%

At the moment Ireland does not envisage any activity related to measuring innovation procurement expenditure and evaluating the impacts of completed innovation procurements.

Indicator 8 – Incentives			
Total score	0%	European Average	22%

Currently there are no financial or personal incentives to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements.

Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures							
Total score		6%		European	n Average	24%	
	Existence	Connection with relevant international/EU initiatives	Free of charge	Covering all types and aspects of innovation procurement	Available and applicable to all public procurers in the country	Mainstreaming Innovation procurement at a large scale	Sub- total score
Central website							0%
Good practices							0%
Trainings/ workshops							0%
Handbooks/ guidelines	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		50%
Assistance to public procurers							0%
Template tender documents							0%
Coordination / pre-approval							0%
Networking of public procurers							0%
One-stop-shop/ competence centre							0%

In terms of specific capacity building activities, in 2009 Ireland **developed a guide on** innovation procurement. The guide is entitled "*Buying Innovation: The 10 Step Guide to SMART Procurement and SME Access to Public contracts*" and sets out the range of actions to be considered during the procurement process to stimulate innovation in the Irish economy. It was developed by the Department of Business Enterprise and Innovation, and aims at promoting best practices and consistency of application of the public procurement rules in relation to the purchase of goods and services.<sup>494</sup> The guide is free of charge, available to all public procurement legal framework and EU initiatives anymore. It focuses on aspects that facilitate SME access to public procurement, not on all aspects and possible modalities of implementing innovation procurement itself (i.e. there is no reference to specific procurement approaches like PCP and PPI). Therefore, the total score for this sub-indicator is 50%.

An example of Public Procurement **networking**, but not specifically focused on innovation procurement, is given by quarterly meetings of the SME Advisory Group, chaired by the Minister of State to address issues affecting SME participation in public procurement. Representatives encompass, among the others, the Office of Government Procurement, the Department of Enterprise and Innovation, Enterprise Ireland, InterTrade Ireland, the Competition and Consumer Protection Commission, the Irish Business and Employers' Confederation, the Small Firms Association, the Construction Industry Federation, Chambers Ireland and the Irish Small and Medium Enterprises Association. However, these networking activities focus on SME issues, not specifically on innovation procurement. Therefore, the score for sub-indicator networking is 0%.

Ireland still lacks a structured approach to capacity building on innovation procurement across the country. The only capacity building measure related to innovation procurement is a guideline on facilitating the access of SMEs to public procurement to encourage innovation is provided. All other capacity building measures reflected under this indicator are not put in place, at least not with a dedicated focus on innovation procurement. On the basis of the evidence collected, the total score of this indicator is 6%.

<sup>494</sup> http://ogp.gov.ie/buying-innovation-the-10-step-guide-to-smart-procurement-and-sme-access-to-public-contracts/





This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of Innovation procurement. It is composed by two sub-indicators measuring:

I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in Ireland

II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regard to sub-indicator I, Ireland shows the following evidence:

- IPR Default regime: The score for this sub-indicator is 50% because the Irish law and general terms and a. conditions for government contracts do not define a default regime for IPR but the Irish government's 10 step guide on buying innovation and facilitating the access of SMEs to public procurement recommends that public procurers leave IPR ownership with contractors. It explains that: "If government decides to keep the IPR, it will have to pay a higher price for exclusive development. A supplier who can keep the IPR may consider it to be an investment, a building block for other projects. This would normally be reflected in a lower price for the public procurer. For overall economic development it is preferable that the IPR stay with the supplier so that the results of procurement (i.e. innovative solutions) can be diffused into the market. Ideally intellectual property rights should ultimately rest with the party who is best able to exploit it." This guidance was drawn up in line with Irish copyright Act<sup>495</sup>. Irish public procurement law foresees that public procurers can require in the tender specifications the transfer of IPR rights to the procurer. However, the Irish copyright act determines that the copyright (moral right) cannot be transferred by the creator to another party. If the procurer wants to use the copyright, he must require in the tender specifications the transfer, assignment or a license of the economic rights (e.g. usage, licensing, publication, modification, reproduction rights) at equitable payment. Copyright protects also scientific work (product designs, product specifications, tests etc.), computer programs and databases.
- b. **Use of value for money award criteria**: According to the Single Market Scoreboard, 83% of the procedures were not awarded only on the basis of the lowest price.<sup>496</sup> This is well above the European average of 42% and above the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard. Indeed, Ireland is together with the UK, Netherlands and France among the top performers in this sub-indicator.
- c. **Use of variants**: Ireland has allowed the use of variants in 8% of the procedure. This percentage is well above the European average.
- d. **Preliminary Market Consultations:** Ireland has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 16 % of the procedures. This percentage is significantly above the European average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 39% which is above the European average of 23%. This is due to fact that Ireland performs far above the European average in all the subcomponents of sub-indicator I. There is some promotion in guidelines to procurers for using an IPR default regime that fosters innovation in public procurement, but this is not anchored yet into legislation and general terms and conditions for government contracts.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Ireland shows the following evidence (based on the Single Market Scoreboard):

- e. **Level of competition**: The level of competition is 95% which is above the European average 84% and above the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. Both sub-indicators score above the European average: the percentage of procurements where there was more than one bidder (89%) and the percentage of procurements conducted with a call for bids (100%).
- f. **Level of transparency**: The level of transparency is 62% which is above the European average 45% but still below the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly due to the low TED publication rate (2%) and the percentage of procurements without missing buyer registration number (85%)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>495</sup> http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/text.jsp?file\_id=128034 <u>496 Single Market Scoreboard</u>

which is above European average but still below the 97% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. The percentage of procurements without missing call for bids information (98%) is very good.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 78% which is above the European average of 65% but still slightly below the 79% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 59% which is above the 44% European average but still below the satisfactory level for the total of the EU single market indicators. This score is explained firstly by the fact that both the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country and the openness of the Irish procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is above the European average but not yet reaching satisfactory level. Indeed, value for money criteria are widely used in public procurements but the IPR default regime that fosters innovation in public procurement that is promoted in Irish guidelines is not anchored yet into legislation and general terms and conditions for government contracts. In addition, although the national public procurement market shows an above average level of competition and transparency, the latter is still below the satisfactory level set in the EU single market scoreboard.

# 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Irish investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Irish investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, except when explicitly mentioned, for confidentiality reasons.

### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 9,9% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e. € 2,8 bn), **Ireland ranks 11<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>497</sup> across Europe. Ireland falls within the group of **good performers**, slightly above the European average of 9,3%.<sup>498</sup> However, **a significant increase of investments in PPI is still needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Irish public sector.<sup>499</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Ireland still remains in the 11<sup>th</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>500</sup> explaining Ireland's good performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

# Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Ireland (89%) is slightly above the European average (84%). This may be due to the fact that the largest portion of PPI is devoted to 'significantly improved' solutions (48% of PPI) and the adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (41% of PPI). The share of PPI investments that is spent on **incremental innovations** (11%) - which includes the purchase of 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' as well as 'innovative combinations of existing solutions' – is below the European average (16%). Despite being overall a good performer, Ireland still needs to step up efforts both on the adoption of transformative and incremental innovations to become a strong performer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>497</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found <u>here on the EU webpages</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>498</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>499</sup> It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve). <sup>500</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. Although Ireland places among the strong performers **in the adoption of innovative ICTs**, **further investments are still needed** in this field, to allow the country to achieve a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Every domain of public sector activity**<sup>501</sup> **in Ireland purchased innovation solutions**. The shares of PPI investments by different public sector domains out of total PPI investments in the country are **mostly in line with the European averages**. The share of PPI investments made by Irish procurers operating in the **'Healthcare and social services'**, **'Education, recreation, culture and religion'** and **'Energy'** domains is significantly above the European average (respectively +14 pp, + 8 pp and +7 pp). At the same time, the share of PPI investments made by procurers operating in the **'General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs'**, **'Public order, safety and security'** and **'Public transport'** domains are considerably below the European average (respectively -14 pp, -7 pp and -5 pp).

Domain of public sector activity	Ireland	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	21%	35%	-14
Public transport	5%	10%	-5
Healthcare and social services	35%	21%	+14
Energy	13%	6%	+7
Environment	3%	3%	0
Construction, housing and community amenities	2%	4%	-2
Education, recreation, culture and religion	13%	5%	+8
Water	5%	4%	+1
Public order, safety and security	1%	8%	-7
Postal services	1%	1%	0
Other	1%	3%	-2
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>501</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

# Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is significantly lower in Ireland (11%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Irish procurers may be more risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is higher in Ireland (89%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Irish procurers may tend to be more open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

# Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Irish PPI investments for which calls for tenders are published (33%), is higher than European average (22%). Both the portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (27%) and the portion that is **published at national level** (4%) are above European average (respectively 18% and 5%). However, for the majority of PPI investments there are no published in TED or at national level (67%).

Despite placing above the European averages, by not publishing PPI call for tenders widely, **Ireland is still missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Irish and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Irish PPI business opportunities.

# **Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity** PPI investments by level of public sector activity



The largest share of total PPI investments in Ireland is carried out by **large-scale entities at national level** (63%), such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is considerably above the European average (47%).

**Procurers at local level** account for slightly less than one-third of PPI investments (28%), below the European average (29%). **Procurers at regional level** account for the smallest fraction of PPI investments (39%), well above the European average (24%).

# Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The Irish public sector shows a **strong level of performance** in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment). With  $\in$  0,1 bn or 6,8% of total public procurement invested in ICT-based PPI, **Ireland ranks 2<sup>nd</sup>** in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, above the European average (3,5%). Also in terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions (69%), Ireland performs above the European average (38%). Despite being the country that already dedicates the highest share of PPI investments to ICT-based solutions, **a further effort is still needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement in the country to ICT-based innovations which would enable Ireland to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>502</sup>



The main factors<sup>503</sup> explaining Ireland's strong performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations**<sup>504</sup> in Ireland (93%) is well above the European average (79%). This may derive from the fact that more than the half of innovative ICT-based solutions that are adopted in Ireland, are 'new to the market' innovations (53% of ICT-based PPI) and almost the entire remaining part are 'significantly improved solutions' (40% of ICT-based PPI). The share of ICT-based PPI investments spent on the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations** (7%) is below the European average (21%). Despite being overall a strong performer, Ireland still needs a further effort both on the adoption of transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations to reach top level performance.





<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>502</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI – or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>503</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>504</sup> See definitions above.

# Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors





Ireland invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the so-called '**Core ICT**' **sub-sector**<sup>505</sup> (55%), in line with the European average (55%).

Ireland invested to a lesser extent in the adoption of innovations from the '**ICT Plus' sub-sector** (44%), but still in line with the European average (45%).

The share of Irish investments in adopting innovations from the **'Content & Media' sub-sector** was small (1%), in line with the European average (1%).

# Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Every domain of public sector activity in Ireland purchased innovative ICT-based solutions.** In particular, the highest share of ICT-based PPI investments were made by procurers active in '**Healthcare and social services**' (40% against a 30% European average) followed by procurers in '**General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs**' (23% which is significantly above the European average of 16%).



#### ICT-based PPI by domains of public sector activity

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

<sup>505</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

- · Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes
- · Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software
- ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

# ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 60% of ICT-based PPI investments, below the European average (69%).

**Procurers at local level** account for the highest share of the ICT-based PPI investments at sub-national level (33%), considerably above the European average (10%). To the contrary, **regional procurers** account for only a modest fraction of ICT-based PPI investments (7%), which is well below the European average (21%).

# Italy



#### . NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### Governance and legal framework

On April 19, 2016, the Italian Government approved the Legislative Decree no. 50/2016,<sup>506</sup> implementing Directives 2014/23/EU, 2014/24/EU and 2014/25/EU of the European Parliament and European Council "on public procurement and awarding concession contracts, procurement by entities operating in the water, energy, transport and postal services sectors and on the reorganization of the Public Procurement Regulation" (New Code). Public procurements in the defence and security sectors are currently governed by the code and the Legislative decree no.208/2011 (Defence decree) implementing the Directive no.2009/81/EU.

The Italian public procurement system is decentralised: it is composed of more than 20,000 contracting authorities active at local, regional and national level. In addition to these decentralized procurements, there is some centralisation of public procurement happening through a central procurement authority at the national level (CONSIP) and 31 main purchasing bodies (so-called *soggetti aggregatori*) at regional and local level, which represent approximately half of the procurement expenditure in the country. The rationale behind the centralisation of procurement is to take advantage of economies of scale.

The *New Code* includes measures aimed at strengthening the **National Anti-Corruption Authority** (ANAC) functions in the national public procurement system. ANAC exercises a supervisory role on public contracts and implements soft regulations, e.g. public statements, concerning the public procurement system of Italy, including innovation public procurement. Italy does not have a permanent officially appointed competence centre for innovation procurement. However, the **national purchasing body**, **CONSIP**, is currently participating to the EU-funded project *"Procure2Innovate - European network of competence centres for innovation procurement"*, with the aim to establish a national competence centre for innovation procurement in Italy in the framework of the project. Another relevant actor promoting the importance of the public sector as a buyer for research and innovation is the **Ministry of Education**, **University and Research** (**MIUR**).

At regional level and supported by external expertise, the **Lombardy region** has taken a leading role on innovation public procurement, both in terms of PCPs and PPIs, having approved and set up an all-encompassing policy (Regional Guidelines and Governance Framework), legislation (Regional Law n.29/2016 "Lombardy is Research and Innovation") and implementation (PCP pilot promoted in 2012 by Niguarda Hospital and 3 PCPs in health care sector financed with funds from the 2014-2020 POR-FESR), creating the basis for the establishment of a regional competence centre on innovation procurement in the healthcare sector.

#### **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In the benchmarking of national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Italy is at the 12<sup>th</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 33%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Italy is among the group of moderate performers in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. Having implemented only 33% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, a significant reinforcement of the policy framework is still needed in Italy to reach its full 100% potential.



<u>Strengths</u>: R&D and innovation policies that identify the strategic importance of innovation procurement

Weaknesses: High fragmentation of the procurement system. Although there is a good practice example at regional level in Lombardy, there is a lack of a structured innovation procurement policy in other regions and at national level: absence of a dedicated national action plan, financial incentives, target and monitoring systems for innovation procurement that is applicable country wide. IPR policy in national code of practice for IT procurements that hinders innovation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>506</sup> <u>http://www.gazzettaufficiale.it/atto/serie\_generale/caricaDettaglioAtto/originario?atto.dataPubblicazioneGazzetta=2016-04-19&atto.codiceRedazionale=16G00062</u>





In the Italian procurement legal framework there are clear official definitions for Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) and R&D procurement. These definitions, in line with the European legislation, are applicable country wide. In addition Legislative Decree no. 50/2016 also provides a legal basis to implement innovation procurement and Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI). Therefore the total score for this indicator is 65%.

Although there is no definition of innovation procurement in the Italian legal framework, article 3 (Section Definitions) of the legislative decree  $n^{\circ}$  50/2016, defines **innovation** as "the implementation of a new or significantly improved product, service or process, including production, building or construction processes, a new marketing method, or a new organizational method in business practices, workplace organization or external relations". This definition provides the legal basis to implement innovation procurement in the country and therefore the total score for this sub-indicator is 35%.

Art. 158 paragraph 1 (2) (Title V) of the Legislative Decree no. 50/2016 sets out **Pre-Commercial Procurement** by stating that "the contracting authorities may engage, in compliance with the principles set out in Article 4 of this Code, in pre-commercial public procurements that are intended for the achievement of results not belonging exclusively to the contracting authority nor to the contracting entity, for use in the exercise of its activity and for which the provision of the service is not fully remunerated by the contracting authority nor the contracting entity, as defined in the Communication of the European Commission COM 799 (2007) of December 14, 2007, in the cases in which the requirement cannot be satisfied by using solutions already available on the market for provisions concerning commercial public procurement". The definition is in line with the EU definition and applicable countrywide. Therefore, the total score for this sub-indicator is 100%.

The Statement of 9 March 2016 issued by the National Anti-Corruption Authority (ANAC) in the exercise of its soft regulation power on procurement contracts (also excluded from the application of the procurement code), clarified the scope of application of the pre-commercial contracts by limiting the use of this procedure only to procurement involving research and technological development services (R&D) and excluding those research and development services carried out in a permanent and functional manner for the exercise of the Public Administration ordinary activities. ANAC summarized the salient aspects of the discipline of pre-commercial procurement, in order to distinguish the pre-

commercial procurement from state aid in the field of research, development and innovation.

The Legislative decree no.208/2011 (Defence decree) which transposes the Defence and security Directive 2009/81 defines Research and Developments (in article 1H) as "all activities including fundamental research, applied research and experimental development. Experimental developments include activities based on existing knowledge obtained from research and practical experience, in view of the production of new materials, products or devices, new processes, new systems and services. Experimental development can also include the implementation of technological demonstrators, i.e. devices that allow to demonstrate the performance of a new concept or technology in a suitable or representative environment. «Research and development» does not include construction and qualification of prototypes, equipment and industrial engineering, industrial design or industrial production". This definition is in line with the EU definition but is not applicable to all public procurers in the Country. Therefore the total score is 90%. With regard to Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI) a definition is not available in the legal framework, and neither present in any policy document or guideline. However, the Legislative Decree no. 50/2016 provides the legal basis to all public procurers in the country to implement PPI (allowing procurers to award contracts and monitor contract performance not only based on price but also based on innovation criteria). In particular, article 100 (Chapter V) specifies that "contracting authorities may require special requisites for the performance of the contract, provided that they are compatible with European law and the principles of equal treatment, nondiscrimination, transparency, proportionality and innovation and are specified in the contract notice, or in invitation in the case of procedures without tender or in the contract documents". These conditions may, in particular, meet social environmental and innovative requirements". Therefore the total score for the sub-indicator PPI is 35%.



In Italy, two horizontal policies actively support innovation procurement, namely regional/urban policies and R&D policy. However, they enable innovation procurement only at regional level and only for PCP (leading to 50% score for both policies). The total score of the indicator is 14%.

The Italian **strategy for smart specialisation**<sup>507</sup> recognises the importance of PCP and PPI to foster innovation from the demand side. Several Italian Regions explicitly indicate PCP and PPI in their **2014-2020 operational plans for regional policy**. Lombardy and Sardegna are implementing PCPs via their operational programmes co-financed by the European Structural and Investment Funds. The application sectors have been identified by each Region in accordance with their smart specialization strategy (S3).

The PCP/PPI Funding Programme planned in **the National Research Plan (2015-2020)**<sup>508</sup> adopted by the Ministry of Education, University and Research (MIUR) and financed through the Cohesion Action Plan for the Convergence Regions (Puglia, Sicilia, Calabria and Campania) is another example of research and regional policy that embeds innovation procurement as a strategic priority.

For more information on the financing aspects and implementation status of the two above initiatives, see indicator 8.

Indicator 3 – ICT policies				
Total score	100%	European Average	47%	

The Decree 179/2012<sup>509</sup> on urgent measures for the growth of the country, defined "*a priority objective: the use of PCP* and PPI in order to stimulate the demand for innovative goods and services based on digital technologies in compliance with the European Digital Agenda". The "**Strategy for digital growth 2014-2020**<sup>510</sup>" highlights again this objective regarding PCP. The **three-year plan for IT in the Public Administration 2017-2020**<sup>511</sup> highlights that all public administrations responsible for IT purchases should encourage innovation procurement, including PCP and PPI. In addition, it provides recommendations to public procurers to support innovation in public procurement "by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>507</sup> <u>http://s3platform.jrc.ec.europa.eu/documents/20182/223684/IT\_RIS3\_201604\_Final.pdf/085a6bc5-3d13-4bda-8c53-aobeae3da59a</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>508</sup> <u>https://www.researchitaly.it/en/national-research-programme/</u>

<sup>509</sup> http://www.itaca.org/documenti/aggiornamento%20normativo/AN31 DL 179.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>510</sup> http://www.funzionepubblica.gov.it/digitalizzazione/agenda-digitale

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>511</sup> https://pianotriennale-ict.italia.it/assets/pdf/Piano Triennale per l informatica nella Pubblica Amministrazione.pdf

specifying the problem to be solved instead of the solution to be procured, by considering to organise preliminary market consultations with industry before procuring and by using appropriate innovation procurement procedures."

Indicator 4 – Sectorial policies				
Total score	0%	European Average	14%	

In Italy no sectoral policy explicitly recognises the role of innovation procurement within its strategy.

Indicator 5 – Action pl	an		
Total score	0%	European Average	8%

Italy does not have a national action plan for innovation procurement at national level.

Indicator 6 – Spending	g target		
Total score	50%	European Average	11%

In Italy there is no specific spending target at national level for innovation procurement that is applicable to all types of procurement and to all types of procurers across all domains of public sector activity. The only exception is the Lombardy Region where at least the 3% of the resources annually spent for the purchase of goods and services from the region's public bodies should be allocated on innovation public procurement, including the purchase of innovative solutions and green solutions emerged from research and development (through pre-commercial procurement). The Strategy for digital growth 2014-2020<sup>°512</sup> includes a KPI entitled "volume growth for procurement of innovations", which is set for 2018 at +60% in comparison to 2013 and for 2020 at +100% in comparison to 2013. However this KPI is only applicable to some specific e-procurement activities foreseen under this strategy (i.e. it is not applicable to the whole digital strategy). In addition, it is also not bound to achieving concrete results or impacts as it applies only to realisation objectives. No corresponding KPI for the result or impact objectives is available.

As there is no overall national spending target for all innovation procurements across the country, but only for certain parts, the score for this indicator is 50%.

Indicator 7 – Monitoring system				
Total score	0%	European Average	13%	

Italy does not have a structured system to measure the amount of innovation procurement expenditure or evaluate the impact of completed innovation procurements.

However, the initiatives carried out under PCP/PPI Funding Programme, financed through the Cohesion Action Plan, are regularly monitored by the Cohesion agency. The ESIF's funded innovation procurement initiatives at regional level are monitored according to the standard procedures.



At national level, there are no incentives to encourage public procurers in undertaking more innovation procurement, but **financial incentives** are present at regional level.

The Inter-ministerial Directorial Decree (DD) number 437 of 13th of March 2013, planned the implementation of a Funding Programme for PCP/PPI financed through the Cohesion Action Plan. The intervention covered the four Convergence Regions, namely Calabria, Campania, Puglia and Sicily. With the DD number 1 of the 7th of January 2015, the MIUR and Ministry for Economic Development (MISE) defined the respective competences on 42 selected procurements under the programme (30 initiatives managed by the MIUR and 12 initiatives managed by the MISE).

In this context, in 2015, MIUR signed a collaboration agreement with AGID for the management of the 30 procedures. However, by 2018, when the AGID-MIUR agreement ended, AGID had only launched 2 out of the 30 calls for tenders. In parallel, the MISE had withdrawn the funding for the 12 planned actions. These actions do not count for the scoring of the sub-indicator financial incentives, because these pilot actions are implemented by the national ministries

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>512</sup> Presidenza del Consiglio dei Ministri (2015), Strategia per la crescita digitale 2014-2020 (page 85). Available at: <u>https://www.agid.gov.it/sites/default/files/repository\_files/documentazione/strategia\_crescita\_digitale\_ver\_def\_21062016.pdf</u>

MISE/MIUR themselves and do not provide financial incentives to regional authorities to implement innovation procurements.

Other relevant regional initiatives are implemented through the ESIF in Lombardy and Sardinia. Both regions have set up calls for interest to collect innovation needs from public procurers in their region. On the basis of these needs, the aim is to select innovation procurement actions to be implemented under the Operational Regional Program ERDF 2014-2020. In Lombardy, the precondition for the implementation of the initiative (financed under Action I.1.b.3.1 of the ERDF 2014-2020, stemmed from the publication of a public invitation for the collection of innovative needs from public and accredited private hospitals and nursing homes in Lombardy (DDUO n. 5704/2017). As a result, financial incentives in Italy are not applicable country wide and are not directed to all types of innovation procurement. Conversely, financial incentives are only available in some regions and are only co-financed with ESIF funds. Therefore, the score of the sub-indicator "Financial incentives" is 43%.

At national level there are no **personal incentives** to encourage innovation procurement. However in Lombardy, there are bonuses for public servants related to achieving the objectives of Lombardy's regional policy on innovation procurement, including Lombardy's 3% regional target for innovation procurement, which is also included in the career objectives. The score for the sub-indicator "personal incentives" is 50%.

The total score of the indicator "incentives" is 46%.

Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures							
Total score	7%			European Avero	ige	24%	
	r		-		-		
	Existence	Connection with relevant international/ EU initiatives	Free of charge	Covering all types and aspects of innovation procurement	Available and applicable to a public procurers in the country	d all Mainstreaming Innovation procurement at a large scale	Sub- total score
Central website							0%
Good practices							0%
Trainings/ workshops							0%
Handbooks/ guidelines	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		67%
Assistance to public procurers							0%
Template tender documents							0%
Coordination / pre- approval							0%
Networking of public procurers							0%
One-stop-shop/ competence centre							0%

The total score of the indicator reflects the weakness of the Italian system in implementing regular structural capacity building or assistance measures to increase the know-how of public procurers across all levels and sectors of public sector activity across the country.

The only measure implemented is an eGuidelines/Vademecum document entitled "**Guide for the use of Pre-Commercial Procurement**". The document was published in 2012 by the **Department for Digitalisation and Technological Innovation of the Public Administration.**<sup>513</sup> It was issued for the purpose of clarifying the legislation on PCP. In addition, it presented procedures to facilitate the implementation of PCP in the country. These guidelines are offered free of charge, refer to the relevant EU legal framework and guidance on PCP and are available to all public procures in the country, but are not covering all aspects of innovation procurement. Therefore the total score of the sub-indicator "Handbook-Guidelines" is 67%. Other measures to enhance procurers' know-how in innovation procurement are not put in place.

Since 2016, the National Anti-Corruption Authority (ANAC) and the National School for public Administration (SNA) have set up a **training on innovation procurement**<sup>514</sup>. However, the training is not scaled-up in a widespread, regular way to be considered as a structural measure for training public administrations across the country on innovation procurement. Therefore, the score for this sub-indicator is still 0%.

<sup>513</sup> https://procurement-forum.eu/resource/download/449/Italy\_Guide+on+PCP.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>514</sup> Post-graduate training on Innovation Procurement in the II level Master "Strategie per l'efficienza, l'integrità e l'innovazione nei contratti pubblici" managed by Dipartimento di Management of Torino University, Autorità Nazionale Anticorruzione (ANAC), Scuola Nazionale dell'Amministrazione (SNA). More info at: <u>https://www.unito.it/comunicati\_stampa/efficienza-integrita-e-innovazione-nei-contratti-pubblici-unito-anac-e-sna</u>

innovations from across the EU single market

**Consip** is participating in the EU funded Procure2Innovate project (European network of national competence centres on innovation procurement) with the aim to establish a **national competence centre for innovation procurement** in Italy. However, as this competence centre is currently still under construction, the score for one-stop-shop / competence centre is still o%.

Italy still lacks a structured framework for capacity building on innovation procurement. Apart from one guideline on PCP, there are no capacity building measures available. On the basis of the evidence collected, the total score for this indicator is 7%.



Preliminary market consultation Use of variants Value for money IPR 0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of innovation procurement. It is composed by two sub-indicators measuring:

I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in Italy

II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regard to sub-indicator I, Italy shows the following evidence:

- IPR Default regime: The score for this sub-indicator is 25%, which is below the 38% European average, a. because there is no default scenario for distribution of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers in Italy. Italian law, general terms and conditions for government contracts and guidelines on public procurement do not define how IPR allocation is best dealt with in procurement contracts. It is left to the individual responsibility of each Italian procurer to specify clearly the IPR allocation for the procurement in its tender documents so that it stimulates innovation and is compliant with applicable IPR/copyright law. Italian copyright law<sup>515</sup> determines that copyrights belong in an inalienable way to the creator (cannot be waived, licensed or assigned to anyone else). Only the economic rights can be transferred, assigned or licensed by the creator to another person/entity. If the procurer wants to use the copyright created by a (sub)contractor he must require in the tender specifications the transfer, assignment or a license of the economic rights (e.g. usage, licensing, publication, modification, reproduction rights) at equitable payment. Copyright law protects also scientific work, software and database rights. In the specific case of PCP, the Italian law refers to the EC COM 799/2007 which explains that in PCPs IPR ownership remains with the contractor while the contracting authority retains usage and rights to require the contractors to give licenses to third parties under fair and reasonable market conditions.
- b. **Use of value for money criteria**: According to the EU single market scoreboard, 61% of the procedures were not awarded on the basis of the lowest price only. This is moderately above the European average of 42% but still not reaching the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard.
- c. **Use of variants**: Italy has allowed the use of variants in the 8% of the procedures. This percentage is well above the European average.
- d. **Preliminary Market Consultations:** Italy has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 19% of the procedures, ranking well above the European average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 28% which is above the European average of 23% This is mainly due to the above average performance on the use of value for money criteria, use of variants and Preliminary Market Consultation in procedures. The score in IPR default regime is instead below European average.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Italy shows the following evidence (based on the Single Market Scoreboard):

e. **Level of competition**: The level of competition is 82% which is below the European average 84% and below the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This performance is driven by average

<sup>515</sup> http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/text.jsp?file\_id=301483

amount of procurements that were conducted with a call for bids (93%) and below average amount of procurements with more than one bidder (70%).

f. **Level of transparency**: The level of transparency is 31% which is below the European average 45% and below the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This negative performance is mainly driven by the high amount of procurements with missing buyer registration numbers (97%) which makes it hard for suppliers to understand which public buyer wants to buy what. The amount of procurements without missing call for bids information (87%) is above European average but below the 97% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 56% which is below the European average of 65% and below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly due to below European average level of competition and transparency.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score the for indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 42% which is slightly below the 44% European average. This score is explained firstly by the fact that the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement the country is around the European average but the openness of the Italian procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is below the European average. Indeed, the country has not yet adopted a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation and the use of value for money award criteria is not fully mainstreamed yet. In addition, although the national public procurement market shows a below average level of competition and transparency.

# 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Italian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Italian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, except when explicitly mentioned, for confidentiality reasons.

# Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 8,2% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e. 20,2 bn), **Italy ranks 14<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>516</sup> across Europe. Italy falls within the group of **moderate performers**, slightly below the European average of 9,3%.<sup>517</sup> **A considerable increase of investments in PPI** is still needed to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Italian public sector.<sup>518</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Italy drops to the 16<sup>th</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>519</sup> explaining Italy's moderate performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** (94%) is well above the European average (84%). This consists of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' and 'significantly improved' solutions. The share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of **incremental innovations** (6%) – which consist of 'existing solutions being used in a new way or in a new sector' or 'innovative combinations of existing solutions' – is significantly below the European average (16%). As the total amount of investments in innovative solutions in Italy is moderate and below EU average, the country still needs to step up considerably its investments in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>516</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI procurement) across Europe can be found <u>here on the EU webpages</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>517</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>518</sup> It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve). <sup>519</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is an important factor explaining why Italy is not yet at the level of PPI investment that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the Italian public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**All domains of public sector activity**<sup>520</sup> **in Italy purchased innovative solutions.** PPI investments made by different public sector domains are **mostly below the European averages** (in 6 of the 11 domains). The share of PPI investments by Italian procurers operating in **'Healthcare and social services**', **'Public order, safety and security**' and **'Public transport**' are significantly below the European averages (respectively -9 pp, -7 pp and -6 pp). The share of PPI investments by Italian procurers is significantly higher than the European average in the **'General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs**' and **'Postal services**' domains (respectively +13 pp and +9 pp).

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

Domain of public sector activity	Italy	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	48%	35%	13
Public transport	3%	10%	-7
Healthcare and social services	12%	21%	-9
Energy	10%	6%	4
Environment	3%	3%	0
Construction, housing and community amenities	2%	4%	-2
Education, recreation, culture and religion	2%	5%	-3
Water	8%	4%	4
Public order, safety and security	2%	8%	-6
Postal services	10%	1%	9
Other	1%	3%	-2
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>520</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

# Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposals Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is lower in Italy (22%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Italian procurers may be more risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is slightly higher in Italy (78%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Italian procurers may tend to be more open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

#### Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of PPI investments for which calls for tenders are published in Italy is considerably higher (52%) compared to the European average (22%). Both the portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (30%) and the portion that is **published at national level** (22%) are significantly above the European average (respectively 18% and 5%). Nonetheless, the share of PPI investments for which no calls for tenders are published in TED or at national level is still almost equally big (48%) as the share of published PPI (52%).

By publishing calls for tenders for roughly half the amount of PPI investments, **Italy still misses out on innovative solutions** from Italian and other European innovative suppliers that are not aware about the PPI business opportunities. Further enhancing the share of published PPIs would help Italy reach a good path for enhancing the opportunities to purchase potential innovative solutions that could speed up public sector modernisation, both.

#### Investments readiness across levels of public sector activity

PPI investments by level of public sector activity



Almost the half of the total PPI investments in Italy are carried out by **procurers the local level** (47%). This is considerably above the European average (29%). **Procurers at the regional level** account for a share of PPI investments (27%) which is quite in line with the European average (24%).

**National level procurers** account for the smallest fraction of PPI investments (26%), well below the European average (47%).

# Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

In terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment), Italy falls within the group of **bottom level performers**. With  $\bigcirc$  0,5 bn or 1,6% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Italy ranks 22th** in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, well below the European average (3,5%). Also in terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions (20%), Italy performs below the European average (38%). Thus, **a large increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions is needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Italy to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>521</sup>



The **main factors**<sup>522</sup> explaining Italy's bottom level performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments spent on the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations** (6%) is significantly below European average (21%). The share of ICT-based PPI investments that went to the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** (94% of ICT-based PPI) is well above the European average (79%). This consists of 'significantly improved solutions' (65%) and innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (29%). However, as the total amount of investments in ICT-based innovative solutions in Italy is really low, the country is still lagging behind considerably in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.

# ICT-based PPI investments by type of innovation



 $<sup>5^{21}</sup>$  It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI – or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>522</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI

# Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

All domains of public sector activity in Italy purchased innovative ICT-based solutions. The highest share of ICT-based PPI investments was made by procurers that operate in the 'Energy' domain (31%), which is well above the European average (6%). At the same time, the share of investments made by Italian procurers operating in 'Public order, safety and security' (6%) are significantly below the European average (19%).



# ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

# Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

<sup>523</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

- · Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes
- · Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software
- ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

# ICT-based PPI investment by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 39% of ICT-based PPI investments, which is well below the European average (69%).

**Procurers at local level** account for the highest share of the ICT-based PPI investments at sub-national level (32%), three times higher than the European average (10%), while **regional procurers** account for the 29% of ICT-based PPI investments, which is above the European average (21%).

# Latvia



# . NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### Governance and legal framework

The new Public Procurement Law<sup>524</sup> entered into force on March 2017 and transposed the EU directive 2014/24. The law is supplemented by other Regulations, which aim to expand the law and detail how public procurement should be performed in the country. The Directive 2014/25/EU has been transposed into national legislation through the Public Service Providers Procurement Law<sup>525</sup> entered into force in April 2017. The Directive 2014/23/EU was implemented through Law on Public-Private Partnership with amendments which entered into force in April 2017. Finally, the European Defence Directive 2009/81/EC was adopted through Procurement Law in the field of defence and security<sup>526</sup> in 2011.

According to the Procurement Monitoring Bureau, in Latvia there were approximately 1750 contracting authorities registered in the publication of public procurement notices in 2017. In Latvia, 38% of public procurement takes place at national level, 12% at regional and local level, 18% by bodies governed by public law and 33% by other types of public procurers.

The **Ministry of Finance** is responsible for procurement policy and for drafting legislation in the field. Within the Ministry, the **Procurement Monitoring Bureau (IUB)** plays an important role in terms of oversight. In addition, the IUB is responsible for providing guidance, training and statistical monitoring of procurement, and provides methodological instructions and explanations for the organization of the procedure as well as provide consultations to contracting authorities in all procurement stages. The **State Regional Development Agency** is the main actor for e-procurement, whereas the **Ministry for Environmental Protection and Regional Development (VARAM)** is the main authority for GPP policy which is well developed in the Member State.

Innovation procurement in the Country is at an early development stage. Transposition of the new 2014 public procurement Directives 2014/24/EU and 2014/25/EU in national legislation can be considered as a first step towards the development of the innovation procurement system in Latvia.

### **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In the benchmarking of national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Latvia is at the 22<sup>nd</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 16,1%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Latvia is among the group of low performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. The country's performance is below European average on 9 out of 10 indicators. Having implemented only 16,1% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, a strong reinforcement of the policy framework for innovation procurement is needed in Latvia to reach its full 100% potential.



Strength: Latvia has the legal basis and awakening support from some horizontal enabling policies on which the country can start developing an innovation procurement policy framework

Weaknesses: Innovation procurement in Latvia is at an early development stage, and most important elements of a structural policy framework to foster innovation procurement are still missing (e.g. national competence centre, dedicated action plan, spending target, monitoring system etc.). Lack of IPR policy in public procurement that encourages innovation.

<sup>524</sup> https://likumi.lv/doc.php?id=287760

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>525</sup> https://likumi.lv/doc.php?id=216076

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>526</sup> https://likumi.lv/ta/id/238803-aizsardzibas-un-drosibas-jomas-iepirkumu-likums





In the Latvian national legal framework and guidance documents on public procurement there is no official definition for innovation nor for innovation procurement, Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP), Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI). However, the Latvian public procurement laws for public authorities, utilities and defence/security procurement provide a clear legal basis for implementing PCP and PPI (although without giving explicit definitions). A full definition of R&D is only available in the Latvian public procurement law for defence and security which is in line with the provisions in the EU defence procurement directive. Therefore, total score for this indicator is: 40%.

Latvian public procurement law has not transposed the **definition of innovation** from the 2014 EU public procurement directives that can be used in combination with all public procurement procedures. Instead innovation is only mentioned in Latvian public procurement law under the Innovation Partnership procedure that has been transposed. As a result, so far, national level policy activities on innovation procurement have approached innovation procurement in a rather narrow way, assimilating its definition to the innovation partnership procedure or the competitive dialogue. There is a however a much wider range of procurement procedures and approaches available under the public procurement legal framework that can be used to implement innovation procurements, ranging from simple-to-start-with procedures (to buy R&D or innovative solutions separately) to more elaborate and complex ones such as the innovation partnerships<sup>527</sup>. Avoiding this confusion will be important to prevent misconceptions and disorientation about what is considered innovation procurement and what is not. To this purpose, the informative report that the Ministry of Economy is planning to prepare (due in 2018/2019) will also include a section on the definitions. Because of the lack of any official definition so far, the total score for this sub-indicator is 0%.

The **definition of R&D** in the context of public procurement is only available in the defence sector. Article 1(13) of the Latvian public procurement law for defence and security has transposed the definition of R&D from the Directive/81/EC on defence procurement: *"research and development" means all activities related to fundamental and applied research and experimental development (production), which may also include demonstration of technology with equipment* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>527</sup> https://ec.europa.eu/info/policies/public-procurement/support-tools-public-buyers/innovation-procurement\_en

demonstrating the performance of the concept developed in a real or artificial environment; This definition is compliant with the EU definition but is applicable only in the defence sector. Although there is no full sentence definition for R&D in the other Latvian procurement laws, article 3(2) in the Latvian public procurement law and article 86(4) and article 9(1)(6) in the Latvian Public Service Providers Procurement Law identify R&D as activities that have the CPV codes for fundamental research, applies research and industrial development. Therefore, the total score for this sub-indicator is 90%.

Article 3(2) also transposes the exclusion for R&D services, which forms the legal basis for implementing PCP in Latvia: "This law applies only to public service contracts for research and development services for which the CPV code is from 73000000-2 to 73120000-9, 73300000-5, 73420000-2 and 73430000-5, provided that the following conditions are fulfilled simultaneously: 1) the results of the service provided will only benefit the contracting authority, who will use these results exclusively for their own needs; 2) the contracting authority fully pays for the service provided." The article 4(3)(5) of the Latvian national public procurement law for defence and security and the article 9(1)(6) of the Latvian Public Service Providers Procurement Law define a similar exclusion for R&D services. Although no definition of PCP exists in national legislation nor in official guidance docs, but the legal basis to implement PCP is available (R&D services exemption) which is applicable to all public procurers in the country and in line with the EU procurement directives provisions. The total score for this sub-indicator is 35%.

Finally, a definition of **PPI** is not embedded in the national legislation nor in official guidance documents. However, the Public procurement act allows procurers to implement PPI (awarding and monitoring performance based on innovative solution characteristics). In particular, art. 51.2 (a) states that "(1) A contracting authority shall award a procurement contract to the most economically advantageous tender. (2) The most economically advantageous tender is determined by: 1) using price or cost, applying an efficiency approach (for example, by estimating life cycle costs); 2) taking into account the price or cost and the quality criteria related to the subject of the procurement contract, for example: (a) quality, including technical advantages, aesthetic and functional characteristics, availability, conformity to universal design, social and environmental protection requirements, innovative characteristics and conditions of sale." These legal provisions are applicable to all public procurers in the country and are in line with the provisions of the EU public procurement directives. Therefore, the total score of this sub-indicator is 35%.

#### Indicator 2 – Horizontal policies Total score European Average 36% 29% Regional/urban policy Entrepreneurship policy Economic and financial policy Competition policy

Public procurement Innovation policy

**R&D** policy 0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% Two policy documents focusing on innovation policy incentivise the use of innovation procurement and industrial policy

in the whole country. Therefore, total score for this indicator is 29%.

The two strategic documents are:

- Guidelines on National Industrial Policy for 2014-2020528 According to these Guidelines, promotion of 1) innovation has been set as one of the key pillars to enhance competitiveness, productivity and export volumes. Public demand for innovation is one of the four equally important elements emphasized within the Guidelines to improve innovation system. The other elements are: 1) knowledge capacity, 2) innovation supply, and 3) knowledge transfer system. Guidelines focus on two main courses of actions for innovation, the promotion of technology development and production of higher value-added products, and boosting knowledge absorption and dvnamic entrepreneurship.
- Guidelines for the Development of Science, Technology and Innovation for 2014-2020529 The 2) Guidelines implement a new horizontal approach to science and innovation policy, linking research and industry sectors in a single system. According to the guidelines, the development of the Latvian innovation system should focus on (i) developing the potential of scientific activities; (ii) developing platforms for long-term cooperation between researchers and enterprises and public authorities (iii) supporting the development of innovative companies. The aim of the STI Guidelines is to raise the global competitiveness of Latvian science, technology and innovation, satisfying the development needs of Latvian society and economy. In reaching this objective the role of public demand can be crucial.

However, both documents do not define concrete actions but make a reference to public demand for innovation as a tool to boost innovation in the country.

<sup>528</sup> http://polsis.mk.gov.lv/documents/4391

<sup>529</sup> http://polsis.mk.gov.lv/documents/4608

Indicator 3 – ICT polic	eies		
Total score	50%	European Average	47%

The **Information Society development guidelines 2014-2020**, which is the Latvian strategy for digitization<sup>530</sup>, does not specifically mention innovation procurement but sets as objectives "to involve experts in public administration who know how to convert needs into clearly defined functional demands" and "to support the purchase of SME research services in order to increase demand for innovative solutions and the innovation performance of innovative companies." Innovation procurement is only partly addressed in the policy framework, therefore the score of this indicator is 50%.

Indicator 4 – Sectorial policies				
Total score	0%	European Average	14%	

In Latvia no sectorial policy explicitly recognises the role of innovation procurement within its strategy. Therefore, the score for this indicator is 0%. There are however opportunities where innovation procurement could help address the demand for innovation solutions:

The country has a specific policy on **Green Public Procurement**, developed since 2008 when the "Guidance for the National and Local Authorities on how to promote GPP in Latvia and how to green construction works and services" was introduced. Until last year, GPP was governed by the National GPP Support Plan for 2015-2017, which defined targets, criteria, product groups as well as government actions for reaching its objectives. Furthermore, Latvia has developed specific environmental and contract award criteria for procurement of food supply and catering services. However, there is no specific reference to innovation procurement in any environmental policy or national strategy.

Demand for more innovative products in the industry of **building and construction**, which is one of the most relevant public procurement areas, is growing. It is related to energy efficiency, thermal insulation and other environmental issues, as well as life cycle costing (LCC), but the focus is especially on Green or Sustainable Procurement rather than on innovation procurement.

Indicator 5 – Action plan					
Total score	0%	European Average	8%		

Latvia does not have a stand-alone Action Plan for innovation procurement.

Indicator 6 – Spending target					
Total score	0%	European Average	11%		

In Latvia there is no specific spending target for innovation procurement, while there is a national spending target for Green public procurement.

Indicator 7 – Monitoring system				
Total score	0%	European Average	13%	

Latvia does not have a structured system for measuring innovation procurement expenditure or for evaluating the impact of completed innovation procurements.

Indicator 8 – Incentives				
Total score	0%	European Average	22%	

In Latvia there are no financial or personal incentives to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements.

Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures					
Total score	0%	European Average	24%		

In Latvia a structured approach to capacity building on innovation procurement is still missing. There are no dedicated innovation procurement capacity building activities; innovation is usually addressed as a part of wider capacity building activities. There is some assistance on innovation related legal provisions in the new public procurement legislation to public procurers as a part of wider capacity building activities on public procurement in general, but not dedicated systematic assistance or training on non-legal implementation aspects on all types of possible innovation procurement approaches. Based on the evidence collected, the overall score of this indicator is 0%.

The Procurement Monitoring Bureau provides **methodological support** for the organisation of public procurement procedures. Support activities take the form of instructions and clarifications to public procurers. In addition, it also provides **consulting services** to contracting authorities throughout the whole procurement process. These activities usually focus on the effective implementation of the new legislation in the area of public procurement.



This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of Innovation procurement. It is composed by two sub-indicators reflecting:

- I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in Latvia
- II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regard to sub-indicator I, Latvia shows the following evidence:

- a. **IPR Default regime**: The score for this sub-indicator is 25%, which is below the 38% European average, because there is no default scenario for the distribution of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers in Latvia. Latvian law, general terms and conditions for government contracts and guidelines on public procurement do not define how IPR allocation is best dealt with in procurement contracts. It is left to the individual responsibility of each Latvian procurer to specify clearly the IPR allocation for the procurement in its tender documents so that it stimulates innovation and is compliant with applicable IPR/copyright law. Latvian copyright law<sup>531</sup> determines that copyrights belong in an inalienable way to the creator (cannot be waived, licensed or assigned to anyone else). Only the economic rights can be transferred, assigned or licensed by the creator to another person/entity. Therefore, Latvian copyright law determines that for commissioned works the author retains copyright and the commissioning party obtains the right to use the commissioned work. If the procurer wants to obtain other economic rights owned by the creator (sub)contractors in his procurement) he must require in the tender specifications the transfer, assignment or a license of those economic rights (e.g. licensing, publication, modification, reproduction rights) at equitable payment. Copyright law protects also scientific work, software and database rights.
- b. **Use of value for money award criteria**: According to the EU single market scoreboard, only 27% of the public procurement procedure have been awarded using not only criteria based on the lowest price. This is below the European average of 42% and below the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard. The country shows an over-reliance of lowest price criteria in procurement procedures.
- c. Use of variants: Latvia has not allowed the use of variants in any procurement procedure in 2018
- d. Preliminary Market Consultation: Latvia has not used Preliminary Market Consultations in 2018

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 13% which is significantly below the European average of 23% This is mainly due to the below average performance on adopting an IPR default regime that fosters innovation in public procurement and the underutilization of value for money award criteria.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Latvia shows the following evidence (based on the single market scoreboard):

- e. **Level of competition**: The level of competition of the national public procurement market is 82% which is below the European average 84% and below the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is due to the fact that both sub-indicators are below European average: the percentage of procurements with more than one bidder (73%) and the percentage of procurements conducted with a call for bids (91%).
- f. **Level of Transparency**: The level of transparency of the public procurement market is 61% which is above the European average 45% but still below the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. Latvia has the highest TED publication rate in Europe (9,8%). However, its above European average amount of procurements without missing call for bids information (95%) and its below European average amount of

<sup>531</sup> http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/text.jsp?file\_id=352940

procurements without missing buyer registration number (78%) are still below the 97% satisfactory level of the EU single market scoreboard.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 71% which is above the European average of 65% but below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly due to below average level of competition.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator is 42% which is slightly below the 44% European average. This score is explained firstly by the fact that the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country is significantly below European average and the openness of the Latvian procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is above the European average. Indeed, the country has not yet adopted a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation and value for money criteria are still seriously underused in public procurements. Secondly, use of variants or Preliminary Market Consultation have not been considered in procedures. In addition, although the national public procurement market shows an above average level of transparency, the level of competition is below the European average.

# 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Latvian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Latvian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 4,8% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e.  $\\\in$  0,2 bn), **Latvia ranks 23<sup>rd</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>532</sup> across Europe. Latvia falls within the group of **low performers**, below the European average of 9,3%.<sup>533</sup> **A large increase of investments in PPI** is still needed to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Latvian public sector.<sup>534</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Latvia still remains in the 23<sup>rd</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>535</sup> explaining Latvia's low performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

# Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Latvia (96%) is well above the European average (84%). This consists of adoption of 'significantly improved' solutions (55% of PPI) and innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (41% of PPI). The share of PPI investment that is spent on the adoption of **incremental innovations** (4%), which includes the purchase of 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' as well as 'innovative combinations of existing solutions', is really small and well below the European average (16%). As the total amount of investments in innovative solutions in Latvia is low, the country is still lagging behind considerably in the adoption of both transformative and incremental innovations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>532</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found <u>here on the EU webpages</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>533</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>534</sup> It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve).
<sup>535</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is therefore an important factor explaining why Latvia is not yet at the level of PPI investment that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

A number of domains of public sector activity<sup>536</sup> in Latvia did not invest in the adoption of innovative solutions: PPI procurements made by public procurers that operate in the domains of 'Construction, housing and community amenities', Water', 'Postal services' and 'Other' were zero. In addition, the shares of PPI investments out of total PPI investments in the country made by procurers in 'Healthcare and social services', 'Public transport' and 'Public order, safety and security' are significantly below the European averages (respectively, -10 pp, -9 pp and -6 pp). However, the shares of PPI investments made by Latvian procurers in the 'Energy' and 'Education, recreation, culture and religion' domains are significantly above the European average (respectively, +20 pp and +17 pp).

Domain of public sector activity	Latvia	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	36%	35%	+1
Public transport	1%	10%	-9
Healthcare and social services	11%	21%	-10
Energy	26%	6%	+20
Environment	2%	3%	-1
Construction, housing and community amenities	0%	4%	-4
Education, recreation, culture and religion	22%	5%	+17
Water	0%	4%	-4
Public order, safety and security	2%	8%	-6
Postal services	0%	1%	-1
Other	0%	3%	-3
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>536</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

# Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is significantly higher in Latvia (51%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Latvian procurers may be less risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is significantly lower in Latvia (49%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Latvian procurers may tend to be less open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Latvian PPI investments for which calls for tenders are published (34%) is above the European average (22%). The portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (33%) is higher than the European average (18%), while the portion that is **published at national level** (1%) is below the European average (5%). The share of PPI investments for which no call for tenders are published in TED or at national level is high (66%).

By not publishing calls for tenders for PPI procurements widely, **Latvia** is **missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Latvian and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Latvian PPI business opportunities.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

PPI investments by level of public sector activity



The largest share of the total PPI investments in Latvia is carried out by **large-scale entities at national level** (36%), such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is considerably below the European average (47%).

**Procurers at local level** account for similar amount of share of PPI investments (35%), but this time well above the European average (29%). **Procurers at regional level** account for the smallest fraction of PPI investments (29%), which is slightly above the European average (24%).

# Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The Latvian public sector shows a **bottom level of performance** in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment). With  $\in$  0,01 bn or 1,7% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Latvia ranks 21**<sup>st</sup> in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, well below the European average (3,5%). Also in terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions (35%), Latvia is performing below the European average (38%). A **large increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions is still needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Latvia to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>537</sup>



The **main factors**<sup>538</sup> explaining Latvia's bottom level performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments in Latvia that is spent on the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations**<sup>539</sup> (10%) is below the European average (21%). The share that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** (90%) is well above the European average (79%). This consists in the adoption of 'significantly improved solutions' (30% of ICT-based PPI) and innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (31% of ICT-based PPI). However, as the total amount of investments in ICT-based innovative solutions in Latvia is low, the country is still lagging considerably in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.

### ICT-based PPI investments by type of innovation



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>537</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI – or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>538</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>539</sup> See definitions above.

# Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



Latvia invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the so-called '**ICT Plus' sub-sector**<sup>540</sup> (70%), well above the European average (45%).

Latvia invested to a lesser extent in the adoption of innovations from the '**Core ICT' sub-sector** (30%), below the European average (55%).

No investment was directed to adopting innovations from the **'Content & Media' sub-sector**, which is below the European average (1%).

### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**In several domains of public sector activity public procurers did not invest** in the adoption of ICT-based innovative solutions in Latvia: ICT-based PPI investments made by public procurers that operate in the domains **'Construction, housing and community amenities', 'Water', 'Postal'** and **'Other'** were zero. In addition, the shares of investments made by public procurers that operate in **'Public order, safety and security'** (5%) and **'General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs'** domains (2%) were significantly below the European averages (19% and 16% respectively). **'Education, recreation, culture and religion'** and **'Environment'** are the only two domains in which the shares of ICT-based PPI investment were significantly above the European averages (respectively, +50 pp and +4 pp).

#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>540</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>·</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

<sup>·</sup> Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

# Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 79% of ICT-based PPI investments, above the European average (69%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for the rest of the ICT-based PPI (21%), which equals the European average. No ICT-based PPI results were made by **procurers at the local level** (0%), showing a significant gap from the European average at local level (10%).





# 1. NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### Governance and legal framework

In Lithuania public procurement is regulated by the Law on Public Procurement. The EU Procurement Directives 2014/23, 24, 25/EU were transposed in 2016<sup>541</sup>. In the field of PCP, particularly important is the Decree No 709 of the Government of the Republic of Lithuania of 1 July 2015 on the Approval of the Procedures for Pre-commercial Procurement. The Directive 2009/81/EC was implemented by the law on Public procurement in the field of defence and security, No XI-1491<sup>542</sup>.

In Lithuania, public procurement is primarily conducted by sub-national contracting authorities with the national procurement supervising body operating a strong reporting system to monitor their activities.<sup>543</sup>

At national level, the key actor in the area of public procurement is the **Ministry of Economy and Innovation**, which is responsible for public procurement, its legislation and for technology and innovation<sup>544</sup>. The Ministry is supported by the **Public Procurement Office (PPO)**, which implements the public procurement policy and supervises compliance with the law and the implementing legislation. The PPO's functions include providing methodological assistance to the contracting authorities, administering the central e-procurement portal, preventing infringements, controlling contracting authorities' compliance with the law and coordinating and monitoring public procurement procedures together with partner ministries and other State authorities. Another important key actor is the **Competition Council**, which is responsible to investigate possible anti-competitive practices from both contracting authorities and bidders. It reports its findings to the PPO and can impose fines as well as refer cases to the courts in case of competition law infringements related to public procurement. Finally, the **Central Purchasing Organisation (CPO)** conducts centralised procurement on behalf of contracting authorities, including the central administration and its territorial branches, as well as local authorities.

In the field of innovation procurement, other important actors are the **Ministry of Education**, **Science and Sport<sup>545</sup>**, responsible for the research policy, and the **Agency for Science Innovation and Technology** (**MITA**)<sup>546</sup>, which co-finances PCPs, provides expertise, supports and assists contracting authorities. MITA is also the main actor for the implementation of capacity building measures, and it takes part of the awarding process for funding PCPs. In this regard, when the candidate PCPs have a value of more than €1 million, also the **Council on R&D&I of the Government** participates to the awarding process. Innovation procurement activities in Lithuania are mainly focused on Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP), which is financed through ESIF funds measure "Pre-commercial procurement LT". The funding organisation is the **Lithuanian Business Support Organisation (LVPA)**.

#### **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In this 2018 benchmarking of national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Lithuania is at the 14<sup>h</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 27,6%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Lithuania is among the group of moderate performers countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. Having implemented only 27,6% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is still a significant reinforcement of the policy framework needed in Lithuania to reach its full 100% potential.

 $<sup>^{541}</sup>$ Lietuvos Respublikos viešųjų pirkimų įstatymo Nr. I-1491 pakeitimo įstatymas Nr. XIII-327, available at: <a href="https://e-seimas.lrs.lt/portal/legalAct/lt/TAD/b63962122fcb11e79f4996496b137f39">https://e-seimas.lrs.lt/portal/legalAct/lt/TAD/b63962122fcb11e79f4996496b137f39</a>

<sup>542</sup> https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/NIM/?uri=celex:32009L0081

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>543</sup> <u>http://ec.europa.eu/regional\_policy/sources/policy/how/improving-investment/public-procurement/study/country\_profile/lt.pdf</u>
<sup>544</sup> <u>http://eimin.lrv.lt/en/</u>

<sup>545</sup> https://www.smm.lt/web/en/

<sup>546</sup> https://mita.lrv.lt/en/



Strengths: Lithuania's innovation and public procurement policy framework recognises the strategic importance of innovation procurement which is solidified in a spending target. Lithuania has setup capacity building and assistance activities and some financial incentives for a first set of pilot PCP projects.

Weaknesses: Potential synergies with other horizontal and vertical policies are underused. Lithuania does not have any specific action plan or monitoring system for innovation procurement and currently all main actions are still limited in scale. Lack of IPR policy in public procurement that encourages innovation.





The Lithuanian legal framework provides a definition of Pre-commercial procurement and Public Procurement of Innovative Solutions (PPI) and a legal basis to implement innovation procurement and R&D procurement. Whereas the PCP definition is compliant with the EU definition, the PPI definition is not completely so. Therefore, the total score for this indicator is 58%.

The Article 2.14 of the Public procurement law defines **innovation** as "the creation of a new or significantly improved product, service, or process, including manufacturing, building, construction, or other processes, or the installation
of a new marketing method or a new organisational method in business activities, organisation or external relations". This definition is line with the definition on the EU public procurement directives and applicable to all procurers in the country. There is however no definition of innovation procurement.

There is an official Lithuanian definition of Innovative Public Procurement in the Guidelines No. 4-938, approved by the Minister of Economy on 29 December, 2014<sup>547</sup> which is defined as "public procurement where the contracting authority chooses the method of procurement, provides for specific bids evaluation criteria, asks for alternative bids and/or formulates technical specification in a way that ensures the purchase of innovative products, which are best suited to the functions and the strategic objectives of the public procurer". An Innovative product is defined as a new or substantially improved object (goods, services and works) created or endowed with effort, which can be released to meet the needs of the market. In the Law on Technologies and Innovation No XIII-1414 of 30 June 2018 also provides a definition for Innovative Public Procurement as <u>"public procurement where the contracting authority</u>, when defining the object to be procured in the technical specification, includes requirements that ensure that the contracting authority acquires innovative products, including manufacturing, construction (in the meaning of building and design) or other processes, that best suit the performance of the contracting authority's functions or achieving the strategic objectives, and/or the public procurement and procurement carried out in the Water, Energy, <u>Transportation or Post Services sectors</u> (thereinafter referred to as 'procurement'), in accordance with the procedures that provide the preconditions and incentives for suppliers to offer and supply the innovative products". The above definitions are only partially in line with the definition provided by the European Commission: only procurements when the procurer specifically requests innovative product features are considered PPI (not procurements where suppliers themselves propose offers with innovative solutions on their own initiative), the "early adopter" concept is missing and there is no definition of the innovative good and service in relation to the market availability. In Lithuania, for those reasons, there is still confusion about the difference between PPI, Innovative procurement and Innovation procurement. Therefore, the total score for this sub-indicator is 80%.

The Article 15.2.2 of the public procurement law identifies **R&D** as activities that have the CPV codes for fundamental research, applied research and industrial development. This reference via CPV code represents a legal basis to implement R&D and PCP procurement in the Country. It is in line with the definition of the R&D CPV codes in the EU public procurement directives and applicable to all public procurers in the country. There is however no full sentence definition of R&D in the context of public procurement. The total score for the indicator R&D is therefore 35%.

The Lithuanian legal framework provides an official definition of Pre-commercial procurement. The definition of **PCP** is recorded in Decree No 709 of the Government of the Republic of Lithuania of 1 July 2015 on the Approval of the Procedures for Pre-commercial Procurement<sup>548</sup> and in the Law on Technologies and Innovation No XIII-1414 of 30 June 2018<sup>549</sup>. PCP is defined as "procurement of scientific research and/or experimental development (*R&D*) services listed in the art. 15.2.2 of the Law on Public Procurement and in article 26.2.2 of the Law on Procurement in Water, Energy, Transportation or Post Services Sectors and exempted from those laws". The principles of using a phased multi competitor open transparent procedure, using risk benefit sharing at market conditions and the separation from the purchase of commercial volumes of solutions are also included in the definition.

The Decree also recognises that the PCP purchase may include the purchase of non-commercial volumes of final endproducts. According to the law, PCP shall be organised when a) there is no innovative product on the market which the contracting authority needs or there is no evidence that market players in the nearest future (in less than a year) will produce such a product, or the contracting authority cannot acquire the product and R&D services are essential to create such an innovative product b) Product on the market does not meet the need of the contracting authority, therefore they need to significantly improve functional properties of the product and there is no evidence that market players in the nearest future (in less than a year) will produce such a product, and R&D services are required to improve the functional properties of the product. c) Contracting authority cannot immediately acquire innovative product due to market restrictions. PCPs can involve three stages: I – concept creation and approval of innovative product, II – prototype creation of innovative product, III – small-scale test product creation. PCPs might involve all three stages, the second and the third stages or only the third one. Lithuania's definition of PCP is applicable countrywide and in line with the EU definition. Therefore the total score of the indicator is 100%.

The Public procurement Act enables public procurers to implement **PPI** in Lithuania by allowing procurers to award contracts and monitor contract performance not only based on price but also based on innovation criteria. In particular the *article 55.1* states that "The contracting authority shall select the most economically advantageous tender in accordance with: 1) price / cost / quality ratio. The assessment shall take into account the price or costs and criteria relating to the subject of the purchase, including qualitative, environmental and / or social criteria, technical merit, aesthetic and functional characteristics, accessibility, suitability for all users, social, environmental and innovative characteristics and fair trade conditions [...]".

The score for the sub-indicator PPI is 15%, because there is a legal basis to implement PPI but there is no definition for PPI in national legislation or guidelines.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>547</sup> http://eimin.lrv.lt/uploads/eimin/documents/files/Inovaciijos/LR%20Ukmin%20isakymas%20del%20inovatyviujju %20pirkimu%20gairiu\_14-12-29.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>548</sup> https://www.e-tar.lt/portal/lt/legalAct/b6649670219411e5b336e9064144f02a/nOwbTicvxJ

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>549</sup> https://e-seimas.lrs.lt/portal/legalAct/lt/TAD/3a00ca517f7d11e89188e16a6495e98c?jfwid=sujoljpj4



In Lithuania, innovation procurement is considered in four horizontal policies: economic, innovation, R&D and regional policy. The total score for this indicator is therefore 57%.

Innovation procurement was one of the strategic objectives of the Lithuania's Government Programme for 2012-2016. Today, the "**National Progress Programme for 2014-2020**" sets ambitions for increasing public demand for innovative solutions as well as for encouraging more private sector development and commercialisation of innovative solutions: Task 4.2.2 in Annex 2 of the National Progress Programme for 2014-2020 sets a target to achieve by 2020 that 5% of public procurement is devoted to innovation procurement and a target to achieve by 2020 that 10% of company sales in terms of total business turnover are coming from new innovative products.

This direct link to innovation procurement is present in the **innovation and R&D policy**. The Lithuanian **Innovation Development Programme 2014-2020**, approved by the Government's Resolution No 1281 (18 December 2013)<sup>550</sup> aims at increasing the efficiency on innovation policy-making and its implementation in the public sector. The programme identifies two targets to achieve this objective, one of which intends to create measures having the scope of stimulating demand for innovation that can help to address the social, economic and environmental challenges. Within this target innovation procurement is expected to play a key role (this is confirmed by the fact that the only assessment criterion to measure the 5% target for the "proportion of innovative public procurement as percentage of total public procurement"). Also more recently the **Law on Technology and Innovation** No XIII-1414 of 30 June 2018<sup>549</sup> states: "Public sector entities that are contracting authorities are encouraged to carry out innovative public procurement and pre-commercial procurement. Public sector entities are also encouraged to apply advanced public management technologies in public administration practices and to use innovative products in their activities."

The country tries to reach the objectives of the Programme with support from its **regional policy** which has allowed Lithuania to set up a number of initiatives, such as the provision of supply-side and demand-side funding or co-funding, and capacity building actions (cf. Indicators "Incentives" and "Capacity building and assistance measures"). Currently, most part of activities are focused on Pre-Commercial Procurement.

Indicator 3 – ICT policies					
Total score	0%	European Average	47%		

**Lithuania's Digital Agenda**<sup>551</sup> does not mention innovation procurement nor encouraging the use of public procurement to modernize public services with innovative solutions.

Indicator 4 – Sectorial policies					
Total score	0%	European Average	14%		

In Lithuania no sectorial policy explicitly recognises the role of innovation procurement within its strategy.

Indicator 5 – Action plan					
Total score	0%	European Average	8%		

Lithuania has not a stand-alone Action Plan specifically dedicated to innovation procurement.

<sup>550</sup> https://mita.lrv.lt/uploads/mita/documents/files/ en/national-programmes/innovation-in-

lithuania/lithuanian innovation programme.pdf

<sup>551</sup> https://www.e-tar.lt/portal/lt/legalActEditions/dbd546fob04011e39a619f61bf81adoa?faces-redirect=true

Indicator 6 – Spending target					
Total score	50%	European Average	11%		

The Lithuanian Government set a spending target of 5% of all public procurement to be spent on innovation to be achieved by 2020. The spending target was set for all national authorities, which did not however operationally commit to it (non binding target). However the Law on Technologies and Innovation foresees the possibility for the Lithuanian government to set in the future an obligatory target via a legal act. Art 22.1 of the Law on Technologies and Innovation No. XIII-141: "By promoting technology development and innovation, the Government can identify the share of public procurement (number or percentage) that must be performed as innovative public procurement for ministries, government agencies, agencies under ministries and other government subordinate contracting authorities". Due to the absence of separate targets for R&D procurement, PPI and PCP, the final score of this indicator is 50%, which is above the European average.

Indicator 7 – Monitoring system				
Total score	0%	European Average	13%	

Lithuania does not have a structured system to measure innovation procurement expenditure or evaluate the impacts of completed innovation procurements yet. Therefore, the score for this indicator is 0%. However, the Public Procurement Office has started collecting **statistics on PPI** asking to the contracting authorities to mark the tender as innovative or not at the moment of publication. The information gathered with this procedure is not further double-checked and given the lack of awareness or specific competence about the definition of PPI among procurers, the overall result could be unreliable.



In the field of public procurement, Lithuania has implemented financial incentives, provided through the **LVPA**, mainly responsible for EU-related funding, and **MITA**, which provides incentives through national funds.

Lithuania promotes **PCPs** providing funds through **EU ESIF funding programmes**.<sup>552</sup> Depending on the stage at which the contracting authority starts PCP<sup>553</sup>, participants receive funding for: developing the concept (stage I), prototype building (stage II), developing and testing a small volume test product (Phase III).

The LPVA provides financial incentives from the ESIF. Specifically, under the measure "**Pre-commercial procurement LT**" ("*Ikiprekybiniai pirkimai LT*"), which has a budget of  $\bigcirc 29.36$  million, LPVA gives contracting authorities funds for up to 90% of all eligible costs, and for a maximum project amount of  $\bigcirc 2$  million<sup>554</sup>. Since all projects funded through this measure are considered state planned projects, the **Ministry of Economy and Innovation** and the **MITA** are also involved in the award procedure. When the candidate PCP's value is more than  $\bigcirc 1$  million, also the **Council on R&D&I of the Government** takes part to the selection process.

As the financial incentives are not for all types of innovation procurement, not for large scale implementation and only using ESIF (no national) funds, the score for the sub-indicator "financial incentives" is 43%.

As there are no personal incentives in Lithuania the score for sub-indicator "personal incentives" is 0%.

Based on the evidence collected above the total score for this Indicator is 21%.

https://rio.jrc.ec.europa.eu/en/file/11736/download?token=Z4BY8U7

<sup>552</sup> http://www.esinvesticijos.lt/lt/patvirtintos priemones/ikiprekybiniai-pirkimai-lt;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>553</sup> PCPs may include up to 3 stages – cf Indicator "Definition" and <u>https://mita.lrv.lt/lt/veiklos-sritys/programos-priemones/ikiprekybiniai-pirkimai</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>554</sup> https://www.e-tar.lt/portal/lt/legalAct/f3c41820243911e78397ae072f58c508/ubxlpSjKhV

indicator y capacity bunding and assistance incasures							
Total score	46	%		European	Average	24%	
	Existence	Connection with relevant international/ EU initiatives	Free of charge	Covering all types and aspects of innovation procurement	Available and applicable to all public procurers in the country	Mainstreaming Innovation procurement at a large scale	Sub- total score
Central website	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		50%
Good practices							0%
Trainings/workshops	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		83%
Handbooks/ guidelines	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		83%
Assistance to public procurers	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		50%
Template tender documents							0%
Coordination / pre- approval	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		67%
Networking							0%
One-stop-shop/ competence centre	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		83%

Lithuania has implemented a range of capacity building and support measures to raise awareness and increase the competences of public procurers.

In 2014, the Ministry of Economy and Innovation published on its central website the Guidelines on innovation procurement.555 These guidelines aim to support public procurers in the acquisition of goods, services and works of better quality, adequate to their needs and that can enhance the performance of the public sector.<sup>556</sup> The Ministry of Economy and Innovation dedicates some pages of its website on innovation procurement.557

Another list of services was provided through the project entitled "Promotion of new type of public procurement - PCP and PPI" ("Naujo tipo (inovatyviųjų ir ikiprekybinių) pirkimų skatinimas"). 558 The project, implemented by MITA, provides for a range of activities to increase skills and competences of public procurers, including:

- Organization of **lectures** and trainings for public procurers on PCP and PPI;
- Identification (and financial support) of experts able to help/provide assistance to public procurers in organization and performance of PCP and PPI;
- Providing consultations on PCP and PPI;
- Preparation of methodologies (including templates) on organization and performance of PCP and PPI;
- Creation of an **online platform** on PCP and PPI;
- Creation of a **national competence center** on innovation procurement

MITA pre-approves the implementation of PCPs (approval of the compliance of the tender documents with the national Lithuanian regulation on PCP) and coordinates the implementation of PCPs under the national programme, but this is happening so far only at small scale and not for all types of innovation procurements (only PCPs). The score for this subindicator is 67%.

MITA joined July 2018 the EU-funded project "Procure2Innovate - European network of competence centres for innovation procurement" to learn from experiences other countries about setting up a national competence center. According to Art. 13 and Art 14.2.3 of the Law on Technology and Innovation, MITA was authorized from 30 June 2018 onwards by the government, to act as national competence center for innovation procurement in the country that perform the following functions: stimulating contracting authorities to carry out innovative public procurement and pre-commercial procurement and providing them with methodological assistance regarding these procurements. The total score for the sub-indicator one-stop shop/competence center is therefore 83%.

Finally, the project "Innovation Consulting and Support Services for Business (InoSpurtas)" ("Inovaciju konsultacinės *ir paramos paslaugos verslui*)"559, promoted by the MITA, provides **innovation consulting and support services** to businesses to promote PCP among enterprises and to improve their capacity to bring innovative solutions to the market in the context of innovation procurements.

<sup>555</sup> http://ukmin.lrv.lt/uploads/ukmin/documents/files/Inovaciijos/LR Ukmin isakymas del inovatyviujju pirkimu gairiu\_14-12-29.pdf 556 https://ukmin.lrv.lt/en/sector-activities/innovation/innovation-support-measures

<sup>557</sup> https://ukmin.lrv.lt/en/sector-activities/innovation/innovation-support-measures; https://ukmin.lrv.lt/en/sector-activities/publicprocurement-policy/sustainable-innovative-public-procurements/pre-commercial-procurement <sup>558</sup> https://mita.lrv.lt/lt/veiklos-sritys/mita-vykdomi-projektai/naujo-tipo-viesuju-pirkimu-skatinimas

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>559</sup> https://mita.lrv.lt/lt/veiklos-sritys/mita-vykdomi-projektai/inospurtas

On the basis of the evidence collected, the total score for this indicator is 46%. Among the capacity-building activities considered, the provision of good practice examples, of template tender documents and of networking activities is not put in place in the country. In addition, the overall score is affected by the fact that several of the proposed activities are not conceived yet to mainstream innovation procurement at large scale across all sectors in the whole country and are missing references/connection to activities at European level in the field.



This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of Innovation procurement. The indicator is composed of two sub-indicators that show evidence on:

- I. the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in Lithuania
- II. the openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regard to sub-indicator I, Lithuania shows the following evidence:

- a. **IPR Default regime**: The score for this sub-indicator is 25%, which is below the 38% European average, because there is no default scenario for the distribution of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers in Lithuania. The Lithuanian law, general terms and conditions for government contracts define how IPR allocation is best dealt with in procurement contracts. It is left to the individual responsibility of each Lithuanian procurer to specify clearly the IPR allocation for the procurement in its tender documents so that it stimulates innovation and is compliant with applicable IPR/copyright law. Lithuanian copyright law<sup>560</sup> determines that copyrights belong in an inalienable way to the creator (cannot be waived, licensed or assigned to anyone else). Only the economic rights can be transferred, assigned or licensed by the creator to another person/entity. Therefore Latvian copyright law determines that for commissioned works the author retains copyright and the commissioning party obtains either a license to use the commissioned work or if required in the contract a transfer of economic rights at equitable payment. The procurer needs to therefore clearly specify in the tender documents which economic rights (e.g. licensing, publication, modification, reproduction rights) owned by the creator ((sub) contractors in his procurement) he wants to obtain. Copyright law protects also scientific work, software and database rights.
- b. **Use of value for money award criteria**: According to the Single Market Scoreboard, only 10% of the procedures were not awarded on the basis of lowest price only. Lithuania has an over-reliance on price criteria with respect to the European average. Together with Romania, Malta and Cyprus, Lithuania is one of the four countries in Europe with the lowest use of value for money award criteria in Europe.
- c. **Use of variants**: Lithuania has allowed the use of variants in less than 1% of the procedures (0,2%). This percentage is well below the European average.
- d. **Preliminary Market Consultations:** Lithuania has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 3% of the procedures. This percentage is significantly below the European average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 9% which is significantly below the 40% European average This is mainly due to both below average performance on adopting an IPR default regime that fosters innovation in public procurement and structural underutilization of value for money award criteria.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Lithuania shows the following evidence (based on the Single Market Scoreboard):

e. **Level of competition**: The level of competition of the national public procurement market is 88% which is above the European average 84% but below the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. The positive performance is driven both by the above EU-average proportion of procurements for which there was more than one bidder (79%) and above-European average proportion of procurements that was conducted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>560</sup> http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/text.jsp?file\_id=128571

with a call for bids (97%). The first sub-indicator is however still below the 90% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.

f. **Level of Transparency**: The level of transparency is 68% which is above the 45% European average and reaching the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This good performance is due to above average and reaching satisfactory performance on all three sub-indicators: the TED publication rate (5%), the percentage of procurements without missing calls for bids information (98%) and without missing buyer registration number (100%).

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 78% which is above the European average of 65% but below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 44% which is in line with the 44% European average. This score is explained firstly by the fact that, although the openness of the Lithuanian procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is above the European average, the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement is below European average. Indeed, the country has not yet adopted a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation and value for money criteria are still seriously underused in public procurements. Secondly, the use of variants and Preliminary Market Consultation is very low if compared with the European average. In addition, although the national public procurement market shows an above average level of transparency and competition, the level of competition still does not reach the satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Lithuanian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Lithuanian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidential reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 5,3% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e.  $\\CO} O,3 bn$ ), **Lithuania ranks 21<sup>st</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>561</sup> across Europe. Lithuania falls within the group of **low performers**, below the European average of 9,3%.<sup>562</sup> **A large increase of investments in PPI is still needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Lithuanian public sector.<sup>563</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Lithuania moves up to the 19<sup>th</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>564</sup> explaining Lithuania's low performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** (89%) in Lithuania **is** slightly above the European average (84%). This consists of adoption of 'significantly improved' solutions (47% of PPI) and innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (43% of PPI). The share of PPI investments spent on **incremental innovations** (11%), which includes the purchase of 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' as well as 'innovative combinations of existing solutions', is below the European average (16%). As the total amount of investments in innovative solutions in Lithuania is low, the country is still lagging behind considerably in the adoption of both transformative and incremental innovations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>561</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found here on the EU webpages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>562</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>563</sup> It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve). <sup>564</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is therefore an important factor explaining why Lithuania is not yet at the level of PPI investment that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Nearly every domain of public sector activity**<sup>565</sup> **in Lithuania purchased innovation solutions**, except for the '**Postal Services**' domain which made zero PPI investments. The shares of PPI investments by different public sector domains out of total PPI investments in the country are **generally in line with the European averages**. PPI investments made by Lithuanian procurers operating in '**Healthcare and social services**' and '**Public order**, **safety and security**' are significantly below the European average (respectively -12 pp and -5 pp). At the same time, PPI investments made by Lithuanian procurers in '**Public transport**' and '**Energy**' are significantly higher than the European average (respectively +13 pp and +17 pp). The share of Investments in '**Water**' and '**Construction**, housing and community amenities' was very small.

Domain of public sector activity	Lithuania	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	34%	35%	-1
Public transport	23%	10%	+13
Healthcare and social services	9%	21%	-12
Energy	23%	6%	+17
Environment	2%	3%	-1
Construction, housing and community amenities	0% (0,5%)	4%	-4
Education, recreation, culture and religion	4%	5%	-1
Water	0% (0,5%)	4%	-4
Public order, safety and security	3%	8%	-5
Postal services	0%	1%	-1
Other	1%	3%	-2
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>565</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

#### Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is significantly higher in Lithuania (72%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Lithuanian procurers may be less risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is lower in Lithuania (28%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Lithuanian procurers may tend to be less open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

#### Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



For the majority of Lithuanian PPI investments (64%) call for tenders are published, which is well above the European average (22%). The portion of call for tenders that are **published at European level** in the TED database (62%) is significantly above the European average (18%), while the portion that is **published at national level** (4%) is slightly below the European average (5%). Accordingly, the share of PPI investments for which no call for tenders is published in TED or at national level is modest (36%).

By publishing calls for tenders for PPI investments widely, Lithuania misses out only on a moderate number of potential innovative solutions from both Lithuanian and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Lithuanian PPI business opportunities. Further improving the publication of PPI calls for tenders would put Lithuania on a good path to adopt more innovation solutions that could speed up public sector modernisation.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

PPI investments by level of public sector activity



The largest part of the total PPI investments in Lithuania is carried out by **large-scale entities at national level** (87%), such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is considerably above the European average (47%).

**Procurers at regional and local levels** account for small shares of PPI investments (respectively 6% and 7%), both below the European average (respectively 24% and 29%).

### Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The Lithuanian public sector is among the **bottom level of performers** in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment). With  $\in$  0,04 bn or 1,8% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Lithuania ranks 19<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, well below the European average (3,5%). Also in terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions (34%), Lithuania performs below the European average (38%). **A large increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions is still needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurements of innovative solutions in the country to ICT-based innovations, which would enable Lithuania to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>566</sup>



The main factors<sup>567</sup> explaining Lithuania's bottom level performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** (78%) is in line with the European average (79%). This consists in the adoption of 'significantly improved solutions' (57% of ICT-based PPI) and innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (21% of ICT-based PPI). The share of investments spent on the adoption on **incremental ICT-based innovations**<sup>568</sup> (22%) is in line with the European average. However, as the total amount of investments in ICT-based innovative solutions in Lithuania is low, the country is still lagging considerably in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.





<sup>566</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI – or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>567</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>568</sup> See definitions above.

#### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



Lithuania invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the so-called '**Core ICT' sub-sector**<sup>569</sup> (63%), but below the European average (54%).

Lithuania invested to a lesser extent in the adoption of innovations from the '**ICT Plus' sub-sector** (36%), below the European average (45%).

Lithuanian investments in adopting innovations from the **'Content & Media' sub-sector** were marginal (1%), in line with the European average.

#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Nearly all domains of public sector activity in Lithuania purchased innovative ICT-based solutions,** except '**Postal Services**' which made zero ICT-based PPI investments. In particular, the highest share of ICT-based PPI investments is made by procurers that operate in the domain of the '**General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs**' (29% against a 16% European average) and '**Public Transport**' domains (29%, which is significantly above the European average of 10%). However, ICT-based investments made by procurers that operate in '**Health and social services**' and '**Public order, safety and security**' were significantly below the European averages (respectively – 23pp and - 11pp).

#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity



#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

<sup>569</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

- · Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes
- · Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software
- ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

#### ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 81% of ICT-based PPI investments, above the European average (69%).

**Procurers at local level** account for the highest share of the ICT-based PPI investments at sub-national level (15%), slightly above the European average (10%). To the contrary, **regional procurers** account for only a modest fraction of ICT-based PPI (4%), which is significantly below the European average (21%).

## Luxembourg

#### 1. NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

### Governance and legal framework

In Luxembourg the law n°6982 on public procurement entered into force in April 2018 and transposed the EU Directives 2014/24/EU and 2014/25/EU.<sup>570</sup> The EU Directive on defence (2009/81/EC) has been transposed through the Law of 26 December 2012 on defence and security in public contracts. Conversely, the Directive 2014/23/EU has not been transposed yet.<sup>571</sup>

The public procurement system is centralised and articulated around a single one-stop-shop public procurement portal on which all contracting authorities publish their tenders.

The main actor in the field of public procurement is the **Public Procurement Department**, part of the Public Works Department of the **Ministry of Sustainable Development and Infrastructures** (MDDI). It is responsible for the regulatory framework, drafting legislation, monitoring its implementation, publishing tenders online on the public procurement portal and ensuring the external representation of the authorities in the field of public procurement.<sup>572</sup> Another key actor is the **Tender Commission** ("*Commission des soumissions*"), a consultative and administrative body within the MDDI composed of representatives from contracting authorities, chambers of commerce and cottage industries. It can act as a supervision body, ensuring that public procurement rules are applied properly by contracting authorities, or upon the reception of complaints from tenderers.<sup>573</sup>

In the area of innovation procurement, an important role is played by the **National Agency for Innovation and Research – Luxinnovation GIE**, which offers some capacity building activities to promote innovation procurement among procurers. At national level, the **Ministry of Economy** is in charge of innovation.

At sectoral level, the **CRTI-B (GIE)**, "*Centre de ressources de technologies de l'innovation pour le bâtiment*", conceives and sets up communication and information systems for all actors involved in the construction sector. To do so, it offers technological assistance and advisory services, specialized training, documentation and support for R&D projects in the construction sector.<sup>574</sup>

#### Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)

In the benchmarking of the national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Luxembourg is at the 26<sup>th</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 11,7%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Luxembourg is among the group of low performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. The country's performance is below European average on 9 out of 10 indicators. Having implemented only 12,6% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is a very strong reinforcement of the policy framework needed in Luxembourg to reach its full 100% potential.



<u>Strengths</u>: Luxembourg has the basic legal framework and support from some horizontal enabling policies to start building up a policy framework for innovation procurement. National guidelines promote an approach to IPR allocation that fosters innovation in public procurement

<u>Weaknesses:</u> Lack of a dedicated innovation procurement policy and a structured set of measures to foster its adoption in the country (competence centre, action plan, spending target, incentives, capacity building etc.).

<sup>570</sup> http://legilux.public.lu/eli/etat/leg/loi/2018/04/08/a243/jo

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>571</sup> At the time of writing, 4 May 2018.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>572</sup> <u>http://www.marches.public.lu/fr/acteurs/direction.html</u>

<sup>573</sup> http://ec.europa.eu/regional\_policy/sources/policy/how/improving-investment/public-procurement/study/country\_profile/lu.pdf

<sup>574</sup> http://www.crtib.lu/fr/crti-b/qui-sommes-nous



In Luxembourg the public procurement legislation provides an official definition for innovation and for R&D in the context of public procurement, the latter is however applicable only in the defence and security sector. The legal framework provides also a clear legal basis for implementing Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) and Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI), without explicit definitions through. In addition, the national guideline on innovation procurement issued by "LuxInnovation" provides a definition of pre-commercial-procurement applicable country wide and in line with the EU definition. Therefore the total score of the indicator "definition" is 58%.

Article 3 (2.p) of the Law on Public Procurement defines **innovation** as "the implementation of a new or significantly enhanced product, service or process, including but not limited to processes of production, construction or construction, a new method of placing on the market or a new method of organization in business practice, organization of workplace or external relations among others to help address social challenges or to support the Europe 2020 strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth". This definition is in line with the EU official definition and applicable country wide. Therefore the total score for this sub-indicator is 35%.

For non-defence procurers, the Law on Public Procurement identifies R&D via CPV codes for basic research, applied research and experimental development, in Chapter 2, section II, art.58. An official definition of **R&D** is provided in the Law on defence and security in public contracts (26 December 2012). Article 3.24 (Title I) defines R&D as: "the set of activities comprising basic research, applied research and experimental development, which may include the production of technological demonstrators, that is to say, devices intended to demonstrate the performance of a new concept or new technology in a relevant or representative environment; Basic research consists of experimental or theoretical work undertaken primarily to acquire new knowledge about the basis of phenomena and observable facts, without considering any particular application or use. Applied research also consists of original work undertaken to acquire new knowledge gained through research and / or practical experience, with a view to launching the manufacture of new materials, products or devices, establishing new processes, systems and services or significantly improve those that already exist. Experimental development may include the realization of

technological demonstrators that is devices designed to demonstrate the performance of a new concept or new technology in a relevant or representative environment. The term "research and development" does not include the production and qualification of preproduction prototypes, tooling and industrial engineering, industrial design or manufacturing". This definition is in line with the EU official definition but is only applicable to public procurers in the defence sector, therefore the total score is 90%.

Article 58 in Chapter 2, section II also transposes the exclusion for R&D services, which forms the legal basis for implementing in **PCP**, namely: *"the law only applies to R&D services procurements following the cumulative conditions of "(a) products belong exclusively to the contracting authority for its own use at pursuing its activity; and (b) the service is wholly remunerated by the contracting authority". Therefore, even if the Luxembourg law on public procurement does not provide a definition of PCP, it provides a clear legal basis for all public procurers in the country to implement PCP. In addition the Guide published in 2017 by Luxinnovation "<i>Promouvoir les solutions innovantes à travers les marchés publics*" provides a definition of PCP which is in line with the EU definition and countrywide applicable. Therefore, the total score of this sub-indicator is 70%.<sup>575</sup>

Although there is no definition for **PPI** in the Luxembourg Law on Public Procurement, it enables public procurers to implement PPI by allowing procurers to award contracts and monitor contract performance not only based on price but also based on innovation criteria. In particular, article 77 states that *"The choice of the service provider can be made on the basis of the best quality / price ratio, also taking into account quality and sustainability criteria for social services."* The total score for this sub-indicator is 35%.

Indicator 2 – Horizontal policies					
Total score	0%	European Average	36%		

In Luxembourg, innovation procurement is not explicitly included as a strategic tool in any horizontal policy. Innovation, however, plays a key role in the implementation of the Rifkin strategic study<sup>576</sup>, where the role of public procurement to promote circular economy is underlined. Several working groups have been set up for this purpose, of which one for public procurement.

Indicator 3 – ICT policies					
Total score	0%	European Average	47%		

The Digital Luxembourg strategy<sup>577</sup> does not mention innovation procurement or public procurement as driver for innovation.

Indicator 4 – Sectorial policies					
Total score	0%	European Average	14%		

In Luxembourg, sectoral policies do not include innovation procurement as a strategic objective.

However, some actions in the field of the construction sector, even if they are not explicitly foreseen for innovation procurement, shall be mentioned, as they can have an indirect impact in this domain and can be ground for a future development of the policy. The CRTI-B (GIE) is responsible for setting standards in terms of contracts for public procurement and for favouring cooperation between the different actors involved in the act of construction. The CRTI-B disseminates a sustainable construction guide, providing information on the ecological aspects of building materials, and ensures the link with the research through its technological monitoring of innovative solutions in this field.<sup>578</sup> The CRTI-B has a specific focus for research and development, and it collaborates with the Tender Commission of the MDDI in what concerns public procurement.

Indicator 5 – Action plan					
Total score	0%	European Average	8%		
· · · · ·					

In Luxembourg there is no stand-alone action plan for innovation procurement.

Indicator 6 – Spending target					
Total score	0%	European Average	11%		

In Luxembourg there is no spending target for innovation procurement.

#### **Indicator 7 – Monitoring system**

<sup>575</sup> See. page 48 of <u>http://www.innovation.public.lu/fr/brochures-rapports/g/guide-marche-public/index.html</u>

577 https://digital-luxembourg.public.lu

<sup>576</sup> http://imslux.lu/eng/nos-activites/pole-de-specialites/8\_the-third-industrial-revolution-in-luxembourg

<sup>578</sup> http://www.crtib.lu/fr/crti-b/notre-histoire

Total score	0%	European Average	13%
-------------	----	------------------	-----

In Luxembourg there are no systems for measuring innovation procurement expenditure and evaluating the impacts of completed innovation procurements. The public procurement portal does not collect data on public procurement.

Indicator 8 – Incentives				
Total score	0%	European Average	22%	

In Luxembourg there are no financial or other personal incentives to reduce the risk for public procurers to undertake innovation procurements.

Indicator 9 – Ca	Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures						
Total score		17%		European 2	Average	24%	
	Existenc e	Connection with relevant international/E U initiatives	Free of charge	Covering all types and aspects of innovation procurement	Available and applicable to all public procurers in the country	Mainstreaming Innovation procurement at a large scale	Sub- total score
Central website							0%
Good practices							0%
Trainings/ workshops							0%
Handbooks/ guidelines	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		83%
Assistance to public procurers							0%
Template tender documents							0%
Coordination / pre- approval							0%
Networking of public procurers	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		67%
One-stop-shop/ competence centre							

Although there is no structured support to innovation procurement, Luxembourg puts in place two out of nine capacity building measures to enhance procurers' know-how on innovation procurement.

**Luxinnovation**, the National Agency for Innovation and Research, is the only actor which, so far, has put in place some capacity building activities addressing innovation procurement. In particular, it published in 2015 the **guide** "*Promote innovative solutions through public procurement*"<sup>579</sup>, and in order to facilitate the dialogue between innovative companies and public procurers, it regularly publishes in its website innovative solutions realised in the country.<sup>580</sup> The guide presents an overview of different types of innovation procurement and techniques that can stimulate innovation in public procurement, but does not provide detailed guidance or examples on how to implement these techniques and does not address how to scale up the effects of innovation procurements more widely. The score on sub-indicator is 83%.

**Networking** events are not designed yet to mainstream innovation procurement at large scale and there is no systematic networking of Luxembourg procurers at international level with procurers from other countries. The score for sub-indicator networking is 67%.

It shall be mentioned, in this context, the activity done by the **CRTI-B**, which, even if it does not have a specific focus on innovation procurement, puts in place a number of measures possibly indirectly enhancing the ability of public procurers to undertake innovation procurement in the construction sector. Specifically, as it was mentioned in Indicator 3, it disseminates a sustainable construction guide, providing information on the ecological aspects of building materials, and ensures the link with the research through its technological monitoring of innovative solutions in this field.<sup>581</sup>

<sup>579</sup> http://www.innovation.public.lu/en/brochures-rapports/g/guide-marche-public/index.html

<sup>580</sup> http://www.innovation.public.lu/en/decouvrir/pourquoi/solutions-

innovantes/index.html?utm\_source=innovativesolutions.lu&utm\_medium=301

<sup>581</sup> http://www.crtib.lu/fr/crti-b/notre-histoire

The new legal framework on innovation procurement, which entered into force in April 2018 in Luxembourg, is likely to boost a future development of the innovation procurement policy, both in terms of dedicated policy papers and in terms of further capacity building measures.

A structured framework for capacity building measure on innovation procurement is still missing in Luxembourg. Apart from a handbook and some networking, Luxembourg has not setup any other capacity building measures yet. On the basis of the evidence collected below, the total score for this indicator is 17%.



This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of innovation procurement. It is composed by two sub-indicators measuring:

I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in Luxembourg

II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regards to sub-indicator I, Luxembourg shows the following evidence:

- a. **IPR Default regime:** The score for this sub-indicator is 50% because the Luxembourg law, general terms and conditions for government contracts on public procurement do not define a default scenario for the distribution of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers but the Luxinnovation guide on innovation procurement explains that "The contracting authority may choose to acquire rights to use the results for its clearly defined needs and leave the ownership of the IPRs related to the results with the contractor (first option) instead of choosing to acquire the rights exclusively for himself preventing the contractor from exploiting them (second option). The contracting authority needs to ensure that the chosen option is not disproportionate to his real needs as the price will differ depending on the chosen option." The guide also explains that PCP uses the first option. This guidance is in line with the Luxembourg copyright law<sup>582</sup>, which determines that copyrights belong in an inalienable way to the creator (cannot be waived, licensed or assigned to anyone else). Only the economic rights can be transferred, assigned or licensed by the creator to another person/entity. If a public procurer wants to use the commissioned work in a specific way, the procurer needs to clearly specify in the tender documents which economic rights (e.g. licensing, publication, modification, reproduction rights) he wants to obtain from the creator ((sub)contractors in his procurement). Copyright law protects also scientific work, software and database rights.
- b. **Use of value for money award criteria**: According to the EU Single Market Scoreboard, only 31% of the procedures were awarded on criteria that not based only on the lowest price.<sup>583</sup> This is below the European average of 42% and far below the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard. Luxembourg has an over-reliance on lowest price award criteria.
- c. **Use of variants**: Luxembourg has allowed the use of variants in the 4% of the procedures. This percentage is in line with the European average.
- d. **Preliminary Market Consultations:** Luxembourg has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 6% of the procedures. This percentage is slightly below the European average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 23% which is in line with the European average of 23% This is mainly due to the underutilization of value for money award criteria and the fact that there is some promotion in guidelines to procurers for using an IPR default regime that fosters innovation in public procurement, but this is not anchored yet into legislation and general terms and conditions for government contracts.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Luxembourg shows the following evidence (based on the Single Market Scoreboard):

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>582</sup> http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/text.jsp?file\_id=128653 583 The EU Single Market, Single Market Scoreboard

- e. **Level of competition**: The level of competition of the national public procurement is 93% which is above the European average 84% and above the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. Both sub-indicators are above the European average: the percentage of procurements that was conducted with a call for bids (100%) and the percentage of procurements with more than one bidder (86%).
- f. **Level of transparency**: The level of transparency of the public procurement market accounts for 32% which is below the European average 45% and below the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This results mainly from the total absence of buyer registration numbers in the public procurement procedures. This makes it difficult for suppliers to understand which public buyer wants to buy what. The percentage of procurements without missing call for bids info (93%) is above European average but still below the satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 62% which is below the European average of 65% and below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly due to the low transparency level.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 43% which is slightly below the European average 44%. This score is explained firstly by the fact that the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country is average and the openness of the Luxembourg procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is below the European average. Indeed, there is still an underutilization of the potential of value for money award criteria and, although there is some promotion in guidelines to procurers for using an IPR default regime that fosters innovation in public procurement, this is not anchored yet into legislation and general terms and conditions for government contracts. In addition, although the national public procurement market shows an above average level of competition, the level of transparency is below the European average.

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### Investment benchmarking (2018)

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Luxemburgish investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Luxemburgish investments on public procurement of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 6,6% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e.  $\\\in$  0,5 bn), **Luxembourg ranks 19<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>584</sup> across Europe. Luxembourg falls within the group of **modest performers**, below the European average of 9,3%.<sup>585</sup> **A considerable increase of investments in PPI** is still needed to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the public sector.<sup>586</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Luxembourg moves down to the 20<sup>th</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>587</sup> explaining Luxembourg's modest performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

There were no investments in Luxembourg in the adoption of **incremental innovations**, i.e. 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' or 'innovative combinations of existing solutions', which is below the European average (16%). All innovations purchased in Luxembourg fall under the category of **transformative innovations** (100% of PPI investments), which is well above the European average (84%). This consists in the adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (63% of PPI) as well as 'significantly improved' solutions (37% of PPI). However, as the total amount of investments in innovative solutions in Luxembourg is modest and below European average, the

 $<sup>^{584}</sup>$  Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found here on the EU webpages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>585</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

 $<sup>^{586}</sup>$  It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve).  $^{587}$  The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

country still needs to step up considerably its investments in the adoption of both transformative and incremental innovations.

Considering all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is therefore an important factor explaining why Luxembourg is not yet at the level of PPI investment that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.



PPI investments by type of innovation

#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

Several domains of public sector activity<sup>588</sup> in Luxembourg did not invest in the adoption of innovative solutions: PPI investments by public procurers that operate in the domain of 'Environment', 'Water', 'Public order, safety and security' and 'Postal services' were zero. Out of total PPI investments in the country, the shares of PPI investments made by procurers operating in 'Construction, housing and community amenities' (+13 pp) and 'Education, recreation, culture and religion' (+9 pp) are significantly above the European averages. Conversely, the share of PPI investments made by procurers operating in 'Healthcare and social services' (-18 pp) is significantly below the European average (21%).

Domain of public sector activity	Luxembourg	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	33%	35%	-2
Public transport	10%	10%	0
Healthcare and social services	3%	21%	-18
Energy	13%	6%	+7
Environment	0%	3%	-3
Construction, housing and community amenities	17%	4%	+13
Education, recreation, culture and religion	14%	5%	+9
Water	0%	4%	-4
Public order, safety and security	0%	8%	-8
Postal services	0%	1%	-1
Other	10%	3%	+7
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>588</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

#### Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investment (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) in Luxembourg (35%) is higher than the European average (29%). This indicates that Luxembourgish procurers may be less risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investment (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is lower in Luxembourg (65%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Luxembourgish procurers may tend to be less open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of PPI investments for which call for tenders is published, is very low (9%) and significantly below the European average (22%). The portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (9%) is below the European average (18%). No PPI calls for tender were **published at national level** (0%), which is below the European average (5%). Accordingly, the share of PPI investments for which no calls for tenders were published in TED or at national level is very large (91%).

By not publishing all for tenders for PPI investments widely, **Luxembourg is missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Luxembourgish and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the PPI business opportunities in Luxembourg.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

PPI investments by level of public sector activity



The lion share (77%) of PPI investments in Luxembourg is carried out by **large-scale entities at national level**, such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is considerably above the European average (47%).

Procurers at **local level** account for a share of PPI investments (23%), which is in line with the European average (24%), while zero PPI investments were made at **regional level**.

### Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

In terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment), Luxembourg falls within the group of **bottom level performers**. With  $\in$  0,01 bn or 2,5% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Luxembourg ranks 18<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, well below the European average (3,5%). Also in terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT based solutions (37%), Luxembourg performs below the European average (38%). **A large increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions** is still needed to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the adoption of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Luxembourg to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>589</sup>



The main factors<sup>590</sup> explaining Luxembourg's bottom level performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

There were no investments in Luxembourg in the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations**<sup>591</sup>. All purchased ICT-based innovations fall under the category of **transformative innovations**. This consists in the adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (83% of PPI) and 'significantly improved' (17% of PPI). However, as the total amount of investments in ICT-based innovative solutions in Luxembourg is low, the country still needs to step up considerably its investments in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.

#### ICT-based PPI investments by type of innovation



 $<sup>^{589}</sup>$  It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI – or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>590</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>591</sup> See definitions above

#### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Several domains of public sector activity in Luxembourg did not invest** in the adoption of ICT-based innovative solutions: ICT-based PPI investments made by public procurers that operate in the domains of '**Public Transport**', '**Environment**', '**Water**', '**Public order, safety and security**' and '**Postal services**' were zero. The share of ICT-based PPI investments made by procurers in '**Healthcare and social services**' were also significantly below the European average (- 22p). However, the share of ICT-based PPI investments made by procurers in Luxembourg operating in 'General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs' (+14 pp), '**Construction, housing and community amenities**' (+12 pp) and '**Education, recreation, culture and religion**' (+12 pp) were significantly above the European averages.





<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>592</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>·</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

<sup>•</sup> Content and Media includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

#### ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for the 88% of ICTbased PPI investments, considerably above the European average (69%).

Similarly, the share of ICT-based PPI investments made by **procurers at local level** (12%) is slightly above the European average (10%). There were no investments **at regional level**.

## Malta

#### 1. NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### Governance and legal framework

The field of public procurement in Malta is regulated by the Public Procurement Regulations (S.L. 174.04), issued in October 2016 that transpose into the national legal framework the EU procurement Directives (Directive 2014/23/EU, 2014/24/EU, 2014/25/EU). The regulation for Contracting Authorities or Entities in the fields of Defence and Security (S.L. 174.08 of 2011) transposed the Directive 2009/81/EC.

Malta's public procurement system is relatively centralised. The **Department of Contracts (DoC)** within the **Ministry of Finance**, is the central government authority that is charged with drafting procurement legislation and policy, collecting statistical data, preparing guidelines and instructions, monitoring the overall procurement system.

The DoC and the **Malta Information Technology Agency (MITA)** also acts as the central purchasing bodies for all contracts above 120.000 EUR excluding those of local councils. Indeed, the majority of contracts are still handled by individual central and local government contracting authorities. Thanks to its crucial role in the field of public procurement, the DoC is also responsible together with the Malta Council for Sciences and Technology (MCST) for promoting innovation procurement.

Beside the DoC, the **Institute for Public Services (IPS)**, formerly known as the Centre for Development, Research and Training (CDRT), the Malta College for Arts Science and Technology (MCAST) and the University of Malta (UoM) are responsible for the training of public administration officials on a wide range of topics, including e-procurement and green procurement.

While the Maltese sustainable procurement system is well developed, the country has limited experience with innovation procurement, and does not have a stand-alone innovation procurement policy. However, some individual procurers such as the Central Procurement Supplies Unit of the Ministry for Health have developed on their own initiative their own innovation procurement ambitions and strategy to modernize their own public service offering.

#### **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In the benchmarking of the national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Malta is at the 18<sup>th</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 20,4%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Malta is among the group of modest performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. Having implemented only 20,6% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is however still a strong reinforcement of the policy framework needed in Malta to reach its full 100% potential.



Strengths: The national R&D&I strategy 2020 and the National R&I Action plan recognize innovation procurement as an important instrument to boost demand side innovation

Weaknesses: Innovation procurement in Malta is still in an embryonal phase. Most structural measures to build an innovation procurement policy framework are not in place yet: national competence centre, action plan, spending target, monitoring system and systematic capacity building.



In Malta, official definitions for innovation procurement, R&D procurement, PCP and PPI do not exist both in the legal framework and in guideline documents. However, the legislation provides a clear legal basis for implementing all these different types of procurement. As a result, the total score of this indicator is 35%.

The Public Procurement Regulations S.L. 174.04 introduces under the general provisions the definition of **innovation**. Innovation is defined as "*the implementation of a new or significantly improved product, service or process, including but not limited to production, building or construction processes, a new marketing method, or a new organisational method in business practices, workplace organisation or external relations inter alia with the purpose of helping to solve societal challenges or to support the Europe 2020 strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth.*" The definition is applicable to all public procurers in the country and in line with the EU official definition, therefore the total score of this sub-indicator is 35%.

The same piece of legislation identifies under article 7(1) (v) **R&D** in the context of public procurement via the CPV codes for basic research, industrial research and experimental development in a way which is applicable to all public procurers in the country. Therefore, despite no specific official full sentence definition exists for R&D in the context of public procurement, the legal framework provides a clear legal basis for implementing R&D procurement and therefore the total score of this sub-indicator accounts for 35%. By implementing the exemption for R&D services, the same article also forms the legal basis for implementing **PCP** in the country. The regulations do not apply to public service contracts *"whose benefits accrue exclusively to the contracting authority for its use in the conduct of its own affairs, on condition that the service provided is wholly remunerated by the contracting authority"*. Even though there is no official definition of PCP, this provision is applicable to all public procurers in the country, therefore the total score of this sub-indicator is 35%.

Article 164(6) of the Public Procurement Regulations S.L. 174.04 enables public procurers to implement **PPI** by enabling public procurers to take into account innovative characteristics in the award of any public procurement procedure: *"contracting authorities may take into account the need to ensure quality, continuity, accessibility, affordability, availability and comprehensiveness of the services, the specific needs of different categories of users, including the services of the servi* 

*disadvantaged and vulnerable groups, the involvement and empowerment of users and innovation.* Again, even though there is no full PPI definition, this provision is applicable to all public procurers in the country, therefore the total score of this sub-indicator is 35%.



In Malta innovation procurement is recognized under 2 out of 7 horizontal policies, the R&D and innovation policy. Therefore, the total score for this indicator is 29%.

Malta's **National research and innovation strategy and action plan 2020**<sup>593</sup> refer to innovation procurement as a tool of strategic importance to thrive the Maltese economy. The third action lines to increase the effectiveness of the national R&I strategy states "there needs to be a stronger awareness at all levels, in government, business and society, of the role of innovation in improving the quality of life and competitiveness, thereby generating increased demand for innovation, particularly through public procurement. Local experience to date indicates that whilst it is often more complex and time-consuming, procurement for innovation generates considerable benefits in terms of leveraging private sector R&I and providing greener, innovative and potentially cost-effective, public services."

Indicator 3 – ICT policies				
Total score	100%	European average	47%	

**The Digital Malta strategy**<sup>594</sup> has set an explicit objective (nr 30) to encourage ICT innovation in public procurement: "Government will use its position as a major procurer to stimulate demand for innovative ICT. It will encourage collaboration between local players and, as an early adopter, it will act as a showcase for locally-produced technology. Innovative policies will improve procurement cycles and deliver better value." According to the reporting on the Digital Malta website, the implementation of this objective has started with a first such ICT innovation procurement ongoing.

<b>Indicator</b> 4	– Sectorial p	olicies						
Total score		10%		Europe	ean aver	age	14	<b>!%</b>
	Education,recreat Public order, safe Healt	tion, culture and religion Postal sector ty, security and defence Water sector Environment sector Energy sector Construction sector General public services Public transport ncare and social services						
			0%	20%	40%	60%	80%	100%

Innovation procurement's strategic role is recognized under Maltese environmental policy framework. The total score of the indicator sectoral polices is therefore 10%. The **Green Public Procurement (GPP) Action Plan** (2011)<sup>595</sup>, besides its focus on sustainable procurement, also refers to the strategic use of innovation procurement to achieve Europe 2020 targets. As explained further in the **National Environmental Policy** (2012): "*The use of market-based instruments to promote green investment and innovation in order to promote eco-innovation and the creative industries: we have ensured that our Green Public Procurement (GPP) Action Plan promotes innovative procurement.* 

<sup>593</sup> http://mcst.gov.mt/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/National-RI-Strategy-2020-June-2014.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>594</sup> https://digitalmalta.org.mt/en/Pages/Strategy/Digital-Government.aspx

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>595</sup> https://msdec.gov.mt/en/decc/Documents/environment/gpp/GPP%20National%20Action%20Plan.pdf

This will ensure that where possible GPP stimulates eco-innovation by specifying the desired innovation (for example, energy efficiency) without over-specifying the process for achieving this in tender document". 596 It is worth mentioning that Malta has a more developed policy framework for sustainable procurement than for innovation procurement.

It is worth mentioning that the National Strategy for Health, Research and Innovation (2013)597 also enhances the use of public procurement to stimulate Research and Innovation:

- Encourage proactive use of EU public procurement directives as a means for stimulating public and private sector 1) investments in health research and innovation.
- Enhance the role of the Public Service (both as a purchaser and regulator) as early user of health innovative 2) products by developing capacities for implementing public procurement for research and innovation.
- Support the Public Service to act as a catalyst in private procurement, through the establishment of credit 3) guarantees for innovative health services, training in innovative procurement techniques and intellectual property protection, and the purchase for private use of innovative service and product.

However, this document, which has been commissioned in 2011 by the Malta Council for Science and Technology (MCST), has not been adopted by the Government so the score of healthcare policy is o%.

Indicator 5 – Action plan					
Total score	0%	European average	8%		

Malta does not have a stand-alone Action Plan for innovation procurement.

Indicator 6 – Spending target				
Total score	0%	European average	11%	

In Malta there is no specific spending target for innovation procurement.

Indicator 7 – Monitoring system				
Total score	0%	European average	13%	

Malta does not have structured system for measuring innovation procurement expenditure and evaluating the impacts of completed innovation procurements.

Indicator 8 – Incentives				
Total score	0%	European average	22%	

In Malta there are no financial or other types of personal incentives to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements.

Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures				
Total score 0% European average 24%				
Malta does not put in place targeted measures to enhance the adoption of innovation procurement.				

Indicator 10 – Innovation friendly public procurement market				
Total score	31%	European average	44%	
I - Specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement		II – Openness of national pu	blic procurement market to	

innovations from across the EU single market

<sup>596</sup> https://msdec.gov.mt/en/decc/documents/environment/national%20environment%20policy.pdf

<sup>597</sup> https://www.um.edu.mt/library/oar//handle/123456789/2015



This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of Innovation procurement. It is composed by two sub-indicators measuring:

- I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in Malta
- II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regard to sub-indicator I, Malta shows the following evidence:

- a. **IPR default regime**: The score for this sub-indicator is 25%, which is below the 38% European average, because there is no default scenario for the distribution of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers in Malta. Maltese law, general terms and conditions for government contracts and guidelines on public procurement do not define how IPR allocation is best dealt with in public procurement. It is left to the individual responsibility of each Maltese procurer to specify clearly the IPR allocation for the procurement in its tender documents so that it stimulates innovation and is compliant with applicable IPR/copyright law. The Maltese copyright law<sup>598</sup> determines that copyrights belong in an inalienable way to the creator even after transfer or licensing of economic rights. The economic rights can be transferred, assigned or licensed by the creator to another person/entity. If a public procurer wants to use the commissioned work in a specific way, the procurer needs to clearly specify in the tender documents which economic rights (e.g. licensing, publication, modification, reproduction rights) owned by the creator ((sub)contractors in his procurement) he wants to obtain. Copyright law protects also scientific work, software and database rights.
- b. **Use the value for money award criteria**: According to the single market scoreboard, in Malta only 7% of the public procurements have been awarded using criteria based not only on the lowest price. This result makes Malta the worst performer on the use of value for money award criteria together with Romania and Cyprus across the EU Member States.
- c. **Use of variants**: Malta has allowed the use of variants in less than 1% of the procedures (0,89%). This percentage is well below the European average.
- d. **Preliminary Market Consultations:** Malta has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 20 % of the procedures. This percentage is significantly above the European average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 13% which is far below the European average of 23%. This is mainly due to significant underutilization of value for money award criteria and the lack of IPR default regime to foster innovation in public procurement.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Malta shows the following evidence (based on the single market scoreboard):

- e. **Level of competition**: The level of competition is 93% which is above the European average 84% and reaches the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This result is due to above average performance on both sub-indicators: the percentage of procurements conducted with a call for bids (100%) and the percentage of procurements with more than one bidder (85%). The latter sub-indicator is even though above European average still below the 90% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.
- f. **Level of Transparency**: The level of transparency is 3% which is far below the European average 45% and below the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is due to very low performance on the two sub-indicators that reflect the level of information that procurers publish about their procurements: the percentage of procurements without missing call for bids information (5%) and without missing buyer registration numbers (0%). The TED publication rate is above European average (5%) but still not reaching the satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 48% which is below the European average of 65% and below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly due to the low transparency level.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 31% which is significantly below the 44% European average. This score is explained firstly by the fact that both the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country and the openness of the Maltese procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is below the European average. Indeed, the country has not yet adopted a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation and value for money criteria are still seriously underused in public procurements. In addition, although the national public procurement market shows a satisfactory level of competition, the level of transparency is extremely low.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>598</sup> http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/text.jsp?file\_id=128653

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Maltese investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Maltese investments on public procurement of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 9% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e.  $\\\in$  0,2 bn), **Malta ranks 12<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>599</sup> across Europe. The country falls within the group of **moderate performers**, slightly below the European average of 9,3%.<sup>600</sup> **A considerable increase of investments in PPI is still needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Maltese public sector.<sup>601</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Malta drops to the 13<sup>th</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>602</sup> explaining Malta's moderate performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** (49%) –which includes both innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' and 'significantly improved' solutions - is significantly below the European average (84%). This may be due to underinvestment in the adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market', which represents only 8% of PPI. The share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of **incremental innovations** (51%) - which includes 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' and 'innovative combinations of existing solutions' – is significantly above the European average (16%). As the total amount of investments in innovative solutions in Malta is moderate and below EU average (9% versus 9,3% of total public

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>599</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found <u>here on the EU webpages</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>600</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

 $<sup>^{601}</sup>$  It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve).  $^{602}$  The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

procurement), the country still needs to step up considerably its investments in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is an important factor explaining why Malta is not yet at the level of PPI investment that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI by type of innovation



Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

Public procurers from most public sector domains of public sector activity<sup>603</sup> in Malta purchased innovation solutions, except the categories 'Energy', 'Construction, housing and communities', 'Postal services' and 'Other' which made zero PPI investments. The shares of PPI investments made by different domains of public sector activity out of total PPI investments in the country are mostly below the European averages (in 6 out of 11 domains). Investments made by Maltese procurers in 'Education, recreation, culture and religion' are significantly above the European average (+19 pp).

Domain of public sector activity	Malta	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	30%	35%	-5
Public transport	11%	10%	+1
Healthcare and social services	22%	21%	+1
Energy	0%	6%	-6
Environment	5%	3%	+2
Construction, housing and community amenities	0%	4%	-4
Education, recreation, culture and religion	24%	5%	+19
Water	4%	4%	+0
Public order, safety and security	4%	8%	-4
Postal services	0%	1%	-1
Other	0%	3%	-3
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>603</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

#### **Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal** Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is significantly higher in Malta (74%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Maltese procurers may be less risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions than in the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is much lower in Malta (26%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Maltese procurers may tend to be less open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers than in the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

#### Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Maltese PPI investments for which call for tenders are published (24%) is low, in line the European average (22%). The portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (22%) is above the European average (18%) while the portion that is **published at national level** (2%) remains below European average (5%). The share of PPI investments for which no call for tenders are published in TED or at national level is very large (76%).

By not publishing PPI call for tenders widely, **Malta is missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Maltese and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Maltese PPI business opportunities.





Almost the entire amount of PPI investment in Malta is carried out **by large-scale entities at national level** (95%), such as ministries and ICT integrators of government departments. This is considerably above the European average (47%).

**Procurers at regional and local level** account for marginal shares of PPI investments (respectively 2% and 3%), and both are well below the European averages (respectively, 24% and 29%). This may indicate that especially procurers at subnational level could still improve their performance on adopting innovations.

### Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

In terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment), Malta falls within the group of **modest performing** countries. With  $\in$  0,02 bn or 4,2% of total public procurement invested in ICT-based PPI, **Malta ranks 8th** in the ranking of ICT-based PPI investments, slightly above the European average (3,5%). Malta performs also above the European average in terms of the share of total PPI procurement that is invested in ICT-based solutions (46% in Malta compared to 38% European average). However, **a significant increase of investments in ICT-based PPI is still needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of total PPI procurement in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Malta to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>604</sup>



The main factors<sup>605</sup> explaining Malta's modest performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** (49%) is significantly below the European average (79%). This may derive from the fact that the share of ICT-based PPI investments spent on the adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' is still low (12% of ICT-based PPI). Malta depends mainly on the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations** (51%), which is significantly above the European average (21%).





<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>604</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI– or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>605</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI

### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

#### ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



Malta invested mainly in the adoption of innovations in the 'Core ICT' sub-sector<sup>606</sup> (80%), well above the European average (54%).

The share of Maltese investments in the '**ICT Plus' sub**sector (20%) is below the European average (44%).

No investments were made to adopt innovations from the **'Content & Media' sub-sector**, which is below the European average (1%).

#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

In Malta, the procurement of innovative ICT-based solutions is concentrated in 7 out of 11 domains of public sector activity. Almost half of ICT-based PPI investments are made by procurers that operate in the domain of 'Education, recreation, culture and religion' (46%), followed by procurers active in 'General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs' (41%). The shares of investments made by procurers that operate in these two domains are significantly above the European average (respectively 9% and 16%). Investments by procurers active in 'Transport' were limited (0,1%). Conversely, in 4 sectors no PPI investments on ICT-based solutions were made: 'Energy', 'Construction, housing and community amenities', 'Postal services' and 'Other'.

#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity



#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

<sup>606</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

- · Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes
- · Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software
- ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

#### ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for almost the total share of ICT-based PPI investments (96%), well above the European average (69%).

**Procurers at regional and local level** account for marginal shares of ICT-based PPI (both at 2%), which are significantly below the European averages (respectively 21% and 10%). This may indicate that especially procurers at subnational level could still improve their performance on adopting ICT-based innovations.

# Norway



#### NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### **Governance and legal framework**

Norwegian legislation on public procurement is to a large extent based on EU public procurement directives in accordance with Norway's obligations under the European Economic Area (EEA) Agreement. The public procurement legal framework is composed by in the Norwegian Act on Public Procurement of 17 June 2017, No. 73 (LOV-2016-06-17-73); and in three regulations adopted on 20 December 2016, i.e. the Regulation on Public Procurement of 20 December 2016, No. 1744 (FOR-2016-12-20-1744), implementing Directive 2014/24/EU; the Regulation on Procurement Rules in the Utilities Sectors (FOR-2016-12-20-1745), implementing Directive 2014/25/EU; the Regulation on Concessions Contracts, (FOR-2016-12-20-1746), implementing Directive 2014/23/EU). The EU Directive on defence procurement (2009/81/EC) was implemented by the Regulation on Defence and Security Procurements, which came into force in 2014<sup>607</sup>.

The key actors in the field of innovation procurement are the **Ministry of Trade and Industry (NHD)**, which defines the rules and regulations on public procurement and is responsible for innovation policy. The strategic use of public procurement to address innovation objectives is part of this. The **Agency for Public Management and eGovernment (Difi)**<sup>608</sup> assists Government and key procurers in the modernization of the public sector and in the implementation of innovation procurement, via competence building and dissemination.

Difi in cooperation with the **Norwegian Association of Local and Regional Authorities** (KS) the and **Confederation of Norwegian Enterprise** (NHO) implement the "National programme for supplier **development**", which is intended to encourage innovation and creativity within public sector thought concrete innovation procurement projects, method development and competence building activities.

Another actor is **Innovation Norway (IN)**<sup>609</sup>, Norwegian Government's most important institution for innovation and development of Norwegian enterprises and industry, which also deals with innovation procurement from a supply-side point of view.

#### **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

Inn the benchmarking of the national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Norway is at the** 7<sup>th</sup> **position** in the overall ranking with a **total score of 38,1%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Norway is among the group of good performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. Having implemented 39% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is however still a significant reinforcement of the policy framework needed in Norway to reach its full 100% potential.



Strengths: Norway is structuring its support to enhance the use of innovation procurement, and has well-developed capacity building and assistance measures

Weaknesses: Underutilisation of potential synergies with several horizontal and sectorial policies, absence of dedicated action plan, spending target and structured monitoring system for innovation procurement. Lack of IPR policy in public procurement that encourages innovation.

<sup>607</sup> https://lovdata.no/dokument/SF/forskrift/2013-10-04-1185

<sup>608</sup> https://www.difi.no/om-difi/about-difi

<sup>609</sup> http://www.innovasjonnorge.no/en/start-page


In the Norwegian public procurement legislation, there is an official definition for innovation and an official definition of R&D procurement for defence procurers, but no official definitions for Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI). Innovation procurement and Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) are defined in Difi guidance. The total score of the indicator is 56%.

The national legal public procurement regulation (FOR-2016-08-12-974) defines **innovation** as "the implementation of a new or significantly enhanced product, service or process, including but not limited to processes of production, construction or construction, a new method of placing on the market or a new method of organization in business practice, organization of workplace or external relations among others to help address social challenges or to support the Europe 2020 strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth". This definition is in line with the EU definition, and it is country-wide applicable

There is a definition of **innovative procurement** in guidance material on the Difi website<sup>610</sup>. "Innovation is something new and useful that is used and creates value. Value can be assessed in several ways, e.g.:

- Economy and cost / benefit (what values does the solution create against what it costs to implement and operate it?)
- Quality and reduced error rate
- Efficiency and productivity
- Quality of life and satisfaction
- Reputation and customer friendliness
- Ease of use and simpler user interface

Based on the above definition of innovation, innovative procurement is a method or way of implementing procurement, in a way that promotes and/or results in innovation. Innovative procurement is therefore both about how the procurement process is carried out and what is procured."

This definition of innovative procurement is broader than the EU definition of innovation procurement because it includes procurements that use new innovative approaches in the procurement process itself but do not result in the procurement

<sup>610</sup> https://www.anskaffelser.no/innovasjon

of any type of innovation. The definition of innovative procurement in Difi guidance is thus not completely in line with the EU definition of innovation procurement, therefore the total score for this sub-indicator is 50%.

For non-defence procurers, Art § 2-5 of the Public Procurement Act identifies R&D as all the activities that have the CPV codes, for fundamental research, applied research and industrial development. A definition of **R&D** in the context of public procurement is provided by the Regulation on Defence and Security Procurements in Art § 4-1. of the section General definitions: research and development are "all activities involving basic research, applied research and experimental development, where the latter may include the development of technology demonstrators, i.e. devices that show the performance of a new concept or new technology in a relevant or representative environment". The CPV codes and the definition are fully in line with the provisions in the EU public procurers' directives, but the definition is only applicable to defence procurers. Therefore, the total score of this sub-indicator is 90%.

In national guidance on the Difi website<sup>611</sup> there is a definition of PCP applicable to all public procurers in the country, but it is not fully in line with the EU definition as it does not recognise that the purchase of non-commercial volumes of solutions can be part of a PCP. Art § 2-5 transposes the exclusion for R&D services, which forms the legal basis for implementing **PCP**, namely: "*the law only applies to R&D services procurements following the cumulative conditions of* "(*a*) products belong exclusively to the contracting authority for its own use at pursuing its activity; and (*b*) the service is wholly remunerated by the contracting authority". As the legal framework provides a clear legal basis to implement PCP for all public procurers in the country, the score for this sub-indicator is 50%.

Concerning **PPI**, although there is no official definition, the Public Procurement Act enables all procurers to implement PPI by allowing procurers to take into account innovative solutions characteristics in the award and performance monitoring: "the client may make appropriate requirements and criteria related to different stages of the procurement process, so that public contracts are implemented in a manner that promotes environmental, innovation, employment and social conditions, provided that the requirements and criteria are related to the delivery". The total score of this sub-indicator is 35%.



Innovation procurement is embedded in two out of seven horizontal enabling policies in Norway. Therefore the score of this indicator is 29%.

Under public procurement policy, innovation procurement has a main role in the **Strategy for increased innovation impact of public procurement** (2013)<sup>612</sup>. The national **Long-term plan for research and higher education 2015–2024**<sup>613</sup> states that: "Public procurements and public private cooperation are examples of collaboration that must be designed so they become instruments for addressing challenges that require research or innovation. The potential for using public procurements to mobilise the business community toward more research and innovation is considerable. A public sector that demands expert goods, services and solutions, and that cooperates with the business community, can be an important catalyst for more research and innovation. Continued development of public procurement schemes is an effective tool for promoting more R&D in trade and industry".

Indicator 3 – ICT policies					
Total score	100%	European Average	47%		

Under ICT policy, **Norwegian digital agenda** considers innovation procurement among its strategic tools: "A conservative estimate of ICT procurements in the public sector in Norway in 2014 is put at NOK 16.6 billion. It is important to secure the best possible returns on these investments. Creating more professionalised digitisation projects in the public sector is a key element to this end. Such professionalisation will also help stimulate innovation within industry [...]<sup>"614</sup>. Action under Part III ICT policy for value creation and inclusion states that "*The Government will strengthen innovation and business development inside welfare technology through the use of open standards and wider use of innovative procurements*".

<sup>614</sup>https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/07b212c03fee4d0a94234b101c5b8ef0/engb/pdfs/digital agenda for norway in brief.p df

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>611</sup> https://www.anskaffelser.no/innovasjon/metoder-gjennomforing-av-utviklingprosjekter/kommersielle-anskaffelser

<sup>612</sup> https://www.regieringen.no/globalassets/upload/nhd/vedlegg/rapporter\_2013/innovasjonseffektavoffentligeanskaffelser\_2013.pdf 613 https://www.regieringen.no/contentassets/e10e5d5e2198426788ae4f1ecbbbbc20/en-gb/pdfs/stm201420150007000engpdfs.pdf



Innovation procurement is embedded as a strategic priority in frameworks and action plans of four horizontal policies. On the basis of the evidences, the total score of this indicator is 40%.

In particular, the **Government Action Plan for Implementation of the Health&Care21 Strategy**<sup>615</sup> (2015-2018) and the **National Transport Plan 2018–2029**<sup>616</sup>, for healthcare and transport policy respectively, explicitly promote the use of innovation procurement among its actions. Under defence policy, the **strategy for the Norwegian Armed Forces** states that this part of the public sector will focus explicitly on innovative SMEs in their procurement in the coming years.<sup>617</sup> Concerning R&D and education policies, the **Long-term plan for research and higher education 2015–2024** also recognises the role of the public sector in increasing the demand of innovation and therefore promotes the use of innovation procurement.<sup>618</sup>

Under environmental policy, Norway shows a great interest in the field of sustainable procurement<sup>619</sup>, but not directly to innovation procurement.

Indicator 5 – Action pl	lan		
Total score	0%	European Average	8%

Norway does not have a stand-alone action plan for innovation procurement.

Indicator 6 – Spending	g target		
Total score	0%	European Average	11%

In Norway there is no specific spending target for innovation procurement.



Norway does not have a structured system to measure innovation procurement expenditure and evaluate the impacts of completed innovation procurements. However, there are several partial **measurement exercises**. In particular, an electronic-based survey performed in 2010 by KS and Difi got answers from 125 local municipalities (12%), 11 counties (31%) and by 147 state enterprises (57%). It showed a large under-utilised potential in the field on innovation procurement, as only 5% of the local municipalities and 10% of the counties have actively sought innovative solutions over the previous 2-3 years, and 3 out of 4 have not incorporated or formulated standard strategies to carry out innovation.<sup>620</sup> Summing up, the Country does not regularly measure innovation procurement expenditure but has only conducted some pilot initiatives. Therefore, the total score for the sub-indicator measuring is 25%. Finally, due to the total **absence of an** 

<sup>615</sup> https://tapahtumat.tekes.fi/uploads/5ef05118/Harbo 0711-1780.pdf

<sup>616</sup> https://www.regjeringen.no/en/dokumenter/meld.-st.-33-20162017/id2546287/sec5?g=procurement#match\_0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>617</sup> <u>http://www.anskaffelser.no/nyhet/2015-11-18/forsvaret-satsar-pa-innovative-smb</u>

<sup>618</sup> https://www.regjeringen.no/en/dokumenter/meld.-st.-7-2014-2015/id2005541/sec5?q=procurement#match\_0

<sup>619</sup> https://www.regjeringen.no/globalassets/upload/md/vedlegg/planer/t-1467 eng.pdf

<sup>620</sup> https://tapahtumat.tekes.fi/uploads/5ef05118/Harbo\_0711-1780.pdf

**evaluation system** in place the score for the sub-indicator evaluation is 0% and the total score of the indicator "Monitoring system" is 13%.



In Norway there are financial incentives but no personal incentives for innovation procurement. The total score for this indicator is 21%.

The **National Programme for Supplier Development**<sup>621</sup> was set up to accelerate innovations and development of new solutions through the strategic use of public procurement, while at the same time contributing to new market opportunities for these innovations and enhancing procurers' competences about innovation procurement. It focuses on new ways of supporting both the public buyers and the suppliers through innovation procurement. The programme, started in 2010 for a period of 5 years and re-launched in 2015 until 2019, is a joint collaboration by three entities representing both the public and private sector:

- 1) Agency for Public Management and eGovernment (Difi) provides support in developing tools and guidance on public procurement as well as specifically on innovative procurement;
- 2) Norwegian Association of Local and Regional Authorities (KS) provides the link to both local and regional authorities and stimulates actors towards innovative public procurements. It provides inputs into strategic areas as a programme to pursue (e.g. upcoming procurements which may have a significant potential for climate-smart solutions) and systematically shares lessons learned.
- 3) Confederation of Norwegian Enterprise (NHO) provides the link to the private sector actors.

The programme brings together public buyers (in particular local authorities like cities and counties from across Norway) which may have a common agenda and similar challenges. In doing so, the needs are mapped jointly, and once identified, the market and relevant suppliers are invited for dialogue on how to solve this through joint procurement processes.

The programme acts as a broker and facilitator in joint procurement initiatives. It can facilitate some financial incentives for procurers for pilot innovation procurements but not for large scale mainstreaming of innovation procurement across the country. The programme is using national funds and does not use top-up EU funds like ESIF. Therefore the score on "financial incentives" is 43%. As there are no personal incentives in Norway to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements, the score for sub-indicator "personal incentives" is 0%.

This results in a total score for the indicator "incentives" of 21%.

indicator 9 – Capacity bunding and assistance measures								
Total score	65%			European A	verage 24	%		
	Existence	Connection with relevant internationa l/ EU initiatives	Free of charge	Covering all types and aspects of innovation procurement	Available and applicable to all public procurers in the country	Mainstreaming Innovation procurement at a large scale	Sub-total score	
Central website	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	83%	
Good practices	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		67%	
Trainings/workshops	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		67%	
Handbooks/guidelines	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		67%	
Assistance to public procurers	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		67%	
Template tender documents	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		50%	
Coordination	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		50%	
Networking		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			67%	

#### Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>621</sup> <u>http://innovativeanskaffelser.no/ and http://www.innobuild.eu/innobuild-project/partners/national-program-supplier-development.html</u>

One-stop-shop/ competence centre	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		67%
-------------------------------------	--------------	--	--------------	--------------	--------------	--	-----

Norway carries out several capacity-building measures to increase the procurer's know-how and promote the use of innovation procurement. The high score of the indicator reflects the well-structured capacity building system of the Norwegian procurement system.

The key actor in capacity building is the Agency for public management and eGovernance (Difi) which assists agencies and public authorities to set up solid procurement procedures and to undertake innovation procurements. On its central website622 Difi publishes official guides and handbooks, provides training sessions and courses to procurers on the link with the Norwegian funding scheme for suppliers that are developing solutions for the public sector as developed by the National Programme for Supplier Development (cf. Indicator "Incentives") as well as on PCP. It also carries out a number of activities such as information, awareness rising, collection and awarding of good practices, individual consultancy and international networking.

Examples of Difi's guide on the topic are "Managing risk of public procurement of innovation" (2014).<sup>623</sup>

Under the Start Programme<sup>624</sup> of the National Programme for Supplier Development, Difi provides **detailed** instructions and templates to perform innovation procurements and it uses examples from over 150 implemented innovation procurements to illustrate

- How to use functional specifications rather than detailed requirements;
- Acquisitions and innovation as strategic tools how to use procurement to realize business goals and plans;
- Provide innovative procurement tips for business executives; •
- Dialogue with the market; •
- Demand mapping and user involvement; •
- Implementation of innovation procurements in practice.

There are regular events to network Norwegian local authorities also in the context of creating buyers groups that coordinate their procurement needs towards the market. In 2011 the Nordic Ministers of Industry also launched together a Nordic lighthouse initiative in the healthcare domain to strengthen collaboration between Norway, Finland, Sweden, Denmark and Iceland on innovation procurement. Nordic innovation and the national competence centres on innovation procurement in those countries organise from time to time meetings with procurers from different Nordic countries to discuss potential coordinated procurement possibilities. As both initiatives are not applicable to all types of procurers and not implemented yet at large scale the score for the **networking** sub-indicator is 67%,

The national supplier development programme, supported by Difi, coordinates the creation of buyers groups of small procurers (typically local authorities) and the preparation of joint procurements to create enough market pull for suppliers to bring innovative solutions to the market. The programme coordinates the identification and specification of joint needs and helps those buyers groups organise open market consultations, promotes the calls for tenders based on template tender documents for PCPs and other types of innovation procurements provided by Difi. This is happening so far however only at small scale. The score for sub-indicator coordination is 50%.

On the basis of the evidence collected above, the total score for this indicator is 65%. The score is affected by the fact that usually there is no connection with relevant EU initiatives, and these measures are often not conceived to mainstream innovation procurement at large scale in the country.



<sup>622</sup> https://www.anskaffelser.no

623 https://www.innovation-

procurement.org/resources/search?country=176&category=0&topic=0&language=0&product=0&level=0&q

<sup>624</sup> http://innovativeanskaffelser.no/startprogram/

This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of Innovation procurement. It is composed by two sub-indicators reflecting:

I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in Norway

II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regard to sub-indicator I, Norway shows the following evidence:

- IPR default regime: The score for this sub-indicator is 25%, which is below the 38% European average, a. because there is no default scenario for the distribution of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers defined in the Norwegian law, general terms and conditions for government contracts and guidelines on public procurement. It is left to the individual responsibility of each Austrian procurer to specify clearly the IPR allocation for the procurement in its tender documents so that it stimulates innovation and is compliant with applicable IPR/copyright law. The Norwegian copyright act<sup>625</sup> assigns copyright to the creator and determines that the moral rights can only be waived to a limited extent by the creator when the use of the work in question is limited in nature and extent. If the procurer wants to use the commissioned work, he must require in the tender specifications the transfer, assignment or a license of the economic rights (e.g. usage, licensing, publication, modification, reproduction rights) at equitable payment. Copyright protects also scientific work (product designs, product specifications, tests etc.), computer programs and databases. The Difi guidelines about PCP explain that in PCPs the contractors should retain IPR ownership rights and the public procurer retains usage and licensing rights<sup>626</sup>. There also some template tender documents for some other types of procurements on the Difi website where IPR ownership is left with the contractors, but these are not for all types of procurements that can involve innovation and also informational only.
- b. **Use of value for money criteria**: According to the EU single market scoreboard, 78% of the public procurement procedure have been awarded using criteria that are not only based on the lowest price. This is well above the European average of 42% and almost reaching the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard.
- c. **Use of variants**: Norway has allowed the use of variants in the 3% of the procedures. This percentage is below the European average.
- d. **Preliminary Market Consultations:** Norway has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 29% of the procedures. This percentage is significantly above the European average of 9%

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 34% which is above the European average of 23% This is mainly due to the above average performance in the use of value for money criteria and Preliminary Market Consultation, despite a below average performance on adopting a IPR default regime that fosters innovation in public procurement and the improvement that can still be made to obtain wider scale use of value for money award criteria.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Norway shows the following evidence (based on the single market scoreboard):

- e. **Level of competition**: The level of competition is 95% which is above the European average 84% and above the 92,5% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This high score is driven by above average and satisfactory scores on both sub-indicators: the percentage of procurements for which a call for bids was organised (100%) and the percentage of procurements for which there was more than one bidder (90%).
- f. **Level of Transparency**: The level of transparency is 66% which is above the European average 45% and exactly equal to the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This score is driven by the above European average level of information provided to bidders: above average percentage of procurements without missing call for bids information (94%) and without missing buyer registration numbers (99%).

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 81% which is above the European average of 65% and above the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is due to good levels of competition and transparency.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 57% which is above the 44% European average. This score is explained by the fact that both the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country and the openness of the Norwegian procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is above the European average, but the first is still below the satisfactory level. Indeed, the country has not yet adopted a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation and the use value for money criteria can still be further improved. The national public procurement market shows an above European average and satisfactory level of competition and transparency.

<sup>625</sup> http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/details.jsp?id=15949

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>626</sup> https://www.anskaffelser.no/metoder-gjennomforing-av-utviklingprosjekter/kommersielle-anskaffelser/kontraktsinngaelse

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### Investment benchmarking (2018)

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Norwegian investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Norwegian investments on public procurement of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 12,1% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e. € 8,2 bn), **Norway ranks 2<sup>nd</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>627</sup> across Europe. Norway falls within the group of **strong performers**, performing well above the European average of 9,3%.<sup>628</sup> However, **a modest increase of investments in PPI is still be needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Norwegian public sector.<sup>629</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Norway moves up to the 1<sup>st</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>630</sup> explaining Norway's strong performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** represent almost the entire amount the PPI occurred Norway (97%) and is clearly above the European average (84%). This may be explained by the high adoption of 'significantly improved' solutions (91%) and to a lesser extent of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (6%). Accordingly, the share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of **incremental innovations** (16%) is marginal (3%). This consist of 'existing solutions used in a new way or in a new sector' or 'innovative combinations of existing solutions'.

 $<sup>^{627}</sup>$  Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found here on the EU webpages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>628</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

 $<sup>^{629}</sup>$  It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve).  $^{630}$  The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

Despite the strong performance compared to other European countries, **additional growth could be achieved through a wider adoption of ICT technologies**, which are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Nearly every domain of public sector activity**<sup>631</sup> **in Norway purchased innovation solutions**, except in the categories '**Postal services**' and '**Other**' with zero PPI investments. However, Norwegian PPI investments were very concentrated in one domain of public sector activity, namely '**General public services**, **public administration and economic and financial affairs**' which made the lion share of the investments (86%), significantly above the European overage (35%). Conversely, the shares of PPI investments made by other sectors were below the European averages, such as '**Healthcare and social services**' (-17 pp), '**Public transport**' (-7 pp), '**Energy**' (-5,9 pp), '**Public order, safety and security**' (-6 pp) etc.

Domain of public sector activity	Norway	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	86%	35%	+51
Public transport	3%	10%	-7
Healthcare and social services	4%	21%	-17
Energy	0% (0,1%)	6%	-6
Environment	0% (0,3%)	3%	-3
Construction, housing and community amenities	0% (0,2%)	4%	-4
Education, recreation, culture and religion	4%	5%	-1
Water	0% (0,4%)	4%	-4
Public order, safety and security	2%	8%	-6
Postal services	0%	1%	-1
Other	0%	3%	-3
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>631</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

# Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal

## Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is higher in Norway (34%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Norwegian procurers may be less risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is lower in Norway (66%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Norwegian procurers may tend to be less open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Norwegian PPI investments for which calls for tenders are published (30%) is moderate and a little higher than the European average (22%). The share **published at European level** in the TED database (28%) is considerably above the European average (18%), while the share **published at national level** (4%) is below the European average (5%). The share of PPI investments for which no call for tender is published is very high (70%).

By not published PPI call for tenders more widely, Norway is **missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Norwegian and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Norwegian PPI business opportunities.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

#### PPI investments by level of public sector activity



The share of PPI investments which are carried out by **large-scale entities at national level** (12%) is small compared to the European average (47%).

The share of PPI investments that is carried out by **regional level procurers** (83%) is much higher than the European average (24%). The share of PPI investments carried out by **procurers at local level** (5%) is small compared to the European average (29%).

# Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The Norwegian public sector shows a **good level of performance** in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment). With  $\in$  0,1 bn or 5,1% of public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, Norway ranks 5<sup>th</sup> in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, well above the European average (3,5%). In terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions, Norway performs (42%) just above the European average (38%). A significant increase of investments in buying innovations ICT-based solutions is still needed to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Norway to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>632</sup>



The main factors<sup>633</sup> explaining Norway's good performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** in Norway (82%) is just above the European average (79%). The wide majority of these investments (44%) are 'significantly improved solutions' followed by innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (38%). The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations** (18%) is slightly below the European average (21%).<sup>634</sup>



#### ICT-based PPI investments by type of innovation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>632</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI – or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>633</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>634</sup> See definitions above.

### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

#### ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



Norway invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the '**Core ICT' sub-sector**<sup>635</sup> (66%), above the European average (54%).

Norway invested significantly less in the adoption of innovations from the '**ICT Plus' sub-sector** (19%) compared to the European average (45%).

Investments in adopting innovations from the **'Content & Media' sub-sector** were modest (15%), but considerably above the European average (1%).

#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Nearly every domain of public sector activity in Norway purchased innovation solutions**, except in the categories '**Postal Services**', '**Water**' and '**Other**' with zero PPI investments. The highest shares of procurements of innovative ICT-based solutions, which are also significantly above the European averages, come from procurers that operate in '**Education, recreation, culture and religion**' (29% against a 9% European average), followed by '**General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs**' (24% against the European average of 16%). Conversely, the most relevant gap with the European average is experienced in the '**Public order, safety and security**', where investments were 8% below from the European average. The shares of investments made by procurers in '**Energy**' (0,1%) and '**Environment**' (1,4%) were small.



#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>635</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>•</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 74% of ICT-based PPI investments, quite above the European average (69%).

**Procurers at local level** account for 22% of the ICT-based PPI, which is more than double than the European average (10%). To the contrary, **regional procurers** account for only a small fraction of ICT-based PPI (4%), significantly below the European average (21%).

# Poland



#### . NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### Governance and legal framework

Innovation procurement in Poland is regulated by the Public Procurement Law (PPL) of 2016 that transposed the EU Procurement Directives (Directives 2014/23/EU, 2014/24/EU 2014/25/EU) in the national jurisdiction<sup>636</sup>. The PPL also transposed the EU Directive 2009/81/EC on defence procurement.

The public procurement system in Poland is highly decentralised and all contracting authorities (including local administrations) are free to set their own secondary policies and objectives. In 2018, the total number of contracting authorities was approximately 33,000.

The **Government Administration Service Centre** (COAR) is the central purchasing body for governmental level entities. In Poland a new national purchasing policy, addressing also innovation procurement, is currently in the process of elaboration.

The **Ministry of Entrepreneurship and Technology** is responsible for the national innovation policy, including the innovation procurement policy. The **Public Procurement Office (PPO)**, a government agency under the supervision of the ministry, is in charge for its implementation and is responsible for the Public Procurement Law and its revisions. The PPO also undertakes initiatives to raise awareness and enhance capacity of public procurers in the field of innovation procurement. Other relevant actors in the innovation procurement ecosystem are the **Ministry of Investment and Development**, which is responsible for financing innovations, and the **Polish Agency for Entrepreneurship Development (PARP)**, a government agency under the supervision of this Ministry, supporting innovative entrepreneurs and contractors.

Moreover, the **Ministry of Science and Higher Education** is in charge of R&D policy and its executive agency, the **National Centre for Research and Development (NCBR)**<sup>637</sup>, manages large innovation projects (PPI) with the involvement of public, private and academic partners and is also involved in management and support of supply side R&D grant projects aimed at addressing public sector challenges.

#### **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In the benchmarking of the national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Poland is at the 21<sup>st</sup> position** in the overall ranking with a **total score of 17.4%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Poland is among the group of low performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. Having implemented only 18.3% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is still a very strong reinforcement of the policy framework needed in Poland to reach its full 100% potential.



**Strengths**: In Poland there is a rising awareness on the strategic importance of innovation procurement in horizontal enabling policies, innovation procurement is put forward as strategic priority in the public procurement, innovation and economic policy and ESIF funding is being mobilised for innovation procurements.

Weaknesses: Innovation procurement is not strategically taken up yet in sectorial policies to move to wide scale implementation across all sectors, capacity building and assistance measures are not mainstreamed widely yet, lack of action plan, spending target and monitoring system. Lack of IPR policy in public procurement that encourages innovation.



 Innovation procurement
 0%
 20%
 40%
 60%
 80%
 100%

 The Polish public procurement law does not provide official definitions for R&D, innovation, innovation procurement,

The Polish public procurement law does not provide official definitions for R&D, innovation, innovation procurement, PCP or PPI. Nevertheless it provides for all types of public procurers in the country a clear legal basis to implement R&D procurement, Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) and Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI). Therefore, the total score for this indicator is 26%.

Polish public procurement law has not completely correctly transposed the **definition of innovation** from the EU public procurement directives that can be used in combination with all public procurement procedures. The only reference to innovation in Polish public procurement law is found in art 73 of the law on the innovation partnership procedure<sup>638</sup>. Questions to EU have shown that this situation has created confusion among Polish public procurers, several of which are assimilating innovation procurement only with the innovation partnership procedure. There is a however a much wider range of procurement procedures and approaches available under the public procurement legal framework that can be used to implement innovation procurements, ranging from simple-to-start-with procedures (to buy R&D or innovative solutions separately) to more elaborate and complex ones such as the innovation partnerships<sup>639</sup>. The way in which innovation is defined in art 73 of the Polish public procurement law is also different in scope from how it is defined in the EU public procurement directives. The EU public procurement directives define innovation as the implementation of a new or significantly improved product, service... (which includes under innovation procurement also procurements that procure only the activity of implementing/creating an innovative solution, without necessarily buying this solution) whereas art 73 of the Polish public procurement law defines innovation more narrowly as only the outcome of an innovation activity (the new or significantly improved product, service...). This also fuels misunderstandings that only procurements that buy an innovative solution are considered innovation procurements and contributes to misconceptions that R&D procurements are not innovation procurement. Avoiding these confusions in the future will be important to prevent misconceptions and disorientation in Poland about what is considered

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>638</sup> The Polish Public Procurement Law, Article 73a.3: An innovative product, service, or work shall mean a new or significantly improved product, service, or process, including manufacturing, construction, or installation process, or a new marketing method or a new organisational method in business activities, work organisation or external relations.

<sup>639</sup> https://ec.europa.eu/info/policies/public-procurement/support-tools-public-buyers/innovation-procurement\_en

innovation procurement and what is not. Therefore, the score on sub-indicator innovation procurement definition is 0%.

The Polish Public Procurement Law identifies in *Article 4 (3) letter* e **R&D** as "*activities that have the CPV codes for fundamental research, applied research and industrial development*". This reference via CPV code is in line with the EU definitions for the CPV codes for R&D and represents the legal basis to implement R&D procurement for all public procurers in the country. The total score for the sub-indicator R&D procurement definition is therefore 35%.

This *Article 4 (3) letter* e also transposes the exclusion for R&D services, which forms the legal basis for implementing in **PCP**, namely: "*the law only applies to R&D services procurements following the cumulative conditions of "(a) products belong exclusively to the contracting authority for its own use at pursuing its activity; and (b) the service is wholly remunerated by the contracting authority". Therefore, even if national law does not provide a definition of PCP, it provides a clear a legal basis for implementing PCP which is in line with the provisions in the EU public procurement directives and applicable to all public procurers in the country, resulting in a total score for the PCP sub-indicator of 35%.* 

The Public procurement Act provides a legal basis for the implementation of **PPI** in Poland, allowing procurers to award contracts and monitor contract performance not only based on price but also based on innovation criteria. In particular the *article 91. P. 4* states that: "1. 2. *Tender evaluation criteria shall be price or price and other criteria linked to the subject-matter of the contract, in particular: 1) quality, including technical parameters, aesthetic and functional characteristics; 2) social aspects, including social and occupational integration of persons referred to in Article 22.2, accessibility to disabled persons, and responding to user needs; 3) environmental aspects, including energy efficiency of the subject-matter of contract; 4) innovation aspects". The total score of the sub-indicator PPI definition is thus 35%.* 



In Poland five horizontal policies recognise innovation procurement as part of their strategy. These are regional, economic and financial policy, public procurement and R&D&I policies. Thus, the total score for this indicator is 57%.

Regional policy supports innovation procurement as several national **operational programmes** for the ESIF funds foresee actions on innovation procurements as well (cf. Indicator "Incentives"). These programmes are the Infrastructure and Environment Programme, the Intelligent Development Program, the Knowledge Education Development Programme, the Digital Poland Programme, the Eastern Poland Programme, the Rural Development Programme and the Fish and Sea Programme.

In the field of economic policy, the **Responsible Development Plan**<sup>640</sup> which formed the basis for the **Strategy for Responsible Development 2020 (with the perspective 2030) SOR** adopted by the Council of Ministers on 14th February 2017<sup>641</sup>, identifies innovation procurement as a tool that should be used more to spur development of the national economy and labour market by boosting innovation. The SOR sets out as one of the priorities for the new "intelligent public procurement" policy that public procurement in Poland will provide an important impulse to innovation through "the State as a demanding customer, oriented towards technology creating a demand innovation stimulus through procurement of high-quality goods." The Strategy has a horizontal impact on all policy sectors, especially transport, environment, energy and ICT. The objective to develop an intelligent public procurement policy was adopted in the **State Purchasing Policy**<sup>642</sup> in June 2018, with as main objective "Optimizing public purchases by giving procurers controllability/navigability and focusing on innovation and sustainable products and services". The principle of the state as a demanding customer - the public sector is an entity creating demand for high-quality products, services and construction works - is elaborated further in:

1. The principle of preference for innovative and ecological solutions - when planning and preparing procurement procedures, the contracting authorities put their preferences on innovative and ecological products reducing adverse environmental impact.

https://www.miir.gov.pl/media/51477/SOR 2017 streszczenie en.pdf

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>640</sup> See: <u>https://www.miir.gov.pl/media/14873/Responsible\_Development\_Plan.pdf</u> (summary in English)
 <u>https://www.miir.gov.pl/media/16403/uchwala\_plan\_odp\_rozw\_16022016.pdf</u> (full version in Polish)
 <sup>641</sup> <u>https://rio.jrc.ec.europa.eu/en/library/strategy-responsible-development;</u> in English:

See: https://www.miir.gov.pl/media/14873/Responsible Development Plan.pdf (summary in English) https://www.miir.gov.pl/media/16403/uchwala plan odp rozw 16022016.pdf (full version in Polish) <sup>642</sup> https://www.mpit.gov.pl/media/58301/Zalozenia Polityki Zakupowej Panstwa.pdf

2. The principle of facilitating access to the procurement market for the SME sector - public sector takes into account solutions offered by SMEs and having a positive impact on the economy of the region.

3. The principle of avoiding dependence on one supplier - contracting authorities plan procurements in a manner avoiding long-period dependence on one supplier, especially technological supplier. For this reason, solutions that ensure interoperability and standardization are preferred.

Procurements pursue both a quality goal (the maximization of functional requirements of purchased products while minimizing costs in the product life cycle) and an efficiency goal (improving the purchasing process through its digitization, by introducing incentives for innovative solutions and cost estimation in the product life cycle).

With regard to R&D&I, the national R&I strategy 2013-2020 (**Strategy for innovation and efficiency of the economy "Dynamic Poland 2020**")<sup>643</sup> explicitly considers public procurement as a key driver for innovation. In particular, it refers to public procurement as an important element for "new, pro-innovation approaches" and encourages public authorities to draft tender documents such that the terms allow the adoption of new technologies and innovative goods and services.

Indicator 3 – ICT policies					
Total score	0%	European Average	47%		

The Polish **National Integrated Digitalisation Program 2016-2020**<sup>644</sup>, which is an implementing document the Efficient and Modern State Strategy, contains objectives that are related to public procurement in general (e.g. objectives on open government, standards and conditions for effective and secure e-administration, e-public services and digitalisation of public entities). However, the programme does not specifically mention or encourage innovation procurement. The **Digital Poland programme** (Poland's funding programme for advancing digital public services funded by ESIF), does recognise innovation procurement as strategic priority, however this is not a national ICT policy/strategy document but a funding programme.

Indicator 4 – Sectorial	policies		
Total score	0%	European Average	14%

The Polish public administration is currently revising several sectorial policies to include the innovation procurement objectives of the Strategy for Responsible Development, including: The Sustainable Transport Development Strategy, the Polish Energy Policy 2040, the Strategy for the sustainable development of rural areas, agriculture and fisheries and the Ecological Policy of the State 2030. As this process is not completed yet, the score for the indicator is currently still 0%.

Indicator 5 – Action plan				
Total score	0%	European Average	8%	

Poland has not developed a stand-alone Action Plan for innovation procurement.

The government is currently drafting a new national purchasing policy and innovation procurement is expected to be included as a tool to support innovation in the public sector. As a result, innovation procurement is likely to be addressed using a more systematic approach. Despite that, so far, no specific action plan on innovation procurement is planned.

Indicator 6 – Spending	g target		
Total score	0%	European Average	11%
	1		

In Poland there is no specific spending target for innovation procurement at central level.

Indicator 7 – Monitoring system					
Total score	0%	European Average	13%		

Poland does not have a structured system to measure the total amount of public procurement expenditure in the country that is spent on innovation procurement across the country and to evaluate the impacts achieved by completed innovation procurements across the country.

While Poland has no comprehensive monitoring systems yet, it does measure certain elements that allow some assessments i.e.: (1). application by contracting authorities of innovation criteria for tender assessment (Article 91.1 of PPL) and (2) application by contracting authorities of requirements of innovative contract performance (Article 29.4 of PPL). Both information is delivered by contracting authorities in their Annual Reports on Awarded Contracts forwarded to the Public Procurement Office.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>643</sup> <u>https://rio.jrc.ec.europa.eu/en/file/7277/download?token=71dsihwP</u>

<sup>644</sup> https://www.gov.pl/web/cyfryzacja/program-zintegrowanej-informatyzacji-panstwa

Furthermore, the monitoring of actions within innovative procurement, as specified by SOR is the task of the Government Office for Project Monitoring (RBMP) set up in the Prime Minister's Office. Having developed a dedicated software system encompassing data from all public institutions involved, they conduct a wide range of activities pertaining to training, development and oversight over strategic projects including procurement.



In Poland there are no dedicated national financial support schemes for public procurers to incentivise the launch of innovation procurements. However, in several Polish operational programmes under ESIF (e.g. in the Digital Poland programme) some resources have been mobilised for innovation procurements. They are however only in sectors set as smart specialisation priorities under ESIF and not designed for mainstreaming innovation procurement widely across all procurers and all sectors of public procurement activity in the country. There is no national funding for innovation procurement that is not linked to EU funded ESIF budgets. The total score for the sub-indicator **financial incentives** is therefore 43%.

Due to the absence of **personal incentives** for public procurers, the total score for this indicator is 0%.

Total score		17%		European Av	erage	24%	
	Existence	Connection with relevant international/ EU initiatives	Free of charge	Covering all aspects and types of innovation procurement	Available and applicable to all public procurers in the country	Mainstreaming Innovation procurement at a large scale	Sub- total score
Central website							0%
Good practices							0%
Trainings/ workshops	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		67%
Handbooks/ guidelines	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		83%
Assistance to public procurers							0%
Template tender documents							0%
Coordination/ pre-approval							0%
Networking of procurers							0%
One-stop-shop/ competence centre							0%

#### Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures

Poland is in the process of building up capacity building measures for innovation procurement. In the context of general trainings and workshops on public procurement, there is some training devoted to innovation procurement, but this is not covering all aspects and types of innovation procurement. The overall set of capacity building measures is not scaled up yet to mainstream innovation procurement widely.

In Poland there is not really one **central website** that provides all relevant information on innovation procurement and there is no **one-stop-shop** / **national competence centre** dedicated to innovation procurement yet.

At the central level the main actor dealing with capacity building measures for public procurement in Poland is the **Public Procurement Office (PPO)**. The PPO provides trainings, seminars and develops supporting material for public procurers.

Some workshops on the new possibilities for innovation in the new public procurement system were offered after the transposition of the public procurement directives, e.g. "Innovative public procurement - implementation of projects using modern solutions" co-organized by the Public Procurement Office and the Chancellery of the President of the

Republic of Poland in September 2017.<sup>645</sup> The PPO delivers together with PARPA agency regular raining and other knowledge dissemination activities (conferences and workshops) to advance the level of green, social, electronic and innovation procurement. This takes place under the ESIF Operational Programme "Knowledge, Education and Development" (PO WER – The Knowledge, Education, Development Program 2014-2020), under the investment priority no. 11 "Investment in institutional capacity and in the efficiency of public administrations and public services at the national, regional and local levels with a view to reforms, better regulation and good governance". In addition, the PPO has teamed up with several universities, including the Warsaw School of Economics, to offer a postgraduate programme in public procurement. The programme covers the entire procurement process, including some topics related to innovation in public procurement.<sup>646</sup> With the use of ESF funds the PPO also implemented the project "Effective public procurement 2017-2018". The project provided 52 trainings of two-days dedicated to central, regional and local administrations. Nearly 1.700 public officials were targeted by these trainings. Most of the above trainings are parts of more general procurement trainings and not separate dedicated in-depth innovation procurement trainings and do not comprehensively cover all aspects and types of innovation procurement (e.g. trainings for procurers on how to implement PCPs are missing): they typically cover all the basic topics on how to organise an entire procurement process with then in addition some selected innovation related aspects e.g. using non-price criteria for bid evaluation, negotiation procedures, innovation partnership procedure and SMEs involvement. The score for the subindicator trainings/workshops is therefore 67%.

The PPO has published a number of support and guidance materials about innovation procurement (e.g. on PCP and PPI, organising market consultations etc.)<sup>647</sup>. The score for the sub-indicator handbooks/guidelines is 83%.

Networking of procurers at national or at international level with procurers from other countries, in order to encourage collaborative/joint procurement with higher market impact, is not systematically organised. The score for the subindicator networking is therefore 0%.





This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of Innovation procurement. The indicator is composed of two sub-indicators that show evidence on

- I. the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in Poland
- II. the openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regard to sub-indicator I, Poland shows the following evidence:

**<u>IPR default regime</u>**: The score for this sub-indicator is 25%, which is below the 38% EU average, because a. there is no default scenario for the distribution of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers in Poland. The Polish law, general terms and conditions for government contracts and guidelines on public procurement do not define how allocation of IPRs is best dealt with in procurement contracts. It is left to the individual responsibility of each Polish procurer to specify clearly the IPR allocation for the procurement in its tender documents so that it stimulates innovation and is compliant with applicable IPR/copyright law. Polish copyright law<sup>648</sup> determines that copyright ownership belongs in an inalienable way to the creator (cannot be

<sup>645</sup> https://www.uzp.gov.pl/baza-wiedzy/przedsiewziecia-edukacyjne/konferencje,-seminaria/warsztaty-innowacyjne-zamowieniapubliczne-realizacja-projektow-wykorzystujacych-nowoczesne-rozwiazania

https://www.uzp.gov.pl/baza-wiedzy/przedsiewziecia-edukacyjne/studia-podyplomowe-pod-patronatem-prezesa-uzp/wzorcowyprogram-studiow-podyplomowych

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>647</sup> Some examples of guidance documents for procurers include:

Why to use demand approach to the creation of innovations?: <u>http://www.parp.gov.pl/files/74/81/545/20508.pdf</u> (PL);

Innovative public procurement in Poland – expertise: <u>http://badania.parp.gov.pl/files/74/75/76/487/495/12686.pdf</u> (PL);

Innovative and pre-commercial public procurement: https://www.parp.gov.pl/storage/publications/pdf/15742.pdf (PL); Model documents for market consultations: https://www.uzp.gov.pl/baza-wiedzy/wzorcowe-dokumenty/wzorcowe-dokumentydotyczace-dialogu-technicznego (PL);

<sup>648</sup> http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/text.jsp?file\_id=129378

waived, licensed or assigned to anyone else). Only the economic rights can be transferred, assigned or licensed by the creator to another person/entity. Therefore, if a procurer wants to obtain specific economic rights owned by the creator (subcontractors in his procurement), he must require in the tender specifications the transfer, assignment or a license of those economic rights (e.g. licensing, publication, modification, reproduction) at equitable payment. Copyright law protects also scientific work, software and database rights.

- b. <u>Use of value for money award criteria</u>: According to the Single Market Scoreboard, only 54% of the procurement procedure were not awarded on the base of the lowest price only. This is above the EU average of 42% but still not reaching the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard. There is still a structural over-reliance on lowest price award criteria in Poland.
- c. <u>Use of variants</u>: Poland has allowed the use of variants in less than 1% of the procedures (0%). This percentage is well below the EU average.
- d. <u>Preliminary Market Consultation</u>: Poland has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 0,16% of the procedures. This percentage is significantly below the EU average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 20% which is below the EU average of 23%. This is mainly due to the below average performance on IPR default regime and the improvement that can still be made to obtain wide scale use of value for money award criteria. Also, the extremely low percentages in the use of variants and Preliminary Market Consultations significantly contribute to this performance.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Poland shows the following evidence:

- e. <u>Level of competition</u>: The level of competition of the national public procurement market is 73% which is below the EU average 84% and below the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This performance is mainly affected by the low percentage of procurements with more than one bidder (51%). The percentage of procurements for which a call for bids was used is satisfactory (95%).
- f. Level of transparency: The level of transparency of the public procurement market is 39% which is below the EU average 45% and below the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly due to the very low percentage of procurements that publish the buyer registration numbers (18%) which makes it hard for suppliers to identify which public buyer wants to buy what. The TED publication rate (6,4%) and the percentage of procurements without missing call for bids information (92%) are above EU average, although the latter is still below the 97% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 56% which is below the EU average of 65% and below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is due to below average performance on both competition and transparency.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 38% which is below the 44% EU average. This score is explained firstly by the fact that the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country is around EU average but the openness of the Polish procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is below the EU average. Indeed, the country has not yet adopted a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation and value for money criteria are still underused in public procurements. In addition, the national public procurement market shows a below average level of competition and transparency.

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Polish investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Polish investments on public procurement of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 4,6% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e. 3,5 bn), **Poland ranks 24<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>649</sup> across Europe. Poland falls within the group of **low performers**, which is below the European average of 9,3%.<sup>650</sup> Reaching the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Polish public sector<sup>651</sup> **requires a large increase of investments in PPI**. When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Poland moves up to the 21<sup>st</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>652</sup> explaining Poland's low performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Poland (59%) is significantly below the European average (84%). This may be due to the fact that, despite of significant adoption of 'significantly improved' solutions (39% of PPI) the adoption of 'new to the market' solutions is still low (20% of PPI). Polish PPI investments depend much more than the European average (16%) on the adoption of **incremental innovations** (41%). This includes the purchase of 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' or 'using an innovative combination of existing solutions'. As the total amount of investments in innovative solutions in Poland is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>649</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found here on the EU webpages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>650</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>651</sup> It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve).
<sup>652</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

low and considerably below EU average, the country still needs to step up considerably its investments in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is therefore an important factor explaining why Poland is not yet at the level of PPI investment that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



## Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Almost all domains of public sector activity**<sup>653</sup> **in Poland purchased innovative solutions**, except for 'Postal Services' which made zero PPI investments. The shares of PPI investments out of total PPI **investments in the country varies considerably across public sector domains**. In '**Healthcare and social services**', '**General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs**', '**Public transport**' and '**Public order, safety and security**' the shares of PPI investments made by Polish procurers are significantly below the European average (respectively -17 pp, -15 pp, -6 pp and -5 pp). Conversely, the shares of PPI investments made by procurers in the 'Water', 'Construction, housing and community amenities' and '**Energy**' domains are significantly above the European averages (respectively +18 pp, +9 pp and +6 pp).

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

Domain of public sector activity	Poland	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	20%	35%	-15
Public transport	4%	10%	-6
Healthcare and social services	4%	21%	-17
Energy	12%	6%	+6
Environment	7%	3%	+4
Construction, housing and community amenities	13%	4%	+9
Education, recreation, culture and religion	10%	5%	+5
Water	22%	4%	+18
Public order, safety and security	3%	8%	-5
Postal services	0%	1%	-1
Other	5%	3%	+2
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

<sup>653</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

# Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal

Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is significantly lower in Poland (8%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Polish procurers may be more risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is higher in Poland (92%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Polish procurers may tend to be more open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Polish PPI investments for which calls for tenders are published (55%), is considerably higher than the European average (22%). Both the portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (23%) and the portion that is **published at national level** (32%) are above European average (respectively 18% and 5%). Nonetheless, the share of PPI investments for which no call for tenders are published in TED or at national level is high 45%.

By publishing calls for tenders for roughly half the amount of PPI investments, **Poland still misses out on innovative solutions** from Polish and other European innovative suppliers that are not aware about the Polish PPI business opportunities. Further enhancing the share of published PPIs would help Poland reach a good path for the adoption of potential innovative solutions that could speed up public sector modernisation.

### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

PPI investments by level of public sector activity



38 % of the total PPI investments in Poland are carried out by **large-scale entities at national level**, such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is below the European average (47%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for a marginal share of PPI investments (6%), well below the European average (24%). Conversely, **procurers at local level** account for the highest fraction of PPI investments (56%), significantly above the European average (29%).

# Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

In terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment), Poland falls within the group of **bottom performing** countries. With  $\in$  0,1 bn or 1,6% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Poland ranks 23<sup>rd</sup>** in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, well below the European average (3,5%). Also in terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions (35%), Poland performs below the European average (38%). Hence, **a large increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions** is needed to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Poland to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>654</sup>



The main factors<sup>655</sup> explaining Poland's bottom performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** in Poland (80%) is in line with the European average (79%). This consists of the adoption of 'significantly improved solutions' (50%) and innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (30%). The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations<sup>656</sup>** (20%) is in line with the European average (21%). However, as the total amount of investments in ICT-based innovative solutions in Poland is really low, the country is still lagging behind considerably in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.

#### ICT-based PPI by type of innovation



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>654</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI– or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>655</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>656</sup> See definitions above.

### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

#### ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



Poland invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the '**Core ICT sub-sector**<sup>657</sup> (57%), slightly above the European average (55%).

Poland invested also in the adoption of innovations from the '**ICT Plus' sub-sector** (41%), slightly below the European average (44%).

Conversely, the share of investments that was spent on innovations from the '**Content & Media' sub-sector** was small (2%), in line with the European average (1%).

#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Nearly every domain of public sector activity in Poland purchased innovative ICT-based solutions**, except for '**Postal services**' with zero investments. The shares of PPI investments made by procurers active in '**Education**, **recreation**, **culture and religion**' (24%) and '**Construction**, **housing and community amenities**' (15%) which are significantly above the European averages (respectively 9% and 2%). However, the share of PPI investments made by procurers in '**Healthcare and social services**' (8%) is significantly below the European average (30%).

#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>657</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>•</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

<sup>•</sup> Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 52% of ICT-based PPI investments, quite below the European average (69%).

Conversely, ICT-based PPI investments in the country mainly occur at **local level** (40%), four times higher than the share corresponding to the European average (10%). **Regional procurers** account for only a modest fraction of ICT-based PPI (8%), which is significantly below the European average (21%). This may indicate that especially procurers at local level could still improve their performance on adopting ICT-based innovations.

# Portugal

# . NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

## **Governance and legal framework**

The public procurement framework in Portugal is regulated by the Public Contracts Code (composed by a complex normative corpus) and by the Decree-Law n°111-B/2017, which transposed the EU directives 2014/23/EU, 2014/24/EU 2014/25/EU. The Decree law n° 153/2012 transposed the Defence and security Directive 2009/81/EC.

The **Ministry of the Economy** is in charge of the development and definition of the procurement policy. Together with the **Institute of Public Markets**, **Real Estate and Construction (IMPIC)**, the Ministry supervises and monitors public procurement in the country. Another, major actor of the public procurement system is **the Ministry of Finance**, which is responsible for communication activities in the field of public procurement to the civil society and for data collection and reporting activities to the EU.

**The Government Shared Services Entity** (eSPap) is the Central Purchasing Body, which manages a number of large framework contracts through which central government agencies are required to purchase standardized goods. Public procurement is only one of the shared services provided by the eSPap to different government bodies. All the bodies joining the National System of Public Procurement (NSPP), including regional and municipal contracting authorities, have access to the services provided by the eSPap. A role in the area of public procurement is also played by the **Portuguese Competition Authority** (PCA), which has the mission to ensure that public procurement procedures comply with the national competition policy. Finally, public procurement is also supported by the work carried out by the **Agency for Development and Cohesion (AD&C)**, operating under the Ministry for Regional Development. The Agency coordinates the regional development policy and ensures, at the technical level, the general coordination of the ESI Funds for the 2014-2020 programming period.

In the field of innovation policy, the main actor is expected to be by the National innovation agency **(ANI)**, which is going to become the national competence centre for innovation procurement. In this specific field a role is also played by the **National Office for the Promotion of the EU R&I Framework Program (GPPQ).** The Office promotes and monitors national participation on the Horizon 2020 Programme, including participation to EU projects in the area of PPI, PCP and R&D procurement.

### Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)

In the benchmarking of the national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Portugal is at the 29<sup>th</sup> position** of the overall ranking with the **total score of 8,8%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Portugal is among the group of low performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. The country's performance is below European average on all indicators. Having implemented only 8,8% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is still a very strong reinforcement of the policy framework needed in Portugal to reach its full 100% potential.



<u>Strengths</u>: Portugal has the legal basis to start developing an innovation procurement policy, Portugal is preparing itself to use ESIF funds to incentivise the use of innovation procurement

Weaknesses: A structured set of measures to foster innovation procurement is still missing: no dedicated capacity building and assistance for innovation procurement yet, no action plan, spending target or monitoring system for innovation procurement. Lack of IPR policy in public procurement that encourages innovation.



The Portuguese public procurement legal framework or guidance documents do not provide an official definition of innovation in the context of public procurement, nor of innovation procurement, PCP or PPI. The legal framework only provides a definition of R&D procurement. Despite the lack of definitions, the legal framework provides a clear legal basis to implement Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) and Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI). Therefore, the total score of the indicator is 40%.

The Decree law n° 111/2017 did not transpose the definition of **innovation** in the context of public procurement from the EU public procurement directives. There is no definition of innovation or innovation procurement in Portuguese legal framework or official national guidance documents. The score for this sub-indicator is therefore 0%.

For non-defence procurers, there is no full sentence defining R&D in the Decree-Law n° 111-B/2017, Article 5 P. 4 (J), but Annex 8 identifies R&D as activities that have the CPV codes for fundamental research, applied research and industrial development. The Decree law n° 153/2012 which transposed the Defence and security Directive 2009/81/EC defines, in its articles Ml21 and Ml 22, **Research and Development** as "*Fundamental scientific research: experimental or theoretical work, undertaken mainly to acquire new knowledge about the fundamental principles of observable phenomena or facts, and not specially oriented towards a specific purpose or objective" and "Development: an operation linked to all stages preceding series production, such as: design (design), design research, design analysis, design concepts, prototype assembly and testing, pilot, design data, process of transforming design data into a product, configuration design, integration design and plans". This definition is in line with the EU definition but is not applicable to all public procurers (only defence sector) in the country. Therefore, the total score for this sub-indicator R&D is 90%.* 

Article 5 P. 4 (J) in The Decree-Law n<sup>o</sup> 111-B/2017 also transposes the exclusion for R&D services, which form the legal basis for implementing PCP in Portugal: The law only applies to R&D services procurements "(*a*) the results of which are the exclusive property of the contracting authority for its use in the performance of its own activities; and (b) which are wholly remunerated by the contracting authority". Although there is no **definition of pre-commercial procurement** in Portugal to implement law, the above provisions for R&D services provide the legal basis for all types of procurers in Portugal to implement PCPs. The total score for this sub-indicator PCP is 35%, because the legal basis is applicable to all public procurers in the country.

With regard to **Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI)** a definition is not available in the legal framework, and neither present in any policy document or guideline. However, The Decree-Law n. <sup>o</sup> 111-B/2017 enables all public procurers in the country to implement PPI by allowing procurers to award contracts and monitor contract performance not only based on price but also based on innovation criteria. In particular, article 301 (A) specifies that for contracts with a strong innovation component, i.e. contracts whose services are particularly linked to innovation in any form (such as contracts innovation partnerships, or related to the acquisition of social, health or educational services, or of research and development services) public procurers have the possibility of defining contractual services by referring to results to be achieved, rather than a specific product or process. Therefore, the total score for the sub-indicator PPI is 35%.



In Portugal, innovation procurement is explicitly recognised as a tool of strategic importance to foster the competitiveness of the economy in only one horizontal policy: regional policy. Therefore, the total score of this indicator is 14%

In the field on of regional/urban policy the **National Smart Specialization Strategy** (ENEI) refers to public procurement as a demand-side instrument to foster the competitiveness of the economy and support the modernisation of public sector.<sup>658</sup> Portuguese **public procurement policy** focuses especially on GPP (Green Public Procurement) but not on innovation procurement. The National Strategy for Green Public Procurement (2016) aims at mainstreaming environmental criteria in the public procurement process.

Indicator 3 – ICT policies					
Total score	0%	European average	47%		

The Portugal Digital strategy<sup>659</sup> and the Portuguese government resolution on the digital agenda<sup>660</sup> do not recognize innovation procurement as a priority in their action plans or strategic documents.

Indicator 4 – Sectorial policies				
Total score	0%	European average	14%	

At sectoral level, the role of innovation procurement is not defined as a strategic tool or objective. The total score of this indicator is 0%.

Indicator 5 – Action plan				
Total score	0%	European average	8%	

Portugal does not have a stand-alone Action Plan for innovation procurement.

Indicator 6 – Spending target				
Total score	0%	European average	11%	
I. D. 1.1. 1	1			

In Portugal there is no specific spending target for innovation procurement.

Indicator 7 – Monitoring system			
Total score	0%	European average	13%

Portugal does not have a structured approach for measuring innovation procurement expenditure and evaluating the impact of completed innovation procurements. However, future developments are expected as the **eSPap**<sup>661</sup> and the **ANI** are currently developing a monitoring and evaluation framework in the area of innovation procurement. In 2008, the

<sup>658</sup> https://ani.pt/en/innovation-in-portugal/research-and-innovation-policy/

<sup>659</sup> http://www.portugaldigital.pt/

<sup>660</sup> https://dre.pt/application/file/66991457

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>661</sup> https://www.espap.pt/Paginas/home.aspx

Value for money

IPR

Public Procurement Code created a Commission in order to monitor and supervise projects in the area of research and development, including innovation procurement projects. However, it stopped in 2017.

Indicator 8 – Incentives			
Total score	0%	European average	22%

There is no formal political mandate for the establishment of innovation procurement demand financial support in Portugal. As there are no financial incentives or personal incentives in the country, the total score for the overall indicator is 0%.

Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures				
Total score	0%	European average	24%	

On the basis of the evidence collected, the total score for this indicator is 0%. Portugal is still lacking a structure approach to capacity building on innovation procurement across the country. Apart from some limited awareness raising sessions that are not specifically tailored for innovation procurement, no dedicated capacity building measures for innovation procurement have been implemented yet in a systematic, regular way.

The **National Office for the Promotion of the EU R&I Framework Program** is the responsible entity for providing training and assistance for the participation to the national scientific and technological community in Horizon 2020, and in this framework the agency also disseminates the Horizon 2020 financing opportunities in the area of PPI and PCP procurement.

In the next years, the creation of a national innovation procurement competence centre within the ANI, is expected to increase the amount of capacity building activities implemented in this field. ANI is participating in the EU-funded project *"Procure2Innovate - European network of competence centres for innovation procurement"* to learn from experiences other countries about setting up a competence centre.

Indicator 10 - Innovation friendly public procurement market				
Total score	34%	European average	44%	
I - Specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement		II – Openness of national innovations from across the EU	public procurement market to J single market	
Preliminary market consultation Use of variants		Level of competition		

 0%
 20%
 40%
 60%
 80%
 100%

 O%
 20%
 40%
 60%
 80%
 100%

 This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of Innovation procurement. It is composed by two sub-indicators reflecting:

- I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in Portugal
- II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

Level of transparency

With regard to sub-indicator I, Portugal shows the following evidence:

a. **IPR default regime**: The score for this sub-indicator is 25%, which is below the 38% European average, because there is no default scenario for the distribution of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers in Portugal. The Portuguese law, general terms and conditions for government contracts and guidelines on public procurement do not define how allocation of IPRs is best dealt with in procurement contracts. It is left to the individual responsibility of each Portuguese procurer to specify clearly the IPR allocation for the procurement in its tender documents so that it stimulates innovation and is compliant with applicable IPR/copyright law. Portuguese copyright law<sup>662</sup> determines that the moral rights related to copyrights belong in an inalienable way to the creator. Even in the existence or conclusion of an agreement for a commissioned work (e.g. public procurement) and even if economic rights are transferred, the creator shall continue to enjoy his moral rights. Only the economic rights can be transferred, assigned or licensed by the creator to another person/entity, on condition that there is a written agreement specifying this (e.g. a public procurement contract). In the absence

<sup>662</sup> http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/text.jsp?file\_id=129419

of such written agreement, the Portuguese copyright law assigns by default copyright ownership to the creator. Therefore if the procurer wants to use the work or the copyright owned by the creator, he needs to require in the tender specifications the assignment or a license of the economic rights that he needs (e.g. usage, licensing, publication, modification, reproduction rights) at equitable payment. Copyright law protects also scientific work, software and database rights.

- b. **Use of value for money award criteria**: According to the EU single market scoreboard, only the 35% of the public procurement procedures have been awarded using criteria that are not only based on the lowest price. This is below the European average of 42% and significantly below the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard. There is still a structural underutilization of value for money award criteria in procurement procedures.
- c. <u>Use of variants</u>: Portugal has allowed the use of variants in the 1% of the procedures. This percentage is well below the European average.
- d. <u>Preliminary Market Consultation</u>: Portugal has used Preliminary Market Consultations in less than 1% of the procedures. This percentage is significantly below the European average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 15% which is below the European average of 23%. This is mainly due to underutilization of value for money criteria and the fact that there is no default IPR regime defined that fosters innovation in public procurement.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Portugal shows the following evidence:

- e. <u>Level of competition</u>: The level of competition of the national public procurement market is 89% which is slightly above the European average 84% but still below the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is due to the fact that even though the percentage of procurements for which a call for bid was organised is satisfactory and above European average (99%), the percentage of procurements with more than one bidder (78%) is below European average.
- f. **Level of Transparency**: The level of transparency of public procurement is 14% which is significantly below the European average 45% and below the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is because all sub-indicators are below European average: the level of information provided by the public authorities on the procurement procedure is limited and the negative performance is mainly driven by the low portion of procurements without missing information about the call for bids (33%) and the low portion of procurements without missing buyer registration numbers (9%). This makes it very hard for suppliers to find out which public buyer wants to buy what.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 51% which is below the European average of 65% and below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly due to very low level of transparency.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 33% which is below the European average. This score is explained by the fact that both the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country and the openness of the Portuguese procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is below the European average. Indeed, the country has not yet adopted a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation and value for money criteria are still seriously underused in public procurements. In addition, even though the level of competition is slightly above European average, the level of transparency is far below the European average.

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Portuguese investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Portuguese investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 3,9 % of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e. € 1,2 bn), **Portugal ranks 26<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>663</sup> across Europe. Portugal falls within the group of **bottom performers**, below the European average of 9,3%.<sup>664</sup> **A large increase of investments in PPI is still needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Portuguese public sector.<sup>665</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Portugal drops to the 27<sup>th</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>666</sup> explaining Portugal's bottom performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Portugal (76%) is still below the European average (84%). This due to lower investment in the adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' and 'significantly improved' solutions. Portuguese PPI investments depend to a larger extent than the European average on the adoption of **incremental innovations** (24%), which includes the purchase of 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' as well as 'innovative combinations of existing solutions'. As the total amount of investments in innovative solutions in Portugal is considerably below EU average, the country still needs to step up considerably its investments in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>663</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found here on the EU webpages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>664</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>665</sup> It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve).
<sup>666</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is therefore an important factor explaining why Portugal is not yet at the level of PPI investments that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

Despite the low overall level of PPI investment in the country, **nearly every domain of public sector activity**<sup>667</sup> **in Portugal purchased innovative solutions**, except the '**Construction**, **housing and community amenities**' and '**Postal services**' domain where PPI investments were zero. The shares of PPI investments made by different domains of public sector activity out of total PPI investments in the country **are mostly below the European average** (in 6 out of 11 domains). In particular, the share of PPI investments made by procurers operating in '**General public services**, **public administration and economic and financial affairs**' (16%) and '**Healthcare and social services**' (13%) is considerably below the European average (- 19 pp and -8 pp respectively). In the other hand, in '**Education, recreation, culture and religion**' (19%) and '**Water**' (12%) the share of PPI investments is significantly above the European average (+14 pp and +12 pp respectively).

Domain of public sector activity	Portugal	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	16%	35%	-19
Public transport	6%	10%	-4
Healthcare and social services	13%	21%	-8
Energy	9%	6%	+3
Environment	7%	3%	+4
Construction, housing and community amenities	0%	4%	-4
Education, recreation, culture and religion	19%	5%	+14
Water	16%	4%	+12
Public order, safety and security	5%	8%	-3
Postal services	0%	1%	-1
Other	9%	3%	+6
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>667</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

# Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal

Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



In Portugal, both the share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) and the share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer), equal the European average (respectively 29% and 71%).

This indicates that Portuguese procurers show levels of risk-adversity in requesting innovative solutions, and openness to acceptance of unsolicited innovative proposals which are in line with the average across Europe as a whole.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Portuguese PPI investments for which calls for tenders are published is small (16%) and significantly below the European average (22%). The portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (10%) is below the European average (18%), while the portion that is **published at national level** (6%) is slightly above average (5%). The share of PPI investments for which no call for tender is published in the TED or at national level is very large (84%).

By not publishing PPI widely, **Portugal is missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Portuguese and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Portuguese PPI business opportunities.

# Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

PPI investments by level of public sector activity



54% of the total PPI investments in Portugal is carried out by **large-scale entities at national level**, such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is above the European average (47%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for a share of PPI investments (16%) which is below the European average (24%), while **procurers at local level** account for the highest fraction of PPI investments at sub-national level (30%), in line with the European average (29%). This may indicate that procurers at subnational level could still improve their performance on adopting innovations.

# Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The Portuguese public sector shows a **bottom level of performance** in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment). With  $\in$  0,02 bn or 1,3% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Portugal ranks 27<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, well below the European average (3,5%). Also in terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions (34%), Portugal performs below the European average (38%). A **large increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions is still needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Portugal to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>668</sup>



The **main factors**<sup>669</sup> explaining Portugal's bottom performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of investments made in the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** in Portugal (74%) is below the European average (79%). This consists of 'significantly improved solutions' (42%) and innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (32%). Portuguese PPI investments depend to a larger extent than the European average (21%) on the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations**<sup>670</sup> (26%). As the total amount of investments in ICT-based innovative solutions in Portugal is really low, the country is still lagging behind considerably in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.

#### ICT-based PPI investments by type of innovation



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>668</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI– or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>669</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>670</sup> See definitions above.

#### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

#### ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



Portugal invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the so-called '**Core ICT' sub-sector**<sup>671</sup> (65%), above the European average (54%)

Portugal invested to a lesser extent in the adoption of innovations from the '**ICT Plus' sub-sector** (33%), below the European average (45%).

Investments in adopting innovations from the '**Content & Media' sub-sector** were small (2%), in line with the European average (1%).

#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

Despite the low overall level of PPI investment in the country, **nearly every domain of public sector activity in Portugal purchased innovative ICT-based solutions**, except the '**Construction**, **housing and community amenities**', '**Water**', and '**Postal services**' domains where ICT-based PPI investments were zero. The highest share of ICT-based PPI investments was made by procurers that operate in the domain of '**Education**, **recreation**, **culture and religion**' (25%) followed by procurers in the '**General public services**, **public administration and economic and financial affairs**' domain (24%), both are well above the European averages (respectively 9% and 16%). The share of ICT-based investments made by procurers operating in '**Healthcare and social services**' and '**Public order**, **safety and security**' are instead significantly above the European averages (respectively 30% and 19%).

#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>671</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>•</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

<sup>•</sup> Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

#### ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



National level procurers account for 70% of ICT-based PPI investments, which is in line the European average (69%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for the highest share of the ICT-based PPI investments at sub-national level (21%), still in line with the European average (21%). Accordingly, also **local procurers** account for a modest fraction of ICT-based PPI (9%), as in the European average (10%).
# Romania



# 1. NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### Governance and legal framework

The EU procurement directives (Directive 2014/23/EU, 2014/24/EU and 2014/25/EU) were transposed in the national public procurement legislation in 2016 (Law no. 98/2016 on public procurement, Law no. 99/2016 on utilities procurement, Law no. 100/2016 on work concession contracts and services concession contracts), and they have given a first input to the development of the innovation procurement system in the country. The EU directive on defence procurement (Directive 2009/81/EC) was transposed by the Emergency Government Ordinance no. 114/2011 published in the Official Gazette no.932 on 29<sup>th</sup> December 2011.

The Romanian public procurement system is highly decentralized, with the exception of some areas of public interest which are partially dealt directly by the central Government (for examples, the healthcare and transport sectors).

The key actor in the national procurement system is the **National Agency for Public Procurement (ANAP)**, a regulating body which provides advisory and operational support, ex ante and ex post verifications, monitoring and international representation. The ANAP is under the authority of the **Ministry of Public Finance**, as the main institution to oversee the management of public investment and to ensure the quality of public spending. Other key institutions in the public procurement system are the **National Council for Solving Complaints**, a non-judiciary administrative body solving complaints lodged within the awarding procedure before the contract is concluded and the **Courts of Appeals**, which is a judicial instance for solving complaints. Finally, the **Romanian Agency for Digital Agenda** (under the Ministry for Communication) is the operator of the Electronic System for Public Procurement.

#### **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In the benchmarking of the national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Romania is at the 25<sup>th</sup> position** in the overall ranking with a **total score of 12,9%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Romania is among the group of low performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. The country's performance on 9 out of 10 indicators is below European average. Having implemented only 12,9% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is still a very strong reinforcement of the policy framework needed in Romania to reach its full 100% potential.



Strengths: In Romania there is a first awareness to the topic of innovation procurement, introduced thanks to the transposition of the EU procurement directives. This can be a good ground for building a future innovation procurement policy.

Weaknesses: Innovation procurement is not developed yet, nor as a stand-alone policy nor as a strategic part of other policies (e.g. public procurement or innovation policies). Lack of national action plan, target, monitoring system and structured capacity building measures. Lack of IPR policy in public procurement that encourages innovation.



The Romanian public procurement legal framework provides a legal definition for innovation but not for innovation procurement. It provides also a legal definition for R&D in the defence sector and identifies R&D via the CPV codes for non-defence procurers. The public procurement legislation provides a clear legal a basis also for implementing Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) and Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI) although without explicit official definitions for PCP or PPI. Therefore, the total score of this indicator innovation is 49%.

Innovation procurement is not defined in the national legal framework. However, **innovation** in the context of public procurement is defined by article 3, section a.a. of the Law 98/2016 as "the implementation of a new or significantly enhanced product, service or process, including but not limited to processes of production, construction or construction, a new method of placing on the market or a new method of organization in business practice, organization of workplace or external relations among others to help address social challenges or to support the Europe 2020 strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth". This definition is applicable to all public procurers in the country and in line with the definition of the EU public procurement directives. Therefore, the total score of this sub-indicator is 35%.

The current Romanian law for non-defence/security procurements has no full sentence defining R&D but article 36 of the Public Procurement law identifies R&D as activities that have the CPV codes for fundamental research, applied research and industrial development in line with the EU public procurement directives CPV codes for R&D. For defence/security procurements, the Emergency Government Ordinance no.114/2011, provides a definition of **R&D** in Article 17 (Chapter 1 Definitions): "all activities that include fundamental research, applied research and experimental development, the latter may include the production of some technological demonstrators, these being devices that demonstrate the performance of a new one concept or new technology in a representative or relevant environment". This definition is in line with the EU definition but is not applicable countrywide (i.e. is applicable only in the defence sector). Therefore, the total score of this sub-indicator R&D is 90%.

Article 17 implements also the exemption for R&D services and thereby forms also the legal basis for the implementation of **PCP** in Romania: "*This law applies to public service contracts that have as subject to the provision of research and development services ... only if the following conditions are met cumulatively: (a) the results are for the exclusive use of the contracting authority for use in their own activities; and (b) the service provided is fully remunerated by the* 

*contracting authority*." The R&D services exemption is applicable to all public procurers in the country and in line with the provisions in the EU public procurement directives. Therefore, the total score of this sub-indicator PCP is 35%.

The public procurement Law 98/2016 enables public procurers to implement **PPI** by allowing procurers to award contracts and monitor contract performance not only based on price but also on innovation criteria. Article 18.7 (5) states that among the award criteria should be taken into consideration also "quality, including technical advantages, aesthetic characteristics and functional, accessibility, design concept for all users, social, environmental and innovative features and marketing and conditions thereof". The total score of the sub-indicator PPI is therefore 35%.



In Romania innovation procurement is embedded only in the regional/urban policy. The total score for this indicator is therefore 14%.

Indeed, EU funds (ESIF) are channelled to finance innovation activities of the public sectors, so contracting authorities can use them to finance innovation procurements. The **Competitiveness Operational Programme 2014** – **2020** is the main enabling tool in this field. The **National Strategy on Public Procurement** (adopted by Government Decision no. 901/2015) does not contain any specific provision on innovation procurement.<sup>672</sup>

Indicator 3 – ICT policies					
Total score	0%	European average	47%		

The **national strategy on the digital agenda** recognises as core priorities "*increase efficiency and reduce costs in the public sector in Romania by modernizing the administration*" *and research, development and innovation in ICT - area aimed at regional comparative advantages of Romania, and backs growth in the private sector*" but it does not make the link between the two and does not recognise how innovation procurement is a key instrument to make these two objectives happen. Therefore, the total score of this indicator is 0%.

Indicator 4 – Sectorial policies					
Total score 0% European average 14%					
In Romania no sectorial policy explicitly recognises the role of innovation procurement within its strategy					

Indicator 5 – Action plan				
Total score 0% European average 8%				
Romania does not have a stand-alone Action Plan for innovation procurement.				

Indicator 6 – Spending target				
Total score	0%	European average	11%	

In Romania there is no specific spending target for innovation procurement.

Indicator 7 – Monitoring system				
Total score	0%	European average	13%	

Romania does not have structured system for measuring innovation procurement expenditure and for evaluating the impacts of completed innovation procurements.

<sup>672</sup> http://anap.gov.ro/web/strategia-nationala-in-domeniul-achizitiilor-publice/



Romania has set up **financial incentives**, in the form of grants, to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements. These Incentives are for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), applicable to all public procurers in all sectors and levels of government, using ESIF and national funds, but they are not able to incentivize large scale implementation of innovation procurement. The total score for this sub-indicator is 71%

In particular, the public procurers may undertake innovation procurements within the following programs:

- Competitiveness Operational Programme (co financed through ESIF)<sup>673</sup>.
- The National R&D and Innovation III Plan for the period 2015-2020 (co-financed through national budget)<sup>674</sup>.

Finally, the country does not have **personal incentive schemes**. The total score of the indicator "incentives" is 36%.

Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures			
Total score	0%	European average	24%

Romania does not put in place targeted measures to enhance the adoption of innovation procurement at the moment, but developments are likely to occur in the future.

However, a number of initiatives are planned. The **National Agency of Public Procurement**<sup>675</sup> (under the Ministry of Public Finance) is elaborating an action plan for the **professionalization of public procurers**, which will contribute to foster the culture of innovation procurement and enhance its adoption in the future, together with the concepts of sustainable and green procurement.

Furthermore, the project "Increasing the administrative capacity of the National Agency for Public Procurement and the public institutions responsible for the implementation of the National Strategy in the field of public procurement"<sup>676</sup>, funded by the ESF aims at developing, with the technical support of the World Bank, a **Guide for public procurement** outlining definitions, explanations and procedures. This Guide is likely to include a section on innovation procurement as well. The end of the project, and the completion of the Guide published in the website of the National Agency for Public Procurement<sup>677</sup>, is expected in 2019.

As all these activities are not in place yet, the total score for this indicator is 0%.

# Indicator 10 – Innovation friendly public procurement market

Total score30%European average44%I - Specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurementII - Openness of national public procurement market to innovations



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>673</sup> <u>http://www.fonduri-ue.ro/poc-2014</u>

<sup>674</sup> http://www.research.gov.ro/ro/articol/1434/programe-nationale

<sup>675</sup> ANAP, set up by the Government Emergency Ordinance no. 13/2015.

<sup>676</sup> http://anap.gov.ro/web/prezentare-proiect-poca/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>677</sup> The Guidelines for innovation procurement will be part of the Guidelines for Public Procurement https://achizitiipublice.gov.ro/home

This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of Innovation procurement. It is composed by two sub-indicators reflecting:

- I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in Romania
- II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regard to sub-indicator I, Romania shows the following evidence:

- a. **IPR default regime**: The score for this sub-indicator is 25%, which is below the 38% European average, because there is no default scenario for the distribution of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers in Romania. The Romanian law, general terms and conditions for government contracts and guidelines on public procurement do not define how allocation of IPRs is best dealt with in procurement contracts. It is left to the individual responsibility of each Romanian procurer to specify clearly the IPR allocation for the procurement in its tender documents so that it stimulates innovation and is compliant with IPR/copyright law. The Romanian copyright act determines that copyright ownership belongs in an inalienable way to the creator (the moral rights may not be renounced or disposed of). The owner of the copyright, the creator, may transfer, assign or license only his economic rights by contract (e.g. public procurement contract) to other persons. If the procurer wants to use work and/or the copyright owned by the creator he therefore needs to require in the tender specifications the assignment or a license of those economic rights that he needs (e.g. usage, licensing, publication, modification, reproduction rights) at equitable payment. Copyright law protects also scientific work, software and database rights
- b. <u>Use of value for money award criteria</u>: According to the EU single market scoreboard, only 7% of the public procurement processes have been awarded using value for money award criteria. This is far below the European average of 42% and the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard. This result makes Romania the worst performer on this aspect together with Malta and Cyprus across the EU Member States.
- c. <u>Use of variants</u>: Romania has allowed the use of variants in less than 1% of the procedures (0,06%). This percentage is well below the European average.
- d. <u>Preliminary Market Consultation</u>: Romania has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 0,5% of the procedures. This percentage is significantly below the European average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 8% which is far below the European average of 23% and below the satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly due to below average performance on adopting an IPR default regime that fosters innovation in public procurement and a serious underutilization of value for money criteria.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Romania shows the following evidence (based on the EU single market scoreboard):

- e. **Level of competition**: The level of competition of the national public procurement market is 70% which is below the European average 84% and below the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is due to below European average performance on both sub-indicators: the scarce percentage of procurements with more than one bidder (57%) and the percentage of procurements for which a call for bids was done (83%).
- f. Level of Transparency: The level of transparency of the national public procurement market is 34% which is below the European average 45% and below the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. There is a lack of clear information provided to bidders. The amount of procurements without missing call for bids information (5%) and without missing buyer registration number (0%) is very low.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 52% which is below the European average of 65% and below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is due to a lack of competition and transparency.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score of the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 30% which is below the 44% European average and below the satisfactory level for the total of the EU single market indicators. This score is firstly by the fact that both the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country and the openness of the Romanian procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is below the European average. Indeed, the country has not yet adopted a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation and value for money criteria are seriously underused in public procurements. In addition, the national public procurement market shows as below average level of competition and transparency.

## 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Romanian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Romanian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 1,9% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e. € 0,5 bn), **Romania ranks 30<sup>th</sup>**, taking the last position in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>678</sup> across Europe. Romania closes the group of **bottom performers**, with the largest gap from the European average of 9,3%.<sup>679</sup> **A remarkable increase of investments in PPI is still needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Romanian public sector.<sup>680</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Romania still remains in the 30<sup>th</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>681</sup> explaining Romania's bottom performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investment that is spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Romania (74%) is **below the European average** (84%). It consists mostly of the purchase of 'significantly improved' solutions (63%). The adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (11%) is still very low in Romania. PPI investments in Romania depend much more than in other European countries (16%) on **incremental innovations** (26%). This includes the purchase of existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector as well as innovative combinations of existing solutions. As the total amount of investments in innovative solutions in Romania is low, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>678</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found <u>here on the EU webpages</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>679</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

 $<sup>^{680}</sup>$  It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve).  $^{681}$  The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

country still needs to step up considerably its investments in the adoption of both transformative and incremental innovations.

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is therefore an important factor explaining why Romania is not yet at the level of PPI investment that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



## Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

Despite the fact that the total investments in public procurement of innovative solutions in the country are very limited, every domain of public sector activity<sup>682</sup> in Romania purchased some innovative solutions. The PPI investments made by different domains of public sector activity are mostly below the European averages (in 6 out of 11 domains). The share of PPI investments made by procurers that operate in the domains of 'Healthcare and social services' (9%) and 'Public order, safety and security' (3%) are significantly below the European averages (-12 pp and -5 pp respectively). The share of PPI investments made by procurers that operate in the domains of 'General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs' (45%) and 'Energy' (11%) are significantly above the European averages (+10 pp and +5 pp respectively). Investments in 'Postal services' were very small (0,1%)

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

Domain of public sector activity	Romania	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	45%	35%	+10
Public transport	11%	10%	+1
Healthcare and social services	9%	21%	-12
Energy	11%	6%	+5
Environment	7%	3%	+4
Construction, housing and community amenities	2%	4%	-2
Education, recreation, culture and religion	7%	5%	+2
Water	3%	4%	-1
Public order, safety and security	3%	8%	-5
Postal services	0% (0,1%)	1%	-1
Other	2%	3%	-1
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>682</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

# Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal





The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is significantly higher in Romania (44%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Romanian procurers may be less risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is lower in Romania (56%) than in the European average (71%). This indicates that Romanian procurers may tend to be less open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

# Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Romanian PPI investments for which calls for tenders are published is very high (74%), especially compared to the European average (22%). This is mainly due to the portion that is **published at national level** (60%) which is well above European average (5%), while the portion **published at European level** in the TED database (14%) remains below the European average (18%). The share of PPI investments for which no call for tenders is published in TED or at national level is less than onethird of the total.

By publishing PPI calls for tenders widely, **Romania is on a good path** to receive good offers both from Romanian and other European innovative suppliers with potential innovative solutions that could speed up public sector modernisation.





Almost half of the total PPI investments in Romania are carried out by **large-scale entities at national level** (49%), such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is in line with the European average (47%).

**Procurers at local level** account for a slightly smaller share of PPI investments (43%), but this time well above the European average (29%). **Procurers at regional level** account for the smallest fraction of PPI at sub-national level (8%), well below the European average (24%).

# Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The Romanian public sector shows the **lowest level of performance** in Europe in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment). With  $\in$  0,1 bn or 0,7% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Romania ranks 30**<sup>th</sup> in the ranking of ICT-based PPI investments, well below the European average (3,5%). Also in terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions (34,7%), Romania performs below the European average (38%). A **large increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions is still needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Romania to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>683</sup>



The **main factors**<sup>684</sup> explaining Romania's bottom performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** in Romania (52%) is considerably below the European average (79%). Both the adoption of 'significantly improved solutions' (33%) and innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (25%) is still low. Romania's PPI investments depend to a much larger extent than other European countries (21%) on the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations<sup>685</sup>** (42%). As the total amount of investments in ICT-based innovative solutions in Romania is very low, the country still needs to step up considerably its investments in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.

#### ICT-based PPI investments by type of innovation



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>683</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI– or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>684</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>685</sup> See definitions above.

# Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

#### ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



Romania invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the so-called '**Core ICT**' **sub-sector**<sup>686</sup> (52%), in line with the European average (54%).

Romania invested to a lesser extent in the adoption of innovations from the '**ICT Plus' sub-sector** (46%), in line with the European average (44%).

The share of investments in adopting innovations from the **'Content & Media' sub-sector** was small (2%), similar to the European average (1%).

#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

Despite the fact that the total investments in public procurement of innovative solutions of ICT-based innovations in the country are the lowest in Europe, every domain of public sector activity in Romania purchased some innovative ICT-based solutions. In particular, the highest share of ICT-based PPI investments is made by procurers that operate in the domain of 'Energy' (20%) followed by procurers in the 'Education, recreation, culture and religion' domain (15%), both above the European averages (+5 pp and + 6 pp respectively). However, in the share of ICT-based PPI investments coming from procurers in 'Public order, safety and security' and 'Healthcare and social services' is significantly below the European average (-16 pp and -14 pp respectively). The share of investments in 'Postal services' (0,2%) was the lowest.

#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>686</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>•</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

<sup>•</sup> Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

# Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 65% of ICT-based PPI investments, slightly below the European average (69%).

**Procurers at local level** account for the highest share of the ICT-based PPI investments at sub-national level (21%), more than double the European average (10%). **Regional procurers** account for only a modest fraction of ICT-based PPI investments (14%), below the European average (21%).

# Slovenia



### NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### Governance and legal framework

In Slovenia public procurement is regulated by the Public Procurement Act, the ZJN-3 ("Procurement Act"), entered into force on 1 April 2016. It transposes the EU Directives 2014/24/EU and 2014/25/EU. After a long period of dual regulation of the general and utility areas of public procurement, the new Procurement Act unifies both areas in a single act, thus invalidating the existing Public Procurement Act - ZJN-2, and the Act Regulating Public Procurement in Water, Energy, Transport and Postal Services - ZJNVETPS. The EU Directive 2009/81/EC has been transposed in the Slovenian legal framework *by* Public procurement law in the field of defence and security (*Zakon o javnem naročanju na področju obrambe in varnosti – ZJNPOV*) entered into force the 30. 11. 2012.

More than half of all procedures were awarded using the national procurement procedure for low-value contract (below the EU threshold). Other commonly used procedures were the open procedure, which represented a quarter of all awarded contracts, and the negotiated procedure without prior publication. The above-mentioned public procurement procedures accounted for approximately 96% of all awarded contracts in 2016. In 2016, 241 procurements awarded were co-financed by the European Union through various funds and programs (C 132 million).

The key actor in the field of public procurement is the **Ministry of Public Administration** and in particular the **Public Procurement Directorate.** It is responsible for the regulatory framework and provides support to contracting authorities in the area of public procurement. The Directorate is also responsible for the development and management of the IT services which support the e-public procurement system.

#### **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In the benchmarking of the national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Slovenia is at the 13<sup>th</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 27,8%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Slovenia is among the group of moderate performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. Having implemented 27,8% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is still a significant reinforcement of the policy framework needed in Slovenia to reach its full 100% potential.



Strengths: The strategic importance of innovation procurement is recognized by several horizontal policies. National guidelines promote an approach to IPR allocation that fosters innovation in public procurement.

Weakness: Strategic importance of innovation procurement not picked up yet by sectorial policies. Lack of a structured approach to foster innovation procurement: no action plan, targets, structured capacity building and monitoring system for innovation procurement.



#### **Overview per indicator** Indicator 1 – Official definition Total score 49% European average 50% PPI PCP R&D procurement Innovation procurement 0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

In Slovenia, there is an official definition for R&D procurement, while the legal framework only provides a legal basis for "innovation procurement", "Pre-Commercial Procurement" (PCP) and "Public Procurement of Innovative solutions" (PPI). Therefore, the total score of this indicator is 49%.

The Public Procurement Act (PPA) has introduced the notion of **innovation** in the Slovenian legal framework. In particular, Article 2(1) (18) defines innovation as "the implementation of a new or significantly improved product, service or process, inter alia production, building or construction processes, a new marketing method, or a new organizational method in business practices, workplace organization or external relations, with, for example, the purpose of helping to solve societal challenges or to support the Europe 2020 strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth". This definition is applicable countrywide and coherent with the EU definition, therefore the score for this sub-indicator is 35%.

A definition of **R&D** is only provided in the Public procurement law in the field of defence and security (Zakon o javnem naročanju na področju obrambe in varnosti) that transposes the Defence and security Directive 2009/81/EU. Article 3.10 provides a definition of Research and development "as all the activities involved basic research, applied research and experimental development, where the latter may include the implementation of technological demonstration projects, that is to say devices that will demonstrate the performance of a new method or technology to relevant or representative environment". This definition is only applicable in the defence sector (i.e. not countrywide) and is in line with the EU definition, therefore the total score of this sub-indicator is 90%.

The Slovenian Public procurement act identifies in Article 27(1)(6) R&D as "activities that have the CPV codes for fundamental research, applied research and industrial development". This article also transposes the exclusion for R&D services, which forms the legal basis for implementing in PCP, namely: "the law only applies to R&D services procurements following the cumulative conditions of "(a) products belong exclusively to the contracting authority for its own use at pursuing its activity; and (b) the service is wholly remunerated by the contracting authority". Therefore,

although no definition of PCP exists, there is a legal basis which is applicable to all public procurers in the country, resulting in a total score for this indicator of 35%.

A PPI definition is not available in the legal framework, and neither present in any policy document or guideline. However, the Public procurement act provides the legal basis to implement PPI. In particular, article 84.1 (a) states that contracting may award contracts not only based on price but also based "quality, including technical merit, aesthetic and functional characteristics, accessibility, and design for all users, social, environmental and innovative characteristics". In addition, article 43 of the PPA, determines that the contracting authority shall identify the need for an innovative product, service or works which is not already available on the market. Therefore, no definition of PPI exists, but there is a legal basis which is applicable to all public procurers in the country, resulting in a total score for this indicator of 35%.



Overall, two horizontal policies are currently enabling innovation procurement in the country: R&D and regional policy. The total score for this indicator is 29%.

The Partnership Agreement between Slovenia and the European Commission for the period 2014–2020<sup>687</sup> recognizes public procurement as a crucial area in committing European **cohesion funds**, and for this reason Slovenia is paying special attention to training activities oriented to green and innovative public procurement. The Thematic objective 1: *Strengthening research, technological development and innovation,* considers innovation and the public support for innovation as one of the main strategic objectives in Slovenia. The Smart specialization strategy (S4)<sup>688</sup> gives particular relevance to public procurement of innovation as a demand-side instrument to drive and support the development of new and innovative solutions. The strategy aims to: a) strengthen the competitiveness of the economy by enhancing its innovation capacity b) diversify existing industries and service activities c) boost growth of new and fast-growing industries and enterprises. In all these objectives public procurement for innovation has a crucial role.

In the field of **R&D**, the Resolution on the National Research and Development Programme 2011-2020<sup>689</sup> states that systemic measures for the development of market through innovative public procurements have to be encouraged. It further states that public procurements can enable the development and testing of new products and services in the national market and therefore accelerate the development of new products, services or processes in the global market. In this perspective, public procurements are perceived as crucial to face wide societal challenges, such as ageing population, environmental management and energy. In addition, the document shows the willingness to define a specific action plan on innovation procurement. The objective of this action plan would be to mainstream innovative public procurement.

**Regional policy** supports innovation procurement with several national operational programmes financed by ESIF funds. In particular, the Rural Development Program 2014-2020<sup>690</sup> (financed by the European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development) foresees a support to pilot projects for the development of new products, practices, processes and technologies in the agriculture and forestry sectors. The "Development of environment and transport infrastructure" Operational Programme for the 2007-2013 also co-financed some interesting pilot projects, such as the Regional Waste Management Centre Ljubljana - RCERO Ljubljana.

Indicator 3 – ICT polic	ies		
Total score	100%	European average	47%

In the ICT field, the **Agenda Digital Slovenia 2020** - **The strategy for the development of the information society by 2020** defines innovation procurement as a strategic priority to achieve its objectives.<sup>691</sup> In the strategy, precommercial public procurement for the development of innovative solutions is encouraged through the use of open public and research data, open platforms and cloud computing for faster transfer of solutions to the market. "By means of PCP in cloud computing, the future internet and big data, and by financial incentives to RDI projects for making

 $<sup>^{687} \</sup>underline{http://www.eu-skladi.si/sl/dokumenti/kljucni-dokumenti/partnership-agreement-english-version.pdf$ 

<sup>688</sup> http://www.svrk.gov.si/en/areas of work/slovenian smart specialisation strategy s4

<sup>689</sup> http://www.mizs.gov.si/fileadmin/mizs.gov.si/pageuploads/Znanost/doc/Strategije/01.06. RISSdz ENG.pdf

<sup>690</sup> gbkeegbaiigmenfmjfclcdgdpimamgkj/views/app.html

<sup>691</sup> http://www.mju.gov.si/fileadmin/mju.gov.si/pageuploads/DID/Informacijska\_druzba/pdf/DSI\_2020\_3-2016\_pic1.pdf

open standardised platforms and development of new technologies, products and services, Slovenia will encourage the private sector to develop innovative products and services and make a prompt transition of results of data technologies to the market." 4 Mio EURO is foreseen (from ESIF) for supporting PCP projects in ICT. Therefore, the total score of this indicator is 100%.

Educ	1070	Daropean average	14/0
Educ Publi			
	cation,recreation, culture and Postal sector lic order, safety, security and Water sector Environment sector Energy sector		
He	General public services Public transport ealthcare and social services		

The **Slovenia's Smart Specialization Strategy (S4)** can be considered a comprehensive national development policy to which several sectoral policies are connected. As already explained, the Strategy gives particular relevance to public procurement of innovation as a demand-side instruments to drive and support the development of new and innovative solutions.

For example, the Strategy sets out the objective "to implement by 2017 at least three public procurements by applying innovation partnerships in the area of healthy living and working environment, followed by transferring best practices to all public procurement procedures with the aim of promoting innovation". Furthermore, the objectives set out by the Strategy in the field of "**Smart buildings and homes, including wood chain**" are (i) to develop integrated management systems for buildings, homes and the working environment of the future, and smart appliances for energy efficiency and self-sufficiency of buildings and Internet of things as a horizontal orientation and (ii) inter-sectoral networking and integration of the wood chain in the design of homes and working environment of the future by also promoting research and innovation deriving from traditional knowledge and skills of the use of wood and wood-compatible natural materials. According to the Strategy, these objectives will be achieved "by establishing stronger links with knowledge institutions, connecting stakeholders in the supply and demand side, as well as through innovative and pre-commercial public procurements in synergy with the planned investments under the (OP) thematic objective 4". Based on the evidence collected, the score for the sub-indicator construction is 100%.

As a result of the evidence collected above, the overall score of the sectoral policy indicator accounts for 10%.

Indicator 5 – Action plan				
Total score	0%	European average	8%	
Slovenia has not a stand-alone Action Plan for innovation procurement.				
However, the <b>Resolution on the National Research and Development Programme 2011-2020</b> envisages the development of a specific action plan on innovation procurement with the aim to mainstream innovative public procurement in the country.				
Indicator 6 – Spending target				
Total score	0%	European average	11%	

In Slovenia no specific spending target has been set on innovation procurement.

Indicator 7 – Monitoring system				
Total score 0% European average 13%				
The Country does not have structured monitoring and evaluating systems of innovation procurement.				

Indicator 8 – Incentives				
Total score	21%	European average	22%	



In Slovenia there are **financial incentives** to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements. The **Rural Development Program 2014-2020** – financed by the European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development – EAFRD – foresees a support to pilot projects for the development of new products, practices, processes and technologies in the agriculture and forestry sectors. The "Development of environment and transport infrastructure" Operational Programme for the 2007-2013 also co-financed some interesting pilot innovation procurement projects, such as the Regional Waste Management Centre Ljubljana - RCERO Ljubljana.

These incentives are mainly used to support pilot projects in certain sectors (only available to procurers in sectors that are prioritised in the country's smart specialisation strategy) but not able to mainstream innovation procurement across the country. These incentives rely fully on EU financing (ESIF). There are no national funds mobilised for incentivizing innovation procurements that are not EU co-financed. Thus, the total score of the sub-indicator "financial incentives" is 43%.

Finally, due to the absence of personal or **non-financial incentives** to public procurers the score for sub-indicator "personal incentives" is 0%.

The total score of the indicator "incentives" is 21%.

indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures							
Total score	289	6		European a	verage	24%	
	Existence	Connection with relevant international /EU initiatives	Free of charg e	Covering all types and aspects of innovation procurement	Available and applicable to al public procurers the country	Mainstreaming Il Innovation in procurement a a large scale	Sub- total score
Central website							0%
Good practices							0%
Trainings/workshops	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				50%
Handbooks/guideline s	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		67%
Assistance to public procurers	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		67%
Template tender documents							0%
Coordination / pre- approval							0%
Networking of public procurers	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		67%
One-stop-shop/ competence centre							0%

Slovenia foresees four out of nine of the measures generally adopted to build up the know-how of public procurers on innovation procurement.

Several capacity building activities in the form of **trainings and workshop** have been developed at national and sectoral level. For example, the Public Procurement Directorate provides training and workshops on innovation procurement. Specific trainings for the efficient implementation of PCP are also envisaged by the 2020 national strategy document for the development of the information society. The **networking** opportunities provided for example through these trainings and workshops provide are not connected to EU initiatives in this field, and therefore the score for sub-indicator networking is 50%. Additional training and workshops activities in the field of innovation procurement are also organized within specific projects (mainly European). In this context the most relevant is the EU project PPI2Innovate, which provides trainings and workshops to equip national public procurers with skills and competences the launch innovation procurement. These activities are provided free of charge and cover all aspects of innovation procurement. The number of workshops provided by PPI2Innovate so far has been very low and focusing mainly on specific sectors (health, energy, ICT), there has not been able to reach all types of procurers yet nor to mainstream innovation procurement across the country. As a result, the total score of this sub-indicator is 50%.

At country level, a number of **guidelines and handbooks** have been developed to facilitate the use of innovation procurement. The Ministry of Public Administration in cooperation with public and private stakeholders has prepared guidelines on innovative public procurement in the field of construction, engineering services and ICT. These guidelines explain how to conduct innovative public procurement in those fields. <sup>692</sup> Sector-specific guidance documents have also been developed within the PPI2Innovate project. As part of the project three thematic guidelines have been prepared to support the use of innovation procurement in the areas of health, energy and ICT. These documents are offered free of charge and are available to all public procurers in the country while they focus on specific aspects of innovation. Therefore, the total score for this sub-indicator is 67%.

Capacity building activities in the country also include **assistance to public procurers** for every kind of procurement procedure. In particular, the Public Procurement Directorate provides telephone consultations on public procurement for contracting authorities and gives non-binding interpretations of the Public Procurement Act (publishing views and opinions on its webpage). Assistance activities are offered free of charge to all public procurers in the country and cover all aspects of innovation procurement. Thus, the total score for this sub-indicator is 67%.

The participation in EU funded projects is expected to have a positive role in the use of innovation procurement at national level. For example, the participation of the Ministry of Public Administration to the PPI2Innovate project is going to produce tools to support contracting authorities in the preparation of the documentation for procurements involving innovative solutions.

On the basis of the evidence collected above, the total score for this indicator is 26%. The score is affected by the fact that there is no one-stop-shop/competence centre for innovation procurement or a dedicated central website, nor template tender documents and guidelines, and no coordination activities are offered. References to recent EU initiatives (e.g. Eafip, procure2innovative network of competence centres, European initiative to benchmark national policy frameworks for innovation procurement across Europe, EU guidance on innovation procurement, EU funding opportunities for innovation procurements (e.g. H2020, ESIF, EIB) and recent EU funded projects (e.g. Horizon 2020 funded projects) are often also still missing. Resources dedicated to capacity building and networking of procurers are not yet at the level for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale.



This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of Innovation procurement. The indicator is composed of two sub-indicators that show evidence on

- I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in Slovenia
- II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regard to sub-indicator I, Slovenia shows the following evidence:

a. **IPR default regime:** The score for this sub-indicator is 50% because the law and general terms and conditions for government contracts do not define a default scenario for allocation of IPRs but the Slovenian ministry of public administration's guidelines on innovative / IT procurement states that that requiring more IPR than needed however negatively affects the price of offers and that the IPR requirements of the public procurer shall respect applicable IPR/copyright law and the principle of proportionality. Therefore, it recommends that "the public procurer requires only so much intellectual property (ownership of the source code) as it needs for fulfilling its basic objectives in using, maintaining and upgrading its solutions. This transfer to the public procurer should be non-exclusive, limited in time linked to the procurement need and the mandate of the public procurer's tasks. The contracting authority should not regulate the IPR rights of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>692</sup> <u>http://www.djn.mju.gov.si/sistem-javnega-narocanja/smernice</u>

the contractor to ensure that contractors can also further commercialise products that result from the public procurement, according to their free entrepreneurship." Slovenian public procurement law foresees that procurers can require in the tender specifications the transfer of IPR rights to the procurer. However according to the Slovenian copyright act<sup>693</sup>, copyrights belong to the creator (moral rights are non-transferable and only single economic rights (not all economic rights) may be transferred). Therefore the copyright act determines that in the case of commissioned work, like in a public tender, (1) the public procurer obtains automatically the right to use/distribute the commissioned work and the creator maintains the copyright as well as the right to use and further develop and commercialise the commissioned work.

- b. <u>Use of value for money award criteria</u>: According to the EU Single Market Scoreboard, 38% of the procedures were not awarded on the basis of lowest price only. This is below the European average of 42% and far below the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard. Slovenia is still over-reliant on lowest price criteria.
- c. <u>Use of variants</u>: Slovenia has allowed the use of variants in less than 1% of the procedures (0,98%). This percentage is well below the European average.
- **d.** <u>Preliminary Market Consultations</u>: Slovenia has not used Preliminary Market Consultations in procurement procedures in 2018.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 22% which is slightly below the European average of 23% but still below the satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly due to the underutilization of value for money award criteria and the absence of any use of Preliminary Market Consultation. There is some promotion in guidelines to procurers for using an IPR default regime that fosters innovation in public procurement, but this is not anchored yet into legislation and general terms and conditions for government contracts.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Slovenia shows the following evidence (according to the single market scoreboard):

- e. **Level of competition**: The level of competition of the national public procurement market is 70% which is below the European average 84% and below the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This result derives from the fact that both the sub-indicators are below the European average: the percentage of procurements where there was only one bidder (63%) and the percentage of procurements for which a call for bids was organised (76%).
- f. **Level of Transparency**: The level of transparency of the national public procurement market is 53% which is above the European average 45% but still below the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly due to the fact that the amount of procurements without missing call for bids information (81%) is below European average. The TED publication rate (4%) and the amount of procurements without missing buyer registration numbers (73%) are above European average but below the satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 61% which is below the European average of 65% and below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly due to below average level of competition. Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 42% which is slightly below the European average. This score is explained firstly by the fact that, although the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country is slightly above the European average, the openness of the Slovenian procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is below the European average. Indeed, the country value for money criteria are still underused in public procurements and, although there is some promotion in guidelines to procurers for using an IPR default regime that fosters innovation in public procurement, this is not anchored yet into legislation and general terms and conditions for government contracts. Secondly, the use of variants in procedures is rarely allowed and Preliminary Market Consultations have not been held. In addition, the national public procurement market shows a below average level of competition, and the level of transparency still needs improvement as well to reach the satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>693</sup> http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/details.jsp?id=3699

### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Slovenian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Slovenian investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 5,7% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e. 0,4 bn), **Slovenia ranks 20<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>694</sup> across Europe. Slovenia falls within the group of **low performers**, below the European average of 9,3%.<sup>695</sup> **A large increase of investments in PPI is still needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Slovenian public sector.<sup>696</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Slovenia drops to the 22<sup>nd</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>697</sup> explaining Slovenia's low performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Slovenia (44%) **is** significantly below the European average (84%). This is due to the fact that the adoption of both 'significantly improved solutions' and 'new to the market solutions' is still low (34% and 10% of PPI respectively). PPI investments in Slovenia depend much more than other European countries (16%) on the adoption of **incremental innovations** (56%), which includes the purchase of 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' as well as 'innovative combinations of existing solutions'. As the total amount of investments in Innovative solutions in Slovenia is considerably below EU average, the country still needs to step up considerably its investments in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>694</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found <u>here on the EU webpages</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>695</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

 $<sup>^{696}</sup>$  It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve).  $^{697}$  The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is therefore an important factor explaining why Slovenia is not yet at the level of PPI investment that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

Despite the low volume of total PPI investments, **nearly every domain of public sector activity**<sup>698</sup> **in Slovenia purchased innovation solutions**, except in '**Water**' and '**Postal services**' with zero PPI investments. The shares of PPI investments by different public sector domains out of total PPI investments in the country are **mostly below the European average** (in 8 out of 11 domains). The shares of PPI investments made by Slovenian procurers in the '**Environment**', '**General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs**' and '**Education, recreation, culture and religion**' domains are significantly higher than the corresponding European averages (respectively, +16 pp, +13 pp and +10 pp). At the same time, the shares of PPI investments by Slovenian procurers in the '**Healthcare and social services**' and '**Public order, safety and security**' domains are significantly below the European averages (respectively, -15 pp and -7 pp).

Domain of public sector activity	Slovenia	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	48%	35%	+13
Public transport	4%	10%	-6
Healthcare and social services	6%	21%	-15
Energy	4%	6%	-2
Environment	19%	3%	+16
Construction, housing and community amenities	1%	4%	-3
Education, recreation, culture and religion	15%	5%	+10
Water	0%	4%	-4
Public order, safety and security	1%	8%	-7
Postal services	0%	1%	-1
Other	1%	3%	-2
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>698</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

# **Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal** Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is 30%, in line with the European average (29%). Similarly, also the share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is very close (70%) to the European average (71%).

This indicates that Slovenian procurers may be risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions or open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers, with the same likelihood as across Europe as a whole.

## Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Slovenian PPI investments for which call for tenders are published is modest (31%), but above the European average (22%). Both the portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (20%) and the portion that is **published at national level** (11%) are above European average (respectively 18% and 5%). Nevertheless, the amount of PPI investments for which no call for tenders is published (69%) is high.

By not publishing PPI widely, **Slovenia is missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Slovenian and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Slovenian PPI business opportunities.

#### Investment readiness across different levels of public sector activity

PPI investments by level of public sector activity



More than one third of the total PPI investments in Slovenia is carried out by **large-scale entities at national level** (32%), such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is below the European average (47%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for a small share of PPI investments (5%), considerably lower than European average (24%). **Procurers at local level** account for the highest fraction of PPI investments (63%), considerably above the European average (29%).

# Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

In terms of the adoption of innovative solutions in the field of ICT (ICT-based PPI), Slovenia falls within the cluster of **bottom performers**. With  $\notin$  0,01 bn or 1,5% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Slovenia ranks 26<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, considerably below the European average (3,5%). Also in terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions (26%), Slovenia performs significantly below the European average (26%). **A large increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions is needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Slovenia to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>699</sup>



📕 Strong performers 📒 Good performers 📕 Moderate performers 📗 Modest performers 📕 Low performers 📕 Bottom performers

The main factors<sup>700</sup> explaining Slovenia's bottom level performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** in Slovenia (70%) is still below the European average (79%). PPI investments in Slovenia still depend considerably more than the European average (16%) on the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations**<sup>701</sup> (30%). As the total amount of investments in ICT-based innovative solutions in Slovenia is low, the country is still lagging behind considerably in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.

#### ICT-based PPI investments by type of innovation



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>699</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI– or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>700</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>701</sup> See definitions above.

# Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

#### ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



Slovenia invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the so-called **'Core ICT' sub-sector**<sup>702</sup> (70%), above the European average (54%)

Slovenia invested to a lesser extent in the adoption of innovations from the '**ICT Plus' sub-sector** (24%), significantly below the European average (45%).

The share of investments in adopting innovations from the **'Content & Media' sub-sector** were small (6%), but above the European average (1%).

#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

Despite the low volume of total ICT-based PPI investments, **nearly every domain of public sector activity in Slovenia purchased innovation ICT-based solutions**, except in 'Water' and 'Postal services' with zero investments. The highest share of ICT-based PPI investments was made by procurers that operate in the domain of 'Education, recreation, culture and religion' (37%), which is considerably above the European average (9%). In the 'Public order, safety and security', 'Healthcare and social services' and 'Public transport' domains, the shares of ICT-based PPI investments were significantly below the European averages (with -17 pp, -14 pp and -9 pp).

#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>702</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>·</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

<sup>•</sup> Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

# Investment readiness across different levels of public sector activity

#### ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 81% of ICT-based PPI investments, well above the European average (69%).

**Procurers at local level** account for the highest share of the ICT-based PPI investments at sub-national level (10%), in line with the European average (10%). To the contrary, **regional procurers** account for only a modest fraction of ICT-based PPI investments (9%), which is below the European average (21%). This may indicate that especially procurers at subnational level could still improve their performance on adopting ICT-based innovations.

# Slovakia



#### . NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### **Governance and legal framework**

The field of public procurement in Slovakia is regulated by the Public procurement Act (No 343/2015) which entered into force on April 2016. The Act transposed the EU procurement directives (2014/24/EU and 2014/25/EU). The EU Directive 2009/81/EC on defence and security procurement has been transposed through several acts.

The main actor in the field of Public procurement is the Slovak **Public Procurement Office** (UVO). The Office was established in 2000 and represents the Slovak Republic on public procurement issues at international level, including expert working group activities with the European Commission. It works to ensure the compliance of the "Public Procurement Act", overseeing the principles of transparency, equal treatment and non-discrimination of tenderers and candidates, as well as the principles of economy and efficiency in the spending of funds.

The main actors in the area of innovation are the **Ministry of Economy** and the **Ministry of education**, **science**, **research and sport**. The ministry of economy is setting the innovation policy. The ministry of education, science, research and sport is responsible for the research policy and is also the managing authority for the operational programme for research and innovation funded by the European Structural and Investment Funds. The Ministry of economy is supported in the implementation of the national innovation policy by three executive agencies, namely the Slovak Business Agency (SBA), the Slovak Investment and Trade Development Agency (SARIO) and the Slovak Innovation and Energy Agency (SIEA). The Slovak Research and Development Agency (SRDA) is responsible for R&D promotion in all research fields, including international research cooperation. It also plays a key role in managing R&D grant schemes.

In the field of innovation procurement, the UVO carries out capacity building activities to increase procurers' skills and competences on innovation procurement procedures.<sup>703</sup> Within the UVO, the **Working group in Innovation Procurement** directly supports contracting authorities to engage in more innovation procurement procedures.<sup>704</sup>

The transposition of EU procurement directive has given a primary input to the development of Innovation procurement in the country.

#### **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In the benchmarking of the national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, the **Slovak Republic is at the 16<sup>th</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 23,0%**. Among the 30 countries analysed, the Slovak Republic is among the group of modest performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. Having implemented only 23,0% of the policy measures to rollout a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is still a strong reinforcement of the policy framework needed in the Slovak Republic to reach its full 100% potential.



Strengths: The Slovak Republic's public procurement legal framework provides the basis for developing an innovation procurement policy. Some measures have started to increase the awareness and know-how on innovation procurement

Weaknesses: Absence of a policy framework for innovation procurement (no action plan, target, financial incentives for procurers, monitoring system). No structured dedicated capacity building measures. The link between innovation procurement and other horizontal or sectorial policies is limited. Lack of an IPR policy in public procurement that encourages innovation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>704</sup>https://www.uvo.gov.sk/legislativametodika-dohlad/zodpovedne-verejne-obstaravanie/pracovna-skupina-pre-inovacie-vo-verejnom-obstaravani-5d2.html



In Slovakia the legislative framework for public procurement provides a definition for R&D procurement but not for innovation Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) and Public Procurement of Innovative Solutions (PPI). As a result, the total score for this indicator is 51%.

In national legislation or official guidance documents there is no definition of innovation procurement, but § 2 ods. 5 písm. m. of the Public procurement Act No 343/2015 on public procurement provides a definition of **innovation** in the context of public procurement. In this article innovation is defined as "*the introduction of a new or significantly improved product, service or process, which may include a production, building or construction process, a new marketing method, or a new organizational approach to business practice, the organization of a working environment or external relations*". The article is in line with the EU definition and applicable to all public procurers in the country. The total score of this sub-indicator is therefore 35%.

With regard to **R&D** procurement, article § 2 (4)(1) of the Public Procurement Act No 343/2015 defines **R&D** as "all activities involving basic research, applied research and experimental development; experimental development may involve the implementation of equipment demonstrating the performance of a new concept or new technology in the appropriate environment, or in a representative environment". This definition is applicable to all public procurers in the country and coherent with the EU definition. As a result, the score for this sub-indicator is 100%.

The Public Procurement Act No 343/2015 does not provide a definition for PCP but Article 1(2) letter d of the act provides the legal basis for implementing **PCP** via the following R&D services exemption: "*The public procurement rules are not applied to public service contracts in the field of research and development unless (a) the benefits accrue exclusively to the contracting authority for its use in the conduct of its own affairs, and (b) the service provided is wholly remunerated by the contracting authority*". This is in line with the provision in the EU public procurement directives and is applicable to all public procurers in the country. The total score of this sub-indicator is therefore 35%.

The Public Procurement Act No 343/2015 does not provide a definition of PPI, but under article 44 (Criteria for the evaluation of tenders) enables public procurers to implement **PPI** by allowing procurers to take into account innovative solution characteristics. According to this article *"the best price/quality ratio will be judged on the basis of price or cost and other criteria, which include qualitative, environmental or social aspects related to the subject matter contracts, and in particular quality, including technical merit, aesthetic and functional properties, accessibility, solutions* 

suitable for all users, social, environmental and innovative characteristics". This provision is in line with the provision in the EU public procurement directives and is applicable to all public procurers in the country. The total score of this sub-indicator is therefore 35%.

Despite the absence of an official definition for PCP and PPI in the legal framework, the Public Procurement Office has developed a report entitled "Innovation in Public Procurement". The report makes a reference to PPI and PCP as defined in the rules for participation of the European Framework Programme.



In the Slovak Republic innovation procurement is only embedded in one of seven horizontal policies: innovation policy. The total score of this indicator is therefore 14%.

In particular, the Research and Innovation Strategy for Smart Specialisation of the Slovak Republic (RIS3, **2013**) foresees innovation procurement as a tool to foster the competitiveness of the country.<sup>705</sup> In this document, innovation procurement is also described as an important instrument for the development of the sector of information and communication technologies. The RIS3 is implemented by regional and local authorities according to their specific priorities In addition to the above-mentioned RIS3, another policy document attesting the interest in the field of innovation procurement is the "Support for innovative solutions in Slovak cities" (Ministry of Economy of the Slovak Republic, 2017)706, which recommends the establishment of an Institute for Public Procurement for Innovation.

Indicator 3 – ICT policies 50% Total score European average

47%

Slovakia's digital growth and Next Generate Access infrastructure strategic document 2014-2020 identifies that "increasing the openness of ICT public procurements towards technology innovation and approaches is desirable, which would lead to simpler and less expensive solution variants than originally planned. The modalities of electronic public procurement will be updated in order to easily implement demand-driven projects in public administration in the form of innovative solutions and to encourage effective participation of small and medium-sized businesses in such areas as open data, mobile applications for eGovernment services, green information and telecommunication technologies and applications for social networks." Because of this indirect reference to innovation procurement, the score for this indicator is 50%.



<sup>705</sup> http://www.economy.gov.sk/uploads/files/81edIx1h.pdf

In the Slovak Republic green public procurement policy recognises the role of innovation procurement within its strategy.

Innovation procurement is indirectly addressed by the National Action Plan for Green public procurement (2016-2019), i.e. the NAP III strategy<sup>707</sup>, in which government-induced demand is considered a source for environmentally friendly technology and eco-innovation. Therefore, the score for this indicator is 10%.

Indicator 5 – Action plan					
Total score	0%	European average	8%		

The Slovak Republic does not have a dedicated/stand-alone Action Plan for innovation procurement.

Indicator 6 – Spending	g target		
Total score	0%	European average	11%

In the Slovak Republic there is no specific spending target for innovation procurement.



In 2017 the Slovak Republic has introduced a system to flag green, social and/or innovation procurements in the form used by procurers to publish their tenders. This measurement system, which has not produced statistical results yet, is applicable countrywide. The score of the sub-indicator "measurement" is 100%.<sup>708</sup> It is worth mentioning that for Green Public Procurement other monitoring activities are also put in place, as the Ministry of Environment conducts annually a survey to measure its amount.

The score for the evaluation sub-indicator is 0% as the Slovak Republic does not have a system for evaluating the impacts of completed innovation procurements. Therefore, the total score of this indicator is 50%.

Indicator 8 – Incentive	s		
Total score	0%	European average	22%

The Slovak Republic does not have incentive schemes to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements, but improvements are likely to occur in the near future, as the Public Procurement Office is moving towards this objective.

Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures							
Total score	11%			European avera	ge	24%	
	Existence	Connection with relevant international/ EU initiatives	Free of charge	Covering all types and aspects of innovation procurement	Available and applicable to all public procurers in the country	Mainstreaming Innovation procurement at a large scale	Sub- total score
Central website							0%
Good practices							0%
Trainings/workshops	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			50%
Handbooks/guidelines	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		50%

707 http://www.sazp.sk/en/the-environment/environmental-management.html

Assistance to public procurers				0%
Template tender documents				0%
Coordination / pre- approval				0%
Networking of public procurers				0%
One-stop-shop/ competence centre				0%

The Slovak Republic carries out two out of the nine measures generally adopted to build up public procurers' know-how on innovation procurement.

The Slovak Public Procurement Office (UVO) has published a **Guide on innovation procurement**, which includes definitions and explanations on all types of innovation procurement (R&D procurement, PCP and PPI).<sup>709</sup> Beyond providing this short overview of different types of innovation procurement, the guide lacks however guidance on how to deal with the different steps in an innovation procurement and does not address how to scale up innovation procurements across the country to achieve large scale impact. The score of sub-indicator guidance is therefore 50%.

The Office has also created a **Working group on Innovation Procurement** with the aim of fostering the use of PPI, PCP and R&D procurement in the country.<sup>710</sup> To achieve this objective, the working group regularly carries out workshop and **training** activities for contracting authorities. As these trainings are however not linked to relevant EU initiatives, not available to all public procurers in the country and not able to mainstream innovation procurement widely across the country, the score for sub-indicator trainings is 50%.

Slovakia is still lacking a structured framework for capacity on innovation procurement across the country. Apart from a guide and some training activities all other types of capacity building measures are still missing. On the basis of the evidence collected below, the total score in this indicator is 13%.



This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of Innovation procurement. It is composed by two sub-indicators reflecting:

- I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in Slovakia
- II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regard to sub-indicator I, the Slovak Republic shows the following evidence:

a. **IPR default regime**: The score for this sub-indicator is 25%, which is below the 38% European average, because there is no default scenario for the distribution of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers in the Slovak Republic. The Slovakian law, general terms and conditions for government contracts and guidelines on public procurement do not define how allocation of IPRs is best dealt with in procurement contracts. It is left to the individual responsibility of each Slovakian procurer to specify clearly the IPR allocation for the procurement in its tender documents so that it stimulates innovation and is compliant with IPR/copyright law. The Slovakian copyright act<sup>711</sup> determines that the entire copyright (both moral and economic rights) belongs

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>709</sup> https://www.uvo.gov.sk/legislativametodika-dohlad/zodpovedne-verejne-obstaravanie/materialy-na-stiahnutie-5d5.html

<sup>710</sup> https://www.uvo.gov.sk/legislativametodika-dohlad/zodpovedne-verejne-obstaravanie/pracovna-skupina-pre-inovacie-vo-verejnom-obstaravani-5d2.html

<sup>711</sup> http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/text.jsp?file\_id=451097

in an inalienable way to the creator (both moral and economic rights are non-transferable and may not be waived by the creator). Therefore the copyright act determines that in the case of commissioned work, like in a public tender, (1) the public procurer obtains automatically the right to use the commissioned work but no other rights from the creator and (2) as the creator maintains the entire copyright, he also maintains the right to use and further develop and commercialise the commissioned work. Copyright law protects also scientific work, software and database rights.

- b. **Use of value for money award criteria**: According to the EU single market scoreboard, only 8% of the public procurement procedure have been awarded using criteria that are not based only on the lowest price. This is far below the European average of 42% and below the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard. Together with Romania, Malta and Cyprus, the Slovak Republic is among the worst performers on using value for money award criteria. The country shows a structural over-reliance on lowest price criteria.
- c. <u>Use of variants</u>: Slovakia has allowed the use of variants in less than 1% of the procedures (0,53%). This percentage is well below the European average.
- d. **Preliminary Market Consultations:** Slovakia has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 4% of the procedures. This percentage is significantly below the European average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 10% which is significantly below the European average of 23% and below the satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly due to both the below average performance on IPR default regime and to the underutilization of value for money award criteria.

With regard to sub-indicator II, the Slovak Republic shows the following evidence (based on the single market scoreboard):

- e. <u>Level of competition</u>: The level of competition of the national public procurement market is 88% which is slightly above the European average 84% and but still below the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. Both the sub-indicators are above European average but below the satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard: the percentage of procurements with more than one bidder (81%) and the percentage of procurements for which a call for bids was organised (95%).
- f. **Level of Transparency**: The level of transparency of the national public procurement market is 65% which is above the European average 45% but still below the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. All three sub-indicators are above European average: TED publication rate (6%), percentage of procurements without missing buyer registration numbers (99%) and percentage of procurements without missing call for bids information (91%). The latter one is however still below the 97% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 77% which is above the European average of 65% but still below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is due to both improvements that are still needed to increase the level of transparency and competition.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score the indicator is 43% which is almost in line with the 44% European average and below the satisfactory level for the total of the EU single market indicators. This score is explained by the fact that the openness of the Slovakian procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is above the European average but the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country is significantly below European average. Indeed, the country has not yet adopted a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation and value for money criteria are still seriously underused in public procurements. In addition, the national public procurement market levels of competition and transparency which are above the European average but still below the satisfactory levels set by the EU single market scoreboard.

### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Slovak investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Slovak investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 3,6% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e. € 0,8 bn), **Slovakia ranks 27<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>712</sup> across Europe. Slovakia falls within the group of **bottom performers**, below the European average of 9,3%.<sup>713</sup> **A large increase of investments in PPI is needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Slovak public sector.<sup>714</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Slovakia drops to the 29<sup>th</sup> position.



The main factors715 explaining Slovakia's bottom level performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Slovakia (57%) is significantly below the European average (84%). This is due to lower adoption of both innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' and 'significantly improved' solutions. PPI investments in Slovakia depend to a larger extent than in Europe on average (16%) on the adoption of **incremental innovations** (43%), which includes the purchase of 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' as well as 'innovative combinations of existing solutions'. As the total amount of investments in innovative solutions in Slovakia is considerably below EU average, the country still needs to step up considerably its investments in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.

 $<sup>^{712}</sup>$  Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found here on the EU webpages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>713</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>714</sup> It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve). <sup>715</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is therefore an important factor explaining why Slovakia is not yet at the level of PPI investment that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

Despite the low volume of total PPI investments, **nearly every domain of public sector activity**<sup>716</sup> **in Slovakia purchased innovation solutions**, except in '**Postal services**' with zero PPI investments. The shares of PPI investments by different public sector domains out of total PPI investments in the country are **mostly below EU average** (in 7 out of 11 domains). Especially in the 'Healthcare and social services' and '**General public services**, **public administration and economic and financial affairs**' domains the shares of investments are considerably below the European average (-16 pp and -17 pp respectively). However, the share of PPI investments by Slovak procurers is particularly high in the '**Construction, housing and community amenities**' domain (37%), and considerably above the European average (+33 pp).

Domain of public sector activity	Slovakia	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	18%	35%	-17
Public transport	3%	10%	-7
Healthcare and social services	5%	21%	-16
Energy	5%	6%	-1
Environment	8%	3%	+5
Construction, housing and community amenities	37%	4%	+33
Education, recreation, culture and religion	6%	5%	+1
Water	2%	4%	-2
Public order, safety and security	3%	8%	-5
Postal services	0%	1%	-1
Other	13%	3%	+10
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

#### PPI by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>716</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

# **Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal** Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is significantly higher in Slovakia (12%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Slovak procurers may be less risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is much lower in Slovakia (37%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Slovak procurers may tend to be less open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

## Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Slovak PPI investments for which calls for tenders are published (41%) is considerably above the European average (22%). The portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (13%) is lower than European average (18%) while the portion that is **published at national level** (28%) is above European average (5%). Nonetheless, the share of PPI investments for which no calls for tenders are published in the TED database or at national level is high (59%).

By not publishing calls for tenders for the largest part of PPI investments, **Slovakia is missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Slovak and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Slovak PPI business opportunities.

# Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity PPI investments by level of public sector activity



The lion share of the total PPI investments in Slovakia (77%) is carried out **by large-scale entities at national level**, such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is considerably above the European average (47%).

**Procurers at local level** account for the largest share of PPI investments at sub-national level (16%), below the European average (29%). Procurers at **regional level** account for the smallest fraction of PPI (7%), significantly below the European average (24%). This may indicate that especially procurers at subnational level could still improve their performance on adopting innovations.

# Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

In terms of adoption of innovative solutions in the field of ICT (ICT-based PPI investment), Slovakia ranks in the cluster of **bottom performers**. With  $\in$  0,1 bn or 1,6% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Slovakia ranks 24**<sup>th</sup> in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, considerably below the European average (3,5%). In terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions (44%), Slovakia performs above the European average (38%). However, **a large increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions is still needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>717</sup>



The **main factors**<sup>718</sup> explaining Slovakia's bottom level performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** in Slovakia (86%) is above the European average (79%). This may derive from the fact that a solid share (58%) represents the adoption of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' followed by 'significantly improved solutions' (28%). The share of ICT-based PPI investments spent on the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations**<sup>719</sup> (14%) is below the European average (21%). As the total amount of investments in ICT-based innovative solutions in Slovakia is low, the country is still lagging behind considerably in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.

ICT-based PPI by type of innovation (as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI)



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>717</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI – or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>718</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>719</sup> See definitions above.

# Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

#### ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



Slovakia invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the so-called '**Core ICT' sub-sector**<sup>720</sup> (89%), above the European average (54%).

Slovakia invested to a lesser extent in the adoption of innovations from the '**ICT Plus' sub-sector** (11%), which is below the European average (45%).

No investment was made to adopt innovations from the **'Content & Media' sub-sector**.

#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

Despite the low volume of total ICT-based PPI investments, **nearly every domain of public sector activity in Slovakia purchased innovation ICT-based solutions**, except in 'Water' and 'Postal services' with zero investments. The highest share of ICT-based PPI investments is made by procurers that operate in the domain of 'General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs' (34% which is significantly above the European average of 16%) and in the domain of 'Construction, housing and community amenities' (17%) which is 16 percentage points higher than on European average.

#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>720</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>•</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

<sup>·</sup> Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

# Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

#### ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for the largest share of total ICT-based PPI investments (82%), quite above the European average (69%).

**Procurers at local level** account for the highest share of the ICT-based PPI at sub-national level (16%), slightly above the European average (10%). To the contrary, **regional procurers** account for only a marginal fraction of ICT-based PPI (2%), significantly below the European average (21%). This may indicate that especially procurers at subnational level could still improve their performance on adopting ICT-based innovations.
# Spain



#### . NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### Governance and legal framework

The Law 9/2017 of Public Sector Contracts transposes the EU Directives 2014/23/UE, 2014/24/UE and 2014/25/UE, in the national legal framework. The Law 9/2017 has come in force on 2018, March 9th. Further developments, when necessary, need the initiative of the Spanish Ministers Council. Autonomous Communities could develop issues in accordance to their own competencies. The Law 24/2011 on public procurement for defence and security transposed the Directive 2009/81/EC.

Overall, the Spanish public procurement system is decentralised: the system is based on more than 8,000 contracting authorities at national, regional, and local level, including the central administration and its agencies, public-funded bodies, universities, and healthcare services.

The **Ministry of Economy, Industry and Competitiveness (MEIC)** is responsible for providing the financing of Spanish Innovation Procurement projects under the ESI funds, through its General Secretariat of Science and Innovation. Since 2014, Spain is preparing a new set of innovation procurement proposals for a global amount of  $\\mathcal{C}$  300 million (for the EU current budget period 2014-20) to be co-financed with this FEDER Technological Fund of ESIF, through the Spanish Programme (INNOCOMPRA-FID) for 2014-20. The **Centre for Development of Industrial Technology (CDTI)** – a public business entity depending on the MEIC – has been appointed by MEIC as national competence centre for innovation procurement in Spain together with ISCIII (National Institute Carlos III for Health) and INTA (National Institute Esteban Terradas for Aerospace Techniques), acting these three entities as a concerted network under the guidance of MEIC

Finally, **Regional Governments** of the seventeen Autonomous Communities and two Autonomous Cities have also competencies in the field of innovation procurement and are progressively devoting greater budget amounts to this aim. As an example, in Barcelona, the **Generalitat de Catalunya** (and in particular AQUAS) is playing a key role in promoting PCP ad PPI and in Galicia, the **Galician Innovation Agency (GAIN)** is playing a key role in promoting PCP and PPI.

#### **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In the benchmarking of the national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Spain is at the 8<sup>th</sup> position** in the overall ranking with a **total score of 36,8%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Spain is among the group of good performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. Having implemented 36,8% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is however still a significant reinforcement of the policy framework needed in Spain to reach its full 100% potential.



Strength: Application of regional ESIF funds for encouraging innovation procurement. Establishment of a national competence centre. Default IPR regime that is halfway there in promoting innovation is anchored into public procurement law.

Weakness: Absence of a structured innovation procurement policy for the whole country that is not for ESIF funded projects only: lack of action plan, spending target, monitoring system for innovation procurement, lack of financial incentives and capacity building outside of the ESIF context.





In the Spanish public procurement legal framework, there is a clear official definition for Research and Development but not for innovation, innovation procurement, Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) and Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI). The national "Innovative Public Purchase, Guide 2.0" embeds the definitions of innovation procurement (Compra pubblica innovadora), PCP (compra publica pre-comercial) and PPI (compra publica de tecnologia innovadora). The definition of PCP and PPI are not in in line with the EU definition, whereas all the other definitions are in line with the EU official definitions. The total score of the indicator "Official definition" is 48%.

No definition of innovation or **innovation procurement** exists in the national public procurement legal framework or guidance documents. Therefore, the score of this sub-indicator is 0%.

The Spanish public procurement law 9/2017 for non-defence procurers does not provide a definition for **R&D** but it identifies in article 8 R&D via the CPV codes for basic research, applied research and experimental development in line with the CPV provisions in the EU public procurement directives. Law 24/2011 on public procurement for defence and security in Title VI, comma 11 defines R&D as: "all activities that involve basic research, applied research and experimental development. Experimental development may include the production of technological demonstration systems, which are devices for demonstrating the performance of a new concept or technology in a relevant or representative environment". This definition is coherent with the EC definition, but it is only applicable to defence procurers, therefore the total score of this sub-indicator is 90%.

**Pre-commercial procurement** (PCP) is not defined in the national framework. However, a definition of PCP is provided in the "Innovative Public Purchase, Guide 2.0". The **Pre-commercial procurement** (PCP) is defined as "the procurement of an R&D activities, fully remunerated by the contracting authority characterized by the fact that [...] the contracting authority shares with the companies' risks and benefits of the R&D activities which are necessary to develop an innovative solutions not available in the market". This definition embeds three elements: (i) the activities of R&D, (ii) sharing risks and benefits between contracting authorities and the company winning the tender and (iii) the separation from the subsequent purchase of the developed solutions. The definition is applicable to all public procurers in the country

but not fully in line with the EU definition because it does not recognise that the purchase of non-commercial volumes of solutions can be part of the PCP. Therefore, the total score of this sub-indicator is 50%

In national legislation no definition of **PPI** exists. However, the national guidance document "Innovative Public Purchase, Guide 2.0" defined PPI (compra publica de tecnologia innovadora) as "The procurement of a new or significantly improved product, service or process, including but not limited to production, building or construction processes, a new marketing method, or a new organizational method in business practices, workplace organization or external relations. The procurement of a good or service that does not exist in the market but that can be developed over a reasonable period of time. This procurement requires the development of new technology or a significant improvement to an existing one made to meet the requirements of by the procurer." The definition is applicable to all public procurers but is not in line with the EU definition. Existing products that are not widely commercialised yet are not covered by Spanish definition, instead it limits PPI to the case of products that still need to be developed. This assimilates PPI with the innovation partnership procedure which creates confusion among public procurers and limits the potential of PPI. Therefore, the score of this sub-indicator is 50%.



This indicator reflects the extent to which innovation procurement is considered of strategic importance in horizontal policies. As this is only the case in 3 out of 7 horizontal policies, the total score of the indicator is 43%.

In the field of regional policy, the Spanish 2014-2020 ERDF Operational Programme on Smart Growth<sup>721</sup> and the Regional Smart Specialization Strategies (RIS3)722 foresee innovation procurement among their instruments. There are also regions, alike Catalunya, that have developed their own regional policy for innovation procurement with their own regional budgets.

In the field of R&D&I, national political commitment to innovation procurement is very high since the endorsement of the State Strategy of Innovation (E2i) in 2010 and the Spanish Strategy on Science, Technology and Innovation 2013-2020723, currently implemented and executed by the State Secretary for Research, Development and Innovation of the Ministry of Economy, Industry and Competitiveness (MINECO). The strategy specifically plans wider deployment of PCP and PPI.

Indicator 3 – ICT policies				
Total score	100%	European Average	47%	

The Spanish Digital Agenda<sup>724</sup>, managed by the Ministry of Energy, Tourism and Digital agenda, confers to innovation procurement a role to boost the development of the ICT sector. "Goal 5: Boost R&D&I in Information and Communications Technologies. It is a basic principle that public investment in R&D&I in ICT would lead to a greater amount of investment by the private sector. This is why the proposal here is to use public procurement and public private collaboration strategically...". The national Spanish plan for encouraging the development of natural language processing, machine translation and conversational systems in Spanish official and co-official languages, the Plan de Impulso a la Tecnologia del lenguaje<sup>725</sup>, also refers to innovation procurement "with the aim to bring Spanish industry to the innovation frontier to make it competitive on a global scale, while taking advantage of these innovative capabilities to substantially improve public service. For this we must (using innovation procurement) overcome the paradox by which the supplier does not invest in innovative products, which previously require an investment in R & D, for lack of clear demand, and the buyer does not demand innovative products because there is no available offer, adequate and economical for the pending challenges." Therefore, the score for this indicator is 100%.

<sup>721</sup> http://ec.europa.eu/regional\_policy/en/atlas/programmes/2014-2020/spain/2014es16rfop002

<sup>722</sup> http://s3platform.jrc.ec.europa.eu/home
723 http://www.ciencia.gob.es/stfls/MICINN/Investigacion/FICHEROS/Estrategia espanola ciencia tecnologia Innovacion.pdf

<sup>724</sup> http://www.agendadigital.gob.es/digital-agenda/Documents/digital-agenda-for-spain.pdf

<sup>725</sup> http://www.agendadigital.gob.es/tecnologias-lenguaje/Paginas/plan-impulso-tecnologias-lenguaje.aspx



Public transport and healthcare and social service are the only two out of ten sectors that embed innovation procurement in their action plans or strategic frameworks. Therefore, the score for this indicator is 20%.

The Program **FID SALUD** is an example of action plan aiming at systematically improving public health services through yearly PPI calls. The program involves every regional health service (18, including Ceuta and Melilla) and is co-ordinated by the Ministry of Health in order to prevent duplication and foster synergies. Structural financing and oversight is provided by the Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness. In 2015, more than 40 proposals have been assessed independently by ISCIII (Health Institute Carlos III), of which 15 have been approved mobilising € 34 million.<sup>726</sup>

The Innovation Plan on Transport and Infrastructure (Plan de Innovación por el transporte y las infraestructuras 2018-2020)<sup>727</sup> implemented by the Ministerio de Fomento also recognizes the strategic importance of innovation procurement in fostering the development of innovative solutions.

Indicator 5 – Action plan				
Total score	0%	European Average	8%	

In Spain, a dedicated action plan for innovation procurement has not been developed yet.

There are specific measures to encourage innovation procurement in other horizontal policies (see indicator "horizontal policies") or specific sectors (see indicator "sectorial policies" and "ICT policy"), but a stand-alone action plan is currently lacking. However, the National law 9/2017 expresses the political commitment to adopt a general strategy on public procurement in which innovation procurement could potentially become a milestone

Indicator 6 – Spending target					
Total score	0%	European Average	11%		

In Spain there is no specific spending target for innovation procurement.

On July 8, 2011, the Spanish government passed a regulation on the public purchase of innovation, whereby all ministries and their public bodies were obliged to specify in their budgets, and in different multiannual action programs, the amounts allocated to the acquisition of innovative products, goods and services. The regulation established that the 3% of the procurement budget of the General State Administration should have been spent on innovation. However, in 2013, due to the effects of the economic crisis, the new administration has not continued supporting that target.

Indicator 7 – Monitoring system				
Total score	0%	European Average	13%	

The Country does not have a structured system for measuring innovation procurement expenditure and for evaluating the impacts of completed innovation procurements.

Before 2013, all central government ministries were obliged to specify the amounts allocated to innovation procurement (while regional and local procurers were exempted). The contracting authority determined the innovative connection of every contract notice and contract award notice in a central public procurement register. The public procurement authority ticked in a web portal (PACE) whether the tender concerned CPI or CPP. However contracting authorities are no more obliged to make use of this system therefore monitoring activity is no more effective. In addition, several public agencies and regional authorities have been operating using their own competing procurement platforms (often via

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>726</sup> <u>http://ec.europa.eu/newsroom/dae/document.cfm?doc\_id=47191</u>

<sup>727</sup> https://www.fomento.gob.es/recursos mfom/paginabasica/recursos/innovation plan 20182020 1.pdf

private IT providers). Today, a new method to monitor and evaluate innovation procurement across the country is under discussion. Today, only single cases of innovation procurements, which have been funded by the INNOCOMPRA-FID programme are monitored and audited in compliance to the procedure foreseen by DG REGIO. As there is no structured system for measuring innovation procurement expenditure in the whole country (covering also non ESIF funded procurements), the total score of the sub-indicator "measurement system" is 0%.

Due to the **absence of an evaluation system**, the overall score of the indicator "monitoring system" is 0%.



Spain has set up both financial and personal incentives to promote the use of innovation procurement among procurers. The **financial incentives** in Spain are not open to all types of public procurers and procurements in the country (only open to projects that are eligible for co-financing from the EU ESIF program as indicated in the smart specialisation

priorities of Spain, not for projects that are eligible for Horizon 2020 funding and not for projects that are not eligible for ESIF funding) and focuses on specific sectors (health and security). Therefore, the total score of the sub-indicator "financial incentives" is 79%.

In the health domain they have been able to stimulate wider implementation of innovation procurement. Under the programme INNOCOMPRA-FID, there are financial incentives for CPI, CPTI and CPP, co-financed with ESI funds through ERDF financed FID (Fostering Innovation through Demand). During the last budgetary period 2007-13, 21 innovation demand driven actions have been developed for an overall amount exceeding € 230 million. In the current Programme 2014-2020, 11 projects have been financed so far, and the overall dedicated budget has increased to € 300 million. The Spanish 2014-2020 ERDF Operational Programme on Smart Growth established a specific support in the form of grants or loans to public bodies at the national, regional and local levels to foster the use of innovation procurement. In addition, the Regional Smart Specialization Strategies (RIS3) foresee innovation procurement among its instruments. The most active regions are Galicia and Andalucia.

In addition to the above-mentioned financial incentive financed with EU funds, Spain offers loans granted to procurers with national budget.<sup>728</sup> The loan covers max. 50-85% in case of PCP and max. 70% for other types of innovation procurement.

In the field of **personal incentives**, there are annual calls of the National Prizes for innovation and Design that have a specific modality focused on Innovation Procurement, evaluated directly by the Deputy DG for Innovation Promotion of the General Secretariat of Science and Technology of MEIC.729 The score for the sub-indicator "personal incentives" is therefore 100%.

Based on this evidence, the overall score of the indicator "incentives" is therefore 79%.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>728</sup> <u>https://rio.jrc.ec.europa.eu/en/file/11731/download?token=imE\_ToBS</u> slide 8
<sup>729</sup> <u>https://rio.jrc.ec.europa.eu/en/file/11731/download?token=imE\_ToBS</u> slide 6

http://www.idi.mineco.gob.es/portal/site/MICINN/menuitem.8c7b21bf4d10094b7b381d10026041a0/?vgnextoid=0d63ffa939cf6410V gnVCM1000001d04140aRCRD

Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures							
Total score	31%			European Aver	age	24%	
	Existence	Connection with relevant international/ EU initiatives	Free of charge	Covering all types and aspects of innovation procurement	Available and applicable to all public procurers in the country	Mainstreaming Innovation procurement at a large scale	Sub- total score
Central website	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		67%
Good practices							0%
Trainings/workshops							0%
Handbooks/ guidelines	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	83%
Assistance to public procurers							0%
Template tender documents							0%
Coordination / pre- approval							0%
Networking of public procurers	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	67%
One-stop-shop/ competence centre	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			67%

As concerns capacity building measures, the "**Innovative Public Purchase Guide 2.0**"<sup>730</sup> is addressed to public administrations and to other public sector agencies. The guide describes the European legislation on innovation procurement, providing guidelines on all types of innovation procurement and describing the best and most appropriate application of the contracting and adjudication procedures both in the case of CPTI and CPP. The guide however lacks guidance on some key implementation aspects for innovation procurements: for example, even though there is a default IPR allocation regime for public procurements in Spain that is conducive to innovation (IPR ownership is left with suppliers) there is no guidance on IPR handling in innovation procurements in the guide. The score for sub-indicator guidance is 83%

In Spain there is not really one **central website** that provides all relevant information on innovation procurement. There is a dedicated page on the website of the ministry of innovation that promotes the ministry's guide on innovation procurement and explains the ESIF funding for innovation procurement for procurers (INNOCOMPRA). The website is not linked to other EU initiatives on innovation procurement though.<sup>731</sup> A second page on the CDTI site<sup>732</sup> explains why the country encourages public procurers to undertake innovation procurement, that provides info about the financial support for companies to develop solutions for the public sector (INNODEMANDA) and that links to the above ministry of economy website for info about ESIF funding for procurers (INNOCOMPRA) and the guide. A third separate page on the CDTI website, not linked to the previous two pages, provides info about Horizon 2020 funding for innovation procurement<sup>733</sup>. If we consider the second webpage on the CDTI website to be the closest to a central website that links to most initiatives, then it lacks still links to relevant EU initiatives (besides the EU funding) and it is not yet conceived to address mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale. Based on this, the score for sub-indicator central website is 67%.

In terms of **networking activities** aimed at fostering innovation procurement, the Country has a structure of interconnected centres specialized in the field, forming a network led by MINECO, with a specialized Deputy Directorate General for fostering innovation, CDTI and supported by two national specialized nodes, namely:

- Node for health: the Ministry for Health, Social Security and Equality;
- Node for dual technologies: the INTA National Institute for Aerospace Technologies, depending from the Ministry of Defence.

As the networking activities focus on health and defence and the ESIF funding opportunities, they are not addressed equally at all public procurers in the country. Networking procurers at international level with procurers from other countries is also not systematically organised. The score for sub-indicator networking is therefore 67%.

This network is also acting as a **competence centre / one stop shop** for innovation procurement, providing assistance to public procurers at national level. At local level, MEIC also supports capacity building for municipalities through the

<sup>730</sup> 

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{http://www.idi.mineco.gob.es/portal/site/MICINN/menuitem.8ce192e94ba842bea3bc811001432ea0/?vgnextoid=8108c3dad5fa2310}{VgnVCM1000001d04140aRCRD&vgnextchannel=d7e6c3f020682310VgnVCM1000001d04140aRCRD}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>731</sup> http://www.ciencia.gob.es/portal/site/MICINN/menuitem.7eeac5cd345b4f34f09dfd1001432ea0/?vgnextoid=9caa777e0abe5610Vg nVCM1000001d04140aRCRD

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{732}{1549} \frac{1}{1549} \frac{1}{15$ 

<sup>733</sup> https://www.cdti.es/index.asp?MP=101&MS=841&MN=2

network INNPULSO. In addition, Health Ministry has a specialized network for attending IP proposals from the 18 regional health services.

MINECO is participating in the EU-funded project "*Procure2Innovate - European network of competence centres for innovation procurement*" to reinforce the activities of the Spanish competence existing centre and collaborate and interchange best practices with other countries.

As the competence centre focuses mainly on health and defence and the ESIF funding opportunities, it is not applicable to all public procurers in the country and not mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale across the whole country. This explains the score for sub-indicator one stop shop is 67%.

Certain Autonomous Communities are advanced in local capacity building on innovation procurement with institutions such as GAIN in Galicia region, several entities in Andalucía, AQUAS in Catalonia, City Halls of Barcelona and Madrid, among others. There are also Municipalities, as for example the Generalitat de Catalunya, which use ESIF budget to offer trainings to public officers on Innovation Procurement.<sup>734</sup>

On the basis of the evidence collected above, the total score for this indicator is 31%. The score is affected by the fact that, among all measures considered, the provision of good practice examples, training, assistance, template tender documents and of coordination activities is not offered and the link with EU initiatives is often missing. Mainstreaming capacity building activities at large scale is also often missing as most capacity building activities focus only on procurers in ESIF funded innovation procurements.





This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of innovation procurement. It is composed by two sub-indicators measuring:

- I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement
- II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regards to sub-indicator I, Spain shows the following evidence:

- g. **Default IPR regime**: The score for this sub-indicator is 50% because the Spanish public procurement legislation contains half of a default regime for the allocation of IPRs that stimulates innovation while enabling the public procurer to use the results of the procurement in the execution of its public tasks: the Spanish law assigns by default always usage rights to the public procurer. There is however no default regime for all types of public procurements for the allocation of IPR ownership rights. Spanish innovation procurement guidelines don't inform public procurers about the benefits leaving IPR ownership with suppliers and keeping usage rights with the public procurer.<sup>735</sup> Using such an approach that leaves IPR ownership with suppliers is also important in order to ensure compliance with the Spanish intellectual property rights cat<sup>736</sup> which determines that copyright belong in any case inalienably to the creator (moral rights cannot be waived or transferred, only economic rights may be transferred). The fact that a work has been commissioned (e.g. in a public procurement) does not alter the creator's rights. Copyright law protects also scientific work, software and database rights.
- h. **Use of value for money award criteria**: According to the EU single market scoreboard, 70% of the procedures were awarded not only on the basis of the lowest price.<sup>737</sup> This is significantly above the European average of 42% but still below the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard.
- i. <u>Use of variants</u>: Spain has allowed the use of variants in the 2% of the procedures. This percentage is below the European average.

736 http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/text.jsp?file\_id=469891

737 Single Market Scoreboard

<sup>734</sup> http://formacio.eapc.gencat.cat/infoactivitats/AppJava/DetalleActividad.do?codi=10251&ambit=1&edicio=1&any=2017

<sup>735</sup> p. 123, 2° https://boe.es/buscar/pdf/2017/BOE-A-2017-12902-consolidado.pdf

j. <u>Preliminary Market Consultation</u>: Spain has used Preliminary Market Consultations in less than 1% of the procedures. This percentage is significantly below the European average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 31% which is above the European average of 23%. This is due to the effort done to reach satisfactory levels mainly in the first two sub-components of the sub-indicator I.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Spain shows the following evidence (according to the Single Market Scoreboard):

- k. **Level of competition**: The level of competition of the national public procurement market is 85% which is slightly above the European average 84% but still below the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This result is due to the fact that the percentage of procurements where a call for bid was used is below European average (92%) and the percentage of procurements with more than one bidder (77%) is slightly above European average but still below the satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.
- 1. **Level of transparency**: The level of transparency of the public procurement market accounts for 46% which is slightly above the European average 45% but still below the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This result is due to fact that two sub-indicators TED publication rate (2%) and amount of tenders without missing call for bids information (81%) are below European average whereas one sub-indicator amount of procurements without missing buyer registration numbers (55%) is above European average. All three indicators are however below the satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 65%, which corresponds to the European average but still below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 48% which is above the 44% European average. This score is explained firstly by the fact that the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country is above European average and the openness of the Spanish procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is exactly on the European average. Indeed, the country doing some effort to define a default IPR regime in public procurement and to increase the use of value for money criteria but not to a satisfactory level yet. In addition, although the national public procurement market shows slightly above European average levels of competition and transparency, they are also not at the satisfactory level yet.

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### Investment benchmarking (2018)

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Spanish investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Spanish investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, except when explicitly mentioned, due to the confidentiality of the data collection approach used.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 8,1% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e.  $\\ \\ 12,6 \\ \\ bn$ ), **Spain ranks 15**<sup>th</sup> in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>738</sup> across Europe. Spain falls within the group of **moderate performers**, slightly below the European average of 9,3%.<sup>739</sup> **A considerable increase of investments in PPI is still needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Spanish public sector.<sup>740</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Spain moves up to the 12<sup>th</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>741</sup> explaining Spain's moderate performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Spain (92%) is above the European average (84%). This is due to significant shares of 'significantly improved' solutions (65% of PPI) and innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (27% of PPI). The share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of **incremental innovations** (8%) - which includes the purchase of 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' as well as 'innovative combinations of existing solutions' – is below the European average (16%). Given its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>738</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found <u>here on the EU webpages</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>739</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

 $<sup>^{740}</sup>$  It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>741</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

overall moderate level of performance, Spain still needs to step up its efforts both on the adoption of transformative and incremental innovations in order to become a strong performer.

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. **Underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs** is therefore an important factor explaining why Spain is not yet at the level of PPI investment that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Every domain of public sector activity**<sup>742</sup> **in Spain purchased innovation solutions**. The shares of PPI investments by different public sector domains out of total PPI investments in the country are **largely in line with the European average** (in 7 out of 11 sectors). At the same time, the share of PPI investments by Spanish procurers in the **'Public transport**' domain is significantly above the European average (+26 pp), while the share of PPI investments by Spanish procurers in the **'Public order, safety and security**', **'Energy**' and **'Water**' domains falls short in comparison with the corresponding European averages (with respectively -8 pp, - 6pp and -4 pp).

Domain of public sector activity	Spain	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	36%	35%	+1
Public transport	36%	10%	+26
Healthcare and social services	21%	21%	0
Energy	0% (0,2%)	6%	-6
Environment	2%	3%	-1
Construction, housing and community amenities	1%	4%	-3
Education, recreation, culture and religion	2%	5%	-3
Water	0% (0,4%)	4%	-4
Public order, safety and security	0% (0,4%)	8%	-8
Postal services	0% (0,2%)	1%	-1
Other	1%	3%	-2
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>742</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

## **Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal** Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) in Spain (26%) is almost in line with the European average (29%). This indicates that Spanish procurers may be slightly more risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is slightly higher in Spain (74%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Spanish procurers may tend to be slightly more open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Spanish PPI investments for which call for tenders are published (35%), is above the European average (22%). Both the portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (26%) and the portion that is **published at national level** (9%) are above European average (respectively 18% and 5%). The share of PPI investments for which no call for tenders are published in TED or at national level is still large (65%).

Despite performing above the European average, by not publishing PPI call for tenders in the most cases, **Spain is missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Spanish and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Spanish PPI business opportunities.

#### Investments readiness across levels of public sector activity

#### PPI investments by level of public sector activity



43% of the total PPI investments in Spain is carried out by large-scale entities at **national level**, such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is slightly below the European average (47%).

Procurers at **regional level** account for a slightly smaller share of PPI investments (35%), but this time well above the European average (24%). Procurers at **local level** account for the smallest fraction of PPI (22%), below the European average (29%).

# Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

In terms of adoption of innovative solutions in the field of ICT (ICT-based PPI investment), Spain falls within the cluster of **low performers**. With  $\in$  0,4 bn or 2,7% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Spain ranks 16**<sup>th</sup> in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, below the European average (3,5%). Also in terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions (33%), Spain performs below the European average (3,8%). A considerable increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions is still needed to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Spain to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>743</sup>



The main factors<sup>744</sup> explaining Spain's low performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** in Spain (89%) is above the European average (79%), as a result of adoption of 'significantly improved solutions' (63%) and 'new to the market' solutions (26%). The share of investments in ICT-based solutions that is spent on the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations**<sup>745</sup> (11%) is below the European average (21%). Given the low performance on the total amount of investments in ICT-based innovative solutions, Spain still needs to step up considerably its efforts on the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.

#### ICT-based PPI investments by type of innovation



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>743</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI– or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>744</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>745</sup> See definitions above.

## Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



#### Investments readiness across different domains of public sector activity

All domains of public sector activity in Spain purchased innovative ICT-based solutions. In particular, the highest share of ICT-based PPI investments is made by Spanish procurers that operate in 'General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs' (47% against a European average of 16%). The largest gap from European average is instead in the share of ICT-based PPI investments made by Spanish procurers in 'Public order, safety, security and defence' (only the 1% against a European average of 19%).





<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>746</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>•</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

<sup>•</sup> Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 37% of ICT-based PPI investments, below the European average (69%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for the highest share of the ICT-based PPI investments at sub-national level (48%), more than double the European average (21%). **Local procurers** account for only a modest fraction of ICT-based PPI investments (15%), which is still above the European average (10%).

# Sweden

# ß

# 1. NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

# Governance and legal framework

In Sweden three fundamental acts govern public procurement, namely the Public Procurement Act (SFS 2016:1145), the Utilities Procurement Act (SFS 2016:1146) and the Concessions Procurement Act (SFS 2016:1147). The first act is applicable to the public sector while the second act regulates the utility sectors of water, transport, energy and postal services. Eventually, the Concessions Procurement Act is applicable to work and service concessions. These acts transpose the EU Directives 2014/23/EU, 014/24/EU and 2014/25/EU into national legislation. Law (2011: 1029) on defence and security procurement transposed the EU directive 2009/81/EC.

The field of public procurement in Sweden is fostered by the **National Public Procurement Strategy**, adopted by the Government in 2016, which gives an important role to "*Public procurement that enhances innovations and alternative solutions*" (Regeringskansliet 2016).

The key actors in the Swedish innovation procurement framework are the national **Government** and **Agency for Public Procurement** (Upphandlingsmyndigheten, UHM). The first leads the political commitment while the second is the national competence centre for innovation procurement and is responsible for the implementation of the procurement strategy at national level.

The UHM cooperates with **Vinnova**<sup>747</sup>, i.e. the Swedish Innovation Agency, and **Kammarkollegiet**, i.e. the national purchasing body, through agreements and action plans. Vinnova provides financial support for the implementation of innovation procurement projects. In addition, together with the **Swedish Association of local Authorities and Regions (SALAR)**, UHM and Vinnova foster innovation procurement at local level by financing and stimulating purchasing groups of local and regional authorities. Kammarkollegiet supports innovation procurement through framework agreements for national, regional and local authorities. However, while national authorities are obliged to use the national purchasing body, regional and local authorities can use it on a voluntary basis.

## Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)

In the benchmarking of the national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Sweden is at the 5<sup>th</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 40,9%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Sweden is among the group of good performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. Having implemented 40,9% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is however still a significant reinforcement of the policy framework needed in Sweden to reach its full 100% potential.



**Strengths**: Sweden has clear political commitment for innovation procurement, a national competence centre that is particularly active in increasing innovation procurement know-how among procurers through capacity building and assistance measures and financial incentives for public procurers to engage in more innovation procurements

Weaknesses: Sweden lacks an action plan, spending target and a centralised monitoring system to mainstream innovation procurement widely across all sectors and across all levels of public procuring entities in the country. Lack of IPR policy in public procurement that encourages innovation.

<sup>747</sup> https://www.vinnova.se/en



The Swedish public procurement legislation provides an official definition for R&D procurement, which is applicable to the defence and security sector, but no definitions for innovation, innovation procurement, Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) or Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI). Some definitions are available in guidance documents: The National agency for Public procurement provides definitions of innovation procurement and PPI which are only partially in line with the EU definition. The guide published by Vinnova on Pre-commercial procurement provides a definition of PCP which is in line with the EU definition and applicable country wide. Therefore, the total score of this indicator is 53%.

The Swedish legal tradition builds on a limited number of laws, complemented by official legal discussion papers. These are known as "förarbeten" (legislative history) and are used by courts to interpret national legislation. In the area of procurement law, the legislative history outlines that "the definition (of **innovation**) has not been incorporated into the new public procurement laws, since the definition [...] does not contribute to any actual clarification of the term in relation to normal language use [...] What is covered by the term cannot be determined with any precision". As the legal framework does not provide any legally binding definition of innovation or innovation procurement, the total score of this indicator is 0%.

The Swedish National Agency for Public Procurement (together with Vinnova and local public authorities) uses a definition of **innovation procurement** that consists of three levels, "depending partly on how active a contracting authority or entity is regarding obtaining new solutions, and partly on the purpose of the purchase":

- The first level is the "developmental procurement stage", in which the contracting authority is open to procuring an innovative solution without explicitly requiring innovation.
- During the second level i.e. procurement of new solutions, the contracting authority acts as a reference customer or first customer of innovative solutions.
- In the third level, i.e. acquisition of research and development, the contracting authority obtains development or research services with the aim of arriving at new solutions.

However, this definition is not in line with the EU definition: it is wider than the EU definition, without a clear boundary that indicates where innovation procurement stops.

For non-defence procurers, the Public procurement act identifies in Chapter 1, section V, R&D as "activities that have the CPV codes for fundamental research, applied research and industrial development" which are in line with the R&D CPV codes of the EU public procurement directives. A full definition of **R&D** is only provided in the Law (2011: 1029) on defence and security procurement in chapter 2, point 9: "activities involving basic research, applied research and experimental development." This definition is only applicable in the defence sector (i.e. not countrywide) but is in line with the EU definition, therefore the total score of this sub-indicator is 90%.

Chapter 2, point 9 also transposes the exclusion for R&D services, which forms the legal basis for implementing **Pre-Commercial Procurement**: "the law only applies to R&D services procurements following the cumulative conditions of "(a) products belong exclusively to the contracting authority for its own use at pursuing its activity; and (b) the service is wholly remunerated by the contracting authority". A precise definition of PCP is provided by the Guide on Pre-commercial procurement published by Vinnova.<sup>748</sup> This definition is applicable to all public procurers in the country and in line with the EU definition. Therefore, the total score of the sub-indicator PCP is 70%.

In national public procurement legislation there is no definition of **PPI**, but the legislation enables procurers to implement PPI by allowing contract award and monitoring performance based on innovative solution characteristics. These provisions are applicable to all public procurers in the country and in line with the provisions in the EU public procurement directives. Therefore, the total score of the indicator is 50%. The guide published by Agency for Public Procurement (Upphandlingsmyndigheten, UHM) provides a definition of PPI which is applicable to all public procurers in the Country but is not in line with the EU official definition.



Four out of seven horizontal policies recognise innovation procurement as a strategic objective in the country. The total score of the indicator is therefore 57%.

The **National Public Procurement Strategy** (Regeringskansliet 2016)<sup>749</sup>, adopted by the Swedish Government in June 2016, gives guidance on a variety of innovation procurement aspects to suppliers and to national, regional and local public institutions. Since regional and local levels of government are independent, the Strategy is mostly directed to governmental agencies. One of the seven objectives identified in the Strategy is *"public procurement that enhances innovations and alternative solutions"*. Furthermore, the Strategy highlights the importance of functional specifications in the call for tenders, stating that *"setting criteria by function rather than setting specific criteria for goods and services stimulates creativity and innovative capacity on the part of potential suppliers"*. The Strategy is also used as a guideline by other public institutions and entities, such as the Ministries and national agencies, working on different aspects of innovation procurement according to their own objectives.

In the field of entrepreneurship policy, the **Smart Industry Strategy**<sup>750</sup> lists "*increasing the use of innovation-friendly procurement practices*" among the best practices to be implemented to achieve its overall objectives.

The **Swedish national research and innovation strategy**<sup>751</sup> recognises the strategic importance of innovation procurement within one of its three core objectives: "2. *Innovation in public services and the public sector generating demand for innovation. This concerns first of all the capability of public services to be innovative. Secondly, it is about the public sector contributing to the demand for innovation in society at large. This includes setting political goals, influencing the formulation of standards, designing procurement processes so that they are open for new solutions, carrying out innovation procurements or designing processes for social planning in ways that promote new solutions."* 

<sup>748</sup> See page 5 of https://www.vinnova.se/contentassets/6dd6aab4aa7e4aa99bc677420a21cf74/vr 13 09.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>749</sup> http://www.upphandlingsmyndigheten.se/globalassets/english/procurement/national\_public\_procurement\_strategy\_english\_web. pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>750</sup> http://www.government.se/498615/contentassets/3be3b6421c034b038dae4a7ad75f2f54/nist\_statsformat\_160420\_eng\_webb.pdf

Indicator 3 – ICT policies				
Total score	100%	European Average	47%	

In the field of ICT, the **Digital Strategy for sustainable digital transformation in Sweden**<sup>752</sup> refers to innovation procurement as one of the tools that public authorities should use to drive the sustainable digital transformation of the country. "Public procurement should be used to a greater extent as a proactive tool for promoting the development, use and implementation of digitally driven innovations. Innovation procurement and innovation partnerships are important tools as well as the conscious use of open source solutions, standards and test beds. Even project competitions can be an important tool for stimulating increased development of digitally driven innovations."

#### Indicator 4 – Sectorial policies Total score 30% European Average 14% Education, recreation, culture and religion Postal sector Public order, safety, security and defence.. Water sector Environment sector Energy sector Construction sector General public services Public transport Healthcare and social services 0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Overall, sectoral policies in Sweden are not always build on strategies but rather on a continuous consensus of stakeholder groups that work and collaborate in ad-hoc forums such as the Governments Cooperation Program. For example, the group that deals with **transportation of the future** has recognized innovation procurement as one of the four key priorities.<sup>753</sup> However, a number of sectoral policy frameworks explicitly recognize innovation procurement as a strategic priority, like the Transport, Environmental and Energy policies. Therefore, the score of the indicator is 30%.

The **Swedish Energy Agency** has worked for several decades to accelerate public and private demand for innovative energy and efficient products. One activity is to finance pre-procurement purchasing groups containing both public and private purchasers. At present, the Swedish Energy Agency operates six Swedish groups and one international network. The purpose of the groups is to create a platform where state, business and academia together can develop energy efficient methods<sup>754</sup>, create good examples<sup>755</sup> and make demonstrations as well as correct market barriers.

In the area of public transport, the **Swedish Transport Administration** recognizes innovation procurement as a tool increase the efficiency and long-term sustainability of the Swedish transport system<sup>756</sup>.

Indicator 5 – Action plan					
Total score	0%	European Average	8%		
Swadan door not have a stand along Action Dian for innervation programment					

Sweden does not have a stand-alone Action Plan for innovation procurement.

Indicator 6 – Spending target					
Total score	0%	European Average	11%		

In Sweden there is no specific spending target for innovation procurement.

According to national experts, this is due to the difficulty in enforcing a target among Swedish municipalities and county councils (where the bulk of the public procurement takes place), and to statistical problems with following up a target.

<sup>752</sup> https://www.regeringen.se/49adea/contentassets/5429e024be6847fc907b786ab954228f/digitaliseringsstrategin\_slutlig\_170518-2.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>753</sup> http://www.regeringen.se/regeringens-politik/regeringens-strategiska-samverkansprogram/nasta-generations-resor-ochtransporter

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>754</sup> https://ninesights.ninesigma.com/servlet/hype/IMT?userAction=Browse&documentId=65945f75bd7201dd6ce2875135726d04& templateName=&documentTableId=1008809492095621163

<sup>755</sup> http://www.energimyndigheten.se/en/news/2010/sek-62-million-for-technology-purchases-of-electrical-vehicles/

<sup>756</sup> https://www.trafikverket.se/contentassets/ef3ea233caed4aa7b3c3987f4e632a6c/camilla-ahston-international-strategist-3-dec.pdf

Indicator 7 – Monitori	ng system		
Total score	0%	European Average	13%

Sweden does not have a structured system to measure innovation procurement expenditure and to evaluate the impacts of completed innovation procurements.

The absence of a measurement system is partly due to the absence of a national procurement register.

However, the country is planning to prepare **case studies** that aim to measures results, outcomes and impacts of individual innovation procurement initiatives. The baseline measurement is drafted thanks to surveys and in-depth interviews with procurers and decision makers. A statistical report is annually edited in cooperation with the Swedish Competition Authority.<sup>757</sup>



Sweden has set up **financial incentives**, in the form of grants, to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements. These Incentives are for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), applicable to all public procurers in all sectors and levels of government. The financial incentives are available both for procurements that are not co-financed from EU funds and can top also funding for procurements that are eligible for EU co-financing. However, the country has not mobilised specific ESIF funds for innovation procurement. The total score of the sub-indicator "financial incentives" is therefore is 86%.

In particular, since 2011, Vinnova has financed innovation procurement under different programs and with a different coverage. Contracting authorities which are interested in more advanced forms of innovation procurement can apply for financial support from **Vinnova**. Today, there is specific programme called "**Innovation procurement**<sup>758</sup>" that is designed to finance strategic investments and applications, by invitation only. The amount invested in innovation procurement has varied during the years, but it has accounted for approximately 1 million euro per year in average. Among the financed projects are PCPs, PPIs and financial support for coordination activities, pre-studies and procurements in pre-procurement purchasing groups.

In the R&D field, the Swedish Competition Authority (Konkurrensverket), together with the Council for Research works to stimulate research within public procurement and to contribute towards the qualitative and quantitative development of innovation procurement. To this aim the two authorities provide funding for research projects and seminars.<sup>759</sup>

The **Swedish Energy Agency**<sup>760</sup> also finances and facilitates pre-procurement purchasing groups with common needs within specific areas in order to achieve energy efficiency. Similar actions have been adopted by other public entities as well, for instance by the Swedish Association of Local and Regional Authorities (SALAR) and by the Environmental Agency.

In the field of **personal incentives**, there is a **national innovation procurement prize** for procurers awarded at the national day of the public procurer in Sweden. <sup>761</sup> The total score of this sub-indicator is 0%.

Therefore, the total score for the indicator "incentives" is 43%.

findicator 9 – Capacity bunding and assistance measures								
Total score	81%	1		European A	verage	249	6	
	Existence	Connection with relevant international / EU initiatives	Free of charge	Covering all types and aspects of innovation procurement	Available and applicable to a public procurers the country	l ll s in	Mainstreaming Innovation procurement at a large scale	Sub- total score
Central website	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	83%
Good practices	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	100%
Trainings/workshops	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	100%

## Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures

<sup>757</sup> http://www.konkurrensverket.se/en/publications-and-decisions/annual-report-2016/

<sup>758</sup> https://www.vinnova.se/e/fron-for-okad-innovation-i-offentligt-2015-00082/fron-fortsattning/;

https://rio.jrc.ec.europa.eu/en/file/11725/download?token=ilnOPq2O

<sup>759</sup> http://www.konkurrensverket.se/en/research/apply-research-grant/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>760</sup> http://www.energimyndigheten.se/en/

<sup>761</sup> http://www.konkurrensverket.se/en/news/the-swedish-competition-authority-and-vinnova-collaborate-on-innovation-procurement

Handbooks/guidelines	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	100%
Assistance to public procurers	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	67%
Template tender documents							0%
Coordination / pre- approval	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		83%
Networking of public procurers	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	100%
One-stop-shop/ competence centre	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	100%

Capacity building and assistance measures in innovation procurement are coordinated by the Swedish national competence centre for innovation procurement, the **National Agency for Public Procurement** - *Upphandlingsmyndigheten*).

It has a **central website**<sup>762</sup> that provides an overview of available capacity building measures for all types of innovation procurement. The Agency offers itself knowledge and experience sharing services (trainings for procurers, collecting and disseminating **guidelines** and **good practices case studies**<sup>763</sup>, providing networking opportunities for suppliers and procurers, offering information and awareness events for all stakeholders – e.g. procurers, suppliers, policy makers, and professional procurement agencies). The agency organises a wide range of regular in-depth **trainings and workshops** on different aspects related to innovation procurement<sup>764</sup>. There is a specific guide on Pre-commercial procurement published by Vinnova.<sup>765</sup> The scores for sub-indicators central website is 83% as the links to some EU level activities are missing. The score for good practices, trainings and guidelines is 100%.

The Agency also offers methodological support to specific innovation procurement projects. The support focuses mostly on identifying and analysing needs and facilitating early dialogues with the market, but support can also be given in later stages as well although individual case specific **assistance** in drawing up procurement documents is not provided. The score for sub-indicator assistance is therefore 67%.

The Agency also enhances innovation procurement by giving support to "**pre-procurement purchasing groups**" to be formed by contracting authorities at national, regional and local level that have similar needs for innovative solutions (i.e. bundling of demand). The support given to pre-procurement purchasing groups facilitates open market consultations especially when there are several buyers with similar needs.

The Agency also cooperates with the national purchasing body Kammarkollegiet and other large procurers that can buy on behalf of others (e.g. associations of municipalities, the Swedish Energy Agency) to **network procurers** so to explore opportunities to achieve large scale multiplier effects with innovation procurements. In 2011 the Nordic Ministers of Industry launched together a "Nordic lighthouse initiative in the healthcare domain" to strengthen collaboration between Norway, Finland, Sweden, Denmark and Iceland on innovation procurement. Nordic innovation and the national competence centres on innovation procurement in those countries are regularly organising meetings with procurers from all their countries to discuss potential coordinated procurement possibilities. The score for the networking sub-indicator is thus 100%.

UHM has an agreement and an action plan with Vinnova. The two agencies cooperate in some of these aforementioned activities. Vinnova also offers funding for development projects related to procurement and supports the processes for needs identification in the public sector. In addition, the agency provides information on EU funding opportunities for the public sector on innovation procurement.

At regional level, the Swedish Association of local Authorities and Regions (SALAR) performs activities to encourage innovation procurement among its members. The focus is mostly in information activities, as well as organising and facilitating pre-procurement purchasing groups, sometimes part-financed by Vinnova.

The national energy agency **coordinates** cooperative procurements between groups of small local public procurers to create enough market pull for suppliers to bring innovative solutions to the market. The agency collects the needs of the local authorities, defines the tender specs, helps those procurers organise preliminary market consultations, tests and certifies resulting solutions against achieved energy efficiency levels/labels and issues framework contracts from which local authorities can buy. The coordination work done by the energy agency has already led to large scale procurement/market effects. However, this type of coordination is not done yet in all other sectors. The score for sub-indicator coordination is 83%.

UHM, the Swedish national competence centre for innovation procurement, is participating in the EU-funded project *"Procure2Innovate - European network of competence centres for innovation procurement"*, started in January 2018, aimed to set a collaboration and interchange between competence centres in different EU countries.

https://www.upphandlingsmyndigheten.se/en/subject-areas/innovation-procurement/ (short summary in English)

<sup>763</sup> https://www.upphandlingsmyndigheten.se/omraden/dialog-och-innovation/innovation-i-upphandling/exempel-innovation/ (in Swedish) and https://www.upphandlingsmyndigheten.se/omraden/dialog-och-innovation/funktion/exempel-funktion/ (in Swedish) <sup>764</sup> https://www.upphandlingsmyndigheten.se/sokresultat/?query=utbildning&page=1 (in Swedish)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>762</sup> <u>https://www.upphandlingsmyndigheten.se/omraden/dialog-och-innovation/innovation-i-upphandling/</u> (in Swedish)

<sup>765</sup> See page 5 of https://www.vinnova.se/contentassets/6dd6aab4aa7e4aa99bc677420a21cf74/vr 13 09.pdf

Based on the evidence above, Sweden provides eight out of nine capacity building measures, i.e. trainings and workshops, good practices reports, handbooks and guidelines, networking, coordination, one-stop-shop and assistance to procurers in preparing and implementing innovation procurements and obtaining approval for starting innovation procurement. Assistance to public procurers does not cover case specific assistance and the relevant EU and international (WTO) framework for innovation procurement. Template tender documents are also not provided. Therefore, the total score of the indicator is 81%.



This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of Innovation procurement. It is composed by two sub-indicators measuring:

- I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in Sweden
- II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

For what regards sub-indicator I, Sweden shows the following evidence:

- IPR default regime: The score for this sub-indicator is 25%, which is below the European average of 38%, a. because there is no default scenario for the distribution of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers in Sweden. The Swedish law on public procurement does require the public procurer to specify the distribution of IPR rights and obligations in the tender documents but the Swedish law, general terms and conditions for government contracts and guidelines for all public procurements do not define how IPR allocation is best dealt with in public procurement. It is left to the individual responsibility of each Swedish procurer to specify clearly the IPR allocation for the procurement in its tender documents so that it stimulates innovation and is compliant with applicable IPR/copyright law. Swedish copyright law determines that the innovator owns the copyright if not otherwise agreed between procurer and supplier. Copyright may be transferred entirely or partially (e.g. via a public procurement agreement) subject to some limitations (removing name of author is only allowed for uses which are limited in the character and scope; the creator's right to remuneration cannot be transferred). Anyone who has acquired the right to use a computer program is entitled to make such copies of the program and to make such adaptations of the program which are necessary in order for him to use the program for its intended purpose. Copyright includes any literary, scientific and artistic work including computer programs. The national guidance document on PCP clarify that in PCPs, IPR ownership remains with the contractor and the procurer obtains license free rights to use and license.
- b. **Use of value for money award criteria**: According to the EU single market scoreboard, only 26% of the procedures were awarded on criteria that are not based only on the lowest price. This is significantly below the European average of 42% and far below the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard. Sweden still needs to tackle the structural over-reliance on lowest price only award criteria.
- c. **Use of variants**: Sweden has allowed the use of variants in less than 1% of the procedures (0,6%). This percentage is well below the European average.
- d. **Preliminary Market Consultations:** Czech Republic has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 6% of the procedures. This percentage is significantly below the European average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 15% which is below the European average of 23%. This is mainly due to the below average performance on the use of value for money award criteria and on adopting an IPR default regime that fosters innovation.

With regard to sub-indicator II, Sweden shows the following evidence (based on the Single Market Scoreboard):

e. **Level of competition**: The level of competition of the national public procurement market is 95% which is above the European average 84% and reaching the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. Both sub-indicators are above the European average: the percentage of procurement procedure awarded without a call for tender (0%) and the percentage of procurements with more than one bidder (89%).

f. **Level of transparency**: The level of transparency of the public procurement market is 58% which is above the European average 45% but below the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. All sub-indicators are above the European average but below the satisfactory level: the TED publication rate (5%), the proportion of contracts awarded without missing information about the call for bids (93%) and without missing buyer registration numbers (77%).

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 76% which is above the European average of 65% but still below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly due to the transparency level.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 45%, which is slightly above the 44% European average This score is mainly due to a good performance in the sub-indicator II which offset the below European average valued of in the sub-indicator I. It is explained firstly by the fact that, although the openness of the Swedish public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is above the European average, the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country is below European average. Indeed, the country has not yet adopted a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation and value for money criteria are still underused in public procurements. In addition, although the national public procurement market shows above average level of competition and transparency, transparency is not at the satisfactory level yet defined by the EU single market scoreboard.

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### Investment benchmarking (2018)

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Swedish investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of all Swedish investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 10,3% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e.  $\in 8,5$  bn), **Sweden ranks** 7<sup>th</sup> in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>766</sup> across Europe. Sweden falls within the group of **good performers**, slightly above the European average of 9,3%.<sup>767</sup> A significant increase of investments in PPI is still needed to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Swedish public sector.<sup>768</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Sweden moves up to the 2<sup>nd</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>769</sup> explaining Sweden's good performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of **incremental innovations** (73%) is **significantly above the European average** (16%). Especially the adoption of 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' is high (71%), whereas the share of 'innovative combinations of existing solutions' (2%) is much smaller. The share of PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Sweden (27%) is considerably below the European average (84%). The adoption of both 'significantly improved' solutions (23%) and innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' is low (4%). As investments in transformative innovations are considerably higher among the strong performers, working on improving this point could be a cornerstone element for Sweden to move up from good to strong performer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>766</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found <u>here on the EU webpages.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>767</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

 $<sup>^{768}</sup>$  It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve).  $^{769}$  The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. Despite Sweden is among the strong performers in the adoption of innovative ICTs, **additional investments in the adoption of innovative ICTs would help** in achieving a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Nearly every domain of public sector activity**<sup>770</sup> **in Sweden purchased innovative solutions**, except the '**Postal services**' domain where PPI investments were zero. The shares of PPI investments by different public sector domains out of total PPI investments in the country are **mostly in line with the European averages**. At the same time, there are two domains with noticeable deviations from the EU average: The share of PPI investments by Swedish procurers in the '**Healthcare and social services**' (1%) domain was significantly below the European average (21%) and the share of PPI investments by procurers in '**Public order, safety and security**' (52%) was significantly above the European average (8%). The share of PPI investments in '**Water**' was very small (0,1%).

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

Domain of public sector activity	Sweden	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	30%	35%	-5
Public transport	8%	10%	-2
Healthcare and social services	1%	21%	-20
Energy	2%	6%	-4
Environment	1%	3%	-2
Construction, housing and community amenities	1%	4%	-3
Education, recreation, culture and religion	3%	5%	-2
Water	0% (0,1%)	4%	-4
Public order, safety and security	52%	8%	+44
Postal services	0%	1%	-1
Other	1%	3%	-2
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>770</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

# **Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal** Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is significantly higher in Sweden (70%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Swedish procurers may be less risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is lower in Sweden (30%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that Swedish procurers may tend to be less open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

#### Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Swedish PPI investments for which call for tenders are published is low (18%) and also below the European average (22%). Both the portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (17%) and the portion that is **published at national level** (1%) are below European average (respectively 18% and 5%). The share of PPI investments for which no call for tenders is published in TED or at national level is very large (82%).

By not publishing PPI widely, **Sweden is missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Swedish and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Swedish PPI business opportunities.

# **Investment readiness across different levels of public sector activity** PPI investments by level of public sector activity



The lion's share of the total PPI investments in Sweden is carried out by **large-scale entities at national level** (80%), such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is significantly above the European average (47%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for a considerably smaller amount of share of PPI investments (8%), and below the European average (24%). **Procurers at local level** account for a higher fraction of PPI investments (12%), yet still below the European average (29%). This may indicate that especially procurers at subnational level could still improve their performance on adopting innovations.

# Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The Swedish public sector shows a **strong level of performance** in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment). With  $\bigcirc$  0,7 bn or 6,7% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Sweden ranks 3<sup>rd</sup>** in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, well above the European average (3,5%). In terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions (66%), Sweden not only performs better than the European average (38%), but it even outperforms already the ambition level (60%). Consequently, Sweden is not far away from reaching the ambition of investing 10% of public procurement in ICT-based innovations and only **needs a modest increase in ICT-based PPI investment** in order to enable Sweden to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>771</sup>



The **main factors**<sup>772</sup> explaining Sweden's strong performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

12%

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations**<sup>773</sup> (90%) is significantly above the European average (21%). The share of ICT-based PPI investment that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** (10%) is considerably below the European average (79%). The adoption of both innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' and 'significantly improved' solutions is very low (respectively 4% and 6%). As investments of leading countries in transformative ICT-based innovations are considerably higher, working on this point could be a cornerstone element for Sweden to improve its performance.

<sup>772</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>773</sup> See definitions above.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>771</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI – or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).



#### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



Sweden invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the **'ICT Plus' sub-sector**<sup>774</sup> (87%), well above the European average (44%)

Sweden invested to a lesser extent in the adoption of innovations from the so-called **'Core ICT' sub-sector** (12%), which is much lower than the European average (54%).

The share of investments spent on adopting innovations from the **'Content & Media' sub-sector** was small (1%), in line with the European average (1%).

#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Nearly every domain of public sector activity in Sweden purchased innovative ICT-based solutions**, except the '**Postal services**' domain where ICT-based PPI investments were zero. The highest share of ICT-based PPI investments was carried out by procurers that operate in the domain of '**Public order, safety and security**' (80% against a 19% European average). ICT-based PPI investments by procurers in the '**General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs**' domain (11%) were significantly below the European average (16%). The shares of ICT-based PPI investments made by procurers in the categories '**Energy'**, '**Environment**', '**Construction, housing and community amenities**' and '**Others**' were very small.

ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>774</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>·</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

<sup>•</sup> Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.



#### Investment readiness across different levels of public sector activity

ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 97% of ICT-based PPI investments, therefore representing almost the totality of PPI investments, well above the European average (69%).

The sub-national level accounts for a quite marginal share of the ICT-based PPI investments, with **procurers at the regional level** accounting for 2% of PPI investments and **procurers at the national level** for 1% of PPI investments, therefore considerably below the European average (21% and 10% respectively). This may indicate that especially procurers at subnational level could still improve their performance on adopting ICT-based innovations.

# Switzerland

#### 1. NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### **Governance and legal framework**

In Switzerland, public procurement is regulated by a complex regulatory framework, involving both federal, cantonal and local legislation. At federal level, public procurement is regulated by the Federal Act on Public Procurement of 16 December 1994 (SR 172.056.1) (FAPP) and the corresponding Ordinance on Public Procurement (SR 172.056.11) (OPP). The legislative framework is complemented by the legislation regulating internal market and cartels.

At national level, the key actor in the field of public procurement is the **Federal Competition Commission** which is responsible for the enforcement of the legislation. At cantonal level, public procurement legislation is enforced by the **Cantonal Administrative Courts.** Cantonal legislation is harmonised by the Inter-cantonal Agreement on Public Procurement (IAPP).

Since 2013, the **Ministry of Economy** has the main responsibility of innovation, research and higher-education policies. In particular, the research and higher education policies are responsibility of the *State Secretariat for Education, Research and Innovation* (SERI). The SERI is in charge of the overall planning and coordination of the Swiss R&I policy, provides funding to the main national funding agency, i.e. the Swiss National Science Foundation, and co-funding of cantonal universities. In addition, it provides co-funding for a number of national programmes and manages the Swiss participation in international funding agencies and research organizations, including the EU Framework Programs.

#### Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)

In the benchmarking of the national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **Switzerland is at the 30<sup>th</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 5,3%**. From the 30 countries analysed, Switzerland is among the group of low performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. The country's performance is below European average on all 9 indicators taken into account. Having implemented only 5,3% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is still a very strong reinforcement of the policy framework needed in Switzerland to reach its full 100% potential.

While Switzerland frequently takes the top spots of innovation rankings, in the present policy benchmarking it did not go above the bottom rung. It should be noted, however, that the Swiss final score is only limitedly comparable with other countries, due to the fact that not all sub-indicators were available and that contributions by national counterparts to the study were extremely limited, since it was preferred to participate in similar initiatives conducted at international level.



**Strengths**: A strong R&D&I system that supports innovation in the public sector even without a specific support to innovation procurement. A default IPR allocation regime for R&D procurements that fosters innovation which can serve as a model for all public procurements

Weaknesses: Absence of a policy framework for innovation procurement to mainstream it widely across all sectors and all levels of public procurement entities in the country (no action plan, target, financial incentives for procurers, monitoring system).



Note: \*The total score for Switzerland was calculated taking into account all the indicators except for Innovation friendly public procurement market. This is due to the lack of data from the EU Single Market Scoreboard.





In Switzerland, the public procurement legal framework provides a definition of R&D which is applicable only to the federal government but is not in line with the EU official definition. The national legislation does not have official definitions for Innovation procurement, Pre-commercial procurement (PCP) but it only provides the legal basis for the implementation of Pre-commercial procurement (PCP) and Procurement of innovative solutions (PPI). Therefore, the overall result of this indicator is 38%.

The national public procurement legal framework or guidelines does not provide a definition of innovation or **innovation procurement**. Therefore, the score for sub-indicator innovation procurement is 0%.

The "General Terms and Conditions of the Federal Government for Research Contracts (GTC for Research Contracts)" defines **R&D** as "Research performances" means technical or scientific activities which as a rule are for the purpose of the targeted search for and achievement of, but also the intellectual-creative evaluation of, new findings in a specific specialized field, where applicable coordinated across several specialized fields or relating to a specific object (e.g. product, method). Research performances may include any type of research and development performances, so that research contracts may in particular al-so refer to areas of basic research and applied research". This definition of R&D is applicable only to the federal government and not so clear about the boundary where development stops. Therefore, the total score of this sub-indicator is 80%.

In the field of Pre-commercial procurement, Art. 13 of the *Ordinance on Public Procurement (SR 172.056.11)* defines the exclusion for R&D services, which forms the legal basis for implementing in **PCP**. This provision is applicable to all public procurers in the country. However, as there is no official definition of PCP in Switzerland, the total score of the sub-indicator PCP is 35%.

Article 27 of the Ordinance on Public Procurement provides the legal basis for the implementation of **PPI**. According to this article, contracting authorities may also use "*sustainability, innovation content, functionality, service readiness, expertise, efficiency of the methodology, and costs to be expected throughout the lifetime*" in addition to the usual award criteria. As there is no official definition of PPI in Switzerland the total score for this sub-indicator PPI is 35%.

Indicator 2 – Horizontal policies			
Total score	0%	European Average	36%

Switzerland does not have horizontal policies aiming at promoting innovation procurement practices.

Indicator 3 – ICT policies			
Total score	0%	European Average	47%

Switzerland does not have ICT policies aiming at promoting innovation procurement practices. The **Digital Switzerland strategy**<sup>775</sup> does not mention innovation procurement or public procurement as driver for innovation

Indicator 4 – Sectorial J	policies		
Total score	10%	European Average	14%

<sup>775</sup>https://www.bakom.admin.ch/bakom/en/homepage/digital-switzerland-and-internet/strategie-digitale-schweiz/strategy.html



In Switzerland, innovation procurement is not explicitly recognised as a strategic objective or tool in any sectorial policy framework or action plan with the exception of the **postal sector**. As a result, the overall score of this indicator is 10%.

The **procurement strategy 2017-2020 of the Swiss Post**<sup>776</sup> aims at making the organization a "discoverer of innovations". It encourages the evaluation of potential suppliers according to a wide range of criteria which include quality, price, product/performance, risks, potential for innovation and performance, ecological aspects and opportunities for electronic communication.<sup>777</sup>

Despite the absence of a strategic framework, innovation procurement is promoted through a number of initiatives that could support its use among public procurers. In particular, it is worth mentioning the framework related to green public procurement (GPP) and sustainable public procurement (SPP). The **Sustainable Development Strategy 2016-2019**<sup>778</sup> specifies that in the public procurement of goods (products, services, construction) the Confederation should satisfy high economic, environmental and social requirements, by purchasing products and constructing buildings that are economical, environmentally compatible and healthy and are produced or built by means that are as socially responsible as possible. With regard to SPP, the Federal Department of Finance FDF of the Swiss Federal Procurement Commission FPC has published in 2015 the **Recommendations on sustainable procurement** practices for the Confederation's purchasing units, *which provide guidance on how to address ecological and social aspects in a procurement process, without losing sight of the objective of economic efficiency.*<sup>779</sup>

Indicator 5 – Action plan			
Total score	0%	European Average	8%

Switzerland does not have a dedicated action plan on innovation procurement.

Indicator 6 – Spending	target		
Total score	0%	European Average	11%

In Switzerland there is no spending target for innovation procurement.

Indicator 7 – Monitoring system			
Total score	0%	European Average	13%

Switzerland does not have a structured system for measuring innovation procurement expenditure and evaluating the impacts of completed innovation procurements. However, there is a basis to establish a monitoring system for innovation procurement in the future because a monitoring system of public procurement is in place. In 2013 a national level scheme to monitor the sustainability of public procurement was launched.

Indicator 8 – Incentives	5		
Total score	0%	European Average	22%

Switzerland does not have a structured incentive system – financial or personal incentives - to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>776</sup> Swiss Post, a public Company owned by the Swiss Confederation, is the national postal service of the country.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>777</sup>https://www.post.ch/fr/entreprises/index-thematique/organisation-des-achats/politique-des-achats?query=achat+public <sup>778</sup>https://www.are.admin.ch/are/en/home/media-and-publications/publications/sustainable-development/strategie-nachhaltige-

entwicklung-2016---2019.html <sup>779</sup> https://www.bkb.admin.ch/dam/bkb/de/dokumente/Oeffentliches\_Beschaffungswesen/Nachhaltige\_Beschaffung/nachhaltige\_bes chaffung\_e.pdf.download.pdf/Recommendations%20for%20sustainable%20Procurement.pdf

Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures			
Total score	0%	European Average	24%

Switzerland does not implement capacity building and assistance activities in the field of innovation procurement. Switzerland is currently planning to set up a national platform for sustainable public procurement. The aim of this platform is to promote sustainable public procurement and ensure that information is shared between the Confederation, the cantons and the municipalities.

Indicator 10 – Innovation friendly public procurement market			
Total score	n/a <sup>780</sup>	European Average	44%

Information to populate this indicator is partially missing, except for the following sub-indicators:

- **<u>IPR default regime</u>**: The score for this sub-indicator is 75% because the Swiss public procurement law does not a. define a default allocation of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers but the 2010 Swiss general conditions of the federal government for research contracts<sup>781</sup> (also applicable to R&D procurement contracts) defines that IPR ownership rights remain with the inventor of the idea. Derogation from the default scenario is possible if explicitly specified in the procurement contract, but the general conditions warn procurers for the additional costs of acquiring exclusive ownership of IPR rights. The general conditions state that all aspects of IPR management (filing, control, sales, usage, method used to valorise the IPRs and payment of IPR related costs) have to be clearly specified in the public procurement contract. It also explains that the public procurer can object to the publication/ commercialisation of results by the contractor if there are "overriding public interests" which occur when: the results contain military secrets, the confidentiality of results is essential to maintain order and public safety (to avoid panic movements, etc.), the results undermine national security or binding legal provisions prohibit the publication of results. It is also important that the procurer specifies all IPR provisions in his tender documents in compliance with applicable IPR/copyright law. The Swiss copyright act<sup>782</sup> determines that the moral rights belongs in an inalienable way to the creator, the economic rights can be assigned by the creator to another person. Therefore, in the case of a commissioned work, like in a public tender, the public procurer does not automatically obtain the right to use the copyright linked to the commissioned work unless the tender documents required economic rights to be allocated to the procurer. Copyright law protects also scientific work, software and database rights.
- b. <u>Use of variants</u>: Switzerland has allowed the use of variants in approximately 29% of the procedures. This percentage is well above the European average.
- c. <u>Preliminary Market Consultations</u>: Switzerland has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 21% of the procedures. This percentage is significantly above the European average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 49%, which is significantly above the European average of 23%.

## 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

**Investment benchmarking (2018)** 

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Swiss investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Swiss investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 11,5% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e. € 8 bn), **Switzerland ranks 4<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions

<sup>7&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Due to lack of data from the EU single market scoreboard for Switzerland, this indicator is currently not taken into account in the ranking for Switzerland. In 2019, the study will attempt to extract information about the different sub-indicators in Switzerland from the quantitative dimension of the study.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>781</sup> A possible improvement for Switzerland could be to include the same IPR default scenario defined in these general conditions for R&D contracts also in the general conditions for other type of public contracts, because nowadays innovation and IPR creation can happen in any contract, not only in R&D contracts. See: <a href="https://www.bkb.admin.ch/dam/bkb/fr/dokumente/Hilfsmittel/AGB/AVB">https://www.bkb.admin.ch/dam/bkb/fr/dokumente/Hilfsmittel/AGB/AVB</a> Forschungsauftraege f.pdf.download.pdf/CG%20de%20la%20Conf%C3%A9d%C3%A9d%C3%A9ration%20relatives%20aux%20contrats%20de%
20recherche.pdf
or <a href="https://www.bkb.admin.ch/dam/bkb/fr/dokumente/Hilfsmittel/AGB/AVB">https://www.bkb.admin.ch/dam/bkb/fr/dokumente/Hilfsmittel/AGB/AVB</a>
Contracts or <a href="https://www.bkb.admin.ch/dam/bkb/fr/dokumente/Hilfsmittel/AGB/AVB">https://www.bkb.admin.ch/dam/bkb/fr/dokumente/Hilfsmittel/AGB/AVB</a>
Contracts or <a href="https://www.bkb.admin.ch/dam/bkb/fr/dokumente/Hilfsmittel/AGB/AVB">https://www.bkb.admin.ch/dam/bkb/fr/dokumente/Hilfsmittel/AGB/AVB</a>
Forschungsauftraege f.pdf.download.pdf/CG%20de%20la%20Conf%C3%A9ration%20relatives%20aux%20contrats%20de%20recherche.pdf
.download.pdf/CG%20de%20la%20Conf%C3%A9d%C3%A9ration%20relatives%20aux%20contrats%20de%20recherche.pdf
<sup>782</sup> <a href="https://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/text.jsp?file\_id=435410">https://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/text.jsp?file\_id=435410</a>

(PPI)<sup>783</sup> across Europe. Switzerland falls within the group of **strong performers**, above the European average of 9,3%.<sup>784</sup> **A moderate increase of investments in PPI is still needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Swiss public sector.<sup>785</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector Switzerland moves down to the 5<sup>th</sup> position.



The main factors786 explaining Switzerland's strong performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in Switzerland (87%) is slightly above the European average (84%). This may be due to the fact that the largest portion of PPI investments is devoted to the adoption of 'significantly improved' solutions (59%) followed by innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (28%). The share of PPI procurement invested in transformative innovations is also considerably higher compared to the share invested in **incremental innovations** (13%), which consist of 'existing solutions being used in a new way or in a new sector' or 'innovative combinations of existing solutions'.

Despite that, Switzerland is not yet at the level of PPI investments that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This may be due to **underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs**, which have a high impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>783</sup> Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found <u>here on the EU webpages</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>784</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

 $<sup>^{785}</sup>$  It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve). <sup>786</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated



#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Every domain of public sector activity**<sup>787</sup> **in Switzerland purchased innovative solutions**. The shares of PPI investments by different public sector domains out of total PPI investments in the country are **mostly in line with the European averages**. The difference between the investments made by Swiss procurers shifts by more or less than 3 percentage points (pp) from the European average in 5 out of 11 sectors. The highest divergences from the European average emerge from PPI investments by Swiss procurers in the **'Construction, housing and community amenities**' and **'General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs**' domains: the former in positive (+19 pp), the latter in negative (-18 pp). Also, PPI investments made in the **'Education, recreation, culture and religion**' sector are considerably above the European average (+7 pp). The share of PPI investments that was contributed by procurers in the **'Other'** domain was very small (0,2%).

Domain of public sector activity	Switzerland	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	17%	35%	-18
Public transport	20%	10%	+10
Healthcare and social services	9%	21%	-12
Energy	8%	6%	+2
Environment	2%	3%	-1
Construction, housing and community amenities	23%	4%	+19
Education, recreation, culture and religion	12%	5%	+7
Water	2%	4%	-2
Public order, safety and security	7%	8%	-1
Postal services	1%	1%	0
Other	0% (0,2%)	3%	-3
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>787</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

# **Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal** Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is considerably lower in Switzerland (13%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that Swiss procurers may be more risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) in Switzerland (87%) is above the European average (71%). This indicates that Swiss procurers may tend to be more open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of Swiss PPI investments for which call for tenders are published is modest (19%), and below the European average (22%). Both the portion that is **published at European level** in the TED database (17%) and especially the portion that is **published at national level** (2%) are below European average (respectively 18% and 5%). The share of PPI investments for which no calls for tenders are published in TED or at national level is very large (81%).

By not publishing PPI call for tenders widely, **Switzerland is missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Swiss and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Swiss PPI business opportunities.

# Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

PPI investments by level of public sector activity



More than half of the total PPI investment in Switzerland is carried out by **large-scale entities at national level** (54%), such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is above the European average (47%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for around one third of the PPI investments (35%), well above the European average (24%). **Procurers at local level** account for the lowest fraction of PPI investments (11%), below the European average (29%).
## Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The Swiss public sector shows a **modest level of performance** in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment). With  $\bigcirc$  0,1 bn or 4,4% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **Switzerland ranks 6<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, above the European average (3,5%). In terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions, (just over 38%), Switzerland performs in line with the European average (38%). A **significant increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions is still needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable Switzerland to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>788</sup>



The **main factors**<sup>789</sup> explaining Switzerland's modest performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** in Switzerland (82%) is just above the European average (79%). This may derive from the fact that the largest portion of ICT-based PPI investments represents the adoption of 'significantly improved' solutions (49%), followed by innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (33%). The share invested in transformative innovations is also considerably higher than the share invested in **incremental ICT-based innovation**<sup>790</sup> (18%). However, as the total ICT-based-PPI investment level in the country is still modest, a significant increase in the adoption of transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations is still needed.



ICT-based PPI by type of innovation (as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>788</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI – or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>789</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>790</sup> See definitions above

#### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



Switzerland invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the so-called '**Core ICT**' **sub-sector**<sup>791</sup> (54%), in line with the European average (54%).

Switzerland invested to a lesser extent in the adoption of innovations from the '**ICT Plus' sub-sector** (46%), slightly above the European average (44%).

Investments in adopting innovations from the '**Content & Media' sub-sector** were marginal (<1%), but not far from the European average (1%).

#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Most domains of public sector activity in Switzerland purchased innovative ICT-based solutions**, except for the '**Water**' and '**Other**' sector with zero ICT-based PPI procurements. The highest share of investments comes from procurers that operate in the domain of '**Education**, recreation, culture and religion' (24% against a 9% European average) followed by procurers in the '**General public services**, public administration and economic and financial affairs' domain (19%, above the European average of 16%). Also the share of ICT-based PPI in the '**Public Transport**' (16%) and '**Energy**' (15%) sectors is above the European average (10% and 6% respectively).

#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>791</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>•</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

#### ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 51% of ICT-based PPI, which is below the European average (69%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for the highest share of the ICT-based PPI at sub-national level (45%), more than double the European average (21%).

To the contrary, **local procurers** account for only a modest fraction of ICT-based PPI (4%), which is below the European average (10%).

## Netherlands



#### 1. NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### **Governance and legal framework**

The Dutch public procurement law from July 2016<sup>792</sup> transposes the EU public procurement directives 2014/23/EU, 2014/24/EU and 2014/25/EU. The Defence and Security Procurement Act (28/01/2013) transposes the Defence directive 2009/81/EC.

Innovation procurement in the Netherlands is supported by an Action Plan for innovation procurement (Innovatiegericht Inkopen) since 2013<sup>793</sup>. Political commitment is ensured by the Dutch **Ministry of Economic Affairs** and **Climate Policy** and by the **Department for Innovation and Enterprise** within it.

A key actor is **PIANO0**<sup>794</sup>, the Dutch national competence centre for public procurement, which has also a focus on innovation procurement, providing a stimulus to government bodies to elicit innovation from their procurement procedures and acting as network forum and diffusion platform. Such networking and diffusion is very important in the Netherlands because most public procurements are at regional and local levels and independent action plans on innovation procurement also exist at those levels.

Other important key actors are the **Ministry of Interior and Kingdom relations**, responsible for digitalisation, which is developing an **action plan for innovation procurement in the field of ICT** and the Ministry of Infrastructure and the Environment which is promoting the **Dutch Sustainable Procurement Action Plan**<sup>795</sup>.

In the Netherlands regional and urban administrations spend approximately 57%, national authorities 30% and other agencies spend 13%. There are certain cities which are frontrunner in a specific domain in innovation procurement, as for example Eindhoven in lighting/high tech, Rotterdam in transport, Amsterdam in digitalization. Urban authorities are responsible for a wide range of procurement fields, whereas regional authorities for construction of roads, bridges (provinces) or water infrastructure (Union of Dutch waterboards). The main sectors on a national level are defence, security, construction of national roads, bridges, public buildings.<sup>796</sup>

#### **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In the benchmarking of the national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **the Netherlands is at the 3<sup>rd</sup> position** in the overall ranking with a **total score of 45,5%**. From the 30 countries analysed, the Netherlands is among the group of good performing countries in implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. Having implemented 45,9%% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is however still a significant reinforcement of the policy framework needed in the Netherlands to reach its full 100% potential.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>792</sup> Law of 22 June 2016 modifying Aanbestedingswet 2012 with respect to the implementation of public procurement directives 2014/23/EU, 2014/24/EU en 2014/25/EU, <u>https://zoek.officielebekendmakingen.nl/stb-2016-241.html</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>793</sup> https://www.pianoo.nl/document/14291/plan-van-aanpak-programma-inkoop-innovatie-urgent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>794</sup> https://www.pianoo.nl/ - Professional and Innovative Tendering, Network for Government Contracting Authorities (PIANOo)

<sup>795</sup> https://www.pianoo.nl/document/11858/action-plan-for-responsible-and-sustainable-procurement-by-governments-2015-2020

<sup>796</sup> https://www.pianoo.nl/document/13169/inkoopvolume-van-nederlandse-overheid



<u>Strengths</u>: The Netherlands has structural capacity building and assistance measures, embedded within an action plan for innovation procurement.

<u>Weaknesses:</u> Timeline and resources allocated to the action plan are unclear, lack of endorsement of innovation procurement as strategic priority in a number of sectors. Monitoring system is not structurally applied to all procurements in the country yet, default IPR regime in general terms and conditions for government contracts hinders innovation.



## Overview per indicator Indicator 1 – Official definition Total score 56% European Average 50% PPI PCP R&D procurement Innovation procurement

40%

60%

80%

100%

20%

0%

In the Dutch procurement legal framework there is a legal definition of innovation in the context of public procurement, which is not completely in line with the EU definition, and a legal definition of R&D in the context of public procurement, which is in line with the EU definition but only available in the defence procurement Act, but there are no legal definitions for innovation procurement, R&D procurement, Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) and Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI). Innovation procurement and PCP procurement are defined in the National Action Plan for Innovation Procurement. For PPI there is no official definition in the legal framework or guidance docs, but the legal framework does provide the legal basis for all procurers in the country to implement PPI. Therefore the total score of this indicator is 56%.

The Dutch national legislation does not provide a definition of innovation procurement. However, since July 2016, article 1.1 of the Public Procurement Law<sup>792</sup> defines **innovation** as "*the application of a new or significantly improved product, a new or significantly improved service or a new or significantly improved process*". This definition transposes only the first part of the definition of innovation in the EU public procurement directives but not the last part which extends the scope beyond products, services or processes also to new marketing or organisational methods, workplace organisation or external relations. It is applicable to all public procurers in the country but not fully in line with the provisions in the EU public procurement directives. Guidelines to the Dutch public procurement law<sup>797</sup> repeat that innovation is the application of a new or significantly improved product, service or process) innovation can happen for example in marketing or organisational methods, enterprise management or workplace organisation. This still leaves a difference with the definition of innovation in the EU public procurement directives, because for example a marketing innovation that is not a product, service or process innovation is not considered an innovation.

At the same time a definition of **innovation procurement** is provided in the guidance document from the Dutch national competence centre for innovation procurement, i.e. PIANOo, and from the National Action Plan for Innovation Procurement. The definition is applicable to all public procurers in the country but is also based on the definition of innovation in Dutch public procurement law which is not fully in line with the EU directives. In particular, PIANOo guidance clarifies the key aim of innovation procurement (innovatiegericht inkopen) as "Public bodies procure and develop innovative solutions that enhance the quality and the efficiency of the public service. It distinguishes two types of innovation procurement: (1) the public sector/procurement actively calls for innovative solutions by challenging industry to deliver an innovative solution for its problem or (2) the public sector/procurement does not actively call for innovative solutions but offers room for industry to offer an innovative solution. It clarifies also the difference with innovative procurement (innovatief inkopen) as follows: Innovation procurement is driven by the "result", because innovation is being procured (and this can also be done with simple standard public procurement procedures). Innovative procurement is driven by the "process", because it is about implementing the procurement process in an improved way without necessarily procuring any innovation (e.g. moving from paper based to electronic procurement processes). This definition of innovation procurement is based on the formal letter and report the minister of economic affairs and climate policy presented to parliament in 2009 and 2013, and the policy documents of the ministry of economic affairs and climate policy, responsible for the legal framework on procurement and the policy on public procurement of innovation. None of these documents specify however what is meant by an innovative solution in their definition of innovation procurement. Although without a legal definition of innovation procurement, the Country has a definition embedded in a national guideline which is applicable to all public procurers in the country but is not fully in line with the EU official definition. Therefore, the total score for the sub-indicator innovation procurement is 50%.

With regard to the definition of **R&D procurement**, article 1(1) of the Defence and Security Procurement Act provides a definition of **R&D** coherent with the EU legislation but only applicable in the defence sector. **R&D** is defined as "all activities involving fundamental research, applied research and experimental development, where experimental development may include the establishment of technological demonstration models, including means of demonstrating the performance of a new concept or new technology in a relevant or representative environment". The definition is coherent with the EU definition but not applicable to all public procurers. For non-defence procurers, the national legislation identifies R&D only through the CPV codes for fundamental research, applied research and experimental development. Therefore, the total score for this sub-indicator is 90%.

In national legislation there is no **PCP definition**, but article 2.24(g) of the Public Procurement Act provides the legal basis to implement PCP. The national guidance provides a definition of PCP applicable to all public procurers in the country, but it is not fully in line with the EU definition (Dutch PCP definition does not recognise that PCP can include the purchase of non-commercial volumes of innovative solutions). Therefore the score of the sub-indicator PCP is 50%.

With respect to **PPI**, a definition is not available in the legal framework, and neither present in any policy document or guideline. However, the Dutch public procurement law (2016) enables procurers to implement PPI by allowing procurers to award contracts and monitor contract performance not only based on price but also based on innovation criteria. In particular, article 2.3.3.3 states that "contracting authorities may impose special conditions on the performance of a public contract, provided that such conditions are related to the subject-matter of the contract and are stated in the contract notice or the tender documents. The conditions under which the public contract is executed may relate to economic, innovation-related, work-related, social or environmental considerations". Therefore, no definition of PPI exists, but there is a legal basis which is applicable to all public procurers in the country and in line with the provisions of the EU public procurement directives, resulting in a total score for the PPI sub-indicator of 35%.

#### Indicator 2 – Horizontal policies

797 https://europadecentraal.nl/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/Memorie-van-toelichting-Aanbestedingswet.pdf



In the Netherlands, innovation procurement is politically embedded and treated with strategic importance in four horizontal policies: entrepreneurship, public procurement, innovation and R&D policies. The total score for this indicator is 57%.

Historically, the push to include innovation procurement in national policy objectives started in 1997 with the national **policy for R&D**, **innovation and entrepreneurship** (public sector as lead customer for innovation). The most recent high-level political commitment for innovation procurement is found in the 2017-2021 Dutch government agreement<sup>798</sup> which commits that "*the government will make better use of its purchasing power to buy more innovatively*".

Under entrepreneurship policy, the "**SME Cooperation Agenda 2016-2017**" (*MKB Samenwerkingsagenda 2016-2017*)<sup>799</sup> of the Ministry of Economic Affairs envisages local authorities support for SMEs and Start-ups for participating in innovation procurements (see also "Start-up Delta": agenda start-up participation in public procurement)<sup>800</sup>.

Furthermore, the Ministry of Infrastructure and Water Management *Rijkswaterstaat* introduced its own Strategy for Innovation-oriented purchasing (*Beleidskader innovatiegericht inkopen*), which aims at supporting its programmes and projects with the introduction of innovation in the procurement processes by better engaging with market actors, removing existing barriers, and thus contributing to the overall target for innovation procurement.

In the field of **public procurement** policy, innovation is a secondary objective in Dutch public procurement legislation (article 2.3.3.3 aanbestedingswet 2016) and innovation procurement is encouraged via the national action plan for innovation procurement.

# Indicator 3 – ICT policies Total score 50% European Average 47%

The **2016 Dutch digital agenda for the Netherlands** specifically recognises the key role of the public sector to drive forward digitisation through its role as buyer for innovative solutions. "*Given the broad impact of digitisation, the role of the government extends further than the simple reinforcement of preconditions and safeguarding public interests. The government is also an actor in this transition, for example, as a buyer of innovative ICT products and services and as a digital service provider for citizens and businesses.*" A broad analysis across different sectors aims to implement innovative solutions through public procurement across all top sectors where the government is a key customer.

In addition, the ministry of interior and kingdom relations, responsible for digitalisation, is currently developing a specific **action plan for innovation & innovation procurement in the field of ICT.** This action plan (*innovatiepact*) is based on a report of a committee of the ministry of interior and kingdom relations and the ministry of economic affairs and climate policy on future digitalization<sup>801</sup>. The national government will spend 200 million euros on realizing a digital infrastructure per year<sup>802</sup>. According to the RIO Report 2015, a multiple sector action agenda has been set also in the field of nano-technology and bio-based economy.

Indicator 4 – Sectorial policies				
Total score	40%	European Average	14%	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>798</sup> Regeerakkoord 2017-2021 "Vertrouwen in de toekomst"

https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/regering/documenten/publicaties/2017/10/10/regeerakkoord-2017-vertrouwen-in-de-toekomst 799 https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/documenten/rapporten/2016/06/08/mkb-samenwerkingsagenda-2016-2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>800</sup> https://www.startupdelta.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/StartupDelta Actionplan 01.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>801</sup> https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/documenten/rapporten/2017/04/18/rapport-van-de-studiegroep-informatiesamenleving-enoverheid-maak-waar

<sup>802</sup> https://www.digicommissaris.nl/image/2016/12/22/digiprogramma 2017-989810276.pdf



In the Netherlands, innovation procurement is recognised as a strategic priority in policy frameworks and action plans in four sectorial policies. The total score for this indicator is 40%.

In the field of public order, safety security and defence, the Ministry of **justice and security** has adopted in 2018 its step-by-step plan for innovation procurement<sup>803</sup>. The Ministry of **defence** has adopted a strategy both for precommercial procurement and public procurement of innovative solutions<sup>804</sup>.

As concerns the environment sector, the **Dutch Sustainable Procurement Action Plan**<sup>805</sup>, has been promoted by the Ministry of Economic Affairs and the Ministry of Infrastructure and Water Management since 2015 and has an explicit focus on encouraging more innovation procurement.

In the **water sector**, the Union of Dutch Waterboards has positioned innovation procurement clearly as an objective in their procurement strategy since 2014<sup>806</sup>. Innovation procurement by water sector procurers is also explicitly encouraged in the Ministry of Infrastructure and Water Management's High-Water Protection Programme<sup>815</sup>.

The Ministries of Infrastructure and Water Management and the Ministry of Interior and Kingdom Relations have adopted in 2017 a **Construction Agenda** which encourages public procurers in the construction sector to actively use innovation procurement. This Construction Agenda was translated by public procurers in the construction sector into a market vision and innovation procurement strategy<sup>807</sup>.

*Rijkswaterstaat*, the part of the Ministry of Infrastructure and Water Management that is responsible for the practical execution of **public works and water management**, has developed a specific policy framework for innovation procurement and has added innovation procurement to the innovation agenda<sup>808</sup> for the modernization of national roads, waterways, construction works.<sup>809</sup> There are also some actions plans in certain sectors in certain regions, for example the Waterboard Limburg has adopted innovation procurement in its procurement action plan.<sup>810</sup>



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>803</sup> https://www.pianoo.nl/document/15181/stappenplan-innovatiegericht-inkopen-ministerie-van-veiligheid-justitie

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>804</sup> https://www.defensie.nl/onderwerpen/innovatie/front and https://www.defensie.nl/onderwerpen/innovatie

<sup>805 &</sup>lt;u>https://www.pianoo.nl/document/11858/action-plan-for-responsible-and-sustainable-procurement-by-governments-2015-2020</u>
806 <u>https://www.uvw.nl/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/De-waterschappen-als-publieke-opdrachtgever.pdf</u>

https://www.uvw.nl/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/De-waterschapsmarkt-van-de-toekomst-visiedocument.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>807</sup> http://www.debouwagenda.com/PageByID.aspx?sectionID=151687&contentPageID=913677 and https://www.marktvisie.nu/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/De-Marktvisie-1.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>808</sup> https://staticresources.rijkswaterstaat.nl/binaries/Innovatieagenda herijking 2016 tcm21-100461.pdf

<sup>809</sup> https://staticresources.rijkswaterstaat.nl/binaries/Beleidskader%20innovatiegericht%20inkopen\_tcm174-362191\_tcm21-14351.pdf

<sup>810</sup> https://www.wbl.nl/Documents/Inkoop%20en%20Aanbesteding/Inkoop-%20en%20aanbestedingsbeleid.pdf

The Netherlands has a national **Action Plan for innovation procurement since 2013**<sup>811</sup>. The action plan commits to concrete actions and objectives. This includes setting up new innovation procurement projects, increasing the use of innovation procurement instruments, activating also local and regional authorities, water and health procurers to use more innovation procurement, developing financial incentives and a monitoring system to report back on innovation procurement implementation progress to the Dutch parliament. The development of the action plan is supported by the formal engagement of some key contracting authorities to the action plan (national government, regional and local authorities, water and health care procurers, other public procurers e.g. energy utilities are not involved) but only one procurer (Rijkswaterstaat) formally committed to achieve the 2,5% target. The key actor for the implementation of the Action Plan is **PIANO0**<sup>812</sup>, **the Competence Centre for Public Procurement**, including innovation procurement. In this context, PIANO0 sets once a year an agenda which plans detailed objectives and initiatives.

The action plan does not have specific measures to pool demand, does not defined a specific decision-making structure does not have a clear timeline (milestones defined in the action plan do not go beyond 2015) nor dedicated resources. There is an overall definition of expected results, but this is not clearly broken down per actor and there is formal commitment from some key procurers but not from public procurers in all sectors, both of them therefore not fully enabling mainstreaming innovation procurement widely across the country. Sub-indicators "definition of results" and "commitment of key procurers" score therefore 50%. Therefore the total score of the indicator is 44%.

Indicator 6 – Spending target				
Total score	50%	European Average	11%	

The Netherlands is one of the few European countries with a spending target for innovation procurement. The Dutch central Government sets a spending target for innovation procurement (defined according to the more restrictive Dutch definition) at **2,5% of total public procurement spending of the central government**<sup>813</sup>. This target is applicable to all types of innovation procurement (R&D procurement, PCP, PPI) but only to central bodies and it has been set as a non-compulsory goal although some public procurers (e.g. Rijkswaterstaat) have taken the commitment for themselves to reach the 2,5% target. In addition to this, there are no separate targets for R&D procurements, PPI and PCP. Therefore, the total score of the indicator 50%.



**Measuring:** In 2008, a motion by the Dutch Parliament set a performance indicator on "the number of innovation procurement tenders organized by the central government". Therefore the Netherlands conceived a method for measuring innovation procurement expenditure, which was applied between 2010-2013 to all types of innovation procurements (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP and PPI). Nonetheless, the method was not systematically and widely applied across the whole country (e.g. only for certain sectors or certain levels of government). The 2013 Dutch action plan on innovation procurement contains an action to develop a monitoring system to report back on the progress of reaching the 2,5% target to the Dutch parliament.

#### 2010-2013 approach:

The measurement method for the performance indicator set by the Dutch parliament in 2008 focused on the process (are public procurers using techniques in their procurement procedure to facilitate more innovation) rather than the procurement outcome and it was used to evaluate a sample of Dutch tenders from the TED database (above the EU threshold). Tenders were evaluated by a written survey, follow-up interviews and desk research.

13 elements were used to evaluate the innovation procurements, and to each of them was attributed a weight:

- 1. Looking for an innovative solution
- 2. Market consultation before specification
- 3. Competitive dialogue
- 4. Design contest
- 5. Variants
- 6. Functional specification
- 7. Innovation included in award criteria
- 8. Intellectual property right to the contractor
- 9. Risk sharing in the contract
- 10. Incentives in (long term) contract for efficiency and effectiveness

<sup>811</sup> https://www.pianoo.nl/document/14291/plan-van-aanpak-programma-inkoop-innovatie-urgent

<sup>812</sup> https://www.pianoo.nl/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>813</sup> Brief aan de Tweede Kamer, Naar de top; het bedrijfslevenbeleid in actie(s), 13/09/2011

- 11. Allowing for innovative solutions
- 12. Tender board
- 13. Using the potential of tender procedures to enhance innovation

The innovation procurement level was finally established and defined by categorising tenders in different categories according to their level of innovativeness: general procurement, with limited or few signals of innovation, and innovation procurements, with clear or strong signals of innovation.

In 2018 efforts have started to put a new voluntary measurement initiative in place, but it is still at its early stage. The new initiative is based on a tool in which public procurers can fill in on voluntary basis a number of questions to report to what extent completed public procurements were innovation procurements<sup>814</sup>.

Also in this case the method applies to all types of innovation procurements (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP and PPI) but it is not systematically and widely applicable across the whole country (e.g. only for central authorities). Therefore the total score of this sub-indicator measurement system is 50%.

**Evaluation:** In 2018 there was still no system for evaluating the impacts of completed innovation procurements in the Netherlands. Efforts have started to develop for the future a system for evaluating the impacts of completed innovation procurements, however this is not operational yet. Therefore the score for this sub-indicator evaluation system is 0%.

The total score of the indicator is 25%. The performance in negatively affected by the absence of an evaluation system in place.



In the Netherlands there is no dedicated national or regional **financial incentives** programme to which all public procurers can apply to obtain co-financing to undertake more innovation procurements. There are some financial incentives for public procurers in the sectorial High Water Protection programme, but they are not conceived for combination with EU co-financing, are not available to all types of public procurers in the country (only to those in the high water field) and are not designed to incentivize large scale implementation of innovation procurement. Therefore, the total score of this sub-indicator financial incentives is 43%.

In the High-Water Protection programme<sup>815</sup> the ministry of infrastructure and water management explicitly foresees financial incentives to stimulate public procurers in the water sector to implement innovation procurement: the incentives offer 90% co-financing for regular procurements and 100% co-financing for procurements focusing on R&D.

Finally, the country does not have **personal incentives** to encourage procurers to undertake more innovation procurements. The score for sub-indicator personal incentives is therefore 0%.

The total score for the indicator incentives is 21%.

Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures								
Total score	57%	ý		European A	verage	249	%	
	Existence	Connection with relevant international /EU initiatives	Free of charge	Covering all types and aspects of innovation procurement	Available and applicable to al public procurers the country	l in	Mainstreaming Innovation procurement at a large scale	Sub- total score
Central website	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	83%
Good practices	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			50%
Trainings/workshops	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			67%
Handbooks/guidelines	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	83%
Assistance to public procurers	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			67%
Template tender documents								0%

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>815</sup> The high water protection programme: <a href="http://www.hoogwaterbeschermingsprogramma.nl/Documenten+openbaar/Documenten++Financieringsregeling/HandlerDownloadFiles.ashx?idnv=681253">http://www.hoogwaterbeschermingsprogramma.nl/Documenten+openbaar/Documenten++Financieringsregeling/HandlerDownloadFiles.ashx?idnv=681253</a> and <a href="http://www.toconnect.nl/en/a-few-examples/high-water-protection-programme">http://www.toconnect.nl/en/a-few-examples/high-water-protection-programme</a> and <a href="http://www.toconnect.nl/en/a-few-examples/high-water-protection-

Coordination / pre- approval						0%
Networking of procurers	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	83%
One-stop-shop/ competence centre		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	83%

The national Competence Centre for Public Procurement, PIANOo carries out most of the measures generally adopted to build up public procurers' know-how on innovation procurement, with the exception of the provision of templates and of activities to coordinate purchasing for several public procurers.

PIANOo is funded by the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy and provides awareness raising and capacity building activities to give a stimulus to public procurers to elicit innovation from their procurement procedures.

PIANOo brings together experts within the "Innovation Procurement" expert network, combines knowledge and experience, gives advice to procurers and suppliers free of charge, collects and disseminates case examples on a central website<sup>816</sup>. Published cases lack examples of Dutch PCPs as well as recent EU funded innovation procurement projects and good practice examples. The score for sub-indicator good practices is 67%.

The website lacks also a central place that gives an overview of all the recent EU initiatives supporting innovation procurement (e.g. EU funding opportunities for innovation procurements (e.g. H2020, ESIF, EIB), eafip, procure2innovative network of competence centres, EU guidance on innovation procurement, European initiative on benchmarking national policy frameworks for innovation procurement across Europe). This explains the score for the sub-indicator central website of 83%.

Advice is however limited to general information to public procurers to prepare and implement specific innovation procurements. PIANOo offers generic helpdesk (Q&A) type support<sup>817</sup> but does not offer individual case-by-case assistance to procurers to prepare and/or implement concrete tender documents for a specific innovation procurement. As there is therefore no assistance to mainstream all types of innovation procurement across the whole country, the score for sub-indicator assistance is 67%.

PIANOo regularly organises workshops and events, however mostly with the purpose of informing Dutch procurers about new aspects concerning innovation procurement, not so much with the intention to network Dutch procurers in order to identify common needs and foster collaboration between different procurers on innovation procurement to create scaleup effects. Under the impulse of ZENIT, the region North Rhine-Westphalia signed a cooperation agreement with the Netherlands and the Flemish region (The Netherlands) to network public procurers of their different countries to stimulate cross-border innovation procurements. As these **networking activities** are not implemented to achieve large scale effects, the score on the sub-indicator networking is 83%.

PIANOo uses manuals, presentations and articles in professional journals to raise awareness of innovation procurement opportunities. During themed meetings and in a PIANOo online discussion forum, buyers can exchange knowledge and experiences. PIANNOo annuals and other Dutch guidelines on the Dutch public procurement law<sup>818</sup> are not clearly and not correctly representing all the differences between different innovation procurement instruments, in particular relating to PCP, SBIR and innovation partnerships these manuals/memorandum are not up-to-date with European toolkit analysis and with EU R&D&I State aid rules<sup>819</sup>. The score for sub-indicator handbooks/guidelines is 83%.

PIANOo participates in the EU-funded project "Procure2Innovate - European network of competence centres for innovation procurement" to reinforce its activities on innovation procurement support for procurers and to exchange experiences with competence centres in other EU countries.

There are no national **template tender documents** for innovation procurement. There is no national **pre-approval** or coordination for the implementation of innovation procurements. There is also some international networking of procurers to foster cross border cooperation on innovation procurements, but networking of procurers is not happening yet with an intensity to create innovation procurement cooperation with large scale impacts.

Therefore the total score for this indicator is 59%.

Indicator 10 – Innovation friendly public procurement market				
Total score     53%		European Average	44%	
I - Specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement		II - Openness of the national	public procurement market to	

innovations from across the EU single market

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>816</sup> <u>http://www.innovatiekoffer.nl/and https://www.pianoo.nl/nl/themas/innovatiegericht-inkopen/praktijkvoorbeelden-</u> innovatiegericht-inkopen

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>817</sup> <u>https://www.pianoo.nl/nl/formulier/140/contactformulier-vragenloket-pianoo</u>

<sup>818</sup> https://europadecentraal.nl/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/Memorie-van-toelichting-Aanbestedingswet.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>819</sup> <u>http://eafip.eu/toolkit/</u>



This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of Innovation procurement. It is composed by two sub-indicators measuring:

I. The use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in the Netherlands

II. The openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regard to sub-indicator I, the Netherlands shows the following evidence:

- IPR default regime: The score for this sub-indicator is 0%, which is far below the European average of 38%, a. because the Dutch law and guidelines on public procurement do not define a default scenario for the distribution of IPR rights between procurers and suppliers but the General Government Terms and Conditions for Public Service Contracts (ARVODI 2008, article 23) define as default scenario that all IPR rights belong to the contracting authority, unless otherwise specified in the procurement contract. The Dutch PIANOo guidelines on innovation procurement also stress the importance of assigning IPR ownership to participating companies for commercialising solutions but highlight also that Dutch procurer are keen on keeping IPR and finally does not recommend a clear strategy with a default approach. The Dutch SBIR contracts specify an IPR agreement that deviates from ARVODI article 23 in the contract, whereby IPR ownership rights are allocated to the participating companies and the contracting authority obtains license free usage rights as well as the right to require participating companies to provide licenses to third parties at fair and reasonable market conditions. As some large public procurers (e.g. Rijkswaterstaat, water sector procurers) have announced to revise their IPR strategy to the default scenario of leaving IPR ownership with contractors for their entire procurement strategy in general, a discussion has started in the Netherlands to revise possibly also the ARVODI default IPR scenario. But so far this has not happened yet so that score for this sub-indicator is still 0%. The Netherlands is the only country that is performing so low on this sub-indicator.
- b. **Use of value for money criteria**: According to the EU single market scoreboard, 83% of the procedures were not awarded on the basis of the lowest price only. This is well above the European average of 42% and reaching also the 80% satisfactory level set out in the EU single market scoreboard. Together with the UK, France and Ireland, the Netherlands is among the top performer countries on widespread usage of value for money award criteria.
- c. **Use of variants**: The country has allowed the use of variants in the 1% of the procedures. This percentage is well below the European average.
- d. **Preliminary Market Consultation:** The country has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 48 % of the procedures. This percentage is largely above the European average of 9% and the highest among the 30 countries analysed.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 323%, which is significantly above the European average of 23%. The low performance on adopting a default IPR allocation regime that fosters innovation annuls the positive effects of the widespread usage of value for money criteria but is more than compensated by the high percentage of Preliminary Market Consultations.

With regard to sub-indicator II, the Netherlands shows the following evidence (based on the Single Market Scoreboard):

- e. **Level of competition**: The level of competition of the national public procurement market is 89% which is slightly above the European average 84% but still below the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This result is driven by the fact that both sub-indicators score above European average but below the satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard: the percentage of procurement procedure for which a call for bids was conducted (94%) and the percentage of procurements with more than one bidder (84%).
- f. **Level of transparency**: The level of transparency of the public procurement market is 58% which is above the European average 45% but still below the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. The low TED publication rate (2,4) and the percentage of procurements without missing call for bids information (81%) are below European average. The percentage of procurements with published buyer registration numbers (92%) is above European average but still below the 97% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 74% which is above the European average of 65% but still below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is due to the fact that both the level of transparency and competition are above European average but still need further improvement to reach the satisfactory level.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 53% which is above the 44% European average This score is explained mainly by the high use of value for money

criteria and Preliminary Market Consultation in procurement procedures. Both the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country and the openness of the Dutch procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market are slightly above the European average but still below the satisfactory level. Indeed, the country has not yet adopted a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation which annuls the positive effects of widespread use of value for money criteria. In addition, although the national public procurement market shows an above average level of competition and transparency, both are still below the satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all Dutch investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of Dutch investments on public procurement of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 11,6% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e.  $\in$  18,6 bn), **Netherlands ranks 3<sup>rd</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>820</sup> across Europe. As a result, the country falls within the group of **strong performers**, significantly above the European average of 9,3%.<sup>821</sup> Nonetheless, to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the Dutch public sector, **an increase of investments in PPI is still needed.**<sup>822</sup> When taking into account also PPI investments in the defence sector Netherlands drops to the 7<sup>th</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>823</sup> explaining Netherlands's strong performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** (91%) is above the European average (84%). This consists both of innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' or 'significantly improved' solutions. The share of PPI procurement invested in transformative innovations is also considerably higher compared to the share invested in **incremental innovations** (9%), which consist of 'existing solutions being used in a new way or in a new sector' or 'innovative combinations of existing solutions'.

 $<sup>^{820}</sup>$  Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found here on the EU webpages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>821</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

 $<sup>^{822}</sup>$  It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve). <sup>823</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

Despite that, the Netherlands' total amount of PPI invesments is not yet at the level that would allow a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This may be due to **underinvestment in the adoption of innovative ICTs**, which have a high impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

#### PPI investments by type of innovation



#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Nearly every domain of public sector activity**<sup>824</sup> **in the Netherlands purchased innovative solutions**, except the '**Postal services**' domain which made no PPI investments. The shares of PPI investments made by different public sector domains out of total PPI investments in the country are **mostly in line with the European averages** (in 6 out of 11 sectors). The share of PPI investments made by Dutch procurers in '**General public services**, **public administration and economic and financial affairs**' domain is considerably above the European average (+31 pp). Conversly, the share of PPI investments made by Dutch procurers in '**Healthcare and social services**' is significantly below the European average (-18 pp).

#### PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

Domain of public sector activity	Netherlands	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	66%	35%	+31
Public transport	4%	10%	-6
Healthcare and social services	3%	21%	-18
Energy	8%	6%	+2
Environment	1%	3%	-2
Construction, housing and community amenities	4%	4%	0
Education, recreation, culture and religion	5%	5%	0
Water	5%	4%	+1
Public order, safety and security	3%	8%	-5
Postal services	0%	1%	-1
Other	0% (0,5%)	3%	-3
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>824</sup> The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

## Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal



#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of PPI investments for which calls for tenders are published, is small (8%), also compared to the European average (22%). The portion **published at European level** in the TED database (8%) is considerably below the European average of 18%. The portion **published at national level** is zero, which is below the European average (5%). The amount of PPI investments for which no call for tenders is published in TED or at national level is very high.

By not publishing PPI widely, **the Netherlands is missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from Dutch and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the Dutch PPI business opportunities.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity



PPI investments by level of public sector activity

18% of the total PPI investments in the Netherlands are carried out by **large-scale entities at national level**, such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is consistently below the European average (47%).

To the contrary, **procurers at local level** account for the highest fraction of PPI investments (62%), well above the European average (29%). **Procurers at regional level** account for 20% of PPI, slightly below the European average (24%).

## Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

In terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment), Netherlands fall within the group of **low performers**. With  $\bigcirc$  0,1 bn or 2,5% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **the Netherlands ranks 17<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, below the European average (3,5%). Also in terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT-based solutions (21,7%), the Netherlands performs below the European average (38%). Thus, **a considerable increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions is still needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable the Netherlands to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>825</sup>



Stong performers Good performers Moderate performers Modest performers Dow performers Dottom performers

The main factors<sup>826</sup> explaining the Netherlands's low performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** in the Netherlands (80%) is in line with the European average (79%). This consists of 'significantly improved solutions' (57%) and innovative solutions that are 'new to the market' (23%). As the share of 'new to the market' solutions is much higher in leading countries, further effort to improve this point may be important for improving the position of the Netherlands in the future. The share of ICT-based PPI investments that went to the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations<sup>827</sup>** (20%) is in line with the European average (21%). However, as the total amount of investments in ICT-based innovative solutions in the Netherlands is low, the country still needs to step up considerably its efforts in the adoption of both transformative and incremental ICT-based innovations.

#### ICT-based PPI investments by type of innovation



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>825</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI– or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>826</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>827</sup> See definitions above.

#### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

#### ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



The Netherlands invested mainly in the adoption of innovations from the so-called '**Core ICT' sub-sector**<sup>828</sup> (79%), considerably above the European average (54%).

The Netherlands invested to a lesser extent in the adoption of innovations from the '**ICT Plus' sub-sector** (19%), which is significantly below the European average (44%).

The share of investments spent on adopting innovations from the **'Content & Media' sub-sector** was small (4%), but above the European average (1%).

#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Nearly all domains of public sector activity in the Netherlands purchased innovative ICT-based solutions**, except the 'Postal services' domain with zero investments. The high share of ICT-based PPI investments made by procurers operating in the '**Education, recreation, culture and religion**' domain (17%) is considerably higher than the European average (9%), while investments made by procurers in the '**Healthcare and social services**' domain (7) are considerably below the European average (30%).

#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>828</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>·</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

<sup>•</sup> Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**Procurers at local level** account for the smallest portion of the total amount of ICT-based PPI investments (12%), but still above the European average (10%). **Procurers at regional level** represent the highest share of the ICT-based PPI investments at sub-national level (43%), more than double the European average (21%).

Conversely, **national level procurers** account for only 45% of ICT-based PPI, significantly below the European average (69%).

# **United Kingdom**



#### NATIONAL POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR INNOVATION PROCUREMENT

#### Governance and legal framework

Public procurement in the UK is governed by the Public Contract Regulation 2016 (for England Wales and Northern Ireland) and the Public Contracts (Scotland) Regulation 2006. These regulation implements into UK law the EU Directive 2014/24/EU, 2014/23/EU and the Directive 2014/25/EU. The <u>Defence and Security Public Contracts</u> <u>Regulations (DSPCR) 2011</u>, transposed the EU Directive 2009/81/EC.

The United Kingdom has a semi-centralised public procurement structure. Contracting authorities, i.e. government departments and agencies, local authorities, devolved administrations and non-departmental public bodies, are responsible for their own procurement.

The **Crown Commercial Service (CCS)** acts as the central purchasing body at national level, and is designed to increase public procurement value for money by aggregating purchasing power, providing advice and support to government departments, and having the lead on procurement policy on behalf of the UK government. In addition, **several administrations** act as central purchasing bodies at regional and local levels. While technically not part of the expenditure cycle, the independent **National Audit Office (NAO)** performs an important role in the procurement system. Specifically, it carries out oversight activity focused on verifying value for money. Although the NAO does not publish annual reports, their findings are reported to Parliament, which can in turn be used to hold government departments to account.

**Local Authorities** are responsible for their own procurement decisions, subject to public procurement law. In this context, the **Local Government Improvement and Development** supports improvement and innovation in local government, for instance through the Regional Improvement and Efficiency Partnerships programme (which has a procurement work stream).

In the field of science and innovation, the **UK Research and Innovation agency (UKRI)** is the newly established national funding body investing in science and research at national level. It operates with a budget of more than £6 billion, UKRI brings together the 7 Research Councils, Innovate UK and Research England. UKRI is an executive nondepartmental public body, sponsored by the <u>Department for Business</u>, <u>Energy & Industrial Strategy</u>, supported by <u>seven</u> <u>agencies and public bodies</u>. **Innovate UK** is the agency that manages the **Small Business Research Initiative (SBRI)**<sup>829</sup>, a competition-based innovation programme which procures R&D from companies to develop innovative solutions for public sector challenges.

At local level, **The Local Government Association (LGA)** has promoted the role of strategic procurement in reshaping and transforming service delivery, as well as ensuring value for money and making a positive impact on local, regional and national businesses and jobs.

#### **Innovation Procurement Policy Framework Benchmarking (2018)**

In the benchmarking of the national innovation procurement policy frameworks across Europe, **the UK is at the 9<sup>th</sup> position** of the overall ranking with a **total score of 35,4%**. Out of the 30 countries analysed, the UK is among the group of good performers in implementing a set of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement. Having implemented 35,4% of the policy measures to roll-out a comprehensive policy framework for innovation procurement, there is however still a significant reinforcement of the policy framework needed in the UK to reach its full 100% potential.



<u>Strengths</u>: Some horizontal and sectorial policies embed innovation procurement among their strategic objectives. There is quite some practical experience already in the UK with innovation procurement. Default IPR allocation regime that fosters innovation is anchored in the general terms and conditions for government contracts

<u>Weaknesses:</u> There is no dedicated action plan for innovation procurement, nor spending target or monitoring system

<sup>829</sup> https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/sbri-the-small-business-research-initiative#an-overview-of-sbri



In the UK, official definitions for innovation procurement and PPI do not exist both in the legal framework and in guideline documents, while an official definition of R&D is available in the defence sector and a definition of PCP is provided by a national guidance. As a result, the total score of this indicator is 53%.

The Public Contract Regulation (2016) defines **innovation** in Part I Article 2(1) as "the implementation of a new or significantly enhanced product, service or process, including but not limited to processes of production, construction or construction, a new method of placing on the market or a new method of organization in business practice, organization of workplace or external relations among others to help address social challenges or to support the Europe 2020 strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth ". This definition is in line with the EU definition and is country-wide applicable. As there is no definition of innovation procurement though, the total score for this sub-indicator innovation procurement is 35%.

For non-defence procurements, article 14 under Part II of the public procurement regulation (2016) identifies **R&D** via the CPV codes for fundamental research, applied research and experimental development in line with the CPV codes for R&D in the EU public procurement directives. For defence procurers, Part I, article 3(b) of the <u>Defence and Security</u> <u>Public Contracts Regulations</u> defines R&D as "all activities comprising fundamental research, applied research and experimental development but does not include the making and qualification of pre-production prototypes, tools and industrial engineering, industrial design or manufacture". This definition of R&D is coherent with the EU legislation but is only applicable in the defence sector. Thus, the total score of this sub-indicator R&D procurement accounts for 90%.

Article 14 in Part II of the Public Procurement Regulation (2016) transposes the exemption for R&D services and forms the legal basis for the development of **PCP** in the country. The regulation "*applies to public service contracts in the area of R&D only if (a) the benefits accrue exclusively to the contracting authority for its use in the conduct of its own affairs, and (b) the service provided is wholly remunerated by the contracting authority." UK national guidance provides a PCP definition which is applicable to all public procurers in the country but is not fully in line with the EU definition. As there is no official definition of PCP though, the total score of the sub-indicator PCP is 50%.* 

Article 76(8) of the public contracts regulation enables public procurers to implement **PPI** by allowing public procurers to the award contracts taking into account any relevant considerations, including innovation. As there is no official definition for PPI through, the total score for this sub-indicator PPI is 35%.

Although definitions are not embedded in the legal framework, the UK has extensively used innovation procurement instruments and procedures using definitions similar to the EU definitions. For example, in the SBRI (Small Business Research Initiative) framework, a PCP like R&D procurement is used.

In addition, in 2006 the Country introduced the Forward Commitment Procurement (FCP) procedure, which was an early market engagement tool that created the conditions needed to deliver innovative, cost effective products and services. The notion of FCP is in line with the notion of PPI. In brief, FCP provided the supply chain with information of specific unmet needs and, critically, with the incentive of a forward commitment to start a procurement to buy a product or service that currently may not exist, at a specified future date, providing it could be delivered to agreed performance levels and costs. FCP provided the incentive, confidence and momentum for suppliers to invest and deliver innovative solutions and is composed by three stage, identification of needs, market engagement and the procurement phase.<sup>830</sup> The FCP is a policy from a past government which is no longer actively supported.



In the UK three horizontal policies recognise the strategic importance of innovation procurement: Economic Policy, Public Procurement Policy and Regional Policy. Therefore, the total score of the indicator "horizontal policy" is 43%.

The **government's public sector procurement policy**<sup>831</sup> promotes innovative approaches to public procurement (e.g. outcome-based specifications) among public procurers and commissioners to promote more innovation procurement.

**The Industrial Strategy White Paper** (2018)<sup>832</sup> includes improving public procurement among its 10 pillars, highlighting its potential as an innovation driver for the development of UK supply chains.<sup>833</sup> The strategy is connected with other horizontal and sectoral policies, such as R&D&I, and ICT.

The **national local government procurement strategy 2018**<sup>834</sup> puts forward harnessing innovation including supplier innovation in public procurement as key objective. The Local Government Association (LGA) promotes the role of strategic procurement in reshaping and transforming service delivery, as well as ensuring value for money and making a positive impact on local, regional and national businesses and jobs. In 2014, it published its advice in a national procurement strategy, which is now being revised for a relaunch in 2018. For LGA members, reduced budgets, high user expectations and demand issues are well rehearsed and there is a growing recognition of the role of procurement in encouraging innovative responses to meet these challenges. Since 2000, there have been new policy instruments and innovation project funding from the EU and the UK. In this environment, the National advisory group (NAG) agreed, at the beginning of 2016, to establish a working group (Group) to make recommendations on the policies and practices that local government could follow to encourage innovative procurement. The review cover goods and services, and also examine the innovative aspects of integrating social value into procurement.

Indicator 3- ICT polic	y		
Total score	50%	European Average	47%

In the field of ICT, the UK Government's **Digital strategy**<sup>835</sup> states that the government "will use public procurement more effectively to encourage better pre-market engagement, shaping specifications to take advantage where appropriate of the market's latest offerings and innovations, will make available a forward looking pipeline of digital work, updated quarterly to enable businesses to invest in capability and resources appropriately; and will encourage suppliers who are new to government (in particular SMEs) to undertake bidder training to lower the effective barrier to entry to the procurement market." Because of this indirect reference to innovation procurement, the score for this indicator is 50%.

<sup>830</sup> https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/32446/11-1054-forwardcommitment-procurement-buying-innovative-solutions.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>831</sup> https://www.gov.uk/guidance/public-sector-procurement-policy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>832</sup> https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/664572/industrial-strategywhite-paper-print-ready-version.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>883</sup> https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/664563/industrial-strategy-white-paper-webready-version.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>834</sup> https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/20180329%20National%20Procurement%20Strategy%202018%20-%20Consultation%20Draft%20-%20Main%20Text%20-%20Final%20WEB.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>835</sup> https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/government-digital-strategy/government-digital-strategy



In the UK, innovation procurement is embedded in five sectorial policies. The total score for this indicator is 50%.

The **public health England strategic plan**<sup>836</sup> outlines the commitment to continue smart procurement to create better value, enhanced used of technology and better supplier relationship management.

The UK department for transport' "how we buy" strategy<sup>837</sup> commits to purchase as much as possible by defining outputs / deliverables to encourage innovation. Transport Scotland's procurement strategy 2017-2020<sup>838</sup> also sets out stimulating innovation through public procurement as a key strategic objective.

The National Security Strategy and Strategic Defence and Security Review 2015<sup>839</sup> committed to increase the budget to support the procurement of innovative solutions to the challenges facing the Armed Forces.

The **sustainable procurement national action plan**<sup>840</sup> recognises the government's role in driving innovation forward in public procurement.

In the field of construction, the **Government Construction strategy**<sup>841</sup> specifies that a crucial objective of unlocking innovation and growth can be achieved by using the government purchasing power to drive changes in the industry, e.g. develop skills capacity and capability and government commitment to Building Information Modelling (BIM) Level 2.

# Indicator 5 – Action plan Total score 0% European Average 8%

Today the UK does not have a dedicated Action Plan for innovation procurement.

In 2008 the UK included in the White Paper entitled "Innovation Nation" the development of an innovation procurement action plan (IPP). The IPP had two main objectives, (i) to give ministries "an opportunity to fundamentally think about their procurement practices and to consider how these might be improved or used to drive innovation" and (ii) to "[set] out how departments will embed innovation at the heart of procurement practices". The IPPs provided an indication of the types of activities being carried out by departments to obtain innovative solutions and a plan to embed processes for the procurement of innovation in their procurement procedures. An IPP development document was produced in May 2010, building on the original IPP guidance, to update on recent developments and suggest areas for departments to focus on when revising their Plans. The initial IPPs were valuable to a certain degree in identifying the extent to which innovative procurement is already effectively embedded into current practices. However, overall, the plans did not demonstrate how departments would use procurement to really drive innovation through specific opportunities. The House of Lords Committee report (2011)<sup>842</sup> further highlighted a lack of measurable objectives, which made it difficult to assess whether the department had delivered its stated objectives. To this end, the government decided to discontinue the requirement for IPPs as part of the wider programme of reform of government procurement. As a result, today there is no current published public procurement innovation strategy from the new government administration.

Indicator 6 – Spending	g target		
Total score	0%	European Average	11%

In UK there is no national spending target for all types of innovation procurement.

<sup>836</sup> https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/516985/PHE\_Strategic\_plan\_2016.pdf

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>837</sup> https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/414065/dft-how-we-buy.pdf
 <sup>838</sup> https://www.transport.gov.scot/media/10315/transport-scotland-procurement-strategy-2017-2020.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/478936/52309\_Cm\_9161\_ NSS\_SD\_Review\_PRINT\_only.pdf

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{840}{https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69417/pb11710-procuring-the-future-060607.pdf$ 

<sup>841</sup> https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/government-construction-strategy-2016-2020

 $<sup>\</sup>overset{\textbf{842}}{\underline{\text{https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld201012/ldselect/ldsctech/148/14802.htm}}$ 

Only in the framework of the Small Business Innovation Research Programme (SBRI), spending targets were set for six departments for 2013/2014 and 2014/2015.



The UK does not have a comprehensive and structured system for measuring innovation procurement expenditure or evaluating the impacts of completed innovation procurements. Monitoring and evaluation activities are so far implemented only on a case-by-case basis.

Regular measurement and evaluation assessments are carried out for the activities implemented within the SBRI Programme. In 2014, an analysis of SBRI was conducted by Manchester Institute of Innovation Research (MIoIR) with the European Research Council and OMB Research.<sup>843</sup> Afterwards, an independent evaluation of the programme was commissioned, and the final report with recommendations on increasing the impact of the programme was published in November 2017.<sup>844</sup>

The total score of both sub-indicators is 25%, because evaluation and measurement activities are carried out in a nonstructured way and only for a subset of innovation procurements (i.e. only for SBRI type R&D procurements) and not for all public procurers across the whole country (i.e. only those that participate in SBRI).

Therefore, the total score of the overall indicator monitoring system is 25%.



The UK provides only non-financial incentives to public procurers in the area of innovation procurement.

There are no **financial incentives** in the UK to encourage public procurers to undertake innovation procurements. The total score of the sub-indicator financial incentives is therefore 0%. With regard to **non-financial incentives**, each public procurer has KPIs to achieve, which set mainly cost reduction but also quality improvement targets for public authorities at all levels (e.g. CO<sub>2</sub> reduction), and these drive forward innovation procurement in the UK. The total score for the sub-indicator personal incentives is 100%. The total score of the indicator incentives is 50%.

#### Indicator 9 – Capacity building and assistance measures

Total score	3	5%		European	Average	24%	
	Existence	Connection with relevant international/ EU initiatives	Free of charg e	Covering all types and aspects of innovation procurement	Available and applicable to all public procurers in the country	Mainstreamin g Innovation procurement at a large scale	Sub- total score
Central website							0%
Good practices	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		50%
Trainings/ workshops	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	83%
Handbooks/ guidelines	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		67%
Assistance to public procurers	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$				33%
Template tender documents	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				50%
Coordination / pre-approval							0%

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>843</sup> https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-evaluation-of-the-small-business-research-initiative

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{844}{https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/leveraging-public-procurement-to-grow-the-innovation-economy-an-independent-review-of-the-small-business-research-initiative-sbrient$ 

Networking of procurers	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		33%
One-stop-shop / competence centre				0%

The **Crown Commercial Service** provides guidance<sup>845</sup> to public procurers across the UK which includes guidance on encouraging innovation in public procurement. The **guidance and template contract documents**<sup>846</sup> recommend making wider use of prior information notice to promote early market engagement, use output-based specifications and leave IPR ownership with suppliers to encourage innovative companies to participate in tenders. Over 200 **training sessions**<sup>847</sup> were also provided since the introduction of the new public procurement directives. The guidance and training do not cover all types of innovation procurement (e.g. PCP is missing). Scores for sub-indicators guidance and training are 67% and 83% respectively.

Within the SBRI framework, Innovate UK also provides **templates of standard contracts** to contacting authorities, as well as **support in the dissemination** of the competition, e.g. support in the organisation of events and webinars when the competition is launched. Furthermore, if a department is interested to use the SBRI, Innovate UK provides free of charge **technical assistance** to undertake innovation procurements. Another capacity building measure carried out by Innovate UK is the SBRI Practitioner Community of Practice, which provides a **forum to share SBRI practices and network** across government departments. The technical assistance, the networking activities and the tender templates are only available to procurers involved in SBRI and do not cover all types of innovation procurement. The respective score of the sub-indicators are 33%, 33% and 50%.

The BIS Department published a guideline with **good practice examples on the use and implementation of Forward Commitment Procurement** "Delivering best value through innovation. Practical Pathways to Buying Innovative Solutions"<sup>848</sup>. Trainings on innovation procurement are still offered by different professional and trade bodies, e.g. the Chartered Institute of Purchasing and Supply, the Society of Procurement Officers (SOPO) and the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. As these good practice examples are limited to the UK, do not cover all types of innovation procurement and are not addressing how to scale up innovation procurements the score for sub-indicator good practices is 50%.

On the basis of the evidence collected above, the total score for this indicator is 37%. The score is affected by the fact that there is no dedicated national guidance on all aspects of innovation procurement, that available case examples do not cover all types of innovation procurement, there is no national coordination for the implementation of innovation procurements and capacity building initiatives on innovation procurement, including networking of procurers, are usually not conceived to mainstream innovation procurement at large scale in the country. A central dedicated website, competence centre and dedicated training sessions on innovation procurement are not offered. References to recent EU initiatives (e.g. Eafip, procure2innovative network of competence centres, European initiative to benchmark national policy frameworks for innovation procurement across Europe, EU guidance on innovation procurement, EU funding opportunities for innovation procurements (e.g. H2020, ESIF, EIB) and recent EU funded projects (e.g. Horizon 2020 funded projects) are missing also in most capacity building measures.

#### Indicator 10 – Innovation friendly public procurement market



I - Specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement





This indicator synthetises to what extent the national public procurement market encourages the implementation of Innovation procurement. The indicator is composed of two sub-indicators that show evidence on

#### I. the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in public procurement in UK and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>845</sup> <u>https://www.gov.uk/guidance/public-sector-procurement-policy</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>846</sup> https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/677891/MSC\_Guidance\_V1.0. pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>847</sup> <u>https://www.gov.uk/guidance/transposing-eu-procurement-directives</u>

<sup>848</sup> https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/32446/11-1054-forward-commitment-procurement-buying-innovative-solutions.pdf

II. the openness of the national public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market

With regard to sub-indicator I, the UK shows the following evidence:

- Default IPR regime: The score for this sub-indicator is 75% because the UK law on public procurement does not define a default regime for IPR allocation between procurers and suppliers but the Crown Commercial Services' guidance and model public procurement contracts<sup>849</sup> outline the UK government's policy on IPR allocation in public procurement: "IPR should rest with the part that is best able to exploit it and reminds public procurers that demanding public ownership of all IPR may be seen as a disincentive for submitting offers in the first place. Unless otherwise provided for in the contract, the IPR will vest in and remain the property of its recognised owner and the public procurer will acquire a license to use. The aim of this overarching policy is to achieve the best value for money for the government. Ownership of IPR carries responsibility for its protection and the potential liabilities should there be a claim from a third party that the IPR infringes their own IPR. These responsibilities can have significant cost and risk implications. Exploitation of IPR, for example the charging and collection of associated 'royalty' payments, requires commercial skill and resource. Government departments often do not have this, nor is the commercial exploitation of IPR usually part of their core business". In cases where the government wants to make software after the procurement available as open source, it can acquire all IPR developed during the procurement. The policy recommended to reflect carefully whether this is really needed because it would be too expensive to use as general approach for all contracts. Also in the field of defence, the UK Ministry of Defence's Intellectual Property policy850 states that in general intellectual property can be best exploited by the contractor that generates it, therefore the default rule is that the ownership of IPR will be left with the contractor unless the specific circumstances of the case require otherwise. All above provisions were made in compliance with UK copyright law<sup>851</sup> which determines that copyright (both moral and economic rights) can be assigned by the creator to other parties (e.g. via a public procurement contract). Copyright law protects also scientific work, software and database rights.
- b. **Use of value for money award criteria**: According to the Single Market Scoreboard, 88% of the public procurement procedures are awarded taking into account quality criteria in addition to the lowest price criteria. The UK is the top performer across the 30 countries analysed in using value for money award criteria
- c. **Use of variants**: The UK has allowed the use of variants in the 10% of the procedures. This percentage is well above the European average.
- d. **Preliminary Market Consultations:** The UK has used Preliminary Market Consultations in the 21% of the procedures. This percentage is above the European average of 9%.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator I is 49% which is well above the European average of 23%

With regard to sub-indicator II, the UK shows the following evidence (based on the EU single market scoreboard):

- e. **Level of competition**: The overall level of competition is 83% which is slightly below the European average 84% and below the 93% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly due to the below average proportion of procurements with more than one bidder (68%). The percentage of procurements for which a call for bids was used (97%) is above European average and above the satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.
- f. **Level of Transparency**: The level of transparency is 14% which is significantly below the European average 45% and below the 66% satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly due to the lack of clear information provided to bidders: very low portion of procurement procedures without missing buyer registration numbers (2%) and low portion of procurements also without missing call for bids information (34%). The TED publication rate (4,9) is above European average but below the satisfactory level set by the EU single market scoreboard.

Based on this evidence, the score for sub-indicator II is 48% which is below the European average of 65% and below the satisfactory level 79% set by the EU single market scoreboard. This is mainly due to the scarce transparency of the national public procurement system.

Based on the scores for sub-indicators I and II, the total score for the indicator "innovation friendly public procurement market" is 48% which is above the 44% European average but still below the satisfactory level for the total of the EU single market indicators. This score is explained firstly by the fact that the use of specific techniques to foster innovation in the country is well above European average but the openness of the UK public procurement market to innovations from across the EU single market is below the European average. Indeed, the country is promoting a default IPR regime in public procurement that fosters innovation and value for money criteria are widely used in public procurements. Secondly, the use of variants and the use of Preliminary Market Consultation in procurement procedures is significantly above the European average. However, the national public procurement market shows a level of competition and transparency that are below the European average.

<sup>849</sup> https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/677891/MSC\_Guidance\_ V1.0.pdf

<sup>850</sup> https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/490095/20150319-MOD\_IPR\_Policy\_Statement.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>851</sup> <u>http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/text.jsp?file\_id=451097</u>

#### 2. INVESTMENTS ON PUBLIC PROCUREMENT OF INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

#### **Investment benchmarking (2018)**

The investment benchmarking contains two parts: the benchmarking of all British investments on public procurements of innovative solutions (PPI) and the benchmarking of British investments on public procurements of innovative solutions that are based on Information and Communication Technologies (ICT-based PPI). Data about defence procurement is excluded from all figures and graphs, for confidentiality reasons.

#### Ranking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI), excl. defence

With 11,2% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions in the classical and utilities sectors (i.e. € 46,6 bn), **the United Kingdom ranks 5<sup>th</sup>** in the benchmarking of investments on public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)<sup>852</sup> across Europe. The United Kingdom falls within the group of **good performer**s, above the European average of 9,3%.<sup>853</sup> However, **a significant increase of investments in PPI is still needed** to reach the level of 17% of public procurement devoted to purchasing innovative solutions that would enable a full-speed modernisation of the British public sector.<sup>854</sup> When taking into account also PPI in the defence sector the UK moves up to the 4<sup>th</sup> position.



The main factors<sup>855</sup> explaining the United Kingdom's good performance in the PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental innovations

The share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of **incremental innovations** (4%) - which includes the purchase of 'existing solutions that are used in a new way or in a new sector' as well as 'innovative combinations of existing solutions', is significantly below the European average (16%). This is because the share of PPI investments spent on the adoption of **transformative innovations** in UK (96%) **is significantly above the European average** (84%). This is thanks to the adoption of a large share of 'significantly improved' solutions (81%). As the share of 'new the

 $<sup>^{852}</sup>$  Public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) includes procurements that purchase innovative solutions (without buying the prior development of such solutions) as well as procurements that purchase both R&D and the resulting innovative solution. To the contrary, it does not include public procurements that purchase only R&D. The total amount of innovation procurement in the country – namely the amount of R&D procurement plus the amount of PPI – is therefore higher than the amount of PPI presented in this benchmarking. The EC's estimation of the amount of R&D procurement across Europe and the total amount of innovation procurement (R&D + PPI) across Europe can be found here on the EU webpages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>853</sup> All European averages presented in the sections on investments on PPI and ICT-based PPI are weighted averages of the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study (27 Member States, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>854</sup> It is estimated that a healthy economy needs approximately 20% of its public procurement to be devoted to innovation – including 3% of R&D procurement and 17% of PPI – to reach a sufficient level of early adopters that are needed to encourage the rest of the market to widely adopt the innovations afterwards (Commission notice on innovation procurement C(2018)3051, based on Bell innovation curve).
<sup>855</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit PPI, except if otherwise indicated

market' solutions is much higher in leading countries, further effort to improve this point may be important for improving the position of the UK in the future.

Of all transformative technologies, ICTs have the largest impact on public sector modernisation and economic growth because they are key enabling technologies that boost quality and efficiency gains across all domains of public sector activity. Despite a good performance in the adoption of innovative ICTs, **further investments in the adoption of ICT-based innovations would help** the UK achieve a full-speed modernisation of the public sector. This aspect is addressed in more detail in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments in the next section.

# 4% - Transformative PPI - Incremental PPI 96%

Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**All domains of public sector activity**<sup>856</sup> **in the UK purchased innovative solutions.** The shares of PPI investments by different public sector domains out of total PPI investments in the country are **mostly in line with the European averages** (no shifts of more than 3pp from the European average in 6 out of 11 domains). Exceptions are the shares of PPI investments made by British procurers in the **'Healthcare and social services**' and **'General public services, public administration and economic and financial affairs**' domains that considerably deviate from the European average: the former in positive direction (+25 pp), the latter in the negative direction (-10 pp). The shares of investments from other domains such as **'Public transport**' and **'Energy**' (both -5 pp) as well as **'Water'** (+2 pp) and **'Public order, safety and security**' (+4 pp) deviate to a smaller extent from the European averages. The share of investments in **'Postal services**' was very small (0,1%).

Domain of public sector activity	United Kingdom	European average	Difference (in pp)
General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs	25%	35%	-10
Public transport	5%	10%	-5
Healthcare and social services	46%	21%	+25
Energy	1%	6%	-5
Environment	0%	3%	-3
Construction, housing and community amenities	1%	4%	-3
Education, recreation, culture and religion	4%	5%	-1
Water	6%	4%	+2
Public order, safety and security	12%	8%	+4
Postal services	0% (0,1%)	1%	-1
Other	1%	3%	-2
Total PPI investments	100%	100%	-

PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

PPI investments by type of innovation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>856</sup>The table presenting the breakdown by domain of public sector activity does not reflect the type of solutions that are being procured but the type of public procurer that is buying them. For example, a PPI in which a public transport procurer buys an innovative health solution is classified under the domain of public sector activity "Public transport" and not under "Healthcare and social services".

#### **Risk adverseness in requesting innovations & Openness to unsolicited innovative proposal** Explicit PPI vs. Implicit PPI investments (as % of the total amount of PPI)



The share of **explicit PPI** investments (when a public procurer explicitly requests an innovative solution in the call for tenders) is lower in the United Kingdom (16%) compared to the European average (29%). This indicates that British procurers may be more risk-adverse in requesting innovative solutions compared to the European average.

The share of **implicit PPI** investments (when a procurer does not explicitly request an innovative solution, but the tenderer proposes it on its own initiative in its offer) is higher in the United Kingdom (84%) compared to the European average (71%). This indicates that British procurers may tend to be more open to accepting unsolicited innovative proposals from tenderers compared to the European average.

#### Level of publication of PPI towards potential suppliers

Published PPI vs. Unpublished PPI investments (as % of the amount of explicit PPI)



The share of British PPI investments for which calls for tenders are published (53%) is considerable, and significantly above the European average (22%). In particular, the portion that is **published at European** level in the TED database (52%) is significantly above the European average (18%) while the portion that is **published at national level** is marginal (1%) and below the European average (5%). The share of PPI investments for which no call for tenders are published in TED or at national level is still high (47%).

By not publishing calls for tenders almost half of its PPI investments, **the United Kingdom is missing out on potential innovative solutions** that could speed up public sector modernisation, both from British and other European innovative suppliers that are not informed about the British PPI business opportunities.

### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

PPI investments by level of public sector activity



More than two thirds of the total PPI in the United Kingdom are carried out by **large-scale entities at national level** (68%), such as ministries and ICT integrators of governments departments. This is considerably above the European average (47%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for a small share of PPI investments (7%), well below the European average (24%). To the contrary, **procurers at local level** account for a higher fraction of PPI investments at sub-national level (25%), yet still below the European average (29%). This may indicate that especially procurers at subnational level could still improve their performance on adopting innovations.

## Ranking of investments on public procurements that adopt innovative ICT-based solutions (ICT-based PPI), excl. defence

The British public sector shows a **moderate level of performance** in terms of the adoption of innovative solutions that are based on ICTs (ICT-based PPI investment). With  $\\mathcal{C}$  1,9 bn or 5,4% of total public procurement invested in innovative ICT-based solutions, **the UK ranks 4th** in the benchmarking of ICT-based PPI investments, clearly above the European average (3,5%). Also in terms of the share of public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) that is invested in ICT based solutions (48%), the United Kingdom performs above the European average (38%). However, **a significant increase of investments in buying innovative ICT-based solutions is still needed** to reach the level of devoting 10% of total public procurement and 60% of public procurement of innovative solutions in the country to the purchase of ICT-based innovations, which would enable the UK to fully capitalise on the transformative power of ICT to speed up public sector modernisation and to boost economic growth and competitiveness.<sup>857</sup>



The **main factors**<sup>858</sup> explaining the United Kingdom's moderate performance in the ICT-based PPI benchmarking are:

#### Adoption of transformative versus incremental ICT-based innovations

The share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **incremental ICT-based innovations**<sup>859</sup> in the UK is very small (3%). That is because the share of ICT-based PPI investments that is spent on the adoption of **transformative ICT-based innovations** in the UK (97%) is **considerably above the European average** (79%). However, it consists primarily of 'significantly improved solutions' (74%) and more limitedly of 'new to the market' solutions (22%). As the share of 'new the market' solutions is much higher in leading countries, further effort to improve this point may be important for improving the position of the UK in the future.

#### ICT-based PPI investments by type of innovation



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>857</sup> It is estimated that for a healthy economy to fully capitalise on the adoption of innovative ICT solutions to optimise public sector modernisation and its impact on economic growth and competitiveness, two thirds of PPI – or 10% of total public procurement – should be spent on innovative ICT-based solutions (in leading economies, ICT is responsible for two thirds of productivity / economic growth and two thirds of PPI are also allocated to the adoption of innovative ICT based solutions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>858</sup> The graphs in the section are showing results for each factor as % of the amount of published explicit ICT-based PPI <sup>859</sup> See definition above.

#### Adoption of innovations from different ICT sub-sectors

ICT-based PPI investments by ICT sub-sector



#### Investment readiness across different domains of public sector activity

**Every domain of public sector activity in the UK purchased innovative ICT-based solutions.** In particular, the highest share of ICT-based PPI investments was made by procurers that operate in the domain of '**Healthcare and social services**' (57% against a 30% European average) followed by procurers in the '**Public order, safety and security**' domain (24% against a European average of 19%).



#### ICT-based PPI investments by domains of public sector activity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>860</sup> The three ICT sub-sectors are:

<sup>•</sup> Core ICT: includes IT and telecom hardware and software that are used for mainstream IT and telecommunication purposes

<sup>•</sup> Content and Media: includes printed and audiovisual hardware and software

<sup>•</sup> ICT Plus: includes ICT hardware and software for ancillary purposes such as measurement and detection applications in different vertical markets like health, transport, security markets etc.

#### Investment readiness across levels of public sector activity

ICT-based PPI investments by level of public sector activity



**National level procurers** account for 91% of ICT-based PPI investments, significantly above the European average (69%).

**Procurers at regional level** account for the lowest share of the ICT-based PPI at sub-national level (5%), considerably below the European average (21%). Similarly, **local procurers** account for only a modest fraction of ICT-based PPI (5%), still below the European average (10%). This may indicate that especially procurers at subnational level could still improve their performance on adopting ICT-based innovations.

## 9.2 Annex II – PPI case examples per country

This Annex presents a list of case examples with one public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) for each country analysed in the Study. For each case example, the following sections have been developed:

- i) The **background** context: what has led the public procurer to start the PPI;
- ii) **The procurement need** that the procurer wanted to address with the PPI;
- iii) The **procurement procedure** followed by the procurer;
- iv) Main **results and impacts** for the procurer, and, where available, for the supplier.

Evidence was mainly collected through desk research activities. In some cases, it has been complemented with short interviews with national procurers. Please note that the case examples have been written between September and December 2019, reporting the information available in that period, with the exceptions of the cases coming from Norway, Poland and Slovakia which have been developed in the period September – November 2020.

In this section, the 30 case examples are described one by one, following the order provided in the table below.

Country	Name of the procurement
Austria	Wastewater recycling system for the Austrian Mint
Belgium	Application of Artificial Intelligence to job-matching system in the Flemish Public Employment Service
Bulgaria	Specialized vehicle, surveillance drone and personal protective equipment for forest fire fighting
Croatia	Lighting solution for the Municipality of Župa Dubrovnik
Cyprus	Creation of the Department of Lands and Surveys Web Portal
Czech Republic	Virtual autopsy table
Denmark	Intelligent Street Lighting
Estonia	X-Road project
Finland	Purchase of lightweight, full electric buses in Helsinki
France	HAPPI Project
Germany	Magnetic-card system
Greece	Smart Policing Systems
Hungary	Helicopter Crew Tactical Training Simulator
Ireland	Procurement of solar powered, compacting litter bins
Italy	Servizio Luce 4 (Lighting Services 4 <sup>th</sup> ) - National framework contract for sustainable and innovative lighting
Latvia	Steam Explosion Pilot Plant of the Institute of Wood Chemistry
Lithuania	Construction of a combined heat and power plant
Luxembourg	SATMED – a worldwide e-health platform
Malta	Catering Services to Inpatients at Mater Dei Hospital

Netherlands	Procuring textiles made from recycled fibres
Norway	Chatbot with artificial intelligence
Poland	Delivery of ultrasound machines for the Provincial Specialist Healthcare Team in Wrocław
Portugal	Unmanned aerial systems and ancillary equipment
Romania	Implementation of a Big Data platform and information analysis capabilities
Slovakia	Deep renovation and modernization of an apartment building on Pavla Horova Street 17- 19 in Bratislava (part of the <i>EU-GUGLE Project</i> )
Slovenia	Upgrade of the Ljubljana Regional Waste Management Centre
Spain	Treatment of patients with automated implantable cardioverter defibrillator (AICD)
Sweden	Disposable bio-based aprons for Skåne's healthcare sector
Switzerland	Recycled concrete and asphalt for building and road construction
United Kingdom	Innovative lighting procurement for London's Underground network

Γ

•

Austria	
Title	Wastewater recycling system for the Austrian Mint
Value	€600.000
Sector	General public services, public admin. and economic and financial affairs
Publication and award	The contract notice was published in 2014 (TED n. 2014/S 081-141039. The contract was awarded to <i>Schell GmbH</i> , <i>KO KG italschell Srl</i> and <i>Ginzler Stahl-</i> & <i>Anlagenbau GmbH</i> (AT)
Name of public procurer	Austrian Mint - Münze Österreich
Type of public procurer	National
Type pf contract	Services

**Background**: The Austrian Mint is a public limited company subsidiary of the Austrian Central Bank and responsible for minting Austrian coins. The company produces around 450 million coins every year. The Austrian Mint was confronted with a problem not unusual for the metalworking industry: the wastewater was polluted by the metal, which made it impossible to comply with criteria for discharging water. In addition, the ISO 14001 certification was planned, which meant that additional requirements had to be met. The production of coins required to treat contaminated water chemically before disposal. For this reason, the Austrian Mint was looking for a new solution able to treat the "residual water" left over from the production of coins.

Areas of need. The procurement need identified by the public procurer included:

- Reducing the environmental impact of the coin production, as treated water contained amounts of chemicals which exceeded legal limits.
- Increasing the number of effective wastewater infrastructures to fulfil increasingly stringent requirements of the Urban Wastewater Treatment Directive (UWWTD Directive)

**Procurement description**. The Mint requested assistance from Austria's Federal Procurement Agency (BBG) for the preparation of the tender. Before the tender was launched, an analysis of the market was conducted to identify potential technologies available on the market. The market research identified three type of possible technologies to address the issue:

- chemical treatment of wastewater
- filtration
- vaporization

The Austrian Mint came to the conclusion that a vaporization system would be the most sustainable solution and would also allow to meet its ISO 14001 requirements.

The procurer used a negotiated procurement procedure with MEAT award criteria that was split into three main phases. During the first phase, potential suppliers were invited to present their qualifications as a company, i.e. suppliers provided information on prior references of similar innovative solutions. Five suppliers developed a proposal fulfilling the procurers' requests. In the second phase the three most suitable suppliers were asked to submit an initial offer, which included a detailed concept and calculation of the envisaged life-cycle costs (LCC). The calculation included energy related and all maintenance costs, including cost of staff, cost for maintenance of resources, waste disposal costs and purchase costs. The companies were also provided with "residual water" to test their concept in practice. The practical test resulted in the development of a report providing detailed information on wastewater consumption and savings as well as the concentration of the waste filtered. The results of the testing process were then used to draw up contract performance clauses. As part of the procurer's requirements, it was essential that the chosen supplier guaranteed these values for a period of five years (this request resulted in the withdrawal of the third potential supplier from the procurement process). Based on the results of the second stage of the process, the two finalists were each invited to submit their definitive offers.

The procurer encouraged suppliers to submit innovative solutions by using functional specifications that do not prescribe the solution to be delivered, but instead the outcomes (functionalities, performance levels) to be achieved. With regard to functional specifications, the most relevant was the indication of the water pollution and the corresponding amount of wastewater per year. With regard to the award criteria used, the main criteria used were the Life Cycle Costing criteria (LCC) based on the net present value for a calculation time of five years. Additional points were awarded for the warranty time and reaction time for maintenance.

The winning supplier proposed a solution with innovative vacuum technology, which makes it possible to evaporate water even at low temperatures (40 ° C). In combination with a multi-stage heat process, water can be separated from chemicals and impurities and used immediately as cooling water. With a planned compression ratio of 1:40, the fresh-water consumption can thus be reduced by up to 97%. At the same time, the residual waste is compressed, making the reuse easier.

**Results**: The procured solution allowed to achieve a number of positive outcomes:

- Saving about 4000 m<sup>3</sup> of clean drinking water per year, reducing water consumption by 97%;
- Easing the recycle and reuse process by compression of residual waste;
- Lower noise and material emissions, important requirement for protected historic buildings;
- The lowest possible long-term total costs (including energy, supplies and working hours of the required operating personnel).

The procedure required extensive cooperation between the organisations involved (BBG and the Austrian Print and Mint Services GmbH) both during the pre-procurement and the procurement phases. This is considered a key success factor as it allowed to identify an efficient and effective solution. Other two relevant success factors are:

- the openness of all participants involved in undertaking a new approach to public procurement;
- the request to include the envisaged LCC calculations in the offer.

Thanks to these factors, the identified solution was not the cheapest in monetary terms but emerged for being the most economically convenient over the contract's lifetime.

Positive wider market outcomes are also reported. The implemented solution can filter a wide range of particles, such as food, metals, ink, and it can be used for waste recycling systems. Therefore, it has the significative advantage that can be used in a variety of industries and sectors. In addition, the intellectual property rights of the system purchased have remained with the supplier, thus any other organisation can access the solution on the market.

Sources and more information available at:: Link 1, Link 2, Link 3
Belgium	
Title	Application of Artificial Intelligence to job-matching system in the Flemish Public Employment Service
Value	N/A
Sector	Other: job placement and vocational services
Publication and award	The contract was awarded in 2018 to <i>Radix.ai</i> (a Belgian start-up) that was a subcontractor of <i>Cronos</i> under a framework contract for IT profiles and projects (2013/10290) for which the contract notice was published in TED in 2013.
Name of public procurer	Vlaamse Dienst voor Arbeidsbemiddeling en Beroepsopleiding (VDAB) - Extern Verzelfstandigd Agentschap ( <i>Flemish Employment and Vocational Training</i> <i>Service - External Autonomous Agency</i> )
Type of public procurer	Regional
Type of contract	Services
Value Sector Publication and award Name of public procurer Type of public procurer Type of contract	<ul> <li>N/A</li> <li>Other: job placement and vocational services</li> <li>The contract was awarded in 2018 to <i>Radix.ai</i> (a Belgian start-up) that was a subcontractor of <i>Cronos</i> under a framework contract for IT profiles and projects (2013/10290) for which the contract notice was published in TED in 2013.</li> <li>Vlaamse Dienst voor Arbeidsbemiddeling en Beroepsopleiding (VDAB) - Extern Verzelfstandigd Agentschap (<i>Flemish Employment and Vocational Training Service - External Autonomous Agency</i>)</li> <li>Regional</li> <li>Services</li> </ul>

**Background.** The Vlaamse Dienst voor Arbeidsbemiddeling en Beroepsopleiding (VDAB) is the employment and vocational training public service of Flanders, currently available for 4 million customers. Its main mission is to promote, ensure and organize employment, guidance and training services establishing a regional network of employers, employees and job seekers.

In recent years, the VDAB has been investing in the digitalization of its services to optimise its processes and achieve a more effective matching between the supply and demand side of the regional labour market. Since 2014, the VDAB has increasingly committed to the use of innovative solutions to deliver its services. For this reason, an Innovation Lab has been developed, seeking to harness human and digital competencies to become a driver of innovative solutions in the labour market field.

Through this Lab, the VDAB has financed pilot projects focusing on the opportunity to apply new technologies, such as Big Data analysis, Cognitive Computing or Artificial Intelligence, to its services. In this regard, this procurement aimed at complementing the existing online tool in use for job-matching system - a software called ELISE - using Artificial Intelligence (AI).

Areas of need. The procurer wanted to address the following challenges:

- Improving the matching process between job seeker's skills and experience and job vacancies;
- Enhancing market-oriented, competence-based labour market services;
- Giving a more tailored and intensive support to job seekers.

**Procurement description.** Before the launch of the procurement, the procurer carried out a market consultation to engage with companies with expertise in the field of AI applications. Among them, the start-up *Radix.ai* stood out for providing not only useful insights on the possible solution, but also offering a reliable demonstration of its application to matching systems. The procurer wanted to test if it would be possible to apply matching systems successfully to the challenge of job-matching. Therefore, a proof of concept was conducted, revealing that applying AI to job-matching systems could effectively work.

Shortly after, the VDAB launched a call off to the contractors in the framework contract to deliver an AI based self-learning solution for job-matching. In addition, an overall re-assessment of the existing online procedures for the registration of data, competences and skills of job-seekers in order to make them fine-tuned with the machine learning process was asked. The procurement used MEAT award criteria.

The company which had already run the proof of concept, *Radix.ai* together with *Cronos*, were awarded with the contract and delivered the first version of the AI-based job-matching system in mid-October 2018, integrating it in the VDAB online portal.

**Results:** The VDAB has integrated a solution of automated job-seeking based on AI. Job-seekers can now rely on a streamlined online registration process, where they can insert their skills and a large detail of preferences in autonomy. The AI-based solution developed through this procurement can analyse complex data and give outcomes which go beyond semantics or keywords. The self-learning AI solution uses deep-learning to make

recommendations to job candidates and employers not only based on people's CV/job description but also based on profile, preferences, the historical interest in similar jobs and the search behaviour on the website of other people with similar a profile. For example, instead of assuming that only people with an engineering degree would apply for an engineering job, the system learns over time that also people with other degrees have shown interest and successfully obtained a job as an engineer. This enables the system to inform employers about how many people including those that are not engineering could be good candidates for an engineering job. Other example, when a person mentions that he/she has been driving a truck before, the system will automatically recommend also jobs for truckers/transporters, even if the person did not specifically mention in his job application that he has a truck driver's license or is looking for a job as transporter. This enables the system to recommend a wider and more suitable portfolio of potentially interesting jobs to job candidates.

As the AI approach is performing the deep learning based on mathematical values – not language concepts - the job-matching system is now also language independent. As a result, it can link a Dutch CV to a vacancy written e.g. in French, English or German. This is especially helpful in a country with 3 official languages plus an active community of expatriates.

The process of matching job supply and demand is now automatic, unbiased and independent on official and certified qualifications. Human support given by the VDAB officers is still available but is left for other tasks, such as counselling sessions, data management and analysis, face-to-face advices. As the AI system can estimate which profiles have the highest chance to find a job within 6 months' time, this helps the human VDAB officers can focus their job counselling efforts in a more efficient way.

The development of an automated competence-based matching mechanism is expected to generate positive impact on the regional labour market. This mechanism helps both employers to adequately identify workers with requested skills as well as employees in putting their capabilities at work. It allows to bring supply and demand of labour closer, in less time.

The degree of autonomy left to job-seekers in describing their skills and preferences has also revealed as a driver of efficiency. It allowed to significantly reduce transaction costs associated to the job search, such as time-wasting procedures for registering at the office. Moreover, a self-description of competences and preferences can be more precise and significantly help the software to better target each job-seekers profile, allowing job-seekers to receive only the most interesting job proposals.

Overall, the digitalisation of processes concerning registration and competences description leads to considerable time savings for human activities, which are focused on tasks where VDAB employees can add value. For example, individual help in CV writing or in identifying competences or skills, counselling group sessions etc.

The solution has raised a lot of interests at national and international level. International institutions such as World Bank and OECD has declared that the VDAB commitment to the use of AI in this field could result in an international benchmark solution. Therefore, wider market impacts are expected both in Belgium and in other countries aiming at optimizing and orienting on competences their public job market services.

Sources and more information available at:: <u>Link 1, Link 2, Link 3, Link 4, Link 5</u>

Бицуана	
Title	Specialized vehicle, surveillance drone and personal protective equipment for forest fire fighting
Value	€ 181.600 (excluding VAT)
Sector	General public services, public admin. and economic and financial affairs
Publication and award	The contract notice 2017/S 111-222939 was published on TED on 13 June 2017. The contract was awarded on 31 October 2017 to <i>Bulauto AD</i> (BG)
Name of public procurer	Municipality of Kula
Type of public procurer	Local
Type of contract	Services

**Background**: The Bulgarian municipality of Kula is located in a mountainous and wooded area, which is frequently subject to forest fires. The municipal volunteer emergency response unit was facing serious obstacles in the prevention and intervention phases. Due to exposure to smoke, flame, and high temperatures, visual observations are usually ambiguous and incomplete while instrumental measurements are expensive and dangerous. In addition to this, decision-makers often have to take responsibilities and operate under considerable pressure and lack of time. Since forest fires are a largely unpredictable process, classical decision support approaches bring limited assistance, so the efficiency of forest fire operations strongly depends on the availability of monitoring and measurement tools.<sup>861</sup>

**Areas of need:** The municipal volunteer emergency response unit in the Municipality of Kula identified the following main challenges to be addressed:

- Develop more efficient tools to monitor and measure forest fire operations;
- Increase the effectiveness of forest fires prevention mechanism;
- Minimise errors in preventing and extinguishing forest fires.

**Procurement description**: In May 2017 – with the co-funding of the EU through the Interreg-IPA CBC Bulgaria–Serbia Programme 2014-2020 under project CB007.1.31.348 "Forest Fire Fighters" – the municipality of Kula published a prior information notice to inform of its intention to procure firefighting equipment for its emergency response unit. The following month, the contract notice was also published. The procurement was conducted as an open procedure, divided into three lots, which increases the opportunities also for smaller companies to participate in the call for tender:

- Lot 1 -for the supply of a specialized vehicle for forest fire fighting
- Lot 2 for the supply of a surveillance drone

7 •

• Lot 3- for the supply of personal protective equipment for firefighters, including 15 pieces of: fire extinguisher backpacks, fire beaters, personal radio stations, motor chainsaws, protective jackets, protective trousers, protective boots, gloves, fire extinguishers, air breathing equipment, personal lighting devices, and additional equipment for implementation of small local water network.

On the 31 October 2017, all three lots were awarded to the same provider, a local Bulgarian SME.

**Results**: The use of unmanned aerial vehicles (UAV) such as drones has allowed to perform long-time, monotonous, and repeated missions to patrol and monitor the possible existence of fires in the municipality of Kula. Moreover, being equipped with a range of relatively inexpensive sensors, drones detect potential ignitions, trigger an event to initialise further monitoring and also determine a fire's location and event, tracking its evolution. It is now possible to collect real-time information on fire spreading, potentially feeding into a model supporting decision-makers in tackling fires more quickly and accurately. Drones have also brought additional

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>861</sup> For a more detailed review of forest firefighting systems, see: V. Sherstjuk, M. Zharikova, I. Sokol, Forest Fire-Fighting Monitoring System Based on UAV team and Remote Sensing, Conference Paper, 2018 IEEE 38th International Conference on Electronics and Nanotechnology (ELNANO).

savings, preventing the financing of expensive missions – such as helicopter hovers and fly-bys – only to confirm and diagnose a fire.

Thus, the adoption of this solution has significantly improved the effectiveness and readiness of the volunteer emergency response unit in their aim to prevent and putting out forest fires in the Municipality of Kula. In the project the Municipality also coordinated the preparation of this procurement with the neighbouring region Boljevac (Serbia) to reduce discrepancies in the use of available technology and expertise across the neighbouring firefighting teams in order to remove barriers for cross-border cooperation in forest fire risk management and to increase the safety of the population and the national resources in the border area.

Furthermore, such solution can be adopted by other municipalities or regions facing the same issues, being accessible on the market. A wider market impact can reasonably be expected.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1

Croatia	
Title	Lighting solution for the Municipality of Župa Dubrovnik
Value	€ 180.000 (excluding VAT)
Sector	General public services, public admin. and economic and financial affairs
Publication and award	The contract notice was published in 2014. The contract was awarded on the criteria of lowest price and compliance with stringent environmental technical requirements.
Name of public procurer	Municipality of Župa Dubrovnik
Type of public procurer	Local
Type of contract	Services

**Background**: In 2014, the Municipality of Župa Dubrovnik – located in the county of Dubrovnik-Neretva in the south-east of Croatia – introduced a Sustainable Energy Action Plan (SEAP). The SEAP lays the groundwork for the Municipality's implementation of green public procurement. In this context, the Municipality decided to renew the public street lighting system. The previous lighting system was based on street light fixtures and high-pressure mercury lamps, and it was decided to replace it with a more sustainable one, emitting less light pollution, producing less greenhouse gas emissions as well as providing better visibility during the hours of darkness.

Areas of need. The Municipality identified three key areas of need:

- Increasing the quality of street lighting in the Municipality while reducing energy consumption.
- Improving public and traffic safety as well as traffic flow at night.
- Reducing CO2 consumption in the context of the Sustainable Energy Action Plan.

**Procurement description**: The Municipality decided to publish an open tender that included the replacement of the existing street light fixtures and high-pressure mercury lamps, with a new and more sustainable solution. For Župa Dubrovnik, this was the first green public procurement procedure within the scope of the SEAP.

The only award criteria included in this tender was the lowest price. However, the tender also presented multiple binding technical parameters, so that the proposed solutions *de facto* had to consist at least of the quality of modern LED lighting systems. Some of the parameters included were the Colour Rendering Index<sup>862</sup>, the Colour temperature (Kelvin) and the General lighting-efficiency (lumen/watt). However, a LED lighting solution was not specifically requested, so that, should an even better solution be available on the market, it could have also been offered as long as it met the requirements outlined in the technical specifications. In addition, the contract also included parameters to ensure that the components used for repair and maintenance activities meet the highest standards available on the market.

**Results**: The LED lighting solution awarded is an intelligent lighting solution that is programmed so that the lamps do not switch on until visibility reaches the minimum illumination level for street lightning required by law in Croatia. Furthermore, it reduces the power (wattage) and energy consumption in accordance with the intensity of natural lighting by an automatic controller regulation which is installed in the system.

Overall, 686 LED lamps were installed, having a positive impact on air, land and water pollution which was caused by the use of hazardous mercury. In comparison to the previous system, the new system has reduced the CO2 emissions due to street lighting by 36% (330,000 kWh per year to 210,000 kWh), saving the equivalent of 900 tonnes of CO2 over a 25-year period. Positive outcomes are also reported in terms of public spending: the new solution is enabling the Municipality save approximately  $\pounds$  13,800 per year at today's energy prices (currently 0.115 euro per kWh for street lighting). This estimate does not include the savings made from the reduced need to service light fixtures.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>862</sup> Measure used to estimate the ability of a light to accurately reveal the colours of various objects in comparison to an "ideal" or natural source

Cyprus	
Title	Creation of the Department of Lands and Surveys Web Portal
Value	€ 1.619.850 (excluding VAT). 85% of the project (not including costs for support, maintenance and certain procurement procedures) was co-financed by the EU European Regional Development Fund.
Sector	General public services, public admin. and economic and financial affairs
Publication and award	The contract notice was published on 26 March 2014 in TED ( $2015/S$ 005-005787). The contract was awarded on 08 January 2015 to <i>NetU Consultants Ltd</i> (CY).
Name of public procurer	Tmima Ktimatologioy kai Chorometrias (Department of Lands and Surveys)
Type of public procurer	National
Type of contract	Services

**Background.** The Department of Lands and Surveys (DLS) of the Cypriot Ministry of Interior is responsible for the provision of services in connection with all the rights relating to immovable property (cartography, tenure, land registration, etc.) and the management of all property belonging to the State. Therefore, it is the main source of data relating to property. The availability and accessibility of data is guaranteed both to the public sector and to businesses, stakeholders and citizens. Data collected cover the last century.

After the transposition into national legislation of the INSPIRE Directive<sup>863</sup> in 2010, and a critical review of the its implementation plan in 2015, Cyprus is in the process of further improving the overall conformity and compliance with it. According to the INSPIRE Directive, Member States shall ensure spatial data are stored, made available and maintained guaranteeing accessibility and security of data at the most appropriate level, creating an EU spatial data infrastructure.

The DLS thus focused on the implementation of a new IT Strategy, which included the creation of a DLS Web Portal allowing to easily benefit from a range of e-services, simplifying the burdensome administrative procedures to access information. In particular, one of the priorities was to modernise the existing Land Information System (LIS), a graphical cadastre that records a considerable amount of data on development, utilities, land use, water resources, geology, and even statistical data for population, industry, agriculture and planning.

Areas of need. The public procurer aimed at addressing the following needs:

- Increase the efficiency and reduce time-wasting procedures to access DLS services;
- Automate DLS procedures, increasing productivity;
- Redesign and simplify the LIS;
- Develop an IT customer-centric culture in the access to data of public administration;
- Ensure full compliance with the INSPIRE Directive.

**Procurement description.** The initial budget envisaged for the procurement consisted of over  $\\mathcal{C}$  1.8 million (excluding VAT), of which two thirds were devoted to the development of the necessary IT systems and the purchase of hardware and software. The remainder was envisaged for various other services, including optional maintenance, support and the development of additional applications.

The procurement followed an open procedure, and a total of 6 companies submitted an offer, including 3 from Cyprus, 2 from Italy and one from Spain. While the only criterion for the award of the contract was based on price, the evaluation of proposals lasted over two months and allowed to verify the adherence of all technical and quality requirements of the tender specifications. Only one company met all the requirements and was awarded the contract.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>863</sup> Directive 2007/2/EC of the European Parliament and the Council of 14 March 2007 establishing an Infrastructure for Spatial Information in the European Community (INSPIRE). The INSPIRE Directive sets the minimum conditions for interoperable sharing and exchange of spatial data across Europe as part of a larger European Interoperability Framework and the e-Government Action Plan that contributes to the Digital Single Market Agenda.

**Results.** The DLS Web Portal provides the following solutions, in adherence to the INSPIRE Directive, which were not available before its development:

- A dynamic front page with information on the Department and the services offered;
- The possibility to navigate to a property through a free online web application in real time;
- A tool to submit electronic applications, including for instance demarcation of boundaries, property searches and copies of title certificates, mortgage release by banks, etc.

The portal brings benefits to a wide variety of stakeholders:

- **Citizens**, who can now easily access a wide range of services, with the possibility of searching for specific pieces of information, saving results and resources for later use. This allows to significantly reduce bureaucratic procedures, fostering a better-informed participation of citizens in the governance of the territory.
- **Businesses**, which can base their investments on easily accessible and reliable data on the real estate market, ensuring a level playing field and encouraging competitiveness.
- **Public administrations**, which can now benefit from a well-structured and interoperable system to collect and disseminate the geographic, cadastral, legal and fiscal data that they produce and manage, allowing to save public resources and time.

The creation of the DLS Web Portal won the 2018 Cyprus Innovation Award in the category 'Wider Public Sector', a prestigious national price that is handed every year by the country's President. The development of the Web Portal was indeed considered a successful step in the modernisation of Cypriot public administration, specifically in the way services and data connected to properties are offered to other administrations, businesses and citizens.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1

Czech Kepuolic	
Title	Virtual autopsy table
Value	€ 73.733,22 (Lot No.3). The total value of the procurement, divided in four lots, is € 160,379.38 (excluding VAT)
Sector	Education, recreation, culture and religion
Publication and award	Tender was opened from $8/10/2018$ to $24/10/2018$ . Contract award notice (TED No. 2018/S 224-5122) was dispatched on the $19/11/2018$ . For Lot No.3 the contract was awarded to the Czech SME supplier <i>CHEIRÓN a.s.</i>
Name of public procurer	Univerzita Karlova, Lékařská fakulta v Plzni (Charles University Faculty of Medicine in Pilsen)
Type of public procurer	National
Type of contract	Goods

## - 1. D - . . 1.1.

Background: The University Hospital Pilsen is one of the largest medical facilities in Czech Republic. Thanks to the long-term economic stability experienced in the last years, the hospital has decided to invest in its technological development.

In particular, the field of autopsies was identified as an area where new technological solutions could help mitigating the risk of mis-diagnoses in post-mortem body detection. It often happens that families do not give their consent to perform autopsies in order to preserve the body of the relatives. This may hinder the collection of data and the analyses of samples and elements which may be useful for medical or investigative reasons.

In this context, the University decided to purchase an innovative Virtual Autopsy Table (Lot No.3 of the tender). The virtualisation of autopsies is a recent innovative process, which could effectively address this challenge. This high technological table is mainly used in medical forensics, however it can also be applied to other branches, such as surgery or oncology.

**Areas of need:** The procurer wanted to address the following needs:

- Minimise the risk of misdiagnoses thanks to the use of an automated autopsy process based on objective criteria;
- Reduce the obstacles to the implementation of complete and reliable autopsies;
- Achieve a technologically-driven education of hospital staff and medical students, based on quick data collection and diffusion, without reducing the quality of analyses.

Procurement description: The procurement was divided in 4 lots requesting the supply of different equipment. In addition to the virtual autopsy table (Lot No.3), the University purchased an anatomical model (Lot. No.1), a disk array (Lot No. 2) and a multimodal portal (Lot No.4). The procurement was launched as an open simplified (below EU threshold) procedure. In the contract notice the procurer fixed general and specific technical requirements for each lot. One candidate for each lot presented an offer.

The purchase of a virtual autopsy table (lot No. 3) is the highest lot in value, accounting for approx. 46% of the total procurement.<sup>864</sup> It is a procurement were the procurer specifically requested to deliver an innovative solution applicable both to medical-education and medical-forensics field. The tender specifications requested suppliers to offer a product that could provide 3D anatomical sections and 3D models for teaching anatomy. There were no selection criteria requiring minimum economic and financial standing of the company. The company awarded for this contract was an SME, CHEIRÓN a.s.865

**Results** The purchased Virtual Autopsy Table has guaranteed the procurer a highly innovative solution. consisting in an industrial six-axis robot, equipped with a multi-slice scanner for computed tomography (X-ray

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>864</sup> The total amount of money awarded is €160,379.38 (excluding VAT), of which: Lot No.1: € 23,885.82; Lot No.2. € 7,006.38; Lot No.4: € 55,809.52

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>865</sup> The companies awarded for the other three lots are: Lot No.1; HELAGO-CZ, s.r.o., Lot No.2; C SYSTEAM CZ a.s., Lot No.4; Siemens Healthcare, s.r.o.

body scanner) with equipment for angiography (heart radiography), a digital photogrammetry (3D mapping using images), a 3D system to perform automated surface documentation, and an automated biopsy system for postmortem needle placement useful to extract samples. These features significantly help the medical or forensic analysis combining robotics, 3D technology and high-speed data computing. Radiologists scan the body and, after examining the images, they can highlight any irregularities to the medical examiner. The data can be archived, reproduced, analyzed in another location, or distributed to other medical specialists for input.

The main positive outcome is that autopsies are more precise and effective. Virtual imaging allows the examination of body parts which are hard to reach and analyse in traditional autopsies (e.g. cardiovascular system or bone joints).

In addition, the reliability of autopsies may result significantly increased. In fact, collection and analysis of data are standardized, and more efficiently managed. Most importantly, thanks to virtualization, collecting observational data (namely, all the observations made by medical examiners) is now an objective process, since it is based on fixed automated criteria rather than on the own evaluation of coroners. This causes a positive impact, enhancing the robustness of the evidences collected and used for investigations and trials.

Another positive outcome is a more up-to-date education in the field of medicine, leading to an increase in skills and capabilities of doctors and students working and studying in the hospital. The Virtual Autopsy Table allows to better understand the body functions and processes to students which can gather around the table and simultaneously interact. It is thus a relevant tool to modernise the University offer and enhance the quality of medical tools provided to students.

Overall, this technology is also expected to have a wider impact in the health sector, as it can easily be applied to other branches, such as surgery or oncology – prevention and treatment of tumours. As in the case of Virtual Autopsy table, training of medicine students can be positively affected also in these other fields. For example, in the case of surgery, a virtual table can become an ideal platform for strategic surgical planning. Namely, interdisciplinary teams can discuss the complexity of a case and define the surgical strategy before placing a first cut. In oncology, virtualisation can help students access to data and learn practices with increased efficiency.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2, Link 3

Denmark	
Title	Intelligent Street Lighting
Value	€ 33.000.000 (DKK 250 million), including a 12 years of maintenance worth approximately € 1.600.000 per year.
Sector	General public services, public admin. and economic and financial affairs
Publication and award	The contract notice was published in 2012 (TED notice 2012/S 180-296469), and the contract was awarded in mid-2013 to the French company <i>Citelum</i> .
Name of public procurer	City of Copenhagen
Type of public procurer	Local
Type of contract	Works

**Background**. The City of Copenhagen has an ambitious carbon reduction plan with the aim to become the first carbon neutral city by 2025. Part of this plan required to renew the street light system across the city optimising its energy consumption, with the aim to reduce it by 50%.

In order to achieve this target, the City decided already back in 2011 to create an energy efficient smart lighting system, based on a remote ICT-surveillance system. However, two main challenges emerged in the development and implementation of the system. First, there were no off-the-shelf products that fulfilled the requirements, in particular the ICT-surveillance system was still under development. In addition, the new system required the purchase of LED, which is a fast-developing technology and therefore needed considerations on how to ensure that the solutions procured would be up to date for a long-time span.

Areas of need. The procurer wanted to address the following needs:

- Reducing energy consumption and carbon footprint of the street lighting system;
- Developing a more efficient and easier to maintain public lighting system;
- Developing smart city solutions.

**Procurement description**. Given the complexity of the solution requested, the City of Copenhagen involved potential suppliers in a Competitive Dialogue that was published in 2012. Key elements discussed were: the most suitable technology, the contract length, the best cooperation model between public and private stakeholders and financing forms.

Once the procurer achieved sufficient confidence that a tender procedure could gather satisfying proposals, tenders were invited to submit bids. A long-term contract, starting in 2013, was awarded to the most economically advantageous tender.

Two were the most innovative aspects of this procurement. The first one involves the procurement process: a market dialogue with suppliers in order to allow them to design an off-the-shelf solution tailored on the specific needs of the procurer. The second one derives from the result of the dialogue and involves the solution purchased, which is better described in the following section.

**Results**. With this procurement the city gradually upgraded approximately 40.000 fixtures with a new innovative lighting system based on last-generation LED technology. With this early investment in 2012, Copenhagen became one of the first cities in Europe to deploy innovative LED based lighting. Thanks to a wireless system, the lighting fixtures are interconnected and monitored. The type of lanterns installed, called *Thor L*, were specifically designed to be compatible with a wireless and automatically interconnected system.

This solution led to remarkable savings in terms of maintenance costs. This is due to higher lifetime and efficiency of LED lights.

In addition, the development of an interconnected lighting system has significantly improved the energy efficiency. For example, it allows to integrate public lights with the traffic monitoring system already used in Copenhagen. Therefore, light intensity could automatically be dimmed or enhanced, depending on traffic density and weather conditions (e.g. lower intensity with wet road), resulting in remarkable reduction in energy consumption.

A positive impact has been assessed on the environmental side. The new system achieved a substantial reduction in Co2 emissions due to public lighting and therefore contributes to the overarching goal of making Copenhagen a carbon neutral city.

This lighting system has also improved comfort and safety for roads users. Given the higher quality of light, mobility is now safer and less stressful for all users, from drivers to cyclists and pedestrians.

The innovative solution purchased through this procurement has proven to be an effective tool to develop the smart concept in the sector of public lighting in the City of Copenhagen. It can therefore be extended to other cities, aiming at the same development.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2

Estonia	
Title	X-Road project
Value	N/A
Sector	General public services, public admin. and economic and financial affairs
Publication and award	First contract notice published and awarded in 2001 to <i>AS Assert</i> (EE) and sub- contractors: <i>AS Cybernetica</i> (EE), <i>AS Andmevara</i> (EE), <i>Reaalsüsteemide AS</i> (EE) and <i>AS Datel</i> (EE). Latest core development procured on 29/03/2018 (TED n. 2018/S 059-130427) and awarded on 29/06/2018 (TED n. 2018/S 123-279990) to <i>Gofore Plc</i> (FI)
Name of public procurer	Information System Authority (RIA) under the Ministry of Economic Affairs
Type of public procurer	National
Type of contract	Services

**Background:** Estonia is considered one of the most advanced countries in the field of digital society. Since the late 90's, the country has invested in the digitalization of its public services, with the aim of facilitating the life and work of Estonian citizens and businesses.

Despite that, the public administration was still characterized by isolated agencies and organisations experiencing barriers in sharing and exchanging data. Therefore, the Government decided to launch a procurement aimed at developing a comprehensive software able to connect all public databases and guarantee the highest security standards. The project was coordinated by the Ministry of Economic Affairs with the cooperation of different Ministries (Ministry of Transport and Communications, Ministry of the Interior and the Government Office).

The X-Road project was launched in 2001 in order to acquire a suitable technology for such purposes.

Areas of need: The procurer wanted to address the following challenges:

- Enhancing transparency in the exchange of information with citizens;
- Connecting public institutions and easing access of public and private organisations to public databases;
- Developing a safe system of inter-connectivity among public institutions.

**Procurement description.** One year before the launch of the public procurement, a pilot project was carried out. The project linked three databases and aimed at assessing and identifying the software that best suited the needs of the procurer. A specific team of qualified professionals was formed to set clear technical requirements. These requirements had to ensure the development of an e-government software allowing secure exchanges of data and information among institutions and between citizens and government.

The notice was published in May 2001. The contract was awarded to *AS Assert* (EE) which relied on different subcontractors: *AS Cybernetica* (EE) – for architecture, protocols and security solutions – *AS Andmevara* (EE) – for testing queries to the population register and the Estonian registry of buildings – *Reaalsüsteemide AS* (EE) – for testing queries to commercial register – *AS Datel* (EE) – for testing queries to electronic land register – *Estonian commercial banks* – for the authentication of users.

In the following years, five requests for expanding the X-Road were procured, all using most economically advantageous award criteria. The aim was to increase the scope of public e-services and update the software with the latest technology. In most cases, a negotiated procedure was held, with awarding criteria focused on high-level technological standards and value for money.

The latest core development of X-Road has been financed by the Nordic Institute for Interoperability Solutions (NIIS) in 2018 through an open procedure won by *Gofore Plc* (FI) for a value of  $\in$  2.100.000

**Results:** X-Road has become a backbone of the Estonian e-government system. It is the first system in the world guaranteeing interconnection of public information systems and has been made mandatory by the Estonian Government. Thanks to its implementation, the country has digitized almost all its governmental services.

The adoption of this solution resulted in three major impacts:

- Reduction of the administrative burden thanks to an automated filling functionality which allows time savings and prevents data-entry errors;
- Advance in modernization and digitization of public procurement, avoiding paper procedures and certificates;
- Improvement of anti-corruption measures, giving controlling authorities more effective instruments to cross-check information.

In addition, fast and reliable data exchanges made communications between state agencies faster, safer, and more efficient. At the same time, positive impacts have been achieved on the state-to-citizen and citizen-to-state levels, increasing also the transparency in the exchange of information.

Wider market impacts have also been experienced since the solution allowed to increase cooperation with other countries in the field. Since 2016, X-Road is managed by the NIIS, a joint organization formed by the Estonian and Finland Governments. Thanks to this cooperation, a full public agencies interoperability has been achieved among the two countries. In addition, the conceptual model behind X-Road has strongly influenced the European Interoperability Framework and its main technology has been adopted or served as a model in other countries, such as Argentina, Serbia and Azerbaijan.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2, Link 3

Finland	
Title	Purchase of light-weight, full electric buses in Helsinki
Value	Lowest offer € 5.000.000 Highest offer €6.000.000
Sector	Public Transport
Publication and award	A voluntary ex-ante transparency notice was published for a first pilot on $05/02/2015$ (TED n. 2015/S 025-042320), awarding <i>Linkker Oy</i> (FI) with a contract. The open market consultation for the competitive provisioning of electric buses was published on $17/10/2019$ (TED n. 2019/S 201-488585)
Name of public procurer	Helsinki Region Transport Authority (HSL)
Type of public procurer	Regional
Type of contract	Goods

**Background.** The Helsinki Region Transport Authority (HSL) committed to have 30% of its bus fleet fully electric by 2025.

To achieve the city environmental goals and maintain its quality and efficiency standards in the public transport system, the HSL decided already in 2015 to invest in the development of a highly innovative solution for electric buses. In particular, the solution requested focused on guaranteeing totally green technology and the same performance standards of diesel buses.

Areas of need. The procurer wanted to address the following needs:

- Decreasing the level of carbon emissions of public transport;
- Investing in new and sustainable technologies without compromising the quality of public transport;
- Increasing the city commitment to sustainability of public services.

**Procurement description.** In 2015, the HSL together with the Finnish Technical Research Centre (VTT) launched a joint pilot-project for the development of 12 electric buses. As the contract targeted only research and development services to create and test full electric buses, a negotiated procedure without publication was used and awarded to *Linkker Oy<sup>866</sup>*.

Negotiation dealt with the main requirements the procurer asked for: a low weight of the vehicles, energy efficiency, quick and quiet charging operations, zero emissions registered and sensors for monitoring in real-time the condition of the batteries. Accordingly, the supplier was chosen for its high reliability on addressing such conditions in an innovative solution for buses.

The testing phase started in 2017 and the positive outcome led to the decision to start in 2019 an international procurement procedure for the purchase of full electric buses.

**Results:** The 12 pilot buses that developed and tested were made of aluminium, respecting the requirement of having a light-weight vehicle. The pilots were equipped with sensors to collect data, and a real-time monitoring and control system to manage battery charge levels.

The pilot demonstrated that the buses are more energy efficient compared to standard buses and therefore their introduction a positive environmental impact. Firstly, because the energy consumed is only a small fraction of that needed for diesel buses. Secondly, because buses are made of full electric battery and a full aluminium body, making the bus less heavy, and therefore less polluting, if compared to those made of steel.

In addition, the efficiency of the transport system resulted not to be compromised. In order to comply with the request of quick charge operations, the solution proposed includes a battery which requires only few minutes to be fully charged.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>866</sup> In accordance with art. 40(3) of Directive 2004/17/EC

Moreover, an overall optimization of the service has been achieved. The monitoring system installed includes a mechanism of remote control for the bus fleet, improving public transport organization management. It contributes to maintain high smart-city standards in the city.

In 2017, the two thirds of residents in Helsinki moved around the city walking or using public transports<sup>867</sup>, demonstrating that the city has successfully oriented citizen's habits towards sustainable transport models. Despite that, additional efforts are requested in the coming years in order to reach the ambitious target of reducing local carbon emissions by over 90% in 2025 compared to 2010 levels. In this context, based on the experience gained with this pilot, the city of Helsinki has opened in 2019 international procedures for the purchase of full electric buses and so proceeding towards the goal of a 30% electric fleet set for 2025.

Wider impacts on the market are also expected. This pilot allowed to develop technologies that set new standards in the market of electric vehicles used for public transport. As a result, this experience is expected to be considered a benchmarking model for other cities willing to move from standard to electric buses.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2, Link 3, Link 4, Link 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>867</sup> *Cf.* David Thorpe (N/A), "<u>The City Where 77% of Journeys Are By Sustainable Means</u>", in <u>www.smartcitiesdive.com</u>. Consulted in October 2019.

France	
Title	HAPPI Project
Value	€ 2.000.000 (EU Competitivity and Innovation Programme) € 2.500.000 (approximately the net value of tenders procured)
Sector	Healthcare and social services
Publication and award	The call for tender was opened to proposals from $30/09/2014$ to $31/12/2014$ . Three contracts were awarded in April 2015 to <i>VA2CS (FR)</i> , <i>Forcelink (NL)</i> , <i>Alter Eco Santé (FR)</i>
Name of public procurer	GIP Réseau des acheteurs hospitaliers d'Ile de France (RESAH) as the coordinator of a network of European central purchasing bodies.
Type of public procurer	National
Type of contract	Goods

**Background.** Healthy ageing is usually not perceived from health institutions as an area where innovation is needed. This may be due to the lack of promotion of innovative solutions, the lack of resources to be invested in new solutions or the perception of missing added value. Despite that, ageing of the population deeply affects the socio-economic structure for European Member States and is therefore perceived as a pivotal issue. An ageing population puts increasing pressure to national public welfare systems. In this regard, the use of innovative solutions can help European hospitals and nursing homes to increase the efficiency of their services, without reducing the effectiveness of their work.

As a result of common challenges faced across countries in this field, EU-wide solutions are likely to overcome barriers preventing public procurers from investing in innovative solutions. In this context, RESAH acted from 2012 to 2016 as the main coordinator of the HAPPI Project. The project aimed at establishing a European network for detecting and purchasing innovative and sustainable solutions to improve ageing conditions of the population. It brought together a consortium of 10 partners, including 5 central purchasing bodies (CPB) based in France (RESAH), the United Kingdom (NHS Commercial Solutions), Italy (SCR Piemonte), Belgium (Mercur'Hosp) and Luxembourg (Fédération des Hôpitaux Luxembourgeois).

In a preliminary phase (September 2013), the HAPPI network created a European platform for detection of innovative solutions. The aim of the platform was to support procurers in the market research process. About 150 potentially innovative ageing-related solutions were proposed by more than 200 suppliers from a dozen countries. They were analysed by groups of experts (institution directors, geriatricians, ergonomists, professional risk prevention managers, etc.) to assess common needs for the network and the readiness of the market in providing innovative solutions in specific fields of interest.

**Areas of need.** The procurer wanted to face the following needs:

- Addressing the ageing issue through the identification of EU-wide solutions;
- Achieving cost efficiency in the healthcare sector;
- Guaranteeing high standard of the national welfare systems for elderly people.

**Procurement description.** After the preliminary phase, the HAPPI network launched a joint cross-border call for tenders to purchase innovative solutions to promote healthy ageing. The call was divided in 5 Lots, each Lot focused on the identification of an innovative solution in a specific field:

- Lot 1: Fall detection and alert system;
- Lot 2: Treadmill for rehabilitation and analysis of walking disorders;
- Lot 3: Walking course for preventing falls and maintaining independence;
- Lot 4: Bed thermoregulation system;
- Lot 5: Chair enabling users to maintain independence and reducing effort for aides.

Innovativeness was a specific requirement for each lot. It referred to the fact that the solution should be at its first phase of application or marketing, or new for the beneficiary.

Two committees oversaw the procurement procedures. A technical committee gathered technical and legal advisors from each national Central Purchasing Body (CPB), preparing all the tender documents and evaluating

the bids. In parallel, an advisory committee, coordinated by RESAH, gave an opinion and validated the offers received.

Contracts were awarded for the furniture of the solutions asked in Lots 1, 2 and 3. Lot 1 was awarded to the French *VA2CS*, Lot 2 was awarded to the Dutch *Forcelink* and Lot 3 to the French *Alter Eco Santé*. Overall, the total amount of the contracts procured was approximately  $\pounds 2,5$  million.

These solutions were publicly presented in four showrooms. They have been implemented in national health structures in different countries, including France. The HAPPI project officially ended in August 2016.

**Results.** The three solutions awarded and made available on the platform significantly contributed to offer improved or new solutions on the market.

- Lot 1 allowed to develop an innovative anti-fall system. The system is based on a software which warns doctors via telephone or email in case a patient falls or loses consciousness;
- Lot 2 developed a treadmill based on a disruptive technology that allows to collect and evaluate immediately a number of parameters linked to the patient motion. This innovative solution allows to provide tailored improvement sessions to patients;
- Lot 3 is an online innovative training to stimulate the motor functions of people that are over sixty years old.

The added value brought by the project includes the following elements:

- High cost-savings were possible by exploiting economies of scale. Thanks to an EU-wide tender and EU funds, the HAPPI project invested on innovation achieving higher cost efficiency than that each procurer alone could have relied on;
- Secondly, time devoted to research and selection of innovative solution was minimized. Every contracting authority working in the healthcare sector was able to enter the platform and purchase innovative ageing-related solutions without arranging any call for tender or market research.

In addition, the overall supply of innovative solutions in the healthcare sector was increased. The joint procurement allowed national structures to purchase new solutions available on the market to address these specific needs. Hence, this procurement brought a concrete and positive impact on national the healthcare systems.

This kind of procurement was designed to impact on a wider scale and a national one. Therefore, by awarding several contracts in different countries through one centralized procurement procedure can be already considered an achieved wide market impact. This procedure can be used as a useful best-practice for addressing European common problems through innovation-oriented partnership also in other sectors.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2

Germany	
Title	Magnetic-card system
Value	€ 2.679.637
Sector	General public services, public admin. and economic and financial affairs
Publication and award	Contract notice was published on 03/03/2018 (TED no. 2018/S 044-096364). Contract was awarded to <i>T-Systems</i> (DE) and signed in December 2018.
Name of public procurer	Stadt Monheim am Rhein - Zentrale Vergabestelle
Type of public procurer	Local
Type of contract	Services

Background. The administrative landscape in the German public sector is dominated by isolated digital solutions. In this regard, the German Online Access Act (OZG) has been implemented to support harmonisation and better collaboration among public authorities by creating uniform standards across administrative levels. It binds the federal administration, the Länder and the municipalities to offer their administrative services digitally by the end of 2022.

In this context, the city of Monheim launched the project Monheim 4.0 with the aim to implement smart solutions for citizens, easing the way they access goods and services offered in the city. In light of the increasing number of digital services offered, the city was looking for a digital and physical card through which citizens can access local services, look for public information or purchase goods in partnered shops.

Areas of need. The procurement was thought to address the following needs:

- Comply with the OZG, digitalising services delivery to the highest possible degree;
- Guarantee time savings and effectiveness in the access to public services and information;
- Streamline the way citizen can pay (cashless) for public services, goods in local shops or receive information about local events:
- Adopt a physical and digital card based on an advanced blockchain based solution which protects personal data of users and safely manages electronic records and is connected to an online portal and a mobile phone client.

**Procurement description:** In this procurement, the procurer required from the start in the call for tender the use of the very innovative blockchain technology and the development of a web-portal and a smartphone-app. Given the challenges expected in the implementation of the tender, it was decided to launch a competitive procedure with negotiation. The procurement used best value for money award criteria that included not only price (weighting 40%) but also other criteria (each weighting 20%), namely user-friendliness of the solution, optical representation and functionality. The procurement allowed companies to submit variant offers. In the first phase seven companies applied to participate. The procurer selected three of them, which were allowed to make on offer. Based on this, negotiation started with only one company, T-System. The negotiation aimed at addressing relevant technological and policy challenges, linked to the gradual integration of different services and to data protection management. Then, the company *T-Systems* was awarded with the contract.

**Results:** The so called *Monheim-Pass* is expected to be fully operational by June 2020. The mobile app is also characterised by a very simple design and innovative solutions such as location-based offer of services and partnered shops. A limited number of services have been already made available. The city library, the digital bicycle rental system (including electric bikes) and the public swimming pool allow online payments, bookings and reservations through the card and the app. New services are gradually going to be included. In addition, a number of incentives are envisaged to facilitate the use of the card: a €15 voucher to be used in local shops is provided to citizens making use of the card. In addition, the administration has proposed to give to card-owners free access to public transport in the zone Langefeld/Monheim.

Thus, the proposed solution facilitates access to public services, removing the barriers and enhance diffusion of information. The starting services (city library, swimming pool and bike rental system) may reveal the first positive outcomes mainly in their sectors (culture, sport and e-mobility). Other fields positively affected include public transport, which may significantly benefit from the Pass (if the above-mentioned proposal on free public transport will be approved by the City Council). Thanks to the voucher incentives, the proposed solution is also expected to generate positive spillovers on the local economy.

Furthermore, in line with what the procurer was looking for, the blockchain technology ensures the protection of personal data, enhancing the trustworthiness and safety of such administrative digital development. Overall, this project modernises the way public administration deliver services with a citizen-centred approach.

In terms of wider impacts, the proposed solution contributes to the achievement of the objectives identified in the national digitalisation strategy. In particular, the solution contributes to the achievement of the digital transformation of all public administrations at every level of government and to give citizen's access to all administrative services via a secure single-user account.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1

Greece	
Title	Smart Policing Systems
Value	€ 3.400.000 (excluding VAT), with an option for the public procurer of 5 years of maintenance services for approximately €1.000.000 (excluding VAT)
Sector	Public order, safety, security and defence
Publication and award	The contract notice was published on 11 April 2018 (TED notice 2018/S 070-154725), while the contract was awarded on 2 July 2019 (TED notice 2019/S 125-305407) to <i>Intracom Telecom</i> , an international IT services provider headquartered in Greece.
Name of public procurer	Ministry of Citizen Protection, Hellenic Police Directorate
Type of public procurer	National
Type of contract	Goods

**Background**. According to the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, identity-related crimes are one of the key emerging crimes of concern.<sup>868</sup> The functioning of economies and societies increasingly relies on information regarding individuals, which is more and more used in everyday life for banking, shopping, travelling and many more activities. Criminals can exploit identity-related information for a wide range of fraudulent activities, such as money laundering, corruption, human trafficking, migrant smuggling and even terrorism.<sup>869</sup>

Due to its strategic position as access point to Europe, Greece is a transit and destination country for many international criminal activities, including the trafficking of human beings. To carry out such activities, criminals and terrorists often rely on the use of fake or fraudulently obtained genuine documents.<sup>870</sup>

For this reason, one the key strategic priorities of the Hellenic Police is to tap into the potential offered by innovative technologies to strengthening its capacity to effectively identify individuals and vehicles.

**Areas of need**. The overarching aim of the Hellenic Police is to fight organised crime, improving the citizens' sense of security and the policemen's workplace safety. More specifically, the procurement sought a smart system to allow for:

- the rapid collection of information, such as biometric data, photographs, documents, license plates, during day-to-day police checks and operations;
- the efficient analysis of such information, fostering a data-driven approach to public order and security;
- the immediate identification of individuals and vehicles, enabling quicker and more effective responses.

**Procurement description**. The Hellenic Police adopted an open procedure, envisaging the award of the contract to the most economically advantageous tender. The formula to compute the winning bid consisted of the ratio between the technical score and the price.

The tender specifications defined 15 different technical criteria, each with its own weight for the calculation of the final technical score. For each criterion, bidders were scored on a scale from 100 to 120 points, with 100 being assigned for meeting the minimum requirements (tenders below the minimum requirements would be automatically excluded) and additional points for exceeding the minimum requirements. The 15 criteria included, for instance, meeting the requirements for the provision of:

- portable devices to police officers, accounting for 8% of the technical score;
- a central storage and back-up system (4% of the technical score);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>868</sup> See for instance the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime website at: <u>https://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/organized-crime/intro/emerging-crimes.html</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>869</sup> See the 2007 UNODC Study on Fraud and the criminal misuse and falsification of identity, available at: <u>https://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/corruption/identity-related-crime.html</u> and the Interpol website for the key uses of forged documents in the key criminal trends, at: <u>https://www.europol.europa.eu/crime-areas-and-trends/crime-areas/forgery-of-administrative-documents-and-trafficking-therein</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>870</sup> For a more detailed overview of the situation of human beings trafficking in Greece, see: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/anti-trafficking/member-states/greece\_en</u>

- a face and photo recognition system (10%);
- a certain amount of memory in the central server system (3%), and various other criteria.

The procurement was designed to discourage tenders aiming at competing solely through undercutting competitors on price. It required to meet a wide and well-defined range of technical requirements and encouraged to exceed them.

**Results**. The winning solution is a comprehensive and integrated smart system, consisting of:

- a new generation of smartphones for police officers, equipped with software for fingerprints scanning, face recognition, authentication of documents and search capabilities in multiple police databases (e.g. FBI, Europol, Schengen Information Interpol, Eurodac, Dublinet, Directorate of Passports, Tiresias<sup>871</sup>, etc.);
- a central system of IT networks, servers and applications allowing a secure interface between the smartphones of deployed policemen and national and international databases, as well as the creation of reports, the analysis of data and its visualisation on digital maps.

Although the benefits of the smart policing system have not been quantified yet, a number of improvements can already be envisaged, namely:

- the new technological capabilities will allow police officers to conduct on-the-spot checks and almost instantaneously identify individuals and vehicles. Embedding the capability of fingerprints scanning and face recognition directly into the smartphones is considered as a major innovation in the field, as it allows to create a link between the policy officers on the field and the millions of files stored in police databases.
- the duration of checks will be dramatically reduced. For instance, in the past the authentication of an identity document used to require a dedicated device to connect to the police central repository of documents, which could be in a police car or even in a police station. To the contrary, the new system makes it possible to check someone's identity in a few seconds, saving time for both policemen and citizens. Moreover, the possibility of creating reports and analyses automatically will also cut the time police officers must spend on performing administrative and bureaucratic duties.

With regard to the issue of privacy and the need to ensure confidentiality of sensitive personal data, the new system is designed not to store data on smartphones, but rather to transmit all data to the central system.

In addition to the immediate gains in the effectiveness and efficiency of policemen on the streets, a positive spillover effect is expected in all sectors that require a rapid mechanism for identity verification, such as airport security.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2

 $_{871}$  Tiresias is a Greek database of financial information, such as bankruptcies, mortgages, settlements, orders of payment, etc. For more information, see at: <a href="http://www.tiresias.gr/en/index.html">http://www.tiresias.gr/en/index.html</a>

Helicopter Crew Tactical Training Simulator
€ 1.649.000 (excluding VAT)
Public order, safety, security and defence
Contract notice was published on the 3/02/2017 (TED No. 2018/S 056-124945) and contract was awarded on the 21/03/2018 to <i>Thales AVS FRANCE SAS Training &amp; Simulation activity</i> .
Honvédelmi Minisztérium Védelemgazdasági Hivatal (Ministry of Defence)
National
Goods

**Background**: The Hungarian Ministry of Defence aims at optimising the resources spent on the training of the helicopter crews of the Armed Forces. In this respect, live training programs are often expensive and logistically difficult. Therefore, the Ministry has been looking for alternative solutions able to reduce costs and time while maintaining high quality training standards.

To achieve this goal, armed forces are increasingly making use of simulator training systems. These systems allow to practice tactical knowledge in interactive scenarios reflecting real-life situations without engaging in expensive, complex and possibly dangerous live training activities. The use of this kind of simulations has proven to be increasingly effective to develop specific skills, such as tactical skills. As a result, the Hungarian ministry of Defence is moving towards a mix of live and simulated training systems. In this context, the Ministry decided to purchase a Tactical Training Simulator for its helicopter crew.

Areas of need: The procurer aimed at addressing the following needs:

- Optimise resources spent on trainings in the aviation sector without decreasing quality;
- Increase the safety of training operations:
- Improve mission readiness of the helicopter crew in all the Armed Forces.

Procurement description: The procurer explicitly asked for a Tactical Training Simulator kit, offering software and tools for virtualisation of the training environment as well as trainers on the ground. The Ministry was looking for a solution able to combine good levels of preparation of their workforce, effective training sessions, high quality standards and a reduction of the overall spending. For this reason, it decided to purchase this kind of innovative solution on the market following a negotiated procedure with publication. The negotiation focused on the adoption of an advanced solution at the best price on the market and on the guarantee of a quick process of implementation.

Three criteria were used: offer price (weighted for the 60%), warranty period (weighted for the 20%), deadline for completion (weighting for the 20%).

Three offers were presented, and the contract was awarded to Thales AVS FRANCE SAS Training & Simulation activity, a global-leading provider in the Training Simulation field. Their solution was chosen for its internationally-proven reliability, assuring timely implementation and fast learning.

**Results**: The awarded company fulfilled the requests of the procurer by providing a flight simulator which offers a fully immersive virtual 3D flight simulation experience and 5 trainers on the ground. The specific training devices allowed to simulate a wide range of missions, such as low-attitude tactical flying, rescue operations and operations carried out in urban areas, with high level of details.

Pilots and all the crew members can significantly improve their readiness for the missions they have to complete. New joiners can acquire a valuable experience before operating in real contexts. Their learning process can thus be faster, more effective and less risky than those performed only with live trainings. They can train alone (one helicopter) or in group (several helicopters working together). This enables the whole crew to rapidly increase their operational collaboration and in-flight communication. Tactical strategies can also be tested in a safer environment. These improvements lead to an overall positive impact on the preparation and reliability of the armed forces using helicopter interventions in their operations. These improvements also generate positive outcomes both in terms of increasing the number of training sessions that can be offered at reasonable cost to pilots as well as in the possibility to train the same pilot in different scenarios and environments.

Another positive outcome is the reduction of the number of flights carried out by the Armed Forces for live trainings. This can help decreasing the overall costs and pollution due to helicopters. Their engines are in fact sources of emissions of greenhouse gases and noise nuisance, causing damages to the environment.

The innovation brought by virtual training in armed forces can have wider impacts both within and across sectors. Beyond helicopter crew, virtualising technology can be applied in all the fields of the defence sector. This first adoption can thus be extended to other branches of the Hungarian Armed Forces and other countries looking on the market for a cost-saving, quality-increasing solution for trainings. Moreover, virtualised trainings could give a substantial help in other sectors of the economy such as education (e.g. e-learning or Virtual Classroom) or construction<sup>872</sup>. Benefits experienced in the helicopters sector – practising in realistic scenarios, risks minimisation, time and money savings - can also be expected in these other sectors.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>872</sup> *Cfr.* Kassem et al. (2017), "Virtual environments for safety learning in construction and engineering: seeking evidence and identifying gaps for future research". *Vis, in Eng.* Doi: 10.1186/s40327-017-0054-1. Available at: https://viejournal.springeropen.com/articles/10.1186/s40327-017-0054-1

Ireland	
Title	Procurement of solar powered, compacting litter bins
Value	€ 1.800.000 (excluding VAT)
Sector	General public services, public admin. and economic and financial affairs
Publication and award	Contract notice was published in April 2014 (TED n. 2014/S 075-129521) and a contract was awarded on 13/11/2014 (TED n. 2014/S 249-441481) to <i>Kyron Energy &amp; Power (Ireland)</i> .
Name of public procurer	Dun Laoghaire Rathdown (DLR) County Council
Type of public procurer	Regional
Type of contract	Goods

**Background.** In Ireland, the Dun Laoghaire Rathdown (DLR) County Council had to reshape and rationalise its public expenditure due to a serious economic downturn which hit the County between 2009 and 2014. In this context, the County faced the challenge of guaranteeing high standards of public services with reduced resources. Therefore, higher efficiency was needed, and waste management service was identified as an area of potential improvement. The Country realised that the process of emptying bins was badly managed, since the personnel in charge followed fixed routes regardless whether emptying was needed or not. Hence, it was decided to purchase an innovative solution on the market aimed at increasing efficiency in the way waste is collected in the area.

Areas of need: The procurer aimed at addressing the following challenges:

- Optimising resources in public waste services;
- Guaranteeing a pleasant physical environment to citizens;
- Orienting the local economic development towards sustainability.

**Procurement description.** Before launching the procurement, 20 solar powered bins were installed for a trial period in different areas identified as strategic. The outcomes of the trial were considered satisfactory. As a result, in April 2014 a procurement with an open procedure was launched.

Tenderers were required to prove they had an Environmental Management Certification or carefully explain how they planned to comply with the environmental standards set by the public procurer. Additional requirements included the provision of a remote monitoring system for each bin to allow for real-time data collection on the fullness level and for an autonomous system of energy supply from a renewable source.

The most economically advantageous tender was calculated in terms of: price (60%), delivery programme (10%), warranty and maintenance service regime provided (20%), information technology system integrated in the solution (10%).

*Kyron Energy & Power* was awarded with a contract having a value of  $\in$  1.8 million and including not only the purchase cost but also the maintenance and the software license for a five-year period.

**Results.** Overall, 401 bins were purchased from the supplier. The solution provided consists of solar powered litter bins equipped with a management console showing real time data information of each bin and an automatic waste compactor (powered through a solar panel). When a certain level of waste is reached, two sensors trigger the waste compactor which reduces the volume of waste in the bin.

The impact on the administrative side of waste management has been highly positive. Bins were enabled with a wireless technology reporting their real-time status to the waste management administration. This allowed to design efficient routes targeting only the needed interventions. As a result, an increase in the organizational efficiency of waste services was experienced.

The number of litter bins needing interventions during a working day has been reduced by over 85%. This has generated a 75% savings in annual costs for personnel and a significative reduction in costs for fuel used for their trips, amounting at ca.  $\notin$  10.000 per year.

This new solution has also increased the attractiveness of the territory, since the risk of having litter bins with overflowing, malodorous waste has been minimized. This is due to the automated compacting system, which has given new bins a hugely enhanced capacity, from 45.000 litres of old bins to 250.000 of current ones.

On the environmental side, a remarkable impact has been registered. Greenhouse gases emissions are reduced thanks to less fuel consumption in journeys due to bins emptying process (estimated in approximately a reduced consumption of 8.125 litres of fuel per year). In addition, monitoring activities and compacting systems make use of solar energy, with no emissions caused.

Wider impacts can reasonably be expected from this procurement, since it has demonstrated the feasibility of fully green approach to automation of waste services. The combination of innovative technologies such as remote control through real-time sensors and automated compacted system has proven to be effective for the improvement in waste management organization and efficient for the optimization of financial and human resources.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2

Italy	
Title	Servizio Luce 4 ( <i>Lighting Services</i> $4^{th}$ ) - National framework contract for sustainable and innovative lighting
Value	€ 1.597.000.000 – total value of the contract € 170.000.000 (with a possible extension up to 40%) – value of Lot 5., the only lot awarded so far
Sector	General public services, public admin. and economic and financial affairs
Publication and award	The contract notice was published on $16/12/2015$ (TED n. $2015/S$ 246-447817) and the first Lot (n.5) was awarded on $20/12/2018$ (TED n. $2019/S$ 054-125051) to <i>City Green Light S.r.l (Italy)</i>
Name of public procurer	Consip S.p.A (central purchasing body for the Italian Public Administration owned by the Ministry of Economy and Finance)
Type of public procurer	National
Type of contract	Services

**Background.** In 2014, the level of energy consumption in public lighting in Italy was approx. 30% above the European average. The use of old lighting systems caused overall inefficiency, whose costs were mainly paid by public administrations.

Consip, the most important central purchasing body in Italy, acts within the mandate of the Ministry of Economy and Finance and has public lighting among its main procurement fields. In this context, Consip has been launching framework contracts on maintenance and installations of public lighting and integrated energy savings since 2002. These services are purchased through framework contracts known as *Servizio Luce (Light services)* by local and national public administrations.

In 2015, for the 4<sup>th</sup> edition of the contract, Consip decided to change its procurement approach to increase the efficiency of public lighting purchase. In particular, the approach and requirements were deeply amended, so that energy efficiency targets could be achieved, and new innovative solutions adopted.

Areas of need. The procurer aimed at addressing the following needs:

- Supporting public administrations to enhance energy efficiency in public lighting;
- Incentivising the energy suppliers to achieve efficiency standards set by the procurer for energy consumption;
- Achieving a significative reduction in costs for the adoption of energy efficiency measures.

**Procurement description.** The 4<sup>th</sup> framework contract for public lighting services was launched in 2015 and was broken down in 12 lots. Each lot was assigned to one or more regions. Once a lot is awarded, public authorities from the corresponding region can purchase from the Consip platform the services provided and, accordingly, sign a contract with the supplier that lasts between 6 and 9 years.

This edition of the contract stands out for the following innovative elements:

- Consip was available to sign with suppliers only Energy Performance Contract (EPC). This a special kind of contract, according to which the targets of energy savings are fixed in the contract, strictly binding both the supplier and its services.
- Bidders were asked to present an energy management plan taking into account the regional context were the service is offered, including a map of public-lighting installation and a monitoring system of energy consumption.
- It was explicitly required to implement measures aimed at delivering innovative solutions (a preliminary list of innovative solutions was provided by the procurer), and smart lighting services (e.g. telecontrol, remote management mechanism etc.). To ensure the achievement of energy efficiency targets through smart solutions, the procurer set for the supplier a specific objective of technological improvement.

So far, one of the lots has been awarded (*Lot 5*). An open procedure was followed and *City Green Light S.r.l.* was chosen for having presented the most economically advantageous tender among 4 participants. Other Lots are planned to be awarded by mid-2020.

**Results.** The lot awarded involved two regions: Liguria and Emilia-Romagna. Some of their local public administrations had signed contracts with the supplier for smart and innovative public lighting systems. The activities implemented within this framework contract include:

- the replacement of obsolete lights and traffic lanterns with those with greater energy efficiency (e.g. LED);
- rewiring and redevelopment of existing plants;
- the adoption of centralized (hourly) flow regulators by presence detectors or by single light point;
- the provision of astronomical clocks able to evaluate time zone and percentage of "civil twilight" through the geographical position;
- the development of light centres based on a photovoltaic source.

As a first impact, the use of the EPC approach led to significant cost savings for both regional administrations. This approach allows to complete energy saving activities without up-front capital costs of the intervention. Thus, high costs related to the initial part of the investment can be more easily compensated, stimulating the public sector to adopt new and innovative technologies.

In addition, the energy efficiency targets embedded in the EPC are expected to have a positive impact on the environment. In particular, the EPC contract binds suppliers to offer energy savings up to 32.65% compared to the regional baseline consumption.

The framework contract also facilitated the implementation of new and expensive technologies in regional or local contexts. This has been possible thanks to two elements of this procurement: first, the procurer has bound suppliers to offer innovative solutions and second it has verified with a specific indicator the technological improvement brought by the supplier intervention.

On a wider perspective, positive impacts on the labour market are also expected. It is expected that size and duration of the contract allows the supplier to look for new employees for a medium to long-term.

This procurement can have a wider impact on the entire national energy sector, orienting it towards innovative, green solutions. This is due to the vast national scale of Consip purchases. Acting as the biggest Italian central purchasing body, the procurer can drive the market to generate innovation both in national and local contexts.

In 2019, this procurement received a Procura+ special mention for being a best example of procurement for sustainability.

## Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2

Latvia	
Title	Steam Explosion Pilot Plant of the Institute of Wood Chemistry
Value	€ 71.100
Sector	Environment
Publication and award	The tendering notice for this below EU threshold procurement was published on the home page of the State Procurement Monitoring Office. The contract was awarded to <i>FIL&amp;Co Ltd</i> ( <i>Latvian SME</i> ).
Name of public procurer	Institute of wood chemistry (IWC)
Type of public procurer	National
Type of contract	Works

**Background:** The institute of wood chemistry (IWC) is a leading institution in Latvia for environmental research. One of its main areas of expertise is the development of sustainable technologies which can be used in the treatment of wood biomass.

The institute required an updated solution for dealing more effectively with complex analysis and treatment of wood materials. It was therefore decided to launch a procurement to build a pilot plant based on an innovative technology: steam explosion. In this system, wood biomass can be treated with hot steam (180 to 240 °C) and under pressure, potentially bringing an overall improvement in the process.

Areas of need: The procurer faced the following needs:

- Building a plant for innovative treatment of biomass;
- Improving the IWC research and development ability.

**Procurement description.** In a preliminary phase, researchers of the IWC identified the list of technical specifications to be asked in the development of the pilot plant. Once identified, the IWC launched a procurement process following an open procedure.

The award criteria were based on price (70%), quality and technical services (30%). The only offer received was from *FIL&Co* Ltd. It was considered compliant with all the technical specifications and the company was therefore awarded with an annual contract.

**Results:** The plant based on steam explosion allowed significantly reduce the use of polluting chemical products for wood biomass treatment. In addition, it guarantees higher quality of biomass products because the process does not damage their natural properties.

Thanks to this treatment, biomass enhanced its performance during the combustion process. Moreover, this procurement showed that, since no similar plant existed before, the IWC was able to address its needs by bringing an innovative solution in the domestic market.

The supplier gained valuable experience in building the complicated pilot plant. After this contract, they also erected pilot plants for other research organisations.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2

Lithuania	
Title	Construction of a combined heat and power plant
Value	€ 139.000.000 financed by the European Union € 190.000.000 loan from the European Investment Bank (EIB) € 20.000.000 is approximately the share of costs covered by <i>Lietuvos</i> <i>Energija</i>
Sector	Energy
Publication and award	The project started in 2018 and was completed in 2019. Contract award notice (TED n. 2018/S 180-408969) awarded to <i>UAB Fortum Heat Lietuva</i> (LT)
Name of public procurer	Lietuvos Energija (state-owned energy company in Lithuania)
Type of public procurer	National
Type of contract	Works

**Background:** In the city of Vilnius, gas demand for heat and energy production is very high. The availability of this resource in the country was not enough to fulfil citizens' needs. Hence, energy was imported. This resulted in high heat-related costs for citizens of Vilnius which paid for the heating system one of the highest prices in the country. In addition, the high dependence of the city on gas consumption negatively affected the environment with heavy Co2 emissions.

Accordingly, the city decided to invest in an innovative, domestic facility for producing green energy and reducing its reliance on gas import. The largest part of the investment was possible through the help of the EU Structural Funds and a loan from the European Investment Bank (EIB).

Areas of need: The procurer aimed at addressing the following needs:

- Reducing its dependence on gas for heat production;
- Improving circular economy;
- Reducing the negative environmental impact related to the heating system.

**Procurement description.** The procurer asked in 2017 for an independent environmental impact assessment related to the technology and mechanism of a combined heat and power plant. Once assessed the potential benefits of such a cogeneration system, a financial support was asked to the European Commission for the construction of a combined heat and power (CHP) plant in Vilnius. In 2018, the Commission approved the project and decided to invest in the construction of the plant using Structural Funds. Moreover, a loan was given by the EIB for this investment.

The procurer added to the European financial support ca. € 20 million and the plant took one year to be completed. It will be in full capacity for power generation in 2020.

**Results:** The CHP plant is composed by a waste incineration facility and two biofuel systems. Although it is not yet in full capacity (expected only in 2020), it has succeeded in increasing the share of domestic production of gas. This plant achieved a positive impact on the environmental side, thanks to the following factors:

- The circular economy is improved thanks to a smooth process of conversion of waste into energy;
- Co2 emissions can be significantly reduced by about 436.000 tons per year;
- The share of energy supply from renewable source is enhanced. Almost 40% of the citizens can now fulfil their energy demand with green energy supply.

In addition, the plant has also reduced heat-related costs for citizens. When it will operate in full capacity, price is estimated to be cut by 20% compared to 2013. On a wider perspective, this kind of cogeneration plant can constitute an effective way of reducing gas dependence of many European countries. The

commitment of the EU Commission towards this issue can be exploited by other national public procurers in the energy sectors to support investment in a green transition of the economy.

## Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2, Link 3, Link 4

# **Luxembourg**

Title	SATMED – a worldwide e-health platform
Value	€ 4.500.000
Sector	General public services, public admin. and economic and financial affairs
Publication and award	The procurement was negotiated in 2013. The contract was awarded in May 2014 to <i>SES S.A (Luxembourg)</i> . It ended in 2016 but has been renewed until 2020.
Name of public procurer	Ministry of Foreign and European Affairs
Type of public procurer	National
Type of contract	Services

**Background.** In many developing countries, the healthcare sector presents serious challenges. First, medical facilities and health professionals are usually insufficient. In addition, infrastructures are old and effective connections with more remote villages are in certain cases very difficult.

The government decided to dedicate part of its budget linked to international aid to address the issue of improving health conditions in less developed countries. Thus, the Ministry of Foreign and European Affairs invested in developing an innovative solution aimed at creating a network for all those stakeholders involved in healthcare assistance. The most effective solution identified was the development of an online platform (e-health) based on satellite broadband technology.

Areas of need. The procurer wanted to face the following needs:

- Helping developing countries in overcoming barriers to health assistance;
- Improving the living conditions of developing countries.

**Procurement description.** Firstly, the procurer consulted the main international non-governmental and governmental organisations involved in health aid, together with universities and IT companies, in order to identify the main challenges faced by developing countries of healthcare sector.

To better address the complex challenges emerged during the consultation process, the procurer asked the National Tender Commission<sup>873</sup> the permission to follow a closed procedure, negotiating directly the solution with a preliminary identified company, in accordance with the 2009 national Law on Public Procurement<sup>874</sup> The Tender Commission gave its consent and the procurer negotiated the solution with *SES S.A.*, a well-known company in the delivery of satellite systems. This contractor was chosen for its fruitful, long-term relationship with the procurer, mainly established during a public-private project<sup>875</sup> which had to face issues and purposes aligned to this procurement.

The contract between the procurer and the supplier lasted until 2016 and was extended until 2020.

**Results:** SATMED is an e-health open source e-health platform based on a cloud technology. The platform allows to collect and share health-related data with non-governmental or governmental organizations, medical facilities and professionals. This innovative system has eased communications among different stakeholders involved in humanitarian aid in developing countries. Thanks to cloud

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>873</sup> See at: https://marches.public.lu/fr/acteurs/commission.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>874</sup> See at: http://legilux.public.lu/eli/etat/leg/loi/2009/06/25/n1/jo

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>875</sup> The *Emergency.lu* project

technology, all the NGOs, Medical Units or hospitals which are partners of SATMED are interconnected and have at disposal a wide amount of data useful for tailoring health assistance in the different territories, especially in rural areas.

Moreover, this system allows to increase the effectiveness and coverage of humanitarian operations or regional development programmes in developing countries. Cross-border sharing of information is also a relevant positive outcome of the system.

All the partners operating through SATMED have received benefit in terms of:

- Increased efficiency of their work in developing countries, mainly due to the fact that relying on a common platform led to a decrease of administrative procedures and paperwork time;
- Gains in effectiveness of aid interventions thanks to an increased number of patients seen daily;
- Higher quality of medical visits, since patient face-time can be longer through e-health devices.

The barriers to health access in some areas of developing countries are reduced, since infrastructural lacks are overcome through the satellite technology. In addition, by accessing SATMED, health management can be more efficient. Basic ICT infrastructure is given to hospitals and a digital network can be established among them to share information.

As a result of the positive results obtained by the e-health platform, the system has been extended to other developing countries (Bangladesh, Benin, Eritrea, Niger, Guinea and Philippines). It has therefore achieved a wider coverage if compared to its initial application (which occurred only in Sierra Leone).

The positive outcomes generated by this procurement are confirmed by the fact that the SATMED platform is one of the Recipients of the *2020 Better Satellite World Awards* and has been selected among the best 2020 projects by the *Paris Peace Forum*.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2, Link 3

Malta	
Title	Catering Services to Inpatients at Mater Dei Hospital
Value	€ 2.347.542 (annually, for 10 years)
Sector	Healthcare and social services
Publication and award	Contract notice was published in April 2005 and a 10-year contract was awarded in December 2006 to $J.S.B.Z.$ Catering International. In 2017 contract was extended up to 2022.
Name of public procurer	Foundation for Medical Services (FMS)
Type of public procurer	National
Type of contract	Services

**Background.** In Malta, public hospitals were used to have an in-house catering service. In 2005 the Government of Malta decided to outsource the catering services of its public hospital "Mater Dei". As a result, the Foundation for Medical Services (FMS) launched a tender procedure for the supply of preplated meals. Given the number of patients in the hospital (approx. 900), around 1800 meals a day were expected to be requested.

The overall objective set by the FMS was to improve such services purchasing a long-term solution offered by an external caterer on the market. Main interests of the procurer involved the following issues: (i) meals should be delivered to the hospital wards, (ii) guarantee maintenance of the equipment, (iii) ensure highest professional standards of food hygiene and quality, (iv) provide uninterrupted service throughout the whole contracting period.

Areas of need: The FMS wanted to address the following needs:

- Improving the services offered in public hospitals;
- Optimising the meal delivery processes in public hospitals;
- Asking the market for a long term, effective, catering solution.

**Procurement description.** A competitive dialogue was launched between 2005 and 2006 in order to assess market's ability to offer effective solutions and share with potential bidders needs and potential challenges of the requested service. The competitive dialogue allowed the procurer to determine precise requirements and award criteria, leading to the purchase of an innovative solution.

At the end of the consultation process, the procurement was launched. It was followed by a negotiation phase with eligible candidates, focusing on technical, professional and qualitative requirements of the solutions offered. Bids were presented by three companies, namely *Eurest Ltd*, *Corinthia Palace Hotel Co. Ltd*, *Island Hotels and J.S.B.Z. Catering International.* 

*J.S.B.Z. Catering International* was awarded with a 10-year contract, extended in 2017 for 5 years. The company offered the most economically advantageous tender according to the criteria set by the procurer. These criteria included: professional, qualitative and logistics standards, price, risk management and contingency plans.

Most importantly, the company was awarded for providing an innovative solution. It proposed a B-POD catering system, based on unique technological components, ensuring the highest levels in terms of food quality and safety and achieving considerable efficiency in delivery processes.

When the contract started, Malta was only the fourth country in the world adopting this system in public hospitals. Thus, FMS has been able to set up a procurement which promoted the adoption of an innovative solution not yet affirmed in the healthcare sector.

**Results.** The FMS purchased a new solution that allows to keep the food at the best temperature for longer time compared to traditional catering systems. In addition, it has an integrated technology system which ensures a real-time monitoring of food and interactions between operators in the hospital ward. As

a result, the new system enhanced significantly the coordination of the meal delivery process, optimising working procedures of operators and making the service more effective.

The new solution had a positive impact both on the food safety and on the efficient use of spaces in the hospital. The former is due to the guarantees offered by the new solution on food conservation and treatment. This positive outcome was confirmed by higher levels of satisfaction among patients on the quality of food. The latter is linked to the structure of the portray holder, which allowed to efficiently place trays in the hospital's corridors guaranteeing a better use of space in the hospital.

The good results achieved led to the extension of the contract. This has opened to potential wider market impacts in other countries' health system since the B-POD system can be used in all hospital environments looking for reliable solutions on the side of meals delivery.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2, Link 3

Netherlands	
Title	Procuring textiles made from recycled fibres
Value	€ 430.000 for towels and wash cloths and € 1.380.000 for overalls (approximately)
Sector	Public order, safety, security and defence
Publication and award	Request for Information published in 2014. Two contracts were awarded in June 2016 out of three procedures launched, to <i>Biga Group</i> (Croatia) <i>Jules Clarysse N.V.</i> and <i>Seyntex N.V.</i> (Belgium).
Name of public procurer	Ministry of Defence of the Kingdom of the Netherlands (MODNL)
Type of public procurer	National
Type of contract	Goods

Background: Between 2013 and 2016, the Dutch Ministry of Defence (MODNL) has participated in the implementation of the Circular Procurement Green Deal<sup>876</sup>, which helped public and private actors accelerating their transition to a circular economy.

With around 58,800 employees, the MONDL is a major user of textiles, which is reported as being one of the sectors having the highest impacts on environment. The sector has a significant carbon footprint mainly generated by the energy used to transform raw materials. Other relevant challenges are linked to the toxicity deriving from its industrial processes and to the use of synthetic fibres. In addition, social concerns are also associated with the sector, mainly with regard to the working conditions of people involved in the textile supply-chain.

In order to deal with the trade-off between large purchases of textiles and the acquisition of sustainable products, MODNL decided to assess the feasibility of procuring only recycled textiles. The assessment was also focused on better assessing to what extent purchasing recycled textiles could fulfil its annual needs.

Areas of need: The MODNL wanted to address the following needs:

- Reducing environmental impacts associated with large textiles purchasing;
- Assessing the solidity and resistance of recycled textiles;
- Fulfil the high demand of textiles in a long-run sustainable way;
- Testing the readiness of the market to supply recycled textiles;
- Stimulating circular economy in the legislative framework set by the Dutch Circular Procurement Green Deal.

**Procurement description.** In January 2014, the procurer decided to explore the market for recycled textiles, launching a market consultation. A meeting with suppliers was held with the aim to assess the feasibility of using recycled fibres in the production of textile items. As a result of the market consultation, it was clear that manufacturers were able to meet MONDL's requirements.

After the consultation, the procurer decided to carry out two pilot projects. The first focused on the collection and sorting of discarded workwear. The second pilot project assessed the opportunity to use recycled fibres and was divided in three lots: towels and wash cloths, overalls, and scarves and handkerchiefs. The minimum requirement set in this pilot was to use at least 10% recycled Post-Consumer cellulose fibre and microscopic testing.

Following the first pilot, the Ministry signed an eight-year contract with the Biga Group (Croatia). Aim of the procurement was to sort discarded textiles, for re-use and re-sale, from approximately 750,000 items of military gear per year.

Contracts following the second pilot were awarded in June 2016 to the most economically advantageous tenders. Each bid was given a score based on price, percentage of certificated recycled content and quality of materials used. Two Belgian companies, Jules Clarysse N.V and Seyntex N.V., were selected for

<sup>876</sup> See at: https://www.oneplanetnetwork.org/sites/default/files/eng green deal circular procurement magazine.pdf

supplying the Ministry of Defence with towels and wash cloths and overalls for four years. Conversely, the lot concerning scarves and handkerchiefs did not receive any valid bid.

**Results:** In the first year, 50,000 white and green towels and wash cloths and approximately 53,000 green overalls were purchased. The cloths produced contained 36% of recycled fibres for towels whereas overalls have 14% of recycled fibres. In addition, MODNL and suppliers agreed to increase the percentage of recycled material during the execution of the contract.

Major positive impacts have been experienced on the environmental side. The purchase of recycled towels and overalls allowed to save approx. 233 million litres of water use, 68,880 kg of CO2 emissions and 23,520 MJ of energy consumption. Thanks to circularity, a far higher sustainability has been achieved, strongly reducing the damaging risks deriving from textile production.

In addition, discarded clothing is no longer burnt but it is either re-used by the procurer or recycled into fibres. The latter are offered as high-grade raw material on the market by the Ministry of Finance.

Positive employment and social impacts have also been reported. In order to sort discarded cloths, people with disadvantages on the labour market have been employed.

Moreover, the procurement led to re-use or re-selling high quality clothing, achieving considerable money savings.

The effectiveness of the solution and the results achieved are expected to increase the market size of recycled textiles in the coming years. In this regard, the contract signed by MONDL already envisages to expand the provision of recycled textile across the entire Central government. This tender was awarded with the Procura+ Award in 2017.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2, Link 3

Norway	
Title	Chatbot with artificial intelligence
Value	€ 232.835,53 (VAT excluded)
Sector	General public services, public admin. and economic and financial affairs
Publication and award	A contract notice was published on 23 November 2018 (TED n. 2018/S 229-524980) and a contract was awarded on 30/04/2019 (TED n. 2019/S 085-204711) to <i>AVO Consulting Norway AS</i> (Norway).
Name of public procurer	Norwegian Tax Authority (Skatteetaten)
Type of public procurer	National
Type of contract	Works

**Background.** The Norwegian Tax Authority was facing serious issues in delivering customer assistance. The dedicated department was under-staffed and unable to manage the relevant number of daily requests coming from taxpayers both via phone calls and via the online chat-system available on the website of the authority. This caused complaints from citizens who incurred long waiting times before having the opportunity to speak or chat with the department.

Given the complexity of this challenge, the Authority established an internal working group dedicated to investigating potential solutions to streamline customer assistance procedures. The procurement here described came after two other separated procurements. Both procurements had a value below the national threshold. With regards to the first procurement, in 2017 three Proof of Concepts (PoC) were jointly developed and analysed by the procurer and three suppliers. These PoC tried to apply Artificial Intelligence (AI) to the online chat-system available on the website of the authority. As a result, the procurer concluded that both the authority and customers would have obtained many advantages by investing in a solution of this kind. The second procurement was launched at the beginning of 2018 and aimed at piloting the identified solution for almost one year. This solution, developed by *Convertintelligence* and offered by *Sopra Steria*, revealed to be very helpful in assessing what type of features an AI-based chatbot needs to understand and reply to the questions of customers in the context of tax-payment procedures.

Building on these two procurements, at the end of 2018, this procurement was launched explicitly requiring for an innovative AI-based chatbot system tailored on the Tax Authority needs.

Areas of need: The procurer had to address the following issues:

- Increasing the efficiency of procedures related to customer assistance;
- Leveraging on technology and digitalisation to satisfy the entire demand of customer services, without increasing the workload of the staff;
- Giving taxpayers accurate answers to help them complete procedures related to taxpayments, while avoiding time wasting or misinterpretations.

**Procurement description**. As described in the background section , this procedure was opened as a result of two earlier procurements exercises - purchasing in the first case the development of three Proof of Concepts and in the second case a one-year pilot - which gave the procurer all the necessary information on the solution and the criteria to be required in the procurement.

In particular, the Proof of Concepts clarified that the use of an AI chat-robot could potentially reduce the need for human effort on the chat channel, while the pilot gave shape to the necessary features which the chatbot should have in order to fulfil the specific needs of the Authority, succeeding in matching automated answers to questions raised by customers in the 60% of the cases.

The procurement was then launched using a competitive procedure with negotiation applying different award criteria. MEAT criteria was used to encourage suppliers to deliver innovative solutions of high quality, but a significant share of the award criteria was covered by the "language comprehension"
criterion, namely whether the solution could correctly interpret the questions and match them to the correct answers in the dataset.

. Different suppliers were admitted to the negotiation phase and the AI-components offered by bidders were tested with regards to language comprehension. The authority selected 30 questions and bidders were required to demonstrate that the proposed solutions were able to answers the questions. This process allowed the procurer to assess the effectiveness of the offered solutions. *AVO Consulting Norway AS,* offering a chat platform by *Boost.ai* was awarded with a contact for having offered the highest quality solution, especially in terms of language processing capability.

**Results** After an initial transition phase, the AI Chatbot became fully operative in October 2019. The solution should be considered highly innovative not only for the procedure followed, but also for the use of AI in customer assistance related to tax-payment.

The set-up of the solution resulted in the following process: answers to customer's questions are prepared by authorities' operators and then automatically matched with questions raised. If the chatbot does not understand a question, it is immediately transferred to an operator.

So far, the chatbot has been giving positive results in terms of work-efficiency, reducing the workload for the customer service department. According to customers' feedback the chatbot has been able to answer without any human intervention 40% of single questions raised by customers. In addition, the chatbot was able to conclude without human intervention two-thirds of the conversations started with customers.

Moreover, the overall work of the authority has also experienced several gains:

- The effectiveness of customer assistance has increased. The combinations of chat-robot and human chat operators are able to clear 100% of the chat requests, of which more than 90% with little or no waiting.
- The efficiency has increased, since operators do not have to deal with the most frequently repeated questions, requiring standardised responses which are addressed by the bot. Hence, operators can focus their effort on phone calls or more complex online requests which require human interaction;
- Cost-savings have been achieved, since the taxpayer's access to assistance has improved independently of hiring additional staff.

Several benefits are expected also in terms of consumer satisfaction, since taxpayers can avoid long waiting times before receiving responses and therefore reduce the possibility of making mistakes in fulfilling taxpayment procedures.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2

Poland		
Title	Delivery of ultrasound machines for the Provincial Specialist Healthcare Team in Wrocław	
Value	€ 143.846,85 (excluding VAT)	
Sector	Healthcare and social services	
Publication and award	Contract notice was published on $09/10/2018$ (TED n. 2018/S 197-445063) and a contract was awarded on $17/12/2018$ (TED n. 2018/S 244-558222) to <i>Profimedical Bestry, Wichary Sp. j.</i>	
Name of public procurer	Dobrzyńska Medical Center (Wojewódzki Zespół Specjalistycznej Opieki Zdrowotnej – WZSOZ)	
Type of public procurer	Regional	
Type of contract	Goods	

**Background:** The Dobrzyńska Medical Center is a specialist healthcare centre in the Lower Silesian Region. The structure was included in the Regional Development Strategy 2013 – 2020 <sup>877</sup>, which has among its objectives the substantial improvement of the healthcare system, including the development of regional centres of modern diagnostics.

Therefore, the Dobrzyńska Medical Center decided to invest in innovative diagnostic devices, in order to modernize the key medical practices of the centre: biopsy and elastography, gynaecology and echocardiography.

Areas of need: The procurer wanted to address the following challenges:

- Building a modern diagnostics system for the inhabitants of the region;
- Increase the quality of medical services;
- Increase the accuracy of diagnostic analyses;
- Improve the patient experience undergoing diagnostic examinations.

**Procurement description:** The Dobrzyńska Medical Center launched the procurement following an open procedure. The contract was co-financed by the European Union as part of the program *Straight way to health - implementation of modern standards of care coordinated for residents of Lower Silesia by the Dobrzyńska Medical Center and the Provincial Specialist Hospital. J. Gromkowski<sup>878</sup>.* 

Tender specifications set specific technical and operational parameters to be fulfilled by tenderers, including the use of innovative applications and software (e.g. technology supporting 4D imaging for examinations etc.).

A contract was awarded at the end of 2018 to *Profimedical Bestry, Wichary Sp. j.*, a Polish company specialised in selling ultrasound devices for medical diagnostic. The company's bid successfully met the following award criteria: price (counting for the 60%), technical parameters of devices (30%) and guarantee period (10%).

**Results:** The Dobrzyńska Medical Center purchased three different innovative devices: (i) a specialized ultrasound device equipped to be used for biopsy and elastography; (ii) a gynaecological ultrasound device relying on 4D imaging; (iii) a cardiological ultrasound machine for echocardiography.

The use of an ultrasound technology allowed to perform real-time diagnosis and prescriptions, relying on high-quality imaging. Thus, both the medical centre and its patients have been able to save time and money compared to the past (e.g. because a treatment plan can be discussed with the patient without fixing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>877</sup> See at: https://ec.europa.eu/growth/tools-databases/regional-innovation-monitor/policy-document/regional-development-strategy-voivodeship-lower-silesia-2020

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>878</sup> Original name: Prosta droga do zdrowia - wdrożenie nowoczesnych standardów opieki koordynowanej dla mieszkańców Dolnego Śląska przez Centrum Medyczne "Dobrzyńska" oraz Wojewódzki Szpital Specjalistyczny im.

further appointments). In addition, compared to other diagnostic systems, ultrasound devices guarantee a higher safety for the patient, since the radiations produced are not harmful for the body.

Specific benefits are expected in all the medical areas addressed with this procurement:

- In biopsy, patient experience is considerably improved, since ultrasound-guided biopsies are less invasive and faster to perform than traditional, surgical ones, making recovery time much shorter;
- In gynaecological practices, the quality and effectiveness of medical examinations have increased, since 4D imaging software and real-time patient examination generates valuable information that often cannot be obtained through assessment of static images;
- In echocardiography, the solution purchased significantly increased the accuracy of the realtime analysis performed by cardiologists, since it relies on an innovative software, based on data-driven, automated system of detection of heart abnormalities and a 3D imaging technology which improves the visualization of hearth anatomy.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2, Link 3

Portugal		
Title	Unmanned aerial systems and ancillary equipment	
Value	€ 5.186.130	
Sector	Public order, safety, security and defence	
Publication and award	The NATO Support and Procurement Agency (NSPA) collected bids until the 28/02/2018, when awarding the contract to the American company <i>Aerovironment Inc.</i> on the 20/08/2018.	
Name of public procurer	Portuguese Army (with the support of the NSPA)	
Type of public procurer	National	
Type of contract	Goods	

**Background.** The Portuguese Army is the largest branch of the Armed Forces of Portugal, composed of 35.000 military and 1.897 civilians. In 2018, it has been deploying forces in 7 international missions - in the scope of NATO, the United Nations and the European Union – and 6 technical-military cooperation – in several members of the Community of Portuguese Language Countries.

The international and national engagement of the Army requires the adoption of the advanced military solutions, capable of adapting to different environments and operating fields. In this regard, unmanned aerial vehicles (UAV) have become in the last decades an important tool to fulfil many tasks such as real-time monitoring of dangerous situations, safe exploration of unknown areas and remote interventions. Therefore, the Portuguese Army had identified the need to acquire a technically advanced Unmanned Aircraft System (UAS) and it addressed this need through a procurement procedure with the support of the NATO Support and Procurement Agency (NSPA).

Areas of need. The Portuguese Army wanted to address the following needs:

- Equipping the military with innovative and technically advanced instruments;
- Purchasing an innovative solution that can be used in different environments where the army operates;
- Providing soldiers an easy-to-use tool without compromising on quality and efficiency.

**Procurement description.** With the order N. 6841/2016 issued on 11 May 2016, the Portuguese Ministry of Defence authorised the purchase of 12 small UAV through an international public procurement procedure (Collective N. GRA17041). The Ministry asked the NSPA to manage the procurement, setting the maximum amount of the expense at €6.000.000. A Request for Proposals (RfP) was then published in December 2017 by the NSPA to look for bidders on the international market.

The value for money award criteria that were used to award the contract included a mix of technical requirements, a measure to define the risk profile of the bidder and price.

Offerings were presented by 5 companies from Israel, Portugal, France, Greece and USA. The American *Aerovironment Inc.* was chosen for being the most compliant with the above expressed criteria and for offering an innovative model of small UAV.

**Results.** The solution provided is a so-called Small Unmanned Aircraft System (SUAS), known as *RQ-11B Raven*. Already used by several other NATO members - including in Europe Belgium, Luxembourg, Italy, Estonia, Lithuania, Hungary, Denmark, Spain, Czech Republic, Bulgaria, Romania, the UK and the Netherlands - the system is composed of three drones and is designed to provide day or night aerial intelligence, surveillance and reconnaissance.

Some key features have been considered particularly relevant for the choice: the small size and lightweight of the drones make it hand-launchable; autonomous navigation can be programmed thanks to an advanced avionics and precise GPS navigation; it is easy portable and has a fast assembly-mechanism; the learning process required is very rapid and it is considered the most prolific SUAS above all in terms of protection and awareness given to soldiers. The use of a smart system with multiple cooperating drones that are interconnected via an encrypted data link also provides for range extension.

A number of positive outcomes offered by the new solution can be identified. First, the use of drones allows to increase effectiveness in strategic and operational reconnaissance as well as battlefield surveillance, e.g. improved precision in identifying and reaching targets both for protection and attack reasons or enhanced remote control of unknown areas in a safe and efficient way.

In addition, SUAS do not need highly specialized trainings. They are easy to use and adapt to different contexts if compared with large size or medium size drones. Other economic advantages lay in the reduced expenses for patrolling activities. An increased use of this type of solution could reduce the amount of money saved without reducing the quality of the tasks accomplished.

The adoption of such solution can potentially be extended to other fields in the sector of Public Security. The same advanced technology could be helpful for police activities, as well as for activities in the field of relief and prevention of natural disasters.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2, Link 3

Romania		
Title	Implementation of a Big Data platform and information analysis capabilities	
Value	€ 28.095.148,32	
Sector	General public services, public admin. and economic and financial affairs	
Publication and award	Contract notice (TED n. 2018/S 250-577557) was published on 27/12/2018.	
Name of public procurer	Consiliul Concurenței (Competition Council)	
Type of public procurer	National	
Type of contract	Services	

**Background.** The Competition Council (CC) is the national authority in charge of ensuring the compliance of market operators with National and European competition laws. In recent years, it has been facing two main challenges concerning its data management mechanism.

First, the CC experienced a significant increase in the volume of unstructured data, which could not be stored and managed efficiently with a traditional RDBMS (Relational Database Management System). Secondly, the available systems did not allow to match and compare information from different sources effectively. This resulted in a reduced ability of the CC to conduct analyses and investigations.

Therefore, the CC decided to improve the efficiency in the use of IT tools for data management and matching. In this context, a specific procurement was launched in order to enhance the data management mechanism using a Big Data platform and an *ad hoc* software.

Areas of need. The procurer wanted to address the following challenges:

- Efficiently managing unstructured and heterogeneous data flows;
- Acquiring specific technological tools to streamline and improve the monitoring and surveillance activities;
- Training the IT personnel to handle and work with Big Data.

**Procurement description.** The procurer opened an open procurement procedure from 27/12/2018 to 15/02/2019 carefully specifying the professional and technical requirements considered appropriate to bring the needed innovativeness in the required solution.

More specifically, the procurer asked for:

- specific guarantees in the field of cyber-security of data and processes;
- a unique data management solution, tailored on the scope and context of the CC;
- an *ad hoc* software able to simplify exchanges of data between the CC and other institutions and develop analytical models for investigation activities;
- a training session to coach the CC's employees involved.

The procurement also included other criteria linked to the quality of the solutions and the delivery. Price weighted for the 45%.

**Results.** The solution adopted provides a tailored, consolidated platform shared among different institutions and able to manage Big Data from different sources.

For the Competition Council (CC), it is now possible to integrate structured, semi-structured and unstructured contents into a sole virtual space, cross-checking information across different areas of investigation (monitoring of bids, cartel screening, structural and commercial links between companies, sectoral surveys and economic concentrations).

The *ad-hoc* platform has enhanced cooperation among different institutions in charge of monitoring the markets and safeguarding fair competition in the country. The new solution also guarantees to protect data sharing processes, so that the institution can exchange data in a protected online environment.

As a result, the CC is now able to offer a real-time monitoring activity, increasing its ability to identify distortion of competition in the country. In addition, the platform allows to match and compare data from different sources, without considering their format. This optimizes the internal processes supporting correct and timely decisions and consequently improves the reliability, completeness and effectiveness of the analyses performed by the authority.

Furthermore, an improvement in skills of the IT department employees was also achieved through a specialised training. It was focused mainly on making them acquire knowledge on Big Data and learn how to use the platform.

In a medium-long term perspective, the procurer estimates that this procurement, bringing innovative tools in the field of data analytics, will significantly improve its ability of adopting complex strategic decisions. Accordingly, the quality of reports published by the Council is expected to increase, and this impacts positively on enhancing the knowledge of stakeholders and policy makers on the state of competition in the national market.

Wider market impacts can derive from the adoption of such solution. Big Data management is in fact an issue for many public authorities, which may similarly require an *ad* hoc platform and highly-skilled employees. This kind of procurement may therefore represent a good practice for other competition authorities experiencing similar challenges.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1

Slovakia		
Title	Deep renovation and modernization of an apartment building on Pavla Horova Street 17-19 in Bratislava (part of the <i>EU-GUGLE Project</i> )	
Value	€ 846.396,66 (VAT included)	
Sector	Construction, housing and community amenities	
Publication and award	The contract notice was published on $3/11/2014$ on the Croatian national procurement portal (see link 2 below) and a contract was awarded on $16/01/2015$ to <i>E</i> - <i>RAN Slovakia spol. s r.o.</i>	
Name of public procurer	Housing Construction Cooperative Bratislava ( <i>Stavebné bytové družstvo BA IV</i> )	
Type of public procurer	Local	
Type of contract	Works	

**Background:** The city of Bratislava has a large number of old prefabricated buildings. This kind of buildings combine a high demand of energy with a poor system of thermal protection, resulting in a remarkable energy waste.

To achieve the energy efficiency targets defined by the city, addressing the issue of old and inefficient buildings, is particularly important. The opportunity emerged with the participation to the *EU-GUGLE project*, an EU-funded project which aim was to assess the feasibility of nearly-zero energy building renovation models and scale them up to other cities or municipalities. Bratislava became one of the 8 pilot cities included in such project.

The city used the EU help to invest in green, innovative technologies for a wide range of structures. As per of the envisaged interventions, a public procurement was launched for the refurbishment of a residential building on Pavlova Horova Street 17 - 19, built in 1988 and home for 42 households.

Areas of need: The City of Bratislava faced the following needs:

- Increasing the share of renewable energy sources used in buildings;
- Achieving considerable primary energy savings in buildings;
- Enhancing the socio-economic development of the city;
- Improving the comfort of inhabitants.

**Procurement description:** At the beginning of the EU-GUGLE project, the City of Bratislava identified the buildings to be renovated with the help of local partners. Then, it elaborated a strategy of renovation to be disseminated through the EU-GUGLE consortium. In this strategy, many elements were defined, including the kind of innovative solutions to be procured, the objective of energy performance to be achieved and the financing scheme to be adopted.

In line with the core elements of the renovation strategy, a public procurement was launched by the Housing Construction Cooperative Bratislava for a deep refurbishment of a residential building located in the Pavlova Horova Street 17 - 19. The procurer explicitly asked for innovative solutions aiming at achieving higher energy efficiency in the building.

A contract was awarded to *E* - *RAN Slovakia spol. s r.o.,* a Slovak company specialised in energy-saving renovation of buildings, for having presented the most advantageous economic offer.

**Results:** Between July 2015 and March 2016, deep renovation works were performed, including improvements of the external insulation of the roof, walls and basements. Solar panels were placed on the roof of the building and an innovative heating system was set up. It was based on a ventilation system for heat recovery and heat pumps based on *air-to-water* technology.

These pumps allow to minimise energy consumption to heat the building: overall, only one third of the electricity is needed compared to the previous technology. Therefore, inhabitants can benefit from remarkable cost-savings in terms of energy consumption.

Thanks to this new system, almost the two-thirds of the energy consumed in the building derives from renewable energy sources. CO<sub>2</sub> emissions deriving from the building have been cut by 70% and the 80% less energy is used for heating. Therefore, a positive environmental impact has been achieved.

In addition, the life quality of inhabitants improved, due to a more modern living environment and reduced expenses related to energy consumption.

Finally, this positive refurbishment experience with the building in Pavlova Horova Street 17 - 19 brought wider effects in the housing market of the City of Bratislava, concerning the implementation of energy-efficient solutions as well as renewable energy generation for old buildings. In the realm of the EU-GUGLE project (lasted until 2018), many other structures were renovated with innovative techniques covering a total area of 40.000 m<sup>2</sup>.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2, Link 3

Slovenia		
Title	Upgrade of the Ljubljana Regional Waste Management Centre	
Value	€ 155.000.000 In the 2007–2013 programme period, the EU's Cohesion Fund contributed with € 77.500.000 through its Environment and Infrastructure Operational Programme.	
Sector	Environment	
Publication and award	Contract notice was published on 09/07/2009 (TED n. publication 2009 / S 129-188136) and the winning supplier was <i>Strabag AG and Strabag Umweltanlagen GmbH</i> (Austria)	
Name of public procurer	The entire project is run by the public enterprise Snaga Ljubljana, as authorised by the City of Ljubljana and over fifty municipalities of the wider Slovenian central region	
Type of public procurer	Regional	
Type pf contract	Services	

**Background**: According to the Slovenian Environment Agency, in Slovenia over 7 million tonnes of waste are produced each year, including approximately 900,000 tonnes of municipal waste (450kg per inhabitant). Before the procurement, Slovenia was one of lagging Member States in reducing and recycling waste, as 80 percent of landfill waste was still landed in Slovenia, while the EU average was 40 percent.

In particular, the share of recycled waste in Slovenia was very low, only around 12 percent. This was not compliant with the EU Waste Framework Directive, which requires at least 50 percent of all waste to be collected separately for recycling by 2020. Against this background and with the support of the EU, Slovenia decided in 2009 to invest in a major upgrade of a waste treatment plant near its capital, Ljubljana. The project concerned the upgrade of the regional waste management facilities serving 44 municipalities in central Slovenia, serving 700.00 residents and it has been the biggest environmental project in Slovenia supported by the EU Cohesion Fund.

**Areas of need:** Facing increasing volumes of municipal waste produced every year – and given that Slovenia did not use to have any facilities for the conversion of waste into energy and that the majority of its waste used to be exported to other countries – the public procurer had to address the following challenges:

- Achieve a long-term solution for waste management;
- Develop a facility to create fuel, wood, compost and other materials, as well as to generate energy;
- Manage natural resources sustainably and to contribute towards the transition into a circular economy;
- Find a waste treatment solution that can process very large volumes of waste very efficiently.

**Procurement description:** The project, called RCERO Ljubljana Upgrade, is comprised of three subprojects, namely, the expansion of the landfill, leachate treatment plant and waste recovery facilities.

At the end of 2009, seventeen municipalities of the wider Ljubljana region signed the accession contract to co-finance the RCERO Ljubljana Upgrade. These are, in addition to the City of Ljubljana, peri-urban municipalities, which are co-owners of the Public Holding Ljubljana. The main project investor is the City of Ljubljana while other municipalities are co-investors.

The procurement was implemented as a competitive dialogue. In 2010 three offers were received. After three rounds of negotiation, finally in 2012 *STRABAG*'s solution was chosen because it delivered the lowest investment and operation costs as well as the most technologically advanced and ecologically most sustainable solution: a device that produces green electricity from renewable biogas and secondary fuel

from waste packaging. This enables to minimize the rest of the landfill waste and to generate electricity and heat for use directly on site.

**Results**: Ljubljana's Regional Waste Management Centre (RCERO Ljubljana) now comprises an expanded landfill, a leachate treatment plant, and waste recovery facilities. The new landfill has been used since 2009, the treatment plant has been in operation since 2011, while the construction of the mechanicalbiological waste treatment facility, which was the most demanding part of the project, was completed at the end of 2015.

The plant uses state-of-the-art innovative and sustainable waste management technology. Mechanicalbiological waste treatment takes place in a three parts process. The first involves the mechanical separation of mixed municipal waste and the preparation of solid fuel, in the second the anaerobic fermentation of biodegradable waste extracted from mixed municipal waste through the production of biogas and in the third the recovery of separately collected biological waste through the production of biogas. The polluted leachate is biologically and chemically purified so that it can be discharged into the sewer.

The treatment plant can purify up to 640 cubic meters of leachate daily from landfilled waste. The technological process involves biological purification with additional ultrafiltration, absorption on activated carbon and selective ion removal of boron. Bulk waste is also received and sorted.

The 44 municipalities from Central Slovenia that are part of the RCERO project produce one third of Slovenia's waste. In order to be able to deal with such very high volumes of waste, the system is almost completely automated with conveyor belts and automatic sorting machines that operate at high speed. All processes are also surveyed by cameras and computers that can be monitored by workers from home. For example, if a filter gets clogged or something gets broken, the system immediately sends an SMS to the mobile phone of a maintenance worker.

Thanks to innovative waste management technologies, the plant can process over 170,000 tonnes of waste annually – over 150,000 of mixed municipal waste and over 20,000 tonnes of separately collected biowaste – serving approximately one third of Slovenia's population.

RCERO after the upgrade is now capable of:

- Using the most advanced and sustainable technology for waste management on a European scale;
- producing green electrical energy from a renewable source, biogas;
- producing green electricity and heat energy that is reused directly in the facility;
- processing biological waste into convenient compost to be used for gardening and landfill maintenance;
- increasing the offer of green jobs;
- producing secondary fuel from the light fraction of the mixed municipal waste.

Ljubljana is now the EU capital with the highest percentage of separately collected waste, and in 2016 was awarded the European Green Capital title. The innovative RCERO plant makes it possible to recover almost all waste, with less than 5% (7,350 tonnes) ending up in a landfill (6 times reduction compared to beforehand). The huge majority of waste is transformed in new raw materials fuelling a circular economy, including every year:

- 30,000 tonnes of raw, recyclable materials
- up to 60,000 tonnes of fuel
- 7,000 tonnes of compost
- 35,000 tonnes of digestate
- 6,000 tonnes of wood
- 17,000 MWh of electricity
- 36,000 MWh of heat.

The facilities of the RCERO reduce waste and promote recycling and reuse. A part of the equipment in the administrative building is made of waste items and reused materials which have been turned into upcycled furniture. The project also reduced surface and groundwater contamination by water leaching from landfill, greenhouse gas emissions, particularly methane, and odors from the decomposition of biodegradable waste.

In terms of wider market impacts, RCERO Ljubljana aims at becoming a model for other European countries wishing to achieve a long-term solution to the waste management issue. Positive spill-over effects are expected, especially in territories currently relying on exporting waste to foreign waste treatment facilities.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2, Link 3, Link 4

Spain		
Title	Treatment of patients with automated implantable cardioverter defibrillator (AICD)	
Value	€ 10.400.000 (excluding VAT)	
Sector	Healthcare and Social Services	
Publication and award	The contract notice was published on 23 February 2016 in TED ( <b>2016/S 037-060421</b> ). The contract was awarded on 18 November 2016 ( <b>2016/S 223-407585</b> ) to <i>UTE Medtronic Ibérica, SA — St. Jude Medical España, SA</i>	
Name of public procurer	Hospital de la Santa Creu i Sant Pau (Barcelona)	
Type of public procurer	Regional	
Type pf contract	Services	

**Background**: The hospital de la Santa Creu i Sant Pau provides healthcare services to approximately 400,000 patients in the Barcelona area. The Hospital implants approximately 150 implantable cardioverter defibrillators (AICDs) per year. An AICD is a device that is inserted in the human body to treat patients at risk of sudden cardiac arrest. Although these devices have been in use for decades, a number of recent developments – such as the introduction of subcutaneous implants – make them a particularly innovative solution. Compared to intravenous implants, subcutaneous implants (placed in the subcutis layer of the skin with few blood vessels) have the advantages of having less complications, but are also more suitable for specific patient populations including pediatric patients. Each AICD includes various high-tech components, costs approximately €10.000 and requires periodical control and reprogramming. In recent years, the number of AICD implants per year has been increasing in Spain–from around 3.000 in 2007 to nearly 6.000 in 2016 – while the national healthcare budget has been shrinking due to the economic crisis.

Areas of need: The public procurer identified three main challenges to be addressed:

- The increase of the number of implants, combined with a reduction of budget;
- The low quality of AICDs and limited technical support after implant, generally caused by the price reductions offered by industry providers in traditional procurements based on the lowest price criterion;
- The need to improve the quality of services for patients, reducing the number of hospital visits while ensuring better remote care services.

**Procurement description**: The hospital made use of the European Specification Template, a public procurement template to promote cost-effective commissioning of health services, enabling the implementation of innovative care models for elderly people through the support of digital technologies. The template was one of the outputs of the STOPandGO (Sustainable Technologies for Older People – Get Organised) PPI project funded by the European Commission in which the hospital participated.

The procurement procedure envisaged a preliminary market consultation, which allowed the hospital to inform the industry on its needs and requirements, while also learning about quality and technical characteristics of the different solutions available on the market and collecting feedback for the preparation of the call for tenders.

The preliminary market consultation was then followed by the publication of the contract notice, which detailed all the services to be provided, ranging from the management of the stock of AICDs to the extractions of malfunctioning devices. The notice also introduced an innovative system of outcome-based payments, envisaging the payment of 3% of the contract value upon achievement of specific indicators, such as the reduction of hospital visits, the satisfaction of patients, or reduction in the rate of implants resulting in infections. Indicators are periodically monitored by the designated service provider, allowing

to follow and discuss the progress of the procurement during dedicated technical roundtables between hospital staff and the industry.

**Results**: Although still ongoing, the monitoring of intermediate results shows a number of positive outcomes. For instance, the procurement allowed:

- to reduce hospital visits of patients with AICDs by 18%, with an initially set target of 5%;
- to decrease the inappropriate patient discharges, resulting in avoidable shocks by 29%, exceeding the initial target of 10%;
- to bring the number of implants generating infections down to zero, with an initial target of <3%;</li>
- to limit to 0.4% the discrepancy between the classification of heart conditions made by remote care devices and that performed in hospital, while the objective was <10%.

In addition to overachieving on its targets, the procurement is also producing a wider market impact, as various other hospitals in the Barcelona area are reportedly trying to apply the so-called "Sant Pau's Model", moving from the mere purchase of a device to the procurement of services and results. In particular, Vall d'Hebron University Hospital, Bellvitge University Hospital and Hospital Sant Joan de Déu – which cumulatively represent over 50% of the Catalan market for AICDs – are conducting open market consultations to implement a comprehensive treatment for patients with arrhythmias who need implantable cardiac devices. Moreover, building upon this success, the Sant Pau hospital is also currently leading a group of buyers in the framework of the Ritmocore project, an EU funded PPI that aims at developing innovative solutions for patients in need of an implantable pacemaker.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2

Sweden		
Title	Disposable bio-based aprons for Skåne's healthcare sector	
Value	N/A	
Sector	General public services, public admin. and economic and financial affairs	
Publication and award	Contract notice (TED n. 2015/S 123-224849) was published on 30/06/2015 and a contract was awarded (TED n. 2016/S 090-161320) on 11/05/2016 to <i>GAIA BioMaterials AB (a Swedish biotech startup)</i>	
Name of public procurer	Skåne Regional Council	
Type of public procurer	Regional	
Type of contract	Goods	

**Background.** In 2011, 40% of the Co2 emissions in the Skåne Region occurred in the healthcare sector. This was mainly due to the high consumption of disposable products. Among these products, aprons were identified as those having the highest carbon footprint. In this regard, the Skåne's healthcare system requires about five million aprons every year, which correspond to approx. 300 tons of CO2 emissions per year.

Alternative renewable plastics, such as biopolymers, were available on the market, but not ready to be used for protective aprons yet. In the previous years, three regional councils had already tried to jointly procure for bio-based plastic aprons but found the market unprepared to offer such a product. Given the challenging context, in 2014 Skåne Regional Council undertook an innovation procurement for the supply of 5.2 million bio-based disposable aprons. The procurement was launched with the support of the Swedish Energy Agency. The pilot project aimed at purchasing climate-neutral products and at testing a PPI approach in the region to assess the opportunity to use this type of procurement in the future.

Areas of need: The procurer faced the following needs:

- Reducing the Co2 emissions produced in the healthcare sector;
- Substituting disposable products with environmentally sustainable products;
- Orienting the market towards the production of innovative, sustainable solutions for the healthcare sector;
- Acquiring capabilities in procuring for innovative solution.

**Procurement description.** The procurer followed a negotiated procedure with publication in order to better address the need to purchase a solution not yet available on the market. The procedure followed four phases:

In the first phase, a preliminary market consultation was held. Meetings were organized with experts and potential suppliers. The aim of these meetings was to gather information on the requirements to be asked in the procurement. Moreover, the procurer was able to anticipate potential obstacles preventing suppliers from submitting a tender.

In the second phase, a prior information notice was published. It defined minimum requirements of aprons to be purchased, such as being composed of at least 70% bio-material. Four companies participated and passed to the following phase.

The negotiation phase took place in November 2015 with each company. Discussions involved climate impact evaluation, design of the apron, the share of renewable material, delivery time, and price.

In the final phase the procurement was awarded taking into account the aspects discussed in the previous phase and considering the most economically advantageous tender. In May 2016, *GAIA Bio Materials AB* was awarded the contract.

**Results.** The procurement procedure was successful. It allowed to ensure a high percentage of renewable material for the production of the aprons as well as a price cut of 25%. The company awarded the contract

produced disposable aprons consisting of 91% renewable material. In addition, the design and quality of the new aprons has improved compared to the aprons formerly purchased.

A major impact on environmental sustainability has been confirmed through the Carbon Footprint Calculator, according to which the purchase and use of bio-based aprons resulted in savings of 250 tons of CO2 emissions per year.

On the economic side, the procurer set up a procedure which led to remarkable savings in the negotiation phase. Moreover, the market consultation held before the procurement and the dialogue with potential bidders allowed to raise awareness among apron's producers on the feasibility and profitability of biodisposable products.

The procurement confirmed the effectiveness of the use of strategic procurement procedures to stimulate innovation. It is therefore expected that the use of similar procedures can be replicated in other geographical and sectorial contexts.

Sources and more information available at: LINK 1, LINK 2, LINK 3

Switzerland		
Title	Recycled concrete and asphalt for building and road construction	
Value	€900.000 (nearly CHF 1 million) for the Kronenwiese building construction procurement. In addition, Zurich has performed several procurements for the construction of public buildings and roads with recycled concrete: the annual average cost for all these construction procurements of new public buildings in Zurich is € 370.000.000, with the amount due to structural works ranging between € 55.000.000 and € 90.000.000.	
Sector	Construction, housing and community amenities	
Publication and award	There were several procurements for the construction of various buildings erected mainly in the period 2002 – 2019 and roads constructed or repaired in the same period. One building presented as first best practice was finished already in 2002, while two others are planned to be done in the next four years. The most recent construction – the Kronenwiese building – was procured via TED contract notice 2015/S 144-267026. The contract was awarded to <i>Bachmann &amp; Rimensberger</i> (CH).	
Name of public procurer	City of Zurich (Building Surveyor's Office and Civil Engineering Office in cooperation with Environmental and Health Protection Service)	
Type of public procurer	Local	
Type of contract	Works	

**Background.** Since 2008, Zurich has been developing an approach to support sustainable buildings and significantly reduce its energy consumption. The city strives to become a "2000-Watt Society", namely a community with an average primary energy consumption of 2000 Watt per person (pp), with only 500 watts/pp from fossil energy and 1 ton/pp of annual CO2-emissions by 2150. Compared to 2005, this means 3 times less energy consumption and 9 times less greenhouse gases (GHG) emissions per year.

The first steps were implemented already in the 90s with the design and adoption of the *Swiss Minergie Eco Standard*<sup>879</sup>, aimed at setting high requirements regarding the use of renewable energies and the increase in resource efficiency in the construction and housing sectors.

This was needed because, as a result of so renovation and construction works in public buildings, of all the building materials in Zurich, 31.6% is concrete and 26.7% sand and gravel. In this context, improving resource efficiency in public construction works has been an important priority for the city in the last decade. Therefore, the city also decided to include stricter resource efficiency requirements in its procurements for the construction of public buildings and housing.

Areas of need. The City of Zurich identified the following challenges to be addressed:

- Building or refurbishing public or city-owned buildings and roads in Zurich with a sustainable environmental-friendly and energetically optimal approach;
- Reducing GHG emissions without reducing the quality of buildings and roads;
- Promoting closed-loop cycles in the use of materials for construction and maintenance of buildings and roads.

**Procurement description:** As the main driver for innovation, Zurich used the adoption of a local legislative strategy that steered the building sector to innovate and change their construction processes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>879</sup> See at: <u>https://www.minergie.ch/media/20170906\_flyer\_minergie\_allgemein\_en\_rgb.pdf</u>

towards an environmentally sustainable and more cost-efficient path. The legislative framework developed by Zurich binds construction and maintenance of public buildings and roads to stringent environmental and energy standards. This framework does not only define standards for all the new publicly-owned buildings and roads, but also requires the compulsory use of specific materials: since 2005 recycled concrete should be used for public constructions, while since 2015 the only cement favoured wherever technically possible is the CEM III/B – also referred as CO2-reduced cement - which is characterised for being the type that emits the least amount of CO2. Exceptions are allowed only if properly justified.

Moreover, to ensure a sustainable procurement, all contracting partners are required to comply with Zurich's Code of Conduct. In addition, all contracting partners, third parties, sub-contractors and suppliers must guarantee compliance with the International Labour Organization (ILO) core labour standards at the place of performance.

In order to encourage the building sector to submit offers that deliver both quality (sustainability) and cost efficiency improvements, the procurements of different buildings (see below) were implemented using open procedures that used value for money criteria with clearly defined minimum resource and energy efficiency requirements.

Results. Examples of buildings that were constructed using this innovative strategy are:

- The school "Im Birch", built in 2002, used 80% of recycle concrete;
- *Housing complex "Werdwies",* built in 2006, used 75% of recycled concrete;
- School "Leutschenbach", built in 2009, used 95% of recycled concrete;
- *Housing complex "Kronenwiese"*, built in 2017, used 95% of recycled concrete and CEM III/B cement;
- *Zurich's city hospital "Triemli"*, built in 2015, used 95% of recycled concrete.

The legislative strategy proved to be successful. Today, approximately 90% of Zurich's average annual use of concrete comes from recycled materials, whose main source is demolition waste. The city has so far managed to reuse 97% of mineral demolition materials and to attain a closed-loop mineral material cycle in urban areas. As a result, every year Zurich uses about 17.000 cubic metres of recycled concrete instead of virgin concrete. This is having a positive impact on:

- Land preservation: the use of closed-loop material allows to avoid mining in gravel quarries and disposal construction waste in landfills;
- Energy savings: the use of recycled concrete leads to energy savings when it is available within a certain distance from the construction site (25km radius, which is the case of the greater Zurich area);
- Less CO2-emissions: greenhouse gas emissions per cubic metre of concrete are reduced using CO2-reduced cement by around 25%.

Advantages in terms of cost-savings are also reported. Thanks to the reuse of demolition waste the volumes of waste sent to landfills is significantly reduced, avoiding landfill costs. In addition, depending on actual market developments, recycled concrete is slightly cheaper than virgin concrete, as it allows to save on sand and gravel.

Finally, there are also positive outcomes in terms of quality of employment and social fairness. The first is due to Zurich's Code of Conduct, while the second is mainly due to the fact that producing concrete close to the construction area increases certainty and transparency along the supply chain.

Zurich's experience can be transferred to other areas, cities and countries since there are only few technical limitations in the use of recycled concrete and asphalt and the use of CEM III/B. In this respect, knowledge transfer activities within the *UrbanWin/Procura+ programme* have already been implemented with delegations from other European cities (Helsinki and Rome). In 2019, as a result of the innovative use of recycled concrete and asphalt for building and road construction and maintenance, Zurich was awarded the *Procura+ Procurement of the Year* award.

#### Sources and more information available at: Link 1

United Kingdom		
Title	Innovative lighting procurement for London's Underground network	
Value	€ 10.000.000 € 500.000 (approximately the additional European Commission funding for PRO-LITE project used by the English procurer)	
Sector	Public Transport	
Publication and award	The first early market assessment took place in 2014, the contract notice wa published in TED (n . 2015/S 172-313835), and contracts were awarded in June 2016 (TED 2016/S 200-362154) to a series of SMEs: Ark Lighting (UK), Design plan lighting (UK), ZG Lighting (UK), Urbis lighting (UK), Thorlux lighting. Selux (UK), QE global (UK), MJ Quin Integrated service (UK), Indo lighting (UK), CU lighting (UK) and Armadillo (UK).	
Name of public procurer	Transport for London (TfL)	
Type of public procurer	Local	
Type of contract	Works	

**Background.** Transport for London (TfL) is one of the agencies of the Greater London Authority (GLA), responsible for delivering transport services to more than 1,107 million passengers every year. It has been revealing efforts in reducing transports' contribution to climate change as part of wider goal of reducing CO2 in London emissions by 60% by 2025 (in comparison to 1990 levels). However, in this sector the introduction of new and innovative technologies used to be rather limited, since the focus is on the passenger safety rather than on climate change.

One of the main issues identified was the fluorescent lighting technology used to light underground stations, which required significant maintenance costs and revealed a low level of energy efficiency. For this reason, in 2015, TfL sought new lighting solutions to reduce the underground lighting life-cycle costs (WLC).

In this context, TfL became the lead partner of the EU-funded Procurement of Lighting Innovation and Technology in Europe (PRO-LITE) project, coordinating 7 partners across five European Member States. With the support of PRO-LITE, TfL launched a procurement for the introduction of an innovative lighting system, setting up a procedure to overcome risk-adversity of the sector linked to innovation.

Areas of need. The procurer aimed at addressing the following needs:

- Reducing energy consumption in lighting systems for public transport;
- Overcoming structural resistance of public transport sector to invest in innovation;
- Reducing costs for lighting maintenance in London Underground Network.

**Procurement description.** A pre-procurement phase was managed through the PRO-LITE network. This approach was based on a Market Sounding Prospectus which aimed at mapping both competences and innovative technologies available on the market. Over 70 manufacturers, suppliers and representatives of the European lighting industry participated in this phase and provided insights on 300 different innovative lighting technologies.

The expertise gathered through this early market engagement exercise was used to inform public procurers of the PRO-LITE network on how to design the procurement procedure. TfL was able to gain a better understanding of (i) innovative solutions applicable in London's underground and (ii) on how to compute costs using the life-cycle cost (WLC) analysis.

After this preliminary phase, a negotiated procurement procedure was launched following three stages:

• A pre-qualification stage aiming at identifying market suppliers compliant with the specific needs of TfL;

- A second phase were suppliers were shortlisted and invited to present an offer. Selected manufacturers provided technical information on their products to enable TfL to undertake a WLC-based environmental comparison of different solutions. Suppliers submitting the best offers were invited to the following stage;
- In the final stage, manufacturers were asked to submit samples for *in situ* testing. In this phase the ability to achieve a set of performance criteria was evaluated (robustness and durability, ease of access to components, ease to dismantle, ease to reassemble, integrity after reassembly, ease to replace parts/components, ease to clean, ease to install, ease to remove/uninstall, ability to accommodate wiring, ease to switch on and off).

In the last stage, several potential suppliers were rejected as the performance did not reached the performance criteria identified by the procurer. In June 2016, an eight year-long contract was awarded to 13 manufacturers.

The procedure used value for money (most economically advantageous) award criteria and applied life cycle costing to calculate the benefits and costs that the procurement would achieve over the lifetime of using the newly procured lighting solutions. The project is a good example of a procurer that made a very sound business case before procuring in order to design his procurement in the way that would deliver the best value for money (first equipping those parts of the metro with new LED lights where the cost reductions that could be achieved would be the highest and using these cost savings to equip other parts of the metro network where a longer pay-back period would be needed with new LED lights later on).

**Results.** TfL purchased 45 LED-based lighting systems to be installed in different parts of the London Underground Network. The contracts signed with manufacturers contain specific clauses which bind them to regularly update the lighting systems.

The new technology led to remarkable cost-savings. LED technologies generally last longer and are more energy efficient than previously used fluorescent technologies. In addition, the maintenance costs associated to LED technologies are lower. For example, the installation of the new systems in the ticket hall of the London Underground Charing Cross Station resulted in a 25% reduction in WLC, and 75% less maintenance costs. Therefore, the long-term savings are expected to outweigh higher upfront costs of LED solutions and generate total cost savings of up to 50%.

In addition, the solution resulted in positive environmental impacts. Energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions of the new solutions are significantly lower, contributing to the overall CO<sub>2</sub> emissions goal set for 2025.

The procurement procedure also generated important lessons learned to be used in other countries to overcome barriers on the implementation of innovative solutions in this sector. The pre-procurement stages allowed to safely identify innovative solutions, minimizing the risks and therefore increasing confidence of public transport actors in investing in innovative solutions.

Sources and more information available at: Link 1, Link 2, Link 3, Link 4, Link 5

# 9.3 Annex III – Survey used for the policy framework benchmarking

The survey for benchmarking innovation procurement policy and legal frameworks in Europe was available at <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eusurvey/runner/InnovationProcurementSurveySMART</u> from November 2017 to February 2018.

It was designed, in accordance with the DG CNECT, in order to cover at best all aspects that constitute the ecosystem of innovation procurement, from the legal framework to financing.

Addressees, identified in the first months of the project, were key national procurement experts, usually officials of Ministries of public offices at central level.

Below we provide the integral text of the survey, including the introduction where we explained the scope, the objectives and the functioning of the survey.

### The Strategic Use of Innovation Procurement in the Digital Economy

Fields marked with \* are mandatory.

#### Introduction to the survey

#### Background information:

This survey is taking place in the context of the study on "The strategic use of public procurement for innovation in the digital economy" conducted by PricewaterhouseCoopers plus two experts, Sara Bedin and David Osimo, for the European Commission, DG Connect. The aim of this survey is to gather qualitative evidence about the progress in different countries of implementing a mix of policy measures that are conducive for mainstreaming innovation procurement and to collect a set of good practice cases. The study covers all 27 European Member States plus UK, Norway and Switzerland.

#### Target:

The survey is addressed to national representatives and experts working on innovation procurement.

The survey will take around 30 minutes, unless you need additional time and collaboration with other people in your country to answer all the questions.

\*\*You can take as long as you need. You can save your contribution as a draft on the server and continue later. Please note that your session will time out in 30 minutes. Save your work as a draft before your session times out.\*\*

As the evidences are fundamental for our study, we request you to provide additional documents (or the weblink to those) to support your answers.

In the last section we ask you to provide examples of good practices in a free text question.

Please note that personal data and information that you share with us in this survey will not be disclosed to third parties, unless you agree differently.

Thank you in advance for the time you dedicated to our cause.

Click here for additional information

Information about the respondent

#### 1. Definitions

A common understanding of what is meant by innovation procurement is an essential prerequisite to encourage the use of innovation procurement across a country. The objective of this indicator is therefore to check to which extent there is a clear official definition in the legal framework of the country for Innovation Procurement, R&D procurement, Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP) and Public Procurement of Innovative solutions (PPI). For additional information on definitions and legal framework:

http://ec.europa.eu/newsroom/dae/document.cfm?doc\_id=48150

#### 1.1 Innovation procurement

Does it exist in your country (at national or regional level) an official definition of innovation procurement?

T Yes

No

#### 1.2 R&D procurement

Does it exist in your country an official (national or regional) definition of R&D procurement?

☐ Yes

■ No

#### 1.3 Pre-commercial procurement (PCP)

Does it exist in your country an official (national or regional) definition of pre-commercial procurement (PCP)?

T Yes

□ No

#### 1.4 PPI (i.e. the public sector acting as early adopter for innovative solutions)

Does it exist an official (national or regional) PPI definition:(i.e. the public sector acting as early adopter for innovative solutions)?

T Yes

□ No

#### 2. Other horizontal policies supporting innovation procurement

Innovation procurement does not happen in isolation, but at the intersection with other policies and thus it flourishes more when it is actively supported by those other policies. This indicator therefore reflects for each country to which extent innovation Procurement is politically embedded and treated with strategic importance in other policies that define the surrounding ecosystem for innovation procurement.

2.1 R&D policy

Is there a (national or regional) R&D policy that embeds with strategic importance - in addition to the classical supply side R&D policy - also a demand side R&D policy, which actively encourages public procurement of R&D, including PCP?

res

□ No

#### 2.2 Innovation policy

Is public procurement of innovative solutions (i.e. the public sector acting as early adopter for innovative solutions) embedded as a goal of strategic importance in the innovation policy (at national or regional level)?

T Yes

□ No

#### 2.3 Public procurement policy

Does the public procurement policy (at regional or national level) explicitly recognize the strategic importance of innovation procurement to improve the quality and efficiency of public services, and actively encourage public procurers to implement R&D procurements (including PCP) and public procurement of innovative solutions?

T Yes

■ No

#### 2.4. Competition policy

Is there a specific strategy for innovation procurement( at national or regional level) defined in the competition policy to ensure a transparent, non-discriminatory level playing field for all economic operators on the market?

T Yes

□ No

#### 2.5 ICT / Digital Single Market policy

As ICT (at national or regional level) is a catalyser for public sector modernization across all areas of public interest in today's digital economy, is innovation procurement embedded as a strategic priority in the ICT policy?

T Yes

No

#### 2.6 Economic policy

Does the economic policy (at national or regional level) explicitly recognize the strategic importance of innovation procurement for economic growth (to reinforce industrial competitiveness, public sector efficiency, job creation), and actively encourage innovation procurement (e.g. in economic reforms, in export / trade strategy)?

Yes
res

□ No

2.7 Entrepreneurship policy

Does the entrepreneurship policy (at national or regional level) explicitly recognize the strategic importance of innovation procurement to create business opportunities for entrepreneurs and boost the scaling-up of small companies, and does it actively support entrepreneurs that target public sector customers (e.g. provide training to entrepreneurs/start-ups/SMEs on how to successfully apply for innovation procurements, encourage financial investors to invest in entrepreneurs/start-ups/SMEs involved in innovation procurements)?

$\Box$	Yes

No

#### 2.8 Financial policy

Are there strategic measures in the financial policy (at national or regional level) to facilitate innovation procurement (e.g. tax/VAT incentives for public procurers and companies that are involved in R&D procurements and/or public procurements of innovative solutions)?

□ Yes

No

#### 2.9 Regional/urban policy

Does the regional/urban policy recognize the strategic importance of innovation procurement for regional/urban development, and does it foresee strategic measures to increase the use of R&D procurement (including PCP) and public procurement of innovative solutions?

T Yes

□ No

## Please provide the link to relevant documents (and additional free text information, if relevant) to support your answers

200-character(s) maximum

#### 3. Sectoral policies supporting innovation procurement

*Public procurers in a specific sector (e.g. public transport) are more encouraged to undertake innovation procurement when innovation procurement is embedded as a strategic objective in the* 

national policy frameworks and action plans that set the priorities for their specific sector (e.g. national strategy/action plan on transport/mobility). Therefore this indicator reflects per country to which extent innovation Procurement is embedded as a strategic priority in policy frameworks and action plans at sectoral level.

3.1 To which extent is innovation Procurement recognized as a strategic priority in policy frameworks and action plans in Healthcare and social services sector?

	Yes	No	I don't know
Recognized in the policy framework and/or in the action plan at national level	0	0	0
Recognized in the policy framework and/or in action plan at regional level	0	0	0
For all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI)	0	0	0

3.2 To which extent is innovation Procurement recognized as a strategic priority in policy frameworks and action plans in public transport sector?

	Yes	No	I don't know
Recognized in the policy framework and/or in the action plan at national level	0	0	0
Recognized in the policy framework and/or in action plan at regional level	0	0	0
For all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI)	0	0	0

3.3 To which extent is innovation Procurement recognized as a strategic priority in policy frameworks and action plans in General public services, public administration, economic and financial affairs sector?

	Yes	No	I don't know
Recognized in the policy framework and/or in the action plan at national level	0	0	0
Recognized in the policy framework and/or in action plan at regional level	0	0	0
For all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI)	0	0	0

3.4 To which extent is innovation Procurement recognized as a strategic priority in policy frameworks and action plans in Construction sector?

	Yes	No	I don't know
Recognized in the policy framework and/or in the action plan at national level	0	0	0
Recognized in the policy framework and/or in the action plan at regional level	0	0	0
For all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI)	0	0	0

3.5 To which extent is innovation Procurement recognized as a strategic priority in policy frameworks and action plans in the Energy sector?

	Yes	No	I don't know
Recognized in the policy framework and/or in the action plan at national level	0	0	0
Recognized in the policy framework and/or in the action plan at regional level	0	0	0
For all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI)	0	0	0

3.6 To which extent is innovation Procurement recognized as a strategic priority in policy frameworks and action plans in the Environment sector?

	Yes	No	I don't know
Recognized in the policy framework and/or in the action plan at national level	0	0	0
Recognized in the policy framework and/or in the action plan at regional level	0	0	0
For all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI)	0	0	0

3.7 To which extent is innovation Procurement recognized as a strategic priority in policy frameworks and action plans in the Water sector?

	Yes	No	I don't know	
				l

Recognized in the policy framework and/or in the action plan at national level	0	0	0
Recognized in the policy framework and/or in the action plan at regional level	0	0	0
For all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI)	0	0	0

3.8 To which extent is innovation Procurement recognized as a strategic priority in policy frameworks and action plans in the Public order, safety, security and defence sector?

	Yes	No	I don't know
Recognized in the policy framework and/or in the action plan at national level	0	0	0
Recognized in the policy framework and/or in the action plan at regional level	0	0	0
For all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI)	0	0	0

3.9 To which extent is innovation Procurement recognized as a strategic priority in policy frameworks and action plans in the Postal sector?

	Yes	No	I don't know
Recognized in the policy framework and/or in the action plan at national level	0	0	0
Recognized in the policy framework and/or in the action plan at regional level	0	0	0
For all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP and PPI)	0	0	0

3.10 To which extent is innovation Procurement recognized as a strategic priority in policy frameworks and action plans in the Public order, safety, security and defence sector?

	Yes	No	I don't know
Recognized in the policy framework and/or in the action plan at national level	0	0	0

Recognized in the policy framework and/or in the action plan at regional level	0	0	0
For all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI)	0	0	0

3.10 To which extent is innovation Procurement recognized as a strategic priority in policy frameworks and action plans in the Education, recreation, culture and religion sector?

	Yes	No	I don't know
Recognized in the policy framework and/or in the action plan at national level	0	0	0
Recognized in the policy framework and/or in the action plan at regional level	0	0	0
For all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI)	0	0	0

Please provide the link to relevant documents (and additional free text information, if relevant) to support your answers

200 character(s) maximum

#### 4. Dedicated action plan for innovation procurement

A number of countries around Europe have implemented or have started implementing a dedicated action plan for innovation procurement that foresees specific measures to encourage innovation procurement that are not covered by other horizontal enabling policies (see indicator 2) or sectoral policies (see indicator 3). This indicator thus assesses to what extent policy ambitions for innovation procurement have been operationalized through a dedicated action plan for innovation procurement.

4.1 Is there a specific action plan for innovation procurement?

T Yes

🗖 No

4.2 If yes, please choose one of the following options:

Yes, but only for a subset of innovation procurement (e.g. only for PPI or only for R&D procurement but not for both), not widely across the whole country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some/not all regions/cities) and not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for 'pilot' actions)

- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), but not widely across the whole country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some/not all regions/cities) and not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for some 'pilot' actions).
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), and widely across the whole country (e.g. applicable to all public procurers in all sectors, levels of government, geographic parts of the country) but not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for some 'pilot' actions).
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), and widely across the whole country (e.g. applicable to all public procurers in all sectors, government levels, geographic parts of the country) and for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale.
- 4.3 Does the action plan commit to concrete actions to be implemented?

□ No

- Yes, but only for a subset of innovation procurement (e.g. only for PPI or only for R&D procurement but not for both), not widely across the whole country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some/not all regions/cities) and not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for 'pilot' actions)
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), but not widely across the whole country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some/not all regions/cities) and not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for some 'pilot' actions).
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), and widely across the whole country (e.g. applicable to all public procurers in all sectors, levels of government, geographic parts of the country) but not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for some 'pilot' actions).
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), and widely across the whole country (e.g. applicable to all public procurers in all sectors, government levels, geographic parts of the country) and for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale.

4.4 Does the action plan define which specific resources (material and budgets) will be used to implement each action?

- Yes, but only for a subset of innovation procurement (e.g. only for PPI or only for R&D procurement but not for both), not widely across the whole country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some/not all regions/cities) and not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for 'pilot' actions)
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), but not widely across the whole country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some/not all regions/cities) and not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for some 'pilot' actions).
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), and widely across the whole country (e.g. applicable to all public procurers in all sectors, levels of

government, geographic parts of the country) but not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for some 'pilot' actions).

Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), and widely across the whole country (e.g. applicable to all public procurers in all sectors, government levels, geographic parts of the country) and for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale.

4.5 Does the action plan clearly define expected results (possibly broken down in final results and intermediate milestones) for each action?

No

- Yes, but only for a subset of innovation procurement (e.g. only for PPI or only for R&D procurement but not for both), not widely across the whole country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some/not all regions/cities) and not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for 'pilot' actions)
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), but not widely across the whole country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some/not all regions/cities) and not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for some 'pilot' actions).
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), and widely across the whole country (e.g. applicable to all public procurers in all sectors, levels of government, geographic parts of the country) but not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for some 'pilot' actions).
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), and widely across the whole country (e.g. applicable to all public procurers in all sectors, government levels, geographic parts of the country) and for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale.

4.6 Does the action plan define a clear timeline for implementation of the different actions?

No

- Yes, but only for a subset of innovation procurement (e.g. only for PPI or only for R&D procurement but not for both), not widely across the whole country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some/not all regions/cities) and not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for 'pilot' actions)
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), but not widely across the whole country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some/not all regions/cities) and not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for some 'pilot' actions).
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), and widely across the whole country (e.g. applicable to all public procurers in all sectors, levels of government, geographic parts of the country) but not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for some 'pilot' actions).
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), and widely across the whole country (e.g. applicable to all public procurers in all sectors, government levels, geographic parts of the country) and for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale.

4.7 Have the relevant key procurement organisations in the country committed and been mobilised to implement the action plan?

□ No

- Yes, but only for a subset of innovation procurement (e.g. only for PPI or only for R&D procurement but not for both), not widely across the whole country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some/not all regions/cities) and not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for 'pilot' actions)
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), but not widely across the whole country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some/not all regions/cities) and not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for some 'pilot' actions).
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), and widely across the whole country (e.g. applicable to all public procurers in all sectors, levels of government, geographic parts of the country) but not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for some 'pilot' actions).
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), and widely across the whole country (e.g. applicable to all public procurers in all sectors, government levels, geographic parts of the country) and for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale.

4.8 Does the action plan define concrete actors to implement each action?

□ No

- Yes, but only for a subset of innovation procurement (e.g. only for PPI or only for R&D procurement but not for both), not widely across the whole country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some/not all regions/cities) and not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for 'pilot' actions)
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), but not widely across the whole country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some/not all regions/cities) and not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for some 'pilot' actions).
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), and widely across the whole country (e.g. applicable to all public procurers in all sectors, levels of government, geographic parts of the country) but not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for some 'pilot' actions).
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), and widely across the whole country (e.g. applicable to all public procurers in all sectors, government levels, geographic parts of the country) and for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale.

4.9 Have the relevant key procurement organisations in the country committed and been mobilised to implement the action plan?

No

Yes, but only for a subset of innovation procurement (e.g. only for PPI or only for R&D procurement but not for both), not widely across the whole country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some/not

all regions/cities) and not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for 'pilot' actions)

- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), but not widely across the whole country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some/not all regions/cities) and not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for some 'pilot' actions).
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), and widely across the whole country (e.g. applicable to all public procurers in all sectors, levels of government, geographic parts of the country) but not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for some 'pilot' actions).
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), and widely across the whole country (e.g. applicable to all public procurers in all sectors, government levels, geographic parts of the country) and for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale.

4.10 Does the action plan define clear, lightweight decision-making structures for innovation procurements that require approval from procurers and/or policy makers from different levels of government (local, regional, national) and/or different sectors (e.g. health, energy, environment)?

□ No

- Yes, but only for a subset of innovation procurement (e.g. only for PPI or only for R&D procurement but not for both), not widely across the whole country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some/not all regions/cities) and not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for 'pilot' actions)
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), but not widely across the whole country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some/not all regions/cities) and not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for some 'pilot' actions).
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), and widely across the whole country (e.g. applicable to all public procurers in all sectors, levels of government, geographic parts of the country) but not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for some 'pilot' actions).
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), and widely across the whole country (e.g. applicable to all public procurers in all sectors, government levels, geographic parts of the country) and for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale.

4.11 Does the action plan define concrete measures to pool demand among public (and possibly also private) procurers in the country (e.g. by creating fast/lightweight mechanisms for approving ad-hoc joint innovation procurements, by mandating specific entities such as associations of cities, central purchasing bodies to carry out regularly joint innovation procurements on behalf of a group)?

- Yes, but only for a subset of innovation procurement (e.g. only for PPI or only for R&D procurement but not for both), not widely across the whole country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some/not all regions/cities) and not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for 'pilot' actions)
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), but not widely across the whole country (e.g. only applicable to some public procurers in certain

sectors or at certain levels of government, only for some/not all regions/cities) and not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for some 'pilot' actions).

- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), and widely across the whole country (e.g. applicable to all public procurers in all sectors, levels of government, geographic parts of the country) but not yet for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale (e.g. only for some 'pilot' actions).
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), and widely across the whole country (e.g. applicable to all public procurers in all sectors, government levels, geographic parts of the country) and for mainstreaming innovation procurement at large scale.

Please provide the link to relevant documents (and additional free text information, if relevant) to support your answers

200 character(s) maximum

#### 5. Spending target for innovation procurement

In the field of R&D and innovation, setting spending targets is a widely used approach to encourage investments (e.g. the 3% Lisbon target for R&D expenditure in Europe). Over the past few years, several countries around Europe have set a specific spending target for innovation procurement as a percentage of the annual country public procurement expenditure that should go to innovation procurements. Therefore this indicator reflects the progress on target setting for innovation procurement across Europe.

5.1 Has a spending target for innovation procurement been set (as percentage of total public procurement spending)?

T Yes

🗖 No

What is the target for innovation procurement?

Is this spending target applicable in the whole country?

T Yes

□ No

Is this spending target applicable only at regional level?

T Yes

5.2 Is the spending target applicable to all types of innovation procurement (both R&D incl. PCP, and PPI)?

T Yes

D No

5.4 Is there a separate target for R&D procurement and for public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI) respectively?

Yes

□ No

What is the target for R&D procurement?

Is this spending target applicable in the whole country?

T Yes

🗖 No

Is this spending target only applicable at regional level?

- T Yes
- □ No

What is the target for public procurement of innovative solutions (PPI)?

Is this spending target applicable in the whole country?

T Yes

□ No

Is this spending target only applicable at regional level?

T Yes

5.5. Is the spending target backed by operational commitments from key procurers to invest in innovation procurements?

T Yes

■ No

Please provide the link to relevant documents (and additional free text information, if relevant) to support your answers

200 character(s) maximum

#### 6. Monitoring system

The current lack of a systematic monitoring of progress on innovation procurement across Europe limits policy makers to set more ambitious targets for innovation procurement spending and to make informed decisions about how to best design new policy actions to catch up in areas that are lagging behind. Therefore, a number of countries around Europe are setting up a national monitoring system for innovation procurement. This indicator reflects to which extent the following two monitoring dimensions have progressed across Europe: measuring innovation procurement expenditure and evaluating the impacts of completed innovation procurements.

6.1 Is there a system for measuring innovation procurement expenditure?

□ No

- Yes, but only for a subset of innovation procurements (e.g. only for PPI or only for R&D procurement but not for both), not widely across the whole country (e.g. only for certain sectors or certain levels of government, only for some regions, only for specific PCP or PPI programmes etc.) and not in line with EU definitions.
- Yes, but only for a subset of innovation procurements (e.g. only for PPI or only for R&D procurement but not for both), widely all public procurements across the whole country, but not in line with EU definitions.
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurements (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP and PPI), but not widely across the whole country (e.g. only for certain sectors or certain levels of government, only for some regions, only for specific PCP or PPI programmes etc.) and not in line with EU definitions.
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurements (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI) and widely across all public procurements across the whole country, but not in line with EU definitions.
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurements (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI) and widely across all public procurements across the whole country and in line with EU definitions.

6.2 Is there a system for evaluating the impacts of innovation procurements?

🗖 No

- Yes, but only for a subset of innovation procurements (e.g. only for PPI or only for R&D procurement but not for both), not widely across the whole country (e.g. only for certain sectors or certain levels of government, only for some regions, only for specific PCP or PPI programmes etc.) and not in line with EU definitions.
- Yes, but only for a subset of innovation procurements (e.g. only for PPI or only for R&D procurement but not for both), widely all public procurements across the whole country, but not in line with EU definitions.
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurements (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI), but not widely across the whole country (e.g. only for certain sectors or certain levels of government, only for some regions, only for specific PCP or PPI programmes etc.) and not in line with EU definitions.
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurements (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI) and widely across all public procurements across the whole country, but not in line with EU definitions.
- Yes, for all types of innovation procurements (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI) and widely across all public procurements across the whole country and in line with EU definitions.

Please provide the link to relevant documents (and additional free text information, if relevant) to support your answers

200 character(s) maximum

#### 7. Financial and other Incentives for innovation procurement

A major barrier in Europe for innovation procurement is the risk averseness of public procurers because of a lack of incentives for them to innovate. Several countries around Europe have therefore created financial or other types of incentives to encourage public procurers to undertake more innovation procurements. This indicator tracks progress on this incentive structure across different countries

#### 7.1 Incentives to reduce the financial risk for public procurers to undertake innovation procurements

Are there incentives to reduce the financial risk for public procurers to undertake innovation procurements?

T Yes

□ No

#### Which financial incentives are used?

- Grants for procurers that co-finance the cost of coordination activities to prepare and manage the procurement and/or the procurement cost
- Attractive loans for procurers to undertake innovation procurements
- Financial guarantees (e.g. state guarantees budget gap for the innovation procurement if procurer has cash flow difficulties, and procurer reimburses this amount to state later)
- Reinvestment of financial benefits achieved from previous innovation procurements into new innovation procurements (e.g. setting up of an innovation procurement reinvestment fund)
| The Strategic Use of Public Procurement for Innovation in the Digital Economy - SMART 2016/0040   |
|---|
|   |
| Collecting investments from individual investors in innovation procurements (e.g. crowdfunding platform for innovation procurements)  |
| Other   |
|   |
| Are there (national or regional) financial incentives that are not (co)financed by EU financial incentives for innovation procurement? Note: EU financial incentives for innovation procurement include for example Horizon 2020 or ESIF co-financing of procurements, EIB loans to procurers |
| Yes   |
| No  |
| Are there (national or regional) financial incentives that are (co)financed by EU financial incentives for innovation procurement? Note: EU financial incentives for innovation procurement include for example Horizon 2020 or ESIF co-financing of procurements, EIB loans to procurers     |
| Yes   |
| □ No  |
| Are the incentives directed towards all types of innovation procurement (both R&D procurement, incl. PCP, and PPI)  |
| Yes   |
| No  |
|   |
| Are they applicable country wide (i.e. applicable to all public procurers in the country)?  |
| Yes   |
| No  |
| Are they designed to incentivize large scale implementation of innovation procurement, not just for pilots (pilot actions are actions with limited scope, duration and/or budget to trial out innovation procurement in a limited number of cases)?   |
| Yes   |
| No  |
| 7.2 Personal incentives for public procurers  |

Are there personal incentives for public procurers to undertake innovation procurements?

☐ Yes

□ No

Which personal incentives are used? (Please, if is the case select more answers)

- KPIs for key procurement managers to modernize public services (minimum levels of quality and efficiency improvements to be achieved over mid to long term)
- Personal annual job performance of each procurement officer contains an objective to contribute to identify ideas for new innovation procurements that can generate quality/efficiency improvements for the procurer and to help carry out such innovation procurements
- Career incentives for procurers that succeed in contributing to innovation procurements (e.g. faster promotion)
- Bonuses for procurers that succeed in contributing to innovation procurements
- □ National prize to reward the procurer that completed the best innovation procurement
- □ Other

Are there personal incentives for public procurers implemented country wide?

T Yes

No

Please provide the link to relevant documents (and additional free text information, if relevant) to support your answers

200 character(s) maximum

#### 8. Capacity building and assistance measures

Lack of know-how and experience on innovation procurement is also a significant barrier to innovation procurement. Several countries around Europe have therefore set up measures to build up the capacity / know-how of public procurers on innovation procurement and/or to provide tailored case-by-case assistance to public procurers to implement specific innovation procurement projects. To make these measures easily accessible to public procurers in a one-stop-shop, these activities are typically coordinated by a competence centre on innovation procurement. This indicator tracks progress on the capacity building and assistance measures for innovation procurement across different countries

#### 8.1 Central website

	Yes	No
Does the government (itself or through an officially appointed competence centre on innovation procurement) have a central website that explains why the policy framework encourages public procurers to undertake innovation	0	0

procurement and that gives an overview of existing and upcoming policy initiatives to mainstream innovation procurement?		
In additional to providing national references, does it connect also the relevant EU references/initiatives that support innovation procurement?	0	0
Is all information on the central website offered free of charge to procurers?	0	0
Is the information on the central website covering all aspects of innovation procurement (R&D procurement, including PCP, and PPI)?	0	0
Is the information on the central website applicable to all public procurers in the country? (if it's a website from a regional or local, not national, government, click 'no')	0	0
Is the information on the central website addressing how to mainstream innovation procurement at large scale (with enough resources for mainstreaming innovation procurement widely)? If the information is only related to applying innovation procurement on limited scale (e.g. a pilot action on innovation procurement), click 'no'	0	c

## 8.2 Good practices

	Yes	No
Has the government (itself or through an officially appointed competence centre on innovation procurement) published good practices / case examples on innovation procurement?	0	0
In addition to providing relevant national good practices/case examples, does the list of good practices also contain relevant EU supported good practices/case examples?	0	0
Is the publication of good practices/case examples offered free of charge to procurers?	0	0
Are the good practices covering all types of innovation procurement (R&D procurement, including PCP, and PPI)?	0	0
Are the good practices/case examples applicable to all public procurers in the country (answer "no", if for example only examples are given in one regional language)?	0	0
Are good practices/case examples included that demonstrate how to mainstream innovation procurement at large scale (with enough resources for mainstreaming innovation procurement widely)?	0	0

## 8.3 Trainings and workshops

-

	Yes	No
Does the government (itself or through an officially appointed competence centre on innovation procurement) offer trainings/workshops for public procurers on innovation procurement?	0	0
In addition to providing training/workshops about the national/regional framework for innovation procurement, does the training/workshops also provide training about the relevant EU and international (WTO) framework for innovation procurement?	0	0
Are there trainings/workshops offered free of charge to procurers?	0	0
Are the trainings/workshops covering all types of innovation procurement (R&D procurement, including PCP, and PPI)?	0	0
Are the trainings/workshops available to all public procurers in the country (e.g. answer "no" in case there are only trainings in one regional language)?	0	0
Are the trainings/workshops addressing how to implement innovation procurement at large scale (i.e. not only how to implement some first pilot(s) but how to mainstream innovation procurement widely inside one organisation or in cooperation with other procurers, e.g. by implementing joint procurements together with other procurers)?	0	0

### 8.4 Handbook or guidelines

	Yes	No
Does the government (itself or through an officially appointed competence centre on innovation procurement) have an official implementation handbook or guidelines on innovation procurement?	0	0
In addition to addressing the national/regional framework for innovation procurement, does the handbook/guidelines also give guidance about the relevant EU and international (WTO) framework for innovation procurement?	0	0
Is the handbook/guidelines offered free of charge to procurers?	0	0
Are the handbook/guidelines covering all types of innovation procurement (R&D procurement, including PCP, and PPI)?	0	0
Is the handbook/guidelines applicable to all public procurers in the country (e.g. answer "no" in case the handbook/guidelines apply not to the national but only to one regional framework in the country and/or are available only in one regional language)?	0	0
Is the handbook/guidelines addressing how to implement innovation procurement at large scale (i.e. not only how to implement some first pilot(s) but how to mainstream innovation procurement widely inside one	0	0

#### 8.5 Assistance to public procurers to prepare and implement innovation procurements

		Yes	No
	Does the government (itself or through an officially appointed competence centre on innovation procurement) offer case specific (practical and legal) implementation assistance to public procurers to prepare and implement innovation procurements?	0	0
-	In addition to providing assistance about the national/regional framework for innovation procurement, is there also assistance provided about the relevant EU and international (WTO) framework for innovation procurement?	0	0
	Is the assistance offered free of charge to procurers?	0	0
	Is the assistance available for all types of innovation procurement (R&D procurement, including PCP, and PPI)?	0	0
	Is the assistance available to all public procurers in the country (e.g. answer "no" in case assistance is provided only to procurers in one region of the country)?	0	0
	Is there assistance available to obtain approval/financing for innovation procurements at large scale (i.e. to mainstream innovation procurement widely in a structured way e.g. across a sector or how to implement joint procurements together with other public procurers) (then answer "yes"). In case there is only assistance available to obtain approval/financing for innovation procurements at small scale (some first pilot(s)) (then answer "no")	0	0

## 8.6 Template tender documents

	Yes	No
Does the government (itself or through an officially appointed competence centre on innovation procurement) offer template tender documents for public procurers to undertake innovation procurements?	0	0
In addition to referring to the national/regional framework for innovation procurement, do the template tender documents also refer to the relevant EU and international (WTO) framework for innovation procurement (e.g. for R&D procurements, do the templates explain the specific exemptions for R&D services in the EU public procurement directives and WTO Government Procurement Agreement)?	0	0
Are the templates offered free of charge to procurers?	0	0

1

Are templates available for all types of innovation procurement (R&D procurement, including PCP, and PPI)?	0	0
Are the templates applicable to all public procurers in the country (e.g. answer "no" in case there are only templates for procurers in one region of the country)?	0	0
Are the templates addressing how to implement innovation procurement at large scale (i.e. how to implement joint innovation procurements together with other public procurers)?	0	0

8.7 Assistance to public procurers to obtain hierarchical and financial approval for starting an innovation procurement

	Yes	No
Does the government (itself or through an officially appointed competence centre on innovation procurement) offer case specific assistance to public procurers to obtain hierarchical approval and financial support for implementing innovation procurements?	0	0
In addition to providing assistance to obtain financing at national level, is there also assistance provided to obtain EU (co)financing for innovation procurements (e.g. ESIF, Horizon 2020, EIB financing)?	0	0
Is the assistance offered free of charge to procurers?	0	0
Is the assistance available for all types of innovation procurement (R&D procurement, including PCP, and PPI)?	0	0
Is the assistance available to all public procurers in the country (e.g. answer "no" in case assistance is provided only to procurers in one region of the country)?	0	0
Is there assistance available to obtain approval/financing for innovation procurements at large scale (i.e. to mainstream innovation procurement widely in a structured way e.g. across a sector or how to implement joint procurements together with other public procurers) (then answer "yes"). In case there is only assistance available to obtain approval/financing for innovation procurements at small scale (some first pilot(s)) (then answer "no")	0	0

#### 8.8 Coordination

	Yes	No
Does the government (itself or through an officially appointed cor centre on innovation procurement) pre-approve or coordinate the implementation of innovation procurements nationally/ regionall	y?	0
Does the government (itself or through an officially appointed cor centre on innovation procurement) pre-approve or coordinate the	npetence O	0

implementation of innovation procurements that are implemented with EU financing (e.g. ESIF, Horizon 2020, EIB financing)?		
Is the pre-approval/coordination offered free of charge to procurers?	0	0
Is the pre-approval/coordination applicable to all types of innovation procurement (R&D procurement, including PCP, and PPI)?	0	0
Is the pre-approval/coordination applicable to all public procurers in the country (e.g. answer "no" in case pre-approval/coordination applies only to procurers in one region of the country)?	0	0
Is there pre-approval/coordination for innovation procurements that are implemented at large scale (i.e. for implementing an innovation procurement programme or for implementing joint procurements together with other public procurers) (then answer "yes")? In case there is only pre- approval/coordination for innovation procurements that are implemented at small scale (some first pilot(s)), answer "no".	0	0

## 8.9 Networking between procurers

	Yes	No
Does the government (itself or through an officially appointed competence centre on innovation procurement) facilitate experience sharing and networking between procurers in other cities/regions, sectors, countries (e.g. online via a forum, or via physical meetings)?	0	0
Is the networking offered free of charge to procurers?	0	0
Is the networking covering all types of innovation procurement (R&D procurement, including PCP, and PPI)?	0	0
Is the networking available to all public procurers in the country (e.g. answer "no" in case pre-approval/coordination applies only to procurers in one region of the country)?	0	0
Is the networking addressing how to implement innovation procurements at large scale (i.e. for implementing an innovation procurement programme or for implementing joint procurements together with other public procurers) (then answer "yes")? In case there is only networking for implementing individual or first pilot innovation procurements, answer "no".	0	0

## 8.10 One-stop-shop for public procurers

	Yes	No
Does the government (itself or through an officially appointed competence centre on innovation procurement) offer a one-stop-shop for public procurers	0	0

to the above type capacity building and/or assistance measures through an officially appointed competence centre on innovation procurement?		
Does it connect in addition to the relevant national also the relevant EU references/initiatives?	0	0
Is it offered free of charge to procurers?	0	0
Is it covering all aspects of innovation procurement (R&D procurement, including PCP, and PPI)?	0	0
Is it available/applicable to all public procurers in the country?	0	0
Is it offered at large scale (with enough resources for mainstreaming innovation procurement widely)?	0	0

Please provide the link to relevant documents (and additional free text information, if relevant) to support your answers

200 character(s) maximum

#### 9. Good practices

Could you please provide and describe at least one good practice case example, identifying also different impacts achieved, e.g. on modernizing public services, accelerating company growth, facilitating access to the market for new players such as SMEs, encouraging deployment of standardized solutions, bringing innovative solutions to the market etc? Filling in a good practice example of an innovation procurement in your country can help us identify the next winner of the 2018 European innovation procurement award.

## 9.4 Annex IV – Tables for the machineprocessable definition of PPI

Verti	cal	con	cents

Sector	Class	Keyword
Healthcare and social services	Medical products, appliances and equipment	Biosensor
		Implantable cardioverter defibrillators
		first-in-man
		organoid
		e-prescription / electronic prescription
		e-referral / electronic referral
		electronic skin / synthetic skin / polymer skin
		tooth sensors
		ingestible sensors
		Organs on a chip / in silico clinical trials
		Close loop insulin delivery
		Non-invasive diabetes monitoring
		3D training/ virtualised training (3D training tools for doctors)
		3D printed drugs / personalised drug dosing / unique dosage /
		LDL cholesterol lowering drugs
		Blue-violet LED light fixtures (kill infections)
		Spectral computed tomography
		Synthetic hormones
		Bioabsorbable stents
		Bioabsorbable hydrogel (protects from radiation)
		Breast Cancer Drug
		Cognitive computing
		Young blood antiaging / anti-aging
		Bioelectronics / bioelectronic medicine
		needle-free injections / high pressure stream injections
		medicinal contact lenses
		liquid biopsy
		far-UVC (far-ultraviolet C) treatment of viruses
		synthesised antibiotics / antibiotics resistance / superbugs / bug resistant medicines

Sector	Class	Keyword
		Personalised medication
		Male contraceptive / male birth control
		Anti-microbial resistance
		Nanotechnology-based systems (nanomedicines,
		Neural-sensing headset/ brain-computer interface/ neuroprostethics/ exportex / cerebral
		Brain implants / deep brain stimulation / prosthetic brain system
		PVC-free equipment / equipment without PVC
	Hospital services	Electronic health records /electronic registry / electronic history / electronic patient history
		Telecare / Telehealth / remote care / Homecare
		Teledetection
		Telemedicine
		Telemanagement / Remote management
		Telemonitoring / Remote patient monitoring / online health monitoring / telemetry / telemetering
		Telecontrol / remote control
		Virtual Nurse / Virtual Doctor / Digital Consultation
		Teleticketing
		IoMT / Internet of Medical Things
		payer-provider analysis and software
		Remote diagnostics / remote sensing
		Early diagnostics
		Patient empowerment / patient engagement
		Centralised patient monitoring
		Aetiology / etiology
		Re-transplantation / double face transplant / human head transplant
		Warm blood perfusion / warm donor organ perfusion
		Leadless pacemaker
		exposome
		stem cell * (treatment etc.)
		regenerative medicine
		T cell immunotherapy / advanced immunotherapy
		personalised medicine / intervention / prevention / treatment
		customised treatment plan

Sector	Class	Keyword
		Infection prevention
		Combinational therapies / holistic patient analysis / holistic disease analysis / holistic analysis
	Social services	Community transformation
		Digital divide / digital literacy / digital skills
		Independent living
		Active ageing
		demography / demographic change
		Service co-production
		Social innovation
		Social network
	First aid	Emergency vechicle warning system
		First aid kit
		LED smart clothing
		Mobile stroke units
		Smart ambulance
	Other innovative themes	Artificial cell
		Artificial organ
		Artficial tissue
		Biobank
		synthetic biology
		mHealth
		Bioinnovation
		bioinformatics
		Biotechnology
		Cancer * (biobank, immunotherapy, registry, treatment, virotheraphy, etc.)
		Cell * (technology, therapy, treatment)
		Genomics and genetics / microbiome / omics technology(ies) / gene therapy (e.g. for eliminating inheritary diseases)
		Plantibody
		Robotic surgery
		Tissue engineering
Transport	Clean vehicles	Automated * (driving, mobility, transport, vehicles, vessels , distribution)
		Car/scooter/bike sharing / ride-hailing / shared mobility

Sector	Class	Keyword
		Electric vehicles (e-vehicles) / clean vehicles / electric car / electric truck
		charging infrastructure / charging station
		Green vehicles
		Hybrid vehicles
		Hydrogen vehicles
		Low emission locomotives
		congestion * (reduction, burden etc)
	Smart logistics	free-floating contractual transport services
		real-time logistics
		instant freight services / digital freight matching
		click-and-collect
		smart lockers
		robotic loading / robotic unloading / robotic piece picking / warehouse robotics / lights out operation
		swarm robots / robotic swarming
	Airports / Ports	Smart bagagge / smart luggage
		Passenger empowerment / self-service solutions
		Smart port / Smart airport / Smart harbour
		Interactive maps / Intelligent Navigation
		Geo-locator
		Auto-docking / automated docking
	Other innovative themes	Accessible transport systems
		connected * (mobility, transport, lighting, cities etc.)
		cooperative ITS (intelligent transport systems)
		seamless mobility
		Airless tire
		e-maritime / surveillance
		Autonomous * (shipping, systems)
		Self-driving *
		Demand responsive transport/transit
		Fusion rocket
		Greenways, foreshoreways
		Helipad

Sector	Class	Keyword
		Heliport
		High-speed rail
		Hoverbike
		Hovertrain, Ground effect train, Maglev train, Vactrain
		Intermodal freight transport
		Intermodality / intermodal * (transfers, transport)
		Mass driver / mass transport
		Personal rapid transit
		Spaceplane
		Supersonic transport
		Sustainable mobility
		Transportation management system
		Vehicular communication system
		Walkability
General public services, public administration, and economic and financial affairs	Innovative public procurement	Legal duty of sustainable procurement
		Model environmental criteria for public procurement
	E-government	Citizen * (participation, engagement, science)
		Digital democracy
		Digital identity
		e-democracy
		Electronic voting (e-participation)
		e-procurement / e-commerce/ e-purchase
		e-services / e-administration
		Open government
		regulatory sandbox
	Banking and taxation	Neobank
		Open APIs
		Predictive banking
		Fintech
		Green bonds
		Wearable credit card (e.g. on a bracelet)
		Sustainable energy investments

Sector	Class	Keyword
		Crowdfunding / citizen financing
		innovative financing
		ICO
		on-tax financing / on-bill financing
		Climate insurance / flood insurance / drought insurance
		Natural Capital Accounting / valuing nature
	Management	Co-creation
		Co-design
		Co-development
		systemic design / systemic innovation / systemic urban planning
		supply chain management / supply chain optimisation
		just in time II / in-plant
		pull production / lean manufacturing
	Telecommunications	5G
		Network slicing
		Augmented reality
		Flexible display
		Nanoradio
		Optical fiber
		Radio frequency identification
		Screenless display (e.g. virtual retinal display)
		Virtual reality
		Immersive reality / immersion
		Volumetric display (holography)
	Digital transformation	3D Scanner Laser
		* computing (exascale, distributed, quantum, super)
		Artificial intelligence / Collective intelligence / Collective awareness platform
		Big data
		Bitcoin
		Blockchain
		digitalisation / digitization / digital-by-default
		traceability / e-traceable

Sector	Class	Keyword
		printed battery
		spherical imaging / 360 degree photo
		neuromorphic * (computing)
		virtualisation / virtualising / virtual (is not only for VR: e.g. virtual power plant, virtual logistics, virtual nurse)
		machine to machine / car to car
		human computer interaction
		wearable
		botnet of things
		microsensor
		microinformatics
		free-form optics
		Low power * (computing, energy)
		Public interactive screens
		Chatbot
		Cloud / fog computing
		Cryptocurrency
		Deep learning / reinforced learning
		Digital twin
		Femtosecond Optical Laser
		Gesture recognition
		Hackathon
		Internet of Things (IoT)
		Machine learning
		Machine translation (or automated translation)
		Machine vision
		Nanotechnology
		Natural language processing
		Robotic process automation
		Robotics
	Agriculture, forestry, fishing, hunting	Algorithmic agriculture
		By-catch reduction
		Catch traceability

Sector	Class	Keyword
		Digital fishery marketplace
		Forest-based biorefinery
		Deforestation / forest resilience
		Digital mining / digital mine
		sustainable mining
		in situ (e.g. in situ digital/mobile agricultural inspection)
		Recovery of minerals
		proximal sensing (e.g. proximal soil sensing)
		Digital agriculture
		Nutrition security / food safety / food authentication
		Nutrient recovery
		Supercharged photosynthesis
		Plant improvement / plant modification
		Aquaponics
		Biocontrol / integrated pest control
		Biodegradable
		Virtual argri field manager
		Heat resistant seeds
		Genetically modified *
		Alternative proteins
		minimal processing (e.g. minimal processed foods)
		Permaculture
		Precision agriculture
		Rooftop growing
		Smart catch
		Satellite farming
		Urban agriculture
		Vertical farm
Construction, housing and community amenities	Urban area	* city (digital, green, information, intelligent, sensing, smart, ubiquitous, virtual)
		Blue infrastructure
		Green infrastructure
		Smart building / smart home

Sector	Class	Keyword
		Sustainable Urban Development
		Cheap drilling
		Photovoltaic glaze / photovoltaic glass
		Solar road
		Solar skin / solar roof tile
		Wearable solar
		Solar tracking
		Solar batteries
		Smart highway / smart road
		smart demolition
		Zero energy building
	Social housing	Community-led housing
		Prefab housing
	Tunnelling	Bored tunnel
		Box jacking
		Cut and cover
		Immersed tube
		Sequential excavation
	New construction techniques and sustainability	Building information model
		Claytronics
		Modular construction
		Molecular assembler
		Equipment sharing
		Remote equipment monitoring / asset tracking
		Kinetic footfall / kinetic floor / kinetic road
		Seismic isolation
		Off-site fabrication
		Self-repairing * / self-healing * (concrete, materials, fabrics)
		Thermal bridging
		Sustainable construction
		Utility fog
	Manufacturing	3D printing

Sector	Class	Keyword
		3D modelling
		3D stacking
		3D painting (e.g. for packaging)
		Additive manufacturing
		4D modelling
		4D printing
		4D room
		Fablab
		Industry 4.0
		Innovation hub
		Micro factory
		Smart factory
Energy	Energy production from non-renewable sources	Advanced Coal Power with CSS
		Combined Cycle Gas Turbine
		Combined Heat and Power (cogeneration)
		Combined Heat, Cooling and Power (trigeneration)
		micro-energy
		distributed energy generation
		heat recuperation
		emergy savings / energy performance / energy efficiency
		Nuclear power
		Smart oilfield
	Energy production from renewable sources	Artificial photosyntesis / artificial leaf
		Biogas
		Biomass
		Concentrated Solar Power / concentrated solar energy
		Hot solar cells
		perovskite
		tandem cells
		thin-film
		Geothermal

Sector	Class	Keyword
		Hydrogen
		Hydropower / hydroelectric / hydroelectricity
		Marine energy (tidal power, wave power, ocean thermal energy conversion)
		Photovoltaic
		Solar thermal
		Waste / litter
		Wind onshore / wind offshore / wind power / wind energy
		energy mix
	Energy transmission and distribution	Smart grid / intelligent network
		HV/MV transformers (substation)
		Medium and high voltage cables
		MV/LV transformers (substation)
		Smart meters / smart metering
		Dispatchable energy
		Contactless power
		Wireless energy transfer / wireless power transfer
	Energy storage	Embodied energy
		Chemical batteries
		Advanced Lead-Acid batteries
		Compressed Air (CAES)
		Compressed air storage
		Flow batteries
		Flywheels
		Fuel cells
		Carbonate fuel technology
		Lithium iron phosphate battery
		Lithium-air battery
		Lithium–sulfur battery
		Molten salt batteries
		Nanowire battery
		Power-to-Gas (P2G)
		Pumped Hydro Storage

Sector	Class	Keyword
		Solid-state battery
		Ultracapacitors
	Energy final use in buildings	Efficient public lighting
		Building Energy Management Systems
		Efficient ventilation / cooling / heating
	Energy final use in transport	Electric vehicles
		Biofuel
		Compressed natural gas (CNG)
		Liquefied petroleum gas (LPG)
Environment	Solid waste management technologies	Anaerobic digestion
		Biodrying
		Gasification
		GasPlasma
		In-vessel composting
		Landfarming
		Mechanical biological treatment
		Mechanical heat treatment
		Molten salt oxidation
		Sewage treatment
		Tunnel composting
		UASB (applied to solid wastes)
		Waste autoclave
	Hazardous waste management technologies	Bioremediation
		Decontamination / contamination / contaminated
		Encapsulation
		High-temperature incineration
		Ion exchange
		Leachate collection systems
		Neutralisation
		Oxidation and reduction
		Precipitation

Sector	Class	Keyword
		Underground injection
		Reduce / eliminate hazardous substances
		Clean production
		Reduce landfill
	Climate	climate change / climate impact / climate mitigation / climate change adapation
		climatology / climate model* / climatic conditions
		rising temperature / temperature increase / global warming
		phenology
		sea-level rise
		extreme weather
		subsidence
		abiotic stress
		upgradable / upgradability
		reparable / reparability
		durable / durability
		white certificate / green certificate / energy performance certificate / smart readiness
		environmental resilience / environmental restoration
	Air pollution	Adsorption
		Amine scrubbing
		Baghouse filter
		* Carbon * (capture, sequestration, neutral, decarbonisation)
		Greenhouse gas * (reduction, capture)
		Footprint
		pollution reduction / pollutant (not only air but also other pollutants in general)
		Cyclone collector
		Electrostatic precipitator
		Emission * (control systems, reduction, targets) / low emission / zero emission
		Exhaust monitoring
		Flue gas desulfurisation
	Re-use	Biological reprocessing
		Energy recovery / resource recovery
		energy security

Sector	Class	Keyword
		* scarcity (water / energy / resource / material)
		reusable * (software, materials, etc)
		remanufacture / reuse
		moisture absorbing technologies (they draw water from the air)
		sustainable manufacturing / sustainable production
		resource efficiency
		sustainable *
		renewable * (e.g. software, energy etc)
		CO2 storage / CO2 reuse / CO2 utilization / CO2 neutral / CO2 conversion (e.g. Co2 to ethanol)
		Pyrolisis
		Resource recovery
	Recycling	Buy-back centers
		* recycling / recycle (chemical recycling, computer recycling, nutrient recycling etc.) / recycled (e.g. recycled rubber etc.)
		Composting
		Curbsite collection
		E-waste recycling (electronic waste recycling)
		Optical sorting
		Physical recycling
		Pyrolysis of plastic
		Recyclebots
		Source-separation
	Other innovative themes	Biorefinery
		Blue growth
		Circular * (city, economy) / circularity
		Ecosystem * (e.g. ecosystem restoration, preservation, degradation, change etc)
		Nature based solutions
		Green growth
Water	Water management	Flood and drought risk management
		Membrane filtration and purification
		Vacuum evaporation mechanism
		Water governance / water retention / small-scale catchment / water use efficiency
		Water purity

Sector	Class	Keyword
		Water use reduction
		Responsible consumption (in fact not only for water, but energy and environmental resources in general)
		Water Real time monitoring
	Waste water management	Liquid waste management
		Urban water cycle service
		Wastewater treatment
		Water reuse and recycling
Postal services	Technologies	Digital mailbox
		Drone delivery
		Tracking and tracing technologies
	Processes	Automation * (in parcel sorting and warehouse operations, in logistics in hospitals, in driving etc.)
		Crowdsourcing/ crowdsourced * (delivery, ideas, financing)
		Pick-up and drop-off solutions
		Real-time delivery management
		predictive logistics networks / predictive shipping / predictive transporation
		Route optimisation algorithms
		Same-day delivery
Public order, safety, security, and defence	Access restriction	Biometrics / face-detecting systems / facial analytics / facial recognition
		Iris and retinal recognition
		security restricted area
	Fire-protection	Drones (e.g. for forest firefighting) / aerial survey
		Thermal imaging
	Cybersecurity	Cryptography
		Cyber* (attack, resilience, secutiry, threat)
		Hardware authentication
		Remote browser
		Deception technology
		Microsegmentation
		Security broker
		Security as a service
		GDPR
		Data loss prevention

Sector	Class	Keyword
		Software defined security perimeter
		Detection and reponse
		Symmetric Key Encryption
	Aerospace	Anti-gravity
		Artificial gravity
		Asteroid mining
		Drones and unmanned vechicles
		Space data
		Flying car
		Personal air commute / Flying commuter
		Massive jet
		zero-fuel aircraft
		Sleek fighter
		Noise reduction
		Automated jet
		Aircraft health monitoring systems
		Reusable rocket
		Drone swarm
		Craft-to-craft / Aircraft-to-aircraft communication
		Hypertelescope
		Inflatable space habitat
		Micro air vehicle
		Miniaturised satellite / smallsats / miniature sats
		Small electric airplanes
		Solar gravitational lens
		Stasis Chamber
	Police and justice	Conducted electrical weapon
		Taser
		Body camera
		High tech crime / cyber crime
		Security risk management
		Crowd control

Sector	Class	Keyword
		Digital forensics
		community based policing
		Virtual evidence
		Threat and violence management
		Next generation 112 (social media, video etc enabled)
		Drug room
		Predictive policing / crime prediction / evidence based policing
	Safety	Biohazard
		Biological containement
		Biosafety
		early detection / early warning
		accident prevention / protection / management
		emergency prevention / protection / management
		Critical risk / crisis (assessment, prevention, reduction, management)
		Terrorism and radicalisation prevention / detection
		Disaster risk (assessment, prevention, reduction, resilience)
		Nuclear research and control
		* Preparedness (e.g. could also be infection outbreak preparedness)
		Privacy preservation
	Humanitarian aid	Frugal innovation / frugal engineering
		Population displacement / migration / refugee
Education, recreation, culture and religion	Innovative pedagogies	Gaming-like learning (gamification of education) / serious games /educational games
		Spaced learning
	Innovative learning environments	Digital learning / e-learning / inclusive learning / online learning
		Personalised learning / technology-assisted differentiated instruction / AI assisted learning
		Microlearning
		High-velocity learning
		Virtual classroom
		Tele-education
	Innovative learning tools	Interactive boards
		Open access
		Open data

Sector	Class	Keyword
		Open science
		Open source
		Openly licensed textbooks
	Recreation and culture	Behaviour change community program
		Crowdsourcing
		Heritage retrofitting / heritage reuse / innovative use of cultural heritage
		Flash mob
		Sport facility immersive design
		Youth-led radio
Other innovative sectors	Materials	Aerogel
		Amorphous metal
		Bio-based * (materials, products)
		Carbon nanotubes
		Advanced coatings
		Conductive polymers
		Cryogenics
		Fullerene
		Graphene
		High-temperature superconductivity
		High-temperature superfluidity
		Hypereutectic alloy
		Inorganic Electrolyte
		Lab-on-a-chip
		Magnetorheological fluid
		Metal foam
		Metamaterials
		Microfluidics
		Multi-function structures
		Nano * (materials, particles)
		Organic-inorganic hybrids
		Oxides
		Quantum * (dots, sensing, metrology, cryptography)

Sector	Class	Keyword
		Silicene
		Solid polymers
		Superalloy
		Super-plastic alloy
		Synthetic diamond
		Translucent concrete
	Electronics	E-textiles
		Flexible electronics
		Integrated circuit
		Memory technologies
		Molecular electronics
		Nanoelectromechanical systems
		Spintronics
		KET / Key Emerging Technology

## Horizontal concepts

Activity cluster	Activities in a tender that may be linked to a PPI
Activities upstream / preparatory of deployment	Modelling / model
	Simulating / simulation / simulator (e.g. dynamic simulators for assessing security treaths)
	Experiment / experimentation
	Explore / Exploration
	Research / Investigate / Study
	Develop / Development
	Solve problem / problem solving / resolve / solution
	Invent / Conceive / Define / Discover / Invention / Conception / Definition / Discover
	Fabricate / Create / Manufacture / Produce / Design / Fabrication / Creation
	Prototyping / prototype
	Testing / test / review / evaluation /evaluate
	Sampling / Sample / Measure / Measurement
	Iterate / Iteration / Iterative
	Piloting /pilot
	Trialling / trial / try-out / try out
	Demonstration / demonstrator / demonstrate / show case

	mock-up / model / remodel
	verification / verify
	validating / validation / validate(d)
	debugging / debug / beta
	certification / certifying / conformance
	Proof of concept
	laboratory / lab / test track
	needs assessment / horizon scanning / prior art analysis / market consultation / market dialogue
	TRL / technology readiness level
Innovativeness	innovative / new / renewed / novel / innovation / breakthrough / altered/ improved /enhanced / intelligent / smart / recent / emerging
	first product / first service / first solution / first application
	state-of-the-art / cutting-edge / leading edge / forefront / spearhead / avant garde / excellent
	future proof / next generation / new generation / new wave
	pioneer / first-of-a-kind / leading class / first in class / carrier grade / top grade / best of class/ best of breed / better than available
	work place organisation / organisational method
	de-risk / business plan / readiness
Increased quality / efficiency / effectiveness	* efficient / * efficiency / productivity (e.g. more efficient solution, higher energy efficiency, increased productivity)
	* cost effective (e.g. more cost effective solution)
	high yield
	high speed
	lightweight
	increasing / increase(d) (e.g. increased lifespan)
	maximise / minimise
	easier * (e.g. easier to repair)
	reducing / reduce(d) / reduction (e.g. reducing cost)
	faster *
	better *
	cheaper * / lower cost / lower opex / lower capex / lower maintenance / cost reduction
	more *
	higher * (reliability etc)
	alternative (e.g. alternative protein based foods, alternative fuels etc.)
	reconfigurable / reconfigurability / reconfigure
	durable / durability

	endurance
	outperform
	powerful
	more user friendly / customer experience / user experience / user driven
	zero-defect
	multi-functional
Forward looking activities	predicting / prediction / predict / predictive
	forecasting / forecast
	anticipating / anticipatory
	preventing / prevention / prevent / preventive
	forward-looking
	improving / improve(d) / improvement
	optimising / optimise(d) / optimisation
	enhancing / enhance(d) / enhancement
	advancing / advance(d)
	Adapt / adaptation / Modify / Modification / Update / Upgrade / Integrate / Integration
	evolve / evolution / progress
	perfectioning
	intensify / intensification
	refining / refine(d) / refinement
	eliminating / eliminate
	actualisation
	valorisation / valorise
	commercialise / commercialisation / bring to the market / productization / putting into service
Public sector assistance	Feasibility study
	Assessment
	Report
	Strategy / strategic
	Consultancy services
	Advisory services
Modernisation services	Renovation
	Renewal
	Finetune / finetuning

	Reform / revise
	modernise / modernisation
Activity cluster	Activities in a tender that are unlikely to be linked to a PPI when not included together with other activities that do confirm a PPI
Event organisation	Event
	Conference
	Congress
	Advertising campaign
	Awareness campaign
	Public service campaign
	Marketing campaign/communication activities
	Awareness/institutional campaign
Maintenance services	Repair
	Restoration
	Substitution
	Consolidation
	Servicing
	Refurbishment
	Cleaning
Public sector assistance	Technical Assistance
	Training
	Monitoring

# 9.5 Annex V – List of ICT sub-sectors CPV codes

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
ICT goods and	3000000-9	Office and computing machinery, equipment and supplies except furniture and
Services	30100000-0	Office machinery, equipment and supplies except computers, printers and furniture
	30110000-3	Word-processing machines
	30111000-0	Word processors
	30121000-3	Photocopying and thermocopying equipment
	30121100-4	Photocopiers
	30121200-5	Photocopying equipment
	30121300-6	Reproduction equipment
	30121400-7	Duplicating machines
	30121410-0	Faxswitch machines
	30121420-3	Digital senders
	30121430-6	Digital duplicators
	30122000-0	Office-type offset printing machinery
	30122100-1	Digital offset systems
	30122200-2	Digital offset equipment
	30123100-8	Ticket-validation machines
	30123200-9	Automatic cash dispensers
	30123600-3	Coin-handling machines
	30123610-6	Coin-sorting machines
	30123620-9	Coin-counting machines
	30123630-2	Coin-wrapping machines
	30124500-9	Scanner accessories
	30124510-2	Endorsers
	30124520-5	Scanner document feeders
	30124530-8	Scanner transparency adapters
	30125000-1	Parts and accessories of photocopying apparatus
	30125100-2	Toner cartridges
	30125110-5	Toner for laser printers/fax machines
	30125120-8	Toner for photocopiers
	30125130-1	Toner for data-processing and research and documentation centres
	30130000-9	Post-office equipment
	30131000-6	Mailroom equipment
	30131100-7	Paper or envelope folding machines
	30131200-8	Envelope-stuffing machines
	30131300-9	Addressing machines
	30131400-0	Postage machines
	30131500-1	Mail opening machines
	30131600-2	Mail sealing machines
	30131700-3	Stamp cancelling machines
	30132000-3	Sorting equipment
	30132100-4	Mail-sorting equipment
	30132200-5	Banknote counting machines
	30132300-6	Sorters

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	30133000	Mailing equipment
	30133100-1	Bulk-mailing equipment
	30140000-2	Calculating and accounting machines
	30141000-9	Calculating machines
	30141100-0	Pocket calculators
	30141200-1	Desktop calculators
	30141300-2	Printing calculators
	30141400-3	Adding machines
	30142000-6	Accounting machines and cash registers
	30142000-7	Accounting machines
	30142200-8	Cash registers
	30144000	Calculation-type machines
	30144100-1	Postage-franking machines
	30144200-2	Ticket-issuing machines
	30144300-3	Vehicle-counting machines
	30144400-4	Automatic fare collection
	30150000-5 -	Typewriters
	30151000-2	Electronic typewriters
	30160000-8	Magnetic cards
	30161000-5	Credit cards
	30162000-2	Smart cards
	30163000-9	Charge cards
	30163100-0	Agency fuel cards
	30170000-1	Labelling machines
	30171000-8	Dating or numbering machines
	30172000-5	Identification ID press machines
	30173000-2	Label applying machines
	30174000-9	Label making machines
	30175000-6	Lettering equipment
	30177000-0	Automatic labelling systems
	30178000-7	Semi automatic labelling systems
	30180000-4	Check endorsing and writing machines
	30181000-1	Check endorsing machines
	30182000-8	Check writing machines
	30191200-6	Overhead projectors
	30192400-5	Reprographic supplies
	30195200-4	Electronic copyboards or accessories
	30199761-2	Bar-coded labels
	30199763-6	Theft protection labels
	3020000-1	Computer equipment and supplies
	30210000-4	Data-processing machines (hardware)
	30211000-1	Mainframe computer
	30211100-2	Super computer
	30211200-3	Mainframe hardware
	30211300-4	Computer platforms

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	30211400-5	Computer configurations
	30211500-6	Central processing unit (CPU) or processors
	30212000-8	Minicomputer hardware
	30212100-9	Central processing units for minicomputers
	30213000-5	Personal computers
	30213100-6	Portable computers
	30213200-7	Tablet computer
	30213300-8	Desktop computer
	30213400-9	Central processing units for personal computers
	30213500-0	Pocket computers
	30214000-2	Workstations
	30215000-9	Microcomputer hardware
	30215100-0	Central processing units for microcomputers
	30216000-6	Magnetic or optical readers
	30216100-7	Optical readers
	30216110-0	Scanners for computer use
	30216120-3	Optical-character-recognition equipment
	30216130-6	Barcode readers
	30216200-8	Magnetic card readers
	30216300-9	Punchcard readers
	30220000-7	Digital cartography equipment
	30221000-4	Digital cadastral maps
	30230000-0	Computer-related equipment
	30231000-7	Computer screens and consoles
	30231100-8	Computer terminals
	30231200-9	Consoles
	30231300-0	Display screens
	30231310-3	Flat panel displays
	30231320-6	Touch screen monitors
	30232000-4	Peripheral equipment
	30232100-5	Printers and plotters
	30232110-8	Laser printers
	30232120-1	Dot-matrix printers
	30232130-4	Colour graphics printers
	30232140-7	Plotters
	30232150-0	Inkjet printers
	30232600-0	Encoders
	30232700-1	Central controlling unit
	30233000-1	Media storage and reader devices
	30233100-2	Computer storage units
	30233110-5	Magnetic card storage units
	30233120-8	Magnetic tape storage units
	30233130-1	Magnetic disk storage units
	30233131-8	Floppy-disk drives
	30233132-5	Hard-disk drives

Γ

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	30233140-4	Direct-access storage devices (DASD)
	30233141-1	Redundant Array of Independent Disk (RAID)
	30233150-7	Optical-disk drives
	30233151-4	Compact disk (CD) reader and/or burner
	30233152-1	Digital versatile disc (DVD) reader and/or burner
	30233153-8	Compact disk (CD) and digital versatile disk (DVD) reader and/or burner
	30233160-0	Tape streamers
	30233161-7	Cassette-handling equipment
	30233170-3	Carousel units
	30233180-6	Flash memory storage devices
	30233190-9	Disk controller
	30233300-4	Smart card readers
	30233310-7	Fingerprint readers
	30233320-0	Combined smart card and fingerprint readers
	30234000-8	Storage media
	30234100-9	Magnetic disk
	30234200-0	Optical disks
	30234300-1	Compact disks (CDs)
	30234400-2	Digital versatile disks (DVDs)
	30234500-3	Memory storage media
	30234600-4	Flash memory
	30234700-5	Magnetic tapes
	30236000-2	Miscellaneous computer equipment
	30236100-3	Memory-expansion equipment
	30236110-6	Random access memory (RAM)
	30236111-3	Dynamic random access memory (DRAM)
	30236112-0	Static random access memory (SRAM)
	30236113-7	Synchronous dynamic random access memory (SDRAM)
	30236114-4	Rambus dynamic random access memory (RDRAM)
	30236115-1	Synchronous graphic random access memory (SGRAM)
	30236120-9	Read only memory (ROM)
	30236121-6	Programmable read only memory (PROM)
	30236122-3	Erasable programmable read only memory (EPROM)
	30236123-0	Electronically erasable programmable read only memory (EEPROM)
	30236200-4	Data-processing equipment
	30237000-9	Parts, accessories and supplies for computers
	30237100-0	Parts of computers
	30237110-3	Network interfaces
	30237120-6	Computer ports
	30237121-3	Serial infrared ports
	30237130-9	Computer cards
	30237131-6	Electronic cards
	30237132-3	Universal Serial Bus (USB) Interfaces
	30237133-0	Personal Computer Memory Card International Association (PCMCIA) adaptors and interfaces
	30237134-7	Graphic accelerator cards

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	30237135-4	Network interfaces cards
	30237136-1	Audio cards
	30237140-2	Motherboards
	30237200-1	Computer accessories
	30237210-4	Anti-glare screens
	30237220-7	Mousepads
	30237230-0	Caches
	30237240-3	Web camera
	30237250-6	Computer cleaning accessories
	30237251-3	Computer cleaning kits
	30237252-0	Pressurised air dusters
	30237253-7	Dust covers for computer equipment
	30237260-9	Monitor wall mount arms
	30237270-2	Portable computer carrying cases
	30237280-5	Power supply accessories
	30237290-8	Keyboard wrist rests
	30237295-3	Keyguards
	30237300-2	Computer supplies
	30237310-5	Font cartridges for printers
	30237320-8	Diskettes
	30237330-1	Digital Audio Tape (DAT) cartridges
	30237340-4	Digital Linear Tape (DLT) cartridges
	30237350-7	Data cartridges
	30237360-0	Linear Tape-Open (LTO) cartridges
	30237370-3	Recording cartridges
	30237380-6	CD-ROM
	30237400-3	Data entry accessories
	30237410-6	Computer mouse
	30237420-9	Joysticks
	30237430-2	Light pens
	30237440-5	Trackballs
	30237450-8	Graphics tablets
	30237460-1	Computer keyboards
	30237461-8	Programmable keyboards
	30237470-4	Braille pads
	30237475-9	Electric sensors
	30237480-7	Input units
	30238000-6	Library automation equipment
	31620000-8	Sound or visual signalling apparatus
	31625000-3	Burglar and fire alarms
	31625100-4	Fire-detection systems
	31625200-5	Fire-alarm systems
	31625300-6	Burglar-alarm systems
	31644000-2	Miscellaneous data recorders
	31671200-2	Cathode-ray tubes

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	31700000-3	Electronic, electromechanical and electrotechnical supplies
	31710000-6	Electronic equipment
	31711000-3	Electronic supplies
	31711100-4	Electronic components
	31711110-7	Transceivers
	31711120-0	Transducers
	31711130-3	Resistors
	31711131-0	Electrical resistors
	31711140-6	Electrodes
	31711150-9	Electrical capacitors
	31711151-6	Fixed capacitors
	31711152-3	Variable or adjustable capacitors
	31711154-0	Capacitor banks
	31711155-7	Capacitor networks
	31711200-5	Electronic scoreboards
	31711300-6	Electronic timekeeping systems
	31711310-9	System for recording attendance
	31711400-7	Valves and tubes
	31711410-0	Cathode-ray television picture tubes
	31711411-7	Television camera tubes
	31711420-3	Microwave tubes and equipment
	31711421-0	Magnetrons
	31711422-7	Microwave equipment
	31711423-4	Microwave radio equipment
	31711424-1	Klystrons
	31711430-6	Valve tubes
	31711440-9	Receiver or amplifier valves and tubes
	31711500-8	Parts of electronic assemblies
	31711510-1	Parts of electrical capacitors
	31711520-4	Parts of electrical resistors, rheostats and potentiometers
	31711530-7	Parts of electronic valves and tubes
	31712000-0	Microelectronic machinery and apparatus and microsystems
	31712100-1	Microelectronic machinery and apparatus
	31712110-4	Electronic integrated circuits and microassemblies
	31712111-1	Phone cards
	31712112-8	SIM cards
	31712113-5	Cards containing integrated circuits
	31712114-2	Integrated electronic circuits
	31712115-9	Microassemblies
	31712116-6	Microprocessors
	31712117-3	Integrated circuit packages
	31712118-0	Integrated circuit sockets or mounts
	31712119-7	Integrated circuit lids
	31712200-2	Microsystems
	31712300-3	Printed circuits
ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
----------------	------------	---
	31712310-6	Populated printed circuit boards
	31712320-9	Unpopulated printed circuit boards
	31712330-2	Semiconductors
	31712331-9	Photovoltaic cells
	31712332-6	Thyristors
	31712333-3	Diacs
	31712334-0	Triacs
	31712335-7	Optical coupled isolators
	31712336-4	Crystal oscillators
	31712340-5	Diodes
	31712341-2	Light-emitting diodes
	31712342-9	Microwave or small signal diodes
	31712343-6	Zener diodes
	31712344-3	Schottky diodes
	31712345-0	Tunnel diodes
	31712346-7	Photosensitive diodes
	31712347-4	Power or solar diodes
	31712348-1	Laser diodes
	31712349-8	Radio frequency (RF) diodes
	31712350-8	Transistors
	31712351-5	Photo sensitive transistors
	31712352-2	Field effect transistors (FET)
	31712353-9	Metal oxide field effect transistors (MOSFET)
	31712354-6	Transistor chips
	31712355-3	Bipolar darlington or radio frequency (RF) transistors
	31712356-0	Unijunction transistors
	31712357-7	Insulated gate bipolar transistors (IGBT)
	31712358-4	Junction field effect transistors (JFET)
	31712359-1	Bipolar junction transistors (BJT)
	31712360-1	Mounted piezo-electric crystals
	3200000-3	Radio, television, communication, telecommunication and related equipment
	32200000-5	Transmission apparatus for radiotelephony, radiotelegraphy, radio broadcasting and television
	32210000-8	Broadcasting equipment
	32211000-5	Broadcast production equipment
	32220000-1	Television transmission apparatus without reception apparatus
	32221000-8	Radio beacons
	32222000-5	Video-signal coding machines
	32223000-2	Video transmission apparatus
	32224000-9	Television transmission apparatus
	32230000-4	Radio transmission apparatus with reception apparatus
	32231000-1	Closed-circuit television apparatus
	32232000-8	Video-conferencing equipment
	32233000-5	Radio-frequency booster stations
	32234000-2	Closed-circuit television cameras
	32235000-9	Closed-circuit surveillance system

Γ

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	32236000-6	Radio telephones
	32237000-3	Walkie-talkies
	32240000-7	Television cameras
	32250000-0	Mobile telephones
	32251000-7	Car telephones
	32251100-8	Hands-free set
	32252000-4	GSM telephones
	32252100-5	Hands-free mobile telephones
	32252110-8	Hands-free mobile telephones (wireless)
	32260000-3	Data-transmission equipment
	32270000-6	Digital transmission apparatus
	32300000-6	Television and radio receivers, and sound or video recording or reproducing apparatus
	32310000-9	Radio broadcast receivers
	32320000-2	Television and audio-visual equipment
	32321000-9	Television projection equipment
	32321100-0	Film equipment
	32321200-1	Audio-visual equipment
	32321300-2	Audio-visual materials
	32322000-6	Multimedia equipment
	32323000-3	Video monitors
	32323100-4	Colour video monitors
	32323200-5	Monochrome video monitors
	32323300-6	Video equipment
	32323400-7	Video-playback equipment
	32323500-8	Video-surveillance system
	32324000-0	Televisions
	32324100-1	Colour televisions
	32324200-2	Monochrome televisions
	32324300-3	Television equipment
	32324310-6	Satellite antennas
	32324400-4	Television aerials
	32324500-5	Video tuners
	32324600-6	Digital-TV boxes
	32330000-5	Apparatus for sound, video-recording and reproduction
	32331000-2	Turntables
	32331100-3	Record players
	32331200-4	Cassette players
	32331300-5	Sound-reproduction apparatus
	32331500-7	Recorders
	32331600-8	MP3 player
	32332000-9	Magnetic tape recorders
	32332100-0	Dictating machines
	32332200-1	Telephone-answering machines
	32332300-2	Sound recorders
	32333000-6	Video recording or reproducing apparatus

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	32333100-7	Video recorders
	32333200-8	Video camcorders
	32333300-9	Video-reproducing apparatus
	32333400-0	Video players
	32340000-8	Microphones and loudspeakers
	32341000-5	Microphones
	32342000-2	Loudspeakers
	32342100-3	Headphones
	32342200-4	Earphones
	32342300-5	Microphones and speaker sets
	32342400-6	Acoustic devices
	32342410-9	Sound equipment
	32342411-6	Mini speakers
	32342412-3	Speakers
	32342420-2	Studio mixing console
	32342430-5	Speech-compression system
	32342440-8	Voice-mail system
	32342450-1	Voice recorders
	32343000-9	Amplifiers
	32343100-0	Audio-frequency amplifiers
	32343200-1	Megaphones
	32344000-6	Reception apparatus for radiotelephony or radiotelegraphy
	32344100-7	Portable receivers for calling and paging
	32344110-0	Voice-logging system
	32344200-8	Radio receivers
	32344210-1	Radio equipment
	32344220-4	Radio pagers
	32344230-7	Radio stations
	32344240-0	Radio tower
	32344250-3	Radio installations
	32344260-6	Radio and multiplex equipment
	32344270-9	Radio and telephone control system
	32344280-2	Portable radios
	32350000-1	Parts of sound and video equipment
	32351000-8	Accessories for sound and video equipment
	32351100-9	Video-editing equipment
	32351200-0	Screens
	32351300-1	Audio equipment accessories
	32352000-5	Aerials and reflectors
	32352100-6	Parts of radio and radar equipment
	32352200-7	Radar spare parts and accessories
	32360000-4	Intercom equipment
	32400000-7	Networks
	32410000-0	Local area network
	32411000-7	Token-ring network

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	32412000-4	Communications network
	32412100-5	Telecommunications network
	32412110-8	Internet network
	32412120-1	Intranet network
	32413000-1	Integrated network
	32413100-2	Network routers
	32415000-5	Ethernet network
	32416000-2	ISDN network
	32416100-3	ISDX network
	32417000-9	Multimedia networks
	32418000-6	Radio network
	32420000-3	Network equipment
	32421000-0	Network cabling
	32422000-7	Network components
	32423000-4	Network hubs
	32424000-1	Network infrastructure
	32425000-8	Network operating system
	32426000-5	Network publishing system
	32427000-2	Network system
	32428000-9	Network upgrade
	32429000-6	Telephone network equipment
	32430000-6	Wide area network
	32440000-9	Telemetry and terminal equipment
	32441000-6	Telemetry equipment
	32441100-7	Telemetry surveillance system
	32441200-8	Telemetry and control equipment
	32441300-9	Telematics system
	32442000-3	Terminal equipment
	32442100-4	Terminal boards
	32442200-5	Terminal boxes
	32442300-6	Terminal emulators
	32442400-7	Termination blocks
	32510000-1	Wireless telecommunications system
	32522000-8	Telecommunications equipment
	32523000-5	Telecommunications facilities
	32524000-2	Telecommunications system
	32530000-7	Satellite-related communications equipment
	32531000-4	Satellite communications equipment
	32532000-1	Satellite dishes
	32533000-8	Satellite earth stations
	32534000-5	Satellite platforms
	32540000-0	Switchboards
	32541000-7	Switchboard equipment
	32542000-4	Switchboard panels
	32543000-1	Telephone switchboards

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	32544000-8	PABX equipment
	32545000-5	PABX systems
	32546000-2	Digital switching equipment
	32546100-3	Digital switchboards
	32547000-9	Vacuum switchboards
	32551200-2	Telephone exchanges
	32551300-3	Telephone headsets
	32551400-4	Telephone network
	32552000-7	Electrical apparatus for line telephony or line telegraphy
	32552100-8	Telephone sets
	32552110-1	Cordless telephones
	32552120-4	Emergency telephones
	32552130-7	Public telephones
	32552140-0	Payphone equipment
	32552150-3	Telephones for visually-impaired
	32552160-6	Telephones for hearing-impaired
	32552200-9	Teleprinters
	32552300-0	Telephonic or telegraphic switching apparatus
	32552310-3	Digital telephone exchanges
	32552320-6	Multiplexers
	32552330-9	Telephone switching apparatus
	32552400-1	Audio-frequency signal conversion apparatus
	32552410-4	Modems
	32552420-7	Frequency converter
	32552430-0	Coding equipment
	32552500-2	Teletext apparatus
	32552510-5	Videotext terminals
	32552520-8	Telex equipment
	32552600-3	Entrance telephones
	32553000-4	Parts of electrical telephonic or telegraphic apparatus
	32573000-0	Communications control system
	32581200-1	Fax equipment
	32581210-4	Accessories and components for fax equipment
	32582000-6	Data carriers
	32583000-3	Data and voice media
	32584000-0	Data-bearing media
	35121600-4	Tags
	35121700-5	Alarm systems
	35123000-2	Site-identification equipment
	35123100-3	Magnetic-card system
	35123200-4	Flexible-working-hours equipment
	35123300-5	Timekeeping system
	35123400-6	Identification badges
	35123500-7	Video identification systems
	35125000-6	Surveillance system

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	35125100-7	Sensors
	35125110-0	Biometric sensors
	35125200-8	Time control system or working time recorder
	35125300-2	Security cameras
	35126000-3	Bar code scanning equipment
	35261100-2	Changing message indicator panels
	35422000-8	Electronic and electrical spare parts for military vehicles
	35630000-9	Military spacecrafts
	35631000-6	Military satellites
	35631100-7	Communication satellites
	35631200-8	Observation satellites
	35631300-9	Navigation satellites
	35710000-4	Command, control, communication and computer systems
	35711000-1	Command, control, communication systems
	35712000-8	Tactical command, control and communication systems
	35720000-7	Intelligence, surveillance, target acquisition and reconnaissance
	35721000-4	Electronic intelligence system
	35722000-1	Radar
	35723000-8	Air defence radar
	35730000-0	Electronic warfare systems and counter measures
	38112100-4	Global navigation and positioning systems (GPS or equivalent)
	38113000-0	Sonars
	38114000-7	Echo sounders
	38115000-4	Radar apparatus
	38115100-5	Radar surveillance equipment
	38221000-0	Geographic information systems (GIS or equivalent)
	38636000-2	Specialist optical instruments
	38636100-3	Lasers
	38636110-6	Industrial lasers
	38640000-3	Liquid crystal devices
	38651400-7	Instant print cameras
	38651500-8	Cinematographic cameras
	38651600-9	Digital cameras
	38652000-0	Cinematographic projectors
	38652100-1	Projectors
	38652110-4	Slide projectors
	38652120-7	Video projectors
	38652200-2	Enlargers
	38652300-3	Reducers
	38653110-1	Photographic flashbulbs
	38653111-8	Photographic flashcubes
	38653200-9	Photographic enlargers
	38653300-0	Apparatus and equipment for developing film
	38653400-1	Projection screens
	38654000-4	Microfilm and microfiche equipment

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	38654100-5	Microfilm equipment
	38654110-8	Microfilm readers
	38654200-6	Microfiche equipment
	38654210-9	Microfiche readers
	38654300-7	Microform equipment
	38654310-0	Microform readers
	38700000-2	Time registers and the like; parking meters
	38710000-5	Time registers
	38720000-8	Time recorders
	38730000-1	Parking meters
	38731000-8	Token meters
	38740000-4	Process timers
	38750000-7	Time switches
	42964000-1	Office automation equipment
	42965000-8	Information-processing equipment
	45232330-4	Erection of aerials
	45232340-7	Mobile-telephone base-stations construction work
	45312100-8	Fire-alarm system installation work
	45312200-9	Burglar-alarm system installation work
	45312300-0	Antenna installation work
	45312320-6	Television aerial installation work
	45312330-9	Radio aerial installation work
	45314100-2	Installation of telephone exchanges
	45314120-8	Installation of switchboards
	4800000-8	Software package and information systems
	48100000-9	Industry specific software package
	48110000-2	Point of sale (POS) software package
	48120000-5	Flight control software package
	48121000-2	Air traffic control software package
	48130000-8	Aviation ground support and test software package
	48131000-5	Aviation ground support software package
	48132000-2	Aviation test software package
	48140000-1	Railway traffic control software package
	48150000-4	Industrial control software package
	48151000-1	Computer control system
	48160000-7	Library software package
	48161000-4	Library management system
	48170000-0	Compliance software package
	48180000-3	Medical software package
	48190000-6	Educational software package
	48200000-0	Networking, Internet and intranet software package
	48210000-3	Networking software package
	48211000-0	Platform interconnectivity software package
	48212000-7	Optical jukebox server software package
	48213000-4	Operating system enhancement software package

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	48214000-1	Network operating system software package
	48215000-8	Networking developers' software package
	48216000-5	Network connectivity terminal emulation software package
	48217000-2	Transaction-processing software package
	48217100-3	Mainframe transaction processing software package
	48217200-4	Minicomputer transaction processing software package
	48217300-5	Microcomputer transaction processing software package
	48218000-9	License management software package
	48219000-6	Miscellaneous networking software package
	48219100-7	Gateway software package
	48219200-8	Compact disk (CD) server software package
	48219300-9	Administration software package
	48219400-0	Transaction server software package
	48219500-1	Switch or router software package
	48219600-2	Multiplexer software package
	48219700-3	Communications server software package
	48219800-4	Bridge software package
	48220000-6	Internet and intranet software package
	48221000-3	Internet browsing software package
	48222000-0	Web server software package
	48223000-7	Electronic mail software package
	48224000-4	Web page editing software package
	48300000-1	Document creation, drawing, imaging, scheduling and productivity software package
	48310000-4	Document creation software package
	48311000-1	Document management software package
	48311100-2	Document management system
	48312000-8	Electronic publishing software package
	48313000-5	Optical-character-recognition (OCR) software package
	48313100-6	Optical reading system
	48314000-2	Voice recognition software package
	48315000-9	Desktop-publishing software package
	48316000-6	Presentation software package
	48317000-3	Word-processing software package
	48318000-0	Scanner software package
	48319000-7	Spell checkers
	48320000-7	Drawing and imaging software package
	48321000-4	Computer-aided design (CAD) software package
	48321100-5	Computer-aided design (CAD) system
	48322000-1	Graphics software package
	48323000-8	Computer-aided manufacturing (CAM) software package
	48324000-5	Charting software package
	48325000-2	Form-making software package
	48326000-9	Mapping software package
	48326100-0	Digital mapping system
	48327000-6	Drawing and painting software package

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	48328000-3	Image-processing software package
	48329000-0	Imaging and archiving system
	48330000-0	Scheduling and productivity software package
	48331000-7	Project management software package
	48332000-4	Scheduling software package
	48333000-1	Contact management software package
	48400000-2	Business transaction and personal business software package
	48410000-5	Investment management and tax preparation software package
	48411000-2	Investment management software package
	48412000-9	Tax preparation software package
	48420000-8	Facilities management software package and software package suite
	48421000-5	Facilities management software package
	48422000-2	Software package suites
	48430000-1	Inventory management software package
	48440000-4	Financial analysis and accounting software package
	48441000-1	Financial analysis software package
	48442000-8	Financial systems software package
	48443000-5	Accounting software package
	48444000-2	Accounting system
	48444100-3	Billing system
	48445000-9	Customer Relation Management software package
	48450000-7	Time accounting or human resources software package
	48451000-4	Enterprise resource planning software package
	48460000-0	Analytical, scientific, mathematical or forecasting software package
	48461000-7	Analytical or scientific software package
	48462000-4	Mathematical or forecasting software package
	48463000-1	Statistical software package
	48470000-3	Auction software package
	48480000-6	Sales, marketing and business intelligence software package
	48481000-3	Sales or marketing software package
	48482000-0	Business intelligence software package
	48490000-9	Procurement software package
	4850000-3	Communication and multimedia software package
	48510000-6	Communication software package
	48511000-3	Desktop communications software package
	48512000-0	Interactive voice response software package
	48513000-7	Modem software package
	48514000-4	Remote access software package
	48515000-1	Video conferencing software package
	48516000-8	Exchange software package
	48517000-5	IT software package
	48518000-2	Emulation software package
	48519000-9	Memory-management software package
	48520000-9	Multimedia software package
	48521000-6	Music or sound editing software package

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	48522000-3	Virtual keyboard software package
	48600000-4	Database and operating software package
	48610000-7	Database systems
	48611000-4	Database software package
	48612000-1	Database-management system
	48613000-8	Electronic data management (EDM)
	48614000-5	Data-acquisition system
	48620000-0	Operating systems
	48621000-7	Mainframe operating system software package
	48622000-4	Minicomputer operating system software package
	48623000-1	Microcomputer operating system software package
	48624000-8	Personal computer (PC) operating system software package
	48625000-5	Open systems operating systems
	48626000-2	Clustering software package
	48627000-9	Real-time operating system software package
	48628000-9	Micro-channel architecture
	48700000-5	Software package utilities
	48710000-8	Backup or recovery software package
	48720000-1	Bar coding software package
	48730000-4	Security software package
	48731000-1	File security software package
	48732000-8	Data security software package
	48740000-7	Foreign language translation software package
	48750000-0	Storage media loading software package
	48760000-3	Virus protection software package
	48761000-0	Anti-virus software package
	48770000-6	General, compression and print utility software package
	48771000-3	General utility software package
	48772000-0	Compression utilities
	48773000-7	Print utility software package
	48773100-8	Print-spooling software package
	48780000-9	System, storage and content management software package
	48781000-6	System management software package
	48782000-3	Storage management software package
	48783000-0	Content management software package
	48790000-2	Version checker software package
	48800000-6	Information systems and servers
	48810000-9	Information systems
	48811000-6	E-mail system
	48812000-3	Financial information systems
	48813000-0	Passenger information system
	48813100-1	Electronic bulletin boards
	48813200-2	Real-time passenger information system
	48814000-7	Medical information systems
	48814100-8	Nursing information system

Γ

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	48814200-9	Patient-administration system
	48814300-0	Theatre management system
	48814400-1	Clinical information system
	48814500-2	Casemix system
	48820000-2	Servers
	48821000-9	Network servers
	48822000-6	Computer servers
	48823000-3	File servers
	48824000-0	Printer servers
	48825000-7	Web servers
	4890000-7	Miscellaneous software package and computer systems
	48910000-0	Computer game software package, family titles and screen savers
	48912000-4	Family titles
	48913000-1	Screen savers
	48920000-3	Office automation software package
	48921000-0	Automation system
	48940000-9	Pattern design and calendar software package
	48941000-6	Pattern design software package
	48942000-3	Calendar software package
	48950000-2	Boat-location and public address system
	48951000-9	Boat-location system
	48952000-6	Public address systems
	48960000-5	Drivers and system software package
	48961000-2	Ethernet drivers
	48962000-9	Graphics card drivers
	48970000-8	Print shop software package
	48971000-5	Address book making software package
	48972000-2	Label making software package
	48980000-1	Programming languages and tools
	48981000-8	Compiling software packages
	48982000-5	Configuration management software package
	48983000-2	Development software package
	48984000-9	Graphical user interface (GUI) tools
	48985000-6	Programming languages
	48986000-3	Program testing software package
	48987000-0	Debugging software package
	48990000-4	Spreadsheets and enhancement software package
	48991000-1	Spreadsheet software package
	5030000-8	Repair, maintenance and associated services related to personal computers, office equipment, telecommunications and audio-visual equipment
	50310000-1	Maintenance and repair of office machinery
	50311000-8	Maintenance and repair of office accounting machinery
	50311400-2	Maintenance and repair of calculators and accounting machinery
	50312000-5	Maintenance and repair of computer equipment
	50312100-6	Maintenance and repair of mainframe computers
	50312110-9	Maintenance of mainframe computers

Γ

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	50312120-2	Repair of mainframe computers
	50312200-7	Maintenance and repair of minicomputers
	50312210-0	Maintenance of minicomputers
	50312220-3	Repair of minicomputers
	50312300-8	Maintenance and repair of data network equipment
	50312310-1	Maintenance of data network equipment
	50312320-4	Repair of data network equipment
	50312400-9	Maintenance and repair of microcomputers
	50312410-2	Maintenance of microcomputers
	50312420-5	Repair of microcomputers
	50312600-1	Maintenance and repair of information technology equipment
	50312610-4	Maintenance of information technology equipment
	50312620-7	Repair of information technology equipment
	50313000-2	Maintenance and repair of reprographic machinery
	50313100-3	Photocopier repair services
	50313200-4	Photocopier maintenance services
	50314000-9	Repair and maintenance services of facsimile machines
	50315000-6	Repair and maintenance services of telephone-answering machines
	50316000-3	Maintenance and repair of ticket- issuing machinery
	50317000-0	Maintenance and repair of ticket-validation machinery
	50320000-4	Repair and maintenance services of personal computers
	50321000-1	Repair services of personal computers
	50322000-8	Maintenance services of personal computers
	50323000-5	Maintenance and repair of computer peripherals
	50323100-6	Maintenance of computer peripherals
	50323200-7	Repair of computer peripherals
	50324000-2	Support services of personal computers
	50324100-3	System maintenance services
	50324200-4	Preventive maintenance services
	50330000-7	Maintenance services of telecommunications equipment
	50331000-4	Repair and maintenance services of telecommunications lines
	50332000-1	Telecommunications-infrastructure maintenance services
	50333000-8	Maintenance services of radio-communications equipment
	50333100-9	Repair and maintenance services of radio transmitters
	50333200-0	Repair and maintenance services of radiotelephony apparatus
	50334000-5	Repair and maintenance services of line telephony and line telegraphy equipment
	50334100-6	Repair and maintenance services of line telephony equipment
	50334110-9	Telephone network maintenance services
	50334120-2	Upgrade services of telephone switching equipment
	50334130-5	Repair and maintenance services of telephone switching apparatus
	50334140-8	Repair and maintenance services of telephone sets
	50334200-7	Repair and maintenance services of line telegraphy equipment
	50334300-8	Repair and maintenance services of line telex equipment
	50334400-9	Communications system maintenance services
	50340000-0	Repair and maintenance services of audio-visual and optical equipment

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	50341000-7	Repair and maintenance services of television equipment
	50341100-8	Repair and maintenance services of videotext equipment
	50341200-9	Repair and maintenance services of television transmitters
	50342000-4	Repair and maintenance services of audio equipment
	50343000-1	Repair and maintenance services of video equipment
	50344000-8	Repair and maintenance services of optical equipment
	50344100-9	Repair and maintenance services of photographic equipment
	50344200-0	Repair and maintenance services of cinematographic equipment
	50660000-9	Repair and maintenance services of military electronic systems
	51240000-6	Installation services of navigating equipment
	51300000-5	Installation services of communications equipment
	51310000-8	Installation services of radio, television, sound and video equipment
	51311000-5	Installation services of radio equipment
	51312000-2	Installation services of television equipment
	51313000-9	Installation services of sound equipment
	51314000-6	Installation services of video equipment
	51320000-1	Installation services of radio and television transmitters
	51321000-8	Installation services of radio transmitters
	51322000-5	Installation services of television transmitters
	51330000-4	Installation services of radiotelephony apparatus
	51340000-7	Installation services of line telephony equipment
	51350000-0	Installation services of line telegraphy equipment
	5160000-8	Installation services of computers and office equipment
	51610000-1	Installation services of computers and information-processing equipment
	51611000-8	Installation services of computers
	51611100-9	Hardware installation services
	51612000-5	Installation services of information-processing equipment
	51620000-4	Installation services of office equipment
	64200000-8	Telecommunications services
	64210000-1	Telephone and data transmission services
	64211000-8	Public-telephone services
	64211100-9	Local telephone services
	64211200-0	Long distance telephone services
	64212000-5	Mobile-telephone services
	64212100-6	Short Message Service (SMS) services
	64212200-7	Enhanced Messaging Service (EMS) services
	64212300-8	Multimedia Message Service (MMS) services
	64212400-9	Wireless Application Protocol (WAP) services
	64212500-0	General Packet Radio Services (GPRS) services
	64212600-1	Enhanced Data for GSM Evolution (EDGE) services
	64212700-2	Universal Mobile Telephone System (UMTS) services
	64212800-3	Pay phone provider services
	64212900-4	Pre-paid phone card provider services
	64213000-2	Shared-business telephone network services
	64214000-9	Dedicated-business telephone network services

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	64214100-0	Satellite circuit rental services
	64214200-1	Telephone switchboard services
	64214400-3	Communication land-line rental
	64215000-6	IP telephone services
	64216000-3	Electronic message and information services
	64216100-4	Electronic message services
	64216110-7	Electronic data exchange services
	64216120-0	Electronic mail services
	64216130-3	Telex services
	64216140-6	Telegraph services
	64216200-5	Electronic information services
	64216210-8	Value-added information services
	64216300-6	Teletext services
	64220000-4	Telecommunication services except telephone and data transmission services
	64221000-1	Interconnection services
	64222000-8	Teleworking services
	64223000-5	Paging services
	64224000-2	Teleconferencing services
	64225000-9	Air-to-ground telecommunications services
	64226000-6	Telematics services
	64227000-3	Integrated telecommunications services
	64228000-0	Television and radio broadcast transmission services
	64228100-1	Television broadcast transmission services
	64228200-2	Radio broadcast transmission services
	71316000-6	Telecommunication consultancy services
	7200000-5	IT services: consulting, software development, Internet and support
	72100000-6	Hardware consultancy services
	72110000-9	Hardware selection consultancy services
	72120000-2	Hardware disaster-recovery consultancy services
	72130000-5	Computer-site planning consultancy services
	72140000-8	Computer hardware acceptance testing consultancy services
	72150000-1	Computer audit consultancy and hardware consultancy services
	72200000-7	Software programming and consultancy services
	72210000-0	Programming services of packaged software products
	72211000-7	Programming services of systems and user software
	72212000-4	Programming services of application software
	72212100-0	Industry specific software development services
	72212110-3	Point of sale (POS) software development services
	72212120-6	Flight control software development services
	72212121-3	Air traffic control software development services
	72212130-9	Aviation ground support and test software development services
	72212131-6	Aviation ground support software development services
	72212132-3	Aviation test software development services
	72212140-2	Railway traffic control software development services
	72212150-5	Industrial control software development services

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	72212160-8	Library software development services
	72212170-1	Compliance software development services
	72212180-4	Medical software development services
	72212190-7	Educational software development services
	72212200-1	Networking, Internet and intranet software development services
	72212210-4	Networking software development services
	72212211-1	Platform interconnectivity software development services
	72212212-8	Optical jukebox server software development services
	72212213-5	Operating system enhancement software development services
	72212214-2	Network operating system software development services
	72212215-9	Networking developers software development services
	72212216-6	Network connectivity terminal emulation software development services
	72212217-3	Transaction-processing software development services
	72212218-0	License management software development services
	72212219-7	Miscellaneous networking software development services
	72212220-7	Internet and intranet software development services
	72212221-4	Internet browsing software development services
	72212222-1	Web server software development services
	72212223-8	Electronic mail software development services
	72212224-5	Web page editing software development services
	72212300-2	Document creation, drawing, imaging, scheduling and productivity software development services
	72212310-5	Document creation software development services
	72212311-2	Document management software development services
	72212312-9	Electronic publishing software development services
	72212313-6	Optical-character-recognition (OCR) software development services
	72212314-3	Voice recognition software development services
	72212315-0	Desktop-publishing software development services
	72212316-7	Presentation software development services
	72212317-4	Word-processing software development services
	72212318-1	Scanner software development services
	72212320-8	Drawing and imaging software development services
	72212321-5	Computer-aided design (CAD) software development services
	72212322-2	Graphics software development services
	72212323-9	Computer-aided manufacturing (CAM) software development services
	72212324-6	Charting software development services
	72212325-3	Form making software development services
	72212326-0	Mapping software development services
	72212327-7	Drawing and painting software development services
	72212328-4	Image-processing software development services
	72212330-1	Scheduling and productivity software development services
	72212331-8	Project management software development services
	72212332-5	Scheduling software development services
	72212333-2	Contact management software development services
	72212400-3	Business transaction and personal business software development services
	72212410-6	Investment management and tax preparation software development services

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	72212411-3	Investment management software development services
	72212412-0	Tax preparation software development services
	72212420-9	Facilities management software development services and software development services suite
	72212421-6	Facilities management software development services
	72212422-3	Software development services suites
	72212430-2	Inventory management software development services
	72212440-5	Financial analysis and accounting software development services
	72212441-2	Financial analysis software development services
	72212442-9	Financial systems software development services
	72212443-6	Accounting software development services
	72212445-0	Customer Relation Management software development services
	72212450-8	Time accounting or human resources software development services
	72212451-5	Enterprise resource planning software development services
	72212460-1	Analytical, scientific, mathematical or forecasting software development services
	72212461-8	Analytical or scientific software development services
	72212462-5	Mathematical or forecasting software development services
	72212463-2	Statistical software development services
	72212470-4	Auction software development services
	72212480-7	Sales, marketing and business intelligence software development services
	72212481-4	Sales or marketing software development services
	72212482-1	Business intelligence software development services
	72212490-0	Procurement software development services
	72212500-4	Communication and multimedia software development services
	72212510-7	Communication software development services
	72212511-4	Desktop communications software development services
	72212512-1	Interactive voice response software development services
	72212513-8	Modem software development services
	72212514-5	Remote access software development services
	72212515-2	Video conferencing software development services
	72212516-9	Exchange software development services
	72212517-6	IT software development services
	72212518-3	Emulation software development services
	72212519-0	Memory-management software development services
	72212520-0	Multimedia software development services
	72212521-7	Music or sound editing software development services
	72212522-4	Virtual keyboard software development services
	72212600-5	Database and operating software development services
	72212610-8	Database software development services
	72212620-1	Mainframe operating system software development services
	72212630-4	Minicomputer operating system software development services
	72212640-7	Microcomputer operating system software development services
	72212650-0	Personal computer (PC) operating system software development services
	72212660-3	Clustering software development services
	72212670-6	Real time operating system software development services
	72212700-6	Software development services utilities

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	72212710-9	Backup or recovery software development services
	72212720-2	Bar coding software development services
	72212730-5	Security software development services
	72212731-2	File security software development services
	72212732-9	Data security software development services
	72212740-8	Foreign language translation software development services
	72212750-1	Storage media loading software development services
	72212760-4	Virus protection software development services
	72212761-1	Anti-virus software development services
	72212770-7	General, compression and print utility software development services
	72212771-4	General utility software development services
	72212772-1	Print utility software development services
	72212780-0	System, storage and content management software development services
	72212781-7	System management software development services
	72212782-4	Storage management software development services
	72212783-1	Content management software development services
	72212790-3	Version checker software development services
	72212900-8	Miscellaneous software development services and computer systems
	72212920-4	Office automation software development services
	72212940-0	Pattern design and calendar software development services
	72212941-7	Pattern design software development services
	72212942-4	Calendar software development services
	72212960-6	Drivers and system software development services
	72212970-9	Print shop software development services
	72212971-6	Address book making software development services
	72212972-3	Label making software development services
	72212980-2	Programming languages and tools development services
	72212981-9	Compiling software development services
	72212982-6	Configuration management software development services
	72212983-3	Development software development services
	72212984-0	Program testing software development services
	72212985-7	Debugging software development services
	72212990-5	Spreadsheets and enhancement software development services
	72212991-2	Spreadsheet software development services
	72220000-3	Systems and technical consultancy services
	72221000-0	Business analysis consultancy services
	72222000-7	Information systems or technology strategic review and planning services
	72222100-8	Information systems or technology strategic review services
	72222200-9	Information systems or technology planning services
	72222300-0	Information technology services
	72223000-4	Information technology requirements review services
	72224000-1	Project management consultancy services
	72224100-2	System implementation planning services
	72224200-3	System quality assurance planning services
	72225000-8	System quality assurance assessment and review services

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	72226000-5	System software acceptance testing consultancy services
	72227000-2	Software integration consultancy services
	72228000-9	Hardware integration consultancy services
	72230000-6	Custom software development services
	72231000-3	Development of software for military applications
	72232000-0	Development of transaction processing and custom software
	72240000-9	Systems analysis and programming services
	72241000-6	Critical design target specification services
	72242000-3	Design-modelling services
	72243000-0	Programming services
	72244000-7	Prototyping services
	72245000-4	Contract systems analysis and programming services
	72246000-1	Systems consultancy services
	72250000-2	System and support services
	72251000-9	Disaster recovery services
	72252000-6	Computer archiving services
	72253000-3	Helpdesk and support services
	72253100-4	Helpdesk services
	72253200-5	Systems support services
	72254000-0	Software testing
	72254100-1	Systems testing services
	72260000-5	Software-related services
	72261000-2	Software support services
	72262000-9	Software development services
	72263000-6	Software implementation services
	72264000-3	Software reproduction services
	72265000-0	Software configuration services
	72266000-7	Software consultancy services
	72267000-4	Software maintenance and repair services
	72267100-0	Maintenance of information technology software
	72267200-1	Repair of information technology software
	72268000-1	Software supply services
	72300000-8	Data services
	72310000-1	Data-processing services
	72311000-8	Computer tabulation services
	72311100-9	Data conversion services
	72311200-0	Batch processing services
	72311300-1	Computer time-sharing services
	72312000-5	Data entry services
	72312100-6	Data preparation services
	72312200-7	Optical character recognition services
	72313000-2	Data capture services
	72314000-9	Data collection and collation services
	72315000-6	Data network management and support services
	72315100-7	Data network support services

Γ

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	72315200-8	Data network management services
	72316000-3	Data analysis services
	72317000-0	Data storage services
	72318000-7	Data transmission services
	72319000-4	Data supply services
	72320000-4	Database services
	72321000-1	Added-value database services
	72322000-8	Data management services
	72330000-2	Content or data standardization and classification services
	72400000-4	Internet services
	72410000-7	Provider services
	72411000-4	Internet service providers ISP
	72412000-1	Electronic mail service provider
	72413000-8	World wide web (www) site design services
	72414000-5	Web search engine providers
	72415000-2	World wide web (www) site operation host services
	72416000-9	Application service providers
	72417000-6	Internet domain names
	72420000-0	Internet development services
	72421000-7	Internet or intranet client application development services
	72422000-4	Internet or intranet server application development services
	72500000-0	Computer-related services
	72510000-3	Computer-related management services
	72511000-0	Network management software services
	72512000-7	Document management services
	72513000-4	Office automation services
	72514000-1	Computer facilities management services
	72514100-2	Facilities management services involving computer operation
	72514200-3	Facilities management services for computer systems development
	72514300-4	Facilities management services for computer systems maintenance
	72540000-2	Computer upgrade services
	72541000-9	Computer expansion services
	72541100-0	Memory expansion services
	72590000-7	Computer-related professional services
	72591000-4	Development of service level agreements
	72600000-6	Computer support and consultancy services
	72610000-9	Computer support services
	72611000-6	Technical computer support services
	72700000-7	Computer network services
	72710000-0	Local area network services
	72720000-3	Wide area network services
	72800000-8	Computer audit and testing services
	72810000-1	Computer audit services
	72820000-4	Computer testing services
	72900000-9	Computer back-up and catalogue conversion services

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	72910000-2	Computer back-up services
	72920000-5	Computer catalogue conversion services
	79121000-8	Copyright consultancy services
	79121100-9	Software copyright consultancy services
	79132100-9	Electronic signature certification services
	79311210-2	Telephone survey services
	79510000-2	Telephone-answering services
	79511000-9	Telephone operator services
	79512000-6	Call centre
	79520000-5	Reprographic services
	79521000-2	Photocopying services
	79550000-4	Typing, word-processing and desktop publishing services
	79551000-1	Typing services
	79552000-8	Word-processing services
	79553000-5	Desktop publishing services
	80533000-9	Computer-user familiarisation and training services
	80533100-0	Computer training services
	80533200-1	Computer courses
	90916000-1	Cleaning services of telephone equipment
	90919100-3	Cleaning services of office equipment
Content & Media	22100000-1	Printed books, brochures and leaflets
	22110000-4	Printed books
	22111000-1	School books
	22112000-8	Textbooks
	22113000-5	Library books
	22114000-2	Dictionaries, maps, music books and other books
	22114100-3	Dictionaries
	22114200-4	Atlases
	22114300-5	Maps
	22114310-8	Cadastral maps
	22114311-5	Blueprints
	22114400-6	Printed music
	22114500-7	Encyclopaedias
	22120000-7	Publications
	22121000-4	Technical publications
	22130000-0	Directories
	22140000-3	Leaflets
	22150000-6	Brochures
	22160000-9	Booklets
	22200000-2	Newspapers, journals, periodicals and magazines
	22210000-5	Newspapers
	22211000-2	Journals
	22211100-3	Official journals
	22212000-9	Periodicals
	22212100-0	Serials

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	22213000-6	Magazines
	22300000-3	Postcards, greeting cards and other printed matter
	22310000-6	Postcards
	22312000-0	Pictures
	22313000-7	Transfers
	22314000-4	Designs
	22315000-1	Photographs
	22320000-9	Greeting cards
	22321000-6	Christmas cards
	22460000-2	Trade-advertising material, commercial catalogues and manuals
	22461000-9	Catalogues
	22461100-0	List holders
	22462000-6	Advertising material
	22470000-5	Manuals
	22471000-2	Computer manuals
	22472000-9	Instruction manuals
	22473000-6	Technical manuals
	30199220-8	Plain postcards
	30199730-6	Business cards
	30199791-1	Wall planners
	30199792-8	Calendars
	32351310-4	Audio cassettes
	32353000-2	Sound recordings
	32353100-3	Records
	32353200-4	Music cassettes
	32354000	Film products
	32354100-0	Radiology film
	32354110-3	X-ray film
	32354120-6	Blue diazo film
	32354200-1	Cinematographic film
	32354300-2	Photographic film
	32354400-3	Instant-print film
	32354500-4	Video films
	32354600-5	Video cassettes
	32354700-6	Video tapes
	37532000-6	Video games
	48911000-7	Computer game software package
	48930000-6	Training and entertainment software package
	48931000-3	Training software package
	48932000-0	Entertainment software package
	72212910-1	Computer game software development services, family titles and screen savers
	72212911-8	Computer game software development services
	72212930-7	Training and entertainment software development services
	72212931-4	Training software development services
	72212932-1	Entertainment software development services

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	79341000-6	Advertising services
	79341100-7	Advertising consultancy services
	79341200-8	Advertising management services
	79341400-0	Advertising campaign services
	79341500-1	Aeral advertising services
	79342410-4	Electronic auction services
	79570000-0	Mailing-list compilation and mailing services
	79571000-7	Mailing services
	79800000-2	Printing and related services
	79810000-5	Printing services
	79811000-2	Digital printing services
	79812000-9	Banknote printing services
	79820000-8	Services related to printing
	79821000-5	Print finishing services
	79821100-6	Proofreading services
	79822000-2	Composition services
	79822100-3	Print-plate making services
	79822200-4	Photogravure services
	79822300-5	Typesetting services
	79822400-6	Lithographic services
	79822500-7	Graphic design services
	79823000-9	Printing and delivery services
	79824000-6	Printing and distribution services
	79960000-1	Photographic and ancillary services
	79961000-8	Photographic services
	79961100-9	Advertising photography services
	79961200-0	Aerial photography services
	79961300-1	Specialised photography services
	79961310-4	Downhole photography services
	79961320-7	Underwater photography services
	79961330-0	Microfilming services
	79961340-3	X-ray photography services
	79961350-6	Studio photography services
	79962000-5	Photograph processing services
	79963000-2	Photograph restoration, copying and retouching services
	79970000-4	Publishing services
	79971000-1	Bookbinding and finishing services
	79971100-2	Book finishing services
	79971200-3	Bookbinding services
	79972000-8	Language dictionary publishing services
	79972100-9	Regional language dictionary publishing services
	79980000-7	Subscription services
	79995000-5	Library management services
	79995100-6	Archiving services
	79995200-7	Cataloguing services

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	79999100-4	Scanning services
	80420000-4	E-learning services
	92100000-2	Motion picture and video services
	92110000-5	Motion picture and video tape production and related services
	92111000-2	Motion picture and video production services
	92111100-3	Training-film and video-tape production
	92111200-4	Advertising, propaganda and information film and video-tape production
	92111210-7	Advertising film production
	92111220-0	Advertising video-tape production
	92111230-3	Propaganda film production
	92111240-6	Propaganda video-tape production
	92111250-9	Information film production
	92111260-2	Information video-tape production
	92111300-5	Entertainment film and video-tape production
	92111310-8	Entertainment film production
	92111320-1	Entertainment video-tape production
	92112000-9	Services in connection with motion-picture and video-tape production
	92120000-8	Motion-picture or video-tape distribution services
	92121000-5	Video-tape distribution services
	92122000-2	Motion picture distribution services
	92130000-1	Motion picture projection services
	92140000-4	Video-tape projection services
	92200000-3	Radio and television services
	92210000-6	Radio services
	92211000-3	Radio production services
	92213000-7	Small scale radio systems services
	92214000-4	Radio studio or equipment services
	92215000-1	General Mobile Radio Services (GMRS)
	92216000-8	Family Radio Services (FRS)
	92217000-5	General Mobile Radio Services/Family Radio Services (GMRS/FRS)
	92220000-9	Television services
	92221000-6	Television production services
	92222000-3	Closed circuit television services
	92224000-7	Digital television
	92225000-4	Interactive television
	92225100-7	Film-on-demand television
	92226000-1	Teleprogrammation
	92230000-2	Radio and television cable services
	92231000-9	International bilateral services and international private leased lines
	92232000-6	Cable TV
	92400000-5	News-agency services
ICT Plus definition	31111000-7	Adapters
	31158100-9	Battery chargers
	31224400-6	Connection cables
	31321700-9	Signalling cable

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	31330000-8	Coaxial cable
	31642000-8	Electronic detection apparatus
	31642100-9	Detection apparatus for metal pipes
	31642200-0	Detection apparatus for mines
	31642300-1	Detection apparatus for plastics
	31642400-2	Detection apparatus for non-metallic objects
	31642500-3	Detection apparatus for timber
	31682200-2	Instrument panels
	31682210-5	Instrumentation and control equipment
	31682220-8	Mixing panels
	31682230-1	Graphic display panels
	32500000-8	Telecommunications equipment and supplies
	32520000-4	Telecommunications cable and equipment
	32521000-1	Telecommunications cable
	32550000-3	Telephone equipment
	32551000-0	Telephone cables and associated equipment
	32551100-1	Telephone connections
	32551500-5	Telephone cables
	32560000-6	Fibre-optic materials
	32561000-3	Fibre-optic connections
	32562000-0	Optical-fibre cables
	32562100-1	Optical-fibre cables for information transmission
	32562200-2	Optical telecommunication cables
	32562300-3	Optical-fibre cables for data transmission
	32570000-9	Communications equipment
	32571000-6	Communications infrastructure
	32572000-3	Communications cable
	32572100-4	Communications cable with multiple electrical conductors
	32572200-5	Communications cable with coaxial conductors
	32572300-6	Communications cable for special applications
	32580000-2	Data equipment
	32581000-9	Data-communications equipment
	32581100-0	Data-transmission cable
	32581110-3	Data-transmission cable with multiple electrical conductors
	32581120-6	Data-transmission cable with coaxial conductors
	32581130-9	Data-transmission cable for special applications
	33110000-4	Imaging equipment for medical, dental and veterinary use
	33111000-1	X-ray devices
	33111100-2	X-ray table
	33111200-3	X-ray workstations
	33111300-4	X-ray processing devices
	33111400-5	X-ray fluoroscopy devices
	33111500-6	Dental X-ray
	33111600-7	Radiography devices
	33111610-0	Magnetic resonance unit

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	33111620-3	Gamma cameras
	33111640-9	Thermographs
	33111650-2	Mammography devices
	33111660-5	Bone densitometers
	33111700-8	Angiography room
	33111710-1	Angiography supplies
	33111720-4	Angiography devices
	33111721-1	Digital angiography devices
	33111730-7	Angioplasty supplies
	33111740-0	Angioplasty devices
	33111800-9	Diagnostic X-ray system
	33112000-8	Echo, ultrasound and doppler imaging equipment
	33112100-9	Ultrasonic heart detector
	33112200-0	Ultrasonic unit
	33112300-1	Ultrasound scanners
	33112310-4	Colour-flow doppler
	33112320-7	Doppler equipment
	33112330-0	Echoencephalographs
	33112340-3	Echocardiographs
	33113000-5	Magnetic resonance imaging equipment
	33113100-6	Magnetic resonance scanners
	33113110-9	Nuclear magnetic resonance scanners
	33114000-2	Spectroscopy devices
	33115000-9	Tomography devices
	33115100-0	CT scanners
	33115200-1	CAT scanners
	33120000-7	Recording systems and exploration devices
	33121000-4	Long term ambulatory recording system
	33121100-5	Electro-encephalographs
	33121200-6	Scintigraphy devices
	33121300-7	Electromyographs
	33121400-8	Audiometers
	33121500-9	Electrocardiogram
	33123200-0	Electrocardiography devices
	33128000-3	Medical laser other than for surgery
	33151300-6	Spectrographs
	33158500-7	Infrared medical devices
	33169100-3	Surgical laser
	33169500-7	Surgical tracking and tracing systems
	33182210-4	Pacemaker
	33182240-3	Parts and accessories for pacemakers
	33182400-3	Cardiac X-ray system
	33185000-0	Hearing aids
	33185100-1	Parts and accessories for hearing aids
	33185200-2	Cochlear implant

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	33185300-3	Otolaryngology implant
	33185400-4	Larynx artificial
	33193213-5	Control devices for invalid carriages
	33195000-3	Patient-monitoring system
	33195100-4	Monitors
	33195110-7	Respiratory monitors
	33195200-5	Central monitoring station
	33197000-7	Medical computer equipment
	34150000-3	Simulators
	34151000-0	Driving simulators
	34152000-7	Training simulators
	34632000-6	Railways traffic-control equipment
	34632200-8	Electrical signalling equipment for railways
	34711200-6	Non-piloted aircraft
	34712200-3	Satellites
	34741400-7	Flight simulators
	34923000-3	Road traffic-control equipment
	34924000-0	Variable message signs
	34926000-4	Car park control equipment
	34927000-1	Toll equipment
	34931400-6	Ship bridge simulators
	34931500-7	Vessel traffic control equipment
	34932000-9	Radar sets
	34933000-6	Navigation equipment
	34943000-9	Train-monitoring system
	34944000-6	Points heating system
	34961000-1	Baggage-handling system
	34961100-2	Baggage-handling equipment
	34962000-8	Air-traffic control equipment
	34962100-9	Control tower equipment
	34962200-0	Air-traffic control
	34962210-3	Air-traffic control simulation
	34962220-6	Air-traffic control systems
	34962230-9	Air-traffic control training
	34963000-5	Instrument Landing System (ILS)
	34964000-2	Doppler VHF Omni direction Range (DVOR)
	34965000-9	Distance Measuring Equipment (DME)
	34966000-6	Radio Direction Finder and Non-Directional Beacon
	34966100-7	Radio Direction Finder (RDF)
	34966200-8	Non-Directional Beacon (NDB)
	34967000-3	Airport Communication System (COM)
	34968100-1	Airport Surveillance System (SUR)
	34970000-7	Traffic-monitoring equipment
	34971000-4	Speed camera equipment
	34972000-1	Traffic-flow measuring system

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	34996000-5	Control, safety or signalling equipment for roads
	34996200-7	Control, safety or signalling equipment for inland waterways
	34996300-8	Control, safety or signalling equipment for parking facilities
	34997000-2	Control, safety or signalling equipment for airports
	34997100-3	Flight recorders
	34997200-4	Airport lighting
	34997210-7	Runway lights
	34998000-9	Control, safety or signalling equipment for port installations
	34999100-7	Signal generators
	34999200-8	Aerial signal splitters
	35120000-1	Surveillance and security systems and devices
	35260000-4	Police signs
	35261000-1	Information panels
	35261100-2	Changing message indicator panels
	35262000-8	Crossing control signalling equipment
	35322200-9	Self-propelled artillery
	35512400-0	Unmanned underwater vehicles
	35613000-4	Unmanned aerial vehicles
	35613100-5	Unmanned combat aerial vehicles
	35622600-6	Anti-tank guided missiles
	35623000-7	Cruise missiles
	35623100-8	Air/ground/sea launched cruise missiles
	35700000-1	Military electronic systems
	35710000-4	Command, control, communication and computer systems
	35711000-1	Command, control, communication systems
	35712000-8	Tactical command, control and communication systems
	35720000-7	Intelligence, surveillance, target acquisition and reconnaissance
	35721000-4	Electronic intelligence system
	35722000-1	Radar
	35723000-8	Air defence radar
	35730000-0	Electronic warfare systems and counter measures
	35740000-3	Battle simulators
	37482000-0	Sports information billboards
	3800000-5	Laboratory, optical and precision equipments (excl. glasses)
	38100000-6	Navigational and meteorological instruments
	38110000-9	Navigational instruments
	38113000-0	Sonars
	38114000-7	Echo sounders
	38115000-4	Radar apparatus
	38120000-2	Meteorological instruments
	38121000-9	Anemometers
	38122000-6	Barometers
	38123000-3	Precipitation or evaporation recorders
	38124000-0	Radiosonde apparatus
	38125000-7	Rainfall recorders

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	38126000-4	Surface observing apparatus
	38126100-5	Precipitation or evaporation surface observing apparatus
	38126200-6	Solar radiation surface observing apparatus
	38126300-7	Temperature or humidity surface observing apparatus
	38126400-8	Wind surface observing apparatus
	38127000-1	Weather stations
	38128000-8	Meteorology instrument accessories
	38220000-3	Geological prospecting apparatus
	38221000-0	Geographic information systems (GIS or equivalent)
	38290000-4	Surveying, hydrographic, oceanographic and hydrological instruments and appliances
	38291000-1	Telemetry apparatus
	38292000-8	Hydrographic instruments
	38293000-5	Seismic equipment
	38294000-2	Theodolites
	38295000-9	Topography equipment
	38296000-6	Surveying instruments
	38300000-8	Measuring instruments
	38310000-1	Precision balances
	38311000-8	Electronic scales and accessories
	38311100-9	Electronic analytical balances
	38311200-0	Electronic technical balances
	38320000-4	Drafting tables
	38321000-1	Drafting machines
	38322000-8	Pantographs
	38323000-5	Slide rules
	38340000-0	Instruments for measuring quantities
	38341000-7	Apparatus for measuring radiation
	38341100-8	Electron-beam recorders
	38341200-9	Radiation dosimeters
	38341300-0	Instruments for measuring electrical quantities
	38341310-3	Ammeters
	38341320-6	Voltmeters
	38341400-1	Geiger counters
	38341500-2	Contamination-monitoring devices
	38341600-3	Radiation monitors
	38342000-4	Oscilloscopes
	38342100-5	Oscillographs
	38343000-1	Error-monitoring equipment
	38344000-8	Pollution-monitoring devices
	38430000-8	Detection and analysis apparatus
	38431000-5	Detection apparatus
	38431100-6	Gas-detection apparatus
	38431200-7	Smoke-detection apparatus
	38431300-8	Fault detectors
	38432000-2	Analysis apparatus

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	38432100-3	Gas-analysis apparatus
	38432200-4	Chromatographs
	38432210-7	Gas chromatographs
	38432300-5	Smoke-analysis apparatus
	38433000-9	Spectrometers
	38433100-0	Mass spectrometer
	38433200-1	Emission measurement equipment
	38433300-2	Spectrum analyser
	38434000-6	Analysers
	38434100-7	Expansion analysers
	38434200-8	Sound-measuring equipment
	38434210-1	Sonometers
	38434220-4	Sound velocity analyzers
	38434300-9	Noise-measuring equipment
	38434310-2	Decibel meter
	38434400-0	Vibration analysers
	38435000-3	Apparatus for detecting fluids
	38500000-0	Checking and testing apparatus
	38510000-3	Microscopes
	38511000-0	Electron microscopes
	38511100-1	Scanning electron microscopes
	38511200-2	Transmission electron microscope
	38512000-7	Ion and molecular microscopes
	38512100-8	Ion microscopes
	38512200-9	Molecular microscopes
	38514000-1	Darkfield and scanning probe microscopes
	38514100-2	Darkfield microscopes
	38514200-3	Scanning probe microscopes
	38515100-9	Polarising microscopes
	38516000-5	Monocular and/or binocular light compound microscopes
	38517100-3	Acoustic microscopes
	38519300-9	Photo or video attachments for microscopes
	38519310-2	Photo attachments for microscopes
	38519320-5	Video attachments for microscopes
	38519400-0	Automated microscope stages
	38520000-6	Scanners
	38521000-3	Pressure scanners
	38522000-0	Chromatographic scanners
	38527100-6	Ionization chamber dosimeters
	38527200-7	Dosimeters
	38527300-8	Secondary standard dosimetry systems
	38527400-9	Phantom dosimeters
	38540000-2	Machines and apparatus for testing and measuring
	38541000-9	Solderability testers
	38542000-6	Servo-hydraulic test apparatus

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	38543000-3	Gas-detection equipment
	38544000-0	Drug detection apparatus
	38545000-7	Gas-testing kits
	38546000-4	Explosives detection system
	38546100-5	Bomb detectors
	38547000-1	Dosimetry system
	38548000-8	Instruments for vehicles
	38550000-5	Meters
	38551000-2	Energy meters
	38552000-9	Electronic meters
	38553000-6	Magnetic meters
	38554000-3	Electricity meters
	38560000-8	Production counters
	38561000-5	Revolution counters
	38561100-6	Speed indicators for vehicles
	38561110-9	Tachometers
	38561120-2	Taxi meters
	38562000-2	Stroboscopes
	38570000-1	Regulating and controlling instruments and apparatus
	38571000-8	Speed limiters
	38580000-4	Non-medical equipment based on the use of radiations
	38581000-1	Baggage-scanning equipment
	38582000-8	X-ray inspection equipment
	38620000-7	Polarising material
	38621000-4	Fibre-optic apparatus
	38622000-1	Mirrors
	38623000-8	Optical filters
	38624000-5	Optical aids
	38800000-3	Industrial process control equipment and remote-control equipment
	38810000-6	Industrial process control equipment
	38820000-9	Remote-control equipment
	38821000-6	Radio remote-control apparatus
	38822000-3	Remote-control siren devices
	38900000-4	Miscellaneous evaluation or testing instruments
	38920000-0	Seed and feed equipment
	38921000-7	Grain analysers
	38922000-4	Seed counters
	38923000-1	Feed analysers
	38930000-3	Humidity and moisture measuring instruments
	38931000-0	Temperature humidity testers
	38932000-7	Moisture meters
	38940000-6	Nuclear evaluation instruments
	38941000-7	Alpha counters
	38942000-7	Alpha beta counters
	38943000-7	Beta counters

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	38944000-7	Beta gamma counters
	38945000-7	Gamma counters
	38946000-7	KVP meters
	38947000-7	X-ray microanalysers
	38950000-9	Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) equipment
	38951000-6	Real-time Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) equipment
	38960000-2	Alcohol ignition lock
	38970000-5	Research, testing and scientific technical simulator
	39134000-0	Computer furniture
	39134100-1	Computer tables
	39235000-8	Tokens
	39294000-9	Apparatus and equipment designed for demonstrational purposes
	39294100-0	Information and promotion products
	42960000-3	Command and control system, printing, graphics, office automation and information-processing equipment
	42961000-0	Command and control system
	42961100-1	Access control system
	42961200-2	Scada or equivalent system
	42961300-3	Vehicle location system
	42961400-4	Dispatch system
	42962000-7	Printing and graphics equipment
	42962100-8	Film printing system
	42962200-9	Printing press
	42962300-0	Graphics workstations
	42962400-1	Hectographs
	42962500-2	Engraving machines
	42964000-1	Office automation equipment
	42965000-8	Information-processing equipment
	42965100-9	Warehouse management system
	42965110-2	Depot system
	42967000-2	Controller unit
	42967100-3	Digital remote-control unit
	42991000-9	Paper, printing and bookbinding machinery and parts
	42991100-0	Bookbinding machinery
	42991110-3	Book-sewing machinery
	42991200-1	Printing machinery
	42991210-4	Offset printing machinery
	42991220-7	Typesetting machinery
	42991230-0	Ticket printers
	42991300-2	Photocomposing system
	42991500-4	Parts of printing or bookbinding machinery
	42997300-4	Industrial robots
	42998000-8	Pallet-picking system
	42998100-9	Pallet-retrieving system
	43135000-8	Subsea equipment
	43135100-9	Subsea control systems

Γ

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	43411000-7	Sorting and screening machines
	44212250-6	Masts
	44212260-9	Radio or television masts
	44212261-6	Radio masts
	44212262-3	Television masts
	44212263-0	Lattice masts
	44212322-2	Telephone booths
	44521120-5	Electronic security lock
	45222300-2	Engineering work for security installations
	45223400-0	Radar station construction work
	45231600-1	Construction work for communication lines
	45232300-5	Construction and ancillary works for telephone and communication lines
	45232310-8	Construction work for telephone lines
	45232311-5	Roadside emergency telephone lines
	45232320-1	Cable broadcasting lines
	45232330-4	Erection of aerials
	45232331-1	Ancillary works for broadcasting
	45232332-8	Ancillary works for telecommunications
	45232340-7	Mobile-telephone base-stations construction work
	45234115-5	Railway signalling works
	45312000-7	Alarm system and antenna installation work
	45312100-8	Fire-alarm system installation work
	45312200-9	Burglar-alarm system installation work
	45312300-0	Antenna installation work
	45312320-6	Television aerial installation work
	45312330-9	Radio aerial installation work
	45314000-1	Installation of telecommunications equipment
	45314100-2	Installation of telephone exchanges
	45314120-8	Installation of switchboards
	45314200-3	Installation of telephone lines
	45314300-4	Installation of cable infrastructure
	45314310-7	Installation of cable laying
	45314320-0	Installation of computer cabling
	45316200-7	Installation of signalling equipment
	45316210-0	Installation of traffic monitoring equipment
	45316213-1	Installation of traffic guidance equipment
	45316220-3	Installation of airport signalling equipment
	45316230-6	Installation of port signalling equipment
	50111000-6	Fleet management, repair and maintenance services
	50111100-7	Vehicle-fleet management services
	50111110-0	Vehicle-fleet-support services
	51112200-2	Installation services of electricity control equipment
	51200000-4	Installation services of equipment for measuring, checking, testing and navigating
	51210000-7	Installation services of measuring equipment
	51211000-4	Installation services of time-measuring equipment

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	51212000-1	Installation services of time register equipment
	51213000-8	Installation services of time recorder equipment
	51214000-5	Installation services of parking meter equipment
	51215000-2	Installation services of meteorological equipment
	51216000-9	Installation services of geological equipment
	51220000-0	Installation services of checking equipment
	51221000-7	Installation services of automatic airport check-in devices
	51230000-3	Installation services of testing equipment
	51611110-2	Installation services of airport real-time departures and arrival display screens or boards
	51611120-5	boards
	60510000-6	Satellite launch services
	60520000-9	Experimental payload services
	60630000-3	Cable-laying ship services
	63112000-7	Baggage handling services
	03112100-8	Passenger baggage handling services
	63112110-1	Baggage collection services
	63711100-7	Train monitoring services
	63712210-8	Highway toll services
	63712300-6	Bridge and tunnel operation services
	63712310-9	Bridge operating services
	63712311-6	Bridge toll services
	63712320-2	Tunnel operation services
	63712321-9	Tunnel toll services
	63712700-0	Traffic control services
	63712710-3	Traffic monitoring services
	63731100-3	Airport slot coordination services
	63732000-9	Air-traffic control services
	6550000-8	Meter reading service
	66115000-9	International payment transfer services
	66172000-6	Financial transaction processing and clearing-house services
	66151100-4	Electronic marketplace retailing services
	71351600-9	Weather-forecasting services
	71351610-2	Meteorology services
	71351611-9	Climatology services
	71351612-6	Hydrometeorology services
	71351920-2	Oceanography and hydrology services
	71351921-2	Estuarine oceanography services
	71351922-2	Physical oceanography services
	71351923-2	Bathymetric surveys services
	71351924-2	Underwater exploration services
	71352000-0	Subsurface surveying services
	71352100-1	Seismic services
	71352110-4	Seismographic surveying services
	71352120-7	Seismic data acquisition services
	71352130-0	Seismic data collection services

ICT sub-sector	CPV code	CPV name
	71352140-3	Seismic processing services
	71352300-3	Magnetometric surveying services
	71353000-7	Surface surveying services
	71353100-8	Hydrographic surveying services
	71353200-9	Dimensional surveying services
	71354000-4	Map-making services
	71354100-5	Digital mapping services
	71354200-6	Aerial mapping services
	71354300-7	Cadastral surveying services
	71354400-8	Hydrographic services
	71354500-9	Marine survey services
	71355000-1	Surveying services
	71355100-2	Photogrammetry services
	71355200-3	Ordnance surveying
	79711000-1	Alarm-monitoring services
	79714000-2	Surveillance services
	79714100-3	Tracing system services
	79714110-6	Absconder-tracing services
	79716000-6	Identification badge release services
	79940000-5	Collection agency services
	79941000-2	Toll-collection services
	79991000-7	Stock-control services
	85150000-5	Medical imaging services
	90714100-6	Environmental information systems
	90731400-4	Air pollution monitoring or measurement services
	90731500-5	Toxic gas detection services
	90731600-6	Methane monitoring
	90731700-7	Carbon dioxide monitoring services
	90731800-8	Airborne particle monitoring
	90731900-9	Ozone depletion monitoring services
	90732500-2	Soil pollution mapping
	90732600-3	Soil pollution measurement or monitoring
	90733100-5	Surface water pollution monitoring or control services
	90733600-0	Transboundary water pollution management or control services
	90733700-1	Groundwater pollution monitoring or control services
	90741100-4	Oil spillage monitoring services
	90742300-3	Noise pollution monitoring services
	90743100-8	Toxic substances monitoring services

## 9.6 Annex VI – Methodology for the calculation of total public procurement

This document presents how the total expenditure on works, goods and services of the general government sector was estimated in the 30 countries falling within the scope of the study.

In accordance with the official methodology used by DG GROW,<sup>880</sup> the total expenditure of the general government sector is considered as a proxy of total public procurement, based on the assumption that all public expenditures were previously procured.

All calculations are based on the data reported by Member States to Eurostat in accordance with the European System of National and Regional Accounts (ESA 2010) accounting standards.

In particular, all figures were retrieved from two Eurostat tables:

- Total expenditure on works, goods and services of the general government excluding utilities, but including defence<sup>881</sup> (gov\_10a\_main)

- Total expenditure of the general government on utilities only<sup>882</sup> (naio\_10\_cp16)

Total expenditure on works, goods and services of the general government excluding utilities

As shown in the following table, the total expenditure of the general government (excluding utilities) was calculated as the sum of three aggregates of the "gov-10a-main" table:

- P2 Intermediate consumption
- P51G Gross fixed capital formation
- D632PAY social transfers in kind, purchased market production, payable

	Government revenue, expenditure and main aggregates [gov_10a_main]								
UNIT	Million euro								
SECTOR	General government								
NA_ITEM	Sum of (i) Intermediate consumption, (ii) Gross fixed capital formation, (iii) Social transfers in kind purchased market production, payable								
	2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018								
Austria	41.136	42.587	43.402	44.928	46.541	48.271	49.793		
Belgium	55.737	55.618	58.367	58.864	60.423	62.238	65.757		
Bulgaria	4.360	4.815	5.353	6.042	4.508	4.753	5.397		
Croatia	5.816	6.012	6.133	6.054	6.294	6.220	6.895		
Cyprus	1.274	1.093	953	1.036	1.079	1.137	1.921		
Czech Republic	21.576	20.807	21.079	23.429	21.516	23.023	26.949		
Denmark	35.576	35.413	36.864	36.857	38.042	37.794	38.686		
Estonia	2.397	2.395	2.443	2.580	2.532	3.037	3.167		
Finland	33.090	34.626	35.214	35.160	37.016	38.060	40.080		
France	299.478	304.890	304.539	300.997	302.797	311.252	317.534		
Germany	393.598	413.409	432.239	449.749	476.763	494.359	512.587		
Greece	18.666	18.267	17.565	18.213	18.378	19.629	17.027		
Hungary	12.942	13.966	15.636	17.809	14.024	17.075	19.290		
Ireland	17.002	16.660	18.105	19.107	20.271	21.209	23.722		
Italy	171.438	171.062	169.105	171.374	172.356	174.867	178.272		

880 See e.g. DG GROW (2016), Public Procurement Indicators 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>881</sup> As reported in the European System of National and Regional Accounts (ESA 2010, page 443): "Military weapon systems, comprising vehicles and other equipment such as warships, submarines, military aircrafts, tanks, missile carriers and launchers etc. are used continuously in the production of defence services. They are fixed assets, like those used continuously for more than one year in civilian production. Their acquisition is recorded as gross fixed capital formation". This is further confirmed by Eurostat Data Explorer of table gov-10a-exp (General government expenditure by function COFOG), which shows that the total general government expenditure includes among others expenditures in the defence sector (divided in military defence, civil defence, foreign military aid, R&D defence and 'defence not elsewhere classified').

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>882</sup> The rationale behind the separation of utilities data will be discussed in detail in the following sections.

Total	1.878.480	1.897.455	1.961.640	2.045.484	2.032.644	2.074.967	2.149.769
United Kingdom	259.917	257.132	286.117	322.218	291.009	275.950	281.908
Switzerland	42.617	42.955	45.012	52.393	52.207	52.244	51.734
Sweden	65.999	68.272	67.805	69.126	72.919	74.278	73.838
Spain	111.333	103.467	103.354	110.121	104.963	108.636	114.382
Slovenia	4.702	4.821	5.140	5.222	4.683	4.840	5.337
Slovakia	9.860	10.135	11.048	13.591	11.255	11.565	12.383
Romania	15.479	15.896	16.651	18.732	16.433	15.273	16.968
Portugal	16.668	16.099	16.100	16.925	16.347	17.180	17.986
Poland	46.190	44.032	48.089	49.216	42.983	48.684	56.888
Norway	44.930	46.855	47.079	46.312	47.382	49.276	50.713
Netherlands	134.357	133.805	135.316	135.627	136.694	139.728	145.122
Malta	740	721	843	1.013	935	1.041	1.263
Luxembourg	5.541	5.635	5.950	6.271	6.389	6.866	7.078
Lithuania	3.478	3.406	3.487	3.695	3.441	3.664	3.833
Latvia	2.585	2.605	2.654	2.824	2.465	2.820	3.259

Total1.878.4801.897.4551.961.6402.045.4842.032.0442.074.9072.149.709Source: Eurostat table Government revenue, expenditure and main aggregates [gov\_10a\_main] and Eurostat table General<br/>government expenditure by function (COFOG) [gov\_10a\_exp] for the removal of expenditure in the defence sector.

## Total public procurement expenditure by utilities only

The total public procurement expenditure by utilities is calculated separately. The rationale behind a separate calculation of the utilities expenditures is that data on utilities is considered to be highly unreliable. Indeed, DG **GROW stopped estimating the expenditures by utilities** in 2012: as reported in the Public Procurement Indicators of 2012 "the total expenditure by utilities is no longer included due to the questionable reliability of the available figures".<sup>883</sup>

For this reason, including such a figure to estimate of total public procurement by utilities is **to be considered with caution**.

As shown in the following table, the public procurement total expenditure by utilities only was calculated as the sum of three aggregates of the "naio\_10\_cp16" table:

- B Mining and quarrying
- E36 Water collection, treatment and supply
- D Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply

	Use table at purchasers' prices [naio_10_cp16]							
UNIT	Million euro							
INDUSE	Mining and quarrying, Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply, Water collection, treatment and supply							
PROD_NA	Total intermediate consumption /final use							
	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Used for the study
Austria	18.548	18.149	24.762	24.427	21.860	:	:	21.860
Belgium	9.232	9.692	8.607	8.194	8.751	:	:	8.751
Bulgaria	3.850	3.780	2.993	:	:	:	:	2.993
Croatia	:	:	:	3.867	:	:	:	3.867
Cyprus	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	641*
Czech Republic	13.960	13.251	10.584	10.787	10.534	11.614	12.096	12.096
Denmark	5.864	6.100	4.852	4.224	4.444	:	:	4.444
Estonia	1.143	1.169	1.131	993	954	:	:	954

<sup>883</sup> See e.g. DG GROW (2013), Public Procurement Indicators 2012, page 3.
Finland	6.370	6.256	6.306	6.234	:	:	:	6.234
France	88.860	87.829	79.585	77.458	77.989	:	:	77.989
Germany	94.301	92.907	89.286	92.059	95.661	:	:	95.661
Greece	4.419	4.374	4.105	3.882	3.650	:	:	3.650
Hungary	4.073	3.750	3.252	3.221	3.081	:	:	3.081
Ireland	3.168	3.800	3.023	3.993	4.579	:	:	4.579
Italy	73.551	75.846	72.994	72.330	68.955	:	:	68.955
Latvia	2.234	2.125	1.862	1.527	1.352	:	:	1.352
Lithuania	1.286	1.415	1.378	1.318	1.225	:	:	1.225
Luxembourg	1.067	1.108	989	958	795	795	1.077	1.077
Malta	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	641
Netherlands	15.613	15.373	15.420	16.873	14.738	:	:	14.738
Norway	21.935	22.983	22.779	19.527	17.262	:	:	17.262
Poland	22.610	21.449	20.154	21.991	18.268	:	:	18.268
Portugal	12.306	12.160	11.402	11.405	11.661	12.949	:	12.949
Romania	13.690	12.685	11.769	11.568	10.227	:	:	10.227
Slovakia	10.129	9.934	7.983	8.568	8.185	:	:	8.185
Slovenia	1.560	1.571	1.488	1.414	1.336	1.434	:	1.434
Spain	64.924	69.932	72.150	63.875	41.297	:	:	41.297
Sweden	9.652	9.842	8.641	9.033	:	:	:	9.033
Switzerland	:	:	:	:	:	:	•	18.268*
United Kingdom	136.032	136.501	142.719	152.912	133.669	132.919	•	132.919
Total	640.376	643.981	630.212	632.638	560.472	159.712	13.173	604.631

(\*) For Malta and Switzerland, data have been extrapolated from Cyprus and Poland respectively. Source: Eurostat table Use table at purchasers' prices [naio\_10\_cp16]

In addition to low reliability, data on utilities is also affected from low availability. Indeed, as can be seen from the table, figures for recent years are often not available. For certain countries, the entire data series is unavailable.

# Comparison of results with DG GROW estimates and GDP

The total expenditure on works, goods and services of the general government sector plus utilities was calculated for all available years and compared with GD GROW's estimates published over time. As already mentioned, DG GROW stopped calculating expenditures by utilities in 2012. In addition to this, estimates were also compared with GDP, to verify their reliability. The following table presents the estimates on works, goods and services by the general government sector and utilities.

	Total expenditure on works, goods and services by the general government sector and utilities								
UNIT	Million euro	Million euro							
Calculation method	Sum of (i) Intermediate consumption, (ii) Gross fixed capital formation, (iii) Social transfers in kind purchased market production, payable, (iv) Mining and quarrying, (v) Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply, (vi) Water collection, treatment and supply (with extrapolation of values)								
	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Used for the study	
Austria	60.304	61.432	68.827	69.965	69.128	:	:	72.391	
Belgium	65.741	66.129	67.798	67.876	69.864	:	:	75.249	
Bulgaria	8.322	8.725	8.569	:	:	:	:	8.598	
Croatia	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	10.971	
Cyprus	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	2.669	

Czech Republic	36.161	34.629	32.070	35.032	32.520	35.151	39.750	39.750				
Denmark	43.453	43.402	43.384	42.721	44.269	:	:	45.223				
Estonia	3.759	3.789	3.799	3.822	3.849	:	:	4.487				
Finland	41.175	42.691	43.238	43.293	:	:	:	47.906				
France	405.016	409.300	399.896	396.942	401.629	:	:	416.374				
Germany	505.997	523.668	537.541	558.886	590.744	:	:	630.514				
Greece	24.336	23.570	23.323	23.565	22.785	:	:	21.493				
Hungary	17.372	18.055	19.179	21.425	17.550	:	:	23.131				
Ireland	20.297	20.594	21.342	23.328	25.093	:	:	28.595				
Italy	250.612	251.739	246.914	248.836	248.077	:	:	253.238				
Latvia	4.896	4.814	4.618	4.469	4.028	:	:	4.965				
Lithuania	4.864	4.918	4.978	5.203	4.916	:	:	5.444				
Luxembour g	6.673	6.793	6.983	7.264	7.269	7.729	8.305	8.305				
Malta	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	1.918				
Netherland s	152.916	152.324	153.823	155.835	155.084	:	:	164.319				
Norway	69.946	72.960	72.974	69.012	67.816	:	:	72.043				
Poland	71.141	68.422	70.623	74.225	64.075	:	:	78.802				
Portugal	29.513	28.738	27.992	28.851	28.308	30.562	:	31.438				
Romania	29.380	28.762	28.780	30.823	27.419	:	:	27.772				
Slovakia	20.216	20.294	19.338	22.392	19.711	:	:	20.990				
Slovenia	6.374	6.474	6.701	6.706	6.117	6.385	:	6.915				
Spain	179.527	176.892	178.263	177.971	150.700	:	:	159.621				
Sweden	79.494	82.173	79.886	81.214	:	:	:	86.386				
Switzerland	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	73.088				
United Kingdom	429.715	425.539	463.226	512.057	456.300	438.881	:	445.285				
Total	2.567.200	2.586.825	2.634.064	2.711.714	2.517.253	518.708	48.055	2.867.879				

The estimated total public procurement has been compared against DG GROW's estimates and the GDP:

# Belgium





## Bulgaria

# Czech Republic





## Denmark



## Germany

Estonia





Estonia



Greece







France



Italy



Cyprus



Croatia



## Latvia







## Luxembourg



# Hungary











## Poland





Romania





### Slovenia











### Sweden

# United Kingdom



Norway



# Malta (no data on utilities)



## Switzerland (no data on utilities)



# 9.7 Annex VII – Multiplying factors for the estimation of missing values

								Cou	intri	ies w	ith a	vaila	able	valu	les (t	o be	mu	ltipli	ied b	y the	e mu	ltipl	ying	fact	or)						
		AT	BE	BG	СН	CY	CZ	DE	DK	EE	EL	ES	FI	FR	HR	HU	IE	IT	LT	LU	LV	MT	NL	NO	PL	РТ	RO	SE	SI	SK	UK
	AT	1,00	1,00	2,20	0,76	1,25	1,60	1,03	0,84	1,43	1,35	1,21	0,90	1,01	1,72	1,79	0,98	1,13	1,72	0,90	1,57	1,31	0,99	0,74	1,89	1,32	2,13	0,90	1,35	1,61	0,99
	BE	1,00	1,00	2,19	0,76	1,24	1,59	1,03	0,84	1,43	1,35	1,21	0,89	1,01	1,71	1,78	0,98	1,12	1,71	0,90	1,57	1,31	0,98	0,74	1,88	1,32	2,12	0,90	1,35	1,60	0,99
	BG	0,45	0,46	1,00	0,35	0,57	0,73	0,47	0,38	0,65	0,61	0,55	0,41	0,46	0,78	0,81	0,45	0,51	0,78	0,41	0,72	0,60	0,45	0,34	0,86	0,60	0,97	0,41	0,61	0,73	0,45
	CH	1,31	1,32	2,88	1,00	1,63	2,09	1,36	1,10	1,88	1,77	1,59	1,17	1,33	2,25	2,34	1,28	1,48	2,25	1,18	2,06	1,72	1,29	0,98	2,47	1,74	2,79	1,19	1,77	2,11	1,30
	CY	0,80	0,81	1,76	0,61	1,00	1,28	0,83	0,68	1,15	1,08	0,97	0,72	0,81	1,38	1,43	0,79	0,90	1,38	0,72	1,26	1,05	0,79	0,60	1,51	1,06	1,71	0,73	1,08	1,29	0,80
ed	CZ	0,63	0,63	1,38	0,48	0,78	1,00	0,65	0,53	0,90	0,85	0,76	0,56	0,64	1,07	1,12	0,61	0,70	1,08	0,56	0,99	0,82	0,62	0,47	1,18	0,83	1,33	0,57	0,85	1,01	0,62
lat	DE	0,97	0,97	2,12	0,74	1,20	1,54	1,00	0,81	1,39	1,31	1,17	0,87	0,98	1,66	1,73	0,95	1,09	1,66	0,87	1,52	1,27	0,95	0,72	1,82	1,28	2,06	0,87	1,31	1,56	0,96
im	DK	1,19	1,19	2,61	0,91	1,48	1,90	1,23	1,00	1,70	1,60	1,44	1,06	1,21	2,04	2,12	1,16	1,34	2,04	1,07	1,87	1,56	1,17	0,88	2,24	1,57	2,53	1,07	1,61	1,91	1,18
st	EE	0,70	0,70	1,53	0,53	0,87	1,11	0,72	0,59	1,00	0,94	0,85	0,62	0,71	1,20	1,24	0,68	0,78	1,20	0,63	1,10	0,92	0,69	0,52	1,31	0,92	1,48	0,63	0,94	1,12	0,69
e	EL	0,74	0,74	1,63	0,56	0,92	1,18	0,77	0,62	1,06	1,00	0,90	0,66	0,75	1,27	1,32	0,73	0,83	1,27	0,67	1,17	0,97	0,73	0,55	1,40	0,98	1,57	0,67	1,00	1,19	0,74
q	ES	0,82	0,83	1,81	0,63	1,03	1,32	0,85	0,69	1,18	1,11	1,00	0,74	0,84	1,41	1,47	0,81	0,93	1,42	0,74	1,30	1,08	0,81	0,61	1,55	1,09	1,75	0,75	1,11	1,33	0,82
Ĕ	FI	1,12	1,12	2,45	0,85	1,39	1,78	1,15	0,94	1,60	1,51	1,35	1,00	1,13	1,92	1,99	1,09	1,26	1,92	1,01	1,76	1,47	1,10	0,83	2,10	1,48	2,38	1,01	1,51	1,80	1,11
les	FR	0,99	0,99	2,17	0,75	1,23	1,57	1,02	0,83	1,41	1,33	1,20	0,88	1,00	1,69	1,76	0,97	1,11	1,69	0,89	1,55	1,29	0,97	0,73	1,86	1,31	2,10	0,89	1,33	1,59	0,98
alu	HR	0,58	0,58	1,28	0,44	0,73	0,93	0,60	0,49	0,84	0,79	0,71	0,52	0,59	1,00	1,04	0,57	0,66	1,00	0,53	0,92	0,77	0,57	0,43	1,10	0,77	1,24	0,53	0,79	0,94	0,58
) N	HU	0,56	0,56	1,23	0,43	0,70	0,89	0,58	0,47	0,80	0,76	0,68	0,50	0,57	0,96	1,00	0,55	0,63	0,96	0,50	0,88	0,74	0,55	0,42	1,06	0,74	1,19	0,51	0,76	0,90	0,56
ng	IE	1,02	1,02	2,24	0,78	1,27	1,63	1,06	0,86	1,46	1,38	1,24	0,91	1,04	1,75	1,82	1,00	1,15	1,75	0,92	1,61	1,34	1,01	0,76	1,92	1,35	2,17	0,92	1,38	1,64	1,01
SSi	IT	0,89	0,89	1,95	0,68	1,11	1,42	0,92	0,75	1,27	1,20	1,08	0,80	0,90	1,52	1,59	0,87	1,00	1,53	0,80	1,40	1,17	0,88	0,66	1,68	1,18	1,89	0,80	1,20	1,43	0,88
<b>D</b> .	LT	0,58	0,58	1,28	0,44	0,73	0,93	0,60	0,49	0,84	0,79	0,71	0,52	0,59	1,00	1,04	0,57	0,66	1,00	0,52	0,92	0,76	0,57	0,43	1,10	0,77	1,24	0,53	0,79	0,94	0,58
h	LU	1,11	1,11	2,44	0,85	1,38	1,77	1,15	0,93	1,59	1,50	1,35	0,99	1,13	1,90	1,98	1,09	1,25	1,91	1,00	1,75	1,46	1,09	0,83	2,09	1,47	2,36	1,00	1,50	1,79	1,10
it]	LV	0,64	0,64	1,40	0,48	0,79	1,01	0,66	0,53	0,91	0,86	0,77	0,57	0,64	1,09	1,13	0,62	0,71	1,09	0,57	1,00	0,83	0,63	0,47	1,20	0,84	1,35	0,57	0,86	1,02	0,63
S I	MT	0,76	0,76	1,67	0,58	0,95	1,22	0,79	0,64	1,09	1,03	0,92	0,68	0,77	1,31	1,36	0,75	0,86	1,31	0,69	1,20	1,00	0,75	0,57	1,44	1,01	1,62	0,69	1,03	1,23	0,76
ie	NL	1,01	1,02	2,23	0,77	1,26	1,62	1,05	0,85	1,46	1,37	1,23	0,91	1,03	1,74	1,81	0,99	1,14	1,74	0,91	1,60	1,33	1,00	0,75	1,91	1,34	2,16	0,92	1,37	1,63	1,01
Ę	NO	1,34	1,35	2,95	1,03	1,67	2,15	1,39	1,13	1,93	1,82	1,63	1,20	1,36	2,31	2,40	1,32	1,51	2,31	1,21	2,12	1,77	1,32	1,00	2,53	1,78	2,86	1,22	1,82	2,16	1,34
B	PL	0,53	0,53	1,17	0,40	0,66	0,85	0,55	0,45	0,76	0,72	0,64	0,48	0,54	0,91	0,95	0,52	0,60	0,91	0,48	0,83	0,70	0,52	0,39	1,00	0,70	1,13	0,48	0,72	0,85	0,53
<b>ಲ</b>	PT	0,75	0,76	1,66	0,58	0,94	1,21	0,78	0,64	1,08	1,02	0,92	0,68	0,77	1,30	1,35	0,74	0,85	1,30	0,68	1,19	0,99	0,74	0,56	1,42	1,00	1,61	0,68	1,02	1,22	0,75
	RO	0,47	0,47	1,03	0,36	0,59	0,75	0,49	0,40	0,67	0,63	0,57	0,42	0,48	0,81	0,84	0,46	0,53	0,81	0,42	0,74	0,62	0,46	0,35	0,89	0,62	1,00	0,42	0,64	0,76	0,47
	SE	1,11	1,11	2,43	0,84	1,38	1,77	1,14	0,93	1,59	1,49	1,34	0,99	1,12	1,90	1,98	1,08	1,24	1,90	1,00	1,74	1,45	1,09	0,82	2,09	1,47	2,35	1,00	1,49	1,78	1,10
	SI	0,74	0,74	1,63	0,56	0,92	1,18	0,77	0,62	1,06	1,00	0,90	0,66	0,75	1,27	1,32	0,72	0,83	1,27	0,67	1,16	0,97	0,73	0,55	1,40	0,98	1,57	0,67	1,00	1,19	0,74
	SK	0,62	0,62	1,36	0,47	0,77	0,99	0,64	0,52	0,89	0,84	0,75	0,56	0,63	1,07	1,11	0,61	0,70	1,07	0,56	0,98	0,82	0,61	0,46	1,17	0,82	1,32	0,56	0,84	1,00	0,62
Source	UK	1,01	1,01	2,21	0,77	1,25	1,61 TD/Eu	1,04	0,85	1,44	1,36	1,22	0,90	1,02	1,73	1,80	0,99	1,13	1,73	0,91	1,58	1,32	0,99	0,75	1,90	1,33	2,14	0,91	1,36	1,62	1,00

# 9.8 Annex VIII – List of terminology sources

1)	https://identity.utexas.edu/assets/uploads/publications/Current-Biometric-Adoption-and-Trends.pdf
2)	http://www.canton.edu/employee/wang/cita250/ey-global-information-security-survey-2018-19.pdf
3)	https://identity.utexas.edu/assets/uploads/publications/Current-Biometric-Adoption-and-Trends.pdf
4)	https://www.cse.msu.edu/~rossarun/pubs/NguyenLongRangeIris_PR2017.pdf
5)	https://www.cse.unr.edu/~bebis/CS790Q/PaperPresentations/Iris.pdf
6)	https://chicago.medicine.uic.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/6/2018/10/Mystery-Retina-2018-Final-handout-all-cases-
rntc.pdf	
7)	http://psm.du.edu/media/documents/international regulation/united nations/other/un field security handbook.pdf
8)	https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc1156795/m2/1/high_res_d/R45082_2018Jan24.pdf
0)	https://www.niu.edu/clery/annual_security_report.pdf
10)	https://www.etown.edu/offices/security/files/Annual-Security-Fire-Safety-Clery-Report.pdf
11)	https://www.sjumed.edu/sites/default/files/u1801/security-report-2018.pdf
12)	https://libraryonline.erau.edu/online-full-text/iata-safety-reports/IATA-Safety-Report-2017.pdf
12)	https://afd.calnoly.edu/fiscalservices/nci/docs/nci%2520csc%2520cuick%2520creference%2520guide.ndf
13)	https://add.calpoly.cdu/liscaiscivices/pci/docs/pci/252055/2520quick/2520icicicicice/2520guide.put
14)	http://www.utco.odu/utcond/Crime_Statictics/0019SecurityEireBenort.pdf
15)	http://www.utsa.euu/utsapu/crime_statistics/2010SecumtyFileReport.put
16)	http://web.mit.edu/dikaiser/www/HSNS4803_03_Kaiser.pdf
17)	http://www.slac.stanford.edu/cgi-wrap/getdoc/slac-pub-5990.pdf
18)	http://www.spacegrant.hawaii.edu/2018_NASA_strategic_plan.pdf
19)	http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/38/93/00110/05-2018.pdf
20)	http://sciences.ucf.edu/class/wp-content/uploads/sites/58/2017/03/Economic-Pathways-to-Space-Mining_ISRU-
Seminar_	Metzger.pdf
21)	https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-032719-
165703/u	nrestricted/ColinCooper_HumanityandSpace_IQPreport.pdf
22)	https://www.lpi.usra.edu/lunar/strategies/ISECG_2013_Benefits_Stemming_from_Space_Exploration.pdf
23)	http://kiss.caltech.edu/final_reports/Asteroid_final_report.pdf
24)	https://spi.elliott.gwu.edu/files/2018/11/Gleason-Alver_SpacePolicy_11162018-1w5y3ef.pdf
25)	$https://www.boulder.swri.edu/~bottke/Reprints/Jedicke\_2018\_Fron\_Astro\_Space\_Sci\_5\_13\_Earth\_Minimoons.pdf$
26)	http://www.spacegrant.hawaii.edu/2018_NASA_strategic_plan.pdf
27)	http://dronecenter.bard.edu/files/2017/10/Drones-Defense-Budget-2018-Web.pdf
28)	https://dronecenter.bard.edu/files/2018/04/CSD-Drone-Spending-FY19-Web-1.pdf
29)	https://ssi.armywarcollege.edu/pdffiles/PUB1287.pdf
30)	https://ctc.usma.edu/app/uploads/2018/07/Islamic-State-and-Drones-Release-Version.pdf
31)	https://www.airuniversity.af.edu/Portals/10/CASI/Books/PLAs_Unmanned_Aerial_Systems.pdf
32)	http://www.ie.uh.edu/sites/ie/files/faculty/glim/Drone%2520Battery%2520RO%25202018%2520small.pdf
33)	https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/86864/water-11-00157-v3.pdf
34)	http://thescholarship.ecu.edu/bitstream/handle/10342/6067/iracr 6 4 165 177%2520%25281%2529.pdf
35)	http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/85/42/00027/07-2018.pdf
36)	http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/85/42/00028/10-2018.pdf
37)	https://www.lni.usra.edu/lunar/strategies/ISECG_2012_Benefits_Stemming_from_Space_Exploration.pdf
28)	http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2014/nb240/clark1/docs/np-2010-00-682-bd.pdf
20)	http://tagcharlink.ad.usu.adu/tlnasa/OtherPRINT/hriefs/sninoff2008.ndf
39)	http://datagegraph.elash.edu/ditasa/offici/face/nace_0010_strategic_plan_pdf
40)	https://spacegrant.aiaska.edu/sites/delauit/ines/nasa_2010_strategic_pian.pui
41)	https://mance.commbia.edu/mes/gateway/content/rpic/Continbia-F116-Space-Survey-1raining-32/16.pdf
42)	http://cran.cnr.berkeley.edu/web/packages/IPSUR/vignettes/IPSUR.pdf
43)	http://duspviz.mit.edu/resources/R/GGPLOT2%2520Cheatsheet.pdf
44)	https://www.vaughn.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Airbus-Projections.pdf
45)	http://umich.edu/~umtriswt/PDF/SWT-2017-8.pdf
46)	http://graham.umich.edu/media/files/LC-IA-ACE-Roadmap-Expert-Forecast-Underwood.pdf
47)	https://stat-or.unc.edu/files/2018/09/Paper3_MSOM_2012_AirlineFlightDelays.pdf
48)	http://dronecenter.bard.edu/files/2018/01/CSD-Drone-Year-in-Review.pdf

49) https://orfe.princeton.edu/~alaink/SmartDrivingCars/PDFs/Nov2013MORGAN-STANLEY-BLUE-PAPER-AUTONOMOUS-CARS%25EF%25BC%259A-SELF-DRIVING-THE-NEW-AUTO-INDUSTRY-PARADIGM.pdf http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/85/42/00027/07-2018.pdf 50) 51) https://ned.ipac.caltech.edu/level5/Sept09/Worrall/paper.pdf http://www.people.hbs.edu/besty/esty\_airbus\_boeing.pdf 52) 53) http://www.spacegrant.hawaii.edu/2018\_NASA\_strategic\_plan.pdf https://www.lpi.usra.edu/books/PPV/8008.pdf 54) https://keith.seas.harvard.edu/files/tkg/files/smith\_et\_al-2018-earth\_and\_space\_science.pdf 55) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2014/ph240/suresh1/docs/atag-beginner.pdf 56) http://www.mit.edu/~hamsa/pubs/Clemons\_etal\_AVIATION2018.pdf 57) 58) http://www.sjsu.edu/ae/programs/msae/project\_thesis/2018/Sarah.Ortega-S18.pdf 59) https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/79661/Padalkar\_R\_T\_2017.pdf https://libraryonline.erau.edu/online-full-text/iata-safety-reports/IATA-Safety-Report-2017.pdf 60) https://s3.wp.wsu.edu/uploads/sites/192/2018/01/Bann-Seamus-Endres-2016-17.pdf 61) 62) https://www.gtap.agecon.purdue.edu/resources/download/6173.pdf https://www.academia.edu/38299252/Kotler\_and\_Armstrong\_-\_Principles\_of\_Mar.pdf 63) https://www.trenholmstate.edu/uploads/library/Linux-Journal-2018-04.pdf 64) https://news.gsu.edu/files/2014/09/GSU\_Research\_Magazine\_Spring2018.pdf 65) 66) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/27/00/00064/Fall-2018.pdf 67) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/04/75/76/00355/01-25-2018.pdf http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/27/00/00063/Summer-2018.pdf 68) 69) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/06/26/76/00141/01-21-2018.pdf 70) https://ge.edhec.edu/sites/ge/files/images/2018\_oraux\_anglais.pdf http://www.stevens-tech.edu/asee/fileadmin/asee/pdf/Prasad\_Acoustical\_final.pdf 71) 72) https://www.noisequest.psu.edu/pdfs-documents/whonightnoise.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2016/ph240/tarhuni2/docs/icao-2016.pdf 73) 74) https://www.monmouth.edu/uci/wp-content/uploads/sites/58/2018/01/ROSENBAUM\_SOUTHALL.pdf https://www.vaughn.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Airbus-Projections.pdf 75) 76) https://static.tti.tamu.edu/tti.tamu.edu/documents/PRC-16-64-F.pdf http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/85/42/00027/07-2018.pdf 77) 78) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/85/88/00055/11-2018-en.pdf https://libraryonline.erau.edu/online-full-text/icao-safety-reports/ICAO-Safety-Report-2018.pdf 79) https://libraryonline.erau.edu/online-full-text/iata-safety-reports/IATA-Safety-Report-2017.pdf 80) 81) https://mae.rutgers.edu/sites/default/files/uploads/Senior%2520Design%2520Projects%2520Mechanical%2520new%2520 18%252019.pdf http://mae.ufl.edu/nkim/Papers/paper102.pdf 82) https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/2019/02/SHM\_multilayer\_statewide\_bridge\_mtc\_and\_mgmt\_w\_cvr.pdf 83) 84) https://www.usg.edu/assets/hr/benefits\_docs/BOR\_Comparison\_Guide\_2018.pdf 85) https://libraryonline.erau.edu/online-full-text/iata-safety-reports/IATA-Safety-Report-2017.pdf 86)  $http://structure.stanford.edu/workshop/documents/Keynote\%2520presentations/IWSHM\%25202011\%2520Keynote\_Denkappa.stanford.edu/workshop/documents/Keynote\%2520presentations/IWSHM\%25202011\%2520Keynote\_Denkappa.stanford.edu/workshop/documents/Keynote\%2520presentations/IWSHM\%25202011\%2520Keynote\_Denkappa.stanford.edu/workshop/documents/Keynote\%2520presentations/IWSHM\%25202011\%2520Keynote\_Denkappa.stanford.edu/workshop/documents/Keynote\%2520presentations/IWSHM\%25202011\%2520Keynote\_Denkappa.stanford.edu/workshop/documents/Keynote\%2520presentations/IWSHM\%25202011\%2520Keynote\_Denkappa.stanford.edu/workshop/documents/Keynote\%2520presentations/IWSHM\%25202011\%2520Keynote\_Denkappa.stanford.edu/workshop/documents/Keynote\%2520Keynote\_Denkappa.stanford.edu/workshop/documents/Keynote\%2520Keynote\_Denkappa.stanford.edu/workshop/documents/Keynote\%2520Keynote\_Denkappa.stanford.edu/workshop/documents/Keynote\%2520Keynote\%250Keynote\%2520Keynote\%2520Keynote\%2520Keynote\%2520Keynote\%2520Keynote\%2520Keynote\%2520Keynote\%2520Keynote\%2520Keynote\%2520Keynote\%2520Keynote\%2520Keynote\%2520Keynote\%2520Keynote\%2520Keynote\%250K$ nis%2520Roach.pdf 87) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2016/ph240/tarhuni2/docs/icao-2016.pdf https://rc.library.uta.edu/uta-ir/bitstream/handle/10106/27215/WOODWARD-THESIS-2017.pdf 88) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/85/66/00155/12-2018.pdf 89) https://spi.elliott.gwu.edu/files/2018/11/Gleason-Alver\_SpacePolicy\_11162018-1w5y3ef.pdf 90) https://jsis.washington.edu/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Task-Force\_D\_2018\_Pekkanen\_S.pdf 91) https://dronecenter.bard.edu/files/2018/02/CSD-Counter-Drone-Systems-Report.pdf 92) 93) http://dronecenter.bard.edu/files/2017/10/Drones-Defense-Budget-2018-Web.pdf http://dronecenter.bard.edu/files/2018/01/CSD-Drone-Year-in-Review.pdf 94) https://und.edu/research/rias/\_files/docs/swarm\_ieee.pdf 95) https://ssi.armywarcollege.edu/pdffiles/PUB1287.pdf 96) https://www.airuniversity.af.edu/Portals/10/CASI/Books/PLAs\_Unmanned\_Aerial\_Systems.pdf 97)

98) https://www3.nd.edu/~dddas/AFOSR/resources/papers/Purta\_ICCS2013.pdf

- https://www.csusm.edu/coba/obra/dashboard/craft\_beer/craft\_report\_18.pdf
  https://studentcenter.siu.edu/\_common/documents/craft-shop/vendor-brochure.pdf
  https://nau.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/128/2018/04/Abiah-Shaffer-Thesis-2015.pdf
- 102) http://ipjournal.law.wfu.edu/files/2018/05/basha.pdf
- 103) https://oldham.ca.uky.edu/files/state-fair-photography-rules.pdf
- 104) http://www.esm.ucsb.edu/research/2016Group\_Projects/documents/InGrainFinalReport.pdf
- 105) https://www.academia.edu/36696464/Turning\_InsideOut\_European\_Academic\_Heritage\_2018.pdf
- 106) http://diposit.ub.edu/dspace/bitstream/2445/56541/1/602764.pdf
- 107) https://authors.library.caltech.edu/88272/1/115.pdf
- 108) https://faculty.washington.edu/dcatling/Krissansen-Totton2017\_Search\_for\_Life\_Elsewhere.pdf
- 109) https://www.lpi.usra.edu/lpi/contribution\_docs/LPI-002063.pdf
- 110) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2014/ph240/clark1/docs/np-2010-09-682-hq.pdf
- 111) http://s3.space.edu/documents/2018/abstracts.pdf
- 112) http://systemarchitect.mit.edu/docs/guerster18c.pdf
- 113) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/38/93/00109/04-2018.pdf
- 114) https://ssp17.isunet.edu/images/2017/files/SSP17\_Program\_Handbook\_web.pdf
- 115) https://dronecenter.bard.edu/files/2018/02/CSD-Counter-Drone-Systems-Report.pdf
- 116) http://www.pickar.caltech.edu/e103/papers/Micro%2520UAVs.pdf
- 117) https://ssi.armywarcollege.edu/pdffiles/PUB1287.pdf
- 118) https://www.gavilan.edu/old/curriculum/course\_outlines/AMT\_225.pdf
- 119) https://www.lpi.usra.edu/lunar/strategies/ISECG\_2013\_Benefits\_Stemming\_from\_Space\_Exploration.pdf
- $120) \qquad https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/108932/TFM-REPORT2\_Flavia\_Gomez\_Ferreras.pdf$
- 121) http://www.essec.edu/media/the\_smib\_mag\_2019.pdf
- 122) https://www.jhuapl.edu/techdigest/TD/td2604/Charles.pdf
- 123) http://kiss.caltech.edu/workshops/solar/presentations/Stapelfeldt.pdf
- 124) http://mipse.umich.edu/files/Brophy\_presentation.pdf
- 125) http://www.gemini.edu/images/pio/newsletters/pdf/gf\_17YiR.pdf
- 126) https://ir.stonybrook.edu/xmlui/bitstream/handle/11401/69698/ASRv48i7final.pdf
- 127) http://people.whitman.edu/~dobson/IntroAstro\_AndreaKDobson/Chap%25201%2520Introduction%2520Aug2018.pdf
- 128) https://scienceeducation.stanford.edu/sites/default/files/curriculum/unit/unit\_2\_teacher\_version\_-

\_8th\_grade\_integrated\_.pdf

- 129) http://pksoi.armywarcollege.edu/default/assets/File/Peace\_Stability\_Journal\_Special\_Edition\_Nov\_2018\_FINAL.pdf
- 130) https://www.obesitycompetencies.gwu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Obesity-Algorithm.pdf
- 131) https://www.unl.edu/wgs/Final%2520WGS%2520Film%2520Catalog%25202017-2018.pdf
- 132) https://www.hamilton.edu/applications/catalogue/catalogue.pdf
- 133) https://www.uh.edu/administration-finance/hub/2018-hub-reference-guide.pdf
- 134) http://www.utoledo.edu/med/cme/pdf/HBOT%2520Finalized%2520Syllabus.pdf
- 135) https://ai100.stanford.edu/sites/g/files/sbiybj9861/f/ai\_100\_report\_0831fnl.pdf
- 136) https://sdsi.stanford.edu/sites/default/files/data\_science\_research\_at\_stanford\_2017-18.pdf
- 137) http://www.utdallas.edu/~axs158032/FLS\_Contract\_Farming.pdf
- $138) \qquad https://faculty.sites.uci.edu/pjorion/files/2018/05/JPM-2017-MachineLearningInvestments.pdf$
- https://jahn research group.cals.wisc.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/223/2019/01/Agricultural-Cyber-Risk-and-Security.pdf
- 140) http://gerberlab.faculty.asu.edu/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2011/10/Senko-et-al.-2013\_bycatch-review\_AC.pdf
- 141) https://digital.lib.washington.edu/researchworks/bitstream/handle/1773/41794/Kuriyama\_washington\_0250E\_18231.pdf
- 142) https://dukespace.lib.duke.edu/dspace/bitstream/handle/10161/18435/CoulterJ\_Final\_MastersProject\_2019.pdf
- 143)http://www.smast.umassd.edu/Bycatch\_Avoidance/Pelagics/Bethoney%2520et%2520al%25202017%2520RH%2520bycatch%2520avoidance%2520program%2520eval.pdf
- 144) http://blog1.miami.edu/sharklab/wp-content/uploads/sites/28/2018/07/MODULE-4-Marine-Issues-SECTION-2-Fishing-and-Bycatch.pdf
- 145) http://iattc.ucsd.edu/Meetings/Meetings2018/SAC-09/BYC-08/PDFs/Docs/\_English/BYC-08-EN-RPT\_8th-Meeting-of-the-Working-Group-on-Bycatch.pdf
- 146) https://www2.whoi.edu/site/amooney/wp-content/uploads/sites/31/2018/01/Mooney\_etal\_ICES\_2007\_76264.pdf

147) https://www.monmouth.edu/uci/wpcontent/uploads/sites/58/2018/01/BestPracticesStripedBassCatchandReleaseReport.pdf148) https://digital.lib.washington.edu/researchworks/bitstream/handle/1773/42446/Solberg\_washington\_02500\_18887.pdf 149) http://home.uchicago.edu/~kanit/kanitk/Teaching\_%2528UW-Madison%2529/Entries/2013/1/21\_ECON\_101\_\_Principles\_of\_Microeconomics(Fall\_2012)\_files/answerstohomework2fall2012.pdf http://aei.pitt.edu/88531/1/EESC\_Digitalisation.pdf 150)  $https://www.hbs.edu/faculty/Publication\%2520Files/18-019\_b138aaa9-55f6-484e-a7c5-84b31ed71759.pdf$ 151) 152) https://scet.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/Smart-Clothing-Market-Analysis-Report.pdf https://www.northeastern.edu/cfhets/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Educational\_Credentials\_Come\_of\_Age\_2018.pdf 153) http://www.unece.lsu.edu/marketing/documents/2015Mar/gme15-09.pdf 154) https://extension.umd.edu/sites/extension.umd.edu/files/\_docs/ThePotentialforSustainableWood-155) basedbioenergyinMaryland.pdf http://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6681/sustainability-10-04595.pdf 156) http://cepac.cheme.cmu.edu/pasi2008/slides/eden/library/reading/Princeton\_Biorefinery\_Study\_Final\_Report\_Vol1\_Re 157) duced.pdf 158) http://www.hnei.hawaii.edu/sites/www.hnei.hawaii.edu/files/Analysis%25200f%2520Integrated%2520Tropical%2520Biore fineries.pdf https://sites.usc.edu/ced/files/2019/01/Biomass-Energy-and-Jobs-Feasibility-Study-for-an-Eco-Industrial-Park-Anchored-159) by-Ethanol-Bio-Refinery-2012-10j9dfb.pdf http://cincia.wfu.edu/wp-content/uploads/CINCIA-Research-Brief-No.-1.pdf 160) 161) https://are.berkeley.edu/alain/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Tale\_two\_communities.pdf 162) http://web.mit.edu/rpindyck/www/Papers/FranklinPindyckDeforestationEE2018.pdf 163) https://msu.edu/~urquhart/professional/NASA-Deforestation.pdf http://barrett.dyson.cornell.edu/NEUDC/paper\_366.pdf 164) 165) http://www.cs.yale.edu/homes/jf/Hileman.pdf http://water.columbia.edu/files/2018/01/14.2017.Mudd\_.Report.Water-Use-and-Risks-in-Mining.pdf 166) http://cincia.wfu.edu/wp-content/uploads/CINCIA-Research-Brief-No.-1.pdf 167) http://www.law.nyu.edu/sites/default/files/upload\_documents/SSRN-id3160046\_1.pdf 168) 169) https://seclab.cs.ucsb.edu/media/uploads/papers/minesweeper\_ccs18.pdf http://www.pm.umd.edu/mining engineering analysis.pdf 170) 171) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/115140/ijerph-15-00462.pdf https://www.academia.edu/38509349/K388807\_C013\_26\_feb.pdf 172) http://ccsi.columbia.edu/files/2018/12/3418-CCSI-RE-and-mining-report-09-lr-reduced-optmized-07-no-links.pdf 173) 174) https://www.weinberg.udel.edu/IIRCiResearchDocuments/2018/11/2018-SP-500-Integrated-Reporting-FINAL-November-2018-1.pdf https://www.wider.unu.edu/sites/default/files/Publications/Working-paper/PDF/wp2018-51.pdf 175) https://www.bu.edu/gdp/files/2018/04/Development-Banks-in-the-Andean-Amazon.pdf 176) 177) http://ophelia.sdsu.edu:8080/ford/10-28-2018/microsites/sustainability-report-2017-18/doc/sr17.pdf 178) https://cfo.pitt.edu/pexpress/documents/Apple\_Environmental\_Responsibility\_Report\_2018.pdf https://chem.beloit.edu/classes/challenges/pdf/fao/a-i6583e.pdf 179) 180) http://aei.pitt.edu/94022/1/pub\_8567\_agricultureineurope.pdf 181) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc1156982/m2/1/high\_res\_d/R45165\_2018Apr17.pdf 182) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc1157027/m2/1/high\_res\_d/RS21977\_2018Mar26.pdf https://crfs.arizona.edu/sites/crfs.arizona.edu/files/CRFS-TucsonFoodSystems2018-Digital.pdf 183) http://barrett.dyson.cornell.edu/NEUDC/paper\_421.pdf 184) https://blogs.cornell.edu/ccefieldcropnews/files/2016/11/StateonPrecisionAgFinalReport110716-1099jgm.pdf 185) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph241/wolak1/docs/usgs-1336.pdf 186) 187) https://cfo.pitt.edu/pexpress/documents/Apple\_Environmental\_Responsibility\_Report\_2018.pdf 188) http://aei.pitt.edu/94326/1/RR\_2018\_05\_Circular\_Impacts\_batteries.pdf https://hortintl.cals.ncsu.edu/sites/default/files/documents/2018aug13satelliteandproximalsensingtoestimatetheyieldandq 189) ualityoftablegrapes.pdf

190) http://hortintl.cals.ncsu.edu/sites/default/files/documents/2018aug13practicalapplicationsofamultisensoruavplatformbased onmultispectralthermalandrgbhighresoluti.pdf

191) http://ucanr.edu/sites/bardirrigation/files/287616.pdf  $https://www.ndsu.edu/fileadmin/soils/pdfs/Active_optical\_reflectance\_sesning\_corn\_algorithms\_.pdf$ 192) http://krex.k-state.edu/dspace/bitstream/2097/38224/3/HuanWang2017.pdf 193) 194) http://eomf.ou.edu/media/docs/upload/sensors-18-02063-v2.pdf https://chem.beloit.edu/classes/challenges/pdf/fao/a-i6583e.pdf 195) 196) https://ag.purdue.edu/extension/WIA/Documents/1C\_Empowering\_WIA\_in\_Ag\_Technologies%5B1%5D.pdf http://lateblight-rs1.climate.ncsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Liu-A-risk-analysis-of-precision-agriculture-index and the state of the state of197) technology-to-manage-tomato-late-blight.pdf https://digitalag.osu.edu/sites/digitag/files/imce/publications/courses/ASM4580%2520%2718%2520Syllabus.pdf 198) https://blogs.cornell.edu/ccefieldcropnews/files/2016/11/StateonPrecisionAgFinalReport110716-1099jgm.pdf 199) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc1156982/m2/1/high\_res\_d/R45165\_2018Apr17.pdf 200) 201) https://chem.beloit.edu/classes/challenges/pdf/fao/a-i6583e.pdf http://webfeeds.brookings.edu/~/t/o/o/brookingsrss/topics/globaleducation/~www.fao.org/3/a-I7787e.pdf 202) https://nicholasinstitute.duke.edu/sites/default/files/publications/contribution\_of\_fisheries\_to\_food\_and\_nutrition\_secu 203) rity\_0.pdf https://www.susqu.edu/Documents/campus-life/sowing-change/food-insecurity-sun-counties-2018.pdf 204) https://nhm.olemiss.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/4/2018/11/2017-err-256.pdf 205) https://ageconsearch.umn.edu/bitstream/250220/2/Apstract\_2016\_vol10\_2-3\_07.pdf 206) http://www.pm.umd.edu/plant\_nutrition\_food\_security\_and\_sustainability\_of\_agro\_ecosystems\_through\_basic\_and\_ap 207)plied\_research\_developments\_in\_plant\_and\_soil\_sciences.pdf http://pubs.cahnrs.wsu.edu/publications/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2018/06/em112e.pdf 208) http://lakeeriehabsis.gis.utoledo.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/IJC\_FertReport-Feb-2018.pdf 209) 210) https://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/284165/files/resource-recovery-from-waste.pdf http://erc.cals.wisc.edu/soilhealthnexus/files/2018/02/ncrwn-winter-manure-app-mngmt-practices-enviro-impact-report-211) FINAL.pdf https://www.ideals.illinois.edu/bitstream/handle/2142/101610/STABLEIN-THESIS-2018.pdf 212) 213) https://dukespace.lib.duke.edu/dspace/bitstream/handle/10161/16036/Nutrition%2520manuscript.%25202018.pdf http://www.pm.umd.edu/rscit\_old\_exam\_paper.pdf 214) 215) https://www.internet2.edu/media/medialibrary/2014/01/22/The\_International\_Big\_Science\_List.pdf https://cas.okstate.edu/images/pdf/Micro Newsletter Fall 2018.pdf 216) 217) http://www.consciousness.arizona.edu/documents/TSC2018AbstractBook-final.pdf https://cmconnect.cmcc.edu/ICS/icsfs/2017-2018.pdf 218) 219) https://www.mccnh.edu/pdf/academics/Catalog2017-2018.pdf 220) http://www.uky.edu/comminfostudies/irjci/FarmBill2018.pdf https://chem.beloit.edu/classes/challenges/pdf/fao/a-i6583e.pdf 221) https://mycof.forestry.oregonstate.edu/sites/default/files/research/FY-2018-AFRI-Foundational-RFA.pdf 222) http://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/2117/110894/1/TBIST1de1.pdf 223) 224) https://www.calstate.edu/cpdc/Facilities\_Planning/documents/2018-2019-capital-outlay-program.pdf https://garcialab.wordpress.ncsu.edu/files/2019/03/2019-Kafle\_et\_al.-Agronomy.pdf 225) https://www.oakton.edu/about/officesanddepartments/financial\_services/capital\_improvement\_plans/Capital\_Improvem 226) ent\_Plan\_2018-2020\_Board\_Book.pdf 227) https://ag.purdue.edu/hla/fruitveg/Presentations/Aquaponics%2520Basics\_February%252013,%25202018\_Hye-Ji%2520Kim.pdf https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-050115-121838/unrestricted/IQP\_Extended\_Report\_FINAL.pdf 228) 229) https://www.uwsp.edu/colsap/nadf/Documents/PDF/Aquaponics%2520Special%2520(ANA%2520NovDec17%2520issue).pdf https://wmich.edu/sites/default/files/attachments/u2088/2019/aponPresentation.pdf 230) 231) https://www.mesacc.edu/sites/default/files/pages/events-news/media-coverage/Aquaponics%252026-28.pdf https://dspace.library.colostate.edu/bitstream/handle/11124/10615/Thurmer\_mines\_0052N\_10543.pdf 232) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/IR/00/00/38/24/00001/HS40800.pdf 233) https://www.maisrc.umn.edu/sites/maisrc.umn.edu/files/biological\_control\_of\_invasive\_fish\_and\_aquatic\_invertebrates. 234) pdf

753

235) https://ipmil.cired.vt.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/Abstracts-for-IOBC-Global-Parthenium-Working-Group-Workshop-002.pdf 236) https://blogs.cornell.edu/sheltonlab/files/2012/07/Romeis-et-al-2018-Biocontrol-2g1qb15.pdf 237) http://bcrcl.ifas.ufl.edu/airpotatofiles/PDF/Lake%2520et%2520al.%25202018%2520Minimum%2520threshold%2520for% 2520 establishment % 2520 and % 2520 dispersal % 2520 eff % 2520 Lilioceris % 2520 cheni % 2520 Coleoptera % 2520 chrysomelidae % 2520 aff %20biological%2520control%2520agent%2520of%2520Dioscorea%2520bulbifera.pdf  $https://www.k-state.edu/smil/whatwedo/projects/projectproposals/BA_FinalProjectProposal_2014.pdf$ 238) 239) https://aglifesciences.tamu.edu/rootbiome/wp-content/uploads/sites/38/2018/11/2018-Meisner-and-de-Boer-Strategiesto-maintain-nat-biocontrol-of-soilborne-dis-during-drought-and-rainfall-fmicb-09-02279.pdf https://blogs.gwu.edu/avoutchkova/files/2018/06/Narayan-Biodegradability-1lcpx2w.pdf 240) https://research.libraries.wsu.edu/xmlui/bitstream/handle/2376/4418/FS103E.pdf 241) 242) http://www.seas.columbia.edu/earth/wtert/sofos/Waste\_Management\_Report\_by\_Netherlands.pdf https://ag.tennessee.edu/biodegradablemulch/Documents/Velandia%2520et%2520al%2520The%2520Economics%2520of 243) %2520Adopting%2520Biodegradable%2520Mulch.pdf https://ag.tennessee.edu/biodegradablemulch/Documents/CaseStudyFactsheet-Cloudview-9-14-18FINAL.pdf 244) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/park-h2/docs/env-jp-2012.pdf 245) https://archive.nyu.edu/jspui/bitstream/2451/42242/2/Plastic%2520Waste%2520Management%2520India.pdf246) https://chem.beloit.edu/classes/challenges/pdf/fao/a-i6583e.pdf 247) https://green.extension.wisc.edu/files/2018/01/Understanding-Concentrated-Animal-Feeding-Operations-and-Their-248) Impact-on-Communities.pdf http://www.bussvc.wisc.edu/forms/W9\_2018.pdf 249) http://usda.mannlib.cornell.edu/usda/nass/AgriLandVa/2010s/2017/AgriLandVa-08-03-2017.pdf 250) 251) https://www.ces.ncsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/VeggiesHerbs.pdf http://edis.ifas.ufl.edu/pdffiles/VH/VH02100.pdf 252) https://lubbock.tamu.edu/files/2018/06/Hailout-Replant-LatePlant-Guide-TX-S-Plains-Trostle-2018-TOC.pdf 253) https://varietytrials.msu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/2018-REPORT.pdf 254) 255) http://css.wsu.edu/oilseeds/files/2017/02/2018-SCVT-Tour-Handout.pdf http://yolomg.ucanr.edu/files/283883.pdf 256) 257) https://extension.tennessee.edu/publications/Documents/W436.pdf https://www.lsu.edu/agriculture/plant/extension/hcpl-publications/pub1980VegetablePlantingGuide2014.pdf 258) 259) https://allianceforscience.cornell.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/mythsFINAL.pdf https://pennstatelaw.psu.edu/\_file/aglaw/Impacts\_of\_Genetically\_Modified.pdf 260) 261) https://ag.purdue.edu/GMOs/Documents/GE\_Crops\_in\_US-ERS\_2014.pdf 262) https://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/281311/files/JARE%252C44.1%252CJanuary2019%252C%25232%252CBrester%252 C16-31.pdf https://sites.tufts.edu/sheldonkrimsky/files/2018/05/pub2002EthicalIssuesInvolvingtheProduction.pdf263) https://chem.beloit.edu/classes/challenges/pdf/fao/a-i6583e.pdf 264) 265) https://research.ncsu.edu/ges/files/2018/12/Kuzma-Regulating-Gene-Edited-Crops-Fall-2018-ISSUES.pdf 266) https://repository.arizona.edu/bitstream/handle/10150/632114/Askari%2520and%2520Pessarakli\_Safety%2520Assessmen t%2520of%2520Genetically%2520Modified%2520Crops%2520for%2520Yield%2520Increase.pdf 267) https://www.academia.edu/38267827/Sogari\_Liu\_and\_Li-\_2019-Understanding\_Edible\_Insects\_as\_Food\_in\_Western\_and\_Eastern\_Societies.pdf 268) https://repository.lib.ncsu.edu/bitstream/handle/1840.16/6546/etd.pdf https://nutrisci.wisc.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/104/2018/02/Hamburger-Kaffeeklatsch-PKU-2018-teil1.pdf 269) https://med.virginia.edu/ginutrition/wp-content/uploads/sites/199/2014/06/January-18-Milk-Alternatives.pdf 270) https://www.crk.umn.edu/sites/crk.umn.edu/files/cacfp-child-meal-pattern.pdf 271) http://css.umich.edu/sites/default/files/publication/CSS18-10.pdf 272) 273) https://cisr.ucr.edu/pdf/fao-entomophagy-report.pdf https://chem.beloit.edu/classes/challenges/pdf/fao/a-i6583e.pdf 274) https://sustainability.uga.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/FAO-Global-Food-losses-and-Food-Waste.pdf 275) https://downloads.usda.library.cornell.edu/usda-esmis/files/qn59q396v/sj139845z/3484zq30n/OCE20191.pdf276) https://foodsystems.colostate.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/final\_conclusions.pdf 277) 278) https://www.purdue.edu/hla/sites/cea/wp-content/uploads/sites/15/2018/10/AmandaDeering9-5-18.pdf

279) https://wrrc.arizona.edu/sites/wrrc.arizona.edu/files/attachment/Arroyo-2018-revised.pdf http://ageconsearch.umn.edu/bitstream/45742/2/vercammen5-1%5B1%5D.pdf 280) 281) http://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/276298/files/18519-50569-1-PB.pdf 282) https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-121218-181752/unrestricted/Report.pdf  $https://dspace.sunyconnect.suny.edu/bitstream/handle/1951/70539/StudentWorks\_StudentProjects\_Doherty\_FinalCapsto_StudentWorks\_StudentProjects\_Doherty\_FinalCapsto_StudentWorks\_StudentProjects\_Doherty\_FinalCapsto_StudentWorks\_StudentProjects\_Doherty\_FinalCapsto_StudentWorks\_StudentProjects\_Doherty\_FinalCapsto_StudentWorks\_StudentProjects\_Doherty\_FinalCapsto_StudentWorks\_StudentProjects\_Doherty\_FinalCapsto_StudentWorks\_StudentProjects\_Doherty\_FinalCapsto_StudentWorks\_StudentProjects\_Doherty\_FinalCapsto_StudentWorks\_StudentProjects\_Doherty\_FinalCapsto_StudentWorks\_StudentProjects\_Doherty\_FinalCapsto_StudentWorks\_StudentProjects\_Doherty\_FinalCapsto_StudentWorks\_StudentProjects\_Doherty\_FinalCapsto_StudentProjects\_Doherty\_FinalCapsto_StudentProjects\_Doherty\_FinalCapsto_StudentProjects\_StudentProjects\_Doherty\_FinalCapsto_StudentProjects\_StudentProjects\_Doherty\_FinalCapsto_StudentProjects\_StudentProjects\_Doherty\_FinalCapsto_StudentProjects\_StudentProj$ 283) ne.pdf https://crfs.arizona.edu/sites/crfs.arizona.edu/files/CRFS-TucsonFoodSystems2018-Digital.pdf 284) 285) https://wmich.edu/sites/default/files/attachments/u1640/2018/molly%2520smucker%252C%2520gibbs%2520house%252 opermaculture%2520site%2520perennials.pdf 286) https://douglas.extension.wisc.edu/files/2010/05/Market-Gardening-Getting-Started-ATTRA.pdf 287) https://overseas.iu.edu/docs/flyers/RootsFAQs.pdf 288) https://agribusiness.purdue.edu/files/resources/2015-crop-life-purdue-precision-dealer-survey.pdf https://www.academia.edu/38050789/AI\_in\_Agriculture.pdf 289) http://lateblight-rs1.climate.ncsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Liu-A-risk-analysis-of-precision-agriculture-290) technology-to-manage-tomato-late-blight.pdf https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/47448/442-505\_PDF.pdf 291) https://blogs.cornell.edu/ccefieldcropnews/files/2016/11/StateonPrecisionAgFinalReport110716-1099jgm.pdf 292) http://www.uky.edu/comminfostudies/irjci/FarmBill2018.pdf 293) http://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/266704/files/The%2520Relationship%2520between%2520Conservation%2520and% 294) 2520Precision%2520Agriculture%2520Adoption%2520On%2520South%2520Dakota%2520Farms.pdf http://hortintl.cals.ncsu.edu/sites/default/files/documents/agriculture-08-00168.pdf 295) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/2117/114718/1/RooftopgreenhousesInEducationalCenters-Nadal-2018-pp.pdf 296) 297) https://www.union.arizona.edu/involvement/template/resources/RTG\_Criteria.pdf https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-050118-298) 124600/unrestricted/Copenhagens\_Case\_for\_Urban\_Farming.pdf https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/India-Renewable-Power-v10.pdf 299) 300) http://www.jmu.edu/financeoffice/payroll/publication-505.pdf http://websites.provo.edu/wasatch/Sites/Site\_School/0044/4th%2520Grade%25202018-2019.pdf 301) 302) https://www.academia.edu/37527535/IUCEL\_2018\_Proceedings.pdf https://my.duke.edu/docs/BB2022\_Trinity.pdf 303) 304) http://www.canton.edu/employee/wang/cita250/ey-global-information-security-survey-2018-19.pdf https://www.bths.edu/ourpages/auto/2018/9/27/53527322/The%25202018-305) 19%2520Guide%2520to%2520the%2520Common%2520App%2520\_CW%2520Reach%2520Higher\_.pdf 306) https://manufacturingpolicy.indiana.edu/doc/Smart%2520Factories.pdf https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/2117/127482/1/23615275.pdf 307) https://chem.beloit.edu/classes/challenges/pdf/fao/a-i6583e.pdf 308) https://www.academia.edu/38064179/Advances\_in\_ICT\_in\_Agriculture.pdf 309) 310) https://www.academia.edu/38050789/AI\_in\_Agriculture.pdf http://calasa.ucdavis.edu/files/287344.pdf 311) http://agribusiness.purdue.edu/files/file/croplife-purdue-2017-precision-dealer-survey-report.pdf 312) https://hortintl.cals.ncsu.edu/sites/default/files/documents/2018aug13satelliteandproximalsensingtoestimatetheyieldandq 313) ualityoftablegrapes.pdf https://chem.beloit.edu/classes/challenges/pdf/fao/a-i6583e.pdf 314) http://hortintl.cals.ncsu.edu/sites/default/files/documents/agriculture-08-00168.pdf 315) https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-050118-316) 124600/unrestricted/Copenhagens\_Case\_for\_Urban\_Farming.pdf https://www.bu.edu/cityplanning/files/2018/05/FinalPresentation\_UrbanAg\_Group6.pdf 317) 318) https://crfs.arizona.edu/sites/crfs.arizona.edu/files/CRFS-TucsonFoodSystems2018-Digital.pdf http://www.uky.edu/comminfostudies/irjci/FarmBill2018.pdf 319) http://www.pitt.edu/~budny/papers/8203.pdf 320) http://media.clemson.edu/public/restoration/iae/vfarm/vf\_appi\_char3.pdf 321) 322) http://media.clemson.edu/public/restoration/iae/vfarm/cuiae\_epa\_vfreport30mb.pdf 323) https://chem.beloit.edu/classes/challenges/pdf/fao/a-i6583e.pdf

324) https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-050118-124600/unrestricted/Copenhagens\_Case\_for\_Urban\_Farming.pdf 325) https://ag.purdue.edu/hla/fruitveg/Presentations/Key%2520Success%2520Factors%2520For%2520Hydroponic%2520Oper ations\_February%252013,%25202018\_Ariana%2520Torres.pdf https://www.canr.msu.edu/research/publications/futures\_magazine/final%2520futures%2520fall\_winter17.pdf 326) http://repositorio.ucam.edu/bitstream/handle/10952/3838/2019%2520polymers-11-00252.pdf 327) https://www.academia.edu/38491924/Emeka\_and\_Osarolube\_2018.pdf 328) 329) https://staffold.najah.edu/sites/default/files/Adsorption\_of\_Diclofenac\_From\_Aqueous\_Solution\_Using\_Cyclamen\_Persicum\_Tubers\_based\_A ctivated\_Carbon\_(CTAC)\_.pdf 330)  $http://washingtondc.alumclub.mit.edu/s/1314/images/gid29/editor\_documents/speaker\_slides/ccs\_\_presentation\_marcs/speaker\_spea$ h\_22 2016\_to\_mit\_alumni-\_vder-1.pdf https://globalchange.mit.edu/sites/default/files/Farrell\_MS\_2018.pdf 331) https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/pictures/DAC\_Roadmap\_20181210.pdf 332) https://www.cmu.edu/epp/iecm/rubin/PDF%2520files/2010/Rubin%2520et%2520al\_CO2%2520Capture\_Rept%2520to% 333)2520CRS\_July%25202010.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph241/costello2/docs/epa-456f-99-006r.pdf 334) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/park-h2/docs/env-jp-2012.pdf 335) http://www.seas.columbia.edu/earth/wtert/sofos/Guo Thesis.pdf 336) https://www.engineeringonline.ncsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/23/2018/02/FE-Sample-Questions-Book\_2015.pdf 337) https://web.uri.edu/owt/files/2018-OWTC-ClassFlyer3.pdf 338) https://www.wku.edu/facilities/wkuprcspring18.pdf 339) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf 340) https://www.hbs.edu/environment/Documents/climate-change-2018.pdf 341) 342) http://ipu.msu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/UK-Pathways-for-the-Electricity-Sector-2016.pdf https://sustainablecitiespreview.usc.edu/files/2015/01/ipcc\_wg3\_ar5\_final-draft\_postplenary\_chapter121.pdf 343) 344) http://aei.pitt.edu/94986/1/DistributionalEffectsofClimatePolicies.pdf https://www.academia.edu/37981330/agricultureguruji.com-Greenhouse\_Farming\_in\_India\_beginner\_guide\_2018.pdf 345) 346) http://www.uky.edu/ccd/sites/www.uky.edu.ccd/files/ghtomatoes.pdf https://fyi.extension.wisc.edu/energy/files/2018/07/biomass heating in greenhouses - case studies.pdf 347) 348) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2016/ph240/jadhav1/docs/WG1AR5\_Chapter08\_FINAL.pdf http://datadriven.yale.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/YALE-NCI-PBL\_Global\_climate\_action.pdf 349) http://tradition.nmda.nmsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Greenhouse-Structures-More-than-a-high-tunnel.pdf 350) 351) https://cfo.pitt.edu/pexpress/documents/Apple\_Environmental\_Responsibility\_Report\_2018.pdf http://www.bioinfo.rpi.edu/bystrc/courses/biol4961/lecture8.pdf 352) https://rael.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Jones-Wheeler-Kammen-700-California-Cities-Carbon-Footprint-353) 2018.pdf http://energy.siu.edu/learn/reduce-carbon-footprint/how-to-reduce-carbon-footprint-myearthapp-2018.pdf 354) https://www.hbs.edu/environment/Documents/climate-change-2018.pdf 355) https://aqli.epic.uchicago.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/AQLI-Report.111918-2.pdf 356) https://staff.najah.edu/media/published\_research/2018/10/30/Outdoor\_air\_pollution\_and\_respiratory\_health\_A\_biblio 357) metric\_analysis\_of\_publications\_in\_peer-reviewed\_journals\_1900\_-\_2017.pdf 358)  $https://www.academia.edu/38499866/Controlling\_Air\_Pollution\_with\_the\_Use\_of\_Bio\_Facades\_A\_solution\_to\_Controlling\_Air\_Pollution\_with\_the\_Use\_of\_Bio\_Facades\_A\_solution\_to\_Controlling\_Air\_Pollution\_with\_the\_Use\_of\_Bio\_Facades\_A\_solution\_to\_Controlling\_Air\_Pollution\_with\_the\_Use\_of\_Bio\_Facades\_A\_solution\_to\_Controlling\_Air\_Pollution\_with\_the\_Use\_of\_Bio\_Facades\_A\_solution\_to\_Controlling\_Air\_Pollution\_with\_the\_Use\_of\_Bio\_Facades\_A\_solution\_to\_Controlling\_Air\_Pollution\_with\_the\_Use\_of\_Bio\_Facades\_A\_solution\_to\_Controlling\_Air\_Pollution\_with\_the\_Use\_of\_Bio\_Facades\_A\_solution\_to\_Controlling\_Air\_Pollution\_with\_the\_Use\_of\_Bio\_Facades\_A\_solution\_to\_Controlling\_Air\_Pollution\_to\_Controlning\_Air\_Pollution\_to\_Contronnacing\_Air\_Pollution\_to\_Controlning\_Air\_Pollution\_to\_Cont$ \_Air\_Pollution\_in\_Tehran\_.pdf http://senseable.mit.edu/papers/pdf/20181126\_Yan-etal\_AirPollutionWeibo\_Cities.pdf 359) 360) https://authors.library.caltech.edu/86621/1/s41598-018-26344-1.pdf http://www.klnce.edu/general/Approval\_2018\_19.pdf 361) 362) http://www.psgtech.edu/AICTE%2520Handbook%25202017-18.pdf https://evols.library.manoa.hawaii.edu/bitstream/10524/59436/practical-guide-waste-management-picts.pdf 363) http://content.csbs.utah.edu/~mli/Economies%25205430-6430/Tramballi%2520et%2520al-364) India%2520the%2520Modi%2520Factor.pdf 365) http://www.laspositascollege.edu/class-schedule/assets/docs/catalog/archives/catalog-2018-2019.pdf

366) https://chem.beloit.edu/classes/challenges/pdf/fao/a-i6583e.pdf

367) http://www.dartmouth.edu/~cushman/courses/engs37/ESPs.pdf https://aqli.epic.uchicago.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/AQLI-Report.111918-2.pdf 368) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph241/costello2/docs/epa-456f-99-006r.pdf 369) 370) http://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/2018/08/07b-Wed-Franklin-Fly-Ash.pdf https://www.engineeringonline.ncsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/23/2018/02/FE-Sample-Questions-Book\_2015.pdf 371) 372) https://pserc.wisc.edu/documents/publications/special\_interest\_publications/EPRI\_Electricity\_Use\_Report\_Final\_10246 51.pdf http://datadriven.yale.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/YALE-NCI-PBL Global climate action.pdf 373) http://environment.yale.edu/gillingham/GillinghamStock\_Cost\_080218\_posted.pdf 374)  $https://sustainable cities preview.usc.edu/files/2015/01/ipcc\_wg3\_ar5\_final-draft\_postplenary\_chapter 121.pdf$ 375) https://www.hbs.edu/environment/Documents/climate-change-2018.pdf 376) 377) https://www.uky.edu/sustainability/sites/www.uky.edu.sustainability/files/2017-2018%2520Emissions%2520Reduction%2520Progress%2520Report.final.pdf 378) http://www.uh.edu/honors/undergraduate-research/uh-research/here/2018-hereprogram/2018heredocuments/wrightseminarmaterials/cityofhoustonplan.pdf https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/2117/121042/1/TCPT1de1.pdf 379) http://www.geo.utexas.edu/courses/387H/Lectures/AR4WG1\_Print\_Ch10.pdf 380) http://gsdl.ewubd.edu/greenstone/collect/admin-mprhgdco/index/assoc/HASH9dfo.dir/P0198.pdf 381) 382) https://www.econ.umd.edu/sites/www.econ.umd.edu/files/pubs/applying\_benefitcost\_analysis\_to\_air\_pollution\_control\_ in\_the\_indian\_power\_sector.pdf https://cdn2.sph.harvard.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/94/2017/01/Cropper-et-al-air-pollution.2018.05.25.pdf383) 384) https://aqli.epic.uchicago.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/AQLI-Report.111918-2.pdf 385) https://etd.auburn.edu/bitstream/handle/10415/6221/Horticultural%2520Uses%2520For%2520Flue%2520Gas%2520Desultural%2520Uses%2520Flue%2520Flue%2520Gas%2520Desultural%2520Uses%2520Flue%2520Flue%2520Flue%2520Desultural%2520Uses%2520Flue%2520Flue%2520Flue%2520Desultural%2520Uses%2520Flue%2520Flue%2520Flue%2520Flue%2520Desultural%2520Uses%2520Flue%250Flue%2520Flue%2520Flue%2520Flue%2520Flue%250Flue%2570Flue%2furization%2520Gypsum.pdf 386) https://www.cmu.edu/epp/iecm/IECM\_Publications/PIIS2589004219300720.pdf https://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/273368/files/NDL2018-018.pdf 387) 388) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/98891/REPORT\_231.pdf https://libraryonline.erau.edu/online-full-text/iata-safety-reports/IATA-Safety-Report-2017.pdf 389) 390) https://www.academia.edu/37447114/Technology\_Innovation\_Productization\_2018.pdf https://www.usg.edu/assets/hr/benefits docs/BOR Comparison Guide 2018.pdf 391) 392) http://mae.ufl.edu/nkim/Papers/paper102.pdf http://www.lse.edu/intranet/students/registrationTimetablesAssessment/examinationsAndResults/Examination-interactionTimetablesAssessment/examinationsAndResults/Examination-interactionTimetablesAssessment/examinationsAndResults/Examination-interactionTimetablesAssessment/examinationsAndResults/Examination-interactionTimetablesAssessment/examinationsAndResults/Examination-interactionTimetablesAssessment/examinationsAndResults/Examination-interactionTimetablesAssessment/examinationsAndResults/Examination-interactionTimetablesAssessment/examinationsAndResults/Examination-interactionTimetablesAssessment/examinationSandResults/Examination-interactionTimetablesAssessment/examinationSandResults/Examination-interactionTimetablesAssessment/examinationSandResults/ExaminationSandR393) Procedures-For-Candidates.pdf https://www.creighton.edu/fileadmin/user/InternationalPrograms/docs/Parent\_and\_Family\_Guide\_to\_Study\_Abroad\_18 394) .19.pdf https://dornsife.usc.edu/assets/sites/1/docs/overseas/Fall\_2018\_forms.pdf 395)  $https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/pictures/CGEP\_Electric\% 2520Vehicles\% 2520and\% 2520Their\% 2520Interference of the second seco$ 396) mpact%25200n%2520Oil%2520Demand-Why%2520Forecasts%2520Differ.pdf https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/file-uploads/EV\_ChargingChina-CGEP\_Report\_Final.pdf 397) http://www.elon.edu/u/leadership-prize/wp-content/uploads/sites/627/2018/02/Creating-an-Accepting-and-Empowering-398) Environment-for-LGBTQ-Students-at-Elon-University-in-the-Wake-of-House-Bill-2-for-web.pdf https://labs.eemb.ucsb.edu/mccauley/doug/publications/Dunn\_et\_al-2018-Fish\_and\_Fisheries.pdf 399)https://www.montgomery.edu/pdf/mcc/fact\_book\_2018.pdf 400) 401) http://www.klnce.edu/general/Approval\_2018\_19.pdf https://marlog.aast.edu/files/Marlog\_8\_2019\_Brochure.pdf 402) https://isps.yale.edu/sites/default/files/files/Zhang\_us\_public\_opinion\_report\_jan\_2019.pdf 403) https://cyber.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/2018-07/2018-07\_AVs02.pdf 404) 405) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/04/80/24/00125/08-2018.pdf https://europe.unc.edu/files/2017/05/2.D\_Schengen\_PDF\_from\_Europa.pdf 406) http://gato-docs.its.txstate.edu/jcr:a6644556-071a-4b88-b976-407) d99778e3538d/GIS%2520Day%2520in%2520the%2520Classroom.pdf https://www.uwsp.edu/acadaff/2018%2520Quality%2520Initiative%2520Report%2520Appendix/Appendix%252024%252 408)

o-%2520 Presentation%2520 at%2520 the%2520 HLC%2520 Convention,%25202018.pdf

- 409) http://www.geog.ucsb.edu/~kclarke/Geography183/Lecture13.pdf https://www.usf.edu/atle/documents/handout-interactive-techniques.pdf 410) https://sites.udel.edu/cas-nvpa/files/2018/01/keener-michaud-the-role-of-geographic-location-ws88zz.pdf 411) http://blogs.mtu.edu/engineering-research/files/2017/11/FY18\_Exchange\_Network\_Solicitation\_Notice\_Final.pdf 412) http://www.wvgs.wvnet.edu/www/news/annual\_reports/ar2018\_WVGES.pdf 413) http://cs.uky.edu/~ted/assets/pdfs/whenwhere.pdf 414) http://www.academia.edu/36835696/Kumar\_et\_al-2018-Medicinal\_Research\_Reviews.pdf 415) 416) http://graham.umich.edu/media/files/LC-IA-ACE-Roadmap-Expert-Forecast-Underwood.pdf https://www.lpi.usra.edu/sbag/goals/capability\_inputs/2015\_Tech\_4\_robotics\_autonomous\_systems.pdf 417) 418) https://facilities.princeton.edu/sites/facilities/files/DSM.pdf http://clascsg.uconn.edu/download/specs/L5290.pdf 419) 420) https://wmich.edu/sites/default/files/attachments/u883/2018/TRCLC\_RR\_16-09\_0.pdf http://cues.fau.edu/cues/wp-content/uploads/sites/16/Merlin-AccessibilityAnalysisTransportationProjects.pdf 421) 422) https://www.academia.edu/38197493/Traffic\_Congestion\_Ankeli.pdf 423) http://coen.boisestate.edu/prel/files/2017/01/Reading-1-Critical-Issues-in-Transportation.pdf http://coaxs.scripts.mit.edu/home/mt-content/uploads/2018/09/mcp-thesis\_xinhui-li.pdf 424) http://scet.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/ConnCarProjectReport.pdf 425) http://orfe.princeton.edu/~alaink/SmartDrivingCars/PDFs/Canadian\_COM\_RPT\_TRCM\_AutomatedVehicles\_Jan2018.pd 426) f 427) https://orfe.princeton.edu/~alaink/SmartDrivingCars/PDFs/Future-Cities\_Navigating-the-New-Era-of-Mobility2017.pdf http://graham.umich.edu/media/files/LC-IA-ACE-Roadmap-Expert-Forecast-Underwood.pdf 428) http://cyber.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/2018-07/2018-07\_AVs03.pdf 429) https://wmich.edu/sites/default/files/attachments/u883/2018/TRCLC\_RR\_16-09\_0.pdf 430) https://www.tesc.psu.edu/assets/Session%2520PDFS/2C%2520Chaput%2520minus%2520video%2520slide12-05-18.pdf 431) 432) http://c2smart.engineering.nyu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/TrafficSignalOptimizationinConnectedCities-FinalReport.pdf 433) https://static.tti.tamu.edu/tti.tamu.edu/documents/PRC-17-77-F.pdf https://research.monash.edu/files/241124499/226574980.pdf 434) 435) https://transportmeans.ktu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/307/2018/02/Transport-means-I-dalis-2018-09-25.pdf https://transportmeans.ktu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/307/2018/02/Transport-means-A4-III-2018-09-25-persp.pdf 436) 437) http://c2smart.engineering.nyu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/TrafficSignalOptimizationinConnectedCities-FinalReport.pdf 438) http://c2smart.engineering.nyu.edu/wpcontent/uploads/2019/02/C2SMART%2520Program%2520Progress%2520Performance%2520Report-04.01.18-09.30.18.pdf http://cyber.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/2018-07/2018-07\_AVs03.pdf 439) https://orfe.princeton.edu/~alaink/SmartDrivingCars/Papers/NationalLeagueOfCities\_CitiesOfTheFuture.pdf 440) http://ucconnect.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/research-papers/Future%25200f%2520Mobility.pdf 441) 442) https://www.bu.edu/ise/files/2018/03/Next-generation-mobility-320.pdf https://www.mtu.edu/facilities/pdfs/2018-capital-outlay.pdf 443) https://www.du.edu/campaigns/denver-advantage/campus-framework-full-plan.pdf 444) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2014/ph240/mcmilin1/docs/ericsson-mobility-report-june-2014.pdf 445) 446) https://www.uakron.edu/cpspe/documents/TireTech%2BHannover%2B2018.pdf https://sbel.wiscweb.wisc.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/569/2018/05/TR-2011-02.pdf 447) http://yagandomi.utk.edu/IAHE/IAHE\_volume9\_issue6\_Dec2017.pdf 448) https://www.academia.edu/34521038/21st\_Century\_Astronomy\_Fourth\_Edition.pdf 449) http://www.aiu.edu/University/magazine\_campus\_mundi/2018-february/51CampusMundiMyAIUEnglish.pdf 450) https://www.mtu.edu/cdt/downloadable-materials/avt-248-ng-nrmm-final-report.pdf 451) 452) https://ysu.edu/sites/default/files/QUEST\_2018\_ProgramFinal.pdf http://www.pm.umd.edu/black\_rust.pdf 453) https://www.academia.edu/38242442/E.\_Notteboom\_F.\_Parola\_G\_Satta\_-\_Transhipment\_ports\_2018.pdf 454) http://webfeeds.brookings.edu/~/t/o/o/brookingsrss/topics/defenseandsecurity/~https://www.icc-ccs.org/reports/2018-interval and interval and inter455) Q2-IMB-Piracy-Report.pdf
- 456) http://www.tmi.tolani.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/IMU-AcademicBrochure2018-19.pdf

http://talleylab.ucsd.edu/ltalley/sio219/winter\_2015/WG1AR5\_Chapter13\_FINAL.pdf 457) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/89048/MT14.pdf 458) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/85/93/00016/1st%2520Issue-2018.pdf 459) 460) http://mainemaritime.edu/undergraduate-catalog/wp-content/uploads/sites/21/2016/10/undergraduate-catalog.pdf https://www.academia.edu/37011985/Merchant\_Marine\_and\_Maritime\_Transport\_2018.pdf 461) 462) http://laborcenter.berkeley.edu/pdf/2018/Driverless.pdf http://www.aast.edu/en/sites/IFMT/arabmariner/ArabMarinerNewsletterIssueNo.4.Winter2018.pdf 463) 464) https://orfe.princeton.edu/~alaink/SmartDrivingCars/PDFs/NVIDIA-Self-Driving-Safety-Report-2018.pdf https://orfe.princeton.edu/~alaink/SmartDrivingCars/PDFs/USPS\_SmartDrivingMailTruck\_RARC-WP-18-465) 001\_2017%2520.pdf 466) https://news.erau.edu/-/media/files/news/forecast-commercial-uas-package-delivery-market.pdf 467) https://gcgj.mit.edu/sites/default/files/imce/resourceuploads/Lee%2520Attitudes%2520abeliefs%2520about%2520Changing%2520Technology%2520in%2520the%2520U.S.%25 20Transportation%2520Industry.pdf 468) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2019/ph241/woodhead2/docs/cno-feb18.pdf http://laborcenter.berkeley.edu/pdf/2018/Driverless.pdf 469) https://orfe.princeton.edu/~alaink/SmartDrivingCars/PDFs/NVIDIA-Self-Driving-Safety-Report-2018.pdf 470) http://orfe.princeton.edu/~alaink/SmartDrivingCars/PDFs/ReasonFoundationFeigenbaumMar2018\_autonomous-vehicles-471) guide-for-policymakers.pdf http://cyber.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/2018-07/2018-07\_AVs03.pdf 472) http://agelab.mit.edu/system/files/2018-12/2017\_TRB\_Abraham.pdf 473) http://agelab.mit.edu/sites/default/files/raue\_et\_al-2019-risk\_analysis.pdf 474) https://digital.lib.washington.edu/researchworks/bitstream/handle/1773/36852/Brett\_washington\_02500\_16021.pdf 475) https://www.morgan.edu/Documents/ACADEMICS/CENTERS/NTC/Automated%2520Feeder\_Final%2520Report\_With% 476) 2520Copyright(2).pdf https://www.cutr.usf.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/508complete\_understandingridershiptrendsintransit.pdf 477) 478) http://clinlawell.dyson.cornell.edu/transit\_auto\_travel\_demand\_empirical\_paper.pdf https://smartech.gatech.edu/bitstream/handle/1853/60823/DIFFEE-THESIS-2018.pdf 479) 480) https://www.princeton.edu/~alaink/Orf467F18/CriticalIssuesInTransporationDraftAugust2018.pdf 481) https://www.lpi.usra.edu/sbag/goals/capability inputs/2015 Tech 2 in space propulsion.pdf 482) http://websites.provo.edu/wasatch/Sites/Site\_School/0044/4th%2520Grade%25202018-2019.pdf https://www.airuniversity.af.edu/Portals/10/Research/Space-Horizons/documents/1048197.pdf 483) 484) https://web-app.usc.edu/soc/syllabus/20181/29174.pdf 485) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/88/53/00084/11-2018.pdf 486) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/48/80/00118/09-2018.pdf https://localdocs.uncc.edu/Park\_Rec/Master\_Plans/GreenwayPlans/2008-18\_GreenwayMP.pdf 487) 488) https://cttrailcensus.uconn.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/2046/2018/12/Downtown-Trails-as-Community-Economic-Development-Engines-1.pdf https://ie.unc.edu/files/2019/01/Fall2018\_ENEC698\_irongate-greenway\_final\_report.pdf 489) https://as.tufts.edu/uep/sites/all/themes/asbase/assets/documents/fieldProjectReports/2018/growingMysticRiver.pdf490) 491) http://phci.rutgers.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Middlesex-Greenway-HIA.pdf 492) http://libraryonline.erau.edu/online-full-text/ntsb/aircraft-accident-reports/AAR17-01.pdf https://www.ucsf.edu/sites/default/files/legacy\_files/documents/0331part2.pdf 493) http://www.open.edu/openlearncreate/pluginfile.php/23096/mod\_oucontent/oucontent/404/none/none/hctguide2annex 494) 3.pdf https://www.monash.edu/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0006/1229127/BMedScHons-2017-Year-Book-web.pdf 495) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/85/88/00055/11-2018-en.pdf 496) 497) https://www.ll.mit.edu/sites/default/files/publication/doc/2018-12/Boisvert\_1995\_ATC-235\_WW-15318.pdf https://www.lsu.edu/ces/publications/2007/2007-031.pdf 498) http://www2.cuny.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/4/page-assets/about/trustees/meetings-of-the-499) board/CAPPRAgenda011419.pdf

500) https://www.cgc.edu/Academics/aviation/Documents/Airway-Sciences-Technology-Info-Packet.pdf

501) https://repository.asu.edu/attachments/145370/content/2014-

2018% 2520 Airport% 2520 Capital% 2520 Improvement% 2520 Program.pdf

- 502) https://webarchive.library.unt.edu/eot2008/20081105071927/http://www.bts.gov/laws\_and\_regulations/docs/fy00\_hous e\_rpt.pdf
- 503) https://transweb.sjsu.edu/sites/default/files/1627\_Nixon-Measuring-Economic-Impact-California-High-Speed-Rail.pdf
- 504) https://transweb.sjsu.edu/sites/default/files/1502-high-speed-rail-station-development-san-jose-diridon\_0.pdf
- 505) https://www.uccs.edu/ccps/sites/ccps/files/2018-06/M.BONE\_.FINALREPORT.SPRING2018.pdf

 $506) \qquad https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc1042337/m2/1/high_res_d/R44973_2017Sep28.pdf$ 

- 507) http://railtec.illinois.edu/wp/wp-content/uploads/pdf-archive/IDOT\_HSR\_220\_Executive\_Report.pdf
- $508) \qquad https://abc-utc.fiu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/52/2018/06/HSR\_foundation\_ProgressReport-06-01-2018.pdf$

509) http://web.mit.edu/hsr-group/documents/Melibaeva\_Thesis\_2010.pdf

- 510) https://static.tti.tamu.edu/swutc.tamu.edu/publications/technicalreports/476660-00071-1.pdf
- 511) https://www.cefns.nau.edu/capstone/projects/ME/2018/18F24\_FanFlyer/Preliminary%2520Report.pdf

512) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/04/70/66/00349/11-2018.pdf

- 513) https://indigo.uic.edu/bitstream/handle/10027/22691/JONES-DISSERTATION-2018.pdf
- 514) http://dailyiowan.lib.uiowa.edu/DI/2009/di2009-05-11.pdf
- 515) https://mae.rutgers.edu/sites/default/files/uploads/Senior%2520Design%2520Projects%252017-18%2520(002)N.pdf
- 516) http://eng.fau.edu/research/hsi/pdf/2018spr-showcase.pdf

517) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/96298/TJFF%25201de1.pdf

518) https://web.engr.uky.edu/~jrose/RailwayIntro/Modules/Module%25204%2520Railway%2520Intermodal%2520Transporta tion%2520REES%25202010.pdf

519) http://aei.pitt.edu/73705/1/1992-97.pdf

520) https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/2019/02/Saint\_Louis\_trucking-rail\_intermodal\_hub\_w\_cvr.pdf

521) https://ncst.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/NCST-TO-035-Giuliano\_Freight-Impacts-CA\_Final-Report\_JAN-2018.pdf

522) https://cait.rutgers.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/usda-report-final\_transportation-cost-modeling-of-international-containerized-soybean.pdf

523) https://web.engr.uky.edu/~jrose/RailwayIntro/Modules/Module%25204%2520Railway%2520Intermodal%2520Transporta tion%2520REES%25202010.pdf

524) https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/2019/02/Saint\_Louis\_trucking-rail\_intermodal\_hub\_w\_cvr.pdf

525) http://aei.pitt.edu/73705/1/1992-97.pdf

526) https://library.ctr.utexas.edu/hostedpdfs/uta/0-6870-1.pdf

527) http://cardinalscholar.bsu.edu/bitstream/handle/123456789/200403/A373\_2016TurnerMadison-opt.pdf

- 528) https://cait.rutgers.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/usda-report-final\_transportation-cost-modeling-of-international-containerized-soybean.pdf
- 529) http://web.simmons.edu/~bellanti/lis467/shs-library-final/Files/Drivers\_Manual.pdf
- 530) http://www.pm.umd.edu/mass\_cdl\_license\_manual.pdf
- 531) http://www.vak12ed.edu/instruction/driver\_education/parent\_teen\_driving\_guide.pdf

532) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/113326/Anexo%25203%2520Hoja%2520de%2520ruta%2520Euro%25 20Ncap%25202025.pdf

533) http://www.donahue.umassp.edu/documents/DPH\_Legislative\_Report\_-\_Marijuana\_Baseline\_Health\_Study.pdf

534) https://dda.edu/LA\_CDL\_Manual.pdf

535) https://orfe.princeton.edu/~alaink/SmartDrivingCars/PDFs/Zoepf\_The%2520Economics%2520of%2520RideHialing\_Orig inalPdfFeb2018.pdf

- $536) \qquad https://www.incae.edu/sites/default/files/infome_the_global_competitiveness_report_2018.pdf$
- 537) https://mariontc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/FLHSMV\_englishcdlhandbook.pdf
- $538) \qquad https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc1157196/m2/1/high_res_d/R45144\_2018Mar26.pdf$
- 539) http://www.princeton.edu/~alaink/Orf467F17/NTS\_Entire\_2017Q2.pdf
- $540) \qquad https://www.princeton.edu/~alaink/CARTS/NJTestimonyAV\_Assembly\_102218Final.pdf$
- 541) http://coaxs.scripts.mit.edu/home/mt-content/uploads/2018/09/mcp-thesis\_xinhui-li.pdf
- $542) \qquad http://ucconnect.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/research-papers/Future\%25200f\%2520Mobility.pdf$
- 543) http://sites.utexas.edu/cm2/files/2018/08/Year-1-ZhangGoodrich\_RegionalTOD.pdf
- 544) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/02/52/95/00058/02-2019.pdf

https://www.lpi.usra.edu/lunar/strategies/ISECG\_2013\_Benefits\_Stemming\_from\_Space\_Exploration.pdf 545) https://web.mit.edu/mitsps/MITFutureofHumanSpaceflight.pdf 546) https://spi.elliott.gwu.edu/files/2018/10/Logsdon-John-F.-Kennedy-and-the-%25E2%2580%259CRight-Stuff-vaainw.pdf 547) 548) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2017/ph240/kau2/docs/dot-10mar10.pdf http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/83/52/00013/2018.pdf 549) 550) https://www.lpi.usra.edu/sbag/goals/capability\_inputs/2015\_Tech\_o\_introduction\_crosscutting\_index.pdf http://www.pm.umd.edu/fifty\_years\_of\_flying\_fun.pdf 551) 552) https://spacegrant.alaska.edu/sites/default/files/nasa 2018 strategic plan.pdf https://anesymposium.aqrc.ucdavis.edu/sites/g/files/dgvnsk3916/files/inline-553)  $files/Noise\%2520 Issues\%2520 \_D\%2520 Rutherford\_Noise\%2520 and\%2520 climate\%2520 impacts\%2520 of\%2520 emerging\%2520 compared to the state of the s$ mercial%2520supersonic%2520aircraft.pdf 554) https://mae.mst.edu/media/academic/mae/documents/2018%2520MAE%2520Newsletter%2520Web.pdf http://ophelia.sdsu.edu:8080/ford/10-28-2018/microsites/sustainability-report-2017-18/doc/sr17.pdf 555) 556) https://gest.unu.edu/static/files/sdgs-proposal.pdf http://ucconnect.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/research-papers/Future%25200f%2520Mobility.pdf 557) 558) http://prospernet.ias.unu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Assignment-1\_Vishanthini-Kanasan-Prospernet-RMIT-2018.pdf http://www.futures.hawaii.edu/publications/futures-studies/DHLszenario-2050.pdf 559) http://www.pm.umd.edu/business\_logistics\_supply\_chain\_management\_solution.pdf 560) 561) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/117856/2525-10364-1-PB.pdf https://olathe.k-state.edu/professional-dev/workshops/engineering-leadership/documents/Logistics-2018-02-05.pdf 562) https://ncst.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/NCST-TO-035-Giuliano\_Freight-Impacts-CA\_Final-Report\_JAN-563) 2018.pdf https://www.ohsu.edu/xd/upload/OHSU\_TDM\_Plan.pdf 564) 565) http://oldpm.umd.edu/telematics\_communication\_technologies\_and\_vehicular\_networks\_wireless\_architectures\_and\_ap plications.pdf 566) https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/53514/Kim\_T\_D\_2015.pdf https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/2117/114511/1/sensors-18-00294.pdf 567) 568) https://conservancy.umn.edu/bitstream/handle/11299/200630/JTLU\_vol11\_pp681-700.pdf http://senseable.mit.edu/papers/pdf/20180815 Li-etal InvestigatingAssociation TransactionsGIS.pdf 569) 570) https://soa.utexas.edu/sites/default/disk/Analyzing%2520Walkability%2520in%2520South%2520Florida\_2018TRB.pdf https://transweb.sjsu.edu/sites/default/files/1249-modeling-and-analysis-of-walkability-in-suburban-neighborhoods-in-571) las-vegas.pdf 572) https://krex.k-state.edu/dspace/bitstream/handle/2097/38863/GregStachon2018.pdf https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/brookings-180420-catalytic-development-paper\_may-2018-573) final.pdf http://udspace.udel.edu/bitstream/handle/19716/18445/walkability-assessment-tool-2016-web.pdf 574) http://www.etd.ceu.edu/2018/guloglu\_murat.pdf 575) http://oikonomics.uoc.edu/divulgacio/oikonomics/\_recursos/documents/10/Oikonomics\_10\_cast\_complet\_Opencms\_a4. 576) pdf http://oikonomics.uoc.edu/divulgacio/oikonomics/\_recursos/documents/10/Oikonomics\_10\_cat\_complet\_Opencms\_a4.p 577) df 578) http://scet.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/AIR-FINAL.pdf https://www-cdn.law.stanford.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/milanesi\_wp29.pdf 579) https://news.law.fordham.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/CLIP-UMSI-APIs-and-Your-Privacy.pdf 580) http://www.cs.cmu.edu/~NatProg/papers/API-Designers-in-the-Field-Preprint.pdf 581) https://cran.mtu.edu/web/packages/rsunlight/rsunlight.pdf 582) 583) https://people.eecs.berkeley.edu/~elena.glassman/papers/examplore\_chi18.pdf https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/123544/Final\_memory.pdf 584) http://leeds-faculty.colorado.edu/bhagat/FintechLending.pdf 585) 586) https://wxiong.mycpanel.princeton.edu/papers/BankingCrisis.pdf http://www.columbia.edu/~dn75/The%2520Expected%2520Rate%2520of%2520Credit%2520Losses%2520on%2520Banks 587)

%2520Loan%2520Portfolios.pdf

588) https://bigdata.wayne.edu/2018\_presentations/joel\_vaughan-wells\_fargo.pdf https://business.gwu.edu/sites/g/files/zaxdzs1611/f/downloads/2018-04-05%2520Gallemore%2520Jacob.pdf589) https://blog.iese.edu/xvives/files/2018/02/EE\_2.2017.pdf 590) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/BPEA\_Fall2018\_The-real-effects-of-the-financial-crisis.pdf 591) https://pensionresearchcouncil.wharton.upenn.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/WP-2018-21-Philippon.pdf 592) http://w4.stern.nyu.edu/economics/docs/workingpapers/2018/FrameWallWhitebankinginno.pdf 593) https://www.law.georgetown.edu/georgetown-law-journal/wp-content/uploads/sites/26/2019/02/1Fintech-and-the-a594) Innovation-Trilemma.pdf https://faculty.haas.berkeley.edu/morse/research/papers/discrim.pdf 595) https://blog.iese.edu/xvives/files/2018/02/EE\_2.2017.pdf 596) https://sites.psu.edu/chrisparker/files/2018/01/Gomber-Kauffman-Parker-and-Weber-On-the-Fintech-Revolution-597) 242l035.pdf 598) http://leeds-faculty.colorado.edu/bhagat/FintechLending.pdf 599) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Wurgler-slides.pdf 600) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Wurgler-J.-et-al..pdf http://sites.bu.edu/cflammer/files/2018/09/Corporate-Green-Bonds\_Flammer\_FINAL.pdf 601) https://www.sseriga.edu/sites/default/files/2018-08/7Paper\_Litvinovs\_Raiko.pdf 602) http://scholar.harvard.edu/files/lbilmes/files/green\_bonds\_and\_land-\_rwp15\_072\_bilmes.pdf 603) http://aei.pitt.edu/95100/1/PC-23 2018.pdf 604) http://live-conservation-innovation-lab.ws.asu.edu/wp-605) content/uploads/2018/06/2017\_Innovative\_financing\_Aquatic\_Conservation.pdf 606) https://www.lawschool.cornell.edu/research/ILJ/upload/Ho-final.pdf 607) https://lallyschool.rpi.edu/sites/default/files/Wearables%2520By%2520Lei%2520Zou.pdf 608) https://identity.utexas.edu/assets/uploads/publications/Current-Biometric-Adoption-and-Trends.pdf 609) http://jin.ece.ufl.edu/papers/HASS2018\_IoT\_Survey.pdf 610) http://faculty.washington.edu/alexisr/meaninglessPhoneUse.pdf 611) http://www.khansa.bit.vt.edu/Papers/Casselman%2520et%2520al.%25202017.pdf https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf 612) 613) http://aei.pitt.edu/94594/1/PB201804-bullet.pdf http://gsdl.ewubd.edu/greenstone/collect/admin-mprhgdco/index/assoc/HASH9dfo.dir/P0198.pdf 614) 615) https://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/276177/files/NDL2018-027.pdf https://www.bu.edu/gdp/files/2018/11/GDP-and-WRI-BRI-MovingtheGreenbelt.pdf 616) 617) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/horton2/docs/windeurope-2017.pdf 618) https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/Financing%2520Solar%2520And%2520Wind%2520Power.pdf https://egerber.mech.northwestern.edu/wp-619) content/uploads/2012/11/Gerber\_International\_Perspectives\_on\_Crowdfunding\_Positiv...\_-\_Chapter\_3\_Crowdfunding\_How\_and\_Why\_People\_Participate.pdf 620) https://www.law.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/Christopher-Cotropia-Paper.pdf 621) https://ubir.buffalo.edu/xmlui/bitstream/handle/10477/78128/Courtney\_buffalo\_0656A\_15872.pdf https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/142391/SigChi2018\_GoFundMe\_v6.pdf 622) 623) https://people.hec.edu/lovo/wp-content/uploads/sites/28/2018/03/Herding\_in\_Equity\_Crowdfunding\_V171217.pdf 624) https://economics.rice.edu/sites/g/files/bxs876/f/Crowdfunding%2520draft.pdf 625) https://scholarspace.manoa.hawaii.edu/bitstream/10125/50069/paper0182.pdf https://iistp.elliott.gwu.edu/files/2018/01/1-Fonseca-6-22-vgowa9.pdf 626) http://live-conservation-innovation-lab.ws.asu.edu/wp-627) content/uploads/2018/06/2017\_Innovative\_financing\_Aquatic\_Conservation.pdf https://www.academia.edu/37359751/Blockchain\_Pilot\_Design\_For\_Specific\_Islamic\_Finance\_Case-628) Innovation\_Centers.pdf http://w4.stern.nyu.edu/economics/docs/workingpapers/2018/FrameWallWhitebankinginno.pdf 629) 630) https://cic.nyu.edu/sites/default/files/kantowitz\_innovative\_financing\_for\_peace\_final\_jan\_2019\_web\_0.pdf

630) https://cic.nyu.edu/sites/defauit/mes/kantowitz\_innovative\_innancing\_tor\_peace\_innan\_ani\_2019\_web\_0.pdf

631) https://conferences.law.stanford.edu/vcs2019/wp-content/uploads/sites/63/2018/09/002-BCG-How-the-Best-Corporate-Venturers-Keep-Getting-Better-Aug-2018\_tcm9-200601.pdf

 $632) \qquad https://nicholasinstitute.duke.edu/sites/default/files/publications/financing_fisheries_reform.january_2018.pdf$ 

633) https://lowellmilkeninstitute.law.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Howell-Niessner-Yermack-2018.pdf

634) http://aei.pitt.edu/94385/1/PC-14\_2018.pdf

- 635) https://faculty.insead.edu/fatas/ico\_CEPR.pdf
- 636) http://jhfinance.web.unc.edu/files/2018/11/2019JHICO-Li-Mann.pdf
- 637) https://dci.mit.edu/s/Catalini-SSRN-id3137213.pdf
- 638) https://www.marshall.usc.edu/sites/default/files/2019-03/thomas\_bourveau\_icos.pdf
- 639) https://studentfinancialservices.humboldt.edu/sites/default/files/p970\_5.pdf
- 640) https://www.icsi.edu/media/webmodules/FINAL\_TL%26P.pdf
- 641) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/ES\_20180608\_tcja\_summary\_paper\_final.pdf
- 642) https://uaf.edu/files/oip/IRS-Form-1040NREZ-2018.pdf
- 643) https://www.dodea.edu/SigonellaMHS/upload/2018-19-completing-fafsa.pdf
- 644) http://www.jmu.edu/financeoffice/instructions/i1040nre.pdf
- 645) http://www.gram.edu/finaid/docs/2017-18-fafsa-updates-students-parents.pdf
- 646) https://www.hbs.edu/environment/Documents/climate-change-2018.pdf
- 647) http://pages.stern.nyu.edu/~jstroebe/PDF/EGKLS\_ClimateRisk.pdf
- 648) https://www.law.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/Moodys-Climate-change-risks-outweigh-opportunities-for-PC-reinsurers.pdf
- 649) https://are.berkeley.edu/esadoulet/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Disaster-Risk-Ferdi.pdf
- 650) http://gyohe.faculty.wesleyan.edu/files/2018/05/165.pdf
- $\label{eq:cost-climate-adaptation-library/global/un-unep-unesco-undp-def} https://research.fit.edu/media/site-specific/research.fitedu/coast-climate-adaptation-library/global/un-unep-unesco-undp-def (adaptation-library/global/un-unep-unesco-undp-def (adaptation-library)))))))$
- reports/UN-et-al.-2001.-Introduction-to-Climate-Change.pdf
- 652) http://laborcenter.berkeley.edu/pdf/2018/Driverless.pdf
- 653) http://orfe.princeton.edu/~alaink/SmartDrivingCars/PDFs/ReasonFoundationFeigenbaumMar2018\_autonomous-vehiclesguide-for-policymakers.pdf
- 654) https://orfe.princeton.edu/~alaink/SmartDrivingCars/PDFs/NVIDIA-Self-Driving-Safety-Report-2018.pdf
- 655) https://orfe.princeton.edu/~alaink/SmartDrivingCars/PDFs/MunichReCombined\_Autonomous\_Vehicles\_NAIC\_Summit.original.1529432485.pdf
- 656) http://cyber.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/2018-07/2018-07\_AVs03.pdf
- 657) http://agelab.mit.edu/system/files/2018-12/2017\_TRB\_Abraham.pdf
- 658) https://utc.uic.edu/wp-content/uploads/Automated-Vehicles-in-Freight\_\_Final-Report-08312017.pdf
- 659) https://orfe.princeton.edu/~alaink/SmartDrivingCars/PDFs/TRB\_CircularForumOnPreparingForAV\_SharedMobility.pdf
- 660) http://ucconnect.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/research-papers/Future %25200 f% 2520 Mobility.pdf
- 661) https://www.bu.edu/ise/files/2018/03/Next-generation-mobility-320.pdf
- 662) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc1157196/m2/1/high\_res\_d/R45144\_2018Mar26.pdf
- 663) https://energy.umich.edu/te3/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2019/01/TE3-2018-Summary-Report.pdf
- 664) http://www.umtri.umich.edu/sites/default/files/Xavier.Mosquet.BCG\_.Marketing.Powertrains.2018.pdf
- 665) https://las.depaul.edu/centers-and-institutes/chaddick-institute-for-metropolitan-development/research-and-
- $publications/Documents/E-ScooterScenariosMicroMobilityStudy\_FINAL\_20181212.pdf$
- 666) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2015/ph240/xue1/docs/electric.pdf
- 667) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2014/ph240/anderson-h1/docs/IEDC\_Electric\_Vehicle\_Industry.pdf
- 668) https://projects.iq.harvard.edu/files/energyconsortium/files/rwp18-026\_lee\_1.pdf
- 669) http://www.umtri.umich.edu/sites/default/files/Xavier.Mosquet.BCG\_.Marketing.Powertrains.2018.pdf
- 670) http://aei.pitt.edu/94326/1/RR\_2018\_05\_Circular\_Impacts\_batteries.pdf
- 671) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf
- 672) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/20180528\_impact-series\_ev\_web.pdf
- $\label{eq:constraint} 673) \qquad https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/file-uploads/EV_ChargingChina-CGEP_Report_Final.pdf$
- 674) https://wmich.edu/sites/default/files/attachments/u883/2018/TRCLC\_RR\_16-09\_0.pdf
- 675) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2015/ph240/xue1/docs/electric.pdf
- $676) \qquad https://projects.iq.harvard.edu/files/energyconsortium/files/rwp18-026\_lee\_1.pdf$
- $677) \qquad https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/file-uploads/EV_ChargingChina-CGEP_Report_Final.pdf$
- 678) https://phev.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/uploads/a-review-of-consumer-preferences-and-interactions-with-electric-vehicle-charging-infrastructure.pdf

679) https://www.nctr.usf.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/020817-79060-02-C-UIL-Integrated-Approaches-to-EV-Charging-Infrastructure.pdf 680) https://www.usf.edu/pcgs/documents/strategic-planning-implement-public-ev-charging-stations.pdf 681) https://www2.eecs.berkeley.edu/Pubs/TechRpts/2018/EECS-2018-70.pdf 682) https://nccleantech.ncsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Q4-18\_EV\_execsummary\_Final.pdf 683) https://evobservatory.iit.comillas.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/EVS30-Charging-infrastrucure-experiences-in-Norway.pdf 684) http://ipu.msu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/EVCA-State-of-the-Charge-2017.pdf 685) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2015/ph240/xue1/docs/electric.pdf  $http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2014/ph240/anderson-h1/docs/IEDC\_Electric\_Vehicle\_Industry.pdf$ 686) 687) https://projects.iq.harvard.edu/files/energyconsortium/files/rwp18-026\_lee\_1.pdf 688) https://nccleantech.ncsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Q4-18\_EV\_execsummary\_Final.pdf https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/pictures/CGEP\_Electric%2520Vehicles%2520and%2520Their%2520I 689) mpact%25200n%2520Oil%2520Demand-Why%2520Forecasts%2520Differ.pdf https://energy.umich.edu/te3/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2018/09/Final-Breetz-Salon-EV-Ownership-Costs-v3-TE3-2.pdf 690) http://umich.edu/~umtriswt/PDF/SWT-2018-4.pdf 691) https://publications.energyresearch.ucf.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/FSEC-CR-2087-18.pdf 692) https://www.morgan.edu/Documents/ACADEMICS/CENTERS/NTC/Environmental%2520Attributes%2520of%2520Electr 693) ic%2520Vehicle%2520Ownership%2520and%2520Commuting%2520Behavior%2520in%2520Maryland%2520-%2520Public%2520Policy%2520and%2520Equity%2520Considera.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2015/ph240/xue1/docs/electric.pdf 694) https://energy.umich.edu/te3/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2018/09/Final-Breetz-Salon-EV-Ownership-Costs-v3-TE3-2.pdf 695) 696) http://fsec.ucf.edu/en/publications/pdf/fsec-cr-2053-17.pdf 697) http://environment.yale.edu/gillingham/HybridsIntroduction.pdf 698) https://ncst.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/NCST-TO-037-Giuliano\_Developing-Markets-for-ZEVs-in-Goods-Movement\_Final-Report\_MARCH-2018.pdf 699) https://ncst.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/NCST-TO-034.4-Rapson-Muehlegger\_Distributional-Impacts-of-Vehicle-Policy\_Final-Report\_FEB-2018.pdf 700) http://www.pm.umd.edu/hybrid\_cars\_guide.pdf https://sites.tufts.edu/cierp/files/2018/02/Gallagher11GivingGreenGetGreen.pdf 701) 702) https://steps.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/OGDEN\_ProspectforHydrogen2018\_UCD-ITS-RR-18-07.pdf https://static.tti.tamu.edu/tti.tamu.edu/documents/PRC-14-28F.pdf 703) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2015/ph240/xue1/docs/electric.pdf 704) http://fsec.ucf.edu/en/publications/pdf/fsec-cr-1986-14.pdf 705) 706) http://yagandomi.utk.edu/IAHE/IAHE\_volume9\_issue4\_August2017.pdf https://energy.umich.edu/te3/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2018/09/Final-Breetz-Salon-EV-Ownership-Costs-v3-TE3-2.pdf 707) http://environment.yale.edu/gillingham/hydrogenICE.pdf 708) 709) https://gspp.berkeley.edu/assets/uploads/page/Funding\_Programs\_Summary\_final\_August\_29.pdf https://swap.stanford.edu/20121129105915/http://www.epa.gov/otaq/regs/nonroad/locomotv/420f09025.pdf 710) 711) https://www.cert.ucr.edu/events/pems/PEMS2018AbstractsDocument.pdf 712) http://www.cert.ucr.edu/events/pems/2018presentations/13%2520-%2520Miller\_The%2520Democratization%25200f%2520Vehicle%2520Emissions%2520Testing%252003222018.pdf https://ctl.mit.edu/sites/ctl.mit.edu/files/2018-10/BlackCarbonMethodology.pdf 713) 714) http://www.pm.umd.edu/diesel\_electric\_locomotives\_the\_information\_society.pdf http://www.princeton.edu/~alaink/Orf467F17/NTS\_Entire\_2017Q2.pdf 715) 716) http://ipc.sabanciuniv.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/CarbonLockin\_%25C5%259Eahin\_ENG.pdf http://www.cramton.umd.edu/papers2015-2019/cramton-geddes-ockenfels-using-tech-to-eliminate-congestion.pdf 717) 718) https://www.bu.edu/sph/files/2018/09/Gately\_et\_al\_2017.pdf http://econ.msu.edu/seminars/docs/Congestion\_Oct2018.pdf 719) http://ses.wsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Shewmake\_HOVonVMT\_WSU.pdf 720)  $https://www.oxy.edu/sites/default/files/assets/UEP/Comps/Aidan\%2520Holliday\_A\%2520Case\%2520Study\%2520of\%252Bitwards/assets/UEP/Comps/Aidan\%2520Holliday\_A\%2520Case\%2520Study\%25200f\%252Bitwards/assets/UEP/Comps/Aidan\%2520Holliday\_A\%2520Case\%2520Study\%25200f\%252Bitwards/assets/UEP/Comps/Aidan\%2520Holliday\_A\%2520Case\%2520Study\%25200f\%252Bitwards/assets/UEP/Comps/Aidan\%2520Holliday\_A\%2520Case\%2520Study\%25200f\%252Bitwards/assets/UEP/Comps/Aidan\%2520Holliday\_A\%2520Case\%2520Study\%25200f\%252Bitwards/assets/UEP/Comps/Aidan\%2520Holliday\_A\%2520Case\%2520Study\%25200f\%252Bitwards/assets/UEP/Comps/Aidan\%2520Holliday\_A\%2520Case\%2520Study\%25200f\%252Bitwards/assets/UEP/Comps/Aidan\%2520Holliday\_A\%2520Case\%2520Study\%25200f\%252Bitwards/assets/UEP/Comps/Aidan\%2520Holliday\_A\%2520Case\%2520Study\%25200f\%252Bitwards/assets/UEP/Comps/Aidan\%2520Holliday\_A\%2520Case\%2520Study\%2520Study\%25200f\%252Bitwards/assets/UEP/Comps/Aidan\%2520Holliday\_A\%2520Case\%2520Study\%25200f\%252Bitwards/assets/UEP/Comps/Aidan\%2520Holliday\_A\%2520Study\%2520Study\%25200f\%252Bitwards/assets/UEP/Comps/Aidan\%2520Fitwards/assets/UEP/Comps/Aidan\%2520Study\%252Study\%258Study\%252Study\%258Study\%252Study\%252Study\%252Study\%252Study\%252Study\%252Study\%252Study\%252Study\%252Study\%252Study\%252Study\%258Study\%250Study\%258Study\%250Study\%250Study\%250Study\%250Study\%250Study\%250Study\%250Study\%250Study\%250Study\%250Study\%250Study\%250Study\%250Study\%250Study\%250Stud$ 721) oLA%2520Metro%2527s%2520ExpressLanes.pdf

722) https://www.hbs.edu/environment/Documents/climate-change-2018.pdf

723)  $https://sustainablecities preview.usc.edu/files/2015/01/ipcc\_wg3\_ar5\_final-draft\_postplenary\_chapter 121.pdf$ http://gyohe.faculty.wesleyan.edu/files/2018/05/84.pdf 724) http://datadriven.yale.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/YALE-NCI-PBL Global climate action.pdf 725) 726) http://www.geo.utexas.edu/courses/387H/Lectures/AR4WG1\_Print\_Ch10.pdf https://research.fit.edu/media/site-specific/researchfitedu/coast-climate-adaptation-library/global/un-unep-unesco-undp-727) reports/UN-et-al.-2001.-Introduction-to-Climate-Change.pdf http://talleylab.ucsd.edu/ltalley/sio219/winter\_2015/WG1AR5\_Chapter13\_FINAL.pdf 728) http://talleylab.ucsd.edu/ltalley/sio219/winter\_2015/WG1AR5\_Chapter11\_FINAL.pdf 729) http://kiwi.atmos.colostate.edu/group/dave/at745/WG1AR5\_Chapter09\_FINAL.pdf 730) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2016/ph240/jadhav1/docs/WG1AR5\_Chapter08\_FINAL.pdf 731) http://web.crc.losrios.edu/~larsenl/ExtraMaterials/IPCC4/ar4-wg1-chapter8.pdf 732) 733) http://kiwi.atmos.colostate.edu/group/dave/at745/WG1AR5\_Chapter09\_FINAL.pdf http://www.geo.utexas.edu/courses/387H/Lectures/AR4WG1\_Print\_Ch10.pdf 734) https://www.hbs.edu/environment/Documents/climate-change-2018.pdf 735) 736) http://talleylab.ucsd.edu/ltalley/sio219/winter\_2015/WG1AR5\_Chapter11\_FINAL.pdf http://talleylab.ucsd.edu/ltalley/sio219/winter\_2015/WG1AR5\_Chapter14\_FINAL.pdf 737) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/100-2018\_en.pdf 738) https://www.hbs.edu/environment/Documents/climate-change-2018.pdf 739) https://sustainablecitiespreview.usc.edu/files/2015/01/ipcc\_wg3\_ar5\_final-draft\_postplenary\_chapter121.pdf 740) http://datadriven.yale.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/YALE-NCI-PBL\_Global\_climate\_action.pdf 741) http://talleylab.ucsd.edu/ltalley/sio219/winter\_2015/WG1AR5\_Chapter13\_FINAL.pdf 742) http://senate.ucsd.edu/media/206199/syr\_ar5\_final\_full.pdf 743) https://research.fit.edu/media/site-specific/researchfitedu/coast-climate-adaptation-library/global/un-unep-unesco-undp-744) reports/UN-et-al.-2001.-Introduction-to-Climate-Change.pdf http://www.meteo.psu.edu/holocene/public\_html/Mann/articles/articles/PostEtAlSciReports18.pdf 745) 746) http://gis.missouri.edu/pdfs/Fu%2520et%2520al.\_2018\_Remote%2520Sensing.pdf 747) http://shell.cas.usf.edu/rohrlab/data/Cohen%2520et%2520al%25202018.pdf http://lajeunesse.myweb.usf.edu/papers/Cohen\_Lajeunesse\_Rohr\_2018\_Nature\_Climate\_Change.pdf 748) 749) https://sites.nicholas.duke.edu/clarklab/files/2018/03/RSE2018.pdf http://ecoss.nau.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Zhang-et-al.-2018-Agricultural-and-Forest-Meteorology.pdf 750) 751) https://caterpillarscount.unc.edu/pdfs/Phenology% 2520 Across% 2520 Trophic% 2520 Levels% 2520 plan.pdfhttp://andrewsforest.oregonstate.edu/pubs/pdf/pub5051.pdf 752) https://www.hbs.edu/environment/Documents/climate-change-2018.pdf 753) http://www.geo.utexas.edu/courses/387H/Lectures/AR4WG1\_Print\_Ch10.pdf 754) http://kiwi.atmos.colostate.edu/group/dave/at745/WG1AR5\_Chapter09\_FINAL.pdf 755) https://webarchive.library.unt.edu/eot2008/20080916040315/http://www.cpc.ncep.noaa.gov/products/outreach/Report-756) to-the-Nation-Monsoon\_aug04.pdf http://www.appstate.edu/~perrylb/Courses/3600/Readings/Cohen\_Arctic\_ExtremeUS.pdf 757) http://talleylab.ucsd.edu/ltalley/sio219/winter\_2015/WG1AR5\_Chapter11\_FINAL.pdf 758) https://mapazdashboard.arizona.edu/sites/default/files/images/bakkensen\_johnson\_map\_white\_paper\_the\_economic\_i 759) mpacts\_of\_extreme\_weather.pdf 760) http://talleylab.ucsd.edu/ltalley/sio219/winter\_2015/WG1AR5\_Chapter13\_FINAL.pdf 761) https://www.ltrc.lsu.edu/pdf/2019/18\_5TIRE.pdf https://pangea.stanford.edu/ERE/pdf/IGAstandard/SGW/2019/Eneva2.pdf 762) http://web.gps.caltech.edu/~simons/publications/pdfs/Riel\_et\_al-2017-Water\_Resources\_Research.pdf 763) 764) https://www.monmouth.edu/uci/wp-content/uploads/sites/58/2018/01/ORTON.pdf https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc957461/m2/1/high\_res\_d/Choudhury\_et\_al-2016-765) The\_Plant\_Journal.pdf https://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/245944/files/6%2520%2520Tsiboe%2520and%2520Nalley.pdf 766) https://scholarworks.montana.edu/xmlui/bitstream/handle/1/13524/Alptekin FIG 2017.pdf 767) 768) http://legacy.cos.ncsu.edu/htpdocs/vaccinium-survey/media/Gallardo-2018-cb.pdf https://www.canr.msu.edu/outreach/uploads/2018-files/e2996.abiotic%2520plant%2520disorders%2520-769)

%2520symptoms,%2520signs%2520and%2520solutions.pdf

770) http://www.pm.umd.edu/2009\_ford\_explorer\_sport\_trac\_owners\_manual.pdf http://www.int.washington.edu/talks/WorkShops/int\_18\_3/People/Yoshida\_R/Yoshida2.pdf 771) http://www.academia.edu/37352986/G. Tasner 2018 Direct Democracy on the Blockchain.pdf 772) http://aei.pitt.edu/93681/1/RoleBusinessCircularEconomyTFR.pdf 773) http://go.elmhurst.edu/assets/wp/WP\_802.11AX.pdf 774) https://www.unidata.ucar.edu/community/equipaward/EquipmentAwards/2018/Penn%2520State.pdf 775) https://lowercolumbia.edu/accreditation/\_assets/documents/2018-Year-Seven-Report.pdf 776) 777) https://www.oakland.edu/Assets/Oakland/research/files-anddocuments/Research%2520Office%2520Annual%2520Report\_2018\_Final.pdf 778) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/82/03/00048/11-2017.pdf http://publications.armywarcollege.edu/pubs/3527.pdf 779) 780) http://aei.pitt.edu/93681/1/RoleBusinessCircularEconomyTFR.pdf https://www.cuesta.edu/about/documents/inst research/AUTO BODY CPPR 2018 2019.pdf 781) 782) https://bot.fiu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/27/2018/05/2018-05-23\_Audit\_Compliance\_CMtg\_Agenda.pdf https://idea.gseis.ucla.edu/newsroom/our-ideas/themes-in-the-news/archive/Final-Draft-Policy-Platform-8\_06\_12-1.pdf 783) https://www.usg.edu/assets/hr/benefits\_docs/Medicare\_A\_B\_2019.pdf 784) http://www.econ.wayne.edu/agoodman/7550/week11/2018/2016\_CMS\_Stats.pdf 785) https://cfo.pitt.edu/pexpress/documents/Apple\_Environmental\_Responsibility\_Report\_2018.pdf 786) https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/2018/06/durable\_pvmt\_marking\_and\_grooving\_w\_cvr.pdf 787) 788) https://newdigs.mit.edu/sites/default/files/MIT%2520FoCUS%2520Precision%2520Financing%25202019F201v023.pdf 789) https://ceat.okstate.edu/research/ceat\_research\_abstracts\_2018.pdf https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf 790) 791) http://www.pm.umd.edu/year\_8\_energy\_test\_answers.pdf https://robinsoncenter.uw.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Educator-Workforce-Report.pdf 792) http://intc-793) static.education.illinois.edu/sites/default/files/Public% 2520 School% 2520 Teacher% 2520 Attrition% 2520 and% 2520 Mobility% 2520 in% 2520 and% 2520 Mobility% 2520 Mobility% 2520 Mobility% 2520 Attributega and% 2520 Attributega an2520the%2520First%2520Five%2520Years.pdf http://www.sanjac.edu/sites/default/files/Texas-Public-Higher-Ed-Almanac-2018.pdf 794) http://barnard.edu/sites/default/files/2019\_it-2104.pdf 795) https://www.si.edu/content/seec/docs/Child%2520Health%2520Form%25202009.pdf 796) 797) http://navy.rotc.umich.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/sf86.pdf http://www.upenn.edu/ir/Common%2520Data%2520Set/UPenn%2520Common%2520Data%2520Set%25202017-18.pdf 798) https://hr.carnegiescience.edu/sites/default/files/doc/FMLA%2520Fact%2520Sheet.pdf 799) 800) https://pharmacy.umkc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/NC\_Requirements\_for\_2018-19.pdf http://gyohe.faculty.wesleyan.edu/files/2018/05/84.pdf 801) https://facilities.weill.cornell.edu/sites/default/files/downloads/nyc\_climate\_resiliency\_design\_guidelines\_v2-o.pdf 802) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/Part-3-Changing-the-Digital-Climate.pdf 803) 804) https://kylewhyte.cal.msu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/12/2019/02/2018-Whyte-Settler-Col-Ecology-EJ.pdf 805) http://gis.missouri.edu/pdfs/Luo%2520et%2520al.\_2018\_Sustainability.pdf 806) https://www.pdx.edu/sustainability/sites/www.pdx.edu.sustainability/files/iss/ripe-report\_web-final.pdf 807) http://gtm.math.umd.edu/Women\_in\_Cryptography.pdf 808) https://ee.stanford.edu/~hellman/publications/24.pdf 809) https://courses.csail.mit.edu/6.857/2018/project/jeffli-wloucks-yizhai-timzhong-PostQuantNIST.pdf 810) http://brain.math.fau.edu/spyros/spyros/prints/jp1.pdf 811) https://people.eecs.ku.edu/~hossein/710/Lectures/Readings/02-crypto-an-overview.pdf http://www.canton.edu/employee/wang/cita250/ey-global-information-security-survey-2018-19.pdf 812) https://www.thiel.edu/assets/documents/offices/information-technology/Cybersecurity\_is\_Everyones\_Job.pdf 813) 814) https://www.bentley.edu/files/2018/03/28/CyberEdge\_2018\_CDR\_Report.pdf

815) https://www.ll.mit.edu/sites/default/files/publication/doc/2018-04/2014-Staheli-Cyber-Visualization-Evaluation-

VizSec.pdf

- 816) http://liberalarts.udmercy.edu/academics/cis/files/csec2017.pdf
- 817) https://www.wisconsin.edu/information-security/download/UW\_Information-Security-Program\_Final\_30April2018.pdf
- 818) http://www.itm.iit.edu/faculty/newcover\_csec2017.pdf

819) https://www.mtc.edu/wp-content/uploads/1819FS/IT/CIT-Cyber-Security-FactSheet-2018-19.pdf https://www.bentley.edu/files/2018/03/28/identity-and-access-management-index-report-2018.pdf 820) 821) https://computing.caes.ucdavis.edu/media/policies/7490\_Spec\_Sheet.pdf 822) https://techpolicylab.uw.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/rethinking\_sec18.pdf 823) https://www.buffalo.edu/content/dam/www/news/photos/2017/12/ndss18-paper99.pdf 824) https://isrl.byu.edu/pubs/sp2018.pdf https://www.ece.cmu.edu/~lbauer/papers/2018/chi2018-2fa.pdf 825) 826) http://clascsg.uconn.edu/download/specs/L5290.pdf http://blaauw.engin.umich.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/342/2018/05/Kaiyuan-Yang-Hardware-Designs-for-Security-in-827) Ultra-Low-Power-IoT-Systems-%25E2%2580%2593-An-Overview-and-Survey.pdf 828) http://community.mis.temple.edu/mis5122sec702fall18/files/2018/09/ws-commands.pdf 829) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/85/42/00027/07-2018.pdf http://moo.nac.uci.edu/~hjm/lj1218.pdf 830) 831) https://www.academia.edu/37735216/Inspiron\_15\_5000\_2-in-1.pdf 832) http://ebusiness.pitt.edu/documents/OWASP\_Top\_10-2017.pdf https://www.classes.cs.uchicago.edu/archive/2018/fall/23200-1/20.pdf 833) https://www.uww.edu/Documents/icit/documentation/UWW-ITSP-2017%2520Final%2520.pdf 834) https://www.bentley.edu/files/2018/03/28/CyberEdge\_2018\_CDR\_Report.pdf 835) https://stacks.stanford.edu/file/druid:jw049zf5818/SKSThesis%2520Final%2520May%252031%252C%25202018-836) signed.pdf https://dronecenter.bard.edu/files/2018/02/CSD-Counter-Drone-Systems-Report.pdf 837) 838) http://groups.psych.northwestern.edu/rosenfeld/documents/Rosenfeld,%2520J.%2520Detect.%2520Detecting%2520Concea led % 2520 Information % 2520 and % 2520 Deception % 2520 Recent % 2520 Developments. % 2520 (PDF). pdf = 100% (PDF) and % 2520 (PDF) and % 2520 (PDF). pdf = 10% (PDF) and % 2520 (PDF) and %https://www.valdosta.edu/administration/it/innovation-technology/documents/2018-it-annual-report.pdf 839) 840) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/fp\_20180316\_future\_political\_warfare.pdf 841) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc1156947/m2/1/high\_res\_d/R45163\_2018Apr13.pdf https://www.icsi.edu/media/webmodules/publications/CapitalMarketandSecuritesLaw.pdf842) https://fnce.wharton.upenn.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/DiMaggioBrokers-Order-Flow-Leakage.pdf 843) 844)  $http://www.law.nyu.edu/sites/default/files/upload\_documents/SEC-Enforcement-Activity-1HFY2018-Update.pdf$ 845) https://uif.uillinois.edu/sites/default/files/documents/rfps/2018-07/UIFRFP 2018 Banking Brokerage.pdf 846) https://conferences.fuqua.duke.edu/corpfinance/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2019/04/Value-of-Intermediation-in-Stock-Market.pdf https://www.bentley.edu/files/2018/03/28/CyberEdge\_2018\_CDR\_Report.pdf 847) 848) http://www.law.unc.edu/documents/cle/festival/foll2019/F1-8.pdf https://www.gvsu.edu/cms4/asset/F51281F0-00AF-E25A-849) 5BF632E8D4A243C7/gdpr\_faqs\_rev01\_published\_14may2018.pdf  $https://www.cogr.edu/sites/default/files/Active_69491675\_4\_COGR\%2520Presentation\%250Presentation\%250Presentati$ 850) %2520EU%2520GDPR%2520%2520Research.pdf 851) https://judicialstudies.duke.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/JUDICATURE102.1-GDPR.pdf 852) http://users.umiacs.umd.edu/~oard/desi7/papers/JB.pdf 853) http://www.canton.edu/employee/wang/cita250/ey-global-information-security-survey-2018-19.pdf 854) http://www.law.unc.edu/documents/cle/festival/foll2019/F1-8.pdf 855) http://cpri.uci.edu/wp-content/cpri/uploads/Talesh-2018-Law\_Social\_Inquiry-Cyber.pdf http://www.wiu.edu/university\_surveys/Qualtrics\_Security\_White\_Paper\_v4\_01.pdf 856) https://www.wisconsin.edu/information-security/download/UW\_Information-Security-Program\_Final\_30April2018.pdf 857) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/85/42/00028/10-2018.pdf 858) http://www.canton.edu/employee/wang/cita250/ey-global-information-security-survey-2018-19.pdf 859) 860) https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/ETD/Available/etd-042417-214014/unrestricted/taylor.pdf 861) ngs%2520Security%2520Considerations%2520and%2520Solutions.pdf https://www.bentley.edu/files/2018/03/28/CyberEdge\_2018\_CDR\_Report.pdf 862) 863) https://www.wisconsin.edu/information-security/download/UW\_Information-Security-Program\_Final\_30April2018.pdf

864) http://www.cs.newpaltz.edu/~lik/publications/Bo-Yi-CN-2018.pdf

865) http://www.canton.edu/employee/wang/cita250/ey-global-information-security-survey-2018-19.pdf 866) http://www.ccs.neu.edu/home/alina/papers/MADE.pdf 867) http://ebusiness.pitt.edu/documents/OWASP Top 10-2017.pdf 868) https://dronecenter.bard.edu/files/2018/02/CSD-Counter-Drone-Systems-Report.pdf 869) https://cs.stanford.edu/~srijan/pubs/paper-survey.pdf 870) https://erm.ncsu.edu/az/erm/i/chan/library/NC-State-Protiviti-Survey-Top-Risks-2018-Report.pdf http://kiwi.atmos.colostate.edu/group/dave/at745/WG1AR5\_Chapter09\_FINAL.pdf 871) 872) http://www.academia.edu/36692749/72\_1522659973\_02-04-2018.pdf https://crypto.stanford.edu/~dabo/courses/cs255\_winter19/lectures/key-exch.pdf 873) 874) https://pubweb.eng.utah.edu/~nmcdonal/Tutorials/EncryptionResearchReview.pdf 875) https://www.tce.edu/sites/default/files/PDF/Network-Security.pdf 876) https://sceweb.uhcl.edu/cybercorps/Module%25202\_Sub2.pdf https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-042618-877) 141456/unrestricted/3D\_Image\_Reconstruction\_Final\_Report.pdf 878) http://etd.fcla.edu/CF/CFH0004287/Filiault\_Matthew\_T\_201212\_BA.pdf https://dugi-doc.udg.edu/bitstream/handle/10256/16313/tapv\_20181126.pdf 879) https://scholarworks.iupui.edu/bitstream/handle/1805/17624/Advancing%25203D%2520Digitization-880) lyrasis%2520white%2520paper.pdf 881) https://apps.weber.edu/wsuimages/BIS/PrimaryResearch/Darwin%2520Little%2520BIS%2520Final%2520Paper%252020 18%2520(3).pdf https://engineering.purdue.edu/ZhangLab/publications/papers/2018-ole-realtime.pdf 882) 883) http://www.theory.caltech.edu/~preskill/pubs/preskill-2018-NISQ.pdf 884) http://frdo.unm.edu/sites/default/files/nsf19507.pdf 885) http://www.math.tamu.edu/~jml/quantumnotes.pdf 886) http://essic.umd.edu/joom2/index.php/faculty-and $staff\% 3 Flayout\% 3 Duser\% 26 user\_id\% 3 D171\% 26 dir\% 3 DJSROOT\% 252 Fts waim 1\% 26 download\_file\% 3 DJSROOT\% 252 Fts waim 1\% 252 Fts waim$ Quantum%2BComputing%2Band%2BCryptography%2BToday.pdf https://isps.yale.edu/sites/default/files/files/Zhang\_us\_public\_opinion\_report\_jan\_2019.pdf 887) 888) https://ai100.stanford.edu/sites/g/files/sbiybj9861/f/ai\_100\_report\_0831fnl.pdf 889) http://www.bu.edu/lernet/artemis/projects/FinalPresenations/A.I.%2520Presentation.pdf 890) https://robots.law.miami.edu/2019/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Administering-Artificial-Intelligence-We-Robot.pdf https://www-users.cs.umn.edu/~gini/publications/papers/Gini2018ai2027.pdf 891) 892) https://courses.cs.washington.edu/courses/csep590/06au/projects/history-ai.pdf 893) https://ash.harvard.edu/files/ash/files/artificial\_intelligence\_for\_citizen\_services.pdf http://lazowska.cs.washington.edu/escience/McKinsey.big.data.pdf 894) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/85/42/00027/07-2018.pdf 895) https://www3.nd.edu/~kkelley/publications/articles/Adjerid\_Kelley\_AP\_2018.pdf 896) 897) https://conf.slac.stanford.edu/xldb2018/sites/xldb2018.conf.slac.stanford.edu/files/Mon\_15.00\_DuanXuJasonCrane\_UCS F.pdf 898) https://sdsi.stanford.edu/sites/default/files/data\_science\_research\_at\_stanford\_2017-18.pdf 899) https://amaral.northwestern.edu/media/publication\_pdfs/2018\_NHB\_Personality-types.pdf 900) https://www.ee.columbia.edu/~cylin/course/bigdata/EECS6893-BigDataAnalytics-Lecture1.pdf 901) https://cait.rutgers.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/cait-utc-030-final.pdf http://www.cs.yale.edu/homes/jf/Hileman.pdf 902) https://wiki.bus.wisc.edu/download/attachments/48070726/Bitcoin%2520Chiu.pdf 903) https://economics.ceu.edu/sites/economics.ceu.edu/files/attachment/event/1388/bitcoindecentralizedmoney1.03\_0.pdf 904) http://aei.pitt.edu/94385/1/PC-14\_2018.pdf 905) 906) http://aei.pitt.edu/94229/1/PC-10\_2018\_2.pdf http://eng.usf.edu/~nghani/papers/IEEE\_Access2018.pdf 907) 908) https://www.academia.edu/38193166/Blockchain Technology in the Construction Industry ICE .pdf http://liblog.law.stanford.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/FEB.2019-nara-blockchain-whitepaper.pdf909) 910) https://www.gsb.stanford.edu/sites/gsb/files/publication-pdf/study-blockchain-impact-moving-beyond-hype\_o.pdf

911) http://faculty.fuqua.duke.edu/~charvey/Media/2018/FEI\_July\_2018.pdf

912) https://economics.ceu.edu/sites/economics.ceu.edu/files/attachment/event/1388/bitcoindecentralizedmoney1.03\_0.pdf https://static.tti.tamu.edu/tti.tamu.edu/documents/PRC-17-13-F.pdf 913) https://www.buffalo.edu/content/dam/www/ubblockchain/files/basics/001%2520What%2520is%2520Blockchain.pdf 914) 915) https://merage.uci.edu/~jorion/varseminar/McK-2017-Digital-Risk.pdf http://aei.pitt.edu/88531/1/EESC\_Digitalisation.pdf 916) 917) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc949761/m2/1/high\_res\_d/oclcresearch-advancing-the-national-digitalplatform-2017.pdf 918) http://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/276876/files/23-Klumpp.pdf https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/foresight-2018\_chapter-5\_web\_final1.pdf 919) http://www.law.nyu.edu/sites/default/files/upload\_documents/Waldfogel%2520How%2520Digitization%2520Has%2520C 920) reated%2520a%2520Golden%2520Age%2520of%2520Music.pdf 921) http://samlac.uprrp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/181112\_samlac\_steinbacher\_v2.pdf http://blog.uvm.edu/cwcallah/files/2017/11/2017-12-06-Produce-Tracking-Final-Report-VAAFM-and-VHCB.pdf 922) 923) http://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/273715/files/ifamr2017.0109.pdf 924) http://web.mit.edu/smadnick/www/wp/2018-07.pdf http://ecoss.nau.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Jiang\_et\_al-2017-925) Journal\_of\_Advances\_in\_Modeling\_Earth\_Systems.pdf http://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6391/DIGITAL\_Final\_Report.pdf 926) https://projects.iq.harvard.edu/files/energyconsortium/files/rwp18-026 lee 1.pdf 927) 928) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/knapp1/docs/idaho-mar18.pdf http://www.pm.umd.edu/end\_of\_year\_test\_answers\_new\_edition\_8.pdf 929) https://web.math.princeton.edu/~amits/publications/1803.06714.pdf 930) 931) http://www.pm.umd.edu/radon\_transforms\_and\_tomography\_by\_eric\_todd\_quinto.pdf http://lasp.colorado.edu/media/projects/SORCE/meetings/2018/final/Oral PDFs/26 Diner for release.pdf 932) https://adni.loni.usc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Gunter\_Med-Phys\_2009-MRI-phantom-paper.pdf 933) http://isr.umd.edu/sites/default/files/0918\_JSB.pdf 934) http://web.eecs.utk.edu/~grose4/papers/Chakma\_EnergyAreaEfficiency\_GLSVLSI18.pdf 935) https://repository.asu.edu/attachments/201041/content/Chen\_asu\_0010E\_17683.pdf 936) 937) https://seal.ece.ucsb.edu/sites/seal.ece.ucsb.edu/files/publications/bridging-gap-neural\_1.pdf http://cacs.usc.edu/education/cs596/NCFMtSA\_rpt.pdf 938) 939) https://www.academia.edu/38223831/Sejnowski\_Terrence\_J.\_-\_The\_deep\_learning\_revolution\_2018\_.pdf http://www.cs.newpaltz.edu/~lik/publications/Bo-Yi-CN-2018.pdf 940) 941) https://www.umpqua.edu/images/about-ucc/offices-administration/president/downloads/staffreports/Cloud\_Virtualization.pdf http://people.cs.uchicago.edu/~ravenben/publications/pdf/nfv-imc18.pdf 942) https://www.cccs.edu/Docs/SBCCOE/Agenda/2017/08Aug/AddDocs/7\_CCD\_StorageVirtualizationProj.pdf 943) http://www.ece.eng.wayne.edu/~czxu/ece7650\_w10/readings/vmware\_architecture\_wp.pdf 944) https://repository.lib.fit.edu/bitstream/handle/11141/2518/PALAN-THESIS-2018.pdf 945) https://www.canr.msu.edu/field\_crops/uploads/files/2018%2520Custom%2520Machine%2520Work%2520Rates.pdf 946) https://isps.yale.edu/sites/default/files/files/Zhang\_us\_public\_opinion\_report\_jan\_2019.pdf 947) 948) http://ide.mit.edu/sites/default/files/publications/aer.20160696.pdf http://ide.mit.edu/sites/default/files/publications/2018-05-MITIIDE-D.AcemogluP.Restrepo%2520final.pdf 949) https://www.uky.edu/Ag/AgEcon/pubs/customratesKY.pdf 950) https://nydairyadmin.cce.cornell.edu/uploads/doc\_338.pdf 951) https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/2018/03/201516.pdf 952) https://www2.cs.uic.edu/~brents/cs494-cdcs/papers/Applied-ML-Facebook.pdf 953) http://courses.iicm.edu/hci/hci.pdf 954) 955) https://hcii.cmu.edu/sites/default/files/mhci\_handbook\_fall\_2017.pdf http://hcid.sice.indiana.edu/files/2018/04/HCIDProgramHandbook\_2018.pdf 956) https://hcil.umd.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/CoopsDinah-UWashington-report-on-BenS-1-2019.pdf 957) https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/140402/wks0159-djamasbi%2520CHI%25202018.pdf 958) https://innovate.ee.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/2010/03/Ozcan-Group-Annurev-Anchem-Wearable-Implant-2018.pdf 959)

960) https://scet.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/Smart-Clothing-Market-Analysis-Report.pdf

- 961) http://rogersgroup.northwestern.edu/files/2018/locreview.pdf
- 962) http://riveralab.ucdavis.edu/uploads/5/3/0/0/53002603/koo\_2018\_wearable\_tech.pdf
- 963) https://biodesign.seas.harvard.edu/files/biodesignlab/files/2018\_porciuncula\_pmr\_-
- $\_wearable\_movement\_sensors\_for\_rehabilitation\_-\_a\_focused\_review\_of\_technological\_and\_clinical\_advances.pdf$
- 964) https://engineering.purdue.edu/kak/compsec/NewLectures/Lecture29.pdf
- 965) http://cse.unl.edu/~qyan/courses/CSCE-990/Papers/P7-2.pdf
- 966) http://www.cs.umd.edu/~dml/papers/hajime\_ndss19.pdf
- 967) http://www.cs.ucf.edu/~jpark/pub/ett18.pdf
- 968) https://www.academia.edu/38182584/Smart\_Security\_of\_IoT\_Against\_to\_DDoS\_Attacks\_487630\_-623682.pdf
- 969) http://www-inst.eecs.berkeley.edu/~cs161/fa18/handouts/sol12.pdf
- 970) http://gianchandani.engin.umich.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/360/2018/01/ADDR\_DrugPump-Li-4-12.pdf
- 971) https://www.academia.edu/37026235/Journal\_of\_Computer\_Science\_IJCSIS\_June\_2018\_Full\_Volume.pdf
- 972) http://www.cece.ucf.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Curriculum-Vitae\_WHL.pdf
- 973) http://www.pm.umd.edu/bluetooth\_4\_0\_micro\_usb\_dongle\_csr8510.pdf
- 974) http://mae.ufl.edu/nkim/Papers/paper102.pdf
- 975) http://www.thapar.edu/upload/files/EIC\_2018.pdf
- 976) https://rutgerstraining.sph.rutgers.edu/ercannualmeeting/download/speech.howard.mtsinai.20.november.2018.pdf
- 977) http://www.pm.umd.edu/mcq\_medical\_laboratory\_technician.pdf
- 978) https://www.cmu.edu/nanotechnology-
- forum/Forum\_13/Presentation/Keynote%2520Speeches/2\_Mike%2520Roco/NNI\_16-0926\_US-
- $Korea\%2520NanoForum\_NNI\%2520grand\%2520challenges\%2520in\%2520US\_20min\_M\%2520ROCO.pdf$
- 979) http://www.udg.edu/ca/Portals/5/UdGEventsNews/3302/Media/Document/20171019\_CHRAYE\_NMBP\_WP\_2018\_20.p df
- 980) https://dash.harvard.edu/bitstream/handle/1/35164974/233.pdf
- 981) http://www.amity.edu/lucknow/pdf/nanoco.pdf
- 982) https://faculty.sites.uci.edu/tajima/files/2018/10/Mourou-advanced-physicsprize2018.pdf
- 983) https://fuego.ssl.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/1808.09848.pdf
- 984) http://uceou.edu/147/Applied%2520Physics%2520%5BCSE,%2520ECE%2520%26%2520BME%5D%2520-
- %252012.09.2018.pdf
- 985) https://lightwave.ee.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/content/publications/2018/Recent%2520advances%2520in%2520opt ical%2520technologies%2520for%2520data%2520centers%2520av2520review.pdf
- 986) https://lightwave.ee.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/content/publications/2018/Photonic%2520Switching%2520in%2520 High%2520Performance%2520Datacenters.pdf
- 987) https://www.med.unc.edu/microscopy/files/2018/06/lm-ch-7-lenses.pdf
- 988) https://www.cs.unc.edu/~cpk/data/papers/appaned-2019.pdf
- 989) https://www.hajim.rochester.edu/optics/assets/pdf/gradhandbook.pdf
- 990) https://studentfinancialservices.humboldt.edu/sites/default/files/p970\_5.pdf
- 991) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf
- 992) http://www2.eecs.berkeley.edu/Pubs/TechRpts/2018/EECS-2018-156.pdf
- 993) http://web.eecs.utk.edu/~grose4/papers/Chakma\_EnergyAreaEfficiency\_GLSVLSI18.pdf
- 994) http://ipu.msu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/WEF-Global-Energy-Transformation-2018.pdf
- 995) https://listserv.gmu.edu/cgi-bin/wa%3FA3%3Dind1805%26L%3DVSE-FACULTY-
- L%26E%3Dbase64%26P%3D230492%26B%3D--

 $8_Adv_Veh_Tech_FINAL.pdf$ 

- 996) https://web.stanford.edu/~jurafsky/slp3/24.pdf
- 997) http://openaccess.uoc.edu/webapps/o2/bitstream/10609/80185/6/BRIEFING\_PAPER\_CHATBOTS\_EN.pdf
- 998) https://www.alumni.hbs.edu/Documents/events/2018/Vodafone\_Case\_and\_Discussion\_Questions.pdf
- 999) http://www.fko6.hm.edu/fb/images/img\_upld/arbeiten/03798.pdf
- 1000) http://igac.colorado.edu/sites/default/files/2018-09/Issue\_62\_JulAug\_2018\_1.pdf
- 1001) https://pcc.uw.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/15/2018/08/ZelRan2017.pdf
- 1002) http://kiwi.atmos.colostate.edu/group/dave/at745/WG1AR5\_Chapter09\_FINAL.pdf
- 1003) http://www.ssec.wisc.edu/~cpettersen/pubs/acp-18-4715-2018.pdf

1004) http://www.cs.yale.edu/homes/jf/Hileman.pdf 1005) http://www.academia.edu/37140875/cryptocurrency\_manifesto.pdf 1006) http://aei.pitt.edu/94385/1/PC-14\_2018.pdf 1007) http://aei.pitt.edu/94229/1/PC-10\_2018\_2.pdf https://wiki.bus.wisc.edu/download/attachments/48070726/Bitcoin%2520Chiu.pdf 1008)1009) http://webuser.bus.umich.edu/urajan/research/crypto.pdf https://www.esic.edu/documentos/revistas/esicmk/1548670279\_I.pdf 1010) 1011) https://www.academia.edu/38223831/Sejnowski\_Terrence\_J.\_-\_The\_deep\_learning\_revolution\_2018\_.pdf 1012) https://faculty.wharton.upenn.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/stat-991.pdf 1013) https://www2.cs.uic.edu/~brents/cs494-cdcs/papers/Applied-ML-Facebook.pdf 1014) https://web.cs.ucdavis.edu/~bai/ECS231/References/DeepLearning\_Higham18.pdf 1015) https://economics.stanford.edu/sites/g/files/sbiybj9386/f/deep\_neural\_networks\_for\_estimation\_and\_inference\_applicat ion to causal effects and other semiparametric estimands.pdf 1016) https://www.cs.toronto.edu/~hinton/absps/NatureDeepReview.pdf 1017) http://www.eecg.toronto.edu/~enright/exploiting-computer.pdf https://faculty.sites.uci.edu/tajima/files/2018/10/Mourou-advanced-physicsprize2018.pdf 1018) http://snl.mit.edu/pub/papers/2018/Zuo\_SPIE2018.pdf 1019) http://krex.k-state.edu/dspace/bitstream/handle/2097/39572/2017\_%2520Rolles%2520Experimental%2520Protocol.pdf 1020) http://dielslab.unm.edu/sites/default/files/people/vitas/publications.pdf 1021)https://scholarspace.manoa.hawaii.edu/bitstream/10125/60213/0773.pdf 1022)https://engineering-shirpur.nmims.edu/docs/ambiora-report-2018-mpstme-shirpur.pdf 1023)https://ramhacks.vcu.edu/media/school-of-engineering/documents/2018RamHacksSponsor.pdf 1024) 1025) https://newhorizonindia.edu/nhengineering/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Nove-2018w.pdf https://www.tce.edu/sites/default/files/PDF/Smart-India-%2520Hackathon-2018.pdf 1026) 1027) https://ecommons.cornell.edu/bitstream/handle/1813/56104/eVETSconnect\_2018\_Feb\_compressed.pdf https://cltc.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/CLTC\_Privacy\_of\_the\_IoT-1.pdf 1028) 1029) https://mitxpro.mit.edu/asset $v1\%253AMITProfessional X\%2BIOTx\%2B2017\_T2\%2Btype\%40 asset\%2Bblock\%40 IoT\_Transcripts\_2016-04-04\_REV.pdf$ 1030) https://hci.princeton.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/459/2018/10/cscw200-zhengA.pdf http://jin.ece.ufl.edu/papers/HASS2018\_IoT\_Survey.pdf 1031) 1032) http://www.science.smith.edu/~jcardell/Courses/EGR328/Readings/IoT%2520Vision.pdf http://www.ece.neu.edu/wineslab/papers/restuccia18SurveyIoT.pdf 1033) 1034) https://www2.cs.uic.edu/~brents/cs494-cdcs/papers/Applied-ML-Facebook.pdf 1035) https://www.academia.edu/38223831/Sejnowski\_Terrence\_J.\_-\_The\_deep\_learning\_revolution\_2018\_.pdf https://isps.yale.edu/sites/default/files/files/Zhang\_us\_public\_opinion\_report\_jan\_2019.pdf 1036) https://web.cs.ucdavis.edu/~bai/ECS231/References/DeepLearning\_Higham18.pdf 1037) https://users.cs.duke.edu/~pdinesh/sources/li\_rl\_overview.pdf 1038) 1039) http://ide.mit.edu/sites/default/files/publications/Machine\_Translation\_NBER.pdf http://www.cs.uoregon.edu/~dou/research/papers/coling2018.pdf 1040) http://cs.jhu.edu/~kevinduh/papers/koehn18wmt.pdf 1041) 1042) https://www.stetson.edu/law/lawreview/media/WahlerFall2018.pdf 1043) http://www.psgtech.edu/Machine%2520Vision%2520and%2520metrology%2520workshop-10.11.pdf https://ai100.stanford.edu/sites/g/files/sbiybj9861/f/ai\_100\_report\_0831fnl.pdf 1044) https://www.upc.edu/grau/guiadocent/pdf/ing/820221/industrial-robotics-and-computer-vision.pdf 1045) https://authors.library.caltech.edu/94202/4/Beery\_Recognition\_in\_Terra\_ECCV\_2018\_paper.pdf 1046) 1047) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/chung2/docs/npep-2011.pdf https://webarchive.library.unt.edu/eot2008/20080916054823/http://www.nano.gov/NNI\_Instrumentation\_Metrology\_rp 1048) t.pdf http://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc501909/m1/1/high\_res\_d/RL34401\_2014Dec16.pdf 1049) 1050) http://chen.chemistry.ucsc.edu/rt-lecture.pdf

1051) http://www.cns.ucsb.edu/sites/www.cns.ucsb.edu/files/news/Nanotecnologia%2520Eng.pdf
1052) https://www.cmu.edu/nanotechnologyforum/Forum\_13/Presentation/Keynote%2520Speeches/2\_Mike%2520Roco/NNI\_16-0926\_US-Korea%2520NanoForum NNI%2520grand%2520challenges%2520in%2520US 20min M%2520ROC0.pdf 1053) https://web.stanford.edu/~jurafsky/slp3/ed3book.pdf https://techpolicylab.uw.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Data-Statements-TACL.pdf 1054) 1055) https://www.dbmi.pitt.edu/sites/default/files/usingnaturallanguage.pdf http://cisecareerworkshop.web.unc.edu/files/2018/04/IIS-CAREER-Sample1.pdf 1056) 1057) http://www.umsl.edu/~lacitym/OUWP1601.pdf https://isps.yale.edu/sites/default/files/files/Zhang\_us\_public\_opinion\_report\_jan\_2019.pdf 1058) http://aei.pitt.edu/93803/1/Working-Paper-AB\_25042018.pdf 1059) 1060) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/1\_autorsalomons.pdf 1061) https://o-www-imf-org.library.svsu.edu/external/np/g20/pdf/2018/041118.pdf http://events.sais-jhu.edu/s/2018-Capitalism-in-the-Age-of-Robots-10-May.pdf 1062) 1063) https://finance.ucsf.edu/sites/vccfo.ucsf.edu/files/wysiwgy/Finance-Forum\_20180815.pdf http://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6646/UNU-CS-Data\_SD-Report-Engaging\_Citizens-20181004-compressed.pdf 1064) https://spa.asu.edu/sites/default/files/2018-03/bythepeople\_final\_march1.pdf 1065) https://ash.harvard.edu/files/ash/files/artificial\_intelligence\_for\_citizen\_services.pdf 1066) https://campuspress.yale.edu/harryblair/files/2018/04/HBlair-CitParticPubSvcDelyIndia-JSAD2018-tbhq7v.pdf 1067) 1068) https://www.brown.edu/academics/college/swearer/sites/academics-college-swearer/files/Re-imagining-a-21s-Century-Democracy-Final-Journal.pdf https://www.unomaha.edu/college-of-public-affairs-and-community-service/center-for-public-affairs-1069)research/documents/schafer-systematic-review-jpubaffairs.pdf 1070) https://www.academia.edu/38605804/Democracy\_in\_the\_Digital\_World\_-\_Wilson\_Gomes.pdf http://www.vip.gatech.edu/local\_site/vip/sites/default/files/A%2520Translantic%2520View%25200n%2520Openness%25 1071) 2C%2520Democracy%252C%2520and%2520Engagement.pdf 1072) https://spa.asu.edu/sites/default/files/2018-03/bythepeople\_final\_march1.pdf https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/FP\_20190227\_us\_grand\_strategy\_chhabra.pdf 1073) http://depts.washington.edu/uwconf/iisummit2018/Economic-Impact-of-Digital-Identity-DIACC-v2.pdf 1074) 1075) https://www.bentley.edu/files/2018/03/28/identity-and-access-management-index-report-2018.pdf 1076) http://www.canton.edu/employee/wang/cita250/ey-global-information-security-survey-2018-19.pdf 1077) http://community.mis.temple.edu/professionalachievement/files/dlm\_uploads/2018/01/DigitalIdentityJan2018.pdf http://liblog.law.stanford.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/FEB.2019-nara-blockchain-whitepaper.pdf 1078) 1079) https://www.gsb.stanford.edu/sites/gsb/files/publication-pdf/study-blockchain-impact-moving-beyond-hype.pdf 1080) https://footprints.stanford.edu/papers/1p1v.pdf 1081) https://www.amherst.edu/system/files/media/Corrales%252520Venezuelan%252520Electoral%252520Irregularities%2525 20Feb%2525206%2525202018\_0.pdf 1082) https://jsis.washington.edu/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Task-Force\_B\_2018\_Beyer.pdf 1083) https://courses.cs.washington.edu/courses/csep590/04au/clearedprojects/Ananda.pdf 1084) https://www.wider.unu.edu/sites/default/files/Publications/Working-paper/PDF/wp2018-180.pdf 1085) https://datasmart.ash.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/2018-01/InnovationinProcurement.pdf 1086) https://pittcc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Terms-Conditions-EP.pdf 1087) https://pittcc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Terms-Conditions-NON-EP.pdf 1088) https://www.law.georgetown.edu/international-law-journal/wp-content/uploads/sites/21/2018/05/48-4-The-Revised-WTO-Agreement-on-Government-Procurement-GPA.pdf https://studentfinancialservices.humboldt.edu/sites/default/files/p970\_5.pdf 1089) http://www.jmu.edu/financeoffice/instructions/instructions w7.pdf 1090) http://www.jmu.edu/financeoffice/instructions/i1040nr.pdf 1091) 1092) https://payroll.tamu.edu/media/1601010/irs-notice-1036.pdf https://your.yale.edu/sites/default/files/files/2018-Form-1040-ES.pdf 1093) https://www.dodea.edu/SigonellaMHS/upload/2018-19-completing-fafsa.pdf 1094) http://www.bussvc.wisc.edu/forms/W9\_2018.pdf 1095)

1096) https://www.ctg.albany.edu/media/pubs/pdfs/Discussingopengovernmentasaconcept.pdf

1097) http://www.uthct.edu/d/Legal%2520and%2520Compliance/PIA\_handbook\_2018.pdf

1098) http://www.cliffsidepark.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/AP-Government-and-Politics.pdf

- 1099) https://www.incae.edu/sites/default/files/infome\_the\_global\_competitiveness\_report\_2018.pdf
- 1100) http://www.bussvc.wisc.edu/forms/W9\_2018.pdf
- 1101) http://www.jmu.edu/financeoffice/forms/fw4.pdf

- THE-NATION-ARIZONA% 25E2% 2580% 2599S-REGULATORY-SANDBOX.pdf
- 1103) https://www.law.georgetown.edu/georgetown-law-journal/wp-content/uploads/sites/26/2019/02/1Fintech-and-the-Innovation-Trilemma.pdf
- 1104) https://cdn.vanderbilt.edu/vu-wpo/wp-content/uploads/sites/89/2018/05/22151158/Regulating-Fintech.pdf

1105) https://blog.iese.edu/xvives/files/2018/02/EE\_2.2017.pdf

- 1106) http://oldpm.umd.edu/financial\_management\_for\_technology\_start\_ups\_a\_handbook\_for\_growth.pdf
- 1107) https://scet.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/Smart-Clothing-Market-Analysis-Report.pdf
- 1108) https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/84889/sensors-18-02501.pdf
- $1109) \qquad https://innovate.ee.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/2010/03/Ozcan-Group-Annurev-Anchem-Wearable-Implant-2018.pdf$
- 1110) https://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6341/Global-E-waste\_Monitor\_2017\_\_electronic\_single\_pages\_.pdf
- 1111) https://agrilifecdn.tamu.edu/d84h/files/2018/02/2018\_Texas\_4-H\_Clothing\_\_Textiles\_Packet.pdf
- 1112) https://www.saxion.edu/binaries/content/assets/bedrijven-en-instellingen/saxion-smartsolutionsfestival-2018.pdf
- $1113) \qquad https://innovate.ee.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/2010/03/Ozcan-Group-Annurev-Anchem-Wearable-Implant-2018.pdf$
- 1114) https://icorlab.ece.illinois.edu/files/2018/05/17\_Senior\_Thesis\_PEROZEK.pdf
- 1115) https://www.ri.cmu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Markvicka\_ISEC\_2018.pdf
- 1116) https://www.colorado.edu/mechanical/sites/default/files/attached-files/whiting-cv-1.pdf
- 1117) https://www.academia.edu/38014226/Self-Healing\_Electroluminescent\_Devices.pdf
- 1118) https://www.academia.edu/36877554/My\_achievement\_in\_yr\_2018.pdf
- 1119) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc855842/m2/1/high\_res\_d/R44544\_2016Jun27.pdf
- 1120) https://sirismm.si.edu/EADpdfs/NMAH.AC.0600.pdf
- 1121) https://www.ece.jhu.edu/~andreou/216/Bibliography/Technology/Kilby\_NobelPrize2000-lecture.pdf
- $1122) https://www2.mvcc.edu/users/faculty/jfiore/OpAmps/OperationalAmplifiersAndLinearICs_3E.pdf$
- 1123) https://snebulos.mit.edu/projects/reference/MIL-STD/MIL-PRF-38535J.pdf
- 1124) http://sb.cofc.edu/academics/specialty-programs/investment-program/photos-
- pdfs/Holdings%2520Presentations/MU%2520Pitchbook.pdf
- 1125) https://tippie.uiowa.edu/sites/tippie.uiowa.edu/files/documents/krause/krause-fund-f18\_mu.pdf
- 1126) http://www.prism.gatech.edu/~sko49/Webpage/Bahar.pdf
- 1127) http://tnm.engin.umich.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/353/2018/06/Byoungchan\_Dissertation.pdf
- $\label{eq:http://nowlab.cse.ohio-state.edu/static/media/workshops/presentations/exacomm17/exac$

#### vetter.pdf

- 1129) https://www.utdallas.edu/~dodge/EE2310/lec21.pdf
- 1130) http://maggini.eng.umd.edu/pub/monolithic-memsys18.pdf
- 1131) https://ece.gmu.edu/~qli/ECE685/spintronics2016.pdf
- 1132) https://galligroup.uchicago.edu/images/news/FY2018\_EFRC\_Award\_List.pdf
- 1133) https://engineering.jhu.edu/materials/wp-content/uploads/sites/16/2018/02/Howard-Katz-CV-Dec-2017.pdf
- 1134) http://oldpm.umd.edu/electronic\_devices\_conventional\_current\_version\_by\_thomas\_floyd\_7e\_7th\_edition\_seventh\_edit ion\_hardcover\_textbook.pdf
- 1135) https://web.northeastern.edu/nemslab/wp-content/uploads/2012/05/Qian\_CV.pdf
- 1136) http://www.northeastern.edu/alert/assets/R2-B3\_2018.pdf
- 1137) https://www.academia.edu/38443129/1\_MEMS\_and\_NEMS\_Applications\_to\_Data\_Storage\_rev\_2\_x\_RGZ\_at\_ADVENT .pdf
- 1138) https://mntl.illinois.edu/docs/MNTL%25202017%2520Annual%2520Highlights%2520Report%2520Web.pdf
- 1139) https://shuozhixu.cnsi.ucsb.edu/publications/others/chavoshi\_nanoscratching.review\_jmep.2018.pdf
- 1140) https://webarchive.library.unt.edu/eot2008/20080916054823/http://www.nano.gov/NNI\_Instrumentation\_Metrology\_rp t.pdf
- 1141) https://academicaffairs.unca.edu/sites/default/files/FOA%2520Archive%25207.6.18.pdf
- 1142) https://ece.gmu.edu/~qli/ECE685/spintronics2016.pdf
- 1143) http://cal.ucf.edu/dissertation/PhD/arman.pdf

- 1144) https://galligroup.uchicago.edu/images/news/FY2018\_EFRC\_Award\_List.pdf
- 1145) http://www.ccmr.cornell.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2018/10/Combined-Reports\_REU-2018-compressed.pdf
- 1146) http://frdo.unm.edu/sites/default/files/nsf18578.pdf
- 1147) https://cltc.ucdavis.edu/sites/default/files/files/publication/170404\_2016\_Title24\_Residential\_Lighting\_Guide\_WEB.pdf
- 1148) https://cltc.ucdavis.edu/sites/default/files/files/publication/leds-the-next-generation-light-source-siminovitch.pdf
- 1149) https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2018/12/LED\_street\_lighting.pdf
- 1150) https://ccl.northwestern.edu/2017/cctv2017.pdf
- 1151) http://depts.washington.edu/trac/bulkdisk/pdf/889.1.pdf
- 1152) https://www2.humboldt.edu/heif/sites/default/files/u38/Ichien\_Derek.pdf
- 1153) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf
- https://www.waketech.edu/sites/default/files/page-file-uploads/Energy-Design-Management-Guidelines2018.pdf
- 1155) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf
- 1156) https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf
- 1157) http://ipu.msu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/UK-Pathways-for-the-Electricity-Sector-2016.pdf
- 1158) https://ialab.it.monash.edu/~apro0003/article/bdvaProuzeau.pdf
- $http://www.people.vcu.edu/~mmanic/papers/2016/IEM16\_ManicAmarAndinaReiger\_IntelligentBEMS\_IEEE.pdf$
- 1160) https://www.academia.edu/37476042/2018\_ASHRAE\_Handbook\_-\_Refrigeration\_SI.pdf
- 1161) https://publications.energyresearch.ucf.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/DOE-EE-1701\_1416954\_Martin-Fenaughty-

Parker.pdf

- 1162) https://publications.energyresearch.ucf.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/FSEC-PF-473-18.pdf
- 1163) http://www.pm.umd.edu/practical\_mine\_ventilation.pdf
- $\label{eq:http://www.globalchange.umd.edu/data/topten/TopTen_Best_Available_Technologies_in_the_US_full%2520 reportl.pdf$
- $1165) \qquad http://www.eurac.edu/en/research/technologies/renewableenergy/Documents/SimAUD-2018-Paper_v11.pdf$
- 1166) https://cife.stanford.edu/sites/g/files/sbiybj9681/f/cife2018\_gorle\_fischer\_naturalventilation.pdf
- 1167) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2015/ph240/xue1/docs/electric.pdf
- 1168) https://energy.umich.edu/te3/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2018/09/Final-Breetz-Salon-EV-Ownership-Costs-v3-TE3-2.pdf
- 1169) https://projects.iq.harvard.edu/files/energyconsortium/files/rwp18-026\_lee\_1.pdf
- 1170) http://www.mit.edu/~lijing/documents/papers/li\_evcompatibility.pdf
- 1171) http://aei.pitt.edu/94326/1/RR\_2018\_05\_Circular\_Impacts\_batteries.pdf
- 1172) https://publications.energyresearch.ucf.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/FSEC-CR-2087-18.pdf
- 1173) https://steps.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/STEPS\_PHEV\_NCST\_Turrentine\_Steering-EV-Transition\_Final-White-Paper\_July-2018.pdf
- 1174) https://nccleantech.ncsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Q4-18\_EV\_execsummary\_Final.pdf
- $1175) \qquad https://www.morgan.edu/Documents/ACADEMICS/CENTERS/NTC/Environmental \% 2520Attributes \% 2520of \% 2520Electric states and the second states and t$
- ic% 2520 Vehicle% 2520 Ownership% 2520 and% 2520 Commuting% 2520 Behavior% 2520 in% 2520 Maryland% 2520 2000 Maryland% 2520 Maryla
- % 2520 Public % 2520 Policy % 2520 and % 2520 Equity % 2520 Consider a.pdf
- 1176) https://nccleantech.ncsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/CNG-Chapter3.pdf
- 1177) https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/pictures/2018-02-
- 13%2520Columbia%2520University%2520FINAL.pdf
- 1178) https://static.tti.tamu.edu/tti.tamu.edu/documents/PRC-14-28F.pdf
- 1179) https://steps.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/2016-UCD-ITS-RR-16-20.pdf
- 1180) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc980428/m2/1/high\_res\_d/R44765\_2017Feb13.pdf
- 1181) https://www.purdue.edu/discoverypark/sufg/docs/publications/Natural%2520Gas%2520Market%2520Study.pdf
- 1182) https://www.coloradomesa.edu/energy/symposium/documents/2018presentations/6\_croy\_cook\_eia\_world\_energy\_outlo
- ok.pdf
- 1183) https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/pictures/2018-02-
- 13%2520Columbia%2520University%2520FINAL.pdf
- 1184) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf
- 1185) https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf
- 1186) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2017/ph240/yarbrough1/docs/0484-2017.pdf
- 1187) https://static.tti.tamu.edu/tti.tamu.edu/documents/PRC-14-28F.pdf
- $1188) \qquad https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc1281643/m2/1/high_res_d/IF10939\_2018Aug02.pdf$
- 1189) https://globalchange.mit.edu/sites/default/files/MITJPSPGC\_Rpt271.pdf

1190) https://webarchive.library.unt.edu/eot2008/20090116074542/http://www.ucsusa.org/assets/documents/clean\_energy/Co al-power-in-a-warming-world.pdf 1191) http://southwestflorida.alumclub.mit.edu/s/1314/images/gid197/editor documents/fpl2009/the future of coal.pdf 1192) http://blogs.ksbe.edu/brcourto/files/2019/03/HSEO\_2018\_EnergyFactsFigures.pdf https://www.beloit.edu/upton/assets/4\_VOL\_X\_Isaacs.pdf 1193) 1194) https://epic.uchicago.edu/sites/default/files/EPP%2520Final%2520Paper%2520-%2520Grid%25201%2520Team\_FINAL\_11-7-2016.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph241/toner1/docs/hawaii-mav17.pdf 1195) https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/pictures/CGEP\_NaturalGasInEuropeanPowerSector\_August2018.pdf 1196) http://turbolab.tamu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2018/08/METS2Tutorial5.pdf 1197) 1198) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc782872/m2/1/high\_res\_d/828625.pdf 1199) https://web.stanford.edu/group/efmh/jacobson/Articles/I/NatGasVsWWS%26coal.pdf https://cefrc.princeton.edu/sites/cefrc/files/2018\_lieuwen\_part\_1\_introduction.pdf 1200) https://www.lsu.edu/ces/presentations/2018/DISMUKES\_2018\_DEQ-CONF-COGEN\_final.pdf 1201) 1202) https://powering.mit.edu/sites/default/files/documents/1-26-2017%2520MIT%2520PSD%2520PDF%2520downsized.pdf https://steps.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/OGDEN\_ProspectforHydrogen2018\_UCD-ITS-RR-18-07.pdf 1203)  $http://peccpublication.pace.edu/sites/default/files/publications/Brownfields-CHP-district\_Final.35291029.pdf$ 1204) 1205) delines%2520for%2520the%2520State%2520of%2520Texas.pdf https://fyi.uwex.edu/energy/files/2018/07/6baye2015.pdf 1206)https://indigo.uic.edu/bitstream/handle/10027/23077/ROMANO-THESIS-2018.pdf 1207)1208) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/131822/24236081.pdf 1209) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/121850/2018-RENEWABLE SUSTAINABLE ENERGY REVIEWS Moritz-Malmquist-Isalgue-Martin.pdf 1210) https://www.umassp.edu/sites/umassp.edu/files/content/publications/budget-office/FY14-18\_Capital\_Plan.pdf 1211) https://bot.ucf.edu/files/2018/10/3-Full-Board-Materials-for-October-5th-2018.pdf 1212)https://energy.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/uploads/Joe-Clarke-04.19.2018.pdf https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/India-Renewable-Power-v10.pdf 1213) 1214) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2016/ph240/nana-sinkam1/docs/resources-wec-2016.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph241/ayala1/docs/irena-oct17.pdf 1215)1216) http://ipu.msu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/WEF-Global-Energy-Transformation-2018.pdf https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/2117/112213/1/TMMMD1de1.pdf 1217) 1218) https://energy.utexas.edu/sites/default/files/UTAustin\_FCe\_Subsidies\_2018\_April.pdf 1219) https://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/273368/files/NDL2018-018.pdf http://www.law.nyu.edu/sites/default/files/48.10719-Future.of\_.Net\_.Metering.pdf 1220)https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf 1221)  $https://academiccommons.columbia.edu/download/fedora\_content/download/ac:vt4b8gthx8/content/Gundlach\%2520 and fedora\_content/download/ac:vt4b8gthx8/content/Gundlach\%2520 and fedora\_content/download/ac:vt4b8gthx8/content/Gundlach\%2520 and fedora\_content/download/ac:vt4b8gthx8/content/Gundlach\%2520 and fedora\_content/download/ac:vt4b8gthx8/content/Gundlach\%2520 and fedora\_content/Gundlach\%2520 and fedora\_content/Gundlach\%2000 and fedora\_content/Gundlach\%2000$ 1222) %2520Webb%25202018-05%2520DER%2520in%2520Wholesale%2520Markets.pdf https://nccleantech.ncsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Q2-18\_SolarExecSummary\_Final.pdf 1223) http://www.science.smith.edu/~jcardell/Readings/Summer%25202018/NREL%2520PwrSysFuture.pdf 1224)1225) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2019/ph241/riscoe1/docs/eia-18.pdf 1226) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc1157098/m2/1/high\_res\_d/R45156\_2018Apr10.pdf http://cnee.colostate.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/State-Brief\_HI.pdf 1227) https://www.academia.edu/37476058/2017\_ASHRAE\_Handbook\_Fundamentals\_SI.pdf 1228) https://www.academia.edu/37476042/2018\_ASHRAE\_Handbook\_-\_Refrigeration\_SI.pdf 1229) https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/84894/materials-11-01433.pdf 1230)http://www.eurac.edu/en/research/technologies/renewableenergy/publications/PublishingImages/Pages/Elaborated-PhD-1231) and-diploma-theses/Battisti\_Luca\_Thesis\_Final.pdf https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf 1232) http://www.seas.columbia.edu/earth/wtert/sofos/Waste Management Report by Netherlands.pdf 1233) http://kiwi.atmos.colostate.edu/group/dave/at745/WG1AR5\_Chapter09\_FINAL.pdf 1234) 1235) https://www2.eecs.berkeley.edu/Pubs/TechRpts/2018/EECS-2018-15.pdf

1236) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf

1237) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2017/ph241/grace2/docs/0383-2017.pdf

1238) http://ipu.msu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/LBNL-Electrification-of-Buildings-2018.pdf

1239) https://listserv.gmu.edu/cgi-bin/wa%3FA3%3Dind1805%26L%3DVSE-FACULTY-

L%26E%3Dbase64%26P%3D230492%26B%3D--

\_005\_7F5EEFD39695405286F0A899A71D44DCgmuedu\_%26T%3Dapplication%252Fpdf%3B%2520name%3D%2522FOA\_1919\_FY1 8\_Adv\_Veh\_Tech\_FINAL.pdf

1240) https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf

1241) http://www.globalchange.umd.edu/data/topten/TopTen\_Best\_Available\_Technologies\_in\_the\_US\_full%2520reportl.pdf

1242) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc948739/m2/1/high\_res\_d/ee\_and\_dr.pdf

1243) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph241/manuel1/docs/eia-may18.pdf

1244) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph241/wojcik1/docs/iaea-bull-25-2-47.pdf

1245) http://content.csbs.utah.edu/~mli/Economies%25205430-6430/Sovacool-

Nuclear%2520Power%2520and%2520Renewable%2520Electricity%2520in%2520Asia.pdf

1246) https://www.purdue.edu/discoverypark/energy/assets/pdfs/pdf/Golub,%2520Sal\_DLS%2520Series.pdf

1247) http://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc463413/m1/1/high\_res\_d/RL33558\_2014Oct15.pdf

1248) https://ceic.tepper.cmu.edu/-

/media/files/tepper/centers/ceic/publications/published%2520papers/2017%2520and%25202018/morgan%2520et%2520al%25202018%2520pdf.pdf

1249) http://catalog.mit.edu/subjects/22/22.pdf

1250) http://oaktrust.library.tamu.edu/bitstream/handle/1969.1/156866/FOMBAD-THESIS-2016.pdf

1251) https://rael.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/SOCCR2\_Ch3\_Energy\_Systems.pdf

 $1252) https://kbhenergycenter.utexas.edu/sites/default/files/Quarterly%2520Report_Marshall%2520Adkins.pdf$ 

 $1253) https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/pictures/CGEP_New \% 2520 Realities_\% 2520 New \% 2520 Risks_\% 2520 Risks_\%$ 

Rethinking%2520the%2520Strategic%2520Petroleum%2520Reserve.pdf

1254) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/owusu-agyeman2/docs/eia-mar16.pdf

1255) https://www.ntnu.edu/documents/1263635085/1280103608/SUBPRO%2BAnnual%2BReport%2B2017-

2018%2BScreen%2B(4%2BMB).pdf

1256) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf

1257) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2017/ph241/grace2/docs/0383-2017.pdf

1258) http://ipu.msu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/LBNL-Electrification-of-Buildings-2018.pdf

1259) https://listserv.gmu.edu/cgi-bin/wa%3FA3%3Dind1805%26L%3DVSE-FACULTY-

L%26E%3Dbase64%26P%3D230492%26B%3D--

\_005\_7F5EEFD39695405286F0A899A71D44DCgmuedu\_%26T%3Dapplication%252Fpdf%3B%2520name%3D%2522FOA\_1919\_FY1 8\_Adv\_Veh\_Tech\_FINAL.pdf

1260) https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf

1261) http://www.globalchange.umd.edu/data/topten/TopTen\_Best\_Available\_Technologies\_in\_the\_US\_full%2520reportl.pdf

1262) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc948739/m2/1/high\_res\_d/ee\_and\_dr.pdf

1263) https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf

1264) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf

1265) https://rael.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/SOCCR2\_Ch3\_Energy\_Systems.pdf

1266) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2017/ph241/grace2/docs/0383-2017.pdf

1267) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2016/ph240/nana-sinkam1/docs/resources-wec-2016.pdf

1268) https://listserv.gmu.edu/cgi-bin/wa%3FA3%3Dind1805%26L%3DVSE-FACULTY-

L%26E%3Dbase64%26P%3D230492%26B%3D--

\_005\_7F5EEFD39695405286F0A899A71D44DCgmuedu\_%26T%3Dapplication%252Fpdf%3B%2520name%3D%2522FOA\_1919\_FY1 8\_Adv\_Veh\_Tech\_FINAL.pdf

1269) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc948739/m2/1/high\_res\_d/ee\_and\_dr.pdf

1270) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf

1271) https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf

1272) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2017/ph241/grace2/docs/0383-2017.pdf

1273) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2016/ph241/kaiser1/docs/R41953.pdf

1274) https://listserv.gmu.edu/cgi-bin/wa%3FA3%3Dind1805%26L%3DVSE-FACULTY-

L%26E%3Dbase64%26P%3D230492%26B%3D--

\_005\_7F5EEFD39695405286F0A899A71D44DCgmuedu\_%26T%3Dapplication%252Fpdf%3B%2520name%3D%2522FOA\_1919\_FY1  $8_Adv_Veh_Tech_FINAL.pdf$ 1275) http://blogs.ksbe.edu/brcourto/files/2019/03/HSEO 2018 EnergyFactsFigures.pdf 1276) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc948739/m2/1/high\_res\_d/ee\_and\_dr.pdf https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/116965/memoria.pdf 1277) 1278) https://energy.wisc.edu/sites/default/files/Biogas\_Opportunity\_in\_Wisconsin\_WEB.pdf https://www.tiss.edu/uploads/files/NITBiogasplantTISSRevised.pdf 1279) 1280) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2019/ph241/riscoe1/docs/irena-18.pdf 1281) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2013/ph241/kallman1/docs/BEDB4\_Full\_Doc.pdf 1282) https://www.upc.edu/master/guiadocent/pdf/ing/240EN31/biomass-and-waste.pdf 1283) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf 1284) https://faculty.washington.edu/stevehar/Biomass-Overview.pdf http://www.usu.edu/ipe/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/Reliability-Biomass-Full-Report.pdf 1285) 1286) http://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc501754/m1/1/high\_res\_d/R40529\_2015Jan06.pdf 1287) http://www.ase.tufts.edu/gdae/Pubs/climate/ClimatePolicyBrief8.pdf 1288) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2019/ph241/riscoe1/docs/irena-18.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2010/ph240/ashe2/docs/solar\_timeline.pdf 1289) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/India-Renewable-Power-v10.pdf 1290) https://www.usu.edu/ipe/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/Reliability-Solar-Full-Report.pdf 1291) https://in.nau.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/156/2018/08/JEMEZ-PUEBLO-SOLAR-POWER-STUDY-ACKER-198-Final-Interval and Interval and Inte1292)ek.pdf https://repository.asu.edu/attachments/125941/content/Jin\_asu\_0010N\_13491.pdf 1293) 1294) https://sustainablecitiespreview.usc.edu/files/2015/01/ipcc\_wg3\_ar5\_final-draft\_postplenary\_chapter121.pdf https://sites.psu.edu/psusciencepolicy/files/2017/08/2016-Jacoby-The-future-of-low-23lrdio.pdf 1295) 1296) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2010/ph240/ashe2/docs/solar\_timeline.pdf http://www.mtu.edu/ece/department/faculty/full-time/zekavat/pdfs/ssp-2018/ssp2018-vinogradova-space-environment-1297) impacts.pdf https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/125663/REPORT\_483.pdf 1298) https://in.nau.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/156/2018/08/JEMEZ-PUEBLO-SOLAR-POWER-STUDY-ACKER-198-Final-1299)ek.pdf 1300)http://acep.uaf.edu/media/260463/EEM-01255\_SolarDesignManual\_5thEd201805.pdf https://www2.eecs.berkeley.edu/Pubs/TechRpts/2018/EECS-2018-3.pdf 1301) 1302) http://yylab.seas.ucla.edu/papers/acs2Eaccounts2E5b00404.pdf 1303) https://www.colorado.edu/lab/mcgehee/sites/default/files/attached-files/barrier\_design\_to\_prevent\_metalinduced\_degradation\_and\_improve\_thermal\_stability\_in\_perovskite\_solar\_cells.pdf http://leitelab.umd.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/2019-Leite-Joule-Perspective.pdf 1304) https://443.ece.illinois.edu/files/2018/06/SolarCellReportWaterMarked.pdf 1305) 1306) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/2117/106488/1/TGLR1de1.pdf 1307) https://www2.eecs.berkeley.edu/Pubs/TechRpts/2018/EECS-2018-3.pdf 1308) https://www.colorado.edu/lab/mcgehee/sites/default/files/attached-files/barrier\_design\_to\_prevent\_metalinduced\_ \_degradation\_and\_improve\_thermal\_stability\_in\_perovskite\_solar\_cells.pdf 1309) https://web.stanford.edu/group/mcgehee/presentations/McGehee2011.pdf 1310) http://cpmi.illinois.edu/files/2018/07/Recent-developments-in-surface-science-and-engineering-thin-films-nanosciencebiomaterials-plasma-science-and-vacuum-technology.pdf http://www.seas.columbia.edu/clca/6\_Burrows\_Fthenakis\_SolarMaterials.pdf 1311) http://dcg.materials.drexel.edu/wp-content/publications/MrsBulletin\_Vol36\_843.pdf 1312)https://www.nitt.edu/home/academics/departments/faculty/santhoshmc.pdf 1313) 1314) https://nanolab.usc.edu/files/2018/02/igzo-2gemgcb.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2010/ph240/ashe2/docs/solar\_timeline.pdf 1315) 1316) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2017/ph240/wang-k1/docs/wb-2015.pdf https://pangea.stanford.edu/ERE/db/GeoConf/papers/SGW/2019/Gustafson.pdf 1317) 1318) http://www.alaskapacific.edu/wp-content/uploads/2012/03/Anthony-Bryant-Senior-Project.pdf

1319) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/harber1/docs/need-2013.pdf

1320) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf https://www.upc.edu/master/guiadocent/pdf/ing/820741/hydropower-and-ocean-energy.pdf 1321) 1322) http://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc700819/m1/1/high\_res\_d/R42579\_2015Jul07.pdf 1323) https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-032118-1324)144002/unrestricted/Rainwater\_Energy\_Harvesting\_MQP\_Final.pdf https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf 1325) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/horton2/docs/windeurope-2017.pdf 1326)https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf 1327) 1328) http://blogs.ksbe.edu/brcourto/files/2019/03/HSEO\_2018\_EnergyFactsFigures.pdf https://umaine.edu/offshorewindtestsite/wp-content/uploads/sites/303/2017/02/OETF\_FinalReportAppendices.pdf 1329) 1330) https://www.upc.edu/master/guiadocent/pdf/ing/820741/hydropower-and-ocean-energy.pdf  $https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2099.1/14731/Master\%2520Thesis\_\%2520TIDAL\%2520POWER\_\%2520Ec$ 1331) onomic%2520and%2520Technological%2520assessment\_%2520Tatiana%2520Montllonch.pdf 1332) https://sustainablecitiespreview.usc.edu/files/2015/01/ipcc\_wg3\_ar5\_final-draft\_postplenary\_chapter121.pdf https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc1157002/m2/1/high\_res\_d/IF10819\_2018Feb02.pdf 1333) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2019/ph241/riscoe1/docs/nrel-tp-6a20-68925.pdf 1334) https://web.stanford.edu/group/efmh/jacobson/Articles/I/TiltAngles.pdf 1335) http://www.fsec.ucf.edu/en/publications/pdf/FSEC-GP-274-03.pdf 1336) https://eps.fiu.edu/wp-content/uploads/Future\_Challenges\_and\_Mitigation\_Methods\_for\_High\_.pdf 1337) https://sustainablecitiespreview.usc.edu/files/2015/01/ipcc\_wg3\_ar5\_final-draft\_postplenary\_chapter121.pdf 1338) https://www.upc.edu/master/guiadocent/pdf/ing/820744/solar-thermal-energy.pdf 1339) 1340) https://www.colgate.edu/docs/default-source/default-document-library/full-report-(pdf)-5.pdf https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/India-Renewable-Power-v10.pdf 1341) 1342) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2010/ph240/ashe2/docs/solar\_timeline.pdf 1343) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2017/ph240/hallock2/docs/abb-2015.pdf http://www.seas.columbia.edu/earth/wtert/sofos/Waste\_Management\_Report\_by\_Netherlands.pdf 1344) https://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6341/Global-E-waste\_Monitor\_2017\_\_electronic\_single\_pages\_.pdf 1345) https://epubl.ktu.edu/object/elaba:34649519/34649519.pdf 1346) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/park-h2/docs/env-jp-2012.pdf 1347) 1348) https://www.messiah.edu/download/downloads/id/1252/waste\_manual.pdf https://www.uvm.edu/crs/reports/2018/2018\_VT\_Poll\_Results\_Vermont\_Household\_Food\_Waste\_Behaviors\_Report.pd 1349) f 1350) https://archive.nyu.edu/jspui/bitstream/2451/42242/2/Plastic%2520Waste%2520Management%2520in%2520India.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/horton2/docs/windeurope-2017.pdf 1351) https://kleinmanenergy.upenn.edu/sites/default/files/proceedingsreports/KCEP-US-Offshore-Wind-Power-FINAL.pdf 1352) http://aei.pitt.edu/94594/1/PB201804-bullet.pdf 1353) https://www.law.lsu.edu/jelrsymposium/files/2018/02/18JelrSymposium-Panel1.pdf 1354) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf 1355) https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf 1356) 1357) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2016/ph240/nana-sinkam1/docs/resources-wec-2016.pdf 1358) https://rael.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/SOCCR2\_Ch3\_Energy\_Systems.pdf https://www.e-education.psu.edu/eme444/sites/www.e-1359) education.psu.edu.eme444/files/IndiaEnergyOutlook\_WEO2015.pdf 1360) http://aei.pitt.edu/94594/1/PB201804-bullet.pdf http://www.cpp.edu/~skboddeker/301/misc/Complete\_WER\_2013\_Survey.pdf 1361) http://blogs.ksbe.edu/brcourto/files/2019/03/HSEO\_2018\_EnergyFactsFigures.pdf 1362) 1363) http://cm.be.washington.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/13/2018/05/Embodied-Carbon-Network\_Buildings-Webinar\_Slides.pdf http://cm.be.washington.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/13/2018/03/Embodied-Carbon-Network\_Renewable-1364) Materials\_Webinar-Slides.pdf 1365) http://diposit.ub.edu/dspace/bitstream/2445/57523/1/TFM\_MERSE\_AlejandroCalderon.pdf

1366) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/129065/PLEA2018\_Vol2\_Long%2520Paper%2520%2528DP%252CP C%252CET%2529-.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2019/ph241/riscoe1/docs/eia-18.pdf 1367) 1368) https://energy.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Energy-Storage-for-the-Grid.pdf https://repository.asu.edu/attachments/189614/content/Vaidya\_asu\_0010N\_17200.pdf 1369) 1370) https://www.bren.ucsb.edu/research/2018Group\_Projects/documents/SolarStash\_FinalGPReportredacted.pdf http://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6391/DIGITAL\_Final\_Report.pdf 1371) 1372) https://faculty.chemistry.harvard.edu/files/gordon/files/arbour collectors item science 2018.pdf https://www.law.berkeley.edu/files/ccelp/Reuse\_and\_Repower\_--\_Web\_Copy.pdf 1373) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2019/ph241/riscoe1/docs/eia-18.pdf 1374) https://www.purdue.edu/discoverypark/sufg/docs/publications/SUFG%2520Energy%2520Storage%2520Report.pdf 1375) 1376) https://energy.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Energy-Storage-for-the-Grid.pdf https://www.nsparc.msstate.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Energy-Storage-Report-1.23.18 FINAL.pdf 1377) 1378) https://academiccommons.columbia.edu/download/fedora\_content/download/ac:206709/content/Spanos\_columbia\_005 4D\_13754.pdf http://cnee.colostate.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/IREC\_Charging-Ahead\_Energy-Storage-1379)Guide FINALApril2017.pdf http://www.pm.umd.edu/year\_8\_energy\_test\_answers.pdf 1380) 1381) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2019/ph241/riscoe1/docs/eia-18.pdf 1382) http://www.mntap.umn.edu/download/245/2018/15076/nicholas-michalik-center-for-energy-and-environmentpresentation-2018-2.pdf https://energy.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Energy-Storage-for-the-Grid.pdf 1383) 1384) http://cesp.gmu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/2018-Virginia-Energy-Plan.pdf 1385) https://www.purdue.edu/discoverypark/sufg/docs/publications/SUFG%2520Energy%2520Storage%2520Report.pdf 1386) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2019/ph241/riscoe1/docs/eia-18.pdf https://energy.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Energy-Storage-for-the-Grid.pdf1387) 1388) http://cnee.colostate.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Clean-Energy-Leg-Academy-Storage-Slides.pdf http://css.umich.edu/sites/default/files/U.S.\_Grid\_Energy\_Storage\_Factsheet\_CSS15-17\_e2018.pdf 1389) https://www.purdue.edu/discoverypark/sufg/docs/publications/SUFG%2520Energy%2520Storage%2520Report.pdf1390) https://steps.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/OGDEN ProspectforHydrogen2018 UCD-ITS-RR-18-07.pdf 1391) 1392) http://acep.uaf.edu/media/254012/EnergyStorage\_AlaskaCaseStudy\_14986580.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2019/ph241/riscoe1/docs/eia-18.pdf 1393) https://energy.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Energy-Storage-for-the-Grid.pdf 1394) 1395) https://faculty.chemistry.harvard.edu/files/gordon/files/arbour\_collectors\_item\_science\_2018.pdf http://energytransition.umn.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Energy-Storage-101-2nd-Ed.-FINAL-2.0.pdf 1396) https://www.nsparc.msstate.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Energy-Storage-Report-1.23.18\_FINAL.pdf 1397) https://www.purdue.edu/discoverypark/sufg/docs/publications/SUFG%2520Energy%2520Storage%2520Report.pdf 1398) 1399) https://energy.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Energy-Storage-for-the-Grid.pdf https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/120341/marina-gil-thesis-report.pdf 1400) http://www.pm.umd.edu/mercedes\_benz\_engine\_timing\_file\_type\_pdf.pdf 1401) 1402) http://www.pm.umd.edu/caterpillar\_3512b\_engine\_specs\_file\_type\_pdf.pdf 1403) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2019/ph241/riscoe1/docs/eia-18.pdf http://css.umich.edu/sites/default/files/U.S.\_Grid\_Energy\_Storage\_Factsheet\_CSS15-17\_e2018.pdf 1404) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/mangram2/docs/desert-01.pdf 1405) https://steps.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/OGDEN\_ProspectforHydrogen2018\_UCD-ITS-RR-18-07.pdf 1406) http://research.sabanciuniv.edu/36808/1/1805\_IICECE%2526CPaperSustainable\_NaturalGas.pdf 1407) https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-030211-1408) 171842/unrestricted/Future\_of\_Fuel\_Cells\_in\_Australia.pdf http://yagandomi.utk.edu/IAHE/IAHE\_volume9\_issue4\_August2017.pdf 1409) http://www.pitt.edu/~budny/papers/8054.pdf 1410) https://static.tti.tamu.edu/tti.tamu.edu/documents/PRC-14-28F.pdf 1411) 1412) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/mangram2/docs/desert-01.pdf

1413) https://steps.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/OGDEN\_ProspectforHydrogen2018\_UCD-ITS-RR-18-07.pdf

1414) http://research.sabanciuniv.edu/36808/1/1805\_IICECE%2526CPaperSustainable\_NaturalGas.pdf https://courses.engr.illinois.edu/npre470/sp2018/web/NPRE%2520470%2520Feb%252027%25202018%2520Final.pdf 1415) 1416) https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf 1417) https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-030211-171842/unrestricted/Future\_of\_Fuel\_Cells\_in\_Australia.pdf 1418) https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/pictures/DAC\_Roadmap\_20181210.pdf http://aei.pitt.edu/94326/1/RR\_2018\_05\_Circular\_Impacts\_batteries.pdf 1419) http://blogs.cuit.columbia.edu/yanggroup/files/2019/03/1-60.pdf 1420)http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2019/ph241/riscoe1/docs/eia-18.pdf 1421) 1422) https://energy.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Energy-Storage-for-the-Grid.pdf https://www.lpi.usra.edu/opag/meetings/feb2018/presentations/Surampudi.pdf 1423) 1424) https://repository.asu.edu/attachments/189614/content/Vaidya\_asu\_0010N\_17200.pdf https://dukespace.lib.duke.edu/dspace/bitstream/handle/10161/16600/US%2520Lithium%2520Ion%2520Cell%2520Manu 1425) facturing%2520Supply%2520Chain.pdf 1426) http://dels.nas.edu/resources/static-assets/besr/miscellaneous/Open-Session-Materials/CER/2018/May/Wang,%2520Yucong.pdf https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/121911/comparison\_state.pdf 1427) http://blogs.cuit.columbia.edu/yanggroup/files/2019/03/1-60.pdf 1428) https://repository.asu.edu/attachments/189614/content/Vaidya\_asu\_0010N\_17200.pdf 1429) http://sites.utexas.edu/manthiram/files/2018/03/Lithium-sulfur-batteries-poised-for-leap.pdf 1430) https://www.bren.ucsb.edu/research/2018Group\_Projects/documents/SolarStash\_FinalGPReportredacted.pdf 1431) http://digitalassets.lib.berkeley.edu/etd/ucb/text/Wang\_berkeley\_0028E\_18238.pdf 1432) 1433) https://transweb.sjsu.edu/sites/default/files/1238-lithium-ion-battery-post-vehicle-repurposing-and-recycling.pdfhttps://www.purdue.edu/discoverypark/sufg/docs/publications/SUFG%2520Energy%2520Storage%2520Report.pdf 1434)1435) https://energy.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Energy-Storage-for-the-Grid.pdf 1436) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2019/ph241/riscoe1/docs/eia-18.pdf 1437) https://web.stanford.edu/group/cui\_group/papers/Yang\_Cui\_NATENG\_2018.pdf https://www.purdue.edu/discoverypark/sufg/docs/publications/SUFG%2520Energy%2520Storage%2520Report.pdf 1438) 1439) http://www2.me.rochester.edu/projects/dhkelley-lab/papers/Kelley2017.pdf http://www2.me.rochester.edu/projects/dhkelley-lab/papers/AshourDissertation.pdf 1440)1441) http://energytransition.umn.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Energy-Storage-101-2nd-Ed.-FINAL-2.0.pdf https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/124072/optimization-of-pv-power-plant-operation-through-energy-1442) storage-providing-ancillary-services.pdf https://nanolab.usc.edu/files/2018/03/87170-2n292me.pdf 1443) https://web.stanford.edu/group/cui\_group/papers/Wei\_Cui\_ACSNANO\_2016.pdf 1444) http://www.beg.utexas.edu/files/energyecon/think-corner/2016/CEE\_Research\_Note-Battery\_Materials\_Value\_Chain-1445) Apr16.pdf 1446) https://www.academia.edu/38270848/zafar2017.pdf https://www.mtl.mit.edu/sites/default/files/attachments/ar2018.pdf 1447) https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-042418-170809/unrestricted/Clark\_Final\_MQP\_Paper.pdf 1448) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf 1449) https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf 1450) http://ipu.msu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/WEF-Global-Energy-Transformation-2018.pdf 1451) https://steps.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/OGDEN\_ProspectforHydrogen2018\_UCD-ITS-RR-18-07.pdf 1452) https://scholarship.rice.edu/bitstream/handle/1911/102774/bi-brief-061518-ces-energyoutlook.pdf 1453) https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/pictures/2018-02-1454)13%2520Columbia%2520University%2520FINAL.pdf 1455) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/horton2/docs/windeurope-2017.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2016/ph240/nana-sinkam1/docs/resources-wec-2016.pdf 1456) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/India-Renewable-Power-v10.pdf 1457) https://www.cert.ucr.edu/crng/Optimal\_Pathways\_Report.pdf 1458) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2019/ph241/riscoe1/docs/eia-18.pdf 1459)

1460) https://energy.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Energy-Storage-for-the-Grid.pdf

1461) http://css.umich.edu/sites/default/files/U.S.\_Grid\_Energy\_Storage\_Factsheet\_CSS15-17\_e2018.pdf https://www.purdue.edu/discoverypark/sufg/docs/publications/SUFG%2520Energy%2520Storage%2520Report.pdf 1462) 1463) http://energytransition.umn.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Energy-Storage-101-2nd-Ed.-FINAL-2.0.pdf 1464) https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-032118-144002/unrestricted/Rainwater\_Energy\_Harvesting\_MQP\_Final.pdf 1465) http://blogs.cuit.columbia.edu/yanggroup/files/2019/03/1-60.pdf http://liugroup.ucsd.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/frontiers\_of\_solidstate\_batteries.pdf 1466) 1467) https://www.stonybrook.edu/commcms/aertc/conference2018/conference/presentations/Perreault\_Christian\_powerpoint. pdf 1468) https://www.lpi.usra.edu/opag/meetings/feb2018/presentations/Surampudi.pdf 1469) https://www.kit.edu/downloads/pi/PI\_2018\_126\_Next%2520Generation%2520Batteries%2520for%2520Emobility%2520a nd%2520Stationary%2520Storage%2520Systems.pdf https://dukespace.lib.duke.edu/dspace/bitstream/handle/10161/16600/US%2520Lithium%2520Ion%2520Cell%2520Manu 1470) facturing%2520Supply%2520Chain.pdf 1471) http://www.terpconnect.umd.edu/~yfmo/aenm.201800035.pdf https://web.stanford.edu/group/cui\_group/papers/Yang\_Cui\_NATENG\_2018.pdf 1472) https://energy.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Energy-Storage-for-the-Grid.pdf 1473) https://repository.asu.edu/attachments/189614/content/Vaidya\_asu\_0010N\_17200.pdf 1474) https://repository.lib.ncsu.edu/bitstream/handle/1840.16/10989/etd.pdf 1475) http://graham.umich.edu/media/files/LC-IA-ACE-Roadmap-Expert-Forecast-Underwood.pdf 1476)  $https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc1157098/m2/1/high\_res\_d/R45156\_2018Apr10.pdf$ 1477) 1478) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/116427/57-energies-11-00844-Francesc2.pdf 1479) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/India-Renewable-Power-v10.pdf 1480) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2015/ph240/xue1/docs/electric.pdf 1481) https://sites.lafayette.edu/ece492-sp16/files/2016/12/2017-18-FSAE-Rules-9.2.16a.pdf 1482) http://www.klnce.edu/general/Approval\_2018\_19.pdf 1483) https://www.amity.edu/als/course-pdf/BALLB\_Syllabus.pdf http://vsllslive.vips.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/BALLB031116.pdf 1484) 1485) https://www.usg.edu/assets/hr/benefits\_docs/Medicare\_A\_B\_2019.pdf 1486) http://www.psgtech.edu/AICTE%2520Handbook%25202017-18.pdf 1487) https://www.academia.edu/35902708/Journal\_of\_Computer\_Science\_IJCSIS\_January\_2018\_Full\_Volume.pdf 1488) https://in.nau.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/6/2018/08/05-AZ-GU-Research-In-Practice-Brief-V.2-Retention-Programs-Interval and the second secOct-2016-ek.pdf 1489) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc1157098/m2/1/high\_res\_d/R45156\_2018Apr10.pdf http://cnee.colostate.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/State-Brief\_AK\_Sept-Update.pdf 1490) http://cnee.colostate.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/FL\_State-Brief.pdf 1491) 1492) http://urbcomp.ist.psu.edu/2018/papers/privacy.pdf 1493) https://academiccommons.columbia.edu/download/fedora\_content/download/ac:qjq2bvq86p/content/Webb%25202018-07%2520AMI%2520and%2520Natural%2520Gas.pdf http://ipu.msu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/WEF-Global-Energy-Transformation-2018.pdf 1494) http://sites.tntech.edu/weberle/wp-content/uploads/sites/87/2018/06/SSCI\_2014.pdf 1495) 1496) http://blogs.ksbe.edu/brcourto/files/2019/03/HSEO\_2018\_EnergyFactsFigures.pdf https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/India-Renewable-Power-v10.pdf 1497) http://sa-tied.wider.unu.edu/sites/default/files/SA-TIED-WP2018-1.pdf 1498) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2019/ph241/riscoe1/docs/eia-18.pdf 1499) http://sparklab.engineering.uky.edu/files/2018/10/2018\_IEEE\_ECCE\_NZE\_Homes.pdf 1500) https://kleinmanenergy.upenn.edu/sites/default/files/proceedingsreports/Betting-on-Climate-Solutions.pdf 1501) 1502) http://ccsi.columbia.edu/files/2018/12/3418-CCSI-RE-and-mining-report-09-lr-reduced-optmized-07-no-links.pdf https://computing.caes.ucdavis.edu/media/policies/7490\_Spec\_Sheet.pdf 1503) https://www.academia.edu/38186827/Electronic attendance system using RFID Final project report.pdf 1504) https://smartech.gatech.edu/bitstream/handle/1853/60216/PARDUE-DISSERTATION-2018.pdf1505) https://www.ece.uic.edu/~zyang/Teaching/20172018Spring/Downloads/Amano-2018-The.pdf 1506)

1507) http://clascsg.uconn.edu/download/specs/L5290.pdf

1508) http://rogersgroup.northwestern.edu/files/2018/locreview.pdf

- $1509) https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/file-uploads/EV_ChargingChina-CGEP_Report_Final.pdf$
- 1510) https://smartech.gatech.edu/bitstream/handle/1853/60216/PARDUE-DISSERTATION-2018.pdf
- 1511) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2015/ph240/xue1/docs/electric.pdf
- 1512) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc1157098/m2/1/high\_res\_d/R45156\_2018Apr10.pdf
- 1513) http://www.winlab.rutgers.edu/~ox5bc/paper/ubicomp18\_final.pdf
- 1514) https://ceat.okstate.edu/research/ceat\_research\_abstracts\_2018.pdf
- 1515) http://dronecenter.bard.edu/files/2018/01/CSD-Drone-Year-in-Review.pdf
- 1516) https://dronecenter.bard.edu/files/2018/02/CSD-Counter-Drone-Systems-Report.pdf
- 1517) https://dronecenter.bard.edu/files/2018/01/Drones-Defense-Budget-2018-Web.pdf
- 1518) https://ctc.usma.edu/app/uploads/2018/07/Islamic-State-and-Drones-Release-Version.pdf
- 1519) https://ssi.armywarcollege.edu/pdffiles/PUB1287.pdf
- 1520) https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/86864/water-11-00157-v3.pdf
- 1521) http://www.ie.uh.edu/sites/ie/files/faculty/glim/Drone%2520Battery%2520RO%25202018%2520small.pdf
- 1522) https://sites.tufts.edu/gis/files/2018/05/Bonini\_Gaia\_CEE\_194A\_2018.pdf
- 1523) https://makeabilitylab.cs.washington.edu/media/publications/Mauriello\_ALargeScaleAnalysisOfYoutubeVideosDepictingE verydayThermalCameraUse\_2018.pdf
- 1524) http://www.hou.usra.edu/meetings/lpsc2019/pdf/1325.pdf
- 1525) https://www.hou.usra.edu/meetings/lpsc2017/pdf/1818.pdf
- 1526) https://tippie.uiowa.edu/sites/tippie.uiowa.edu/files/documents/krause/s18\_flir.pdf
- $1527) \qquad http://web.stanford.edu/~mattm401/docs/2017-Mauriello-UbiComp-ScalableMethodsAndToolsThermography-interval of the standard stand$
- Workshop.pdf
- 1528) http://hortintl.cals.ncsu.edu/sites/default/files/documents/2018aug13practicalapplicationsofamultisensoruavplatformbased onmultispectralthermalandrgbhighresoluti.pdf
- 1529) https://www.metrostate.edu/sites/default/files/2018-06/Emergency\_Booklet\_1.pdf
- 1530) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/113326/Anexo%25203%2520Hoja%2520de%2520ruta%2520Euro%25 20Ncap%25202025.pdf
- 1531) http://www.pitt.edu/~budny/papers/8156.pdf
- 1532) https://static.tti.tamu.edu/tti.tamu.edu/documents/PRC-17-77-F.pdf
- 1533) https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/34632/GKRITZA\_ETD.pdf
- 1534) https://alertcarolina.unc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Alert-Carolina-System-Protocols-Updated-Sep-18.pdf
- 1535) https://www.southalabama.edu/departments/environmental/resources/emergency-response.pdf
- 1536) http://www.iei.illinois.edu/assets/documents/rules-of-road.pdf
- 1537) http://www2.indstate.edu/pubsafety/pdf/ERP%252010-30-2018%2520Final%2520without%2520appendix%2520B.pdf
- 1538) https://www.academia.edu/37239520/Smart\_Clothing\_-

\_Technology\_and\_Applications\_Human\_Factors\_and\_Ergonomics\_-Gilsoo\_Cho.pdf

- 1539) https://www.saxion.edu/binaries/content/assets/bedrijven-en-instellingen/saxion-smartsolutionsfestival-2018.pdf
- 1540) https://dspace.mit.edu/bitstream/handle/1721.1/61136/53364619-MIT.pdf
- 1541) http://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/274747/files/166029-428047-1-SM.pdf
- 1542) http://riveralab.ucdavis.edu/uploads/5/3/0/0/53002603/koo\_2018\_wearable\_tech.pdf
- 1543) https://www.urmc.rochester.edu/MediaLibraries/URMCMedia/neurosurgery/images/UR-Stroke-reprint-final.pdf
- 1544) https://www.etsu.edu/cph/biostat\_epidemiology/documents/tsr\_q4\_2018\_report.pdf
- 1545) https://www.etsu.edu/cph/biostat\_epidemiology/documents/q3\_2018.pdf
- 1546) http://radiology.ucla.edu/workfiles/forpatients/PU2018W\_Stroke.pdf
- 1547) http://www.upstate.edu/stroke/pdf/RUSH2018OnyanPrehospitalLVO.pdf
- 1548) https://www.rush.edu/sites/default/files/2018NeuroscienceReview.pdf
- 1549) http://medicine2.missouri.edu/jahm/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/AIS-Final-with-revisions-Final.pdf
- 1550) http://www.ucdenver.edu/academics/colleges/medicalschool/administration/admin\_offices/Media%2520Reports/Docume nts/2018%2520March%25208.pdf
- 1551) https://www.usg.edu/assets/hr/benefits\_docs/BOR\_Comparison\_Guide\_NEW.pdf
- 1552) https://lists.rochester.edu/scripts/wa.exe%3FA3%3Dind1711%26L%3DORPA-URMC-
- FAC%26E%3Dbase64%26P%3D557551%26B%3D--

\_007\_DM5PR07MB3564B33E3D3794802AD9E2428F2E0DM5PR07MB3564namp\_%26T%3Dapplication%252Fpdf%3B%2520name %3D%2522HRSA-18-063%2520MCHB%2520H33%2520Final.pdf http://frg.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/SmartFirefightingReport.pdf 1553)1554) http://cpcc.berkeley.edu/papers/RED-UAS-2015.pdf https://www.daytonastate.edu/ses/ems/files/EMSHandbookFINAL2019.1docx.pdf 1555) 1556) https://www.purdue.edu/hr/Benefits/retirees/pdf/Retire%2520Smart%25202018-1.pdf https://morsutlab.usc.edu/files/2018/11/biosketch.pdf 1557) 1558) https://www.cds.caltech.edu/~murray/wiki/images/2/23/Dod16-vbff.pdf https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/92133/1084\_ftp.pdf 1559) http://www-personal.umich.edu/~qiongy/publications\_files/elife2018.pdf 1560) 1561) https://skinner.wsu.edu/documents/2018/03/2018-wk-11-discussion.pdf 1562) http://www.pitt.edu/~budny/papers/8009.pdf http://www.econ.wayne.edu/agoodman/7550/Week8/2018/Milliman-Organ-2014.pdf 1563) 1564) https://wiki.uiowa.edu/download/attachments/112207491/FDA\_TechTrends\_2018.pdf 1565) https://www.ele.uri.edu/courses/bme466/02c\_TissueEngineering\_MedicalDevice\_Industry.pdf http://web.mit.edu/course/3/3.042/team1\_06/reference/Chen%2520-1566) %2520scaffold%2520design%2520for%2520tissue%2520engineering.pdf http://www.pitt.edu/~budny/papers/8009.pdf 1567) http://schen.ucsd.edu/lab/papers/paper131.pdf 1568) http://atoc.colorado.edu/~whan/ATOC4800\_5000/Materials/Haley.pdf 1569) https://morsutlab.usc.edu/files/2018/11/biosketch.pdf 1570) https://dhplab.nd.edu/publications/AlderferetalJBE2018.pdf 1571) 1572) https://law.stanford.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/stayn.pdf https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/146015/eeisen\_1.pdf 1573) https://dash.harvard.edu/bitstream/handle/1/27822393/4932464.pdf 1574)1575) https://socialforces.unc.edu/biomedgerontology/advance-article-pdf/doi/10.1093/gerona/gly094/25062078/gly094.pdf 1576) https://www.ucdmc.ucdavis.edu/biorepositories/pdfs/build-biobank/challenges-driving-forces-business-plansbiobanking.pdf https://ibg.colorado.edu/cdrom2019/abdelouia/populationStratification/references/Abdellaoui\_2018\_biorxiv\_-1577) UKB geography.pdf 1578) https://sites.wustl.edu/photosynthbio/files/2018/05/Sengupta-2018-zakydx.pdf https://cis.mit.edu/sites/default/files/documents/SYNBIO\_res\_agenda.pdf 1579) 1580) http://web.mit.edu/yiliqian/www/IFAC-ARC.pdf 1581) https://skinner.wsu.edu/documents/2018/12/2019-weeks-1-2-lecture-handout.pdf http://limlab.ucsf.edu/papers/pdfs/esensten\_rev\_2017.pdf 1582) http://www.users.csbsju.edu/~mheroux/spring2017\_csci373/FaustLouisAssignment5.pdf 1583) https://med.stanford.edu/content/dam/sm/school/documents/Health-Trends-Report/Stanford-Medicine-Health-Trends-1584) Report-2018.pdf http://aei.pitt.edu/93269/1/pub\_8224\_digitalhealth.pdf 1585) 1586) https://health.okstate.edu/site-files/docs/alumni/2018\_health\_care\_industry\_trends.pdf 1587) https://hsl.lib.unc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/mHealthWhitePaper\_1.pdf 1588) http://blogs.ischool.berkeley.edu/i290a-hcie-f15/files/2015/10/us-lhsc-mhealth-in-an-mworld-103014.pdf 1589) https://www.academia.edu/38278231/A\_design\_of\_a\_mobile\_health\_system\_to\_address\_pregnancy\_issues\_in\_South\_A frican\_High\_schools\_GHTC\_template\_adjusted.pdf 1590) https://www.ntnu.edu/documents/1268773379/1276630301/abstractbook.pdf https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/144501/12913\_2018\_Article\_3198.pdf 1591) https://cst.temple.edu/sites/cst/files/documents/PSM%2520Bioinnovation%2520white%2520paper%2520and%2520Cours 1592) e%2520Information%2520Forms.pdf https://health.uconn.edu/dept-pediatrics/wp-content/uploads/sites/54/2019/04/Annual\_Academic\_Report\_2018.pdf 1593) https://www.uakron.edu/dotAsset/e14c6a43-3606-4755-8774-4544a98do81d.pdf 1594)

- 1595) https://www2.tulane.edu/sse/bme/academics/undergraduates/upload/Student-Handbook.pdf
- 1596) https://case.edu/medicine/sites/case.edu.medicine/files/2018-10/9LabCentralTourBiosOCT2018.pdf

1597) http://research.kennesaw.edu/our/news/UR%2520Newsletter%2520Volume%25207%2520Issue%25201\_Spring%2520201 8\_FINAL.pdf 1598) http://www.bioen.utah.edu/education/undergraduate/UG\_Handbook\_2017.pdf 1599) https://www.esci.upf.edu/uploads/imgen/3087-1.pdf https://research.monash.edu/files/252076960/252076797\_oa\_in\_press.pdf 1600) 1601) https://bulletin.temple.edu/graduate/scd/cst/bioinformatics-psm/bioinformatics-psm.pdf https://content.sph.harvard.edu/biostats/publications/cbqg\_handbook/SM2\_Degree\_Form\_CBQG.pdf 1602) 1603) http://lbrn.lsu.edu/downloads/LBRN-Newsletter Jan 2018.pdf https://graduate.ucf.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/2018-2019-Biotechnology-MS.pdf 1604) 1605) http://www.uncfsu.edu/assets/Documents/Office%25200f%2520the%2520Registrar/BDP%2520Plans/BDP%2520Plans%2 5202018-2019/CAS/Biology-Biotech-2018-4-Year-Plan-FR.pdf 1606) http://biotility.research.ufl.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Industrial-Biotechnology-8736000-1819.pdf http://biotechtrees.forestry.oregonstate.edu/sites/default/files/NASEM\_Jan2019.pdf 1607) 1608) http://www.thapar.edu/images/biotechsyll/Group%2520A%2520Biotech.pdf 1609) https://reproductivetech.stanford.edu/papers/cad.pdf https://reproductivetech.stanford.edu/papers/missing-diversity.pdf 1610) https://genetics.rutgers.edu/images/documents/Student\_handbook\_genetics\_current.pdf 1611) https://moffittcaspi.trinity.duke.edu/sites/moffittcaspi.trinity.duke.edu/files/Wertz\_PS\_2018\_1.pdf 1612) https://med.nvu.edu/highschoolbioethics/sites/default/files/highschoolbioethics/Genetic%2520Editing%2520Module.pdf 1613) 1614) https://psgsc.wisc.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/205/2019/03/1109.full\_.pdf https://www.unav.edu/documents/29206/18902036/14 Improvement % 2B of % 2B gene % 2B therapy % 2B vectors % 2B for % 2B therapy % 2B vectors % 2B therapy % 2B therapy % 2B vectors % 2B therapy % 2B therapy % 2B vectors % 2B therapy % 2B the1615) eatment%2Bof%2Bmetabolic%2Brare%2Bdiseases.pdf 1616) https://newdigs.mit.edu/sites/default/files/FoCUS\_Research\_Brief\_2017F211v011.pdf http://alo.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/1-s2.0-S1359644618303404-main.pdf 1617) 1618) https://dash.harvard.edu/bitstream/handle/1/37067703/5868074.pdf https://bertarelli.hms.harvard.edu/files/sciamericanarticle\_12\_2018.pdf 1619) https://mahajanlab.stanford.edu/sites/default/files/gene\_therapy\_and\_genome.pdf 1620) http://newhorizonindia.edu/nhengineering/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/VII-VIII-Semester-Syllabus-BT-Final-Draft.pdf1621) 1622) http://www.thapar.edu/upload/files/Annexure\_-\_XVI%2528A%2529\_%2528MTech\_BioTech%2529.pdf 1623) http://www.fergusson.edu/upload/document/48770 M.Sc.-II-Botany.pdf 1624)https://www.jmc.edu/include/department/botany/syllabus/UG2017.pdf http://pes.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/7.1.16-Handbook-of-Scheme-2018-19.pdf 1625) 1626) http://www.sjctni.edu/Department/bt/2018%2520M.Sc%2520Biotechnology.pdf 1627) http://www.sjctni.edu/Department/bo/B.Sc\_2017.pdf https://urology.stanford.edu/content/dam/sm/urology/JJimages/publications/Chung-WSJ-article\_Robot-assisted-surgery-1628)costs-more-but-may-not-be-better.pdf 1629) https://www.tmc.edu/news/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/June-2018-Pulse.pdf 1630) https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-051214-145650/unrestricted/IQP\_FINAL\_REPORT.pdf https://surgery.ucsf.edu/media/10791076/ucsf-resident-robotic-surgery-training-program\_draft\_72018.pdf 1631) https://repositori.upf.edu/bitstream/handle/10230/36727/Morata\_2019.pdf 1632) 1633) https://www.ele.uri.edu/courses/bme466/02c\_TissueEngineering\_MedicalDevice\_Industry.pdf 1634) https://dhplab.nd.edu/publications/AlderferetalJBE2018.pdf http://bme240.eng.uci.edu/students/06s/athuynh/articles/cells, % 2520scaffolds, % 2520and% 2520molecules% 2520for% 2500for% 2520for% 2500for% 2500for% 2520for% 2520for% 2520for% 2520for% 2520for% 2520for% 2520for% 2520for% 2500for% 2501635) omyocardial%2520TE.pdf http://orion.bme.columbia.edu/lulab/pdf/Patel\_2018\_JOR.pdf 1636) http://www.pitt.edu/~budny/papers/8009.pdf 1637) https://www.upc.edu/grau/guiadocent/pdf/ing/820036/tissue-engineering.pdf 1638) 1639) https://repository.lib.ncsu.edu/bitstream/handle/1840.20/36266/Chen%252C%2520Shuyu%2520final.pdf https://www.upc.edu/grau/guiadocent/pdf/ing/390335/environmental-bioremediation.pdf 1640) https://burnett.extension.wisc.edu/files/2018/06/LakeLines-Spring-2018-Color.pdf 1641) https://cdn1.sph.harvard.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/1608/2014/10/MDPH-Hospital-Based-Decontamination-1642) Resources-June-2014.pdf

1643) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/06/26/30/00024/04-2017-A.pdf

1644) http://nsglc.olemiss.edu/projects/model-legal-framework/files/state-comparison-revised.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph241/gerli1/docs/iaea-1988.pdf 1645) 1646) http://www.ctahr.hawaii.edu/adap/avian\_flu/AI\_Manuals/osha3186.pdf 1647) http://www.pm.umd.edu/tomasi\_introduction\_to\_data\_communication\_networking\_pearson\_education.pdf https://newhorizonindia.edu/nhengineering/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/FIRST-YEAR-MCA-SYLLUBUS-2018-19.pdf1648) 1649) https://www.cs.cornell.edu/courses/cs2110/2018su/lectures/lecture3Modularity.pdf http://www.cs.yale.edu/homes/aspnes/classes/223/notes.pdf 1650) 1651) http://www1.marin.edu/sites/www/files/catalog-2018-19.pdf http://www.seas.columbia.edu/earth/wtert/sofos/Waste Management Report by Netherlands.pdf 1652) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/park-h2/docs/env-jp-2012.pdf 1653) https://dukespace.lib.duke.edu/dspace/bitstream/handle/10161/14193/Ashwekar\_Jiang\_Pan\_MastersProject\_April\_2017. 1654) pdf https://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6341/Global-E-waste Monitor 2017 electronic single pages .pdf 1655) https://www.hbs.edu/environment/Documents/climate-change-2018.pdf 1656) 1657) https://evols.library.manoa.hawaii.edu/bitstream/10524/59436/practical-guide-waste-management-picts.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph241/blair2/docs/iaea-tecdoc-365.pdf 1658) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph241/blair2/docs/v081n04p093.pdf 1659) http://diposit.ub.edu/dspace/bitstream/2445/117088/1/673697.pdf 1660) https://www.academia.edu/38347396/ITX\_11\_02\_2018\_Okoroiwu.pdf 1661) 1662) http://aei.pitt.edu/94326/1/RR\_2018\_05\_Circular\_Impacts\_batteries.pdf 1663) http://www.seas.columbia.edu/earth/wtert/sofos/Waste\_Management\_Report\_by\_Netherlands.pdf 1664) https://staff.najah.edu/media/published\_research/2017/06/20/Zahrat\_AlFinjan\_Landfill\_Final-Published-IUG\_Journal\_1.pdf https://www.law.uh.edu/faculty/thester/courses/Climate-Change-1665) 2018/EPA%2520factsheet%2520re%2520landfills\_and\_containment\_as\_an\_element\_of\_site\_remediation.pdf 1666) https://evols.library.manoa.hawaii.edu/bitstream/10524/59436/practical-guide-waste-management-picts.pdf 1667) http://labees.civil.fau.edu/FAU-Meeroff-Progress%2520Report%25202%2520-%2520April%25202019-%2520Leachate%2520clogging.pdf 1668) https://chemistry.ucdavis.edu/sites/g/files/dgvnsk196/files/inlinefiles/Chem%25202B%2520Lab%2520Manual%25202018%2520Summer.pdf 1669) http://www.soc.umn.edu/~uggen/Bryant\_Schulz\_Brehm\_Uggen\_SP\_2017.pdf http://www.cfsph.iastate.edu/Factsheets/pdfs/botulism.pdf 1670) http://www.ucdenver.edu/academics/colleges/PublicHealth/research/centers/foodsafety/Documents/ERSWorkshop/Patho 1671) gen%2520Fact%2520Sheets/Rotavirus%2520Fact%2520Sheet.pdf https://web.iit.edu/sites/web/files/departments/academic-affairs/academic-resource-center/pdfs/RedOx\_Rxns.pdf 1672) http://www.pm.umd.edu/redox\_half\_reactions\_in\_basic\_solution.pdf 1673) http://www.cod.edu/people/faculty/jarman/richenda/1105\_materials/Redox\_1105-notes.pdf 1674) 1675) http://file.upi.edu/Direktori/FPMIPA/JUR.\_PEND.\_KIMIA/197907302001122-HELI\_SITI\_HALIMATUL\_M/Prosiding\_UKM-ITB\_VIII/PO14\_Sitti\_Rahmawati.pdf https://www.northeastern.edu/nucret/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/17-10\_Full\_NANOEN.pdf 1676) 1677) https://ncstatecollege.edu/documents/Academics/AcadSvcs/Syllabi/PDF/CHEM/CHEM1210.pdf 1678) http://www.ssec.wisc.edu/~cpettersen/pubs/acp-18-4715-2018.pdf 1679) http://derecho.math.uwm.edu/classes/SynI/examples/ThicknessPType.pdf 1680) http://climate.colostate.edu/pdfs/Wx\_Stn\_Monthly\_Summary\_Form\_January\_2018.pdf http://myweb.ecu.edu/rickenbacht/Rickenbach\_atmosphere\_2018.pdf 1681) 1682) http://math.gmu.edu/~tsauer/pre/SRUganda.pdf http://igac.colorado.edu/sites/default/files/2018-09/Issue\_62\_JulAug\_2018\_1.pdf 1683) 1684) https://scholarworks.iupui.edu/bitstream/handle/1805/16514/s41598-018-25102-7.pdf 1685) http://blogs.mtu.edu/engineering-research/files/2017/11/FY18\_Exchange\_Network\_Solicitation\_Notice\_Final.pdf 1686) https://webarchive.library.unt.edu/eot2008/20081108232911/http://www.epa.gov/safewater/uic/pdfs/study\_uicclass1 study risks class1.pdf https://pangea.stanford.edu/ERE/pdf/IGAstandard/SGW/2018/Dinkel.pdf 1687)

1688) http://www.wvgs.wvnet.edu/www/news/annual\_reports/ar2018\_WVGES.pdf

1689) http://www.nesc.wvu.edu/ecommerce/products/WW\_Research/WWBKRE5oDL.pdf https://www.hbs.edu/environment/Documents/climate-change-2018.pdf 1690) 1691) https://studentfinancialservices.humboldt.edu/sites/default/files/p970\_5.pdf 1692) http://www.jmu.edu/financeoffice/payroll/publication-501.pdf http://www.jmu.edu/financeoffice/instructions/i1040nr.pdf 1693) 1694) https://www.vaughn.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Airbus-Projections.pdf  $https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/ES_20180608\_tcja\_summary\_paper\_final.pdf$ 1695) 1696) https://www.dodea.edu/SigonellaMHS/upload/2018-19-completing-fafsa.pdf https://hr.ucf.edu/files/Handout-Understanding-The-Benefits.pdf 1697) 1698) https://www.umass.edu/humres/sites/default/files/Windfall%2520Elimination%2520Provision%25202019.pdf 1699) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/2117/125351/1/sustainability-10-03912-v2.pdf 1700) https://cfo.pitt.edu/pexpress/documents/Apple\_Environmental\_Responsibility\_Report\_2018.pdf https://cdd.stanford.edu/mm/2018/10/mah-jcp-pricing-policies.pdf 1701) 1702) http://blogs.mtu.edu/engineering-research/files/2017/11/FY18\_Exchange\_Network\_Solicitation\_Notice\_Final.pdf 1703) http://cnee.colostate.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Energy-Overview\_July2018.pdf https://www.bu.edu/gdp/files/2018/02/RuedaGarrettLambin\_2017\_JCP\_CorporateInvestments.pdf 1704) http://www.seas.columbia.edu/earth/wtert/sofos/Waste\_Management\_Report\_by\_Netherlands.pdf 1705) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/park-h2/docs/env-jp-2012.pdf 1706) https://sustain.appstate.edu/ documents/zerowaste-waste-reduction-strategic-plan.pdf 1707) 1708) https://evols.library.manoa.hawaii.edu/bitstream/10524/59436/practical-guide-waste-management-picts.pdf https://umaine.edu/mitchellcenter/wp-content/uploads/sites/293/2018/01/FINAL-FULL-REPORT.pdf 1709) https://archive.nyu.edu/jspui/bitstream/2451/42242/2/Plastic%2520Waste%2520Management%2520India.pdf 1710) 1711)  $https://conferences.k-state.edu/ruralgrocery/files/2018/05/14-Feed.People.Not\_.Landfills-w2kf1e.pdf$ https://med.stanford.edu/content/dam/sm/ehr/documents/EHR-Poll-Presentation.pdf 1712) http://med.stanford.edu/content/dam/sm/ehr/documents/SM-EHR-White-Papers\_v12.pdf 1713) https://smhs.gwu.edu/cancercontroltap/sites/cancercontroltap/files/Day2\_HenryOliverF\_WS\_Tropper%2526Roberts.pdf 1714) 1715) https://scholarworks.iupui.edu/bitstream/handle/1805/15722/Welcher\_2017\_barriers.pdf http://aei.pitt.edu/93269/1/pub\_8224\_digitalhealth.pdf 1716) https://scholarspace.manoa.hawaii.edu/bitstream/10125/50245/paper0358.pdf 1717) 1718) http://www.pm.umd.edu/market driven health care who wins who loses in the transformation of america a.pdf 1719) http://arts.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Data-for-Life-Wearable-Technology-and-the-Design-of-Self-Care.pdf https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/146542/13012\_2018\_Article\_838.pdf 1720) 1721) https://ruralhealth.med.uky.edu/sites/default/files/KTHN%2520Telehealth%2520101%2520Webinar.pdf 1722) https://meded.med.uky.edu/sites/default/files/UK%2520COM%2520Fact%2520Sheet\_2018\_3.pdf http://media-lab.ccny.cuny.edu/wordpress/zisis/www/assets/sources/BiodiversitySourcebook.pdf 1723) http://blogs.umb.edu/zhehaishang001/files/2018/09/2017-Multi-Spectral-Remote-Sensing-of-Phytoplankton-Pigment-1724) Absorption-Properties-in-Cyanobacteria-Bloom-Waters-A-Regional-Example-in-the-Western-Basin-of-Lake-Erie-r7 heuh.pdf1725) http://hortintl.cals.ncsu.edu/sites/default/files/documents/2018aug13 practical applications of a multisensor use platform based of the second state of the second sonmultispectralthermalandrgbhighresoluti.pdf  $https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc1043176/m2/1/high_res_d/R45021_2017Nov15.pdf$ 1726)https://telemedicine.arizona.edu/sites/telemedicine.arizona.edu/files/3%2520-%2520Major%2520-1727) %2520Developing%2520Training%2520JM%2520January%25202019.pdf http://sites.uams.edu/arkansaselink/wp-content/uploads/sites/21/2018/03/Telemedicine-Expansion-Toolkit.pdf1728) https://research.uams.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/40/2018/08/Showcase-Telehealth\_Program\_2.pdf 1729) https://chhs.unh.edu/sites/default/files/telehealth-mobile-health-opportunities-report.pdf 1730) http://misrc.umn.edu/workshops/2018/fall/Paper\_Elina%2520Hwang.pdf 1731) https://pinformatics.tamhsc.edu/reports/telemonitoring\_tamu2019\_001v2.pdf 1732) 1733) http://acelab.tamu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/23/2018/07/Hammett-HFES2018\_Final.pdf http://clinical-informatics.uw.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/CIPCT-Newsletter-SP-2018Edits.pdf 1734) https://www.academia.edu/37256340/ijbmieh01642018.pdf 1735) https://repository.asu.edu/attachments/110459/content/Fralick\_asu\_0010E\_12853.pdf 1736) http://ucc.colorado.edu/siemens/SYH\_SINAUT-ST7-B3\_76.pdf 1737) 1738) http://ucc.colorado.edu/siemens/BA\_CP-ET200SP\_76.pdf

1739) http://ucc.colorado.edu/siemens/BA\_RTU3030C\_76.pdf https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/121193/TASS1de1.pdf 1740) http://prorelay.tamu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2018/03/ContinuousAutomatedAnalysis 6850 20180209.pdf 1741) 1742) http://www.eng.utoledo.edu/~wevans/s71200\_easy\_book.pdf https://nursing.ucf.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/UG-InformationSession.pdf 1743) 1744) https://www.jtcc.edu/uploads/documents/Nursing\_Student\_Handbook.pdf https://calbaptist.edu/college-of-nursing/CON%2520PRE-LICENSURE%2520HANDBOOK%25202018-2019.pdf 1745) https://www.memphis.edu/nursing/students/bsn student handbook 2018-2019-rev.11.21.18.pdf 1746) https://www.virginiawestern.edu/academics/health/nursing/docs/VWCCNursingHandbook.pdf 1747) http://www.presentation.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/2018-2019-Nursing-Student-Handbook-9-12-18-Update.pdf 1748) https://www.xavier.edu/nursing-school/current-students/combined-undergrad-2018---2019-updated3.pdf 1749) 1750) https://med.stanford.edu/content/dam/sm/school/documents/Health-Trends-Report/Stanford-Medicine-Health-Trends-Report-2018.pdf http://myresource.phoenix.edu/secure/resource/IT205r13/Information\_Technology\_for\_Management\_9e\_Cho3.pdf 1751) 1752) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc27577/m2/1/high\_res\_d/BRAC-1995\_01256.pdf https://conf.slac.stanford.edu/xldb2018/sites/xldb2018.conf.slac.stanford.edu/files/Mon\_09.15\_Intro\_IntersectionofHealt 1753) hcare\_Somalee%2520Datta.pdf http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/85/42/00027/07-2018.pdf 1754) https://research.unt.edu/sites/default/files/Binder%2520FY18%2520Annual%2520Proposals%2520Report.pdf 1755) https://www.nitie.edu/IAMOT2019/E-booklet.pdf 1756) https://goizueta.emory.edu/events/healthcare/fact-pack.pdf 1757) https://healthpolicy.duke.edu/sites/default/files/atoms/files/innovations\_in\_medicare\_advantage\_to\_improve\_care\_for\_ 1758) seriously\_ill\_patients.pdf https://med.stanford.edu/content/dam/sm/school/documents/Health-Trends-Report/Stanford-Medicine-Health-Trends-1759) Report-2018.pdf https://clpc.ucsf.edu/sites/clpc.ucsf.edu/files/MMAI%2520Three-Way%2520Contract%25202018.pdf1760) 1761) https://sociology.unc.edu/files/2018/01/CareTransformation\_2017.pdf https://commed.vcu.edu/IntroPH/Introduction/2014/Thersocalledsysterm.pdf 1762) 1763) https://innovate.ee.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/2010/03/Ozcan-Group-Annurev-Anchem-Wearable-Implant-2018.pdf http://www.users.csbsju.edu/~mheroux/spring2017\_csci373/FaustLouisAssignment5.pdf 1764) 1765) https://med.stanford.edu/content/dam/sm/sm-news/documents/StanfordMedicineHealthTrendsWhitePaper2017.pdf https://ai100.stanford.edu/sites/g/files/sbiybj9861/f/ai\_100\_report\_0831fnl.pdf 1766) 1767) http://nisonger.osu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/White-Paper-Use-of-Remote-Support-in-Ohio-and-Emerging-Technologies-on-the-Horizon.pdf http://graham.umich.edu/media/files/LC-IA-ACE-Roadmap-Expert-Forecast-Underwood.pdf 1768) https://csp.usc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/cancer-prevention-and-early-detection-facts-and-figures-2019-2020.pdf 1769) https://www.simmons.edu/sites/default/files/2019-03/Licensing%2520Practice%2520Questions.pdf 1770) 1771) https://www.ohsu.edu/xd/health/services/cancer/research-training/research-programs/cedar/research/upload/CEDAR-Seed-Clinical-Cohort-Award-RFA-2017-2018.pdf http://www.uwyo.edu/wycoa/\_files/Powerpoints/wcoa2018\_bo5-wendylouisa.pdf 1772)http://etd.fcla.edu/UF/UFE0043162/daly\_k.pdf 1773) 1774) http://www.arecibo.inter.edu/wp-content/uploads/reserva/enfermeria/2018\_NPSG\_-\_completo.pdf https://pharmacy.unc.edu/files/2018/07/CMM\_Care\_Process.pdf 1775) 1776) https://www.hss.edu/files/Education-to-Empowerment.pdf https://med.stanford.edu/content/dam/sm/sm-news/documents/StanfordMedicineHealthTrendsWhitePaper2017.pdf 1777) 1778) https://www.tmc.edu/health-policy/wpcontent/uploads/sites/5/2018/02/Reducing\_The\_Cost\_Of\_Health\_Care\_FEB3.pdf 1779) https://sociology.unc.edu/files/2018/01/CareTransformation\_2017.pdf https://www.dre.vanderbilt.edu/~schmidt/PDF/blockchain-bookchapter-2018.pdf 1780) 1781) http://www.arecibo.inter.edu/wp-content/uploads/reserva/enfermeria/2018 NPSG - completo.pdf http://design.uky.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/RN-Pt-Comm-Sys-Th-CNS-DNS-HERD-Real-et-al-2018.pdf 1782) 1783) https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/mankiw/files/economics\_of\_healthcare.pdf

1784) https://nam.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Procuring-Interoperability\_web.pdf

1785) https://www.sehcollege.edu/~/media/files/healthcare-professionals/med-staff-guidelines/policies/clinical-alarmmanagement.pdf 1786) https://neurology.uams.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/49/2018/03/2016-JAMA-new-onset-seizure-in-adults-andadolescents.pdf 1787) https://alec.unl.edu/documents/cde/2018/brucellosis.pdf 1788) https://jhsph.edu/ivac/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/Z\_Gilani-Lit\_Review\_Survey\_of\_Child\_Pneumonia\_Etiology\_Studies.pdf 1789) https://scholarworks.iupui.edu/bitstream/handle/1805/17104/908052.pdf https://www.livercenter.pitt.edu/sites/default/files/journal.pone\_.0198132.pdf 1790) http://www.uphs.upenn.edu/surgery/Education/PEBLR/Jan\_2019/thinker\_1\_year.pdf 1791) http://www.uphs.upenn.edu/surgery/education/PEBLR/Feb-April\_2018/Nature\_Normothermic.pdf 1792) 1793) http://infectiousdiseases.med.wayne.edu/pdfs/cmvsolid2018.pdf http://www.econ.wayne.edu/agoodman/7550/Week8/2018/Milliman-Organ-2014.pdf 1794) 1795) https://research.monash.edu/files/270926136/253964054\_oa.pdf 1796) http://www.uphs.upenn.edu/surgery/education/PEBLR/Feb-April\_2018/Nature\_Normothermic.pdf https://www.nols.edu/media/filer\_public/cb/1f/cb1f18c4-ecde-419f-b8f2-e81a09078289/nols-wilderness-medicine-1797) practice-test-2018.pdf http://websites.provo.edu/wasatch/Sites/Site\_School/0044/4th%2520Grade%25202018-2019.pdf 1798) https://jscholarship.library.jhu.edu/bitstream/handle/1774.2/59273/TRAN-THESIS-2018.pdf 1799) http://medicine2.missouri.edu/jahm/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/Leadless-pacemaker-Final.pdf 1800)1801) https://patienteducation.osumc.edu/Documents/LeadlessPacemakerGuide.pdf 1802) http://mcnat125-243.med.nyu.edu/news/sites/default/files/2019-02/2018-yir-cardiology-heart-surgery.pdf 1803) https://ubir.buffalo.edu/xmlui/bitstream/handle/10477/78078/Ansari\_buffalo\_0656A\_15815.pdf https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/2117/116302/5/TAS1de1%2Bmod..pdf 1804) 1805) https://www.tmc.edu/news/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/draft1\_29\_final\_low\_res1.pdf 1806) http://sb.cofc.edu/academics/specialty-programs/investment-program/photospdfs/Holdings%2520Presentations/MDT%2520Pitch.pdf https://www.cfwru.iastate.edu/files/page/files/swanson\_et\_al\_exploring\_amphib\_exposome\_2018.pdf 1807) 1808) https://repositori.upf.edu/bitstream/handle/10230/36848/maitre-bmj-huma.pdf 1809) https://repositori.upf.edu/bitstream/handle/10230/36027/Robinson ehp\_urba.pdf 1810) https://scholarworks.iupui.edu/bitstream/handle/1805/16793/ijerph-15-01531.pdf 1811) http://www.buffalo.edu/content/www/globalhealthequity/global-projects/exposome/lead-exposure-in-low-and-middleincome-countries--perspectives-and-lessons-on-patterns--injustices--economics--andpolitics/\_jcr\_content/par/download/file.res/Kordas%25202018--Lead%2520exposure%2520in%2520low%2520and%2520middleincome % 2520 countries % 2520 perspectives % 2520 and % 2520 lessons % 2520 on % 2520 patterns % 2520 injustices % 2520 economics % 2520 and %d%2520politics.pdf http://hhd.fullerton.edu/knes/ResearchLabs/bmep/documents/2019/bathgate% 2520(2018)% 2520Monozygous% 2520Twindow 2520Twindow 2520Monozygous% 2520Twindow 2570Twindow 2570Twindow 2570Twindow 2570Twindow 2570Twindow 2570Twindow 2570Twindow 2570Twindow 2570Twindow1812) s%2520Study.pdf 1813) https://research.unt.edu/sites/default/files/Binder%2520FY18%2520Annual%2520Proposals%2520Report.pdf 1814) https://www.academia.edu/37564422/2018-JDI-Stem\_cell\_therapy\_as\_a\_novel\_therapeutic\_intervention\_for\_alopecia.pdf 1815) https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/148317/13287\_2019\_Article\_1199.pdf 1816) https://law.stanford.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/deckha.pdf http://sci.washington.edu/stemcells/Stem\_cell\_slides.pdf 1817) https://scholarworks.iupui.edu/bitstream/handle/1805/18156/main.pdf 1818) https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/86536/13287\_2018\_Article\_1075.pdf 1819) https://skinner.wsu.edu/documents/2018/03/2018-wk-11-lecture.pdf 1820) 1821) http://www.academia.edu/35299351/Personalized\_Medicine\_2018.pdf 1822) http://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6717/pascale\_6.pdf 1823) https://med.stanford.edu/content/dam/sm/school/documents/Health-Trends-Report/Stanford-Medicine-Health-Trends-Report-2018.pdf 1824) http://personalizedmedicine.sfsu.edu/docs/pers\_med\_2018\_program\_singlepage.pdf

1825) https://dash.harvard.edu/bitstream/handle/1/26859983/4810380.pdf

1826) https://nam.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/The-Future-of-Health-Services-Research\_web-copy.pdf https://wiki.uiowa.edu/download/attachments/112207491/FDA\_TechTrends\_2018.pdf 1827) 1828) https://sites.temple.edu/measeysymposium/files/2018/12/EJCI-PUBL-MBE.pdf 1829) https://www.usg.edu/assets/hr/benefits\_docs/Medicare\_A\_B\_2019.pdf https://uminfopoint.umsystem.edu/sites/hr/Benefits/BENEFITS/CURRENT/SPD-CNP.pdf 1830) 1831) http://www.siumed.edu/sites/default/files/u1031/0\_2018-2019\_combined\_pep\_overview\_syllabus\_jacr.pdf  $https://talentandculture.wvu.edu/files/d/1577a39c-1593-4f31-81f6-0772a91e7b3e/shoppers\_guide.pdf$ 1832) 1833) https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/145182/40814\_2018\_Article\_320.pdf 1834) https://med.stanford.edu/content/dam/sm/sm-news/documents/StanfordMedicineHealthTrendsWhitePaper2017.pdf 1835) https://med.stanford.edu/content/dam/sm/school/documents/Health-Trends-Report/Stanford-Medicine-Health-Trends-Report-2018.pdf 1836) https://www.ithaca.edu/sacl/healthpromotion/docs/alcoholtreatment.pdf https://medicine.fiu.edu/research/funding-information/ assets/attachments-7685335/NIH%2520strategic-plan-fy2016-1837) 2020.pdf http://www.arecibo.inter.edu/wp-content/uploads/reserva/enfermeria/2018\_NPSG\_-\_completo.pdf 1838) http://www.upstate.edu/medstaff/pdf/forms/inf\_control\_self\_study.pdf 1839) https://spice.unc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/som107\_exhibit\_351.pdf 1840) http://www.uphs.upenn.edu/bugdrug/antibiotic\_manual/HICPAC2011preventcathinfect.pdf 1841) http://www.uphs.upenn.edu/bugdrug/antibiotic\_manual/C%2520difficile%2520guidelines%2520IDSA2017.pdf 1842) 1843) http://cquin.icap.columbia.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/ICAP\_CQUIN\_Kenya-ARV-Guidelines-2018-Final\_20thAug2018.pdf 1844) http://wupaarc.wustl.edu/Portals/WU-PAARC/PDFs/HPV-FS-July-2017.pdf 1845) https://med.virginia.edu/cme/wp-content/uploads/sites/262/2019/03/09-R-Mesa-MPNs-UVA-3\_2019-Ultimo.pdf 1846) https://hong.lab.uic.edu/NatNano\_published.pdf 1847) http://research.ouhsc.edu/Portals/1329/Assets/Documents/M2GEN%2520ORIEN%2520NOVA%2520Award%2520Fundin g%2520Opportunity%2520Announcement%2520April%25202018%2520V12%2520FINAL.pdf 1848) https://winshipcancer.emory.edu/files/research-files/ORIEN-NOVA-2018-Team-Science-Award-RFP.pdf https://d-lab.mit.edu/sites/default/files/inline-files/Local%2520Innovation%2520Working%2520Paper%252001.pdf1849) 1850) http://globalhealth.fiu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/ic2030-report-2015.pdf 1851) https://library.princeton.edu/resolve/lookup%3Furl%3Dhttps://www.unescwa.org/sites/www.unescwa.org/files/publicatio ns/files/innovation-policy-inclusive-sustainable-development-arab-region-english\_o.pdf https://www.scu.edu/media/offices/frugal-innovation/pdfs/Historic-data\_-Projects-Senior-Design-(2011---2018)---Final-1852) vercion.pdf 1853) https://cpip.gmu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/31/2018/04/Innovate4Health-How-Innovators-Are-Solving-Global-Health-Challenges.pdf https://cdn1.sph.harvard.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/134/2018/06/Jacobsen-Livlihoods.pdf 1854) https://humanrights.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/publications/5co81eae4.pdf 1855) 1856) http://pksoi.armywarcollege.edu/default/assets/File/FHA/GHO2018.pdf 1857) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/fp\_20180125\_global\_compact\_refugees-final.pdf 1858) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/Collection-of-Course-Syllabi-on-IDPs-2004.pdf 1859) https://fic.tufts.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016-08-Forced-Displacement-WEB.pdf 1860) http://openaccess.uoc.edu/webapps/o2/bitstream/10609/75705/6/ELR\_Report\_2017.pdf 1861) https://edplus.asu.edu/sites/default/files/BCG-Making-Digital-Learning-Work-Apr-2018%2520.pdf https://agrohortonline.unl.edu/Effectiveness\_of\_online\_learning.pdf 1862) 1863) https://www.academia.edu/37548607/Going\_Digital\_-\_From\_Innovation\_to\_Inclusive\_Growth\_in\_Vietnam.pdf https://platerinstitute.iupui.edu/PlaterContent/Html/media/platercontent/2019/acao-digital-fellows-resources-and-1864)references---jan-2019.pdf 1865) https://www.csuchico.edu/futurepossibilities/documents/OECD\_21st\_Century\_Learning\_40554299.pdf 1866)  $https://www.northeastern.edu/cfhets/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Educational\_Credentials\_Come\_of\_Age\_2018.pdf$ 1867) https://dcdc.coe.hawaii.edu/ltec/612/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/gradeincrease.pdf https://www.csuchico.edu/futurepossibilities/documents/OECD\_21st\_Century\_Learning\_40554299.pdf 1868) 1869) https://www.fi.ncsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/CMS-PL-Case-Study.pdf

1870) https://dcdc.coe.hawaii.edu/ltec/612/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/NETP16.pdf

1871) https://research.monash.edu/files/242350909/239913337\_oa.pdf  $https://nepc.colorado.edu/sites/default/files/publications/RB\%2520Personalized\%2520Learning\%2520revised\_0.pdf$ 1872) 1873) https://sites.bu.edu/miccr/files/2015/03/Student-Learning-Plans-Supporting-Every-Student%25E2%2580%2599s-Transition-to-College-and-Career..pdf 1874) https://www.cabrillo.edu/services/studserv/documents/qualityteachinginhighereducation.pdf 1875) https://www.academia.edu/37527535/IUCEL\_2018\_Proceedings.pdf https://rc.library.uta.edu/uta-ir/bitstream/handle/10106/27844/Creating-Online-Learning-Experiences.pdf 1876) 1877) https://dtlconference.wisc.edu/2018/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/FINAL PROGRAM-AND-SCHEDULE.pdf 1878) https://sudds.ced.ncsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/CRAEducationReport2015.pdf 1879) https://www.apsu.edu/online/pdfs/distanceeducationreport.pdf 1880) https://hr.unc.edu/files/2018/12/ULEAD-2018-Team-5-Paper.pdf 1881) https://upcea.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/Classroom-of-the-Future-Whitepaper.pdf https://agrohortonline.unl.edu/Effectiveness of online learning.pdf 1882) 1883) http://openaccess.uoc.edu/webapps/o2/bitstream/10609/75705/6/ELR\_Report\_2017.pdf 1884) https://education.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/GamesSimsSocNets\_EdArcade.pdf 1885) https://www.cn.edu/libraries/tiny\_mce/tiny\_mce/plugins/filemanager/files/Dissertations/Dissertations2017/Tracy\_Balle w.pdf 1886) https://mason.gmu.edu/~sprotops/OnlineEd.pdf 1887) https://nepc.colorado.edu/files/publications/RB%2520Miron%2520Virtual%2520Schools%25202018.pdf 1888) https://education.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/GamesSimsSocNets\_EdArcade.pdf https://www.academia.edu/36127672/Use\_of\_Technology\_in\_Teaching\_and\_Learning.pdf 1889) 1890) https://agrohortonline.unl.edu/Effectiveness\_of\_online\_learning.pdf 1891) https://sites.uci.edu/dixu/files/2018/11/online\_learning\_outcomes.pdf 1892) https://www.fresnocitycollege.edu/uploadedFiles/documents/FCC-Distance-Education-Plan-2015-2018.pdf 1893) http://ache.edu/ACHE\_Reports/Reports/Annual\_Report/2018-Annual-Report.pdf 1894) https://dspace.library.colostate.edu/bitstream/handle/10217/178857/Stanley\_colostate\_0053A\_13894.pdf 1895) https://www.usf.edu/atle/documents/handout-interactive-techniques.pdf https://www.yu.edu/sites/default/files/inline-files/Effective\_Teacher\_Professional\_Development\_REPORT.pdf 1896)  $http://websites.provo.edu/wasatch/Sites/Site\_School/0044/4th\%2520Grade\%25202018-2019.pdf$ 1897) 1898) http://www2.uwstout.edu/content/lib/thesis/2008/2008youngr.pdf 1899) https://open-access.mit.edu/sites/default/files/20180917\_Provost\_OpenAccessTF\_WhitePaper.pdf https://scholarworks.iupui.edu/bitstream/handle/1805/18137/DLewis% 2520 Profesional% 2520 de% 2520 Informaciant the statement of the stateme1900) on%25202019.pdf 1901) https://libraries.universityofcalifornia.edu/groups/files/about/docs/UC-Libraries-Pathways%2520to%2520OA-Report.pdf http://wp.auburn.edu/push/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/GODAN-report.pdf 1902) https://www.ctg.albany.edu/media/pubs/pdfs/USopendatapolicy.pdf 1903) http://www.cs.toronto.edu/~fnargesian/datadiscovery.pdf 1904) 1905) http://cran.wustl.edu/web/packages/Rilostat/Rilostat.pdf http://lazowska.cs.washington.edu/escience/McKinsey.big.data.pdf 1906) http://cran.cnr.berkeley.edu/web/packages/IPSUR/vignettes/IPSUR.pdf 1907) 1908) https://research.ncsu.edu/ges/files/2018/09/Mirowski-2018.pdf 1909) https://open-access.mit.edu/sites/default/files/20180917\_Provost\_OpenAccessTF\_WhitePaper.pdf https://scholarworks.iupui.edu/bitstream/handle/1805/18137/DLewis%2520Profesional%2520de%2520la%2520Informaciantering and the standard stress of the standard1910) on%25202019.pdf http://wp.auburn.edu/push/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/GODAN-report.pdf 1911) 1912) http://arfc.npre.illinois.edu/papers/smith\_journal\_2018.pdf https://studentfinancialservices.humboldt.edu/sites/default/files/p970\_5.pdf 1913) 1914) https://homes.cs.washington.edu/~congy/autotype.pdf http://pages.cs.wisc.edu/~anhai/papers1/biggorilla-ieee-deb18.pdf 1915) 1916) https://www.cc.gatech.edu/~jarulraj/courses/8803-f18/papers/smelly\_relations.pdf http://www.jmu.edu/financeoffice/instructions/i1040nr.pdf 1917) https://confluence.library.umkc.edu/download/attachments/30376772/100318\_bell\_white\_paper.pdf 1918) 1919) https://www.dartmouth.edu/~cogedlab/pubs/Kang(2016,PIBBS).pdf

1920) http://legacy.cscc.edu/about/faculty/pd/files/RetrievalPracticeGuide.pdf http://www.pacific.edu/Documents/student-1921) life/Student%2520Support%2520Services/Learning%2520Style%2520Inventory.pdf 1922) http://psychnet.wustl.edu/memory/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Roediger-Challis-1992\_LMC.pdf https://web.williams.edu/Psychology/Faculty/Kornell/Publications/Kornell.2009b.pdf 1923) 1924) http://people.tamu.edu/~warthur/302/Miyatsu% 2520 et% 2520 al% 2520% 2528 2018% 2529% 2520 PPS,% 2520 five% 2520 popular% 2520 study% 2520 strategies% 2520 arcs and a strategies% 2520 arcs and arcs and a strategies% 25200--%2520pitfalls%2520and%25200ptimal%2520implementation.pdf https://cfo.pitt.edu/pexpress/documents/Apple\_Environmental\_Responsibility\_Report\_2018.pdf 1925)  $https://provost.gwu.edu/sites/g/files/zaxdzs626/f/downloads/GreenGov/green\_procurement\_-files/greenGov/green\_procurement\_-files/greenGov/green\_procurement\_-files/greenGov/green\_procurement\_-files/greenGov/green\_procurement\_-files/greenGov/green\_procurement\_-files/greenGov/green\_procurement\_-files/greenGov/green\_procurement\_-files/greenGov/green\_procurement\_-files/greenGov/green\_procurement\_-files/greenGov/green\_procurement\_-files/greenGov/green\_procurement\_-files/greenGov/green\_procurement\_-files/greenGov/green\_procurement\_-files/greenGov/green\_procurement\_-files/greenGov/greenGov/green\_procurement\_-files/greenGov/greenGov/greenGov/greenBov/greenGov/$ 1926) \_overview\_and\_issues\_for\_congress.pdf 1927) http://sites.bu.edu/cflammer/files/2018/09/Flammer\_SMJ2018\_inclAppendix.pdf http://ophelia.sdsu.edu:8080/ford/10-28-2018/microsites/sustainability-report-2017-18/doc/sr17.pdf 1928) http://aei.pitt.edu/93681/1/RoleBusinessCircularEconomyTFR.pdf 1929) 1930) http://blogs.mtu.edu/engineering-research/files/2017/11/FY18\_Exchange\_Network\_Solicitation\_Notice\_Final.pdf https://provost.gwu.edu/sites/g/files/zaxdzs626/f/downloads/GreenGov/green\_procurement\_-1931) \_overview\_and\_issues\_for\_congress.pdf https://www.ucop.edu/procurement-services/\_files/sustainableprocurementguidelines.pdf 1932) http://www.sspcr.eurac.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/SSPCR-2017 Programme Abstract Booklet.pdf 1933) http://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/276877/files/24-Jarz%25C4%2599bowski%2520-1934) %2520Supply%2520chain%2520management%2520according%2520to%2520the%2520concept%2520of%2520short%2520supply%25 20chain.pdf 1935) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2015/ph240/xue1/docs/electric.pdf https://product.design.umn.edu/courses/pdes2701/documents/5701papers/03research/sanders08.pdf 1936) 1937) http://lazowska.cs.washington.edu/escience/McKinsey.big.data.pdf https://cdn.questromworld.bu.edu/platformstrategy/files/2017/06/PlatStrat\_2017\_paper\_21.pdf 1938) https://brie.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/brie\_wp\_20184.pdf 1939) https://pearl.umd.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/2018-McNally-CHI-ParentalMobileMonitoring-Paper.pdf 1940) 1941) https://product.design.umn.edu/courses/pdes2701/documents/5701papers/03research/sanders08.pdf http://harvardforest.fas.harvard.edu/publications/pdfs/McBride EcoAndSoc 2017.pdf 1942) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/cs\_20170404\_innovation\_spaces\_pdf.pdf 1943) https://www.nyu.edu/classes/bkg/methods/005847ch1.pdf 1944) https://www2.cs.uic.edu/~brents/cs494-cdcs/papers/Applied-ML-Facebook.pdf 1945)

1946) https://create4stem.msu.edu/sites/default/files/discussions/attachments/nsf17590.iuse\_.2018.pdf

https://www.csuchico.edu/futurepossibilities/documents/OECD\_21st\_Century\_Learning\_40554299.pdf 1947)

https://ncar.ucar.edu/sites/default/files/documents/related-links/2018-1948)

05/NCAR%2520EO%2520Strategic%2520Plan%2520Final.pdf

- https://www.vaughn.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Airbus-Projections.pdf 1949)
- http://www.bber.umt.edu/pubs/seminars/2018/EconRpt2018.pdf 1950)

https://www.incae.edu/sites/default/files/infome\_the\_global\_competitiveness\_report\_2018.pdf 1951)

http://www.spacegrant.hawaii.edu/2018\_NASA\_strategic\_plan.pdf 1952)

- https://www.fcps.edu/sites/default/files/media/pdf/FY-2019-Approved-Budget.pdf 1953)
- https://epubl.ktu.edu/object/elaba:34157946/34157946.pdf 1954)

https://wcer.wisc.edu/docs/working-papers/Working\_Paper\_No\_2018\_14.pdf 1955)

https://www.hiram.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Designing-and-Implementing-Systemic-Academic-Change-1.pdf 1956)

http://www.hsrc.unc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/OperationsReport\_FINAL.pdf 1957)

https://www.business.rutgers.edu/sites/default/files/documents/gartner-2018-scm-graduate.pdf 1958)

1959) http://www.udw.edu/Documents/colleges/cobe/Major%2520Sheets%25202018/Supply%2520Chain%2520and%2520Oper

ations%2520Management,%2520Project%2520Management%2520emphasis.pdf

https://www.upc.edu/master/guiadocent/pdf/ing/240ST011/introduction-to-supply-chain.pdf 1960)

https://globaledge.msu.edu/content/gbr/gBR8-2.pdf 1961)

1962) http://www.pm.umd.edu/lean\_supply\_chain\_and\_logistics\_management.pdf

1963) https://www.emporia.edu/~hwang4/documents/TransformationalLeadershipInSupplyChainManagement.pdf

1964) http://www.jmu.edu/financeoffice/instructions/instructions\_w7.pdf http://www.jmu.edu/financeoffice/payroll/publication-501.pdf 1965) 1966) https://www.vaughn.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Airbus-Projections.pdf 1967) http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/Harvard\_JCHS\_State\_of\_the\_Nations\_Housing\_2018.pdf 1968) http://www.mtsac.edu/president/cabinet-notes/2017-18/Trends-in-College-Pricing\_2017.pdf 1969) https://www.flbog.edu/board/office/budget/\_doc/tuition/2018-trends-in-college-pricing.pdf https://www.sanjac.edu/sites/default/files/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Wisconsin-HOPE-Lab-Still-Hungry-and-1970) Homeless.pdf http://www.canton.edu/employee/wang/cita250/ey-global-information-security-survey-2018-19.pdf 1971) https://studentfinancialservices.humboldt.edu/sites/default/files/p970\_5.pdf 1972) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/127277/remanufacturing%2520industry.pdf 1973) 1974) http://nheri.ucsd.edu/facilities/docs/Performance\_Handbook\_416C.pdf http://web.mit.edu/2.810/www/files/lectures/lec14-intro-to-tps.pdf 1975) 1976) http://web.mit.edu/hmcmanus/Public/McManusTalkLeanHealthcare0312.pdf https://www.canr.msu.edu/field\_crops/uploads/files/2018%2520Custom%2520Machine%2520Work%2520Rates.pdf 1977) http://ieor.berkeley.edu/~kaminsky/Reprints/HA\_PK\_05.pdf 1978) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/119559/memoria.pdf 1979) http://scet.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/AIR-2016-3D-Printing.pdf 1980) 1981) http://www.forsythtech.edu/files/3d-printing-next manufacturing-pwc.pdf 1982) https://soar.wichita.edu/bitstream/handle/10057/15563/t18042\_MehraeinHootan.pdf 1983) https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/146524/41205\_2018\_Article\_30.pdf 1984) https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/146524/41205\_2018\_Article\_30.pdf 1985) http://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/2018/03/IADOT\_InTrans\_RB33\_014\_Reeder\_Implementation\_Manual\_3D\_Engi neered Models Highway Const 2015 Final.pdf 1986) https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/2018/03/201629.pdf  $https://cog-cu.colorado.edu/site_media/projects/ufs-sc/EMC_Implementation_Plan_FY18-20\_v1.docx.pdf$ 1987) 1988) https://ceat.okstate.edu/research/ceat\_research\_abstracts\_2018.pdf https://repository.lib.ncsu.edu/bitstream/handle/1840.20/35214/etd.pdf 1989) 1990) http://www.cs.columbia.edu/~sedwards/classes/2012/3827-spring/advanced-arch-2011.pdf https://smartech.gatech.edu/bitstream/handle/1853/39550/zaveri\_jesal\_d\_201105\_mast.pdf 1991) 1992) https://www.bu.edu/peaclab/files/2018/08/Resource\_and\_thermal\_managemen.pdf https://www.academia.edu/29103371/python-crash-course.pdf 1993) https://kysu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/2017-2018-Kentucky-State-University-Catalogue-pdffinal.pdf 1994) 1995) http://documents.coastline.edu/About%2520CCC/Course%2520Catalogs/2019%2520Spring%2520Class%2520Schedule.pd f http://coe.sfasu.edu/documents/EC\_6\_Online\_Syllabi.pdf 1996) https://www.lpi.usra.edu/opag/europa2012/ES%25202012%2520Report%2520C%2520Flyby%2520-%2520Final%2520-%2520Final%2520-%2520Flyby%2520-%2520Final%2520-%2520Flyby%2520Flyby%2520-%2520Flyby%2520Flyby%2520Flyby%2520Flyby%2520Flyby%2520Flyby%2520Flyby%2520Flyby%2520Flyby%2520Flyby%2520Flyby%2520Flyby%250Flyby%250Flyby%250Flyby% 1997) %252020120501.pdf https://www.cuesta.edu/accreditation/documents/2014\_Accreditation\_Documents/SLOCCCD\_Self\_Evaluation\_2014.pdf 1998) http://coil.suny.edu/sites/default/files/coil2016\_conference\_program\_web.pdf 1999) 2000) https://www.apps.vpfin.vt.edu/contracts/documents/VTS-948-2019.pdf 2001) http://www.forsythtech.edu/files/manufacturingroundtable/Additive\_Manufacturing.pdf 2002) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/119559/memoria.pdf https://www.monash.edu/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0011/1515791/ATRF2018\_Paper\_33\_Additive-Manufacturing-in-2003) Interior-Rail-Components.pdf https://www.engineering.pitt.edu/assets/0/2147484568/2147484577/2147486983/2147487240/2147487299/2147487300/ 2004)1420c157-5fc2-4e58-8260-5672117e4235.pdf 2005) http://www.pitt.edu/~budny/papers/8155.pdf https://smartech.gatech.edu/bitstream/handle/1853/58970/gms-2016-report-of-survey-r.pdf 2006) http://psas.scripts.mit.edu/home/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/A-Hazard-Analysis-Technique-for-Additive-2007) Manufacturing-v1.3.pdf 2008) https://dcp.ufl.edu/dcp/uploads/sites/43/2018/11/ProceedingsBIMAS2018a.pdf 2009) https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/2018/03/201629.pdf

2010) http://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/2018/03/IADOT\_InTrans\_RB33\_014\_Reeder\_Implementation\_Manual\_3D\_Engi neered\_Models\_Highway\_Const\_2015\_Final.pdf https://www.bradley.edu/sites/challenge/assets/documents/WebinarSlides04.04.2018.pdf 2011) 2012) http://www.pm.umd.edu/\_aths\_2015\_a\_2018\_econdes\_compositions.pdf https://kuscholarworks.ku.edu/bitstream/handle/1808/4264/umi-ku-2651\_1.pdf 2013) 2014) https://web.stanford.edu/class/cee320/CEE320C/RobertFoxPresentation.pdf https://lehman.edu/itr/2018-2019%2520Student-Technology-Fee-Plan.pdf 2015) 2016) https://inventory.unl.edu/f8282.pdf https://www.reedleycollege.edu/admissions-aid/summfallspr2017\_2018.pdf 2017) 2018) https://www.artcenter.edu/acn/pdf/acn\_catalog.pdf https://www.beloit.edu/reslife/assets/lottery\_2018\_2019\_updated\_booklet.pdf 2019) 2020) https://www.fullcoll.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/FullertonCollegeCatalog\_2018-19\_8-20-18.pdf https://www.elac.edu/academics/schedules/2018/fall/ELAC Fall 2018 Classes.pdf 2021) 2022) https://www.miad.edu/wp-content/uploads/image\_archive/downloads/MIAD\_Spring\_2018\_Schedule\_of\_Classes.pdf 2023) https://alameda.peralta.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/CoA\_Splash\_04\_26\_18.pdf http://fablearn.stanford.edu/fellows/sites/default/files/Blikstein\_Martinez\_Pang-Meaningful\_Making\_book.pdf 2024) https://its.fsu.edu/sites/g/files/upcbnu1011/files/Student%2520Tech%2520Fee/Annual%2520Approved%2520Proposals/2011/files/Student%2520Tech%2520Fee/Annual%2520Approved%2520Proposals/2011/files/Student%2520Tech%2520Fee/Annual%2520Approved%2520Proposals/2011/files/Student%2520Tech%2520Fee/Annual%2520Approved%2520Proposals/2011/files/Student%2520Tech%2520Fee/Annual%2520Approved%2520Proposals/2011/files/Student%2520Tech%2520Fee/Annual%2520Approved%2520Proposals/2011/files/Student%2520Tech%2520Fee/Annual%2520Approved%2520Proposals/2011/files/Student%2520Tech%2520Fee/Annual%2520Approved%2520Proposals/2011/files/Student%2520Tech%2520Fee/Annual%2520Approved%2520Proposals/2011/files/Student%2520Fee/Annual%2520Approved%2520Proposals/2011/files/Student%2520Fee/Annual%2520Proposals/2011/files/Student%2520Fee/Annual%2520Proposals/2011/files/Student%2520Fee/Annual%2520Fee/Annual%2520Proposals/2011/files/Student%2520Fee/Annual%2520Fee/Annual%2520Proposals/2011/files/Student%2520Fee/Annual%2520Fee/Annual%2520Proposals/2011/files/Student%2011/files/Student%2011/files/Student%2011/files/Student%2011/files/Student%2011/files/Student%2011/files/Student%2011/files/Student%2011/files/Student%2520Fee/Annual%2520Fee/Annual%2520Fee/Annual%2520Fee/Annual%2520Fee/Annual%2520Fee/Annual%2520Fee/Annual%2520Fee/Annual%2520Fee/Annual%2520Fee/Annual%2520Fee/Annual%2520Fee/Annual%2520Fee/Annual%2520Fee/Annual%2520Fee/Annual%2520Fee/Annual%2520Fee/Annual%2500Fee/Annual%252025) 019/Tech%2520Fee%2520Proposal%25202019o66%2520Innovation%2520Hub%2520Fabrication%2520Lab%2520Expansion%2520Baldauf.pdf https://www.calstate.edu/cpdc/Facilities\_Planning/documents/2018-2019-capital-outlay-program.pdf 2026) https://www.ecc.edu/uploadedFiles/DatatelCourseCatalog/Custom\_Programs/ECC\_FabLab\_UserGuide.pdf 2027) https://www.csub.edu/facultyAffairs/\_files/FTL-CEECS-2018.pdf 2028) 2029) https://www.purdue.edu/in-mac/assets/pdf/2018-indiana-manufacturing-survey-report\_small.pdf https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-043018-2030) 094010/unrestricted/Industry4InDenmark\_FinalPaper.pdf https://minds.wisconsin.edu/bitstream/handle/1793/78886/Krachtt%252C%2520Noah.pdf 2031) 2032) http://faculty.weatherhead.case.edu/susan-helper/papers/helper\_martins\_seamans.pdf http://www.ase.tufts.edu/gdae/Pubs/wp/18-04\_Sampath\_IndustrialPolicy4.0.pdf 2033) 2034) http://euro.ecom.cmu.edu/resources/elibrary/ubi/Industry4.0.pdf https://business.wvu.edu/files/d/7c66a299-d8od-4668-b45d-01aca7c10c4c/overview-of-smart-manufacturing-in-west-2035) virginia.pdf  $https://www.depts.ttu.edu/vpr/research-park/prototype-build/downloads/iLaunchCompetitionRules\_2018.pdf$ 2036) 2037) https://reap.mit.edu/assets/Ting-Final.pdf 2038) http://ilp.mit.edu/media/news\_articles/smr/2018/59411.pdf https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/201807\_Brookings-Metro\_Rethinking-Clusters-Initiatives\_St-2039) Louis-Agtech-final-version\_JUL-25-2018.pdf 2040) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/cs\_20170404\_innovation\_spaces\_pdf.pdf 2041) https://conferences.law.stanford.edu/vcs2019/wp-content/uploads/sites/63/2018/09/002-BCG-How-the-Best-Corporate-Venturers-Keep-Getting-Better-Aug-2018\_tcm9-200601.pdf http://its.fsu.edu/sites/g/files/upcbnu1011/files/Student%2520Tech%2520Fee/Annual%2520Approved%2520Proposals/20 2042)18/Tech%2520Fee%2520Proposal%25202018o26% 2520 Collaborative % 2520 Technologies % 2520 for % 2520 Innovation % 2520 Hub% 2520 Baldauf.pdfhttps://osa.hksyu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/An-Intro-to-social-innovation-for-NGOs.pdf 2043) 2044) https://president.uga.edu/\_resources/documents/2018-uga-innovation-district-task-force.pdf https://manufacturingpolicy.indiana.edu/doc/Smart%2520Factories.pdf 2045) https://research.engineering.uiowa.edu/kusiak/sites/research.engineering.uiowa.edu.kusiak/files/IJPR%2520Smart% 2046)2520manufacturing.pdf 2047) https://minds.wisconsin.edu/bitstream/handle/1793/78886/Krachtt%252C%2520Noah.pdf https://business.wvu.edu/files/d/7c66a299-d80d-4668-b45d-01aca7c10c4c/overview-of-smart-manufacturing-in-west-2048) virginia.pdf

2049) https://www.purdue.edu/in-mac/assets/pdf/2018-indiana-manufacturing-survey-report\_small.pdf

2050) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Manufacturing-and-Industrialization-in-Africa-Signe-20180921.pdf

2051) https://www.jwcc.edu/files/Developing\_your\_Digital\_Manufacturing\_and\_Design\_DMD\_Roadmap.pdf https://www.uah.edu/images/research/cspar/cpu2al/2018\_stoh/science\_\_tech.\_open\_house\_2018\_poster\_abstracts.pdf 2052) http://webfolder.eurac.edu/eurac/publications/Activity report/2018/Activity report 2018.pdf 2053) 2054) https://www.seas.harvard.edu/softmat/downloads/2017-15.pdf http://ww2.che.ufl.edu/ren/paper/2018%2520p12.pdf 2055) 2056) https://ceat.okstate.edu/research/ceat\_research\_abstracts\_2018.pdf http://diposit.ub.edu/dspace/bitstream/2445/60843/1/VMFS\_PhD\_THESIS.pdf 2057) 2058) http://www.pitt.edu/~mkp35/8025.pdf https://nanolab.usc.edu/files/2018/03/88805-1giekg7.pdf 2059) 2060) https://qingcaolab.matse.illinois.edu/files/2018/08/Forbes\_Carbon-Nanotubes-Are-Getting-Closer-To-Making-Our-Electronic-Devices-Obsolete.pdf 2061) https://ceat.okstate.edu/research/ceat\_research\_abstracts\_2018.pdf 2062) https://cait.rutgers.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/fhwa-nj-2002-011.pdf 2063) https://www.upc.edu/master/guiadocent/pdf/ing/240EM115/surface-engineering.pdf 2064) https://udayton.edu/udri/\_resources/docs/fall\_18\_12\_pp\_for\_web.pdf http://411.fit.edu/icmcf/documents/Abstracts%2520ICMCF%25202018.pdf 2065) https://www.tce.edu/sites/default/files/Syllabus/PG-ME-Manufacturing-Engineering-CBCS-Syllabus.pdf 2066) http://composites.utk.edu/papers%2520in%2520pdf/cui-2018.pdf 2067) 2068) http://cpmi.illinois.edu/files/2018/07/Recent-developments-in-surface-science-and-engineering-thin-films-nanosciencebiomaterials-plasma-science-and-vacuum-technology.pdf https://lectures.najah.edu/media/uploads/2018/9/6/elBNeXKaRjac\_nSEZGdwgg\_Chapter\_4\_Conductive\_polymers.pdf 2069) http://composites.utk.edu/papers%2520in%2520pdf/c8tc04079f.pdf 2070) 2071) https://smartech.gatech.edu/bitstream/handle/1853/59903/KRISHNAKUMARMENON-DISSERTATION-2018.pdf http://www.pitt.edu/~qiw4/Academic/MEMS1082/Group%25202%2520EAPs%2520review%2520-2072) %2520Final%2520Paper.pdf  $https://www.academia.edu/38341466/\%25D8\%25A7\%25D9\%2584\%25D8\%25A8\%25D8\%25AD\%25D8\%25AB\_18.pdf$ 2073) http://acshist.scs.illinois.edu/bulletin\_open\_access/v39-1/v39-1%2520p64-72.pdf 2074) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/118040/polymers-10-00340.pdf 2075) 2076) https://www.academia.edu/37476042/2018\_ASHRAE\_Handbook\_-\_Refrigeration\_SI.pdf https://authors.library.caltech.edu/92445/2/1811.08079.pdf 2077) 2078) https://www.marquette.edu/engineering/discovery-learning-lab/documents/sopliquidnitrogen.pdf https://smartech.gatech.edu/bitstream/handle/1853/59855/PARK-DISSERTATION-2018.pdf 2079) 2080) https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/147648/qcb\_1.pdf 2081) https://www.pfw.edu/dotAsset/828ace91-771e-46ef-b69f-86c4ec53da7a.pdf 2082) https://vpfa.boisestate.edu/files/2019/01/BoiseStateAnnualReportFY18-wsingleaudit.pdf http://ischuller.ucsd.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Superconducting-materials-found-in-meteorites-Science-AAAS.pdf 2083) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc671348/m2/1/high\_res\_d/249281.pdf 2084) 2085) http://www.personal.psu.edu/ewh10/Assets/Papers/2007\_TwoGap\_nphys725.pdf 2086) http://www.phys.ufl.edu/~pjh/teaching/phz7429/advanced-physicsprize2016.pdf 2087) https://www.cfa.harvard.edu/sites/www.cfa.harvard.edu/files/Booklet\_1.pdf 2088) http://motor1.physics.wayne.edu/~cinabro/cinabro/education/researchintro/matos4.pdf 2089) http://www.terpconnect.umd.edu/~yfmo/aenm.201800035.pdf http://liugroup.ucsd.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/frontiers\_of\_solidstate\_batteries.pdf 2090) https://galligroup.uchicago.edu/images/news/FY2018\_EFRC\_Award\_List.pdf 2091) https://faculty.chemistry.harvard.edu/files/gordon/files/arbour\_collectors\_item\_science\_2018.pdf 2092) https://web.stanford.edu/group/cui\_group/papers/Shuixin\_Cui\_Liu\_CHEM\_2018.pdf 2093) https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/143970/physheng\_1.pdf 2094) 2095) http://libna.mntl.illinois.edu/pdf/publications/238\_Valera.pdf https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/yetisen/files/the\_regulation\_of\_mobile\_medical\_applications\_o.pdf 2096) http://rogersgroup.northwestern.edu/files/2018/locreview.pdf 2097) https://research.upenn.edu/wp-content/uploads/RAP2018\_final.pdf 2098) https://news.seas.upenn.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Fall\_18.pdf 2099) 2100) https://drum.lib.umd.edu/bitstream/handle/1903/21719/King\_umd\_0117N\_19642.pdf

2101) http://www.uceou.edu/nirf%25202018/12jan2019/PUBLICATIONS-converted.pdf https://engineering.purdue.edu/ComplexFlowLab/assets/pdf/BulletinJul2015.pdf 2102) http://thapar.edu/upload/files/ADVERTIGMENT 2 SRF Application july 2018.pdf 2103) 2104) http://www.uceou.edu/handbook%25202017-2018/Hand%2520Book%25202017-18.pdf http://oldpm.umd.edu/magneto\_abrasive\_flow\_machining\_journal\_.pdf 2105) 2106) http://www.ecs.umass.edu/~arwade/steelfoam\_review.pdf https://www.udmercy.edu/about/people/university/ces/\_files/dukhan-cv.pdf 2107) 2108) https://www.mae.ncsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/2018-MAE-Newsletter.pdf http://catalog.mit.edu/subjects/3/3.pdf 2109) https://ceat.okstate.edu/research/ceat\_research\_abstracts\_2018.pdf 2110) 2111) http://xlab.me.berkeley.edu/pdf/160.pdf 2112) https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/145155/MetamaterialsManufacturingReport-May21\_digitalreduced.pdf 2113) http://www.math.utah.edu/~cherk/teach/5740MathModeling/metamaterials.pdf 2114) http://svl.eng.buffalo.edu/files/Mostafa\_Nouh\_CV.pdf https://thesis.library.caltech.edu/10764/1/Thesis\_Papadakis\_v2.pdf 2115) https://dukespace.lib.duke.edu/dspace/bitstream/handle/10161/8048/Nguyen\_duke\_0066D\_12063.pdf 2116) http://research.vuse.vanderbilt.edu/srdesign/2006/group19/Microfluidicstechnologyformanipulationandanalysisofbiologica 2117) lcells.pdf 2118) https://jscholarship.library.jhu.edu/bitstream/handle/1774.2/60155/NAIR-THESIS-2018.pdf http://biochemistry.tamu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/104/2018/01/2018-Microfluidics-Review-AR.pdf 2119) https://www.ideals.illinois.edu/bitstream/handle/2142/101013/FENG-DISSERTATION-2018.pdf 2120) 2121) https://dukespace.lib.duke.edu/dspace/bitstream/handle/10161/10486/Hu\_duke\_0066D\_13060.pdf http://dalyresearch.engin.umich.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/237/2019/01/Microfluidic-design-strategies.pdf 2122) https://newhorizonindia.edu/nhc\_kasturinagar/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/Strategic-Management-Book.pdf 2123) 2124) http://www.cs.yale.edu/homes/aspnes/classes/223/notes.pdf 2125) https://www.mccormick.northwestern.edu/documents/students/undergraduate/introduction-to-matlab.pdf https://cran.case.edu/doc/manuals/r-release/R-lang.pdf 2126) 2127)https://hilo.hawaii.edu/pi-casc/documents/fy2018-2022-strategic-plan.pdf https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/tnkomo/files/analysis of toyota.pdf 2128) 2129) https://spacegrant.alaska.edu/sites/default/files/nasa\_2018\_strategic\_plan.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/chung2/docs/npep-2011.pdf 2130) 2131) http://cac.annauniv.edu/PhpProject1/aidetails/afpg\_2017\_fu/48.Nano.pdf 2132) https://www.library.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/Lang-Prize-2018-Janice-Leung-Project.pdf https://webarchive.library.unt.edu/eot2008/20080916054823/http://www.nano.gov/NNI\_Instrumentation\_Metrology\_rp 2133) t.pdf 2134) https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/143983/apanda\_1.pdf 2135) https://galligroup.uchicago.edu/images/news/FY2018\_EFRC\_Award\_List.pdf https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/sakimoto/files/cocb.pdf 2136) https://digital.library.txstate.edu/bitstream/handle/10877/7394/MANSPEAKER-DISSERTATION-2018.pdf 2137) 2138) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph241/costello2/docs/epa-456f-99-006r.pdf https://web.stanford.edu/class/ee311/NOTES/Robertson%2520JAP04.pdf 2139) http://ww2.che.ufl.edu/ren/paper/2018%2520p12.pdf 2140) http://web.mit.edu/2.813/www/readings/IPCCCarbonCycle.pdf 2141) 2142) http://www.pitt.edu/~budny/papers/8150.pdf http://tang.eas.gatech.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/2018\_Cavazos\_MarineChem\_hydroxylamine-MnOx.pdf 2143) http://cs.brown.edu/courses/csci1800/sources/2018\_NAE\_QuantumComputing\_ProgressAndProspects.pdf 2144) 2145) http://www.theory.caltech.edu/~preskill/pubs/preskill-2018-NISQ.pdf https://www.academia.edu/37969374/The\_problem\_of\_quantum\_computers\_in\_cryptography\_a.pdf 2146) https://courses.csail.mit.edu/6.857/2018/project/jeffli-wloucks-vizhai-timzhong-PostQuantNIST.pdf 2147) https://courses.csail.mit.edu/6.857/2018/project/Kelly-Laurer-Prinster-Zhang-BlockchainNetSec.pdf 2148)

2149) http://essic.umd.edu/joom2/index.php/faculty-and $staff\% 3 Flayout\% 3 Duser\% 26 user\_id\% 3 D171\% 26 dir\% 3 DJSROOT\% 252 Fts waim 1\% 26 download\_file\% 3 DJSROOT\% 252 Fts waim 1\% 252 Fts waim$ Quantum%2BComputing%2Band%2BCryptography%2BToday.pdf http://cpmi.illinois.edu/files/2018/07/Recent-developments-in-surface-science-and-engineering-thin-films-nanoscience-2150) biomaterials-plasma-science-and-vacuum-technology.pdf 2151) https://dspace.library.colostate.edu/bitstream/handle/11124/172265/Abdulslam\_mines\_0052E\_11471.pdf http://diposit.ub.edu/dspace/bitstream/2445/60843/1/VMFS\_PhD\_THESIS.pdf 2152) http://rogersgroup.northwestern.edu/files/2018/jacsnmreview.pdf 2153)https://web.stevens.edu/ses/documents/fileadmin/documents/pdf/1-s2.0-S2352507X1730392X-main.pdf 2154) https://www.upc.edu/master/guiadocent/pdf/ing/240EQ016/polymers-and-biopolymers.pdf 2155) https://www.che.udel.edu/pdf/WeeklyAnnouncements/2018/WklyNews\_01082018.pdf 2156)2157) https://archive.nyu.edu/jspui/bitstream/2451/42242/2/Plastic%2520Waste%2520Management%2520in%2520India.pdf http://repositorio.ucam.edu/bitstream/handle/10952/3838/2019%2520polymers-11-00252.pdf 2158) 2159) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/park-h2/docs/env-jp-2012.pdf https://www.monash.edu/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0013/1103170/Honours-18-Projects14Dec.pdf 2160) http://www.academia.edu/36417188/Superalloys\_Alloying\_and\_Performance\_Iran-mavad.com.pdf 2161) http://www.pitt.edu/~budny/papers/8155.pdf 2162) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2017/ph241/wang2/docs/nea-6409.pdf 2163) https://www.lpi.usra.edu/vexag/EPSCoR.pdf 2164) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/38/93/00113/08-2018.pdf 2165) http://oldpm.umd.edu/xtremepapers\_mathematics\_4024\_answers\_.pdf 2166) 2167) https://msec-namrc-2018.tamu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/6/2018/06/NAMRC-MSEC-Program\_web.pdf 2168) https://smartech.gatech.edu/bitstream/handle/1853/17300/ghazanfar\_s\_a\_197312\_ms\_256475.pdf https://www.academia.edu/38340916/Meyers etal HEAs PMS.pdf 2169) 2170) http://meyersgroup.ucsd.edu/papers/journals/Meyers%2520460.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2017/ph241/wang2/docs/nea-6409.pdf 2171) 2172) https://ceat.okstate.edu/research/ceat\_research\_abstracts\_2018.pdf https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/84894/materials-11-01433.pdf 2173) http://ophelia.sdsu.edu:8080/ford/10-28-2018/content/dam/corporate/en/company/2017-18-Sustainability-2174)Report/sr17.pdf 2175) http://www.pitt.edu/~budny/papers/8164.pdf https://www.gia.edu/doc/Winter-2018-Gems-Gemology.pdf 2176) 2177) http://e2shi.jhu.edu/images/DoD\_FOA\_N00014-17-S-F006.pdf 2178) http://sinberbest.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/mosalam-nuria-2018.pdf https://ssa.ccny.cuny.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Volkmann\_AdvancedStudioSyllabusSpring2018.pdf 2179) https://facilities.wustl.edu/files/2018/04/2018\_04\_17\_Design\_Material\_Standards\_Specifications\_wh-26hbwr8.pdf 2180)https://www.getty.edu/conservation/publications\_resources/newsletters/pdf/v32n2.pdf 2181) 2182) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph241/costello2/docs/epa-456f-99-006r.pdf 2183) http://institutions.northsouth.edu/cee/assets/files/CV%25200f%2520HRK.pdf 2184) https://insyst.fiu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/J101\_BiosensBioelect\_Lactate-Sensors-Review.pdf 2185) https://innovate.ee.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/2010/03/Ozcan-Group-Annurev-Anchem-Wearable-Implant-2018.pdf 2186) http://rogersgroup.northwestern.edu/files/2018/locreview.pdf 2187) http://www2.eecs.berkeley.edu/Pubs/TechRpts/2018/EECS-2018-129.pdf https://rc.library.uta.edu/uta-ir/bitstream/handle/10106/27415/RAZA-DISSERTATION-2018.pdf 2188) https://research.tilburguniversity.edu/files/26463778/MCP\_Habibovic\_sleep\_disturbance\_EJoCN\_open\_access\_2018.pdf 2189) http://www.med.umich.edu/myheartyourheart/pdf/Worldwide%2520pacemaker%2520and%2520defibrillator%2520reuse 2100)%2520-%2520Systematic%2520review%2520and%2520meta.pdf 2191) https://innovate.ee.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/2010/03/Ozcan-Group-Annurev-Anchem-Wearable-Implant-2018.pdf https://scholarworks.iupui.edu/bitstream/handle/1805/18762/Desai\_2018\_association.pdf 2192) https://scholarworks.iupui.edu/bitstream/handle/1805/14775/Ajam\_2017\_natural.pdf 2193) https://patienteducation.osumc.edu/Documents/SICDbook.pdf 2194) https://patienteducation.osumc.edu/Documents/ICDbook.pdf 2195)

2196) https://studentfinancialservices.humboldt.edu/sites/default/files/p970\_5.pdf

2197) https://www.vaughn.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Airbus-Projections.pdf 2198) https://www.utsa.edu/about/doc/fastfacts.pdf https://libraryonline.erau.edu/online-full-text/icao-safety-reports/ICAO-Safety-Report-2018.pdf 2199) 2200) https://my.duke.edu/docs/BB2022\_Trinity.pdf http://ejcj.orfaleacenter.ucsb.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/1972.-Report-of-the-United-Nations-Conference-on-the-2201)Environment-Stockholm-1972.pdf https://www.ucdavis.edu/sites/default/files/upload/files/uc-davis-student-profile.pdf 2202) 2203) https://ai100.stanford.edu/sites/g/files/sbivbj9861/f/ai 100 report 0831fnl.pdf https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/86490/s41598-018-21200-8.pdf 2204) https://www.bu.edu/dbin/stemcells/files/cpsc.51.pdf 2205) http://morrislab.wustl.edu/files/2018/11/wu\_csc.pdf 2206) 2207) https://iscrm.uw.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/NephronFeb19.pdf 2208) https://case.edu/research/sites/case.edu.research/files/2018-07/A%2520New%2520Milestone%2520in%2520Laboratory%2520Grown%2520Human%2520Brain%2520Tissue.pdf 2209) http://wi.mit.edu/files/wi/cfile/programs/teacher/presentations/richr\_1118b.pdf https://systemsbiology.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/Columbia-SystemsBiology-Research-Newsletter-2018.pdf 2210) https://quadratolab.usc.edu/files/2018/11/biosketch-27doyxo.pdf 2211) https://hr.umich.edu/sites/default/files/2017-um-rx-annual-report-final-web.pdf 2212) https://hr.umich.edu/sites/default/files/2018-drug-plan-welcome-booklet.pdf 2213) https://www.usg.edu/assets/hr/benefits\_docs/Medicare\_A\_B\_2019.pdf 2214)https://apcdcouncil.org.unh.edu/sites/default/files/media/wy\_sf0088\_2018.pdf 2215) http://www.ecu.edu/cs-dhs/ecuphysicians/medassistance/upload/Pfizer-application-Lyrica.pdf 2216) 2217) https://med.stanford.edu/content/dam/sm/ehr/documents/EHR-Poll-Presentation.pdf https://www.dentistry.umn.edu/sites/dentistry.umn.edu/files/mn-opioid-prescribing-guidelines\_tcm1053-337012.pdf 2218) 2219) https://www.pharmacy.umn.edu/sites/pharmacy.umn.edu/files/regulating\_through\_pmps.pdf 2220) https://health.uconn.edu/health-disparities/wp-content/uploads/sites/53/2018/12/untitled.pdf 2221) https://www.alsde.edu/dept/erc/ERC%2520Other%2520Data/OCR%25202018%2520Release.pdf https://sirenetwork.ucsf.edu/sites/sirenetwork.ucsf.edu/files/wysiwyg/Community-Resource-Referral-Platforms-Guide.pdf 2222) 2223)https://www.usg.edu/assets/hr/benefits\_docs/Medicare\_A\_B\_2019.pdf https://www.fcps.edu/sites/default/files/media/forms/SRR1819\_0.pdf 2224) 2225) https://www.mtl.mit.edu/sites/default/files/attachments/bio\_med\_sys.pdf http://rogersgroup.northwestern.edu/files/2018/locreview.pdf 2226)2227) https://innovate.ee.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/2010/03/Ozcan-Group-Annurev-Anchem-Wearable-Implant-2018.pdf 2228) http://xugroup.eng.ucsd.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/51\_Nat\_Electron.pdf http://www.vit.edu/Electronics/images/curriculum/SY\_Syllabus\_17-18.pdf 2220) http://cac.annauniv.edu/PhpProject1/aidetails/afug\_2013\_fu/18.%2520EEE.pdf 2230) http://www.thapar.edu/upload/files/EIC\_2018.pdf 2231) 2232) https://innovate.ee.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/2010/03/Ozcan-Group-Annurev-Anchem-Wearable-Implant-2018.pdf https://www.dental.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/media/documents/2018-05/cdm\_fallwinter\_2017\_vweb2\_1.pdf 2233) http://www.princeton.edu/~nverma/VermaLabSite/Publications/2012/MannoorTaoClaytonSenguptaKaplanNaikVermaOm 2234)enettoMcalpine\_NatComm2012.pdf https://www.cccc.edu/dental/hygiene/files/DH-clinic-manual.pdf 2235) 2236) http://www.hufsd.edu/assets/pdf/resources/2018/health/letter\_new\_health\_dental\_exam\_forms.pdf https://dentistry.ouhsc.edu/Portals/1328/assets/Documents/Current%2520Students/Scientific%2520Day/2018%2520Abstickers/Scientific%2520Day/2018%2520Abstickers/Scientific%2520Day/2018%2520Abstickers/Scientific%2520Day/2018%2520Abstickers/Scientific%2520Day/2018%2520Abstickers/Scientific%2540bstickers/Scientific%2540bstickers/Scientific%2540bstickers/Scientific%2540bstickers/Scientific%2540bstickers/Scientific%2540bstickers/Scientific%2540bstickers/Scientific%2540bstickers/Scientific%2540bstickers/Scientific%2540bstickers/Scientific%22237) ract%2520Book.pdf https://www.dental.umaryland.edu/media/sod/office-of-institutional-advancement/Mdental-Spring-2018-WEB-v16-2238) PAGES.pdf 2239) https://innovate.ee.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/2010/03/Ozcan-Group-Annurev-Anchem-Wearable-Implant-2018.pdf https://scholarspace.manoa.hawaii.edu/bitstream/10125/59821/0381.pdf 2240) https://udayton.edu/law/\_resources/documents/pilt-2018-seminar-2241) materials/Diving%2520into%2520Digital%2520Health%25202018\_Oberhaus.pdf https://hsl.lib.unc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/mHealthWhitePaper\_1.pdf 2242)

2243) https://www.mtl.mit.edu/sites/default/files/attachments/ar2018.pdf

2244) https://health.uconn.edu/dept-pediatrics/wp-content/uploads/sites/54/2019/04/Annual\_Academic\_Report\_2018.pdf https://www.vanderbilt.edu/viibre/documents/Wikswo\_ELRIG\_Keynote\_2018\_05\_22\_1807.pdf 2245) 2246) https://news.seas.upenn.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Fall\_18.pdf 2247) https://research.upenn.edu/wp-content/uploads/RAP2018\_final.pdf https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/86490/s41598-018-21200-8.pdf 2248) 2249) https://www.indigo.uic.edu/bitstream/handle/10027/23081/DIGIUDA-THESIS-2018.pdf https://osherminimed.ucsf.edu/sites/g/files/tkssra781/f/wysiwyg/WED-3.13.19%2520Neinstein%2520w.Bedrich%2520-3.13.19%2520Neinstein%2520w.Bedrich%2520-3.13.19%2520Neinstein%2520w.Bedrich%2520-3.13.19%2520Neinstein%2520w.Bedrich%2520Neinstein%2520Webrich%2520Neinstein%2520Webrich%2520Neinstein%250Neinstein%250Neinst2250) Diabetes%2520-%2520Lastest%2520Technology.pdf http://www.cs.colorado.edu/~srirams/papers/ap-review-arsbm-2019.pdf 2251) https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/143137/40842\_2018\_Article\_56.pdf 2252) https://scholarspace.manoa.hawaii.edu/bitstream/10125/59843/1/0403.pdf 2253) 2254) https://epubl.ktu.edu/object/elaba:28967016/28967016.pdf http://www.pitt.edu/~mam636/WritingAssignment3.pdf 2255) https://dash.harvard.edu/bitstream/handle/1/37068323/5910038.pdf 2256) 2257) https://csml.uconn.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/257/2018/06/Distributed-and-Adaptive-Personalized-Artificial-Pancreas.pdf https://www.pharmacy.umaryland.edu/media/SOP/wwwpharmacyumarylandedu/programs/p3/pdfs/standardofcare2018 final standardofcare2018 final standard2258) nal.pdf https://dash.harvard.edu/bitstream/handle/1/37067961/5892752.pdf 2259)https://foster.uw.edu/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/Insulenz\_Web.pdf 2260)  $https://medicine.yale.edu/intmed/drc/diabetescenter/living/50135\_Yale\%2520National\%2520F\_102165\_284\_13584\_v1.particlescenter/living/s0135\_Yale\%2520National\%2520F\_102165\_284\_13584\_v1.particlescenter/living/s0135\_Yale\%2520National\%2520F\_102165\_284\_13584\_v1.particlescenter/living/s0135\_Yale\%2520National\%2520F\_102165\_284\_13584\_v1.particlescenter/living/s0135\_Yale\%2520National\%2520F\_102165\_284\_13584\_v1.particlescenter/living/s0135\_Yale\%2520National\%2520F\_102165\_284\_13584\_v1.particlescenter/living/s0135\_Yale\%2520National\%2520F\_102165\_284\_13584\_v1.particlescenter/living/s0135\_Yale\%2520National\%2520F\_102165\_284\_13584\_v1.particlescenter/living/s0135\_Yale\%2520National\%2520F\_102165\_284\_13584\_v1.particlescenter/living/s0135\_Yale\%2520National\%250National\%250Nat$ 2261) df 2262) http://rogersgroup.northwestern.edu/files/2018/locreview.pdf 2263) http://midus.wisc.edu/findings/pdfs/1883.pdf 2264) https://www.healthcare.uiowa.edu/familymedicine/fpinfo/Docs/GOLD-2019-POCKET-GUIDE-DRAFT-v1.7-14Nov2018-WMS.pdf 2265) https://agrohortonline.unl.edu/Effectiveness of online learning.pdf http://openaccess.uoc.edu/webapps/02/bitstream/10609/75705/6/ELR\_Report\_2017.pdf 2266) 2267) https://www.kent-school.edu/sites/default/files/2017-2018.pdf https://singapore.digipen.edu/fileadmin/singapore/Forms/Course Catalogs/1819 SGCatalog Web.pdf 2268) 2269) http://files.bakersfieldcollege.edu/catalog-2018-19/courses-all.pdf https://www.imsa.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/lo\_18-19.pdf 2270) 2271) https://aie.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Seattle-Student-Handbook-and-Catalog-2018-2019-11\_26\_2018.pdf 2272) https://my.academyart.edu/content/dam/assets/pdf/aau\_catalog\_web.pdf https://www.mtu.edu/catalog/courses/2018-19/undergraduate-course-descriptions.2018.pdf 2273) https://www.rit.edu/marketing/sites/rit.edu.marketing/files/docs/pdfs/Undergrad\_Course\_Descriptions.pdf 2274) https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/146524/41205\_2018\_Article\_30.pdf 2275) 2276) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/128955/3d-printing-research-assigment-d.preto-d.silva-31january.pdf https://soar.wichita.edu/bitstream/handle/10057/15563/t18042\_MehraeinHootan.pdf 2277) 2278) http://schen.ucsd.edu/lab/papers/paper131.pdf 2279) https://repositori.upf.edu/bitstream/handle/10230/36470/marti-scr-stat.pdf 2280) http://home.uchicago.edu/~ekarrar/vmru.bwh.harvard.edu/pdf/Wolfrum.ATVB.pdf 2281) https://neurology.uams.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/49/2018/03/SPARCL.pdf 2282) https://www.academia.edu/38064365/NJAS\_2018\_17-Final.pdf https://www.etown.edu/offices/security/files/Annual-Security-Fire-Safety-Clery-Report.pdf 2283) https://pueblo.extension.colostate.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/24/2018/03/2018springhort.pdf 2284)https://performingarts.nd.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/LEIGHTON-CONCERT-HALL-Technical-Information-2285) Package-2018-19.pdf https://bov.vt.edu/assets/Attachment%2520E\_CAR%2520Minutes\_Nov%25202018.pdf 2286) 2287) https://dda.edu/LA CDL Manual.pdf 2288) https://www.nvcc.edu/catalog/cat2018/catalog2018.pdf 2289) https://www.radiology.wisc.edu/wpcontent/uploads/2017/11/rev\_discovery\_ct750\_hd\_v3.0\_just\_manual\_no\_protocols.pdf

2290) http://www.northeastern.edu/alert/assets/R4-C1\_2018.pdf http://www.pm.umd.edu/\_ct\_64.pdf 2291) 2292) https://ame.nd.edu/research/faculty-research-labs/rroeder/classes/ame60679/Xray\_contrast.pdf 2293) https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/88869/Dong\_X\_D\_2019.pdf https://geiselmed.dartmouth.edu/radiology/pdf/CTE\_MRE\_radiology.pdf 2294) 2295) https://research.monash.edu/files/253806013/253199330\_oa.pdf https://yosan.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/A-Guide-to-Regulating-Hormone-Function-Utilizing-Traditional-Chinese-International-Ch2296) Medicine-by-Nefertiti-Abdou.pdf http://rogersgroup.northwestern.edu/files/2018/acrtransient.pdf 2297) 2298) http://med.stanford.edu/content/dam/sm/cvi/documents/pdf/cvi-2019-annual-report.pdf https://ftp.rush.edu/users/molebio/Xun/2018JACC-editor-top-pick.pdf 2299) 2300) https://unmc.edu/intmed/divisions/cardiology/research/cbbl/2018-8.pdf https://authors.library.caltech.edu/89697/3/10239.full.pdf 2301) 2302) https://ar3t.pitt.edu/symposium/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2018/10/Poster-Abstracts.pdf 2303) http://centers.njit.edu/nhblab/sites/nhblab/files/download35.pdf http://rogersgroup.northwestern.edu/files/2018/acrtransient.pdf 2304) https://www.academia.edu/38368729/Trujillo\_de\_Santiago\_2019.pdf 2305) https://biodesign.seas.harvard.edu/files/biodesignlab/files/2015\_-\_hastings\_-\_addr\_-2306) drug and cell delivery for cardiac regeneration.pdf https://www.bme.psu.edu/labs/Yang-2307) lab/publications%2520PDF/citrate%2520chemistry%2520and%2520biolology%2520Biomaterials%25202018.pdf https://continuumlab.mit.edu/sites/default/files/documents/AJG-CV-9-15-2018.pdf 2308) 2309) https://health.uconn.edu/cancer-dev/wp-content/uploads/sites/180/2018/02/breast\_cancer\_resource\_guide.pdf https://www.cmch-vellore.edu/WeeklyNews/OTHERNEWS/2018/Breast%2520Cancer%2520-%2520April%25202018.pdf 2310) 2311) https://www.salk.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/InsideSalk-ConqueringCancer2018.pdf 2312) https://case.edu/medicine/uhsurgery/sites/case.edu.uhsurgery/files/2018-05/Breast-Cancer-Study-Case.pdf 2313) https://www.feinberg.northwestern.edu/research/docs/newsletters/october2018.pdf https://www.academia.edu/38050789/AI\_in\_Agriculture.pdf 2314) 2315) https://www.academia.edu/38223831/Sejnowski\_Terrence\_J.\_-\_The\_deep\_learning\_revolution\_2018\_.pdf 2316) https://icpc.baylor.edu/xwiki/wiki/public/download/icpcnews/2016-press/8-IBM%2520Watson%2520and%2520IoT%2520Fact%2520Sheet.pdf https://ai100.stanford.edu/sites/g/files/sbiybj9861/f/ai\_100\_report\_0831fnl.pdf 2317) 2318) http://isr.umd.edu/sites/default/files/0918\_JSB.pdf http://classes.engr.oregonstate.edu/eecs/fall2018/ecc599-002/Downloads/ECE599%2520-%2520002%2520-2319) %2520Fall%25202018%2520-%2520Lecture%252016.pdf https://www.purdue.edu/provost/documents/crsConfBoudouris.pdf 2320) https://insyst.fiu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/J101\_BiosensBioelect\_Lactate-Sensors-Review.pdf 2321) 2322) http://e2shi.jhu.edu/images/DoD\_FOA\_N00014-17-S-F006.pdf http://www2.eecs.berkeley.edu/Pubs/TechRpts/2018/EECS-2018-129.pdf 2323) https://www.clarkson.edu/sites/default/files/2017-08/courses17-18.pdf 2324)2325) http://www.klnce.edu/general/Approval\_2018\_19.pdf 2326) http://www.thapar.edu/upload/files/EIC\_2018.pdf 2327) https://alec.unl.edu/documents/cde/2018/vaccination-procedure-guide.pdf http://adai.uw.edu/pubs/pdf/2017syringeexchangehealthsurvey.pdf 2328) http://lynes.uconn.edu/Lynes\_Lab/MCB4211\_files/FLUCELVAX.pdf 2329) https://lecom.edu/content/uploads/2018/08/G-Clark-Injectables-Florida-2018.pdf 2330) http://wcu.edu/WebFiles/PDFs/Insulin\_Injection\_How\_To\_AADE.pdf 2331) 2332) https://www.chabotcollege.edu/nursing/wp-content/uploads/sites/15/2018/06/CDC\_HealthcareProvider2017.pdf https://www.lrc.rpi.edu/programs/energy/pdf/HorticulturalLightingReport-Final.pdf 2333) http://411.fit.edu/icmcf/documents/Abstracts%2520ICMCF%25202018.pdf 2334) https://www.academia.edu/37161211/Proceedings\_copy\_CSECE\_2018\_Final\_PDF---\_1\_.pdf 2335) https://indigo.uic.edu/bitstream/handle/10027/22655/BINNS-THESIS-2018.pdf 2336)

2337) https://authors.library.caltech.edu/88230/1/13.pdf

2338) https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-042618-003515/unrestricted/Antibiotics\_AGAINST\_TBFinal\_AMS\_MLS\_.pdf https://www.public-health.uiowa.edu/ceid/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/Resistance-Bush-Iowa-Apr2017-for-posting.pdf 2339) 2340) https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/bitstream/handle/2152/65083/KasraFallahThesis.pdf https://www.ferris.edu/HTMLS/colleges/pharmacy/Documents/GLID\_2019\_PPT\_handouts.pdf 2341) 2342) https://handelsmanlab.discovery.wisc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/How-to-find-new-antibiotics.pdf https://web.stanford.edu/~amatin/MatinLabHomePage/PDF/Lyue.pdf 2343) http://amr2018.blogs.rice.edu/files/2017/09/AMR-2018-Conference-Guide-electronic-version-29h9hap.pdf 2344)http://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6717/pascale\_6.pdf 2345) http://www.siumed.edu/sites/default/files/u1031/0\_2018-2019\_combined\_pep\_overview\_syllabus\_jacr.pdf 2346) http://personalizedmedicine.sfsu.edu/docs/pers\_med\_2018\_program\_singlepage.pdf 2347) 2348) https://www.monash.edu/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0006/859632/2019MDDomesticBrochure-WEB.pdf https://med.stanford.edu/content/dam/sm/sm-news/documents/StanfordMedicineHealthTrendsWhitePaper2017.pdf 2349) 2350) https://psb.stanford.edu/psb-online/proceedings/psb19/wkshop-text.pdf 2351) https://pharmacy.unc.edu/files/2018/07/CMM\_Care\_Process.pdf https://dash.harvard.edu/bitstream/handle/1/26859983/4810380.pdf 2352) https://cdn2.sph.harvard.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/32/2016/10/trendsContraceptiveUse2015Report.pdf 2353) https://www.cmu.edu/health-services/images/contraceptive-methods.pdf 2354) https://skinner.wsu.edu/documents/2018/04/2018-wk-16-lecture.pdf 2355) https://ec.princeton.edu/questions/ec-review.pdf 2356) https://ce.pharmacy.uconn.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/2102/2019/01/Contraceptives-JAN2019.pdf 2357) http://amr2018.blogs.rice.edu/files/2017/09/AMR-2018-Conference-Guide-electronic-version-29h9hap.pdf 2358) http://qatar-weill.cornell.edu/Portals/15/AntibioticResistance-Stewardship.pdf 2359) https://www.public-health.uiowa.edu/ceid/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/Resistance-Bush-Iowa-Apr2017-for-posting.pdf 2360) 2361) https://ghc.fiu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/38/2018/04/2017-AMR-WORKSHOP-PAHO-GHC-MEETING-REPORT-JANUARY-2017-1.pdf http://diposit.ub.edu/dspace/bitstream/2445/132505/1/684987.pdf 2362) https://nam.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/Antibiotic-Resistance-in-Humans-and-Animals.pdf 2363) 2364)http://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc501909/m1/1/high\_res\_d/RL34401\_2014Dec16.pdf 2365) https://webarchive.library.unt.edu/eot2008/20080916054823/http://www.nano.gov/NNI Instrumentation Metrology rp t.pdf 2366) https://bioresources.cnr.ncsu.edu/wpcontent/uploads/2018/09/BioRes\_13\_4\_Teng\_ASNJNL\_Conventional\_Tech\_Nanotech\_Wood\_Preservat\_Review\_14258.pdf 2367) http://www.cns.ucsb.edu/sites/www.cns.ucsb.edu/files/news/Nanotecnologia%2520Eng.pdf https://galligroup.uchicago.edu/images/news/FY2018\_EFRC\_Award\_List.pdf 2368) http://www.cs.ucr.edu/~mrahm011/papers/iac\_acsac18.pdf 2369) https://www.academia.edu/38223831/Sejnowski\_Terrence\_J.\_-\_The\_deep\_learning\_revolution\_2018\_.pdf 2370) 2371) https://modphys.hosted.uark.edu/ETC/MISC/Automatic\_acoustic\_detection\_of\_birds\_through\_deep\_learning:\_the\_first \_Bird\_Audio\_Detection\_challenge-\_Stowell-x-2018.pdf http://www.consciousness.arizona.edu/documents/TSC2018AbstractBook-final.pdf 2372) https://web.stanford.edu/~shenoy/Press/PalmerEconomist2018.pdf 2373) https://www.cs.dartmouth.edu/~trdata/reports/TR2018-859.pdf 2374) http://www2.eecs.berkeley.edu/Pubs/TechRpts/2018/EECS-2018-146.pdf 2375) 2376) https://innovate.ee.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/2010/03/Ozcan-Group-Annurev-Anchem-Wearable-Implant-2018.pdf http://rogersgroup.northwestern.edu/files/2018/curropneuro.pdf 2377) https://web.stanford.edu/~shenoy/Press/PalmerEconomist2018.pdf 2378) https://www.brown.edu/research-impact/sites/research-impact/files/IMPACT2018.pdf 2379) 2380) https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/88762/brainsci-08-00049.pdf 2381) https://www.academia.edu/37476042/2018\_ASHRAE\_Handbook\_-\_Refrigeration\_SI.pdf 2382) https://www.texastech.edu/fpc/FP%26C%2520Standards%2520Division%252015%2520-%2520Mechanical%2520(Rev%252002-14-18).pdf https://fyi.extension.wisc.edu/cropirrigation/files/2018/03/Roberts-Drip-Irrigation-User-Manual.pdf 2383) 2384) https://aquaplant.tamu.edu/files/2018/08/Clearcast-Label.pdf

2385) https://library.princeton.edu/resolve/lookup%3Furl%3Dhttp://www1.agric.gov.ab.ca/%24department/deptdocs.nsf/all/agd ex32/%24file/606-1.pdf 2386) https://www.imi.edu/delhi/UserFiles/Image/2018/Tender%2520%2520for%2520AMC%2520of%2520Firefighting.pdf 2387) https://fod.osu.edu/sites/default/files/ohio-state\_bim\_pds.pdf 2388) https://www.bim.psu.edu/download/franz-and-messner-evaluating-the-impact-of-bim-on-project-performance-2018.pdf 2389) https://www.usf.edu/administrative-services/facilities/documents/design-construction/guide-bim-standards.pdf http://dar.aucegypt.edu/bitstream/handle/10526/5454/THE%2520IMPLEMENTATION%2520OF%2520BIM%2520TOWA2390) RDS%2520SUSTAINABLE%2520CONSTRUCTION%2520INDUSTRY%2520IN%2520EGYPT.pdf https://www.ucop.edu/construction-services/\_files/annual\_announcement.pdf 2391) http://www.depts.ttu.edu/me/faculty/burak\_aksak/resume\_aksak\_19.pdf 2392) https://hcie.csail.mit.edu/fabpub/dl/personal-fabrication.pdf 2393) 2394) https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/146736/Bhatia\_Nalin\_Practicum.pdf https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/bitstream/handle/2152/63659/Parker,%2520Harry%2520W\_Modular%2520for%2520A 2395) rchitects\_.pdf 2396) http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/Harvard\_JCHS\_State\_of\_the\_Nations\_Housing\_2018.pdf https://libres.uncg.edu/ir/asu/f/Hopkins,%2520Anthony%2520Scott%2520Thesis%25202014.pdf 2397) http://www.miracosta.edu/administrative/purchasing/downloads/SEC%2520Temp%2520Housing%250Housing%250Ho2398) %2520Atttachment%2520W.1%2520-%2520Bid%2520Set%2520Drawings.pdf https://www.phrc.psu.edu/assets/docs/Publications/2018RBDCCPapers/2018-RBDCC-Whole-Proceedings.pdf 2399)https://www.calstate.edu/cpdc/Facilities\_Planning/documents/2018-2019-capital-outlay-program.pdf 2400) http://web.pdx.edu/~pmoeck/intro-nano-class-2018/paper%2520for%2520IEEE%25202018%2520invited%2520talk.pdf 2401) https://www.nova.edu/undergraduatestudies/forms/2017-18\_undergraduate\_catalog.pdf 2402) 2403) https://www.hamilton.edu/applications/catalogue/catalogue.pdf https://www.nvcc.edu/catalog/cat2018/catalog2018.pdf 2404) 2405) https://www.mtu.edu/catalog/courses/2018-19/undergraduate-course-descriptions.2018.pdf https://www.lincoln.edu/sites/default/files/pdf/registrar/Catalog.pdf 2406) 2407) https://mcckc.edu/pdf/academiccatalog.pdf https://www.ctsi.ufl.edu/wordpress/files/2019/02/PAR-17-076-RFA-HEI-Overview-20217.pdf 2408) 2409) http://research.fiu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/W911NF-18-S-0006.pdf http://frdo.unm.edu/sites/default/files/nsf18578.pdf 2410) 2411) https://www.uh.edu/research/funding-opportunities/internal-awards/equipment-grants/equipment-grants-2018-2019.pdf https://mycof.forestry.oregonstate.edu/sites/default/files/research/FY-2018-AFRI-Foundational-RFA.pdf 2412) 2413) https://innovate.ee.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/2010/03/Ozcan-Group-Annurev-Anchem-Wearable-Implant-2018.pdf 2414) https://wiki.uiowa.edu/download/attachments/112207491/FDA\_TechTrends\_2018.pdf http://nisonger.osu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/White-Paper-Use-of-Remote-Support-in-Ohio-and-Emerging-2415)Technologies-on-the-Horizon.pdf https://patienteducation.osumc.edu/Documents/ILRguide.pdf 2416) 2417) http://web.ics.purdue.edu/~rvoyles/DOE\_Robotics\_Roadmap2018.pdf 2418) http://www.pm.umd.edu/\_ootfall.pdf https://www.academia.edu/36395697/The\_electric\_car\_as\_mitigating\_agent\_for\_GHG\_emissions\_Energy.pdf 2419) 2420) https://www.academia.edu/38282834/ICHMEP\_Pre-Conference\_Proceedings\_2018.pdf 2421) https://rc.library.uta.edu/uta-ir/bitstream/handle/10106/27538/PREJEAN-DISSERTATION-2018.pdf 2422) https://engfac.cooper.edu/pages/tzavelis/uploads/Vibration%2520Theory.pdf 2423) https://ae.ucr.edu/quality/campus\_standard.pdf http://www.psych.nyu.edu/adolph/publications/AdolphRachwaniHoch-2018-MotorPhysicalDev.pdf 2424) https://aging.ufl.edu/wordpress/files/2019/01/2019-OAIC-External-Advisory-Board-mateials.pdf 2425)http://mceer.buffalo.edu/pdf/report/18-0004.pdf 2426) 2427) http://www.buffalo.edu/content/dam/www/seesl/Articles/2019/19-0001.pdf https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/2117/123524/1/TCMPA1de1.pdf 2428) https://peer.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/peer\_ar\_2018\_01\_final\_9.10.18.pdf 2429) https://peer.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/2018\_02\_final.pdf 2430) 2431) https://dspace.library.colostate.edu/bitstream/handle/11124/172136/Bolvardi\_mines\_0052E\_11427.pdf 2432) https://drum.lib.umd.edu/bitstream/handle/1903/21015/Russell\_umd\_0117N\_19023.pdf

2433) https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/bitstream/handle/2152/63659/Parker,%2520Harry%2520W\_Modular%2520for%2520A rchitects\_.pdf https://www.calstate.edu/cpdc/Facilities Planning/documents/2018-2019-capital-outlay-program.pdf 2434)2435) http://washburnlaw.edu/practicalexperience/transactional/center/directorsreport/\_docs/WashburnLawBusinessandTransa ctionalLawCenter20172018directorsreport.pdf 2436) https://umi.mit.edu/sites/default/files/documents/HENRI\_CCR\_DIGITAL\_CONCRETE.pdf  $https://cee.engin.umich.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/9/2018/10/CEEReview2018_V4\_Final\_Accessible.pdf$ 2437) 2438) http://aei.pitt.edu/94326/1/RR\_2018\_05\_Circular\_Impacts\_batteries.pdf https://dspace.mit.edu/bitstream/handle/1721.1/45355/316802410-MIT.pdf 2439) https://www.academia.edu/38014226/Self-Healing\_Electroluminescent\_Devices.pdf 2440) https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/ETD/Available/etd-042018-092631/unrestricted/AWeishaar.pdf 2441) 2442) http://dar.aucegypt.edu/bitstream/handle/10526/4832/Mohamed%2520Fawzy%2527s%2520Thesis%2520%2528DAR%25 29.pdf 2443) http://www.pm.umd.edu/healing\_hands\_of\_light.pdf 2444) https://www.academia.edu/37476058/2017\_ASHRAE\_Handbook\_Fundamentals\_SI.pdf 2445) https://cait.rutgers.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/spr-ndeb90-8hoofinal\_reportnondestructivebrdgedeckevalapril2011.pdf https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/2117/128186/1/TBTH1de1.pdf 2446) https://umi.mit.edu/sites/default/files/documents/HENRI CCR DIGITAL CONCRETE.pdf 2447) https://wnich.edu/sites/default/files/attachments/u1640/2018/2017% 252011% 252017% 2520 Pitschel% 2520 Masters% 2520 Pitschel% 2520 Pitsche2448) Thesis%2520%25282%2529.pdf http://www.eurac.edu/en/research/technologies/renewableenergy/publications/PublishingImages/Pages/Scientific-2449)  $contributions-to-conferences-with-publication-in-the-conference-proceedings/EECHB2016\_Lucchi-Boarin-Zuppiroli\_FinalVersion.pdf$ http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2015/ph240/xue1/docs/electric.pdf 2450) 2451) https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/12/2018/09/CoveredBridgesAndTheBirthOfAmericanEngineering.pdf https://www.academia.edu/38483699/Haugh\_SIT\_Graduate\_Capstone\_-\_Campus\_Sustainability.pdf 2452) https://research.gsd.harvard.edu/zofnass/files/2019/04/un17\_guidebook.pdf 2453) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/129065/PLEA2018\_Vol2\_Long%2520Paper%2520W2528DP%252CP 2454) C%252CET%2529-.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2016/ph240/tarhuni2/docs/icao-2016.pdf 2455) 2456) https://www.westerntc.edu/sites/default/files/business-community/documents/2017\_Sustainable\_Campus\_Index.pdf http://fs.unm.edu/neut/SustainableDecisionMakingInCivil.pdf 2457) 2458) https://sustainability.virginia.edu/docs/GreenBuildingStandards-April2018.pdf 2459) https://eps.fiu.edu/wp-content/uploads/Future\_Challenges\_and\_Mitigation\_Methods\_for\_High\_.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph241/costello2/docs/epa-456f-99-006r.pdf 2460) https://www.ccp.edu/sites/default/files/PDFs/Forms/ProfessionalDevelopment/Safety%2520Inspection%2520Manual\_jan 2461) .%25202018.pdf 2462) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/04/02/50/00070/Winter-2018.pdf https://cdait.gatech.edu/sites/default/files/ieee-wf-iot-2018-cfps-final-2.pdf 2463) https://news.northeastern.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/BPD-BWC-RCT-Full-Report-07272018.pdf 2464) 2465) https://kb.osu.edu/dspace/bitstream/handle/1811/75460/OSLJ\_V76N5\_1153.pdf 2466) https://uvapolice.virginia.edu/sites/uvapolice.virginia.edu/files/Web\_UVA\_Police\_Department\_Brochure.pdf 2467) https://dspace.library.colostate.edu/bitstream/handle/10976/166727/Barela\_uccs\_0892N\_10292.pdf https://commons.lib.niu.edu/bitstream/handle/10843/17879/Justin%2520Surell%2520Honors%2520Capstone.pdf 2468) 2469) http://www.canton.edu/employee/wang/cita250/ey-global-information-security-survey-2018-19.pdf http://www.cs.fsu.edu/~langley/CIS4385-2019-1/iocta2017.pdf 2470) https://sites.suffolk.edu/jhtl/files/2018/01/SHOPKINSV2N1N-1fe93h5.pdf 2471) 2472) http://faculty.uml.edu/jbyrne/documents/Technological-Innovations-in-Crime-Prevention-and-Policing.-A-Review-of-the-Research-on-Impl.pdf https://www.hks.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/centers/wiener/programs/pcj/files/HarvardCrimeJusticeViolenceCourses2 2473) 018-2019 updated 1-22-19.pdf

2474) https://www.lwtech.edu/about/campus-safety/crime-statistics/docs/lwtech-campus-safety-2018-annual-security-report.pdf

2475) http://www.canton.edu/employee/wang/cita250/ey-global-information-security-survey-2018-19.pdf

2476) https://erm.ncsu.edu/az/erm/i/chan/library/NC-State-Protiviti-Survey-Top-Risks-2018-Report.pdf https://erm.ncsu.edu/az/erm/i/chan/library/2019-erm-execs-top-risks-exec-summary.pdf 2477) 2478) https://www.wisconsin.edu/information-security/download/UW Information-Security-Program Final 30April2018.pdf 2479) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc1228537/m2/1/high\_res\_d/IF10920\_2018June29.pdf 2480) https://s3.wp.wsu.edu/uploads/sites/2162/2018/05/Intro-Risk-Mgmt.pdf 2481) https://www.thiel.edu/assets/documents/offices/information-technology/Cybersecurity\_is\_Everyones\_Job.pdf https://regents.universityofcalifornia.edu/regmeet/july18/b4attach1.pdf 2482) 2483) http://www.eurac.edu/en/research/center-for-advanced-studies/Conferences/PublishingImages/Pages/dolomites-unescoforum-2/Ady%2520Milman Presentation.pdf http://www.marshall.edu/purchasing/files/MU19EVENTPER-Bid.pdf 2484) 2485) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/06/51/90/00157/07-2018.pdf 2486) http://www1.udel.edu/ehs/newsletter/2019/Safety%2520beacon%2520Winter%25202019.pdf https://popcenter.asu.edu/sites/default/files/problems/spectator\_violence/PDFs/Connors.pdf 2487) http://barrett.dyson.cornell.edu/files/papers/Takahashi%2520et%2520al%2520May%25202018%2520revision.pdf 2488) https://bgsu.edu/content/dam/BGSU/faculty-senate/documents/academic-charter/October22018Documents/1819-036-2489) Digital-Forensics.pdf https://www.cs.dartmouth.edu/farid/downloads/publications/fsi18.pdf 2490) http://www.canton.edu/employee/wang/cita250/ey-global-information-security-survey-2018-19.pdf 2491) https://graduate.ucf.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/2018-2019-Digital-Forensics-MS.pdf 2492)  $http://www.cs.ucf.edu/files/plans_of\_study/2017-2018\%2520Templates/MSDF\%2520Thesis\%2520Template\%252017-2018\%2520Template\%252017-2018\%2520Template\%2520Template\%252017-2018\%2520Template\%250Template\%$ 2493) 18.pdf https://nepc.colorado.edu/files/publications/RB%2520Miron%2520Virtual%2520Schools%25202018.pdf 2494) 2495) https://www.academia.edu/37527535/IUCEL\_2018\_Proceedings.pdf https://credo.stanford.edu/pdfs/OnlineCharterStudyFinal2015.pdf 2496) 2497) http://www.udel.edu/edtech/e-learning/readings/US-DOE-Evaluation-of-Evidence-Based-Practices-in-Online-Learning.pdf https://www.keystone.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/KCVC1819Final.pdf 2498) 2499) https://biotap.utk.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/BioTAP-2018-Virtual-Conference-Abstracts.pdf https://l2dl.arizona.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/4/2018/10/L2DL-2018-Virtual-Presentation-Abstracts.pdf2500) https://police.mst.edu/media/campussupport/police/documents/USSS%2520NTAC%2520Enhancing%2520School%2520S 2501) afety%2520Guide.pdf 2502) https://police.ucsf.edu/system/files/ucsf\_annual\_security\_report\_2018-19.pdf https://in.nau.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/135/2018/08/Bates\_Bennett-ek.pdf 2503) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc1404195/m2/1/high\_res\_d/R45410\_2018Nov19.pdf 2504) 2505) https://med.uth.edu/wp-content/blogs.dir/1/files/2018/08/SenSchlSafetyInterimReport2018.pdf http://maui.hawaii.edu/pd/wp-content/uploads/sites/4/2018/09/NaBITA-2018-Whitepaper1.pdf 2506) https://curry.virginia.edu/sites/default/files/images/YVP/Cornell%2520Hearing%2520Statement%25203-20-18.pdf 2507) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/FP\_20180919\_prevention\_agenda1.pdf 2508) 2509) http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/Harvard\_JCHS\_State\_of\_the\_Nations\_Housing\_2018.pdf http://www.doe.mass.edu/mcas/2018/release/gr4-math.pdf 2510) 2511) https://www.osu.edu/energymanagement/CEMP%2520Annual%2520Report%2520FY18%2520FINAL.pdf http://dlc.dlib.indiana.edu/dlc/bitstream/handle/10535/10419/Hamilton%25202018%2520Preparing%2520Millennials%2 2512)520Digital%2520Citizenship%2520Social%2520Responsibility.pdf https://er.educause.edu/-/media/files/library/2018/2/ers1803.pdf 2513) https://steps.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/FULTON-COMPOSTELLA-3R-OXFORDENERGY.pdf 2514) https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf 2515) https://www.dewv.edu/sites/default/files/shared/daapp\_2018.pdf 2516) https://www.oswego.edu/residence-life-and-housing/sites/www.oswego.edu.residence-life-and-2517) housing/files/hsngagrmnt.pdf http://centerforchildwelfare.fmhi.usf.edu/kb/subabuse/Drugs%2520Brains%2520and%2520Behavior-2518) The%2520Science%2520of%2520Addiction%2520(2018).pdf https://www.xavier.edu/dean-of-students/documents/drug-free-schools-and-communities-2018-biennial-review.pdf 2519)

 $2520) \qquad https://www.wooster.edu/\_media/files/academics/affairs/policies/handbook-policies.pdf$ 

2521) http://www.saintpeters.edu/enrollment-services/files/2012/07/Saint-Peters-2017-2018-Annual-Notification-Drug-Free-Schools-FINAL.pdf https://wofford.edu/uploadedFiles/studentLife/Alcohol%2520Policy.pdf 2522) 2523) http://hecaod.osu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/surgeon-generals-report.pdf https://www.shsu.edu/dept/residence-life/ResLifeHandbook.pdf 2524)2525) https://www.mtu.edu/student-affairs/interests/student-disclosure/2016-18-biennial-review.pdf http://paleo.sscnet.ucla.edu/BrantinghamEtAl-SPP-2018.pdf 2526) 2527) http://www.math.ucla.edu/~bertozzi/papers/predictiveA.pdf http://faculty.uml.edu/jbyrne/documents/Technological-Innovations-in-Crime-Prevention-and-Policing.-A-Review-of-the-2528) Research-on-Impl.pdf https://kb.osu.edu/dspace/bitstream/handle/1811/85816/OSJCL\_V15N2\_503.pdf 2529)2530) http://scarton.people.si.umich.edu/files/papers/Helsby%2520et%2520al.%2520-%25202018%2520-%2520Early%2520Intervention%2520Systems%2520Predicting%2520Adverse%2520Int.pdf 2531) http://ide.mit.edu/sites/default/files/events/04\_Morris\_MITPlatform2018.pdf https://spi.elliott.gwu.edu/files/2018/11/Balcom-Improving-Crowdsourcing-and-Citizen-Science-as-a-Policy-Mechanism-2532) for-NASA-sizybj.pdf https://scholarspace.manoa.hawaii.edu/bitstream/10125/59648/0208.pdf 2533) https://business.utsa.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Design-Crowdsourcing\_JM\_March-2018.pdf 2534) https://keinanlab.cb.bscb.cornell.edu/sites/default/files/crowdsourcedgenealogiesandgenomes.pdf 2535) https://www.brown.edu/Research/AI/files/pubs/wsdm18.pdf 2536) http://users.etown.edu/w/wunderjt/CrowdSourced%2520Architecture%2520and%2520Environmental%2520Design\_PAPE 2537) R\_15\_FINAL\_SUBMITTED\_EDITTED\_Wunderlich.pdf https://www.dodea.edu/GrafenwoehrES/upload/Parent-Student-Handbook-18-19.pdf 2538) https://mde.edmonds.wednet.edu/UserFiles/Servers/Server\_310623/File/News/Meadowdale%2520Handbook/MDE%252 2539) oHandbook%252018%252019.pdf 2540) https://www.aps.edu/service-center/documents/aps-student-handbook.pdf 2541) http://senseable.mit.edu/papers/pdf/20180524\_Vazifeh\_AddressingMinimum\_Nature\_1st-page.pdf http://people.ischool.berkeley.edu/~zp/papers/AIED\_communication\_at\_scale.pdf 2542) 2543) https://www3.nd.edu/~dial/publications/huang2018deep.pdf http://cs229.stanford.edu/proj2018/report/88.pdf 2544)2545) http://stanford.edu/~jugander/papers/neurips18w-withinacross.pdf http://hanj.cs.illinois.edu/pdf/kdd18\_cyang.pdf 2546) https://epubl.ktu.edu/object/elaba:34649519/34649519.pdf 2547) 2548) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/2117/123523/1/TPM1de1.pdf https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/2117/116065/1/TDLHM1de1.pdf 2549) https://www.slu.edu/~goodson/papers/RouteBasedMDPs.pdf 2550) https://bayen.eecs.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/Other/sumopaper.pdf 2551) 2552) http://c2smart.engineering.nyu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/TrafficSignalOptimizationinConnectedCities-FinalReport.pdf https://www.gsb.stanford.edu/sites/gsb/files/publication-pdf/vcii-publication-technological-disruption-innovation-last-innov2553) mile-delivery.pdf https://www.vaughn.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Airbus-Projections.pdf 2554) https://news.erau.edu/-/media/files/news/forecast-commercial-uas-package-delivery-market.pdf 2555) http://www.jmu.edu/financeoffice/instructions/instructions\_w7.pdf 2556) https://www.hbs.edu/faculty/Publication%2520Files/19-034\_b2382177-a462-447e-86f8-690d1ea7af18.pdf 2557) https://your.yale.edu/sites/default/files/files/2018-Form-1040-ES.pdf 2558)http://mca.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Parchment\_guide\_ordering\_transcript.pdf 2559) 2560) http://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/276876/files/23-Klumpp.pdf https://www.sanjac.edu/sites/default/files/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Wisconsin-HOPE-Lab-Still-Hungry-and-Still-Hungry-And-Still-Hungry-And-Still-Hungry-And-Still-Hungry-And-Still-Hungry-And-Still-Hungry-And-Still-Hungry-And-Still-Hungry-And-2561) Homeless.pdf http://emerge.ucsd.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/marcus\_changinggendernorms.pdf 2562) 2563) https://www.reedleycollege.edu/\_documents/academics/2018\_2019classschedule.pdf 2564) http://indicators.iupui.edu/docs/18\_SHA%2520SHIP%2520FINAL%2520DOC\_v4.pdf

2565) http://oldpm.umd.edu/how\_to\_change\_minds\_the\_art\_of\_influence\_without\_manipulation.pdf  $http://blogs.elon.edu/innovationstudio/files/2016/08/Alamance-Wellness-Collaborative-Strategic-Plan_January-interval and the statement of th$ 2566) 20\_2015.pdf 2567) https://www.rush.edu/sites/default/files/HealthyChicago\_Plan.pdf 2568) http://ide.mit.edu/sites/default/files/events/04\_Morris\_MITPlatform2018.pdf 2569) https://spi.elliott.gwu.edu/files/2018/11/Balcom-Improving-Crowdsourcing-and-Citizen-Science-as-a-Policy-Mechanismfor-NASA-sizybj.pdf https://scholarspace.manoa.hawaii.edu/bitstream/10125/59648/0208.pdf 2570) https://business.utsa.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Design-Crowdsourcing JM March-2018.pdf 2571) https://keinanlab.cb.bscb.cornell.edu/sites/default/files/crowdsourcedgenealogiesandgenomes.pdf 2572) https://www.brown.edu/Research/AI/files/pubs/wsdm18.pdf 2573) 2574) http://users.etown.edu/w/wunderjt/CrowdSourced%2520Architecture%2520and%2520Environmental%2520Design\_PAPE R 15 FINAL SUBMITTED EDITTED Wunderlich.pdf 2575) http://www.etd.ceu.edu/2018/duraj\_anisa.pdf 2576) http://www.eurac.edu/en/research/technologies/renewableenergy/publications/PublishingImages/Pages/Scientificcontributions-to-conferences-with-publication-in-the-conference-proceedings/EECHB2016 Lucchi-Boarin-Zuppiroli FinalVersion.pdf https://www.getty.edu/conservation/publications\_resources/newsletters/pdf/v33n2.pdf 2577) https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/bitstream/handle/2152/67980/KIM-THESIS-2018.pdf 2578) http://geh.ucsd.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/united.pdf 2579) http://olli.fullerton.edu/\_resources/pdfs/ChroniCLEOctober2018.pdf 2580) 2581) http://www.dcc.umd.edu/uploads/dcc-curriculum-2018.pdf 2582) https://www.indstate.edu/sites/default/files/media/documents/pdf/2018-19-hmsu-policies-and-procedures.pdf 2583) https://uwosh.edu/womenscenter/wp-content/uploads/sites/96/2018/04/Fall\_Spring\_2012\_2013.pdf 2584) http://shsjc.hamptonu.edu/files/JAC Summer2018 Final.pdf 2585) https://byrne.rutgers.edu/sites/default/files/pdf/byrne/byrne-2018-2019.pdf 2586) http://www.cs.yale.edu/homes/jf/MuellerIndictmentFeb2018.pdf 2587) https://academiccommons.columbia.edu/download/fedora\_content/download/ac:6q573n5tc8/content/Foxman\_columbia \_0054D\_14522.pdf 2588)https://www.bsu.edu/-/media/www/departmentalcontent/immersivelearning/pdfs/sf17%2520brochure.pdf 2589) https://oakland.edu/Assets/Oakland/bot/files-and-documents/agendas/2017/October-16-2017/9.%2520Capital%2520Outlay.pdf https://www.lwtech.edu/about/facilities/projects/docs/lwtech-facilities-2019-2021-major-project-request-report.pdf 2590) http://www.uindy.edu/health-sciences/athletic-training/files/msat\_handbook\_18-19.pdf 2591) 2592) https://www.becker.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/2017-2018-Course-Catalog-Final.pdf http://www.monash.edu/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0009/1384038/monash-international-Graduate-course.pdf 2593) https://www.ucop.edu/design-services/resources/major-capital-projects-implementation-2594) reports/major\_capital\_projects\_implementation\_report.pdf https://smokefree.ucsd.edu/\_files/e-cig-use.pdf 2595) https://yalebooks.yale.edu/sites/default/files/files/Media/9780300228090\_UPDF.pdf 2596) http://extension.missouri.edu/dekalb/documents/family%2520handbook/DeKalb\_2017-18\_%25204-H\_Handbook.pdf 2597) 2598) https://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6341/Global-E-waste\_Monitor\_2017\_\_electronic\_single\_pages\_.pdf https://ucnet.universityofcalifornia.edu/forms/pdf/ucrp-service-credit-purchase-guide.pdf 2599) 2600) 018.pdf https://www.usg.edu/assets/hr/benefits\_docs/Medicare\_A\_B\_2019.pdf 2601) 2602) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/ES\_20180608\_tcja\_summary\_paper\_final.pdf 2603) https://cfo.pitt.edu/pexpress/documents/Apple\_Environmental\_Responsibility\_Report\_2018.pdf 2604) http://www.nova.edu/hr/benefits/forms/CMS%2520Medicare%2520Booklet.pdf https://hr.umb.edu/uploads/documents/GIC\_Benefits\_Decision\_Guide\_2018-2019\_.pdf 2605) 2606) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/park-h2/docs/env-jp-2012.pdf http://www.seas.columbia.edu/earth/wtert/sofos/Waste\_Management\_Report\_by\_Netherlands.pdf 2607) 2608) https://archive.nyu.edu/jspui/bitstream/2451/42242/2/Plastic%2520Waste%2520Management%2520in%2520India.pdf

2609) https://archive.nyu.edu/jspui/bitstream/2451/42220/2/Fact%2520Sheet%25200n%2520Plastic%2520Waste%2520in%252 oIndia.pdf 2610) https://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6341/Global-E-waste Monitor 2017 electronic single pages .pdf 2611) https://ehrs.upenn.edu/sites/default/files/2018-02/wastemanual2017final.pdf 2612) http://dl.uctm.edu/journal/node/j2018-4/11\_18-25\_p\_712-716.pdf 2613) http://www.academia.edu/35482465/Optimizing\_the\_process\_of\_food\_waste\_compost\_and\_valorizing\_its\_applications \_A\_case\_study\_of\_Saudi\_Arabia.pdf 2614) https://catalog.extension.oregonstate.edu/sites/catalog/files/project/pdf/em9217.pdf http://sustainability.umich.edu/media/files/dow/Dow-Masters-Report-Composting.pdf 2615) 2616) http://halllab.asu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/MCAQD-Compost-Report-FINAL-0118.pdf 2617) http://extension.missouri.edu/webster/documents/presentations/2018-04-18\_GardeningClass/2018-04-18\_CompostingAmendments-PatrickByers-BobSchultheis-print.pdf http://www.columbia.edu/~sc32/documents/ALEP%2520Waste%2520Managent%2520FINAL.pdf 2618) https://www.uwgb.edu/UWGBCMS/media/Sustainability/Tools%2520Resources/2018-Guide\_side\_by\_side.pdf 2619) https://www.uvm.edu/crs/reports/2018/2018\_VT\_Poll\_Results\_Vermont\_Household\_Food\_Waste\_Behaviors\_Report.pd 2620) f http://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/274132/files/AAEA%2520Paper%2520Submission%25208.2.2018.pdf 2621) https://www.mchenry.edu/green/greenguide.pdf 2622) https://www.face.edu/cms/lib/CA01000848/Centricity/Domain/189/recyclingguide.pdf 2623) https://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6341/Global-E-waste\_Monitor\_2017\_\_electronic\_single\_pages\_.pdf 2624) $https://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6348/Regional\_E-waste\_Monitor\_Easr\_Southeast\_Asia\_low.pdf$ 2625) 2626) http://www.seas.columbia.edu/earth/wtert/sofos/Waste\_Management\_Report\_by\_Netherlands.pdf 2627) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/park-h2/docs/env-jp-2012.pdf 2628) http://senseable.mit.edu/papers/pdf/20171206\_Lee-etal\_Monitour\_WasteManagement.pdf 2629) https://hillmanresearch.upmc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/DAKOflowcytoedguide.pdf https://lightwave.ee.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/content/publications/2018/Photonic%2520Switching%2520in%2520 2630) High%2520Performance%2520Datacenters.pdf https://wp.optics.arizona.edu/winter-school-workshop/wp-content/uploads/sites/16/2017/12/2018-WSWS-Program-2631) PRINTED-VERSION.pdf https://law.vanderbilt.edu/phd/faculty/w-kip-viscusi/358 Lessons From Ten Years of Household Recycling.pdf 2632) 2633) https://www.utsa.edu/safety/files/manuals/environmental/Recycling%2520Management%2520Plan%25202018.pdf https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/83721/recycling-03-00020.pdf 2634) 2635) https://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6348/Regional\_E-waste\_Monitor\_Easr\_Southeast\_Asia\_low.pdf 2636) https://archive.nyu.edu/jspui/bitstream/2451/42242/2/Plastic%2520Waste%2520Management%2520in%2520India.pdf https://facilities.uw.edu/files/media/uw-recycling-annual-report-2017.pdf 2637) https://www.academia.edu/38578974/Catalytic\_Pyrolysis\_of\_Plastic\_Waste\_Moving\_Toward\_Pyrolysis\_Based\_Biorefine 2638) ries.pdf 2639) https://archive.nyu.edu/jspui/bitstream/2451/42242/2/Plastic%2520Waste%2520Management%2520India.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/park-h2/docs/env-jp-2012.pdf 2640) https://repository.library.northeastern.edu/files/neu:cj82r112c/fulltext.pdf 2641) 2642) https://www.mtu.edu/mechanical/department/publications/docs/2018-06-meem-enewsbrief.pdf 2643) https://studentfinancialservices.humboldt.edu/sites/default/files/p970\_5.pdf 2644) http://www.seas.columbia.edu/earth/wtert/sofos/Waste\_Management\_Report\_by\_Netherlands.pdf https://www.merit.unu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/App.-2-Conference-Presentations\_UNU\_MERIT.pdf 2645) 2646) https://sfs.virginia.edu/sites/sfs.virginia.edu/files/2019-20%2520CSS%2520Profile%2520Comprehensive%2520Question%2520and%2520Instruction%2520Listing.pdf http://projects.csail.mit.edu/breath-proj/data/deepbreath.pdf 2647) 2648) http://www.jmu.edu/financeoffice/payroll/publication-501.pdf http://alder.bioenergy.casil.ucdavis.edu/resources/DOE\_WGA\_report\_final.pdf 2649) http://www.hnei.hawaii.edu/sites/www.hnei.hawaii.edu/files/Analysis%25200f%2520Integrated%2520Tropical%2520Biore 2650) fineries.pdf

2651) https://sites.usc.edu/ced/files/2019/01/Biomass-Energy-and-Jobs-Feasibility-Study-for-an-Eco-Industrial-Park-Anchoredby-Ethanol-Bio-Refinery-2012-10j9dfb.pdf

2652) https://petross.illinois.edu/sites/petross.illinois.edu/files/2018-08/Kumar\_et\_al-2018-GCB\_Bioenergy.pdf https://www.academia.edu/38454771/PROF\_SIRINGI\_ARTICLE\_ON\_BLUE\_ECONOMY\_2019.pdf 2653) 2654) https://www.middlebury.edu/institute/sites/www.middlebury.edu.institute/files/2018-11/11.2.18.Blue%2520Economy-Bangladesh%2520Final%2520Paper\_0.pdf 2655) https://www.middlebury.edu/institute/sites/www.middlebury.edu.institute/files/2019-03/April2017.ComprehensiveAnalysisMassachusettsMaritimeEconomy-cbe-contributor\_0.pdf https://www.monmouth.edu/uci/wp-content/uploads/sites/58/2018/01/TheNewBlueEconomySpalding.pdf and the state of the stat2656) 2657) http://webfeeds.brookings.edu/~/t/0/0/brookingsrss/topics/defenseandsecurity/~https://www.icc-ccs.org/reports/2018-O2-IMB-Piracv-Report.pdf https://www.gia.edu/doc/Summer-2018-Gems-Gemology.pdf 2658) 2659) https://my.nps.edu/documents/104761614/113858746/CNO\_A-Design-for-Maintaining-Maritime-Superiority%2Bv2.0%2B%2528DEC%2B2018%2529.pdf http://aei.pitt.edu/93681/1/RoleBusinessCircularEconomyTFR.pdf 2660) http://aei.pitt.edu/94326/1/RR\_2018\_05\_Circular\_Impacts\_batteries.pdf 2661) 2662) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/2117/125351/1/sustainability-10-03912-v2.pdf https://www.upc.edu/grau/guiadocent/pdf/ing/295905/resources-recovery-and-circular-economy.pdf 2663) 2664) 2019.pdf 2665) http://iurd.berkelev.edu/uploads/Economic-Contribution-Report-White-Paper.pdf 2666) https://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6341/Global-E-waste\_Monitor\_2017\_\_electronic\_single\_pages\_.pdf 2667) http://shell.cas.usf.edu/rohrlab/data/Rohr%2520et%2520al%25202018%2520ES.pdf 2668) https://brevard.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/square-grid-restoration-paper.pdf 2669)  $https://nature.berkeley.edu/BrasharesGroup/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Sinclair_et_al_2017\_ConservationLetters.pdf$ http://rightofway.erc.uic.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/1A13-Native-Landscaping-Guide-1.pdf 2670) 2671) https://www.uwsp.edu/cnr/Documents/CNR%2520Majors%2520Planning%2520Sheets/Forestry\_EcosystemRestoration.p df 2672) https://palmerlab.umd.edu/Palmer full CV 28Oct2018.pdf http://clay.uga.edu/czo/bg-15-4815-2018.pdf 2673) 2674) http://lees.geo.msu.edu/research/nbs.pdf 2675) https://i.unu.edu/media/ias.unu.edu-en/page/11708/UNU-IAS\_AR2018\_EN.pdf 2676) http://www2.udg.edu/Portals/48/OITT/documents/Europeus/BiodivERsA%2520SRIA\_July%25202016.pdf http://blogs.umass.edu/hydrosystems/files/2018/09/Stockholm-WaterFront-no-2-2018.pdf 2677) 2678) https://conference.ifas.ufl.edu/aces/documents/ACES\_2018\_Agenda.pdf 2679) https://nicholasinstitute.duke.edu/sites/default/files/publications/carbon\_finance.pdf 2680) http://gsdl.ewubd.edu/greenstone/collect/admin-mprhgdco/index/assoc/HASH9dfo.dir/P0198.pdf https://www.gtap.agecon.purdue.edu/resources/download/8765.pdf 2681) https://www.hbs.edu/faculty/Publication%2520Files/18-034\_39d7d71d-9e84-4e8b-97c0-0e626f75293c.pdf 2682) 2683) http://faculty.wwu.edu/bryce/StateofGreenBusiness2018.pdf 2684) https://edauniversitycenter.uic.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/16/2018/09/2011\_OECD\_Toolkit.pdf 2685) http://www.seas.columbia.edu/earth/wtert/sofos/Waste\_Management\_Report\_by\_Netherlands.pdf 2686) https://archive.nyu.edu/jspui/bitstream/2451/42242/2/Plastic%2520Waste%2520Management%2520in%2520India.pdf 2687) http://aei.pitt.edu/93681/1/RoleBusinessCircularEconomyTFR.pdf 2688) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph241/speights2/docs/iaea-gsg-1.pdf 2689) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph241/goronzy2/docs/gipa-aug17.pdf https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf 2690) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf 2691) https://www.e-education.psu.edu/eme444/sites/www.e-2692) education.psu.edu.eme444/files/IndiaEnergyOutlook\_WEO2015.pdf https://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/276177/files/NDL2018-027.pdf 2693) http://ipu.msu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/LBNL-Electrification-of-Buildings-2018.pdf 2694) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2016/ph240/nana-sinkam1/docs/resources-wec-2016.pdf 2695) 2696) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/park-h2/docs/env-jp-2012.pdf 2697) https://web.mit.edu/ebm/www/Publications/reuse\_paper.pdf
2698) https://archive.nyu.edu/jspui/bitstream/2451/42242/2/Plastic%2520Waste%2520Management%2520in%2520India.pdf https://www.uwgb.edu/UWGBCMS/media/Sustainability/Tools%2520Resources/2018-Guide\_side\_by\_side.pdf 2699) 2700) https://cfo.pitt.edu/pexpress/documents/Apple Environmental Responsibility Report 2018.pdf 2701) http://aei.pitt.edu/94326/1/RR\_2018\_05\_Circular\_Impacts\_batteries.pdf https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/127277/remanufacturing%2520industry.pdf 2702) 2703) https://www.nyu.edu/projects/rzhang/Trade-in-Remanufacturing.pdf http://aei.pitt.edu/94326/1/RR\_2018\_05\_Circular\_Impacts\_batteries.pdf 2704) https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/143955/xrliang\_1.pdf 2705) http://www.pm.umd.edu/rebuilt\_lister\_petter\_engines.pdf 2706) https://www.bu.edu/reman/The%2520Remanufacturing%2520Database.pdf 2707) 2708) https://flora.insead.edu/fichiersti\_wp/inseadwp1997/97-52.pdf 2709) https://www.rit.edu/researcharchive/sites/rit.edu.researcharchive/files/research-magazines/RIT-Research-Magazine-Spring-Summer-2018.pdf https://www.hbs.edu/environment/Documents/climate-change-2018.pdf 2710) 2711) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph241/costello2/docs/epa-456f-99-006r.pdf http://yaghi.berkeley.edu/research-2712)  $news/Top\%252010\%2520emerging\%2520technologies\%2520of\%25202017\%2520\_\%2520World\%2520Economic\%2520Forum.pdf$ https://keith.seas.harvard.edu/files/tkg/files/keith\_et\_al.\_-\_2018\_-2713) \_a\_process\_for\_capturing\_co2\_from\_the\_atmosphere.pdf https://www.incae.edu/sites/default/files/infome\_the\_global\_competitiveness\_report\_2018.pdf 2714)http://senate.ucsd.edu/media/206199/syr\_ar5\_final\_full.pdf 2715) https://www.engineeringonline.ncsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/23/2018/02/FE-Sample-Questions-Book\_2015.pdf 2716) 2717)  $https://edauniversitycenter.uic.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/16/2018/09/2011\_OECD\_Toolkit.pdf$ https://cfo.pitt.edu/pexpress/documents/Apple Environmental Responsibility Report 2018.pdf 2718) 2719) https://www.hbs.edu/faculty/Publication%2520Files/18-034\_39d7d71d-9e84-4e8b-97c0-0e626f75293c.pdf http://ophelia.sdsu.edu:8080/ford/10-28-2018/microsites/sustainability-report-2017-18/doc/sr17.pdf 2720) 2721) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2016/ph240/tarhuni2/docs/icao-2016.pdf http://energy.wsu.edu/Documents/Advanced%2520 materials%2520 manufacturing%2520 and%2520 sustainability%2520 FI to the second state of the secon2722) NAL%25206-30-10.pdf https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Manufacturing-and-Industrialization-in-Africa-Signe-2723) 20180921.pdf https://mahb.stanford.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/16-2724) 00169\_LW\_GlobalMaterialFlowsUNEReport\_FINAL\_160701.pdf https://cfo.pitt.edu/pexpress/documents/Apple\_Environmental\_Responsibility\_Report\_2018.pdf 2725) https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf 2726) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf 2727) https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/pictures/NatureSUST%2520Nexus%2520SDGs.pdf2728) 2729) http://blogs.ksbe.edu/brcourto/files/2019/03/HSEO\_2018\_EnergyFactsFigures.pdf http://eelp.law.harvard.edu/wp-content/uploads/Green-New-Deal-Paper-Final.pdf 2730) http://cesp.gmu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/2018-Virginia-Energy-Plan.pdf 2731) 2732) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/2117/112213/1/TMMMD1de1.pdf 2733) http://ipu.msu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/IEEE-Achieving-a-100-Renewable-Grid-2017.pdf https://listserv.gmu.edu/cgi-bin/wa%3FA3%3Dind1805%26L%3DVSE-FACULTY-2734) L%26E%3Dbase64%26P%3D230492%26B%3D--\_005\_7F5EEFD39695405286F0A899A71D44DCgmuedu\_%26T%3Dapplication%252Fpdf%3B%2520name%3D%2522F0A\_1919\_FY1 8\_Adv\_Veh\_Tech\_FINAL.pdf https://dukespace.lib.duke.edu/dspace/bitstream/handle/10161/16583/Ferrero%25202018.pdf 2735) https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf 2736) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf 2737)

- $\label{eq:2738} https://sustainablecitiespreview.usc.edu/files/2015/01/ipcc\_wg3\_ar5\_final-draft\_postplenary\_chapter121.pdf$
- 2739) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/India-Renewable-Power-v10.pdf
- 2740) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2016/ph240/nana-sinkam1/docs/resources-wec-2016.pdf
- 2741) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2019/ph241/riscoe1/docs/irena-18.pdf

2742) http://gsdl.ewubd.edu/greenstone/collect/admin-mprhgdco/index/assoc/HASH9dfo.dir/P0198.pdf http://www.academia.edu/36186923/Effect\_of\_Advanced\_Catalysts\_on\_Tire\_Waste\_Pyrolysis\_Oil.pdf 2743) https://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/114636/files/20110061 Formatted.pdf 2744) 2745) https://repository.arizona.edu/bitstream/handle/10150/631543/azu\_etd\_hr\_2018\_0229\_sip1\_m.pdf http://www.abe.iastate.edu/wp-content/blogs.dir/7/files/2010/09/Profitability-of-Pyrolysis.pdf 2746) 2747) http://www.seas.columbia.edu/earth/wtert/sofos/Waste\_Management\_Report\_by\_Netherlands.pdf https://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/284165/files/resource-recovery-from-waste.pdf 2748) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/park-h2/docs/env-jp-2012.pdf 2749) https://www.uvm.edu/crs/reports/2018/2018\_VT\_Poll\_Results\_Vermont\_Household\_Food\_Waste\_Behaviors\_Report.pd 2750) f https://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6341/Global-E-waste\_Monitor\_2017\_\_electronic\_single\_pages\_.pdf 2751) 2752) https://umaine.edu/mitchellcenter/wp-content/uploads/sites/293/2018/01/FINAL-FULL-REPORT.pdf https://ehs.stanford.edu/wp-content/uploads/2201 EHS Biosafety Manual v5-final web comp 3.pdf 2753) 2754) https://ehs.usc.edu/files/BSM-2018-web.pdf 2755) http://www.ctahr.hawaii.edu/adap/avian\_flu/AI\_Manuals/osha3186.pdf http://www.liberty.edu/media/9995/OSHA\_Lab\_Safety.pdf 2756) http://www.usf.edu/administrative-services/environmental-health-safety/documents/hazardouswaste-fae64e-16.pdf 2757) https://ehs.umich.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/bsm.pdf 2758) https://afd.calpoly.edu/ehs/docs/biosafety\_program.pdf 2759) http://frdo.unm.edu/sites/default/files/NIH\_and\_other\_PHS\_Agencies\_General\_Instructions%2520-%2520SF424.pdf 2760) https://ehs.stanford.edu/wp-content/uploads/2201\_EHS\_Biosafety\_Manual\_v5-final\_web\_comp\_3.pdf 2761) https://www.montclair.edu/ibc/wp-content/uploads/sites/170/2018/12/Biological-Safety-Manual\_2018-revison-2762) 12.21.2018.pdf https://ursa.research.gsu.edu/files/2018/08/WNV-BSL-3-Manual FINAL Room-design-Redacted.pdf 2763) 2764) http://www.liberty.edu/media/9995/OSHA\_Lab\_Safety.pdf 2765) https://biosafety.wsu.edu/documents/2018/01/bmbl-section-v.pdf 2766) https://safety.uoregon.edu/sites/safety1.uoregon.edu/files/uo\_biosafety\_manual.pdf https://ehs.usc.edu/files/BSM-2018-web.pdf 2767) 2768) http://taes.utk.edu/upload/AgRsch/SponsoredPrograms/FY2018IBC-BiosafetyReport.pdf 2769) https://ehs.umich.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/bsm.pdf 2770) https://ehs.stanford.edu/wp-content/uploads/2201\_EHS\_Biosafety\_Manual\_v5-final\_web\_comp\_3.pdf http://taes.utk.edu/upload/AgRsch/SponsoredPrograms/FY2018IBC-BiosafetyReport.pdf 2771) 2772) https://biosafety.wsu.edu/documents/2018/01/bmbl-section-v.pdf 2773) http://www.safety.caltech.edu/documents/479-biosafety\_manual\_2018\_.pdf https://www.montclair.edu/ibc/wp-content/uploads/sites/170/2018/12/Biological-Safety-Manual\_2018-revison-2774) 12.21.2018.pdf 2775) https://safety.uoregon.edu/sites/safety1.uoregon.edu/files/uo\_biosafety\_manual.pdf 2776) https://ehs.umich.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/bsm.pdf https://ehs.usc.edu/files/BSM-2018-web.pdf 2777) https://afd.calpoly.edu/ehs/docs/biosafety\_program.pdf 2778) https://csp.usc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/cancer-prevention-and-early-detection-facts-and-figures-2019-2020.pdf 2779) 2780) https://canarycenter.stanford.edu/content/dam/sm/canarycenter/documents/aboutus/2018-Canary-Center-Brochure.pdf http://wupaarc.wustl.edu/Portals/WU-PAARC/PDFs/HPV-FS-July-2017.pdf 2781) https://www.ehs.washington.edu/system/files/resources/UniversityofWashingtonAPP.pdf 2782) https://libraryonline.erau.edu/online-full-text/icao-safety-reports/ICAO-Safety-Report-2018.pdf 2783) https://www.mines.edu/emcis/wp-content/uploads/sites/185/2018/07/total-cost-of-accidents.pdf 2784) http://www.hsrc.unc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/OperationsReport\_FINAL.pdf 2785) 2786) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/115140/ijerph-15-00462.pdf 2787) http://sites.duke.edu/globalhealthfellows2013/files/2012/06/Toroyan\_GlobalStatusReportOnRoadSafety\_2009.pdf 2788) http://psc.tamu.edu/psclibrary/online-library/odoranthazard3.pdf 2789) https://www.niu.edu/clery/annual\_security\_report.pdf https://www.uh.edu/emergency-management/planning-and-response/emergency-management-plan/uh-emp-2018-2019-2790)

redacted.pdf

2791) http://www2.indstate.edu/pubsafety/pdf/ERP%252010-30-2018%2520Final%2520without%2520appendix%2520B.pdf https://emg.uncg.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/EM-Program-Strategic-Plan-FINAL-2017.pdf 2792) https://prepare.gatech.edu/sites/default/files/documents/2018 gt\_eop\_web.pdf 2793) 2794) https://www.purdue.edu/ehps/emergency\_preparedness/docs/IEMP-final.pdf https://911.lsuhsc.edu/docs/2016EmergencyGuide.pdf 2795) 2796) https://www.savannahtech.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Effingham-Campus-2018-2019-annex.pdf http://droughtthira.unl.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/FEMA-Themes-Pathways-for-Action-1.pdf 2797) 2798) https://shs.uconn.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/344/2018/05/Prevention-Strategies-that-Work.pdf https://s3.wp.wsu.edu/uploads/sites/2162/2018/05/Intro-Risk-Mgmt.pdf 2799) 2800) http://www.anderson.edu/uploads/hr/preventive-care-schedule.pdf 2801) https://www.cmu.edu/hr/assets/benefits/bcbs-preventive-schedule.pdf 2802) http://www.canton.edu/employee/wang/cita250/ey-global-information-security-survey-2018-19.pdf http://textbooks.whatcom.edu/phil101hagman/wp-content/uploads/sites/8/2018/12/NIPP-2013.pdf 2803) 2804) https://riskcenter.wharton.upenn.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/WP201810\_Risk-reduction-moral-hazard.pdf 2805) https://extremism.gwu.edu/sites/g/files/zaxdzs2191/f/Terrorism%2520Prevention%2520Policy%2520Paper.pdf https://extremism.gwu.edu/sites/g/files/zaxdzs2191/f/Prisons%2520Policy%2520Paper.pdf 2806) 2807) http://aei.pitt.edu/97064/1/pub\_9099\_3\_years\_after\_brussels\_attacks.pdf http://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:7274/n30\_Innovations\_for\_Disaster\_Risk\_Reduction\_final.pdf 2808) https://riskcenter.wharton.upenn.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/WP201810\_Risk-reduction-moral-hazard.pdf 2809) 2810) http://hhi.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/publications/prc-phillippine-report-final\_o.pdf https://library.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/static/collections/ipcc/docs/AR5\_WG2\_n\_SREX\_chapters\_and\_review/ii\_ 2811) SREX/c\_Final\_draft\_SREX/SREX-Chap7\_FINAL.pdf 2812) http://droughtthira.unl.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/THIRA-Preparedness-Guide-3rd-Ed.pdf 2813) http://catalog.mit.edu/subjects/22/22.pdf 2814) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph241/wojcik1/docs/iaea-bull-25-2-47.pdf 2815) https://www.jhuapl.edu/Content/documents/NonstrategicNuclearForces.pdf 2816) https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/matthew\_bunn/files/bunn\_revitalizing\_nuclear\_security\_in\_an\_era\_of\_uncertainty\_20 19.pdf 2817) http://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc463413/m1/1/high\_res\_d/RL33558\_2014Oct15.pdf 2818) https://ceic.tepper.cmu.edu/-/media/files/tepper/centers/ceic/publications/published % 2520 papers/2017% 2520 and % 2520 2018/morgan% 2520 et % 2520 al % 2520 and %18%2520pdf.pdf https://galligroup.uchicago.edu/images/news/FY2018\_EFRC\_Award\_List.pdf 2819) 2820) https://www.princeton.edu/sgs/publications/ipfm/Managing-Spent-Fuel-Sept-2011.pdf 2821) http://urbcomp.ist.psu.edu/2018/papers/privacy.pdf http://www2.eecs.berkeley.edu/Pubs/TechRpts/2018/EECS-2018-135.pdf 2822) http://web.engr.illinois.edu/~hanj/qual/KDD10\_DiffPrivacy\_Friedman.pdf 2823) 2824) https://dai.lids.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Bennett\_MEng-4.pdf 2825) https://health.uconn.edu/human-resources/wp-content/uploads/sites/24/2015/12/contract\_uhp.pdf 2826)https://www.colorado.edu/tcm/sites/default/files/attached-files/TPF-5(260)%2520Project%2520No%25201%2520-%2520Guidebook%2520for%2520selecting%2520contracting%2520methods%2520-%2520DRAFT%2520FOR%2520REVIEW\_0.pdf 2827) https://www.apps.vpfin.vt.edu/contracts/documents/VTS-782-2018.pdf 2828) https://hr.uw.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/8/2018/02/2017-19-SEIU1199-UW-CBA-final-1.pdf 2829) http://www.pm.umd.edu/performance\_based\_contracts\_for\_road\_projects\_comparative\_analysis\_of\_different\_types.pdf http://www.futures.hawaii.edu/publications/futures-studies/DHLszenario-2050.pdf 2830) 2831) https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/2018/03/real-time\_tech\_readiness\_framework\_w\_cvr.pdf http://web.eng.fiu.edu/shenq/SAP%2520Transform%2520SCM/Transform%2520Supply%2520Chain%2520with%2520SA 2832) P\_2018.pdf https://tippie.uiowa.edu/sites/tippie.uiowa.edu/files/documents/krause/krause-fund-f18\_xpo.pdf 2833) 2834) https://transportmeans.ktu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/307/2018/02/Transport-means-I-dalis-2018-09-25.pdf 2835) https://www.upc.edu/master/guiadocent/pdf/ing/250ST2122/transport-of-goods.pdf

2836) https://www.vaughn.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Airbus-Projections.pdf

2837) https://ncst.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/NCST-TO-035-Giuliano\_Freight-Impacts-CA\_Final-Report\_JAN-2018.pdf 2838) https://www.gsb.stanford.edu/sites/gsb/files/publication-pdf/vcii-publication-technological-disruption-innovation-lastmile-delivery.pdf 2839) https://utc.uic.edu/wp-content/uploads/Automated-Vehicles-in-Freight\_Final-Report-08312017.pdf 2840) https://transportmeans.ktu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/307/2018/02/Transport-means-II-A4-2018-09-25.pdf http://www.people.cecs.ucf.edu/neluru/Reports/Final\_Deliverable\_BDV24\_TWO\_977-18\_Final.pdf 2841) 2842) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/89048/MT14.pdf https://orfe.princeton.edu/~alaink/SmartDrivingCars/Papers/NationalLeagueOfCities CitiesOfTheFuture.pdf 2843) 2844) http://www.lasc.edu/pro-gtl/docs/NielsenTheFutureofGrocery.pdf 2845) https://library.princeton.edu/resolve/lookup%3Furl%3Dhttp://www.agr.gc.ca/resources/prod/Internet-Internet/MISB-DGSIM/ATS-SEA/PDF/6757-eng.pdf 2846) http://www.jmu.edu/financeoffice/instructions/i1040nre.pdf 2847) https://wp.hr.uits.uconn.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/1763/2018/08/uc-288.pdf 2848) http://hr.harvard.edu/files/humanresources/files/childdependentcareexpenses\_pub503.pdf https://www.usg.edu/assets/hr/benefits\_docs/Medicare\_A\_B\_2019.pdf 2849) https://hr.ucf.edu/files/Handout-Understanding-The-Benefits.pdf 2850) http://www.nova.edu/hr/benefits/forms/CMS%2520Medicare%2520Booklet.pdf 2851) https://depts.washington.edu/sctlctr/sites/default/files/SCTL\_Muni\_Tower\_Test\_Report\_V4.pdf 2852) 2853) https://www.apps.vpfin.vt.edu/contracts/documents/VTG-707-2018.pdf 2854) https://my.duke.edu/docs/BB2022\_Trinity.pdf 2855) https://www.nmu.edu/finance/sites/DrupalFinance/files/UserFiles/NMU\_Five\_Year\_Master\_Plan\_2019-2020.pdf 2856) https://www.edinboro.edu/directory/offices-services/social-equity/Students\_Rights\_Handbook\_2017\_Update.pdf http://www.creighton.edu/fileadmin/user/students/DSL\_StudentHandbook/2018-2857) 19\_Creighton\_University\_Student\_Handbook.pdf https://www.dodea.edu/KaiserslauternMS/upload/Kaiserslautern-Middle-School-SY-2018-19-Student-Handbook.pdf 2858) https://sites.tufts.edu/devtech/files/2018/02/robotics-paper.pdf 2859) https://socialequity.duke.edu/sites/socialequity.duke.edu/files/site-images/Don%25E2%2580%2599t-Fear-the-Robots.pdf2860) 2861) https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-090915-120359/unrestricted/D15-RoboticArm-Report-Final.pdf 2862) https://www.upc.edu/master/guiadocent/pdf/ing/220238/applied-robotics.pdf 2863) https://april.eecs.umich.edu/media/pdfs/nemitz2018frontiers.pdf 2864) http://www.nanoscience.gatech.edu/paper/2018/18\_SR\_01.pdf 2865) https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-042619-123913/unrestricted/SwarmScaffoldingMQP\_FinalReport.pdf http://web.ics.purdue.edu/~rvoyles/DOE\_Robotics\_Roadmap2018.pdf 2866) http://dronecenter.bard.edu/files/2017/10/Drones-Defense-Budget-2018-Web.pdf 2867) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/es\_20180315\_housing-as-a-hub\_final.pdf 2868) 2869) https://www.sanjac.edu/sites/default/files/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Wisconsin-HOPE-Lab-Still-Hungry-and-Homeless.pdf 2870) http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/Harvard\_JCHS\_State\_of\_the\_Nations\_Housing\_2018.pdf 2871) https://s3.wp.wsu.edu/uploads/sites/2158/2018/04/Age-Friendly-Assessment.pdf 2872) http://cra.gmu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/Meeting-the-Housing-Needs-of-Older-Adults-in-Montgomery-County-Final 5-18-18.pdf https://coastalresiliencecenter.unc.edu/files/2018/09/Affordable-Housing-Strategy-for-Eastern-NC.pdf 2873) https://www.purdue.edu/hhs/hdfs/fii/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/UtahFIS17FamilyOptionsStudySummaryReport.pdf 2874) https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/79670/Kakkar\_G\_T\_2017.pdf 2875) http://www.cfpb.vt.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/Final-Report\_Nov20.pdf 2876) 2877) https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/bitstream/handle/2152/63659/Parker,%2520Harry%2520W\_Modular%2520for%2520A rchitects .pdf 2878) https://www.phrc.psu.edu/assets/docs/Publications/2018RBDCCPapers/2018-RBDCC-Whole-Proceedings.pdf https://libres.uncg.edu/ir/asu/f/Hopkins,%2520Anthony%2520Scott%2520Thesis%25202014.pdf 2879) 2880) https://ssa.ccny.cuny.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Rupnik\_AdvancedStudioSyllabusSpring2018.pdf 2881) https://create4stem.msu.edu/sites/default/files/discussions/attachments/nsf17590.iuse\_.2018.pdf

2882) https://www.lamar.edu/\_files/documents/research/general-ehr-programs\_tx-workshop\_2018.pdf 2883) http://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6601/Academia\_and\_Communities\_FINAL.pdf 2884) https://www.gvsu.edu/cms4/asset/CEA02D2D-AED7-6597-B2FC206107EE546E/outcome\_evaluation\_of\_the\_grand\_rapids\_center\_for\_community\_transformation\_september\_2018\_semiannual\_report\_11.29.2018.pdf 2885) https://www.utsa.edu/about/doc/fastfacts.pdf http://www.ega.edu/announce/CCCSE\_2018\_Report\_-\_Show\_Me\_the\_Way.pdf 2886) 2887) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc958717/m2/1/high\_res\_d/RL30719\_2016Dec28.pdf 2888) http://www.etd.ceu.edu/2018/zare\_massieh.pdf 2889) http://spp.ucr.edu/publications/closing\_digital\_divide.pdf 2890) http://aei.pitt.edu/92718/1/G20DigitalDivideChinaEU\_0.pdf 2891) https://pcrd.purdue.edu/files/media/003-DDI-US.pdf https://partnershipsinaging.unc.edu/files/2018/12/2018-Orange-County-Senior-Housing-Report FINAL-2.pdf 2892) https://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/Harvard\_JCHS\_Housing\_Americas\_Older\_Adults\_2018\_1.pdf 2893) 2894) http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/jchs-housing\_americas\_older\_adults\_2014\_1.pdf 2895) https://erickson.umbc.edu/files/2018/03/ASHA-Senior-Living-Glossary-v4-1.11.15.pdf http://alzonline.phhp.ufl.edu/en/reading/EarlySignsFeb08.pdf 2896) http://cra.gmu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/Meeting-the-Housing-Needs-of-Older-Adults-in-Montgomery-County-2897) Final 5-18-18.pdf 2898) http://www.lafollette.wisc.edu/images/publications/workshops/2018-BAL\_report\_final.pdf https://studentfinancialservices.humboldt.edu/sites/default/files/p970\_5.pdf 2899) http://www.hpm.umn.edu/nhregsplus/ALF%2520by%2520State/Tennessee%2520ALF.pdf 2900) 2901) https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/143136/40842\_2018\_Article\_57.pdf http://aging.wisc.edu/outreach/2011\_colloquium/Edwards2011.pdf 2902) 2903) http://www.ub.edu/irea/working\_papers/2018/201802.pdf 2904) http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/jchs-housing\_americas\_older\_adults\_2014\_1.pdf 2905) https://www.mona.uwi.edu/sites/default/files/uwi/reports/wellness.pdf https://www.tc.columbia.edu/media/media-library-2018/centers-amp-labs/exert-clinic/PAG\_ExecutiveSummary.pdf 2906) https://roybal.usc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Age-Friendly-Action-Plan-for-the-Los-Angeles-Region-2018-2021-2907) V12.pdf 2908) http://www.bioinfo.rpi.edu/bystrc/courses/biol4961/lecture4.pdf http://wiki.ggc.edu/images/2/2b/Education\_projection\_2009.pdf 2909) 2910) http://elsa.berkeley.edu/~saez/course131/CPSpoverty.pdf 2911) https://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/ahr2011-3-demographics.pdf https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/83698/StatusTrendsEducationRacialEthnic2017.pdf 2912) http://www.econ.wayne.edu/agoodman/7550/week11/2018/2016\_CMS\_Stats.pdf 2913) https://socialsciences.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/UCLA-Hollywood-Diversity-Report-2018-2-27-18.pdf 2914) 2915) https://ostromworkshop.indiana.edu/pdf/seriespapers/2018spr-res/lu-paper-4-4-18.pdf 2916) https://www.maxwell.syr.edu/uploadedFiles/parcc/Coproduction%2520Proceedings%2520(FINAL).pdf https://scholarworks.iu.edu/dspace/bitstream/handle/2022/21596/Full\_Dissertation\_Cheng\_Final.pdf 2917) 2918) https://www.american.edu/spa/phd/upload/Student-Prodictivity-2013-April-2018.pdf 2919) https://ccl.northwestern.edu/2018/tyson.pdf 2920) https://osa.hksyu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/An-Intro-to-social-innovation-for-NGOs.pdf https://www.merit.unu.edu/meide/papers/2015/Guaipatin\_CG\_1422387900.pdf 2921) https://www.gsb.stanford.edu/sites/gsb/files/publication-pdf/study-blockchain-impact-moving-beyond-hype.pdf 2922) https://cpr.bu.edu/app/uploads/2018/07/Social\_entrepreneurship\_the\_n.pdf 2923) https://ventures.jhu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/SIL\_2018\_Impact\_Report.pdf 2924) 2925) https://www.csuchico.edu/futurepossibilities/documents/OECD\_21st\_Century\_Learning\_40554299.pdf https://web.stanford.edu/~gentzkow/research/facebook.pdf 2926) 2927) https://web.stanford.edu/~gentzkow/research/fake-news-trends.pdf https://www.brown.edu/university-communications/sites/university-2928) communications/files/Brown\_Communicators\_Group\_Social\_Media\_Presentation\_2017.pdf 2929) http://pages.stern.nyu.edu/~jstroebe/PDF/BCKS\_Networks.pdf

2930) http://dadun.unav.edu/bitstream/10171/56402/1/pdf.pdf https://epubl.ktu.edu/object/elaba:34649519/34649519.pdf 2931) 2932) http://www.seas.columbia.edu/earth/wtert/newwtert/people/CVs/MTSAKONA\_CV\_2018\_EN.pdf 2933) https://www.upc.edu/grau/guiadocent/pdf/ing/390432/biological-treatment-of-waste.pdf https://www.ideals.illinois.edu/bitstream/handle/2142/101562/WEATHERLY-DISSERTATION-2018.pdf 2934) 2935) https://terpconnect.umd.edu/~nsw/chbe446/HowToEstimateUtilityCosts-UlrichVasudevan2006.pdf https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/131822/24236081.pdf 2936) 2937) https://gcep.stanford.edu/pdfs/RxsY3908kagwVPacX9DLcQ/stiegel coal mar05.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/park-h2/docs/env-jp-2012.pdf 2938) https://dukespace.lib.duke.edu/dspace/bitstream/handle/10161/16584/BushellMPFinal.pdf 2939) https://repository.lib.ncsu.edu/bitstream/handle/1840.16/10715/etd.pdf 2940) 2941)  $https://www.academia.edu/33321015/Resource\_recovery\_of\_food\_waste\_through\_continuous\_thermophilic\_in-thermop$ vessel\_composting.pdf 2942) http://www.academia.edu/35482465/Optimizing\_the\_process\_of\_food\_waste\_compost\_and\_valorizing\_its\_applications \_A\_case\_study\_of\_Saudi\_Arabia.pdf https://www.wisconsin.edu/waste-research/download/2010 student reports/10%2520GBY%2520Collard.pdf 2943) https://dash.harvard.edu/bitstream/handle/1/37945110/KOCHER-DOCUMENT-2018.pdf 2944) http://dl.uctm.edu/journal/node/j2018-4/11\_18-25\_p\_712-716.pdf 2945) https://www.ce.berkelev.edu/sites/default/files/assets/users/kirchstetter/Satchwell%2520et%2520al%252C%2520ES%252 2046)6T%2520Feature%25202018%252C%2520Accelerating%2520AD%2520for%2520Zero%2520Waste.pdf https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-042717-2947) 142616/unrestricted/Sustainability\_at\_WPI\_Food\_Waste\_Management.pdf 2948) https://www.bu.edu/gdp/files/2018/02/Garrett\_ES\_2017\_PersistenceOfLowIncomeLandUse.pdf https://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:3141/n10072015\_policybrief\_inra.pdf 2949) 2950) https://catalog.extension.oregonstate.edu/sites/catalog/files/project/pdf/ec1529\_0.pdf 2951) 2017.pdf http://www.seas.columbia.edu/earth/wtert/sofos/Waste\_Management\_Report\_by\_Netherlands.pdf 2952) 2953) http://dl.uctm.edu/journal/node/j2018-4/11\_18-25\_p\_712-716.pdf https://archive.nyu.edu/jspui/bitstream/2451/42242/2/Plastic%2520Waste%2520Management%2520in%2520India.pdf 2954) 2955) https://epubl.ktu.edu/object/elaba:34649519/34649519.pdf http://www.usf.edu/administrative-services/environmental-health-safety/documents/hazardouswaste-fae64e-16.pdf 2956) 2957) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/park-h2/docs/env-jp-2012.pdf 2958) http://www.seas.columbia.edu/earth/wtert/sofos/Waste\_Management\_Report\_by\_Netherlands.pdf http://aub.edu/registrar/Documents/catalogue/undergraduate16-17/mechanical.pdf 2959) http://aub.edu/registrar/Documents/catalogue/undergraduate17-18/mechanical.pdf 2960) http://www.pm.umd.edu/mechanical\_engineering\_materials\_sample\_question\_paper.pdf 2961) 2962) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/park-h2/docs/env-jp-2012.pdf 2963) https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/84894/materials-11-01433.pdf https://galligroup.uchicago.edu/images/news/FY2018\_EFRC\_Award\_List.pdf 2964) 2965) https://web.stanford.edu/group/cui\_group/papers/Yang\_Cui\_NATENG\_2018.pdf 2966) http://d-scholarship.pitt.edu/33974/1/chenapr\_etdPitt2018.pdf 2967) http://www.pitt.edu/~budny/papers/8139.pdf http://www.crmp.gatech.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/1550-Charles-Forsberg-Kyle-Tritium.pdf 2968) http://fhr.nuc.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/Challenges\_Model\_Sim\_FHRs\_GT\_Workshop\_3\_reduced.pdf 2969) https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/87058/Yang\_QF\_T\_2018.pdf 2970) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/127492/TISL1de1.pdf 2971) 2972) http://www.seas.columbia.edu/earth/wtert/sofos/Waste\_Management\_Report\_by\_Netherlands.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/park-h2/docs/env-jp-2012.pdf 2973) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/chung1/docs/uk-water-2016.pdf 2974) http://www.nesc.wvu.edu/ecommerce/products/WW\_Regulations/WWBKRG43DL.pdf 2975) 2976) http://people.sunyit.edu/~barans/classes/ctc450/pdf/New%2520York%2520State%2520Info/descdata\_NYS\_2004.pdf

2977) https://wefnexus.tamu.edu/files/2018/03/azdez.pdf

2978) http://dl.uctm.edu/journal/node/j2018-4/11\_18-25\_p\_712-716.pdf 2979) http://halllab.asu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/MCAQD-Compost-Report-FINAL-0118.pdf 2980) http://www.uvm.edu/~pass/grubinger/Pubs/ManagingHighTunnelSoilFertility.pdf 2981) https://ag.missouristate.edu/assets/MtnGrv/GingerTurmeric\_KarenScott.pdf 2982) https://www.ext.vsu.edu/s/Double-Crop-Raspberries-and-Tunnel-Production-MN-2018-Nate-Nourse.pdf 2983) https://www.ce.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/assets/users/kirchstetter/Satchwell%2520et%2520al%252C%2520ES%2526T%2520Feature%25202018%252C%2520Accelerating%2520AD%2520for%2520Zero%2520Waste.pdf 2984) http://extension.uga.edu/content/dam/extension-county-offices/forsyth-county/Extension%2520Newsfebruary2018.pdf https://agrilifecdn.tamu.edu/texaslocalproduce-2/files/2018/07/Specialty-Crops-for-High-Tunnel-Production-in-Texas.pdf 2985) https://www.academia.edu/38190494/Journal\_of\_Environmental\_Science\_and\_Engineering\_Vol.7\_No.6B\_2018-1.pdf 2986) 2987) https://dspace.library.colostate.edu/bitstream/handle/11124/172267/Pfluger\_mines\_0052E\_11473.pdf 2988) https://www.cefns.nau.edu/capstone/projects/CENE/2018/AlternativeSepticSystem/476background.pdf https://krex.k-state.edu/dspace/bitstream/handle/2097/39673/RobertWeil2019.pdf 2989) http://www.pmu.edu/department-of-civil-engineering/pdf/EE%252oCurriculum%2520and%252oSyllabus%252o-2990) 2018%2520FT.pdf http://www.becbgk.edu/department/civil/C.B.Shivayogimath-Profile%2520%252028-1-2019.pdf 2991) https://research.unt.edu/sites/default/files/Binder%2520FY18%2520Annual%2520Proposals%2520Report.pdf 2992) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/park-h2/docs/env-jp-2012.pdf 2993) https://www.messiah.edu/download/downloads/id/1252/waste manual.pdf 2994) https://health.ucdavis.edu/medresearch/downloads/labsafety/2017/6.0-UCD-Medical-Waste-Management-Plan-v2.0.pdf 2995) https://www.ucdmc.ucdavis.edu/sustainability/documents/Partner%2520for%2520Change%2520-%25202018-2996) %2520Waste%2520-%2520Practice%2520Greenhealth%2520Awards.pdf https://ehrs.upenn.edu/sites/default/files/2018-02/wastemanual2017final.pdf 2997) https://case.edu/ehs/sites/case.edu.ehs/files/2018-03/2007 chemreport.pdf 2998) 2999) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/85/42/00027/07-2018.pdf 3000) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/05/85/42/00028/10-2018.pdf 3001) https://fmt.gsu.edu/files/2018/08/ma-hbk-2018-2019.pdf https://www.wvwc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Tech-handbook-2018.pdf 3002) 3003) http://diposit.ub.edu/dspace/bitstream/2445/114210/9/Mundet\_guia\_ang\_102018.pdf https://bastyr.edu/sites/default/files/images/forms/Bastyr%2520FA%2520Application%25201718 0.pdf 3004)3005) http://frit.indiana.edu/docs/guides/2018-19-facultyguidelines.pdf https://webarchive.library.unt.edu/eot2008/20090825103639/http://ftc.gov/os/caselist/0723041/canspam.pdf 3006) 3007) http://www.aub.edu/SAO/Documents/NewStudentHandbook.pdf 3008) http://dronecenter.bard.edu/files/2018/01/CSD-Drone-Year-in-Review.pdf https://dronecenter.bard.edu/files/2018/04/CSD-Drone-Spending-FY19-Web-1.pdf 3009) https://news.erau.edu/-/media/files/news/forecast-commercial-uas-package-delivery-market.pdf 3010) https://sites.psu.edu/see360/files/2018/07/E-Commerce-White-Paper-rfofxz.pdf 3011) 3012) https://www.gsb.stanford.edu/sites/gsb/files/publication-pdf/vcii-publication-technological-disruption-innovation-lastmile-delivery.pdf https://ctc.usma.edu/app/uploads/2018/07/Islamic-State-and-Drones-Release-Version.pdf 3013) http://www.futures.hawaii.edu/publications/futures-studies/DHLszenario-2050.pdf 3014) 3015) https://energy.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Energy-Storage-for-the-Grid.pdf 3016) https://www.ndsu.edu/fileadmin/centers/pcpe/SMP/FinalDraft-Paper-RAPBlockchainConf.pdf http://teacherlink.ed.usu.edu/tlnasa/OtherPRINT/briefs/spinoff2008.pdf 3017) http://faculty.uml.edu/jbyrne/documents/Technological-Innovations-in-Crime-Prevention-and-Policing.-A-Review-of-the-3018) Research-on-Impl.pdf https://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6341/Global-E-waste\_Monitor\_2017\_\_electronic\_single\_pages\_.pdf 3019) 3020) https://www.cse.wustl.edu/~jain/cse574-18/ftp/j\_205g.pdf https://www.cse.wustl.edu/~jain/cse574-16/ftp/j\_195g.pdf 3021) http://aei.pitt.edu/83991/1/EuropeanLeadershipin5G.pdf 3022) http://networks.cs.ucdavis.edu/presentation2018/Sifat-09-14-2018.pdf 3023) http://www.cs.albany.edu/~mariya/courses/csi445660F16/papers/1405.2957.pdf 3024)

3025) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/5G-Health-Internet-of-Things\_West.pdf

3026) http://networks.cs.ucdavis.edu/presentation2018/Sifat-08-17-2018.pdf http://www.maps.upc.edu/public/D4.1\_final-1.pdf 3027) http://www.cs.newpaltz.edu/~lik/publications/Bo-Yi-CN-2018.pdf 3028)http://winnet.ee.columbia.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/RAN\_Slicing\_Mobihoc2019-2.pdf 3029) https://www.cse.wustl.edu/~jain/cse574-18/ftp/j\_205g.pdf 3030) 3031) http://aei.pitt.edu/83991/1/EuropeanLeadershipin5G.pdf  $https://sreal.ucf.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/2019\_Book\_ArtificialIntelligenceInIoT\_split-range-11-34.pdf$ 3032) http://web.cse.msstate.edu/~swan/publications/papers/2018\_Dey-etal\_Systematic-Review-AR-Usability-Studies\_FROBT-3033)05-00037.pdf https://www.uttyler.edu/cbt/files/camp\_regents/Augmented-Reality-2015.pdf 3034) https://www.usg.edu/assets/hr/benefits\_docs/BOR\_Comparison\_Guide\_2018.pdf 3035) 3036) https://www.dodea.edu/SigonellaMHS/upload/2018-19-completing-fafsa.pdf https://hr.umb.edu/uploads/documents/2018 2019 Online Re-Enrollment Instructions.pdf 3037) 3038) https://my.duke.edu/docs/BB2022\_Trinity.pdf 3039) https://www.berea.edu/human-resources/wp-content/uploads/sites/129/2018/06/2018-2019-Employee-Benefits-Overview.pdf https://www.utsystem.edu/sites/default/files/documents/publication/2018/ut-flex-benefits-guide/ut-flex-benefits-3040) 1718.pdf https://hr.lehigh.edu/sites/hr.lehigh.edu/files/Lehigh%25202018%2520Enrollment%2520Reference%2520Guide.pdf 3041) https://www.alamo.edu/siteassets/district/departments/financial-transparency/annual-operating-budget/fy2018-3042)2019budgetbook.pdf https://www.creol.ucf.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2018/10/2010-Symposium.pdf 3043) 3044) https://faculty.sites.uci.edu/tajima/files/2018/10/Mourou-advanced-physicsprize2018.pdf https://dev.sunyulster.edu/continuing\_education/catalog/2018-spring-catalog-indiv-pgs/fiber-optics-spr18.pdf 3045) 3046) https://cyber.harvard.edu/sites/cyber.harvard.edu/files/2018-01-10-Pricing.Study\_.pdf 3047) %252012.09.2018.pdf https://ix.cs.uoregon.edu/~ram/papers/ANRW-2018.pdf 3048) 3049) http://www.pm.umd.edu/optical\_fibre\_lasers\_and\_amplifiers\_1st\_edition.pdf https://www3.cs.stonybrook.edu/~jianxu1/files/ULPM.pdf 3050) 3051) http://vr.cs.uiuc.edu/vrbookbig.pdf https://www.garrettcollege.edu/images/academics/non-credit/catalog/summer-2018.pdf 3052) https://dugi-doc.udg.edu/bitstream/handle/10256/16082/tmrm\_20180724.pdf 3053) 3054) https://www.ideals.illinois.edu/bitstream/handle/2142/102210/Virtual%2520Reality%2520learning%2520environments.pd f https://vhil.stanford.edu/mm/2019/01/huang-close-relationships-and-vr.pdf 3055) https://academiccommons.columbia.edu/download/fedora\_content/download/ac:6q573n5tc8/content/Foxman\_columbia 3056) \_0054D\_14522.pdf https://ae-3057) uploads.uoregon.edu/ISTE/ISTE2018/PROGRAM\_SESSION\_MODEL/HANDOUTS/110798600/EquitywithVirtualRealityinClassroo ms\_RP.pdf 3058) https://hsl.uw.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/UWHSL\_VirtualRealityInAcademicHealthSciencesLibraries\_pages.pdf https://sreal.ucf.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/2019\_Book\_ArtificialIntelligenceInIoT\_split-range-11-34.pdf 3059) https://www.egr.msu.edu/~mizhang/papers/2018\_UbiComp\_JARVIS.pdf 3060) https://www.cs.unc.edu/~cpk/data/papers/spie-vac-2018.pdf 3061) 3062) https://www.engr.wisc.edu/app/uploads/2018/03/Kurfess\_Fall17.pdf http://obm.media.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/10/2018/02/finalDraft.pdf 3063) 3064) https://engineering.purdue.edu/ZhangLab/publications/papers/2018-ole-realtime.pdf https://transweb.sjsu.edu/sites/default/files/1429-long-tunnels-trend-analysis.pdf 3065) https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-043012-3066) 122558/unrestricted/Analysing\_International\_Tunnelling\_Costs\_Public\_Report.pdf http://www.ce.memphis.edu/7137/PDFs/Seismic%2520Manual/Washington%2520State/2008MontlakeCutTunnelERPRep 3067) ort4.pdf

3068) https://www.hks.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/centers/rappaport/files/NSRL%2520White%2520Paper\_Silver\_Final.pdf https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/2018/08/SP14-30-Dusseault-Tunnel-sec.pdf 3069) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/18625/11054213.pdf 3070) 3071) https://abc-utc.fiu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/52/2018/10/FDPC-Deck-Panel-Performance-Interim-Report\_v3.pdf https://abc-utc.fiu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/52/2018/08/2018-08-23\_MnDOT\_Hastings.pdf 3072) 3073) https://cee.umd.edu/best/program/hif13026.pdf http://www.pm.umd.edu/structural\_civil\_and\_pipe\_drafting.pdf 3074) 3075) https://sites.lafavette.edu/ece492-sp16/files/2016/12/2017-18-FSAE-Rules-9.2.16a.pdf http://www.cts.virginia.edu/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/June-2015.pdf 3076) https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2018/09/2E-1.pdf 3077) http://bvcoelp.bharatividyapeeth.edu/bvuniversity/media/pdfs/Brochure\_ABO-CET\_BASLP-2018.pdf 3078)3079) http://cran.cnr.berkeley.edu/web/packages/IPSUR/vignettes/IPSUR.pdf https://your.yale.edu/sites/default/files/files/2018-Form-1040-ES.pdf 3080) 3081) http://wp-cdn.aws.wfu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/193/2018/06/01124634/2018-Compliance-Supplement.pdf 3082) http://www.law.unc.edu/documents/cle/festival/foll2019/F1-8.pdf https://ocs.fas.harvard.edu/files/ocs/files/hes-resume-cover-letter-guide.pdf 3083) https://webarchive.library.unt.edu/eot2008/20090508232449/http://www.epa.gov/nerlesd1/land-3084) sci/trends/pdf/trends\_research\_plan.pdf https://www.incae.edu/sites/default/files/infome\_the\_global\_competitiveness\_report\_2018.pdf 3085) 3086) https://transweb.sjsu.edu/sites/default/files/1429-long-tunnels-trend-analysis.pdf http://www.ce.memphis.edu/7137/PDFs/Seismic%2520Manual/Washington%2520State/2008MontlakeCutTunnelERPRep 3087) ort4.pdf 3088) http://www.aub.edu/registrar/Documents/catalogue/undergraduate18-19/architecture-design.pdf https://dspace.library.colostate.edu/bitstream/handle/11124/10635/Villegas mines 0052E 10549.pdf 3089) 3090) https://scholarship.rice.edu/bitstream/handle/1911/102793/bi-pub-blackburnharveyanniv-081018.pdf 3091) http://web.stanford.edu/group/figurines/cgi-bin/omeka/files/original/d0142be8a0abd87268c91ca867ddc2ec.pdf 3092) https://stanford.edu/group/figurines/cgi-bin/omeka/files/original/28b3151e63ebee7f33abof749f6cbffa.pdf https://media.iese.edu/research/pdfs/ST-0471-E.pdf 3093) 3094)https://www.academia.edu/38469469/Smart\_Sustainable\_Cities\_-\_Vision\_and\_Reality\_-The Egyptian Context as a Case Study.pdf 3095) http://www.sspcr.eurac.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/SSPCR-2017\_Programme\_Abstract\_Booklet.pdf http://motor.ece.iit.edu/naeevent/cv/smart%2520cities.pdf 3096) https://cait.rutgers.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/cait-utc-060-final.pdf 3097) 3098) http://senseable.mit.edu/papers/pdf/20180522\_Anjomshoaa-etal\_CityScanner\_IEEE-IoT.pdf https://circa.uconn.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/1618/2018/08/Hartford-Final-Report-July-2018.pdf 3099) http://water.rutgers.edu/Recent\_Presentations/GI\_Planning%26Implementation\_9-19-2018.pdf 3100)  $https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc1442995/m2/1/high_res_d/IF10592_2018Nov19.pdf$ 3101) 3102) https://www.lincolninst.edu/sites/default/files/pubfiles/martinez\_wp18dm1.pdf https://www.reed.edu/es/assets/ES300-2018-project-Green-Infrastructure-Distribution-FINAL.pdf 3103) https://edauniversitycenter.uic.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/16/2018/09/Seeing-Green-Green-Infrastructure-Job-3104)Creation.pdf 3105) http://ipu.msu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/LBNL-Electrification-of-Buildings-2018.pdf https://www.academia.edu/38469469/Smart\_Sustainable\_Cities\_-\_Vision\_and\_Reality\_-3106) \_The\_Egyptian\_Context\_as\_a\_Case\_Study.pdf https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/129065/PLEA2018\_Vol2\_Long%2520Paper%2520%2528DP%252CP 3107) C%252CET%2529-.pdf http://mesl.ucsd.edu/pubs/Bharathan\_Applied\_Energy2018.pdf 3108) 3109) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc1157098/m2/1/high\_res\_d/R45156\_2018Apr10.pdf http://www.people.vcu.edu/~mmanic/papers/2016/IEM16\_ManicAmarAndinaReiger\_IntelligentBEMS\_IEEE.pdf 3110) http://www.iese.edu/research/pdfs/ST-0471-E.pdf 3111) https://www.academia.edu/38469469/Smart\_Sustainable\_Cities\_-\_Vision\_and\_Reality\_-3112)

\_The\_Egyptian\_Context\_as\_a\_Case\_Study.pdf

3113) http://www.sspcr.eurac.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/SSPCR-2017\_Programme\_Abstract\_Booklet.pdf

3114) http://www.iese.edu/research/pdfs/ST-0471-E.pdf https://www.people.iup.edu/rhoch/ClassPages/Global\_Cities/Fall2018/WCR-2016\_-Abridged-version-1.pdf 3115) http://gyohe.faculty.wesleyan.edu/files/2018/05/84.pdf 3116) 3117) https://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6394/sustainability-10-00122-v2.pdf https://gest.unu.edu/static/files/sdgs-proposal.pdf 3118) 3119) https://cast.ucmerced.edu/sites/cast.ucmerced.edu/files/public/documents/2018Presentations/2\_Hongxing%2520Yang.pd f 3120) http://www.eurac.edu/en/research/technologies/renewableenergy/publications/PublishingImages/Pages/Scientificcontributions-to-conferences-with-publication-in-the-conference-proceedings/6BV.3.65 paper.pdf http://www.eurac.edu/en/research/technologies/renewableenergy/publications/PublishingImages/Pages/Elaborated-PhD-Delaborated3121)and-diploma-theses/Tesi%2520Adami.pdf 3122) http://large.stanford.edu/publications/power/references/troughnet/research/docs/33875.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2019/ph241/riscoe1/docs/nrel-tp-6a20-68925.pdf 3123) 3124)http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/shimp2/docs/ncsea-17.pdf 3125) https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf https://www.law.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/New-Solar-Landscape-November-2018.pdf 3126) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf 3127) https://cardi.cals.cornell.edu/sites/cardi.cals.cornell.edu/files/shared/CaRDI%2520Reports-18.pdf 3128) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2017/ph240/hallock2/docs/abb-2015.pdf 3129)http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2010/ph240/ashe2/docs/solar\_timeline.pdf 3130) http://www.fsec.ucf.edu/en/publications/pdf/FSEC-GP-274-03.pdf 3131) https://semte.engineering.asu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Applied-Project\_Winston.pdf 3132) https://www.academia.edu/36982439/Survey\_on\_Automatic\_Solar\_Tracking\_System.pdf 3133) http://scientiairanica.sharif.edu/article\_20045\_9cc703fa700a58988a562b278cce9555.pdf 3134)3135) https://web.stanford.edu/group/efmh/jacobson/Articles/I/TiltAngles.pdf 3136) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2019/ph241/riscoe1/docs/nrel-tp-6a20-68925.pdf https://nccleantech.ncsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Q2-18\_SolarExecSummary\_Final.pdf 3137) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/2117/10164/1/3265251.pdf 3138) 3139) http://www.kcc.edu/res/jobs/Documents/TSF-2017-National-Solar-Jobs-Census.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2019/ph241/riscoe1/docs/eia-18.pdf 3140) 3141) https://sustainablecitiespreview.usc.edu/files/2015/01/ipcc\_wg3\_ar5\_final-draft\_postplenary\_chapter121.pdf https://energy.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Energy-Storage-for-the-Grid.pdf 3142) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/India-Renewable-Power-v10.pdf 3143) https://www.bren.ucsb.edu/research/2018Group\_Projects/documents/SolarStash\_FinalGPReportredacted.pdf 3144) http://www.fsec.ucf.edu/en/publications/pdf/FSEC-GP-274-03.pdf 3145) https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-030615-213336/unrestricted/MQP\_Final.pdf 3146) 3147) https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf 3148) http://www.energy.wsu.edu/documents/Solar%2520Newsbriefs%25202.8.18.pdf https://energy.duke.edu/sites/default/files/images/Future%25200f%2520Transportation%2520proposal%2520Wiesner%2 3149) 520et%2520al.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2015/ph240/xue1/docs/electric.pdf 3150) 3151) https://repository.library.georgetown.edu/bitstream/handle/10822/1053227/Gupta\_Reducing%2520Traffic%2520Challeng e%2520Using%2520Smart%2520Traffic%2520Lighting%2520System.pdf 3152) https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/smart-transportation\_final.pdf https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/10/2018/07/fhwahop12046.pdf 3153) https://mays.tamu.edu/innovation-research-center/wp-content/uploads/sites/101/2018/08/IED-v.-1.3.pdf 3154)http://www.sspcr.eurac.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/SSPCR-2017\_Programme\_Abstract\_Booklet.pdf 3155) 3156) https://www.academia.edu/38193166/Blockchain\_Technology\_in\_the\_Construction\_Industry\_ICE\_.pdf https://www.academia.edu/37378666/ekimci\_BOOK\_YOCOCU\_2018.pdf 3157) https://www.smccd.edu/facilities/community/CSM%2520Building%252020%2520Draft%2520SEIR.pdf 3158) https://collaboratory.unc.edu/files/2018/09/Project-Report-Floodplain-Buyout.pdf 3159)

3160) https://ceg.osu.edu/sites/ceg.osu.edu/files/uploads/cege\_strategic\_plan\_1\_25\_16.pdf

3161) https://www.umassp.edu/sites/umassp.edu/files/content/publications/budget-office/Agenda%2520-%2520Action%2520Item%25202%2520-%2520FY15-19%2520Capital%2520Plan%2520as%2520of%252011-21-14.pdf 3162) http://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/AA/00/06/26/74/00001/01-11-2018.pdf 3163) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/miller2/docs/nrel-2009.pdf http://ipu.msu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/LBNL-Electrification-of-Buildings-2018.pdf 3164) 3165) https://upcommons.upc.edu/bitstream/handle/2117/129065/PLEA2018\_Vol2\_Long%2520Paper%2520%2528DP%252CP C%252CET%2529-.pdf https://oaktrust.library.tamu.edu/bitstream/handle/1969.1/148939/ESL-IC-12-10-45a.pdf 3166) http://www.sucf.suny.edu/pdf/dir/1B-2.pdf 3167) 3168) https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/blog/2018-Outlook-for-Energy.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/park-h2/docs/env-jp-2012.pdf 3169) http://www.academia.edu/36523588/APPLICATION\_OF\_G.I.S\_IN\_SITE\_SELECTION\_FOR\_SOLID\_WASTE\_COLLECT 3170) ION\_POINTS.pdf 3171) https://www.messiah.edu/download/downloads/id/1252/waste\_manual.pdf 3172) https://evols.library.manoa.hawaii.edu/bitstream/10524/59436/practical-guide-waste-management-picts.pdf https://ehrs.upenn.edu/sites/default/files/2018-02/wastemanual2017final.pdf 3173) https://www.northwestern.edu/sustainability/docs/integrated-solid-waste-management-plan.pdf 3174) https://www.academia.edu/37131842/Urban\_Water\_Supply\_System\_Performance\_Assessment\_the\_Case\_of\_Alem\_Gena 3175) \_Town.pdf https://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6454/UNU\_IAS\_WUI\_2018\_0302\_02\_2.pdf 3176) https://research.monash.edu/files/254585454/253972197\_oa.pdf 3177) https://dugi-doc.udg.edu/bitstream/handle/10256/16148/WhatGovernance.pdf 3178) http://bledsoe.engr.uga.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/Xin\_etal\_2017.pdf 3179) http://www.bu.edu/ise/files/2019/03/Integrated-Urban-Water-Management-in-Texas-2018-FINAL.pdf 3180) 3181) http://www.seas.columbia.edu/earth/wtert/sofos/Waste\_Management\_Report\_by\_Netherlands.pdf 3182) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/park-h2/docs/env-jp-2012.pdf 3183) https://www.edinboro.edu/porrecocollege/certificates/EU% 2520 Waste% 2520 Water% 2520 Treatment% 2520 Web% 2520 Version% 2500 Vers3184) https://sttc.racc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Wastewater-2018.19-Brochure.pdf 3185) https://wefnexus.tamu.edu/files/2018/03/azdez.pdf 3186) https://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6341/Global-E-waste\_Monitor\_2017\_\_electronic\_single\_pages\_.pdf http://www.seas.columbia.edu/earth/wtert/sofos/Waste\_Management\_Report\_by\_Netherlands.pdf 3187) 3188) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/park-h2/docs/env-jp-2012.pdf 3189) https://dugi-doc.udg.edu/bitstream/handle/10256/16293/water-11-00187-v2.pdf https://cfo.pitt.edu/pexpress/documents/Apple\_Environmental\_Responsibility\_Report\_2018.pdf 3190) https://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6456/n2018-03\_MacNight\_sustainability-10-00825.pdf 3191) https://wwa.colorado.edu/themes/projects/shrum\_2018\_ranch\_drought\_experiment.pdf 3192) 3193) https://s3.wp.wsu.edu/uploads/sites/2162/2018/05/Intro-Risk-Mgmt.pdf https://library.princeton.edu/resolve/lookup%3Furl%3Dhttp://www.fao.org/3/a-i7719e.pdf 3194) https://research.fit.edu/media/site-specific/researchfitedu/coast-climate-adaptation-library/africa/regional---africa/CC-interval and the second state of the second3195) Adaptation--management-in-South-Africa.pdf https://wiki.duke.edu/download/attachments/13373207/1229223-%2BLit-%2BMembrane%2BFiltration%2BHandbook.pdf 3196) https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc501882/m1/1/high\_res\_d/R40477\_2015Jan02.pdf 3197) http://broncoscholar.library.cpp.edu/bitstream/handle/10211.3/206604/PowSangCarol\_Thesis2018.pdf 3198) 3199) http://childress.usc.edu/assets/001/89113.pdf https://web.njit.edu/~ps468/papers/Mathematical%2520modeling%2520of%2520membrane%2520filtration.pdf 3200)https://www.academia.edu/37476042/2018\_ASHRAE\_Handbook\_-\_Refrigeration\_SI.pdf 3201) 3202) https://www.academia.edu/37476058/2017\_ASHRAE\_Handbook\_Fundamentals\_SI.pdf http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2018/ph240/park-h2/docs/env-jp-2012.pdf 3203) http://www.inrf.uci.edu/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/Lesker-U-course-listing-and-times-3-January-2018.pdf 3204) http://e2shi.jhu.edu/images/DoD\_FOA\_N00014-17-S-F006.pdf 3205) http://scipp.ucsc.edu/groups/fermi/electronics/mil-std-883.pdf 3206) 3207) http://tiaer.tarleton.edu/National\_Laboratory\_and\_Water\_Quality\_Improvement\_in\_Ethiopia-Draft.pdf

- 3208) https://webarchive.library.unt.edu/eot2008/20090506193607/http://water.usgs.gov/nawqa/studies/domestic\_wells/USG SDomesticWells\_textforbriefing\_032709.pdf
- 3209) http://www.uvm.edu/~shali/Fiji.pdf
- 3210) https://www.csun.edu/sites/default/files/DWP%2520Consumer%2520Confidence%2520Report%2520DWQR%25202016% 2520Web%2520High%2520Resolution.pdf
- 3211) http://www.cpp.edu/~skboddeker/301/misc/Complete\_WER\_2013\_Survey.pdf
- 3212) http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2016/ph240/nana-sinkam1/docs/resources-wec-2016.pdf
- $3213) \qquad https://research.gsd.harvard.edu/zofnass/files/2019/04/un17\_guidebook.pdf$
- $\label{eq:source} 3214) \qquad https://iucn.oscar.ncsu.edu/mediawiki/images/b/b8/1Sustainable_Tourism_Development_in_UNESCO.pdf$
- $3215) \qquad https://cfo.pitt.edu/pexpress/documents/Apple\_Environmental\_Responsibility\_Report\_2018.pdf$
- 3216) http://aei.pitt.edu/92810/1/No\_2017-16\_VR-CircularEconomyAndEuropeanSemester.pdf
- 3217) https://www.atmos.umd.edu/~rjs/class/spr2019/readings/WEO-2018-ES.pdf
- 3218) https://www.law.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/DataForWaterDecisionMaking.pdf
- 3219) https://www.law.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/DFWD-Use-Cases.pdf
- $3220) \qquad https://drought.unl.edu/archive/plans/Water/State/CA\_2018.pdf$
- 3221) https://uwrl.usu.edu/files/pdf/newsletters/waterblog-2018-jun.pdf
- $3222) \qquad http://datadriven.yale.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/ThirdWave_Data_Gap_Analysis_Final.pdf$

# **GETTING IN TOUCH WITH THE EU**

### In person

All over the European Union there are hundreds of Europe Direct information centres. You can find the address of the centre nearest you at: <u>https://europa.eu/european-union/contact\_en</u>

### On the phone or by email

Europe Direct is a service that answers your questions about the European Union. You can contact this service:

- by freephone: 00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11 (certain operators may charge for these calls),

- at the following standard number: +32 22999696 or

- by email via: https://europa.eu/european-union/contact en

# FINDING INFORMATION ABOUT THE EU

## Online

Information about the European Union in all the official languages of the EU is available on the Europa website at: <u>https://europa.eu/european-union/index\_en</u>

### EU publications

You can download or order free and priced EU publications at:

<u>https://publications.europa.eu/en/publications</u>. Multiple copies of free publications may be obtained by contacting Europe Direct or your local information centre (see <u>https://europa.eu/european-union/contact\_en</u>).

### EU law and related documents

For access to legal information from the EU, including all EU law since 1952 in all the official language versions, go to EUR-Lex at: <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu</u>

### Open data from the EU

The EU Open Data Portal (<u>http://data.europa.eu/euodp/en</u>) provides access to datasets from the EU. Data can be downloaded and reused for free, for both commercial and non-commercial purposes.

